BURGER'S Sixth Edition Medicinal Chemistry Drug Discovery

Edited by Donald J. Abraham



VOLUME Autocoids, Diagnostics, a Drugs from New Biolo

BURGER'S MEDICINAL CHEMISTRY AND DRUG DISCOVERY

Sixth Edition

Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and

Drugs from New Biology

Edited by

Donald J. Abraham Department of Medicinal Chemistry School of Pharmacy Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia



BURGER MEMORIAL EDITION

The Sixth Edition of Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery is being designated as a Memorial Edition. Professor Alfred Burger was born in Vienna, Austria on September 6, 1905 and died on December 30, 2000. Dr. Burger received his Ph.D. from the University of Vienna in 1928 and joined the Drug Addiction Laboratory in the Department of Chemistry at the University of Virginia in 1929. During his early years at UVA, he synthesized fragments of the morphine molecule in an attempt to find the analgesic pharmacophore. He joined the UVA chemistry faculty in 1938 and served the department until his retirement in 1970. The chemistry department at UVA became the major academic training ground for medicinal chemists because of Professor Burger.

Dr. Burger's research focused on analgesics, antidepressants, and chemotherapeutic agents. He is one of the few academicians to have a drug, designed and synthesized in his

laboratories, brought to market [Parnate, which is the brand name for tranylcypromine, a monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitor]. Dr. Burger was a visiting Professor at the University of Hawaii and lectured throughout the world. He founded the Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, Medicinal Chemistry Research, and published the first major reference work "Medicinal Chemistry" in two volumes in 1951. His last published work, a book, was written at age 90 (Understanding Medications: What the Label Doesn't Tell You, June 1995). Dr. Burger received the Louis Pasteur Medal of the Pasteur Institute and the American Chemical Society Smissman Award. Dr. Burger played the violin and loved classical music. He was married for 65 years to Frances Page Burger, a genteel Virginia lady who always had a smile and an open house for the Professor's graduate students and postdoctoral fellows.

PREFACE

The Editors, Editorial Board Members, and John Wiley and Sons have worked for three and a half years to update the fifth edition of Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery. The sixth edition has several new and unique features. For the first time, there will be an online version of this major reference work. The online version will permit updating and easy access. For the first time, all volumes are structured entirely according to content and published simultaneously. Our intention was to provide a spectrum of fields that would provide new or experienced medicinal chemists, biologists, pharmacologists and molecular biologists entry to their subjects of interest as well as provide a current and global perspective of drug design, and drug development.

Our hope was to make this edition of Burger the most comprehensive and useful published to date. To accomplish this goal, we expanded the content from 69 chapters (5 volumes) by approximately 50% (to over 100 chapters in 6 volumes). We are greatly in debt to the authors and editorial board members participating in this revision of the major reference work in our field. Several new subject areas have emerged since the fifth edition appeared. Proteomics, genomics, bioinformatics, combinatorial chemistry, high-throughput screening, blood substitutes, allosteric effectors as potential drugs, COX inhibitors, the statins, and high-throughput pharmacology are only a few. In addition to the new areas, we have filled in gaps in the fifth edition by including topics that were not covered. In the

ix

sixth edition, we devote an entire subsection of Volume 4 to cancer research; we have also reviewed the major published Medicinal Chemistry and Pharmacology texts to ensure that we did not omit any major therapeutic classes of drugs. An editorial board was constituted for the first time to also review and suggest topics for inclusion. Their help was greatly appreciated. The newest innovation in this series will be the publication of an academic, "textbook-like" version titled, "Burger's Fundamentals of Medicinal Chemistry." The academic text is to be published about a year after this reference work appears. It will also appear with soft cover. Appropriate and key information will be extracted from the major reference.

There are numerous colleagues, friends, and associates to thank for their assistance. First and foremost is Assistant Editor Dr. John Andrako, Professor emeritus, Virginia Commonwealth University, School of Pharmacy. John and I met almost every Tuesday for over three years to map out and execute the game plan for the sixth edition. His contribution to the sixth edition cannot be understated. Ms. Susanne Steitz, Editorial Program Coordinator at Wiley, tirelessly and meticulously kept us on schedule. Her contribution was also key in helping encourage authors to return manuscripts and revisions so we could publish the entire set at once. I would also like to especially thank colleagues who attended the QSAR Gordon Conference in 1999 for very helpful suggestions, especially Roy Vaz, John Mason, Yvonne Martin, John Block, and Hugo

Kubinyi. The editors are greatly indebted to Professor Peter Ruenitz for preparing a template chapter as a guide for all authors. My secretary, Michelle Craighead, deserves special thanks for helping contact authors and reading the several thousand e-mails generated during the project. I also thank the computer center at Virginia Commonwealth University for suspending rules on storage and e-mail so that we might safely store all the versions of the author's manuscripts where they could be backed up daily. Last and not least, I want to thank each and every author, some of whom tackled two chapters. Their contributions have provided our-field with a sound foundation of information to build for the future. We thank the many reviewers of manuscripts whose critiques have greatly enhanced the presentation and content for the sixth edition. Special thanks to Professors Richard Glennon, William Soine, Richard Westkaemper, Umesh Desai, Glen Kellogg, Brad Windle, Lemont Kier, Malgorzata

Dukat, Martin Safo, Jason Rife, Kevin Reynolds, and John Andrako in our Department of Medicinal Chemistry, School of Pharmacy, Virginia Commonwealth University for suggestions and special assistance in reviewing manuscripts and text. Graduate student Derek Cashman took able charge of our web site, http://www.burgersmedchem.com, another first for this reference work. I would especially like to thank my dean, Victor Yanchick, and Virginia Commonwealth University for their support and encouragement. Finally, I thank my wife Nancy who understood the magnitude of this project and provided insight on how to set up our home office as well as provide John Andrako and me lunchtime menus where we often dreamed of getting chapters completed in all areas we selected. To everyone involved, many, many thanks.

> DONALD **J**. ABRAHAM Midlothian, Virginia



Dr. Alfred Burger

Photograph of Professor Burger followed by his comments to the American Chemical Society 26th Medicinal Chemistry Symposium on June 14, 1998. This was his last public appearance at a meeting of medicinal chemists. As general chair of the 1998 ACS Medicinal Chemistry Symposium, the editor invited Professor Burger to open the meeting. He was concerned that the young chemists would not know who he was and he might have an attack due to his battle with Parkinson's disease. These fears never were realized and his comments to the more than five hundred attendees drew a sustained standing ovation. The Professor was 93, and it was Mrs. Burger's 91st birthday.

Opening Remarks

ACS 26th Medicinal Chemistry Symposium

June 14, 1998 Alfred Burger University of Virginia

It has been 46 years since the third Medicinal Chemistry Symposium met at the University of Virginia in Charlottesville in **1952.** Today, the Virginia Commonwealth University welcomes you and joins all of you in looking forward to an exciting program.

So many aspects of medicinal chemistry have changed in that half century that most of the new data to be presented this week would have been unexpected and unbelievable had they been mentioned in 1952. The upsurge in biochemical understandings of drug transport and drug action has made rational drug design a reality in many therapeutic areas and has made medicinal chemistry an independent science. We have our **own** journal, the best in the world, whose articles comprise all the innovations of medicinal researches. And if you look at the announcements of job opportunities in the pharmaceutical industry as they appear in *Chemical & Engineering News*, you will find in every issue more openings in medicinal chemistry than in other fields of chemistry. Thus, we can feel the excitement of being part of this medicinal tidal wave, which has also been fed by the expansion of the needed research training provided by increasing numbers of universities.

The ultimate beneficiary of scientific advances in discovering new and better therapeutic agents and understanding their modes of action is the patient. Physicians now can safely look forward to new methods of treatment of hitherto untreatable conditions. To the medicinal scientist all this has increased the pride of belonging to a profession which can offer predictable intellectual rewards. Our symposium will be an integral part of these developments.

CONTENTS

1 INSULIN AND HYPOGLYCEMIC AGENTS, 1

Mark Sleevi Insmed Incorporated Richmond, Virginia

2 **PEPTIDE** AND PROTEIN HORMONES, **PEPTIDE** NEUROTRANSMITTERS, AND THERAPEUTIC AGENTS, 45

Victor J. Hruby Catherine Gehrig de Chavez Malcolm Kavarana University of Arizona Department of Chemistry Tucson, Arizona

3 INHIBITORS OF GASTRIC ACID SECRETION, 85

Sonia Roberts Iain M. McDonald James Black Foundation London, United Kingdom

4 CHEMOKINE AND CYTOKINE MODULATORS, 129

Maria Elena Fuentes Tara Mirzadegan Robert S. Wilhelm *Roche Bioscience Palo Alto, California*

5 COX-2 INHIBITORS AND LEUKOTRIENE MODULATORS, 203

Randy L. Bell Richard R. Harris Andrew O. Stewart *Abbott Laboratories Abbott Park, Illinois*

6 AGENTS ACTING ON PROSTANOID RECEPTORS, 265

David W. Jenkins Patrick P.A. Humphrey University of Cambridge Glaxo Institute of Applied Pharmacology Cambridge, United Kingdom

Robert A. Coleman Pharmagene Laboratories Ltd. Royston, United Kingdom

7 RETINOIDS, 317

Mark Leid Oregon State University Laboratory of Molecular Pharmacology Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

College of Pharmacy Corvallis, Oregon

8 VITAMINS, 359

John H. Block Oregon State University College of Pharmacy Corvallis, Oregon

9 LIFESTYLE AND OVER-THE-COUNTER DRUGS, **421**

Khawla Abu-Izza Sanofi-Synthelabo Research Malvern, Pennsylvania

Vincent Li Wyeth Consumer Healthcare Richmond, Virginia

Graham **Parr** Wyeth Consumer Healthcare Hampshire, United Kingdom

10 RADIOPAQUES, 483

C. T. Peng University of California Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry School of Pharmacy San Francisco, California and San Jose State University Nuclear Science Facility San Jose, California

11 MICROARRAYS AND GENE EXPRESSION PROFILING APPLIED TO DRUG RESEARCH, 599

Brad Windle Department of Medicinal Chemistry Center for Bioelectronics, Biosensors and Biochips (C3B) Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia

Anthony Guiseppi-Elie Department of Chemical Engineering Center for Bioelectronics, Biosensors and Biochips (C3B) Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia

12 SNPS: SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS AND PHARMACOGENOMICS— INDIVIDUALLY DESIGNED DRUG THERAPY, 617

Brian J. Puckett MCV Campus Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia

Steven G. Terra JHM Health Science Center University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

Joe Walker Orchid **BioSciences** Princeton, New Jersey

13 PLASMID DNA-MEDIATED GENE THERAPY, 651

Rajkumar **Banerjee** Leaf Huang *Center for Pharmacogenetics School of Pharmacy University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania*

INDEX, 679

BURGER'S MEDICINAL CHEMISTRY AND DRUG DISCOVERY

•

Insulin and Hypoglycemic Agents

MARK SLEEVI Insmed Incorporated Richmond, Virginia

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 2
- 2 Current Drugs on the Market, 4
 - 2.1 Insulin and Its Analogs, 4
 - 2.1.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects, 5
 - 2.1.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination, 5
 - 2.1.3 Physiology and Pharmacology, 8
 - 2.1.4 Structure-Activity, 9
 - 2.2 Insulinotropic Agents, 11
 - 2.2.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects, 15
 - 2.2.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination, 15
 - 2.2.3 Physiology and Pharmacology, 17
 - 2.2.4 History, 18
 - 2.2.5 Structure–Activity, 18
 - 2.3 Insulin-Sensitizing Agents, 20
 - 2.3.1 Biguanides, 21
 - 2.3.1.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects, 21
 - 2.3.1.2 Absorption, Distribution,
 - Metabolism, and Elimination, 21
 - 2.3.1.3 Physiology and Pharmacology, 23
 - 2.3.1.4 Structure–Activity, 23
 - 2.3.2 Thiazolidinediones, 24
 - 2.3.2.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects, 24
 - 2.3.2.2 Absorption, Distribution,
 - Metabolism, and Elimination,
 - 24
 - 2.3.2.3 Physiology and Pharmacology,
 - 24
 - 2.3.2.4 History, 28
 - 2.3.2.5 Structure-Activity, 28
 - 2.4 α -Glucosidase Inhibitors, 31
 - 2.4.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects, 31
 - 2.4.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination, 31
 - 2.4.3 Physiology and Pharmacology, 33
 - 2.4.4 Structure-Activity, 34
- 1

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics,

and Drugs from New Biology

Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

1 INTRODUCTION

Insulin is a 58-kDa polypeptide hormone produced by p-cells in pancreatic islets of Langerhans regulating, in vivo, the storage, release, and utilization of nutrient energy, carbohydrate in the form of glucose, fat, and protein, in response to changing supply and demand. Pancreatic β -cells respond to an increase in circulating levels of glucose as occurs after ingestion of a meal by increasing the rate of insulin release. The major metabolic actions of insulin include the following: (1) promotion of uptake and storage of glucose in liver and muscle in the form of glycogen, (2) suppression of hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, (3) increasing the rate of glucose oxidation in muscle, (4) suppression of lipolysis and release of fatty acid from adipose tissue, (5) enhancing triglyceride synthesis and storage and de novo lipogenesis from carbohydrate in liver and fat, and (6) promotion of amino acid uptake and protein synthesis in muscle. Thus, in normal individuals, the postprandial increase in insulin suppresses the release and utilization of nutrient energy substrate (glucose, fatty acids, and amino acids) from hepatic and muscle glycogen, fat depots, and muscle protein, because these substrates are temporarily plentiful due to digestion and absorption of the meal. Insulin also stimulates the conversion of excess energy nutrient into storage forms (glucose into glycogen, fatty acids into triglyceride, amino acids into protein) and the sequestration of these in storage depots for later use. In addition, elevated postprandial insulin increases oxidation of glucose and decreases use of fatty acids in tissues (e.g., skeletal muscle) that can use either as metabolic fuel. Under fasting conditions when insulin levels are low, these processes are reversed, and metabolic fuel substrates are released from storage and used to provide the energy necessary for life processes.

Opposing the actions of insulin are the counterregulatory hormones, glucagon, epinephrine, growth hormone, and cortisol. In response to low blood glucose, the **counterregulatory** hormones increase hepatic glucose output by stimulating glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis and also inhibit glucose uptake and utilization in peripheral tissue. This is critical because, while most peripheral tissue can utilize either glucose or fatty acids as fuel for energy metabolism, the brain relies almost exclusively on glucose, requiring 100–150 glday. For comparison, typical dietary intake of carbohydrate is about 300–400 glday, and total hepatic glycogen content is approximately 100 g. The brain has little capacity for glucose storage, and hypoglycemia, depending on degree and duration, can result in dizziness, seizures, coma, or death.

The term diabetes mellitus refers to a group of disorders that are characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from inadequate insulin secretion, failure of insulin to elicit normal level of response in insulin sensitive tissue (insulin resistance), or both. The vast majority of cases of diabetes mellitus fall into two main categories (1, 2), type 1 and type 2. In type 1 diabetes, which is also called insulin dependent diabetes mellitus or IDDM, there is an absolute deficiency in insulin secretion usually caused by autoimmune destruction of the insulin producing β -cells. Type 2 diabetes, also called non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus or NIDDM, is characterized by both tissue insulin resistance and an insulin secretory deficit (3–5). Insulin resistance, particularly in liver and muscle tissue, plays a major role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. The elevated fasting plasma glucose levels used to diagnose the disease result primarily from failure of insulin, often at several times normal concentrations, to adequately suppress hepatic glucose output from gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (3, 6). Postprandial hyperglycemia is caused by both impaired suppression by insulin of hepatic glucose output and by the diminished ability of insulin to stimulate glucose uptake, storage and utilization, particularly in skeletal muscle, which is the primary site of postprandial glucose disposal (7). At the cellular level, insulin stimulates several processes required for glucose disposal including glucose transport and phosphorylation, glycogen synthesis, and glucose oxidation. Defects

in the insulin activation of these processes are present with insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes (3, 8-12). While the cause(s) at the molecular level for the impairment in glucose disposal are not completely understood, insulin resistance is highly correlated with obesity. There is good evidence supporting the hypothesis that abnormalities in fatty acid metabolism leading to elevated circulating free fatty acids and to nonadipose tissue accumulation of triglyceride and fatty acid metabolites contribute significantly to insulin resistance (8, 9, 13-16). Thus, insulin resistance is probably in part a consequence of action of excessive fatty acids and fatty acid metabolites on complex signaling pathways and feedback loops that regulate metabolic fuel utilization and storage.

Insulin resistance is relatively common, and it alone does not produce hyperglycemia. Obesity, for instance, is almost always accompanied by some degree of insulin resistance, but only a small proportion of obese individuals develop type 2 diabetes (8). This is because a compensatory increase in circulating insulin prevents hyperglycemia. In a population of nondiabetic individuals with normal blood glucose levels but a wide range of insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion is inversely proportional to insulin sensitivity and the product of these two parameters is a constant (4, 17-19). Thus, hyperinsulinemia compensates for insulin resistance and normal glycemic control is maintained. Hyperglycemia occurs when this compensation process fails, and further decline in p-cell function is associated with the progression of type 2 diabetes. Compensatory hyperinsulinemia is the result of increased β -cell mass (19, 20), reduced insulin clearance (19, 21, 22), and increased expression relative to the normal glucokinase of a low $K_{\rm m}$ p-cell hexokinase, which catalyzes the first rate-limiting step of glucose metabolism in the p-cell, lowering the set point for insulin secretion in response to glucose (19, 21). In type 2 diabetes, the insulin secretory deficit is generally believed to be due to both loss of p-cell mass and insulin secretory function, but the underlying causes are not well established. Chronic hyperglycemia (glucose toxicity) may be a factor in reducing p-cell function as type 2 diabetes becomes fully developed (4), and accumulation

of triglycerides and fatty acid metabolites (lipotoxicity) in p-cells may also be important (4, 20).

Acute complications of hyperglycemia include thirst, polyuria, glucosuria, hunger, and with severe elevations, hyperosmolar hyperglycemic nonketotic coma, an often fatal result of osmotic diuresis and dehydration. Primarily in type 1 diabetes, ketoacidosis, caused by a near total lack of insulin to suppress excessive lypolysis, hepatic oxidation of the resulting fatty acids to acetoacetic and 3-hydroxybutyric acids, and accumulation of these substances in circulation, is also potentially fatal. Late complication with both type 1 and type 2 diabetes are classified as microvascular — retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy, and macrovascular-ischemic heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, and stroke. Prevention of late complications presents the greatest therapeutic challenge because it requires near normalization of the elevated blood glucose levels associated with the disease. Large randomized prospective clinical trials have established that therapeutic intervention to reduce hyperglycemia significantly decreases microvascular complications in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (23). Although data from large interventional trials focused on postprandial glucose control are not available, epidemiological studies show a clear association between macrovascular risk and postprandial hyperglycemia (23, 24). Management of late complications of diabetes is a major health care problem. Diabetic retinopathy is the leading cause of blindness in the United States, and diabetic nephropathy is responsible for one-third of all patients requiring kidney transplants or dialysis (3, 25). Some 50,000 lower-extremity amputations performed annually in diabetic individuals, resulting from neuropathies and vascular insufficiency (26).

At the cellular and molecular level, hyperglycemia is believed to cause late complications in diabetes through a number of mechanisms (27). First, glucose is a low affinity substrate for aldose reductase, and hyperglycemia drives the reduction of glucose to sorbitol catalyzed by this enzyme. Excess flux through this pathway results in cellular depletion of reduced glutathione, rendering the cell

susceptible to damage from oxidative stress. Secondly, auto-oxidation of glucose is enhanced in hyperglycemia and results in the formation of reactive dicarbonyl compounds which in turn react with amino groups in proteins to form covalently bonded adducts termed advanced glycation end-products (AGEs). Modification of proteins alters their function, both intracellularly and in the extracellular matrix. Thirdly, hyperglycemia enhances glycolysis and increases intracellular diacylglycerol through increased precursor availability. Elevated diacylglycerol causes abnormal stimulation of various isoforms of protein kinase C, leading to decreased production of nitric oxide and other abnormalities affecting blood flow and capillary permeability. Finally, hyperglycemia enhances the flux of glucose through the hexosamine pathway increasing production of glucosamine and its derivatives. The hexosamine pathway is probably important in regulation of both carbohydrate and fat metabolism, and increased flux through this pathway may be an important contributor to insulin resistance (28). Through increased availability of cofactors, it is also believed to lead to modification of transcription factors and other proteins by O-acetylglucosaminylation, altering both gene expression and protein function. Inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by this process may be relevant to diabetic complications. Each of these four pathogenic mechanisms may reflect a single hyperglycemia-induced process, overproduction of superoxide by the mitochondrial electron transport chain (27).

The efficacy of therapeutic intervention in the treatment of diabetes can be assessed by monitoring plasma glucose levels in the fasted state, but postprandial and bedtime measures are also common. In normal individuals, plasma glucose concentrations are maintained within a narrow range of about 3.5-7.0 mMthroughout the day (29). Fasting or preprandial plasma glucose concentrations are usually less than 6.1 mM. After a meal, plasma glucose levels rise and peak, usually within 30-60 min and return to basal concentrations within 2-3 h. It is rare for 2-h postprandial glucose concentrations to exceed 7.8 mM in nondiabetic individuals. For treatment regimens in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes, the American Dia-

betes Association (ADA) recommends goals of achieving average preprandial plasma glucose concentrations of 5.0-7.2 mM, and 6.1-8.3 mM at bedtime (30). Guidelines of the American College of Endocrinology (ACE) recommend targets of less than 6.1 mM for fasting plasma glucose and 2-h postprandial blood glucose concentrations of less than 7.8 mM (23). The utility of measures of plasma glucose in assessing the efficacy of treatment regimens is limited in that these measures reflect only the state of glycemia at the time of measurement. Hemoglobin is nonenzymatically glycosylated on the amino group of its terminal valine at a rate proportional to the concentration of glucose. Because 2–4 months are required for complete turnover of hemoglobin, determination of the fraction of hemoglobin glycosylated in this way (**HbA**_{1c} or A1C, usually expressed as percent) is used as a measure for assessing glycemic control over time. In normal individuals, HbA_{1c} is in the range of 4.0-6.0%. The goal for treatment recommended by the ADA is achievement of HbA_{1c} less than 7%, while the ACE targets less than 6.5%. The change in percent HbA_{1c} is the gold standard by which the efficacy of therapeutic agents and treatment programs are assessed. These therapeutic targets are difficult to achieve. In a large U.S. epidemiological study, mean HbA_{1e} values for diabetic individuals followed over a 10-year period and under a variety of treatment regimens exceeded 9% (31).

2 CURRENT DRUGS ON THE MARKET

Drugs currently available for treatment of **hy**perglycemia associated with diabetes mellitus fall into four classes:

- 1. Insulin and its analogs
- 2. Insulinotropic agents
- **3.** Insulin-sensitizing agents
- 4. a-Glucosidase inhibitors

2.1 Insulin and its Analogs

Insulin replacement therapy is the only efficacious treatment for type 1 diabetes and is also useful for treatment of type 2 diabetes when



Figure 1.1. Amino acid sequence of human insulin and differences from the human sequence for animal insulins and marketed insulin analogs.

poor β -cell function limits the efficacy of oral medications. Insulin isolated from beef or pork was used for many years to treat diabetes mellitus. Animal insulins have largely been replaced by the human hormone, manufactured by recombinant methods. Porcine insulin is still available in the United States. Human insulin is a 51 amino acid polypeptide and differs from the porcine hormone by substitution of one amino acid. It is composed of a 21 amino acid A-chain and a 30 amino acid B-chain joined together by a pair of disulfide linkages. Three new insulin analogs with pharmacokinetic profiles considerably different than the natural hormone have recently become available. Amino acid sequences for human and porcine insulins along with marketed insulin analogs are given in Fig. 1.1.

2.1.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects. Hypoglycemia is the major and potentially very serious side effect of therapeutic use of insulin and its analogs. This is particularly true in type 1 diabetes, where it is the major limiting factor in glycemic management (32). The frequency of severe hypoglycemia increases with intensive insulin therapy designed to maintain near normal plasma glucose concentrations. A meta-analysis of 14 clinical trials of at least 6 months duration that included 1028 type 1 patients intensively treated with insulin and 1039 patients treated with insulin in less intense conventional regimens found that intensive therapy increased the risk of a severe hypoglycemic episode by approximately threefold. A total of 846 of these patients suffered at least one episode of severe hypoglycemia (33). The incidence of severe hypoglycemia is lower in type 2 diabetes, due to both insulin resistance and less compromise of glucose counterregulation. After 10 years of treatment in the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) in type 2 diabetics, 2.3% of the patients receiving insulin experienced at least one hypoglycemic episode requiring the help of a third-party or hospitalization (3).

When administered acutely by intravenous infusion to type 1 diabetics, the newer insulin analogs elicit responses very similar to insulin with respect to hypoglycemia and hormonal counterregulation (34, 35). When administered subcutaneously in diabetes therapy, the pharmacokinetic profiles of insulin analogs facilitate their use in treatment regimens designed to closely mimic the natural variations circulating insulin—the pancreatic response to meals. **As** a consequence, some reduction in the risk of hypoglycemia would be expected, and this seems to be the case.

Insulin promotes the sequestration of fat, and weight gain is a common side effect. This is a concern particularly in type 2 diabetes in which obesity is common. In the UKPDS, obese patients on insulin therapy gained an average of 4 kg more than those treated by diet adjustment only.

2.1.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination. The plasma half-life of insulin is quite short, 4-6 min, and the plasma concentration of the hormone after subcuta-

neous administration is largely determined by the rate of absorption from the subcutaneous depot. Depending on concentration, the presence of certain divalent metal ions, especially zinc, and pH, insulin may exist as a monomer or self-associate in dimeric or hexameric structures. Zinc is usually found in insulin pharmaceutical formulations to encourage hexamer formation and increase stability. Hexameric zinc containing insulin formulations can be prepared as solutions or as suspensions of solid material obtained by crystallization, precipitation as an amorphous solid, or **co-crystal**lization with the basic protein protamine. Solutions have relatively rapid onset and short duration, while the rate of absorption of insulin from solid suspensions depends on the dissolution rate of the solid in the subcutaneous depot. There are about 180 different formulations of insulin marketed worldwide (29). Properties of the most widely used formulations are shown in Table 1.1.

Regular insulin (human) is clear solution of zinc insulin. Its time of onset is 30–60 min with peak activity at 2-3 hand duration of 3-6h. The widely used insulin NPH (neutral protamine **Hagedorn**) is a suspension of zinc insulin co-crystallized with protamine and has a slower onset (2-4 h) with longer time to peak (4-10h) and duration of action (10-16h). Insulin lente is a suspension of mixed amorphous and crystalline zinc insulin, with onset time of 3-4 h and a duration of 12-18 h. Insulin ultralente, which is a suspension of crystalline insulin with a high zinc content, is the slowest onset (6–10 h) and longest duration (18-20 h) of these preparations. Peak plasma concentrations occur after about 10 h with insulin ultralente (36).

In recent years, results from large prospective clinical trials have shown the benefit of maintaining near normal glycemia with intensive insulin therapy in reducing diabetic late complications. Ideally, insulin formulations used in intensive therapy should be able to mimic the normal variations in circulating insulin levels. In nondiabetic individuals, changes in insulin closely follow glucose, rising rapidly to a peak 30–45 min after ingestion of food and then rapidly returning to basal levels within 2–3 h. Basal levels of insulin are relatively stable and sufficient to **sup**- press excessive lipolysis and hepatic glucose output without inducing hypoglycemia. The pharmacokinetic profiles of human insulin preparations are not ideal for use in dosing regimens designed to provide constant basal circulating levels of the hormone and rapid, but relatively brief, increases associated with meals. Regular insulin has too slow an onset and too long a duration to match the natural mealtime response, and peaks in insulin levels with the longer duration preparations are undesirable in formulations providing the basal component. The insulin analogs lispro and aspart are more suitable than human insulin for use in rapid onset, brief duration formulations, while glargine is formulated for long duration and is nearly **peakless** (Table 1.1).

With soluble regular insulin, the transport of insulin hexamers from the subcutaneous depot into the microcirculation is sterically restricted, and a lag occurs as the hexamers slowly dissociate on dilution in the interstitial space into smaller species which can be absorbed (38). Insulins lispro and aspart are formulated with zinc and also form hexamers, but the slight amino acid sequence alterations in analogs promote more rapid dissociation and thus faster absorption. With insulin glargine, which is intended to provide a patient's basal requirements, the modified amino acid sequence of the **peptide** increases the iso-electric point from pH 5.4 for human insulin to 6.7. Because **peptides** are less soluble at a pH near their iso-electric point, glargine, which is formulated as a solution at pH 4, forms a microprecipitates after subcutaneous injection as the pH increases to the physiological level of 7.4. The slow dissolution of these microprecipitates provides a relatively constant delivery of insulin glargine into the circulation over an extended period of time. Comparative time-course parameters of the marketed insulin analogs in formulations for subcutaneous injection are shown in Table 1.1.

Insulin is rapidly removed from circulation and distributed into tissue by a process mediated by its receptor, and thus **all** insulin sensitive tissue take up the hormone (39). The primary site of clearance is the liver which removes about half of portal insulin during first-pass transit, but hepatic fractional ex-

USP or Nonproprietary Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Formulations	Onset	Peak (h)	Usual Effective Duration (h)	Usual Maximum Duration (h)
Insulin (human)	Humulin	Lilly	R (Regular)	0.5–1 h	2–3	3–6	6–10
	Novolin	Novo Nordisk	N (NPH)	2 - 4 h	4–10	10–16	14–18
			L (Lente)	3-4 h	4-12	12–18	16–20
			U (Ultralente)	6-10 h		18-20	20–24
Insulin (porcine)	Iletin II	Lilly	Regular	0.5–2 h	3–4	4–6	6–8
			NPH	4-6h	8-14	16-20	20-24
			Lente	4-6 h	8–14	16-20	20 - 24
Lispro	Humalog	Lilly		<15 min	0.5 - 1.5	2–4	46
Aspart	Novolog	Novo Nordisk		5–10 min	1–3	3–5	46
Glargine	Lantus	Aventis		1.1 h		24	24

 Table 1.1
 Insulin Formulations for Subcutaneous Injection (37)

traction is controlled to some degree by a variety of physiological factors. Absorption of glucose in the intestinal tract increases hepatic uptake of insulin, presumably mediated by release of signaling factors from the intestines since this does not occur when glucose is administered by other routes. Free fatty acids decrease insulin binding, degradation, and action in the liver. On binding, the insulin-receptor complex can dissociate and return insulin into circulation or it can be internalized by endocytosis. Most receptor bound insulin is internalized into endosomes and some insulin signal transduction processes may occur there. Endosomal insulin is either dissociated from its receptor and returned to circulation via retroendocytosis or partially degraded by insulin-degrading enzyme (IDE) and the fragments delivered to lysosomes for complete degradation. Another enzyme, endosomal acidic insulinase or EAI may also be important in this process (40). The kidney is also a major site for insulin clearance, removing about onehalf of the insulin in the peripheral circulation by a receptor mediated process (39,411. Most endosomal insulin in the kidney is delivered to lysosomes where it is ultimately degraded. Insulin analogs, as well, are cleared and degraded in the kidney (41). On subcutaneous administration, renal clearance of insulin is a higher portion of the total than with the endogenously produced hormone because the normal process in which high concentrations of newly secreted insulin are delivered directly from the pancreas to the liver via the portal circulation is bypassed. Renal failure may sig-

2.1.3 Physiology and Pharmacology. Before the discovery and introduction of insulin as a therapeutic agent, the only available treatment for type 1 diabetes was a starvation diet and the life expectancy for a child diagnosed with the disease was 1.3 years (42). Judged against this standard, insulin therapy for type 1 diabetes is hugely successful. Intensive insulin therapy, usually three or more insulin injections per day of regular insulin in association with meals along with a longer acting insulin to supply basal requirements or continuous subcutaneous infusion both with frequent monitoring of blood glucose to adjust

nificantly reduce insulin requirements.

insulin dosage, dramatically decreases microvascular complications. In the landmark Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) intensive treatment reduced the risk of retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy by 35–90% compared with conventional therapy of one or two insulin injections per day. A median HbA_{1c} level of 7.3% was obtained with intensive therapy while that for the conventionally treated group was 9.1% (43). However, the median HbA_{1c} level for intensive insulin therapy group shows that less than half achieved the ADA goal for HbA_{1c} in the rigorous environment of a clinical trial, and by 5-years poststudy, the mean HbA_{1c} for a subset of the intensively treated cohort was 8.1%.

Insulin is commonly used in the treatment of type 2 diabetes, but is most often introduced when oral agents fail to adequately control hyperglycemia. A decrease in HbA_{1c} of about 2%, similar to that found with the most efficacious oral agents, can be achieved with intensive insulin therapy, although a lesser reduction is probably the norm in general practice (3). After 6 years in the UKPDS, insulin treated type 2 diabetics, newly diagnosed at the beginning of the study, had lower fasting plasma glucose levels, but similar HbA_{1c} concentrations to patients treated with oral agents (44). The invasive nature of subcutaneous administration, greater weight gain and increased risk of hypoglycemia relative to oral agents may discourage the early use of insulin. Therapy for type 2 diabetes usually begins with lifestyle interventions, particularly changes in diet and exercise. In the UKPDS, only about 15% of newly diagnosed patients were able to reach target levels of glycemic control in 3 months of intensive dietary therapy, and there was further decline after 1 year (45). Oral agents are introduced as monotherapy if lifestyle adjustments are unsuccessful (46, 47). Type 2 diabetes is usually progressive with loss of β -cell mass and function, and oral agents that stimulate or rely on endogenous insulin production become less efficacious over time. Glycemic control with monotherapy in the UKPDS deteriorated such that after 3 years, only about one-half of the patients treated with a single agent were able to achieve HbA_{1c} less than 7% (48). After 9 years of monotherapy, only one-quarter were able to maintain this

level of control, and the majority of patients required multiple therapies. Ultimately insulin is almost always required to achieve optimal glycemic goals (46). Insulin can be introduced in place of or in combination with oral agents, but better results are often obtained with combinations of insulin and oral agents than with insulin alone (49–52).

The rapid onset, short acting insulin lispro and aspart are used in treatment of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes in place of regular insulin in intensive therapy regimens. The benefits of these newer agents used by injection at mealtime with optimized basal therapy in reduction of HbA_{1c} in the rigorously controlled environment of clinical trials are modest, 0.1-0.4% when compared with regular insulin (53). Reductions of up to 0.8% in HbA_{1c} compared with regular insulin have been obtained with insulin lispro administered continuously by infusion pump. When the long-acting insulin glargine is used as the basal component of insulin therapy, **HbA_{1c}** levels are usually very similar to those obtained with insulin NPH or ultralente (53), although less weight gain in type 2 diabetics and decreased frequency of nocturnal hypoglycemia have been reported with use of the analog. While the reductions in HbA_{1c} achieved with insulin analogs are modest when compared with human insulin therapy, even small improvements are believed to reduce the risk of microvascular complications in diabetes, and a survey of diabetic patients suggests that a reduction in hypoglycemic episodes, better glycemic control, and improved quality of life can often result from the use of these agents (53, 54).

At the cellular and molecular level, the binding of insulin to a specific membrane spanning receptor initiates a signal transduction cascade which ultimately produces the biological actions of the hormone. The insulin receptor is a tetrameric protein comprised of two *a* subunits that bind to insulin and two β subunits that are linked by disulfide bonds (55, 56), and belongs to a subfamily of receptor typrosine kinases which also includes the insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) receptor. The *a* subunits are extracellularly located, while β subunits span the membrane and have

both intracellular and extracellular portions, with the tyrosine kinase domain located intracellularly in this subunit. Extracellular binding of insulin activates the receptor kinase activity, and the receptor is autophosphorylated on multiple intracellular β subunit tyrosine residues (13, 57). The insulin receptor shares about 50% amino acid sequence homology with the IGF-I receptor. Insulin and IGF-I bind and activate both types of receptors, but each has 2–3 orders of magnitude preference for own receptor (58). There are two isoforms of the insulin receptor differing by the presence or absence of 12 amino acids in the Cterminus of the α subunit. The smaller isoform has about a two-fold higher affinity for insulin than the longer, and this difference is paralleled in sensitivity for metabolic actions of insulin (59).

Ligand affinities for the insulin receptor can be measured in binding assays based on displacement of [125I]-labeled insulin. The relative affinities for insulin and the insulin analogs used clinically are shown in Table 1.2. Many cell based assays can be used to assess the functional potency of insulin and its analogs. Primary adipocytes are exquisitely sensitive to insulin and are often used for this purpose. The relative potency of human insulin and analogs in stimulating lipogenesis in primary rat adipocytes is also shown in Table 1.2. The receptor affinities and functional potencies of these analogs are similar to insulin, with the exception that insulin glargine has about a sixfold higher affinity for the IGF-I receptor. To date, neither benefit nor risk has been clearly demonstrated to be associated with this higher affinity.

2.1.4 Structure-Activity. The structural basis and especially the role of specific amino acid residues in the interaction of insulin molecules in forming dimers and hexamers or binding to and activating insulin receptors have been studied extensively by comparing amino acid sequences from different species, in structure-function studies using insulin analogs, and with X-ray crystallography and molecular modeling. The insights gained have been used primarily to design therapeutic

۹.

	Insulin Receptor Affinity % [mean (SE)]	IGF-I Receptor Affinity % [mean (SE)]	Lipogenesis Potency % [mean (SE)]
Human insulin	100	100	100
Lispro	84 (6)	156 (16)	82 (3)
Aspart	92 (6)	81 (9)	101(2)
Glargine	86 (3)	641 (51)	60 (3)

Table 1.2Relative Receptor Binding Affinities and Metabolic Potency for Human Insulinand Analogs Used Clinically

Values are calculated as the ratio between EC_{50} for **human** insulin and EC_{50} for the analog. Binding affinities were determined using solubilized human insulin and IGF-I receptors, employing TyrA14[¹²⁵I]-human insulin and Tyr31[¹²⁵I]-IGF-I as radioligands. Potency in lipogenesis is based on stimulation of incorporation of the label from D-[³H]-glucose into lipid in primary rat adipocytes. EC50 values for human insulin are 0.01 and 200 nM for insulin and IGF-I receptor binding respectively, and 45 pM in lipogenesis (60).

agents with improved pharmacokinetic **pro**files, but which mimic the natural hormone in other ways as closely as possible.

Insulin forms both dimers and hexamers, and dimerization occurs mainly through interactions of certain B-chain residues (Fig. 1.1), involvingamino acids at positions B8, B9, B12, B13, B16, and B23–28 (61, 62). Hexamer formation is stabilized mainly through coordination of the six HisBlO residues (one from each monomer) to two zinc ions, but burial of a nonpolar surface made up by amino acids at positions A13, A14, B1, B2, B14, B17, and B18 also contributes (62, 63). The amino acid residues that are considered most essential for high binding affinity of insulin to its receptor are at positions A1–A3, A16, A19, A21, B6, B12, B15, B23–B25, and perhaps A13 and B17. Minor contributions are made by residues at A8, B9– 10, B13, and B16 (64, 65). Substitutions for residues at B26-30 are often possible while maintaining high affinity for the insulin receptor, but mainly effect IGF-I receptor binding.

X-ray crystallography has yet to provide detailed information at the atomic level for insulin bound to its receptor, due to difficulties in obtaining X-ray crystal structures of membrane-spanning ligand-receptor complexes. The three-dimensional structure of the complexed receptor has been obtained with a combination of electron cryomicroscopy using gold-labeled insulin to locate the binding domain and high resolution structures of insulin and individual subdomains of the receptor (66, 67). In this structure, insulin binds by bridging from a binding site on one extracellular *a*

subunit to a dissimilar site in the second a subunit of the receptor dimer. Insulin residues at positions A4, A8, A17, A21, and B29 interact with polar amino acids in one a subunit primarily through electrostatic salt bridges, while there are both hydrophobic and polar interactions between insulin residues at positions **B9**, **B10**, B12, B13, B16, **B17**, B21, B22, B24, B26, A5, and A15 and the other α subunit. There is only a modest correlation between insulin amino acid residues found to contribute significantly to binding affinity based on structure-activity studies and those which closely interact with the receptor in the three dimensional structure. Not all close contacts observed in the structure necessarily make large contributions to binding energy, and factors such as change in conformation induced by substitution of residues not directly interacting with the receptor may also contribute to changes in binding affinity.

Recombinant methods have enabled the preparation of a very large number of insulin analogs, but relatively few have been extensively characterized pharmacologically. A single point mutation in the proinsulin gene identified as cause of a case of familial hyperproinsulinemia led to the synthesis of [AspB10]-insulin (68–70) and some related insulin analogs. Lacking the HisBlO residue which stabilizes hexamer formation through Zn^{2} + binding, [AspB10-insulin is absorbed about twice as rapidly as regular insulin. It exhibits a 3.5-fold increased binding affinity for the insulin receptor and is about twice as potent as insulin in metabolic assays. Surprisingly, [AspB10]-insulin is 10- to 20-fold more

potent than the parent in mitogenic assays (71, 72). While [AspB10]-insulin has increased affinity for the IGF-I receptor relative to insulin; its relative affinity for this receptor is about 1000-fold lower than for the insulin receptor, and enhanced mitogenic potency has been observed in a cell line lacking IGF-I receptors. The mitogenic/metabolic potency ratios of [AspB10]-insulin and several other insulin analogs are inversely correlated with their insulin receptor dissociation rate constants (71), suggesting that increased mitogenic potency results primarily from sustained activation of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase through formation of longlived ligand-receptor complexes. A dosedependent increase in incidence of adenocarcinomas in laboratory animals treated with suprapharmacological doses of [AspB10]insulin prevented development of this analog as a therapeutic agent (65). Thus, the pharmacologic actions produced on administration of a particular insulin analog may depend not only on insulin receptor affinity, intrinsic activity and selectivity, but also half-life of the ligand-receptor complex.

Modifications of the native insulin sequence at the C-terminus in the B26 to B30 region have led to all of the marketed insulin analogs. This region is not critical for binding to the insulin receptor (65, 73), but sequence modifications here often yield analogs with altered tendencies to form aggregates. A systematic investigation (61) of amino acid substitutions in the insulin B-chain with the intent of reducing dimer stability by introducing charge-charge or steric repulsion led to replacement of ProB28 with aspartic acid to afford [AspB28]-insulin (insulin aspart). Insulin aspart retains the biological profile of insulin, but is more rapidly absorbed. Synthesis of a series of analogs having LysB29 replaced with proline and varying the amino acid at B28 led to identification of [LysB28 ProB29]-insulin (insulin lispro) as a fully potent insulin analog with decreased association in solution and faster onset of action than the parent (38, 74).

Sequence modifications which increase the isoelectric point of insulin from 5.4 toward neutrality led to analogs which form microprecipitates and have extended duration of action (29, 75). Following this concept, addition of two basic **arginine** residues to the C-terminus of insulin and substitution of glycine for **AspA21** gave the long acting [GlyA21 ArgB31 ArgB32]-insulin (insulin glargine) with an isoelectric point near pH7.0 (29, 76). Long acting insulin analogs also result from fatty acid acylation of the side-chain amino group of LysB29, increasing size and promoting binding of these analogs to albumin, thus delaying absorption from the subcutaneous injection site (29, 77, 78). [LysB29-tetradecanoyl des-B30]-insulin (insulin detemir) in which albumin binding is further enhanced by deletion of the terminal threonine at B30 is undergoing clinical evaluation.

2.2 Insulinotropic Agents

Insulinotropic agents directly stimulate the release of insulin from pancreatic β -cells, and are thus useful only in the treatment of NIDDM. The drugs in this class are often divided into the subclasses of sulfonylureas and glinides. These compounds are structurally related and share a common mechanism of action, and are described together.

Sulfonylureas have been used as hypoglycemic agents since the mid-1950s. They act by closing membrane-bound ATP-sensitive potassium (\mathbf{K}_{ATP}) channels on the p-cell, causing depolarization and the opening of voltagegated calcium channels. The resulting influx of Ca^{2+} triggers exocytosis of insulin. The structures and properties of the major marketed sulfonylureas are shown in Tablel.3, roughly in order of increasing potency. Compounds in the first generation of this class such as chlorpropamide, tolbutamide, and tolazamide are still in use, but are less potent than the more recently introduced secondgeneration drugs like glipizide, glyburide, and glimepiride. Treatment regimens with sulfonylureas provide more or less continuous hypoglycemic activity with once- or twice-daily dosing.

As with the rapid onset, short-duration insulin~two short-acting glinide insulin secretagogues, repaglinide and nateglinide (Table 1.4), have recently become available. Taken immediately before meals, these agents provide increased insulin secretion in the postprandial period. Like sulfonylureas, the compounds act by closing pancreatic β -cell K_{ATP}

Table 1.3 St	ructures a	and Properties	s of Insulinot	ropic Agents: Sulfonylureas				
USP or Nonproprietary Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Chemical Class	Structure	Daily Dose	t_{\max}	$t_{1/2}$	Duration ^a
Tolbutamide	Orinase	Pharmacia and Upjohn	Sulfonylurea		250-3000 mg	3-4 h	4.5–6.5 h	6–12 h
Acetohexamide	Dymelor	Lilly	Sulfonylurea	H ₃ C H H ₃ C H	250–1500 mg	1–2 h (parent) 2–5 h (metabolite) ^b	0.8–2.4 h 3.7–6.4 h	12–18 h
Tofazamide	Tolinase	Pharmacia and Upjohn	Sulfonylurea	H ³ C / H	100–1000 mg	3-4 h	7 h	12-24 h
Chlorpropamide	Diabinese	Pfizer	Sulfonylurea		100–750 mg	2-4 h	36 h	60 h

e 1.3 Structures and Properties of Insulinotropic Agents: Sulfonyli





USP or Nonproprietary						_		
Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Chemical Class	Structure	Dose	$t_{\rm max}$	$t_{1/2}$	Duration ^a
Repaglinide	Prandin	Novo Nordisk	Benzoic Acid	CH ₃ H ₃ C NH O CH ₃ CH ₃ CH ₃	0.5–4 mg 2, 3, or 4 × daily	1 h	1–1.4 h	46 h
Nateglinide	Starlix .	Novartis	Phenylalanine	O OH N H	120 mg 3 × daily	<1 h	1.5 h	

Table 1.4 Structures and Properties of Insulinotropic Agents: Glinides

"Ref. 3.

14

channels, but have rapid onset after oral administration and short duration of action. Repaglinide is the more potent of the two, but nateglinide reportedly has somewhat faster onset and shorter duration of action (81).

2.2.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects. Sulfonylureas are generally well tolerated. The major safety concern is severe hypoglycemia, with the longer-acting agents carrying a greater risk. In the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), the proportion of patients experiencing major hypoglycemic episodes was 1.0 and 1.4% per year with chlorpropamide and glyburide, respectively, as compared to 0.7% with diet and 1.8% with insulin therapy (82). Sulfonylureas are for the most part subject to hepatic metabolism, yielding less active or inactive metabolites that are then eliminated through the kidney. Patients with impaired hepatic or renal function risk severe hypoglycemia because of accumulation of active drug in circulation. As with insulin, gain in body weight is common. The University Group Diabetes Program (UGDP) study found an increased risk of cardiovascular mortality associated with the treatment of type 2 diabetes with tolbutamide, although the methods used have been criticized. The UKPDS showed no increase in cardiac events with sulfonylurea treatment (3, 83). Less is known on long-term side effects with the newer glinide short-acting insulinotropic agents. Like sulfonylureas, weight gain is a side effect of repaglinide or nateglinide therapy. In year-long preapproval clinical trials with repaglinide, 13% of patients discontinued the use of the drug because of adverse events, most commonly hyperglycemia or hypoglycemia. In studies of 6 months or longer with nateglinide, 0.3% of patients discontinued because of hypoglycemia.

2.2.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination. All of the marketed sulfonylureas are nearly completely absorbed, and the class has excellent oral bioavailability. A quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) model for human drug oral bioavailability (84) has recently been developed, in which the descriptors A log D (log $D_{6.5}$ – log $D_{7.4}$) and log $D_{6.5}$ both proved to be important

contributors in addition to a variety of structural descriptors. The $\log D_{6.5}$ descriptor is the log of the octanol-water distribution coefficient at pH 6.5 and a measure of lipophilicity at the pH of the small intestine. The A log D term is the difference between log D measured at pH 6.5 and that measured at pH 7.4, the pH of blood. It has a positive value for acids and is negative for bases. The optimum value for log $D_{6.5}$ is about -0.3 and the **A** log D weighting coefficient is positive, indicating that, all things being equal, there is better bioavailability for acids than for neutral or basic compounds. An interpretation of the A log D outcome is that a higher fraction of un-ionized compound at pH 6.5 aids absorption, whereas a higher fraction of ionized compound at pH 7.4 aids in preventing first-pass metabolism. Sulfonylureas are weak acids, with $\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}}$ values in the range of 5.0 to 6.3 (85), and values (84) for $\log D_{6.5}$ for glipizide, glyburide, and tolbutamide (1.31, 1.85, and 1.11, respectively) predict excellent oral bioavailability in the absence of metabolically labile functionality.

Although the marketed sulfonylureas are all well absorbed, they differ in the time required to reach maximum blood levels (Table 1.3) and in metabolic fate and in rate and mode of elimination. These differences can have important implications for safe use of the various drugs. Accumulation of these agents in *vivo* can lead to extended episodes of serious or fatal hypoglycemia through **overstimulation** of insulin release. Insulinotropic drugs, for instance. which are metabolized to active compounds that are eliminated solely by renal excretion, pose a serious risk of hypoglycemia in renally compromised individuals.

The volumes of distribution for the various sulfonylureas are similar, with V_d values in the range of 0.1–0.3 L/kg, indicating limited distribution beyond extracellular water (86). They are highly bound to serum protein (90–99%).

The older first-generation sulfonylureas are extensively metabolized and primarily excreted renally. Tolbutamide is transformed by oxidation of the benzylic methyl group, **yield**inga hydroxymethylmetabolite, (1a), which is further oxidized to the corresponding **carbox**ylic acid, (1b). These metabolites have little activity.



 $(1a)R = CH_2OH$ (1b)R = COOH

Tolazamide is more slowly eliminated than tolbutamide, with a half-life of about 7 h. Like tolbutamide, it is metabolized (87) by oxidation of the benzylic methyl group to a hydroxymethyl metabolite, which has some activity, and to the corresponding carboxylic acid. It is also hydroxylated on the 4 position of the hexahydroazepine ring and hydrolyzed to ptoluenesulfonamide. The metabolites are excreted largely in the urine along with about 7% of the parent drug. Gliclazide is somewhat more slowly absorbed and has a longer halflife (10–12 h) than that of tolbutamide and tolazamide. Excretion is 60-70% in urine and 10-20% in feces. It is also metabolized (88) by oxidation of the benzylic methyl group to a hydroxymethyl compound and a carboxylic acid, which are the main metabolites in urine. Lesser amounts of five other metabolites, hydroxylated at various positions on the azabicyclooctyl ring, have also been identified. The metabolites are not believed to have significant hypoglycemic activity (86). Less than 1% of the drug is found unchanged in urine.

Acetohexamide is metabolized by reduction in the liver of its ketone function to an alcohol. hydroxyhexamide, which is pharmacologically active (79, 86). After oral administration, the plasma concentration of the parent compound peaks in 1-2 h, then falls rapidly. The active metabolite has a longer half-life and prolongs the duration of action. Hydroxyhexamide is excreted primarily in the urine with a small amount of the parent and other clinically unimportant metabolites. Chlorpropamide is quite long lived in circulation, with an elimination half-life of about 36 h. It is slowly metabolized by hydroxylation at the 2 or 3 position of the propyl substituent, yielding metabolites that retain some activity and by N-dealkylation to *p*-chlorobenzenesulfonylurea (86, 89). Urinary excretion is the main

route of elimination from the system. About 20% of the dose is excreted as unchanged drug.

With the newer second-generation compounds, glyburide is metabolized by hydroxylation on the cyclohexane ring, yielding 4-trans and 3-cis-hydroxy derivatives. Both of these metabolites may contribute to the overall hypoglycemic activity (90). An elimination half-life of 15 h, on the basis of an improved analytical method, is probably more in line with the observed duration of action (91).Glyburide has been reported to accumulate in pancreatic islets, a finding'that was unique to this drug (92). It is eliminated as its metabolites with approximately equal amounts in urine and bile. Glipizide is similarly metabolized primarily by hydroxylation at the 3 and 4 positions of the cyclohexane ring, although the metabolites are not believed to contribute to the activity of the drug. It is eliminated somewhat more rapidly than either glyburide or glimepiride, mainly in the urine as hydroxylated metabolites and polar conjugates. Of the second-generation agents, glipizide has the most rapid onset, but also has a somewhat shorter duration than that of either glyburide or glimepiride.

Glimepiride is completely metabolized by oxidation of the pendant methyl substituent on the cyclohexane ring to a hydroxymethyl metabolite (2a) and a carboxylic acid (2b). The hydroxymethyl metabolite has about **one**third of the hypoglycemic activity of the parent in an animal model, whereas the other was not active. Glimepiride is eliminated with a half-life of about 9 h, and metabolites, but no parent drug, are found in both urine (60%) and feces (40%), with (2b) the predominant species in urine and (2a) in feces.

The short-acting insulinotropic agents repaglinide and nateglinide are rapidly and completely absorbed. After oral administration, both drugs reach peak plasma levels in about 1 h. Steady-state volumes of distribution (V_{ss}) after intravenous (i.v.) injection are **31** L for repaglinide and **10** L nateglinide, indicating little distribution beyond the plasma volume for the latter and a somewhat wider distribution for the former. Both drugs are >98% bound to serum protein.

Repaglinide is extensively metabolized in the liver by dealkylation and oxidation to a



(2a) $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ (2b) $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{COOH}$

dicarboxylic acid, (**3a**), by further dealkylation of (**3a**) to amine, (**3b**), and by formation of an acyl glucuronide of the parent. Elimination is



rapid, with a half-life of about 1 h. About 90% of drug-related species are excreted in the feces in radiolabeled experiments, mainly **as** (3a) with less than 2% of the parent (93).

Nateglinide is metabolized by the mixedfunction oxidase system primarily by oxidation of the isopropyl side chain. It is eliminated mainly in the urine (94), primarily as (4a)



(33%) and unchanged parent (16%), along with lesser amounts of (4b) and (4c), acyl glucuronides, and dehydration or dehydrogenation product (5). Metabolite (5) is approximately equipotent with nateglinide, but only small amounts are formed.



2.2.3 Physiology and Pharmacology. Sulfonylureas and the carboxylic acid glinide hypoglycemic agents stimulate insulin secretion by a direct action on pancreatic islet β -cells, and are a mainstay in treatment of type 2 diabetes in patients with good β -cell function. The pharmacologic actions of these drugs are largely, if not entirely, mediated by increased insulin production, and thus are essentially the same as insulin. Sulfonylurea therapy typically has been found to reduce fasting hyperglycemia by 3.3-3.9 mmol/L and HbA_{1c} by 1.5-2% (3). There is less clinical experience with the short-acting glinides, but repaglinide appears to have a similar effect on HbA_{1c} and the very short acting nateglinide somewhat less as monotherapy.

Both sulfonylureas and glinides exert their action by binding to and closing an ATP-sensitive potassium channel (K_{ATP}) in the plasma membrane of the β -cell (95, 96). Glucose is transported into these cells predominately by the non-insulin-dependent GLUT2 transporter, and the rate of glucose transport into the cell and metabolism reflect plasma glucose concentration. At low glucose concentrations, the transmembrane potential of pancreatic β -cells is maintained at about -70 mV by an outward flow of K⁺ ions through the K_{ATP} channel. After a rise in plasma glucose, the increase in glucose metabolism leads to a rise in the ATP/ADP ratio and closure of K_{ATP}

Table 1.5 Binding Parameters for	
Sulfonylureas and Glinides with HEK	
EBNA[Human SUR1] Cell Membranes	

	$K_{ m i}$ n M (SEM)	Hill Coefficient (SEM)
Glyburide	2.3 (0.4)	1.0 (0.05)
Glimepiride	4.5 (0.9)	1.1 (0.13)
Glipizide	100 (24)	0.82 (0.12)
Repaglinide	240 (38)	0.90 (0.07)
Nateglinide	1300 (110)	0.80 (0.05)
Tolbutamide	270,000 (17,000)	1.05 (0.09)

channels, thus depolarizing the cell. The change in membrane potential results in the opening of voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels and an increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} , which triggers insulin release. Sulfonylureas, by block-ingpotassium current through the K_{ATP} channel, produce the same effect.

The \mathbf{K}_{ATP} channel is composed of two protein subunits in a ratio of 4:4. One subunit, termed Kir6.2, is a member of the inward rectifying potassium channel family. The other regulatory subunit, SUR1, belongs to the ABC (ATP-binding cassette)-transporter superfamily. Sulfonylureas bind with the K_{ATP} channel at both a low affinity site on Kir6.2 and a high affinity site on SUR1, which confers the channel-blocking activity. The sulfonylurea binding site appears to be located on the intracellular side of **SUR1**. The number of bound sulfonylurea molecules required for $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{ATP}}$ channel closure is not known. Because there are four SURI subunits in each K_{ATP} channel, binding ratios greater than unity may be required to block potassium current.

The relative potency of various **sulfonyl**ureas and glinides determined by direct competitive displacement of [³H]glyburide from membrane preparations of recombinant human embryonic kidney cells expressing high levels of SUR1 is shown in Table 1.5 (97). Both sulfonylureas and the glinides displace [³H]glyburide from **SUR1-containing** membrane preparations. Moreover, they appear to occupy very similar sites on the receptor protein, given that neither repaglinide nor nateglinide has any effect on the dissociation kinetics of [³H]glyburide.

The high affinity binding of sulfonylureas to SUR1 suggests the existence of an endoge-

nous ligand. Two polypeptides isolated from porcine brain, *a*- and β -endosulfine, have been found to inhibit sulfonylurea binding to SUR1, although the functional significance is not clear (98, 99).

2.2.4 History. As early as 1942, Janbon (100) observed a high incidence of hypoglycemia in typhoid patients treated with a bacteriostatic isopropylthiadiazole derivative of sulfanilamide. Subsequently, during antibacterial clinical testing of N-(4-aminobenzene-sulfonyl)-N'-butylurea, carbutamide (6) was also found to have similar hypoglycemic activity. Structure-activity studies at Boehringer Mannheim and at Hoechst led to the introduction of carbutamide and tolbutamide as antidiabetic agents in 1956.

2.2.5 Structure–Activity. The more recently introduced insulinotropic agents are complex, richly functionalized molecules, the optimized products of many extensive synthetic and pharmacological investigations (101–117) of structure–activity relationships (SAR). Common features found in potent compounds (102, 103, 106) of this class are summarized in Fig. 1.2, illustrated by the use of glyburide, repaglinide, and nateglinide as reference structures. The relationship to other compounds in Table 1.3 is readily apparent.

Hypoglycemic sulfonylureas and glinides contain an acidic functional group (A in Fig. 1.2) that is required for insulinotropic activity. In all of the marketed drugs of this class, the acidic group is attached to a phenyl ring (**B** in Fig. 1.2). The acidic group is generally a sulfonylurea, a propionate, or carboxylate, although compounds containing other acidic moieties like sulfonylsemicarbazides, sulfonylaminopyrimidines, sulfonylcyanoguanidines, and sulfonamidonitroethylenes are quite active.

Substitution on the acidic function with a pendant lipophilic group (C in Fig. 1.2) greatly enhances (103) affinity for the SUR1 and increases selectivity for SUR1 over related SUR2A receptors found in heart and skeletal muscle and SUR2B receptors found in smooth muscle. In the earliest sulfonylureas, this sub-



Figure 1.2. Common structural features found in sulfonylurea, benzoic acid, and phenylalanine derived hypoglycemic agents.

stituent is often an N-propyl or N-butyl group, whereas cycloalkyl groups are most common in later compounds. The pendant lipophilic group cannot be attached to benzoic acid derivatives like repaglinide, but it has been proposed that the alkyl group of the 2-ethoxy substituent on the phenyl ring (C) of this compound occupies a similar site on the receptor (106). Phenylalanine derivatives like nateglinide have a chiral center adjacent to the carboxylate. In these compounds, the R configuration at this center is required for activity (104, 105).

The acidic group in these agents is attached to a phenyl ring (C), which is most often substituted para to the acidic function. In firstgeneration sulfonylureas, the *para*-substituents are small groups like methyl, acetyl, or chloro. Introduction of larger groups composed of an **amido** linker (D) attached to an aromatic or heterocyclic tail (E) greatly increases the potency of the second-generation compounds. In the amido linker, the carbon and nitrogen atoms of an amide are incorporated into a four-atom chain, with the amido nitrogen occupying the third position from the phenyl ring (C). In the sulfonylureas glyburide, glipizide, and glimepiride, the carbon atom of the amido carbonyl group is at the fourth position. Some benzoic acid derivatives like meglitinide (7), which has tolbutamide-



like potency (107, 110, 117), have a similar arrangement of the amido linker. The arrangement in which the carbonyl is at the second position as in repaglinide or the **sulfonyl**-urea (8) [active at 0.25 mg/kg p.o. in rabbits



(116)] also affords highly potent compounds. In this alternative, alkyl substitution of the carbon at the fourth position improves potency and activity resides in the *S*-enantiomers in both sulfonylurea and benzoic acid derivatives. Within the amido linker, the carbonyl group may be more important than the amide NH, and it has been suggested that each alternative chain arrangement positions its respective oxo function to accept a hydrogen bond from the same donor group in the SUR1 protein (106). Nateglinide lacks an equivalent to the amido linker (D in Fig. 1.2) and the aromatic or heterocyclic tail (E). In related *N*-benzoylphenylalanine compounds (102), the SAR determined for substitution on phenyl ring C parallels that for sulfonylureas, and compound (9), containing a side chain somewhat



like those found in the second-generation sulfonylureas and repaglinide, was active ([³H]-glyburide binding inhibition $IC_{50} = 28 \ \mu M$; inhibition of K_{ATP} channel activity $EC_{50} = 3.5 \ \mu M$).

The amido linker found in second-generation sulfonylureas and repaglinide terminates in an attachment to an aromatic or heterocyclic group (E in Fig. 1.2), which is often substituted ortho to the point of attachment. Substituents such as alkyleneimino, alkoxy, or oxo having an oxygen or nitrogen atom adjacent to the ring afford potent compounds (106). Glipizide lacks this ortho substituent, but the pyrazino nitrogen may serve a similar function in binding.

Conformational analysis of some secondgeneration sulfonylureas and repaglinide identified low energy conformations of these agents, in which the pharmacophoric groups derived by SAR studies could be best superimposed (106). The proposed binding conformations for glyburide and repaglinide are shown in Fig. 1.3.

2.3 Insulin-Sensitizing Agents

Two subclasses of insulin-sensitizing agents are currently available, the biguanides and the thiazolidinediones. They are described separately in this section because drugs in these



Figure **1.3.** Proposed binding conformations (106) for glyburide and repaglinide based on the selection of calculated low energy conformers, which allow approximate superimposition of the major **pharma**-cophoric groups.

subclasses do not share a common mechanism of action and are not structurally similar.

2.3.1 Biguanides. First introduced in the late 1950, metformin (Table 1.6) is best described as an antihyperglycemicagent because it does not normally cause hypoglycemia. It enhances insulin sensitivity and is not effective in the absence of insulin (118). Metformin lowers blood glucose levels in NIDDM patients by suppressing hepatic glucose output and enhancing peripheral glucose uptake, but the underlying mechanism(s) is not completely understood. Other biguanides produce similar effects, but concern over potential to cause lactic acidosis has largely led to their removal from the market.

2.3.1.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects. The major side effects associated with metformin therapy are gastrointestinal, including diarrhea, nausea, abdominal discomfort, and anorexia, which improve with dose reduction and can be minimized by slow dose titration (3, 118). Lactic acidosis, a serious often fatal side effect associated with biguanides, is rare

with metformin, with incidence estimated at 0.01 to 0.08 per 1000 patient-years. With metformin therapy, lactic acidosis most often occurs in patients with renal insufficiency, problems with alcohol abuse, or liver and cardiopulmonary disease (3, 118, 119). Metformin is removed from the system almost exelusively by renal elimination of the unchanged drug. Thus, poor renal function may lead to accumulation. Hypoglycemia is rare with metformin monotherapy.

2.3.1.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabo*lism, and Elimination.* Biguanides are strongly basic, and metformin ($pK_a = 11.5$) is completely protonated and cationic over the physiologic pH range. Absorption of metformin from the GI tract after oral administration is incomplete, with 20 to 30% recovered in the feces (120). In single oral dosing studies, a lack of dose proportionality indicates decreased absorption with increasing dose. Peak blood levels are obtained in 2 to 4 h. The average volume of distribution after a single oral dose of 850 mg is 654 L. The pharmacokinetics of metformin have been described by use of a twocompartment model (120), with rapid distribution to a central plasma compartment followed by slow transfer to a deep compartment. Tissue concentrations higher than that in plasma are found in liver, kidney, salivary glands, and the intestinal wall. Metformin does not bind to plasma proteins, but does partition into erythrocytes. It is not metabolized and is excreted unchanged in the urine. After i.v. administration, renal clearance is about **3.5** times creatinine clearance, an indication of tubular secretion.

Metformin is slowly and incompletely absorbed and rapidly eliminated without hepatic metabolism. This pharmacokinetic profile **may** make drug accumulation and lactic acidosis less likely to occur with metformin than with other biguanides. Sales of the longer-acting biguanide phenformin (10), for instance, which is metabolized in the liver by aromatic



USP or Nonproprietary Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Chemical Class	Structure	Daily Dose	t _{max}	$t_{1/2}$	Duration ^a
Metformin	Glucophage	Bristol-Meyers Squibb	Biguanide	$H_{3}C \underbrace{\overset{NH}{\underset{l}{}_{H_{3}}} H_{1}}_{CH_{3}} H_{1}C \underbrace{\overset{NH}{\underset{l}{}_{H_{2}}} H_{1}C}_{NH_{2}}$	1500–2550 mg	2-4 h	6.2 h	>3-4 wk

 Table 1.6
 Structure and Properties of Metformin

"Ref. 3.

hydroxylation, were discontinued in the United States in 1977 because of its association with lactic acidosis.

2.3.1.3 *Physiology and Pharmacology.* Used in treatment of type 2 diabetes, metformin has typically been found to reduce fasting hyperglycemia by 1 to 3.9 mmol/L and HbA_{1c} by 1 to 2% (3, 119, 121, 122), approximately equally efficacious with sulfonylureas, and also to reduce postprandial hyperglycemia. As monotherapy, it generally does not induce hypoglycemia nor does it increase insulin secretion. It does, however, require the presence of insulin.

In vivo, the principal antidiabetic effect of metformin is suppression of hepatic glucose output. This could, in theory, arise from either inhibition of glycogenolysis or gluconeogenesis or both, and studies examining the relative contribution of each have produced conflicting results (123, 124). A recent study employing both ¹³C-NMR and isotope techniques concluded that suppression of endogenous glucose production with 3 months of metformin monotherapy in type 2 diabetics was completely attributed to a reduction in gluconeogenesis, although hepatic glycogen content did increase (125). Metformin enhances insulin sensitivity and glucose disposal in peripheral tissue (3, 118). At the cellular level, this appears to be attributable in part to increased glucose transport (119, 125–129). Metformin treatment is often associated with an improved plasma lipid profile (121, 130), lowering plasma triglyceride and LDL cholesterol.

At the molecular level, precise target receptor(~have not been identified. Metformin has been reported to activate the AMP-activated protein kinase system (AMPK) in primary hepatocytes (131). AMPK has been proposed as a key regulatory enzyme of carbohydrate and fat metabolism (132). This kinase is activated through an allosteric mechanism by binding 5'-AMP and also by phosphorylation. Activation of AMPK by phosphorylation is 5'-AMP dependent because the binding of AMP to the enzyme makes it a better substrate for AMPK kinase, which phosphorylates AMPK, and a poorer substrate for protein phosphatase 2C, which dephosphorylates it. AMPK kinase is also activated by 5'-AMP. These actions of 5'-AMP are antagonized by high concentrations of ATP, and thus the system

responds to the AMP/ATP ratio. Metformin has no direct effect on the activity of partially purified AMPK, but in primary hepatocytes it increases the phosphorylation and activity of AMPK in a time-dependent manner. This may occur through modulation of AMPK kinase or PP2C, or through a change in the AMP/ATP ratio. At relatively high concentrations, metformin inhibits respiratory chain complex I in intact hepatocytes through an unknown signaling pathway (133), but not in isolated mitochondria. Such fnhibition might lead to an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio and thus account for increased phosphorylation of AMPK. In any case, activation of AMPK would be expected to increase fatty acid oxidation and glucose uptake in muscle, while decreasing hepatic gluconeogenesis and lipogenesis, a pattern of activity that is similar to that observed with metformin.

In Xenopus **oocytes** (126, **134**), treatment with metformin has been shown to increase insulin receptor **tyrosine** kinase activity associated with activation of phospholipase C and increased levels of IP_3 and intracellular Ca^{2+} . Thus metformin, through increasing receptor **tyrosine kinase** activity, may facilitate IRS protein phosphorylation and activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, leading to increased glucose uptake.

2.3.1.4 Structure–Activity. The available data on the relationship of structure to hypoglycemic activity for substituted biguanides result from a very limited number of studies, generally in healthy animals (135–137). Alkyl substitution (structure 11) at R_1 increases ac-



tivity through n-pentyl, but decreases with longer chain length, branching, or with cyclic alkyl substituents. When R_1 is aralkyl, phenethyl is the most potent. Potency is highest with a hydrogen or methyl substituent at R_2 . **2.3.2** Thiazolidinediones. The thiazolidinediones (Table 1.7) are the most recently introduced class of oral agents for treatment of type 2 diabetes, improving insulin sensitivity and lowering blood glucose, free fatty acid, and triglyceride levels. The thiazolidinediones are **PPAR** γ (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ) agonists. The **PPAR** γ receptor is a member of the nuclear hormone receptor family of ligand-activated transcription factors that regulates gene expression of several genes involved in fatty acid and carbohydrate metabolism and adipocyte differentiation (138).

2.3.2.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects. Because of their recent introduction, long-term side effects are less well known than with the other classes of hypoglycemic agents. Both rosiglitazone and pioglitazone are generally well tolerated. Weight gain and minor edema are associated with thiazolidinedione therapy, and their use in patients with moderate to severe chronic heart failure is not advised. Decreases in hemoglobin levels and hemocrit have also been found. The first marketed thiazolidinedione, troglitazone (**12**), was with-



drawn because of increased risk of hepatotoxicity. Approximately 1.9% of patients treated with troglitazone in preapproval controlled clinical trials showed an increase in plasma of the liver enzyme alanine aminotransferase (ALT) greater than three times the upper limit of the normal range. In trials with rosiglitizone or pioglitizone, the incidence of significantly elevated ALT was low and similar to that of placebo. However, regular monitoring of liver enzymes is recommended when these drugs are used (139,140). 2.3.2.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination. Rosiglitazone is well absorbed, with absolute bioavailability of 99%. After oral dosing, peak blood levels are observed in about 1 h. Rosiglitazone is highly bound to plasma protein (99.8%), with a steady-state volume of distribution of appoximately 17.6 L. Pioglitazone is also well absorbed, reaching maximum blood levels in about 2 h. Binding to plasma proteins is greater than 99%, with a single dose volume of distribution of 0.63 L/kg.

Rosiglitazone is metabolized in the liver primarily by N-demethylation and by hydroxylation of the pyridine ring at the 5 position (*para* to the side chain), followed by conjugation (141, **142**), but the metabolites are not believed to contribute significantly to clinical effect. The drug is eliminated, with a halflife of 3 to 4 h, primarily in the urine (**64%**), with lesser amounts in the feces (23%).**Piogli**tazone is extensively metabolized (143, **144**) by **O-dealkylation** to (**13**), by benzylic oxidations of methylene groups adjacent to the **pyri**dine ring (**14a**, **14b**, **14c**, and **14e**) and by ω oxidation of the pyridine ethyl substituent (**14d**).

Metabolites (14a), (14b), and (14c) have hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects in Wistar fatty rats, and may contribute significantly to the pharmacological activity of pioglitazone in humans. Serum half-life of the parent drug is 3–7 h, whereas that for total pioglitazone-related species is 16–24 h. From 15 to 30% of an oral dose is excreted in the urine, primarily as metabolites and their conjugates. The balance is presumably excreted in the bile.

2.3.2.3 Physiology and Pharmacology. Rosiglitazone and pioglitazone have only recently been introduced for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, and evaluations of the efficacy of these drugs over years of therapy are not yet available. In large preapproval clinical trials of 24–26 weeks in type 2 diabetics (145), pioglitazone treatment (45 mg, once daily) as monotherapy reduced fasting blood glucose by 3.6 and 3.8 mmol/L compared with placebo and HbA_{1e} by 1.5 and 1.6%, respectively. In two similar 26-week preapproval studies (146), rosiglitazone monotherapy (4 mg, twice daily) resulted in decreases in mean fasting plasma

USP or Nonproprietary Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Chemical Class	Structure	Daily Dose	t_{\max}	$t_{1/2}$	Duration ^a
Rosiglitazone	Avandia	SmithKline Beecham	Thiazolidinedione	CH ₃ N N N O S N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N O O N N N O O N N O O N N N O O N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O N N N O O O N N N N O O N N N N N O O N N N N N N O O N N N N N N N N N N N N N	48 mg	1–1.75 hr	34 hr	>3-4 wk
Pioglitazone	Actos	Takeda/Lilly	Thiazolidinedione	H ₃ C NH	15–45 mg	2–4 hr	3–7 hr	>34 wk

Table 1.7 Structures and Properties of Thiazolidinediones

"Ref. 3.

M

glucose levels of 3.4 and 4.2 mmol/L relative to a placebo-treated group, with a mean decrease of 1.5% in HbA_{1c} in both. In a 52-week glyburide-controlled study, rosiglitazone at 2 or 4 mg twice daily was initially less efficacious than glyburide in reducing hyperglycemia, but by the end of the study, both drugs produced a similar response (change in HbA_{1c}: -0.7% with glyburide and -0.5% with rosiglitazone). This might suggest that the hypoglycemic activity of rosiglitazone and perhaps other thiazolidinediones, although initially less than that of sulfonylureas, is more durable over time. In addition to hypoglycemic activity, thiazolidinediones reduce insulin levels and improve insulin resistance, markedly reduce plasma free fatty acids, increase the storage of fat, and often improve the blood lipid profile (139. 147). The thiazolidinediones also increase adipose tissue cell differentiation. Rosiglitazone promotes the differentiation of human subcutaneous preadipocytes into adipocytes, but has little effect on preadipocytes from visceral adipose tissue depots (147, 148). As discussed later in this section, the effects of thiazolidinediones on carbohydrate metabolism are probably at least in part a result of the action of these compounds on the storage and metabolism of fat.

Thiazolidinediones bind to and activate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPARy) (149–152). PPARy is a member of the PPAR family of nuclear receptors, which are ligand-activated transcription factors regulating storage and metabolism of fatty acids. The three members of the PPAR family, termed a, 6, and γ , are activated by fatty acids and fatty acid metabolites. PPARa is the target receptor for the fibrate class of hypolipidemic agents. Activation of this receptor in rodents, but not humans, leads to an increase in the number and size of hepatic peroxisomes, organelles involved in β -oxidation of fatty acids, a property unique to **PPAR** α , from which the name of the receptor family was derived. Less is known about the function of **PPAR** δ , although a **PPAR** δ -selective agonist has been reported to increase reverse cholesterol transport (153).

PPARy and transcription factors of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein family (C/ EBP α , - β , and - β) are integral members of the

genetic cascade leading to adipogenesis (154), the process of adipocyte differentiation. Activation of PPARy, which is highly expressed in adipose tissue (155–159), leads to upregulation of the expression of genes regulating fatty acid transport, storage, and oxidation. There are two isoforms of PPARy, termed PPARyl and **PPAR** γ 2, differing in that **PPAR** γ 2 has 28 additional amino acids at the N-terminus in humans (157). Both PPARyl and PPAR $\gamma 2$ are abundant adipose tissue, with mRNA for **PPAR** γ 2 generally about 10 to 15% of that of PPARyl. Lesser amounts of PPARy2 have been found in liver, whereas PPARyl appears to be more widely distributed (152, 156, 158-160). PPARy activation also leads to decreased expression of gene-encoding enzymes required for gluconeogenesis in the liver and suppressing glucose oxidation in muscle (150, 161).

Comprehensive mRNA profiling has been used to identify genes regulated directly or indirectly by PPARy in various tissues in Zucker diabetic fatty rats (161). Proteins for which PPARy activation leads to increased mRNA in white adipose tissue include enzymes acetyl-CoA carboxylase, fatty acid synthase, and dihydrolipoamide acyltransferase [a component of the pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) complex] required for lipogenesis, and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK), glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase, and long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase for triglyceride biosynthesis. In muscle, expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4) is decreased. PDK4 phosporylates and deactivates PDH complex, limiting oxidative glucose disposal. Thus, suppression of PDK4 gene expression would lead to an increase in muscle glucose oxidation. In contrast to adipose tissue, liver expression of PEPCK is suppressed by PPARy activation along with other enzymes required for gluconeogenesis, including pyruvate carboxylase and glucose-6phosphatase.

In common with other **PPARs**, PPARy forms an obligate heterodimer (152,162) with 9-cis retinoic acid receptors (**RXR**) and regulates gene expression through binding of the heterodimer to DNA response elements, containing two copies of the sequence AGGTCA, separated by a single nucleotide (**DR1** motif).
Specificity is likely a result of small differences in optimal DNA-binding sites and differences in tissue distribution (150). Agonist binding allows recruitment of coactivator proteins such as cAMP response element binding protein (CBP) or steroid receptor coactivator 1 (SRC-1), which mediate the transcriptional activation of target genes. Coactivator proteins contain one or more leucine-rich LxxLL motifs known as nuclear receptor (NR) boxes, which bind to hydrophobic pockets formed on agonist binding to PPARy and other nuclear receptor proteins. The nature of the xx amino acid residues as well as residues flanking the NR box appears to determine the coactivatorreceptor specificity (163).

The affinity of particular agents for binding to PPARy can be assessed with conventional binding assays (149) employing radioligands such as [³H]rosiglitazone. A scintillation proximity assay (164) amenable to high throughput screening has also been developed. Variations of functional transactivation assays are used that measure expression of PPARy target genes in mammalian cells transfected with both a chimeric receptor expression construct, composed of the ligand-binding domain of PPARy coupled with the DNA-binding domain of the yeast transcription factor GAL4, and a construct containing a GAL4 response element and reporter gene combination (151, 152, 165). Reporter genes such as chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (165), secreted placental alkaline phosphatase (SPAP) (151), or firefly luciferase (149) whose products can be conveniently assayed have been used. Because GAL4 is not found in mammalian cells, activation of other nuclear receptors does not interfere with these assays. Comparative binding affinities (152) and PPARy agonist activity (151) in a PPAR_γ-GAL4/SPAP assay for troglitazone, pioglitazone, and rosiglitazone are shown in Table 1.8. These compounds have no significant activity in PPAR α - or PPAR δ -specific assays, and the relative potencies of these thiazolidinedione agents in PPARy assays compares well with in vivo hypoglycemic potency in humans.

PPARy has a significant role in adipocyte differentiation and in the regulation of fat storage and utilization. However, thiazolidinediones are used elinically as hypoglyce-

Table 1.8Thiazolidinedione PPARyBinding Affinity and Cell-Based PPARyAgonist Activity

	PPAR γ Binding Potency (n <i>M</i>)	Human PPAR γ Agonist Activity EC ₅₀ (μM)
Troglitazone	7900	0.55
Pioglitazone	5500	0.58
Rosiglitazone	40–200	0.043

mic agents and to improve insulin sensitivity. The mechanism(s) by which PPARy activation produces these clinically useful effects is not completely established. Although at lower levels than those in adipose tissue, PPARy is present in skeletal muscle and liver, tissues primarily responsible for glucose disposal and gluconeogenesis. Hence, direct regulation by PPARy of expression of key enzymes controlling these processes cannot be ruled out. On the basis of comprehensive mRNA profiling, it has been estimated that administration of a PPARy agonist in a diabetic rodent model altered the expression level directly or indirectly of approximately 10% of all genes in white or brown adipose tissue, whereas about 2% of the genes in liver and 1% in skeletal muscle were regulated (161). The alteration in specific enzyme levels predicted by the observed changes in mRNA in liver and muscle (for instance, PEPCK and PDK4) should lead to suppression of hepatic gluconeogenesis and increased glucose oxidation in muscle. The administration of the PPARy agonist troglitazone to mice engineered to lack adipose tissue improved insulin sensitivity (166), and preincubation with troglitazone increased glucose uptake, glycogen synthase fractional velocity, and fatty acid oxidation in cultured human myotubes (167). Thus, PPARy agonists like the thiazolidinediones may have a direct action on muscle and liver that is independent of their action on fat.

Alternatively, improved insulin sensitivity and lowered blood glucose with these agents in treatment of NIDDM may be an indirect effect of their action on adipose tissue. Signaling through a number of adipocyte-derived factors, including TNF-a (168), leptin (169–172), resistin (172) and adiponectin (173), is altered by PPARy activation in ways that could lead to enhanced insulin sensitivity. In addition, free fatty acids, triglycerides, and products of fatty acid metabolism regulate insulin sensitivity. An inverse relationship between insulin sensitivity and fasting plasma free fatty acid concentrations has been observed in offspring of type 2 diabetic parents (8). Increased plasma concentrations of free fatty acids contribute to insulin resistance by inhibition of glucose uptake, glycogen synthesis, and glucose oxidation in muscle (8, 9, 16, 174) through regulatory interaction of fatty acid metabolites with components of the insulin signal transduction cascade and enzymes controlling glucose metabolism.

In normal individuals, skeletal muscle has the capacity to switch from the predominant uptake and oxidation of fatty acid as metabolic fuel under fasting conditions to greater uptake, storage, and oxidation of glucose under insulin stimulation. In obesity, which is linked strongly with type 2 diabetes, metabolic inflexibility in the form of lower fasting rates of lipid oxidation and failure of insulin to suppress fatty acid uptake and utilization is believed to lead to triglyceride accumulation in muscle (9, 175). The amount of triglyceride in skeletal muscle is significantly associated with insulin resistance. Thiazolidinediones promote the storage of fat and also redistribution of intracellular triglyceride from insulin-responsive organs into adipose tissue (175), accounting, perhaps, for improved insulin sensitivity with the use of these drugs. Although increasing the fat store might intuitively seem more likely to increase than to decrease insulin resistance, this is thought to be depot specific. Visceral adipose tissue volume, rather than general obesity or subcutaneous adipose tissue volume, appears to correlate with insulin resistance (147). After 6 months of rosiglitazone therapy, a modest but significant increase in subcutaneous fat mass was observed, with no change in visceral fat.

Elevated free fatty acids and intracellular accumulation of triglycerides in pancreatic β -cells may also play a role in loss of β -cell mass and insulin secretory function, which occur in NIDDM as the disease progresses (176, 177). In short-term studies, rosiglitazone prevented loss of p-cell mass in Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats (178), suggesting utility in slowing or preventing the progression of diabetes.

2.3.2.4 *History.* In the course of investigations on the fibrate class of hypolipidemic agents at Takeda (179, 180), a series of 5-(4-alkoxybenzyl)-2,4-thiazolidinediones were shown to reduce insulin resistance in genetically diabetic and obese animals. Ciglitazone (15), which became the prototype for this class



of drug, was found to reduce hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, and hypertriglyceridemia in insulin-resistant animal models, but not in normoglycemic animals (181, 182). Ciglitazone was taken into human trials in NIDDM subjects, but was withdrawn because of low potency and the appearance of cataracts in animals receiving long-term exposure to the drug. It was replaced in development with the more potent pioglitazone (183), which has subsequently received marketing approval in the United States and much of the world.

2.3.2.5 Structure-Activity. The relationship of structure to hypoglycemic activity and activation of the various PPARs with substituted thiazolidinediones and related compounds has been the subject of intensive investigation (179, 180, 183–202). Some general structure– activity relationships are apparent (Fig. 1.4) from a comparison of the common features of the more potent compounds identified in these studies. Thiazolidinedione hypoglycemic agents can be viewed as being composed of an acidic head group connected to a lipophilic tail by a phenoxyalkyl linker. The $\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}}$ value for thiazolidinediones is about 6.8, and thus these compounds are partially ionized at physiological pH. This appears to be important, given that removal of the acidic function by N-methylation leads to loss of activity. Other acidic moieties, heterocyclic groups like oxazolidinediones and particularly α -substituted carboxylic acids, can also



Figure 1.4. Common structural features found in thiazolidinedione PPARy agonists and related compounds.

replace the thiazolidinedione ring. The a-substituted carboxylic acids are often highly potent, but may not be selective for PPARy. Thus compound (16) has similar potency (195)



(16)

in functional transactivation assays for both **PPAR** α and - γ (EC₅₀ PPAR α 13 nM, PPARy 4 nM), whereas farglitazar (17) is highly selective (190) for PPARy (EC₅₀ PPARa 450 nM,



(17)

PPARy 0.35 n*M*). Neither (16) nor (17) has significant PPARS activity.

There is a **chiral** center at the 5 position of the thiazolidinedionering, but this is not configurationally stable under physiological conditions. For analogous a-substituted **carbox**ylic acids, the PPARy activity resides in the **S-enantiomer**. These compounds, including the thiazolidinediones, can be viewed as derivatives of phenylpropionic acid by combining the acidic head group with the phenylgroup of the linker. Some **arylacetic** acids (18 and 19)



are also fairly potent PPARy agonists (201, 202), although the SAR has not been as thoroughly explored. Compound (18) is highly selective for PPARy, whereas (19) activates both PPARS and -y.

A phenoxyethyl group (Fig. 1.4, n = 2) as the central phenoxyalkyl linker is commonly found to yield highly active compounds in SAR studies of hypoglycemic thiazolidinediones. Often shorter chain lengths (Fig. 1.4, n = 1)or inclusion of the phenoxyethyl group into a heterocyclic ring also leads to active compounds. In the lipophilic tail, incorporation of a wide variety of mostly aromatic and heteroaromatic groups has produced active agents. In a very limited study (186), the hypoglycemic potency in a series of oxazolidinediones with variations in this lipophilic tail was found to increase with increasing log P.

A small number of 3D-QSAR studies (203, 204) on the thiazolidinediones have been reported, but these agents and the PPAR receptors are not particularly well suited for this type of analysis. 3D-QSAR studies are highly dependent on alignment, which can be difficult with very flexible molecules that bind to a receptor principally by large regional diffuse hydrophobic interactions.

X-ray crystallographic studies (205-210) of thiazolidinedione and related ligands cocrystallized with various PPAR ligand-binding domains (LBDs) and often a fragment of the coactivator protein SRC-1 have provided the basis for a detailed understanding of binding conformation, PPAR receptor specificity, receptor shape, and the ligand-activation process. Rosiglitazone (205) binds to the PPARy LBD in a roughly U-shaped conformation (Fig. 1.5) in a large (-1440 Å^3) convoluted pocket. The thiazolidinedione ring binds in a polar site, making hydrogen bonds with groups in the side chains of His-449, Tyr-473, His-323, and Ser-289. Each of these amino acids forms part of a different helical component of the protein. Agonist binding results in the stabilization of a conformation in which the terminal carboxylate group of the AF-2 helix at the Cterminus of the PPARy LBD is positioned to form hydrogen bonds with elements of the RXR protein in the heterodimer. In addition, it places the LxxLL motif of the coactivator in position to bury its Leu residues in a hydrophobic cleft of the LBD. NMR studies (211)





Figure 1.5. A portion of the X-ray structure (205) of rosiglitazone co-crystallized with the PPAR γ ligand-binding domain (LBD) and a fragment of the coactivator protein SRC-1, showing the bound conformation of rosiglitazone. Coordinates were obtained from the Protein Data Bank (212) and displayed with RasMol.

suggest that agonist ligand binding results in a population shift in a dynamic ensemble of conformations rather than a switch between single active and inactive conformations. PPAR α , - δ , and - γ are structurally quite similar, and the agonist-binding conformations of the LBD are nearly identical. The PPARy selectivity of the thiazolidinediones manifests subtle differences (206, 207). The binding pocket of *PPARS* is narrower in the region of AF-2 and unable to accommodate the thiazolidinedione ring or large substituents a to the carbonyl in carboxylic acid head groups. In PPAR α , substitution of a larger tyrosine for the histamine (His-323) in PPARy involved in hydrogen bonding to the thiazolidinedione prevents binding.

2.4 α -Glucosidase Inhibitors

a-Glycosidase inhibitors (Table 1.9) delay the digestion of dietary carbohydrate in the form of starch and sucrose into monosaccharides, which can be absorbed from the small intestine. By delaying absorption, these agents lower postprandial blood glucose and insulin levels and are used for this purpose in the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

2.4.1 Side Effects, Adverse Effects. Gastrointestinal disturbances in the form of flatulence, abdominal discomfort, and, to a lesser extent, diarrhea are common side effects of therapy with a-glucosidase inhibitors. Use of acarbose at higher doses (100 mg or greater) has been associated with a low incidence of elevated serum transaminase levels, most often in patients weighing less than 60 kg.

2.4.2 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination. a-Glucosidase inhibitors exert their action in the intestinal tract, and systemic pharmacokinetics do not directly indicate the availability of the drugs at their site of action. Acarbose is extensively degraded in the intestinal tract by digestive enzymes or intestinal microorganisms, and in humans, less than 2% of an orally administered ¹⁴C-labeled dose was absorbed as the intact drug. An average of 51% of the radioactivity was excreted in the feces, whereas 35% was found in urine as at least 13 metabolites. These metabolites appear to be various O-methylated, O-sulfated, and O-glucuronidated derivatives of 4-methylpyrogallol (20) (213). Peak plasma



concentrations of radioactivity were found 14 to 24 h after dosing, whereas the plasma concentration of active drug reached a maximum in about 1 h. On i.v. administration, 89% of the dose is excreted in the urine as active drug within 48 h.

Low doses (25 mg) of miglitol are completely absorbed, but absorption is saturable and is incomplete at higher doses. Peak plasma concentrations occur in 2–3 h. The volume of distribution, 0.18 L/kg, is consistent with distribution primarily into extracellular water and binding to plasma proteins is negligible. Miglitol is renally excreted as unchanged drug, with a plasma elimination halflife of 2 h.

USP or Nonproprietary Name	Trade Name	Manufacturer	Chemical Class	Structure	Dose	Duration
Acarbose	Precose	Bayer	Pseudotetrasaccharide	HO OH H3C O HO OH O	25–100 mg 3× daily	Postprandial
Miglitol	Glyset	Pharmacia and Upjohn	Deoxyno jirimycin derivative	HO HO OH OH	25−100 mg 3× daily with meals	Postprandial
Voglibose	Basen	Takeda		HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO H	0.2–0.3 mg 3× daily	Postprandial

Table 1.9 Structure and Properties of α-Glucosidase Inhibitors

Voglibose is very poorly absorbed. In animal studies that use radiolabeled compound, it is excreted primarily in the feces as unchanged drug with less than 5% of the dose excreted renally (214).

2.4.3 Physiology and Pharmacology. The Western human diet generally includes a daily intake of about 400 g of carbohydrate, which is approximately 60% starch, 30% sucrose, and 10% lactose. Before absorption, dietary carbohydrates must be hydrolyzed enzymatically to monosaccharides in the gastrointestinal tract. The enzymes that cleave a-glycosidic linkage between C-1 of a glucose unit and C-4 or C-6 of the adjacent glucose in starch or the fructose C-2 in sucrose are termed a-glucosidases, and temporary inhibition of these enzymes delays the formation of absorbable glucose from larger carbohydrate species. Competitive inhibitors of a-glucosidases are used in the treatment of type 2 diabetes to reduce the rate of appearance of glucose in circulation after a carbohydrate-containingmeal and thus to reduce postprandial hyperglycemia. Clinically, acarbose reduces fasting plasma glucose by 1.4–1.7 mmol/L, postprandial glucose levels by 2.2–2.8 mmol/L, and HbA_{1c} values by 0.7–1% (3). Miglitol appears to be rather similar. Thus these agents, although less efficacious than sulfonylureas or metformin, reduce fasting as well as postprandial hyperglycemia, probably through an indirect mechanism.

Several different a-glucosidases are required for digestion of dietary carbohydrate. Salivary and pancreatic a-amylases are endoglycosidases that hydrolyze interior $\alpha(1,4)$ glycosidic linkages in the glucose chains of the two major types of starch: (1) amylose, a linear $\alpha(1,4)$ -linked glucose polymer; and (2) amylopectin, a branched glucose polymer containing $\alpha(1,6)$ linkages at branch points in addition to the $\alpha(1,4)$. Pancreatic a-amylase does not cleave amylopectin chains at or near the $\alpha(1,6)$ -linked branch points, and neither sucrose nor lactose is hydrolyzed. The action of pancreatic α -amylase on dietary carbohydrate thus yields a mixture composed mainly of **oli**gosaccharides containing small linear $\alpha(1,4)$ linked glucose polymers (maltose, maltotriose, etc.), the a-limit dextrins {oligosaccharides containing 5 to 9 glucose units terminating at or near a glucose attached to the chain by the a-amylase inert $\alpha(1,6)$ glycosidic linkage), sucrose, and lactose.

These oligosaccharides are hydrolyzed to absorbable monosaccharides by the action of a group of enzymes on intestinal brush border epithelial cells. Hydrolysis of sucrose and starch-derived oligosaccharides is accomplished by two homologous enzyme complexes, sucrase-isomaltase and maltase-glucoamylase, which have overlapping substrate specificities (215). Both are exoglycosidases, hydrolyzing the terminal glucose from the nonreducing end of an oligosaccharide. Sucrase-isomaltase cleaves both $\alpha(1,4)$ and $\alpha(1,6)$ linkages in small gluco-oligosaccharides, debranching the a-limit dextrins and hydrolyzing $\alpha(1,4)$ -linked maltose and maltotriose. The sucrase subunit of the complex hydrolyzes sucrose to fructose and glucose. Maltase–glucoamylase also hydrolyzes maltose and larger linear $\alpha(1,4)$ -linked glucose oligosaccharides. In vivo, the maltase-glucoamylase complex is believed to account for almost all glucoamylase activity, 20% of maltase, and 1% of isomaltase activity, whereas the sucrase-isomaltase complex accounts for all of the sucrase, most of the isomaltase, and about 80% of the maltase activity. Lactose is cleaved by a third enzyme, lactase, to glucose and galactose.

Therapeutically useful a-glucosidase inhibitors delay glucose absorption by temporarily inhibiting one or more of these digestive enzymes. Complete inhibition of extended duration is not desirable because this leads to unacceptable symptoms of carbohydrate malabsorption (cramps, flatulence, abdominal distension, diarrhea) resulting from carbohydrate fermentation by colonic bacteria. For in vitro assessment of a-glucosidase activity, inhibition of the hydrolytic activities of intestinal brush border membrane preparations or pancreatic homogenates toward various substrates (maltose, isomaltose, sucrose, etc.) are used in quantitative assays (216). Table 1.10 lists K_i values (24, 216) for sucrase, isomaltase, and glucoamylase inhibition by acarbose and mightol. Perhaps because of its oligosaccharide-like structure, acarbose is most potent at inhibition of glucoamylase activity, whereas monosaccharide-like miglitol is most active

	Acarbose $K_{i} (\mu M)$	Miglitol K _i (µ M)
Sucrase	0.086	0.99
Isomaltase	0.36	46.3
Glucoamylase	0.21	0.009

Table 1.10α-Glucosidase Inhibition byAcarbose and Miglitol^a

"Refs. 143, 144.

against sucrase. Acarbose also inhibits pancreatic a-amylase (68% inhibition at 4 μM), whereas miglitol inhibits this enzyme only at very high concentrations (216). Voglibose is a very potent inhibitor of maltase and sucrase activity (K_i values of 3.8 and 2.0 nM, respectively), but also has little effect on pancreatic a-amylase (217). Lactase is inhibited only at very high concentrations by miglitol, and not inhibited by acarbose.

In addition to delaying glucose absorption by retardation of carbohydrate digestion, the antidiabetic activity of a-glucosidase inhibitors may be partly mediated by alterations in the release of incretins. These intestinal hormones, such as glucagon-like polypeptide 1 (GLP-1) and gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP), are released in response to nutrients and have insulinotropic activity as well as many other regulatory effects. Both acarbose and voglibose increase circulating levels of GLP-1, whereas a-glucosidase inhibition appears to suppress GIP (218–222).

2.4.4 Structure–Activity. The structural requirements for a-glucosidase inhibition, particularly in series of compounds related to those in Table 1.9, have been extensively investigated, and much of this work has been summarized in an excellent review (223). Analysis is complicated, however, by a number of factors. First, several a-glucosidases that have differing but somewhat overlapping substrate specificities and differing affinities for various inhibitors are involved in intestinal carbohydrate digestion. Thus, no single K_i value describes "a-glucosidase" inhibition. Second, the inhibition kinetics of the enzymes are complex (224, 225). The K_i values determined for competitive inhibitors of glucoamylase-maltase, for instance, were substrate (maltose or maltooligosaccharides) dependent, contradicting the classical model of competitive inhibition and suggesting the existence of subtrate-induced binding modes. Finally, a therapeutically useful a-glucosidase inhibitor must delay, but not block completely, digestion and absorption of dietary carbohydrate. For this reason, favorable **on**off rates and pharmacokinetics are as important as high affinity of the inhibitor for the target enzymes in the drug optimization process.

Enzymatic cleavage of the glycosidic linkage in the substrates for a-glucosidases is believed to proceed through a pair of high energy oxonium ion intermediates (illustrated with maltose in Fig. 1.6, Intermediates I and II), which must be stabilized by interaction with the enzyme to increase the rate of the reaction. Similar interactions with protonated amine functions of a-glucosidaseinhibitors occupying positions normally filled by the **oxo**nium ions stabilize the binding of the nonhydrolyzable inhibitor to the enzyme (223,226). Historically, the lead compounds in the series that led to the marketed a-glucosidase inhibitors in Fig. 1.6 were identified through random screening, but can be seen as pseudoglucosylamines related to high energy intermediate I (inhibitor type I) or as 1-deoxynorjirimycin derivatives related to high energy intermediate II (inhibitor type II).

Compounds (21), (22), and (23) are moderate to highly potent inhibitors of intestinal su-



(21) validamine IC₅₀ sucrase 7.5 x 10^{-6} IC₅₀ maltase 1.1 x 10^{-4}

crase and maltase (217,223) and fall into the category of inhibitor type I **pseudogluco**sylamines. Valiolamine (**23**), which can be recognized as a structural component of voglibose, is the most potent of the three, suggesting that the non-glucose-like 5-hydroxyl substituent greatly enhances affinity for **su**crase. Valienamine (**22**), a component of **acar**-

Pseudoglucosylarnines



1-Deoxynorjirimycin derivatives

Figure 1.6. Relationship of α -glucosidase inhibitors to high energy intermediates in hydrolysis of maltose.





 $\begin{array}{l} IC_{50} \text{ sucrase } \textbf{7.5} \ge 10^{-8} \\ IC_{50} \text{ maltase } \textbf{1.1} \ge 10^{-6} \end{array}$

bose, is the least potent. SAR studies that use derivatives of these compounds in intestinal sucrase and maltase inhibition assays have shown that both the position amine function and the presence of glucoselike **hydroxyl substituents** are essential for good sucrase inhibition. Compounds (24) and (**25**) are disaccharides incorporating the methyl glycoside of the **sec**-



ond sugar unit in the acarbose tetrasaccharide structure into the inhibitor structures. Addition of the second sugar unit yields a modest improvement in IC_{50} for sucrase inhibition with a much greater improvement in that for maltase.

Interestingly, compounds incorporating a glucose-like 6'-hydroxyl group were slightly less potent than (24) and (25). In fact, the high potency of (27) for both sucrase and maltase inhibition suggests little contribution to inhibitor-binding affinity from groups other than the 3'-hydroxyl, which, comparing (26) and (27), must be correctly oriented, and relatively simple groups lacking a ring structure



(26) IC₅₀ sucrase 1.6 x 10⁻⁷ IC₅₀ maltase 1.6 x 10⁻⁶

but incorporating this feature (e.g., voglibose, 28) are quite potent.



(28) voglibose IC₅₀ sucrase 4.6×10^{-9} IC₅₀ maltase 1.5×10^{-8}

Acarbose, in *vitro*, is somewhat less effective than a-methylacarviosin (24) in sucrase inhibition (223), and thus the two additional glucose units in acarbose compared with (24) contribute little to the affinity of the inhibitor for this enzyme. This is in agreement with kinetic studies showing two saccharide unit binding subsites at the sucrase catalytic center of intestinal sucrase-isomaltase (225). Glucoamylase-maltase appears to have four such sites (227), whereas pancreatic α -amylase has five glucose unit binding subsites (228). Acarbose derivatives with additional glucosyl substituents are potent inhibitors of pancreatic a-amylase, but have not shown therapeutic utility.

Miglitol is an inhibitor type II derivative of **1-deoxynorjirimycin** (29). The parent **com-**



pound has potent inhibitory effects in porcine intestinal mucosal preparations on α -glucosi-

References



(30) emiglitate

dase enymes. Concentrations in a narrow range of 9.6×10^{-8} to 2.2×10^{-7} M inhibited 50% of the sucrase, maltase, isomaltase, and glucoamylase activity.

Many derivatives of (29) have been prepared and tested, particularly for inhibition of porcine intestinal sucrase activity (223). A small alkyl nitrogen substituent is allowed, but activity decreases as chain length is increased from methyl to propyl, increasing again for very long 11- or 12-carbonalkylchains. Introduction of a doublebond allylic to the nitrogen increases the inhibitory effect. Polar subtituents, with the exception of hydroxyethyl (miglitol) and aryloxyalkyl as in (**30**), generally decrease sucrase inhibitory effect. In vivo, compound (30) (emiglitate, rat sucrase IC₅₀ value of 0.41 μ M) produces longlasting inhibition. Substitutions at the 1 or 5 -position with polar substituents like hydroxymethyl (compound 31, mouse sucrase IC₅₀ value of 0.08 μ M, and 32) also affords strong inhibitors.







REFERENCES

Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus, *Diabetes Care*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S4–S19 (2000).

- J. Mayfield, Am. Fam. Physician, 58, 1355– 1362 (1998).
- 3. R. A. DeFronzo, *Ann. Intern. Med.*, 133, 73–74 (2000).
- 4. S. E. Kahn, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 86, 4047–4058 (2001).
- 5. R. A. DeFronzo, *Diabetologia*, 35, 389–397 (1992).
- 6. S. Mittelman and R. N. Bergman, *Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes*, 5, 126–135 (1998).
- 7. R. A. DeFronzo, E. Jacot, E. Jequier, E. Maeder, J. Wahren, and J. P. Felber, *Diabetes*, 30, 1000–1007 (1981).
- 8. G. I. Shulman, J. Clin. Invest., 106, 171-176 (2000).
- 9. D. E. Kelley and L. J. Mandarino, *Diabetes*, **49**, **677–683** (2000).
- A. Golay, R. Munger, F. Assimacopoulos-Jeannet, E. Bobbioni-Harsch, F. Habicht, and J. P. Felber, *Metabolism*, 51,549–553 (2002).
- 11. J. C. Lawrence Jr. and P. J. Roach, *Diabetes*, 46,541-547 (1997).
- A. Krook, M. Bjornholm, D. Galuska, X. J. Jiang, R. Fahlman, M. G. Myers Jr., H. Wallberg-Henriksson, and J. R. Zierath, *Diabetes*, 49,284–292 (2000).
- A. R. Saltiel and C. R. Kahn, *Nature*, 414, 799– 806 (2001).
- 14. G. F. Lewis, A. Carpentier, K. Adeli, and A. Giacca, *Endocrine Reviews*, 23, 201–229 (2002).
- B. B. Kahn and J. S. Flier, J. Clin. Invest., 106, 473-481 (2000).
- 16. E. Jequier, Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 67 (Suppl.), 527S–530S (1998).
- S. E. Kahn, R. L. Prigeon, D. K. McCulloch, E. J. Boyko, R. N. Bergman, M. W. Schwartz, J. L. Neifing, W. K. Ward, J. C. Beard, J. P. Palmer, et. al., *Diabetes*, 42,1663–1672 (1993).
- R. N. Bergman, L. S. Phillips, and C. Cobelli, J. Clin. Invest., 68, 1456–1467 (1981).
- **19.** G. **I.** Bell and K. **S.** Polonsky, *Nature*, **414**, **788–791 (2001).**
- 20. C. Bernard-Kargar and A. Ktorza, *Diabetes*, 50 (Suppl. 1), S30–S35 (2001).

Insulin and Hypoglycemic Agents

- 21. M. K. Cavaghan, D. A. Ehrmann, and K. S. Polonsky, J. Clin. Invest., 106, 329–333 (2000).
- 22. W. C. Duckworth, R. G. Bennett, and F. G. Hamel, *Endocr. Rev.*, 19, 608–624 (1998).
- 23. American College of Endocrinology Consensus Statement on Guidelines for Glycemic Control, *Endocrine Practice*, 8 (Suppl. 1), S5–S11 (2002).
- 24. L. J. Scott and C. M. Spencer, *Drugs*, 59, 521–549 (2000).
- 25. S. Teutsch, J. Newrnan, and P. Eggers, *Am. J. Kidney Dis.*, 13, 11–13 (1989).
- 26. C. Harrington, M. J. Zagari, J. Corea, and J. Klitenic, *Diabetes Care*, 23 (9), 1333–1338 (2000).
- 27. M. Brownlee, *Nature*, 414, 813-820 (2001).
- G. Veerababu, J. Tang, R. T. Hoffman, M. C. Daniels, L. F. Hebert Jr., E. D. Crook, R. C. Cooksey, and D. A. McClain, *Diabetes*, 49, 2070–2078 (2000).
- **29.** D. **R.** Owens, B. Zinman, and G. B. Bolli, *Lancet*, **358**, **739–746** (2001).
- **30.** American Diabetes Association, *Diabetes Care*, **25** (1), **S33–S49** (2002).
- R. Klein, B. E. Klein, S. E. Moss, and K. J. Cruickshanks, *Diabetes Care*, 19, 744–750 (1996).
- 32. P. E. Cryer, *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes*, 109 (Suppl. 2), S412–S423 (2001).
- **33.** M. Egger, G. Davey Smith, C. Stettler, and P. Diem, *Diabet. Med.*, **14**, **919–928** (**1997**).
- 34. S. Dagogo-Jack, H. Askari, B. Morrill, L. L. Lehner, B. Kim, and X. Sha, *Diabetes Obes. Metab.*, 2,373–383 (2000).
- B. M. Frier, F. M. Ewing, A. Lindholm, B. Hylleberg, and K. Kanc, *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.*, 16, 262–268 (2000).
- M. Lepore, S. Pampanelli, C. Fanelli, F. Porcellati, L. Bartocci, A. Di Vincenzo, C. Cordoni, E. Costa, P. Brunetti, and G. B. Bolli, *Diabetes*, 49,2142–2148(2000).
- **37.** American Diabetes Association, http://www. diabetes.org.
- 38. D. L. Bakaysa, J. Radziuk, H. A. Havel, M. L. Brader, S. Li, S. W. Dodd, J. M. Beals, A. H. Pekar, and D. N. Brems, *Protein Sci.*, 5, 2521–2531 (1996).
- **39.** W. C. Duckworth, R. G. Bennett, and F. G. Hamel, *Endocr. Rev.*, **19,608–624**(1998).
- 40. F. Authier, G. M. Di Guglielmo, G. M. Danielsen, and J. J. Bergeron, *Biochem J.*, 332,421-430 (1998).

- 41. V. Kruse, I. Jensen, L. Permin, and A. Heding, Am. J. Physiol., 272, E1089–E1098 (1997).
- **42.** J. MacCracken and D. Hoel, *Postgrad. Med.*, 101,138–140,143–145,149–150 (1997).
- 43. The Writing Team for the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group, J.A.M.A., 287, 2563–2569 (2002).
- 44. United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study Group, Ann. Intern. Med., 128, 165-175 (1998).
- 45. M. C. Riddle, *Diabetes Care*, 25, 395-396 (2002).
- 46. S. Mudaliar and S. V. Edelman, *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am.*, 30, 935–982 (2001).
- 47. H. E. Lebovitz, *Clinical Chemistry*, 45, 1339– 1345 (1999).
- **48.** R. C. Turner, C. A. Cull, V. Frighi, and R. R. Holman, *J.A.M.A.*, 281, 2005–2012 (1999).
- 49. L. Aviles-Santa, J. Sinding, and P. Raskin, Ann. Intern. Med., 131, 182-188 (1999).
- 50. J. Rosenstock, D. Einhorn, K. Hershon, N. B. Glazer, and S. Yu; Pioglitazone 014 Study Group, *Int. J. Clin. Pract.*, 56, 251–257 (2002).
- 51. M. C. Riddle and J. Schneider, *Diabetes Care*, 21,1052–1057 (1998).
- A. Wright, A. C. Burden, R. B. Paisey, C. A. Cull, and R. R. Holman; U. K. Prospective Diabetes Study Group, *Diabetes Care*, 25, 330–336 (2002).
- 53. E. Standl, *Horm. Res.*, 57 (Suppl. 1), 40-45 (2002).
- 54. H. Hillenbrand, G. Nuber, and E. Standl, *Diabetes Journal*, 50, 16–18 (2001).
- 55. M. P. Czech, Ann. Rev. Physiol., 47, 357-381 (1985).
- 56. F. P. Ottensmeyer, D. R. Beniac, R. Z.-T. Luo, and C. C. Yip, *Biochemistry*, 39, 12103–12112 (2000).
- M. Kasuga, Y. Fujita-Yamaguchi, D. L. Blithe, and C. R. Kahn, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 80, 2137–2141 (1983).
- 58. T. Kjeldsen, A. S. Andersen, F. C. Wiberg, J.S. Rasmussen, L. Schaffer, P. Balschmidt, K. B. Moller, and N. P. Moller, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 88,4404–4408 (1991).
- **59.** G. Sesti, *Pharmacogenomics*, **1**, 49–61 (2000).
- P. Kurtzhals, L. Schaffer, A. Sorensen, C. Kristensen, I. Jonassen, C. Schmid, and T. Trub, Diabetes, 49, 999–1005 (2000).
- **61.** J. Brange, U. Ribel, J. F. Hansen, G. Dodson, M. T. Hansen, S. Havelund, S. G. Melberg, F.

Norris, K. Norris, L. Snel, A. R. Sorensen, and H. O. Voight, Nature, **333,679–682** (1988).

- 62. E. N. Baker, T. L. Blundell, J. F. Cutfield, S. M. Cutfield, E. J. Dodson, G. G. Dodson, D. M. Hodgkin, R. E. Hubbard, N. W. Isaacs, C. D. Reynolds, et al., Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci., 319, 369-456 (1988).
- 63. U. Derewenda, Z. S. Derewenda, G. G. Dodson, and R. E. Hubbard in P. Cuatrecasas and S. Jacobs, Eds., Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 92, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1990, p. 23.
- 64. D. C. Mynarcik, P. F. Williams, L. Schaffer, G. Q. Yu, and J. Whittaker, J. Biol. Chem., 272,18650-18655 (1997).
- 65. Z. Vajo, J. Fawcett, and W. C. Duckworth, *Endocr*. Rev., 22, 706–717 (2001).
- 66. R. Z. Luo, D. R. Beniac, A. Fernandes, C. C. Yip, and F. P. Ottensmeyer, Science, 285, 1077–1080 (1999).
- 67. F. P. Ottensmeyer, D. R. Beniac, R. Z. Luo, and C. C. Yip, Biochemistry, 39, 12103–12112 (2000).
- 68. G. P. Schwartz, G. T. Burke, and P. G. Katsoyannis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 84, 6408– 6411 (1987).
- 69. G. T. Burke, S. Q. Hu, N. Ohta, G. P. Schwartz, L. Zong, and P. G. Katsoyannis, Biochem. *Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 173, 982–987 (1990).
- 70. G. P. Schwartz, G. T. Burke, and P. G. Katsoyannis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 86, 458– 461 (1989).
- B. F. Hansen, G. M. Danielsen, K. Drejer, A. R. Sorensen, F. C. Wiberg, H. H. Klein, and A. G. Lundemose, Biochem. J., 315,271-279 (1996).
- 72. K. Drejer, Diabetes-Metab. Rev., 8, 259–286 (1992).
- 73. R. C. Bi, Z. Dauter, D. J. Dodson, G. G. Dodson, F. Giordano, and D. D. Reynolds, Biopolymers, 32, 391–395 (1984).
- 74. D. N. Brems, L. A. Alter, M. J. Beckage, R. E. Chance, R. D. DiMarchi, L. K. Green, H. B. Long, A. H. Pekar, J. E. Shields, and B. H. Frank, Protein Eng., 5, 527-533 (1992).
- 75. J. Markussen in J. B. Hook and G. Post, Eds., Protein Design and the Development of New Therapeutics and Vaccines, Vol. 19, Plenum Publishing Co., 1990, p. 397-422.
- 76. D. R. Owens, P. A. Coates, S. D. Luzio, J. P. Tinbergen, and R. Kurzhals, Diabetes Care, 23, 813–819 (2000).
- 77. P. Kurtzhals, S. Havelund, I. Jonassen, B. Kiehr, U. D. Larsen, U. Ribel, and J. Markussen, Biochem. J., 312 (Pt. 3), 725–731 (1995).

- J. Markussen, S. Havelund, P. Kurtzhals, A.S. Andersen, J. Halstrom, E. Hasselager, U. D. Larsen, U. Ribel, L. Schaffer, K. Vad, and I. Jonassen, Diabetologia, 39,281–288 (1996).
- 79. J. A. Galloway, R. E. McMahon, H. W. Culp, F. J. Marshall, and E. C. Young, Diabetes, 16, 118–127 (1967).
- 80. D. L. Smith, T. J. Vecchio, and A. A. Forist, Metabolism, 14, 229-240 (1965).
- J. Kalgag, Y. Hirschber, J. F. McLeod, S. Garreffa, and K. Lasseter, Diabetes, 48 (Suppl. 1), A100 (1999).
- 82. I. W. Campbell, Drugs, 60, 1017-1028 (2000).
- 83. J. M. Chehade and A. D. Mooradian, Drugs, 60, 95–113 (2000).
- 84. Y. Fumitaka and J. G. Topliss, J. Med. Chem.,
 43, 2575–2585 (2000).
- 85. S. L. Ali, H. H. Blume, and B. S. Schug in J. Kuhlmann and W. Puls, Eds., Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 119, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1996, p. 79.
- 86. R. E. Ferner and S. Chaplin, Clin. *Pharmaco*kinet., **12**, **379–401** (1987).
- 87. R. C. Thomas, D. J. Duchamp, R. W. Judy, and G. J. Ikeda, J. Med. Chem., 21,725–732 (1978).
- 88. A. R. Taylor, R. D. Brownsill, H. Grandon, F. Lefoulon, A. Petit, W. Luijten, P. G. Kopelman, and B. Walther, Drug *Metab.* Dispos., 24, 55–64 (1996).
- 89. J. A. Taylor, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 13, 710– 718 (1972).
- 90. T. Rydberg, A. Jonsson, M. Roder, and A. Melander, Diabetes Care, 17, 1026–1030 (1994).
- 91. T. Rydberg, A. Wahlin-Boll, and A. Melander, J. Chromatogr., 564,223–233 (1991).
- 92. B. Hellman, J. Sehlin, and I. Taljedal, Acta Endocrinol., 105,385–390 (1984).
- 93. P. N. van Heiningen, V. Hatorp, K. Kramer Nielsen, K. T. Hansen, J. J. van Lier, N. C. De Merbel, B. Oosterhuis, and J. H. Jonkman, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 55, 521–525 (1999).
- 94. M. L. Weaver, B. A. Orwig, L. C. Rodriguez, E. D. Graham, J. A. Chin, M. J. Shapiro, J. F. Mcleod, and J. B. Mangold, Drug *Metab. Dispos.*, 29,414-421 (2001).
- **95.** E. M. Ashcroft and F. M. Gribble, Diabetologia, **42,903–919** (1999).
- **96.** J. Bryan and L. Aguilar-Brayn, *Curr.* Opin. Cell Biol., **9**, **553–559** (**1997**).
- 97. S. Hu, S. Wang, B. Fanelli, P. A. Bell, B. E. Dunning, S. Geisse, R. Schmitz, and B. R. Boettcher, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 293, 444-452 (2000).

- **98.** A. Virsolvy, M. Bruck, M. Dufour, A. Cauvin, B. Lupo, and D. Bataille, FEBS Lett., 242, 65-69 (1988).
- 99. L. Heron, A. Virsolvy, F. M. Gribble, A. Le Cam, F. M. Ashcroft, and D. Bataille, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 95,8387-8391 (1998).
- **100.** *M. Janbon*, **J.** *Chaptal*, *A.Vedel*, *and J. Schaap*, *Montpellier Med.*, **21–22**, **441–444** (**1942**).
- 101. H. Plume in J. Kuhlmann and W. Puls, Eds., Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 119, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/ New York, 1996, p. 65.
- 102. C. Schwanstecher, M. Meyer, M. Schwanstecher, and U. Panten, Br. J. Pharmacol., 123,1023-1030 (1998).
- 103. M. Meyer, F. Chudziak, C. Schwanstecher, M. Schwanstecher, and U. Panten, Br. J. Pharmacol., 128, 27–34 (1999).
- 104. H. Shinkai, M. Nishikawa, Y. Sato, K. Toi, I. Kumashiro, Y. Seto, M. Fukuma, K. Dan, and S. Toyoshima, J. Med. Chem., 32, 1436–1441 (1989).
- 105. H. Shinkai, K. Toi, I. Kumashiro, Y. Seto, M. Fukuma, K. Dan, and S. Toyoshima, J. Med. Chem., 31,2092–2097 (1988).
- 106. W. Grell, R. Hurnaus, G. Griss, R. Sauter, E. Rupprecht, M. Mark, P. Luger, H. Nar, H. Wittneben, and P. Muller, J. Med. Chem., 41, 5219–5246 (1998).
- **107.** G. R. Brown and A. J. Foubister, J. Med. Chem., **27**, **79–81** (**1984**).
- 108. R. Ouedraogo, Q. A. Nguyen, M. H. Kane, M. J. Dunne, L. Pochet, B. Masereel, and P. Lebrun, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 289, 625-631 (1999).
- **109.** J. C. Henquin, M. G. Garrino, and M. Nenquin, Eur. J. Pharmacol., **141,243–251** (**1987**).
- **110.** C. Rufer and W. Losert, J. Med. Chem., **22**, **750–752** (1979).
- **111.** H. Biere, C. Rufer, H. Ahrens, O. Loge, and E. Schroder, J. Med. Chem., **17,716–721** (1974).
- W. Aumuller, A. Bander, R. Heerdt, K. Muth, W. Pfaff, F. H. Schmidt, H. Weber, and R. Weyer, Arzneim.-Forsch., 16, 1640–1641 (1966).
- 113. V. Ambrogi, K. Bloch, S. Daturi, P. Griggi, W. Logemann, M. A. Parenti, T. Rabini, and R. Tommasini, Arzneim.-Forsch., 21, 200–204 (1971).
- 114. R. Weyer and V. Hitzel, Arzneim.-Forsch., 38, 1079–1080 (1988).
- 115. B. Masereel, R. Ouedraogo, J. M. Dogne, M. H. Antoine, P. de Tullio, B. Pirotte, L. Pochet, J. Delarge, and P. Lebrun, Eur. J. Med. Chem., 32,453-456 (1997).

- **116.** C. Rufer, H. Biere, A. Ahrens, O. Loge, and E. Schroder, J. Med. Chem., **17**, 708–715 (1979).
- 117. K. Geisen, M. Hubner, V. Hitzel, V. E. Hrstka, W. Pfaff, E. Bosies, G. Regitz, H. F. Kuhnle, F. H. Schmidt, and R. Weyer, Arzneim.-Forsch., 28, 1081–1083 (1978).
- **118.** C. J. Bailey and R. C. Turner, N. Engl. J. Med., **334,574–579 (1996).**
- 119. C. J. Bailey, Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes, 4, 40-47 (1997).
- **120.** A. J. Scheen, Clin. Pharmacokinet., **30**, 359–371 (1996).
- 121. R. A. DeFronzo, A. M. Goodman, and the Multicenter Metformin Study Group, N. Engl. J. Med., 333,541-549 (1995).
- **122.** I. W. Campbell and H. C. S. Howlett, Diabetes *Metab. Rev.*, **11, 857–862 (1995).**
- 123. K. Cusi, A. Consoli, and R. A. DeFronzo, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 81, 4059-4067 (1996).
- 124. M. Stunvoll, N. Nurjhan, G. Periello, G. Dailey, and J. E. Gerich, N. Engl. J. Med., 333, 550-554 (1995).
- 125. R. S. Hundai, M. Krssak, S. Dufour, D. Laurent, V. Lebon, V. Chandramouli, S. E. Inzucchi, W. C. Schumann, K. F. Petersen, B. R. Landau, and G. L. Shulman, Diabetes, 49, 2063–2069 (2000).
- 126. N. F. Wiernsperger and C. J. Bailey, Drugs, 58 (Suppl. 1), 31–39 (1999).
- **127.** S. Matthaei, A. Hamann, H. H. Klein, H. Benecke, G. Kreymann, J. S. Flier, and H. Greten, Diabetes, **40,850–857** (**1991**).
- 128. A. Hamann, H. Benecke, H. Greten, and S. Matthaei, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 196,382–387 (1993).
- 129. V. Sarabia, L. Lam, E. Burdett, L. A. Leiter, and A. Klip, J. Clin. Invest., 90, 1386–1395 (1992).
- 130. R. A. DeFronzo, N. Barzilai, and D. C. Simonson, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 73, 1294–1301 (1991).
- 131. G. Zhou, R. Myers, Y. Li, Y. Chen, X. Shen, J. Fenyk-Melody, M. Wu, J. Ventre, T. Doebber, N. Fujii, N. Musi, M. F. Hirshman, L. J. Goodyear, and D. E. Moller, J. Clin. Invest., 108, 1167–1174 (2001).
- 132. W. W. Winder and D. G. Hardie, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab., 277, El-El0 (1999).
- **133.** *M.-Y. El-Mir, V. Nogueira, E. Fontaine, N. Averet, M. Rigoulet, and X. Leverve, J. Biol. Chem.*, **275, 223–228** (2000).

- 134. B. J. Stith, M. L. Goalstone, R. Espinoza, C. Mossel, D. Roberts, and N. Wiernsperger, Endocrinology, 137,2990–2999 (1996).
- 135. E. Prugnard and M. Noel in J. Kuhlmann and W. Puls, Eds., Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 119, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1996, p. 263.
- 136. S. L. Shapiro, V. A. Parrino, and L. Freedman, J. **Am.** Chem. **Soc.**, 81,37283736 (1959).
- 137. S. L. Shapiro, V. A. Parrino, and L. Freedman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81,4635–4646 (1959).
- 138. J. M. Way, W. W. Harrington, K. K. Brown, W. K. Gottschalk, S. S. Sundseth, T. A. Mansfield, R. K. Ramachandran, T. M. Willson, and S. A. Kliewer, Endocrinology, 142,1269–1277 (2001).
- 139. M. Fuchtenbusch, E. Standl, and H. Schatz, *Exp.* Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes, 108, 151–163 (2000).
- 140. A. J. Scheen, Drug Saf., 24, 873-888 (2001).
- 141. P. J. Cox, D. A. Ryan, F. J. Hollis, A. Harris, A. K. Miller, M. Vousden, and H. Cowley, Drug *Metab.* Dispos., 28, 772–780 (2000).
- 142. S. J. Baldwin, S. E. Clarke, and R. J. Chenery, Br. J. Clin. *Pharmacol.*, 48,424–432 (1999).
- 143. K. Hiraga, Jpn. J. Clin. Exp. Med., 74, 1184 (1997).
- 144. T. Sohda, H. Ikeda, and K. Meguro, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 43,2168–2172 (1995).
- 145. **Takeda** Pharmaceuticals America, **Lincoln**shire, IL and Eli **Lilly** and Company, Indianapolis, IN, Actos (pioglitazonehydrochloride tablets), Prescribing Information, May 2001.
- 146. SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, Philadelphia, PA, Avandia (rosiglitazone maleate tablets), Prescribing Information, 1999.
- 147. H. E. Lebovitz and M. A. Banerji, Recent Prog. Horm. Res., 56, 265–294 (2001).
- 148. M. Adams, C. T. Montague, J. B. Prins, J. C. Holder, S. A. Smith, L. Sanders, J. E. Digby, C. P. Sewter, M. A. Lazar, V. K. K. Chatterjee, and S. O'Rahilly, J. Clin. Invest., 100, 3149– 3153 (1997).
- 149. J. M. Lehmann, L. B. Moore, T. A. Smith-Oliver, W. O. Wilkison, T. M. Wilson, and S. A. Kliewer, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 12963–12966 (1995).
- 150. S. A. Kliewer, H. E. Xu, M. H. Lambert, and T. M. Willson, Recent Prog. Horm. Res., 56, 239–269 (2001).
- 151. T. M. Willson, P. J. Brown, D. D. Sternbach, and B. R. Henke, J. Med. Chem., 43,527–550 (2000).

- 152. D. E. Moller and D. A. Greene, *Adv.* Protein Chem., **56**, 181–212 (2001).
- 153. W. R. Oliver, J. L. Shenk, M. R. Snaith, C. S. Russell, K. D. Plunket, N. L. Bodkin, D. D. Sternbach, S. A. Kliewer, B. C. Hansen, and T. M. Willson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98, 5306–5311 (2001).
- 154. O. A. MacDougald and S. Mandrup, Trends Endocrinol. *Metab.*, **13**, **5–11** (2002).
- O. Braissant, F. Foufelle, C. Scotto, M. Dauca, and W. Wahli, Endocrinology, 137, 354–366 (1996).
- 156. M. Loviscach, N. Rehman, L. Carter, S. Mudaliar, P. Mohadeen, T. P. Ciaraldi, J. H. Veerkamp, and R. R. Henry, Diabetologia, 43, 304–311 (2000).
- L. Fajas, D. Auboeuf, E. Raspe, K. Schoonjans, A.M. Lefebvre, R. Saladin, J. Najib, M. Laville, J. C. Fruchart, S. Deeb, A. Vidal-Puig, J. Flier, M. R. Briggs, B. Staels, H. Vidal, and J. Auwerx, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 18779–18789 (1997).
- 158. R. Mukherjee, L. Jow, G. E. Croston, and J. R. Paterniti, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 8071–8076 (1997).
- 159. A. J. Vidal-Puig, R. V. Considine, M. Jimenez-Linan, A. Werman, W. J. Pories, J. F. Caro, and J. S. Flier, J. Clin. Invest., 99, 2416–2422 (1997).
- 160. A. Vidal-Puig, M. Jimenez-Linan, B. B. Lowell, A. Hmann, E. Hu, B. Spiegelman, J. S. Flier, and D. E. Moller, J. Clin. Invest., 97, 2553– 2561 (1996).
- 161. J. M. Way, W. W. Harrington, K. K. Brown, W. K. Gottschalk, S. S. Sundseth, T. A. Mansfield, R. K. Ramachandran, T. M. Willson, and S. A. Kliewer, Endocrinology, 142,1269–1277 (2001).
- 162. S. A. Kliewer, K. Umesono, D. J. Noonan, R. A. Heyman, and R. M. Evans, Nature, **358**, 771– 774 (1992).
- 163. G. Shao, R. A. **Heyman**, and I. G. Schulman, Mol. Endocrinol., 14, 1198–1209 (**2000**).
- 164. A. Elbrecht, Y. Chen, A. Adams, J. Berger, P. Griffin, T. Klatt, B. Zhang, J. Menke, G. Zhou, R. G. Smith, and D. E. Moller, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 7913–7922 (1999).
- 165. J. Berger, M. D. Leibowitz, T. W. Doebber, A. Elbrecht, B. Zhang, G. Zhou, C. Biswas, C. A. Cullinan, N. S. Hayes, Y. Li, M. Tanen, J. Ventre, M. S. Wu, G. D. Berger, R. Mosley, R. Marquis, C. Santini, S. P. Sahoo, R. L. Tolman, R. G. Smith, and D. E. Moller, J. Biol. Chem., 274,6718-6725 (1999).

- 166. C. F. Burant, S. Sreenan, K. Hirano, T. A. Tai, J. Lohmiller, J. Lukens, N. O. Davidson, S. Ross, and R. A. Graves, *J.* Clin. Invest., 100, 2900–2908 (1997).
- 167. B. S. Cha, T. P. Ciaraldi, L. Carter, S. E. Nikoulina, S. Mudaliar, R. Mukherjee, J. R. Paterniti, and R. R. Henry, Diabetologia, 44, 444–452 (2001).
- 168. A. Okuno, H. Tamemoto, K. Tobe, K. Ueki, Y. Mori, K. Iwamoto, K. Umesono, Y. Akanuma, T. Fujiwara, H. Horikoshi, Y. Yazaki, and T. Kadowaki, J. Clin. Invest., 101, 1354–1361 (1998).
- 169. P. De Vos, A. Lefebvre, S. G. Miller, M. Guerre-Millo, K. Wong, R. Saladin, L. G. Hamann, B. Staels, M. R. Briggs, and J. Auwerx, J. Clin. Invest., 98, 1004–1009 (1996).
- 170. T. Yamauchi, J. Kamon, H. Waki, K. Murakami, K. Motojima, K. Komeda, T. Ide, N. Kubota, Y. Terauchi, K. Tobe, H. Miki, A. Tsuchida, Y. Akanuma, R. Nagai, S. Kimura, and T. Kadowaki, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 41245–41254 (2001).
- 171. A. N. Hollenberg, V. S. Susulic, J. P. Madura, B. Zhang, D. E. Moller, P. Tontonoz, P. Sarraf, B. M. Spiegelman, and B. B. Lowell, J. Biol. Chem., 272,5283–5290 (1997).
- 172. C. M. Steppan, S. T. Bailey, S. Bhat, E. J. Brown, R. R. Banerjee, C. M. Wright, H. R. Patel, R. S. Ahima, and M. A. Lazar, Nature, 409,307-312 (2001).
- 173. N. Maeda, M. Takahashi, T. Funahashi, S. Kihara, H. Nishizawa, K. Kishida, H. Nagaretani, M. Matsuda, R. Komuro, N. Ouchi, H. Kuriyama, K. Hotta, T. Nakamura, I. Shimomura, and Y. Matsuzawa, Diabetes, 50, 2094–2099 (2001).
- 174. P. **J. Randle**, Diabetes *Metab.* Rev., 46,263–283 (1997).
- 175. D. E. Kelley and L. J. Mandarino, Diabetes, 49, 677–683 (2000).
- 176. J.D. McGarry and R. L. Dobbins, Diabetologia, 42,128–138 (1999).
- 177. M. Shimabukuro, Y. T. Zhou, M. Levi, and R. H. Unger, Proc. *Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 95, 2498–2502 (1998).
- 178. D. T. Finegood, M. D. McArthur, D. Kojwang, M. J. Thomas, B. G. Topp, T. Leonard, and R. E. Buckingham, Diabetes, 50, 1021–1029 (2001).
- 179. T. Sohda, K. Mizuno, E. Imamiya, Y. Sugiyama, T. Fujita, and Y. Kawamatsu, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 30,35633573 (1982).

- 180. T. Sohda, K. Mizuno, E. Imamiya, Y. Sugiyama, T. Fujita, and Y. Kawamatsu, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 30,3580–3600 (1982).
- 181. T. Fujita, Y. Sugiyama, S. Taketomi, T. Sohda, Y. Kawamatsu, H. Iwatsuka, and Z. Suzuoki, Diabetes, 32,804–810 (1983).
- 182. A. Y. Chang, B. M. Wyse, B. J. Gilchrist, T. Peterson, and A. R. Diani, Diabetes, 32, 830–838 (1983).
- 183. T. Sohda, Y. Momose, K. Meguro, Y. Kawamatsu, Y. Sugiyama, and H. Ikeda, *Arz-neim.-Forsch.*, **40**, **37–42** (1990).
- 184. T. Sohda, K. Mizuno, Y. Momose, H. Ikeda, T. Fujita, and K. Meguro, J. Med. Chem., 35, 2617–2626 (1992).
- 185. T. Yoshioka, T. Fujita, T. Kanai, Y. Aizawa, T. Kurumada, K. Hasegawa, and H. Horikoshi, *J.* Med. Chem., 32,421–428 (1989).
- 186. R. L. Dow, B. M. Bechle, T. T. Chou, D. A. Clark, B. Hulin, and R. W. Stevenson, J. Med. Chem., 34,1538–1544 (1991).
- 187. T. M. Willson, J. E. Cobb, D. J. Cowan, R. W. Wiethe, I. D. Correa, S. R. Prakash, K. D. Beck, L. B. Moore, S. A. Kliewer, and J. M. Lehmann, *J.* Med. Chern., 39,665–668 (1996).
- 188. B. Hulin, L. S. Newton, D. M. Lewis, P. E. Genereux, E. M. Gibbs, and D. A. Clark, J. Med. Chem., 39,3897–3907 (1996).
- 189. K. Arakawa, M. Inanmasu, M. Matsumoto, K. Okumura, K. Yasuda, H. Akatsuka, S. Kawanami, A. Watanabe, K. Homma, Y. Saiga, M. Ozeki, and I. Iijima, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 45,1984–1993 (1997).
- 190. B. R. Henke, S. G. Blanchard, M. F. Brackeen, K. K. Brown, J. E. Cobb, J. L. Collins, W. W. Harrington, M. A. Hashim, E. A. Hull-Ryde, I. Kaldor, S. A. Kliewer, D. H. Lake, L. M. Leesnitzer, J. M. Lehmann, J. M. Lenhard, L. A. Orband-Miller, J. F. Miller, R. A. Mook, S. A. Noble, W. Oliver, D. J. Parks, K. D. Plunket, J. R. Szewczyk, and T. M. Willson, J. Med. Chem., 41,5020–5036 (1998).
- 191. A. Zask, I. Jirkovsky, J. W. Nowicki, and M. L.
 McCaleb, J. Med. Chem., 33, 1418–1423 (1990).
- 192. J. E. Cobb, S. G. Blanchard, E. G. Boswell, K. K. Brown, P. S. Charifson, J. P. Cooper, J. L. Collins, M. Dezube, B. R. Henke, E. A. Hull-Ryde, D. H. Lake, J. M. Lenhard, W. Oliver Jr., J. Oplinger, M. Pentti, D. J. Parks, K. D. Plunket, and W. Q. Tong, J. Med. Chem., 41, 5055– 5069 (1998).
- 193. J. L. Collins, S. G. Blanchard, G. E. Boswell, P. S. Charifson, J. E. Cobb, B. R. Henke, E. A.

Hull-Ryde, W. M. Kazmierski, D. H. Lake, L. M. Leesnitzer, J. Lehmann, J. M. Lenhard, L. A. Orband-Miller, Y. Gray-Nunez, D. J. Parks, K. D. Plunket, and W. Q. Tong, J. *Med. Chem.*, 41,5037–5054 (1998).

- 194. M. Oguchi, K. Wada, H. Honma, A. Tanaka, T. Kaneko, S. Sakakibara, J. Ohsumi, N. Serizawa, T. Fujiwara, H. Horikoshi, and T. Fujita, J. Med. Chem., 43,3052-3066 (2000).
- 195. K. G. Liu, J. S. Smith, A. H. Ayscue, B. R. Henke, M. H. Lambert, L. M. Leesnitzer, K. D. Plunket, T. M. Willson, and D. D. Sternbach, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 11, 2385–2388 (2001).
- 196. H. Yanagisawa, M. Takamura, E. Yamada, S. Fujita, T. Fujiwara, M. Yachi, A. Isobe, and Y. Hagisawa, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 10, 373–375 (2000).
- 197. B. B. Lohray, V. Bhushan, B. P. Rao, G. R. Madhavan, N. Murali, K. N. Rao, A. K. Reddy, B. M. Rajesh, P. G. Reddy, R. Chakrabarti, R. K. Vikramadithyan, R. Rajagopalan, R. N. Mamidi, H. K. Jajoo, and S. Subramaniam, J. Med. Chem., 41,1619–1630 (1998).
- 198. B. B. Lohray, V. Bhushan, A. S. Reddy, P. B. Rao, N. J. Reddy, P. Harikishore, N. Haritha, R. K. Vikramadithyan, R. Chakrabarti, R. Rajagopalan, and K. Katneni, J. Med. Chem., 42, 2569–2581 (1999).
- 199. B. B. Lohray, V. B. Lohray, A. C. Bajji, S. Kalchar, R. R. Poondra, S. Padakanti, R. Chakrabarti, R. K. Vikramadithyan, P. Misra, S. Juluri, N. V. S. R. Mamidi, and R. Rajagopalan, J. Med. Chem., 44,2675–2678 (2001).
- 200. G. R. Madhavan, R. Chakrabarti, S. K. Kumar, P. Misra, R. N. Mamidi, V. Balraju, K. Kasiram, R. K. Babu, J. Suresh, B. B. Lohray, V. B. Lohrayb, J. Iqbal, and R. Rajagopalan, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 36, 627–637 (2001).
- 201. J. Berger, M. D. Leibowitz, T. W. Doebber, A. Elbrecht, B. Zhang, G. Zhou, C. Biswas, C. A. Cullinan, N. S. Hayes, Y. Li, M. Tanen, J. Ventre, M. S. Wu, G. D. Berger, R. Mosley, R. Marquis, C. Santini, S. P. Sahoo, R. L. Tolman, R. G. Smith, and D. E. Moller, J. Biol. Chem., 274,6718-6725 (1999).
- 202. B. R. Henke, K. K. Adkison, S. G. Blanchard, L. M. Leesnitzer, R. A. Mook Jr., K. D. Plunket, J. A. Ray, C. Roberson, R. Unwalla, and T. M. Willson, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 9, 3329–3334 (1999).
- 203. Y. Kurogi, *Drug Des. Discov.*, 16, 109–118 (1999).
- 204. S. S. Kulkarni, L. K. Gediya, and V. M. Kulkarni, *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 7, 1475–1485 (1999).

- 205. R. T. Gampe Jr., V. G. Montana, M. H. Lambert, A. B. Miller, R. K. Bledsoe, M. V. Milburn, S. A. Kliewer, T. M. Willson, and H. E. Xu, *Mol. Cell*, 5, 545–555 (2000).
- 206. H. E. Xu, M. H. Lambert, V. G. Montana, K. D. Plunket, L. B. Moore, J. L. Collins, J. A. Oplinger, S. A. Kliewer, R. T. Gampe Jr., D. D. McKee, J. T. Moore, and T. M. Willson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98,13919–13924 (2001).
- 207. P. Cronet, J. F. Petersen, R. Folmer, N. Blomberg, K. Sjoblom, U. Karlsson, E. L. Lindstedt, and K. Bamberg, *Structure*, 9, 699–706 (2001).
- 208. R. T. Nolte, G. B. Wisely, S. Westin, J. E. Cobb, M. H. Lambert, R. Kurokawa, M. G. Rosenfeld, T. M. Willson, C. K. Glass, and M. V. Milburn, *Nature*, 395, 137–143 (1998).
- 209. J. Uppenberg, C. Svensson, M. Jaki, G. Bertilsson, L. Jendeberg, and A. Berkenstam, J. Biol. Chem., 273,31108-31112 (1998).
- 210. J. L. Oberfield, J. L. Collins, C. P. Holmes, D. M. Goreham, J. P. Cooper, J. E. Cobb, J. M. Lenhard, E. A. Hull-Ryde, C. P. Mohr, S. G. Blanchard, D. J. Parks, L. B. Moore, J. M. Lehmann, K. Plunket, A. B. Miller, M. V. Milburn, S. A. Kliewer, and T. M. Willson, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 96,6102–6106 (1999).
- 211. B. A. Johnson, E. M. Wilson, Y. Li, D. E. Moller, R. G. Smith, and G. Zhou, J. Mol. Biol., 298, 187–194 (2000).
- 212. D. E. Kelley, B. Goodpaster, R. R. Wing, and J. Simoneau, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab., 277, E1130–E1141 (1999).
- 213. M. Boberg, J. Kurz, H. J. Ploschke, P. Schmitt, H. Scholl, M. Schuller, and C. Wunsche, *Arz-neim.-Forsch.*, 40,555–563 (1990).
- 214. H. P. Krause and H. J. Ahr in J. Kuhlmann and W. Puls, Eds., Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 119, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1996, p. 542.
- 215. B. L. Nichols, J. Eldering, S. Avery, D. Hahn, A. Quaroni, and E. Sterchi, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 273,3076-3081 (1998).
- 216. B. K. Samulitis, T. Goda, S. M. Lee, and O. Koldovsky, *Drugs Exp. Clin. Res.*, 13,517–524 (1987).
- 217. S. Horii, H. Fukase, T. Matsuo, Y. Kameda, N. Asano, and K. Matsui, J. Med. Chem., 29, 1038–1046 (1986).
- 218. C. Seifarth, J. Bergmann, J. J. Holst, R. Ritzel, W. Schmiegel, and M. A. Nauck, *Diabet. Med.*, 15,485-491 (1998).

- 219. B. Goke, C. Herrmann, R. Goke, H. C. Fehmann, P. Berghofer, G. Richter, and R. Arnold, Eur. J. Clin. Invest., 24 (Suppl. 3), 25-30 (1994).
- 220. E. Renard, C. Parer-Richard, J. L. Richard, S. Jureidini, A. Orsetti, and J. Mirouze, Diabetes *Metab.*, 17,355–362 (1991).
- 221. W. Creutzfeldt, Exp. Clin. *Endocrinol*. Diabetes, **109** (Suppl. 2), S288–S303 (2001).
- 222. B. Goke, H. Fuder, G. Wieckhorst, U. Theiss, E. Stridde, T. Littke, P. Kleist, R. Arnold, and P. W. Lucker, Digestion, 56, 493–501 (1995).
- **223. B**. Junge, **M**. Matzke, and **J**. Stoltefuss in **J**. Kuhlmann and W. Puls, Eds., Handbook of Ex-

perimental Pharmacology, Vol. **119, Springer**-Verlag, **Berlin/Heidelberg/New** York, **1996,** p. **411.**

- **224. D.** Breitmeier, **S.** Gunther, and H. Heymann, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., **346**, **7–14** (1997).
- 225. H. Heymann, D. Breitmeier, and S. Gunther, Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler, 376, 249–253 (1995).
- 226. A. Cogoli and G. Semenza, J. Biol. Chem., 250, 7802–7809 (1975).
- 227. S. Gunther and H. Heymann, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 354, 111-116 (1998).
- 228. G. D. Brayer, G. Sidhu, R. Maurus, E. H. Rydberg, C. Braun, Y. Wang, N. T. Nguyen, C. M. Overall, and S. G. Withers, Biochemistry, 39, 4778–4791 (2000).

Peptide and Protein Hormones, Peptide Neurotransmitters, and Therapeutic Agents

VICTOR J. HRUBY CATHERINE GEHRIG DE CHAVEZ MALCOLM KAVARANA University of Arizona Department of Chemistry Tucson, Arizona

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume **4:** Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald **J.** Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 46
- 2 Background, 47
- 3 Methodology, 48
 - 3.1 Peptide Synthesis, 48
 - 3.2 Peptide Conformation, 48
 - 3.3 Peptide Topography, 51
 - 3.4 Topographical and Conformational Constraints, 52
 - 3.5 Bioassays, 52
- 4 Examples, 53
 - **4.1** Parathyroid Hormone, **53**
 - **4.1.1**Structure and Function, **53**
 - 4.1.2 Overall View of the Structure of PTH, 54
 - **4.1.3** Importance of Ala¹ and Val² in Signal Transduction, 55
 - **4.1.4** Importance of Arg²⁰ and Arg²⁵ in Receptor/Ligand Interactions, **55**
 - **4.1.5** Importance of **Gly**¹² in **Ligand**-Receptor Actions, **55**
 - **4.1.6** Truncated PTH Analogs: Identification of the Minimum Sequence Requirements, **56**
 - Requirements, **56**
 - 4.1.7 Conformationally Constrained Cyclic Analogs of hPTH(1–31)Amide, 58
 4.1.7.1 In Vitro Agonist Studies, 58
 4.1.7.2 In Vivo Studies, 59
 - **4.1**.7.2111 v1v0 Str **4.2** Melanotropins, **59**
 - **4.2.1** Structure-Activity Relationships, **59**
 - **4.2.2** Studies Leading to the Identification of
 - the Minimum Active Sequence of *a*-MSH, **60**

- **4.2.3** Importance of p-Phe⁷ of **MT-II** in Binding and Biological Activity, **61**
- **4.2.4** Effects of β -Substituents in Biological Potency, **62**
- 4.2.5 Ring-Expanded Analogs of MT-II, 63
- 4.2.6 Novel Constrained Cyclic Lactam Analogs of α-MSH. Agonists, 64
- 4.2.7 Antagonists, 65
- 4.3 Oxytocin and Vasopressin, 67
 4.3.1 Structure-Activity Relationships, 67
 4.3.2 Oxytocin, 67

1 INTRODUCTION

It is interesting to contemplate how ignorance and misunderstanding can affect what people learn or do not learn in science, and how this influences what gets done in science. No where is this more evident than in the medicinal chemistry, organic chemistry, and biochemistry of peptide and protein hormones and neurotransmitters and their relationships to chemistry, biology, and medicine. Despite the fact that at least 50% of current drugs have, as their therapeutic target, receptors whose natural ligands are amino acids, peptides, and proteins, most chemists know little about peptide chemistry in its many manifestations (structural, synthetic, biochemical, biological, etc.). As a result what they believe, as shown in Table 2.1, is often an inaccurate reflection of current reality. This is not to say that there are still not many problems to solve in the areas of **peptide**, protein, and peptidomimetic drug design and development. Indeed there are problems, and they will require state-ofthe-art scientific investigations by people knowledgeable about what has been accomplished and what is the nature of the problems in the larger context of health and disease.

However, if the current attitudes persist and most scientists are not educated in the **peptide** sciences, and do not know how to design, synthesize, and evaluate **peptides** and peptidomimetics with desirable chemical and biological properties, the current ignorance and prejudice will become a self-fulfilling prophecy. Considering that Emil Fisher, perhaps the greatest organic chemist, was the father of **peptide** and protein chemistry, and that two **peptide** hormones, insulin and **oxyto**-

- 4.3.3 Structure-Activity Relationships of Oxytocin, 67
- 4.3.4 Oxytocin Antagonists, 68
- 4.4 Delta Opioid Receptor Ligands, 69
- 4.4.1 Analogs of Enkephalins that Lead to Receptor-Specific Ligands and Nonpeptide Ligands, 70
- 5 Things to Come in **Peptide** and Peptidomimetic Design, 75
- 6 Acknowledgments, 76

cin, had such a dramatic affect on twentieth century medicine, with millions of people having taken these two hormones, often in lifesaving or enhancing situations, and with minimal toxicity compared to that of most other drugs, it is strange that so many medicinal chemists, natural products chemists, and organic chemists have paid so little attention to this area. Nonetheless, **peptide** science has the potential to produce hundreds of new drugs that can affect all of our major diseases, including cancer, pain, addictive behaviors (drugs, food, cigarettes, alcohol, sex, etc.), cardiovascular disease, mental illness, autoimmune diseases, and prion diseases to name some of the most important.

In this chapter we provide a few examples of the use of **peptide** science for examining peptide and protein hormones and neurotransmitters. Some of the compounds we could have included (e.g., insulin) are discussed elsewhere in these volumes. We will concentrate on examining four examples from the literature that we hope will illustrate both the potential of **peptide** and protein chemistry to solve therapeutic problems, and the important considerations in design, synthesis, conformational/topographic-biological activity relationships, and other factors that have to be considered in peptide and peptide mimetic design. In our considerations we will concentrate, because of space limitations, on a few bioactive **peptide** hormones and neurotransmitters that have led to therapeutic agents or that show great promise for doing so. It should be emphasized that many important and useful reviews and overviews about this subject have been written (Refs. 1-25 are 25 such references that have been useful to us in prepar-

Belief	Comments
1. Peptides are unstable	Many are because they are biological switches or substrates, but they can easily be made stable.
2. Peptides are readily attacked by protease	Many are for the reason in 1, but again this can easily be remedied.
3. Peptides are not bioavailable	Most peptides and proteins are not orally bioavailable, but many are >80% bioavailable, given in the lungs, through the eyes, transdermally, i.v. , end so forth.
4. Peptides are too expensive	The cost of manufacturing peptides has decreased dramatically in the last 20 years and can be expected to decrease even more in the future.

Table 2.1Commonly Held Beliefs about Peptide Drugs

ing this chapter), and should be referred to by the interested reader. Many of these provide important additional insights and information regarding the design, synthesis, and **confor**mational structure-biological activity aspects of this research. In addition a few **books/mono**graphs have appeared that provide much useful information (27, 28), including the **nine**volume series *The Peptides* (29–37), which, although somewhat out of date, still provides much essential information on synthetic, structural, and molecular pharmacological/ medicinal aspects of this area.

2 BACKGROUND

The discovery of **peptide** and protein hormones and **peptide** neurotransmitters began in the late nineteenth century with the discovery of the pituitary principles (now referred to as oxytocin, vasopressin, ACTH, α -melanotropin, etc.). However, at the time it was not thought that these "principles" were **peptides** or proteins. That they were was first firmly established by **duVigneaud** and colleagues with the sequence of oxytocin (38) followed shortly thereafter by its total synthesis (39).A few years later Sanger et al. (40) determined the primary structure of insulin. These two seminal discoveries ended all the controversies, and established that **peptides** and proteins could be hormones, and later, peptide neurotransmitters were similarly discovered. Since then hundreds of **peptide** and protein hormones and neurotransmitters have been identified and their structures determined.

After **duVigneaud's** proof of the biologically active structure of oxytocin by total synthesis

and the demonstration of its equivalence to natural oxytocin by chemical, biological, and clinical studies, many thought the next task was to continue synthesis of the ever more complex **peptides** and proteins whose primary structures were being determined. However, duVigneaud had other ideas. He thought that his structure determination and synthesis were only a beginning, and set out immediately to modify the structure of oxytocin by total synthesis (e.g., see Ref. 41). Thus began what we call today *de novo* ligand-based drug design. Important early contributors to this approach were Joseph Rudinger (42) and Robert Schwyzer (2). Work from their laboratories and many others led to the concepts of structure-activity relationships, which we take for granted today. Over time it has become clear that not only structural considerations (functional groups; acid/bases; hydrophobes/hydrophiles; methyl, ethyl, propyl, isopropyl, etc.) were important, but that conformational considerations also were critical components of biological activity, especially with regard to molecular recognition, transduction, stability against proteases, and bioavailability. This has led to the development of a strategy of conformational constraints that continues to be further developed today. Because many of the constraints make use of some kind of cyclization, it is critical to consider the synthesis of medium size rings and macrocyclic rings as part of a strategy for developing **peptide** and peptidomimetic drugs. Despite considerable success, there are still many unexplored areas involving design and synthesis of these cyclic structures. In this chapter we outline how

these considerations have been used to design bioactive **peptides** that can lead to therapeutic agents.

3 METHODOLOGY

The successful development of **peptide**, protein, and **peptide** mimetic biologically active hormones and neurotransmitters depends critically on five chemical aspects:

- **1.** Robust synthetic methods, including asymmetric synthetic methodology.
- 2. Considerations of peptide conformation.
- **3.** Considerations of side-chain conformations, particularly of pharmacophore moieties (topography).
- 4. Critical use of conformational and topographical space.
- 5. Proper choice and use of biological assays.

We briefly discuss each of these with particular reference to **peptide**, protein, and **peptide** mimetic hormone and neurotransmitter *de novo* design.

3.1 Peptide Synthesis

The development of **peptide** synthesis methodology during the past 40 years has been spectacular, to the point where today it is perhaps the most robust organic synthetic methodology, particularly through the use of the 20 amino acids commonly used by genes to construct proteins. It is now possible, using optimized chemistry, to construct a **peptide** of 20 to 40 amino acids by **stepwise** synthesis with an average yield at each coupling step of >99%. Although one could draw attention to many important synthetic developments to account for this robust chemistry, perhaps three major developments were most important. First was the introduction of the N^{α} -tertbutyloxycarbonylgroup for temporary protection of the a-amino group of the incoming amino acid during assembly of a polypeptide chain (43, 44). Second was the development of the solid-phase synthetic method by Merrifield (45). Initially, the solid-phase method was severely criticized by most organic chemists, including most synthetic peptide chemists, because "intermediates" were not purified. This stimulated Merrifield and others to optimize every step in solid-phase synthesis to today's levels of nearly 100% completion in many cases (for a few excellent reviews, see Refs. 46–49; for an excellent book, see Ref. 50). Ironically, nowadays many organic and medicinal chemists use solid-phase organic synthesis to make their favorite organic molecules on solid supports. Seldom, however, do they optimize their syntheses. This leads to significant impurities that need to be removed. Finally, the third major reason for the excellent progress in **peptide** synthesis was the introduction and development of high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC). The thousands of theoretical plates on HPLC columns allow rapid purification of peptides after synthesis of the polypeptide chain and removal of the side chain protecting groups. Reverse-phase HPLC has been particularly useful for the purification of most peptides.

3.2 Peptide Conformation

A central dogma of molecular biology is that the biological activity of a **peptide** or protein is directly related to its three-dimensional structure. In the postgenomic era, this dogma will take center stage as we seek a more critical understanding of the chemical/physical basis for life and the underlying chemistry related to diseases. A clear understanding of the relationships of **peptide** structure to conformations in biological systems is critical for future progress. It is often stated that small (<10 residues) linear and cyclic disulfide-containing peptides have "random" conformations in solution. This is a misunderstanding of the nature of **peptide** and protein conformations. In this regard, the prescient insights of Ramachandran and coworkers regarding the energy of **peptide** and protein backbone conformations stands out as perhaps the greatest insight to date into peptide and protein backbone conformations (51-53). By simple steric considerations and evaluation of the energy landscape of backbone phi (ϕ) and psi (ψ) angles (the bond omega angle was considered to be a "rigid" *trans* conformation, except for X-Pro where it could be cis) (Fig. 2.1), they determined that a good deal of ϕ - ψ torsional space was of high energy and therefore not



Figure 2.1. Definitions of the conformations of phi (ϕ), psi (ψ), omega (ω), and chi-1 [g(-), g(+), *trans*]conformation.

accessible to most amino acid residues in a peptide (Gly is an exception). For L-amino acids, a relatively small number of low energy conformations were available, including α -helix (right-handed and left-handed), β -sheets (parallel and antiparallel), extended confornations, and β -turns [for definitions of different types see Lewis et al. (54,5511. At the times of these predictions, the high resolution X-ray analyses of peptide and protein structures were minimal. Since then, thousands of X-ray structures of **peptides** and proteins have been determined, and essentially all residues in polypeptides (Glyexcepted) are found near the low energy conformations found on a Ramachandran plot (**a** plot of ϕ and **\$** torsional angles as a function of energy). From this insight several tentative hypotheses can be considered in the design of **peptide** hormones and neurotransmitters [and for many other **pep**tides that are either part of a larger protein or function in other ways (e.g., as epitopes for the

Structural Constraint	Expected Outcome/Comments
N-terminal to C-terminal cyclics	Cyclic hexapeptides and pentapeptides β -turns, y-turns.
Cyclic disulfides	Cyclic 11-, 14-, 17-, 20-, and 23-membered rings: stabilize p-turns, y-turns, β-turns/β-sheets.
Cyclic lactams and lactones: side-chain to side - chain, terminal to side-chain, and so forth	Stabilize α -helices, β -turns.
Cyclic backbone: side-chain; cyclic backbone–backbone, backbone to C- or N-terminal	Stabilize β-turns , y-turns, β-sheets .
C ^α -alkyl or aryl groups	Stabilize a-helix, 3₁₀-helix , extended structure depending on R groups.
Bulky amino acid side-chains (e.g. , naphthyl, adamantyl, etc .)	Limit ϕ , ψ angles; stabilize transannular interactions; define pharmacophore space.

Table 2.2Kinds of Conformational Constraints Leading to Specific Secondary Structuresfor Peptide Hormones and Neurotransmitters

immune system, as substrates for proteases, etc.)]:

- 1. Because the targets for hormones and neurotransmitters are integral membrane proteins such as G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), the hormones will bind to these proteins with specific secondary structures.
- 2. The solution conformation will adapt to the conformation that leads to greatest (lowest energy) interactions with the receptor.
- 3. When bound to the **receptor/acceptor**, the **peptide** will be an integral part of the receptor conformation (i.e., behave as a "mini" protein).
- 4. Agonists, competitive antagonists, and competitive inverse agonists bind in the binding pocket of the receptor differently (have different structure-activity relationships and different pharmacophores), which leads to different structures for the receptor-ligand complex in each case.

A way to test these hypotheses directly would be to examine by X-ray crystallography or high resolution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, the three-dimensional structure of the peptide-protein complexes. However, examination of the high resolution structure of integral membrane proteins has turned out to be very difficult, not only because of their reasonably large size (40–80

kDa), but even more so because they primarily are biologically viable in the anisotropic environment of the membrane bilayer. Chemists and physicists have yet to develop robust methods to examine three-dimensional structures at high resolution (<2.5 Å) in these environments. Hence, ligand-based drug design in this area has been largely excluded. Nonetheless, a highly successful alternative approach has been developed for peptides, which can be referred to as peptide ligand-based drug design with conformational constraints. The kinds of conformational constraints that have proved to be most successful are shown in Table 2.2. Examination of this table indicates that constraints using cyclizations of various kinds often require the use of novel amino acids, C^{α} -substituted amino acids, and/or the use of novel bulky side-chain amino acids for success. Importantly, proper choice of conformational constraints can lead to small peptide analogs whose three-dimensional structure in solution can be determined by state-of-the-art two- and three-dimensional NMR methods, with insight from circular dichroism spectroscopy, FT-infrared spectroscopy, and Raman spectroscopy. X-ray crystallography also has provided important conformational information. In addition, modern computational chemistry methods with appropriately modified force fields can provide predictive conformational insights that are helpful in the design of biologically active ligands.



Figure 2.2. Plot of energy map of χ^1 versus χ^2 for tyrosine and of $(2S,3R)\beta$ -methyl-2',6'-dimethyl-tyrosine, where each contour represents 1 kcal from the lowest energy conformation.

3.3 Peptide Topography

In the case of most peptide hormones and neurotransmitters, the key pharmacophore elements are often the side-chain groups that make up the peptide structure. In the vast majority of cases aromatic residues of Phe, Tyr, Trp, and His; amino residues from the *N*-terminal; the ϵ -amino group or Lys and the guanidyl group from Arg; and/or the carboxyl groups from Asp, Glu, or the C-terminal carboxylate play key roles in the **pharmacophore**. This poses unique problems that have begun to be investigated only recently. The problem is that the energy landscape for the side chains of amino acid is much flatter than that in phi-psi space. As shown in Fig. 2.1 each chi angle starting with χ_1 has three possible sidechain conformations: gauche(-), trans, and gauche(+); and, as shown in Fig. 2.2, although indeed the g(-), trans, and g(+) conformations are the low energy conformations, the energy difference between them is small, and the energy barriers between them are small and easily accessible at 300°C. Thus it is very difficult to predict which side-chain conformation the receptor/acceptor prefers, or whether it makes any difference in terms of **molecular** recognition in binding affinity, transduction, or biological activity in general. To investigate this problem Hruby et al. initiated a compre-

hensive program of topographical design constraint (18) of side-chain groups in amino acids. To accomplish this goal they and others developed methods for the asymmetric synthesis of β -substituted amino acids (e.g., β -Me, -Et, -*i*-Pr-Aryl, etc.) and in the case of Phe and Tyr also 2'- and 6'-methyl substituted amino acids (18, 56-60). Because there is a second chiral center created for most of these novel amino acids, we and others have had to develop novel synthetic methodology to prepare the desired designed amino acids (see Fig. 2.3 for some examples). Constraints in chi space $(\chi^1 \text{ and } \chi^2)$ of various degrees are found in the derivatives of phenylalanine (1,2, 3, and 4; Fig. 2.3), tyrosine (1,2, 3, and 4; Fig. 2.3). Because many of the novel amino acids have chiral centers at the α - and β -carbons, they exist as four isomers: (S,S), (S,R), (R,S), and (R,R). We have shown by both NMR (e.g., see Ref. 61) and computational chemistry (18) that significant constraints are introduced between the g(-), trans, and g(+) conformations, and that there are significant energy differences between them in many cases (18).We provide specific examples of the use of such topographically constrained amino acids in de *novo* peptide design in Section 4 of this chapter. Suffice it to say at this point, that such constraints can provide unique insights into



Figure 2.3. Some examples of novel chi-constrained amino acids for topographical design (related lead references).

the topographical requirements of **pharma**cophore side-chain groups (for reviews, see Refs. 18, 56).

3.4 Topographical and Conformational Constraints

From the above discussion it is clear that optimal design of biologically active peptides requires the use of both conformational and topographical constraints in the same molecule to obtain insights about the physiologically active conformation. Because only a limited number of topographically constrained amino acids are commercially available, studies that make use of both types of constraint simultaneously have been rather limited. However, in Section 4 we illustrate the power of this methodology to provide peptide and peptidomimetic analogs with unique biological activities. As work proceeds on the proteome and with the observation that molecular recognition is critical in virtually all life processes, we believe that the use of conformational and topographical considerations will be an integral part of any drug or **ligand** design project. It seems to be particularly important for the *de novo* design of a nonpeptide ligand based on a **peptide** pharmacophore (**e.g.**, see Refs. 18, 92, 93).

3.5 Bioassays

Central to any program in ligand-based drug design or in the development of novel conformationally and/or topographically constrained biologically activity peptides is the need for robust bioassays. Currently, high throughput screening is touted as the best method for discovering drug leads. Often this involves only binding affinity studies, and sometimes a second-messenger assay as well. Although this is often a good starting point to get a micromolar binding lead compound, it has become increasingly clear that for treatment of diseases, especially those involving peptide hormones and peptide neurotransmitters, the adaptive changes that occur in the

Assay Considerations	
Binding affinity	For potency and selectivity must use multiple receptor types and subtypes, membranes or cells or pure receptor.
Second-messenger assays	cAMP, GTP γ S, and so forth: membranes, cells, or tissues; agonist vs. antagonist vs. inverse agonist.
Bioassays	Tissues: provide functional information (e.g. , smooth muscle; heart; liver; brain; etc.).
In vivo assays	Assess functional or behavioral effects (e.g. , blood pressure; diuresis; pain; heart rate; respiration; pigmentation).
Behavioral assays	Assess changing behaviors (e.g., pain; addiction; feeding; sexual; aggression; learning; etc.).

 Table 2.3 Biochemical and Biological Assay for Peptide Hormones and Neurotransmitters

endocrine system or in the central nervous system render the relationships of hormone or neurotransmitter bioactivity different in normal and diseased states. As a result more extensive assays that address the adaptive changes that have occurred as a result of disease are needed (e.g., see a discussion of changes that occur in pathological pain states in Ref. 94). Thus more extensive and perhaps different assays will be needed. In Table 2.3 we outline some of the assays that should be used and some considerations related to these assays.

4 EXAMPLES

4.1 Parathyroid Hormone

4.1.1 Structure and Function. The parathyroid hormone (PTH) is a linear polypeptide of 84 amino acids (Fig. 2.4) and plays a critical physiological role in bone growth, renal functions, and calcium homeostasis (95-98). This peptide, along with the active forms of vitamin D, constitutes the principal regulator of calcium homeostasis in humans. PTH increases the concentration of extracellular (blood) calcium through a concerted effect primarily on bone, intestine, and kidneys. Lowering of blood calcium levels stimulates production of PTH, which consequently works to maintain appropriate levels of blood calcium through three distinct mechanisms: (1)increased rate of dissolution of the bone mineral; (2)reduced clearance of calcium by the kidneys, by returning more of the calcium filtered by the glomerulus back to blood; and (3) increasing the efficiency of calcium absorption in the intestine

through an indirect mechanism involving the activation of vitamin D (98). In addition, PTH plays a role in maintaining the concentrations of inorganic phosphates in the body.

PTH is biochemically synthesized as a **pro**hormone, which differs from PTH by the fact that it has six additional residues at the amino-terminus. The exact function of the **pro**hormone sequence is unclear but it has been hypothesized that the production of PTH as a prohormone is important for the efficient packaging of the hormone. Although calcium ion concentrations in blood appear to play a significant role in the regulation of PTH, other agents such as magnesium, epinephrine, and **dopamine** also play a role in regulating PTH secretions *in vivo*.

Recently, a related peptide, the parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) containing 140 amino acids was identified as a secretory product of tumors associated with the clinical syndrome of humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy. This peptide hormone is also produced by a variety of normal cells and acts as a paracrine and/or autocrine regulator in development (99, 100). PTHrP appears to play a key role in early skeletal development in the embryo, in cell differentiation (99), and also facilitates the transport of calcium across the placenta and during lactation. Both PTH and PTHrP have high affinity for the parathyroid hormone receptor (PTH1R), a G-protein-coupled, seven-transmembrane receptor (GPCR) with nearly equivalent potency. The fact that PTH and PTHrP, despite sharing only limited sequence homology, binds to and activates the same receptor (PTH1R) suggests that both



Figure 2.4. Schematic representation of the functional domains of parathyroid hormone molecule.

peptide hormones assume very similar bioactive conformations when bound to the receptor.

The importance of both peptide hormones in controlling various physiological processes, and the observation that their malfunction can result in disease states such as hypercalcemia, osteoporosis, cancer, renal and cardiac problems, as well as problems associated with skeletal development has stimulated research in the design and development of stable and potent synthetic analogs of these hormones as therapeutics. Hence, extensive structure-activity relationship (SAR) studies aimed at elucidating amino acid residues in PTH or PTHrP that are important for binding and potency have been undertaken. The SAR studies have shown that the N-terminal portion, consisting of the first 34 amino acids, possesses full activity in both PTH and PTHrP (100a).

This review focuses on SAR studies that have helped in understanding the molecular basis for ligand-receptor interactions and illustrates key linear, truncated, or cyclic analogs that agonize or antagonize the PTH receptor. Both classes of compounds have been used to study the mechanism of action of the hormone in normal and pathophysiological states. Some specific potential therapeutic applications of these compounds might include treatments for acute hypercalcemia arising from parathyroid adenoma, hyperplasia, and carcinoma. Highly selective and potent antagonists of PTH also have been proposed as therapeutic agents for the treatment of, for example, chronic hyperparathyroidism, osteoporosis, and fibrous dysplasia.

4.1.2 Overall View of the Structure of PTI Parathyroid hormone is an 84 amino acid, li ear polypeptide secreted by the parathyro gland. Early structure activity studies showe that the amino-terminal region consisting 34 residues was sufficient for full biologic activity (96, 97). This fragment could furth be divided into three distinct regions: (1)Th

4 Examples

N-terminal region which is helical in nature and plays a key function in hormone stimulated adenylate cyclase activity in vitro and receptor activation in *vivo*; (2) The middle 'hinge' region which is possibly involved in a beta-turn and is responsible for the proper orientation of the truncated **peptide** in the receptor pocket; and (3) A carboxyl terminal domain which is also helical and contains residues important for binding and receptor recognition (101b, 102).

4.1.3 Importance of Ala' and Val^z in Signal Transduction. SAR studies have implicated the C-terminus domain to be important for maintaining potent receptor-binding affinity. The more flexible N-terminus region appears to play a critical role in signal transduction. Deletion of the first two amino-terminal residues results in a loss of all, or virtually all, biological activity but not in a loss of binding affinity to the **PTH1** receptor in vitro. Thus there appears to be an apparent structural separation of binding and activation regions in **PTH**. Deletion of Ala¹ was accompanied by a marked decrease in adenylate cyclase activity, implying that the minimum sequence required for biological activity starts at the second amino acid.

4.1.4 Importance of Arg^{zo} and Arg^{z5} in Receptor/Ligand interactions. Early SAR studies had indicated that conserved structural modifications in the central portion of the active fragment of PTH-(1-34) were remarkable for their relative lack of effect on biological activity. To evaluate the biological role of Arg²⁰ and Arg²⁵ in PTH-(1-34), fragment-selective postsynthetic modifications of these two residues in hPTH-(1-34) active fragment were done by use of 1,2-cyclohexanedione (100). 1,2-Cyclohexanedione reacts specifically, completely, and reversibly with the guanidino group of arginine, to give a single product, N^7 , N^8 -(1,2-dihydroxycyclohex-1,2-ylene) arginine, [DHCH-Arg²⁰,DHCH-Arg²⁵]hPTH-(1-34) (103). This modified analog showed, at most, 16% of the activity of the unmodified hormone hPTH-(1-34), based on in vitro renal adenylate cyclase assays using borate buffer. Reversal of arginine modification completely restores biopotency, indicating that the po-

tency decline observed after 1.2-cyclohexanedione treatment is not caused by nonspecific alterations of structure. The near total loss in biopotency of the modified hormone may be further explained by the increase in steric bulk of the Arg^{20,25} side chains or by a change in the formal charge of the guanido group from a ± 1 to zero in a putative arginineborate complex. Whether these two effects individually or in combination may cause a dramatic decrease in biopotency through adverse effects on hormone-receptor interactions or through the induction of a conformational change in the **peptide** is not clear. However, these results illustrate the importance of the positively charged guanidino group in Arg on binding and bioactivity.

4.1.5 Importance of Gly¹² in Ligand-Receptor Actions. Glycine, the simplest amino acid, plays a very important role in proteins and peptides. The absence of a side-chain functional group renders Gly a high degree of conformational flexibility in peptides. In addition, this amino acid can also access the phi and psi space of D-amino acids. Hence, glycine is generally found in the region where proteins and peptides undergo reverse-turn structures (55, 104,105). Glycine is the 12th residue from the N-terminus in the PTH sequence (106, 107). This residue is highly conserved in PTH and PTHrP isolated from all species to date. Structural studies that use the Chou-Fasman analysis and both CD and NMR studies have predicted that the α -helical N-terminal domain is followed by a β -turn at positions 12–15 in PTH and 9-12 in PTHrP. Thus, the biological consequences of single-residue changes at position 12 were assessed in vitro, to determine the role of this residue in hormone-receptor interactions and its contribution toward the bioactive conformation of the peptide. In the human hormone [Tyr³⁴]hPTH-(1-34)-NH2 substitution of Gly^{12} by Ala^{12} , D-Ala¹² and Aib¹² gave agonists with binding affinities similar to that of [Tyr³⁴]hPTH-(1-34)-NH₂ in bovine renal cells $(K_{\rm b} [\text{Tyr}^{34}]\text{hPTH-}(1-34)$ -NH, = 0.7 d ; $K_{\rm b}$ for substituted analogs between 0.7 and 1.0 **A** The **Pro¹²** analog binds approximately 840-fold less tightly than $[Tyr^{34}]hPTH-(1-34)-NH_2$. The K_m values for adenylate cyclase activity are also similar to

Analog	Binding, $K_{\rm b}$ (n M)	Cyclase $K_{\rm m}$ (n M)	Ref.
$\overline{[\text{Tyr}^{34}]\text{hPTH-(7-34)NH}_{2}(1)}$	700	2700	109
$[D-Trp^{12},Tyr^{34}]hPTH-(7-34)NH_2$ (2)	120	210	109
$[Trp^{12}, Tyr^{34}]bPTH-(7-34)NH_2(3)$	400	1360	110
$[Nle^{8,18},Tyr^{34}]bPTH-(7-34)NH_{2}$ (4)	960	1550	110
$[Nle^{8,18}, D-Trp^{12}, Tyr^{34}]bPTH-(7-34)NH_{2}$ (5)	180	70	110
$[Nle^{8,18}, Trp^{12}, Tyr^{34}]bPTH-(7-34)NH_2$ (6)	410	220	110

Table 2.4Binding and Cyclase Activity of Selected Antagonist Analogs of PTHwith Bone-Derived ROS17/2.8 Cells

that of $[Tyr^{34}]hPTH-(1-34)-NH_2$ for the Ala¹², D-Ala¹², and Aib¹² analogs, whereas the K_m value for the **Pro**¹² analog is 3500-fold lower (107).

To design potent and selective antagonists (108) of PTH or any other **peptide** ligand, it is necessary to identify the sites within the hormone where structural modifications can be made that maintain high receptor affinity, but without inducing agonist properties. In principle these goals can be achieved by two different routes: (1)stabilize the antagonist in a conformation favored by the receptor for molecular recognition but not transduction; and (2) introduce new structural moieties that will add binding elements that interact with the receptor at sites different from or in addition to those present in the native agonist. These binding elements should retain the "bioactive conformation" of the ligand required for receptor binding that does not lead to information transduction.

Previous SAR studies with human and bovine PTH have shown that removal of the first six amino-terminal residues gives an analog with potent antagonistic activity in *vivo*, such as [Tyr³⁴]hPTH-(7-34) NH₂ (109) (Table 2.4). Substitution of Gly¹² in this fragment by Ala¹² and **D-Ala¹²** gives analogs that are about twice as potent as the parent peptide [Tyr³⁴]hPTH-(7-34) NH₂ in both binding and cAMP assays, whereas the Pro¹² analog is approximately twofold less active vs. the parent peptide. Furthermore, replacement of Gly¹² with D-Trp (Table 2.4) results in an antagonist that is approximately 10-fold more potent in the binding assay and 12-fold more potent at inhibiting agonist-induced (3 nM [Nle^{8,18},Tyr³⁴]bPTH-(1-34)NH₂) cAMP activity (Table 2.4). In contrast, the L-Trp analog (110) failed to alter either binding or cAMP activity, suggesting that introduction of hydrophobic side-chain groups in the D-configuration at position 12 provides auxiliary hydrophobic interactions with the receptor, which promotes binding. A combination of bulky hydrophobic residues at position 12 together with the substitution of Met⁸ and Met¹' by Nle gave analogs having binding activity 10- to 15-fold more potent than that df: [Nle^{8,18},Tyr³⁴]bPTH-(7–34)NH₂. These results suggest that introducing amino acid residues with aliphatic and/or bulky hydrophobic side chains in either the D- or L-conformer can improve antagonism in the 7–34 truncated series (Table 2.4).

4.1.6 Truncated PTH Analogs: Identification of the Minimum Sequence Requirements. Truncation of **peptide** hormones having more than 15 amino acid residues to smaller yet biologically active and potent analogs is very often a challenging task. Most often truncation not only allows researchers the flexibility d' synthesizing large numbers of analogs with considerable ease, speed, and at less cost, but the truncated analogs also can be studied more systematically to elucidate the regions within the native **peptide** sequence that **are** important for binding and bioactivity. SAR studies of PTH have shown that the minimum and critical region necessary for full biological and binding activity resides in the first 34 amino acids (1–34) of the polypeptide (109, 110). To further determine the residues within this polypeptide fragment that play an important role in molecular recognition, several truncated synthetic fragments of bovine parathyroid hormone (bPTH) were made and tested for their ability to competitively inhibit the binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled [Nle⁸,Nle¹⁸,Tyr³⁴] bPTH-(1-34)amide, as well as serve as antagonists of PTH-stimulated cAMP in vitro (111).

Peptide	$K_{ m b}$ (Renal) , M^a	$K_{\rm i}$ (cAMP), M	[Analog]/[PTH] ^b
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(3-34)amide	1.2×10^{-8}	1.2×10^{-8}	n.d.
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(7–34)amide	$1.1 imes10^{-6}$	$3.0 imes 10^{-6}$	30
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(10-34)amide	$2.7 imes 10^{-6}$	$7.0{ imes}10^{-6}$	70
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(15-34)amide	3.2×10^{-5}	$3.7{ imes}10^{-5}$	370
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(20-34)amide	7.3 x 10^{-5}	$7.0 imes 10^{-5}$	700
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(25-34)amide	3.4×10^{-4}	No inhibition [°]	>4000
[Nle ⁸ ,Nle ¹⁸ ,Tyr ³⁴]bPTH-(28-34)amide	No binding	Not tested	n.d.

Table 2.5In VitroBiological Potencies of Truncated Analogs of BovineParathyroid Hormone

"The concentration of each peptide that inhibited specific binding of radioligand to a half maximal level was taken as the apparent binding constant (K_b) of that peptide.

^bMolar ratio of inhibitory **peptide** to PTH required for 50% inhibition of **cAMP** in vitro (112). **n.d.**, not determined. 'Testing at a concentration of **peptide** as high as that used in the binding assay was precluded. Nonspecific in bition of

cAMP activity at peptide concentrations greater than $4 \times 10^{-4} M$.

Table 2.5 summarizes the results of this study. The inhibition of specific binding of **radioligand** was assessed for each **peptide** fragment over a concentration range from 1×10^{-10} to $1 \times 10^{-2} M$.

The binding studies indicate that deleting the first two residues from the amino-terminal completely eliminates any detectable biological activity, while maintaining potent affinity for the receptor (112). Further stepwise amino-terminal deletions from position 3 to 27 caused a progressive decrease in binding avidity. However, it was observed that all of the truncated analogs, except the [Nle⁸,Nle¹⁸, Tyr³⁴]bPTH-(28-34) amide fragment, could completely and specifically inhibit the binding of radioligand when added at sufficiently high concentrations $(1 \times 10^{-2} \text{ M})$. This suggests that a small chain of 10 residues (25–34), but not as small as a seven amino acid fragment, is able to satisfy all the requirements for binding to the receptor pocket (113). The 25-34 sequence was found to be conserved in hormones isolated from all species studied to date, indicating that this fragment contains important structural information for binding. The observation that the relative order and magnitude of the apparent binding constants observed correlates closely with the K_i values for each peptide fragment in the in vitro adenylate cyclase assay suggests that the mechanism of hormone antagonism caused by these peptide fragments is through direct competition between PTH and analog fragment for receptor occupancy. Competition for receptor-binding sites by the analog fragments is not attributed to nonspecific **peptide** effects, given that **hPTH-(44-68)** and **hPTH-(53-84)** fragments do not inhibit binding of radioligand at a maximal concentration of 1×10^{-2} M.

A second major direction toward the development of potent and biologically active agonists of PTH relies on the incorporation of Damino acids in place of the naturally occurring L-enantiomer at selected positions along the native **peptide** sequence. This technique has been successfully used to generate stable, more potent and bioavailable analogs of various **peptide** hormones and other biologically active **peptides** (e.g., Refs. 114–117). Four analogs of PTH having *D*-amino acids at selected positions along the native **peptide** sequence were synthesized and tested for their ability to bind and activate the PTH receptor. Because earlier studies (118–120) had shown that even subtle changes near the amino- and **carboxyl**termini conferred large changes in biopotency, the *D*-isomers were introduced in these regions. Table 2.6 summarizes the results of key analogs. substitutions at the carboxyl-terminus are very well tolerated, given that replacement of Tyr³⁴ by its *D*-isomer gave a peptide that is biologically equipotent. In addition, this peptide may be more active in vivo than in *vitro* because of its greater resistance to enzymatic degradation. Structural modifications in the amino-terminal activation region are poorly tolerated in terms of biopotency. Substituting Val² by its D-isomer in [D-Tyr³⁴] bPTH-(1-34) gave analog [D-Val²,D-Tyr³⁴] bPTH-(1-34) amide, which lacked nearly all of the in vitro biological activity compared to

Substitution	Fragment	Potency"	Relative Potency (%) ^b
None	1–34	5400 (3,900-8,000)	100
[Tyr ³⁴]	1–34 amide	16000 (11,000–23,000)	300
[D- Tyr ³⁴]	1-34 amide	14500 (11,000–17,000)	270
[D-Tyr ³⁴]	2-34 amide	130 (120–150)	3
$[D-Val^2, D-Tyr^{34}]$	2-34 amide	90 (60–100)	2
[D-Val ² ,D-Tyr ³⁴]	1–34 amide	80 (60–100)	1

Table 2.6Biological Activity of Bovine PTH(1-34) and bPTH(2-34) in Rat RenalAdenylate Cyclase Assay

"Potency estimates are based on three independent assays except for [D-Tyr⁸⁴]bPTH-(1-34)amide. Limits in parentheses represent SEM for each **peptide** except [D-Tyr⁸⁴]bPTH-(1-34)amide, for which 95% confidence limits are provided.

^bRelative potency calculated on the basis of the mean potency with the activity of the reference peptide, unsubstituted bPTH-(1-34) taken as 100%.

that of the unsubstituted analog. A similar effect is seen when the first amino-terminus residue is deleted, as in [D-Tyr³⁴]bPTH-(2-34) amide. However, no additivity of effects (in terms of a further reduction in biopotency) was seen on combining D-Val² and [Tyr³⁴] bPTH-(2-34)-amide in the same peptide fragment (Table 2.6).

4.1.7 Conformationally Constrained Cyclic Analogs of **hPTH**(1–31)Amide

4.1.7.1 In Vitro Agonist Studies. Cyclization at specific sites within a peptide is often used as tool for enhancing the selectivity, binding, and biopotency of the peptide ligand (3-5, 8-11). Cyclization introduces constraints that can stabilize the bioactive conformation of the ligand, thus improving the biological properties, and can also help to identify regions within the **peptide** sequence that may be important for molecular recognition (3–5). Given that the biologically relevant three-dimensional structure of PTH is at best speculative, cyclic lactam analogs of hPTH, designed to stabilize the amphipathic helical region between residues 17 and 30, and known to be important in binding to the receptor (120), were synthesized and tested for their ability to activate rat osteosarcoma 17/2 (ROS)

cells in culture. Cyclization was achieved through the formation of side chain to side chain lactam bridges at three distinct sites within the 17-29 residue sequence of hPTH-(1-31) amide, previously identified by high resolution NMR to be involved in ion-pairing interactions in solution (121). There are two distinct ion pairs in the C-terminal a-helical region that could potentially contribute toward the stability of the helix. These are between Glu²²-Lys²⁶ and Lys²⁶-Asp³⁰ and have (i, i + 4) spacing, whereas the third ion pair between Lys^{27} and $Asp^{3'}$ having (i, i + 3) spacing is helix destabilizing. Lactam bridges between these residues would restrict their conformational flexibility, thus reducing the number of possible conformations the peptide can assume in solution.

Table 2.7 lists the results of in vitro cAMPstimulation studies in ROS cells for the cyclic lactams as well as for the linear [Leu²⁷]hPTH-(1–31)amide analog. Cyclic peptide (5), having (i, i + 3) spacing, shows half the in vitro potency of its linear counterpart 1. In (5)a twist is introduced into the helix on lactam formation and may be responsible for destabilizing the helix and thus lowering the potency of this analog (Fig. 2.5). The increased bioactivity of analog 2 versus 1 is not attributed to an in-

Table 2.7 Biopotencies of Cyclic Constrained Analogs of hPTH(1-31)Amide in ROS Cells

Peptide	Adenylate Cyclase Activity, EC ₅₀ (nM)
hPTH-(1-31)-NH ₂ (1)	19.9
$[Leu^{27}]hPTH-(1-31)-NH_2(2)$	11.5
$[Leu^{27}]cyclo(Glu^{22}-Lys^{26})hPTH-(1-31)-NH_2$ (3)	3.3
$[Leu^{27}]cyclo(Lys^{26}-Asp^{30})hPTH-(1-31)-NH_{2}(4)$	16.9
$cyclo(Lys^{27}-Asp^{30})hPTH-(1-31)-NH_2$ (5)	40.3



```
A: Peptide 3; B: Peptide 4; C: Peptide 5.
```

Figure 2.5. Models showing lactam positions in receptor-binding region of human PTH.

crease in the a-helical content of (2) (based on CD data), but rather is attributed to the replacement of a polar lysine residue (Lys^{27}) on the hydrophobic face of the helix by a hydrophobic leucine residue (Leu²⁷). Constraining analog (2) through a lactam bridge between Glu²² and Lys²⁶ (analog 3) further improves bioactivity, presumably through stabilization of the a-helix. Although peptides (3) and (4) both have lactam bridges between the (i, i + 4)residues, and thus have the same helical content, the CD study indicates differences in the conformation populations. Peptide (3) presumably has a more nearly perfect helix than that of peptide (4), probably because of the fact that in (4) the constraint is toward the terminus to the region. This difference may account for the oss in bioactivity of (4) versus (3).

4.1.7.2 In Vivo Studies. The bioavailabilities of the cyclic analogs were tested by neasuring their abilities to lower the blood pressure in rats when injected either intravenously or subcutaneously at a dose of 0.8 mol/100 g of the analog (122). In addition, the ime required by these analogs to lower the plood pressure to a maximum extent was also neasured as a factor to evaluate their in vivo efficacies. Intravenous injections of the cyclic inalogs elicited relative hypotensive effects not significantly different from those observed from the cAMP study. In addition, the time required to attain minimum blood pressure was not significantly different for these analogs.

However, subcutaneous injections produced quite different results. By this procedure, peptides (1), (2), and (5) produced significantly lower drops in blood pressure than did $hPTH-(1-34)-NH_2$ and peptides (3) and (4). However, the times required for attaining maximal drop in blood pressure after subcutaneous injections are quite different, in that analog (3)reached the minimum blood pressure much faster than either (4) or (5), a result consistent with data from cAMP studies. Finally, it was noticed that analogs truncated to the first 30 amino-terminal residues had poor biological properties such as hypotensive effects in rats when administered subcutaneously. However, these peptides showed similar hypotensive properties when administered intravenously, suggesting that Val³¹ might be playing an important role in the transport of these analogs from the site of injection into the vascular system.

4.2 Melanotropins

4.2.1 Structure-Activity Relationships. The melanotropins, a-, β -, and y-melanocyte stim-

ulating hormone (**MSH**) are a group of endogenous neuropeptides that control various key physiological functions through their interaction with the five transmembrane **G-protein**coupled receptors (**GPCRs**), called the **melano**cortin receptors (**MCRs**). To date, five such receptors (123–129) have been identified: the **MC1-R** a-MSH receptor (pigmentation receptor); the **MC2-R** [ACTH receptor; recent research has revealed that the **MC2-R** binds ACTH with high affinity, but that the MC2-R does not bind MSH **peptides** (130)]; and the MC3-R, the MC4-R, and the MC5-R, whose functions are under intensive investigation.

a-Melanotropin (a-MSH), Ac-Ser-Tyr-Ser-Met-Glu-His-Phe-Arg-Trp-Gly-Lys-Pro-Val-NH₂, was one of the first **peptide** hormones isolated from the pituitary gland (131–135). This hormone plays an important role in skin pigmentation. Other effects ascribed to this hormone include: (1)regulation of the release of pituitary and peripheral hormones, such as somatostatin and corticotropin; (2) sebotrophic effects, adrenal steroidogenesis, immune response, cardiovascular and metabolic effects; and (3) important roles in the CNS such as (a) control over learning, memory, motivation, sleep, sexuality, and food intake (associated with obesity); (b) effects on neurotransmission such as cholinergic and **dopaminergic** systems; (c) neurochemical effects; (d) hypothermic and antipyretic effects; (e) effects on nerve regeneration; and (f) interactions with other neuroactive compounds such as opiates.

It is now well established that the MC1 receptor mainly expressed in melanocytes and leukocytes plays a key role in skin pigmentation and inflammatory response (136, 137). The MC2 receptor is expressed only in the adrenal gland and mediates glucocorticoneogenesis (123). The MC3 and MC4 receptors are both found in the brain, the MC3 receptor is found in the arcuate nucleus and the nucleus of the solitary tract, whereas the MC4 receptor is mainly found in the hypothalamus (138). Finally, the MC5 receptor is involved in exocrine functions and is localized predominantly in the sebaceous glands (139). The complex role of the melanotropins and the MC receptors, in controlling various physiological functions, has made it difficult to draw simple correlations between these receptors and the

biological effects of their ligands. Hence, research has been focused on developing potent and receptor-specific ligands that have **well**established biological properties. Thus, potent and selective agonist **and/or** antagonists could serve as valuable tools for determining unequivocally the roles of the melanocortin receptors in humans.

4.2.2 Studies Leading to the Identification of the Minimum Active Sequence of α -MSH. Early SAR studies with a-MSH were aimed at elucidating the residues in the tridecapeptide that were most responsible for its biological activity. Although previous reviews (140) have covered the results of these studies, it is worthwhile to point out some of the salient features.

- 1. Replacing Met⁴ by norleucine (Nle⁴) increases the potency of the resulting melanotropin, probably because of the chemically inert and hydrophobic side chain of Nle. Early studies had shown that Met is easily oxidized to its sulfone, which increased the hydrophilicity dramatically and thus decreased the bioactivity of the corresponding derivative in the amphibian skin assays.
- The substitution of Phe⁷ by p-Phe⁷ increased the biopotency of the resulting analog, suggesting that a reverse β-turn conformation (141), formed in the active core sequence (His-Phe-Arg-Trp) of a-MSH, may be important in binding and activity. Consequently, Hruby et al. developed the first highly potent and stable analog of a-MSH, [Nle⁴, p-Phe⁷]-α-MSH [NDP-MSH, MT-I, (Ac-Ser-Tyr-Ser-Nle⁴-Glu-His-p-Phe⁷-Arg-Trp-Gly-Lys-Pro-Val-NH₂)] (141). This compound was found to be a potent agonist of the MC1 receptor in amphibian and lizard skin assays.

To further improve the biological efficacy of a-MSH analogs, and to test the p-turn hypothesis, a series of cyclic compounds with greater conformational rigidity compared to that of the linear analog were synthesized. The firstgeneration cyclic analogs replaced the Met⁴ and Gly¹⁰ residues with a pseudoisosteric Cys + Cys residues, to give $c[Cys^4, Cys^{10}]$ - α -MSH



Ac-NIe-Asp-His-DPhe-Arg-Trp-Lys-NH₂

(142). This compound was found to be more potent than a-MSH, but lacked prolonged biological potency. In view of the importance of melanotropic peptides in treatment of pigmentory disorders and as a tool to detect melanoma cancer, quenched dynamic simulation studies (143) were undertaken to develop a-MSH analogs with superpotent and prolonged biological activity in the lizard skin and tyrosinase assay. The key observations (143) from these studies were the following: (1) both a-MSH and NDP-a-MSH assumed folded conformations with a probable β -turn-like structure at residues seven and eight; (2)the hydrophobic side-chains of His⁶, D- or L-Phe⁷, and Trp^⁶ occupied one face of the folded molecule with the charged (hydrophilic) side-chains of Glu⁵, Arg⁸, and Lys¹¹ segregated toward the opposite face of the molecule; (3) although Glu⁵ and Lys¹¹ occupied the same face, their oppositely charged side-chains were not in proximity for strong coulombic interaction. The molecular mechanic studies also indicated that if **Lys¹¹** was moved to replace **Gly¹⁰**, the side-chain of **Lys¹⁰** could be involved in a strong electrostatic interaction with the sidechain of Glu⁵, and such an interaction may further stabilize the folded conformation and thus improve binding. These observations led to the development of Ac[Nle⁴, D-Phe⁷, Lys¹⁰]- α -MSH and Ac[Nle⁴,Asp⁵,D-Phe⁷,Lys¹⁰]- α -MSH analogs, which both assumed folded conformations with Asp⁵ (Glu⁵) and Lys¹⁰ sidechains in proximity to each other when tested

Figure 2.6. Structure of the potent nonselective human melanocortin receptor agonist MT-II.

by molecular dynamic calculations (143, 144). Analog Ac[Nle⁴,Asp⁵, D-Phe⁷, Lys¹⁰]- α -MSH is approximately fivefold more potent than a-MSH in the lizard skin assay (144). To further improve potency the cyclic analog with a lactam bridge connecting Asp⁵ and Lys¹⁰ sidechains was synthesized and tested in frog skin, lizard skin, and tyrosinase assays (145, 146). Interestingly, the cyclic analog Ac-Nle⁴c[Asp⁵, D-Phe⁷, Lys¹⁰]-NH₂-(4–10) α -MSH (MTT-11, Fig. 2.6) was a superpotent agonist in both lizard skin and tyrosinase assays, but had approximately half the activity in the frog skin assay (Table 2.8). MT-11 also showed prolonged biological activity in the in *vitro* assay.

While these studies were in progress, a series of extensive studies on the minimum active sequences necessary for biological activity in melanotropin **peptide** at pigment cell receptor. Through use of a series of assays and animals it was determined that the **His-Phe-Arg-**Trp segment of a-MSH was the minimum sequence for full agonist activity (147, 148).

4.2.3 Importance of D-Phe⁷ of MT-II in Binding and Biological Activity. The bioactive conformation of a-MSH involves a β -turn in the message sequence and it has been proposed that the side-chain residues of groups in this region (His⁶, Phe⁷, Arg⁸, Trp⁹) play an important role in binding receptor selectivity and agonist activity (144,146,149,150). Thus, it was proposed early that replacing the Phe⁷ residue by its D-isomer could alter the confor-

	Bioassay System			
Melanotropin Analog	Frog Skin	Lizard Skin	Tyrosinase	
α-MSH	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Ac-[Nle ⁴ ,D-Phe ⁷] α -MSH	60.0	5.0	100.0	
$c[Cys^4, Cys^{10}]\alpha$ -MSH	20.0	4.0	1.0	
Ac-[Nle ⁴ ,Asp ⁵ ,D-Phe ⁷ ,Lys ¹⁰]-NH ₂ -(4–10) α -MSH	1.0	5.0	$\mathbf{n.d.}^{b}$	
$\text{Ac-Nle}^{4}\text{-}c\text{-}[\text{Asp}^{5},\text{D}\text{-}\text{Phe}^{7},\text{Lys}^{10}]\text{-}\text{NH}_{2}\text{-}(410)\alpha\text{-}\text{MSH}$	0.5	90.0	100.0	

Table 2.8 Relative Biological Potencies of α-MSH and Related Analogs^a

"All potencies reported are relative to a-MSH = 1.0 in assay systems.

^b**n.d.**, not determined.

mation of the peptide and thereby its bioactivity, and thus earlier studies led to substitutions in this position (e.g., see Refs. 151–153). To further test this hypothesis, analogs of MT-II having a halogen at the para position in the phenyl ring and the $D-Nal(2')^7$ analogs were synthesized and tested for activity at mouse and human melanocortin receptors (frog skin, mMC1-R, hMC1-R, hMC3-R, hMC4-R, and mMC5-R; Tables 2.9 and 2.10) (154). The D-para-chloro and D-para-fluorophenyl analogs were agonists at both mouse melanocortin receptors (mMC1 and mMC5) and also showed full agonist activity in the frog skin assay. In the frog skin bioassay (FSB), [D-Phe(pF)⁷]-MT-II (EC₅₀ = 0.10 nM) is 20 times more potent than [D-Phe(pCl)⁷]-MT-II (EC₅₀ = 2.0 nM). However, at the mMC1-R and hMC1-R, $[D-Phe(pF)^7]$ -MT-II has approximately one-third the potency of that of [**D-Phe(pCl**)⁷]-**MT-II** at both receptors (Table 2.9). At the hMC3, hMC4, and hMC5 receptors a similar trend was observed, with the [**D-Phe**(**pCl**)⁷]-**MT-II** being a more potent agonist than $[D-Phe(pF)^7]$ -MT-II (154).

However, for the D-p-iodophenyl and the D- $Nal(2')^7$ analogs the results in the FSB were different. It was found that both of these com-

pounds were potent antagonists in the FSB. Surprisingly, both analogs were found to be potent agonists at the mouse MC1 and hMC1 receptors. At the hMC3, hMC4, and hMC5 receptors the $[D-Phe(pI)^7]$ -MT-II and $[D-Nal(2')^7]$ -MT-II (SHU9119) were both potent antagonists, with $pA_2 = 9.3$ at the **hMC4R** and a pA_2 = 8.3 at the hMC3 receptor. On the other hand, the [**D-Phe**(**pI**)⁷]-**MT-II** analog showed partial agonist activity at the hMC5 receptor, whereas **SHU9119** is a full agonist at this mammalian receptor. It is interesting to note that the $[D-Nal(1')^7]$ -MT-II analog showed full agonist activity at all human receptors, indicating that subtle differences in the topography of the **peptide** ligand can significantly alter bioactivity. Other MT-II derivatives having larger lactam rings have been tested for their binding potencies and receptor selectivity. However, the larger, mare flexible ring improved neither the potencies nor the selectivities (athMCRs) of these analogs (155), suggesting that ligand-receptor interactions favor a 23-membered ring.

4.2.4 Effects of β -Substituents in Biological Potency. β -Methyl-substituted amino acids recently have been used to study the topo-

Compound	EC ₅₀ Values (nM)			
	Frog Skin	mMC1-R	hMC1-R	
a-MSH	0.10	1.3	0.091	
$[D-Phe(pF)^7]-MT-II^b$	0.10	0.026	0.016	
[D-Phe(pCl) ⁷]-MT-II	2.0	0.0095	0.0050	
$[\mathbf{D}-\mathbf{Phe}(\mathbf{pI})^7]-\mathbf{MT}-\mathbf{II}$	Antagonist $\mathbf{pA}_2 = 10.3$	0.19	0.055	
$[D-Nal(2')^7]-MT-II$	Antagonist $\mathbf{pA}_2 = 10.5$	0.039	0.036	

 Table 2.9
 Activities of MT-II Derivatives at Various MC1-Rs^a

"Data adapted from Ref. 154.

^bMT-II: Ac-Nle-c[Asp-His-D-Phe-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂.
		EC_{50} Values (n M)	
Compound	hMC3-R	hMC4-R	hMC5-R
a-MSH	669	210	807
$[\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{Phe}(\mathbf{pF})^7]-\mathbf{MT}-\mathbf{H}$	191	19	1360
[p-Phe(pCl) ⁷]-MT-II	63	18	117
[p-Phe(pI) ⁷]-MT-II	1134	573	684
-	$pA_2 = 8.3$	$pA_2 = 9.7$	
$[D-Nal(2')^7]-MT-II$	2813	Antagonist	434
	$pA_2 = 8.3$	$pA_2 = 9.3$	

 Table 2.10
 Activity of MT-II Analogs at Various Human Melanocortin Receptors^a

"Data adapted from Ref. 154.

graphical requirements for ligand-receptor interactions. Hruby et al. (156) studied the change in bioactivity that occurs on incorporating all four isomers of β -methyl Phe and β-methyl Trp in the MT-II template (Table 2.11) (154). β -Methyl analogs constrain the χ space and thus restrict the rotational freedom of the side-chain group. As a result, the peptide will have certain restricted conformations, which in turn can increase receptorbinding preferences. Incorporation of all four isomers of β -methyl Phe⁷ in **MT-II** generally led to decreased potency in the FSB by 1 to 2 orders of magnitude (Table 2.11). However, in the lizard skin assay $[(2S,3S)-\beta-Me-Phe^7]$ -MT-II was approximately 17 times less potent than **MT-II**; the $[(2S,3R)-\beta$ -Me-Phe⁷]-MT-II and the $[(2R,3S)-\beta-Me-Phe^7]-MT-II$ were equipotent; and the $[(2R,3R)-\beta-Me-Phe^7]$ -MT-II is 2 orders of magnitude less potent than **MT-II** (Table 2.11). In the β-Me-Trp⁹ series the [(2R,3S)-β-Me-Trp⁹]-MT-II showed much higher potency than that of the other

three stereoisomers in the FSB. In the lizard skin assay [(2S,3R)-β-Me-Trp⁹]-MT-II analog is 33 times less potent than MT-II, whereas the other three isomers showed nearly equal potency. These results demonstrate the sensitivity of the lizard skin melanocortin receptor for proper stereochemistry at the β -carbon atom and ultimate topographical presentation of the Phe⁷ residue, which contrasts with the requirements at the frog skin receptor. Furthermore, the results in Table 2.11 suggest that incorporation of constrained amino acids into MT-II or other melanotropins can further improve bioactivities, when these new analogs possess the right side-chain conformation for binding to their target receptors.

4.2.5 Ring-Expanded Analogs of MT-II. To study the "bioactive" backbone conformations required for tight binding and receptor selectivity at the human melanocortin receptors, a series of ring-expanded **MT-II** analogs having alanine at position 10 were synthesized (157).

Table 2.11	Comparative	e Biological Activities	of Topograph	nically Modified A	MT-II Analogs ^a

	Fro	Frog Skin		Lizard Skin	
Analog	$\overline{\mathrm{EC}_{50}\left(\mathrm{n}M ight)}$	Rel. Potency	EC_{50} (n M)	Rel. Potency	
MT-II	0.1	1.0	0.2	1.0	
$[(2S, 3S)-\beta$ -Me-Phe ⁷]-MT-II	6.25	0.016	3.44	0.06	
$[(2S, 3R)-\beta$ -Me-Phe ⁷]-MT-II	6.25	0.016	0.2	1.0	
$[(2R, 3S)-\beta$ -Me-Phe ⁷]-MT-II	2.0	0.05	0.3	0.67	
$[(2R, 3R)-\beta$ -Me-Phe ⁷]-MT-II	16.67	0.006	20.0	0.01	
$[(2S, 3S)-\beta$ -Me-Trp ⁹]-MT-II	0.44	0.23	1.0	0.2	
$[(2S, 3R)-\beta$ -Me-Trp ⁹]-MT-II	28.60	0.004	6.67	0.03	
$[(2R, 3S)-\beta$ -Me-Trp ⁹]-MT-II	0.06	1.6	1.43	0.14	
$[(2R, 3R)-\beta$ -Me-Trp ⁹]-MT-II	0.33	0.3	1.0	0.2	

"Data adapted from Refs. 155 and 156.

^bMT-II: Ac-Nle-c[Asp-His-D-Phe-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂.

Analog	Structure	hMC1R	hMC3R	hMC4R	hMC5R
MT-II	Ac-Nle ⁴ - c [Asp ⁵ , Lys ¹⁰]- α -MSH	0.25	8.56	0.72	43.6
1	$ m Ac-Nle^4$ - $c[Asp^5$ -His ⁶ -D-Phe ⁷ -Arg ⁸ -Trp ⁹ - Ala ¹⁰ -Lys ¹¹]-NH ₂	0.35	25.5	0.89	
2	Ac-c[Asp ⁵ -His ⁶ -Phe ⁷ -Arg ⁸ -Trp ⁹ -Ala ¹⁰ - Lys ¹¹]-NH ₂	1.94	102	2.03	>1000
3	Ac-Nle ⁴ -c[Asp ⁵ -His ⁶ -Phe ⁷ -Arg ⁸ -Trp ⁹ - Ala ¹⁰ -Lys ¹¹]-NH $_2$	22.4	2400	77.8	>1000
4	Ac-Nle ⁴ -c[Asp ⁵ -His ⁶ -D-Phe ⁷ -Arg ⁸ -D- Trp ⁹ -Ala ¹⁰ -Lys ¹¹]-NH ₂	0.91	137	71.5	1441
5	$Ac-Nle^{4}-c[D-Asp^{5}-His^{6}-D-Phe^{7}-Arg^{8}-Trp^{9}-Ala^{10}-Lys^{11}]-NH_{2}$	264	>1000	91.0	>1000

Table 2.12 Binding Affinities of the Ring-Expanded MT-II Analogs^a

"Adapted from Ref. 157.

The introduction of Ala¹⁰ increases the cyclic lactam from a 23-membered (MT-II) to a 26membered ring, thus allowing greater conformational flexibility, thought to be important for maintaining active **peptide** conformation. Furthermore, this 26-membered analog was modified through inversion of chirality at positions 5, 7, and 9 to test the stereochemical requirements of the side-chain groups at these positions in receptor selectivity. These studies showed that at the hMC1, hMC4, and hMC5 receptors, MT-II and [Ala¹⁰,Lys¹¹]-MT-II (analog 1) had similar binding affinities, whereas at the hMC3R, [Ala¹⁰]-MT-II had a fourfold decrease in binding potency (Table 2.12). Removal of Nle⁴ from [Ala¹⁰]-MT-II (analog 2) resulted in a 5.5-fold decrease in binding affinity at the hMC1R and a four- and twofold decrease at the hMC3 and hMC4 receptors, respectively. However, this analog was unable to competitively displace [¹²⁵I]-NDP-MSH from the hMC5R at ligand concentrations > 1000n*M*. When D-Phe^{$\overline{7}$} in analog 1 was substituted by its L-isomer (analog 3), the binding affinity at all melanocortin receptors was decreased substantially. However, it was interesting to note that this substitution resulted in a 100fold ligand selectivity between the hMC1 andhMC3 receptors and a 30-fold selectivity between the hMC3 and h_{g} MC4 receptors. The introduction of a D-Trp^g residue in place of Trp^s in analog 1 gave a peptide with poor binding affinity at all receptors (analog 4), and the maximum effect was seen at the hMC4R where an 80-fold decrease in binding was observed for analog (4) versus analog (1).Fi nally, the importance of the chirality of the side-chain of Asp⁵ analog (1)was determinec by substituting the D-isomer (analog 5). Thir compound was unable to competitively dis place [¹²⁵I]-NDP-MSH at the hMC3 and hMC5 receptors, and was, respectively, 750 and 100-fold less tightly bound to the hMC1 and hMC4 receptors versus analog (1).Al peptides were agonists at the human melano cortin receptors.

4.2.6 Novel Constrained Cyclic Lactam Analogs of a-MSH. Agonists. The important role of a-MSH in the control of various key physi ological functions has prompted research ir the development of novel tight-binding and receptor-selective linear or cyclic analogs. However, to date, many of these compounds thal incorporate the core sequence show similar se lectivity profiles. The recent observations thal the hMC3 and hMC4 receptors might be involved in the control of feeding behavior and energy homeostasis in humans has height. ened the interest to develop selective and potent agonists and/or antagonists for these re. ceptors. The novel cyclic **peptide** [(O)C-CH₂· CH_2 -C(O)-c-[His⁶-D-Phe⁷-Arg⁸-Trp⁹-Lys¹⁰]-NH, (MK-1, Fig. 2.7) (158, 159) is a highly selective and potent agonist of the hMC4 receptor. This compound is a modified cyclic lactam analog of MT-II, the nonselective but potent agonist of the melanocortin receptors. In MK-1 cyclization is through the use of a linker arm involving a backbone to side-chain cy-



clization strategy. In MT-II, however, cyclization is through a lactam bridge between the carboxyl side-chain of Asp⁵ at the N-terminus and the ϵ -amino group of Lys¹⁰ at the Cterminus. Binding studies showed that **MK-1** is 700-fold more selective at the hMC4R vs. hMC1R (IC₅₀ hMC1R = 4200 nM and IC₅₀ hMC4R = 6.0 nM). Additionally, this analog is 55- and 120-fold more selective at the hMC4R vs. the hMC3R and hMC5R, respectively (Table 2.13). In a related study Bednarek et al. (160) used a similar cyclization strategy to identify a selective and potent **peptide** agonist of the hMC4 receptor. They synthesized a series of cyclic peptides having the general structure c[X-His-D-Phe-Arg-Trp-Y]- NH,, where X = succinyl or ω -amino-carboxylic acid (as linker arms) and Y = a-, ω -diamino-carboxylic acids. In vitro analysis identified two analogs that showed good agonist activity and a high degree of selectivity for the hMC4 receptor. The first analog involved the substitution of a 2,4-di-aminobutyric acid group in place of Lys¹⁰ and the use of a succinyl linker to cyclize the **peptide** (21-membered ring). This analog is a potent hMC4R agonist with 55-fold selectivity for the hMC4R versus the hMC3R receptor and is about 1000-fold more selective for the hMC4 versus the hMC5 receptor. Another analog having a Glu residue in place of Lys¹⁰

Figure 2.7. A novel selective cyclic lactam agonist of the human melanocortin 4 receptor.

and using a 3-aminopropionic acid moiety as the linker arm was also a potent hMC4R agonist ($EC_{50} = 0.56$? 0.04 nM) (BBRC). This compound showed a 90-fold greater affinity for the hMC4 versus the hMC3 receptor and was 2000-fold more selective for the hMC4 versus the hMC5 receptor. To test the importance of lactam ring size in selectivity and bioactivity analogs having smaller and larger rings were tested. The smaller lactam rings showed lower potency, whereas it was observed that rings having more than 21 atoms showed good potency and selectivity at the hMC4 receptor.

4.2.7 Antagonists. Although SAR studies of a-MSH have resulted in the development of potent agonist analogs in the past two decades, the search for modestly potent and selective competitive antagonists has not been as successful (161–164). Although a few early studies suggested weak or partial inhibition by a-MSH analogs or a-MSH-related fragment derivatives (132, 161, 163, 164), these results were difficult to improve on. Since then, the design and synthesis of a-MSH anatagonists has been slow because of a lack of understanding of antagonist structure-activity relationships. Recently, SAR studies in the Hruby group, involving the use of novel cyclic

		hMC3R			hMC4R			hMC5R	
$\mathbf{Peptide}^{b}$	$\overline{\mathrm{IC}_{50}}(\mathrm{n}M)$	$\mathbf{EC}_{50}\left(\mathbf{n}M\right)$	% Activity	$\overline{IC_{50}(nM)}$	EC ₅₀ (nM)	% Activity	$\overline{IC_{50}(nM)}$	$\mathbf{EC}_{50}\left(\mathbf{n}M\right)$	% Activity
VJH-085	332.0	70	95	5.96	1.55	100	710	61.52	78
MK-2	21.46	81.9	87.8	102.8	281.6	35	154.9	148.3	100
MK-3	6.67	3.75	36	50.68	>10 µM Antagonist	0.0	6118	117	100
MK4	6.1	>10 µM Antagonist	0.0	231	1220	22.8	27.5	1	81
MT-II	1.52	1.85	100	6.86	2.87	100	7.47	2.45	100

Table 2.13 Biological Activities of the Cyclic α-MSH Analogs at Various Human Melanocortin Receptors^a

"Adapted from Ref. 159.

^bVJH-085: (O)C-(CH₂)₂-C(O)-c[His-D-Phe-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂; MK-2: (O)C-(CH₂)₂-C(O)-c[His-D-(2')Nal-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂; ME-3: (O)C-(C₆H₅)-C(O)-c[His-D-(2')Nal-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂; ME-4: (O)C-(CH₂)₃-C(O)-c[His-D-(2')Nal-Arg-Trp-Lys]-NH₂.

lactam analogs having side chain to backbone cyclization, have provided new insights into antagonist structure-activity relationships. It was found that the substituting hydrophobic residues at position seven of the message sequence (MK-2) resulted in small losses in binding potency at the **hMC4R**, accompanied by an increase in antagonist activity at this receptor (Table 2.9). More recently it was found that when a hydrophobic group such as o-phthalic acid was used as the cyclizing linker (MK-3), this analog was a potent antagonist of the hMC4 receptor ($pA_2 = 11$), even though MK-3 has a binding affinity of 13.5%, compared to that of the superagonist MT-II, used as a control in this study. Interestingly, both peptide MK-2 and MK-3 had strong binding affinity for the hMC3 receptor. Thus it appears that the combination of a bulky residue at position 7 and a hydrophobic phenyl ring in the linker arm (MK-1 to MK-3) significantly alters the conformational representation of the ligand presented to the hMC4 receptor, so as to convert the **hMC4R-selective** and potent agonist to a hMC4R-selective and potent antagonist (159). These SAR studies also showed that increasing the 23-membered lactam ring of MK-1 by one carbon atom (succinyl vs. glutaric linker) gives a highly selective and potent antagonist (MK-4) for the hMC3 receptor. At the hMC4 receptor, analog MK-4 is only a partial agonist, while concomitantly maintaining full agonist activity at the hMC5 receptor. Analogs MK-1, MK-3, and MK-4 therefore represent the first examples of a class of cyclic melanotropinligands with high selectivity and defined biological activities at the physiologically important hMC3 and hMC4 receptors (159).

4.3 Oxytocin and Vasopressin

4.3.1 Structure-Activity Relationships. Oxytocin and vasopressin are neurohypophyseal hormones synthesized in the hypothalamus and then transported along with their carrier proteins to the posterior lobe of the pituitary

gland. They were first discovered in the posterior pituitary gland, but they also are located in the CNS and numerous other organs. These **peptides** both consist of nine amino acids; they both contain a 20-membered disulfide and an acyclic tripeptide tail; and the two **peptides** differ only in positions 3 and 8.

Oxytocin causes contractions of uterine smooth muscle and is secreted during labor. Oxytocin also stimulates contraction of smooth muscle in mammary glands, to cause milk ejection in nursing mothers. A large percentage of deliveries in the United States are induced or augmented by **i.v.** oxytocin (165). Oxytocin also has some intrinsic antidiuretic activity. Less is known about the role of oxytocin in the central nervous system. It has been shown to be involved in memory and learning as well as grooming and sexual behavior. At low doses vasopressin controls the resorption of water by the distal tubules of the kidneys and regulates the osmotic content of blood. At high doses it causes contractions of blood vessels causing localized increases in blood pressure. It also has CNS activities.

4.3.2 Oxytocin. Oxytocin was the first **peptide** hormone to be used clinically. Extracts from the posterior pituitary were introduced in obstetric practice more than 90 years ago (166). Oxytocin also was the **first peptide** hormone to be sequenced (38) and synthesized (39). Oxytocin is, in itself, quite an effective therapeutic agent when used appropriately, and there has been relatively little interest in designing more potent oxytocin agonists. However, when administered in high doses in a glucose solution, oxytocin can cause water intoxication. Therefore, analogs of oxytocin having reduced **antidiuretic** activity would have some benefit.

4.3.3 Structure-Activity Relationships of Oxytocin. Hundreds of analogs of oxytocin have been synthesized since 1953. There have been several comprehensive reviews of this work (167–169).

Oxytocin (OT)H-Cys-Tyr-Ile-Gln-Asn-Cys-Pro-Leu-Gly-NH2Vasopressin (VP)H-Cys-Tyr-Phe-Gln-Asn-Cys-Pro-Arg-Gly-NH2

(g. 1	Pot Litorus (III/mg)	Poferoneo(a)
	Kat Oterus (IO/Ing)	Reference(s)
Oxytocin	546	181
Oxytocinoic Acid	1.3	170
Deamino-OT	803	182
[1-carba]OT	734	172
Deamino-[1-carba]OT	1898	183
Deamino-[6-carba]OT	929	184
[d-Tyr ²]OT	Partial agonist	173,185
[Thr ⁴]OT	900	186
[Thr ⁴ , deamino-1-carba]OT	272	180
[Thr ⁴ ,deamino-6-carba]OT	695	180

Table 2.14 Biological Activities of Oxytocin (OT) and Selected Agonist Analogs

Fragment studies of oxytocin indicated that the 20-membered ring structure is necessary for full agonist activity at the uterus receptor. The acyclic tripeptide tail, although having no biological activity itself, is important for binding to the uterus receptor. The C-terminal amide group is important for activity. Replacement of the C-terminal **CONH**₂ with COOH to form oxytocinoic acid results in a 400-fold decrease in activity (170) (Table 2.14).

Deletion of the free alpha amino group from the Cys in position 1 to form **1-deamino**oxytocin enhanced both the oxytotic and antidiuretic activities (171). Replacement of the sulfur in **Cys**¹ with a methylene group to form [**1-carba**]**OT** resulted in an increase in potency (172) (Table 2.14).

The orientation of the aromatic ring of Tyr^2 is important for binding and transduction. Substituting a D-Tyr in this position results in a partial agonist (173,174). The Tyr hydroxyl group is also important for activity because [Phe²]OT has only approximately 1/15 the potency of oxytocin (175).

Manning et al. (176) synthesized [4-threonine]oxytocin, which was the first oxytocin analog containing only naturally occurring amino acids that was more potent than oxytocin itself and had lessened antidiuretic activity (177). This indicates that an amino acid side chain that can form a hydrogen bond at position 4 is important for agonist activity. The substitution of Gly in position 7 resulted in an analog that retained its oxytotic activity, yet had very little antidiuretic activity (178). Combining these two substitutions to form $[Thr^4,Gly^7]$ oxytocin resulted in an analog with high specificity (179).

Lebl et al. (180) combined the Thr⁴ and the carba substitutions, synthesizing [Thr⁴, deamino-1-carba]oxytocin and [Thr⁴,deamino-6-carba]oxytocin. Although these analogs had slightly reduced potency at the uterus receptor, they were more selective, having much lower vasopressor activity.

4.3.4 Oxytocin Antagonists. Oxytocin antagonists would be of great therapeutic benefit in delaying labor. Some of the earliest oxytocin analogs demonstrated antagonistic properties (see Refs. 167, 168, 187 for reviews). Methylation of the tyrosine hydroxyl group to produce [MeO-Tyr²]oxytocin resulted in an analog with antagonism of the vasopressor response but not the oxytocic response (188) (Table 2.15). Schulz and Du Vigneaud (189,190) found that substitution of penicillamine in position 1 of oxytocin and 1-deamino-oxytocin resulted in potent antagonists of the oxytotic response in uitro and partial agonist/antagonist properties in vivo. Substitution of leucine in position 2 to form [Pen¹,Leu²]oxytocin increased antagonist activity (191). [D-Pen¹,Orn⁸]oxytocin is about 10-fold more potent as an antagonist than either [**D-Pen**¹]**oxytocin** or [**Pen**¹]**oxytocin** (192). Substitution of threonine in position 4 of a series of $[1-(\beta-mercapto-\beta,\beta-dialkylpropi$ onic acid)]oxytocin doubled potency (193).

Sawyer and Manning (194) concluded that the C-terminal glycinamide is not necessary for oxytotic antagonists. Amino acids with bulky side chains can be substituted for the

	Estimated pA_2^a Values In Vitro	
Analogs	(No Mg ²⁺)	Reference(s)
[Pen ¹]OT	6.86	189,190
[Pen ¹ ,Leu ²]OT	7.14	191
[p-Pen ¹]OT	6.94	209
	7.14	193
[p-Pen ¹ ,Orn ⁸]OT	7.89	193
[p-Pen ¹ ,Thr ⁴]OT	7.52	179
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-diethylpropionic acid)]OT$	7.55	179
[1-(β -Mercapto- β , β -diethylpropionic acid), Thr ⁴]0T	7.72	179
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-cyclopentamethylenepropionic acid)]OT$	7.61	179
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-cyclopentamethylenepropionic acid), Thr4]OT$	7.91	179
[p-Tic ²]OT	6.50	201
[Tyr(Me) ²]OT	6.79	202
$[n-Phe(4-Et)^2]OT$	8.15	203,204
[2-Br-Tyr ²]OT	7.05	205
[3-I-Tyr ²]OT	7.05	206
[Deamino-Pen ¹ ,Tyr(Me) ²]OT	7.76	193
$[Deamino-Pen^1, Tyr(Me)^2, Orn^8]$ vasotocin ^b	7.70	192
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-diethylpropionic acid), Tyr(Me)^2, Orn^8]$ vasotocin	8.91	207
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-cyclopentamethylenepropionic acid),$		
Tyr(Me) ² ,Orn ⁸]vasotocin	8.52	207
$[1-(\beta-Mercapto-\beta,\beta-cyclopentamethylenepropionic acid),$		
p-Tyr(Me) ² , Val ⁴ , Cit ⁸]vasopressin	8.61	194
des(Gly(NH ₂)[1-(β -mercapto- β , β -cyclopentamethylenepropionic acid),		
D-Phe ²]arginine-vasopressin	7.64	194
d-carba ⁶ [D-Phe(Me) ²]OT	8.73	203
$des(Gly(NH_2)d$ -carba ⁶ [D-Phe(Me) ²]OT	8.80	203
[Pen ¹ , D-Phe ² , Thr ⁴ , Orn ⁸]OT	7.23	208
[Pen ¹ , p-Phe ² , Thr ⁴ , Thr ⁵ , Orn ⁸]OT	7.16	208
[Pen ¹ , p-Phe ² , Thr ⁴ , Leu ⁵ , Orn ⁸]OT	6.67	208
[Pen ¹ , p-Phe ² , Thr ⁴ , Asp ⁵ , Orn ⁸]OT	7.21	208
Pen ¹ , p-Phe ² , Thr ⁴ , Tyr ⁵ , Orn ⁸]OT	6.76	208
[Mpa ¹ , Glu ⁴ , Cys ⁶ , Lys ⁸ 101 bicyclic)	8.2	195,196
		,

	Table 2.15	Oxytocin (OT)	Analogs with	Antagonistic Pot	tencies at the R	at Uterus In Vitr
--	-------------------	---------------	--------------	-------------------------	------------------	-------------------

 ${}^{a}pA_{2}$ is the negative algorithm of the molar concentration of antagonist that reduces the response to $2 \times$ units of oxytocin to equal the response to $1 \times$ unit in the absence of antagonist.

^bVasotocin is [8-Arg]OT.

Gly in position 9 without a loss of antagonistic efficacy (177). They also found several **antiva**-sopressin analogs that were also antioxytocics.

Hill et al. synthesized a bicyclic analog of the weak monocyclic agonist $c[Mpa^1,Cys^6]$ $c[Glu^4,Lys^810xytocin, which was found to$ have potent antagonist activity (195–197) asdid many of its derivatives. Extensive NMRand computational studies of this led to thedetermination of the bioactive conformationof oxytocin antagonists (198,**199**) and to thedesign of topographically constrained antagonist analogs (200) with unique biological properties and unique insight into the topographical requirements of OT receptors.

4.4 Delta Opioid Receptor Ligands

All of the current opioid drugs used for the treatment of pain are primarily ligands for the p-opioid receptor. Numerous studies since the discovery of enkephalin 27 years ago (210) have suggested that an opioid ligand that primarily interacted with the δ -opioid receptor would have far fewer of the toxicities generally associated with the μ -opioid ligand (respiratory depression, constipation, addiction, etc.).

Early efforts to convert enkephalin into a selective 6-opioid ligand were successful in the development of c[D-Pen²,D-Pen⁵]enkephalin (211)(DPDPE) and its analogs, which eventually led to analogs that were essentially specific for 8-opioid receptors as agonists, such as $(2S,3R)\beta$ -methyl-2',6'-dimethyl tyrosine-c[D-Pen²,u-Pen⁵]enkephalin (212, 213). The earlier aspects of this work have been thoroughly reviewed (214) and a selective update has recently appeared (215). A different kind of lead to δ -opioid ligands came from the discovery of the deltorphins (216, 217) such as H-Tyr-D-Ala-Phe-Glu-Val-Val-Gly-NH₂ that are found in amphibian skins and have intrinsically highly delta opioid receptor selectivity.

A quite comprehensive review of the structure-activity relationships of deltorphins has been published (218). SAR studies of modified deltorphin structures led to another class of linear delta opioid receptor ligands such as H-Tyr-Tic-Phe-Phe-OH (TIPP) (219) and H-Tyr-Tic ψ [CH₂NH]Phe-Phe-OH (TIPP[ψ]) (220) and related analogs, which also have been recently reviewed (221). Our purpose in this section is not to repeat or summarize these reviews but rather to point to some aspects related to peptide design in conformational space for 6-receptors. Thus, we will be highly selective in our choice of ligands to discuss structure-activity relationships and the conformation and topographical properties that lead to delta agonist and antagonist activity. In this regard it has recently been reported that use of a new spectroscopic method, coupled plasmon waveguide resonance spectroscopy (CPWR) (222), allows one for the first time to examine changes in G-protein-coupled receptors protein structure parallel and perpendicular to the membrane normal to that accompanying binding of ligands. It was shown for the human 6-opioid receptor that agonist and antagonist binding leads to different structures for the δ -opioid receptor (210), and that inverse agonist binding leads to yet another conformation (223). These studies provide unequivocal evidence that agonists, antagonists, and inverse agonists lead to different conformations of G-protein-coupled receptors and suggest that the availability of multiple conformational states are of critical importance to the function of G-protein-coupled receptors. The precise conformational difference remains to be determined.

4.4.1 Analogs of Enkephalins that Lead to **Receptor-Specific Ligands and Nonpeptide Li**gands. The conversion of enkephalin to the cyclic enkephalin analog c-[D-Pen²,D-Pen⁵] enkephalin (DPDPE), to give a potent and high δ -opioid receptor ligand (211), demonstrated clearly the power of conformational constraint for both enhancement of potency and receptor selectivity (224). Subsequent **NMR** (225) and X-ray crystallographic studies (226,227) provided insights into the importance of a turn conformation to δ -opioid receptor selectivity and differences in conformational requirements for agonists and antagonists, but left unanswered the side-chain conformation of **Tyr**¹ and Phe⁴ for potent and selective 6-opioid receptor bioactivity. To examine these requirements, we turned to topographical constraints, that is, to constraints in χ_1 and/or χ_2 space that can be made within the context of the same backbone conformation for agonist (and antagonist) biological activity (228). All four β -methylphenylalanine-4 analogs (229) and β -methyl-2',6'-dimethyltyrosine-1 (TMT) (213) analogs of DPDPE were synthesized and evaluated for binding affinities and biological activities for their conformational and topographical properties. As seen in Table 2.16 for the [TMT¹]DPDPE analogs, only the $[(2S,3R)-TMT^{1}]$ DPDPE analog was both highly potent and highly selective for the delta opioid receptor. Conformational analysis that used NMR and computation chemistry demonstrated that for Tyr¹, the trans χ_1 conformation, and for Phe^4 , the gauche (-) conformation, were critical for biological agonist activity and potency.

In related studies, Mosberg et al. (230–232) carefully evaluated the cyclic truncated deltorphin analog H-Tyr-c-[D-Cys-Phe-D-Pen]-OH (JOM-13) in a series of structure-activity and conformational studies that used the β -MePhe³ constraint (230) and alternative constraints for the Tyr¹ position (see ref. 231 for an excellent review). These studies led to the conclusion of the gauche (–) side-chain conformation for χ_1 in Phe³ and the trans χ_1 side-chain conformation for the Tyr¹ χ_1 (232). As expected the backbone conformations of

	IC ₅₀ or			
Compound	6	μ	μ/δ ratio	Ref.
c-[D-Pen ² ,D-Pen ⁵]Enkephalin(DPDPE)	1.6	610	380	211
$[(2S,3S)TMT^{1}]DPDPE$	210	720	3.5	212
$[(2S,3R)TMT^{1}]DPDPE$	5.0	4,300	860	212
$[(2R,3S)TMT^{1}]DPDPE$	3,500	77,000	22	212
$[(2R,3R)TMT^{1}]DPDPE$	9% at 1000	0% at 1000	NA	212
H-Tyr-c[D-Cys-Phe-D-Pen]-OH JOM13	0.74	52	69	230
H-Tyr- $(2S, 3R)\beta$ -MeTic-Phe-OH	0.53	>10,000	>19,000	247
Tyr-Tic- $(2S, 3R)\beta$ -MePhe-Phe-OH	0.38	>10,000	>26,000	247
H-Dmt-Tic-OH	1.84	1,360	739	248
$N,N-Me_2Dmt-Tic-OH$	5.93	5,720	965	218
(2S,3R)TMT-Tic ^a	9.3	35,000	3,800	251
(2S, 3R)TMT-Tic	120	>80,000	> 500	251
H-Tyr-c[D-Pen-Gly-Phe-Pen]-Phe-OH	4.0	11,400	2,800	254
H-Tyr-c[D-Pen-Gly-Phe(pF)-Pen]-Phe-OH	0.43	1,600	3,800	254
H-Tyr-c[D-Pen-Gly-Phe(pBr)-Pen]-Phe-OH	0.20	4,200	21,000	254
H-Tyr-D-Met-Phe-His-Leu-nBuG-Asp-NH ₂	0.045	820	18,000	258
$\operatorname{H-Tyr-D-Met-Phe-His-Leu-(3S)secBuG-Asp-NH_2}$	0.082	800	9,700	258
H-Tyr-D-Met- $(2S, 3R)\beta$ -MePhe-His-Leu-Met-Asp-NH ₂	2.4	>70,000	>29,000	259
$\operatorname{H-Tyr-}{c[\operatorname{d}-\operatorname{Pen-Phe-His-Pen}]-\operatorname{Nle-Asp-NH}_2}$	3.4	9,100	2,700	260

 Table 2.16
 Binding Affinities for Delta Opioid Receptor Selective Ligands

"A potent inverse agonist at the δ opioid receptor (252).

the DPDPE ring (14-membered) and the JOM-13 ring (11-membered)were found to be somewhat different. Mosberg et al. carried these studies forward by examining the binding^o f JOM-13 to a model of the δ -opioid receptor they developed (233, 234). By use of these dels they developed a model of JOM-13 ind to the δ -receptor (Fig. 2.8), which nicely explains the structure-activity relationship they had found for JOM-13.

Hruby et al. used their bioactive conformation model for $[(2S,3R)TMT^1]DPDPE$ for a different purpose (Fig. 2.9), that is, to design nonpeptide peptide mimetics. A major interest of medicinal chemists is the development of peptide mimetics (235). The concept of pep-



Figure 2.8. JOM-13 (blue) in the δ -opioid receptor binding pocket (stereoview). See color insert. [Taken from Fig. 2.9 in H. I. Mosberg, *Biopolymers (Peptide Science)*, 51, 426 (1999). Reprinted by permission of John Wiley & Sons.]



Figure 2.9. Conversion of (2S,3R)TMT¹-c[DPDPE] into a nonpeptide peptide mimetic based on topographical considerations.

tidomimetics has been around for over 20 years, since the discussions of Farmer (236). There are many different ways in which the term *peptide* mimetic or peptidomimetic has been used, and the topic has been widely discussed from several different perspectives (e.g., see Refs. 1, 8, 9, 13–24,237–240). In the context of the discussion here. the term nonpeptide peptide-mimetic is used to mean a bioactive ligand with a nonpeptide scaffold that is designed to mimic the pharmacophore of a peptide ligand in three-dimensional space and to have the same biological structure-activity relationships as those of the **peptide** ligand. Generally, this requires that there is a considerable amount of insight into the conformational structure-biological activity relationships of the peptide, including knowledge of the three-dimensional topographical relationship of key pharmacophore elements. In this case (Fig. 2.9) this involved comprehensive biophysical studies of the [TMT¹]DPDPE analogs (Table 2.16), including extensive NMR

studies, computational studies, molecular dynamic simulations, and molecular modeling (241, 242). These studies led to a proposal for the receptor pharmacophore in topographic three-dimensional space. Several nonpeptide scaffolds were considered and the **1,4-pipera**zine was chosen (Table 2.17, I). In the initial design of the **peptide mimetics I** (Table 2.17), the major structural features of the **peptide** pharmacophore were considered:

- **1.** The importance of the hydroxy-phenyl group as a key **pharmacophore** element (bothp-OH and m-OH groups were considered and evaluated, of which the m-OH group gave the highest potency).
- 2. The requirement for a benzyl group as a key pharmacophore element.
- 3. The distance between the two aromatic group in three-dimensional space was a key to delta opioid receptor selectivity of **pep**-tide ligands.

OH	ОН
	\times

 Table 2.17
 Nonpeptide Mimetics for Delta Opioid Receptors Based on Delta Opioid Peptides

Ι

II Binding Affinity **IC** $(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{M})$

	Binding Ami	(10, 10, 10, 50)		
Structure	μ Receptor	δ Receptor	Selectivity	
$\mathbf{Ia}^{\alpha} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{H}$	8,100	6,400	1.3	
$\mathbf{Ib}^{a} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{Me}$	780	610	1.3	
$\mathbf{Ic}^{a} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{Ph}$	500	34	15	
$\mathbf{Id}^{a} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{tBuPh}$	17,000	8.4	2,000	
(+) Id ^{<i>a</i>} R = tBuPh	11,000	42	260	
$(-)\mathbf{Id}^{a}\mathbf{R} = t\mathbf{BuPhe}$	7,700	4.1	1,900	
$IIa^{b} R = Me$	3,300	11	290	
$\mathbf{IIb}^{b} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{CH}_{2}\mathbf{OH}$	8,000	38	210	
$\mathbf{H}\mathbf{c}^{b} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{H}_{2}\mathbf{C}_{6}\mathbf{H}_{5}$	46,000	21,000	2.2	
$\mathbf{IId}^{b} \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{CH}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{O} \cdot \mathbf{CH}_{2} \cdot$				
C_6H_5	26,000	38	670	

^{*a*}See Ref. 226. ^{*b*}See Ref. 227.

- 4. The need for a bulky R group for distinguishing **peptide** ligands for δ - versus p-opioid receptors.
- 5. The requirement for a basic amine group for 6-opioid agonist activity (in this case the distance of the amine group relative to the two aromatic groups was not optimized).

As can be seen in Table 2.17, increasing the R group size from H to Me to Phe to *p*-tBuPhe (Ia, Ib, Ic, and Id, respectively)led to a steady increase in binding affinity for the 6-opioid receptor; from about 6 μ M to about 8 nM as predicted (242). Most important, the selectivity for the δ -opioid receptor versus the μ -opioid receptor also increased very substantially from nonselective to over 2000-fold selective (Table 2.17), which actually is somewhat more selective than DPDPE or [(2S,3R)TMT¹] DPDPE (see Table 2.16 for comparison). In the functional assays that make use of the classical guinea pig ileum (GPI, for the μ -receptor) and mouse vas deference (MVD, for

the &receptor) compound Id was still highly 6-opioid receptor selective but was found to be less potent in this assay than would be expected from its binding affinity. Subsequent studies (Yamamura et al., unpublished) suggested that ligand Id was a partial agonist. On the other hand, structure-function studies with further substituted derivatives of Id, and studies at wild-type human δ -opioid receptor, and a site-specific mutant receptor, demonstrated that Id had properties of the peptide ligand rather than that of other nonpeptide ligands that had been discovered by evaluation of structural libraries rather than by *de* novo design. Nonetheless, the partial agonist activity led us to design a number of further analogs of I with modifications in the piperazine ring. Starting with L-alanine, L-serine, and L-phenylalanine, the analogs of **II** were prepared (Table 2.17). Except for IIc, all of these compounds had nanomolar binding to δ -opioid receptors and were quite selective for the 6-opioid receptor, but again in functional

assays they had lower potencies than what would be anticipated from their binding affinities (243). The importance of the two nitrogens also was examined (243, data not shown). When the benzyl nitrogen was replaced by a CH, group, the potency at the δ -opioid receptor decreased by nearly 3 orders of magnitude, whereas when the other nitrogen was replaced good potency at the δ -opioid receptor was retained, with some loss in selectivity.

These studies suggest that, although *de novo* design of nonpeptide peptidomimetics with high binding affinity and receptor selectivity has an excellent chance for success, there still is much to learn about those structural factors that are key for distinguishing agonist from antagonist biological activity. Agonist and antagonists for G-protein-coupled receptors clearly have different structure-activity relationships, and in addition may have certain dynamic structural requirements that are needed to bind to the receptor to produce transduction for agonists and no transduction for antagonist. In this regard, we have recently shown (244), through the use of a new spectroscopic method, coupled **plasmon** waveguide resonance (CPWR or PWR) spectroscopy, which allows one for the first time to examine changes in the structure of GPCRs in membrane bilayers parallel and perpendicular to the membrane bilayer normal, that when delta opioid agonists and antagonists bind to the human delta opioid receptor, the receptors have different conformations, and that the changes in conformation are consistent with the differences in changes in structure for the receptor that would be expected for transduction to occur or not to occur. The implication of these findings suggests the need to be able to evaluate those structural features critical for agonist vs. antagonist activity at GPCRs in both **peptide** and nonpeptide scaffolds. This points again to the realization that there is still no general predictable strategy in going from agonist to antagonist ligands or vice versa for GPCRs (245, 246), although there are a number of approaches that have worked in specific cases.

Returning to **peptides** for the delta opioid receptor, a few other developments related to high 6-opioid receptor selectivity should be mentioned. The highly important TIPP and

TIPP $[\psi]$ analogs of Schiller et al. already have been discussed and a few of the most selective analogs are given in Table 2.16. Of considerable interest were related dipeptides based on the structure **H-Tyr-Tic-**OH, first reported by Lazarus et al. (for a review, see Ref. 248). Particularly interesting were the analogs H-Dmt-Tic-OH [DMT = (2S)-2', 6'-dimethyltyrosine] and the *N*,*N*'-dimethyl analog (*N*,*N*-Me₂Dmt-Tic-OH; Table 2.16). Originally, H-Dmt-Tic-OH was reported to be exceptionally potent and selective (250) but subsequent direct comparison with TIPP analogs (249) indicates that the most selective analogs in this series are the tetrapeptide analogs in Table 2.16. At the same time a more constrained series of dipeptide analogs were prepared by Hruby et al. (251), in which all four isomers of TMT were examined. As shown in Table 2.16, only the (2S, 3R) analog was found to be highly potent and selective for the δ -opioid receptor (251). The (2S,3S) analog was much less potent but retained good δ -opioid receptor selectivity. Both of the 2R analogs, (2R, 3S) and (2R,3R), were found to be essentially inactive at both δ - and μ -opioid receptors (251, data not shown). Subsequently, based on extensive second-messenger assays, it was shown that H(2S,3R)TMT-Tic-OH was a highly potent and selective (>6000-fold selective for the delta versus mu receptor) inverse agonist at the delta opioid receptor (252), providing an important tool for evaluating the effects of inverse agonists in δ -opioid receptor physiology and pharmacology.

There are a few other approaches that have led to highly potent and δ -opioid receptor-selective peptides. One of the most interesting involves modification of DPDPE at the car**boxyl-terminal.** Of particular interest was the discovery that modification of the DPen⁵ residue with L-Cys or L-Pen (but not D-Cys or D-Pen) and then adding an aromatic residue led to analogs with unusual properties (Table (253,254). As can be seen, the Phe⁶ compounds are all as potent as or more potent (nMto **sub-n***M*) in binding **affinity** than DPDPE, and have much higher selectivity, with the Phe(pBr),Phe⁶ analog having an IC₅₀ value of 0.20 nM and a 21,000-fold selectivity. Even more remarkable is the exceptional potency of these compounds in the MVD (δ -receptor) in

vitro bioassay (data not shown, 253,254) with the Phe(pF)⁴,Phe⁶ analog having an EC₅₀ value of 16 pm and a selectivity vs. the GPI (preceptor) of 45,000 (254). The extraordinary potency and selectivity of these compounds can be attributed in part to their greatly enhanced efficacy (255, 256) at &receptors. The structural and biochemical origins of such large increases in the efficacy of signal transduction are still largely unknown, but insight into their origins could provide important clues for the design of more efficacious drugs (257).

Finally, various modifications of the **deltor**phins, which are naturally δ -opioid receptorselective ligands (see above), can lead to even more potent and 6-opioid receptor-selective ligands. For example, Sasaki and Chiba (258) prepared a series of C-terminally modified peptide analogs related to the deltorphin, such as the nBuG⁶- and (RS)secBuG⁶-constrained analogs in Table 2.16, which are highly potent and highly selective 6-opioid receptor agonists. Misicka et al. (258) showed that use of topographically constrained amino acids in the Phe³ position, such as the $(2S,3R)\beta$ -MePhe³-containing analog in Table 2.16, can provide a potent ($IC_{50} = 2.4 \text{ nM}$) and highly selective (>29,000) delta opioid receptor ligand. It also is possible to obtain good binding affinity and δ -opioid receptor selectivity by modifying the deltorphin sequence through intermolecular cyclization such as the [D-Pen²,L-Pen⁵]-deltorphin analog in Table 2.16 (257).

5 THINGS TO COME IN PEPTIDE AND PEPTIDOMIMETIC DESIGN

The determination of the genome of humans and many other animals and living systems has opened up enormous opportunities for **peptide** and peptidomimetic design, and for the development of **peptides** and **peptidomimetics** as drugs, therapeutics, and diagnostic reagents. Most cellular processes and system activities, including those involving diseases, are controlled or modulated by **peptide-pro**tein **and/or** protein-protein interactions. In many protein-protein interactions fairly small structural regions of one or both of the partners are responsible for the biological effects. Thus the development of **peptides** and **pep**tidomimetics that mimic these interactions with high specificity can be expected to have dramatic effects in their use as drugs of choice, especially given that many **peptides** have very low toxicities compared to those of current drugs.

Some of these approaches include:

- 1. Continued development of conformational constraints that can provide new **peptide** and peptidomimetic motifs for design.
- 2. Continued development of topographical constraints, especially in conjunction with conformational constraints, will provide new ways of evaluating **peptide ligand-receptor/acceptor** interactions.
- 3. Continued development of methods to stabilize **peptides** against proteolyte degradation and to improve biodistribution.
- 4. Further development of new and more robust methods for **peptide** and **peptide** mimetic delivery and biodistribution.
- 5. Further development of assay methods, especially methods for evaluating **peptide li**gands in disease and pathological states as a part of ligand design.
- 6. Further development of synthetic methods for synthesis of large **peptides** and proteins that will allow for more widespread use of novel amino acid residues to explore protein function.
- 7. Continued development of peptide, peptoid, and PNA analogs and derivatives that cross membrane barriers, target intercellular receptor/acceptors, and enhance bioavailability.
- 8. Development of a large variety of **peptide** and peptidomimetic-based conjugates for a variety of uses in diagnosis, drug delivery, and treatment of diseases.
- 9. Continued investigation of novel scaffolds that can mimic **peptide** secondary structures (ϕ and ψ space), such as a-helices, β -turns, β -sheets; **peptide** topographical structures (chi space); and, most challenging, that can mimic protein conformational changes such as α -helix to β -sheet transitions.

10. Continued development of computational methods for evaluation of the conformational and dynamic properties of peptides more quickly and more accurately.

It goes without saying that clearly there will be a need for continued development of biophysical methods that allow more rapid and complete analysis of three-dimensional structure and molecular dynamics. Methods for studying the structural, conformational, and dynamic properties in integral membrane proteins such as GPCRs are critical, given that more than 50% of current drugs use these receptors as a way of modulating biological functions including disease. Of course, at the same time biologists will develop better methods for making use of genes, cells, tissues, and organs for peptide and protein drug development. Better models for evaluating disease states are critically needed, and no doubt are high on the agenda of many biologists and medical clinicians.

The ability of chemists and other physical scientists to more effectively collaborate with biological scientists and medical doctors is essential for the future of mankind. Nearly all problems facing us in this area require multidisciplinary approaches and ideas. The ability to effectively communicate and collaborate to solve problems in disease and diagnosis with mutual respect and without any arrogance of any field or discipline is critically required. The very serious ethical and social issues that modern science raises requires **all** scientists and medical practitioners to take seriously their own responsibility for what they invent and how it will be used in society.

6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the support of the research from our laboratories by the U.S. Public Health Service and NIDA. We particularly thank Margie Colie for all her help in preparing this chapter.

REFERENCES

1. R. Hirschmann, Angew. Chem. Znt. Ed. Engl., 30, 1278 (1991).

- 2. R. Schwyzer, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 297, (1977).
- 3. V. J. Hruby, Life Sci., 31, 189 (1982).
- 4. H. Kessler, Angew. Chem. Znt. Ed. Engl., 21, 512 (1982).
- 5. R. M. Freidinger and D. F. Veber, Conformationally Directed Drug Design, Vol. 251, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1984, p. 169.
- 6. V. J. Hruby and M. E. Hadley, Design and Synthesis of Organic Molecules Based on Molecular Recognition, Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany, 1986, pp. 269–289.
- **7.** *W*. **F.** *De Grado*, *Adv. Protein Chem.*, **39, 51** (1988).
- 8. V. J. Hruby, F. Al-Obeidi, and W. M. Kazmierski, Biochem. J., 268,249 (1990).
- **9.** C. Toniolo, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res., **35, 287** (1990).
- D. F. Veber, Peptides: Chemistry and Biology, ESCOM Scientific, Leiden, The Netherlands, 1992, pp. 1–14.
- 11. J. Rizo and L. M. Gierasch, Annu. Rev. Biochem., 61,387 (1992).
- 12. V. J. Hruby, Progress in Brain Research, Vol.
 92, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1992, pp. 215–224.
- 13. V. J. Hruby, Biopolymers, 33, 1073 (1993).
- 14. G. R. Marshall, Tetrahedron, 49,3547 (1993).
- **15. A.** *Giannis and T. Kolter, Angew. Chem. Znt. Ed. Engl.*, **32, 1244 (1993).**
- J. Gante, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 33, 1699 (1994).
- M. Goodman and S. Ro, Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Design: Principles of Drug Discovery, Vol. 1, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1995, pp. 803–861.
- **18.** V. J. Hruby, G. Li, C. Haskell-Luevano, and M. Shenderovich, Biopolymers, **43,219** (1997).
- **19.** *T. K. Sawyer, Peptide-Based Drug Design: Controlling Transport and Metabolism, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC,* **1995,** *pp.* **387–422.**
- **20.** *R*. **A.** *Wiley and D. A. Rich, Med. Res. Rev.*, **13**, **327 (1993).**
- 21. A. S. Dutta, Adv. Drug Res., 21, 147 (1991).
- 22. V. J. Hruby, Acc. Chem. Res., 34,389 (2001).
- 23. V. J. Hruby, W. M. Kazmierski, A. M. Kawasaki, and T. O. Matsunaga, *Peptide* Pharmaceuticals: Approaches to the Design of Novel Drugs, Open University Press, London, 1990, pp. 135–184.

- **24.** V. J. Hruby and P. M. Balse, Curr. Med. Chem., **7,945 (2000).**
- 25. V. J. Hruby, in G. B. Fields, J. -P. Tam, and G. Barany, Eds., Peptides for the New Millenium, Proceedings of the 16th American Peptide Symposium, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2000, pp. 803–804.
- **26.** F. Al-Obeidi, V. J. Hruby, and T. K. Sawyer, Mol. Biotechnol., 9, 205 (1998).
- 27. Synthetic Peptides, A User's Guide, Freeman, NewYork, 1992, p. 382. [Arevised volume is in press (2002).]
- 28. Peptide Pharmaceuticals, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK, 1991, p. 265.
- 29. E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Major Methods of Peptide Bond Formation, Vol. 1, Academic Press, New York, 1979, pp. 1-435.
- 30. E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Special Methods in Peptide Synthesis, Vol. 2, Part A, Academic Press, New York, 1979, pp. 1–596.
- E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Protection of Functional Group in Peptide Synthesis, Vol. 3, Academic Press, New York, 1981, pp. 1-379.
- 32. E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. ModernTechniques of Conformational, Structural, and Configurational Analysis, Vol. 4, Academic Press, New York, 1981, pp. 1–309.
- **33.** E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Special Methods in **Peptide** Synthesis, Vol. **5**, Part B, Academic Press, New York, **1983**, pp. **1–508**.
- 34. S. Udenfriend and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, and Synthesis, Biology. Opioid Peptides: Biology, Chemistry and Genetics, Vol. 6, Academic Press, New York, 1984, pp. 1–410.
- 35. V. J. Hruby, Ed., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Conformation in Biology and Drug Design, Vol. 7, Academic Press, New York, 1985, pp. 1–495.
- 36. C. W. Smith, Ed., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Chemistry, Biology and Medicine of Neurohypophyseal Hormones and Their Analogs, Vol. 8, Academic Press, New York, 1987, pp. 1-370.
- **37.** S. Udenfriend and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Special Methods in Peptide Synthesis, Vol. 9,

- **38.** V. DuVigneaud, C. Ressler, and S. Tripett, J. Biol. Chem., **204,949** (1953).
- V. DuVigneaud, C. Ressler, J. M. Swan, C. W. Roberts, C. W. Katsoyannis, and S. Gordon, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75,4879 (1953).
- **40.** *A.* **R.** *Ryle, F. Sanger, L. F. Smith, and R. Kitai, Biochem. J.,* **60, 541 (1955).**
- 41. For example, see D. Jarvis, M. Bodanszky, and V. DuVigneaud, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83,4750 (1961).
- 42. J. Rudinger in J. Ariens, Ed., Drug Design, Vol.
 2, Academic Press, New York, 1971, pp. 319–429.
- **43.** G. W. Anderson and A. C. McGregor, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **79,6180** (1957).
- 44. F. C. McKay and N. F. Albertson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79,4686 (1957).
- 45. R. B. Merrifield, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 85, 2149 (1963).
- 46. R. B. Merrifield, Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol., 32, 221 (1969).
- 47. B. W. Erickson and R. B. Merrifield in H. Neurath and R. L. Hill, Eds., The Proteins, 3rd ed., Vol. 2, Academic Press, New York, 1976, pp. 255–527.
- **48.** G. Barany and R. B. Merrifield in E. Gross and J. Meienhofer, Eds., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Special Methods in Peptide Synthesis, Part A, Academic Press, New York, 1980, pp. 1–284.
- **49.** V. J. Hruby and J.-P. Meyer in S. M. Hecht, Ed., Bioorganic Chemistry: **Peptides** and Proteins, Oxford University Press, New York, **1998**, pp. **27–64.**
- **50.** S. A. Kates and F. Albericio, Eds., Solid-Phase Synthesis: A Practical Guide, Marcel Dekker, New York, **2000**, p. **826**.
- **51.** G. N. Ramachandran, C. Ramikrishnan, and V. Sasisekharan, J. Mol. Biol., **7**, 95 (1963).
- 52. G. N. Ramachandran and V. Sasisekharan, Adv. Protein Chem., 23,283 (1968).
- **53.** G. N. Ramachandran, P. **Balaram**, and S. Ramaseshan, Eds., Molecular Conformations and Biological Interactions (Festschrift), Indian Acad. Sci., Bangalore, **1991**, pp. **1–711**.
- 54. P. N. Lewis, F. A. Momany, and H. A. Scheraga, Isr. J. Chem., 11, 121 (1973).
- **55.** P. N. Lewis, F. A. Momany, and H. A. Scheraga, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 303,211(1973).
- **56.** S. E. Gibson, N. Guillo, and M. J. Tozer, Tetrahedron, **55,585** (1999).
- 57. R. Dharanipragada, E. Nicolás, G. Tóth, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., 30, 6841 (1989).

- 58. E. Nicoliis, R. Dharanipragada, G. Tóth, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., 30, 6845 (1989).
- **59.** *R. Dharanipragada, K. Van Hulle, A. Bannister, S. Bear, L. Kennedy, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron,* **48,4733 (1992).**
- **60.** E. Nicoliis, K. C. Russell, and V. J. Hruby, J. Org. Chem., **58,766 (1993).**
- **61.** D. Jiao, K. C. Russell, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron, **49,3511** (1993).
- 62. G. Li, M. A. Jarosinski, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., 34,256 (1993).
- 63. G. Li, D. Patel, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., 35,2301 (1994).
- **64.** F. **D.** Lung, G. Li, **B.-S.** Lou, and V. J. Hruby, Synth. Commun., **25, 57 (1995).**
- **65.** *S. Liao and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett.*, **37, 1563** (1996).
- **66.** S. Liao, Y. Han, W. Qui, M. Bruck, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., **37, 7917** (1996).
- **67.** J. Lin, S. Liao, Y. Han, W. Qiu, and V. J. Hruby, *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **8,3213 (1997).**
- **68.** *S. Liao, M. D. Shenderovich, J. Lin, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron,* **53,16645** (1997).
- **69.** J. Lin, S. Liao, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., **39,3117 (1998).**
- **70.** G. Li, K. C. Russell, M. A. Jarosinski, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., **34, 2565 (1993).**
- **71.** X. Qian, K. C. Russell, L. W. Boteju, and V. J. *Hruby*, *Tetrahedron*, **51**, **1033** (1995).
- **72.** *L. Xiang, H. Wu, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron: Asymmetry,* **6**, **83 (1995).**
- **73.** *Y* . Han, S. Liao, W. Qiu, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., **38, 5135 (1997).**
- **74.** X. Tang, V. A. Soloshonok, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron: Asymmetry, **11, 2917 (2000).**
- **75.** V. A. Soloshonok, X. Tang, V. J. Hruby, and L. Van Meervelt, Organic Lett., **3, 341 (2001).**
- **76.** V. A. Soloshonok, X. Tang, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron, **57**, **6375** (2001).
- 77. W. M. Kazmierski and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron, 44,697 (1988).
- 78. K. Verschueren, G. Tóth, D. Tourwe, M. Lebl, G. Van Binst, and V. J. Hruby, Synthesis, 5, 458 (1992).
- **79.** K. Kövér, O. Prakash, and V. J. Hruby, Magn. *Reson. Chem.*, **31,231 (1993).**
- V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, V. J. Hruby, L. Van Meervelt, and N. Mischenko, Tetrahedron, 55, 12031 (1999).
- **81.** *V*. **A.** Soloshonok, C. Cai, V. J. Hruby, and L. Van Meervelt, Tetrahedron, **55, 12045** (1999).

- 82. V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron: Asymmetry, 10,4265 (1999).
- **83.** V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., **41,135** (2000).
- 84. V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Angew. Chem. Znt. Ed. Engl., 39,2172 (2000).
- 85. V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Organic Lett., 2, 747 (2000).
- V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, V. J. Hruby, L. Van Meervelt, and T. Yamazaki, J. Org. Chem., 65, 6688 (2000).
- 87. V. A. Soloshonok, C. Cai, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett., 41,9645 (2000).
- 88. P. Grieco, E. Novellino, A. Lavecchia, D. Weinberg, T. MacNeil, and V. J. Hruby, Peptides 2000, Proceedings of the 26th European Peptide Symposium, Editions EDK, Paris, 2001, pp. 643-644.
- **89.** L. W. Boteju, K. Wegner, X. Qian, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron, **50,2391 (1994).**
- **90.** *G. Han,* **A.** *Lewis, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett.,* **42,4601**(2001).
- **91.** *W. Wang, C. Xiong, J. Yang, and V. J. Hruby, Tetrahedron Lett.*, **42, 7717 (2001).**
- 92. S. Liao, J. Alfaro-Lopez, M. D. Shenderovich, K. Hosohata, J. Lin, X. Li, D. Stropova, P. Davis, K. A. Jernigan, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 41,4767 (1998).
- **93.** *M. D. Shenderovich, S. Liao, X. Qian, and V. J. Hruby, Biopolymers,* **53, 565 (2000)**.
- 94. T. W. Vanderah, M. H. Ossipov, J. Lai, T. P. Malan Jr., and F. Porreca, Pain, in press (2002).
- **95.** *M. Rosenblatt, H. M. Kronenberg, and J. T. Potts Jr. in L. J.* **DeGroot,** *Ed., Endocrinology, 2nd ed., Saunders, Philadelphia,* **1989,** *p.* **848.**
- 96. J. R. Barbier, W. Neugebauer, P. Morley, V. Ross, M. Soska, J. F. Whitfield, and G. Willick, J. Med. Chem., 40,1373 (1997).
- 97. E. Canalis, J. Clin. Invest., 106,177 (2000).
- 98. W. D. Fraser, C. A. Walsh, M. A. Birch, B. Durham, J. P. Dillont, D. McCreavy, and J. A. Gallagher, Clin. Endocrinol., 53,621 (2000).
- 99. A. Bisello, C. Nakamoto, M. Rosenblatt, and M. Chorev, Biochemistry, 36,3293 (1997).
- 100. (a) R. Schwyzer, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 1, 327 (1980); (b) D. F. Mierke, S. Maretto, E. Schievano, D. DeLuca, A. Bisello, S. Mammi, M. Rosenblatt, E. Peggion, and M. Chorev, Biochemistry, 36,10372 (1997).
- **101.** T. J. Gardella, A. K. Wilson, H. T. Keutmann, R. Oberstein, J. T. Potts, H. M. Kronenberg,

- 102. U.C. Marx, S. Austermann, P. Bayer, K. Aderman, A. Ejchart, H. Sticht, S. Walter, F. X. Schmid, R. Jaenicke, and W. G. Forssmann Rosch, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 15194 (1995).
- **103.** *M. Rosenblatt, G. L.* **Shepard,** *G. A. Tyler, and J. T. Potts, Biochemistry,* **17, 3188(1978).**
- 104. C. M. Wilmot and J. M. Thornton, J. Mol. Biol., 203, 221(1988).
- 105. J. Rizo and L. M. Gierasch, Annu. Rev. Biochem., 61, 387(1992).
- 106. M. Rosenblatt, D. Goltzman, H. T. Keutmann, G. W. Tregear, and J. T. Potts Jr., J. Biol. Chem., 251, 159 (1976).
- 107. M. Chorev, M. E. Goldman, R. L. McKee, E. Roubini, J. J. Levy, C. T. Gay, J. E. Regan, J. E. Fisher, L. H. Caporale, E. E. Golub, M. P. Caulfield, R. F. Nutt, and M. Rosenblatt, Biochemistry, 29, 1580 (1990).
- **108.** V. J. Hruby, Prog. Brain Res., **92**, **215** (1992).
- 109. J. E. Mahaffey, M. Rosenblatt, G. L. Shepard, and J. T. Potts, J. Biol. Chem., 254, 6496 (1979).
- 110. M. Rosenblatt, G. V. Segre, G. A. Tyler, G. L. Shepard, S. R. Nussbaum, and J. T. Potts Jr., Endocrinology, 107, 545(1980).
- 111. M. Coltrera, M. Rosenblat, and J. T. Potts, Biochemistry, 19,4380(1980).
- 112. M. Rosenblatt, G. V. Serge, G. A. Tyler, G. L. Shepard, S. R. Nussbaum, and J. T. Potts, Endocrinology, 107, 545 (1980).
- 113. M. Rosenblatt, G. L. Shepard, and J. T. Potts, J. Biol. Chem., 254, 6496 (1979).
- L. Ferland, L. F. Savary, M. Beaulieu, M. Coy, D. H. Coy, and A. V. Schally, Clinical Endocrinology, Vol. 5, Blackwell Science, Oxford, 1976, pp. S279–S289.
- 115. A. J. Kastin, A. V. Schally, D. Gonzales-Barcena, D. H. Coy, M. C. Miller, H. Porias, and D. S. Schalch, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 38, 801 (1974).
- **116.** *M. A. Ondetti, B.* **Rubin,** *and D.W. Cushman, Science,* **196,441(1977).**
- 117. M.Zaoral, J. Kolc, and F. Sorm, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 32,1250(1967).
- 118. J. A. Parsons, B. Rafferty, D. Gray, J. M. Zanelli, H. T. Keutmann, G. W. Tregear, E. N. Callahan, and J. T. Potts Jr., Int. Congr. Ser.-Excerpta Med., 346, 33 (1975).
- 119. M. Rosenblatt, D. Goltzman, H. T. Keutmann, G. W. Tregear, and J. T. Potts Jr., J. Biol. Chem., 251, 159 (1976).
- **120.** *M*. *Rosenblatt and J*. *T*. *Potts Jr., Endocr. Res.,* **4,115(1977).**

- 121. J. R. Barbier, W. Neugebauer, P. Morley, V. Ross, M. Soska, J. F. Whitfield, and G. Willick, J. Med. Chem., 40, 1373 (1997).
- 122. G. A. Nickols, Blood Vessels, 24, 120 (1987).
- **123.** *K. G. Mountjoy, L. S. Robbins, M. T. Morturd, and R. D. Cone, Science,* **257**, **1248** (1992).
- **124.** V. Chhajlani and J. E. Wikberg, FEBS Lett., **309,417(1992).**
- 125. V. Chhajlani, R. Muceniece, and J. E. Wikberg, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 218, 638 (1996).
- 126. R. D. Cone, K. G. Mountjoy, L. S. Robbins, J. H. Nadeau, K. R. Johnson, L. Rosielli-Rehfuss, and M. T. Mortrud, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 680, 342(1993).
- 127. I. Gantz, Y. Konda, T. Tashiro, Y. Shimoto, H. Miwa, G. Munzert, S. J. Watson, J. DelValle, and T. Yamada, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 8246 (1993).
- 128. I. Gantz, H. Miwa, Y. Konda, Y. Shimoto, T. Tashiro, S. J. Watson, J. DelValle, and T. Yamada, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 15174(1993).
- 129. I. Gantz, Y. Shimoto, Y. Konda, H. Miwa, C. J. Dickinson, and T. Yamada, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 200, 1214(1994).
- H. B. Schioth, V. Chhajlani, R. Muceniece, V. Klusa, and J. E. Wikberg, Life Sci., 59, 797 (1996).
- 131. F. J. H. Tilders, D. F. Swaab, and T. B. van Wimersma Greidanus in T. B. vanWimersma Greidanus, Ed., Frontiers Hormone Research, Vol. 4, S. Karger AG, Basel/New York, 1997.
- **132.** A. J. Thody, The MSH Peptides, Academic Press, New York, **1980.**
- 133. M. E. Hadley, C. B. Heward, V. J. Hruby, T. K. Sawyer, and Y. C. Yang, Ciba Found. Symp., 81,244(1981).
- 134. M. E. Hadley, Endocrinology, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1996, p. 153.
- 135. V. J. Hruby, S. D. Sharma, K. Toth, J. Y. Jaw, F. Al-Obeidi, T. K. Sawyer, and M. E. Hadley, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 680, 51 (1993).
- **136.** *H.* **Vaudry** and *A. N. Eberle*, *Eds.*, *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **680**, **1–687** (1993).
- 137. M. E. Hadley, Ed., The Melanotropic Peptides, Vols. I-III, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1988.
- 138. C. R. Abbott, M. Rossi, M. S. Kim, S. H. AlAhmed, G. M. Taylor, M. A. Ghatei, D. M. Smith, and S. R. Bloom, Brain Res., 869, 203 (2000).
- 139. W. Chen, M. A. Kelly, X. Opitz-Arraya, R. E. Thomas, M. J. Low, and R. D. Cone, Cell, 91, 789 (1997).

- 140. V. J. Hruby, B. C. Wilkes, W. L. Cody, T. K. Sawyer, and M. E. Hadley, Pept. Protein Rev., 3, 1 (1984).
- 141. T. K. Sawyer, P. J. Sanfilippo, V. J. Hruby, M. H. Engel, C. B. Heward, J. B. Burnett, and M. E. Hadley, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 77, 5754 (1980).
- 142. T. K. Sawyer, V. J. Hruby, P. S. Darman, and M. E. Hadley, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 79, 1751 (1982).
- 143. V. J. Hruby, W. Kazmierski, M. B. Pettitt, and F. Al-Obeidi in M. Chrétien and K. W. McKerns, Eds., Molecular Biology of the Brain and Endocrine Peptidergic Systems, Plenum, New York, 1988, p. 13.
- 144. F. Al-Obeidi, V. J. Hruby, A.-M. de Lauro Castrucci, and M. E. Hadley, J. Med. Chem., 32, 174 (1989).
- 145. F. Al-Obeidi, M. E. Hadley, M. B. Pettitt, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 111, 3413 (1989).
- 146. F. Al-Obeidi, A. M. Castrucci, M. E. Hadley, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 32, 2555 (1989).
- 147. V. J. Hruby, B. C. Wilkes, M. E. Hadley, F. Al-Obeidi, T. K. Sawyer, D. J. Staples, A. E. de Vaux, O. Dym, A.-M. de Lauro Castrucci, M. F. Hintz, J. R. Riehm, and R. R. Rao, J. Med. Chem., 30,2126 (1987).
- 148. A.-M. de Lauro Castrucci, M. E. Hadley, T. K. Sawyer, B. C. Wilkes, F. Al-Obeidi, D. J. Staples, A. E. de Vaux, O. Dym, M. F. Hintz, J. P. Riehrn, R. R. Rao, and V. J. Hruby, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 73, 157 (1989).
- 149. G.V. Nikiforovich, S. A. Rosenblit, M. D. Shenderovich, and G. I. Chipens, FEBS Lett., 170, 315 (1984).
- **150.** E. E. Suggs, W. L. Cody, Z. Abdel-Malek, M. E. Hadley, and V. J. Hruby, *Biopolymers*, **25**, **2029** (1986).
- **151.** W. L. Cody, M. Mahoney, J. J. Knittel, V. J. Hruby, A.-M. de Lauro Castrucci, and M. E. Hadley, J. Med. Chem., 28, 583 (1985).
- 152. B. C. Wilkes, W. L. Cody, V. J. Hruby, A.-M. de Lauro Castrucci, and M. E. Hadley, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res., 27, 685 (1986).
- 153. V. J. Hruby, W. L. Cody, A.-M. de Laum Castrucci, and M. E. Hadley, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 53,2549 (1988).
- 154. V. J. Hruby, D. Lu, S. D. Sharma, A. M. Castrucci, R. A. Kesterson, F. Al-Obeidi, M. E. Hadley, and R. D. Cone, J. Med. Chem., 38, 3454 (1995).

- 155. C. Haskell-Luevano, G. V. Nikiforovich, S. D. Sharma, Y. Yang, C. Dickinson, V. J. Hruby, and I. Gantz, J. Med. Chem., 40, 1738 (1997).
- 156. C. Haskell-Luevano, L. W. Boteju, H. Miwa, C, Dickinson, I. Gantz, T. Yamada, M. E. Hadley, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 38, 4720 (1995).
- 157. C. Haskell-Luevano, G. Nikiforovich, S. D. Sharma, Y.-K. Yang, C. Dickinson, V. J. Hruby, and I. Gantz, J. Med. Chem., 40, 1738 (1997).
- 158. M. Kavarana, M. Cai, D. Trivedi, G. Han, and V. J. Hruby in M. Lebl, R. Houghten, G. Barany, and G. Fields, Eds., Peptides: The Wave of the Future, 2nd International Peptide Symposium/17th American Peptide Symposium, Am. Peptide Soc., San Diego, CA, 2001, pp. 708-709.
- **159.** *M. J. Kavarana, D. Trivedi, M. Cai, J. Ying, C.* **Cabello,** *P. Grieco, G. Han, M. Hammer, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem.*, **45,2044** (2002).
- 160. M. A. Bednarek, T. MacNeil, R. Tang, R. N. Kalyani, L. H. T. Van der Ploeg, and D. H. Weinberg, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 286,641 (2001).
- 161. F. Al-Obeidi, V. J. Hruby, M. E. Hadley, T. K. Sawyer, and A. M. Castrucci, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res., 35, 228 (1990).
- 162. A. M. Castrucci, T. K. Sawyer, F. Al-Obeidi, V. J. Hruby, and M. E. Hadley, Drugs Future, 15, 41 (1990).
- **163.** *T. K. Sawyer, D. J. Staples, A. M. Castrucci, and M. E. Hadley, Pept. Res.*, **2, 140 (1989).**
- 164. T. K. Sawyer, D. J. Staples, A. M. Castrucci, M. E. Hadley, F. Al-Obeidi, W. L. Cody, and V. J. Hruby, Peptides, 11, 351 (1990).
- **165.** *A. D. Walling, Am. Fam. Physician,* **61,** *No.* 4 (2000).
- **166.** W. B. Bell, Br. Med. J., **2**, **1609** (**1909**).
- 167. V. J. Hruby and C. W. Smith in C. W. Smith, Ed., The Peptides: Analysis, Synthesis, and Biology. Chemistry, Biology, and Medicine of Neurohypophyseal Hormones and Their Analogs, Vol. 8, Academic Press, New York, 1987, p. 77.
- 168. M. Lebl in K. Jost, M. Lebl, and F. Brtnik, Eds., Handbook of Neurohypophyseal Hormone Analogs, Vol. 1, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1987.
- **169.** V. J. Hruby and D. D. Smith, Compr. Med. Chem., **3**, **881** (1990).
- **170.** *B. M. Ferrier and V. Du Vigneaud, J. Med. Chem.*, **9**, **55** (1966).

D. B. Hope, V. V. S. Murti, and V. Du Vigneaud, J. Biol. Chem., 237, 1563 (1962).

K. Jost, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 36, 218 (1971).

S. Drabarek and V. Du Vigneaud, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87,3974 (1965).

V. J. Hruby, K. K. Deb, D. M. Yamamoto, M. E. Hadley, and W. Y. Chan, J. Med. Chem., **22**, **7** (1979b).

M. Bodanszky and V. Du Vigneaud, J. **Am.** Chem. Soc., **81**,1258 (1959).

M. Manning and W. H. Sawyer, Nature, **227, 715 (1970).**

M. Manning, **A.** Olma, W. Klis, J. Seto, and W. H. Sawyer, Nature, **308,652** (1984).

M. Bodanszky and R. J. Bath, Chem. Commun., **766 (1968).**

J. Lowbridge, M. Manning, J. Haldar, and

W. H. Sawyer, J. Med. Chem., 20,120 (1977).

M. Lebl, V. J. Hruby, J. Slaninova, and T. Barth, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 50, 418 (1984).

W. Y. Chan and V. DuVigneaud, Endocrinology, **72,977 (1962).**

B. M. Ferrier, D. Jarvis, and V. DuVigneaud, J. Biol. Chem., 240, 4264 (1965).

T. Barth, **I.** Krejci, B. Kupkova, and K. Jost, Eur. J. Pharmacol., **24, 183 (1973).**

K. Jost and F. Sorm, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., **36,234 (1971).**

V. J. Hruby, D. A. Upson, D. M. Yamamoto, C. W. Smith, and R. Chan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 101,2717 (1979).

M. Manning, E. J. Coy, and W. H. Sawyer, Biochemistry, 9, **3925 (1970).**

V. J. Hruby and D. D. Smithin J. Emmett, Ed., Comprehensive Medicinal Chemistry, Vol. 3, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1990, pp. 881–897.

H. D. Law and V. DuVigneaud, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82,4579 (1960).

H. Schulz and V. DuVigneaud, J. Med. Chem., **9,647 (1966).**

H. Schulz and V. DuVigneaud, J. Med. Chem., **10,1037 (1967).**

V. J. Hruby, K. K. Deb, D. M. Yamamoto, M. E. Hadley, and W. Y. Chan, J. Med. Chem., 22, 7 (1979).

W. H. Sawyer, J. Haldar, D. Gazis, J. Seto, K. Bankowski, and J. Lowbridge, Endocrinology, 106, 81 (1980).

J. Lowbridge, M. Manning, J. Seto, J. Haldar, and W. H. Sawyer, J. Med. Chem., **22, 565** (1979).

- 194. W. H. Sawyer and M. Manning in J. A. Amico and A. G. Robinson, Eds., Oxytocin: Clinical and Laboratory Studies, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1985, pp. 423–430.
- 195. P. S. Hill, J. Slaninova, and V. J. Hruby in G. Marshall, Ed., Peptides: Chemistry and Biology, ESCOM Scientific, Leiden, The Netherlands, 1988, pp. 468-470.
- 196. P. S. Hill, D. D. Smith, J. Slaninova, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 112,3110 (1990).
- **197.** D. D. Smith, J. Slaninova, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 35, **1558** (**1992**).
- 198. A. Liwo, A. Tempczyk, S. Oldziej, M. D. Shenderovich, V. J. Hruby, S. Talluri, J. Ciarkowski, F. Kasprzykowski, L. Lankiewicz, and Z. Grzonka, Biopolymers, 38, 157 (1996).
- 199. M. D. Shenderovich, K. E. Kövér, S. Wilke, N. Collins, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 119,5833 (1997).
- 200. S. Liao, M. D. Shenderovich, Z. Zhang, L. Maletinska, J. Slaninova, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 120, 7393 (1998).
- 201. M. Lebl, P. S. Hill, W. M. Kazmierski, L. Karaszova, J. Slaninova, I. Fric, and V. J. Hruby, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res., 36, 321 (1990).
- 202. R. Walter in M. Margoulies and F. C. Greenwood, Eds., Structure-Activity Relationship of Protein and Polypeptide Hormones, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1971, pp. 181–193.
- 203. M. Lebl, T. Barth, L. Servitova, J. Slaninova, and K. Jošt in K. Bláha and P. Malion, Eds., Peptides 1982, Proceedings of the 17th European Peptide Symposium, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 1983, pp. 457-460.
- 204. M. Lebl, T. Barth, L. Servitova, J. Slaninova, and K. Jost, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 50, 132 (1985).
- 205. E. O. Lundell and M. F. Ferger, Bioorg. Chem., 4, 377 (1975).
- 206. V. Pliscka, P. Marbach, J. Vasak, and J. Rudinger, Experientia, 33,367 (1977).
- 207. K. Bankowski, M. Manning, J. Seto, J. Haldar, and W. H. Sawyer, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res., 16,382 (1980).
- **208.** W.Y. Chan, L. Cao, P. S. Hill, and V. J. Hruby, Endocrinology, **126,2095** (**1990**).
- **209.** *W*. *Y*. *Chan and N. Kelley, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **156, 150 (1967).**
- 210. J. Hughes, T.W. Smith, H.W. Kosterlitz, L.A. Fathergill, B. A. Morgan, and H. R. Morris, Nature, 258, 577 (1975).

- 211. H. I. Mosberg, R. Hurst, V. J. Hruby, K. Gee, H. I. Yamamura, J. J. Galligan, and T. F. Burks, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 80, 5871 (1983).
- 212. X. Qian, K. E. Kövér, M. D. Shenderovich, B.-S. Lou, A. Misicka, T. Zalewska, R. Horvath, P. Davis, E. J. Bilsky, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 37, 1746 (1994).
- 213. X. Qian, M. D. Shenderovich, K. E. Kövér, P. Davis, R. Horváth, T. Zalewska, H. I. Yamamura, F. Porreca, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 118, 7280 (1996).
- **214.** V. J. Hruby and C. Gehrig, Med. Res. Rev., 9, 343 (1989).
- 215. P. W. Schiller in G. P. Ellis and G. B. West, Eds., Progress in Medicinal Chemistry, Vol. 28, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1998, pp. 301-340.
- 216. V. Erspamer, P. Melchioiri, G. Falconieri-Erspamer, L. Negri, R. Corsi, C. Severini, D. Barra, M. Simmaco, and G. Kreil, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, 86,5188 (1989).
- 217. M. Amiche, S. Sagan, A. Mor, A. Delfour, and P. Nicholas, Mol. *Pharmacol.*, 35, 774 (1989).
- **218.** L. H. Lazarus, S. D. Bryant, P. S. Cooper, and S. Salvadori, Prog. Neurobiol., **57,377** (1999).
- 219. P. W. Schiller, T. M.-D. Nguyen, G. Weltrowska, B. C. Wilkes, J. Marsden, C. Lemieux, and N. N. Chung, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 89, 11871 (1992a).
- 220. P. W. Schiller, G. Wetrowska, T. M.-D. Nguyen, B. C. Wilkes, N. N. Chung, and C. Lemieux, J. Med. Chem., 36,3182 (1993).
- 221. P. W. Schiller, G. Wetrowska, I. Berezowska, T. M.-D. Nguyen, B. C. Wilkes, C. Lemieux, and N. N. Chung, Biopolymers (*Peptide Sci.*), 51,411 (1999).
- 222. Z. Salamon, S. Cowell, E. Varga, H. I. Yamamura, V. J. Hruby, and G. Tollin, *Bio*phys. J.,79, 2463 (2000).
- 223. Z. Salamon, I. Alves, S. Cowell, V. J. Hruby, and G. Tollin in M. Lebl, R. Houghten, G. Barany, and G. Fields, Eds., Peptides: The Wave of the Future, 2nd International *Peptide Symposium/17th* American *Peptide* Symposium, Am. Peptide Soc., San Diego, CA, 2001, pp. 297–298.
- 224. V. J. Hruby, Life Sci., 31, 189 (1982).
- 225. V. J. Hruby, L.-F. Kao, B. M. Pettitt, and M. Karplus, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 110,3351 (1988).
- 226. J. L. Flippen-Anderson, V. J. Hruby, N. Collins, C. George, and B. Cudney, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 116, 7523 (1994).

- 227. N. Collins, J. L. Flippen-Anderson, R. C. Haaseth, J. R. Deschamps, C. George, K. Kövér, and V. J. Hruby, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 118, 2143 (1996).
- 228. V. J. Hruby, G. Li, C. Haskell-Luevano, and M. D. Shenderovich, Biopolymers (*Peptide Sci.*), 43, 219 (1997).
- 229. V. J. Hruby, G. Tóth, C. A. Gehrig, L.-F. Kao, R. Knapp, G. K. Lui, H. I. Yamamura, T. H. Kramer, P. Davis, and T. F. Burks, J. Med. Chem., 34, 1823 (1991).
- 230. H. I. Mosberg, J. R. Omnaas, A. Lomize, D. L. Heyl, I. Nordan, C. Mousigian, P. Davis, and F. Porreca, *J. Med.* Chem., 37,4384 (1994).
- 231. H. I. Mosberg, Biopolymers (*Peptide Sci.*), 51, 426 (1999).
- 232. H. I. Mosberg, A. L. Lomize, C. Wang, H. Kroona, D. A. Heyl, K. Sobezyk-Kojero, W. Ma, C. Mousigian, and F. Porreca, J. Med. Chem., 37,4371 (1994).
- 233. I. D. Pogozkeva, A. L. Lomize, and H. I. Mosberg, Biophys. J.,70,1963 (1997).
- 234. I. D. Pogozkeva, A. L. Lomize, and H. I. Mosberg, Biophys. J.,75, 612 (1998).
- 235. V. J. Hruby, Drug Discovery Today, 2, 165 (1997).
- 236. P. S. Farmer in E. J. Ariends, Ed., Drug Design, Vol. X, Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1980, pp. 119–143.
- 237. T. K. Sawyer in P. Veerapandian, Ed., Structure-Based Drug Design: Diseases, Targets, Techniques and Developments, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, pp. 559–634.
- **238.** D. P. **Farlie**, G. Abbenante, and D. R. March, Curr. Med. Chem., **2**, **65** (1995).
- 239. G. L. Olson, D. R. Bohn, M. P. Bonner, M. Bos, C. M. Cook, D. C. Fry, B. J. Granes, M. Hatada, D. E. Hill, M. Kahn, V. S. Madison, V. K. Rusiecki, R. Sarabu, J. Sepinwall, G. P. Vincent, and M. E. Voss, J. Med. Chem., 36,3039 (1993).
- **240.** V. J. Hruby and P. M. Balse, Curr. Med. Chem., **7,945** (2000).
- **241.** M. D. Shenderovich, S. Liao, X. Qian, and V. J. Hruby, Biopolymers, **53,565** (2000).
- 242. S. Liao, J. Alfaro-Lopez, M. D. Shenderovich, K. Hosohata, J. Lin, X. Li, D. Stropova, P. Davis, K. A. Jernigan, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 41,4767 (1998).
- 243. J. Alfaro-Lopez, T. Okayama, K. Hosohata, P. Davis, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 42,5359 (1999).

Z. Salamon, S. Cowell, E. Varga, H. I. Yamamura, V. J. Hruby, and G. Tollin, *Bio*phys. J.,79, 2463 (2000).

V. J. Hruby in J. Joosse, R. M. Buijs, and F. J. H. Tilders, Eds., Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 92, Elsevier Sci. Publ., Amsterdam, 1992, pp. 215–224.

S. M. Cowell, P. M. Balse, J.-M. Ahn, and V. J. Hruby in **R**. Iyengar and J. D. Hildebrandt, Eds., Methods in Enzymology, Academic Press, San Diego, CA, in press (2002).

D. Tourwé, E. Maimekeus, T. N. T. Diem, P. Verheyden, H. Jaspers, G. Tóth, A. Péter, I. Kertész, G. Torok, N. N. Chung, and P. W. Schiller, J. Med. Chem., 41,5167 (1998).

L. H. Lazarus, S. D. Bryant, P. S. Cooper, **R.** Gueri, G. Balboni, and S. Salvadori, Drug Design Trends, **3**, **284** (**1998**).

P. W. Schiller, R. Schmidt, G. Weltrowska, I. Berezowska, T. M.-D. **Nguyen**, S. Dupuis, N. N. Chung, C. Lemieux, B. C. **Wilkes**, and K. A. Carpenter, Lett. Pept. Sci., **5**,209 (1998).

S. Salvadori, M. Attila, G. Balboni, C. Bianchi, S. D. Bryant, O. Crescenzi, R. Guerrini, D. Picone, T. Tancredi, P. A. Temussi, and L. H. Lazarus, Mol. Med., **1,678** (1995).

S. Liao, J. Lin, M. D. Shenderovich, Y. Han, K. Hosohata, P. Davis, W. Qiu, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., **7,3049** (**1997**).

- 252. K. Hosohata, T. H. Burkey, J. Alfaro-Lopez, V. J. Hruby, W. R. Roeske, and H. I. Yamamura, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 380, R9 (1999).
- 253. H. Bartosz-Bechowski, P. Davis, T. Zalewska, J. Slaninova, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 37, 146 (1994).
- 254. V. J. Hruby, H. Bartosz-Bechowski, P. Davis, J. Slaninova, T. Zalewska, D. Stropova, F. Porreca, and H. I. Yamamura, J. Med. Chem., 40, 3957 (1997).
- 255. T. H. Kramer, H. Bartosz-Bechowski, P. Davis, V. J. Hruby, and F. Porreca, Life Sci., 61, 129 (1997).
- 256. T. H. Kramer, P. Davis, V. J. Hruby, T. F. Burks, and F. Porreca, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 266,577 (1993).
- 257. V. J. Hruby in G. B. Fields, J. P. Tam, and G. Barany, Eds., Peptides for the New Millenium, Proceedings of the 16th American Peptide Symposium, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2000, pp. 609-611.
- 258. Y. Sasaki and T. Chiba, J. Med. Chem., 38, 3995 (1995).
- 259. A. Misicka, S. Cavagnero, R. Horvath, P. Davis, F. Porreca, H. I. Yamamura, and V. J. Hruby, J. Pept. Res., 50, 48 (1997).
- 260. A. Misicka, A. W. Lipkowski, R. Horvath, P. Davis, H. I. Yamamura, F. Porreca, and V. J. Hruby, J. Med. Chem., 37, 141 (1994).

Inhibitors of Gastric Acid Secretion

SONIA ROBERTS IAIN M. McDONALD James Black Foundation London, United Kingdom

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery

Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics,

and Drugs from New Biology

Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 86
- 2 Therapeutic Market, 86
- 3 Acid Secretion through the Ages, 88
- 4 How and from Where is Acid Produced?, 88 4.1 The Stomach, 88
 - 4.2 Hormones and Neurotransmitters Regulating the Secretion of Gastric Acid, 89
- 5 Physiology of Gastric Acid Secretion, 90
- 6 Disorders Associated with Elevated Secretion of Gastric Acid, 91
 - 6.1 Ulcer Disease, 91
 - 6.1.1 NSAID-Associated Ulcer, 91
 - 6.2 Zollinger-Ellison Syndrome, 92
 - 6.3 Helicobacter Pylori (H. Pylori), 93
 - 6.4 **Reflux** Esophagitis, 94
- 7 Test Assays for Studying Gastric Acid Inhibitors, 95
 - 7.1 In Vitro, 95
 - 7.2 In Vivo, 96
- 8 Receptor-Mediated Processes that Regulate Gastric Acid Secretion, 97
 - 8.1 Ach-Muscarinic-Receptor-Mediated Acid Secretion, 97
 - 8.1.1 Structures and SAR of Anticholinergic Agents, 97
 - 8.2 Histamine H_z-Receptor–Mediated Acid Secretion, 97
 - 8.2.1 Histamine Receptor Classification, 98
 - 8.2.2 H₂-Receptor Antagonists, 99
 - 8.2.3 Structures and **SAR** of H_z-Receptor Antagonists, 99
 - 8.2.4 Clinical Studies with H₂-Receptor Antagonists, 101
 - 8.2.5 Adverse Effects of H_z-Receptor Antagonists, 101
 - 8.2.6 The Need to Develop More Potent Antisecretory Agents, 103

- 9 H⁺/K⁺-ATPase (Proton Pump)
 - Inhibition, 103
 - 9.1 Structure of the Proton Pump, 103
 - 9.2 Acid Secretion and the Proton Pump, 104
 - 9.3 Mechanism of Action of Proton-Pump Inhibitors, 104
 - 9.4 Structure and SAR of the Proton-Pump Inhibitors, 105
 - 9.5 Profile of Proton-Pump Inhibition, 113

1 INTRODUCTION

The inhibition of gastric acid secretion is a key therapeutic target for ulcer disease, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (Z-E), and gastritis. Currently, this is achieved either by blocking the acid-secretory effect of histamine (HA) through the use of HA H₂-receptor antagonists or by irreversibly binding to the H^+/K^+ -ATPase with proton-pump inhibitors (PPIs), to prevent the release of \mathbf{H}^+ ions from the parietal cell. These pharmacological approaches are effective in alleviating ulcer disease, although disease recurrence rates are high. The discovery that ulcers are linked to *Helicobac*terpylori (H.pylori) infection has led to a new therapeutic approach, in which eradication of the bacteria is the principal target. In addition to ulcer disease, H₂-receptor antagonists and PPIs are still effectively used for alleviating the symptoms of gastritis, Z-E, and GERD. The symptoms associated with each of these conditions are similar; therefore correct diagnosis is essential. Recently, H_2 -receptor antagonists have become available without prescription, leading frequently to omission of the critical diagnosis stage, and the self-administration of these medications may mask the symptoms of other diseases.

The aim of this review is to outline the drugs that are currently available and the medicinal chemistry that led to their discovery. The physiological processes associated with acid secretion and the mechanism of action of inhibitors of this process are described. Current research into inhibitors of gastric acid secretion is aimed at producing a reversible PPI or antagonist of receptor-mediated acid secretion. The medicinal chemistry and pharmacology of such approaches are considered.

- 9.6 Clinical Studies with Proton-Pump Inhibitors, 114
- 9.7 Adverse Effects of Proton-Pump Inhibitors, 115
- 10 Targets Under Investigation, 117
- 10.1 Reversible Proton-Pump Inhibitors, 117 10.2 CCK₂/Gastrin-Receptor Antagonists, 119
- 11 Summary, 119
- 12 Acknowledgments, 122

2 THERAPEUTIC MARKET

The therapy for gastric acid-related gastrointestinal disorders has evolved from nonspecific gastro-protective agents to treatments directed at specific sites regulating the secretion of gastric acid. H_2 -receptor antagonists and PPIs are currently the major therapies used to inhibit the production of gastric acid. The discovery that H. pylori infection was highly correlated with the presence of duodenal ulcer and hypersecretion of gastric acid has introduced an additional therapy that targets the eradication of H. pylori. This combination therapy of an antisecretory agent and an antibiotic has been shown to dramatically reduce the number of patients in which ulcer formation recurs (1) The incidence of upper gastrointestinal disorders such as ulcer and GERD shows an element of global variation. For example, in Western countries duodenal ulcers are more common, whereas in Eastern countries gastric ulcers predominate (2). These differences may be attributable to any of a number of factors, including diet and genetic make-up. Therapeutic strategy also differs from the East to West. In Western countries, the conventional therapy for duodenal and gastric ulcers is eradication of H. pylori through the use of PPIs combined with an antibiotic. In Japan, when eradication therapy is used, a cytoprotective agent is also included. Indeed, cytoprotective agents are used in abundance, accounting in 1998 for approximately 50% of all prescribed treatments for ulcer disease. In Japan, unlike the West, H_2 . antagonists are commonly used for maintenance therapy, with PPIs consisting of only 5% of the antisecretory therapy market. This results from restrictions imposed by the Japanese government that limit the prescribing of

Generic Name	Trade Name	Originator	Chemical Class
Cimetidine	Dyspamet	Goldshield	H _z -receptor antagonist
	Zita	Eastern	H _z -receptor antagonist
	Tagamet	SmithKline Beecham	H_2 -receptor antagonist
Dicyclomine hydrochloride	Merbentyl	Florizel	Anticholinergic
Esomeprazole	Nexium	AstraZeneca	Proton-pump inhibitor
Famotidine	Pepcid	M.S.D.	H _z -receptor antagonist
Hyoscine butylbromide	Buscopan	Boehringer Ingelheim	Anticholinergic
Lansoprazole	Zoton	Wyeth	Proton-pump inhibitor
Nizatidine	Axid	Lily	H _z -receptor antagonist
Omeprazole	Losec	AstraZeneca	Proton-pump inhibitor
Pantoprazole	Protium	Abbott	Proton-pump inhibitor
Ranitidine	Zantac	Glaxo Wellcome	H _z -receptor antagonist
	Pylorid	Glaxo Wellcome	H_2 -receptor antagonist
Rabeprazole	Pariet	Eisai/Janssen	Proton-pump inhibitor

 Table 3.1
 Currently Prescribed Antisecretory Medicines in the UK

PPIs to a maximum of 8 weeks, after which patients are placed on H_2 -R antagonists (2).

The incidence of ulcer disease appears to be reducing worldwide, although whether this is attributed to H. pylori eradication therapy is unclear. However, the incidence of GERD is increasing (3) and the control of this disorder is a high profile pharmaceutical target. The increased exposure of the esophageal epithelium to gastric acid has been linked in some cases to morphological changes of the normal squamous epithelium into specialized intestinal-like columnar epithelium. The formation of this precancerous disease state called Barrett's esophagus occurs in 15% of patients with chronic GERD (4). It has been suggested that reducing the exposure of this precancerous tissue to further acid may prevent its subsequent malignant transformation.

Gastric acid-related diseases are common and diverse, and their treatment should be designed to alleviate the symptoms, while keeping the risk of adverse events to a minimum. H₂-receptor antagonists, although not longlasting inhibitors of gastric acid, may be adequate to treat gastritis, whereas PPIs may be required to totally inhibit gastric acid throughout the day to effectively treat GERD patients. Although PPIs have been available since the mid-1980s, GERD requires a much higher therapeutic dose than that used for ulcer disease. Currently, the long-term safety of high doses of PPIs is unknown.

A review of the leading pharmaceutical products in 1985 placed the H_2 -receptor an-

tagonists Tagamet and Zantac as numbers 1 and 2, accounting for \$894.2 and \$565.8 million, respectively. By 1990, Tagamet had been usurped by Glaxo's direct competitor product Zantac, which obtained the largest amount of sales for 1990 (\$2457.9 million) and 1995 (\$3523 million). The success of Zantac was ascribed to a major marketing effort that highlighted the antiandrogenic side effects of Tagamet. By 1990, Zantac's growth had slowed as H₂-receptor antagonist therapy was superseded by more potent therapies that inhibited the proton pump, such as Astra's Losec (omeprazole). In 1995 when the patent for Zantac expired, Losec became the third biggest selling pharmaceutical (\$2305 million). By 1999 Losec had taken pole position as the largest selling pharmaceutical product of all (\$5909 million), within an antiulcerant class of therapeutics, valued at \$12.9 billion. The patent for omeprazole expired in 2001 but AstraZeneca has counteracted this by marketing the (S)-enantiomer of omeprazole (esomeprazole), which is reported to possess an improved pharmacokinetic profile and potency compared to that of the (R)-enantiomer (5). (See Table 3.1 for currently prescribed antisecretory medicines in the UK.)

The decisions regarding the potential for developing other novel inhibitors of gastric acid secretion are likely to be based on therapeutic efficacy, specificity, lack of adverse effects, longterm tolerability, and safety, as well as commercial issues such as market share, patent expiry, and generic competition (6).Self-medication has

Year	Author/Company	Discovery
1824	William Prout (7)	Identification of HCl in gastric secretion of animals
1826	William Beaumont (182)	Examination of acid secretion in humans
1832	William Brodie (183)	Performed first surgical vagotomy (dog)
1879	Jean Pean (8)	Performed first gastrectomy in humans
1902	Ivan Pavlov (184)	Examination of the neural regulation of gastric secretion
1916	Leon Popielski (185)	Found that HA stimulated gastric secretion in dogs
1921	Andre Rapheal Laterjet and Pierre Wertheimer (1 86)	Published on the physiological contribution of the vagus to acid secretion and motility
1925	E. McCrea (187)	Suggested that the vagus nerve might be implicated in ulcer disease
1942	Charles Code (188)	Found increased HA-stimulated acid secretion induced ulcer formation in animals
1943	Lester Dragstedt (189)	First truncal vagotomy in humans
1953	Andrew Kay (190)	Developed the HA test (acid secretory response produced by HA in the presence of H_1 -receptor blockade)
1960	I. Marks, Wilfred Card (191)	Use of HA test to determine parietal cell mass
1972	James Black (69)	Discovery of H_z -receptor and H_z -receptor antagonists
1973	A. Ganser, J. Forte (110)	Discovery of H^+/K^+ -ATPase in oxyntic cells of the bullfrog
1976–1982	SmithKline & French	Tagamet launched worldwide (H _z -receptorantagonist)
1982	Glaxo	Zantac launched (H_2 -receptor antagonist)
1988	AstraZeneca	Omeprazole launched (PPI)
1995	Glaxo Wellcome plc	Ranitidine (H ₂ -receptor antagonist) generic forms available
1995	Takeda-Abbott	Lansoprazole launched (PPI)
1997	Yamanouchi (licensed to Merck & Co.)	Famotidine launched (H_2 -receptor antagonist)
1997	Eisai Co. (licensed to Janssen Pharmaceutica)	Rabeprazole launched (PPI)
2001	AstraZenceca	Esomeprazole launched (PPI)

 Table 3.2
 Time-Related Discoveries with Respect to Gastric Acid Secretion

been a major component of gastric acid inhibitory therapies and therefore safety is of prime importance. Both H_2 -receptor antagonists and **PPIs** have been shown to be extremely safe and well-tolerated **drugs** and future novel inhibitors of gastric acid will have to show a comparable level of safety.

3 ACID SECRETION THROUGH THE AGES

The concept that the stomach secreted acid and digestive enzymes was not fully appreciated until the nineteenth century, although various hypotheses had been mooted since the time of the ancient Greeks. The discovery of gastric acid (7) was the first step to understanding the role of the stomach in digestion and diseases associated with hypersecretion of acid. Modlin (8) provided an excellent review of the discovery, hormones, mechanisms, and drug discovery process linked to gastric acid secretion. Table **3.2** summarizes these stages, while focusing on the changing drug regime used to treat disorders associated with the gastric acid secretion.

4 HOW AND FROM WHERE IS ACID PRODUCED?

4.1 The Stomach

The stomach functions as a reservoir for ingested food and as a primary site of digestion.



Figure 3.1. Anatomical regions of the stomach.

Once food has entered the stomach, gastric acid and enzymes are released and contraction of the circular and longitudinal muscle of the stomach wall produces thorough mixing of its contents, aiding the breakdown of food before it enters the duodenum. The stomach has both mechano- and chemosensitive receptors within its structure and the presence of food and its various components triggers specific responses within the stomach. The stomach is divided into four anatomical regions: the corpus or body, fundus, antrum, and pylorus (Fig. 3.1). Enzymes and gastric acid are secreted from glandular parts of the stomach located in the antrum and fundic regions. The oxyntic mucosa covers the fundic region and is the site of acid secretion. Mucus cells line the mucosa and invaginations of this epithelial layer form the gastric glands, which consist of specialized crypts that branch into specialized tubular gland structures. Columnar epithelial cells line the crypts, whereas numerous cell types are found in the tubular glands (9).

4.2 Hormones and Neurotransmitters Regulating the Secretion of Gastric Acid

The acid-secretingoxyntic cell, or parietal cell,

is the main cell type in the gastric gland. Chief cells (pepsinogen-secretingcells), mucus cells, and D-cells (somatostatin-secreting cells) are also found within gastric glands. Somatosta-

also found within gastric glands. Somatostatin, released from fundic D-cells, inhibits the release of acid secretion from the parietal cell. These specialized cells are in close proximity to **parasympathic** nerve endings and neural inputs are able to regulate hormone release (10). The release of HA from **enterochromaf**fin-like (**ECL**) cells can also be neurally mediated and subsequently stimulates parietal cells to secrete acid. Vagal nerve stimulation initiates the release of gastrin from **antral** Gcells, and acetylcholine (**Ach**) from **postgangli**onic, **cholinergic**, and muscarinic nerves, which bind to their respective receptors on the ECL-cell to release HA and subsequently acid from parietal cells (Fig. **3.2**).

Ach, HA, and gastrin stimulate acid secretion by activating specific receptors on the basolateral membrane of the parietal cell. Once bound to the respective **G-protein-coupled** receptor, second-messenger systems are activated. Ach and **gastrin** activate phospholipase C to catalyze the conversion of **membrane**bound phospholipids to **diacylglycerol** and **inositol triphosphate**. The release of Ca^{2+} from **intracellular** stores and the subsequent increase in cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} activates H^+/K^+ -**ATPase** (proton pump). The binding of HA to the H₂-receptor activates adenylate cyclase, resulting in an increase in **cAMP**, which activates the proton pump (11).

Many **peptides** and neurotransmitters have been identified as having a direct or indirect effect on the parietal cell. Somatostatin, **secre**-



Figure 3.2. Stimulation of acid secretion from the parietal cell.

tin, and prostaglandin E reduce acid secretion either indirectly, by inhibiting the release of gastrin, or directly, by an action at the parietal cell (12). Interleukins, vasoactive intestinal **peptide**, cholecystokinin (CCK), calcitonin gene-related **peptide**, oxyntomodulin, **neurotensin**, adrenaline, and gastric inhibitory polypeptide may inhibit parietal cell secretion indirectly through the release of local somatostatin. **Peptide** YY, CCK, and 5-HT are thought to influence acid secretion by modulating neural tone to the stomach. The release of nitric oxide release may also inhibit gastric acid secretion.

In addition to mucus from goblet cells, bicarbonate ions are secreted from the stomach to protect the gastric mucosa from gastric acid. Bicarbonate secretion occurs when the luminal pH is less than 2 and its release is regulated both neuronally and hormonally.

5 PHYSIOLOGY OF GASTRIC ACID SECRETION

Gastric acid secretion is stimulated by foodrelated signals that stimulate the release of acid from specialized cells within the stomach. This secretory process has been divided into three phases: cephalic, gastric, and intestinal, with each phase leading to different amounts of acid being secreted (Table 3.3). Cephalic Phase. The sight, smell, taste, and sensation of swallowing food causes central stimulation of the vagus nerve leading to Ach release from synapses within the fundic and antral regions of the stomach. Direct stimulation of the parietal cells within the fundus and, to a lesser degree, the indirect stimulation of HA release, through vagally stimulated gastrin release from G-cells within the **an** trum, causes the parietal cells to secrete acid into the stomach.

Gastric Phase. Gastrin is the main mediator of acid secretion. Acid secretion occurs in response to both the presence of nutrients and the physical distension produced by food entering the stomach. Distension-induced gas: tric acid secretion, relative to the total amount of acid released, is species dependent (human = 20%; dog = 50%; rat = 38%). The chemical constituents of a meal are the strongest stimulant of gastrin release and acid output during

Table 3.3Relative Acid Secretory Responseto Food

Phase of Acid Secretion	Percentage of Total Acid Secretion
Cenhalic Gastric	50
Distension	20
Chemical	25
Intestinal	5

the gastric phase, with **peptides** and amino acids being greater stimulants of gastrin than proteins, carbohydrates, and fats.

Intestinal Phase. Only a relatively small amount of acid is secreted because of the numerous inhibitory mechanisms stimulated by the presence of nutrients within the intestinal lumen.

Inhibition of gastric acid secretion also occurs during the cephalic, gastric, and intestinal phases. In the cephalic phase, the release of various neuropeptides may contribute to the inhibition of gastric acid secretion. Central injection of neuropeptide Y (NPY), corticotrophin-releasing factor, bombesin, calcitonin, calcitonin gene-related peptide, neurotensin, interleukin 1, and prostaglandins have all been shown to inhibit gastric acid secretion. The exact mode of action of these peptides remsins to be elucidated, although they inhibit gastric acid secretion through vagal and sympathetic nerves. The hypothalamus appears to be an important site of action of many peptide inhibitors of acid secretion. Of the peptides studied so far, only NPY exerts both stimulatory and inhibitory effects on acid secretion when injected into different hypothalamic sites. In the gastric phase, increasing gastric acidity initiates a mechanism that turns off gastric acid secretion. Once the acidity of the humen has reached pH 2, gastrin release is inhibited and therefore acid secretion is reduced. Stimulation of somatostatin release from D-cells in the antrum of the stomach inhibits the release of gastrin from G-cells and thus reduces gastric acid secretion. In patients with a duodenal ulcer this inhibitory process is less efficient, especially when intraluminal pH falls below 3. Eysselein et al. (13) also demonstrated that patients with a duodenal ulcer exhibited higher rates of acid secretion yet a diminished capacity for inhibition of acid secretion when low concentrations of peptone were instilled intragastrically.

In the intestinal phase, inhibition of acid secretion is produced by the presence of fat, acid, or hyperosmolar solutions within the intestinal lumen. Fat, the most potent inhibitor, was proposed to cause the release of inhibitory substances from the intestine, and although no substances were formally identified, they were termed enterogastrones. Little is known about the neural pathways that participate in the fat-induced inhibitory reflex, although vagotomy does appear to reduce the inhibitory effect of intestinal fat. This response is attributed to the altered sensitivity of parietal cells to Ach in the absence of vagal tone. The release of CCK and somatostatin, in response to intestinal acid, inhibits gastric acid secretion.

6 DISORDERS ASSOCIATED WITH ELEVATED SECRETION OF GASTRIC ACID

6.1 Ulcer Disease

Peptic ulcers arise because of an imbalance of acid-secretory mechanisms and mucosal-protective factors, and the rationale for their treatment is aimed at restoring that balance. The loss of balance between acid secretion and mucosal-protective factors varies among peptic ulcer types. In type I ulcers, which occur high in the stomach, acid hypersecretion is not necessarily evident, suggesting the importance of impaired mucosal-protective factors in this clinical setting. Type II ulcers, in contrast, include gastric ulcers, distal antral (prepyloric) ulcers, and duodenal ulcers. They are associated with acid hypersecretion and the impaired negative feedback effects of acidification on gastrin release and on continued acid secretion. The causes of gastric ulcers include H. pylori infection, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), environmental factors, and malignancy. Duodenal ulcers can result from hypersecretion of gastrin, which is assessed by evaluating fasting gastrin levels in patients unresponsive to other therapies for duodenal ulcers.

6.1.1 NSAID-Associated Ulcer. NSAIDs inhibit the production of prostaglandins, **pros**-tacyclins, and thromboxanes from arachidonic acid by covalently modifying the enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX) and irreversibly inhibiting the ability of arachidonic acid to bind to the active site on the enzyme. Chronic administration of NSAIDs has been linked to ulcer disease, although there is no evidence that they are the direct cause of ulcer formation. In patients already diagnosed with ulcer disease, chronic administration of NSAIDs was associated with a fourfold increase in the risk of **ul**-

cer-associated complications (14). These complications, however, may remain undetected because of the reduction in pain produced by the inhibition of endogenous prostaglandins. Inhibition of prostaglandin-derived gastroprotective properties such as gastric blood flow and mucus production increases the exposure of the mucosa to toxic agents. In an attempt to restore the gastro-protective properties of the prostaglandins, the synthetic prostaglandin analog misoprostol may be coadministered. However, therapies targeted solely at the suppression of acid have been shown to be better tolerated (15). Two isoforms of COX have been identified: COX-1, a constitutively expressed enzyme is found in many tissues, whereas COX-2, an inducible enzyme, is predominantly expressed at sites of inflammation. Selective COX-2 inhibitors would therefore be anticipated to reduce prostaglandin-dependent inflammation, while leaving protective gastric mucosal prostaglandin synthesis intact. Ulcer healing involves the formation of granulation tissue, reepithelialization, scarring, and contraction of the ulcer base. Specific inhibitors of COX-2, however, have been reported to delay the healing of erosions in mice and rats (16). Although COX-1 appears to predominate in human gastric mucosa, both COX-1 and COX-2 are found at the rim of gastric ulcers. Myofibroblasts, which are considered to play an important part in ulcer healing, express COX-2 and synthesize prostaglandins when exposed to inflammatory stimuli. Inhibition of COX-2 may thus retard ulcer healing in human gastric mucosa (17).

Thromboxane, a major product of arachidonate metabolism, stimulates platelet aggregation and vasoconstriction. The chronic administration of low doses of aspirin, an NSAID, as a prophylactic antithrombotic agent, for patients with a history of heart disease, has been shown to double the incidence of acute biopsy-induced bleeding in patients (18). The antihemostatic properties of aspirin on platelets may be linked with the high number of ulcer hemorrhages occurring in this patient subgroup (19). Aspirin inhibits both COX-1 and COX-2 and as COX-2 selective inhibitors do not appear to alter platelet function they may act as a suitable antithrombotic agents for high risk cardiovascular disease patients with ulcer disease. Celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, appears to produce much less gastroduodenal injury than standard **NSAIDs.** In several animal studies, however, selective COX-2 inhibitors have been shown to interfere with healing of ulcers and to exacerbate inflammation (20). Current clinical trials with COX-2 inhibitors have not directly examined hemorrhage and healing of ulcers in patients. However, given that a high percentage of patients with NSAID-related gastric ulcers do not experience disease-associated symptoms, the use of a COX-2 inhibitor, which might worsen or delay the healing of ulcers in a high risk patient population, might be dangerous.

6.2 Zollinger-Ellison Syndrome

In this disease, a non-beta-cell tumor of the pancreatic islets may produce gastrin in a quantity sufficient to stimulate secretion of gastric acid to life-threatening levels. The introduction of H_2 -receptor antagonists has meant that total gastrectomy is no longer necessary in treating these patients. Acid secretion was initially controlled by high doses of cimetidine or ranitidine and in some cases additional surgery was carried out to remove resectable tumors and reduce gastric acid secretion by proximal gastric vagotomy. The development of H^+/K^+ -ATPase inhibitors, such as omeprazole, has enabled adequate inhibition of gastrin-stimulated acid secretion to be achieved for longer periods. Once- or twicedaily dosing with omeprazole produces a profound inhibition of gastric acid secretion; therefore a vagotomy is no longer necessary.

Gastric ECL-cell carcinoids are rare events that have been described in association with pernicious anemia and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. They usually relate to marked **hyper**gastrinemia, atrophic gastritis, or a genetic defect, rather than the presence or absence of acid. Regression or disappearance of ECL-cell carcinoids may occur either spontaneously or after removal of gastrin. **H**₂-**receptor** therapy may result in up to a twofold increase in plasma gastrin, although no endocrine cell **hy**perplasia has been reported. Omeprazole causes a two- to fourfold increase in plasma gastrin and this results in hyperplasia in 7% of patients (21).

6.3 Helicobacter Pylori (H. Pylori)

H. pylori infection occurs in approximately 40% of the population over 40 years of age and

most patients with peptic ulcer disease are infected with H. pylori. Because ulcers recur in patients who have undergone "successful" H. *pylori* eradication therapy, infection may not always be causative for the disease. Less than 5% of ulcer patients are H. pylori negative and in H. pylori positive patients only 10% of ulcers recur after eradicating the infection. Likely causes of ulcer recurrence are considered to be reinfection, the use of ulcerogenic drugs, and persistent gastric hypersecretion. However, true reinfection is rare and it is more likely that the most common cause of H. pylori recurrence is attributed to inadequate eradication. The significant reduction in H. pylori density produced by a combination of antibiotic and antisecretory therapy may reduce the levels of infection to below detectable levels (22). Rapid urease tests for H. pylori have a sensitivity of only 80–90%. Therefore histological examination is also used to confim an initial noninvasive test result. Whole blood or serum antibody testing are rapid, accurate, and cost-effective tests for establishing *H* pylori status in rapid urease test-negative patients. These less invasive techniques could be used in place of endoscopy when the patient has not previously been treated for H. pylori (23).

In duodenal ulcer (DU) patients, H. pylori infection causes inflammation of the antral gastric mucosa, which is associated with an elevation in gastric acid secretion. Gastritis increases the release of the acid-stimulating **antral** hormone gastrin and reduces the expression of the inhibitory **peptide** somatostatin. Bacterial products and inflammatory **cytokines** may produce these changes in endocrine **function**. Gastritis involving the corpus tends to decrease acid secretion, given that bacterial products and cytokines inhibit parietal cells. After eradication, gastrin levels are restored to normal levels.

Gastric metaplasia is found in 90% of H. pylori-infected DU patients and about 60% of non-DU patients with increased acid secretory levels. The induction of gastric acid causes severe inflammation and increases the areas of

metaplasia within the gastric mucosa. Combined eradication and acid-suppression therapy produces greater reduction in gastric metaplasia than either treatment alone, ¹n^{d1-} cating that both acid secretion and H. pylori infection contribute to ulcer formation. A number of putative virulence factors for H. pylori have been identified, including cagA, vacA. and iceA. Although disease-specific associations have been claimed, there are now sufficient data to state that none of these factors is specific for any disease. The presence of a functional cagA pathogenicity island, whose genes produce proinflammatory cytokines, increases mucosal IL-8 and inflammation, but is not predictive of the future development of a disease. The hypothesis that iceA has disease specificity has not been confirmed and vacA genotyping has also failed to predict the disease identification. Virulence appears to be a host-dependent factor. The pattern of gastritis is frequently used to indicate the different H. pylori-related diseases. The primary factors responsible for the different patterns of gastritis are suggested to be associated with environmental factors, with the H. pylori strain playing a minor role (24).

H. pylori infection is now proven to be a risk factor for gastric cancer and the organism was classified as a Group 1 carcinogen by the International Agency for Research on Cancer sponsored by the World Health Organization in 1994 (25). This has strengthened the case for H. pylori eradication to prevent gastric cancer. However, there are growing concerns that eradication may cause harm. In developed countries. an increase in the rate of cancers arising near the gastroesophageal junction may be linked to the disappearance of H. pylori. The conundrum is to either eradicate to avoid cancer of the distal stomach or leave it and hence avoid cancer of the proximal stomach or distal esophagus. More research is required to determine which patients should receive eradication therapy (26).

An increased incidence of GERD has been linked to the decrease in H. pylori infection produced by the current trend of eradication therapy. H. pylori may have a protective role by either reducing achlorhydria induced by PPIs or by increasing the activity of PPIs by increasing the formation of the active **metab**-

olite. The antisecretory effect of PPIs seems to depend on the presence of the infection because eradication of H. pylori has negative consequences on the efficacy of antisecretory drugs (27). Several hypotheses have been suggested to account for the reduction in efficacy of PPIs in H. pylori-negative patients. Hypersecretory disorders may be associated with increased expression of proton pumps on the membrane of the parietal cell; therefore PPIs would appear to be more effective in DU patients than in healthy controls. Other authors have suggested that H. pylori infection may inhibit proton-pump synthesis in the parietal cell because the amount of H^+/K^+ -ATPase mRNA in the fundic gland mucosa was significantly increased in patients where H. pylori had been eradicated (28). If a decrease in the number of active proton pumps was the explanation for the higher effectiveness of PPIs in H. pylori-positive subjects, there should also be a lower acid output and consequently higher gastric pH in H.pylori-positive subjects during baseline recordings. However, under basal conditions, similar basal pH values are recorded both before and after the cure of infection. The most likely cause for the decreased effectiveness of PPIs is the production of ammonia by H. pylori in infected patients. H_2 -receptor antagonists do not inhibit acid secretion to the same degree as do PPIs; thus the small amount of ammonia produced by H. py*lori* would be unlikely to significantly affect the pH. However, the high gastric pH produced by PPI therapy would be influenced by the reduction in ammonia produced by eradication of H. pylori. The reduction in H. pylorirelated gastritis produced during omeprazole therapy has also been suggested to contribute to the reduced activity of omeprazole after eradication. However, histological improvement of gastritis after a cure of H. pylori is a slow process and the effect of reducing the effectiveness of omeprazole is rapid.

Although the usefulness of H. pylori eradication is still controversial, a randomized controlled study has shown that patients, in whom the organism has been eradicated, benefit with regard to quality of life and there is also a reduction in financial costs to the health system (22).

6.4 Reflux Esophagitis

Reflux esophagitis is a disorder of the defense mechanisms at the esophageal junction, which is caused by regurgitation of the gastric contents, especially of gastric acid. GERD is associated with decreased gastric emptying and/or increased incidence of transient lower esophageal relaxation (T-LESR). Smoking and obesity are factors that increase the incidence of GERD-like symptoms such as heartburn, belching, and bloating. **Reflux** has been observed in humans and dogs but not in rodents. **Reflux** can be subdivided into T-LESR. free reflux, and stress reflux. H. pylori infection does not necessarily correlate with GERD, although a reduction in acid secretion reduces the chances of **reflux**. The effectiveness of PPIs is reduced in the absence of H. pylori infection; therefore the majority of patients with GERD require >20 mg/day to provide symptom relief and to heal the esophagitis produced by gastric acid **reflux**. This dose is much higher than that required to inhibit acid secretion associated with DU disease. If PPI therapy is stopped, then GERD patients appear to produce greater amounts of gastric acid and their **reflux** is potentiated. It has been reported that if the prevalence of H. pylori continues to decline, then PPI consumption will continue to increase for GERD (29). Ideally, future therapy for GERD should be independent of H. pylori status and additionally be devoid of the acid-rebound effect produced with PPI therapy.

GERD causes significant discomfort but is not in itself life threatening. The incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus is increasing in the United States (30), with almost 100% of cases occurring in patients with Barrett's esophagus, a condition in which mucinsecreting, metaplastic, columnar epithelium replaces the normal squamous epithelium of the esophagus (31). There is substantial evidence that GERD may increase the incidence of Barrett's esophagus. Fass reported that the length of Barrett's esophagus tissue correlated with the duration of esophageal acid exposure (32). The use of antireflux medication in patients with GERD leads to an improvement or alleviation of symptoms and healing of mucosal inflammation. Antisecretory agents have been used to reduce the exposure of the esophagus to acid in Barrett's esophagus. However, even high doses of PPIs have not resulted in regression of Barrett's mucosa. Not all GERD patients develop **Barrett's** esophagus and the causative agents for this progression to a precancerous state have not been fully determined. The age of onset, duration of symptoms, and complications of GERD are markers of an increased risk of **Bar**rett's esophagus. In **additon**, the longer the region of Barrett's mucosa, the higher the risk for the development of dysplasia (33).

7 TEST ASSAYS FOR STUDYING GASTRIC ACID INHIBITORS

Gastric acid secretion occurs through receptor-mediated or enzyme-mediated processes. Drug dissociation constants can be determined from *in vitro* bioassays, allowing affinity estimate comparisons to be made between compounds. Functional evaluation can be made using both *in vitro* and *in vivo* techniques, with the latter models being able to provide information on the pharmacokinetics of drug candidates. Technological progress made since the discovery of both H_2 -receptor antagonists and PPIs means that some methods used in the original publications can now be replaced by cloned receptor systems.

7.1 In Vitro

Radioligand binding assays can be used to determine the affinity of H_2 -receptor antagonists through the use of either cloned human H_2 -receptors expressed in cultured cells or native H_2 -receptors in guinea pig cortex membrane homogenates (34). Functional measurements (e.g., HA-stimulated cAMP production) can also be made in cell lines expressing either native or cloned receptors (35).

The effect of gastric PPIs on H^+/K^+ -ATPase activity (ATP-induced phosphorylation) can be studied *in vitro* with partially purified H^+/K^+ -ATPase preparations from pig gastric mucosa (36). Given that the enzyme assay needs to be performed at neutral pH, this system has been most effectively used to study the mechanism of action of PPIs rather than the structure-activity relationship (SAR) of inhibitors. PPIs are prodrugs, requiring an acid environment for conversion to the active molecule (37), and it is the most chemically labile molecules that appear particularly active in this assay. Thus, misleading results may be produced with regard to prediction of clinical activity.

Gastric membrane vesicle preparations enriched with H^+/K^+ -ATPase have also been used to examine PPIs. The inhibition of hydrogen ion transport by PPIs is measured by use of the initial rate of acridine orange quenching as an index of acidification. However, steadystate acidification, as measured by aminopyrine accumulation, is inhibited with greater potency and this is consistent with the accumulation of PPIs in the intravesicular acidic space (38).

To study the effects of PPIs a more "physiological" situation is often used. Acid secretion in vitro has been studied by use of isolated parietal cells from guinea pigs (39), dogs (40), and rabbits. Rabbit parietal cells and chief cells, separated by density gradient centrifugation, copurify with H^+/K^+ -ATPase. Stimulants of acid secretion cause the accumulation of radiolabeled aminopyrine, a weak base, into the acid compartment of the parietal cell. At pH 7 it can pass freely through biological membranes in its un-ionized form but becomes trapped within the secretory cannaliculi because of ionization. The [¹⁴C]aminopyrine accumulation technique has been widely used to study structure-activity relationships of gastric acid inhibitors as well as to separate the inhibitory effect of PPIs from that of receptor antagonists. H_2 -R antagonists inhibit HA-stimulated acid secretion and aminopyrine uptake, whereas omeprazole, a PPI, inhibits both HA-stimulated and db-cAMP-stimulated acid secretion (41). [¹⁴C]Aminopyrine accumulation has also been used to examine acid secretion in intact gastric glands from rabbits (42) and humans (43).

A more recent cell-based *in vitro* assay involves the use of the microphysiometer, a sensitive extracellular **pH** sensor, which has been used to measure luminal (or apical) H^+ secretion and basolateral release of OH– as well as liberation of acidic metabolites in rabbit gastric glands. Adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate stimulation produced a biphasic change in the extracellular acidification rate (EAR) that is attributed to an initial excess of **baso**laterally released OH- followed by delayed **luminal** efflux of simultaneously produced H^+ . The elevated EAR at steady state reflected liberation of metabolic acid attributed to H^+/K^+ -**ATPase** enzymatic activity. Both basolateral OH- release and steady-state EAR were inhibited by the H^+/K^- -**ATPase** inactivators omeprazole (irreversible PPI) and SCH-28080 (reversible PPI) (44).

In vitro assays used to examine gastric acid secretion also include the use of isolated whole stomach preparations from the rat (45), mouse (46), and guinea pig (47). Whole, or part, stomach preparations are placed in an organ bath containing a buffered solution. The stomach is **perfused** with an unbuffered solution and changes in luminal pH are monitored in response to stimulation of acid secretion. Acid secretion is an oxygen-dependent process, so this technique is limited to young animals (45) with thin stomach walls or stomachs where the outer muscle layer has been removed. In older animals perfusion of the vascular bed with oxygenated buffer is used to maintain tissue viability (48). In these models, acid secretion can be produced through either direct or indirect stimulation of the parietal cells using HA, gastrin, and Ach. It is also possible to examine the effect of drugs on neurally mediated acid secretion by use of electricalfield stimulation (49).

7.2 In Vivo

Rats and dogs are generally used to examine gastric acid secretion in vivo. The anesthetized rat model most commonly used is the "Ghosh and Schild" rat (50). In this model, intragastric pH is monitored by means of the perfusion of an unbuffered solution through the stomach, passing over a pH electrode upon its exit. Drugs are generally administered through intravenous, subcutaneous, or intraperitoneal routes. Oral administration would require the flow of unbuffered solution to be temporarily stopped, preventing the continuous measurement of intragastric pH. The pylorus-ligated rat model, often termed the "Shay rat" (51), combines drug administration to the conscious animal with gastric acid collection under anesthesia (52). In this

model, inhibitors of acid secretion are administered to the conscious rat through the oral, intraperitoneal (i.p.), or subcutaneous (s.c.) routes. After a specified time, during which gastric emptying should have occurred, the rat is anesthetized and the pyloric sphincter ligated to prevent further gastric emptying. Acid secretion is then stimulated by HA, pentagastrin, or Ach (usuallys . ~or i.p.) for a fixed period of time, the animal euthanized, the stomach excised, and the pH of its contents determined. Both the Ghosh/Schild and Shay rat (53, 54) models have been used in the evaluation of HA H₂ and CCK₂/gastrin-receptor antagonists, and PPIs.

Conscious rat and dog models involve the use of surgically modified animals with a chronic gastric fistula (55), enabling gastric secretions to be collected and the pH determined by titration. The effect of drugs administered either orally or **i.v.** is examined on basal and stimulated acid secretion. For oral drug administration, the fistula must be closed for a period of time to allow gastric emptying. The surgical addition of an intraduodenal fistula allows drugs to be administered "orally," while being able to continuously monitor gastric pH. The brain is able to regulate the release of acid-secreting hormones, so a surgical modification of the gastric fistula was developed, the Heidenhain pouch model (56). In this model, part of the stomach is divided from the main body of the organ and within the pouch the nerves are cut, so that the pouch is isolated from the brain, but retains the local blood supply of the stomach. Hence, the pouch will secrete digestive juice in response to a circulating hormone (gastrin) produced by the main body of the stomach, but not in **response** to the extra stimulation from the brain. Because the pouch is separate from the body of the stomach, drugs and food can be provided, whereas gastric juice, free of food contamination, can be collected from the fistula (57).

Significant species differences have been demonstrated in gastric physiology and, whereas studies in primates are rare, their physiology has been shown to be similar to that of humans (58). Primates are trained to sit in a chair and, as in human studies, samples of gastric secretions can be taken through a nasogastric tube for pH analysis. Unlike the dog, but in agreement with human studies, primates produce significant basal and stimulated acid secretion and the effect of inhibitors of gastric acid secretion can be examined (59).

The more recent use of microdialysis probes, implanted in the submucosa of the acid-producing part of the rat stomach, enables gastric acid secretion to be examined in conscious animals without surgical modification (60).

8 RECEPTOR-MEDIATED PROCESSES THAT REGULATE GASTRIC ACID SECRETION

Gastric acid secretion from **oxyntic** cells is produced in response to stimulation of **second**messenger systems that trigger proton-pump activation. Vagal nerve endings in the stomach are stimulated by physicochemical factors causing the release of Ach. Neurotransmitter release from nerve endings that are in close proximity to ECL and G-cells stimulates the release of HA and gastrin, respectively. Each of these processes can be disrupted to reduce the amount gastric acid secretion. The ability to selectively and effectively inhibit gastric acid secretion determines the usefulness of such therapies.

8.1 Ach-Muscarinic-Receptor-Mediated Acid Secretion

Ach, released after vagal stimulation, binds to muscarinic receptors present on both the acidsecreting parietal cell and the HA-secreting ECL-like cell (Fig. 3.3). Muscarinic receptors stimulate the secretion of acid, pepsinogen, and mucus in the gastric mucosa. Autoradiographic techniques have shown that the M, receptor is overexpressed in DU (61); therefore a selective M_3 -receptor antagonist may provide a useful antisecretory therapy. Muscarinic receptors are currently subdivided into M_1, M_2, M_3, M_4 , and M_5 (62). The receptors on rat and rabbit parietal cells and human and porcine gastric mucosa are of the M, subtype. Pfeiffer (63) and Kajimura (64) found that only the gene for the M_3 receptor subtype was expressed in rabbit parietal cells. However, the M₃-receptor is also associated with smooth

muscle contraction and this may lead to unfavorable side effects (65). (See Fig. 3.2.)

8.1.1 Structures and SAR of Anticholinergic Agents. HAH₂-receptor antagonists and PPIs have largely superseded the use of muscarinic anticholinergic agents in the control of acid secretion. Muscarinic receptor heterogeneity and wide tissue distribution, coupled with the low subtype specificity of the early anticholinergics such as propantheline, dicyclomine, and hyoscine bromide, led to their being associated with parasympathetic side effects such as dry mouth, dizziness, constipation, and blurred vision. Muscarinic antagonists, selective for receptors located on the parietal cells, are considered more suitable candidates for anticholinergic agents in the control of acid secretion. Moreover, the overexpression of the M_3 subtype in DU patients (61) has linked blockade of this receptor subtype to decreased pain through reduced duodenal motility. Pirenzepine, which in addition to helping distinguish muscarinic receptor subtypes, was developed as an antisecretory agent mainly on the basis of its preferential inhibition of receptors on the intramural ganglia of the stomach wall. Compared to the H_2 antagonist ranitidine, pirenzepine alone was less effective in the inhibition of acid secretion. The more potent derivative telenzepine improved healing rates (66); however, the increased incidence of side effects with the antimuscarinic agents, has failed to dislodge the H_2 antagonists as the preferred antisecretory therapy. The effectiveness of antimuscarinic therapy may be limited, given that pirenzepine, a muscarinic antagonist, inhibited peptone meal-stimulated acid secretion by 39%, whereas ranitidine, an H₂-receptor antagonist, produced 69% inhibition. In combination, however, the acid-secretory response was almost completely inhibited (99%) (67). Although this combination therapy is feasible, it is unlikely to be used because of the side effects associated with muscarinic antagonists.

8.2 Histamine H₂-Receptor–Mediated Acid Secretion

Leon Popielski first identified HA as a major stimulant of gastric acid secretion in 1916.



Figure 3.3. Ach-receptor antagonists used in the control of acid secretion.

However, it was not until the synthesis of HA H_2 -receptor antagonists that the role of HA in parietal cell stimulation was fully recognized (68, 69). An enlightening account of the H_2 receptor antagonist discovery program at SmithKline & French is provided in a review by Duncan and Parsons (70). Originally, HA was considered to be the final mediator of secretagogue-stimulated gastric acid secretion. However, although species dependent, the hormone gastrin is also able to stimulate gastric acid secretion, both directly (through the **oxyntic** cell) and indirectly (through the release of HA from the ECL cell). **H**₂-receptor antagonists inhibit both gastrin- and Achstimulated gastric acid secretion, indicating that the secretion of gastric acid can be mediated by the indirect release of HA (71).

HA is synthesized from dietary histidine by the **enzyme** histidine decarboxylase (**HDC**). High levels of HDC activity are found in the stomach, either in mucosal mast cells or in ECL cells. Gastrin, Ach, and adrenaline interact with their respective receptors on the ECL-cell to trigger the release of HA from storage granules located in ECL-like cells. HA, by activation of the H_2 -receptor and subsequent elevation of cAMP levels, stimulates the parietal cells to secrete acid.

8.2.1 Histamine Receptor Classification. **HA** receptors are currently subdivided into H_1 , H_2 , H_3 , and H_2 . Gastric acid secretion from the parietal cells is strongly stimulated by HA, an action that is exerted through H_2 receptors and'is not inhibited by the classic anti-HAS, which act at H_1 -receptors. H_2 receptors are blocked by selective H₂-receptor antagonists, such as burimamide, cimetidine, ranitidine, and famotidine. H_3 - and H_4 -receptors are relatively newly discovered and their physiological relevance is still being delineated. H₃-receptors regulate neurotransmitter release from nerve terminals and, with regard to acid secretion, H_3 -receptor stimulation has been shown to inhibit pentagastrinstimulated gastric acid secretion in conscious Heidenhain pouch dogs (72). The recently

cloned H_4 -receptors (73–76) have so far only been identified in bone marrow and eosinophils, where their role is believed to be in the regulation of the immune response.

8.2.2 H_2 -Receptor Antagonists. H_2 -receptors and the prototype H_Z -receptor antagonist burimamide were identified in a single paper by Black et al. (69). Burimamide was reported to inhibit both HA- and pentagastrin-stimulated gastric acid secretion in rats, dogs, cats, and humans. The potency of burimamide at inhibiting gastric acid secretion far exceeded that produced by anticholinergic drugs and was devoid of apparent side effects. Burimamide, however, had poor oral bioavailability and was subsequently replaced by metiamide, which was 10-fold more potent and its activity could be detected after oral administration (68).

Metiamide (400 mg) completely abolished gastric acid secretion, whereas the maximum tolerated dose of an anticholinergic, isopropamide, produced only 35% inhibition of foodstimulated acid secretion. In combination, however, submaximal doses of the two antagonists provided a potent antisecretory combination (77). Metiamide went into clinical trial in 1972 but was withdrawn because a small number of patients developed agranulocytosis during treatment. Initially, it was not certain whether this toxicological problem was caused by H_2 -receptor blockade affecting maturation of the bone marrow, or whether the thiourea moiety in the metiamide side chain had a direct toxic effect on the cells (70). Cimetidine, a molecule not containing a thiourea group, was the third H_z-receptor antagonist to be tested in humans. Cimetidine was similar to metiamide in its pharmacological profile, but did not cause the agranulocytosis observed with metiamide. Cimetidine was marketed in the UK in 1976 under the trade name of Tagamet.

Cimetidine therapy led to a revolution in the treatment of acid-peptic disorders, with oral therapy being able to reduce the necessity of surgical procedures. The discovery of this landmark molecule caused a number of pharmaceutical companies to be alerted to this therapeutic area and target the discovery of a "better" H_z -receptor antagonist. Ranitidine was introduced by **Glaxo** in 1981 as a more potent drug with a superior side-effect profile and, backed by a skillful marketing campaign, superseded cimetidine as the world's most successful drug. Famotidine, synthesized by Yamanouchi, was the third antagonist to be registered and this remains the most potent H_2 antagonist available for clinical use. Two other H_z -antagonists, nizatidine and **roxati**dine, are also commercially available, but they seem to offer no improvement over the other agents (6).

The clinically available H_2 -receptor antagonists are extremely safe. Toxicity problems, however, were detected during the development of other H_z -antagonists such as tiotidine, which induced glandular dilation and hyperplasia of the gastric mucosa. This observation highlighted the necessity to examine the effects of antisecretory drugs on the whole stomach, and later studies, either with H_z -antagonists or proton-pump inhibitors, produced similar hyperplastic properties when administered for prolonged periods.

8.2.3 Structures and SAR of H₂-Receptor Antagonists. The success of cimetidine in the control of gastric acid secretion in humans was swiftly followed by a considerable effort to obtain other H_z-receptor antagonists having a superior profile, either in terms of potency or duration of action. This process led to a wealth of medicinal chemistry, which has been the subject of a number of extensive and detailed reviews (78, 79) and to the evaluation of many new compounds in clinical studies. The SAR evolved from the imidazole-based antagonists metiamide and cimetidine, and is illustrated by representative compounds shown in Fig. 3.5. This led ultimately to the H_z-receptor antagonists currently on'the market and shown in Fig. 3.4.

Although the H_z -receptor antagonists span a diverse range of structures, they can for the most part be described by a general **pharmacophore**, that is, an aromatic or heterocyclic ring, attached by a flexible, preferably **thioether** chain, to a **polar hydrogen-bonding** group. However, the breadth of chemical functionality represented by each of these elements is testament to the rational approach successfully used in their design. Thus, it was largely by careful consideration of properties,


Figure 3.4. Marketed H₂-receptor antagonists.

such as acidity, hydrophilicity, dipole moment, conformation, and geometry of the hydrogen-bonding group (80), that it was possible to retain H_2 -receptor antagonism in a variety of structures. For example, it was possible to replace the thiourea and cyanoguanidine groups of metiamide (81) and cimetidine (82) with nitroguanidine and diaminonitroethylene, respectively, which in this instance proved to be effective bioisosteres. Other groups such as guanidine (83), 2-amino pyrimidin-4-one (84), and 1,4-diamino butene-2,3dione were less well tolerated, but they have been used successfully in H_2 -receptor antagonists, where additional changes have also been made elsewhere in the molecule. Similarly, assessment of the potential ionic and tautomeric forms of the imidazole ring and the dynamics of its interaction with the receptor led to the suggestion that the neutral N^{τ}-H isomeric



Figure 3.5. Representative H_2 -receptor antagonists to illustrate SAR.

form is the preferred bioactive isomer (85,861. This prompted the preparation of many analogs in which either substituents such as chloro (87) and methylthio (88) were introduced or where the imidazole ring was replaced by other heterocycles.

Although 2-pyridine, 2-thiazole, and 3-isothiazole were all successfully used for this pur**pose**, the most marked increase in potency with respect to cimetidine was achieved by replacing the imidazole ring by a guanidinethiazole group, to obtain tiotidine (89), as well as famotidine (90), in which the cyanoguanidine group had additionally been replaced by the more hydrophilic sulfamoylamidine substituent. Moreover, with greater basicity now residing in the exocyclic substituent than that in the heterocyclic ring itself, the importance of this characteristic in the latter substituent diminished. The presence of a furan ring as the heterocyclic component in ranitidine is consistent with this view (91), and a similar structural motif is also present in nizatidine (92). The dimethylaminomethyl-substituted furan of ranitidine evolved further to include **piper**idinylmethyl-substituted phenyl ethers, represented by roxatidine (93). An acetyl acetamide group was used as the hydrogen**bonding substituent** in this case and higher affinity was achieved when this group was replaced by the bulkier and more lipophilic aminobenzothiazole ring, as in zolantidine (94). A similar trend toward higher affinity arising from such groups is observed in oxmetidine (95) and lupitidine (96), which can be considered to be more potent analogs of cimetidine and ranitidine, respectively.

In general, the introduction of branching to the linking chain afforded less potent compounds, whereas replacement by an aromatic linker was successful in the case of tiotidine analogs but only when the attached groups had a *meta* disposition (89). The thioether link has been retained in most H_2 antagonists because substitution of the sulfur atom by other heteroatoms or by methylene has been detrimental to affinity at the receptor. This has been attributed to a requirement to maintain an intramolecular hydrogen bond, between the polar termini, observed in crystal structures (97) and during infrared studies (98) of H_2 antagonists and which the thioether link uniquely helps to maintain. However, whether this is a necessary requirement for biological activity remains unclear.

8.2.4 Clinical Studies with H_2 -Receptor Antagonists. HA H_z -receptor antagonists are potent and selective inhibitors of gastric acid secretion, with numerous clinical studies to support their effectiveness in ulcer disease. Table 3.4 outlines the clinical effectiveness and pharmacokinetic profile of H_z -receptor antagonists currently available in the UK.

Cimetidine, ranitidine, famotidine, and nizatidine exhibit similar profiles of absorption, distribution, and elimination. Each of the H_z-receptor antagonists exhibits classical competitive drug-receptor interactions, with Schild slope parameters not significantly different from unity (99). The affinity of each of these drugs for the H_z-receptor is reflected in their effectivenessin inhibiting gastric acid secretion (100). Famotidine is the most potent H_2 -R antagonist, being 20–50 times more potent than cimetidine and 6–10 times more potent than ranitidine (101) and nizatidine. Each of these drugs is rapidly absorbed after oral administration, with peak plasma concentrations being achieved within 3 h of dosing. Oral bioavailability for these drugs ranges from 43% to 90%. With the exception of nizatidine, the bioavailability of H_z -receptor antagonists is reduced because of extensive firstpass hepatic metabolism. Only minimum plasma protein binding occurs ($\leq 30\%$) and all of the H_{z} -antagonists are eliminated quite rapidly, with a terminal half-life of 1 to 3 h and a total body clearance of 24–48 L/h. Elimination is mainly attributable to renal excretion, with renal clearances ranging from 13.8 to 30 L/h. Given that the values for renal clearance greatly exceed the glomerular filtration rate (6-7.2 L/h), it is apparent that renal tubular secretion plays an important role in this process (102).

8.2.5 Adverse Effects of H_2 -Receptor Antagonists. The H_Z -receptor antagonists are generally extremely safe drugs, with few adverse effects being reported. Cimetidine was shown to possess antiandrogen properties in a small number of patients; however, this effect

Drug	In vitro pK _B	Clinical Pharm	nacology: Effect on Gastri	c Acid Secretion	Oral Absorption	Plasma Half-life (h)	Volume of Distribution (L kg ⁻¹)	Plasma Protein Binding	Excretion	Metabolism
Cimetidine	6.1 (193)	Norr	mal	DU	90% (194)	p.o. 2 (195)	0.8–1.2 (194)	13-25% (194)	Kidneys: i.v., –70% unchanged (195)	Oxidation to the sulfoxide (195)
		i.v. $IC_{50} = 2 \mu mol L^{-1}$ stimulant; pentagastrin, 40 μg kg ⁻¹ h ⁻¹ (195)	p.o. 0.8–1.0 giday; 71% decrease in 24 h, mean H ⁺ (174)	p.o. 0.8 g/day; 55% 1.6 g/day; 67% decrease in 24 h, mean H ⁺ activity (174)						
Famotidine	7.8 (193)	$IC_{50} = 4.3 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}h^{-1}$ stimulant pentagastrin, 0.1 \ \mu g kg^{-1}h^{-1}(196)	5 mg; 40% inhibition 5 mg ≡ inhibition to cimetidine (300 mg) (197)	40–80 mg/day; improved healing rates; different dosing regimes examined. Effect on gastric acid secretion was not examined (198)	43% (199)	p.o. 3.8 (197)	1.1–1.4 (194)	20% (194)	Kidneys: i.v., 70% unchanged (199) p.o., ≈ 40% unchanged; remainder in bile or metabolized (194)	Oxidation to the sulfoxide (194)
Ranitidine	6.7 (193)	Ranitidine (150 mg) more potent than cimetidine (200 mg) (200)		PG-stimulated acid secretion, 40 mg; 42% 80 mg; 69% nocturnal acid secretion, 80 mg; 50% (201)	50% (202) 52% (203)	i.v. 2 (203)	1.82 (203)	15% (202)	Kidneys: i.v., 69.4 ± 6.1%; p.o., 26.7 ± 7.2% (203)	Hepatic, some enterohepatic recycling (202)
Nizatidine	≈7 (92)	25 mg 45%; 50 mg 58%; 100 mg 67% (204)	30 mg 57%; 100 mg 73%; 300 mg 90%; 75 mg ≡ . inhibition to cimetidine (300 mg) (205)	Nizatidine (300 mg) was significantly shorter- lasting than both ranitidine (300 mg) and famotidine (40 mg) (100); nizatidine (300 mg) produced similar healing rates to those of ranitidine (300 mg) (206)	70% (204)	i.v. 1.6 (204); p.o. 1.6 (207)	1.1 (194)	30% (194)	Kidneys (204)	-35% major metabolites: N-2 mono des methylnizatidine (-7% of dose), nizatidine N-2 oxide (-5%);nizatidine sulfoxide, minor metabolite (207)

Table 3.4 An Overview of the Clinically Marketed H₂-R Antagonists: Affinity, Clinical Pharmacology, and Pharmacokinetic Profile^a

"Abbreviations: i.v., intravenous administration; p.o., oral administration; i.d., intraduodenal administration; normal, healthy human volunteers; DU, duodenal ulcer patients.

was not detected with other H_2 -receptor antagonists (103). Cimetidine also has high affinity for the cytochrome P450 system, whereas ranitidine has intermediate affinity and famotidine and nizatidine have little to no interaction with this pathway (104). Inhibition of this enzyme system can decrease the oxidative metabolism of other drugs, resulting in decreased clearance. H_2 -receptor antagonists may therefore adversely affect the clearance of agents that have a limited therapeutic window (e.g., warfarin, theophylline, and phenytoin).

8.2.6 The Need to Develop More Potent Antisecretory Agents. The discovery and development of H_z -receptor antagonists was the beginning of a novel therapeutic approach to diseases associated with the hypersecretion of gastric acid. The inhibition of acid secretion at the level of the parietal cell, by inhibiting the activation of HA released from ECL-cells, was the beginning of cellular-based antisecretory therapy. During the **1980s**, H_z -antagonists became first-line therapy in peptic ulcer disease and negated the necessity of surgery for a large number of patients.

It soon became apparent that H_2 -receptor antagonist therapy had some drawbacks. In a small but significant number of patients, the disease was resistant or recurred after maximal H_2 -antagonist therapy (105). In another small group of patients, H₂-receptor antagonists were particularly poor when it came to inhibiting the nocturnal secretion of gastric acid (106). The limitation of this therapy resulted from the actions of other mediators, such as Ach or gastrin, acting directly on the parietal cell, in stimulating the secretion of gastric acid. In some patients, tolerance to H_2 antagonist therapy also appeared to develop when long-term treatment was necessary (107, 108). A further problem was that acid rebound (elevated acid secretory response) occurred after cessation of H_2 therapy (109). The upregulation of other hormonal mechanisms, alterations in signal transduction, or receptor upregulation were hypotheses proposed to account for both the decreased effectiveness and acid rebound, which was produced by H_2 -antagonist therapy.

The discovery of the proton pump (110) and

the elucidation of its function (111)were the first steps toward the discovery of another novel antisecretory therapy. In 1977, **a** year after the launch of cimetidine, **Astra** reported on the first PPI, **H83/88**, a benzimidazole derivative that noncompetitively inhibited both receptor (HA)-mediated and nonreceptor (cAMP)-mediatedacid secretion from isolated gastric mucosa (112).

9 H⁺/K⁺-ATPase (PROTON PUMP) INHIBITION

The enzyme H^-/K^+ -ATPase, or proton pump, regulates the final stage in the cellular cascade that terminates in the secretion of gastric acid. Acid secretion is dependent on the cellular location of the enzyme and the close proximity of a potassium chloride efflux pathway. When the parietal cell transforms from a resting to a stimulated state, cytoskeletal rearrangement occurs and H^+/K^+ -ATPase relocates to the apical plasma membrane. Potassium and chloride ions move across the apical cell membrane together with secreted protons. Potassium is recycled, whereas the hydrochloric acid of gastric juice is formed by chloride ions together with secreted protons (Fig. 3.6).

Neuronal, hormonal, and enzymic pathways influence the secretion of gastric acid. The diversity of therapies available for treating hypersecretory disorders appear to have developed with these targets in mind (i.e., vagotomy, H₂-, and muscarinic-receptor antagonists and, more recently, PPIs). The most potent inhibitor of gastric acid secretion is produced by inhibiting H^+/K^+ -ATPase.

9.1 Structure of the Proton Pump

The H⁺/K⁺-ATPase enzyme, present in tubulovesicular and canalicular membranes of the gastric parietal cell, consists of two subunits, a 114-kDa a-subunit and a 34-kDa β -subunit. The a-subunit has been shown to contain 10 transmembrane helices, with the β -subunit possessing only a single transmembrane helix (113). The a-subunit carries out the catalytic and transport functions of the enzyme because it contains both ATP and cation binding sites; it also contains the sequences responsible for apical membrane localization. When



Figure 3.6. Activation of the proton pump in the parietal cell.

the parietal cell transforms from an active to resting state, the heavily glycosylated β -subunit is required for endocytic retrieval of the H⁺/K⁺-ATPase from the canalicular membranes. This subunit may also contribute to proper folding and membrane localization of the enzyme (114). H⁺/K⁺-ATPase belongs to the family of P₂-type ATPases and has homology with other members of this family such as Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (65% homology) and Ca²⁺-ATPases (23% homology).

9.2 Acid Secretion and the Proton Pump

When the resting parietal cell is stimulated by acid secretagogues, the tubulovesicles are transformed into the secretory canaliculus. The parietal cell has the largest mitochondrial content of any mammalian cell (-34% of cell volume) and the ATP generated by this is mainly used for acid secretion. Hydrolysis of ATP results in a conformational change in the protein that mediates the electroneutral exchange of intracellular \mathbf{H}^+ and extracellular K+. The pump is activated only when it is associated with a potassium chloride pathway in the canalicular membrane (Fig. 3.6). This allows potassium chloride efflux into the extracytoplasmic space and thus results in the secretion of HCl at the expense of ATP

hydrolysis. The stimulation of hydrogen ion secretion by the **ATPase** leaves behind an equivalent number of hydroxide ions. These are converted to HCO, by the enzyme carbonic anhydrase, which is closely associated with the secretory membrane. The activity of the pump is determined by the access of K^+ to the extracytoplasmic surface of the pump. In the absence of K^+ on this surface of the pump, the pump cycle stops at the level of the **phos**phoenzyme.

In recent studies, mice lacking a functional H^+/K^+ATP (achieved by ablation of the H^+/K^+ATP as a-subunit) were found to possess severe disturbances in the secretory membranes of the parietal cell, metaplasia of the gastric mucosa, achlorhydria, and hyper-gastrinemia (115). H^+/K^+ -ATP as therefore forms a critical component of the ion-transport system mediating acid secretion in the stomach.

9.3 Mechanism of Action of Proton-Pump Inhibitors

PPIs are both more potent and of longer duration than H_z -receptor antagonists and therefore are frequently the drug of choice for the treatment of diseases associated with the secretion of gastric acid. PPIs inhibit gastric acid secretion by inhibiting the enzyme H^+/K^+ . ATPase, which is located on the luminal surface of gastric parietal cells. Currently prescribed PPIs are substituted benzimidazolebased structures. When administered at neutral pH, these weak bases are chemically stable, lipid-soluble, and have no effect on gastric acid secretion. The inactive PPI diffuses from the bloodstream into the parietal cells and subsequently into the acid environment of the secretory canaliculi, where it rearranges to form a sulfenic acid in equilibrium with a sulfenamide. Either chemical entity is then able to interact covalently with thiol groups at cysteine residues located on the luminal surface of the α -subunit of the H⁺/K⁺-ATPase. This covalent binding results in specific and essentially irreversible inactivation of the enzyme, leading to long-lasting inhibition of gastric acid secretion (Figs. 3.7 and 3.8). Such a profile is thus ideally suited to once-daily administration in the management of acid-peptic disorders.

Like omeprazole, the other commercially available PPIs, lansoprazole, rabeprazole, pantoprazole, and esomeprazole are inactive prodrugs that are activated in the acid environment of the gastric glands. This means that all these agents are best administered in a formulation that includes an enteric coating. Subtle differences in the inhibitory effects of these compounds on \mathbf{H}^+ transport and acid secretion, however, have been reported. These have been attributed to binding of the drug to different cysteine residues within the proton pump. Unlike omeprazole and lansoprazole, which bind to two (cys813 and cys892) and three (cys813, cys892, and cys321) cysteine residues, respectively (116), rabeprazole is reported to bind to a single cysteine residue located at position 322 between transmembrane domain H3 and the lumen. This interaction does not appear to result in a conformational change of the enzyme, whereas omeprazole stabilizes the conformation of the enzyme in the dephosphorylated state, or so-called E2 form (117).

9.4 Structure and SAR of the Proton-Pump Inhibitors

In 1973 workers at AB Haessle in Sweden, identified timoprazole (118) as one of the

first well-defined inhibitors of the newly discovered gastric proton pump. This compound stemmed from efforts to separate the toxicity and acid-inhibitory properties of 2-pyridylthioacteamide (CMN131). Removal of the thioamide group was considered to be the most likely solution to the toxicity of CMN131, which prompted the preparation of sulfurcontaining heterocycles, as well as imidazoline- and benzimidazole-linked sulfides. However, it was the corresponding S-oxide analogs of the latter compounds that proved the more potent; it thus became clear that the mechanism of action of timoprazole was distinct from that of H_2 -receptor antagonism. Timoprazole was subsequently followed by the more potent derivatives picoprazole in 1976 and omeprazole in 1979 (119). The three main structural features of omeprazole (i.e., the substituted pyridine ring; the substituted benzimidazole; and the methylsulfinyl linking group, by which these two ring systems are attached to one another) are essential, either in generating the active form from its inactive **prodrug** precursor or in binding irreversibly with the H^+/K^+ -ATPase enzyme. For this reason, compounds inhibiting acid secretion by this mechanism and lacking one or more of these features are scarce. Moreover, for irreversible proton-pump inhibitors to achieve selective biological activity, their mechanism of action demands that they have relatively high chemical stability around neutral pH, but be readily activated at low pH. This chemical profile also influences attendant issues such as synthesis, formulation, and storage, and because biological activity of this class of compounds often correlates with chemical lability, not all compounds, which achieve potent inhibitory behavior in *vitro*, are viable drug candidates because they are inherently too chemically unstable.

The gastric proton-pump inhibitors currently available (Fig. 3.10) all retain the same key chemical features present in omeprazole, indicating that the structural requirements to achieve irreversible inhibition of the gastric ATPase enzyme are precisely defined. The clinical properties of this latter group of drugs is discussed more fully in section 9.6, whereas the remainder of this section focuses on other candidates currently or previously under de-



Figure 3.7. Conversion of omeprazole to its **active** state within an acidic environment. Oral administration of enterically coated omeprazole ensures maximal activation occurs within the parietal cell.

velopment. As discussed above, the potency of irreversible proton-pump inhibitors is a timeand pH-dependent property, making comparison of their in *vitro* potency difficult, given the wide range of assay conditions employed (Table **3.5** and Fig. **3.9**). Where possible, their potency relative to **omeprazole**, measured under the same assay conditions, is indicated. However, notwithstanding differences in the stimulant used, comparison of their *in vivo*



Figure 3.8. Acid-catalyzed activation of omeprazole to form the active pyridinium sulfenamide or sulfenic acid. Only one isomer of intermediates (a) and (b) is shown.

potency, as judged by inhibition of gastric acid secretion, is in many respects more reliable because interspecies variations are minimized and the data obtained are also unconfounded by differences in pH.

The same chemical features retained in the marketed compounds lansoprazole (120), pantoprazole (121), and rabeprazole (122) are retained in disuprazole (54) TY-11345 (123), Ro-18-5364 (124), and SKF 95601 (125). The benzimidazole group of omeprazole has been replaced by other heterocycles and its activity retained, with the methoxyimidazopyridine compound tenatoprazole (126) being the most advanced. Similarly, the fused benzene ring of the benzimidazole group has been substituted by a thiophene ring in the thieno[3,4-d]imidazole-based compounds saviprazole (127) and S-1924 (128); however, examples of the corresponding thieno[2,3-d]imidazole isomers (1), also described by Hoechst, are much less

effective, most likely because of their greater chemical stability. Although many of the compounds lack substituents on the benzimidazole ring, the presence of electron-donating groups at the 5-position, such as methoxy (omeprazole), SKF 95601, OPC-22575 (129), S-337 (128), pyrrol-1-yl (IY-81149) (130), and difluoromethoxy (pantoprazole), also provided an optimum balance of chemical stability and reactivity. In fact, the presence of **electron**withdrawing substituents in this position, such as nitro, methylsulfinyl, and trifluormethyl, increases the basicity of the benzimidazole ring to the point where the behavior of these compounds is dominated by activation at neutral pH, resulting in compounds having poor chemical stability and limited practical value (131).

In contrast, increasing the nucleophilic character of the pyridine ring, by the incorporation of electron-donating substituents, **en**-

	In Vitro	In Vivo Inhibition of Gastric Acid Secretion in Pat by Enteral		
Structure	$IC_{50}, \mu M (IC_{50}, \mu M, omeprazole)$	Administration, ED, mg kg ⁻¹ (ED ₅₀ , mg kg ⁻¹ , omeprazole)	Ref.	
N N N H S H ₃ C CH ₃	20 (50) ^{<i>a</i>}	2-5 (2 .5) ^d	54	
Disuprazole (Upjohn) N N N N N N N N	3.3 (11) ^b	1.3 (10.2) ^e	123	
TY-11345 (Tao Eiyo KK) $H_{3}CO$ N H N H N Cl N O		1.14^d	125	

Table 3.5 Biological Activity of Representative Irreversible PPIs

SKF 95601 (SmithKline & French)



IY-81149 (11-Yang Pharm. Ind. Co. Ltd.)

109

	In Vitro	In <i>Vivo</i> Inhibition of Gastric Acid Secretion in Bat by Enteral	
Structure	IC ₅₀ , μ <i>M</i> (IC ₅₀ , μ <i>M</i> , omeprazole)	Administration, ED_{50} , mg kg ⁻¹ (ED_{50} , mg kg-', omeprazole)	Ref.
	0.28 (0.05) ^b	11.5	132
H ₃ C—N CH ₃ CH ₃			
Leminoprazole (Nippon Chemipharm. Co. Ltd.)			
$N = N = N = N = N = N(CH_3)_2$	7.5 (5.8)	2.2 (0.8)	133
(2) (Roussel Morishita Co. Ltd.)			
HN HN CH ₃	0.24 (0.37) ^b	$2.8 (4.1)^d$	134
H ₃ CO OCH ₃			

 Table 3.5 (Continued)

110

Construction of the second sec





 $32 (25)^b$ >100 (16.3)

 $23.6 (2.4)^d$ 6.3^d 136 137

GYKI-34655 (Egis Gyogyszergyar RT)

"Canine gastric (H⁺/K⁺) ATPase. ^bRabbit gastric (H⁺/K⁺) ATPase. 'Porcine gastric (H⁺/K⁺) ATPase. ^dShay rat. ^eGhosh and Schild rat. ^fIntravenous administration.



Figure 3.9. Structures of representative irreversible PPIs to illustrate SAR.

hances the rate of attack of the C-2 position of the benzimidazole group and thereby promotes the acid-catalyzed rearrangement to the active species. This electronic feature is present in omeprazole (3,5-dimethyl-4-methoxy) and pantoprazole (2,3-dimethoxy), whereas it is combined with increased lipophilic character in 4-fluoroalkyl benzimidazole-substituted compounds, such as lansoprazole (2,2,2trifluoroethyloxy) and saviprazole (2,2,3,3,4,4heptafluorobutyloxy). The 3-methoxypropoxy substituent present on the pyridyl group of rabeprazole has a particularly strong electron-donating character, but the resulting enhancement in reactivity in this case is mitigated by formulation as its sodium salt, so as to increase chemical stability. Similarly, the 3-chloro substituent is used to similar effect in the case of the 4-aminopyridyl-substituted compound SKF 95601 (1**31**).

As an alternative to the 2-pyridyl group of omeprazole, compounds containing a substituted benzene ring in this position, made sufficiently electron rich by the presence of a 2-amino group, display potent inhibition. Although other examples of this type are known (S-3337, OPC-22575), leminoprazole (132) is the most advanced clinically and displays an enhanced duration of action relative to that of omeprazole. Similarly, the **electron-rich-sub**stituted **pyrimidin-2-yl** group (2)has also been used in place of the 2-pyridylmethyl moiety in compounds described by **Roussel-Morishita** (133).

AD-9161 represents the most potent of a novel but mechanistically similar class of irreversible H^+/K^+ -ATPase inhibitors (134). Compounds of this type were designed based on the finding that the oxoisothiazolo[5,4b]pyridine (3) displayed potent inhibition of ATPase in vitro but failed to achieve inhibition of gastric acid secretion in vivo (135). This disparity was ascribed to the rapid and preferential attachment to and inactivation of (3), by thiol groups located outside the region of the ATPase enzyme in the parietal cells. AD-9161 is considerably more stable than (3) and displays potency comparable to that of omeprazole both in vitro and in vivo.

Although all the proton-pump inhibitors described so far are **prodrugs** that rely on the participation of a sulfoxide group to effect their activation, related sulfide analogs are also known. Because compounds of this class, **such** as YJA-20379–4 (**136**) and GYKI-34655 (**137**), would first need to be oxidized to the sulfoxide before activation, they are considerably less potent than omeprazole *in vitro*, but *in vivo* they are at least as effective in models of gastric acid secretion and ulceration.

In an effort to obtain a second-generation, irreversible proton-pump inhibitor having a superior profile, renewed interest has recently focused on the relative potency of the optical isomers of omeprazole and other benzimidazol-2-yl 2-pyridylthiomethyl S-oxides. The optical activity arises from chirality at the sulfur atom. One aim was to reduce liver clearance and thereby minimize variations in interpatient bioavailability and efficacy. The enantiomers of omeprazole were long expected to be of equivalent potency to one another and to omeprazole, given that acid-catalyzed conversion to the nonchiral active forms would be expected to occur at the same rate. Use of a single enantiomer was also an unattractive approach, given that, once separated, the enantiomers slowly racemized, although it was subsequently confirmed that they displayed similar behavior in vitro (138). It was only with the availability of larger quantities of the respective enantiomers (139) and their stabilization by formulation as alkaline salts, that their relative potency in vivo could be rigorously investigated. In rats, the enantiomers displayed distinct profiles in their potency and bioavailability because of selectivity in their rates of metabolism. Subsequently, in human studies, the relative potency of the enantiomers was found to be reversed, with the Sisomer now being the more potent, because of the presence of the CYP2C19 cytochrome P450 metabolizing enzyme for which the Risomer is a substrate. This is an enzyme that is absent from rats (140).

Based on its superior bioavailability in human studies (141), esomeprazole, the *S*-enantiomer of omeprazole, has now been launched as a successor, with the aim of providing a higher level of management in acid-related disorders. Single-enantiomer versions of lansoprazole [(*S*)-lansoprazole] and pantoprazole [(-)-pantoprazole] (142) are currently in the early stages of clinical development.

9.5 Profile of Proton-Pump Inhibition

Omeprazole is a potent and irreversible inhibitor of $\mathbf{H}^+/\mathbf{K}^t$ -ATPase. Subsequently developed compounds (lansoprazole, pantoprazole, esomperazole, and rabeprazole) have a similar mechanism of action, although small differences in bioavailability, potency, and metabolism have been reported.

Comparative studies with lansoprazole and pantoprazole suggest that they have a potency similar to that of omeprazole (143). Rabeprazole is readily converted to the active drug form and has a more rapid onset of effect than that of omeprazole in both in vitro and in vivo studies. In the rat, there is evidence to suggest that rabeprazole may have a slightly shorter duration of action than that of other PPIs. Compared with lansoprazole, the onset of action of rabeprazole was faster and its duration of action was shorter, as determined by measuring acid output and microsomal enzyme activity (144). However, in another study in dogs, the rate of recovery of acid output was similar when rabeprazole was compared with omeprazole (145). The rate of activation of PPIs is pH dependent, with rabeprazole being fully activated at pH 5.0, whereas omeprazole and lansoprazole are only partially activated. These different pH selectivities may have an impact on drug interactions and safety (146). Rabeprazole is claimed to possess properties different from those of the other PPIs, with regard to the number of cysteine binding sites; its effect on the conformation and partial reactivity of the enzyme; the rate of acid activation (122) and thus onset of action (147); antisecretory potency in vivo (148); and the kinetics of reversal by scavenger mechanisms (117). Unlike omeprazole and lansoprazole, rabeprazole is reported to bind to just one cysteine residue located at position 322 between transmembrane domain H3 and the lumen. This interaction appears not to result in a conformational change in the enzyme. Conversion of rabeprazole into a reactive intermediate also appears to occur more rapidly than for other PPIs, which results in a faster onset of action and greater potency in isolated cell systems. Compared with omeprazole, the rate of reversal by glutathione is more rapid and the compound has a shorter duration of action, as



Figure 3.10. Marketed irreversible PPIs.

measured in isolated gastric glands and some animal models. Compared with lansoprazole, the **onset** of action of rabeprazole was faster and its duration of action was shorter, as determined by measuring acid output and **micro**somal enzyme activity (144).

9.6 Clinical Studies with Proton-Pump Inhibitors

PPIs are currently the most rapid, potent, and long-lasting treatment for hyperacidity disorders. Omeprazole was first marketed in 1988 and still remains the drug of choice for many patients. Like omeprazole, the majority of subsequently marketed PPIs, pantoprazole, lansoprazole, and esomperazole, bind irreversibly to the proton pump. Acid secretion can be restored only through endogenous synthesis of new H^+/K^+ -ATPase, which has a half-life of production of approximately 50 h (116). Rabeprazole, however, is converted more rapidly into its activated forms and dissociates more readily from the H⁺/K⁺-ATPase, resulting in a faster rate of inhibition and a shorter duration of action. This property of rabeprazole is most likely linked to its activation within a more neutral pH range than that of any of the other PPIs, with **pantopra**zole being the most stable (143). (See Fig. 3.10.)

The plasma half-life of the PPIs is relatively short (-1 h) and accumulation is unlikely to occur, even when clearance is **signifi**cantly reduced by renal impairment. The oral bioavailability of esomeprazole is lower than that of the other PPIs, with lansoprazole being the most orally bioavailable (149). All PPIs are highly protein bound and are metabolized in the liver.

Although **PPIs** are currently the most potent inhibitors of gastric acid secretion available, omeprazole has been reported to produce interindividual variations in its ability to inhibit gastric acid secretion. Recently, one of the **isoen**zymes of **cytochrome P450**, **CYP2C19**, which is **integral** to the degradation of PPIs in the liver, was shown to have two genetic phenotypes: extensive metabolizers and poor **metabolizers**. Variations in the phenotypes of **CYP2C19** have been shown to **affect** the acid-suppressing effects of **omeprazole**, although the effectiveness of rabeprazole was not **affected** by **CYP2C19 ge-** **notype** (150). The potency of omeprazole, lansoprazole, and **pantaoprazole** was dependent on metabolism by the enzyme **CYP2C19** and, in subjects not expressing this genotype, the effectiveness of these PPIs was increased **significantly**. The **genetically** polymorphic **CYP2C19** enzyme is absent from **3%** of Caucasians and 20% of Asians.

It is difficult to make direct comparisons of the relative activity of each of the PPIs, given the different doses and dosing regimes used in clinical studies . However, for most PPIs, effectiveness has been compared to that of the prototype PPI, omeprazole. Table 3.6 outlines the results obtained in some of these clinical studies as well as the pharmacokinetic profile determined for each of the PPIs marketed in the UK. Clinical studies for H₂-receptor antagonists tended to measure effectiveness related to inhibition of acid secretion. In contrast, healing rates were generally the parameter of choice for PPIs. The PPIs are clearly more potent than the H_z-receptor antagonists, with clinically used doses being at least 15 times lower than those of H_z-receptor antagonists used in the treatment of DU(151). The **pharmacokinetics** and acid suppression produced by omeprazole, pantoprazole, lansoprazole, and rabeprazole from numerous clinical studies were recently reviewed (143). The authors concluded that these PPIs were of equivalent potency, although rabeprazole and lansoprazole displayed a more rapid onset of action. As part of the triple therapy used for eradication of H. pylori, each of the PPIs was equally effective.

Until recently, all PPIs were marketed as mixtures of enantiomers. However, the development of esomeprazolehas prompted numerous studies to test its therapeutic benefit over that of existing PPIs. Within the last 2 years more than 40 publications have reported studies involving the use of esomeprazole. Esomeprazole has an improved pharmacokinetic profile relative to that of omeprazole: esomeprazole (20 mg per day for 5 days) had a 70% higher area under the plasma concentrationtime curve than that of omeprazole (20 mg per day for 5 days). The S-isomer of omeprazole (esomeprazole) was found to undergo less metabolism by CYP2C19 than the R-isomer in human liver, this decreased metabolism accounting for esomeprazole's improved pharmacokinetic profile (152). The other advantages of esomeprazole over the existing PPIs are also related to its reduced metabolism by cytochrome P450 enzymes in the liver. With most other PPIs, drug interactions are of considerable importance, especially in situations where decreased metabolism is likely, for example, where the CYP2C19 enzyme is absent or there is hepatic or renal impairment. Furthermore, because esomeprazole undergoes less hepatic metabolism compared with that of omeprazole and other PPIs, there is less interpatient variability in the metabolic profile, the presence or absence of CYP2C19 being of less importance. This makes the drug easier to manage (153).

Although esomeprazole is a potent inhibitor of acid secretion, clinical trials comparing its effectiveness to that of other agents have tended to use disparate doses for each PPI examined (154). Kromer et al. considered that there was no pharmacodynamic argument in favor of single-enantiomeric formulations of any PPI (146). Moreover, potential pharmaco**kinetic** differences between the enantiomers seem to be of little if any importance in the patient. A clinical study comparing the cost effectiveness of esomeprazole and omeprazole in the acute treatment of GERD found that esomeprazole 40 mg once daily was more cost effective than omeprazole 20 mg once daily (155). This cost-cutting marketing approach used by AstraZeneca may encourage the prescribing of esomeprazole over omeprazole or its imminent generic substitutes.

9.7 Adverse Effects of Proton-Pump Inhibitors

Headache is one of the most frequently reported adverse events in clinical trials where PPIs have been examined (frequency 1.3–8.8%). Patients with headache also had a significant incidence of diarrhea, nausea, and dizziness. A discontinuation of PPI therapy resulted in a cessation or reduction of the headache in 80.0% (20 of 25) (156).

Possible risks of prolonged treatment with PPIs had been thought to include hypergastrinemia (157), atrophic gastritis, and enteric infections. However, no data have established any true risk to patients, despite many years

Drug	In Vitro pK _B	Clinical I	Pharmacology: Effecton Gas	tric Acid Secretion	Oral Absorption	Plasma Half-Life (h)	Volume of Distribution (L kg ⁻¹)	Plasma Protein Binding	Excretion	Metabolism
Omeprazole	9 (208)	Normal		DU	54% (209)	0.6-1 (143)	0.31-0.34 (143)	95% (143)	Urine:feces 4:1 (210)	Hepatic hydmxylation through CYP2C19 (211,212)
		1.v. 40 mg, fewer pre-op patients with pH < 2.5 and a volume of 25 mL (213)	 p.o. inhibition of: basal acid, 30 mg, 66%; 60 mg, 92%; PG stimulated acid, 30 mg, 71%; 60 mg, 95%; 7-day treatment, 30 mg and 60 mg, 100% inhibition (214) 	 p.o. 10, 20, and 30 mg/day for 1 week caused a 37, 90, and 97% decrease of 24-h intragastric acidity (215) 						
Pantoprazole	8.6 (208)	80, 120 mg maximal inhibition for up to 21 h; onset of action < 1 h (216)	Maximal inhibition with 60 mg; 40 mg, pH < 3 for 8 h, equieffectivewith omeprazole (217)	Healing rate, 20 mg, 58%;40 mg, 89%; 80 mg, 82% (217); 4-weeks treatment; healing rate: omeprazole, 20 mg, 77%; pantroprazole, 40 mg, 88%	77% (217)	0.9–1.9% (217)	0.13–0.17 (143)	98% (217)	Renal, -80% (217)	Hepatic hydmxylation through CYP2C19 (212); subsequently metabolized by sulfotransferase (218)
Lansoprazole	9 (208)		Maximal inhibition with ≥30 mg (219)	Dose/healing rate 30 mg/86%; omeprazole 20 mg/82% (220)	85% (221)	0.9–1.6 (143)	0.39-0.46 (143)	97–99% (143)	Biliary, renal (222)	Hepatic hydroxylation through CYP2C19 (212)
Rabeprazole		-	10, 20, 30, and 40 mg, dose-dependent inhibition of acid secretion (223)	20 mg in conjunction with antibiotic eradication rates: omeprazole, 69% ; rabeprazole, 84% (224)	52% (224)	1 (143)	~-	95–98% (143)	Renal, –90% (224)	Hepatic hydmxylation through CYP2C19 and CYP3A4 (143)
Esomeprazole	≈9	_	20 mg Day 1, 46%; Day 5, 90% (140)	20 mg in conjunction with antihiotic eradication/healing rate: omeprazole, 88192%; esomeprazole 86191% (225)	20 mg, 68%; 40 mg, 89% (226)	0.8-1.2 (211)		97% (210)	Urine:feces 4:1 (210)	Hepatic hydmxylation; mainly metabolized by CYP3A4, compared to <i>R</i> - omeprazole, which is almost completely metabolized through CYP2C19 (140)

Table 3.6 An Overview of the Clinically Marketed PPI Inhibitors; Affinity, Clinical Pharmacology, and Pharmacokinetic Profile

of experience with these agents. PPIs are remarkably safe and well tolerated (158).

10 TARGETS UNDER INVESTIGATION

10.1 Reversible Proton-Pump Inhibitors

The effectiveness of clinically available PPIs relies on the number of active pumps at any one time and the recovery of pumps after biosynthesis. The prolonged suppression of gastric acid secretion produced by both H₂-receptor antagonists and PPIs produces extended periods of hypergastrinemia, which has been associated with the formation of precancerous changes in human gastric mucosa and gastric carcinoids in long-term animal studies. In fact, the development of omeprazole, a protonpump inhibitor, was delayed because high doses were shown to induce ECL-cell hyperplasia in rodents. However, Astra disputed scientifically that this would occur in humans and omeprazole was eventually marketed in 1988.

Nonetheless, some research efforts are currently targeted at obtaining reversible PPIs, so-called acid pump antagonists (**APAs**). These are proposed to offer distinct advantages over both the irreversible proton-pump inhibitors and HA H_z-receptor antagonists (159). Acting at the final stage of gastric acid secretion, molecules of this type have the potential to combine profound inhibition of gastric acid secretion elicited by all stimuli and the dose flexibility available with H_z-receptor antagonists. Several companies have progressed **APAs** into development, although currently none has progressed beyond phase **III** clinical trials.

From the medicinal chemistry point of view, the imidazopyridine-based compound **SCH** 28080 was the prototype of the reversible proton-pump inhibitor (160). As early as 1983, it had been suggested that the antisecretory effect of this compound was directly mediated by the gastric proton pump, and this has been further demonstrated by its ability to antagonize the binding of the irreversible proton-pump inhibitor omeprazole (161). The marked liver toxicity of this compound necessitated follow-up compounds, of which SCH 32651 (162) is an example. Yamanouchi and Shin-

Nippon have also described the properties of structurally similar compounds, respectively **YM-020** (163) and SPI-447 (161). Development of SPI-447 is ongoing and it has been shown that the compound has no effect on Na^+/K^+ -ATPase activity. The mechanism of SPI-447 is thought to be SH-group independent, K^t-competitive, and highly specific against gastric H⁺/K⁺-ATPase (161) (Fig. 3.11).

Another program to obtain a reversible proton-pump inhibitor came from workers at SmithKline & French, who selected the substituted quinoline compound SK&F 96067 as an early clinical candidate (164). SKF 96067 is a reversible inhibitor of the H^+/K^+ -ATPase protein of the parietal cell (164). In clinical trials SKF 96067 was found to be a more potent inhibitor of gastric acid secretion than the H_z-receptor antagonist ranitidine. This compound reached Phase III clinical trials but has now been discontinued (165). The compound was followed by SKF 97574 (159) that, although of similar potency to that of SKF 96067, displayed a significantly longer duration of action in vivo.

As an alternative strategy to escape the drawbacks of the initial leads, the quinoline ring was retained but constrained in a pyrroloquinoline ring system as in SKF 96356 (166). This ring system has also formed the basis of compounds described by the Korea Research Institute of Chemical Technology [AU-006 (167), AU-461 (168), and DBM-819 (169)]. DBM-819 displays potency comparable to that of omeprazole in models of gastric acid secretion and ulceration (169).

A tetrahydroisoqunoline-based compound, YH-1885, discovered by Yuhan, is currently one of the most clinically advanced reversible proton-pump inhibitors (170). It is now being codeveloped with **GlaxoSmithKline** for stomach ulcers and gastroesophageal **reflux** disease. Clinical data on YH-1885 have demonstrated that it is safe and well tolerated when administered as a single dose (60 to 300 mg) or multiple doses (150 to 300 mg) to healthy volunteers. The compound significantly increased gastric pH and increased the fraction of time above pH 3 at doses above 150 mg. During multiple dosing, YH-1885 exhibited a reversible mode of action with no significant



Figure 3.11. Representative reversible **PPIs** to illustrate SAR.

accumulation (171). YH-1885 recently entered phase I clinical trials for the treatment of GERD.

Banyu Pharmaceutical Co. has disclosed the properties of proton-pump inhibitors such as (4), which were obtained by chemical modification of the structure of omeprazole, but which are reversible in their interaction with the ATPase enzyme (172). Tanabe, also, has described a proton-pump inhibitor (T-776), which contains many of the structural elements found in the irreversible inhibitors, but which has been shown to possess a reversible mechanism of action (173).

10.2 CCK₂/Gastrin-Receptor Antagonists

Gastrin is the only gut **peptide** hormone released from the stomach that mediates gastric acid secretion. Gastrin-stimulated release of gastric acid is produced either by direct stimulation of CCK₂/gastrin-receptors on the parietal cell or, in some species, indirectly after CCK₂/gastrin-receptor-mediated HA release from ECL cells. HA activates H₂-receptors on the parietal cell to stimulate gastric acid secreion. The regulation of gastrin and HA-stimu**lat**edgastric acid secretion are key therapeutic targets in controlling hyperacidity disorders. Acid secretion is regulated by several hormones and the inhibition of acid secretion **through** H_2 and **PPIs** has a positive feedback effect on the release of gastrin (174, 175).

A number of chemically diverse CCK_2/gas trin-receptor antagonists have been examined in clinical trials as antisecretory agents or inhibitors of panic/anxiety attacks. To date, however, none has been marketed (Table 3.7). $CCK_2/gastin-receptor$ antagonists, including those compounds in preclinical development as well as those that have progressed to humans, were the subject of a recent review (176).

The importance of gastrin in development was investigated through the use of hormone and receptor knockout mice. Gastrin and gastrin-receptor knockout mice are viable, fertile, and develop without any gross abnormalities. Although gastrin expresses trophic properties in conditions of hypergastrinemia (e.g., pernicious anemia), no general atrophy of the gastric mucosa was observed in knockout mice. There was, however, a decrease in the acidsecretory capacity of both mutants. Basal acid secretion was abolished and parietal cells were unresponsive to stimulation by HA, gastrin, or Ach. In gastrin knockout mice the ECL cells contained fewer secretory granules and were located closer to the base of the gastric glands compared to that in normal, litter-mate control mice, an indicator of poor ECL cell activity. In both the gastrin and gastrin-receptor knockout mice, the number of **parietal** cells was reduced (177).

Current gastrin-receptor antagonists (CCK₂-receptor antagonists) inhibit the action of amidated gastrin, although they do not interact with the site at which glycine-extended gastrin binds (178). The gly-gastrin receptor has not been cloned, although there is strong functional evidence that its stimulation by glycine-extended gastrin is a link to proliferative behavior (179). The Aphton Corporation has developed an immunogen, gastrimmune, which is composed of the aminoterminal portion of G17 linked to a diphtheria toxoid. This immunogen stimulates the production of antibodies to both the amidated and glycine-extended forms of gastrin-17 and has been demonstrated to reduce the growth of implanted colon tumors in rats and mice (180). After encouraging results in phase II clinical studies (1811, gastrimmune, in combination with chemotherapy, entered phase III clinical trials in October 2000 for the treatment of stage IV gastric cancer, colorectal cancer, and late-stage pancreatic cancer. These trials have now been extended to include gastric/esophageal cancer, colorectal cancer, pancreatic cancer, and primary liver cancer.

11 SUMMARY

The involvement of more than one endocrine hormone and neurotransmitter in the control of gastric acid secretion has resulted in a number of therapeutic approaches directed toward achieving its inhibition. Of these strategies both muscarinic and histamine H_2 -receptor antagonists have been used, with the latter being the method of choice for the control of acid-related disorders, particularly peptic ulcer disease, until the late 1980s. Along with the successful treatment of many patients

Compound Identifier	Company	Radioligand Binding(nM)	Clinical Evaluation
L-365,260	Merck	8.5	Inhibition of gastric acid secretion: 50 mg, no effect on basal acid secretion; 2.5, 10, 50 mg p.o. inhibited pentagastrin-stimulated acid secretion (0.05–2 μ g kg–' h ⁻¹) (227). Inhibition of CCK-4 induced panic attacks: 50 mg p.o. reduced frequency and intensity of attacks (228); 30 mg p.o. o.d. for 7 days failed to inhibit panic in patients (229).
$CR2194 \qquad Cl \qquad 0 \qquad H \qquad H$	Rotta	600	Inhibition of gastric acid secretion: CR2194 (1, 2.5, or 7.5 mg kg-' h^{-1}) dose- dependently inhibited gastrin (6.4–800 pmol kg-' h^{-1})-stimulated acid secretion. CR2194 (7.5 mg kg-' h^{-1}) inhibited basal and sham fed acid secretion (230).
PD134,308 PD134,308	Parke Davis	1.7	 Inhibition of panic attacks: In a randomized, double-blind study CI-988 (100 mg TID for 6 weeks) was compared to placebo in patients with panic disorder. All patients improved during treatment and no difference in the weekly rate of panic attacks was seen between the treatment groups (231).

Table 3.7 CCK₂/Gastrin Receptor Antagonists That Have Been Evaluated in the Clinic

120



with H_2 -receptor antagonists, certain limitations on efficacy became apparent, the most significant of which were a lack of effectiveness in a subset of patients during nocturnal periods and that acid-rebound occurred upon cessation of treatment. Both these limitations were ascribed to the upregulation of other hormonal mechanisms during periods of elevated pH. The realization that histamine and acetylcholine ultimately exerted their effect through the K⁺/H⁺-ATPase enzyme or proton pump on the parietal cell, provided a potentially more complete means of controlling acid secretion and a new focus for medicinal chemistry. The currently available compounds that control acid-related disorders by inhibiting this enzyme do so in an irreversible manner, achieving sustained acid inhibition.

PPIs and H_z-receptor antagonists between them have successfully treated disorders caused by increased gastric acid secretion in a vast number of patients worldwide. Their use has continued to be applicable even with the identification of H. pylori, a bacterium that is highly correlated with the incidence of ulcer disease. H_z-receptor antagonists and PPIs have proven to be highly effective, are well tolerated, and are considered safe. Although significant progress in obtaining reversible K⁺/H⁺-ATPase inhibitors as well as CCK₂/ gastrin-receptor antagonists has been made in recent years, compounds from either of these groups seem unlikely to dislodge the irreversible PPIs as the preferred treatment in acidrelated disorders at present. Rather, singleenantiomer versions of compounds such as omeprazole, because of their associated pharmacokinetic advantage over the racemic compounds, seem set to retain their position among the highest earning prescription drugs for some time to come.

12 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Barret **Kalindjian** for helpful advice and encouragement during the completion of this chapter and Veronique **Moris**son for conducting literature searches on certain compounds contained therein.

REFERENCES

- 1. G. N. Tytgat, *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 9, 39-42 (1995).
- 2. J. W. Freston, et al., *Eur.* J. *Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, 10 (Suppl. 2), S1–S40 (1998).
- 3. G. N. Tytgat, *Gastroenterology*, 120, 787 (2001).
- 4. D. L. Earnest and M. Robinson, Am. J. Gastroenterol., 94, S17–S24 (1999).
- 5. T. Lind, et al., *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 14, 861–867 (2000).
- 6. A. Garner, H. Fadlallah, and M. E. Parsons, *Gut*, 39,784–786 (1996).
- 7. W. Prout, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., 1, 45-49 (1824).
- 8. I. M. Modlin, Surg. Gynecol. Obstet., 170, 81-96 (1990).
- 9. L. R. Johnson, D. H. Alpers, J. Christensen, E. D. Jacobson, and J. Walsh, *Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract*, Vols. 1 and 2, Raven, New York, 1994.
- 10. G. M. Makhlouf and M. L. Schubert, *Metabolism*, 39, 138–142 (1990).
- 11. M. L. Schubert and R. D. Shamburek, *Gastro*enterol. Clin. North Am., 19, 1–25 (1990).
- 12. E. Lindstrom, U. H. Lerner, and R. Hakanson, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **416**, 255–263 (2001).
- 13. V. E. Eysselein, et al., *Gastroenterology* 102, 1142–1148 (1992).
- 14. C. J. Hawkey, Br. Med. J., 321, 291-293 (2000).
- 15. T. K. Daneshmend, P. J. Prichard, N. K. Bhaskar, P. J. Millns, and C. J. Hawkey, *Gastroenterology*, 97,944–949 (1989).
- 16. A. Schmassmann, et al., *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 123, 795–804 (1998); M. J. Lancaster-Smith, M. E. Jaderberg, and D. A. Jackson, *Gut*, 32, 252–255 (1991).
- 17. L. M. Jackson, K. C. Wu, Y. R. Mahida, D. Jenkins, and C. J. Hawkey, *Gut*, 47, 762–770 (2000).
- 18. C. J. Hawkey, et al., *Clin. Sci. (Colch.)*, 81, 565-573 (1991).
- 19. K. Schror, Semin. Thromb. Hemost., 23, 349-356 (1997).
- 20. K. Takeuchi, A. Tanaka, K. Suzuki, and H. Mizoguchi, *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 7, 49-69 (2001).
- 21. R. F. McCloy, et al., Dig. Dis. Sci., 40, 96S-120S (1995).
- 22. J. Labenz, Bazllieres Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol., 14, 133–145 (2000).

M. Hahn, *et al.*, *Gastrointest. Endosc.*, **52**, **20–26 (2000).**

D. *Y*. *Graham*, *J*. *Gastroenterol.*, **35**, **90–97** (2000).

P. Unge, J. Gastroenterol., 33, 48-52 (1998).

M. **P.** *Williams and R. E. Pounder, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, **13** (*Suppl.* **3**), **3–10** (**1999**).

J. P. Gisbert, J. M. Pajares, and C. Losa, Hepatogastroenterology, 46, 1023–1029 (1999);G. Holtmann, C. Cain, and P. Malfertheiner, Gastroenterology, 117, 11–16 (1999).

T. Furuta, et al., Scand. J. Gastroenterol., **34**, **384–390** (1999).

M. Robinson, Yale J. Biol. Med., **72, 169–172** (1999).

W. J. Blot, S. S. Devesa, R.W. Kneller, and J. F. Fraumeni Jr., JAMA, 265, 1287–1289 (1991).

M. B. Wallace, et al., Gastroenterology, **119**, **677–682** (2000).

R. Fass, et al., Gut, 48,310-313 (2001).

G. M. Eisen, R. S. Sandler, S. Murray, and M. Gottfried, Am. J. Gastroenterol., 92, 27–31 (1997).

A. Hancock and T. A. Esbenshade in S. J. Enna, Ed., Current Protocols in Pharmacology: Characterisation of Histaminergic Receptors, Vol. **1**, John Wiley & Sons, New York, **1998**.

B. Lemos Legnaizz, et al., Biochem. Pharmacol., 60, 159–166 (2000).

B. Wallmark, H. Larsson, and L. Humble, J. Biol. Chem., 260,13681–13684(1985);Y. K. Chung, et al., Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 76, 921–929 (1998).

D. J. Keeling, **C.** Fallowfield, and A. H. Underwood, Biochem. Pharmacol., **36**, **339–344** (1987).

D. J. Keeling, R. **C.** Malcolm, S. M. Laing, R. J. Ife, and **C.** A. Leach, Biochem. Pharmacol., **42**, **123–130** (1991).

K. F. Sewing, P. Harms, G. Schulz, and H. Hannemann, Gut, **24,557–560 (1983).**

A. H. Soll, Scand. J. Gastroenterol.Suppl., 125, 1-8 (1986).

J. Fryklund, B. Wallmark, H. Larsson, and H. F. Helander, Biochem. Pharmacol., 33, 273–280 (1984);B. Wallmark, P. Lorentzon, and H. Larsson, Scand. J. Gastroenterol. Suppl., 108, 37–51 (1985).

A. H. B. Soll, Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract, Vol. 1, Raven, New York, 1987.

B. Elander, E. Fellenius, R. Leth, L. Olbe, and B. Wallmark, Scand. J. Gastroenterol., 21, 268–272 (1986).

- 44. A. Thibodeau, et al., Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol., 267, C1473–C1482 (1994).
- 45. S. P. Roberts, et al., Br. J. Pharmacol., 118, 1779–1789 (1996).
- **46.** J. A. Angus, J. W. Black, and M. Stone, Br. J. *Pharmacol.*, **68,413-423 (1980).**
- **47.** N. J. Welsh, N. P. Shankley, and J. W. Black, Br. J. Pharmacol., **115,961–968 (1995).**
- 48. A. K. Sandvik, M. J. M. Lewin, and H. L. Waldum, Br. J. Pharmacol., 96,557–562 (1989).
- **49.** N. J. Welsh, N. P. Shankley, and J. W. Black, Br. J. Pharmacol., **112**, **93–96** (**1994**).
- 50. W. Kromer, S. Postius, and R. Riedel, Pharmacology, 60, 179–187 (2000);K. Segawa, et al., Gastroenterol. Jpn., 14, 539–544 (1979).
- **51.** *H. Shay, D.* **C.** *Sun, and M. Gruenstein, Gastroenterology,* **26,906–913 (1954).**
- 52. S. Okabe, K. Takeuchi, T. Urushidani, and K. Takagi, Am. J. Dig. Dis., 22, 677–684 (1977).
- **53.** S. Okabe, et al., Nippon Yakurigaku Zasshi, **93,133-144 (1989).**
- J. C. Sih, W. B. Im, A. Robert, D. R. Graber, and D. P. Blakeman, J. Med. Chem., 34,1049–1062 (1991).
- M. Kitano, P. Norlen, X. Q. Ding, S. Nakamura, and R. Hakanson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 130, 699–705 (2000);B. I. Hirschowitz and R. G. Gibson, Am. J. Gastroenterol., 70, 437– 447 (1978).
- 56. C. A. Keele, E. Neil, and N. Joels, Samson Wright's Applied Physiology, 13th ed., Oxford Medical Publications, Oxford, UK, 1982.
- 57. *M. J. Daly, J. M. Humphray, K. T. Bunce, and R.* Stables, *Agents Actions*, **11**,160–164(1981).
- 58. K. Lakhoo, et al., Dig. Dis. Sci., 37,1313-1318 (1992).
- 59. L. Borella, et al., Arzneim.-Forsch., 38, 366– 372 (1988).
- P. Norlen, M. Bernsand, T. Konagaya, and R. Hakanson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 134,1767–1777 (2001).
- 61. A. Pfeiffer, et al., Gut, 36,813-818 (1995).
- **62.** *M. P. Caulfield and N. J. Birdsall, Pharmacol. Rev.*, **50,279–290 (1998).**
- 63. A. Pfeiffer, et al., Dig. Dis. Sci., 35,1468-1472 (1990).
- 64. *M. Kajimura, M. A.* Reuben, and G. Sachs, Gastroenterology, 103,870–875 (1992).
- 65. *R. M. Wallis and* C. *M. Napier, Life Sci.*, 64, 395-401 (1999).
- H. G. Dammann, M. Dreyer, N. Wolf, P. Müller, B. Merk-Härtelt, and B. Simon, Z. Gastroenterol., 27,203–206 (1989).

- 67. M. Lazzaroni, O. Sangaletti, F. Parente, B. P. Imbimbo, and G. Bianchi Porro, Znt. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. Toxicol., 24, 685-688 (1986).
- 68. J. H. Wyllie, T. Hesselbo, and J. W. Black, *Lancet*, 2, 1117–1120 (1972).
- 69. J. W. Black, W. A. Duncan, C. J. Durant, C. R. Ganellin, and E. M. Parsons, *Nature*, 236, 385–390 (1972).
- 70. W. A. Duncan and M. E. Parsons, *Gastroenter*ology, 78, 620–625 (1980).
- 71. T. Berglindh, Annu. Rev. Physiol., 46, 377–392 (1984).
- 72. G. Soldani, et al., *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.*, 31, 631–638 (1996).
- 73. C. Liu, et al., *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 59, 420-426 (2001).
- 74. T. Nakamura, H. Itadani, Y. Hidaka, M. Ohta, and K. Tanaka, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 279, 615–620 (2000).
- 75. T. Nguyen, et al., *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 59, 427–433 (2001).
- **76.** Y. Zhu, et al., *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **59**, **434–441** (2001).
- 77. C. T. Richardson, B. A. Bailey, J. H. Walsh, and J. S. Fordtran, J. *Clin. Invest.*, 55, 536542 (1975).
- 78. C. R. Ganellin in J. C. H. Schwartz, Ed., Histamine Receptors: Pharmacochemistry of H₁ and H₂ Receptors, Wiley-Liss, New York, 1992.
- 79. D. G. Cooper, R. C. Young, G. J. Durant, and C. R. Ganellin, *Comprehensive Medicinal Chemistry*, Vol. 3, Pergamon, London, UK, 1990.
- 80. G. J. Durant, et al., J. Med. Chem., 20,901–906 (1977).
- J. W. Black, G. J. Durant, J. C. Emmett, and C. R. Ganellin, *Nature*, 248, 65–67 (1974).
- 82. R. W. Brimblecombe, et al., *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 53,435–436 (1975).
- 83. G. J. Durant, et al., J. Med. Chem., 28, 1414– 1422 (1985).
- 84. T. H. Brown, R. C. Blakemore, G. J. Durant, J. C. Emmett, C. R. Ganellin, M. E. Parsons, D. A. Rawlings, and T. F. Walker, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 23, 53 (1988).
- 85. G. J. Durant, C. R. Ganellin, and M. E. Parsons, J. Med. Chem., 18,905–909 (1975).
- 86. I. Gantz, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 267, 20840– 20843 (1992).
- 87. G. J. Durant, T. H. Brown, J. C. Emmett, C. R. Ganellin, H. D. Prain, and R. C. Young, Spec. Publ.—R. Soc. Chem., 42, 27 (1982).

- 88. British Patent 2094300, Heumann & Co., 1982.
- 89. D. J. Gilman, D. F. Jones, K. Oldham, and J. M. Wardleworth, *Spec. Publ.*—*R. Soc. Chem.*, 42, 58 (1982).
- 90. C. R. Ganellin in C. R. Ganellin and J. C. Schwartz, Eds., Advances in the Biosciences, Vol. 51, Pergamon Press, Oxford, UK, 1985, p. 47.
- 91. J. Bradshaw, et al., *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 66, 464p (1979).
- 92. T. M. Lin, D. C. Evans, M. W. Warrick, and R. R. Ruffolo Jr., J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 239,400-405 (1986).
- 93. M. Tarutani, H. Sakuma, K. Shiratsuchi, and M. Mieda, *Arzneim.-Forsch.*, 35, 844–848 (1985).
- 94. R. C. Young, et al., J. Med. Chem., 31,656–671 (1988).
- 95. R. C. Blakemore, T. H. Brown, G. J. Durant, J. C. Emmett, C. R. Ganellin, M. E. Parsons, and A. C. Rasmussen, Br. J. Pharmacol., 70, 105p (1980).
- 96. R. C. Blakemore, T. H. Brown, G. J. Durant, C. R. Ganellin, M. E. Parsons, A. C. Rasmussen, and D. A. Rawlings, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 74, 200p (1981).
- 97. K. Prout, S. R. Critchley, C. R. Ganellin, and R. C. Mitchell, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2, 68 (1977).
- 98. R. C. Mitchell, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2, 915 (1980).
- **99.** J. W. Black, P. Leff, and N. P. Shankley, *Br.* J. *Pharmacol.*, **86**, 581–587 (1985).
- 100. V. Savarino, et al., *Digestion*, 42, 1-6 (1989).
- 101. R. R. Berardi, R. M. Tankanow, and T. T. Nostrant, *Clin. Pharm.*, 7,271-824(1988).
- 102. J. H. Lin, *Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, 20, 218–236 (1991).
- 103. R. T. Brittain and M. J. Daly, Scand. J. Gastroenterol.Suppl., 69, 1–9 (1981).
- 104. E. Scheuch, R. Walter, E. Hadasova, I. Amon, and W. Siegmund, *Pharmazie*, 51, 493–497 (1996).
- 105. K. D. Bardhan, *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 7, 13–24 (1993).
- 106. V. Savarino, et al., *Digestion*, 51, 185-192 (1992).
- **107. A.** Kohn, B. Annibale, G. Delle Fave, and S. Levenstein, *Dig. Dis.*, **11**,**228–238** (1993).
- 108. D. G. Colin-Jones, *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 9, 9–14 (1995).

- 109. A. K. Sandvik, E. Brenna, and H. L. Waldum, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 11, 1013–1018 (1997).
- 110. A. L. Ganser and J. G. Forte, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 307, 169–180 (1973).
- 111. G. Sachs, et al., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 358, 118–137 (1980).
- 112. S. E. Sjostrand, B. Ryberg, and L. Olbe, Acta Physiol. Scand. special suppl. (1978).
- 113. P. Zhang, C. Toyoshima, K. Yonekura, N. M. Green, and D. L. Stokes, Nature, 392,835–839 (1998).
- 114. Y. Xian and H. Hebert, J. Struct. Biol., 118, 169–177 (1997).
- 115. Z. Spicer, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 275, **21555**–21565 (**2000**).
- 116. G. Sachs, J. M. Shin, C. Briving, B. Wallmark, and S. Hersey, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 35, 277–305 (1995).
- 117. M. Morii, K. Hamatani, and N. Takeguchi, *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 49,1729–1734 (1995).
- 118. M. J. Ruwart, et al., Digestion, 30, 33-40 (1984).
- 19. P. Lindberg, A. Branstrom, B. Wallmark, H. Mattson, L. Rikner, and K.-J. Hoffman, Med. Res. Rev., 10, 1–54 (1990).
- K. Kubo, K. Oda, T. Kaneko, H. Satoh, and A. Nohara, Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo), 38, 2853–2858 (1990).
- 21. B. Kohl, et al., J. Med. Chem., 35, 1049–1057 (1992).
- 122. M. Morii, H. Takata, H. Fujisaki, and N. Takeguchi, Biochem. Pharmacol., **39**, 661–667 (1990).
- 123. S. Yamada, et al., Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo), 43,421–431(1995).
- 24. K. Sigrist-Nelson, A. Krasso, R. K. Muller, and A. E. Fischli, Eur. J. Biochem., 166, 453–459 (1987).
- 25. R. J. Ife, et al., J. Med. Chem., 32, 1970–1977 (1989).
- 26. R. Nakamura, K. Uchiyama, M. Ishikawa, and S. Sekido, Jpn. J. Pharmacol., **64**, **280**p (1994).
- 27. K. Weidmann, et al., J. Med. Chem., 35, 438-450 (1992).
- A. W. Herling, et al., Pharmacology, 36, 289– 297 (1988).
- 29. M. Uchida, et al., Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo), 38,1575–1586 (1990).
- 30. E. Kim, S. M. Lee, and D. Y. Lim, The Efficacy of IY-81149, a New Proton Pump Inhibitor for Ulcer Treatment, International Congress of Pharmacology, Munich, Germany, 1998.

- A. Brandstrom, P. Lindberg, U. Junggren, and B. Wallmark, Scand. J. Gastroenterol., 21, 54–56 (1986).
- 132. T. Tsukahara, S. Takahashi, and S. Okabe, Gastroenterology, 110, A281 (1996).
- 133. K. Terashima, M. Sato, M. Ono, and O. Muraoka, Synthesis and Mechanism of Action of Ethyl 2-[(1H-benzimidazol-2-yl)sulfinylmethyl]-4-dimethylamino-5-pyridinecarboxylate, a New H⁺/K⁺-ATPase Inhibitor Associated with Mucosal Protective Activity, AFMC International Medicinal Chemistry Symposium, 1995.
- 134. H. Terauchi, et al., Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo), 45, 1177–1182 (1997).
- 135. H. Terauchi, A. Tanitame, K. Tada, K. Nakamura, Y. Seto, and Y. Nishikawa, J. Med. Chem., 40,313–321 (1997).
- 136. *T.W.Woo, et al., Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, **21**, 449–455 (1998).
- 137. P. Berzsenyi, L. Sebestyen, M. Marton Meresz, and F. Andrasi, Pharmacol. Res., **31**(suppl), 94 (1995).
- P. Erlandsson, R. Isaksson, P. Lorentzon, and P. Lindberg, J. Chromatogr., 532, 305–319 (1990).
- 139. H. Cotton, T. Elebring, M. Larsson, L. Li, H. Sorensen, and S. von Unge, Tetrahedron: Asymmetry, 11,3819–3825 (2000).
- 140. T. Andersson, K. Rohss, E. Bredberg, and M. Hassan-Alin, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 15, 1563–1569 (2001).
- 141. J. E. Richter, P. J. Kahrilas, J. Johanson, P. Maton, J. R. Breiter, C. Hwang, V. Marino, B. Hamelin, and J. G. Levine, Am. J. Gastroenterol., 96, 656–665 (2001).
- 142. PCT patent, WO 09424867, Sepracor Inc., 1995.
- 143. C. A. Stedman and M. L. Barclay, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 14,963–978 (2000).
- 144. Y. Tomiyama, M. Morii, and N. Takeguchi, Biochem. Pharmacol., 48,2049–2055 (1994).
- 145. K. Andersson, H. Li, A. Karlsson, and H. Mattson, Gastroenterology, 108, A46 (1995).
- 146. W. Kromer, Scand. J. Gastroenterol.Suppl., 234, 3-9 (2001).
- 147. *H. Fujisaki, et al., Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 42, **321–328** (1991).
- 148. H. Fujisaki, et al., Nippon Yakurigaku Zasshi, 102,389–397 (1993).
- 149. V. K. Sharma, B. Peyton, T. Spears, J. P. Raufman, and C. W. Howden, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 14,887–892 (2000).

- 150. K. Adachi, et al., *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 14,1259–1266 (**2000**).
- 151. C. Duncan, Ed., *MZMS*, Haymarket Publishing Services, London, May, 2002.
- 152. C. M. Spencer and D. Faulds, *Drugs*, 60,321–329, (2000).
- 153. P. B. Kale-Pradhan, H. K. Landry, and W. T. Sypula, Ann. Pharmacother., 36, 655–663 (2002).
- 154. L. J. Scott, C. J. Dunn, G. Mallarkey, and M. Sharpe, *Drugs*, 62, 1091–1118 (2002);D. O. Castell, et al., Am. J. Gastroenterol., 97, 575–583 (2002);S. J. Edwards, T. Lind, and L. Lundell, *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 15, 1729–1736 (2001).
- 155. P. Wahlqvist, O. Junghard, A. Higgins, and J. Green, *Pharmacoeconomics*, 20, 279–287 (2002); P. Wahlqvist, O. Junghard, A. Higgins, and J. Green, *Pharmacoeconomics*, 20, 267– 277 (2002).
- 156. A. A. Claessens, E. R. Heerdink, J. T. Van Eijk, C. B. Lamers, and H. G. Leufkens, *Drug Saf.*, 25,287–295 (2002).
- 157. R. Lamberts, *Microsc. Res. Tech.*, 48,357–366 (2000); M. Robinson, *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 13 (Suppl. 5), 5–10 (1999).
- R. Lamberts, G. Brunner, and E. Solcia, Digestion, 64, 205–213 (2001); L. Lundell, Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol., 13 (Suppl. 1), S23– S27 (2001).
- 159. C. A. Leach, et al., J. Med. Chem., 38, 2748– 2762 (1995).
- 160. P. J. Chiu, C. Casciano, G. Tetzloff, J. F. Long, and A. Barnett, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 226, 121–125 (1983).
- 161. Y. **Tsukimi,** et al., *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.*, 82, 21–28 (2000).
- 162. J. J. Kaminski, et al., *J. Med. Chem.*, 30,2047–2051 (1987).
- 163. H. Yuki, et al., Jpn. J. Pharmacol., 67, 59–67 (1995).
- 164. R. J. Ife, et al., *J. Med. Chem.*, 35, 34133422 (1992).
- 165. Drugs of the Future, 19,886 (1994).
- 166. R. Sarges, A. Gallagher, T. J. Chambers, and L. A. Yeh, *J. Med. Chem.*, 36, 2828–2830 (1993).
- 167. H. G. Cheon, H. J. Kim, S. S. Kim, J. K. Choi, and J. Y. Kong, *Arzneim.-Forsch.*, 48, 1168– 1171 (1998).
- 168. H. G. Cheon, H. J. Kim, H. K. Mo, B. H. Lee, and J. Choi, *Pharmacology*, 60, 161–168 (2000).

- 169. H. G. Cheon, S. S. Lee, H. Lim, and D. H. Lee, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 411, 187–192 (2001).
- 170. H. Kim, D. G. Kim, B. Y. Lee, J. W. Lee, and K. H. Kim, *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.*, 1, 337–343 (1997).
- 171. J.-Y. Chung, M. S. Lim, K. S. Bae, K. S. Hong, S. Y. Yi, J. Y. Cho, K. S. Yu, I. J. Jang, and S. G. Shin, *Am. Soc. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 42, 1–47 (2001).
- 172. K. Niiyama, T. Nagase, T. Fukami, Y. Takezawa, H. Takezawa, Y. Hioki, H. Takeshita, and K. Ishikawa, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 7,527–532 (1997).
- 173. M. Yamada, et al., *J. Med. Chem.*, 39,596–604 (1996).
- 174. R. E. Pounder, J. G. Williams, G. J. Milton-Thompson, and J. J. Misiewicz, *Lancet*, 2, 1069–1072 (1975).
- 175. S. Lanzon-Miller, et al., *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 1,239–251 (**1987**).
- 176. I. M. McDonald, *Exp. Opin. Ther. Patents*, 11, 445–462 (2001).
- 177. L. Friis-Hansen, Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. Suppl., 234, 41–46 (2001).
- 178. K. Iwase, et al., *Gastroenterology*, 113, 782–790 (1997).
- 179. S. Kermorgant and T. Lehy, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 285, 136–141 (2001); V. M.
 Stepan, et al., *Am. J. Physiol.*, 277, R572–R581 (1999); V. M. Stepan, M. Sawada, A. Todisco, and C. J. Dickinson, *Mol. Med.*, 5, 147–159 (1999).
- 180. S. A. Watson, et al., Cancer Res., 56, 880–885 (1996); S. A. Watson, et al., Znt. J. Cancer, 81, 248–254 (1999).
- 181. S. A. Watson and A. D. Gilliam, *Exp. Opin. Biol. Ther.*, *1*, 309–317 (2001); A. D. Gilliam, M. Henwood, S. A. Watson, B. Rowlands, P. Broome, and I. Beckingham, *Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol.*, 20 (2001); B. T. Brett, S. C. Smith, C. V. Bouvier, D. Michaeli, D. Hochhauser, B. R. Davidson, T. R. Kurzawinski, T. Watkinson, N. Van Someren, R. E. Pounder, and M. E. Caplin, *Gastroenterology*, **118**(suppl 12) (2000).
- 182. W. Beaumont, *Med. Recorder*, 9, 94–97 (1926).
- 183. W. Brodie, *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.*, 102– 106 (1832).
- 184. I. Pavlov, *The Work of the Digestive Glands*, Griffin, London, 1902.
- 185. L. Popielski, *Pfluegers Arch.*, 178, 214–236 (1920).
- 186. A. Latarjet, and P. Wertheimer, *Presse Med.*, 2, 993–995 (1923).

E. McCrea, Br. J. Surg., 13,621-648(1925).

C. Code and R. Valco, **Am.** J. Physiol., **137**, **225–233 (1942)**.

L. Dragstedt, Ann. Surg., 122,973–989(1945). A. Kay, Br. J. Med., 2,77–80 (1953).

I. N. Marks, Yale J. Biol. Med., 65,639–648 (1992).

K. Uchiyama, et al., J. Pharm. Pharmacol., **51**, **457–464 (1999)**.

I. M. Ltd. in D. Girdlestone, Ed., The **IUPHAR** Compendium of Receptor Characterisation and Classification, 1st ed., Nightingale Press, Cambridge, **UK**, 1998.

C. Dollery, A. R. Boobis, D. Burley, D. Margerison Davies, D. Davies, P. I. Harrison, M. L'E. Orme, B. K. Park, and L. I. Goldberg in C. Dollery, Ed., Therapeutic Drugs, Vol. 2, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1991.

W. L. Burland, et al., Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 2,481–486(1975).

C. J. De Gara, D.W. Burget, A. N. Chremos, C. Silletti, and R. H. Hunt, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 1,125–132 (1987).

J. L. Smith, Digestion, 32, 15–23 (1985).

B. Simon, et al., Digestion, 32, 32–37 (1985);

G. *Bianchi Porro, Digestion*, **32**, **62–69(1985)**. *A. N. Chremos, J. Clin. Gastroenterol.*, **9**, **7–12(1987)**.

W.J. Louis, et al., Scand. J. Gastroenterol. Suppl., 69, 11–17 (1981).

N. R. Peden, J. H. Saunders, and K. G. Wormsley, Lancet, 1,690–692(1979).

C. J. *Roberts, Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, 9, 211–221 (1984).

D.C. Garg, D. J. Weidler, and F. N. Eshelman, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., **33**, 445–452 (1983).

*F. Parente and G. Bianchi Porro, Scand. J. Gastroenterol.*Suppl., 206, 3–7 (1994).

J. B. Hammond and W. W. Offen, Am. J. Gastroenterol., 83, 32–36 (1988).

R. Arnold, et al., Fortschr. Med., **107,467–470** (1989).

M. P. Knadler, R. F. Bergstrom, J. T. Callaghan, and A. Rubin, Drug Metab. Dispos., 14, 175–182(1986).

M. Katashima, et al., Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet., **23**, 19–26 (1998).

C. G.Regardh, Scand. J. Gastroenterol.Suppl., 118, 99–104 (1986).

T. Andersson, M. Hassan-Alin, G. Hasselgren, K. Rohss, and L. Weidolf, Clin. **Pharmacoki**net., **40,411–426(2001).**

- 211. C. M. Spencer and D. Faulds, Drugs, 60, 321– 329 (2000).
- **212. T.** *Andersson, Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, **31**, **9–28** (1996).
- 213. R. H. Cruickshank, D. A. Morrison, P. A. Bamber, and W. S. Nimmo, Br. J. Anaesth., 63, 536540(1989).
- **214.** C. W. Howden, J. A. Forrest, and J. L. Reid, Gut, 25, 707–710 (1984).
- 215. B. K. Sharma, et al., Gut, 25, 957-964(1984).
- **216.** J. R. Pisegna, et al., **Am.** J. Gastroenterol., **94**, 2874–2880 (1999).
- 217. A. Fitton and L. Wiseman, Drugs, 51, 460-482 (1996).
- 218. W. A. Simon, C. Budingen, S. Fahr, B. Kinder, and M. Koske, Biochem. Pharmacol., 42, 347– 355 (1991).
- **219.** *C. M. Spencer and D. Faulds, Drugs,* **48, 404– 430 (1994)**.
- **220.** *P. Ekstrom, et al., Scand. J. Gastroenterol.*, **30**, **210–215 (1995)**.
- 221. L. B. Barradell, D. Faulds, and D. McTavish, Drugs, 44, 225–250 (1992).
- 222. B. Delhotal-Landes, et al., Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 45, 367471(1993).
- **223.** E. A. Lew, et al., Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., **12,667–672(1998).**
- 224. C. I. Carswell and K. L. Goa, Drugs, 61, 2327-2356 (2001).
- 225. Z. Tulassay, A. Kryszewski, P. Dict, et al., Gastroenterology, 118, A502 (2000).
- 226. M. Hassan-Alin, T. Andersson, E. Bredberg, and K. Rohss, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 56, 665–670 (2000).
- 227. M. G. Murphy, B. Sytnik, T. O. G. Kovaks, H. Mertz, D. Ewanik, S. Shingo, J. H. Lin, B. J. Gertz, and J. H. Walsh, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 54,533–539(-1993).
- 228. J. Bradwejn, et al., Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 51, 486-493 (1994).
- 229. J.J. Sramek, M. S. Kramer, S. A. Reines, and N. R. Cutler, Anxiety, 1, 141–143 (1994).
- **230**. J. Beltinger, et al., Eur. J. Clin. Invest., **29**, 153–159 (1999).
- 231. A. C. Pande, M. Greiner, J. B. Adams, R. B. Lydiard, and M. W. Pierce, Biol. Psychiatry, 46,860–862(1999).
- 232. M. Boyce, S. Warrington, Y. Lewis, P. Cates, and A. Harris, Br. J. Pharmacol., December meeting, P199 (2001).

CHAPTER FOUR

Chemokine and Cytokine Modulators

MARIA ELENA FUENTES TARA MIRZADEGAN ROBERT S. WILHELM Roche Bioscience Palo Alto, California

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents 1 Introduction, 130 2 Chemokines and Chemokine Receptor Biology, 131 3 Chemokine Receptor Signaling, 134 4 Chemokine Receptor Structure, 135 5 Chemokine Ligand Structure, 135 6 CC Receptors, 138 6.1 CCR1, 138 6.1.1 CCRl Receptor Structure, 139 6.1.2 CCRI Antibodies, 139 6.1.3 CCR1 Peptide Antagonists, 139 6.1.4 CCRI Small Molecule Antagonists, 139 6.2 CCR2, 143 6.2.1 CCR2 Receptor Structure, 143 6.2.2 CCR2 Antibodies, 144 6.2.3 CCR2 Peptide Antagonists, 144 6.2.4 CCR2 Small Molecule Antagonists, 145 6.3 CCR3, 148 6.3.1 CCR3 Receptor Structure, 149 6.3.2 CCR3 Antibodies, 149 6.3.3 CCR3 Peptide Antagonists, 149 6.3.4 CCR3 Small Molecule Antagonists, 150 6.4 CCR4, 152 6.5 CCR5, 153 6.5.1 CCR5 Receptor Structure, 154 6.5.2 CCR5 Antibodies, 154 6.5.3 CCR5 Peptide Antagonists, 155 6.5.4 CCR5 Small Molecule Antagonists, 155 6.6 CCR6, 159 6.7 CCR7, 160 6.8 CCR8, 161 7 CXC Receptors, 161 7.1 CXCR1 and CXCR2, 161 7.1.1 CXCR1/CXCR2 Receptor Structure, 162 7.1.2 CXCR1/CXCR2 Antibodies, 162 7.1.3 CXCR1/CXCR2 Peptide Antagonists, 162

7.1.4 CXCR1/CXCR2 Small Molecule Antagonists, 163 7.2 CXCR3, 165 7.2.1 CXCR3 Antibodies, 166 7.2.2 CXCR3 Small Molecule Antagonists, 166 7.3 CXCR4, 166 7.3.1 CXCR4 Receptor Structure, 166 7.3.2 CXCR4 Antibodies, 167 7.3.3 CXCR4 Peptide Antagonists, 167 7.3.4 CXCR4 Small Molecule Antagonists, 168 8 Viral Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors, 170 9 Cytokines, 172 9.1 IL-1, 173 9.1.1 IL-1 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 173 9.1.2 IL-1 Modulators/Clinical Data, 173 9.2 IL-2, 174 9.2.1 IL-2 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 175 9.2.2 IL-2 Modulators/Clinical Data, 175 9.3 IL-4, 175 9.3.1 IL-4 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 176 9.3.2 IL-4 Modulators/Clinical Data, 176

1 INTRODUCTION

Cell/cell communication is an important event in an organism's ability to respond to insult. Cytokines and chemokines play an important role in this process (1). Disease processes in which one or more of these factors are **overex**pressed, or deficient, may benefit from modulation of these cell-signaling events.

Cytokines can exist as both extracellular soluble proteins (8-40 kDa) and cell surface molecules. In response to insult, they are able to regulate host defense, differentiation, cell division, apoptosis, repair, and inflammation in a variety of cell types. Originally termed lymphokines and monokines, based on their cellular source, it was eventually recognized that these soluble mediators are more generally products of leukocytes. Because many of them communicate signals between leukocytes, many of the cytokines are now designated as interleukins. Cytokines are both pleiotropic and redundant in their ability to communicate and initiate biological responses. They can regulate cell function in an autocrine, paracrine, or intercrine fashion through cell surface receptors that are classi9.4 IL-5, 176 9.4.1 IL-5 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 177 9.4.2 IL-5 Modulators/Clinical Data, 177 9.5 IL-6, 178 9.5.1 IL-6 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 179 9.5.2 IL-6 Modulators/Clinical Data, 179 9.6 IL-12, 180 9.6.1 IL-12 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 1809.6.2 IL-12 ModulatorslClinical Data, 180 9.7 IL-13, 181 9.7.1 IL-13 Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 181 9.7.2 IL-13 Modulators/Clinical Data, 181 9.8 TNFa, 182 9.8.1 TNFa Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 182 9.8.2 TNFa Modulators/Clinical Data, 182 9.9 IFNγ, 183 9.9.1 IFNy Knockout and Transgenic Mice, 183

9.9.2 INFy Modulators/Clinical Data, 183

fied into families on the basis of structure and function (2). Cytokine receptors are composed of single-spanning membrane domains that form high affinity complexes upon binding with their ligands. Signaling does not require high receptor occupancy and can occur with very low concentrations of ligand, proceeding through tyrosine phosphorylation using nonreceptor tyrosine kinases such as Janus kinase (JAK). This cytoplasmic signal then triggers a distinct cellular response. Recombinant proteins have been evaluated therapeutically in cytokine-deficient patients in an effort to enhance a desired physiologic function. For example, erythropoietin has been used in cancer patients on chemotherapy or in chronic renal failure patients, as a method to stimulate red blood cell production. In contrast, overproduction of cytokines may result in an untoward response such as inflammation, cancer, or autoimmune disease, and blocking the production or activity of these cytokines has also been shown to have therapeutic benefit.

Chemokines and chemokine receptors play an important role in chemotaxis (cell trafficking). The term chemokine is derived from *che*motactic cytokine. Chemokines are protein



Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of leukocyte transmigration induced by **chemokines**. The first step involves rolling attributed to interaction between the leukocyte and the endothelial cells. This process is mediated by selectins and **selectin** ligands expressed on the surface of both cell types. In the next step a **chemokine** interacts with its receptor, inducing leukocyte activation and conformational changes in the adhesion molecules (integrins) and resulting in firm adhesion to the endothelial surface. It is believed that the chemokine is immobilized on the endothelial surface by interactions with glycosaminoglycans. The leukocytes then transmigrate into the tissues.

ligands (8-10 kDa) that signal through interaction with seven-transmembrane G-proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs). Two primary nctions for chemokines are recruitment of leukocytes from circulation to a site of injury or inflammation, and regulation of homeostatic leukocyte trafficking. In addition to beint able to initiate a specific cell migration, chemokines are also implicated in leukocyte activation, proliferation, angiogenesis, and lynphopoiesis, and can act as coreceptors for HIV. Although the chemokine field has a young history, significant advances have been made and modulators of chemokine/chemo-

kine receptor interaction are currently being evaluated in clinical trials.

2 CHEMOKINES AND CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR BIOLOGY

Leukocyte migration to tissues is essential for development of an inflammatory response. The process involves two steps: arrest **and** firm adhesion of circulating cells on endothelial surfaces and migration through the endothelium into the interstitium (Fig. 4.1) (3). It has become clear in recent years that both pro-



Figure 4.2. Schematic diagram of a two-dimensional model of a chemokine receptor. The extracellular loops (ECL), the putative helical regions that traverse the cell membrane, and the intracellular loops (ICL) are shown. The GPCR (family A) signature disulfide bridge between Cys residues of ECL1 and ECL2 is also shown.

cesses are regulated largely by a group of low molecular weight cytokines, the chemokine family. Over 40 chemokines have been identified to date (for reviews, see Refs. 4–7). Based on the spacing of two amino terminal cysteines, they are classified into two major and two minor families. In the CXC family (α family) one amino acid separates the first two cysteines, whereas in the CC family (β family) the two first cysteines are adjacent to each other. The two minor families of chemokines include only one member each, the C family represented by lymphotactin and the CX₃C family represented by fractalkine.

Chemokines exert their action through seven-transmembrane receptors, which are GPCRs (Fig. 4.2). Six CXC receptors, 10 CC receptors, and one receptor each for lymphotactin and fractalkine have been identified. Table 4.1 summarizes the human chemokine receptor family, their ligand specificity, and the cell types that predominantly express these receptors. The new nomenclature for chemokines is also included in the table (8).

One important feature of the chemokine and chemokine receptor family is the high degree of promiscuity with regard to ligand binding. Only a few receptors have been identified that bind with high affinity to only one ligand, and most ligands interact with more than one receptor. This apparent redundancy could be a potential problem in the development of receptor antagonists as therapeutics. However, it is not clear whether the overlapping activities of chemokines are relevant in the *in vivo* situation. It may be that each chemokine plays a specific function in a specific setting at a specific time, orchestrating a coordinated chemotactic response. In addition, CXC chemokines bind with high affinity only to CXC receptors and CC chemokines bind to CC receptors, so there is some degree of selectivity in the family.

From the functional point of view, chemokines from the CC family in general do not act on neutrophils but attract monocytes, eosinophils, basophils, lymphocytes, and dendritic cells (9, 10). (One notable exception is the abil-

Name	Cell type ^b	Ligands ^c
CXCR1	Neutrophils	IL-8 (CXCL8), GCP-2 (CXCL6)
CXCR2	Neutrophils	IL-8 (CXCL8), GROα (CXCL1), GROβ (CXCL2), GROγ (CXCL3), NAP-2 (CXCL7), ENA-78 (CXCL5), GCP-2 (CXCL6)
CXCR3	T-cells (Thl and Tcl)	IP-10 (CXCL10), MIG (CXCL9), ITAC (CXCL11)
CXCRA	Naïve T-cells, B-cells	SDF-1 (CXCL12)
CXCR5	B-cells, subset of T-cells	BCA-1/BLC (CXCL13)
CXCR6	Thl and Tcl cells	CXCL16
CCR1	Activated T-cells, monocytes, eosinophils, immature dendritic cells, basophils	MIP-1a (CCL3), MIP-1 β (CCL4), MCP-3 (CCL7), RANTES (CCL5)
CCR2	Monocytes, macrophages, activated T-cells, NK cells	MCP-1 (CCL2), 2 (CCL8), 3 (CCL7), 4(CCL13)
CCR3	Eosinophils, basophils, activated T-cells (Th2)	Eotaxin (CCL11), eotaxin 2 (CCL24), eotaxin 3 (CCL26), MCP-3 (CCL7), MCP-4 (CCL13), RANTES (CCL5)
CCRA	Activated T-cells, basophils, platelets	TARC (CCL17), MDC (CCL22)
CCR5	Activated T-cells, monocyte/macrophages , immature dendritic cells	MIP-1β (CCL4), RANTES (CCL5), MIP-la (CCL3)
CCR6	T-cells, immature dendritic cells, B-cells	MIP-3α/LARC/exodus (CCL20)
CCR7	Mature dendritic cells, subset T- and B-cells	MIP-3β/ELC (CCL19), SLC/6Ckine/exodus 2 (CCL21)
CCR8	Monocyte/macrophages, activated T-cells (Th2)	I-309 (CCL1)
CCR9	Thymocytes, T-cells	TECK (CCL25)
CCR10	T-cells, Langerhans cells	CTAK/Eskine (CCL27), MEC/CCK1 (CCL28)
CX ₃ CR1	T-cells, natural killer cells	Fractalkine/neurotactin (CX ₃ CL1)
XCR1	T-cells	Lymphotactin/SCM-1 α (XCL1), SCM-1 β (XCL2)

 Table 4.1
 Chemokine Receptor Families^a

"Data from Refs. 9, 11, and 12.

^bTh1, T helper cell type 1; Th2, T helper cell type2; Tc1, T cytotoxic cell type 1; Tc2, T cytotoxic cell type 2.

^cBCA, B-cell-activating chemokine; BLC, B-lymphocyte chemoattractant; ELC, Epstein-Barr virus-induced receptor ligand chemokine; ENA-78, epithelial cell-derived neutrophil-activating factor, 78 amino acids; GCP-2, granulocyte chemoattractant protein; GRO, growth-related oncogene; IP-10, interferon-inducible protein 10; I-TAC, interferoninducible T-cell a chemoattractant; LARC, liver- and activation-related chemokine; MDC, macrophage-derived chemokine; MIG, monokine induced by γ interferon; MIP, monocyte inflammatory protein; MCP, monocyte chemoattractant protein; NAP, neutrophil-activating protein; RANTES, regulated on activation, normal T expressed and secreted; SDF-1, stromal cell-derived factor 1; SLC, secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine; TARC, thymus- and activation-related chemokine; TECK, thymus-expressed chemokine.

 \mathbb{S}

ity of CCR1/MIP-1 α to generate a chemotactic response for neutrophils in rodents.) On the other hand, **chemokines** from the CXC family can be further subdivided into two classes: those that contain an ELR sequence, which attract neutrophils, and the subset that lacks the ELR motif, which attracts lymphocytes (13, 14).

Based on their expression patterns, chemokines can be classified as inducible or constitutive. Inducible chemokines participate primarily in inflammatory responses and are the majority members of the family. The constitutive **chemokines** are expressed primarily, but not exclusively, in secondary lymphoid organs, and recent evidence suggests they play a major role in lymphocyte and dendritic cell homing (15). It has been shown that these chemokines can also be responsible for the organization of specialized structures inside lymphoid organs, such as formation of germinal centers (16). **Chemokine** receptor expression is crucial for determining the migration pattern of leukocytes. Some receptors are restricted to certain cell types. For example, CXCRl is expressed predominantly in neutrophils, whereas others like CCR2 are expressed on a variety of leukocytes, including monocytes, T-cells, basophils, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. Most leukocytes express more than one receptor at any given time. Regulation of **chemokine** receptor expression has recently been shown to occur upon activation or deactivation of monocytes, dendritic cells, and T-cells (5, 15, 17).

3 CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR SIGNALING

The intracellular signals involved in chemotaxis are not yet fully understood, and much of the information available today has been deduced from signaling information for other **GPCRs**. However, significant new data re**garding** the chemotactic process have accumulated in recent years. Like other seven-transmembrane receptors, **chemokine** receptors couple to G-proteins. Many **chemokine-in**duced signaling events are inhibited by **Bordetella pertussis** toxin (**PTX**), suggesting that chemokine receptors are linked to G-proteins of the Gai class (18,19). In cotransfection experiments it has been shown that CXCRI and CXCR2 couple to $G\alpha i2$, $G\alpha i3$, $G\alpha 14$, and $G\alpha 16$ (20). Physical association between $G\alpha i$ and several **chemokine** receptors has been documented (21, 22). In some studies, PTX did not completely block the calcium response, suggesting the chemokine receptors may couple to other G-proteins such as Gq or $G\alpha 16$. In addition, it has been suggested that the specificity of the coupling may be cell type specific (23, 24).

Chemokine receptor activation leads to the generation of a complex cascade of cellular events, including the generation of inositol triphosphates, the release of intracellular calcium, and the activation of protein kinase C. The release of the $G\alpha i\beta\gamma$ subunits from Gai has been described as an essential step in this process (25). However, the release from Gas or Gaq does not result in induction of chemotaxis, suggesting that the $\beta\gamma$ subunits are necessary but not sufficient to induce cell migration and that Gai itself plays some role in the process (26).

Activation of the **chemokine** receptor leads to rapid activation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipases, which leads to inositol-**1,4,5-triphosphate** formation and a transient rise in intracellular calcium (18). Phospholipase C (**PLC**) isoforms that are involved in chemokine receptor activation become activated by direct interaction with the $\beta\gamma$ subunits. In addition to its interaction with PLCs, the $\beta\gamma$ subunits also interact with the type I, **phosphoinositol 3** kinase γ (**PI3K** γ), and activation of this enzyme results in the formation of PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 (17). Mice that do not express **PI3Ky** have severely impaired chemo**kine-stimulated** signal transduction, and PKB is not activated, suggesting an important role for this pathway in the chemotactic process (27–29). Although leukocytes isolated from these mice showed a decrease in cell chemotaxis, the response is not completely lost, and under conditions of complete $PI3K\gamma$ inhibition, neutrophils can still chemotax in response to **chemokines** (30).

Receptor dimerization upon ligand binding has been described mostly for the growth factor receptor; however, recent reports have also suggested heterodimerization for seven-transmembrane receptors, including **chemokine** receptors (31–33). It has been proposed that **che**-



Figure 4.3. Schematic diagram showing the propsed chemokine receptor signaling pathways. This diagram does not represent the complete pathway. Ligand binding induces the exchange of GDP for GTP on the G protein and this causes dissociation of the subunits. Gai decreases the levels of cAMP and G $\beta\gamma$ causes the activation of PLC and PI3K γ . PLC, phospholipase C; DAG, diacylglycerol; IP3, inositol triphosphate; PKC, protein kinase C; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; PI3K γ , phosphoinositol 3 kinase γ ; PKB, protein kinase B.

mokine receptor dimerization results in the activation of the Janus kinase-signal transducers and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) signaling pathway (34). Figure 4.3 shows a schematic of the pathways involved in chemokine receptor signaling.

4 CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR STRUCTURE

It had been speculated 20 years ago that GPCRs have a seven-transmembrane (TM)

helical motif that traverses the cell membrane (Fig 4.3) (35-37). The recent elucidation of a high resolution, three-dimensional (3D) X-ray structure of rhodopsin has confirmed the seven-transmembrane domain topology (38). GPCRs are classified into four families (A-D), with chemokine receptors belonging to the type A (e.g., rhodopsin-like). These singlechain, membrane-bound proteins have an extracellular N-terminal (NT) domain and three extracellular loops (ECL1-ECL3) that act in concert to bind a chemokine ligand (Fig. 4.2). The cytoplasmic domain of the receptor is composed of three loops and a C-terminal segment, which also act in concert to transduce the chemokine signal. The core of the receptor is defined by seven-transmembrane spanning helices. Based on the rhodopsin X-ray structure, the TM-a helices vary in length and can extend beyond the lipid bilayer. The orientation of the TMs impose a stereo and geometric specificity on a ligand's ability to enter the TM binding domain. The TM core is mainly formed by transmembrane a-helices 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7. Chemokine receptors, like other A-family GPCRs, have the conserved signature amino acid sequence in all seven TMs (TM1 GN, TM2 D, TM3 DRY, TM4 P, TM5 P, TM6 W, and TM7 NP) (Figs. 4.4a, 4.4b, 4.4c, 4.4d, and 4.5). There are also conserved amino acid residues that are a unique signature of chemokine receptors. These residues are the Cys-Cys motif in TM7, an acidic Glu residue (E) in TM7, and cysteines in both the N-termini and ECL3 that form a disulfide bond (Fig. 4.2).

5 CHEMOKINE LIGAND STRUCTURE

Remarkable progress has been made in solving the molecular structure of chemokines by high resolution X-ray crystallography and NMR spectroscopy (39–48). Regardless of the low degree of sequence homology among the chemokines, they all exhibit a common folding pattern that adopts a three-stranded antiparallel β -sheet, to which a C-terminal short α -helix is obliquely attached (Fig. 4.6). Intramolecular disulfide bonds stabilize this structure. The N-terminal amino acids preceding the first conserved cysteine have a large degree of movement, which renders structural studies

Chemokine and Cytokine Modulators

HEL-2

HEL-1

CCR1_HUMAN CCR2_HUMAN CCR3_HUMAN CCR4_HUMAN CCR5_HUMAN CCR6_HUMAN CCR7_HUMAN CCR8_HUMAN CCR9_HUMAN CCR10_HUMA	FGAQLLPPLYSLVNIGLVGNILWLVLVQ IGAQLLPPLYSLVFIFGFVGNMLVVLILIN LMAQFVPPLYSLVFTVGLLGNVVVVMILIK FGELFLPPLYSLVFVFGLLGNSVVVLVLFK IAARLLPPLYSLVFIFGFVGNMLVILILIN FSRLNPIAYSLICVFGLLGNILWITFAF FKAWFLPIMYSIICFVGLLGNGLVVLTYIY NGKLLLAVFYCLLFVFSLLGNSLVILVLVV FASHFLPPLYWLVFIVGALGNSLVILVIWY FSRAFQPSVSLTVAALGLAGNGLVLATHLA	CCR1_HUMAN CCR2_HUMAN CCR3_HUMAN CCR4_HUMAN CCR5_HUMAN CCR6_HUMAN CCR7_HUMAN CCR8_HUMAN CCR9_HUMAN CCR10_HUMA	MTSIYLLNLAISDLLFLFTLPFWIDYKLKD LTDIYLLNLAISDLLFLITLPIWAHSAANE MTNIYLLNLAISDLLFLVTLPFWIHYVRGH MTDVYLLNLAISDLLFVFSLPFWGYYAADQ MTDIYLLNLAISDLFFLLTVPFWAHYAAAQ MTDWLLNMAIADILFVLTLPFWAVSHATG MTDTYLLNLAVADILFLLTLPFWAYSAAKS ITDVYLLNLALSDLLFVFSFPFQTYYLLDQ MTDMFLLNLAIADLLFLVTLPFWAIAAADQ PTSAHLLQLALADLLLALTLPFAAAGALQG
CXCR1_HUMAN CXCR2_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN CXCR4_HUMAN CXCR5_HUMAN	INKYVVIIAYALVFLLSLLGNSLVMLVILY INKYFVVIIYALVFLLSLLGNSLVMLVILY FDRAFLPALYSLLFLLGLLGNGAVAAVLLS FNKIFLPTIYSIIFLTGIVGNGLVILVMGY FKAVNPVAYSLIFLLGVIGNVLVLVILER	CXCR1_HUMAN CXCR2_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN CXCR4_HUMAN CXCR5_HUMAN	VTDWLLNLALADLLFALTLPIWAASKVNG VTDWLLNLALADLLFALTLPIWAASKVNG STDTFLLHLAVADTLLVLTLPLWAVDAAVQ MTDKYRLHLSVADLLFVITLPFWAVDAVAN STETFLFHLAVADLLLVFILPFAVAEGSVG
	HEL-3		HEL-4
CCR1_HUMAN CCR2_HUMAN CCR3_HUMAN CCR4_HUMAN CCR5_HUMAN CCR6_HUMAN CCR7_HUMAN CCR8_HUMAN CCR9_HUMAN CCR10_HUMA CXCR1_HUMAN CXCR2_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN	DAMCKILSGFYYTGLYSEIFFIILLTIDRY NAMCKLFTGLYHIGYFGGIFFIILLTIDRY HGMCKLLSGFYHTGLYSEIFFIILLTIDRY LGLCKMISWMYLVGFYSGIFFVMLMSIDRYI NTMCQLLTGLYFIGFFSGIFFIILLTIDRYI NATCKLLKGIYAINFNCGMLLLTCISMDRYI VHFCKLIFAIYKMSFFSGMLLLLCISIDRYY TVMCKVVSGFYYIGFYSSMFFITLMSVDRYI SATCRTISGLYSASFHAGFLFLACISVDRYI SATCRTISGLYSASFHAGFLFLACISVDRYI TFLCKVVSLLKEVNFYSGILLLACISVDRYI SGLCKVAGALFNINFYAGALLLACISVDRYI NFLCKAVHVIYTVNLYSSVLILAFISLDRYI	LAI CCR1_H LAI CCR2_H LAI CCR3_H LAI CCR4_H LAV CCR5_H LAI CCR6_H VAI CCR7_H LAV CCR8_H LAI CCR9_H VAI CCR10_H LAI CXCR1_ LAI CXCR1_ LAI CXCR3_ LAI CXCR3_ LAI CXCR3_	IUMANTFGVITSIIIWALAILASMPGLYIUMANTFGWTSVITWLVAVFASVPGIIIUMANTFGVITSIVTWGLAVLAAIIUMANTYGVITSLATWSVAVFASIIUMANTFGVVTSVITWVVAVFASLPGIIIUMANPRSKIICLVVWGLSVIISSSTFVIUMANLISKLSCVGIWILATVLSIPELLIUMANRMGTTLCLAVWLTAIMATIPLLVIUMANRMGTTLCLAVWLTAIMATIPLLVIUMANHLVKFVCLGCWGLSMNLSLPFILHUMANHLVKFVCLGCWGLSMNLSLPFFLHUMANLAEKVVYVGVWIPALLLTIPDFIHUMANLAEKVVYVGVWIPALLLTIPDFIHUMANLSIHITCGTIWLVGFLLALPEIL
CACRS-HUMAN			
	HEL-5		HEL-6
CCR1_HUMAN CCR2_HUMAN CCR3_HUMAN CCR4_HUMAN CCR5_HUMAN CCR6_HUMAN CCR7_HUMAN CCR8_HUMAN CCR9_HUMAN CCR10_HUMA	KLFQALKLNLFGLVLPLLVMIICYTG NNFHTIMRNILGLVLPLLIMVICYSG RHFHTLRMTIFCLVLPLLVMAICYTG KVLSSLEINILGLVIPLGIMLFCYSM KNFQTLKIVILGLVLPLLVMVICYSG KLLMLGLELLFGFFIPLMFMIFCYTF FITIQVAQMVIGFLVPLLAMSFCYLV KIFTNFKMNILGLLIPFTIFMFCYIK KSAVLTLKVILGFFLPFWMACCYTI KGASAVAQVALGFALPLGVMVACYAL	CCR1_HUMAN CCR2_HUMAN CCR3_HUMAN CCR4_HUMAN CCR5_HUMAN CCR6_HUMAN CCR7_HUMAN CCR8_HUMAN CCR9_HUMAN CCR10_HUMA	KSKAVRLIFVIMIIFFLFWTPYNLTILISVF RHRAVRVIFTIMIVYFLFWTPYNIVILLNTF KYKAIRLIFVIMAVFFIFWTPYNIVILLSSY KNKAVKMIFAVVVLFLGFWTPYNIVLFLETL RHRAVRLIFTIMIVYFLFWAPYNIVLLLNTF RHKAIRVIIAVVLVFLACQIPHNMVLLVTAA RNKAIKVIIAVVVVFIVFQLPYNGVVLAQTV KTKAIRLVLIWIASLLFWVPFNWLFLTSL KHKALKVTITVLTVFVLSQFPYNCILLVQTI RRRALRVWALVAAFWLQLPYSLALLLDTA
CXCR1_HUMAN CXCR2_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN CXCR4_HUMAN CXCRS-HUMAN	RMVLRILPHTFGFIVPLFVMLFCYGF RMLLRILPQSFGFIVPLLIMLFCYGF RTALRVLQLVAGFLLPLLVMAYCYAH VVVFQFQHIMVGLILPGIVILSCYCI WFTSRFLYHVAGFLLPMLVMGWCYVG	CXCR1_HUMAN CXCR2_HUMAN CXCR3_HUMAN CXCR4_HUMAN CXCR5_HUMAN	KHRAMRVIFAVVLIFLLCWLPYNLVLLADTL KHRAMRVIFAVVLIFLLCWLPYNLVLLADTL RLRAMRLVVVVVVAFALCWTPYHLVVLVDIL KRKALKTTVILILAFFACWLPYYIGISIDSF RQKAVRVAILVTSIFFLCWSPYHIVIFLDTL

HEL-7

	CCR1_ HUMAN	LAVOVTEVIAYTHCCVNPVIY
	CCR2_ HUMAN	QATQVTETLGMTHCCINPIIY
	CCR3_ HUMAN	LVMLVTEVIAYSHCCMNPVIY
	CCR4_ HUMAN	YAIQATETLAFVHCCLNPIIY
	CCR5_ HUMAN	QAMQVTETLGMTHCCINPIIY
	CCR6_ HUMAN	YTKTVTEVLAFLHCCLNPVLY
	CCR7_ HUMAN	IAYDVTYSLACVRCCVNPFLY
	CCR8_ JI I	YATHVTEIISFTHCCVNPVIY
	ССR9_ Л Г	ICFQVTQTIAFFHSCLNPVLY
	CCR10_HUMAN	VALLVT S GLALARCGINP /LY
	CXCR1_ HUMAN	RALDATEILGFLHSCLNPIIY
YC che-	CXCR2 HUMAN	RALDATEILGILHSCLNPLIY
	CXCR3 HUMAN	VAKSVT S GLGYMHCCLNPLLY
n (1-v11)	CXCR4_ HUMAN	KWISITEALAFFHCCLNPILY
	CXCR5_ HUMAN	VAL'I'MCEF'LGLAHCCLNPMLY

Figure 4.4. Sequence alignment of human CC and CXC **che**mokine receptors. For clarity, only the predicted seven (I-VII) transmembrane helical domains are shown.


difficult. Although chemokines exhibit similar tertiary structures, their quaternary structures are different. As revealed by X-ray crystallography and NMR spectroscopy, they form dimers and tetramers. However, the monomeric form is believed to be the major species found at physiological concentrations and, based on numerous studies, monomers have been shown to be the functional ligand (40, 49–51). The general consensus of these studies is that much of the binding energy and selectivity for chemokines with their receptors comes from the core domain. In contrast the flexible *N*-terminal domain is required for receptor activation and signaling.

Mutation and chimera studies of IL-8 (CXCL8) have identified the ELR motif in the N-terminal domain of IL-8, MGSA (CXCL1), and NAP-2 (CXCL7) as essential for activation of CXCR1 and CXCR2 (13). Similar studies with SDF-1 revealed that Lys1 and Pro2



Figure 4.6. Monomer structure of the monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1). The structure was retrieved from the Brookhaven data bank (http://www.pdb.bnl.gov/) and displayed by Insight software (MolecularSimulations, San Diego, CA).

Figure 4.5. Top view of a chemokine binding site model (a), showing only the helical backbone of residues in transmembrane domains I-VII; the side chain for the conserved Glu in TM (VII) is shown. Top view of a biogenic amine binding site model (b), showing only the helical backbone of residues in transmembrane domains I-VII; the side chain for the conserved Asp residue in TM (III) is shown.

are required for activation of CXCR4 (52). Furthermore, although the N-terminus of RANTES (CCL5) contributes significantly to CCR5 activation, it adds little to the receptorbinding affinity (53). Considering that one can modulate signaling without significantly interfering with binding, Simmons and coworkers made a chemically derivatized form of RANTES (AOP-RANTES), which retains nanomolar receptor-binding activity yet serves as a CCR5 antagonist (54). In a similar study it has been shown that deletion of eight or nine residues at the N-terminal of MCP-1 (CCL2) reduced the level of CCR2 binding by less than seven times, and yet this truncation completely inhibits chemotactic response (55-57).

For most chemokines much of the binding energy comes from the core domain, and certain surface residues have been identified as contributing significantly to their binding affinity. The critical residues in RANTES and IL-8 are F12 and 110, respectively. Mutation of these to alanine caused 5000-fold reductions in affinity for CCR3/CCR5 (RANTES receptors) and 100-fold reductions in affinity for CXCR1 (IL-8 receptor) (58). Of the surfaceexposed residues in MCP-1, Y13 contributes the most to MCP-1 binding affinity (55). In contrast, the corresponding binding contribution of this aromatic residue in eotaxin is much less than the corresponding residue in other CC chemokines (59). Thus, residues immediately following the first two cysteines may in general be a common recognition element in chemokines (58).

Additional hydrophobic residues between the second cysteine and a 3–10 helix in the "N-loop" have also been shown to be important for **chemokine** binding. The N-loop in IL-8 and MGSA is important for receptor binding and for determining the specificity (60). The key residues in IL-8 include Y13, F17, F21, and I22 (60, 61). In RANTES, two hydrophobic residues (I15 and L19) also contribute significantly to CCR5 binding, as evidenced by mutation of these residues to Ala, causing a >5000-fold reduction in affinity (53). For MCP-1, mutation of many of the Nloop residues had little or no effect. Small changes were observed for two basic residues, **R18** and **K19**. It can be concluded that the N-loop may be a common recognition element involved in chemokine-receptor interactions, and the nature and distribution of key residues may impart specificity. In MCP-1 two clusters of primarily basic residues (R24, K35, K49, and Y13), separated by a 35-Å hydrophobic groove, reduced the level of binding by 15to 100-fold. Together these data suggest a model in which a large surface area of MCP-1 contacts its receptor (CCR2), and the accumulation of a number of weak interactions results in the 60-pM affinity observed for the wildtype (WT) protein. In contrast, an Ala scan of eotaxin (CCR3 ligand) has shown that residues contributing to receptor-binding affinity and those required for triggering receptor activation are relatively diffuse and distributed throughout the N-terminal and N-loop regions (59). The receptor-binding sites for variety of chemokines cover both similar and yet significantly different sites, and these studies may provide insight into the issue of receptor specificity.

6 CC RECEPTORS

6.1 CCRI

CCRl was the first isolated CC chemokine receptor. Originally identified as the RANTES (CCL5)/MIP-1 α (CCL3) receptor (62, 63), it was subsequently shown that MCP-3 (CCL7) also binds with high affinity to CCRl (64). CCRl is expressed on various leukocyte cell types, including monocytes, T-cells, and eosin-ophils (see Table 4.1). In mouse, but not human, CCRl is also expressed on neutrophils (65). CCRl mRNA has also been detected in human dendritic cells (66).

A significant increase in CCR1 ligand concentration for both MIP-1 α and RANTES has been found in several inflammatory diseases and animal models of those diseases. For example, increases in MIP-1a have been found in the synovial **fluid** of patients with arthritis (67) and in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (MS) (68). In a mouse model of MS, the experimental allergic encephalomyelitis model (EAE), several chemokines are upregulated, including MIP-la and RANTES (69). In this model, RANTES and MIP-la are produced exclusively by infiltrating leukocytes (70, 71). Moreover, neutralization of MIP-la significantly blocks the development of the initial and the relapsing paralytic disease (72, 73). In spite of this strong evidence regarding the role of MIP-1 α in this disease, it has been difficult to establish which receptor(s) mediates the MIP-la response in this pathology. As shown in Table 4.1, this chemokine can bind with high affinity to both CCR1 and CCR5.

 $CCR1^{-/-}$ mice show a normal distribution of leukocytes, although trafficking and proliferation of myeloid precursors are altered (74). These mice are protected from pulmonary inflammation secondary to pancreatitis. Evidence involving CCRl in transplant rejection has also been obtained using knockout mice, and these mice show a prolonged survival after heterotropic heart allografts. Low doses of cyclosporin A, which would not be sufficient to prolong graft survival, produced permanent engraftment in these mice (75), suggesting that this receptor plays a critical role in the development of rejection. This has been confirmed with small molecule antagonists of CCR1 (see below). Recently, Blease and colleagues reported that fewer goblet cells and less subepithelial fibrosis were found in $CCR1^{-/-}$ mice compared to that found in wildtype mice in a model of chronic fungal allergic disease. IL-4 and IL-13 levels were lower in the knockout mice but similar changes in leukocyte recruitment and airway hyperreactivity were found in the two groups. Although there was no effect on inflammation, these data suggest a role for CCRl in airway remodeling, an important feature of asthma (76).

6.1.1 CCRI Receptor Structure. Chimera studies of CCRI show that the N-terminus is important for ligand binding and selectivity among chemokines, whereas this domain has no effect on the receptor activation process, as measured by calcium flux or chemotaxis assays (77). Instead, the ECL-3 of CCRI is shown to be important for receptor signaling. These data are consistent with a multisite model for chemokine-chemokine receptor interaction, in which one or more **subsites** determine **chemokine** selectivity, but others are needed for receptor activation (78).

6.1.2 CCRI Antibodies. Antibodies to CCRI chemokine ligands such as MIP-la and **RANTES** have been reported and, although these ligands show some promiscuity based on their involvement with other chemokine receptors, their biological activity is presumed to be through CCR1 based on upregulation of this receptor in disease models. Antibodies to MIP-1 α have been used in an EAE model and have demonstrated involvement of the ligand (72). Antibodies to RANTES have been effective in a Lewis rat adjuvant-induced arthritis model, decreasing severity of the ongoing disease (79). A neutralizing anti-CCR1 polyclonal antibody provides protection in a bleomycinchallenged mouse model, reducing both in**flammatory** and fibrotic changes (80).

6.1.3 CCRI Peptide Antagonists. Modified forms of the chemokine ligands have proved useful in further validating the role of their receptors in disease pathology. Met-RANTES incorporates a methionine at the N-terminus of the ligand and has been shown to be an effective CCR1 antagonist ($K_i = 25 \text{ nM}$) in ¹²⁵Icompetition binding studies with **RANTES** (81). It selectively inhibits THP-1 chemotaxis mediated by RANTES ($IC_{50} = 6$ **nM**) or MIP-la ($IC_{50} = 0.5 \text{ nM}$), while showing no response to MCP-1-mediated chemotaxis and calcium flux. Met-RANTES has also been shown to be effective in a model of arthritis, effecting a decrease in onset and severity of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) when administered during induction (82). AOP-RANTES, with an AminOxyPentane that is isosteric with the side chain of methionine, also functions as a CCR1 antagonist. In a rat experimental glomerulonephritis model, AOP-RANTES effectively blocks monocyte infiltration (83). Because RANTES is also a ligand for the **CCR5** receptor, it may be that these modified ligands exert efficacy through dual antagonism.

6.1.4 CCRI Small Molecule Antagonists. RP23618 (1) is an early example of a nonpep-



tide small molecule **chemokine** antagonist (84). This compound inhibits ¹²⁵I-RANTES binding to THP-1 cell membranes ($IC_{50} = 3 \mu M$). The chemokine receptors CCR1 and CCR2 have been detected by RT-PCR as being present on this cell type (62). However, because (1)inhibits RANTES-induced **chemo**taxis and has no effect on an MCP-1-stimulated chemotactic response, this compound appears to be CCR1 selective. Because (1)is not competitive with RANTES, it is presumed to bind at an allosteric site.

There is a limited structure-activity relationship (SAR) provided around this series. However, **an** optimal **chain** length of three carbon atoms between the phenothiazine and the piperidine is demonstrated. The **two-carbon**linked **homolog** has significantly reduced activity ($IC_{50} < 20\%$ at 30 μ M) and the **four**carbon tether is at least 3 times less active than (1).

A similar pharmacophore finding was noted for early leads from the Berlex group (85). HEK293 cells containing the CCR1 receptor were evaluated for binding with another CCR1 ligand, MIP-1a. The three-carbon-tethered dibenzothiepine (2) was a potent







inhibitor of ¹²⁵I-MIP-1 α binding (IC₅₀ = 44 n*M*), whereas the two-atom-linked analog (3) did not show appreciable inhibition ($IC_{50} = 5$) μM). In a separate study, the structurally related xanthene carboxamide (4) was identified (86) as a CCRl antagonist for its ability to inhibit ¹²⁵I-MIP-1 α binding to human CCR1 transfected in CHO cells ($IC_{50} = 510 \text{ nM}$). Replacement of the hexyl group with benzyl (5) led to a significant loss of activity ($IC_{50} >$ 10,000 nM). It is interesting to compare (2) versus (4) in terms of a similar linking space between the aryl group and the tricyclic moiety. The conformational shape imposed by the amide and/or the position of the piperidine unit may be important considerations in the SAR of CCR1 antagonists.



loss of potency against CCR1. Diphenylmethane is a common tricyclic replacement and this strategy was implemented successfully, leading to $(11)K_i = 52 \pm 5 nM;$

removal of the 4'-hydroxy led to a complete





Table 4.2Consequence of Replacing Hydroxyl on the 4-Phenylpiperidine Unitin Dibenzothiepine Series^a

Compound	R		$K \cdot (nM)^b$
(R)		4 E Dh	
(0) (7)	OH	4-F-F11 Dh	44219
(7)	ОП		$\frac{203\pm28}{10\pm5\%}$
(0)			$19 \pm 5\%$ at 3 μM
(J) (10)			0% at $3 \mu M$
(UI)		Ph	0% at 3 μM

^{*a*}From Ref. 85.

 ${}^{b}K_{i}$ values derived from competitive binding on CCR1 with ${}^{125}I$ MIP-1a.



¹²⁵I-MIP-1 α displacement). Compound (11) appears to be selective for CCR1, in that it has no effect on the chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5, and CXCR4, or a select panel of biogenic amine receptors (87). There are no in vivo data reported for (11), perhaps because of the variable species similarity between human and mouse sequences. The homology between mouse/human CCR1 is 79%. In an effort to compare response of a CCR1 antagonist against the same receptor from different species, **HEK293** cells were transfected with marmoset, rabbit, and mouse CCR1 (88). Although (11)'s efficient in displacement of ¹²⁵I-MIP-la from human, rabbit, and marmoset, it is ineffective against mouse CCR1 (Table 4.3). Species variability is an issue for many **chemo**kine receptors and presents a challenge for evaluation of possible human therapeutics in relevant animal models.

Many of the published chemokine antagonists have a basic nitrogen as a common feature, and it is interesting to speculate how this might serve as an important recognition element. As noted earlier, the protonated **nitro**-

Table 4.3Species Selectivity for (11) in ItsAbility to Inhibit CCRI from Human,Rabbit, Marmoset, and Mouse^a

Species	$K_{\rm d}$ of MIP-1 α Binding (nM)	K_i of Inhibition of MIP-1 α Binding by (11) (n M) ^b
Human	2 ± 0.2	$41 \ge 6$
Rabbit	43 ± 17.8	245 ± 60
Marmoset	81 ± 23	451 ± 191
Mouse	32 ± 3.5	>10,000

"From Ref. 88.

 ${}^{b}K_{i}$ of inhibition of 125 I-MIP-1 α to HEK293 cells expressing CCR1 receptors from various species.

$(I^-, CH_3)_n$ N^+ OH R' CI				
Compound	R	n	$K_{ m i} ({ m n} M)^b$	
(12)	CN	0	52 ± 5	
(13)	CN	1	8 ± 2	
(14)	Н	0	116 ± 41	
(15)	Н	1	6 ± 1	

 Table 4.4
 Activity of Quaternary Ammonium Salts versus Nonquaternized Compounds^a

"From Ref. 85.

 ${}^{b}K_{i}$ values are derived from competitive binding on CCRl with 125 I-MIP-1 α .

gen might interact with the conserved Glu in TM7 (Fig. 4.5). This hypothesis is given credence by the finding that quaternary ammonium salts will show enhanced affinity with the receptor, implying a possible ion pairing with a carboxylate (Table 4.4).

A similar potency enhancement is seen for the xanthene carboxamide quaternary salt (16) (CCR1 IC₅₀ = 0.9 n*M*), where the simple isomer, was 50 and 100 times less active for the human and murine receptors, respectively. Compound (16) is a functional antagonist of MIP-la-stimulated Ca^{2+} flux in U937 cells ($IC_{50} = 0.73 \text{ nM}$). It also shows modest inhibition of CCR3 but is selective against a panel of other chemokine receptors (89).

BX471 (17) is a potent CCRl antagonist that has demonstrated efficacy in animal mod-



nonquaternized parent is 150 times less active (86). Compound (16) can exist as *cis* and *trans* isomers and a stereochemical preference is indicated in CCR1-binding studies (Table 4.5). Additionally, these investigators were interested in identifying a compound that was effective against human and murine CCR1, and therefore they screened against both receptors. The minor isomer, presumed to be the *cis*



(17)

els of multiple sclerosis and transplant rejection. It has been determined to be a reversible and surmountable antagonist that can effectively displace the radioiodinated CCR1 ligands ¹²⁵I-RANTES ($K_i = 2.8$ nM), ¹²⁵I.

Table 4.5	Species Selectivity for (16) in
Its Ability	to Inhibit CCRI from
Human an	d Mouse ^a

	IC ₅₀ 16 (nM)			
Species	Major Isomer	Minor Isomer		
Human CCR1	0.9	47		
Murine CCR1	5.8	740		

''Inhibitory activity against 125 I-MIP-1 α binding to human and mouse CCR1.

MIP-1 α ($K_i = 1 \text{ n}M$), and ¹²⁵I-MCP-3 ($K_i = 5.5$ nM) (90). BX471 demonstrates functional antagonism in its ability to block Ca^{2+} flux and inhibit CD11b upregulation in a whole blood assay. Bioavailability has been measured in both dog (F = 60%) and rat (F < 20%). Even though activity against the rat CCR1 is 100 times less potent than against human CCR1, and despite modest bioavailability, the compound was able to demonstrate efficacy in the EAE model when administered subcutaneously (s.c.) (t.i.d.). Additionally, in the rat heterotropic heart transplant rejection model, in which animals are given subtherapeutic doses of CsA, BX471 was able to prolong survival (91).

6.2 CCR2

There are two variants of the CCR2 receptor, CCR2A and CCR2B, differing at their C-terminal tails. These two isoforms are derived from a single gene through alternative splicing (92). CCR2B was found to be the predominant form in monocytes and seems to traffic more efficiently than CCR2A to the cell surface in stably transfected cell lines (93). All four monocyte chemotactic proteins (MCPs) are functional ligands of CCR2 (see Table 4.1). This receptor is expressed on monocytes, Tcells, basophils, and immature dendritic cells. Freshly isolated B-cells also show surface expression of CCR2 (94).

MCP-1 is elevated in several inflammatory diseases, including asthma, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, atherosclerosis, and stroke. Monocyte infiltrates and their cytokine products are characteristic features of inflamed tissue in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The synovial cells of RA patients, and animal **models** of the disease, produce elevated levels of MCP-1 (95–99). Peptide antagonists and antibodies implicate MCP-1 as a contributor to disease pathology. $CCR2^{-/-}$ and $MCP-1^{-/-}$ **mice show that this** receptor and its ligand play a crucial role in the recruitment of monoeytes/macrophages, which are the precursors of the lipid-laden foam cells. A significant reduction in arterial lipid deposition was found for both $CCR2^{-/-}$ and $MCP-1^{-/-}$ mice in models of atherosclerosis. This reduction was accompanied by fewer macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesions of these mice (100, 101). The relevance of these findings to human disease was suggested by the presence of MCP-1 in human atheromatous plaques (102).

In a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation, MCP-1 mRNA was significantly increased after antigen challenge and appeared to correlate with lung macrophage accumulation (103). Using the same model, it has recently been shown that MCP-1 neutralization drastically diminished bronchial hyperreactivity to methacholine and reduced inflammatory cell infiltration into the lung (104). However, in this type of model a clear discrepancy has been found between $CCR2^{-/-}$ and $MCP-1^{-/-}$ mice. $CCR2^{-/-}$ mice present an enhanced pulmonary allergic response against Aspergillus fumigatus (105) or no difference at all in the response to repeated ovalbumin sensitization and challenges (106). MCP- $1^{-/-}$ mice, by contrast, show a decrease in T-helper 2 (Th2) type T-cell responses, including a decrease in IL-4 production (107). The mechanism that explains how CCR2/MCP-1 affect T-cell differentiation is not clear, although it seems that they exert their effect at different levels.

As research in the area progresses, it appears that several other chemokine receptors, in addition to CCR5 and CXCR4, can act as coreceptors for the HIV virus (7). One of these receptors is CCR2. A mutation in the CCR2 gene that leads to a conservative amino acid substitution (V64I) has been linked to a decreased rate in the progression of the disease but not with initial susceptibility to infection (108). The mechanism responsible for this is not clear.

6.2.1 CCR2 Receptor Structure. Chimera studies have shown that the N-terminus, ECL-1, and ECL-2 of the CCR2 receptor are essential for MCP-1 binding and receptor-mediated signaling (77). A detailed analysis of the amino acid residues of ECL-1 in CCR2 has shown N104 and E105 as being essential for high affinity agonist binding but not involved in receptor activation. In contrast, the charged amino acid residue H100 does not contribute to ligand binding but is vital for receptor activation and initiation of transmembrane signaling (109).

The role of acidic residues in TM7 and ECL-2 of the CCR2 receptor has been evalu-

ated for their contribution to the binding **af**finity of MCP-1 and several small molecule antagonists (110). In this study, glutamate 291 (Glu291 or E291), a highly conserved acidic residue in TM7 of most chemokine receptors, has been identified to be critical for binding of certain small molecule antagonists, and to a lesser extent the binding of MCP-1 to its receptor (Fig. 4.5). It is hypothesized that the acidic moiety interacts with the piperidine basic nitrogen of small molecule antagonists (**18–20**). Because Glu291 is also involved in MCP-1 binding to CCR2, the spiropiperidine blockade of MCP-1 binding occurs by occupation of some of the space that CCR2-bound MCP-1 occupies. A class of antagonists that does not have a basic nitrogen (e.g., 27) is not affected by mutation of Glu291, suggesting a different binding motif for this series.

The acidic residue (Glu) in TM7 is found in most chemokine receptors and is rare in other serpentine receptors (Figs. 4.4 and 4.5). This negatively charged residue may also be significant in the small molecule ligand binding of other chemokine receptors. It is interesting to note that receptor models indicate that Glu291 is inside the ovid-helical bundle (Fig. 4.5) in a mirror image position to the critical binding residue of biogenic arnine receptors, an **aspartic** acid in TM3. This observation might explain the fact that many of the **leads** from high throughput screening for the **che**mokine receptors are compounds originally synthesized for biogenic amine programs.

6.2.2 CCR2 Antibodies. A CCR2 monoclonal antibody (mAb), ID9, was shown to have therapeutic benefit in a primate model of restenosis (111). The inflammatory response after stent implantation involves sustained accumulation of macrophages, resulting in neointimal hyperplasia. The CCR2 mAb ID9 reduced intimal thickening in the area of the stent approximately 60%, as ascertained on day 28. Two CCR2-specific monoclonal antibodies, MCP-1R02 and MCP-1R05, are reported to antagonize MCP-1 activity on CCR2expressing cell lines and normal human cells (112). These antibodies have been used to map the HIV-1 binding site on CCR2. MCP-1R02 is claimed to be specific for the amino terminus and acts as an agonist; it suppresses HIV-1

replication in M- and T-trophic HIV-1 viral isolates. MCP-1R05 is specific for ECL-3 of CCR2, acts as an antagonist (31), and has no effect on HIV-1 replication. Therefore, the HIV-1 interaction is primarily through the amino terminus.

Neutralizing antibodies to the CCR2 ligand MCP-1 have helped to validate its role in disease pathogenesis of arthritis and glomeruloritis. An antibody against rat MCP-1 has been evaluated in a collagen-induced arthritis model, and was shown to reduce joint swelling of the ankle, and suppresses macrophage infiltration to the synovial tissue (113). In an animal model of impaired renal function, in which MCP-1 was detected in glomeruli, vascular endothelial cells, and tubular epithelial cells of the injured kidney, anti MCP-1 mAbs reduced glomerulosclerosis and improved renal function (114). Anti-MCP-1 monoclonal antibodies have also shown therapeutic benefit in a kidney fibrosis model, through blockade of renal cell proliferation (115), and in a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) model in which T-cell trafficking was inhibited (116). Finally, as part of an effort to define the role of a variety of chemokines in allergic inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness, antibodies to RANTES, MIP-la, MCP-1, and the mouse-specific chemokine MCP-5 were evaluated in a mouse model of asthma (117). In response to an ovalbumin (OVA) challenge, the neutralizing antibody to MCP-1 reduced bronchial hyperresponsiveness and blocked leukocyte infiltration into the airways.

6.2.3 CCR2 Peptide Antagonists. Truncation or N-terminal deletion of select amino acids in MCP-1 results in a protein antagonist that blocks Ca^{2+} flux and chemotactic response (118,119). Truncation of the first nine amino acids (MCP-1^[10-76]), or deletion of amino acids 2–8 (MCP-1^[1+9-76], generate functional CCR2 antagonists. These protein antagonists have also demonstrated efficacy *in vivo*. When MCP-1^[9-76] is administered daily in the MRL-lpr arthritic mouse model, there is a significant reduction in the onset of arthritis, as determined by histopathologic evaluation of the joint and reduced joint swelling (57). Even when administered 12 days after disease onset, MCP-1^[9-76] shows a marked

Compound	IC ₅₀ (μM)			
	$\overline{\mathrm{CCR2}^a}$	Alphala	Alpha 1d	5HT1a
(18)	11,400	5.6	43	62
(19)	360	130	320	470
(20)	89	72	460	1070

Table 4.6	Selectivity Profile for CCR2 Antagonists (Spiropiperidines) versus Alpha
and 5-HT]	Receptors

"Measured in THP-1 cells using ¹²⁵MCP-1.

reduction in symptoms and histopathology. This suggests a turnover of cell infiltrate in the lesion and indicates the potential for therapeutic benefit through this mechanism after disease onset. It is worthwhile to note that ligand truncations have the potential to alter receptor selectivity. For example, truncation of the NH₂-terminal amino acid in MCP-1 generates a strong activator of eosinophil chemotaxis (120), presumably acting on CCR3. Further truncation converts the ligand to a CCR2 antagonist with no activity on eosinophils. Although ligand truncations are a common manipulation to profile chemokine SAR, few studies screen for selectivity of these truncated ligands against other receptors.

6.2.4 CCR2 Small Molecule Antagonists. The in *vivo* efficacy seen with anti-MCP-1 antibodies and **peptide** antagonists prompts the search for small molecule CCR2 antagonists. The spiropiperidines (18-20) are early examples of CCR2 antagonists, as determined by ¹²⁵I-MCP-1 binding and chemotaxis in THP-1 cells (110). As noted above with the CCR1 antagonists, a basic nitrogen is a common feature within this class of antagonists. Site-directed mutagenesis suggests that this nitrogen may form a critical recognition with an anionic residue (E291) in helix 7. The orthogonal relationship imposed on the phenyurethane and the piperidine ring by the spiro-carbon is urported to be essential for activity.

Selectivity is an issue for the **spiropiperi**dines, given that this class of compounds shows appreciable activity against alpha **ad**renergic and **5-hydroxytryptamine** (5-HT) receptors. Although lead optimization improved **CCR2** affinity (18)versus (**20**), and improved the relative difference in selectivity, the most



potent CCR2 antagonist still retained significant Alpha l a **adrenergic** activity (Table 4.6).

Another example of GPCR selectivity issues for CCR2 antagonists is seen with the indolopiperidines (121) (Table 4.7). As might be anticipated by the initial lead (21), prob-

				pK _i				
Compound	CCR2b	$5 \mathrm{HT}_{\mathrm{1A}}$	5HT _{1B}	$5 \mathrm{HT}_{1\mathrm{F}}$	$5 \mathrm{HT}_{2 \mathrm{a}}$	$5 \mathrm{HT}_{6}$	D_2	D ₃
(21)	7.3	7.0	7.9	8.5	7.7	7.1	7.8	8.1
(22)	6.6	5.9	6.3	5.8	6.8	6.2	6.1	6.7
(23)	7.1	6.3	6.7	5.9	7.6	6.2	7.0	7.2
(24)	7.4	5.1	6.0	$<\!5.5$	<4.7	6.7	5.9	5.6

Table 4.7Selectivity Profile of CCR2B Antagonists (Indolopiperidenes) versus 5-HTand Dopaminergic Receptors

lematic **affinity** with 5-HT and dopaminergic receptors was evident. However, impressive improvements in selectivity were effected by increasing the steric bulk around the piperidine nitrogen, leading to a conformationally rigid ring system (122) in the form of indolotropane (22), or imposing conformational restriction in the linker as with the cis-cyclohexyl derivative (23).C-2 substituents on the indole ring were not well tolerated, presumably because of the unfavorable influence on the piperidine ring conformation. Incorporation of both the tropane and cyclohexyl moieties simultaneously had a dramatic additive effect in providing a potent **CCR2** antagonist (24) with good selectivity profiles.

TAK-779 (25) is recognized primarily as a potent CCR5 antagonist, but it does exhibit





(23)

modest affinity for CCR2 (123). This is not surprising, considering the close homology between the CCR2 and CCR5 receptors (71% amino acid identity). The binding of ¹²⁵I-MCP-1 to a CHO cell line containing CCR2b

was inhibited by TAK-779 ($IC_{50} = 27 \text{ nM}$), which showed no effect against CCR1, CCR3, CCR4, and CXCR4.

There have been no reports on in *vivo* evaluation of small molecule CCR2 antagonists.



This may be a consequence of dissimilar responses against the human and murine receptors, with these antagonists being less potent against mouse and rat CCR2. This activity discrepancy is noted in the case of (26), in which

6.3 CCR3

CCR3 was originally reported to be expressed on eosinophils and appears to be the primary chemokine receptor on these cells



(26)

significant potency is demonstrated against the human receptor (binding $IC_{50} = 54 \text{ nM}$; chemotaxis $IC_{50} = 16 \text{ nM}$), and yet it is approximately 100 times less potent against the murine chemotactic response ($IC_{50} = 1400 \text{ nM}$) (124).

Nonbasic CCR2 antagonists have also been reported. The 3-chlorobenzyl 2-pyrrole carboxylic acid (27) is a modest CCR2 antagonist



 $(IC_{50} = 11.9 \,\mu M)$, and binding does not appear to be influenced by mutation of the conserved glutamic acid in TM7 (110). Consequently, it may bind in a region distinct from the antagonists that contain a basic nitrogen. The closely related indole (28) is also reported to be a modest CCRZ antagonist ($IC_{50} \equiv 1.2 \,\mu M$) (125).



(126). It is also expressed on basophils, Th2 lymphocytes, and mast cells (127–129). Based on its presence in a large array of cell types that are crucial for the induction and maintenance of inflammation in asthma and other allergic diseases, there is a significant effort to discover CCR3 receptor antagonists. In 1993, eotaxin (CCL11) was identified as an eosinophil-specific CC chemokine (130, 131). Subsequently, CCR3 was found to be activated by several other CC chemokines including MCP-3 (CCL7), MCP-4 (CCL13), RANTES (CCL5), eotaxin 2 (CCL24), and eotaxin 3 (CCL26) (126, 132, 133).

In human asthma, increased **mRNA** and protein expression of eotaxin have been demonstrated, as well as CCR3 expression on local infiltrating eosinophils, as determined by biopsies (134). Results obtained from mice genetically deficient for the eotaxin gene (135), as well as studies using eotaxin-blocking antibodies (117), have demonstrated a significant effect on the course of a lung allergic reaction. By contrast, another report describing the response of eotaxin-deficient mice, in a similar model of allergic lung inflammation, showed no significant difference from that of wild-type (136). The reason for this discrepancy is not understood. $CCR3^{-/-}$ mice have shown that this receptor plays an important role in eosinophil migration into the lung and skin. In intraperitoneally (i.p.) sensitized CCR3^{-/-} mice, eosinophil recruitment to bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and lung is decreased compared to that of wild-type after aerosol challenge. However, airway hyperreactivity (AHR) is enhanced under the same conditions (137). If the mice are sensitized epicutaneously with the same antigen, a diminished **AHR** response and eosinophil recruitment is observed (138). In the i.p. sensitized mice there is a significant mobilization of mast cells into the airway epithelium, but not into the skin. These results suggest that the mecha**nis**m of induction of **AHR** might be different, depending on the route of sensitization.

6.3.1 CCR3 Receptor Structure. Chimera studies of CCR3 and CCR1 receptors show that the N-terminal segments of CCR3 appear to be important for eotaxin binding (77). However, eotaxin remained an effective agonist at this chimeric receptor in either calcium flux or chemotaxis assays. These data are consistent with a multisite model for chemokine-chemokine receptor interaction.

6.3.2 CCR3 Antibodies. A specific CCR3 monoclonal antibody, 7B11, blocks binding of eotaxin, MCP-3, and RANTES to the CCR3 receptor, and also blocks chemokine-induced chemotaxis and calcium flux in human eosin-ophils (126). Because the CCR3 receptor is present on basophils, it is not surprising that 7B11 blocks chemotaxis of these cells in response to CCR3 ligands (127). In these same

studies, 7 B11 was shown to inhibit histamine and leukotriene release mediated by eotaxin. This **mAb** has also been shown to inhibit the release of reactive oxygen species (**ROS**) after stimulation with **eotaxin-1** or eotaxin-2 (139), and blocks the chemotactic response of eosinophils on **HUVEC** cells stimulated with **TNF** α and **IFN** γ (140). Because CCR3 has been implicated in having a role in HIV-1 pathology, 7 B11 has also been used to define the involvement of CCR3 in contributing to **HIV-1-spe**cific pathology (141).

CCR3 monoclonal antibodies have also been evaluated in vivo. A rat **mAb** specific for mouse CCR3 receptor depletes blood eosinophil levels in Nippostrongyos brasiliensis-infected mice, and reduced eosinophil levels in lung tissue and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BAL) fluid after repeated treatment (142). Surprisingly, this antibody had no effect on CCR3-regulated Ca²⁺ flux. In another report, a guinea pig-specific CCR3 mAb, 2A8, was also evaluated both in vitro and in vivo (143). 2A8 blocks the binding of guinea pig eotaxin to guinea pig eosinophils and guinea pig CCR3 transfectants, and shows functional antagonism of guinea pigeosinophils, as measured by Ca^{2} + flux and chemotaxis. In animals pretreated with ¹¹¹In-labeled eosinophils, 2A8 inhibited accumulation of these eosinophils in response to eotaxin.

6.3.3 CCR3 Peptide Antagonists. As demonstrated for other chemokines, modification of the N-terminal region has been employed as a successful strategy to identify receptor antagonists. Truncation of MCP-3 (MCP3^{110–761}) provides a ligand that retains potent receptor binding, yet is unable to induce chemotaxis, enzyme release, or Ca^{2+} flux (144). Dipeptidyl peptidase is able to truncate RANTES^[1–68] to RANTES^[3–68] and eotaxin^[1–74] to eotaxin^[3–74], and both have demonstrated functional antagonism in *vitro* (145–147).

RANTES, which can signal through CCR1, CCR3, or CCR5, has been modified to Met-RANTES, as described earlier. Met-RANTES acts as a functional antagonist and blocks human eosinophil chemotaxis, Ca²+ flux, actin polymerization, and release of ROS after stimulation with RANTES, MCP-3, and eotaxin (148). Met-RANTES apparently antagonizes the response of eosinophils through CCR1 at low concentrations and through CCR3 at higher concentrations.

Met-chemokine β 7 (Ck β 7) is an N-terminal-modified form of macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP4), wherein an alanine is replaced with methionine at the extreme N-terminal residue (149). MIP4 [also known as pulmonary and activation-regulated chemokine (PARC) (150); alternative macrophage activation-associated CC chemokine (AMAC) (151); or dendritic cell-derived chemokine (DCCK) (152, 153)] itself shows some degree of CCR3 antagonistic activity. However, Met-Ck β 7 is significantly more potent as a CCR3 antagonist than MIP4, Met-RANTES, or AOP-RANTES, and blocks eotaxin or MCP4-induced eosinophil chemotaxis at concentrations as low as 1 nM. Direct binding of $Ck\beta7$ to CCR3 is evidenced by its ability to displace radioiodinated eotaxin or MCP4 from CCR3.

6.3.4 CCR3 Small Molecule Antagonists. UCB 35625 (**16**), which has already been described as having CCR1 activity, also functions as a CCR3 antagonist. This compound inhibits a chemotactic response to transfected cells expressing either CCR1 or CCR3 (CCR1/MIP-1 α IC₅₀ = 9.6 nM, CCR3/eotaxin IC₅₀ = 93.7 nM) (89). Again, this dual activity is not surprising, given the considerable homology between the two receptors. Because (16) is not as effective in ligand displacement binding assay as it is in blocking receptor function, this suggests that it may bind with a common region in both CCR1 and CCR3 that are necessary for initiation of receptor signaling.

Another tool for measuring cellular response is a shape-change assay, as measured by gated autofluorescence/forward scatter (GAFS) through flow cytometry (154, 155). Eosinophil shape change in response to eotaxin was effectively blocked by (16) (89).

In an effort to improve CCR3-selective antagonists, carboxamide derivatives based on (16) were synthesized (156). Given that it was presumed that the ammonium salt was forming an important electrostatic interaction with a carboxylate in the receptor, an **amine** moiety was maintained within the template. The 2-(benzothiazolethio)acetamide (29) showed po-



tency for CCR3 with improved selectivity over CCR1 (CCR3 IC₅₀ = 750 nM, CCR1 IC₅₀ = 7100 nM). Further derivatization of the aromatic groups, believed to be important for binding to hydrophobic pockets, led to (30) (CCR3 IC₅₀ = 2.3 nM, CCR1 IC₅₀ = 1900 nM). CCR3 functional antagonism was demonstrated by its ability to block Ca²+ flux and chemotaxis of human peripheral blood eosinophils stimulated with eotaxin (157).

Other CCR3-specific antagonists are characterized by the piperidine ureas (**31–33**), and the di-substituted pyrrolidine (34) (158). Again, a basic nitrogen, capable of protonation at physiologic pH, appears to be a common feature. It is important to note that the quaternary ammonium salt (32)demonstrates enhanced potency, relative to that of its parent (31)in binding, chemotaxis, and a whole-blood GAFS assay (Table 4.8) (159).

Indolinopiperidines such as (34) were identified through random screening as CCR3 antagonists ($IC_{50} = 0.7 \ \mu M$) (160). An H-bond acceptor at the 3-position of the **aryl** urea and a six-atom chain linkage were identified as important structural requirements for CCR3binding affinity. The rigidity of these indolinopiperidines was relaxed by incorporation of a 4-benzylpiperidine in its place, giving (35) ($IC_{50} = 0.02 \ \mu M$). Substitution around the **pi**peridine further improved potency to the nanomolar range, as evidenced by (36) ($IC_{50} = 0.001 \ \mu M$).

The substituted pyrrolidines (37) and (38) have been reported to inhibit the binding of eotaxin in CCR3-transfected HEK cells (IC_{50} –1 n*M*) (161). These antagonists also inhibit eotaxin-induced calcium signal and eotaxin-induced eosinophilia. It is notable that these relatively compact, low MW analogs are able to provide exceptional binding affinity.

An exception to the requirement of a basic nitrogen in the pharmacophore of a CCR3 antagonist is noted by the phenyalanine **deriva**-



(30)

tives (39-41). High throughput screening using a FLIPR format to measure intracellular calcium changes identified (39) as an early lead (CCR3 IC₅₀ = 535 nM) (162). Enantiospecificity appears to be critical for optimal antagonist/receptor interaction as replacement of the L-configuration of tyrosine with the D-amino acid results in greater than 200fold lower affinity. Lead optimization to (40) demonstrated potent binding affinity (CCR3 $IC_{50} = 5 nM$) and functional antagonism, as measured by inhibition of eosinophil chemotaxis by use of eosinophils from allergic donors ($IC_{50} = 15 nM$). No in vivo data are reported for these compounds, presumably because of the hydrolytic lability of the ester. An ester replacement strategy identified 41 with a CCR3 with an IC_{50} value of 45 nM. It has yet to be shown whether any of these small molecule CCR3 antagonists are effective in an animal model.



		$\mathrm{IC}_{50}\left(\mu M ight)$	
Compound	CCR3 L1.2 ^a Binding	CCR3 L1.2 ^b Chemotaxis	Human Eosinophil Chemotaxis ^c
(31)	0.059	0.012	0.005
(32) (33)	0.001 0.005	0.001	0.0004 0.003

Table 4.8 Inhibition of Eotaxin Binding, Eotaxin-Induced Transfectant, and Eosinophil Chemotaxis

^aIC₅₀ values derived from competitive binding of ¹²⁵I eotaxin to CCR3 L1.2 transfectant cells. ^bIC₅₀ values derived from inhibition of eotaxin-induced chemotaxis of the L1.2 transfectant cell line.

 ${}^{c}IC_{50}$ values derived from inhibition of eotaxin-induced chemotaxis of human eosinophils.

6.4 CCR4

CCR4 was originally cloned by Power and colleagues from a basophilic cell line (163). RNA for CCR4 is expressed in stimulated T-cells, B-cells, monocytes, platelets, and, to a lesser extent, in basophils (163,164). CCR4 has been linked to Th2 cell polarization (165–167) and the expression of CCR4 was strongly upregu-

lated upon activation through the T-cell recep-tor or by other cytokines such as transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) (166, 167). Two high affinity ligands have been described for CCR4,



(34)







(36)















MDC (**CCL22**) and TARC (**CCL17**) (see Table 4.1). The role of the mouse ligand analogs has **been** studied in murine models of asthma. In ovalbumin-sensitized and -challenged mice,



an anti-MDC antibody inhibits eosinophil recruitment to the lungs and protects against methacholine-induced bronchial hyperreactivity (168). Additionally, an anti-TARC antibody has been shown to attenuate an OVA-induced inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness (169). In contrast to these results obtained from the neutralization of CCR4 ligands, the receptor knockout does not show any phenotype different from that of wild-type mice in the same models of allergic lung inflammation (170). In human tissues, **CCR4** is expressed in all IL-4-positive cells in the bronchial mucosa of asthmatic patients that have been challenged 24 h before tissues were collected (171). In the same study, CCR4 ligands were found to be highly expressed by the airway epithelium in the same patient population. It has also been suggested that CCR4 and its ligands are also involved in other inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis and atopic dermatitis (172-174). These last observations correlate with the fact that CCR4-positive T-cells include all skin-homing cells (cutaneous lymphocyte antigen-positive cells) and other memory T-cells but not intestinal memory or naïve T-cells ($\alpha 4\beta$ 7-positive T-cells) (175). This suggests a-role for CCR4 in tissuespecific homing of T-cells; however, the relevance of this tissue-specific homing to inflammatory skin diseases is not yet clear.

6.5 CCR5

This receptor, originally cloned as ChemR13, is part of the family of CC chemokine receptors binding RANTES (CCL5), MIP-1a (CCL3), and MIP-1 β (CCL4) (176–178).CCR5 is expressed on monocytes and some CD4+T-lymphocyte subsets and its activation leads to chemotaxis of these cells (7).

CCR5 and CXCR4 represent the most important coreceptors for the HN-1 virus (179). CCR5 is involved in a sequential process, in which the viral gp120 interacts first with CD4, and then associates with the chemokine receptor to allow envelope fusion and viral entry. Strong genetic evidence supports the importance of CCR5 in HIV pathogenesis. Individuals homozygous for the A32 deletion are deficient in the surface expression of CCR5 and constitute the majority of the exposed but uninfected population (180–183). This mutation is represented at a high frequency in several human populations (184).

CCR5 is also expressed in T-lymphocytes found in synovial tissues from rheumatoid arthritis patients. Although CCR5 appears to be preferentially expressed on Th1 lymphocytes (165, 166), a recent clinical study proposed an important role for this receptor in asthma, a classic Th2 disease. This study suggests that individuals carrying the A32 deletion allele are at reduced risk of developing asthma (185). Two subsequent studies, however, suggest that there is no genetic evidence linking asthma and atopy with CCR5 A32 polymorphism (186,187). Further studies in the asthmatic population as well as the use of pharmacological tools would be needed to delineate the importance of CCR5 activation in allergic asthma.

Some correlation has been reported between the A32 mutation and graft rejection. In 21 patients homozygous for the mutation, *a* longer graft survival was observed compared to that for the control group. The results suggest a role for this receptor in transplant rejection (188).

6.5.1 CCR5 Receptor Structure. Many mutagenesis and chimera studies have shown that the N-terminus and the ECL-2 of the CCR5 receptor are involved in ligand binding (189). It has also been shown that the ECL-2 of CCR5 is the major determinant for chemokine binding specificity, whereas the **amino-termi**nal domain plays a more significant role for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) and virus coreceptor function (190). However, a potential involvement for the ECL-2 of CCR5 in HN-1 viral infectivity has been elucidated by mAb studies that use mAb 2D7, in which the epitope maps to a peptide derived from the ECL-2 domain, and inhibits both infection and gp120 binding (191). The overlapping binding site of chemokines and gp120 on the CCR5 amino terminus and ECL-2, as well as the involvement of these residues in the epitopes of mAbs, suggests that these regions are significantly exposed at the receptor surface. More recent studies have focused on the contribution of specific charged and aromatic resides (D2, Y3, Y10, D11, E18, and K26) in the amino terminus of CCR5 and their role in both chemokine and gp120 high affinity binding (192–197).

The role of the transmembrane helical domains of CCR5 receptor has also been evaluated. It has been shown that a hydrophobic residue in TM7, M287, is critical for both **MIP-1** α binding and receptor activation (Fig. 4.4). However, this mutant remains biologically active in the HN-1 coreceptor fusion assay (198). In another study it has been shown that glycine residue (G163) close to the extracellular domain in TM4, is critical for gp120 binding and infections by all tested R5 isolates of HIV-1 (199). It is interesting to note that chemokine binding can be independent of HIV-1 coreceptor activity and different TM domains can be involved in gp120 and chemokine binding to the CCR5 receptor.

6.5.2 CCR5 Antibodies. CCR5 mAbs have been reported by a number of groups (191, 200–202) and have proved useful in defining structural determinants important for natural ligand binding, chemokine activity and receptor signaling, gp120 binding to CCR5, and epitopes important for controlling HIV-1 entry. The mAbs 3A9, 2D7, and PA12 all inhibit HIV-1 entry and fusion, yet display significant differences in their ability to block chemokine binding, calcium flux, and chemotaxis. The 3A9 mAb was shown to bind to the N-terminus and is ineffective as an inhibitor of MIP-la, **MIP-1** β , and RANTES binding, and does not block MIP-1 β -induced chemotaxis at concentrations up to 100 μ M. However, 3A9 blocks infection of PHA-activated PBMCs by M-trophic strains (ID, $= 0.5-2.3 \ \mu g/mL$) (200). The murine mAb PA12, whose epitope also maps to the CCR5 N-terminus, has no effect on RANTES-induced calcium flux and is only a

modest inhibitor of HIV-1 fusion and entry, yet strongly inhibits gp120 binding (201). In contrast, the 2D7 binding site is mapped to the second extracellular loop of CCR5 and completely blocks chemokine binding, Env binding, and viral infection (191). MAb 45531 also binds to an epitope in ECL-2 of CCR5, albeit in adifferent region from that of 2D7 (202). This antibody blocks chemokine binding, but is relatively inefficient in **blocking gp120** binding. It would seem then that gp120 and the β -chemokines interact with overlapping but distinct sites on CCR5. Chemotaxis and chemokine signaling are not necessary for HIV-1 entry, and different receptor sites seem to have distinct functions (203–205). As a general rule, gp120 associates with both the Nterminus and ECL-1 of the receptor (192, 195), whereas chemokines favor ECL-2 for binding (206).

6.5.3 CCR5 Peptide Antagonists. Although RANTES, MIP-1a, and MIP-1 β have all demonstrated an ability to suppress HIV infection in vitro (54), there has been concern expressed over using therapeutic agents that also function as agonists and have a potential to attract leukocytes to various tissues. Chemokine derivatives such as Met-RANTES, with an additional methionine at the N-terminus, and AOP-RANTES, with an aminoxypentane that is isosteric with the side chain of methionine, are pure and partial antagonists of CCR5, re-

spectively. They inhibit HIV strains containing CCR5 at 10-fold greater potency than that of the natural ligands (54). Combination therapy has also proved effective at inhibiting mixed infections (207). AOP-RANTES (CCR5 antagonist) and Met-SDFlb (CXCR4 antagonist), when used in combination, were much more effective (95–99% inhibition) at blocking R5X4 dual-tropic HIV-1 primary isolates than when used alone (32–61% inhibition).

Truncated **peptides** have also been evaluated. A truncated version of RANTES (**RANTES**^[8–68]) binds to **CCR5**, yet is incapable of eliciting a chemotactic response (53). This would tend to support the role of the amino terminus in receptor activation. **RANTES**^[8–68] does block HIV-1 infection in cells (208).

6.5.4 CCR5 Small Molecule Antagonists. As a consequence of screening, the National Cancer Institute chemical repository for inhibitors of HIV-1 replication, the distamycin analog NSC65106 (42) was identified as having antiviral activity (209). Its mechanism of action appears to be through involvement of chemokine receptors such as CCR5 and CXCR4. It has also been shown to inhibit CCR1 and CCR3 and is inactive against CCR2 and CXCR2 (210). The monomer (43) and regioisomer (44) were inactive against this panel of receptors.

As part of an effort to identify CCR2b antagonists, the ammonium salt (45) and the





phosphonium salt (46) were found to have fair activity against CCR5 (IC₅₀ values of 0.39 and 0.62 μ M, respectively) (211). Lead optimization through ring expansion resulted in the quaternary ammonium anilide (25) (CCR5 IC₅₀ = 0.0014 μ M; CCR2b IC₅₀ = 0.027 μ M). Also known as TAK-779, (25) is inactive against other chemokine receptors such as CCR1, CCR3, CCR4, and CXCR4 (202).

TAK-779 inhibits the binding of anti-CCR5 mAb 45531 to MOLT-4/CCR5 cells and is therefore presumed to bind to ECL-2 (202). However, it does not inhibit binding of 2D7, which maps to a different region of ECL-2; or of 3A9, which recognizes the amino terminus of CCR5 (123). TAK-779 is an effective inhibitor of HIV-1 in T-cells and blocks R5HIV-1 replication without cytotoxicity to host cells (212,213).

The binding site of TAK-779 has been explored using Ala-scanning mutagenesis on more than 60 residues in the N-termini and extracellular loops 1–3, and more than 35 residues within TM1-TM7 (214). In this study they could not identify specific amino acid residues within the extracellular domains of CCR5 that affected the antiviral action of TAK-779. However, several residues in the TM domains (L33, Y37, T82, W86, Y108,



(44)



(45)



(46)

T123, and E283) were found to interact with TAK-779. The binding site of TAK-779 has been postulated to be within a cavity formed between helices 1, 2, 3, and 7 of the CCR5 receptor (Fig. 4.5).

The sulfonyl spiropiperidine (47) has also demonstrated activity against CCR5 ($IC_{50} =$



35 nM) (215). The importance of an enantioselective interaction is suggested in that the (2R) diastereomer of (47) has an IC₅₀ value of 870 nM for CCR5, and is therefore 25 times less potent than the (2S) isomer. HIV-1 viral replication in PBMCs is inhibited by (47), with a modest IC, value of 6 μ M. The SAR of the C-2 phenyl fragment has also been investigated, with the 3'-C1 derivative proving optimal (CCR5 IC₅₀ = 10 nM) (216). Oral bioavailability within this series of sulfonyl spiropiperidines has proved to be very poor (F_{rat} < 3%).

Constrained analogs have also been prepmed. The **3,4**-*trans*-pyrrolidine (48) shows better potency (CCR5 IC₅₀ = 26 nM) than the corresponding cis analog (CCR5 IC₅₀ = 3500 nM) (217).

Diarylsulfones (49) and (50) were identified as early leads in a Schering CCR5 program (218–220). These antagonists had been initially prepared for a muscarinic program and



(48)

showed significant activity against the M_2 receptor (49): CCR5 $K_i = 1.0$ @, $M_2 K_i = 1.3$ nM; (50):CCR5 IC₅₀ = 440 nM, $M_2 K_i = 0.8$ nM).

The initial strategy to improve potency and selectivity focused on substitution on and around the piperazine (218). Chirality of the piperazine 2-methyl was used to improve potency and selectivity, **as** demonstrated by the preference for the (2s)-methyl piperazine (51) (**CCR5** $K_i = 28 \text{ nM}, M_2 K_i = 485 \text{ nM}$). The absence of any substitution at the 2-position (**52**) resulted in a dramatic loss of activity (**CCR5** IC₅₀ = 1300 nM).

Additional **SAR analyses** found that replacement of sulfonyl with methylene, as in (**53**), retained potency and selectivity (**CCR5** $K_i = 18 \text{ nM}, M_2 K_i = 760 \text{ nM}$). The next concern was metabolic lability of the methylene dioxy, and the 3'-chlorophenyl analog (**54**) was found to be a suitable alternative (**CCR5** $K_i = 45 \text{ nM}, M_2 K_i = 1400 \text{ nM}$). Both (53) and (**54**) were shown to block viral entry at subcytotoxic levels (**IC**₅₀ values of 1.7 and 12 nM, respectively). In addition, (53)inhibited the replication of primary HIV-1 isolates in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (**PBMCs**) (**IC**₅₀ = 8 nM).



(49)

Further exploitation of these leads led to the discovery that the shortened piperidino**piperidine** amide analog (55) also shows significant inhibition of CCR5 (CCR5 $K_i = 66 nM$, $M_2 K_i = 1323 nM$) (220). However, this compound has poor biovailability, presumably because of metabolism at the benzylic site. To address this shortcoming, ethoxime was intro-













(54)





luced, followed by subsequent replacement of he then labile **2,6-dimethyl** phenyl with a **yridine** N-oxide fragment, to give (**56**). This esulted in significant improvements of rat hasma levels after oral administration (CCR5 $\zeta_i = 45 \text{ nM}, M_2 K_i = 1400 \text{ nM}; \text{ rat pk at 10}$ ng/kg p.o.: AUC_(0-24 h) = 8200 ng mL^{-1·}h⁻¹, $F_{(rat)} = 63\%, F_{(monkey)} = 52\%$). The piperazine malog (**57**) also showed improved pharmacokinetics (CCR5 $K_i = 7 \text{ nM}, M_2 K_i = 250 \text{ nM}; \text{ rat pk}:$ (AUC_(0-6 h) = 9243 ng mL^{-1·}h⁻¹). Compound (**56**) has also been referred to as SCH-C, and is reported to have entered Phase I clinical trials.

6.6 CCR6

Specific chemokine receptors involved in **dendritic** cell biology are a topic of current **inves**- tigation. Originally cloned as STRL-22, CKR-L3, GPR-CY4, or DRY6, CCR6 has only one chemokine ligand, MIP- 3α (CCL20) (221–223). More recently, it has been shown that a family of antimicrobial peptides, the β defensions, also bind CCR6, although their affinity for this receptor is significantly lower than that of **MIP-3** α (224).**CCR6** has been shown to be expressed in **PBMCs**, and in a subpopulation of immature dendritic cells. CD34⁺-derived dendritic cells, but not monocyte-derived dendritic cells, show CCR6 expression and a significant response to MIP- 3α (225). Recently, Yang and colleagues (226) have shown that in the presence of $TGF\beta$, monocyte-derived dendritic cells are also able to express CCR6. In addition, CCR6 has been found to be expressed in a subset of memory T-cells as well as in a subset of B-cells (227, 228). Moreover, it has been described that CCR6 plays an essential role in the arrest of a subset of memory T-cells to activated dermal endothelium under physiologic flow conditions (229). All these results strongly support a role for MIP- 3α /CCR6 in dendritic cell migration and in the recall immune response.



CCR6^{-/-} mice have been recently generated by two different groups. In the Cook study, there was no evidence of gross abnormalities in any major organ, and all major leukocyte populations appeared normal (230). Dendritic cells coexpressing CD11b and CD11c were absent from the subepithelial dome of Peyer's patches. Some decreased humoral response to orally administered rotavirus was observed but no important delay in the viral clearance. In a second study, using a contact hypersensitivity model and a delay hypersensitivity model for the analysis of $CCR6^{-/-}$ mice, Varona and colleagues described a role for CCR6 in the activation/migration of CD4+ T-cell subsets (231). More recently, it has been reported that CCR6^{-/-} mice are protected from developing allergic lung inflammation and airway hyperreactivity in a cockroach model (232).

6.7 CCR7

CCR7 expression has been detected in mature dendritic cells (225, 233, 234), naïve T-cells, and a subset of memory T-cells (central mem-

ory T-cells) (235, 236). Two ligands for CCR7 have been identified: MIP-3ß (CCL19) and SLC (CCL21) (237). CCR7 and CXCR5 together have been proposed as the main receptors involved in cell recruitment into the lymph nodes, Peyer's patches, and spleen. The constitutive expression of MIP-3 β (ELC) and SLC in lymphoid tissue supports a role for these chemokines in the trafficking of lymphocytes to secondary lymphoid organs. MIP- 3β is also expressed in interdigitating dendritic cells, whereas the other ligand for CCR7, SLC, is secreted by stromal cells (238-240). Dieu and colleagues (225) have shown an interesting relationship between CCR6 and CCR7 expression in dendritic cells. Although CCR6 is expressed in immature dendritic cells and these cells are responsive to MIP-3a, cell maturation causes CCR6 downregulation and CCR7 upregulation. Concomitant with the expression of CCR7, mature dendritic cells acquire the capability to respond to MIP-3P. Other studies have also observed CCR7 upregulation in mature dendritic cells (233,234). The differential expression of these chemo-



kine receptors likely accounts for the distinct migration patterns observed for immature and mature dendritic cells.

A natural mutation in mice, the plt mutation, has helped to elucidate the role of CCR7 and its ligands. Mice homozygous for the mutation show impaired homing of T-cells to the lymph nodes and spleen (241). These mice also show a decreased number of interdigitating dendritic cells in lymph nodes. Recently, the plt mutation has been associated with a deletion that results in the lack of MIP-3 β and reduced expression of SLC (242). The phenotype of plt mice reflects the role of CCR7 in dendritic and T-cell recruitment.

CCR7 knockout mice show a significant reduction in naïve T-cells in secondary lymphoid tissues as well as important lymphoid tissue abnormalities. When challenged, CCR7-/mice show an impairment in T-cell-mediated immune response, including impairment of delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions (243). Because of the importance of CCR7 in T- and dendritic-cell recruitment, targeting CCR7 might represent a viable way of interfering with acquired immune responses. However, given that no studies have been reported in which the role of CCR7 has been specifically **studied** in animal models of human diseases, it is difficult to predict from the in vitro data and the few in vivo studies available, the consequences of inhibiting CCR7.

6.8 CCR8

CCR8 was cloned by several groups as an orphan chemokine receptor (TER1, ChemR1, CKR-L1) (244–246). CCR8 is constitutively expressed at high levels only in the thymus, although low levels of mRNA are also present in the spleen (244). A ligand for human CCR8 has been shown recently to be the CC chemokine I-309 (CCL1). It was the only chemokine, among a large panel, to induce intracellular calcium mobilization and chemotaxis in CCR8-transfected cells (247,248).

Both CCR8 and CCR4 are preferentially expressed by Th2 cells (165–167, 249) and I-309 induces a preferential migration of human Th2-polarized cells in vitro (167, 249).

A murine homolog of CCR8 has been characterized and shows a pattern of expression similar to that of hCCR8 (250). In the periphery, CCR8 mRNA expression was present only in a Th2-polarized subset of CD4+ T-cells. The ligand for mCCR8 has been identified as T-cell activation gene (TCA)-3 (250, 251). TCA-3 induces chemotaxis and activation of neutrophils, macrophages, mesangial cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells (252–255).

CCR8 knockout mice have been generated and analyzed in a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation (256). In models of Th2-type response, including Schistosoma *mansoni*-soluble egg antigen (SEA)-induced granuloma formation as well as ovalbumin- and cockroach antigen-induced allergic airway inflammation, CCR8 knockout mice showed impaired Th2 cytokine production and reduced eosinophil recruitment. By contrast, in a typical Th1 model of secondary granuloma formation, CCR8 knockout mice behaved in a manner no different from that of wild-type mice. These results suggest an important role for CCR8 in Th2 functional responses in *vivo*.

7 CXC RECEPTORS

7.1 CXCRI and CXCR2

Two human receptors for IL-8 (CXCL8) have been identified. CXCR1 preferentially binds IL-8 and GCP-2, whereas CXCR2 binds all ELR-containing chemokines, including IL-8, GRO α , GRO β , GRO γ , NAP-2, ENA 78, and GCP-2 (18, 257–259). IL-8 is primarily regarded as a neutrophil chemoattractant, in spite of the fact that these receptors are expressed on eosinophils, monocytes, and basophils (18). CXCR1/2 activation, in addition to inducing chemotaxis in different leukocytes, also stimulates the release of granule enzymes and respiratory burst in neutrophils (260).

A close association has been described for IL-8 and other CXCR1/2 ligands in acute inflammation, including neutrophil-mediated inflammatory diseases such as ischemiareperfusion injury, bacterial pneumonia, adult respiratory distress syndrome, and other infectious diseases. Neutralization of IL-8 in rabbits has shown dramatic protection in several models of neutrophil-mediated acute inflammation (261,262).

The exact role of CXCRI and CXCR2 has been difficult to define, in part because mice have a single receptor for **IL-8-like** molecules. Disruption of this receptor gene in mice results in abnormal myeloid and lymphoid development (263). The mice fail to mobilize neutrophils in response to intraperitoneal thioglycolatechallenge. In an allergic model of lung inflammation, mice with a targeted deletion of the IL-8 receptor showed a marked decrease in the recruitment of neutrophils into the airways (264). After multiple challenges, knockout mice had increased B-cells and fewer neutrophils compared to those of wild-type (wt) mice. A diminished hyperresponse to methacholine was also observed in the knockout mice, suggesting that the IL-8 receptor can modulate the IgE response and bronchial hyperresponsiveness, in addition to the regulation of neutrophil infiltration. In support of its possible role in airway disease, several studies have shown the presence of IL-8 in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of asth-

matic patients (265–268). In addition to their role as chemoattractants for neutrophils, CXCR1 and CXCR2 ligands have been shown to be potent angiogenic factors, whereas most non-ELR-CXC chemokines (CXCR3, CXCR4, and CXCR5 ligands) are angiostatic (269, 270). Several examples of diseases in which the balance between angiostatic and angiogenic chemokines is altered have been described, including chronic pancreatitis, inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (271–273).

7.1.1 CXCR1/CXCR2 Receptor Structure. CXCR1 and CXCR2 have a high degree of amino acid identity (77%), and yet they show different binding selectivity for CXC **chemo**kines. **CXCR2** has similar binding affinity for IL-8, GROa and NAP-2, whereas CXCR1 is selective and has high affinity only for IL-8, and a much weaker affinity for GCP-2. It has been shown that the N-terminus and ECL-2 are important for both ligand binding and selectivity among CXCR1 and **CXCR2** receptors. **Ala** scanning of the CXCR1 extracellular domains shows that several charged residues (D11, R199, R203, D265, E275, and R280) are critical for IL-8 binding (274–277). Similarly, additional charged residues in the N-terminus and ECL-2 of the CXCR2 receptor are also shown to be critical for binding of IL-8, NAP-2, and GRO to CXCR2. Residues important for IL-8 binding are D9, E12, K108, and K120, whereas E7, D9, and E12 significantly contribute to GROa binding (278). In this study it is clear that residues contributing to the high affinity binding site of IL-8 and GROa on CXCR2 have both overlapping and uncommon regions. Notably, mutations of the N-terminus residues (D9, E12) and certain ECL-1 residues (K108, N110, K120) reduce cell activation and receptor signaling to all three ligands (278).

7.1.2 CXCR1/CXCR2 Antibodies. Neutralizing monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies of **CXCR2** have been generated to profile the function of each IL-8 receptor (CXCR1 and CXCR2), and important distinctions have been proposed. Changes in calcium flux and signaling for granule enzyme release can be initiated in a chemokine-specific manner, and blocked with antibodies specific to each receptor (anti-IL8R1 and anti-IL8R2) (279). Respiratory burst, activation of phospholipase D (279), and neutrophil chemotaxis (280) are proposed to be stimulated predominantly through CXCRl. Priming of neutrophil NADPH oxidase is also mediated primarily through CXCR1 (281). Understanding the role of each receptor in contributing to a physiologic response of neutrophils will be important in the design of new therapeutics.

7.1.3 CXCR1/CXCR2 Peptide Antagonists. As indicated above, the chemokine N-terminus seems to contain a critical recognition site important for receptor binding and activation. The ELR sequence is essential to CXCR1/ligand interaction and its importance in IL-8 has been established through analog deletion or amino acid substitution within this region (13). Truncation of the first five amino acids in the IL-8 Nt (IL-8^[6-72]), or substitution of the first five amino acids with two alanines (IL-8^[AAR7-72]) gave high affinity antagonists capable of blocking receptor binding, neutrophil chemotaxis, and respiratory burst (282). An N-terminal truncation of GROa demonstrates CXCR2 antagonism; similar changes in PF4





have also been shown to antagonize CXCR2 (283). These NH_2 -terminally modified analogs had no effect on IL-&stimulated elastase release or superoxide generation, which are responses presumed to be mediated by CXCR1.

A naturally occurring inhibitor of IL-8 (**IL**-**8INH**) has been identified in the supernatant of polymorphonuclear leukocytes. This **52-kDa** protein blocks ¹²⁵**I-IL-8** binding to the receptor by binding specifically to IL-8. **IL-8INH** demonstrates in *vivo* activity by inhibiting neutrophil infiltration to mouse ear (284).

Capped hexapeptides and heptapeptides have also been reported as inhibitors of IL-8. Antileukinate (58)inhibits the binding of IL-8 to both receptors and blocks both neutrophil chemotaxis and activation (285). GRO α and IL-8 have been shown to be necessary for growth of lung, stomach, and colon **adenocar**cinomas, and antileukinate will inhibit the binding of GRO α to specific receptors on **ade**nocarcinoma cell lines and block proliferation (286). Antileukinate has also been shown to block Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA)-induced neutrophil infiltration into the lung (287).

7.1.4 CXCR1/CXCR2 Small Molecule Antagonists. There are early reports of natural products identified as CXCR1 and CXCR2 antagonists. Extracts from sponge (Dysidea , *frondosa*) provided Frondosins A (59) and C (60) as novel sesquiterpenes (288). Lissoclin





disulfoxide (61) was also extracted from a marine organism, the South African asidian *Lis*soclinum (**289**). All three natural products (59–61) show modest affinity for **CXCR2** (Table 4.9). However, similar activity against PKC was also noted, and thus the activity appears to be nonselective.

Compound	$\operatorname{IC}_{50}(\mu M)$		
	CXCR1 ^a Binding	CXCR2 ^b Binding	ΡΚϹα
(59)	3.4	3.2	1.8
(60)	84	23.6	20.9
(61)	0.6	0.8	1.5

Table 4.9 Inhibition of CXCR1, CXCR2, and PKC α with Frondosins A and C, and Lissoclin Disulfoxide

^{*a*}IC₅₀ values derived from competitive binding with ¹²⁵I-IL-8.

^bIC₅₀ values derived from competitive binding with ¹²⁵I-IL-8.

The diaryl urea (62) inhibits ¹²⁵I-IL-8 binding to CXCR2 on CHO cells ($IC_{50} = 500 \text{ nM}$) (290, 291). A simple incorporation of a bromine on one of the aryl groups (63) provided a marked enhancement in CXCR2 affinity (IC_{50})











= 22 n*M*), with greater than 150-fold selectivity over **CXCR1**. This compound also inhibits **GRO** α - and IL-&mediated chemotaxis of human and rabbit neutrophils. When administered by **i.v.** infusion in rabbits, (63) blocks IL-&induced neutrophil margination.

The contribution of the urea acidic group has been evaluated by measuring binding as a function of pH (292). Ureas bind strongly in their anionic form, demonstrating as much as a 10-fold improvement over the non-ionized parent. Because the binding is reversible, the mechanism of antagonism does not appear to proceed through the isocyanate.

In an effort to identify an orally active drug, further optimization in the **diaryl** urea series led to (**64**), which inhibits ¹²⁵I-IL-8 binding to



CHO/CXCR2 membranes (IC₅₀ = 39 n*M*) and is selective against CHO/CXCR1 (IC₅₀ = 7400 n*M*) (293). The diarylurea (64) also inhibited GRO α -induced Ca²⁺ flux (IC₅₀ = 5 n*M*), which is CXCR2 mediated, while showing weaker inhibition against IL-Smediated Ca²+ flux (IC₅₀ = 426 n*M*), which is governed by both CXCR1 and CXCR2. Compound (64) was evaluated for efficacy in an LPS-induced airway neutrophilia within rabbits. When given orally 1 h before and 4 h after an aerosol LPS challenge, (64), at 25 mg/kg, showed significant inhibition of neutrophilia.

More recently, nicotinamide N-oxides such as (65) were discovered to be antagonists of



、 *,*

¹²⁵I-IL-8 binding to CXCR2 (IC₅₀ = 1.0 μM) (294). This compound acts as a functional antagonist, as measured by its ability to block both GRO α - and IL-8-driven neutrophil chemotaxis.

SAR studies found the 4-fluoroanilide to be an important recognition element. Further lead optimization improved ligand binding antagonism, as indicated by (66) and (67) (IC₅₀)







7.2 CXCR3

CXCR3 is a receptor for three CXC chemokines, IP-10 (CXCL10), MIG (CXCL9), and I-TAC (CXCL11) (see Table 4.1). This receptor is expressed preferentially on T-cells and it is upregulated upon activation of these cells. The restricted expression of this receptor suggests that its ligands are involved in the regulation of lymphocyte recruitment observed in autoimmune inflammatory lesions. IP-10 was identified as a gene product induced by interferon-y and expressed in delay-type hypersensitivity reactions of the skin (295, 296). More recently, CXCR3 has been described as being present on all perivascular T-cells and astrocytes associated with active lesions in multiple sclerosis. In addition, CXCR3- and CCR5-expressing T-cells are enriched in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with active disease

(297,298,8-deficient mice show an impressive response in an allograft survival model. In the absence of any other treatment, allograft survival extended 55–60 days, whereas the normal allograft survival for wild-type mice was around 7 days. Expression of the three ligands for CXCR3 has been reported in this model; however, they show a sequential upregulation, suggesting they may play a role at different times during the development of the inflammatory response (299).

CCR5 and CXCR3 have been identified as being preferentially expressed on Th1 cells (300). Accordingly, IP-10 is approximately 10 times more potent on Th1 cells than on Th2 cells. Because rheumatoid arthritis is classified as a Th1-type disease, it has been suggested that CXCR3 could play a role in the development of the disease. CXCR3-positive T-cells and CXCR3 ligands have been reported in rheumatoid arthritis in the synovial fluid and synovium from these patients (301,302). **7.2.1 CXCR3** Antibodies. A CXCR3-specific monoclonal antibody (1C6) has been reported (301). It blocks the binding of radiolabeled IP-10 to activated T-cells ($IC_{50} = 160$ ng/mL), and its epitope is mapped to the first 15 amino acids of the receptor. IP-10-mediated chemotaxis was completely blocked by use of 10 μ g/mL of 1C6. Neutralizing antiserum against MIG and IP-10 has been shown to be efficacious in transplant models, as has a blocking anti-CXCR3 mAb in preventing acute rejection (299). Similarly, anti-IP-10 mAbs increase survival times in a cardiac allograft rejection model (303).

7.2.2 CXCR3 Small Molecule Antagonists. To date, there are very few reports on small molecule antagonists for this receptor. The **4-oxo-2,4-dihydro** quinazoline (68) is re-



ported to block binding (IC₅₀ < 0.8 μ M) of IP-10 (304). There have been no reports of in *vivo* activity with this type of antagonists.

7.3 CXCR4

As mentioned earlier, CXCR4 and CCR5 have together been identified as the main coreceptors for HIV, acting with CD4 to enable viral entry. More specifically, CXCR4 has been described as an essential coreceptor for T-tropic HIV-1- and HIV-2-mediated fusion (305,306). CXCR4 was first cloned by several groups as an orphan receptor named LESTR, HUMSTR, or fusin (307). Later, SDF-1 α (CXCL12) was identified as the only ligand for this receptor (308,309). These studies have also shown that SDF-1a inhibits the infection of CD4/CXCR4expressing cells by T-tropic strains of HIV. **CXCR4** is widely expressed in different blood cell types including B-cells, T-cells, and monocytes (see Table 4.1). In addition, expression of this receptor has been described in **non**immune cells such as endothelial and epithelial cells (307). **SDF-1** α was originally isolated from bone marrow stroma and it has been shown that it supports the proliferation on Bcell progenitors (310). Subsequent studies demonstrate that **SDF-1** α is also a potent **che**moattractant for lymphocytes and monocytes. Unlike other chemokines, **SDF-1** α is constitutively expressed and is not regulated by **proin**flammatory cytokines (307,311).

CXCR4 knockout mice generated by several groups have shown multiple functions associated with this receptor. SDF-1 α and CXCR4 knockout mice present very similar phenotypes. Both showed defective lymphopoieis and myelopoiesis in the bone marrow (312, 313), as well as severe heart defects, defective formation of large blood vessels, and derailed cerebellar neuron migration (312–315). Moreover, most CXCR4^{-/-} mice died in utero at 18.5 days of embryonic development and the remainder died within 1 h after birth. This is the only chemokine receptor null mutation described to date that results in embryonic lethality.

7.3.1 CXCR4 Receptor Structure. Rat and human CXCR4 chimeras suggest that ECL-2 of CXCR4 is the major determinant of receptor binding to feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) (316). Mutation of the DRY motif and the C-terminal tail of CXCR4 did not affect the ability of the molecule to support fusion, suggesting that neither signaling by way of Gprotein nor receptor internalization was required for fusion mediated by FIV (316). The contribution of the negatively charged residues in the amino terminal of the CXCR4 receptor has also been evaluated (317). Point mutation studies show that viral entry depends on YDE-rich clusters in both the amino terminus and the second extracellular loop of **CXCR4**. Different viral isolates vary in their dependency on residues in each domain. The determinants of CXCR4 coreceptor function are therefore more diffuse and isolate dependent than those of CCR5 (317). Residues in CXCR4 required for both SDF-1 binding and signaling were identified as ECL2 (D187), TM2 (D97), and TM7 (E288). The first residues (2-9) of the receptor N-terminus also seem to be required for SDF-1 binding and signaling. Residues important for ligand binding but not signaling in the N-terminus are E13, E14, and Y21. The coreceptor activity of CXCR4 (gp120 binding) was impaired by mutations of two **Tyr** residues in the N-terminus (Y7, Y12) and an Asp residue in ECL-2, ECL-3, or TM2 (D193, D262, D97). These acidic residues may engage in electrostatic interactions with basic residues of the gp120 HIV-1 envelope protein in the V3 loop region (318). Ala scanning of **CXCR4** indicates that negatively charged residues in the N-terminus (E14, E15, and E32) and D97 in ECL-1 were important for CXCR4 function as a coreceptor. It has been shown that removal of the N-linked glycosylation modifications of the CXCR4 molecule permits the receptor to act as a potential coreceptor for otherwise CCR5-dependent HIV-1 Envs. Similar residues in the ECL-2 of **CCR5** were shown to be important for CCR5 coreceptor activity for isolates across several clads. Together, these findings support the hypothesis that there are conserved elements important for coreceptor activity between the CXCR4 and CCR5 molecules. These results highlight a homologous and critical region in ECLS for both CXCR4 and CCR5 and their respective coreceptor activities (319,320).

7.3.2 CXCR4 Antibodies. A CXCR4 monoclonal antibody (12G5) was developed as the result of efforts to evaluate interactions of cellular molecules and viral envelope glycoproteins. 12G5 was shown to inhibit infection and cell fusion for isolates of HIV-2. After CXCR4 was identified as a CD4-associated accessory factor for T-cell line tropic HIV-1 isolates, 12G5 was shown to react with this protein and showed specific binding for CXCR4 when compared to CCR1, CCR2b, CCR3, CCR4, and CCR5 (321).

7.3.3 CXCR4 Peptide Antagonists. There have been several reports on peptide antagonists that selectively block receptor binding and/or activities of CXCR4. The importance of the N-terminal region of SDF-1a was defined through use of truncated ligands. Short N-

terminal **peptides** have significant activity. **SDF**^[1-9] could function as a weak agonist, whereas a P2G mutation of this same truncation resulted in an antagonist (**322**). The Nterminal residues form an important receptor binding site with **Lys-1** and Pro-2 also contributing to receptor activation. Residues 12–17 (RFFESH) are important for receptor binding, but apparently do not contribute to activation. It is presumed then that this sequence is involved in initial **docking** of ligand to receptor. NMR-conformational analysis of these truncated **peptide** ligands shows that residues 5–8 and 11–17 present as a β -turn β - α Rtype (323).

A 3D structure of the full-length peptide SDF-1 was determined through use of NMR (47), and important differences were noted, when compared to other chemokine ligands, in terms of hydrophobic packing and surface charge distribution. Using a strategy that has worked for other chemokine ligands, the CXCR4 natural ligand, SDF-1a, was derivatized with methionine at the N-terminus. Met-SDF-1 β caused prolonged downregulation of the receptor (324), and as a single agent, or in combination with other antivirals such as Zidovudine or Nelfinavir, has activity against HIV-1 isolates (325).

T22 (69) is an 18 amino acid analog of a horseshoe crab blood cell-derived **peptide**. It



inhibits entry of T-tropic HIV-1 strains into target cells. T22 blocks binding of **12G5 mAb** to **CXCR4** and inhibits SDF-1-induced Ca^{2+} mobilization. The structure of T22 mimics the rigid structural conformation found in CXC **chemokines**. The antiparallel β -sheet presentation in SDF-1 is maintained within T22 by virtue of its two disulfide bonds (326).

T22 is a **cationic peptide** characterized by five arginine and three lysine residues. In T22 and its derivatives there appears to be a close correlation between the number of positive

charges and anti-HIV activity (327). Ala scanning shows Arg2, Nal3, Tyr5, and Arg14 to be critical residues for activity (328). An electrostatic interaction of peptide with membrane may contribute to cytotoxicity and a poor selectivity index (SI = ratio of 50% cytotoxic concentration to 50% effective antiviral concentration). Reducing the total positive charge with β -citrilline(Cit) was hoped then to result in less toxicity without a significant decrease in anti-HIV activity. Thus, truncation and Cit-substitution of T22 identified a 14-mer with a single disulfide bond, T140 (70), as a more po-



tent antagonist ($EC_{50}=3.3 \text{ n}M$, SI = 29,000). In an attempt to further reduce the total positive charge, an additional (Cit) substituent was introduced, resulting in TC14003 (71),



(71)

with a decreased net positive charge compared to that of T22 and a greater selectivity index $(EC_{50}=4.0 \text{ n}M, \text{SI}=69,000)$ (328).

An arginine-rich polypeptide (72) has also been described as an inhibitor of HIV-1 entry acting through CXCR4. Again, the high positive charge on ALX40C is characteristic of the β -sheet region of SDF-1 and these residues are presumed to be a recognition element for CXCR4 (329). The Tat peptide has also been shown to inhibit HIV replication. The peptoid, CGP-64222 (73), mimics the basic domain of Tat, and has been shown to interact with CXCR4 (330).

The binding site on **CXCR4** is believed to be localized to the second extracellular loop (**ECL-2**), which contains a strong negative surface charge with many anionic residues (326, 331, 332). The strongly **cationic** nature of these **peptide** antagonists probably results in a strong electrostatic interaction with the receptor.

Noting the importance of the **arginine**, conjugates of L-arginine with aminoglycosides have provided micromolar inhibitors such as (**74**). They interact directly with **CXCR4**, as evidenced by their ability to inhibit the binding of the **12G5 mAb** (333).

7.3.4 CXCR4 Small Molecule Antagonists. In 1992 bicyclams such as (75) were identified as viricidal agents with activity against HIV-1 and HIV-2 (334). The bicyclam AMD2763 (75) was shown to inhibit HIV replication in various human T-cells. Based on time-of-addition experiments, these agents were assumed to interact with virus assembly after virus adsorption and preceding reverse transcription. Their precise mechanism of action was not determined until several years later, when the anti-HIV replication activity of bicyclams was shown to occur through direct interaction with CXCR4 (331,335,336). This class of compounds had no effect against M-tropic HIV viruses (CCR5-dependent). AMD2763 was shown to bind with CXCR4 through competition studies with 12G5 and selectivity was demonstrated by its ability to block Ca^{2+} mobilization stimulated by SDF-la, but not by RANTES, MIP-la, or MCP-3.

A more potent analog, AMD3100 (76), inhibits HIV-1 replication at nanomolar concentrations (337). It is not toxic to host cells at 500 μM , and therefore shows a high selectivity index. Compound 76 binds to CXCR4, as determined by inhibition of 12G5, and does not block 2D7 (the CCR5 mAb) (331). AMD3100 inhibits **T-cell-tropic** HIV-1 infection of **PHA**stimulated blasts from PBMCs, with an IC_{50} value of 2–7 ng/mL, depending on viral strain. This is a 10- to 50-fold improvement over **SDF1**. Further derivatization of the bicyclam series resulted in AMD3329, the py[iso-14]ane N4 dimer (77). Incorporation of heteroaromatics into the cyclam moiety lowered the overall $\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}}$ compared to that of a secondary amine. Compound 77 was determined to be even more potent than AMD3100 in inhibition of binding, Ca²⁺ flux, and suppression of X4 HIV-1 replication. The EC₅₀ values against



HIV-1 and HIV-2 replication were 0.8 and 1.6 nM, respectively (338).

In an effort to improve the potential for inhibiting HIV-1 replication, bicyclam-AZT conjugates (78) have also been described (339). The binding region for AMD3100 has been defined through single amino acid substitutions in the extracellular loops (ECLs) and TM regions of CXCR4. ECL-2 contains five acidic residues that have been implicated as an important recognition site of the V3 domain in

169





gp120. As part of the mechanism for viral entry, an electrostatic interaction is presumed between the positively charged V3 loop (overall charge of +8) of viral gp120 and the negatively charged ECL-2 (net charge of -9) of CXCR4 (332). Resistance to binding was conferred by single amino acid substitutions in ECL2. The putative binding interaction of AMD3100 with the aspartic acids of ECL-2 is

consistent with the cationic nature of the bicyclams and its array of eight proximal nitrogens that will form a multipositive charge (340). The bicyclam unit seems to be very efficient in disrupting this interaction. Through site-directed mutagenesis it has been shown that AMD3100 acts on the CXCR4 receptor through binding to Asp171 in TM-IV and Asp262 in **TM-VI** with each of its cyclam moieties. Single or double substitution of these aspartates by neutral asparagines resulted in markedly decreased potency of AMD3100 for inhibition of SDF-1 binding to the receptor, SDF-1 induced intracellular calcium signaling, and high affinity binding for certain HIV strains. It is suggested that part of AMD3100's activity is attributed to conformational constraint imposed on the receptor by the rigid connecting phenylene-bismethylene linker (332, 341, 342).

The **pharmacokinetic** properties of **AMD3100** have also been evaluated and it has been shown, not surprisingly, to have very poor **bio**-availability (343,344). **An** unsuccessful effort to improve the oral bioavailability through ion-pair formation by use of sodium **taurode**-oxycholate and sodium taurocholate as **coun**-terions has been described (345).

AMD3100 has entered phase I clinical trials as an i.v. formulation, and appears to be well tolerated (346). A 20 mg/kg dose provides a median peak serum concentration of 118 ng/ mL, which exceeds its 50% effective antiviral concentration seen in cell culture (335–337).

8 VIRAL CHEMOKINES AND CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS

Herpesviruses, poxviruses, and lentiviruses all encode chemokine and chemokine recep-





(78)

r-like molecules (347). Some of these **molerules** are structural **homologs** of **chemokines and** chemokine receptors, whereas others are **st**ructurally unrelated but bind to either **chem**okine or receptor and alter the function of **these** molecules. The selective advantage of **expressing** these **chemokine** or chemokine re**ceptors** is not yet clear. However, given that **chemokines** play a crucial role in organizing **the** host immune response, it is not surprising **that** viruses have developed different **strategies** to interfere with the process.

Chemokine homologs are mostly encoded by herpesvirus and include three CC-type chemokines, vMIP-I, vMIP-II, and vMIP-III. vMIP-I is encoded by HHV-8 and binds and induces calcium signals in T-cells through CCR8. This same receptor also shows high affinity for vMIP-II. However, vMIP-I seems to act as an agonist for the receptor and vMIP-II behaves as an antagonist (348). vMIP-II is a broad-spectrum chemokine receptor antagonist. vMIP-III acts as a potent CCR4 agonist and attracts mainly Th2 T-cells.

Molluscum contagiosum virus (MCV) is a human poxvirus that encodes a chemokine homolog named vMCC-I (gene product of MC148R) (349,350). This protein is related to CC chemokines but the mature protein lacks five amino acids in the N-terminus that are critical for receptor activation. Thus, this molecule binds to several receptors such as CCR1, CCR2, CCR5, CCR8, CXCR1, and CXCR2 but is not able to induce signaling, acting instead as an antagonist for these receptors.

In addition to **chemokines**, viruses also **express chemokine** receptors. All of them bind **multiple chemokine** ligands but differ in their **spec**ificity as well as in the signal transduction pathways they engage. One interesting example is the HHS-8-encoded chemokine receptor ORF 74. The HHS-8 virus has been implicated in the development of Kaposi's sarcoma (KS). ORF 74 encodes a constitutively active chemokine receptor that binds several host CC and CXC chemokines. It has been shown that this receptor has angionenic, proinflammatory, and oncogenic activities. When expressed as a transgene in hematopoietic cells, it induces lesions that are histologically similar to those of KS (351). This suggests that ORF 74 may play a role in the pathogenesis of KS in humans.

The **chemokine** binding protein vCCI (produced by pox viruses) is a broad-spectrum CC chemokine scavenger and completely inhibits their function (350,352). Its strong inhibitory properties are attributed in part to the high affinity of vCCI for CC chemokines, having a subnanomolar dissociation constant for all CC chemokines. The affinity of CC chemokines is greater for vCCI than for the native CC chemokine receptors. In a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation, vCCI has been shown to improve pulmonary function and to reduce inflammation (353). vCCI reduced significantly the number of total leukocytes and eosinophils in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and lung parenchyma. At the same time, a clear reduction in airway hyperreactivity was observed. These results not only show that intrapulmonary inhibition of **chemokines** by vCCI is a highly effective inhibitor of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in a mouse model but also suggest a potential use of this agent for the treatment of asthma.

The above examples represent just a small group of all viral chemokine, chemokine recep-

Family	Cytokine	Potential Disease Target
IL-I family	IL-1α	RA, OA, COPD
·	IL-1 β	RA, OA, COPD
	IL-18	
	bFGF	
	aFGF	
Hematopoietic factors	IL-2	Transplant
-	IL-3	-
	IL-4	Asthma, allergy
	IL-5	Asthma, allergy
	IL-6	RA
	IL-7	
	IL-9	Asthma, allergy
	IL-11	
	IL-12	Autoimmume diseases
	IL-13	Asthma, allergy
	EPO	
	LIF	
	GMCSF	
	CNTF	
	$IFN \alpha$	Infectious diseases
	IFNeta	Infectious diseases
	$IFN\gamma$	Infectious, autoimmune diseases
TNF family	TNF-a	Arthritis, Crohn's disease, psoriasis
	$LT-\alpha$	
	$LT-\beta$	
	CD40L	
	CD30L	
	Fas-L	

Table 4.10Cytokine Families and Some Examples $(1)^a$

"CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; EPO, erythropoietin; Fas-L, fas **ligand**; **aFGF**, acidic fibroblasts growth factor; **bFGF**, basic fibroblast growth **facor**; GMCSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; IFN, interferon; IL, **interleukin**; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; LT, **lymphotoxin**; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; **RA**, rheumatoid arthritis; **OA**, osteoarthritis; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. For a more complete listing of **cytokines** see Ref. 1.

tor, or **chemokine** binding proteins. (For more information on this topic, review Refs. 347, 350, 352.)

9 CYTOKINES

Cytokines are extracellular signaling proteins, mostly secreted; however, they could also exist as membrane-bound proteins. They are produced by many different cell types and can have an effect on adjacent cells (**paracrine** fashion), at a distance (endocrine), or can act on the same cells that produce them (**autocrine**). **Cytokines** mediate their action through high affinity surface receptors and can demonstrate a wide variety of actions, including the coordination of inflammatory and immune responses. They are also involved in many stages of the development of autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, inflammatory skin diseases, and allergic responses. Table 4.10 shows some examples of the different **cytokines** and the families to which'they belong.

Small molecule agents that inhibit the production of cytokines have been described. For example, glucocorticoids inhibit the synthesis of several of these molecules by interfering with the transcription factors **AP-1** and **NF** κ **B** (354, 355). Among the cytokines **downregu**lated by glucocorticoids are IL-2, IL-5, IL-12, and TNF-a. Because of the broad effects of glucocorticoids, they have been used in the treatment of many inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis, asthma, and transplantation. Other negative regulators of
cytokine production are cyclosporin and FK506. These molecules exert their actions by inhibiting the transcription factor nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT). Cytokines susceptible to inhibition by cyclosporin include IL-2, IL-4, and IL-5. The inhibition of IL-2 production results in an immunosuppressive effect and for this reason these drugs are being used in transplantation therapy. Nonpeptidic small molecule inhibitors that act through direct binding of cytokines and/or their receptors are **not** common, given the large **protein/protein** interaction that would need to be disrupted. Cytokine production can also be influenced by modulation of various kinases, such as reducing IL-6 through p38 inhibition. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to discuss all indirect effects on cytokine regulation. In this review we concentrate on cytokines involved in immune responses for which some modulators have been described in either animal models or the clinic.

9.1 IL-1

IL-1 is a proinflammatory cytokine that has multiple roles. It is a central mediator in endotoxic shock and plays an important role in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis. IL-1 is mainly produced by monocytes/ macrophages that are activated by T-cells at the site of inflammation. B-lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells can also be sources of this cytokine. Two IL-1 receptor agonists have **be**en described, IL-1a and IL-1 β . IL-1 β is produced as a 31-kDa precursor and is processed to its mature form by IL-1 β converting enzyme (ICE) (356). Both IL-1 agonists possess similar biological activities; however, IL-1 β is a secreted molecule, whereas IL-la is primarily cell associated. There are a large number of genes that are regulated by IL-1 β . Among them are cytokines and chemokines, cytokine receptors, other inflammatory mediators, growth factors, clotting factors, remodeling factors, oncogenes, and adhesion molecules (for a comprehensive list, see Ref. 357).

IL-1 binds with high affinity to IL-1 receptor I (IL-1RI), resulting in the recruitment of a second molecule, the IL-1R accessory protein (IL-1RAcP). This heterodimer is responsible for the initiation of the signal transduction cascade (358). The interaction between the subunits results in the recruitment of MyD88, an adapter molecule, which is then followed by activation of IL-1R-associated kinase (IRAK) (359). A second IL-1R has been described, IL-1RII. This receptor does not signal; instead it is shed from cells and acts as a decoy receptor (360–362). IL-1RI is found on many different cell types, including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, epithelial cells, hepatocytes, fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and T-lymphocytes.

A natural regulatory molecule has been described for IL-1, called IL-1R antagonist (IL-1Ra). Usually this molecule is produced in large excess with respect to IL-1 (363) and binds to IL-1R with near equal affinity compared to that of either IL-la or IL-1 β , but does not signal through the receptor (364). It has been suggested that this molecule plays an important role in the regulation of IL-1 β activity *in vivo*.

9.1.1 IL-1 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. IL-1R knockout mice show a similar phenotype to that observed in IL-1 β knockout mice (365, 366). Both mutations have revealed the role that IL-1 plays in IL-6 production and fever. In addition, IL-1R knockout mice had a reduced delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) response and acute-phase reaction to turpentine. These mice showed an impaired ability to fight infections by *Listeria monocytogenes* (365). In addition, IL-1R is required for the development of inflammatory lesions and clinical symptoms in a mouse model of EAE (367).

9.1.2 IL-1 Modulators/Clinical Data. Several approaches have been used to antagonize cytokine activity, including antibodies against the cytokine or the cytokine receptor, mutant forms of the **cytokine** that bind to the receptor yet do not signal, and recombinant soluble receptors. The extracellular domain of the IL-**1RI** has been used as a decoy receptor in several animal models. For example, in a rat antigen-induced arthritis model, administration of soluble **IL-1RI** reduced joint swelling and tissue destruction (**368**). It also increases survival of heterotropic heart allograft in mice (**369**).

In the clinic, soluble **IL-1RI** pretreatment before endotoxin administration shows no effect on fever or any other systemic effect. The lack of efficacy of the IL-1RI treatment is likely attributable to the fact that there was already a decrease in IL-1 β and IL-1Ra in these subjects (370). A similar lack of efficacy was observed when soluble IL-1RI was given to rheumatoid arthritis patients. In a **double**blind, placebo-controlled trial, no significant improvement in clinical scores was observed, suggesting the inability of this agent to modify the clinical course of the disease (371). In contrast to IL-1RI, IL-1RII has significantly higher affinity for IL-1 β than for IL-1Ra. A soluble form of this agent could be more efficacious as an inhibitor of the IL-1 responses, although this would need to be proved.

Administration of recombinant IL-1Ra in several models of chronic inflammation has shown that receptor blockage by this molecule reduces severity of the disease (372, 373). When used in arthritis models, **IL-1Ra** inhibited joint swelling and suppressed the incidence of collagen-induced arthritis in mice (374, 375). Moreover, **IL-1Ra** knockout mice present a more severe disease phenotype compared to that of wt mice, and even develop arthritis or other inflammatory conditions spontaneously, depending on the mouse strain (376, 377). This suggests that an imbalance between IL-1 and IL-1Ra may play a role in the predisposition to local inflammatory diseases. Recombinant human IL-1Ra has been clinically evaluated in rheumatoid arthritis patients (378,379). In a 6-month placebo-controlled trial, 43% of the patients showed a 20% improvement compared to 27% in the placebo group. The IL-1Ra-treated patients also had significantly less joint damage. In a study in which IL-1Ra was given together with methotrexate to patients showing active signs of the disease, a similar result was obtained. IL-1Ra did not show significant side effects after 24 weeks of treatment; reactions at the site of injection were the most frequently observed adverse event. In summary, clinical studies show that inhibition of IL-1 β results in a significant reduction in signs and symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis as well as reduced joint destruction. Recombinant human IL-1Ra has recently been approved by the U.S. FDA for the treatment of arthritis [Anakinra (Kineret), Amgenl.

9.2 IL-2

IL-2, also known as T-cell growth factor, is produced by antigen-activated T-lymphocytes and has a primary role in regulating **T-lym**phocyte proliferation and differentiation. Because T-lymphocytescan initiate and regulate the immune response, IL-2 is assumed to have a significant role in antigen-specific acquired cellular immune response. IL-2 also activates NK cells (380) and B-cells (381,382). Although the effect on B-cells is somewhat controversial, it does seem to have a clear role in transcriptional activation of the J-chain and consequent production of IgM (383). Because of its effect on NK cells, IL-2 also has a role in augmenting innate host defense. This cytokine then may have therapeutic utility in boosting immune reactivity in otherwise compromised patients, by promoting generation of both innate and acquired immunity. The role of the IL-2 receptor in human immune function is supported by the finding that patients with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID) have genetic defects that map to an IL-2 receptor gene locus (384).

IL-2 is a 15.5-kDa protein of 133 amino acids (385). A disulfide bond between Cys58 and Cys105 is essential for bioactivity, whereas glycosylation does not seem to be important (386). A 3D structure for IL-2 has been solved to 3.0-Å resolution (387), indicating that this cytokine is composed of a fourfold bundle of amphipathic antiparallel a-helices. A modification of this structure has been proposed based on secondary structure prediction and comparison with other cytokines (388).

The IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) contains three distinct membrane-associated subunits ($p55\alpha$, $p75\beta$, and $p64\gamma$). Each subunit alone will bind IL-2 with low affinity, but heterodimerization and heterotrimerization bind IL-2 with increasing affinity. In addition to being on T-cells, IL-2R is also reported to be expressed by B-cells, although at levels 10 times lower than that of activated T-cells (389).

Signal transduction is linked to the cytoplasmic domains of the $\beta\gamma$ subunit (390, 391). Activation of JAK and Src family kinases are initial events for IL-2 signaling. These kinases will phosphorylate **IL-2R** and activate the STAT and Ras-mitogen-activatedkinase **path-way** (392, 393).

9.2.1 IL-2 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. The role of IL-2 in immune response has been clarified in animal models by use of IL-2 knockout mice. Mutated mice that are deficient in IL-2 production, generated by homologous recombination, display normal lymphocyte development, but during the postnatal period become immunocompromised and die within the first few weeks (394,395). In a separate study, IL-2-deficient mice with mutated nonfunctional IL-2 genes were used to examine the role of IL-2 in promoting clonal expansion of cytolytic T-lymphocytes during infection (396). Virus-induced expansion of CD8+ **T**-cells was inhibited, as was the production of **IF**N γ by activated T-cells, leading to a reduced ability to clear viral infection. It is worthwhile to point out that mice deficient in CTLA-4, whose expression is IL-2 dependent, display a similar phenotype (397). IL-2 transgenic mice have also been established and do not appear to have an aberrant phenotype (398). Notably, there is no evidence of autoimmune disease in these mice.

9.22 IL-2 Modulators/Clinical Data. An IL-2R α monoclonal antibody has also been developed. It prevents binding of IL-2 to its high affinity receptor and has been used therapeutically as an immunosuppressant in allograft rejection (399, 400).

Other negative regulators include small molecule immunosuppressive agents that exert their effect through inhibiting production or activity of IL-2. For example, glucocorti**coids suppress IL-2** production by inhibiting the AP-1 transcription factor *c-jun* (354) and **NF** κ B (355). Leflunamide and mycophenolic mofetil block IL-2 synthesis by inhibiting nucleotide synthesis in T-cells. Cyclosporin, FK506, and rapamycin can suppress IL-2 gene activation through inhibition of calcium-associated signaling events regulated by calcineurin, a protein belonging to the NF-AT pathway. The consequence is immunosuppression through blockade of IL-2 expression and T-cell activation. Many of these small molecule modulators demonstrate therapeutic benefit and protection in patients undergoing organ transplantation.

IL-2 has been evaluated therapeutically as an enhancer of the immune system in the treatment of both cancer and infectious diseases. When a high dose of IL-2 is administered over a 3- to 5-day period, severe systemic toxicity, termed **cytokine** syndrome, is observed. However, this therapy does provide an antitumor response by an unestablished mechanism in 15% of treated patients (**401**).

IL-2 may have therapeutic benefit in restoring immune function in AIDS patients. Individuals infected with HIV are characterized by a deficiency in circulating CD4+ T-cells and, consequently, production of IL-2 is compromised. Macrophages infected with HIV-1, and cultured in the presence or absence of IL-2, show a diminished reverse transcriptase activity in those cells treated with IL-2 (402). In addition, the expression of CD4 and CCR5 (HIV-1 receptor and coreceptor, respectively) was downregulated after treatment with IL-2. Clinically, IL-2 has been used in the treatment of HIV-1-infected individuals through either a high dose treatment, as noted above for cancer, or a low dose continuous treatment regimen (403). Using this latter treatment, the concentration of circulating CD4+ T-cells is increased and the risk of opportunistic infection is reduced.

9.3 IL-4

Th2-type cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 orchestrate a cascade of events during development of an allergic inflammatory response. This is demonstrated both clinically and in preclinical animal models (404, 405). IL-4 plays a critical role in the early commitment of **Th0** cells to Th2 cells and regulates **IgE** secretion by B-cells. It also induces V-CAM expression on endothelial cells, promotes eosinophilic inflammation, and increases airway mucus production.

In asthmatic patients there is an increase in serum and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid IL-4 levels, and atopic individuals have **a** higher frequency of IL-4-producing T-cells (406, 407). Genetic studies have linked asthma and atopy to the chromosome region **5q31–33**, which includes IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, and the IL-13 genes (408). Thus, aberrant production of IL-4, or excessive response to this cyto**kine** resulting from genetic defects, might contribute to the pathogenesis of asthma.

IL-4 is a 20-kDa secreted glycoprotein and its expression is highly tissue specific. IL-4 is produced by Th2 cells and natural killer cells in response to stimulation through the T-cell receptor (409). IL-4 binds to two types of receptor complexes, type I and type II receptors. Type I receptor complexes are formed by the IL-4 receptor a chain (IL-4R α) and the common γ chain (γ C), which form part of the many other **cytokine** receptor complexes. The type II receptor consists of the IL-4R α chain and the IL-13R α chain. In both cases signaling occurs through the JAK/STAT pathway, more specifically through activation of STAT6 (410).

9.3.1 IL-4 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. In general terms IL-4 and IL-4R α knockout mice show similar phenotypes. Both develop normally but they show a clear deficiency in the Th2 response (411–413). They are able to mount antibody responses but show a significant decrease in their ability to generate IgE and IgG1. In addition they show a decreased capability to expulse intestinal parasites (414).

Transgenic mice expressing IL-4 in different tissues have been generated. When IL-4 expression is targeted to T-cells, they present increased airway hyperreactivity, inflammation in the eye, and mild B-cell hyperplasia (415). If IL-4 is targeted to the airway epithelium, an enhancement of goblet cell **hyperpla**sia is observed (416). These experiments showed the multiple functions **IL-4 can** exert over different cell types.

9.3.2 IL-4 Modulators/Clinical Data. Different approaches have been taken to neutralize IL-4 activity, including soluble IL-4 receptor, antibodies against IL-4, and mutated IL-4, which acts as an antagonist of the receptor. In a mouse model of airway inflammation, soluble IL-4 receptor administered intranasally, before allergen challenge, results in a reduction of eosinophil infiltration, V-CAM expression, and mucus hypersecretion (417). This treatment, however, did not change airway hyperreactivity in response to methacholine.

In another mouse model of allergic lung inflammation, antibodies against IL-4 administered during sensitization reduce or abolish airway eosinophilia and airway hyperreactivity (418,419). In similar mouse models, a mutant form of murine IL-4 (Q116D/Y119D), acting as both IL-4 and IL-13 antagonist, was found to abrogate the humoral immune response to allergen challenge, and completely inhibited synthesis of allergen-specific IgE and IgG1 (420). Another murine IL-4 mutant (deletion mutant C118), showing similar antagonism against IL-4 and IL-13, inhibited the development of airway eosinophilia and airway hyperreactivity (421). These results suggest that a dual IL-4/IL-13 antagonist could be highly efficacious for the treatment of asthma. Similar mutations have been described for human IL-4 and shown to be efficacious at inhibiting IL-4 and IL-13 responses in vitro (422).

As mentioned earlier, soluble receptors are another means to antagonize cytokine activity. The soluble IL-4R (Nuvance, Immunex Corporation) consists of the N-terminal region of the IL-4R α chain and has been shown to bind IL-4 and sequester this circulating cytokine. Nuvance was tested in a clinical trial with promising results (423). The drug was well tolerated and the placebo group showed a decline in FEV1 not observed in the treated group. The efficacy of Nuvance TM was confirmed by improved as thma symptom scores in the treated group compared to those of placebo. In spite of these promising results, Immunex had announced that Nuvance failed to show efficacy in two Phase II clinical trials. A third trial is still ongoing.

9.4 IL-5

IL-5 is a hematopoietic growth factor **cytokine** that plays a critical role in differentiation, proliferation, activation, survival, and localization of eosinophils (424). It is not detected at high levels in healthy individuals. IL-5-induced eosinophilia is characteristic of allergy (424), parasitic infections (425, 426), and tumors. Because eosinophils are a characteristic feature of asthma and atopic dermatitis (427), and their numbers are reported to correlate with severity of the disease, IL-5 is believed to have a significant role in the pathogenesis of atopic disease (424,428,429). In addition to having cell numbers associated with this disease, the biology of the **eosin**ophil also implicates this cell as a major contributor to the disease process. Eosinophils are phagocytic granulocytes that mature in bone marrow, migrate to the blood stream, and eventually localize at the site of injury. They contain highly toxic components that are released upon degranulation, leading to destruction of bronchial epithelium, mucosal edema, and bronchial hyperresponsivenesss (**430–432**).

IL-5 is detectable in bronchial biopsies and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of asthmatics (433, 434). Additionally, inhalation of IL-5 by asthmatics has been shown to cause airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and an increase in sputum eosinophils (435).

IL-5 is produced primarily by activated CD4+T-cells (436, 437), and in lower levels by eosinophils (438), mast cells (439, 440), basophils, B-cells, NK cells (441, 442), and endothelial cells (443). The expression of IL-5 is predominantly regulated at the transcriptional level (444), and can be induced by a variety of stimulants, usually through activation of the T-cell receptor and a second signaling pathway. IL-1 α and PMA can induce IL-5 expression; histamine can also increase the production of IL-5 in activated T-cells (445).

Structurally, IL-5 is a disulfide-linked homodimeric glycoprotein between 45 and 60 **kDa** (446). Glycosylation does not seem to be a requisite for signaling; however, IL-5 must be in native dimeric form for bioactivity (447). Each monomer of IL-5 consists of four α -helices with an antiparallel β -sheet between opposing monomers. The monomers are maintained in dimeric form by cysteine bonds at residues 44 and 86 (448). Mutagenesis shows residues His38, Lys39, and His41 in the second helix; Glu89 and Arg91 in the β -strand; and Thr109, Glu110, TRP111, and Iso112 in the fourth helix as being important contributors to the IL-5 interaction with the hIL-5R α chain (449,450). Glu13 on IL-5 has been iden**fified** as a contact point for the β -chain of the L-5 receptor.

The IL-5R a-chain specifically binds IL-5 with low affinity (451). When associated with a signal-transducing β -unit that is also used by other hematopoietin receptors such as GM- CSF and IL-3, IL-5 binds with high affinity (452–454). Both subunits are necessary for signal transduction (455). The pathway for signal transduction includes activation of two Janus kinases (JAK1 and JAK2) and the signal transductionlactivator STAT5 (456,457).

9.4.1 IL-5 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. Animal models have helped define the significance of IL-5 and the eosinophil in the disease process. IL5 administered to mice results in an increase of eosinophils (458). Experiments with IL-5-deficient and IL-5-transgenic mice confirm a role for this cytokine in controlling eosinophilia(459,460). In IL-5 knockout mice, no eosinophils are produced in response to parasite infection or sensitization with ovalbumin, and there is minimal development of lung inflammation or tissue damage. When IL-5 expression is reconstituted in these mice, pulmonary eosinophilia, tissue destruction, and airflow limitation can be observed after allergen challenge (459).

Transgenic mice that have constitutive expression of IL-5 with detectable levels of IL-5 in the serum and persistent eosinophilia have also been described (461). These mice are described as normal, which may suggest that activation and degranulation of eosinophils may be necessary for disease pathology.

9.4.2 IL-5 Modulators/Clinical Data. Modulation of IL-5 can occur by inhibiting its production and synthesis, or through direct binding to IL-5 receptor or ligand. Cytokines can regulate IL-5 levels by inhibiting production. For example, IFN γ and IL-10 have demonstrated they can inhibit IL-5 production in *vitro* (462), whereas IL-12 indirectly modulates IL-5 by biasing toward a Thl subset population (463).

Small molecule antagonists such as CsA, FK506, and rapamycin all inhibit IL-5 production (464,465). Glucocorticoids, in addition to decreasing bronchial hyperresponsiveness, can also downregulate IL-5 production (466– 468). OM-01 suppresses IL-5 protein production, mRNA expression, and transcriptional activity in PBMCs with no effect on either IL-2 or IL-4 (469, 470). (The structure for OM-01 has not been disclosed.) A fusion protein of human IL-5R a-chain and human IgG C γ 3 chain (hIL5R α -h γ 3) was used for screening a library of low molecular weight compounds, and the isothiazolone (79)



was identified as an IL-5R antagonist. By use of radiolabeled isothiazolone, it was determined that association of (79) with the receptor occurs through covalent modification of a sulfhydryl group on a free cysteine (Cys66) in IL5R α (471,472).

In a separate study aimed at finding small molecule antagonists, the soluble form of the ligand binding a-chain of hIL-5 receptor was used to identify (80) and (81) as inhibitors of



soluble IL-5R (IC₅₀ values of 8 and 11 μM , respectively) (473,474).

These compounds also inhibited interaction of IL-5 with the membrane-bound receptor. They were found to be irreversible inhibitors, again suggesting a covalent interaction. Not surprisingly, they also inhibited interaction of the structurally similar IL-3 and **GM-CSF** receptors with their corresponding ligands.

Monoclonal antibodies to IL-5 have been evaluated both preclinically and clinically. In both monkey and guinea pig models of allergic asthma, an anti-IL-5 mAb was able to reduce lung eosinophils, airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), and lung damage in response to antigen (475, 476). In a mouse model of asthma, similar reductions in pulmonary and blood eosinophilia were noted with the anti-IL-5 antibody (TRFK-5) (477). In this study, chronic dosing did not affect normal immune function. Similar results on peripheral blood eosinophil counts were seen when a single injection of anti-IL-5 receptor antagonist was given to IL-5 transgenic mice (458). In mouse models of eosinophilia induced by Nippostrongylus brasiliensis, or Schistosoma mansoni and Strongyloides venezuelensis, an anti-IL-5 antibody successfully reduced eosinophil responsiveness (478-480).

The humanized anti-IL-5 mAb, Sch 55700, when given to Ascaris-responsive primates (0.3 mpk i.v.) also reduces pulmonary eosinophilia (481), and this biological response is sustained for 6 months. In clinical trials, another anti-IL-5 mAb, SB 240563 at 10 mpk i.v., was well tolerated and reduced circulating eosinophils for up to 16 weeks (482). However, there was no effect on the allergen-induced late asthmatic response (LAR) or airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) to histamine (483). Sch 55700 was also unremarkable in a clinical trial evaluating.severe asthma patients (484). These clinical data then suggest no association between the concentration of eosinophils in peripheral blood and sputum with the late asthmatic response or bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) that follows allergen challenge. Taken together with the results of IL-12 in a clinical setting (see below), the role of the eosinophil as a contributor to disease progression in asthma is called into question.

9.5 IL-6

IL-6 is a pleiotropic **cytokine** implicated in a variety of biological activities, including **im**-

mune response, acute phase reaction, bone resorption, and hematopoiesis. This cytokine is produced by T-cells, B-cells, monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, mast cells, osteoblasts, smooth muscle cells, glial cells, astrocytes, chondrocytes, keratinocytes, trophoblasts, mesangial cells, islet p-cells, and thyroid cells (485–487), and can be induced by a variety of stimuli including LPS, IL-1, TNFa, IL-2, and PDGF (488–490). Abnormal levels of IL-6 can lead to several disease pathologies and malignancies, including rheumatoid arthritis (RA), osteoporosis, myelomas, and lymphomas.

IL-6 can exist as five different molecular forms, ranging from 21 to 28 kDa, based on different glycosylation and phosphorylation patterns (491). Both the C-terminus and the *N*-terminus appear to be important for eliciting a biological response. As with other cytokines, IL-6 presents itself as a bundle of four α -helices (492).

Similar to the IL-2 and IL-5 receptors, the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) contains two subunits, an 80-kDa a-chain (IL-6R α) and a 130-kDa β -chain (gp130). The β -chain can be shared with the IL-11 receptor (493) and is the signal-transducing unit of the IL-6R complex. IL-6 assembles the receptor complex in a sequential fashion, forming first a low affinity interaction with IL-6R α , then a high affinity complex with gp130 (494). IL-6 then induces a transient tyrosine phosphorylation, which activates the jun B transcription gene (495).

9.5.1 IL-6 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. The pathogenic role of IL-6 in disease is substantiated through the development and evaluation of IL-6 transgenic and knockout mice. IL-6 knockout mice are viable and under normal conditions do not display any obvious phe**notypic abnormality. However**, in response to tissue damage or infection, IL-6 knockout mice have an impaired inflarnmatory acute response, a reduced IgG response, and impaired germinal center formation (412, 496, 497). Also, in an estrogen-depletion model intended to induce an osteoporotic phenotype, IL-6-deficient mice are protected from bone loss, suggesting that IL-6 has a function in regulating bone turnover (498). More recently, a role for **IL-6** in liver regeneration has been established

by use of IL-6-deficient mice. When sections of the liver were cut away, the mice would deteriorate and die. However, when the mice were pretreated with IL-6, hepatocyte proliferation returned to normal and liver damage was prevented. Thus, IL-6 therapy may be of benefit in patients undergoing liver transplant, or in those suffering from cirrhosis or chronic hepatitis, which are characterized by liver degeneration. The possible role of IL-6 in autoimmune disease is made apparent with transgenic mice that overexpress the cytokine and show an increase in agalactosyl IgG (499). This immunoglobulin is increased in a variety of autoimmune diseases such as RA, Crohn's disease, type I diabetes, and pulmonary TB (500–502). Transgenic overexpression of IL-6 in the CNS can lead to significant neurodegeneration and subsequent motor uncoordination, ataxia, and tremor (503).

9.5.2 IL-6 Modulators/Clinical Data. Monoclonal antibodies to IL-6 have been described; neutralization of IL-6 with one of these antibodies (MH166) can inhibit human myeloma cell growth in SCID mice (504, 505). In a patient with multiple myeloma, administration of a murine anti-IL-6 antibody to human IL-6 blocked myeloma cell proliferation in the bone marrow (506). An IL-6R antibody (PM1) has also been described and shows a similar response to MH166 in repressing tumor growth in a SCID mouse (507). Anti-IL-6R antibodies are currently in clinical trials for multiple myeloma and RA. The anti-IL-6 receptor antibody, MRA, has shown positive effects in an open-label RA study (508, 509). Decreases in tender and swollen joints were reported and an ACR20 response was noted within 6 weeks of treatment.

Receptor-binding sites on IL-6 have been mapped by mutagenesis studies and critical contact points with **IL-6R** α and **gp130** have been identified. IL-6 mutants have been prepared based on this information, leading to the generation of "superantagonists" (Sant 1–7) (510).

Small molecules such as Tenidap (511) and retinoic acid (512) have been shown to inhibit production of IL-6. Tenidap, in contrast to other **NSAIDs**, suppressed production of IL-6 in *vivo* and, in a clinical setting, substantially decreased the acute phase response in conjunction with lower plasma IL-6 levels (513).

9.6 IL-12

IL-12, originally termed cytotoxic lymphocyte maturation factor (514), is a growth factor for CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells and NK cells (515), and has been shown to modulate the cytolytic and proliferative activity of these cells. In vitro, IL-12 is able to direct T-cells to a Th1 phenotype, and induces production of IFNy and **TNF** α (516). IL-12 thus has potential to promote an immune response, enhance the host defense response (517), and treat Th2driven imbalances such as allergy or asthma. Evidence for its role in protective immunity is supported by the finding that individuals who lack the ability to express a component of the IL-12 receptor (IL-12R β 1) are susceptible to bacterial infection (518, 519).

In contrast, IL-12 may contribute to Th1associated inflammation and autoimmune diseases such as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (520), septic shock (521), multiple sclerosis (522), and rheumatoid arthritis (523). For these diseases, inhibition or neutralization of IL-12 may have therapeutic value (524).

IL-12 is a 75-kDa heterodimer with two disulfide-linked subunits (p35 and p40), and is produced by macrophages (525), dendritic cells (526), and airway epithelial cells (527). Expression of IL-12 receptor (IL-12R) is limited to activated T- and NK cells. Functional IL-12R has β 1 and /32 subunits with p40 ligand segment binding primarily to β 1, whereas the p35 ligand unit associates with the β 2 chain of the receptor (528). The β 2 unit appears to be responsible for signal transduction (529).

9.6.1 IL-12 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. IL-12 ligand knockouts have been developed with mutations generated independently in both the **p40** and **p35** genes. The mice are viable, displaying normal development and normal levels of T-cells, B-cells, and macrophages in the thymus, spleen, and lymph nodes (530, 531). In response to LPS, however, these mice show an impaired ability to produce IFNy and are unable to mount a Th1 response. 9.6.2 11-12 Modulators/Clinical Data. Endogenous inhibitors of IL-12 include IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, TGF β , and PGE,. Small molecules such as pentoxifylline and acetyl salicylic acid (ASA, aspirin) have also been shown to inhibit IL-12 production in PBMCs and monocytes stimulated with LPS. This inhibition is independent of the endogenous inhibitors such as IL-10, TGF β , and IL-4. Both aspirin and pentoxifylline inhibit accumulation of p40 mRNA and do this through inhibiting the interaction of NF κ B in the p40 promoter region, leading to suppression of the p40 gene.

The naturally occurring homodimer IL-12p40 subunit acts as an antagonist of bioactive IL-12 p35/p40 heterodimer. When IL-12p40 homodimer is given to diabetes-prone nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice, diabetes is suppressed (532). This result supports a role for IL-12 in driving Thl-driven autoimmune diabetes.

Preclinically, IL-12 administration demonstrates therapeutic benefit in models of infectious disease (533, 534), cancer (535), and allergic airway hyperresponsiveness (536,537). IL-12's role in host defense is evidenced by the protection that endogenous IL-12 provides against viral infection. It does this through enhancement of NK and cytolytic T-lymphocyte (CTL) activity (533). Recombinant IL-12 also has a curative effect in mice infected with Leishmania major (534). Because of IL-12's ability to enhance NK and CTL activity, as well as its potential to induce IFN γ , this cytokine may have therapeutic benefit as an antitumor agent. IL-12 has shown potent antitumor effects against a variety of murine malignancies (535), and it is believed that this effect is mediated through CD8+ T-cells.

IL-12 has entered clinical trials for cancer (538–541), chronic hepatitis C (542), and asthma (543). Preliminary analysis shows some positive benefit in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (541). To avoid severe toxicity, an 1L-12 pretreatment regimen appears to be necessary (544).

Administration of IL-12 to patients with mild allergic asthma significantly decreased peripheral blood eosinophils and sputum eosinophils (543). However, in contrast to the mouse model, there was no clinical improvement in airway hyperresponsiveness to histamine, nor was there an effect on the late **asth**matic reaction. As with anti-IL-5, which shows a similar clinical nonresponse, this calls into question the role of the eosinophil in this disease, as well as the concept of asthma being governed by a Th2 phenotype.

9.7 IL-13

IL-13, IL-4, and IL-5 together belong to the family of Th2 cytokines and share similar biological activities on human B-cells and monocytes (545). IL-13 is a 17-kDa glycoprotein primarily produced by Th2 cells and, to a lesser extent, by macrophages, dendritic cells, NK cells, mast cells, and basophils.

The involvement of **IL-13** in allergic disease is supported by genetic data linking IL-13 polymorphism to asthma. An association between **IL-13** promoter polymorphism and increased riskof allergic asthma has been described (546). Another study found an association between a polymorphism in the IL-13 gene and serum IgE levels (547).

This cytokine binds to two membranebound proteins, IL-13R α 1 (low affinity) and **IL-13Rα2** (high affinity) (548). IL-13Rα1 reguires the presence of IL-4R α to form a high affinity complex. This complex is expressed in a wide variety of hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic cells. IL-13R $\alpha 2$ alone is a high affinity receptor but there is no clear evidence that this protein is capable of transducing a signal upon IL-13 binding. Because of this, it has been proposed that it may act as a natural antagonist of IL-13 function. Many of the com**mon** functions assigned to both IL-4 and IL-13 are probably attributable to the fact that they share the IL-13Rα1/IL-4Rα high affinity com**plex.** Interestingly, IL-13Rα1 is not expressed on T-cells, so it does not act on T-cells directly. However, it could modulate T-cell responses **brough its effects on macrophages.** Binding of either cytokine to the IL-13R α 1/IL-4R α receptor complex induces the activation of the JAK/ STAT pathway.

Both IL-13 and IL-4 have been shown to egulate B-cell function and IgE synthesis. It has also been reported that IL-13 acts on macrophages and regulates cell surface protein expression. More recently, IL-13 has been reported to induce gene expression in nonhematopoietic cells, including fibroblasts, endothe**lial** cells, smooth muscle cells, and epithelial cells (549, 550). Thus, IL-13 seems to have a broader spectrum of actions on airway cells compared to that of IL-4. For example, IL-13 but not IL-4 reduces β -adrenergic responsiveness of human airway smooth muscle cells (551).

9.7.1 IL-13 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. The role of IL-13 in vivo has been studied by use of transient or constitutive expression of the cytokine. When IL-13 was expressed in an inducible fashion in the lung, a very striking phenotype was observed (552); mucus metaplasia, macrophage, lymphocyte, and eosinophil-rich inflammation and subepithelial fibrosis are characteristics shown by these mice. These same features can also be found in asthmatic patients. These experiments suggest a role for IL-13, not only in the allergic response but also in the remodeling and destruction of the airways. The role of IL-13 in the development of lung allergic inflammation in mice has been recently confirmed by the use of knockout mice. Peripheral T-cells from IL- $13^{-/-}$ mice produce fewer Th2 cytokines because of impairment of Th2 cell development (553). In addition, IL-13 knockout mice do not develop AHR, in spite of the presence of eosinophil-rich inflammation. AHR was restored in these mice by administration of recombinant IL-13. These results indicate that IL-13 is necessary and sufficient for the induction of AHR in mouse.

9.7.2 IL-13 Modulators/Clinical Data. An IL-13R α 2-IgGFc fusion protein was used to assess the role of IL-13 in a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation (554). The systemic administration of this reagent into mice, before the induction of lung inflammation by ovalbumin, resulted in complete reversal of airway hyperreactivity, even if treatment was given after full development of the phenotype (in contrast with IL-4). Blockade of IL-13 reverses the increase of mucus-containing cells in this model. A human soluble IL-13 receptor is currently being developed by the Genetics Institute.

In a chronic model of Aspergillus *fumiga*tus-induced allergic asthma, **immunoneutral**ization of IL-13 has marked effects (555). The use of anti-IL-13 antibody results in a significant attenuation of airway hyperreactivity in this model. When IL-4 is neutralized, no statistically significant decrease was observed. In addition, neutralization of IL-13 inhibits collagen deposition, subepithelial fibrosis, and goblet cell hyperplasia. None of these effects was observed when neutralization of IL-4 was performed. Again, these results point to a broader spectrum of effects for IL-13 compared to that of IL-4, and for this reason IL-13 may be a more favorable target for asthma.

Other dual modulators for IL-4 and IL-13 are described in the IL-4 section of this review.

9.8 TNFα

TNFa was originally identified because of its antitumor activity. However, later studies have shown that this cytokine plays a major role in autoimmune diseases and is also involved in multiple activities, including metastasis, viral replication, septic shock, inflammation, and fever.

Human TNFa is a protein that exists in both soluble (157amino acids) and transmembrane form (233 amino acids). Soluble TNFa is released from the cell membrane through a TNF-converting enzyme and exists as a **homotrimer** in aqueous solution (556,557). It is produced primarily by **monocytes/macro**phages in response to various inflammatory stimuli, but can also be produced by other cell types, including T-cells, NK cells, dendritic cells, and endothelial cells.

TNF mediates its action through two different receptors, referred to as p60 (p55, Type I, CD120a) and p80 (p75, type II, CD120D) (558). In general, most TNF proinflammatory activities are mediated through the p60 receptor, whereas the role of the p80 receptor is less clear. The crystal structure of the p60 receptor bound to TNF has been solved (559). This structure predicts that a ligand trimer brings three receptor chains together to form a complex. The **p60** receptor is expressed by all cell types examined to date. In contrast, the p80 receptor appears to be restricted to cells from the immune system and hematopoietic cells. The cytoplasmic domain of the TNF receptors has been shown to bind to distinct serine/threonine kinases and to cause phosphorylation of the receptor (560). Activation of the p60 receptor has been shown to activate apoptosis, the nuclear transcription factor NF κ B, and *c-jun* N-terminal kinase (JNK) (561). NF κ B activation mediates many of the inflammatory activities of TNF, including the expression of cytokines, chemokines, and cell adhesion molecules.

9.8.1 TNF α Knockout and Transgenic Mice. The role of TNFa in *vivo* is not well understood. It is believed that TNF is required for protection against bacterial, fungal, parasitic, and perhaps even viral infections and other stressful stimuli (562). TNF knockout mice are shown to develop normally. These mice have normal thymus, but their spleen architecture is abnormal and their ability to fight infection is reduced (563). They are also protected from lethal doses of LPS. Knockout studies of the TNF receptor (p60) have shown that mice deficient in this gene are resistant to endotoxic shock but show increased susceptibility to Listeria monocytogenes (564, 565).

9.8.2 TNF *a* Modulators/Clinical Data. In human rheumatoid arthritis (RA), TNF protein has been observed in the synovial fluid, and TNF **mRNA** in synovial cells, including monocytes and macrophages (566,567). In animal models of RA, anti-TNF therapy is highly effective. These models include collagen-induced arthritis, adjuvant arthritis as well as streptococcal cell wall arthritis (568, 569). To date, two different approaches have been taken to neutralize TNF activity clinically: recombinant soluble receptor and monoclonal antibodies against TNF. Etanercept (Enbrel, Immunex) is a dimeric fusion molecule composed of two p80 TNF receptor moieties bound to an Fc portion of human IgG1. This molecule is effective in both adult and juvenile RA (570-572) and shows efficacy in controlling signs and symptoms of the disease. In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, 59% of patients responded to Etanercept. The second strategy consists in the generation of mouse monoclonal antibodies against TNF. To decrease immunogenicity of the mouse antibody, the Fc region is replaced by a human Fc domain. Infliximab (Remicade, Centocor) is a chimeric antibody created by use of this strategy and when used in combination with methotrexate (to avoid the development of antibodies), 52–58% response is seen in RA patients (573, 574).

The clinical effects of Etanercept are comparable to those of Infliximab. One advantage of Etanercept is that it is given subcutaneously twice a week, whereas Infliximab is given by slow intravenous infusion every 4–8 weeks. Another advantage is that Etanercept also recognizes lymphotoxin, and this may account for its efficacy in juvenile chronic arthritis. Currently, **D2E7**, a fully human anti-TNF antibody, is being developed (Knoll). It appears to be effective in RA without the need for methotrexate cotreatment (575).

9.9 IFN γ

Interferon γ (IFNy) is produced mainly by a subset of activated T-lymphocytes and natural killer cells and is the main activator of macrophages (576). An increase in production of IFNy is usually associated with effective host defense against intracellular pathogens and with autoimmune diseases. IFNy is a well-conserved protein among animal species and its biological active form is a 34-kDa homodimer. However, it is heterogeneous in size because of both enzymatic trimming of the C-terminus and variations in glycosylation (577, 578).

The IFNy receptor consists of two subunits: the IFNG1 subunit (IFNy receptor a-chain, 90 kDa), which binds with high affinity to IFNy; and the IFNG2 subunit (IFNy receptor β -chain, 62 kDa), which does not contribute significantly to binding but is necessary for signal transduction (579). Both subunits are expressed ubiquitously on many cell types. Upon stimulation, association between the two subunits is induced and the signaling cascade is initiated. The IFNy receptor activation process is through a JAK/STAT signaling pathway, and JAK1, JAK2, and STAT1 are specifically involved in mediating many IFNydependent effects on cells (580, 581). The effects of IFNy are mostly at the transcriptional level. Many genes are induced by treatment with this cytokine. The genes that are induced depend on the cell type and the presence of other cytokines. For example, in macrophages IFNy induces the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules, contributing in this manner to antibody formation and development of cytotoxic T-cells (582). In endothelial cells, IFNy augments the production of the adhesion molecule I-CAM, contributing to leukocyte infiltration during inflammation (583).

9.9.1 IFN γ Knockout and Transgenic Mice. The in *vivo* role of IFNy has been elucidated in mice using null mutations for IFNy or the INFy receptors (IFNG1 and IFNG2). All these mice present a common characteristic, in that their ability to resist infection is greatly impaired. In these mice a significant reduction in MHC class II molecules on macrophages was observed (584–587).

INFy or INFy receptor knockout mice have shown that, depending on the animal models, this **cytokine** can act as either an immunosuppressant or an immunopotentiator. For example, IFNy receptor knockout mice are protected from developing autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice (588). They are also protected from developing inflammatory bowel disease in an IL-12-induced disease (589). In contrast, these knockout mice are more vulnerable in other disease models, such as the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model (590). Furthermore, varied results can be obtained, depending on the agent used to block IFNy actions and the time in which the agent is delivered (see Modulators section).

9.9.2 INF γ Modulators/Clinical Data. Antibodies against IFNy have been widely used in animal models of human diseases. As indicated for the knockout mice, the results of blocking IFNy activity with antibodies depends on the model used. One interesting situation is the collagen-induced arthritis model. When the antibody is given early in the development of the disease, a reduction in the severity is observed. When the antibody is given late, the result is disease aggravation (591, 592). Interestingly, knockout mice are more sensitive to the development of the disease (592).

Other experiments that use antibodies in animal models have shown results similar to those obtained with knockout mice. In disease models of immune diabetes and inflammatory bowel disease, anti-IFNy antibodies alleviate the disease symptoms (593, 594). In disease models of MS, such as EAE, anti-IFNy antibodies enhance the disease (595–597).

Many research groups have recently identified patients with inactivating mutations of IFNGR1 or **IFNGR2** who have a severe susceptibility to weakly pathogenic mycobacterial species. Complete deficiency in IFNGR1 results in infections with low levels of virulent mycobacteria in early childhood (**598**).

Attempts to relate polymorphisms in the human IFNy gene with disease association have also been reported. In both Finnish and Japanese populations, distinct IFNy gene polymorphisms are found in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients, suggesting a global disease association (599, 600). Recombinant human IFNy has been used in various trials for the treatment of infectious diseases such as chronic granulomatous disease, visceral leishmaniasis, and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. In all cases some benefit has been reported after treatment with IFNy alone or in combination with other drugs (601, 602). To date no clinical data have been published regarding the efficacy of IFNy antagonists. However, Protein Designs Labs has a humanized monoclonal antibody in phase I/II trials for autoimmune diseases.

REFERENCES

- 1. J. Oppenheim and M. Feldman, Cytokine Reference, Vol. 1, Academic Press, London, 2001.
- K. I. Arai, F. Lee, A. Miyajima, S. Miyatake, N. Arai, and T. Yokota, *Annu*. Rev. Biochem., 59, 783 (1990).
- 3. T. A. Springer, Cell, 76,301 (1994).
- 4. C. R. Mackay, *Nat.* Immunol., 2, 95 (2001).
- A. Zlotnik, J. Morales, and J. A. Hedrick, Crit. Rev. Immunol., 19, 1 (1999).
- A. Mantovani, Immunol. Today, 20, 254 (1999).
- 7. M. Baggiolini, Nature, 392, 565 (1998).
- A. Zlotnik and O. Yoshie, Immunity, 12, 121 (2000).
- 9. A. D. Luster, N. Engl. J. Med., 338, 436 (1998).
- M. Locati and P. M. Murphy, *Annu.* Rev. Med., 50,425 (1999).
- 11. P. M. Murphy, M. Baggiolini, I. F. Charo, C. A. Hebert, R. Horuk, K. Matsushima, L. H.

Miller, J. J. Oppenheim, and C. A. Power, *Pharmacol.* Rev., **52,145** (2000).

- R. Horuk, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev., 12, 313 (2001).
- I. Clark-Lewis, C. Schumacher, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, J. Biol. Chem., 266, 23128 (1991).
- M. Loetscher, B. Gerber, P. Loetscher, S. A. Jones, L. Piali, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, J. Exp. Med., 184,963 (1996).
- 15. S. Jungand D. R. Littman, *Curr. Opin. Immu*nol., 11,319 (1999).
- 16. J. G. Cyster, K. M. Ansel, K. Reif, E. H. Ekland,
 P. L. Hyman, H. L. Tang, S. A. Luther, and
 V. N. Ngo, Immunol. Rev., 176, 181 (2000).
- 17. S. G. Ward, K. Bacon, and J. Westwick, Immunity, 9, 1 (1998).
- **18.** M. Baggiolini, B. **Dewald**, and B. Moser, *Annu*. Rev. Immunol., **15,675** (**1997**).
- 19. M. Thelen, Nat. Immunol., 2, 129 (2001).
- **20.** D. Q. Wu, G. J. Larosa, and M. I. Simon, Science, **261**, **101** (1993).
- B. B. Damaj, S. R. McColl, W. Mahana, M. F. Crouch, and P. H. Naccache, J. Biol. Chem., 271,12783 (1996).
- 22. A. J. Vila-Coro, J. M. Rodriguez-Frade, A. M. De Ana, M. C. Moreno-Ortiz, C. Martinez, and M. Mellado, *FASEB* J., 13, 1699 (1999).
- 23. H. Arai and I. F. Charo, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 21814 (1996).
- 24. A. Alaoukaty, T. J. Schall, and A. A. Maghazachi, Blood, 87,4255 (1996).
- 25. E. R. Neptune, T. Iiri, and H. R. Bourne, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 2824 (1999).
- 26. E. R. Neptune and H. R. Bourne, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 14489 (1997).
- 27. Z. Li, H. P. Jiang, W. Xie, Z. C. Zhang, A. V. Smrcka, and D. Q. Wu, Science, 287, 1046 (2000).
- E. Hirsch, V. L. Katanaev, C. Garlanda, O. Azzolino, L. Pirola, L. Silengo, S. Sozzani, A. Mantovani, F. Altruda, and M. P. Wymann, Science, 287, 1049 (2000).
- 29. T. Sasaki, J. Irie-Sasaki, R. G. Jones, A. J. Oliveira-dos-Santos, W. L. Stanford, B. Bolon, A. Wakeham, A. Itie, D. Bouchard, I. Kozieradzki, N. Joza, T. W. Mak, P. S. Ohashi, A. Suzuki, and J. M. Penninger, Science, 287, 1040 (2000).
- M. Thelen, M. Uguccioni, and J. Bosiger, *Biochem.* Biophys. Res. Commun., 217, 1255 (1995).

J. M. Rodriguez-Frade, A. J. Vila-Coro, A. M. de Ana, J. P. Albar, A. C. Martinez, and M. Mellado, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, 96, 3628 (1999).

B. A. Jordan and L. A. Devi, Nature, **399,697** (1999).

M. C. Overton and K. J. Blumer, *Curr.* Biol., 10, 341(2000).

M. Mellado, J. M. Rodriguez-Frade, A. Aragay, G. del Real, A. M. Martin, A. J. Vila-Coro, A. Serrano, F. Mayor Jr., and A. C. Martinez, J. Immunol., **161,805(1998)**.

P. A. Hargrave, J. H. McDowell, D. R. Curtis, J. K. Wang, E. Juszczak, S. L. Fong, J. K. Rao, and P. Argos, Biophys. Struct. Mech., 9, 235 (1983).

R. Henderson and P. N. Unwin, Nature, **257**, **28**(1975).

J. B. Findlay, P. L. Barclay, M. Brett, M. Davison, D. J. Pappin, and P. Thompson, Vision Res., 24, 1501 (1984).

K. Palczewski, T. Kumasaka, T. Hori, C. A. Behnke, H. Motoshima, B. A. Fox, I. Le Trong, D. C. Teller, T. Okada, S. R., M. Yamamoto, and M. Miyano, Science, **289**, **739** (2000).

G. M. Clore, E. Appella, M. Yamada, K. Matsushima, and A. M. Gronenborn, Biochemistry, 29,1689 (1990).

I. Clark-Lewis, K. S. Kim, K. Rajarathnam, J. H. Gong, B. Dewald, B. Moser, M. Baggiolini, and B. D. Sykes, J. *Leukoc.* Biol., 57, 703 (1995).

G. M. Clore and A. M. Gronenborn, *FASEB* J., 9, 57 (1995).

X. Zhang, L. Chen, D. P. Bancroft, C. K. Lai, and T. E. Maione, Biochemistry, **33**, **8361** (1994).

W.J. Fairbrother, D. Reilly, T. J. Colby, J. Hesselgesser, and R. Horuk, J. Mol. Biol., 242, 252 (1994).

C. **W**.Chung, R. M. Cooke, **A**. E. Proudfoot, and T. N. Wells, Biochemistry, **34**, **9307(1995)**.

T. M. Handel and P. J. Domaille, Biochemistry, 35,6569 (1996).

N. J. Skelton, F. Aspiras, J. Ogez, and T. J. Schall, Biochemistry, 34, 5329 (1995).

M.P. Crump, J. H. Gong, P. Loetscher, K. Rajarathnam, A. Amara, F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, J. L. Virelizier, M. Baggiolini, B. D. Sykes, and I. Clark-Lewis, EMBO J., 16, 6996(1997).

Y. Ohnishi, T. Senda, N. Nandhagopal, K. Sugimoto, T. Shioda, Y. Nagal, and Y. Mitsui, J. Interferon Cytokine Res., 20,691 (2000).

- 49. K. Rajarathnam, B. D. Sykes, C. M. Kay, B. Dewald, T. Geiser, M. Baggiolini, and I. Clark-Lewis, Science, 264, 90 (1994).
- 50. H. B. Lowman, W. J. Fairbrother, P. H. Slagle, R. Kabakoff, J. Liu, S. Shire, and C. A. Hebert, Protein Sci., 6, 598 (1997).
- 51. C. D. Paavola, S. Hemmerich, D. Grunberger, I. Polsky, A. Bloom, R. Freedman, M. Mulkins, S. Bhakta, D. McCarley, L. Wiesent, B. Wong, K. Jarnagin, and T. M. Handel, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 33157(1998).
- 52. M. P. Crump, K. Rajarathnam, K. S. Kim, I. Clark-Lewis, and B. D. Sykes, J. Biol. Chem., 273,22471 (1998).
- 53. D. R. Pakianathan, E. G. Kuta, D. R. Artis, N. J. Skelton, and C. A. Hebert, Biochemistry, 36,9642(1997).
- 54. G. Simmons, P. R. Clapham, L. Picard, R. E. Offord, M. M. Rosenkilde, T. W. Schwartz, R. Buser, T. N. C. Wells, and A. E. Proudfoot, Science, 276, 276 (1997).
- 55. S. Hemmerich, C. Paavola, A. Bloom, S. Bhakta, R. Freedman, D. Grunberger, J. Krstenansky, S. Lee, D. McCarley, M. Mulkins, B. Wong, J. Pease, L. Mizoue, T. Mirzadegan, I. Polsky, K. Thompson, T. M. Handel, and K. Jarnagin, Biochemistry, 38,13013(1999).
- 56. K. Jarnagin, D. Grunberger, M. Mulkins, B. Wong, S. Hemmerich, C. Paavola, A. Bloom, S. Bhakta, F. Diehl, R. Freedman, D. McCarley, I. Polsky, A. Ping-Tsou, A Kosaka, and T. M. Handel, Biochemistry, 38, 16167 (1999).
- **57.** J. H. Gong, L. G. Ratkay, J. D. Waterfield, and I. Clark-Lewis, *J.* Exp. Med., **186, 131 (1997).**
- 58. K. Suetomi, Z. Lu, T. Heck, T. G. Wood, D. J. Prusak, K. J. Dunn, and J. Navarro, J. Biol. Chem., 274,11768(1999).
- **59.** M. R. Mayer and M. J. Stone, **J.** Biol. Chem., **276,13911 (2001).**
- 60. H. B. Lowman, P. H. Slagle, L. E. Deforge, C. M. Wirth, B. L. Gillece-Castro, J. H. Bourell, and W. J. Fairbrother, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 14344 (1996).
- G. Williams, N. Borkakoti, G. A. Bottomley, I. Cowan, A. G. Fallowfield, P. S. Jones, S. J. Kirtland, G. J. Price, and L. Price, J. Biol. Chem., 271,9579(1996).
- 62. J. L. Gao, D. B. Kuhns, H. L. Tiffany, D. Mc-Dermott, X. Li, U. Francke, and P. M. Murphy, J. Exp. Med., 177, 1421 (1993).
- 63. K.Neote, D. DiGregorio, J. Y. Mak, R. Horuk, and T. J. Schall, Cell, 72,415 (1993).
- **64.** C. Franci, L. M. Wong, J. Van **Damme**, P. Proost, and I. F. Charo, **J**. Immunol., **154,6511** (1995).

- 65. J. L. Gao, T. A. Wynn, Y. Chang, E. J. Lee, H. E. Broxmeyer, S. Cooper, H. L. Tiffany, H. Westphal, J. Kwon-Chung, and P. M. Murphy, J. *Exp.* Med., 185,1959 (1997).
- 66. S. Sozzani, W. Luini, A. Borsatti, N. Polentarutti, D. Zhou, L. Piemonti, G. D'Amico, C. A. Power, T. N. Wells, M. Gobbi, P. Allavena, and A. Mantovani, J. Immunol., 159,1993 (1997).
- **67.** S. L. Kunkel, N. Lukacs, T. Kasama, and R. M. Strieter, **J.** Leukoc. Biol., **59**, **6** (1996).
- **68.** R. Miyagishi, **S.** Kikuchi, T. **Fukazawa**, and K. Tashiro, **J.** Neurol. Sci., **129**, **223** (**1995**).
- **69.** R. Godiska, D. Chantry, G. N. Dietsch, and P. W. Gray, **J.** Neuroimmunol., **58,167 (1995).**
- 70. A. R. Glabinski, M. Tani, R. M. Strieter, V. K. Tuohy, and R. M. Ransohoff, *Am. J.* Pathol., 150,617 (1997).
- R. Miyagishi, S. Kikuchi, C. Takayama, Y. Inoue, and K. Tashiro, J. Neuroimmunol., 77, 17 (1997).
- 72. W. J. Karpus, N. W. Lukacs, B. L. McRae, R. M. Strieter, S. L. Kunkel, and S. D. Miller, *J. Immunol.*, 155,5003 (1995).
- **73.** W. **J. Karpus** and K. **J.** Kennedy, **J.** Leukoc. Biol., **62,681** (1997).
- 74. C. Gerard, J. L. Frossard, M. Bhatia, A. Saluja, N. P. Gerard, B. Lu, and M. Steer, J. Clin. Invest., 100,2022 (1997).
- 75. W. Gao, P. S. Topham, J. A. King, S. T. Smiley,
 V. Csizmadia, B. Lu, C. J. Gerard, and W. W. Hancock, *J.* Clin. Inuest., 105, 35 (2000).
- 76. K. Blease, B. Mehrad, T. J. Standiford, N. W. Lukacs, S. L. Kunkel, S. W. Chensue, B. Lu, C. J. Gerard, and C. M. Hogaboam, J. Immunol., 165, 1564 (2000).
- 77. F.S. Monteclaro and C. I., J. Biol. Chem., 271, 19084 (1996).
- 78. J. E. Pease, J. Wang, P. D. Ponath, and P. M. Murphy, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 19972 (1998).
- 79. D. A. Barnes, J. Tse, M. Kaufhold, M. Owen, J. Hesselgesser, R. Strieter, R. Horuk, and H. D. Perez, J. Clin. Invest., 101, 2910 (1998).
- A. Tokuda, M. Itakura, N. Onai, H. Kimura, T. Kuriyama, and K. Matsushima, J. Immunol., 164,2745 (2000).
- A. E. Proudfoot, C. A. Power, A. J. Hoogewerf, M. O. Montjovent, F. Borlat, R. E. Offord, and T. N. Wells, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 2599 (1996).
- C. Plater-Zyberk, A. J. Hoogewerf, A. E. Proudfoot, C. A. Power, and T. N. Wells, *Immunol. Lett.*, 57, 117 (1997).
- 83. U. Panzer, A. Schneider, J. Wilken, D. A. Thompson, S. B. Kent, and R. A. Stahl, Kidney *Int.*, 56,2107 (1999).

- 84. C. Bright, T. J. Brown, P. Cox, F. Halley, P. Lockey, I. M. McLay, U. Moore, B. Porter, and R. J. Williams, Bioorg. Med. Chem. *Lett.*, 8, 771 (1998).
- H. P. Ng, K. May, J. G. Bauman, A. Ghannam, I. Islam, M. Liang, R. Horuk, J. Hesselgesser, R. M. Snider, H. D. Perez, and M. M. Morrissey, J. Med. Chem., 42,4680 (1999).
- 86. A. Naya, Y. Sagara, K. Ohwaki, T. Saeki, D. Ichikawa, Y. Iwasawa, K. Noguchi, and N. Ohtake, J. Med. Chem., 44, 1429 (2001).
- 87. J. Hesselgesser, H. P. Ng, M. Liang, W. Zheng, K. May, J. G. Bauman, S. Monahan, I. Islam, G. P. Wei, A. Ghannam, D. D. Taub, M. Rosser, R. M. Snider, M. M. Morrissey, H. D. Perez, and R. Horuk, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 15687 (1998).
- 88. M. Liang, M. Rosser, H. P. Ng, K. May, J. G. Bauman, I. Islam, A. Ghannam, P. J. Kretschmer, H. Pu, L. Dunning, R. M. Snider, M. M. Morrissey, J. Hesselgesser, H. D. Perez, and R. Horuk, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 389, 41 (2000).
- I. Sabroe, M. J. Peck, B. J. Van Keulen, A. Jorritsma, G. Simmons, P. R. Clapham, T. J. Williams, and J. E. Pease, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 25985 (2000).
- 90. M. Liang, C. Mallari, M. Rosser, H. P. Ng, K. May, S. Monahan, J. G. Bauman, I. Islam, A. Ghannam, B. Buckman, K. Shaw, G. P. Wei, W. Xu, Z. Zhao, E. Ho, J. Shen, H. Oanh, B. Subramanyam, R. Vergona, D. Taub, L. Dunning, S. Harvey, R. M. Snider, J. Hesselgesser, M. M. Morrissey, and H. D. Perez, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 19000 (2000).
- 91. R. Horuk, C. Clayberger, A. M. Krensky, Z. H. Wang, H. J. Grone, C. Weber, K. S. C. Weber, P. J. Nelson, K. May, M. Rosser, L. Dunning, M. Liang, B. Buckmann, A. Ghannam, H. P. Ng, I. Islam, J. G. Bauman, G. P. Wei, S. Monahan, W. Xu, R. M. Snider, M. M. Morrissey, J. Hesselgesser, and H. D. Perez, J. Biol. Chem., 276,4199 (2001).
- 92. I. F. Charo, S. J. Myers, A. Herman, C. Franci,
 A. J. Connolly, and S. R. Coughlin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 91, 2752 (1994).
- 93. L. M. Wong, S. J. Myers, C. L. Tsou, J. Gosling, H. Arai, and I. F. Charo, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 1038 (1997).
- 94. J. M. Frade, M. Mellado, G. del Real, J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, P. Lind, and A. C. Martinez, J. Immunol., 159, 5576 (1997).
- **95.** P. M. Villiger, R. Terkeltaub, and M. Lotz, **J.** Immunol., **149**, **722** (1992).

- 96. A. E. Koch, S. L. Kunkel, L. A. Harlow, B. Johnson, H. L. Evanoff, G. K. Haines, M. D. Burdick, R. M. Pope, and R. M. Strieter, J. Clin. Invest., 90, 772 (1992).
- M. Harigai, M. Hara, T. Yoshimura, E. J. Leonard, K. Inoue, and S. Kashiwazaki, *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.*, 69, 83 (1993).
- 98. P. Loetscher, B. Dewald, M. Baggiolini, and M. Seitz, *Cytokine*, 6, 162 (1994).
- M. Uguccioni, M. D'Apuzzo, M. Loetscher, B. Dewald, and M. Baggiolini, *Eur. J. Immunol.*, 25, 64 (1995).
- 100. L. Boring, J. Gosling, M. Cleary, and I. F. Charo, *Nature*, 394, 894 (1998).
- 101. J. Gosling, S. Slaymaker, L. Gu, S. Tseng, C. H. Zlot, S. G. Young, B. J. Rollins, and I. F. Charo, *J. Clin. Invest.*, 103, 773 (1999).
- 102. N. A. Nelken, S. R. Coughlin, D. Gordon, and J. N. Wilcox, J. Clin. Invest., 88, 1121 (1991).
- 103. J. A. Gonzalo, C. M. Lloyd, L. Kremer, E. Finger, A. C. Martinez, M. H. Siegelman, M. Cybulsky, and J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. Clin. Invest., 98, 2332 (1996).
- 104. J. A. Gonzalo, C. M. Lloyd, D. Wen, J. P. Albar, T. N. Wells, A. Proudfoot, A. Martinez, M. Dorf, T. Bjerke, A. J. Coyle, and J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. *Exp. Med.*, 188, 157 (1998).
- 105. K. Blease, B. Mehrad, T. J. Standiford, N. W. Lukacs, J. Gosling, L. Boring, I. F. Charo, S. L. Kunkel, and C. M. Hogaboam, J. *Immunol.*, 165,2603(2000).
- 106. J. A. MacLean, G. T. De Sanctis, K. G. Ackerman, J. M. Drazen, A. Sauty, E. DeHaan, F. H. Green, I. F. Charo, and A. D. Luster, J. Immunol., 165,6568(2000).
- 107. L. Gu, S. Tseng, R. M. Horner, C. Tam, M. Loda, and B. J. Rollins, *Nature*, 404, 407 (2000).
- 108. M. W. Smith, M. Dean, M. Carrington, C. Winkler, G. A. Huttley, D. A. Lomb, J. J. Goedert, T. R. O'Brien, L. P. Jacobson, R. Kaslow, S. Buchbinder, E. Vittinghoff, D. Vlahov, K. Hoots, M. W. Hilgartner, and S. J. O'Brien, *Science*, 277, 959(1997).
- 109. K. H. Han, S. R. Green, R. K. Tangirala, S. Tanaka, and O. Quehenberger, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 32055(1999).
- 110. T. Mirzadegan, F. Diehl, B. Ebi, S. Bhakta, I. Polsky, D. McCarley, M. Mulkins, G. S. Weatherhead, J. M. Lapierre, J. Dankwardt, D. Morgans Jr., R. Wilhelm, and K. Jarnagin, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 25562(2000).
- 111. C. Horvath, F. G. Welt, M. Nedelman, P. Rao, and C. Rogers, *Circ. Res.*, 90, 488(2002).

- 112. J. M. Frade, M. Llorente, M. Mellado, J. Alcami, J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, A. Zaballos, G. Real, and A. C. Martinez, J. *Clin. Invest.*, 100, 497 (1997).
- 113. H. Ogata, M. Takeya, T. Yoshimura, K. Takagi, and K. Takahashi, *J. Pathol.*, 182, 106 (1997).
- 114. T. Wada, H. Yokoyama, K. Furuichi, K. I. Kobayashi, K. Harada, M. Naruto, S. B. Su, M. Akiyama, N. Mukaida, and K. Matsushima, *FASEB* J., 10, 1418 (1996).
- 115. C. M. Lloyd, A. W. Minto, M. E. Dorf, A. Proudfoot, T. N. Wells, D. J. Salant, and J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. *Exp. Med.*, 185, 1371 (1997).
- 116. M. L. Rand, J. S. Warren, M. K. Mansour, W. Newman, and D. J. Ringler, Am. J. Pathol., 148,855(1996).
- 117. J. A. Gonzalo, C. M. Lloyd, D. Wen, J. P. Albar, T. N. Wells, A. Proudfoot, A. C. Martinez, M. Dorf, T. Bjerke, A. J. Coyle, and J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. Exp. Med., 188, 157 (1998).
- 118. Y.J. Zhang, B. J. Rutledge, and B. J. Rollins, J. Biol. Chem., 269, 15918 (1994).
- 119. J. H. Gong and I. Clark-Lewis, J. Exp. Med., 181,631 (1995).
- 120. M. Weber, M. Uguccioni, M. Baggiolini, I. Clark-Lewis, and C. A. Dahinden, J. *Exp. Med.*, 183,681(1996).
- 121. I. T. Forbes, D. G. Cooper, E. K. Dodds, D. M. B. Hickey, R. J. Ife, M. Meeson, M. Stockley, T. A. Berkhout, J. Gohil, P. H. E. Groot, and K. Moores, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 10, 1803 (2000).
- 122. I. Forbes, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 40, 9293(1999).
- 123. N. Kanzaki, M. Shiraishi, Y. Iizawa, M. Baba,
 O. Nishimura, and M. Fujino, *Drugs Future*, 25, 252(2000).
- 124. C. M. Tarby, W. J. Moree, K. Kataoka, M. Ramirez-Weinhouse, N. Endo, and T. Shiota in XVI International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry, Bologna, Italy, 2000.
- **125.** A. W. Faull and **J**. Kettle in WO **0046195**, AstraZeneca UK Ltd., **2000**.
- 126. H. Heath, S. Qin, P. Rao, L. Wu, G. LaRosa, N. Kassam, P. D. Ponath, and C. R. Mackay, J. Clin. Invest., 99, 178 (1997).
- 127. M. Uguccioni, C. R. Mackay, B. Ochensberger, P. Loetscher, S. Rhis, G. J. LaRosa, P. Rao, P. D. Ponath, M. Baggiolini, and C. A. Dahinden, J. *Clin. Invest.*, 100, 1137 (1997).
- 128. F. Sallusto, C. R. Mackay, and A. Lanzavecchia, *Science*, 277, 2005(1997).
- 129. H. Ochi, W. M. Hirani, Q. Yuan, D. S. Friend, K. F. Austen, and J. A. Boyce, *J. Exp. Med.*, 190, 267(1999).

Chernokine and Cytokine Modulators

- 130. D. A. Griffiths-Johnson, P. D. Collins, A. G. Rossi, P. J. Jose, and T. J. Williams, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 197, 1167 (1993).
- 131. P. J. Jose, D. A. Griffiths-Johnson, P. D. Collins, D. T. Walsh, R. Moqbel, N. F. Totty, O. Truong, J. J. Hsuan, and T. J. Williams, J. Exp. Med., 179,881 (1994).
- 132. U. Forssmann, M. Uguccioni, P. Loetscher, C. A. Dahinden, H. Langen, M. Thelen, and M. Baggiolini, J. Exp. Med., 185,2171 (1997).
- 133. M. Kitaura, N. Suzuki, T. Imai, S. Takagi, R. Suzuki, T. Nakajima, K. Hirai, H. Nomiyama, and O. Yoshie, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 27975 (1999).
- 134. S. Ying, D. S. Robinson, Q. Meng, J. Rottman, R. Kennedy, D. J. Ringler, C. R. Mackay, B. L. Daugherty, M. S. Springer, S. R. Durham, T. J. Williams, and A. B. Kay, Eur. J. Immunol., 27, 3507 (1997).
- 135. M. E. Rothenberg, J. A. MacLean, E. Pearlman, A. D. Luster, and P. Leder, J. Exp. Med., 185, 785 (1997).
- 136. Y. Yang, J. Loy, R. P. Ryseck, D. Carrasco, and R. Bravo, Blood, 92, 3912 (1998).
- 137. A. A. Humbles, B. Lu, D. S. Friend, S. Okinaga, J. Lora, A. Al-Garawi, T. R. Martin, N. P. Gerard, and C. Gerard, *Proc. Natl. Acad.* Sci. USA, 99, 1479 (2002).
- 138. W. Ma, P. J. Bryce, A. A. Humbles, D. Laouini,
 A. Yalcindag, H. Alenius, D. S. Friend, H. C. Oettgen, C. Gerard, and R. S. Geha, J. Clin. Invest., 109,621 (2002).
- 139. J. Elsner, H. Petering, C. Kluthe, D. Kimmig, R. Smolarski, P. Ponath, and A. Kapp, Eur. J. Immunol., 28,2152 (1998).
- 140. J. Kitayama, C. R. Mackay, P. D. Ponath, and T. A. Springer, J. Clin. Invest., 101, 2017 (1998).
- 141. F. Hadida, V. Vieillard, B. Autran, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and P. Debre, J. Exp. Med., 188,609 (1998).
- 142. J. C. Grimaldi, N. X. Yu, G. Grunig, B. W. Seymour, F. Cottrez, D. S. Robinson, N. Hosken, W. G. Ferlin, X. Wu, H. Soto, A. O'Garra, M. C. Howard, and R. L. Coffman, J. Leukoc. Biol., 65,846 (1999).
- 143. I. Sabroe, D. M. Conroy, N. P. Gerard, Y. Li, P. D. Collins, T. W. Post, P. J. Jose, T. J. Williams, C. J. Gerard, and P. D. Ponath, J. Immunol., 161, 6139 (1998).
- 144. J. H. Gong, M. Uguccioni, B. Dewald, M. Baggiolini, and I. Clark-Lewis, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 10521 (1996).

- 145. T. Oravecz, M. Pall, G. Roderiquez, M. D. Gorrell, M. Ditto, N. Y. Nguyen, R. Boykins, E. Unsworth, and M. A. Norcross, J. Exp. Med., 186, 1865 (1997).
- 146. P. Proost, S. Struyf, D. Schols, C. Durinx, A. Wuyts, J. P. Lenaerts, E. De Clercq, I. De Meester, and J. Van Damme, FEBS Lett., 432, 73 (1998).
- 147. S. Struyf, P. Proost, D. Schols, E. De Clercq, G. Opdenakker, J. P. Lenaerts, M. Detheux, M. Parmentier, I. De Meester, S. Scharpe, and J. Van Damme, J. Immunol., 162,4903 (1999).
- 148. J. Elsner, H. Petering, R. Hochstetter, D. Kimmig, T. N. Wells, A. Kapp, and A. E. Proudfoot, Eur. J. Immunol., 27,2892 (1997).
- 149. R. J. Nibbs, T. W. Salcedo, J. D. Campbell, X. T. Yao, Y. Li, B. Nardelli, H. S. Olsen, T. S. Morris, A. E. Proudfoot, V. P. Patel, and G. J. Graham, J. Immunol., 164, 1488 (2000).
- 150. K. Hieshima, T. Imai, M. Baba, K. Shoudai, K. Ishizuka, T. Nakagawa, J. Tsuruta, M. Takeya, Y. Sakaki, K. Takatsuki, R. Miura, G. Opdenakker, J. Van Damme, O. Yoshie, and H. Nomiyama, J. Zmmunol., 159, 1140 (1997).
- 151. V. Kodelja, C. Muller, O. Politz, N. Hakij, C. E. Orfanos, and S. Goerdt, J. Zmmunol., 160, 1411 (1998).
- 152. G. J. Adema, F. Hartgers, R. Verstraten, E. de Vries, G. Marland, S. Menon, J. Foster, Y. Xu, P. Nooyen, T. McClanahan, K. B. Bacon, and C. G. Figdor, *Nature*, 387, 713 (1997).
- 153. T. N. Wells and M. C. Peitsch, J. Leukoc. Biol., 61,545 (1997).
- 154. I. Sabroe, A. Hartnell, L. A. Jopling, S. Bel, P. D. Ponath, J. E. Pease, P. D. Collins, and T. J. Williams, *J. Immunol.*, 162,2946 (1999).
- 155. A. Heinemann, A. Hartnell, V. E. Stubbs, K. Murakami, D. Soler, G. LaRosa, P. W. Askenase, T. J. Williams, and I. Sabroe, J. Immunol., 165, 7224 (2000).
- 156. A. Naya, K. Kobayashi, M. Ishikawa, K. Ohwaki, T. Saeki, K. Noguchi, and N. Ohtake, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 1219 (2001).
- 157. T. Saeki, E. Ohwaki, A. Naya, K. Kobayashi, M. Ishikawa, N. Ohtake, and K. Noguchi, *Biochem.* Biophys. Res. Commun., 281, 779 (2001).
- 158. S. A. Bryan, P. D. Ponath, and R. S. Wilhelm in T. T. Hansel and P. J. Barnes, Eds., New Drugs for Asthma, Allergy and COPD, Vol. 31, Karger, Basel, 2001, p. 288.
- **159.** S. A. Bryan, P. J. Jose, J. R. Topping, R. Wilhelm, C. Soderberg, D. Kertesz, P. J. Barnes,

T. J. Williams, T. T. Hansel, and I. Sabroe, *Am. J. Respir. Crit.* Care Med., **165**, **1602** (2002).

- D. A. Wacker, J. B. Santella, D. S. Gardner, J. G. Varnes, M. Estrella, G. V. DeLucca, S. S. Ko, K. Tanabe, P. S. Watson, P. K. Welch, M. Covington, N. C. Stowell, E. A. Wadman, P. Davies, K. A. Solomon, R. C. Newton, G. L. Trainor, S. M. Friedman, C. P. Decicco, and J. V. Duncia, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 12, 1785 (2002).
- R. Harris, E. McKeegan, S. Majest, U. Warrior, R. Gentles, L. Garcia, M. Namovic, V. Komater, T. McNally, R. Helfrich, S. Rottinghaus, G. Grayson, C. Woodall, L. Traphagen, D. Burns, G. Carter, and R. Bell, *Inflamm.* Res., 49, S101 (2000).
- .62. J. R. White, J. M. Lee, K. Dede, C. S. Imburgia, A. J. Jurewicz, G. Chan, J. A. Fornwald, D. Dhanak, L. T. Christmann, M. G. Darcy, K. L. Widdowson, J. J. Foley, D. B. Schmidt, and H. M. Sarau, J. Biol. Chem., 275,36626 (2000).
- 63. C. A. Power, A. Meyer, K. Nemeth, K. B. Bacon, A. J. Hoogewerf, A. E. Proudfoot, and T. N. Wells, J. Biol. Chem., 270,19495 (1995).
- .64. C. A. Power, J. M. Clemetson, K. J. Clemetson, and T. N. Wells, Cytokine, **7,479** (1995).
- .65. R. Bonecchi, G. Bianchi, P. P. Bordignon, D. D'Ambrosio, R. Lang, A. Borsatti, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, P. A. Gray, A. Mantovani, and F. Sinigaglia, J. Exp. Med., 187, 129 (1998).
- .66. F. Sallusto, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, and A. Lanzavecchia, J. Exp. Med., 187, 875 (1998).
- .67. D. D'Ambrosio, A. Iellem, R. Bonecchi, D. Mazzeo, S. Sozzani, A. Mantovani, and F. Sinigaglia, J. Zmmunol., 161, 5111 (1998).
- .68. J. A. Gonzalo, Y. Pan, C. M. Lloyd, G. Q. Jia, G. Yu, B. Dussault, C. A. Powers, A. E. Proudfoot, A. J. Coyle, D. Gearing, and J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. Zmmunol., 163, 403 (1999).
- S. Kawasaki, H. Takizawa, H. Yoneyama, T. Nakayama, R. Fujisawa, M. Izumizaki, T. Imai, O. Yoshie, I. Homma, K. Yamamoto, and K. Matsushima, J. Zmmunol., 166, 2055 (2001).
- Y. Chvatchko, A. J. Hoogewerf, A. Meyer, S. Alouani, P. Juillard, R. Buser, F. Conquet, A. E. Proudfoot, T. N. Wells, and C. A. Power, J. Exp. *Med.*, 191, 1755 (2000).
- P. Panina-Bordignon, A. Papi, M. Mariani, P. Di Lucia, G. Casoni, C. Bellettato, C. Buonsanti, D. Miotto, C. Mapp, A. Villa, G. Arrigoni, L. M. Fabbri, and F. Sinigaglia, J. Clin. Invest., 107, 1357 (2001).

- 172. J. B. Rottman, T. L. Smith, K. G. Ganley, T. Kikuchi, and J. G. Krueger, *Lab.* Invest., 81, 335 (2001).
- 173. T. Kakinuma, K. Nakamura, M. Wakugawa, H. Mitsui, Y. Tada, H. Saeki, H. Torii, A. Asahina, N. Onai, K. Matsushima, and K. Tamaki, J. Allergy Clin. Zmmunol., 107, 535 (2001).
- 174. T. Nakatani, Y. Kaburagi, Y. Shimada, M. Inaoki, K. Takehara, N. Mukaida, and S. Sato, J. Allergy Clin. Zmmunol., 107,353 (2001).
- 175. J. J. Campbell, G. Haraldsen, J. Pan, J. Rottman, S. Qin, P. Ponath, D. P. Andrew, R. Warnke, N. Ruffing, N. Kassam, L. Wu, and E. C. Butcher, Nature, 400, 776 (1999).
- 176. M. Samson, O. Labbe, C. Mollereau, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier, Biochemistry, 35, 3362 (1996).
- **177.** C. Combadiere, S. K. Ahuja, H. L. Tiffany, and P.M. Murphy, *J.* Leukoc. Biol., **60,147** (1996).
- 178. C. J. Raport, J. Gosling, V. L. Schweickart, P. W. Gray, and I. F. Charo, J. Biol. Chem., 271,17161 (1996).
- **179.** E. A. Berger, P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Farber, *Annu*. Rev. Immunol., **17,657** (1999).
- 180. M. Samson, F. Libert, B. J. Doranz, J. Rucker, C. Liesnard, C. M. Farber, S. Saragosti, C. Lapoumeroulie, J. Cognaux, C. Forceille, G. Muyldermans, C. Verhofstede, G. Burtonboy, M. Georges, T. Imai, S. Rana, Y. Yi, R. J. Smyth, R. G. Collman, R. W. Doms, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier, Nature, 382, 722 (1996).
- M. Dean, M. Carrington, C. Winkler, G. A. Huttley, M. W. Smith, R. Allikmets, J. J. Goedert, S. P. Buchbinder, E. Vittinghoff, E. Gomperts, S. Donfield, D. Vlahov, R. Kaslow, A. Saah, C. Rinaldo, R. Detels, and S. J. O'Brien, Science, 273, 1856 (1996).
- 182. R. Liu, W. A. Paxton, S. Choe, D. Ceradini, S. R. Martin, R. Horuk, M. E. MacDonald, H. Stuhlmann, R. A. Koup, and N. R. Landau, Cell, 86, 367 (1996).
- 183. Y. Huang, W. A. Paxton, S. M. Wolinsky, A. U. Neumann, L. Zhang, T. He, S. Kang, D. Ceradini, Z. Jin, K. Yazdanbakhsh, K. Kunstman, D. Erickson, E. Dragon, N. R. Landau, J. Phair, D. D. Ho, and R. A. Koup, *Nat.* Med., 2, 1240 (1996).
- 184. C. Blanpain, B. Lee, M. Tackoen, B. Puffer, A. Boom, F. Libert, M. Sharron, V. Wittamer, G. Vassart, R. W. Doms, and M. Parmentier, Blood, 96, 1638 (2000).
- 185. I. P. Hall, A. Wheatley, G. Christie, C. McDougall, R. Hubbard, and P. J. Helms, Lancet, 354, 1264 (1999).

ųİ.

- 186. T. J. Mitchell, A. J. Walley, J. E. Pease, P. J. Venables, S. Wiltshire, T. J. Williams, and W. O. Cookson, Lancet, 356, 1491 (2000).
- 187. A. J. Sandford, S. Zhu, T. R. Bai, J. M. Fitzgerald, and P. D. Pare, J. Allergy *Clin*. Immunol., 108, 69 (2001).
- 188. M. Fischereder, B. Luckow, B. Hocher, R. P. Wuthrich, U. Rothenpieler, H. Schneeberger, U. Panzer, R. A. Stahl, I. A. Hauser, K. Budde, H. Neumayer, B. K. Kramer, W. Land, and D. Schlondorff, Lancet, 357, 1758 (2001).
- 189. Z. Wang, B. Lee, J. L. Murray, F. Bonneau, Y. Sun, V. Schweickart, T. Zhang, and S. C. Peiper, J. Biol. Chem., 274,28413 (1999).
- 190. M. Samson, G. LaRosa, F. Libert, P. Paindavoine, M. Detheux, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier, J. Biol. Chem., 272,24934 (1997).
- 191. L. Wu, G. LaRosa, N. Kassam, C. J. Gordon, H. Heath, N. Ruffing, H. Chen, J. Humblias, M. Samson, M. Parmentier, J. P. Moore, and C. R. Mackay, J. Exp. Med., 186,1373 (1997).
- 192. G. E. Rabut, J. A. Konner, F. Kajumo, J. P. Moore, and T. Dragic, J. Virol., 72, 3464 (1998).
- 193. C. Blanpain, B. J. Doranz, J. Vakili, J. Rucker, C. Govaerts, S. S. Baik, O. Lorthioir, I. Migeotte, F. Libert, F. Baleux, G. Vassart, R. W. Doms, and M. Parmentier, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 34719 (1999).
- 194. T. M. Ross, P. D. Bieniasz, and B. R. Cullen, J. Virol., 72, 1918 (1998).
- 195. T. Dragic, A. Trkola, S. W. Lin, K. A. Nagashima, F. Kajumo, L. Zhao, W. C. Olson, L. Wu, C. R. Mackay, G. P. Allaway, T. P. Sakmar, J. P. Moore, and P. J. Maddon, J. Virol., 72,279 (1998).
- 196. M. Farzan, N. Vasilieva, C. E. Schnitzler, S. Chung, J. Robinson, N. P. Gerard, C. Gerard, H. Choe, and J. Sodroski, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 33516 (2000).
- 197. N. Zhou, Z. Luo, J. W. Hall, J. Luo, X. Han, and Z. Huang, Eur. J. Immunol., 30, 164 (2000).
- 198. B. S. Youn, K. Y. Yu, G. Alkhatib, and B. S. Kwon, Biochem. Biophys. *Res.* Commun., 281, 627 (2001).
- 199. S. J. Siciliano, S. E. Kuhmann, Y. Weng, N. Madani, M. S. Springer, J. E. Lineberger, R. Danzeisen, M. D. Miller, K. P. Kavanaugh, J. A. DeMartino, and D. Kabat, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 1905 (1999).
- 200. L. Wu, W. A. Paxton, N. Kassam, N. Ruffing, J. B. Rottman, N. Sullivan, H. Choe, J. Sodroski, W. Newman, R. A. Koup, and C. R. Mackay, J. Exp. Med., 185, 1681 (1997).

- 201. W. C. Olson, G. E. Rabut, K. A. Nagashima, D. N. Tran, D. J. Anselma, S. P. Monard, J. P. Segal, D. A. Thompson, F. Kajumo, Y. Guo, J. P. Moore, P. J. Maddon, and T. Dragic, J. Virol., 73,4145 (1999).
- 202. B. Lee, M. Sharron, C. Blanpain, B. J. Doranz, J. Vakili, P. Setoh, E. Berg, G. Liu, H. R. Guy, S. R. Durell, M. Parmentier, C. N. Chang, K. Price, M. Tsang, and R. W. Doms, J. Biol. Chem., 274,9617 (1999).
- 203. J. Gosling, F. S. Monteclaro, R. E. Atchison, H. Arai, C. L. Tsou, M. A. Goldsmith, and I. F. Charo, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 5061 (1997).
- 204. R. E. Atchison, J. Gosling, F. S. Monteclaro, C. Franci, L. Digilio, I. F. Charo, and M. A. Goldsmith, Science, 274, 1924 (1996).
- 205. M. Farzan, H. Choe, K. A. Martin, Y. Sun, M. Sidelko, C. R. Mackay, N. P. Gerard, J. So-droski, and C. Gerard, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 6854 (1997).
- **206.** S. G. Ward and J. Westwick, Biochem. J., 333, 457 (1998).
- 207. S. Rusconi, C. S. La Seta, P. Citterio, E. Bulgheroni, F. Croce, S. H. Herrmann, R. E. Offord, M. Galli, and M. S. Hirsch, J. Virol., 74, 9328 (2000).
- 208. L. Ylisastigui, J. Vizzavona, E. Drakopoulou, P. Paindavoine, C. F. Calvo, M. Parmentier, J. C. Gluckman, C. Vita, and A. Benjouad, AIDS, 12,977 (1998).
- 209. O. M. Howard, T. Korte, N. I. Tarasova, M. Grimm, J. A. Turpin, W. G. Rice, C. J. Michejda, R. Blumenthal, and J. J. Oppenheim, J. Leukoc. Biol., 64, 6 (1998).
- 210. O. M. Howard, J. J. Oppenheim, M. G. Hollingshead, J. M. Covey, J. Bigelow, J. J. McCormack, R. W. Buckheit Jr., D. J. Clanton, J. A. Turpin, and W. G. Rice, J. Med. Chem., 41, 2184 (1998).
- 211. M. Shiraishi; Y. Aramaki, M. Seto, H. Imoto, Y. Nishikawa, N. Kanzaki, M. Okamoto, H. Sawada, O. Nishimura, M. Baba, and M. Fujino, J. Med. Chem., 43, 2049 (2000).
- 212. M. Baba, O. Nishimura, N. Kanzaki, M. Okamoto, H. Sawada, Y. Iizawa, M. Shiraishi, Y. Aramaki, K. Okonogi, Y. Ogawa, K. Meguro, and M. Fujino, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 5698 (1999).
- 213. M. Baba, H. Miyake, M. Okamoto, Y. Iizawa, and K. Okonogi, AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses, 16,935 (2000).
- **214. T.** Dragic, A. Trkola, D. A. Thompson, E. G. Cormier, F. A. Kajumo, E. Maxwell, S. W. Lin,

W. Ying, S. O. Smith, T. P. Sakmar, and J. P. Moore, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, **97**, **5639** (2000).

- 215. C. P. Dorn, P. E. Finke, B. Oates, R. J. Budhu, S. G. Mills, M. MacCoss, L. Malkowitz, M. S. Springer, B. L. Daugherty, S. L. Gould, J. A. DeMartino, S. J. Siciliano, A. Carella, G. Carver, K. Holmes, R. Danzeisen, D. Hazuda, J. Kessler, J. Lineberger, M. Miller, W. A. Schleiff, and E. A. Emini, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11,259 (2001).
- 216. P. E. Finke, L. C. Meurer, B. Oates, S. G. Mills, M. MacCoss, L. Malkowitz, M. S. Springer, B. L. Daugherty, S. L. Gould, J. A. DeMartino, S. J. Siciliano, A. Carella, G. Carver, K. Holmes, R. Danzeisen, D. Hazuda, J. Kessler, J. Lineberger, M. Miller, W. A. Schleiff, and E. A. Emini, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 265 (2001).
- 217. J. J. Hale, R. J. Budhu, S. G. Mills, M. Mac-Coss, L. Malkowitz, S. Siciliano, S. L. Gould, J. A. DeMartino, and M. S. Springer, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 1437 (2001).
- 218. J. R. Tagat, S. W. McCombie, R. W. Steensma, S. Lin, D. V. Nazareno, B. Baroudy, N. Vantuno, S. Xu, and J. Liu, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 2143 (2001).
- 219. J. R. Tagat, R. W. Steensma, S. W. McCombie, D. V. Nazareno, S. I. Lin, B. R. Neustadt, K. Cox, S. Xu, L. Wojcik, M. G. Murray, N. Vantuno, B. M. Baroudy, and J. M. Strizki, J. Med. Chem., 44,3343 (2001).
- 20. A. Palani, S. Shapiro, J. W. Clader, W. J. Greenlee, K. Cox, J. Strizki, M. Endres, and B. M. Baroudy, J.Med. Chem., 44,3339 (2001).
- 221. D. R. Greaves, W. Wang, D. J. Dairaghi, M. C. Dieu, B. Saint-Vis, K. Franz-Bacon, D. Rossi, C. Caux, T. McClanahan, S. Gordon, A. Zlotnik, and T. J. Schall, J. Exp. Med., 186, 837 (1997).
- 222. C. A. Power, D. J. Church, A. Meyer, S. Alouani, A. E. Proudfoot, I. Clark-Lewis, S. Sozzani, A. Mantovani, and T. N. Wells, J. Exp. Med., 186, 825 (1997).
- 223. M. Baba, T. Imai, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki,
 S. Takagi, K. Hieshima, H. Nomiyama, and O. Yoshie, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 14893 (1997).
- 224. D. Yang, O. Chertov, S. N. Bykovskaia, Q. Chen, M. J. Buffo, J. Shogan, M. Anderson, J.M. Schroder, J. M. Wang, O. M. Howard, and J. J. Oppenheim, Science, 286, 525 (1999).
- 225. M. C. Dieu, B. Vanbervliet, A. Vicari, J. M. Bridon, E. Oldham, S. Ait-Yahia, F. Briere, A. Zlotnik, S. Lebecque, and C. Caux, J. Exp. Med., 188, 373 (1998).

- 226. D. Yang, O. M. Howard, Q. Chen, and J. J. Oppenheim, J. Zmmunol., 163, 1737 (1999).
- 227. J. J. Campbell, J. Hedrick, A. Zlotnik, M. A. Siani, D. A. Thompson, and E. C. Butcher, Science, 279,381 (1998).
- 228. E. P. Bowman, J. J. Campbell, D. Soler, Z. Dong, N. Manlongat, D. Picarella, R. R. Hardy, and E. C. Butcher, J. Exp. Med., 191, 1303 (2000).
- 229. D. J. Fitzhugh, S. Naik, S. W. Caughman, and S. T. Hwang, J. Zmmunol., 165, 6677 (2000).
- 230. D. N. Cook, D. M. Prosser, R. Forster, J. Zhang, N. A. Kuklin, S. J. Abbondanzo, X. D. Niu, S. C. Chen, D. J. Manfra, M. T. Wiekowski, L. M. Sullivan, S. R. Smith, H. B. Greenberg, S. K. Narula, M. Lipp, and S. A. Lira, Immunity, 12,495 (2000).
- 231. R. Varona, R. Villares, L. Carramolino, I. Goya, A. Zaballos, J. Gutierrez, M. Torres, A. C. Martinez, and G. Marquez, J. *Clin.* Invest., 107, R37 (2001).
- 232. N. W. Lukacs, D. M. Prosser, M. Wiekowski, S. A. Lira, and D. N. Cook, J. Exp. Med., 194, 551 (2001).
- 233. F. Sallusto, P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, S. Qin, and A. Lanzavecchia, Eur. J. Zmmunol., 28, 2760 (1998).
- 234. S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, G. D'Amico, W. Luini, G. Bianchi, M. Kataura, T. Imai, O. Yoshie, R. Bonecchi, and A. Mantovani, J. Zmmunol., 161, 1083 (1998).
- 235. F. Sallusto, B. Palermo, A. Hoy, and A. Lanzavecchia, *Curr*. Top. *Microbiol*. Zmmunol., 246, 123 (1999).
- **236.** F. Sallusto, D. Lenig, R. Forster, M. Lipp, and A. Lanzavecchia, Nature, **401, 708 (1999).**
- 237. R. Yoshida, T. Imai, K. Hieshima, J. Kusuda, M. Baba, M. Kitaura, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki, H. Nomiyama, and O. Yoshie, J. Biol. Chem., 272,13803 (1997).
- **238.** V. N. Ngo, H. L. Tang, and J. G. Cyster, *J.* Exp. Med., **188, 181 (1998).**
- 239. V. N. Ngo, H. Korner, M. D. Gunn, K. N. Schmidt, D. S. Riminton, M. D. Cooper, J. L. Browning, J. D. Sedgwick, and J. G. Cyster, J. Exp. Med., 189,403 (1999).
- 240. K. Willimann, D. F. Legler, M. Loetscher, R. S. Roos, M. B. Delgado, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, Eur. J. Zmmunol., 28, 2025 (1998).
- 241. M. D. Gunn, S. Kyuwa, C. Tam, T. Kakiuchi, A. Matsuzawa, L. T. Williams, and H. Nakano, J. Exp. Med., 189,451 (1999).

- 242. S. Mori, H. Nakano, K. Aritomi, C. R. Wang, M. D. Gunn, and T. Kakiuchi, J. Exp. Med., 193, 207 (2001).
- 243. R. Forster, A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf, and M. Lipp, Cell, 99, 23 (1999).
- 244. M. Napolitano, A. Zingoni, G. Bernardini, G. Spinetti, A. Nista, C. T. Storlazzi, M. Rocchi, and A. Santoni, J. Immunol., 157,2759 (1996).
- 245. M. Samson, P. Stordeur, O. Labbe, P. Soularue, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier, Eur. J. Immunol., 26,3021 (1996).
- 246. B. S. Youn, S. H. Kim, M. S. Lyu, C. A. Kozak, D. D. Taub, and B. S. Kwon, Blood, 89,4448 (1997).
- 247. R. S. Roos, M. Loetscher, D. F. Legler, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, J. Biol. Chem., 272,17251 (1997).
- 248. H. L. Tiffany, L. L. Lautens, J. L. Gao, J. Pease, M. Locati, C. Combadiere, W. Modi, T. I. Bonner, and P. M. Murphy, J. Exp. Med., 186,165 (1997).
- 249. A. Zingoni, H. Soto, J. A. Hedrick, A. Stoppacciaro, C. T. Storlazzi, F. Sinigaglia, D. D'Ambrosio, A. O'Garra, D. Robinson, M. Rocchi, A. Santoni, A. Zlotnik, and M. Napolitano, J. Immunol., 161, 547 (1998).
- 250. I. Goya, J. Gutierrez, R. Varona, L. Kremer, A. Zaballos, and G. Marquez, J. *Immunol.*, 160, 1975 (1998).
- 251. P. R. Burd, G. J. Freeman, S. D. Wilson, M. Berman, R. DeKruyff, P. R. Billings, and M. E. Dorf, J. Immunol., 139,3126 (1987).
- 252. S. Devi, J. Laning, Y. Luo, and M. E. Dorf, J. Immunol., 154, 5376 (1995).
- 253. Y. Luo, J. Laning, S. Devi, J. Mak, T. J. Schall, and M. E. Dorf, J. Immunol., 153,4616 (1994).
- 254. H. A. Doyle and J. W. Murphy, J. Immunol., 162,4824 (1999).
- 255. Y. Luo, P. A. D'Amore, and M. E. Dorf, J. Immunol., 157,2143 (1996).
- 256. S. W. Chensue, N. W. Lukacs, T. Y. Yang, X. Shang, K. A. Frait, S. L. Kunkel, T. Kung, M. T. Wiekowski, J. A. Hedrick, D. N. Cook, A. Zingoni, S. K. Narula, A. Zlotnik, F. J. Barrat, A. O'Garra, M. Napolitano, and S. A. Lira, J. Exp. Med., 193,573 (2001).
- 257. P. M. Murphy and H. L. Tiffany, Science, 253, 1280 (1991).
- **258.** S. K. Ahuja, A. Shetty, H. L. Tiffany, and P. M. Murphy, J. Biol. Chem., **269**, **26381** (1994).
- **259.** W. E. Holmes, J. Lee, W. J. Kuang, G. C. Rice, and W. I. Wood, Science, **253**, **1278** (1991).

- 260. P. Loetscher, M. Seitz, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, FEBS Lett., 341, 187 (1994).
- 261. V. C. Broaddus, A. M. Boylan, J. M. Hoeffel, K. J. Kim, M. Sadick, A. Chuntharapai, and C. A. Hebert, J. Immunol., 152,2960 (1994).
- 262. H. G. Folkesson, M. A. Matthay, C. A. Hebert, and V. C. Broaddus, J. Clin. Invest., 96, 107 (1995).
- 263. G. Cacalano, J. Lee, K. Kikly, A. M. Ryan, S. Pitts-Meek, B. Hultgren, W. I. Wood, and M. W. Moore, Science, 265, 682 (1994).
- 264. G. T. De Sanctis, J. A. MacLean, S. Qin, W. W. Wolyniec, H. Grasemann, C. N. Yandava, A. Jiao, T. Noonan, J. Stein-Streilein, F. H. Green, and J. M. Drazen, J. Clin. Invest., 103, 507 (1999).
- 265. J. C. Virchow Jr., C. Kroegel, C. Walker, and H. Matthys, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 98, S27 (1996).
- 266. P. Chanez, I. Enander, I. Jones, P. Godard, and J. Bousquet, *Int*. Arch. Allergy Immunol., 111, 83 (1996).
- 267. S. G. Folkard, J. Westwick, and A. B. Millar, Eur. Respir. J., 10, 2097 (1997).
- 268. J. K. Shute, B. Vrugt, I. J. Lindley, S. T. Holgate, A. Bron, R. Aalbers, and R. Djukanovic, *Am. J.* Respir. *Crit.* Care *Med.*, 155, 1877 (1997).
- 269. R. M. Strieter, P. J. Polverini, D. A. Arenberg, A. Walz, G. Opdenakker, J. Van Damme, and S. L. Kunkel, J. Leukoc. Biol., 57, 752 (1995).
- 270. R. M. Strieter, P. J. Polverini, S. L. Kunkel, D. A. Arenberg, M. D. Burdick, J. Kasper, J. Dzuiba, J. Van Damme, A. Walz, D. Marriott, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 270, 27348 (1995).
- 271. M. P. Keane, D. A. Arenberg, J. P. Lynch 3rd, R. I. Whyte, M. D. Iannettoni, M. D. Burdick, C. A. Wilke, S. B. Morris, M. C. Glass, B. Di-Giovine, S. L. Kunkel, and R. M. Strieter, J. Imrnunol., 159, 1437 (1997).
- 272. A. Walz, P. Schmutz, C. Mueller, and S. Schnyder-Candrian, J. Leukoc. Biol., 62,604 (1997).
- 273. B. J. Nickoloff, R. S. Mitra, J. Varani, V. M. Dixit, and P. J. Polverini, Am. J. Pathol., 144, 820 (1994).
- 274. W. Yang, W. P. Schraw, S. G. Mueller, and A. Richmond, Biochemistry, 36, 15193 (1997).
- 275. C. A. Hebert, A. Chuntharapai, M. Smith, T. Colby, J. Kim, and R. Horuk, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 18549 11993).
- 276. S. R. Leong, H. B. Lowman, J. Liu, S. Shire, L. E. Deforge, B. L. Gillece-Castro, R. McDowell, and C. A. Hebert, J. Biol. Chem., 269, 19343 (1994).

- 277. S. K. Ahuja, J. C. Lee, and P. M. Murphy, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 225 (1996).
- **278.** J. A. Katancik, A. Sharma, and E. de Nardin, Cytokine, **12,1480(2000)**.
- 279. S. A. Jones, M. Wolf, S. Qin, C. R. Mackay, and M. Baggiolini, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 93, 6682(1996).
- 280. M. E. Hammond, G. R. Lapointe, P. H. Feucht, S. Hilt, C. A. Gallegos, C. A. Gordon, M. A. Giedlin, G. Mullenbach, and P. Tekamp-Olson, J. Immunol., 155, 1428 (1995).
- 281. S. P. Green, A. Chuntharapai, and J. T. Curnutte, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 25400(1996).
- 282. B. Moser, B. Dewald, L. Barella, C. Schumacher, M. Baggiolini, and I. Clark-Lewis, J. Biol. Chem., 268,7125(1993).
- 283. S. A. Jones, B. Dewald, I. Clark-Lewis, and M. Baggiolini, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 16166 (1997).
- 284. L. Kemeny, G. Szolnoky, A. S. Kenderessy, R. Gyulai, M. Kiss, G. Michel, K. Nagy, T. Ruzicka, and A. Dobozy, Zmmunol. Lett., 64, 23 (1998).
- 285. S. Hayashi, A. Kurdowska, E. J. Miller, M. E. Albright, B. E. Girten, and A. B. Cohen, J. Immunol., 154,814(1995).
- 286. N. Fujisawa, Y. Sakao, S. Hayashi, W. A. Hadden III, C. L. Harmon, and E. J. Miller, J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol., 126, 19 (2000).
- **287.** E.J. Miller, A. B. Cohen, and B. T. Peterson, *Inflamm.* Res., **45**, **393** (1996).
- 288. A. D. Patil, A. J. Freyer, L. Killmer, P. Offen, B. Carte, A. J. Jurewicz, and R. K. Johnson, Tetrahedron, 53, 5047(1997).
- 289. A. D. Patil, A. J. Freyer, L. Killmer, G. Zuber, B. Carte, A. J. Jurewicz, and R. K. Johnson, Nat. Prod. Lett., 10, 225 (1997).
- 290. K. Widdowson, D. F. Veber, A. J. Jurewicz, H. Nie, R. P. Hertzberg, W. Holl, H. M. Sarau, J. J. Foley, J. M. Lee, and J. R. White in R. Ramage and R. Epton, Eds., *Peptides* 1996, Escom, Leiden, 1998, p. 87.
- 291. J. R. White, J. M. Lee, P. R. Young, R. P. Hertzberg, A. J. Jurewicz, M. A. Chaikin, K. Widdowson, J. J. Foley, L. D. Martin, D. E. Griswold, and H. M. Sarau, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 10095 (1998).
- 292. K. Widdowson, H. Nie, A. J. Jurewicz, R. P. Hertzberg, H. M. Sarau, J. J. Foley, J. Lee, J. R. White, and D. F. Veber, Lett. Pept. Sci., 5, 235 (1998).
- **293.** H. M. Sarau, K. L. Widdowson, M. R. Palovich, J. R. White, D. C. Underwood, and D. E. **Gris**wold in T. T. Hansel and P. J. Barnes, Eds.,

New Drugs for Asthma, Allergy and COPD, Vol. **31, Karger, Basel, 2001,** p. **293.**

- 294. N. S. Cutshall, R. Ursino, K. A. Kucera, J. Latham, and N. C. Ihle, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 1951 (2001).
- **295.** G. Kaplan, A. D. Luster, G. Hancock, and Z. A. Cohn, **J.** Exp. Med., **166**, **1098** (**1987**).
- **296.** A. D. Luster and J. V. Ravetch, J. Exp. Med., **166, 1084 (1987).**
- 297. K. E. Balashov, J. B. Rottman, H. L. Weiner, and W. W. Hancock, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96,6873(1999).
- 298. T. L. Sorensen, M. Tani, J. Jensen, V. Pierce, C. Lucchinetti, V. A. Folcik, S. Qin, J. Rottman, F. Sellebjerg, R. M. Strieter, J. L. Frederiksen, and R. M. Ransohoff, J. Clin. Invest., 103,807(1999).
- 299. W. W. Hancock, B. Lu, W. Gao, V. Csizmadia, K. Faia, J. A. King, S. T. Smiley, M. Ling, N. P. Gerard, and C. Gerard, J. Exp. Med., 192,1515 (2000).
- 300. F. Sallusto, A. Lanzavecchia, and C. R. Mackay, Zmmunol. Today, **19,568**(1998).
- 301. S. Qin, J. B. Rottman, P. Myers, N. Kassam, M. Weinblatt, M. Loetscher, A. E. Koch, B. Moser, and C. R. Mackay, J. Clin. *Invest.*, 101, 746 (1998).
- 302. D. D. Patel, J. P. Zachariah, and L. P. Whichard, Clin. Zmmunol., 98, 39 (2001).
- 303. W. W. Hancock, W. Gao, V. Csizmadia, K. L. Faia, N. Shemmeri, and A. D. Luster, J. Exp. Med., 193,975(2001).
- **304. T.J.** Schall, D. J. Dairaghi, and B. E. **McMaster** in World Intellectual Property Organization, Chemocentryx, Inc., USA, **2001.**
- **305.** Y.Feng, C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy, and E. A. Berger, Science, 272,872 (1996).
- 306. H. Deng, R. Liu, W. Ellmeier, S. Choe, D. Unutmaz, M. Burkhart, P. Di Marzio, S. Marmon, R. E. Sutton, C. M. Hill, C. B. Davis, S. C. Peiper, T. J. Schall, D. R. Littman, and N. R. Landau, Nature, 381,661(1996).
- 307. C. Murdoch, Zmmunol. Rev., 177, 175 (2000).
- 308. E. Oberlin, A. Amara, F. Bachelerie, C. Bessia, J. L. Virelizier, F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, O. Schwartz, J. M. Heard, I. Clark-Lewis, D. F. Legler, M. Loetscher, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser, Nature, 382,833(1996).
- 309. C. C. Bleul, M. Farzan, H. Choe, C. Parolin, I. Clark-Lewis, J. Sodroski, and T. A. Springer, Nature, 382,829(1996).
- **310. T.** Nagasawa, H. Kikutani, and T. Kishimoto, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **91,2305(1994)**.

- 311. C. C. Bleul, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, J. M. Casasnovas, A. Aiuti, and T. A. Springer, J. Exp. Med., 184, 1101 (1996).
- **312. T.** Nagasawa, K. Tachibana, and T. Kishimoto, Semin. Immunol., **10, 179 (1998).**
- 313. Y. R. Zou, A. H. Kottmann, M. Kuroda, I. Taniuchi, and D. R. Littman, Nature, 393, 595 (1998).
- 314. Q. Ma, D. Jones, P. R. Borghesani, R. A. Segal, T. Nagasawa, T. Kishimoto, R. T. Bronson, and T. A. Springer, Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. USA*, 95,9448 (1998).
- 315. K. Tachibana, S. Hirota, H. Iizasa, H. Yoshida, K. Kawabata, Y. Kataoka, Y. Kitamura, K. Matsushima, N. Yoshida, S. Nishikawa, T. Kishimoto, and T. Nagasawa, Nature, 393,591 (1998).
- 316. B. J. Willett, K. Adema, N. Heveker, A. Brelot, L. Picard, M. Alizon, J. D. Turner, J. A. Hoxie, S. Peiper, J. C. Neil, and M. J. Hosie, J. Virol., 72,6475 (1998).
- 317. F. Kajumo, D. A. D. Thompson, Y. Guo, and T. Dragic, Virology, 271, 240 (2000).
- **318.** A. Brelot, N. Heveker, M. Montes, and M. Alizon, J. Biol. Chem., **275,23736 (2000).**
- **319.** D. J. Chabot and C. C. Broder, **J.**Biol. Chem., **275,23774 (2000).**
- **320.** D. J. Chabot, P. F. Zhang, G. V. Quinnan, and C. C. Broder, *J.* Virol., **73,6598** (1999).
- 321. M. J. Endres, P. R. Clapham, M. Marsh, M. Ahuja, J. D. Turner, A. McKnight, J. F. Thomas, B. Stoebenau-Haggarty, S. Choe, P. J. Vance, T. N. Wells, C. A. Power, S. S. Sutterwala, R. W. Doms, N. R. Landau, and J. A. Hoxie, Cell, 87, 745 (1996).
- 322. P. Loetscher, J. H. Gong, B. Dewald, M. Baggiolini, and I. Clark-Lewis, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 22279 (1998).
- 323. E. L. Elisseeva, C. M. Slupsky, M. P. Crump, I. Clark-Lewis, and B. D. Sykes, J. Biol. Chem., 275,26799 (2000).
- 324. O. O. Yang, S. L. Swanberg, Z. Lu, M. Dziejman, J. McCoy, A. D. Luster, B. D. Walker, and S. H. Herrmann, J. Virol., 73,4582 (1999).
- 325. S. Rusconi, D. P. Merrill, C. S. La Seta, P. Citterio, E. Bulgheroni, F. Croce, T. C. Chou, O. O. Yang, S. H. Herrmann, M. Galli, and M. S. Hirsch, Antiviral Ther., 5, 199 (2000).
- 326. T. Murakami, T. Nakajima, Y. Koyanagi, K. Tachibana, N. Fujii, H. Tamamura, N. Yoshida, M. Waki, A. Matsumoto, O. Yoshie, T. Kishimoto, N. Yamamoto, and T. Nagasawa, J. Exp. Med., 186, 1389 (1997).

- 327. H. Tamamura, R. Arakaki, H. Funakoshi, M. Imai, A. Otaka, T. Ibuka, H. Nakashima, T. Murakami, M. Waki, A. Matsumoto, N. Yamamoto, and N. Fujii, Bioorg. Med. Chem., 6,231 (1998).
- 328. H. Tamamura, A. Omagari, S. Oishi, T. Kanamoto, N. Yamamoto, S. C. Peiper, H. Nakashima, A. Otaka, and N. Fujii, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 10,2633 (2000).
- 329. Z. Luo, N. Zhou, J. Luo, J. W. Hall, and Z. Huang, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 263,691 (1999).
- 330. D. Daelemans, D. Schols, M. Witvrouw, C. Pannecouque, S. Hatse, S. van Dooren, F. Hamy, T. Klimkait, E. de Clercq, and A. M. VanDamme, Mol. Pharmacol., 57,116 (2000).
- 331. G. A. Donzella, D. Schols, S. W. Lin, J. A. Este, K. A. Nagashima, P. J. Maddon, G. P. Allaway, T. P. Sakmar, G. Henson, E. De Clercq, and J. P. Moore, Nat. Med., 4, 72 (1998).
- 332. B. Labrosse, A. Brelot, N. Heveker, N. Sol, D. Schols, E. De Clercq, and M. Alizon, J. Virol., 72,6381 (1998).
- 333. C. Cabrera, A. Gutierrez, J. Blanco, J. Barretina, A. Litovchick, A. Lapidot, A. G. Evdokimov, B. Clotet, and J. A. Este, AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses, 16, 627 (2000).
- 334. E. De Clercq, N. Yamamoto, R. Pauwels, M. Baba, D. Schols, H. Nakashima, J. Balzarini, Z. Debyser, B. A. Murrer, D. Schwartz, et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 89,5286 (1992).
- **335.** D. Schols, J. A. Este, G. Henson, and E. De Clercq, Antiviral Res., **35, 147** (1997).
- 336. D. Schols, S. Struyf, J. Van Damme, J. A. Este,
 G. Henson, and E. De Clercq, J. Exp. Med.,
 186, 1383 (1997).
- 337. E. De Clercq, N. Yamamoto, R. Pauwels, J. Balzarini, M. Witvrouw, K. De Vreese, Z. Debyser, B. Rosenwirth, P. Peichl, and R. Datema, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 38, 668 (1994).
- 338. G. J. Bridger; R. T. Skerlj, S. Padmanabhan, S. A. Martellucci, G. W. Henson, S. Struyf, M. Witvrouw, D. Schols, and E. De Clercq, J. Med. Chem., 42,3971 (1999).
- 339. J. Dessolin, P. Galea, P. Vlieghe, J. C. Chermann, and J. L. Kraus, J. Med. Chem., 42,229 (1999).
- **340.** E. De Clercq, Mol. Pharmacol., **57,833**(2000).
- 341. L. O. Gerlach, R. T. Skerlj, G. J. Bridger, and T. W. Schwartz, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 14153 (2001).
- 342. S. Hatse, K. Princen, L. O. Gerlach, G. Bridger, G. Henson, E. De Clercq, T. W. Schwartz, and D. Schols, Mol. Pharmacol., 60, 164 (2001).

C. W. Hendrix, C. Flexner, R. T. MacFarland, C. Giandomenico, E. J. Fuchs, E. Redpath, G. Bridger, and G. W. Henson, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 44, 1667 (2000).

M. Witvrouw, J.-M. Seifert, G. W. Henson, S. A. Martellucci, J. Desmyter, and E. De Clercq, Antiviral Chem. Chemother., **7**, **27** (1996).

J. Van Gelder, M. Witvrouw, C. Pannecouque, G. Henson, G. Bridger, L. Naesens, E. De Clercq, P. Annaert, M. Shafiee, M. G. Van den, R. Kinget, and P. Augustijns, *Int.* J. Pharm., 186,127(1999).

E. De Clercq, *Curr*. Opin. Anti-Infect. Invest. Drugs, **2,226(2000)**.

P.M. Murphy, Nat. Zmmunol., 2, 116 (2001).

D. J. Dairaghi, R. A. Fan, B. E. McMaster, M. R. Hanley, and T. J. Schall, J. Biol. Chem., 274,21569(1999).

I. Damon, P. M. Murphy, and B. Moss, Proc. *Natl. Acad.* Sci. USA, **95,6403(1998)**.

A. S. Lalani and G. McFadden, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev., **10,219(1999)**.

T. Y. Yang, S. C. Chen, M. W. Leach, D. Manfra, B. Homey, M. Wiekowski, L. Sullivan, C. H. Jenh, S. K. Narula, S. W. Chensue, and S. A. Lira, J. Exp. Med., **191,445(2000)**.

A. Alcami and U. H. Koszinowski, Zmmunol. Today, 21,447(2000).

K. Dabbagh, Y. Xiao, C. Smith, P. Stepick-Biek, S. G. Kim, W. J. Lamm, D. H. Liggitt, and D. B. Lewis, J. Zmmunol., 165, 3418(2000).

H. F. Yang-Yen, J. C. Chambard, Y. L. Sun, T. Smeal, T. J. Schmidt, J. Drouin, and M. Karin, Cell, **62**, **1205** (1990).

N. Auphan, J. A. DiDonato, C. Rosette, A. Helmberg, and M. Karin, Science, 270, 286 (1995).

R. A. Black, S. R. Kronheim, M. Cantrell, M. C. Deeley, C. J. March, K. S. Prickett, J. Wignall, P. J. Conlon, D. Cosman, T. P. Hopp, et al., *J*. Biol. Chem., **263,9437(1988)**.

C. D. Dinarello in *IL-1* Beta, Vol. 1, Academic Press, London, 2001.

S. A. Greenfeder, P. Nunes, L. Kwee, M. Labow, R. A. Chizzonite, and G. Ju, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 13757(1995).

Z. Cao, **W** J. Henzel, and X. Gao, Science, **271**, **1128**(1996).

E.Stylianou, L. A. **O'Neill**, L. Rawlinson, M. R. Edbrooke, P. Woo, and J. Saklatvala, *J.* Biol. Chem., **267**, **15836**(1992).

J. E. Sims, M. A. Gayle, J. L. Slack, M. R. Alderson, T. A. Bird, J. G. Giri, F. Colotta, F. Re,

A. Mantovani, K. Shanebeck, et al., Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, **90,6155(1993)**.

- 362. F. Colotta, F. Re, M. Muzio, R. Bertini, N. Polentarutti, M. Sironi, J. G. Giri, S. K. Dower, J. E. Sims, and A. Mantovani, Science, 261, 472 (1993).
- 363. W. P. Arend, M. Malyak, C. J. Guthridge, and C. Gabay, *Annu*. Rev. Zmmunol., 16, 27 (1998).
- 364. D. J. Dripps, B. J. Brandhuber, R. C. Thompson, and S. P. Eisenberg, J. Biol. Chem., 266, 10331 (1991).
- 365. M. Labow, D. Shuster, M. Zetterstrom, P. Nunes, R. Terry, E. B. Cullinan, T. Bartfai, C. Solorzano, L. L. Moldawer, R. Chizzonite, and K. W. McIntyre, J. Zmmunol., 159, 2452 (1997).
- 366. R. Horai, M. Asano, K. Sudo, H. Kanuka, M. Suzuki, M. Nishihara, M. Takahashi, and Y. Iwakura, J. Exp. Med., 187, 1463 (1998).
- 367. J. Schiffenbauer, W. J. Streit, E. Butfiloski, M. LaBow, C. Edwards 3rd, and L. L. Moldawer, Clin. Zmmunol., 95, 117 (2000).
- 368. S. K.Dower, W. Fanslow, C. Jacobs, S. Waugh,
 J. E. Sims, and M. B. Widmer, Ther. Zmmunol.,
 1, 113 (1994).
- 369. W. C. Fanslow, J. E. Sims, H. Sassenfeld, P. J. Morrissey, S. Gillis, S. K. Dower, and M. B. Widmer, Science, 248, 739 (1990).
- 370. H.L. Preas 2nd, D. Reda, M. Tropea, R. W. Vandivier, S. M. Banks, J. M. Agosti, and A. F. Suffredini, Blood, 88, 2465 (1996).
- 371. B. E. Drevlow, R. Lovis, M. A. Haag, J. M. Sinacore, C. Jacobs, C. Blosche, A. Landay, L. W. Moreland, and R. M. Pope, Arthritis Rheum., 39, 257 (1996).
- 372. W. P. Arend, J. Clin. Znvest., 88, 1445 (1991).
- **373.** C. A. Dinarello and R. C. Thompson, Zmmunol. Today, **12,404**(1991).
- 374. J.H. Schwab, S. K. Anderle, R. R. Brown, F. G. Dalldorf, and R. C. Thompson, Infect. *Immun.*, 59,4436(1991).
- 375. P. H. Wooley, J. D. Whalen, D. L. Chapman, A. E. Berger, K. A. Richard, D. G. Aspar, and N. D. Staite, Arthritis. Rheum., 36, 1305 (1993).
- 376. W. P. Arend and C. Gabay, Arthritis Res., 2, 245 (2000).
- 377. R. Horai, S. Saijo, H. Tanioka, S. Nakae, K. Sudo, A. Okahara, T. Ikuse, M. Asano, and Y. Iwakura, J. Exp. Med., 191, 313 (2000).
- 378. B. Bresnihan, BioDrugs, 15,87 (2001).
- 379. J. M. Dayer, U. Feige, C. K. Edwards 3rd, and D. Burger, *Curr.* Opin. Rheumatol., 13, 170 (2001).

- **380.** C. S. Henney, K. Kuribayashi, D. E. Kern, and S. Gillis, Nature, **291, 335 (1981).**
- 381. M. C. Mingari, F. Gerosa, G. Carra, R. S. Accolla, A. Moretta, R. H. Zubler, T. A. Waldmann, and L. Moretta, Nature, 312, 641 (1984).
- 382. E. Walker, T. Leemhuis, and W. Roeder, J. Immunol., 140,859 (1988).
- **383.** C. J. Kang, C. Sheridan, and M. E. Koshland, Immunity, **8,285** (1998).
- 384. M. Noguchi, H. Yi, H. M. Rosenblatt, A. H. Filipovich, S. Adelstein, W. S. Modi, O. W. McBride, and W. J. Leonard, Cell, 73, 147 (1993).
- 385. R. J. Robb and K. A. Smith, Mol. Immunol., 18, 1087 (1981).
- 386. R. J. Robb and W. C. Greene, J. Exp. Med., 158, 1332 (1983).
- **387.** B. J. Brandhuber, T. Boone, W. C. Kenney, and D. B. McKay, Science, **238**, **1707** (**1987**).
- **388.** J. F. Bazan, Science, **257,410** (**1992**).
- 389. T. A. Waldmann, C. K. Goldman, R. J. Robb, J. M. Depper, W. J. Leonard, S. O. Sharrow, K. F. Bongiovanni, S. J. Korsmeyer, and W. C. Greene, *J.* Exp. Med., 160, 1450 (1984).
- 390. T. Takeshita, H. Asao, K. Ohtani, N. Ishii, S. Kumaki, N. Tanaka, H. Munakata, M. Nakamura, and K. Sugamura, Science, 257, 379 (1992).
- 391. T. Taniguchi, Science, 268, 251 (1995).
- 392. L. M. Karnitz, L. A. Burns, S. L. Sutor, J. Blenis, and R. T. Abraham, Mol. Cell. Biol., 15, 3049 (1995).
- **393.** J. Theze, P. M. Alzari, and J. Bertoglio, *Immu*nol. Today, **17,481** (1996).
- **394.** H. Schorle, T. Holtschke, T. Hunig, A. Schimpl, and I. Horak, Nature, **352**, **621** (**1991**).
- **395.** B. Sadlack, H. Merz, H. Schorle, A. Schimpl, A. C. Feller, and I. Horak, Cell, **75,253 (1993).**
- **396.** L. P. Cousens, J. S. Orange, and C. A. Biron, *J.* Zmmunol., **155,5690 (1995).**
- **397.** P. Waterhouse, L. E. Marengere, H. W. Mittrucker, and T. W. Mak, Immunol. Rev., **153,183 (1996).**
- 398. Y. Ishida, M. Nishi, O. Taguchi, K. Inaba, N. Minato, M. Kawaichi, and T. Honjo, Znt. *Immunol.*, 1, 113 (1989).
- 399. F. Vincenti, R. Kirkman, S. Light, G. Bumgardner, M. Pescovitz, P. Halloran, J. Neylan, A. Wilkinson, H. Ekberg, R. Gaston, L. Backman, and J. Burdick, N. Engl. J. Med., 338, 161 (1998).

- **400.** T. A. Waldmann and J. O'Shea, Curr. Opin. Zmmunol., **10, 507 (1998).**
- 401. S. A. Rosenberg, M. T. Lotze, L. M. Muul, A. E. Chang, F. P. Avis, S. Leitman, W. M. Linehan, C. N. Robertson, R. E. Lee, J. T. Rubin, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 316,889 (1987).
- **402.** J. Kutza, M. P. Hayes, and K. A. Clouse, AIDS, **12, F59** (1998).
- **403.** E. L. Jacobson, F. Pilaro, and K. A. Smith, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **93**, **10405** (1996).
- 404. M. Wills-Karp, Annu. Rev. Zmmunol., 17, 255 (1999).
- **405.** K. F. Chung and P. J. Barnes, Thorax, **54,825** (1999).
- 406. C. Walker, W. Bauer, R. K. Braun, G. Menz, P. Braun, F. Schwarz, T. T. Hansel, and B. Villiger, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 150,1038 (1994).
- 407. S. Daher, L. M. Santos, D. Sole, M. G. De Lima, C. K. Naspitz, and C. C. Musatti, J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol., 5, 251 (1995).
- 408. D. G. Marsh, J. D. Neely, D. R. Breazeale, B. Ghosh, L. R. Freidhoff, E. Ehrlich-Kautzky, C. Schou, G. Krishnaswamy, and T. H. Beaty, Science, 264, 1152 (1994).
- **409.** W. E. Paul, Blood, **77,1859** (**1991**).
- 410. K. Nelms, A. D. Keegan, J. Zarnorano, J. J. Ryan, and W. E. Paul, *Annu*. Rev. Zmmunol., 17, 701 (1999).
- 411. A. J. Coyle, G. Le Gros, C. Bertrand, S. Tsuyuki, C. H. Heusser, M. Kopf, and G. P. Anderson, Am. J. Respir. CellMol. Biol., 13, 54 (1995).
- 412. M. Kopf, G. Le Gros, A. J. Coyle, M. Kosco-Vilbois, and F. Brombacher, Immunol. Rev., 148, 45 (1995).
- **413.** N. Noben-Trauth, L. D. Shultz, F. Brombacher, J. F. Urban Jr., H. Gu, and W. E. Paul, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **94**, **10838** (1997).
- 414. F. D. Finkelman, T. Shea-Donohue, J. Goldhill, C. A. Sullivan, S. C. Morris, K. B. Madden, W. C. Gause, and J. F. Urban Jr., Annu. Rev. Zmmunol., 15,505 (1997).
- 415. R. I. Tepper, Res. Zmmunol., 144, 633 (1993).
- 416. U. A. Temann, B. Prasad, M. W. Gallup, C. Basbaum, S. B. Ho, R. A. Flavell, and J. A. Rankin, *Am. J.* Respir. Cell Mol. Biol., 16,471 (1997).
- 417. W. R. Henderson Jr., E. Y. Chi, and C. R. Maliszewski, J. Immunol., 164,1086 (2000).
- 418. A. J. Coyle, G. Le Gros, C. Bertrand, S. Tsuyuki, C. H. Heusser, M. Kopf, and G. P. Anderson, Am. J. Respir. CellMol. Biol., 13, 54 (1995).

D. B. Corry, H. G. Folkesson, M. L. Warnock, D. J. Erle, M. A. Matthay, J. P. Wiener-Kronish, and R. M. Locksley, J. *Exp. Med.*, 183, 109 (1996).

S. M. Grunewald, A. Werthmann, B. Schnarr, C. E. Klein, E. B. Brocker, M. Mohrs, F. Brombacher, W. Sebald, and A. Duschl, J. *Immunol.*, **160,4004 (1998).**

A. Tomkinson, C. Duez, G. Cieslewicz, J. C. Pratt, A. Joetham, M.-C. Shanafelt, R. Gundel, and E. W. Gelfand, J. *Immunol.*, 166, 5792 (2001).

H. P. Tony, B. J. Shen, P. Reusch, and W. Sebald, *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **225**, **659** (1994).

L. C. Borish, H. S. Nelson, J. Corren, G. Bensch, W. W. Busse, J. B. Whitmore, and J. M. Agosti, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 107, 963 (2001).

C. J. Sanderson, Blood, 79,3101 (1992).

C. Maxwell, **R. Hussain**, T. B. Nutman, R. W. Poindexter, M. D. Little, G. A. Schad, and E. A. Ottesen, *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.*, **37, 126** (1987).

S. Mahanty, C. L. King, V. Kumaraswami, J. Regunathan, A. Maya, K. Jayaraman, J. S. Abrams, E. A. Ottesen, and T. B. Nutman, *J. Immunol.*, **151,3704** (**1993**).

M. A. Giembycz and M. A. Lindsay, *Pharma*col. Rev., **51,213** (**1999**).

G. J. Gleich and D. A. Loegering, Annu. Rev. Immunol., 2,429 (1984).

S. Durham in A. B. Kay, Ed., *Eosinophils, Allergy and Asthma*, Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, **1993**, p. **140**.

S. Yoshikawa, S. G. Kayes, and J. C. Parker, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, **147**, **914** (1993).

D. H. Broide, M. M. Paine, and G. S. Firestein, J. *Clin. Invest.*, **90**, **1414** (**1992**).

J. Butterfied, K. Leiferman, and G. Gleich in M. Frank, K. Austen, N. Claman, and E. Unanue, Eds., *Santer's Immunologic Diseases*, Vol. 1, Little Brown, Boston, **1995**, p. **501**.

S. Ying, S. R. Durham, C. J. Corrigan, Q. Hamid, and A. B. Kay, *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, **12**, **477** (1995).

A. B. Kay, S. Ying, V. Varney, M. Gaga, S. R. Durham, R. Moqbel, A. J. Wardlaw, and Q. Hamid, J. *Exp. Med.*, **173**, **775** (1991).

H. Z. Shi, C. Q. Xiao, D. Zhong, S. M. Qin, Y. Liu, G. R. Liang, H. Xu, Y. Q. Chen, X. M. Long, and Z. F. Xie, *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, 157,204 (1998).

H. Okudaira, A. Mori, M. Suko, T. Etoh, H. Nakagawa, and K. Ito, Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol., 107,255 (1995).

- 437. S. Till, R. Dickason, D. Huston, M. Humbert, D. Robinson, M. Larche, S. Durham, A. B. Kay, and C. Corrigan, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 99, 563 (1997).
- 438. L. T. Barata, S. Ying, Q. Meng, J. Barkans, K. Rajakulasingam, S. R. Durham, and A. B. Kay, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 101, 222 (1998).
- 439. M. Plaut, J. H. Pierce, C. J. Watson, J. Hanley-Hyde, R. P. Nordan, and W. E. Paul, *Nature*, 339, 64 (1989).
- 440. *R.* Csonga, E. E. Prieschl, D. Jaksche, V. Novotny, and T. Baumruker, J. *Immunol.*, 160, 273 (1998).
- 441. C. Walker, J. Checkel, S. Cammisuli, P. J. Leibson, and G. J. Gleich, J. Immunol., 161, 1962 (1998).
- **442**. H. S. Warren, B. F. Kinnear, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier, J. *Immunol.*, **154**, **5144** (1995).
- 443. R. Mohle, P. Salemi, M. A. Moore, and S. Rafii, *Br. J. Haematol.*, 99, 732 (1997).
- 444. H. Naora and I. G. Young, *Blood*, 83, 3620 (1994).
- 445. J. Schmidt, S. Fleissner, I. Heimann-Weitschat, R. Lindstaedt, and I. Szelenyi, *Agents* Ac*tions*, 42, 81 (1994).
- 446. A. Tominaga, T. Takahashi, Y. Kikuchi, S. Mita, S. Naomi, N. Harada, N. Yamaguchi, and K. Takatsu, J. Immunol., 144, 1345 (1990).
- 447. P. Graber, A. R. Bernard, A. M. Hassell, M. V. Milburn, S. R. Jordan, A. E. Proudfoot, D. Fattah, and T. N. Wells, *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 212, 751 (1993).
- 448. Y. Minamitake, S. Kodama, T. Katayama, H. Adachi, S. Tanaka, and M. Tsujimoto, J. Biochem. (Tokyo), 107,292 (1990).
- 449. P. Graber, A. E. Proudfoot, F. Talabot, A. Bernard, M. McKinnon, M. Banks, D. Fattah, R. Solari, M. C. Peitsch, and T. N. Wells, J. Biol. Chem., 270,15762 (1995).
- 450. J. Tavernier, T. Tuypens, A. Verhee, G. Plaetinck, R. Devos, J. Van der Heyden, Y. Guisez, and C. Oefner, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 92, 5194 (1995).
- 451. R. Devos, Y. Guisez, S. Cornelis, A. Verhee, J. Van der Heyden, M. Manneberg, H. W. Lahm, W. Fiers, J. Tavernier, and G. Plaetinck, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 6581 (1993).
- 452. A. Miyajima, T. Kitamura, N. Harada, T. Yokota, and K. Arai, *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 10, 295 (1992).
- 453. S. Takaki, A. Tominaga, Y. Hitoshi, S. Mita, E. Sonoda, N. Yamaguchi, and K. Takatsu, *EMBO* J.,9,4367 (1990).

- **454.** S. Mita, S. Takaki, Y. Hitoshi, A. G. Rolink, A. Tominaga, N. Yamaguchi, and K. Takatsu, Znt. Zmmunol., **3, 665 (1991).**
- 455. S. Takaki, Y. Murata, T. Kitamura, A. Miyajima, A. Tominaga, and K. Takatsu, J. Exp. Med., 177, 1523 (1993).
- 456. K. Pazdrak, D. Schreiber, P. Forsythe, L. Justement, and R. Alam, J. Exp. Med., 181, 1827 (1995).
- 457. J. N. Ihle, B. A. Witthuhn, F. W. Quelle, K. Yamamoto, and O. Silvennoinen, *Annu*. Rev. Zmmunol., 13,369 (1995).
- 458. Y. Hitoshi, N. Yamaguchi, M. Korenaga, S. Mita, A. Tominaga, and K. Takatsu, *Int. Immunol.*, 3, 135 (1991).
- 459. P. S. Foster, S. P. Hogan, A. J. Ramsay, K. I. Matthaei, and I. G. Young, J. Exp. Med., 183, 195 (1996).
- 460. M. Kopf, F. Brombacher, P. D. Hodgkin, A. J. Ramsay, E. A. Milbourne, W. J. Dai, K. S. Ovington, C. A. Behm, G. Kohler, I. G. Young, and K. I. Matthaei, Immunity, 4, 15 (1996).
- **461.** L. A. Dent, M. Strath, A. L. Mellor, and C. J. Sanderson, *J.* Exp. Med., **172,1425** (1990).
- 462. L. Schandene, C. Alonso-Vega, F. Willems, C. Gerard, A. Delvaux, T. Velu, R. Devos, M. de Boer, and M. Goldman, J. Zmmunol., 152,4368 (1994).
- 463. M. L. Kapsenberg, C. M. Hilkens, H. M. Jansen, J. D. Bos, A. Snijders, and E. A. Wierenga, *Int.* Arch. Allergy Zmmunol., 110, 107 (1996).
- 464. A. Mori, M. Suko, Y. Nishizaki, O. Karninuma, G. Matsuzaki, K. Ito, T. Etoh, H. Nakagawa, N. Tsuruoka, and H. Okudaira, *Int. Arch. Allergy Zmmunol.*, 104, 32 (1994).
- 465. J. E. Valentine and W. A. Sewell, Znt. *Immu*nol., 9,975 (1997).
- 466. D. Robinson, Q. Hamid, S. Ying, A. Bentley, B. Assoufi, S. Durham, and A. B. Kay, *Am.* Rev. Respir. Dis., 148,401 (1993).
- 467. D. Y. Leung, R. J. Martin, S. J. Szefler, E. R. Sher, S. Ying, A. B. Kay, and Q. Hamid, J. Exp. Med., 181, 33 (1995).
- 468. C. J. Corrigan, A. Haczku, V. Gemou-Engesaeth, S. Doi, Y. Kikuchi, K. Takatsu, S. R. Durham, and A. B. Kay, *Am.* Rev. Respir. Dis., 147,540 (1993).
- 469. H. Okudaira, A. Mori, T. Mikami, O. Kaminuma, T. Ohmura, A. Hoshino, and M. Suko, Znt. Arch. Allergy Zmmunol., 113,331 (1997).
- **470.** A. Mori, **O.** Karninuma, M. Suko, T. **Mikami, Y.** Nishizaki, T. Ohmura, A. Hoshino, Y. Asakura, K. Miyazawa, T. **Ando**, Y. Okumura,

K. Yamamoto, and H. Okudaira, *J.* Allergy *Clin.* Zmmunol., **100, S56 (1997).**

- 471. R. Devos, Y. Guisez, G. Plaetinck, S. Cornelis, J. Tavernier, J. Van der Heyden, L. H. Foley, and J. E. Scheffler, Eur. J. Biochem., 225,635 (1994).
- 472. R. Devos, G. Plaetinck, S. Cornelis, Y. Guisez, J. Van der Heyden, and J. Tavernier, J. Leukoc. Biol., 57,813 (1995).
- 473. M. Wiekowski, D. Prosser, S. Taremi, and C. Chou, Proceedings of the 9th International Congress of Immunology, Kenilworth, NJ, 1995, Schering-Plough Research Institute, 1995,298 AD.
- 474. M. Wiekowski, D. Prosser, S. Taremi, A. Tsarbopoulos, C. H. Jenh, C. C. Chou, D. Lundell, P. Zavodny, and S. Narula, Eur. J. Biochem., 246,625 (1997).
- 475. P. J. Mauser, A. M. Pitman, X. Fernandez, S. K. Foran, G. K. Adams 3rd, W. Kreutner, R. W. Egan, and R. W. Chapman, *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, 152,467 (1995).
- 476. P. J. Mauser, A. Pitman, A. Witt, X. Fernandez, J. Zurcher, T. Kung, H. Jones, A. S. Watnick, R. W. Egan, W. Kreutner, et al., *Am.* Rev. Respir. Dis., 148, 1623 (1993).
- 477. C. G. Garlisi, T. T. Kung, P. Wang, M. Minni-cozzi, S. P. Umland, R. W. Chapman, D. Stelts, Y. Crawley, A. Falcone, J. G. Myers, H. Jones, M. M. Billah, W. Kreutner, and R. W. Egan, *Am. J.* Respir. Cell Mol. Biol., 20, 248 (1999).
- 478. R. L. Coffman, B. W. Seymour, S. Hudak, J. Jackson, and D. Rennick, Science, 245, 308 (1989).
- **479.** A. Sher, R. L. Coffman, S. Hieny, and A. W. Cheever, *J.* Zmmunol., **145,3911 (1990).**
- 480. M. Korenaga, Y. Hitoshi, N. Yamaguchi, Y. Sato, K. Takatsu, and I. Tada, Immunology, 72, 502 (1991).
- 481. R. W. Egan, D. Athwahl, C. C. Chou, S. Emtage, C. H. Jehn, T. T. Kung, P. J. Mauser, N. J. Murgolo, and M. W. Bodmer, Znt. Arch. Allergy Zmmunol., 107,321 (1995).
- 482. M. J. Leckie, A. ten Brinke, J. Lordan, J. Khan, Z. Diamant, C. M. Walls, H. Cowley, T. Hansel, R. Djukanovic, P. J. Sterk, S. T. Holgate, and P. J. Barnes, Proceedings of the International Conference of the American Thoracic Society, San Diego, CA, 1999.
- 483. M. J. Leckie, A. ten Brinke, J. Khan, Z. Diamant, B. J. O'Connor, C. M. Walls, A. K. Mathur, H. C. Cowley, K. F. Chung, R. Djukanovic, T. T. Hansel, S. T. Holgate, P. J. Sterk, and P. J. Barnes, Lancet, 356, 2144 (2000).

J. C. Kips, B. J. O'Connor, and S. J. Langley, Proceedings of the International Conference of the American Thoracic Society, Toronto, Canada, **2000.**

J. Van Snick, Annu. Rev. Immunol., 8, 253 (1990).

- P. A. Guerne, D. A. Carson, and M. Lotz, *J. Im*munol., **144**, **499** (**1990**).
- Y. Ishimi, C. Miyaura, C. H. Jin, T. Akatsu, E. Abe, Y. Nakamura, A. Yamaguchi, S. Yoshiki, T. Matsuda, T. Hirano, et al., J. Immunol., 145,3297 (1990).

J. Content, L. De Wit, P. Poupart, G. Opdenakker, J. Van Damme, and A. Billiau, Eur. J. Biochem., 152, 253 (1985).

Y. H. Zhang, J. X. Lin, Y. K. Yip, and J. Vilcek, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **85,6802**(1988).

Y. Zhang, J. X. Lin, and J. Vilcek, J. Biol. Chem., 263,6177 (1988).

J. Van Damme, G. Opdenakker, R. J. Simpson, M. R. Rubira, S. Cayphas, A. Vink, A. Billiau, and J. Van Snick, J. Exp. Med., 165, 914 (1987).

W. Somers, M. Stahl, and J. S. Seehra, EMBO *J.*, **16**, **989** (1997).

T. Taga, M. Hibi, Y. Hirata, K. Yamasaki, K. Yasukawa, T. Matsuda, T. Hirano, and T. Kishimoto, Cell, **58, 573** (**1989**).

M. Hibi, M. Murakami, M. Saito, T. Hirano, T. Taga, and T. Kishimoto, Cell, 63, 1149 (1990).

K. Nakajima and R. Wall, Mol. Cell. Biol., **11**, **1409** (**1991**).

M. Kopf, H. Baumann, G. Freer, M. Freudenberg, M. Lamers, T. Kishimoto, R. Zinkernagel, H. Bluethmann, and G. Kohler, Nature, 368,339 (1994).

M. Kopf, S. Herren, M. V. Wiles, M. B. Pepys, and M. H. Kosco-Vilbois, J. *Exp.* Med., 188, 1895 (1998).

V. Poli, R. Balena, E. Fattori, A. Markatos, M. Yamamoto, H. Tanaka, G. Ciliberto, G. A. Rodan, and F. Costantini, EMBO J., 13, 1189 (1994).

G. Rook, S. Thompson, M. Buckley, C. Elson, R. Brealey, C. Lambert, T. White, and T. Rademacher, Eur. J. Immunol., 21, 1027 (1991).

T. Hirano, **T.** Taga, K. Yasukawa, K. **Naka**jima, N. **Nakano**, F. **Takatsuki**, M. Shimizu, A. Murashima, S. Tsunasawa, F. Sakiyama, et al., *Proc.* Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **84,228** (1987).

H. Nakao, A. Nishikawa, T. Nishiura, Y. Kanayama, S. Tarui, and N. Taniguchi, Clin. Chim. Acta, 197,221(1991).

- **502.** I. L. Campbell and L. C. Harrison, J. Autoimmun., **3** (Suppl. 1), **53** (1990).
- 503. I. L. Campbell, C. R. Abraham, E. Masliah, P. Kemper, J. D. Inglis, M. B. Oldstone, and L. Mucke, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 90, 10061 (1993).
- **504.** T. Matsuda, **T.** Hirano, and T. Kishimoto, *Eur. J.* Immunol., **18,951** (**1988**).
- 505. T. Shimamura, S. Taki, H. Honda, M. Yokota, S. Ito, and Y. Takahara, Mol. Immunol., 28, 1155 (1991).
- 506. B. Klein, J. Wijdenes, X. G. Zhang, M. Jourdan, J. M. Boiron, J. Brochier, J. Liautard, M. Merlin, C. Clement, B. Morel-Fournier, et al., Blood, 78,1198 (1991).
- 507. H. Suzuki, K. Yasukawa, T. Saito, R. Goitsuka, A. Hasegawa, Y. Ohsugi, T. Taga, and T. Kishimoto, Eur. J. Immunol., 22, 1989 (1992).
- 508. N. Nishimoto, K. Maeda, T. Kuritani, H. Deguchi, B. Sato, N. Imai, T. Kakahei, M. Suemura, T. Kishimoto, and K. Y. Osaka, Proceedings of the 65th Annual Scientific Meeting of American College of Rheumatology, Vol. 44, San Francisco, CA, 2001.
- 509. E. Choy, D. Isenberg, S. Farrow, T. Garrood, Y. Ioannou, H. Bird, N. Cheung, B. Williams, B. Hazleman, R. Price, T. Kishimoto, and G. Panayi, Proceedings of the 65th Annual Scientific Meeting of American College of Rheumatology, Vol. 44, San Francisco, CA, 2001.
- 510. E. Sporeno, R. Savino, L. Ciapponi, G. Paonessa, A. Cabibbo, A. Lahm, K. Pulkki, R. X. Sun, C. Toniatti, B. Klein, et al., Blood, 87, 4510 (1996).
- **511.** J. D. Sipe, L. M. Bartle, and L. D. Loose, J. *Im*munol., **148,480** (1992).
- **512.** N. Sidell, T. Taga, T. Hirano, T. Kishimoto, and A. Saxon, J. Immunol., **146,3809** (1991).
- 513. W. D. Blackburn Jr., H. M. Prupas, J. C. Silverfield, J. E. Poiley, J. R. Caldwell, R. L. Collins, M. J. Miller, D. H. Sikes, H. Kaplan, R. Fleischmann, et al., Arthritis Rheum., 38, 1447 (1995).
- **514.** M. K. Gately, D. E. Wilson, and H. L. Wong, *J.* Immunol., **136,1274 (1986).**
- 515. M. K. Gately, B. B. Desai, A. G. Wolitzky, P. M. Quinn, C. M. Dwyer, F. J. Podlaski, P. C. Familletti, F. Sinigaglia, R. Chizonnite, U. Gubler, et al., J. Immunol., 147,874 (1991).
- 516. M. Kobayashi, L. Fitz, M. Ryan, R. M. Hewick, S. C. Clark, S. Chan, R. Loudon, F. Sherman, B. Perussia, and G. Trinchieri, J. Exp. Med., 170,827 (1989).

- 518. F. Altare, A. Durandy, D. Lammas, J. F. Emile, S. Lamhamedi, F. Le Deist, P. Drysdale, E. Jouanguy, R. Doffinger, F. Bernaudin, O. Jeppsson, J. A. Gollob, E. Meinl, A. W. Segal, A. Fischer, D. Kumararatne, and J. L. Casanova, *Science*, 280, 1432 (1998).
- 519. R. de Jong, F. Altare, I. A. Haagen, D. G. Elferink, T. Boer, P. J. van Breda Vriesman, P. J. Kabel, J. M. Draaisma, J. T. van Dissel, F. P. Kroon, J. L. Casanova, and T. H. Ottenhoff, *Science*, 280, 1435 (1998).
- 520. S. Trembleau, G. Penna, E. Bosi, A. Mortara, M. K. Gately, and L. Adorini, J. *Exp. Med.*, 181,817 (1995).
- 521. M. Wysocka, M. Kubin, L. Q. Vieira, L. Ozmen, G. Garotta, P. Scott, and G. Trinchieri, *Eur.* J. Zrnrnunol., 25,672 (1995).
- 522. J. P. Leonard, K. E. Waldburger, and S. J. Goldman, J. Exp. Med., 181,381 (1995).
- 523. A.M. Malfait, D. M. Butler, D. H. Presky, R. N. Maini, F. M. Brennan, and M. Feldmann, *Clin. Exp. Zrnmunol.*, 111, 377 (1998).
- **524.** G. Hasko and C. Szabo, *Br. J. Pharrnacol.*, **127**, **1295** (**1999**).
- 525. A. D'Andrea, M. Rengaraju, N. M. Valiante, J. Chehimi, M. Kubin, M. Aste, S. H. Chan, M. Kobayashi, D. Young, E. Nickbarg, et al., J. *Exp. Med.*, 176, 1387 (1992).
- 526. M. Cella, D. Scheidegger, K. Palmer-Lehmann, P. Lane, A. Lanzavecchia, and G. Alber, J. Exp. Med., 184, 747 (1996).
- 527. M. J. Walter, N. Kajiwara, P. Karanja, M. Castro, and M. J. Holtzman, J. *Exp. Med.*, 193, 339 (2001).
- 528. D. H. Presky, H. Yang, L. J. Minetti, A. O. Chua, N. Nabavi, C. Y. Wu, M. K. Gately, and U. Gubler, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 14002 (1996).
- **529.** J. Zou, D. H. Presky, C. Y. Wu, and U. Gubler, J. *Biol. Chern.*, **272,6073** (1997).
- 530. J. Magram, J. Sfarra, S. Connaughton, D. Faherty, R. Warrier, D. Carvajal, C. Y. Wu, C. Stewart, U. Sarmiento, and M. K. Gately, *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, 795, 60 (1996).
- 531. J. Magram, S. E. Connaughton, R. R. Warrier, D. M. Carvajal, C. Y. Wu, J. Ferrante, C. Stewart, U. Sarmiento, D. A. Faherty, and M. K. Gately, *Immunity*, 4,471 (1996).
- **532.** H. Rothe, R. M. O'Hara Jr., S. Martin, and H. Kolb, *Diabetologia*, **40**, **641** (1997).

- 533. M. K. Gately and M. J. Mulqueen, *Drugs*, 52, 18 (1996).
- 534. F. P. Heinzel, D. S. Schoenhaut, R. M. Rerko, L. E. Rosser, and M. K. Gately, *J. Exp. Med.*, 177,1505 (1993).
- 535. M. J. Brunda, L. Luistro, R. R. Warrier, R. B. Wright, B. R. Hubbard, M. Murphy, S. F. Wolf, and M. K. Gately, J. *Exp. Med.*, 178, 1223 (1993).
- 536. J. C. Kips, G. J. Brusselle, G. F. Joos, R. A. Peleman, J. H. Tavernier, R. R. Devos, and R. A. Pauwels, *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, 153,535 (1996).
- 537. J. Schwarze, E. Hamelmann, G. Cieslewicz, A. Tomkinson, A. Joetham, K. Bradley, and E. W. Gelfand, J. Allergy Clin. Zrnmunol., 102, 86 (1998).
- 538. M. B. Atkins, M. J. Robertson, M. Gordon, M. T. Lotze, M. DeCoste, J. S. DuBois, J. Ritz, A. B. Sandler, H. D. Edington, P. D. Garzone, J. W. Mier, C. M. Canning, L. Battiato, H. Tahara, and M. L. Sherman, *Clin. Cancer Res.*, 3,409 (1997).
- 539. J. P. Leonard, M. L. Sherman, G. L. Fisher, L. J. Buchanan, G. Larsen, M. B. Atkins, J. A. Sosman, J. P. Dutcher, N. J. Vogelzang, and J. L. Ryan, *Blood*, 90,2541 (1997).
- 540. E. Bajetta, M. Del Vecchio, R. Mortarini, R. Nadeau, A. Rakhit, L. Rimassa, C. Fowst, A. Borri, A. Anichini, and G. Parmiani, *Clin. Cancer Res.*, 4, 75 (1998).
- 541. A. H. Rook, G. S. Wood, E. K. Yoo, R. Elenitsas, D. M. Kao, M. L. Sherman, W. K. Witmer, K. A. Rockwell, R. B. Shane, S. R. Lessin, and E. C. Vonderheid, *Blood*, 94,902 (1999).
- 542. S. Zeuzem, U. Hopf, V. Carreno, M. Diago, M. Shiffman, S. Grune, F. J. Dudley, A. Rakhit, K. Rittweger, S. H. Yap, R. S. Koff, and H. C. Thomas, *Hepatology*, 29, 1280 (1999).
- 543. S. A. Bryan, B. J. O'Connor, S. Matti, M. J. Leckie, V. Kanabar, J. Khan, S. J. Warrington, L. Renzetti; A. Rames, J. A. Bock, M. J. Boyce, T. T. Hansel, S. T. Holgate, and P. J. Barnes, *Lancet*, 356,2149 (2000).
- 544. A. Rakhit, M. M. Yeon, J. Ferrante, S. Fettner, R. Nadeau, R. Motzer, R. Bukowski, D. M. Carvajal, V. L. Wilkinson, D. H. Presky, J. Magram, and M. K. Gately, *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 65, 615 (1999).
- 545. A. N. McKenzie, J. A. Culpepper, R. de Waal Malefyt, F. Briere, J. Punnonen, G. Aversa, A. Sato, W. Dang, B. G. Cocks, S. Menon, et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 90,3735 (1993).
- 546. T. C. van der Pouw Kraan, A. van Veen, L. C. Boeije, S. A. van Tuyl, E. R. de Groot, S. O.

Stapel, A. Bakker, C. L. Verweij, L. A. Aarden, and J. S. van der Zee, Genes Zmmun., 1, 61 (1999).

- 547. P. E. Graves, M. Kabesch, M. Halonen, C. J. Holberg, M. Baldini, C. Fritzsch, S. K. Weiland, R. P. Erickson, E. von Mutius, and F. D. Martinez, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 105, 506 (2000).
- 548. D. D. Donaldson, M. J. Whitters, L. J. Fitz, T. Y. Neben, H. Finnerty, S. L. Henderson, R. M. O'Hara Jr., D. R. Beier, K. J. Turner, C. R. Wood, and M. Collins, J. Immunol., 161, 2317 (1998).
- 549. M. G. Chiaramonte, D. D. Donaldson, A. W. Cheever, and T. A. Wynn, J. Clin. Invest., 104, 777 (1999).
- 550. J. H. Lee, N. Kaminski, G. Dolganov, G. Grunig, L. Koth, C. Solomon, D. J. Erle, and D. Sheppard, *Am. J.* Respir. Cell Mol. Biol., 25, 474 (2001).
- 551. J. C. Laporte, P. E. Moore, S. Baraldo, M. H. Jouvin, T. L. Church, I. N. Schwartzman, R. A. Panettieri Jr., J. P. Kinet, and S. A. Shore, *Am. J.* Respir. Crit. Care Med., 164, 141 (2001).
- 552. Z. Zhou, R. J. Homer, Z. D. Wang, Q. S. Chen, G. P. Geba, J. M. Wang, Y. Zhang, and J. A. Elias, J. Clin. Invest., 103, 779 (1999).
- 553. D. M. Walter, J. J. McIntire, G. Berry, A. N. McKenzie, D. D. Donaldson, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu, J. Zmmunol., 167, 4668 (2001).
- 554. M. Wills-Karp, J. Luyimbazi, X. Xu, B. Schofield, T. Y. Neben, C. L. Karp, and D. D. Donaldson, Science, 282,2258 (1998).
- 555. K. Blease, C. Jakubzick, J. Westwick, N. Lukacs, S. L. Kunkel, and C. M. Hogaboam, *J*. Zmmunol., **166**, **5219** (2001).
- 56. B. B. Aggarwal and W. H. Kohr in G. DiSabato, Ed., Methods in Enzymology, Vol. 116, Academic Press, New York, 1985, p. 441.
- 557. E.Y.Jones, D. I. Stuart, and N. P. C. Walker in B. B. Aggarwal and J. Vilcek, Eds., Crystal Structure of TNF, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1992, p. 93.
- 558. H. Loetscher, D. Stueber, D. Banner, F. Mackay, and W. Lesslauer, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 26350 (1993).
- 59. D. W. Banner, A. D'Arcy, W. Janes, R. Gentz, H. J. Schoenfeld, C. Broger, H. Loetscher, and W. Lesslauer, Cell, 73,431 (1993).
- 60. B. G. Darnay and B. B. Aggarwal, J. Leukoc. Biol., 61, 559 (1997).

- **561.** G. B. N. Chainy, S. Singh, U. Raju, and B. B. Aggarwal, *J.* Immunol., **157,2410 (1996).**
- **562.** F. J. Lejeune, C. Ruegg, and D. Lienard, *Curr*. Opin. Immunol., **10, 573** (1998).
- 563. M. W. Marino, A. Dunn, D. Grail, M. Inglese, Y. Noguchi, E. Richards, A. Jungbluth, H. Wada, M. Moore, B. Williamson, S. Basu, and L. J. Old, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 8093 (1997).
- 564. K. Pfeffer, T. Matsuyama, T. M. Kundig, A. Wakeham, K. Kishihara, A. Shahinian, K. Wiegmann, P.S. Ohashi, M. Kronke, and T. W. Mak, Cell, 73,457 (1993).
- 565. J. Rothe, W. Lesslauer, H. Lotscher, Y. Lang, P. Koebel, F. Kontgen, A. Althage, R. Zinkernagel, M. Steinmetz, and H. Bluethmann, Nature, 364, 798 (1993).
- 566. D. E. Yocum, L. Esparza, S. Dubry, J. B. Benjamin, R. Volz, and P. Scuderi, Cell. Zmmunol., 122, 131 (1989).
- 567. K. L. MacNaul, N. I. Hutchinson, J. N. Parsons, E. K. Bayne, and M. J. Tocci, *J. Immunol.*, 145,4154 (1990).
- **568.** R. O. Williams, M. Feldmann, and R. N. Maini, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **89,9784** (1992).
- 569. G. J. Thorbecke, R. Shah, C. H. Leu, A. P. Kuruvilla, A. M. Hardison, and M. A. Palladino, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 89, 7375 (1992).
- 570. L. W. Moreland, M. H. Schiff, S. W. Baumgartner, E. A. Tindall, R. M. Fleischmann, K. J. Bulpitt, A. L. Weaver, E. C. Keystone, D. E. Furst, P. J. Mease, E. M. Ruderman, D. A. Horwitz, D. G. Arkfeld, L. Garrison, D. J. Burge, C. M. Blosch, M. L. Lange, N. D. McDonnell, and M. E. Weinblatt, Ann. Intern. Med., 130, 478 (1999).
- 571. M. E. Weinblatt, J. M. Kremer, A. D. Bankhurst, K. J. Bulpitt, R. M. Fleischmann, R. I. Fox, C. G. Jackson, M. Lange, and D. J. Burge, N. Engl. J. Med., 340,253 (1999).
- 572. D. J. Lovell, E. H. Giannini, A. Reiff, G. D. Cawkwell, E. D. Silverman, J. J. Nocton, L. D. Stein, A. Gedalia, N. T. Ilowite, C. A. Wallace, J. Whitmore, and B. K. Finck, N. Engl. J.Med., 342, 763 (2000).
- 573. R. N. Maini, F. C. Breedveld, J. R. Kalden, J. S. Smolen, D. Davis, J. D. Macfarlane, C. Antoni, B. Leeb, M. J. Elliott, J. N. Woody, T. F. Schaible, and M. Feldmann, Arthritis Rheum., 41, 1552 (1998).
- 574. R. Maini, E. W. St Clair, F. Breedveld, D. Furst, J. Kalden, M. Weisman, J. Smolen, P. Emery, G. Harriman, M. Feldmann, and P. Lipsky, Lancet, 354, 1932 (1999).

- **575.** J. Kempeni, Ann. Rheum. Dis., **59** (Suppl. 1), **i44** (2000).
- **576.** C. F. Nathan, H. W. Murray, M. E. Wiebe, and B. Y. Rubin, J. Exp. Med., **158,670 (1983).**
- 577. Y. K. Yip, B. S. Barrowclough, C. Urban, and J. Vilcek, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 79, 1820 (1982).
- 578. H. C. Kelker, J. Le, B. Y. Rubin, Y. K. Yip, C. Nagler, and J. Vilcek, J. Biol. Chem., 259,4301 (1984).
- **579.** V. Shankaran and R. D. Schreiber in ref. **1**, Vol. **2,2001**, p. **1819.**
- **580.** J. E. Darnell Jr., I. M. Kerr, and G. R. Stark, Science, **264**, **1415** (1994).
- 581. W. J. Leonard and J. J. O'Shea, Annu. Rev. Immunol., 16,293 (1998).
- 582. M. J. Skoskiewicz, R. B. Colvin, E. E. Schneeberger, and P. S. Russell, J. Exp. Med., 162, 1645 (1985).
- **583.** A. Billiau and K. Vandenbroeck in ref. **1**, Vol. **1**, **2001**, p. **641**.
- 584. D. K. Dalton, S. Pitts-Meek, S. Keshav, I. S. Figari, A. Bradley, and T. A. Stewart, Science, 259,1739 (1993).
- **585.** N. A. Buchmeier and R. D. Schreiber, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, **82**, **7404** (1985).
- 586. S. Huang, W. Hendriks, A. Althage, S. Hemmi, H. Bluethmann, R. Kamijo, J. Vilcek, R. Zinkernagel, and M. Aguet, Science, 259, 1742 (1983).
- 587. B. Lu, C. Ebensperger, Z. Dembic, Y. Wang, M. Kvatyuk, T. Lu, R. L. Coffman, S. Pestka, and P. B. Rothman, *Proc.* Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 95, 8233 (1998).
- 588. B. Wang, I. Andre, A. Gonzalez, J. D. Katz, M. Aguet, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 13844 (1997).
- 589. D. Guy-Grand, J. P. DiSanto, P. Henchoz, M. Malassis-Seris, and P. Vassalli, Eur. J. Immunol., 28, 730 (1998).

- 590. I. A. Ferber, S. Brocke, C. Taylor-Edwards, W. Ridgway, C. Dinisco, L. Steinman, D. Dalton, and C. G. Fathman, J. Immunol., 156, 5 (1996).
- 591. M. C. Boissier, G. Chiocchia, N. Bessis, J. Hajnal, G. Garotta, F. Nicoletti, and C. Fournier, Eur. J. Immunol., 25, 1184 (1995).
- 592. K. Vermeire, H. Heremans, M. Vandeputte, S. Huang, A. Billiau, and P. Matthys, J. Immunol., 158,5507 (1997).
- **593.** I. L. Campbell, T. W. Kay, L. Oxbrow, and L. C. Harrison, J. Clin. Invest., **87**, **739** (1991).
- 594. D. J. Berg, N. Davidson, R. Kuhn, W. Muller, S. Menon, G. Holland, L. Thompson-Snipes, M. W. Leach, and D. Rennick, J. Clin. Invest., 98, 1010 (1996).
- 595. A. Billiau, H. Heremans, F. Vandekerckhove, R. Dijkmans, H. Sobis, E. Meulepas, and H. Carton, J. Immunol., 140, 1506 (1988).
- 596. T. T. Duong, J. St Louis, J. J. Gilbert, F. D. Finkelman, and G. H. Strejan, J. Neuroimmunol., 36, 105 (1992).
- 597. R. R. Caspi, C. C. Chan, B. G. Grubbs, P. B. Silver, B. Wiggert, C. F. Parsa, S. Bahmanyar, A. Billiau, and H. Heremans, J. Immunol., 152,890 (1994).
- **598. T.** H. Ottenhoff, D. Kumararatne, and J. L. Casanova, Immunol. Today, **19,491 (1998).**
- **599. T.** Awata, C. Matsumoto, T. Urakami, R. Hagura, S. Arnemiya, and Y. Kanazawa, *Dia*betologia, **37**, **1159** (**1994**).
- 600. F. Pociot, R. Veijola, J. Johannesen, P. M. Hansen, T. Lorenzen, A. E. Karlsen, H. Reijonen, M. Knip, and J. Nerup, J. Interferon Cytokine Res., 17, 87 (1997).
- 601. International Chronic Granulomatous Disease Study Group, N. *Engl. J.* Med., 324, 509 (1991).
- **602.** R. Condos, W. N. Rom, and N. W. Schluger, Lancet, **349**, **1513** (**1997**).

CHAPTER FIVE

COX-2 Inhibitors and Leukotriene Modulators

RANDY L. BELL RICHARD R. HARRIS ANDREW O. STEWART Abbott Laboratories Abbott Park, Illinois

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 204
- 2 Eicosanoid Biosynthesis, 205
- 3 Biochemistry of Leukotrienes, 205
- 3.1 Biosynthesis of Leukotrienes, 205
- 4 Sources and Actions of the Leukotrienes, 208
 - 4.1 Discovery, Structure Elucidation (48), and Cellular Sources of the Leukotrienes (49), 208
 - 4.2 Biological Properties (78), 209
- 5 Agents Inhibiting Leukotriene Biosynthesis, 210
 - 5.1 Inhibitors of 5-Lipoxygenase (5-LO),211
 - 5.1.1 Structure and Mechanism of 5-LO, 211
 - 5.1.2 Antioxidants, 212
 - 5.1.3 Iron Ligands, 212
 - 5.1.4 N-Hydroxyureas, 213
 - 5.1.4.1 *In Vivo* Activities and Clinical Studies with N-Hydroxyurea Inhibitors, 213
 - 5.1.4.2 Second-Generation N-
 - Hydroxyureas, 214
 - 5.1.5 Substrate Inhibitors, 215
 - 5.2 Inhibitors of 5-Lipoxygenase-Activating Protein (FLAP),216
 - 5.3 Inhibition of LTA₄ Hydrolase, 219
 - 5.4 LTC₄ Synthase, 220
- 6 Agents Antagonizing Leukotrienes, 220
 - 6.1 Peptide-Leukotriene Antagonists, 220
 - 6.1.1 Introduction, 220
 - 6.1.2 FPL-55712-Derived Compounds, 221 6.1.2.1 LY171883 (Tomelukast), 221
 - 6.1.3 Leukotriene Analog Antagonists, 222 6.1.3.1 SKF 104353 (**Pobilukast**) and SKF 106203,222
 - 6.1.3.2 LY170680 (Sulukast), 222
 - 6.1.3.3 Bayer x7195, 222

COX-2 Inhibitors and Leukotriene Modulators

6.1.3.4 MK-0476 (Singulair, Montelukast Sodium, 34) and Its Precursors, 223 6.1.4 Peptide-Leukotriene Antagonists of Diversified Structure, 224 6.1.4.1 ONO 1078 (Pranlukast), 224 6.1.4.2 ICI 198,615 and ICI 204,219 (Accolate, Zafirlukast), 225 6.2 CysLT1 Antagonist Clinical Studies, 226 7 Leukotriene \mathbf{B}_4 Antagonists, 227 7.1 Introduction, 227 7.2 LTB₄ Antagonists Related to HAP-Type LTD₄ Antagonists, 227 7.3 LTB₄ Antagonists Derived from the Structure of LTB₄, 228 7.4 Clinical Trials with LTB₄ Antagonists, 228 8 Biochemistry and Structural Biology of Cyclooxygenases, 229 8.1 Prostaglandin Discovery and the Connection to NSAIDs, 229 8.2 Cyclooxygenase 1,230 8.3 Cyclooxygenase 2,231 8.4 Structural Features of COX-1 and COX-2 Enzymes, 231 8.5 Biosynthesis of Prostaglandins, 232 8.6 Actions of Cyclooxygenase-Derived Eicosanoids, 233

1 INTRODUCTION

A number of oxygenated products derived from arachidonic acid, frequently termed eicosanoids, have profound physiological and pathological effects. The history of these reviews indicates the expansion of the awareness of the medical importance of different classes of eicosanoids. Two editions from this series (1, 2) contained one chapter listing prostaglandins as the only eicosanoid target. The last volume broadly discussed both thromboxanes and leukotrienes together, while downplaying prostaglandins by lack of detailed discussion. The current volume contains three chapters on eicosanoid targets. Other chapters describe prostanoid receptors and thromboxanes individually. This chapter describes recent efforts in the COX-2 field and updates the leukotriene review of the 5th edition (2).

The previous chapter on thromboxanes and leukotrienes provided a thorough review of both fields. However, a significant amount of work has since been published in the area of

- 8.6.1 Homeostatic Effects of Prostaglandins, 233
- 8.6.2 Pathophysiological Effects of Prostaglandins, 234
- 9 Selective COX-2 Inhibitors, 234
 - 9.1 Agents Inhibiting COX-2,234
 - 9.2 Structure-Activity Relationships, 2349.2.1 4-Sulfonylphenyl COX-2 Class, 2349.2.2 N-Arylsulfonamides, 241
 - 9.3 Selective NSAIDs and NSAIDs Modified for Improved COX-2 Selectivity, 242
 - 9.4 Irreversible Inhibitors, 244
 - 9.5 Biochemical Assays, Selectivities, and Potencies, 245
 - 9.6 In Vivo Models and Corresponding Efficacy, 246
 - 9.7 Conclusion, 246
- 10 Agents Inhibiting COX-2 and 5-Lipoxygenase, 246
- 11 Clinical Efficacy and Safety of Selective COX-2 Inhibitors, 248
 - 11.1 Osteoarthritis, 248
 - 11.2 COX-2 and Cancer, 249
- 12 Conclusion and Summary, 250
- 13 Abbreviations, 250

leukotriene biology and modulators, thus necessitating our editing and adding to the previous review. In addition, a major breakthrough in prostaglandin research occurred with the discovery of a second cyclooxygenase (PGHS-2 or COX-2) by several investigators. This seminal work provided a new paradigm and new medicinal and clinical research in an area that seemed to be fully mature. The approval of selective COX-2 inhibitors Celebrex and Vioxx are landmarks in eicosanoid research. However, they are perhaps also just first steps with the possibility that secondgeneration COX-2-selective agents, mixed COX-215-LO, selective PGE, receptor subtype antagonists, or perhaps selective inducible PGE, synthase inhibitors may ultimately provide improved therapy in inflammation, pain, and perhaps cancer.

In this review, we first describe the paths and enzymes leading to prostaglandins, **leuko**trienes, and lipoxins. We then take each of our topics, separately dealing with leukotriene modulators followed by cyclooxygenase inhib-



Figure 5.1. Eicosanoid pathway.

itors. Each section contains a brief discussion on the sources and actions of the mediators. The efforts to develop **biosynthesis** inhibitors **and/or** antagonists of these classes of mediators are then summarized with emphasis on compounds that have progressed to clinical evaluation. Because of the breadth of the area covered by this chapter, it is impossible for it to be fully comprehensive. Thus, we frequently reference leading reviews in each subheading area.

2 EICOSANOID BIOSYNTHESIS

The eicosanoid metabolic pathway as it is currently understood begins with the liberation of long-chain fatty acids from cell membranes. In mammalian tissues the primary fatty acid released is arachidonic acid (AA, eicosatetraenoic acid, $\omega 6$ 20:4) (3). Some important exceptions to this generality are well known but are outside the scope of this review. A number of enzymes that release arachidonic acid have been identified and are predominantly phospholipases, although other enzymes clearly are also important under some conditions and in certain cell types (4–9). Of considerable importance is the fact that under most conditions free AA is normally kept very low by the action of various acyl transferases (10). The primary metabolic enzymes using AA as a substrate to form oxygenated products are cyclooxygenases 1 and 2; 5-, 12-, and 15-lipoxygenases; and certain P450 enzymes.

3 BIOCHEMISTRY OF LEUKOTRIENES

After the release of AA from phospholipid stores, the oxidative metabolism of AA occurs through a variety of pathways (see Fig. 5.1). Cyclooxygenase (COX) leads to the prostaglandins (11) and thromboxanes, whereas the leukotrienes are formed through the 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) pathway. In human cells, there is a family of lipoxygenases, including 5-, 12-, and 15-lipoxygenases, that bear significant sequence similarity to each other and that lead to several series of linear metabolites. The peptide and nonpeptide leukotrienes, various hydroperoxy- and hydroxy-eicosatetraenoic acids (HPETEs and HETEs) are products of the 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) pathway. Besides these eicosanoids, additional products are made nonenzymatically (12) and some by dual action of 5-LO followed by 15-LO (lipoxins) (13).

3.1 Biosynthesis of Leukotrienes

The committed **biosynthetic** path to the **leukotrienes begins** (see Fig. 5.2) with the action of 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) [EC 1.13.11.34] (14) on arachidonic acid. Purified human 5-LO is an unstable, 78,000-Da protein that has been isolated and cloned (15,16). It contains a tightly bound, nonheme iron that is essential for enzymatic activity (17). Like all known **lipoxy**genases, 5-LO catalyzes the insertion of molecular oxygen into a 1,4-*cis,cis*-pentadiene unit. The effect of 5-LO on AA is to abstract stereospecifically the **pro-S** hydrogen at position C_7 and to insert molecular oxygen at



Figure 5.2. Leukotriene pathway.

position C_5 to produce as an intermediate, 5(S)-hydroperoxy-6,8,11,14-(E,Z,Z,Z)-eicosatetraenoic acid (BHPETE). The optimal activity of 5-LO requires the presence of Ca²+ (18), ATP (19), and an accessory protein, 5-lipoxygenase-activating protein (FLAP) (20). 5-Lipoxygenase also catalyzes the conversion of 5-HPETE to leukotriene A, [LTA₄, 5(S),6(S)oxido-7,9-trans-11,14-cis-eicosatetraenoic acid] through the stereospecific removal of the pro-R hydrogen from position C_m, radical migration and formation of the **5,6-epoxide** (21, **22**). Alternatively, 5-HPETE can be reduced to yield 5-HETE [5(S)-hydroxy-6,8,11,14-(E,Z,Z,Z)-eicosatetraenoic acid].

Conversion of 5-HPETE to LTA_4 was originally thought to be attributed to a distinct enzyme, LTA_4 synthase, but sequence cloning studies showed that this protein is identical to 5-LO (23).

206

A significant amount of work, much of it from Merck and more recently the Peters-Golden laboratory, has indicated that the cellular localization of 5-LO is cell type and stimulus dependent (24–29). Prominently cytosolic in resting neutrophils, a number of stimuli cause a fraction of the enzyme to associate with nuclear membranes. In macrophages the enzyme is in the nuclear cytosol and associates with the nuclear membrane on activation. Control of this movement is associated with FLAP, as implied by inhibitor studies, but no specific binding of 5-LO to FLAP has ever been shown (30). Nuclear responses to leukotriene products are very likely the topic of exciting future research. FLAP has been proposed to present substrate to 5-LO (31).

Further biosynthetic processing of LTA₄ can occur along two distinct pathways. In the first path, it is stereospecifically converted to leukotriene B_4 [LTB₄, 5(S),12(R)-dihydroxy-6,14-cis-8,10-trans-eicosatetraenoic acid] (32). This conversion occurs by the addition of water in a 1,8 manner across the conjugated trienylepoxide of LTA_4 , under the influence of the cytosolic enzyme LTA_4 hydrolase [EC 3.3.2.6]. Because LTA_4 is an unstable epoxide, nonenzymatic hydrolysis can be easily accomplished. However, this affords a complex mixture of 5,6- and 5,12-dihydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids that contain no LTB_4 . LTA_4 hydrolase is a soluble, zinc metalloenzyme (33), a monomeric protein of molecular weight 70,000, that was first purified from human leukocytes by Samuelsson et al. (34). It has since been cloned and sequenced from several sources (35). The human enzyme is 610 amino acids with a unique sequence compared to that of other known epoxide hydrolases.

Catabolic processing (metabolic inactivation) of LTB_4 occurs predominantly by sequential omega oxidation, first to 20-hydroxy- LTB_4 by a cytochrome P450-catalyzed process (34) and then to 20-carboxy-LTB, through a different, soluble enzyme (36).

Alternatively, a second path for metabolic processing of LTA_4 to the set of cysteinyl leukotrienes begins by conjugation with reduced glutathione (GSH), to form the parent sulfidopeptide leukotriene C_4 [LTC₄, 5(S)-hydroxy-6(R)-glutathionyl-7,9-trans-11,14-cis-

eicosatetraenoic acid]. This reaction is catalyzed by another integral membrane protein, LTC_4 synthase [EC 2.5.1.37], that has been localized to the perinuclear membrane (37, 38). The purified **18-kDa** enzyme is very unstable and requires Mg^{2+} ions and phosphatidyl choline for activity. Initially, it was assumed that LTC, synthase was related to the ubiquitous family of glutathione S-transferases. However, sequence comparison showed little homology between LTC₄ synthase and either the cytosolic or microsomal GSH S-transferases (39). A detailed analysis of protein sequence data showed that there was 31% overall amino acid sequence identity between LTC₄ synthase and FLAP, and that in limited regions these proteins are nearly identical. This observation as well as the fact that the FLAP inhibitor MK-886 inhibits LTC₄ synthase activity (IC₅₀ ~ 3 μ *M*) caused Lam (40) to speculate: " LTC_4 synthase may represent a member of a lipid-binding protein family rather than classical GSH S-transferases."

Further metabolic progression of LTC_4 , first to LTD_4 [5(S)-hydroxy-6(R)-cysteinylglycyl-7,9-trans-11,14-cis-eicosatetraenoic acid], and then to LTE_4 [5(S)-hydroxy-6(R)cysteinyl-7,9-trans-11,14-cis-eicosatetraenoic acid], is by the sequential action of either y-glutamyl-transpeptidase (41) or γ -glutamylleukotrienase (42) and cysteinylglycyl-dipeptidase (41).

Deactivation of the cysteinyl (peptidyl)leukotrienes occurs by several pathways. The oxidative burst of activated phagocytes can inactivate the cysteinyl leukotrienes (e.g., LTC_4) by the formation of inactive sulfoxides (43). In this context, it is interesting that the sulfones of LTC_4 , LTD_4 , LTE_4 , and LTF_4 have been synthesized and were determined to be about equally active in *vitro* with the parent sulfides (44). Although isolation of the sulfones from rat peritoneal cells has been reported (45), neither their biological significance nor their distribution is clear. In rat, N-acetylation and omega-oxidation of LTE_4 occur to form the N-acetyl-20-carboxy-LTE, (46). In humans, however, the major excreted cysteinyl leukotriene metabolite is LTE_4 (47).

4 SOURCES AND ACTIONS OF THE LEUKOTRIENES

4.1 Discovery, Structure Elucidation (48), and Cellular Sources of the Leukotrienes (49)

Almost 60 years ago Feldberg, Kellaway, and Trethewie (50, 51) discovered that the addition of cobra venom to perfused guinea pig lungs caused the release of a slow-reacting, smooth muscle contracting substance (SRS) that was distinct from histamine. Early studies on this mediator were usually carried out by use of crude biological extracts and, as such, the samples were contaminated by the presence of other physiologically active agents (especially large amounts of histamine) that interfered with characterization of the SRS. In the late 1950s and early 1960s Brocklehurst worked extensively on the extraction, purification, and characterization of SRS (52). When he noted that SRS could be produced in vitro from the lung tissue of previously sensitized guinea pigs upon antigen challenge, he suggested that it be renamed SRS-A, slow reacting substance of anaphylaxis (53), in recognition that it was generated during anaphylactic responses.

The minuscule amounts of SRS-A available from natural sources and its chemical and biological instability severely hampered efforts to characterize this mediator. In the 1970s a breakthrough occurred with the combined findings from the Piper (54), Parker, and Austen laboratories that: (1) under some circumstances cyclooxygenase inhibitors caused an increased production of SRS-A, which implied a link with arachidonic acid metabolism (55); and (2) HPLC could be used to purify SRS-A and that the UV absorbance of the HPLC Samples implied the presence of a triene-containing chromophore.

Samuelsson and Borgeat's subsequent work on arachidonic acid metabolism that led to the discovery of the **5-lipoxygenase** pathway (56) and to the assignment of the structure of (5S,12R)-dihydroxy-6,8,10,14-eicosatetraenoic acid (55, 57) (later named LTB₄) were critical to the efforts on SRS-A. Samuelsson and Borgeat (56, 58) proposed an unstable intermediate (LTA₄) as the precursor to LTB₄. The structure of LTA₄ was correctly assigned in conjunction with Corey (57-60). LTA₄ was recognized as the precursor to SRS-A and LTC₄ was proposed, as a cysteine-containing derivative of 5-hydroxy-7,9,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid (59), to be the next member of the biological cascade. Through further synthetic efforts glutathione (60, 61), as earler suggested by the Parker laboratory (55), was identified to be the cysteinyl component, and the absolute stereochemistry was assigned (58, 60). LTD, (61-64) and LTE₄ (63, 65) were identified as natural SRS components after they had been synthesized by Corey's group as part of their effort to assign the structure of LTC₄.

The name leukotriene was suggested for these compounds by Sarnuelsson et al. (64, 66) because they were found in leukocytes and had a triene-containing structure. The letters A, B, C, D, and E in part define progress along the biosynthetic pathway and the numerical suffix was appended to describe the total number of double bonds found therein. Although the products from arachidonic acid that are the subject of this review all contain four double bonds, analogous compounds, containing three or five double bonds, may be biosynthesized starting from, respectively, 5,8,11-eicosatrienoic acid or 5,8,11,14,17-eicosapentaenoic acid (65, 67).

The cellular locations of leukotriene biosynthesis are determined by the distribution and location of the enzymes needed for their production. 5-Lipoxygenase is found in only a limited number of specific cell types, predominantly of myeloid extraction. Because of this restricted expression, production of LTA₄ is largely limited to those cells (e.g., basophils, eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells, and monocytes) (66). These cells produce LTA₄, further process it to either LTB₄ or LTC₄, or secrete it.

Neutrophils (67–69), monocytes, and macrophages are the major producers of LTB_4 (70). Once synthesized (e.g., by polymorphonuclear leukocytes), LTB_4 is actively exported by a carrier-mediated process (71). However, LTA_4 hydrolase is a relatively ubiquitous species found in almost all human tissues (72). Because of this broad distribution, conversion of extracellularly synthesized LTA_4 to LTB_4 can occur in a wide variety of cells. This has
4 Sources and Actions of the Leukotrienes

been exemplified with erythrocytes, which lack 5-LO, but have the ability to augment LTB₄ production when mixed with neutrophils (73). Also, enzymatic conversion of LTA₄ to LTB₄ in human plasma has been demonstrated (74).

The sulfidopeptide leukotrienes (LTC₄, LTD, and LTE₄) are synthesized by basophils (75), eosinophils (67, 68), macrophages, and mast cells. These cells generate the **peptido**leukotrienes because they have LTC₄ synthase. Some other cells that lack 5-LO (e.g., platelets) have LTC₄ synthase and can convert imported LTA₄ to LTC₄. Like LTB₄, LTC₄ is actively exported to the extracellular environment (76). In this case export is by a **probeni**cid-sensitive membrane carrier-mediated process that is temperature dependent and saturable (77). Conversion to LTD₄ and LTE₄ occurs extracellularly.

4.2 Biological Properties (78)

The biological effects of both LTB_4 and the peptidoleukotrienes are mediated through specific receptors (79, 80). The effects of LTB_4 are mediated through the BLT1 (IUPHAR receptor nomenclature) and BLT2 receptors and the peptidoleukotrienes are mediated through the CysLT1 and CysLT2 receptors.

Despite the fact that potent specific antagonists are available for these receptors, some of which are approved drugs, only recently has the molecular identity of LT receptors been discovered. There are two known receptors for LTB_4 . These receptors differ in affinity for [^aH]LTB₄ by about 150-fold (81). Yokomizo et al. (82) discovered BLT1 using a subtraction strategy from HL60 cells. This receptor corresponds to the high affinity receptor and appears to be important in leukocyte chemotactic response to LTB_4 . This laboratory also discovered the lower affinity receptor BLT2 (83) as did Kamohara et al. (84). The two receptors differ in expression with the high affinity receptor expressed selectively in peripheral leukocytes, whereas the second receptor is expressed in many tissues. The receptors are structurally similar (45% amino acid identity). Interestingly, the BLT2 open reading frame overlaps the promoter region of BLT1 (85). The BLT2 receptor is activated by both

12(*R*)-HETE and LTB₄ (86). Another less examined, but potentially important interaction of LTB_4 , is with the nuclear receptor PPAR a (87).

LTB, induces a broad range of proinflammatory responses. It is a potent chemotactic and chemokinetic agent for eosinophils and neutrophils from several species (88, 89). In addition to influencing the directional migration of cells, it upregulates the production of cell adhesion molecules, such as the a,-integrin adhesion protein CD11b/CD18, that are needed for cellular movement (90). It causes accumulation of **PMNs** in vivo and at higher doses can induce their degranulation (91), with the resultant release of a broad array of lysosomal enzymes (e.g., glucuronidase and lysozyme) and the production of oxygen radicals. LTB_4 increases vascular permeability (92), the exudation of mucus, and membrane permeability to calcium (93). McMillan and Foster have hypothesized that LTB₄, in conjunction with other chemotactic mediators, will have a synergistic effect on amplifying the inflammatory response (94).

 LTB_4 is viewed as an important mediator of acute and chronic human diseases. It has been hypothesized that agents that either block its production or antagonize its effects might yield an anti-inflammatory agent with improved side-effect profiles compared to those of current agents. Increased production of LTB_4 has been detected in many inflammatory diseases, including adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), arthritis, asthma, contact dermatitis, cystic fibrosis, gout, inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis, and rheumatoid arthritis (95).

Ironically, it was only after three cysteinyl leukotriene antagonists had been approved for clinical use that the two currently known cysteinylleukotriene receptors were identified molecularly. However, two receptors were proposed earlier by Labat et al. (96). The receptors were proposed to be seven transmembrane G-coupled receptors by several groups (97). Metters, using photoaffinity methods in guinea pig lung preparations, had also identified a molecular size for the CysLTl receptor (98). The groups from Merck Frosst and SmithKline Beecham identified the CysLT1 receptor in 1999. Using similar strategies, the receptor was identified from screening transiently expressed orphan G-coupled receptors using LTD_4 to stimulate calcium flux (99). The identified receptor expressed in HEK293 cells had the reported preference for LTD_4 versus LTC_4 in calcium mobilization and rank order potency of specific antagonists. Localization studies indicated expression in human lung and bronchus and human peripheral leukocytes as well as several other tissues. The receptor has 337 amino acids and shows some homology to LBT1 (28%) and P2Y receptors (31%) Another recent the Cyrel T2 receptor

homology to LBT1 (28%) and P2Y receptors (31%). Another receptor, the CysLT2 receptor, was also discovered recently by three different laboratories (100). This receptor was discovered through its sequence similarity to the CysLTl receptor (36% amino acid identity). It had the reported equivalent potency of LTC_4 and LTD_4 and was antagonized by BAYu9773. This receptor has more limited expression that overlaps with the CysLT1 receptor but appears more cardiovascular and endocrine in nature. The gene has been localized to chromosome 13q14 close to a marker that has been associated with atopic asthma in two studies (100). Currently approved drugs have activity only against the **CysLT1** receptor. It is unclear what further pharmacological effects an agent antagonizing both receptors would have.

The cysteinyl leukotrienes are potent smooth muscle constrictors both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in human and animal studies. In humans LTC_4 and LTD_4 are approximately 1000 times more potent than histamine, on a molar basis, in inducing contractions on isolated human bronchus. LTE_4 is about 1/10 as potent as LTC_4 or LTD_4 (100). Inhalation studies in humans have also shown that the leukotrienes are about 1000 times more potent than either histamine or methacholine in producing bronchoconstriction (101). The sensitivity to inhaled LTD_4 is such that the order of responsiveness is asthmatics > allergics > normals (102). Inhaled leukotriene D_4 induces hyperresponsiveness to methacholine (103) and inhalation of LTE_4 induces eosinophilmigration into the lungs of asthmatic test subjects (104). Because eosinophilia has been correlated with the degree of asthma severity, it is possible that the leukotrienes play a significant role in

converting the initial acute **bronchoconstric**tor response to a chronic inflammatory response.

Asthma is the disease that has been most strongly linked to production of cysteinyl leukotrienes (105). This statement is supported by (1)the increased levels of LTE_4 found in the urine of asthmatic patients during an attack and (2) the efficacy of leukotriene agents in the disease. Urinary LTE_4 can be used as a **predictor/indicator** for nocturnal asthma (106). Other diseases in which elevated concentrations of the **peptide** leukotrienes have been found include rhinitis, urticaria, arthritis, ARDS, uveitis, and psoriasis (107).

5 AGENTS INHIBITING LEUKOTRIENE BIOSYNTHESIS

The generation of leukotrienes depends on the formation of LTA_4 , the key intermediate leading to either LTB_4 or the peptidoleukotrienes. Thus, the most versatile and thus most widely studied approach to the inhibition of leukotriene biosynthesis involves the inhibition of formation of LTA_4 , although attempts to inhibit the enzymes involved in the transformation of LTA_4 also offer interesting alternatives (LTA_4 hydrolase, LTC_4 synthase), which are discussed later.

It is clear that 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) [EC 1.13.11.34], through a two-step process, is the enzyme responsible for the production of LTA_4 . Thus the mechanism of action and, to a lesser extent, the structure of 5-LO have largely influenced the design and discovery of inhibitors of leukotriene biosynthesis. This enzyme has been the subject of intense research since its discovery, as discussed below (Section 5.1), and many inhibitors have been described.

5-Lipoxygenase-activating protein (FLAP) is also involved in the process by which AA is converted to LTA_4 and a number of interesting inhibitors have been described (Section 5.2).

The advantage of inhibiting 5-LO (or FLAP) is essentially to block the effects of all **LTs** and hence provide agents with therapeutic potential in a wide range of allergic and inflammatory diseases including asthma,

5 Agents Inhibiting Leukotriene Biosynthesis

COPD, fibrotic lung disease, allergic rhinitis, rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, and possibly psoriasis. Furthermore, concerns over the likely heterogeneity of different functions and signaling pathways of LT receptors and agonist-ligand specificities do not affect this approach. The potential disadvantages arise from the possibility that complete LT inhibition could give rise to undesirable side effects, although no indications of any essential physiological role of LTs have appeared since the discovery of these mediators. Indeed, recent work with 5-LO(-/-)-deficient mice, generated by inactivation of the 5-LO gene (108, 109), showed that these animals developed normally with no adverse health effects, which suggests that 5-LO blockade should not cause untoward effects. In addition, studies on Zyflo (see next section) indicate that inhibition of whole body leukotrienes at least to >80% would seem to be broadly safe.

The endeavors to discover such inhibitors and the successes to date are described in the following sections.

5.1 Inhibitors of 5-Lipoxygenase (5-LO)

The mechanism of 5-LO appears to involve the oxidized active Fe^{3+} state and the generation of radical species (2). Known mechanisms of inhibition constitute trapping of radical intermediates, ferric iron ligation, reduction of the nonheme iron, reversible binding at active or other regulatory sites, and combinations of these effects in the same molecule. Consequently, three broad classes of direct 5-LO inhibitors have evolved over the last 15 years: "redox," iron ligand, and "nonredox" inhibitors. First, we will summarize the properties of 5-LO in the light of these different methods of inhibiting this enzyme.

5.1.1 Structure and Mechanism of 5-LO. It should be noted that most of the original drug discovery effort targeting 5-LO inhibitors was done in the absence of any detailed structural knowledge of the enzyme. The amino acid sequence of human 5-LO was not described until 1985 (110), when isolation and cloning showed both it and rat 5-LO to be 78-kDa proteins with 93%homology. In its active form 5-LO is membrane bound; purification, therefore, modifies its natural behavior. In 1991 recombinant methods allowed the preparation of pure enzyme in milligram quantities (110) and allowed the experiments that definitively showed nonheme iron associated with highly active enzyme obtained from a baculovirus expression system (111).

Interestingly, even at that time, a series of five histidine residues was postulated to constitute the potential iron-binding site, in that they are also conserved in other lipoxygenases, although site-specific mutagenesis studies indicated that three of these could be mutated individually in 5-LO without loss of either oxygenase or LTA₄ synthetase activity (112,113). This proposal has now been refined and it is believed that the nonheme iron is bound permanently by His³⁷², His⁵⁵⁰, and Ile⁶⁷³ and that a fourth exchangeable ligand, His³⁶⁷, is replaced by a reaction intermediate during the catalytic cycle (114). This exchange ligation is interesting from the point of view of designing inhibitors because it suggests that compounds in the appropriate oxidation state with affinity for Fe^{3} + could also displace this ligand and thus inhibit catalysis. Indeed, hydroxamate and N-hydroxyurea inhibitors may possibly act in this way. Except for other lipoxygenases, 5-LO shows little homology to other proteins. The enzyme has recently been shown to have a SH_3 domain that binds to the growth factor bound receptor protein (115). This interaction may be the site that allows membrane association of the enzyme, although that relationship has not been definitively shown. Isolated 5-LO requires Ca^{2+} . ATP, and phosphatidyl choline for optimal activity but its amino acid sequence has not been found to show any strong homology with other proteins possessing either Ca²+- or ATP-binding sites.

Detailed structural information is still unavailable for 5-LO and thus has not been helpful in the design of 5-LO inhibitors. Initial research attempts were also made difficult by the complex kinetic behavior of this enzyme (116–118).

Elucidation of the actual mechanism of 5-LO has been a difficult and often disputed area. Here, we highlight the essential steps to help clarify the inhibitory mechanism of the compounds described hereafter. After **activa**-

tion $(Fe^{2+} \cdot Fe^{3+})$ during the lag phase, Fe^{3+} specifically oxidizes the diene of AA at position 5, to generate a pentadienyl radical cation. A basic amino acid residue in the enzyme-active site abstracts a proton and the ferrous iron is reduced to Fe^{2+} . The pentadiene radical then stereospecifically reacts with oxygen at C, forming a 5(S)-hydroperoxy radical that undergoes electron transfer and reprotonation to form 5-HPETE. Fe^3 + is regenerated for recycling. 5-HPETE is subsequently converted to LTA_4 through deprotonation at C_{10} and epoxide cyclization. The participation of radical species has been demonstrated by Mossbauer experiments (119), consistent with pentadienyl radicals being intermediates in the catalytic reaction.

From this reaction mechanism, as mentioned above, it is clear that many types of molecules could inhibit 5-LO *in vitro*, especially those with antioxidant properties. Indeed, several hundred patent applications have been filed by over 40 different pharmaceutical companies since work has begun on 5-LO, claiming inhibitors with various degrees of potency and selectivity.

5.1.2 Antioxidants. 5-LO is particularly susceptible to inhibition by compounds with low redox potentials. Phenidone and BW-755C (1, 2, respectively) (120) were among the first



(1) Phenidone

compounds to be identified and other compounds in this class are based around the **het**eroatom-substituted **pyrazole** ring. They are loosely termed *redox inhibitors* because they may, directly or indirectly, reduce either Fe^{3} + in the active enzyme or one of the radical intermediates to give the inactive Fe^{2+} form. Early **redox** inhibitors were reviewed by **Swin**-



(2) BW 755C

gle et al. (121). Although a large number of inhibitors have been examined *in vitro* and *in vivo* (2), no favorable clinical data have been forthcoming from this approach.

5.1.3 Iron Ligands. Based on the hypothesis that incorporation of functional groups that could chelate to iron would inhibit 5-LO, Corey (122) synthesized **arachidonohydrox**-amic acid and a number of N-alkyl derivatives (**3**). These indeed proved to be potent 5-LO



(3) R = H, Alkyl

inhibitors (IC₅₀ = 0.03–0.1 μM , RBL-1) and rapidly, elsewhere, many hydroxamate inhibitors were prepared that possessed high *in vitro* potency.

Work at Abbott identified hydroxamates, such as compound (4), by modification and



simplification of the lipophilic chain. These compounds are very potent *in vitro* and are well absorbed; however, they are rapidly **me**-

5 Agents Inhibiting Leukotriene Biosynthesis

tabolized to inactive **carboxylic** acids and show short half-lives and low *in vivo* potencies (123). Modification of the orientation of attachment of the hydroxamate group (e.g., A-63162,s) had little effect on *in vitro* activity,



(5) A-63162

but A-63162 showed significantly improved *in vivo* activity (124, 125).

Parallel work at **Wellcome** revealed similar trends. That group discovered BW-A4C (6), a





hydroxamate similar to A-63162 in structure, which showed good *in vitro* potency ($IC_{50} = 0.14 \ \mu M$, human PMN) (126).

Despite promising oral activity in animal models, BW-A4C had poor pharmacokinetics in human volunteers. Extensive metabolism of BW-A4C occurred in humans (127), resulting in the accumulation of high concentrations of metabolites. Additional modifications were required to avoid the metabolic problems encountered with hydroxamates to convert this class into orally active clinical candidates.

5.1.4 N-Hydroxyureas. The substitution of the hydroxamate with N-hydroxyurea, first done at Abbott, provided compounds that were quickly shown to have superior *in vivo* behavior in animal models and pharmacokinetics. From a study of several hundred compounds containing the N-hydroxyurea moiety, Zyflo (zileuton; A-64077, 7) emerged as the candidate for clinical trials (128, 129). In this compound the lipophilic benzyloxyphenol



(7) Zyflo (zileuton, A-64077)

moiety of A-63162 was replaced by a **benzo**thiophene, although the important a-methyl was retained, with the result that zileuton, like A-63162, contains a stereogenic center.

Zileuton is a potent 5-LO inhibitor *in uitro* and shows approximately 120-fold selectivity over COX-1. Interestingly the R and S enantiomers that constitute zileuton were very similar in biochemical potency (130), varying by a factor of only 2–3. These data imply that the a-methyl site binds to an area of the enzyme with considerable flexibility and that specific ligand interaction with iron through the *N*hydroxyurea occurs in both enantiomers. In contrast, minor modifications of the benzothiophene ring resulted in significant loss in activity (131).

The mechanism of 5-LO inhibition by Nhydroxyureas and hydroxamates is clearly more complex than mere iron chelation. There is no doubt that these compounds bind strongly to iron in solution ($K = 10^{12}$ /mol for **BW-A4C**) and that they are not powerful redox compounds, having relatively high electrode potentials (E_0 ·2 V for **BW-B70C**, 8, and zileu-



ton, 7). Mechanisms for the activity of the compounds remain complex (132).

5.1.4.1 In Vivo Activities and Clinical Studies with N-Hydroxyurea Inhibitors. BW-B70C is efficacious in allergen-induced bronchoconstriction and late-phase lung eosinophil accumulation in sensitized guinea pigs (133). Unfortunately, it produced kidney lesions in the rat, preventing clinical evaluation. Zileuton (Zyflo), however, was approved for use in the treatment of moderate to severe asthma in 1996 as Zyflo. Several summaries of the clinical studies on Zyflo have since been published (134, 135). Thus we will summarize only the pertinent development events and key clinical findings. Zileuton is an orally active inhibitor of 5-LO in rats, dogs, monkeys, and humans measured by ex vivo inhibition of LTB₄ produced by addition of calcium **ionohore** A23187 in blood. Preclinical studies with the compound showed it capable of inhibiting **leuko**triene-dependent inflammation in mice (136) and inflammatory cell influx in rats (137). It is also effective in guinea pig and sheep models of antigen-driven bronchoconstriction (138).

In phase I, volunteer studies showed that the inhibition of **ex** vivo-stimulated LTB₄ in blood correlated with plasma drug levels (139).Pharmacokinetic studies in phase I volunteers determined that the major route of metabolism of zileuton is glucuronidation of the N-hydroxyurea group followed by urinary excretion, and the oral half-life was estimated to be 3 h (140).With this relatively short halflife it was necessary to administer 600 mg four times a day (**qid**) to maintain ex vivo-stimulated LTB₄ inhibition in human blood at approximately 80% returning to control levels after removal of the drug. No untoward side effects were observed.

Consequently, Zyflo was thoroughly evaluated in a number of clinical trials for effects on models of asthma and in the treatment of chronic asthma. Challenge models of asthma with a variety of stimuli (allergen, exercise, cold dry air, or aspirin) were successful. Results in aspirin-induced asthma were dramatically effective, indicating that leukotrienes are the primary mediators of this response. Zyflo also shows remarkable anti-inflammatory effects, as predicted from animal studies (137). Eosinophil influx and albumin leakage were reduced and the urinary increase in LTE, was blocked (86%)(141, 142).

Zyflo was also found to be effective in chronic asthma, as evidenced by two large placebo-controlled trials (143, 144). Improved **FEV1** and reduced bronchodilator use were the primary clinical endpoints. Interestingly, Zyflo appeared to be most effective in moderate to severe patients. Additional trials indicated that Zyflo is also steroid sparing (145).

5.1.4.2 Second-Generation N-Hydroxyureas. During these trials it was realized that the short half-life (3h) and high clinically effective daily dose of Zyflo (2400 mg) needed to be improved. At Abbott, the search for more potent, longer-acting N-hydroxyurea inhibitors focused on reducing the glucuronidation rate of the N-hydroxyurea function. Various in vitro models were used, particularly microsomal preparations from human or monkey liver, to assess new inhibitors (146). In this way, structure-activity relationship (SAR) studies indicated that the lipophilic heteroaryl template and the linking group to the N-hydroxyurea could be profitably modified (131). Introduction of an unsaturated linking group was shown to modulate inhibition and metabolism. The spatial orientation of the lipophilic template with respect to the pharmacophore had a dramatic effect on pharmacological properties. Acetylene linking groups significantly decreased the rate of glucuronidation (GT) (2, 139).

Inhibition of leukotriene formation in human whole blood was also improved. There was little difference in in vitro activities between A-78773 and its enantiomers (9);how-



ever, the glucuronidation rate in monkey microsomes was lower for R(+) A-79175. The relative rate correlated with in *vivo* elimination half-lives in cynomologus monkeys [4.7 h for the racemate, 1.8 h for S(-) A-79176 and 9.0 h for R(+) A-791751, prompting a Phase I clinical study in which R(+) A-79175 exhibited an apparent half-life of 6.5 h for a single 600 mg p.o. dose, twice that of Zyflo (147,148).

Further chemical modification led to R(+)ABT-761 (10), which was found to be even more resistant to in vitro glucuronidation (149). Its elimination half-life in monkeys was 16 h and consequent phase I studies in hu-



(10) ABT-761

mans showed excellent bioavailability and extended duration of plasma levels. Significantly, a single 200 mg dose provided >95% inhibition of *ex vivo-stimulated* LTB₄ formation for up to 18 h. ABT-761 showed significant protection against exercise and adenosine-induced bronchoconstriction in asthmatics (150, 151). However, idiosyncratic liver toxicology precluded the further development of this potent, effective 5-LO inhibitor.

5.1.5 Substrate Inhibitors. A number of groups also searched for orally active drugs with mechanisms of action different from the inhibitors just described. At Zeneca, this work was begun in the late 1980s where "activesite-directed" inhibitors were designed to fit 5-LO selectively without the need for redox or strong iron ligand properties. This was particularly difficult in the absence of structural data on 5-LO; however, based on the hypothetical mechanism discussed in Section 5.1.1, which implies the presence of an Fe^{3+} atom and a basic group adjacent to a lipophilic pocket in the active site, lipophilic imidazoles were initially synthesized to interact with these structural elements.

It was discovered that replacement of the imidazole by a thiazole and introduction of conformational restriction with rnethoxy and alkyl groups gave the *in vitro* potent ZM211965 (11) (IC₅₀ = 0.1 μ M, guinea pig 5-LO; IC₅₀ = 0.4 μ M, human whole blood LTB₄ inhibition) that importantly showed no



(11) ZM211965

COX-1 inhibition up to 100 μM in human blood (152, 153). Cyclic voltammetry and iron chelation measurements confirmed that this (methoxyalkyl)thiazole series is free from redox and iron-complexing properties. The series differs from redox and the *N*-hydroxyurea series in that it demonstrates enantioselective inhibition of 5-LO both in vitro and in vivo (154). This was the first evidence of 5-LO inhibitors forming enantiospecific interactions with the enzyme. Thus, unlike the a-methylene center in the Abbott N-hydroxyurea series, the stereoselectivity of these ligands indicates a close contact of the stereogenic center and active site of the protein.

A number of steps were required to discover an orally bioavailable inhibitor in vivo similar to that seen with the *N*-hydroxyureas (2). The compound discovered was improved by structural modification of the naphthyl ring, and further introduction of a fluoro substituent to reduce susceptibility to metabolism. This compound was **ZD2138** (12)(IC₅₀ =



(12) ZD2138

0.02 µM, human whole blood) (155). ZD2138 possesses no redox properties and extensive SAR data and detailed conformational analyses suggest that the (methoxyalkyl)thiazole and tetrahydropyran (THP) series are related (156). ZD2138 shows no inhibition of CO, even up to 20,000 times the levels that inhibit 5-LO in dog or human blood. ZD2138 does not antagonize FLAP.

In phase I studies, **ZD2138** was well tolerated up to **1000** mg per volunteer. **A** single oral 350 mg dose completely inhibited LT synthesis **ex** vivo in stimulated blood for over 24 hand the half-life in humans was estimated to be 12–16 h (157). Phase II clinical trials demonstrated that in aspirin-sensitive asthmatic patients, 350 mg p.o. given 4 h before challenge caused bronchodilation and inhibited the fall in FEV1 (158). However, in allergen-challenged asthmatics the same treatment with ZD2138 had no effect on the early or late asthmatic response (159). Further development of ZD2138 was suspended (160). A detailed description of the discovery of ZD2138 can be found in Ref. 161.

Extension of the work in the Zeneca group around this series led to ZD4407 (13), which is



(13) ZD4077

extremely potent ($IC_{50} = 0.02 \ \mu M$, human whole blood leukotriene inhibition) and is devoid of any autoinduction of liver enzymes that had been observed preclinically for earlier members of this series (162).

The methoxytetrahydropyran moiety has been exploited by other groups. Merck Frosst identified a class of lignans derived from a natural product, Justicidin E, as moderately potent **redox** inhibitors of 5-LO (163). Abbott also described compounds in this arena (164). These compounds were very weak inhibitors of 5-LO in broken cell preparations, as was **ZD2138**, although many compounds with potent whole blood activity were obtained. These data imply a different mode of action for this series than direct 5-LO inhibition and are inconsistent with a substrate inhibitor.

5.2 Inhibitors of 5-Lipoxygenase-Activating Protein (FLAP)

FLAP inhibitors are a novel class of compounds that inhibit cellular leukotriene biosynthesis without acting directly on 5-LO. Instead, they bind to the **18-kDa** membrane FLAP, thus preventing the activation of 5-LO.

Research at Merck Frosst in 1989 (165, 166) led to the initial FLAP inhibitor, **MK0886** (14), and consequently to the discovery of FLAP itself. **MK0886** was derived from a





series of indole-3-alkanoic acids related to indomethacin, which possessed the dual pharmacological properties of TXA_2 receptor antagonism and leukotriene biosynthesis inhibition in intact cells.

These properties could be separated and **MK0886** had no effect on isolated, purified 5-LO, although in intact leukocyte preparations it inhibited **LTs** at low n*M* **IC**₅₀ values (3-5nM)(167). Thus, a novel mode of action of leukotriene inhibition had been discovered, which was then exploited to find new inhibitors. Indeed, it further helped the understanding of the mechanism of 5-LO activation.

As discussed earlier, FLAP is associated with a cellular membrane; initially, this was believed to be the plasma membrane, but work at Merck Frosst and Michigan (168, 169) showed that localization is cell and activation state dependent. In the neutrophil, inactive cytoplasmic 5-LO translocates to membranes on activation by Ca^{2+} and associates with FLAP, as demonstrated in an elegant series of experiments by two laboratories (170). The nature of this association was initially thought to consist of 5-LO possibly docking onto the membrane-bound FLAP(171), although it has been proposed that FLAP presents AA to 5-LO in a conformation favorable for reaction (172). Whatever the true mechanism, it is clear from transfection experiments that the association of 5-LO and FLAP is essential for intact cell LT biosynthesis (173). The FLAP inhibitors, like MK0886, inhibit complex formation, preventing the complete translocation of 5-LO, and block LT biosynthesis.

5 Agents inhibiting Leukotriene Biosynthesis

MK0886 was shown to have a high binding affinity for FLAP (IC₅₀ = 23 nM) (174). Clinical studies with MK0886 in atopic asthmatics showed good improvement of early (58%) and late (44%) asthmatic responses in pulmonary function to an allergen challenge, but only showed modest inhibition of ex vivo ionophore-stimulated whole blood LTB₄ biosynthesis and urinary LTE, excretion (175).

A key observation that would impact the **des**ign of new FLAP inhibitors was that an **older** leukotriene inhibitor, Rev-5901 (**15**),



(15) Rev-5901

which contains a quinolinylmethyloxy substituent, was an inhibitor of this newly discovered protein. The quinoline moiety is a prominent binding motif of many FLAP inhibitors. Two FLAP inhibitors developed from these leads are L-674,636 (16) and MK0591 (17).

Clinical studies with MK0591 were initially encouraging. Allergen-challenged atopic asthmatic patients were treated p.o. with 3×250 mg of MK0591 (24, 12, and 1.5 h before allergen), leading to reduced bronchoconstriction in early (79%) and late (39%) asthmatic responses. Furthermore, in contrast to MK0886, LT biosynthesis ex vivo in stimulated whole blood from these patients was totally inhibited, as were urinary LTE₄ levels (87%), for 24 h after allergen challenge (176). The study was extended to several hundred moderate and severe asthmatics (177, 178) and orally dosed MK0591 over 4-6 weeks caused im-



(17) MK0591

provements in pulmonary function tests including FEV, and morning and evening peak expiratory flow. Similarly, rescue β -agonist use was diminished. Adverse effects were no different from placebo. However, the compound was not taken into chronic asthma studies.

Also using the Rev-5901 lead, a series of FLAP inhibitors were developed in which the hydroxyl group of Rev-5901 had been replaced by a carboxyl and the n-pentyl alkyl chain had been **cyclized** to an α -cycloalky substituent. From this series BAY X1005 (18)was selected for clinical development.

The cyclopentyl substituent was also expanded to cyclohexyl and cycloheptyl. The cycloalkyl substituent provides an important lipophilic interaction, which makes a significant contribution to the affinity. Similar substituents in MK0591 that may correspond with this key lipohilic interaction include the t-butylthiol group or the 4-chlorobenzyl substituent. Stereoselective effects were observed, the R enantiomers displaying a greater affinity for human FLAP. Modification of cyclopentyl to a cycloheptyl alkyl substituent and modification of the acid to a



(16) L-674,636



(18) BAY X1005



(19) BAY Y1015

methanesulfonylamide provided the backup clinical candidate, BAY **Y1015** (19). An interesting modification that has been applied to **MK0591** had been the insertion of an oxime moiety (**179**) to connect the terminal carboxylate to the **indole** skeleton.

Analog(20)(180) was similar in preclinical leukotriene inhibition but somewhat superior in monkey pharmacokinetics to MK0591 (R. Bell, unpublished observations, 1994). Reported SAR trends for structures related to

(20) and MK0591 are similar; thiazoyl and pyridine were found to be bioisosteric to quinoline in both series (181,182). This oxime can be inserted with two orientations: the oxyimino derivative, shown where the carboxylate is attached to the carbon terminus of the carbon nitrogen double bond; or the oxime ether orientation, where the acid is attached to the oxime as an *O*-alkylated- α -acetic acid oxime ether (179). The oxime moiety provides a structural unit that can present the carboxylate in different spatial orientations for binding. In addition the heteroatoms of the oxime can possibly increase affinity through hydrogen-bonding interactions. Another potential advantage of the oxime may be in improving pharmacokinetic parameters through solvation of the heteroatoms of the oxime; this solvation can affect solubility and absorption.

The oxyimino orientation proved to be superior. This modification has also been applied to the Bayer series as shown (21). The S isomer (183) was found to be the most potent with the oxime modification (184). A drawback of the BAY X1005 and related candidates such as (21) are issues of synthetic complexity and resulting cost of goods associated with a resolution or asymmetric synthesis. The key elements of **BAY X1005**, the quniolylmethoxy, the cycloalkyl, and the acid functionality, are attached to a single carbon center. This stereogenic center could be eliminated if a second quinolylmethyloxyphenyl substituent could replace the lipophilic cycloalkyl substituent but maintain the critical lipophilic interaction



5 Agents Inhibiting Leukotriene Biosynthesis



with the protein. This hypothesis was verified by the symmetrical analog (23).

Development of this symmetrical core led to analogs with and without the oxime linker (184). Analogs were found with superior human neutrophil potency and in *vivo* efficacy inhibiting LT formation in the rat.

This series culminated in the identification of ABT-080 (24). This compound can be readily synthesized by simple bisalkylation of commercially inexpensive 4,4-bis(hydroxyphenyl)valeric acid, also known as diphenolic acid. Of the FLAP compounds synthesized at Abbott, ABT-080 had superior activity in inhibiting rodent leukotriene formation, pulmonary responses in antigen-challenged guinea pigs, and pharmacokinetics in cynomolgus monkey (184, R. L. Bell et al., in preparation). This compound (ABT-080, VML530) has progressed to Phase I trials.

5.3 Inhibition of LTA, Hydrolase

Progress on probing the mechanism of action of leukotriene A_4 hydrolase [EC 3.3.2.6.1 is elegantly summarized in a recent review by Haeggstrom and Wetterholm (185). This enzyme is a 70-kDa zinc-containing monomeric enzyme (186), which catalyzes the vinylogous hydrolysis of LTA_4 to LTB_4 . The zinc ion is essential for its hydrolase activity and this enzyme also exhibits aminopeptidase activity. Indeed, it appears that the peptidase and **ep**oxide hydrolase activities occur at the same active site (187). Exploitation of the **amino**peptidase function of LTA_4 hydrolase allowed Samuelsson et al. (188–190) to produce a series of tight-binding inhibitors that also inhibit its epoxide hydrolase activity. Elaboration of this type of inhibitor could deliver highly potent and selective anti-inflammatory drugs.

Further work has been published on developing a series of compounds based on the β -mercaptoamino derivative, of which the R enantiomer is two orders of magnitude more potent than the S isomer (191). Acetylation of the thiol or its conversion to thio ethers or a hydroxy group results in substantial loss in binding, thus suggesting that selectivity for the free thiol arises from the formation of a highly favorable zinc-sulfide interaction in the enzyme-inhibitor complex.

The research on inhibitors of LTA_4 hydrolase has recently been reviewed (192). Extensive research at Searle provided for the only LTA_4 hydrolase inhibitor taken to clinical trials thus far. Early inhibitors described by that group were based on a zinc-bindinghydroxamate lead, kelatorphan (25) (193). Unfortunately, reversed hydroxamate compounds with superior in *vivo* pharmacokinetics were considerably less potent. This was also true of carboxylic acids. Another series described by the Searle group used SC-22716 (26) as a nonzinc-chelating phenoxyethyl amino lead. This compound had excellent potency against the





(26) SC-22716

enzyme and in human whole blood LTB_4 inhibition, but was poorly active in *vivo* (192). Further SAR work around this series led to SC-57416A (27)(194). This compound was potent



(27) SC-57461A

in rodent models of LTB_4 formation and had excellent pharmacokinetics in several species (195). In a preclinical efficacy trial in **cotton**topped tamarins this compound also had excellent activity in this animal model of human colitis (196). However, "accumulation of a long-lived metabolite and additional toxicity issues precluded the compound from further development" (197).

At this time there are no known LTA_4 hydrolase inhibitors in development. Recent studies in LTA_4 hydrolase-deficient animals, however, continue to affirm the potential for safe, effective inhibitors of this class (198).

5.4 LTC, Synthase

LTC₄ synthase is an 18-kDa integral membrane protein that catalyzes the conjugation of reduced glutathione (GSH) with the epoxide LTA_4 to form LTC, the intracellular parent of the cysteinyl leukotrienes. The purification and characterization of LTC_4 synthase has been hindered because of its instability in the semipurified state and the lack of an abundant source of this enzyme. In 1992 Nicholson (199) was able to specifically label this 18-kDa polypeptide in a human monocytic leukemia cell line by use of photoaffinity probes and showed it to be distinct from glutathione Stransferase. Most recently, molecular cloning of the gene for human LTC₄ synthase indicates that this enzyme shows significant homology to FLAP (Section 5.2) (200, 201). Details of the biochemistry of this enzyme have been recently reviewed (201, 202).

Perhaps the most important information leading to inhibitors comes from the fact that LTC₄ synthase has significant homology to FLAP (200). An overall homology of 31% is seen for these two proteins with 44% in the N-terminal two-thirds of the proteins. FLAP lacks the amino acids thought to be used in catalysis by LTC, synthase. Early studies indicated that FLAP inhibitors also inhibit LTC₄ synthase, albeit in the μM range (200, 201). Surprisingly, little medicinal chemistry has come forth in recent years describing new, more potent inhibitors.

6 AGENTS ANTAGONIZING LEUKOTRIENES

6.1 Peptide-Leukotriene Antagonists

6.1.1 Introduction. There have been thousands of compounds prepared as **CysLT** antagonists, of which perhaps two dozen have made it to Phase I safety studies in humans. In this section, we focus on a few key compounds, especially those that have advanced to clinical studies. For more detail, the reader is referred to several excellent reviews by Shaw (203), Salmon (204), and Brooks (205).

Testing for leukotriene antagonism as for LT inhibition has required many biochemical, pharmacological, and clinical assays. Because

6 Agents Antagonizing Leukotrienes

of the variety of assays, only a few that are critical for understanding this section are described. Early researchers tended to measure inhibition of the contraction of a tissue sample (primarily guinea pig trachea or ileum) induced by a standardized unit of "SRS-A" that had been isolated and (partially) purified from a biological source. Later, after synthetic (pure)leukotrienes became available, similar assays putting them into service became widely used (e.g., determination of the percentage inhibition of the 8 nM LTD₄-induced contraction of guinea pig tracheal spirals at a specific drug concentration). For compounds warranting greater effort, either IC, values or the calculated $\mathbf{p}K_{\beta}$ (negative log molar dissociation constants) values for inhibition of the LTD_4 - and LTE_4 -induced contraction of specific tissues (e.g., guinea pig tracheal or ileal strips, or human bronchus) were determined. In some cases the pA_2 values (the affinity of an antagonist drug as generally **determined from the mean of equally effective** agonist doselresponse ratios in the absence or presence of a fixed concentration of antago**ni**st) against LTD_4 or LTE_4 were calculated. For reasons that are not clear, most antagonists tend to profile as being more potent against LTD_4 on guinea pig ileum than on guinea pig trachea. For comparison purposes, the IC, $\mathbf{p}K_{\beta}$, and $\mathbf{p}A_2$ values in this section were determined on guinea pig trachea, unless otherwise indicated.

Later, LTD_4 -binding assays measuring displacement of [³H]LTD₄ from guinea pig lung membranes were developed. Subsequently, a binding assay using the human receptor in U937 cell membranes has been used by some groups. Study of the binding assay revealed that guinea pig tracheal receptors could be subdivided into high and low affinity classes, with LTE_4 preferentially acting at the high affinity site (206). Comparison of the functional results with several compounds showed that the receptor in human bronchi most closely resembled the guinea pig LTE_4 receptor (207).

In the absence of a structure or sequence for the CysLTl receptor, the starting points for developing antagonists were limited. The choices were either a novel lead obtained by screening of a compound collection or variation of one of the two known ligands, **FPL**-55712 or the leukotrienes.

FPL-55712 (28) was developed by chemists at Fisons Pharmaceuticals working from a





lead that they had discovered by broad screening of a set of antiallergic compounds against an SRS-A-based assay. This was accomplished before the structure of SRS-A had been assigned as a mixture of the cysteinyl **leukotri**enes. FPL-55712 served not only as a starting point for other chemists' efforts to develop specific CysLTl antagonists but also helped in the biological isolation and structure elucidation of the **LTs**.

6.1.2 FPL-55712-Derived Compounds

6.1.2.1 LY171883 (Tomelukast). The most significant of the early CysLTl antagonists that progressed to clinical evaluation was LY171883 (29, tomelukast). Using explora-



(29) tomelukast (LY 171883)

tion of the SAR around FPL-55712, the group at Eli Lilly & Co. first simplified the carboxy-

substituted chromanone, resulting in an analog containing an aliphatic acid chain. They then made the key discovery that replacement of the terminal carboxylic acid group with the bioisosteric tetrazole functionality afforded a significantly improved profile both in *vitro* and in *vivo* (208). Optimization of the chain between the tetrazole group and the **hydroxyace**tophenone group yielded LY171883.

In anesthetized guinea pigs LY171883 3–30 mg/kg p.o. given 2 h before challenge dosedependently inhibited the increase in pulmonary resistance induced by i.v. LTD_4 (209). In conscious guinea pigs, aerosolized LY171883 was able to reverse the bronchoconstriction induced by either LTD_4 or LTE_4 . Clinical trials with LY171883 were pursued to a Phase II trial in chronic asthma that, although showing small significant effects on lung function, was not deemed potent enough to proceed. Merck Frosst also worked in this area but did not find clinical candidates (2).

6.1.3 Leukotriene Analog Antagonists

6.1.3.1 SKF 104353 (Pobilukast) and SKF 106203. SKF 104353 (30) (210) and SKF 106203 (31)(211) were both developed by the SK&F group through the sequential modifica-

> HO CO₂H

(30) SKF 104353 (pobilukast)



(31) SKF 106203

tion of the structure of LTD_4 and were the first CysLT1 antagonist clinical candidates to be so derived (212).

Although SKF 104353 is about 10-fold more potent in vitro than SKF 106203, it has very poor oral bioavailability such that its clinical development was limited to aerosol formulations. In contrast, SKF 106203 had much better oral bioavailability and entered early clinical studies as an oral formulation. SKF 104353 is a potent, competitive inhibitor of $[^{3}H]LTD_{4}$, binding to both human and guinea pig lung membranes with K_i values of 12 and 5 nM, respectively (213). In functional assays it inhibited the actions of LTD₄ on human bronchus ($\mathbf{p}\mathbf{A}_2 = 8.2$) and guinea pig trachea ($\mathbf{p}\mathbf{A}_2$) = 8.6) (214). Similarly, in functional assays on these two tissues, using LTE_4 as the agonist, it afforded $\mathbf{p}K_{\beta}$ values of 8.9 and 8.2, respectively. SmithKline had some early clinical success with SKF 104353 but not sufficient to go to pivotal trials (205).

6.1.3.2 LY170680 (Sulukast). Concurrent with the efforts on FPL-55712 analogs at Eli Lilly's U.S. labs, a second team at their UK labs developed LY170680 (32), starting from



(32) LY 170680 (sulukast)

the structure of the natural agonists (215). This compound was also dropped from development after some antigen-challenge trials where the drug was given as an aerosol.

6.1.3.3 Bayer x7195. The sequence of steps taken by the Bayer group in going from leukotriene D_4 to Bayer x7195 (33)has been described in two articles (216,217). This interesting candidate incorporates several of the discoveries in LT analogs published earlier by other laboratories. For example, optimization of activity, particularly oral activity, required both shortening the linking group to the C₁-carboxylic acid and removal of the hydroxyl substituent, both precedented by the efforts at

6 Agents Antagonizing Leukotrienes



(33) Bayer x7195

SK&F laboratories, that led to SKF 104353 and SKF 106203. Use of thepara-alkoxy-substituted homo-cinnamyl replacement for the triene backbone was also first described by the Zeneca team (218).

Bayer x7195 inhibits the binding of $[{}^{3}H]LTD_{4}$ to guinea pig lung membranes with a p K_{i} of 7.8 (219). In functional assays it had p K_{β} values of 8.4 and 8.2 against LTD₄-induced contraction in guinea pig trachea and human bronchi, respectively. *In* vitro, about 1 μM Bayer x7195 was also effective at blocking the antigen-induced contractions of trachea from sensitized guinea pigs and the anti-IgE response of human bronchi. In the anesthetized guinea pig, orally administered Bayer x7195 blocked LTD_4 -induced bronchoconstriction (ID, = 3 mg/kg) for at least 8 h. Topically administered Bayer x7195 was also effective in the guinea pig model, whether given by aerosol (ID, - 200 ng) or as a powder (ID, - 30 μ g). Again, although the compound gave significant improvement in FEV, in Phase II trials in chronic asthma, the compound was not pursued to pivotal trials.

6.1.3.4 MK-0476 (Singulair, Montelukast Sodium, 34) and Its Precursors. Because the series of compounds exemplified by MK-0571, MK-0679, and MK-0476 (34–36) contain mimetics for the three regions of LTD, (lipid, acid, peptide) they may be viewed as leukotriene analog antagonists. However, unlike the



(35) MK-0571

223



(36) MK-0679 (verlukast)

other antagonists in this section, the starting point for these compounds was not the structure of the leukotrienes. Instead it was a **styryl** quinoline-containing compound (37) that was



(37)

found, by broad screening, to be a weak LTD_4 antagonist. This lead appears related to a series of quinoline-containing LTD_4 antagonists (220), derived from REV 5901, that are no longer in development and that are not covered in this review.

The chemists at Merck hypothesized that compound (37) was mimicking the conjugated olefin (lipid) region of LTD₄ and chose to add mimetics for the acid and peptide regions through the use of a dicarboxy-dithioacetal derivative first pioneered by the SK&F group. This change afforded a compound that displayed a tremendous increase in *in vitro* potency. However, the dicarboxy group appeared to be detrimental to oral efficacy. Replacement of one of the carboxyl groups with an $N_{,N}$ dimethylamide improved oral efficacy and yielded MK-0571 (35) (221), which entered clinical development. This racemic compound was found to be a potent inducer of liver peroxisomal enzymes and was replaced in the clinic by its (R)-enantiomer MK-0679 (verlukast, 36) that had similar LT antagonist activity but an improved safety profile.

In extended studies this compound also induced (limited)liver function abnormalities in animals and in the clinic. An extensive effort by the Merck group to find a compound in this series that was devoid of peroxisomal enzyme induction led to the discovery of MK-0476 (34, montelukast, **Singulair**) (222).

Montelukast is significantly more potent than either MK-571 or MK-0679 *in vivo*. An **i.v.** dose of 10 μ g/ kg MK-0476 produced a 70fold and a greater than 100-fold shift in the dose-response curves to **i.v.** LTD₄ in the anesthetized guinea pig, at 5 or 15 min pretreatment times, respectively. The **i.v.** ED, at inhibiting the LTD₄-induced bronchoconstriction was estimated at 0.001 μ g/kg. Montelukast had a long functional half-life after **i.v.** administration in the guinea pig. As discussed below, montelukast has been successfully tested in human asthma and approved for human use.

6.1.4 Peptide-Leukotriene Antagonists of Diversified Structure

6.1.4.1 ONO 1078 (Pranlukast). ONO 1078 (pranlukast, 38) is not a member of either the



(38) ONO RS-411, ONO 1078 (pranlukast)

FPL-55712-or the leukotriene D_4 -derived sets of antagonists. It was developed from a weak lead, compound (19) (IC₅₀ = 14 μM versus LTD, on guinea pig ileum). Replacement of the benzoic acid group with a chromanone carboxylic acid (similar to that found in FPL-55712) resulted in an analog that dis-



(39) ICI 198,615

played a 150-fold increase in potency *in uitro* $(IC_{57} = 100 \text{ n}M)$ and modest levels of *in vivo* activity (ID, = 500 μ g/kg in the guinea pig model). Similar to the discovery that led to LY171883, replacement of the carboxylic acid with a tetrazole yielded increases in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* potency (not illustrated). Optimization of the lipophilic alkyl tail then yielded ONO RS-411, the hemihydrate form of which has been clinically developed as ONO 1078 (pranlukast).

ONO 1078 inhibited the binding of [³H]LTD₄, on guinea pig lung membranes with a K_i value of 46 nM (223). In uitro, it had $\mathbf{p}K_{\beta}$ values of 10.40 and 7.5 against \mathbf{LTD}_{4} on guinea pig ileum and trachea, respectively (233). It also inhibited the LTC_4 -induced contraction of guinea pig ileum, with an IC_{50} value of 0.044 nM (224). In vivo, it was effective (ID₅₀ = $1.0 \ \mu g/kg$) against LTD₄-induced bronchoconstriction in guinea pig when administered i.v. 2 min before LTD_4 (225). ONO 1078, also effective against LTD, (5 ng), induced increases in vascular permeability in guinea pig skin with activity at 0.8 mg/kg p.o. and 0.1 mg/kg i.v. (225, 226). Antigen-induced bronchoconstriction in guinea pig was inhibited by ONO 1078 at a dose of 30 mg/kg p.o. (224).

6.1.4.2 ICI 198,615 and ICI 204,219 (Accolate, Zafirlukast). Several articles have reviewed the discovery of Zenaca's series of indole-based CysLT1 antagonists exemplified by ICI 198,615 (39) and ICI 204,219 (40, Accolate, zafirlukast) (227–229). These compounds were developed from a novel hybridization between a leukotriene analog and a hydroxy-acetophenone series of antagonists (230,231).

The first member of this series, ICI 198,615 (39) showed remarkable *in uitro* potency and selectivity as a CysLTl antagonist when it was disclosed. It inhibited the binding of $[^{3}H]LTD_{4}$ on guinea pig lung membranes with a p K_i value of 9.6 (232). On guinea gig trachea it had pK_{β} and pA_2 values against LTD₄ of 9.7 and 9.3 and against LTE_4 of 10.3 and 10.1, respectively. ICI 198,615 was also a potent antagonist of LTD, in human bronchi with a $\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}}$ value of 9.2. It also showed *in vivo* antagonist activity in guinea pig in both the classic anesthetized pulmonary mechanics model and in a new conscious labored abdominal breathing model (233). Pharmacokinetic studies in dog and rat, however, showed poor oral bioavailability (<1%). ICI 198,615 was not developed further. Later studies that have shown ICI 198,615 (i.m.) reduces antigen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in monkeys have con-



(40) zafirlukast (ICI 204,219, Accolate)

firmed its importance as a standard and indicated yet another mode of action for such antagonists (234).

This team introduced ICI 204,219 (40) as its first broadly studied CysLTl antagonist clinical candidate (235–237). In vitro, this compound has an excellent profile that is similar to that shown by ICI 198,615. In human lung membranes it inhibited the binding of [³H]ICI 198,615 with a K_i value of 3.70 ± 2.90 nM (n = 5). The pK_{β} values for inhibition of the LTD_4 - and LTE_4 -induced contraction of guinea pig tracheal strips were concentration independent and were, respectively, 9.52 \pm 0.12 and 9.67 ± 0.30 , at 3 nM ICI 204,219. The distinguishing characteristic of ICI 204,219 is its excellent in *vivo* profile. It had excellent bioavailability in rat (68%) and dog (67%). The overall profile of ICI 204,219 was such that its oral formulation was chosen for extensive clinical evaluation as Accolate (zafirlukast).

6.2 CysLTI Antagonist Clinical Studies

Inhalation of **peptide** leukotrienes has been shown to induce a reproducible, robust, welltolerated bronchoconstriction in humans. Because of this, most clinical studies of CysLTl antagonists have begun with an assessment of their in vivo potency through measurement of their ability to inhibit LT-induced bronchoconstriction. Because these studies can be done over a broad time range, they can also be used to determine human pharmacodynamic values. The most frequent measure was the shift in the LT-induced dose-response curve that is produced by a specified dose of a drug at a particular pretreatment time. Friedman (238) has reviewed the pulmonary-oriented clinical results obtained with most of the early peptide leukotriene antagonists and lipoxygenase inhibitors.

LY171883 was the first CysLTl antagonist to be evaluated in broad clinical trials (239). It was eventually withdrawn from clinical evaluation as a result of both long-term toxicity seen in mice and induction of peroxisomal liver enzyme in rats (240,241). In spite of this, it was an especially important compound because it produced encouraging clinical results that appeared to confirm the hypothesis linking the cysteinyl leukotrienes to disease and thus acted as a strong spur to the development of other CysLTl antagonists.

Aerosolized SKF 104353, 100 and 800 μ g, shifted LTD₄-induced bronchoconstriction by about 10-fold in normal and asthmatic individuals, respectively, when administered 2–3.5 h before challenge (242). The same dose protected against exercise-induced asthma (243). SKF 106203 was examined in normal volunteers and a 200 mg p.o. dose was effective in reducing LTD₄-induced bronchoconstriction, with the maximal effect being observed 8 h after dosing (244).

ONON (pranlukast, ONO-1078, **ONO-RS**-411 hemihydrate) was approved in Japan in 1995 and is the first CysLTl antagonist to be commercially available. However, it has not yet been approved in other countries.

The Merck group has entered the greatest number of CysLTl antagonists into clinical studies. Extensive trials were performed with MK-0571 (**L-660,711**), its single enantiomer MK-0679, and with MK-0476. This compound montelukast (Singulair) has been approved for clinical use in the United States and internationally for the treatment of asthma in adults and children (245).

Montelukast underwent extensive clinical testing. The studies used to support the clinical use of this agent have been reviewed in several venues (256–258). A daily oral dose of Singulair controlled asthma symptoms in 3- and 9-month extension trials. As with Zyflo the use of Singulair also allowed steroid tapering in moderate to severe asthmatics.

Zafirlukast formulated as Accolate was the first leukotriene modulator approved in the United States. This compound has also been extensively reviewed (256–258). Given 40 mg bid it has been shown to be clinically effective in the treatment of asthma.

Since the registration of Accolate, Zyflo, and Singulair (Table 5.2), most clinical studies have centered on the effects of these agents on inflammatory processes. The clinical trials that formed the basis for their approval demonstrated that these agents are safe and effective, and subsequent studies have also borne this out (251,252). These agents are especially effective in aspirin-sensitive asthma and exercise-induced asthma. They are also effective in treating the upper airway responses to IgE-

7 Leukotriene B₄ Antagonists

mediated immunological medial nasal congestion, although none of the agents has regulatory approval for the nasal indication.

Yanase and David-Bajar have reported that Singulair has a modest but significant effect in treating atopic dermatitis (253). Asero (254) has reported that in NSAID-induced uticaria that Singulair may also have an effect. Accolate has also been reported to have an effect in atopic dermatitis (255). In addition, Zyflo has shown efficacy in significantly improving the symptoms in a small open label study in atopic dermatitis (256). There have been, however, no large clinical trials to date to define the potential activity of these agents in the treatment of atopic dermatitis.

The major side effect that has been reported for the CysLTl antagonists is Churg-Strauss syndrome (257). A recent review of the literature suggests that Churg-Strauss is related to an underlying eosinophilic disorder in patients in whom corticosteriods use was being reduced, and thus not directly associated with the antagonists (257,258). Thus far, this syndrome has not been reported with Zyflo.

7 LEUKOTRIENE B₄ ANTAGONISTS

7.1 Introduction

Although the structure of LTB₄ was discovered at about the same time as the cysteinyl leukotrienes, the pace of development of LTB_4 antagonists has lagged significantly behind that of CysLTl receptor antagonists. This delay may be attributed to the fact that, unlike with the CysLTs (SRS-A), there was not, at first, a clear recognition of which pathophysiologies to associate with LTB₄. Also, as limited as the starting points for drug development were in the SRS-A area, they were even more limited in the area of LTB_4 antagonists. Most research teams began their efforts with the structure of LTB_4 . Other teams started with **known** LTD_4 antagonists and hoped that, because LTB, and LTD_4 were biosynthetically related, some of these molecules would display weak LTB₄ antagonist activity. Several previous reviews on the development of leukotriene B_4 antagonists have been published (259–261) and, although clinical data on LTB_4 antagonists are much more limited than with the LTD_4 antagonists, this section focuses on the development of those compounds that have advanced into clinical studies.

The in vitro and in vivo activities of LTB, antagonists have been evaluated by use of several different assays. Binding assays have been developed that measure the inhibition of binding of [3 H]LTB₄ to guinea pig lung membrane (262)and to isolated human neutrophils (263). Functional activity has been assayed through inhibition of the LTB₄-induced contraction of guinea pig lung parenchyma (262) and through the inhibition of the LTB4-induced up-regulation of CD11b/CD18 expression in human neutrophils. In vivo, in guinea pigs or cynomolgus monkeys, inhibition of LTB₄-induced neutropenia and interdermal neutrophil migration have been examined.

7.2 LTB, Antagonists Related to HAP-Type LTD_4 Antagonists

A team at Eli Lilly discovered that moving the alkyl chain from the hydroxyacetophenone (HAP)**3-position**, as found in FPL-55712 (**28**), resulted in selective LTB, antagonists. For example, LY255283 (41) inhibited LTB₄ binding



to neutrophils with an IC, value of 87 nM (264). Further work in this class yielded LY293111 (42), which was active in blocking LTB₄-induced bronchoconstriction in vivo (265). A publication on LY293111 has appeared describing its pharmacology in vivo (266). Unfortunately, the compound was not effective in clinical trials in asthmatics.

The Searle group apparently started with FPL-5512 analogs and arrived at SC 53228 (43), which antagonized LTB_4 binding with an



(43) SC 53228

 IC_{50} value of 1.3 n*M*. The compound was also active in blocking PMA-induced ear edema (<2.5 mg/kg).

7.3 LTB, Antagonists Derived from the Structure of LTB,

A number of agents have been reported based on the structure of LTB₄. The early pharmacology was previously reviewed (2). The compounds that have advanced furthest are ONO-4057 (46) and two compounds from SmithKline Beecham, SB 201993 (44) and SB 209247 (45). Early ONO compounds used a variety of groups to replace the triene in LTB_4 (267). The diacid ONO-4057 (46) had an IC, in binding assays of 15 nM and was active in the guinea pig in LTB₄-induced neutropenia. SB209247 was also orally active in rodents (268) and was taken to clinical trials (2). CGS-**25019c** (**47**), also taken to phase I trials, was unique compared to earlier discussed compounds in that it had an amidine group functionality instead of an acidic group (269). More recently, a series of prodrugs of an amidine group were described by Boeringer Ingelheim (270). The lead compound from this series,



(44) SB 201993

BIIL 284 (48) was longer acting in monkeys than either **CGS-25019c** or LY 293111.

7.4 Clinical Trials with LTB, Antagonists

Clinical success has not yet been achieved with LTB_4 antagonists. It is unclear whether this is because LTB_4 is only one of many leukocyte chemoattractants in inflammation or whether a significant portion of the biology of LTB_4 is directed by binding to BLTR2. Several compounds have been in phase I trials (2) but no

8 Biochemistry and Structural Biology of Cyclooxygenases





(46) ONO-4057

substantial success has been reported and no compounds have been registered. Attempts in asthma and psoriasis have been deemed marginal or unsuccessful (271–272).

8 BIOCHEMISTRY AND STRUCTURAL BIOLOCY OF CYCLOOXYCENASES

8.1 Prostaglandin Discovery and the Connection to NSAIDs

Prostaglandins are the earliest of the **eico**sanoids to be discovered. Originally described by von Euler in the late 1940s as the active principal components in semen that induced uterine contractility (273), the structures of the most important of these (PGE₂, PGF_{,,,} PGD₂) were elucidated in the 1960s by Bergstrom, Hamberg, Samuelsson, and others



(Fig. 5.3) (274). The multiple activities of these substances were the **topic** of intense **re**-search in the 1960s and **1970s**, where roles in reproductive, cardiovascular, pulmonary and renal physiology, and pathophysiology (pain, inflammation, cancer) were identified. The discovery of thromboxane (275) and **prostacy**-clin (276) came later and expanded the role of the eicosanoids as powerful substances in human physiology.



(47) CGS 25019C



Figure 5.3. Cyclooxygenase pathway.

In a parallel fashion, albeit starting much earlier, the discovery of **nonsteroidal** anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) were derived from early **folk** medicine use of natural substances, the active agent of which was ultimately discovered to be aspirin in the 1800s. Once the negative gastric side effects of aspirin were established around 1940, a number of synthetic agents were developed **with** the goal of achieving safer drugs. These drugs were eventually classified as NSAIDs, in contrast to steroids, the other major class of anti-inflammatories then available.

Assignment of NSAIDs as cyclooxygenase inhibitors and thus prostaglandin inhibitors,

was made in the early 1970s by Vane and colleagues using classical tissue strip pharmacology (277). This discovery was elegantly followed by **Majerus** et d., who identified the amino acid site of the covalent **acylation** of platelet cyclooxygenase by aspirin (278).

8.2 Cyclooxygenase 1

Cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) is the common name used to describe the protein prostaglandin H synthase 1 (PGHS-1), which performs both peroxidase and cyclooxygenase reactions to make PGH, the precursor to prostaglandins E, D, $F2_{\alpha}$ prostacyclin, and thromboxane A, (see Fig. 5.3). Originally described as an enzymatic activity in seminal vesicles, it was purified in 1977 by two groups (279). The active enzyme is a homo-dimer with subunits of 74,000 Da. As described earlier (2), the dimer containing two noncovalent heme moieties initially interacts with endogenous peroxide where a two-electron reaction occurs. A oneelectron translocation provides the tryosyl radical required for interaction with arachidonic acid. When the cyclooxygenase site is occupied by arachidonic acid, the 13 pro-S hydrogen is extracted to yield an arachidonyl radical. The fatty acid radical then reacts with molecular oxygen to form the 11-hydroxyl radical, which subsequently cyclizes a C_{11} to C, endoperoxide moiety, interacts with a second molecule of O_2 , and ultimately produces PGG, As described in more detail (280) the tyrosyl radical can cycle through the **peroxi**dase site if no arachidonate is available. Although reasonably well understood and accepted, there are still controversies in the PGH mechanism (281). Subsequent to purification efforts, cyclooxygenase 1 was cloned first from sheep (282) and then from other species. Expression of COX-1 occurs in most if not all mammalian tissues and cells in culture (283, 284). The crystal structure of ovine COX-1 was solved in 1994 and allowed rigorous interpretation of numerous biochemical and site-directed mutagenesis work (285). Important aspects of the crystal structure are discussed below in comparison to COX-2.

8.3 Cyclooxygenase 2

As described above, the first described cyclooxygenase was purified and characterized in the late 1970s. This work provided the molecular framework for connecting the biochemistry of the enzyme studies predominantly in seminal vesicle preparations and in the platelet, with the biology that had expanded to include all major organ systems and most cell types. In the 1980s, however, several groups began to obtain data inconsistent with the characteristics of the cyclooxygenase in platelets and seminal vesicles. In particular, hormonal control of prostaglandins in cells such as fibroblasts and macrophages (286,287) and invivo (288,289) were inconsistent with a single enzyme. These publications proposed two pools of cyclooxygenase, one static and unresponsive to steroids and the other inducible and inhibited by steroids such as **dexametha**sone. Some investigators also reported increased enzyme concentrations in response to growth factors by Western blot with antibodies thought to be specific for COX-1 (287).

The discovery of a second cyclooxygenase enzyme initiated an explosion of research. This research showed that COX-2 was distinguished from COX-1 by a slightly larger molecular mass, rarity of **mRNA** expression, and induction by growth factors and cytokines (280). Further work has yielded information with significant detail in the biochemical, cellular, pharmacological, and structural differences between the two enzymes.

8.4 Structural Features of COX-1 and COX-2 Enzymes

A large body of structural biology information on the two cyclooxygenases, COX-1 and COX-2 (PGHS-1 and PGHS-2) now exists. Overall, the data indicate a remarkable degree of similarity between the enzymes. They differ in length by only 11 amino acids, with COX-2 being slightly larger. The differences in sequence are predominantly in the membranebinding domain. The overall structure of the human and mouse COX-2 is superimposable on the ovine COX-1 structure (280). Both enzymes are dimers with three structural domains: an N-terminal EGF domain of approximately 50 amino acids, a membrane-binding domain of about 50 amino acids, and a large C-terminal globular domain that contains the catalytic domain. The dimer interacts with the membrane in a novel way, associating with the inner leaflet but not penetrating the entire membrane, as supposed before the crystal structure of COX-1 was elucidated (285).

The nature of the active site. how substrate is bound, and in particular how inhibitors bind in the two active sites have been extensively studied (280, 290). As COX-2 was discovered, the availability of the COX-1 crystal structure allowed for models, particularly site-directed mutagenesis, to explore differences in the two active sites. Early modeling studies indicated clearly that the first layer of amino acids in the active site were largely conserved, with the exception of **valine**⁵⁰⁹ (291). A few differences also occur at the next "layer" of amino acids Name -

いため

surrounding the active site. Good evidence for the importance of the valine residue comes from mutation of that residue causing changes in the selectivity of agents (292) and from crystal structures with SC-558(**51c**), where it was found that this inhibitor "wedges" the sulfonamide group into a hydrophobic side pocket that is inaccessible in COX-1 (292). Movement of the valine and insertion of sulfonamide or methyl sulfone moieties common to many selective COX-2 agents may be critical for the selectivity seen for these agents. Structures with inhibitors and using nitroxide-labeled enzyme show clearly that the active site is modified by inhibitor and substrate binding (293). Indeed, structural flexibility may be important for catalysis (293). Recently, the crystal structures of COX-2 with arachidonic acid and PGG, (294) in the active site have been determined. In particular, the structure with PGG₂ is supportive of earlier biochemical and modeling data, illustrating again the similarities between the two enzymes.

8.5 Biosynthesis of Prostaglandins

Prostaglandins are made by nearly every organ system, tissue, and cell in the body. Under normal conditions this is predominantly driven by COX-1. This enzyme is broadly expressed and is constitutively active (290). Under homeostatic conditions, prostaglandin formation is controlled by substrate availability and perhaps peroxide tone (295). Most cells and tissues tightly regulate free fatty acid concentrations to be very low. The chief enzymes responsible for this are the fatty acid transacylases, which rapidly reacylate free fatty acid into either phospholipids or triglycerides. Agents that stimulate production of prostaglandins from COX-1 have primarily been agents that cause a calcium spike inside cells. In contrast to COX-1, expression of COX-2 is normally limited in the body to specific cells in kidney, brain, and pancreas (290). In general, COX-2 must be induced for substantial concentrations of prostaglandins to occur (290). A plethora of inducers have been reported and fall into several classes including cytokines, growth factors, and hormones (296–298). COX-2-dependent prostaglandin production thus occurs over hours rather than minutes, in contrast to COX-1-driven eicosanoid production that requires only seconds or a few minutes. Additionally the expression of COX-2 enzyme is usually the rate-limiting step for COX-2-driven eicosanoid formation, not substrate release.

Several groups have explored the molecular details of how COX-2 expression is induced. It appears that agents that induce COX-2 expression do so by both inducing COX-2 mRNA production as well as stabilizing the mRNA. Recent work by Song et al. indicates that COX-2 expression is normally silenced through a hypermethylation mechanism (299). Induction of COX-2 mRNA has been reported to occur through IL-1 mediation, ceramide-dependent MAP kinases, p38 MAP kinase, and IkB kinases (296–298,300). Recently, the PEA3 family of transcription factors as well as NF_kB p65 have been shown to increase COX-2 mRNA levels (301). PPAR γ has been shown to suppress LPS induction of COX-2 in macrophages (302). In addition, p53 has been shown to be a transcriptional inhibitor, explaining the expression of COX-2 in tumor cells that in many cases lose **p53** (303). Associated with COX-2 expression in tumors is the report that k Ras, a protein associated with tumors, increases the stability of COX-2 mRNA (304). The anti-inflammatory activities of salicylate and corticosteroids are at least partly attributable to suppression of COX-2 expression by suppression of transcription and mRNA destabilization, respectively (288).

In several cellular systems, higher levels of prostaglandin production have been associated with COX-2 expression. In some cells (e.g. WISH) expression of both enzymes yields prostaglandin production from only COX-2, as shown by specific inhibitors (Hulkower and Bell, unpublished observations, 1996; 305). In addition COX-1 appears to prefer exogenous arachidonic acid, whereas with endogenous substrate COX-2 metabolism is predominant (298). These phenomena have three possible explanations: (1) specific linkage of each enzyme with a specific phospholipase, (2)linkage of COX-2 to an inducible PGE, synthase, and (3) regulation by peroxide tone.

A number of enzymes have been linked to arachidonic acid release and subsequent prostaglandin formation. Types II, V, and IV PLA₂s have been linked to prostaglandin re-

8 Biochemistry and Structural Biology of Cyclooxygenases

lease as well as phospholipase Cldigyceride lipase and phospholipase D (306). The enzyme responsible for release of substrate may be stimulus and cell type dependent. In the mast cell early phases of AA release are dependent on a phospholipase different from that in the secondary phase (307). A number of workers have suggested specific phospholipase activation coupled to either COX-2 or COX-1 (308,309).

Very recently, two laboratories have made progress in identifying the enzymes responsible for PGE₂ production from PGH₂. Two enzymes have been identified. The first is a cytosolic, constitutively expressed enzyme and appears linked to COX-1 (308,310). The other enzyme is microsomal in location, is inducible, and appears linked with COX-2 PGE₂ production (310–313). The importance of the inducible PGE₂ synthase in control of the relative contribution of COX-1 versus COX-2 PGE₂ production remains to be thoroughly understood but has significant potential, perhaps even as a new drug target.

Finally, a third molecular mechanism for the difference between the two COX enzymes' turnover and activation rate has been **proposed**. Elegant kinetic studies show clearly that the two enzymes differ in the peroxide reaction **kinetics** of stabilization of the active **cyclooxygenase** species. The interpretation of these studies is that a lower level of peroxide is required for COX-2 turnover than that for COX-1. Practically, this means that under some cellular conditions COX-1 is silent, whereas COX-2 produces prostaglandins in significant amounts (291).

A final aspect of cyclooxygenase **biosynthe**sis of prostaglandins is the cellular location of the enzymes. A number of investigators (280, 290) have described a preference for COX-2 to localize to nuclear membranes compared to COX-1, although this is cell and stimulus dependent. Recent publications have also **described** COX-2 location in lipid bodies and in **caveoli** (314).

8.6 Actions of Cyclooxygenase-Derived Eicosanoids

8.6.1 Homeostatic Effects of Prostaglandins. A large number of organ systems are **influenced** by prostaglandins. These include car-

diovascular, gastric, **kidney**, and reproductive organ systems. Recent research, **taking advan**tage of the availability of selective COX-2 inhibitors and reagents differentiating the expression of the two enzymes, has begun to detail the relative contribution of the two enzymes in these organs and their function.

The clearest function is in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, where prostaglandins clearly play a protective role, as evidenced by the superior safety of COX-!&selective agents and the protective effects of misoprostal on the GI lining. The primary drawback of traditional nonselective agents is in the gastric system, where reduction of protective prostaglandins causes ulceration, bleeding, and occasionally death.

Cardiovascular effects of prostaglandins are more complex. The coagulation system is clearly modulated by platelet-derived thromboxanes, which have procoagulation effects and the anticoagulative effects of endothelial cell-derived prostacyclin. Thromboxanes are clearly COX-1 derived because platelets do not express COX-2. The source of endothelial cell prostacyclin production is less clear with both enzymes expressed and mixed opinions on the relative contribution of the two enzymes. Recent results with Vioxx, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, imply a modest effect on myocardial infarction rate in patients taking the compound but do not define whether this is caused by a change in ratio simply by a lack of platelet effect or that inhibition of endothelial cell prostacyclin also skews the pro- and anticoagulant ratio.

Prostaglandins regulate renin-angiotensin secretion and thus glomerular filtration rate and sodium homeostasis. These effects appear to be COX-2 driven (315). The kidney is a rare organ, one that expresses COX-2 under **non**pathological situations. Expression in the loop of Henle apparently drives prostaglandin formation in the kidney and the subsequent physiological responses. Thus a selective agent would likely have similar negative effects on kidney function as those of the nonselective **NSAIDs**. This is apparently the case with both Vioxx and Celebrex (315).

Prostaglandins play important roles in each step of mammalian reproduction. These prostaglandins appear to be COX-2 derived, as **8.6.2 Pathophysiological Effects of Prostaglandins.** Nonselective COX inhibitors, the NSAIDs, have long been used as anti-inflammatory, antipyretic, and analgesic agents. Studies in animals and in humans show clearly that selective COX-2 inhibitors such as rofecoxib and celecoxib are as effective in these areas as earlier nonselective agents. These results strongly indicate that the majority of the prostaglandins causing inflammation, pain, and fever are COX-2 derived.

Older nonselective agents and more recently new selective COX-2 inhibitors have been shown to have anticancer effects in animal models and some human experience (317). These studies imply effects of prostaglandins on several stages of cancer progression. Early studies have shown prostaglandins to be important as modulators of cell proliferation (318) and, not unexpectedly, COX-2 inhibitors have shown pro-apoptotic effects (319). More recently, expression of COX-2 has been shown to be cell cycle dependent in human fibroblasts (320) and associated with G1 delay in intestinal epithelial cells (321). Even earlier in cancer cell progression than tumor cell growth, COX-2 inhibitors block carcinogenesis in animal models (322). Finally, COX-2-selective agents block later stages of tumor growth such as angiogenesis (323). Most significantly, it was shown recently that overex**pression** of COX-2 in mice was sufficient to cause tumorigenicity (324).

9 SELECTIVE COX-2 INHIBITORS

9.1 Agents Inhibiting COX-2

The hypothesis that a selective COX-2 inhibitor would be safer and therefore provide an attractive alternative to NSAIDs has been validated by the clinical successes of Celebrex and Vioxx. Both of these agents are from the largest or most studied class of COX-2 inhibitors, although other classes have been identified and each has characteristic kinetic and thermodynamic parameters describing a mechanism for cyclooxygenase inhibition. Several reviews have addressed various aspects of the COX-2 story (**428**), a very recent review (386) and two minireviews or summaries (398,399) are cited within the following discussion on this section.

9.2 Structure-Activity Relationships

9.2.1 4-Sulfonylphenyl COX-2 Class. The most investigated area of selective COX-2 inhibitors is the 4-sulfonylphenyl super genus or family, to which both Celebrex (celecoxib) and Vioxx (rofecoxib) belong (325, 326). Often referred to as the "tricyclic," "diaryl," or "*cis*-stilbene" class, the lead structures for this general class were a series of known diaryl anti-inflammatory agents. The most referenced lead structure appears to be DuP 697 (49) (327).



The development of this compound was in part driven by the observation of less gastrointestinal irritation in animal models. A structural representative of this early class of antiinflammatory agents, predating **DuP** 697, is illustrated by flumizole (50) (328). After the discovery of the inducible COX isoform, analogs having a **methanesulfonylphenyl** moiety



(50) Flumizole

as one of the aryl rings were quickly segregated as a subclass having high COX-2 selectivities. The 4-methylsulfone or 4-sulfonamide-substituted phenyl ring is the hallmark of this class of selective COX-2 inhibitors. Subsequent crystallographic studies of the protein with inhibitors have provided the rationale for this structural requirement (285, 329-331). Initial studies showing that mouse and human enzyme proteins were quite similar were followed by an X-ray structure of SC588 (51c) cocrystalized with mouse COX-2 (329). These studies revealed an extra side pocket created by an isoleucine/valine⁵²³ switch and that this new "nook" apparently is engaged in binding of the methylsulfone moiety and provides an opportunity for COX-2 selectivity. This site is the most prominent difference in the COX-1 vs. COX-2 active-site comparisons. This difference provides a key design element of increased steric bulk to augment COX-2 selectivity. SAR studies reported for celecoxib (51a) and rofecoxib (52) illustrate many general characteristics of this class.

 R_2 R_1O_2S N CF_3

(51) Searle Series	
(51a) $R_1 = NH_3$, $R_2 = CH_3$	Celecoxib
(51b) $R_1 = CH_3$, $R_2 = Cl$	SC-263
(51c) $R_1 = NH_3$, $R_2 = Br$	SC-588
(51d) $R_1 = NH_3$, $R_2 = F$	SC-58451
(51e) $R_1 = CH_3$, $R_2 = F$	SC-58125



(52) Rofecoxib (MK 966)

The common pharmacophore shared by these two structures and this class consists of two vicinal substituents being attached to adjacent sp² atoms of a five-membered heterocycle or carbocycle. One of the two must be a 4-sulfonylphenyl moiety and the other is often a second substituted phenyl ring. This concept has been applied very successfully to many heterocycles and confirmed the generality of this scaffold or template model for this class. Analogs using the **1,5-diarylpyrazole** (51, 57) of celecoxib (51a) as a scaffold as well as related 3,4-diarylpyrazoles (332), 1,2-diarylpyrroles (63,64, Table 5.1), 1,2-diarylimidazoles (59, Table 5.1) (334), 4,5-diarylimidazoles (58) (335), 4,5-diarylthiazoles (60) (336, 337), 4,5diaryloxazoles (332, 338), and 3, 4-diarylisoxazoles (valdecoxib, SC-65872, Bextra, 53) have



(53) Valdecoxib SC-65872

been thoroughly studied (339,340). In addition to the 2(5H)-furanone scaffold of rofecoxib (52), related cyclopentenone (341), 3(2H) furanone (342), and 1,5-pyrrolin-2-ones (343) have also been reported as closely related series based on carbonyl-containing heterocyclic templates or scaffolds. Other five-membered heterocycles have been developed, including 3,4-diarylthiazolin-2-one (344), 4,5-diaryloxazolones (345,3461, diarylthiadiazole (347), and diaryltriazole (348). Other core scaffolds or templates have also been developed from modified five-membered heterocycles that have been fused to a second cyclic ring (349351). Many examples of these heteroaryl-bicyclic templates have been reported, including FR-228352 (54), reported to be in phase I testing (340). Six-membered heterocyclic scaffolds have also been shown to be effective and include pyridine (352) [etoricoxib, (55) (353)], pyridazinone (354), and pyranone (355).

Ar ₁ // Ar ₂ N N N	$\begin{array}{c c} & Ar_1 \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	Ar_1 NH $CF_3 Ar_2$ N CF_3	Ar ₂ Ar ₁ S	°CF ₃
57 a	a, b 58 a, b	59 a, b	60 a, b	
Ar ₁	Ar ₁			
Ar ₂ S	Br Ar ₂ S	H Ar ₁ CH ₃	Ar_1 N Ar_2	∼н
61 a	a, b 62 a, b	63 a, b	64 a, b)
	(a) $Ar_1 = -\xi$	$-SO_2R$ $Ar_2 = -\xi$	F	
	(b) $Ar_1 = -\xi$	$-F \qquad Ar_2 = \bullet \xi -$	SO ₂ R	
Heterocyclic Template	COX-1 (μ Μ)	СОХ-2 (µM)	R	Reference
(57a)	25.5	0.41	NH_2	325
(57b)	0.08	0.01	NH_2	325
(58a,b)	>100	0.19		335
(59a) (70h)	>100	5.85	CH_3 CH_	334
(602)	30 > 100	0.1	CH.	000
(60h)	>100	0.023	CH_3	337
(61a) (DuP 697)	0.6	0.005	CH_3	364
(61b)	1.1	0.02	CH_3	364
(62a)	>100	0.25	CH_3	364
(62b)	>50	4.3	CH_3	364
(63a)	>100	0.06	CH_3	333
(63b)	>100	>100	CH_3	333
(64a)	>100	0.51	CH ₃	333
(64b)	>100	10.2	CH ₃	333

 Table 5.1
 COX Activity/Selectivity of Selected Inhibitors

Five- and six-membered **carbocycles** have also been incorporated as efficient scaffolds. Examples using phenyl (known as terphenyls) (**356**, **357**), cyclopentene (**356**, **358**–**362**), cyclopentadiene (**359**), cyclobutenone (**363**), and naphthyl (**356**) cores or scaffolds have been described. The cyclopentene series was optimized to a high degree, producing many very potent and selective COX-2 inhibitors with good *in vivo* activity (e.g., 56, SC-57666).

Other structural elements on the scaffold may be relevant in relation to the **regiochemistry** of the two key adjacent substituents on the template. Minor changes in positioning the two **aryl** rings can result in dramatic differences in selectivity between two very similar isomers on the same template. Table 5.1 shows data from several analogs where the relative positions of the two key substituents have been interchanged on a given template. In the 3-trifluoromethylpyrazole template, or celecoxib series, the 4-sulfonylpheny moiety must be attached in a 1,3 relationship relative to the 3-trifluoromethyl substituent of the pyrazole, as in both (**57a**) and (**57b**) (Fig. 5.4). Both of these isomers are potent COX-2 inhib-







(55) etoricoxib (MK-0663)

itors. One isomer (**57a**) has superior selectivity. The isomer with the 4-sulfonylphenylring in the 5-position and F-phenyl in the **1-position** (**57b**) had higher affinity for COX-2 but **was** less selective because of a dramatic simultaneous increase in COX-1 potency.

The 4,5-diaryl-3-trifluoromethylimdazole scaffold produces a selective COX-2 inhibitor



(58); these isomers have the same 1,3 relationship of the 4-methanesulfonylphenyl and the 3- CF, substituents. Scaffold symmetry eliminates further analysis, given that the isomers with respect to the imidazole NH cannot be resolved. The 1,2-4-trifuoromethylimidazole (59a, 59b; Fig. 5.4) shows a somewhat different result in terms of selectivity relative to the 1,5-pyrazole of the celecoxib series (37a, 37b). The isomer (59b), which is more potent at both isoforms, turns out to be the more selective because of an increase in affinity at COX-2. When applied to the 4,5-thiazole (60a, 60b) scaffold, the 4-sulfonylphenyl moiety adjacent to the nitrogen of the heterocycle, (60a), is much more selective than the other (60b) (Fig. 5.4) isomer by virtue of a much weaker COX-1 activity and little change in the COX-2 potency. Reported SAR for the thiophene series reveals a much smaller difference in potency and overall COX-2 selectivity between isomers (**61a** and **61b**). This template



Figure 5.4. Carbonyl containing heterocyclic templates.

has the sulfur heteroatom as well as the 2-bromo substituent as structures introducing template asymmetry, but shows little preference with respect to the relative 4,5 position of the 4-methylsulfonephenyl moiety. For comparison, in the thiophene template without the 2-bromo substituent (62a, 62b) an approximately 2 log shift to the right in COX-1 potency is observed but only about a 10-fold shift in COX-2 potency for the "a" isomer (62a), which has the most "useful" selectivity of the 4-thiophene compounds shown. Of the two possible isomers of the 5-methyl pyrrole scaffold, the "a" isomer (63a) has good COX-2 selectivity, with the "b" isomer (63b) being one of the few analogs completely inactive at COX-2. The unsubstituted pyrrole (64a, 64b) exhibits a similar trend, with the a isomer having superior activity at COX-2 and therefore being a selective agent, although the relative increases are dramatically different from what was observed in the methyl-substituted template (63).

A related phenomenon is the similar requirement of a 1,3 relationship of the **4-sulfo**nylphenyl ring and a structural feature of the scaffold. In the rofecoxib series, the relative position of carbonyl of the **furanone** is critical.

The analog (**65a**) (Fig. 5.4), where the relative position of the 4-sulfonylphenyl ring and the carbonyl are 1,2, is inactive at both isoforms; the reverse orientation, (**65b**), is of course the highly selective rofecoxib template. Similar to the rofecoxib series, the 4,5-disubstituted pyridazinones (365) show a required 1,3 relationship of the sulfonylphenyl moiety and the template carbonyl. Of the possible four isomers, only two analogs (**66b** and **67a**) (Fig. 5.4) are potent selective COX-2 inhibitors.

Broader variations on the scaffold model have been reported in the patent literature. A **prodrug** of the rofecoxib **furanone** template has been reported (366). The cis-stilbene-like structure (68) can undergo metabolic oxidation to produce the selective **2,3-diary fura**none. A variation on the 1,2 vicinal substitution is the reported analog (**69**), with geminal positioning of the two aryl rings off the **exocy**clic **olefin** of the butyrolactone template (367, 368).

The rationale for these related phenomena, involving the critical relative positions of the



two key aromatic substituents on the scaffold, is currently not well developed. Although Xray structures and modeling techniques have provided valuable gross features of the enzyme, to date a large number of X-ray structures with bound ligands have not been available. The scaffold model does seem valid, based on the wide range of heterocycles that have been used and, with a few exceptions (see 65a and the other **non-1,3-carbonyl** analogs 66a and **67b**), most produce potent COX-2 inhibitors with less potent COX-1 activity.

One of the only successful modifications for the methylsulfone moiety has been the **unsub**stituted sulfonamide. Both sulfonamide and sulfone analogs can also be quite potent against COX-1, however. The extra **isoleucine**/ **valine**⁵²³ space is limited, even in COX-2, and the SAR for this substituent is very restrictive. For example, the N-methyl sulfonamide in the celecoxib series was inactive (325). Reversal of the N and SO, atoms gave an inactive compound. The introduction of other strong electron-drawing group replacements for sulfonyl like nitro or **COCF**₃ lead to inactive compounds at COX-2. The 4-nitro analog (70)did



7	n	Υ.
1	υ	y

Have some COX-1 activity (IC,,, COX-1, 1.75 μM) (325). Only a few highly COX-1-selective inhibitors have been reported, which are often found as part of **SAR** analysis of sulfonyl replacements. Examples of very selective COX-1 analogs from the **pyrazole** (71) (325) and thiophene (72) (364) series have been identified.







(72)

A significant empirical trend has been identified by comparison of direct sulfonamide and sulfone analogs. The sulfonamide analog is gpnerally more potent but this usually applies to both isoforms. In many cases the COX-1 potency is often disproportionately increased, leading to a decreased selectivity ratio (332, 359–361,364). The sulfonamide can have superior bioavailability and physicochemical properties that are manifested in greater in *vivo* efficacy in the anti-inflammatory models. Celecoxib has incorporated the sulfonamide as a balance of selectivity and in vivo efficacy. The JTE-522 compound (73)introduced a flu-



(73) JTE 522

orine *ortho* to the sulfonamide and reported the compound with this modification regained COX-2 selectivity more characteristic of the methylsulfone analog (369, 370).

In contrast to the restrictive nature of allowed modifications for the 4-sulfonylphenyl substituent, a wide variety of structures can be incorporated to replace the second phenyl ring. 4-Halogen-substituted phenyl is the most used reference substituent for this position. The early Searle candidate, SC-263 (**51b**) with a 4-Cl substituent was found to have an unacceptably long half-life, which can also be characteristic of this class. In celecoxib (**51a**), introduction of the para-methyl group on this ring, as a site for metabolic oxidation, reduced the rat plasma half-life from 221 h for SC-263 (**51b**) to 3.5 h for celecoxib (**51a**) (325). Clinical trials with DuP 697 also identified its extremely long half-life of 292 h as a development issue (371). In general halogen and small alkyl groups are well tolerated on this ring; stronger electron-donating groups, such as methoxy, are tolerated in the 4-position as well. Other halogen effects on this ring are noted in the rofecoxib derivative DFU (74) [the name DFU appears to be an acronym related to the 5,5-dimethy-2(5H)-furanone scaffold] (372, 373). Improved selectivity can in part be attributed to the introduction of the ortho fluorine atom into the non-sulfone-bearing phenyl ring. Dihalogen substitution also frequently gave compounds with a 1000-fold in vitro selectivity (325). SAR studies indicate



many heterocycles to be bioisosteric, with phenyl for many templates (337, 352, 374). The traditional, older **diaryl** classification or terminology to describe this class has been supplanted by demonstration that the non-4-sulfonylphenyl vicinal substituent can be a number of lipophilic as well as polar nonphenyl substituents. JTE-522 (73) was one of the first widely referenced analogs with a **cyclo**hexyl ring in place of substituted **phenyl** (369).

DFP (75) (DFP is also a possible acronym indicating propyloxy substitution on the di-



methyl-furanone scaffold), a potent analog of DFU, introduced methylpropoxy subtitution for phenyl and maintained COX-2 selectivity and potency (375). In addition to alkoxy, thioalkoxy and aminopyridyl substitution adjacent to the sulfonylphenyl ring using a pyridine ring central scaffold were reported to produce potent COX-2 inhibitors (376). The presence of these polar side chains was proposed to improve oral bioavailability through improved absorption. Arylpyridazinones have also been shown to tolerate 3-methylbutoxy and 2-methylpropoxy substituents adjacent to

the phenylsulfonyl substituent (354). Even more polar substituents, such as alkoxyhydroxy substitution, have been reported to maintain good COX-2 selectivity in the pyridine scaffold series (376).

The Abbott compound ABT-963 (76)has a 3-hydroxy-3-methylbutyloxysubstituent adja-



(76) ABT-963

cent to the 4-methanesulfonylphenyl moiety and shows improved selectivity as well as exhibiting superior solubility, protein binding and pharmacokinetics (365). Additional ternplate or scaffold substituents, beyond the wellstudied 4-methanesufonylphenyl and its 1,2 vicinal partner, are limited and are more specific to the template or scaffold. In the celecoxib series the 3- CF, pyrazole substituent appears optimized, although a wide variety of substituents were tolerated (325). Several substituents, including hydroxymethyl, cyanomethyl, benzyloxymethyl, 4-methoxyphenyl, and 5-chloro-2-thienyl in the 3-position, were shown to maintain potency and selectivity comparable to those of the CF, analog. The hydroxymethyl-substituted analog was active, similar to a reported hydroxymethyl metabolite of valdecoxib that was isolated and reported to have a potent selective COX-2 activity as well as oral anti-inflammatory activity (339). Some minimal size or specific electronic nature of the 3-pyrazole substituent appears to be important, given that the 3-methyl analog of celecoxib displays very weak COX-2 activity and the 3-unsubstituted analog is cornpletely inactive (>100 μM at COX-2). This example illustrates one of the weaknesses of this heteroaryl template (347) general strategy.

A small change in the template can render it a poor scaffold. The 1,3 relationship of the

9 Selective COX-2 Inhibitors

3-trifluoromethyl substituent and the 4-methanesulfonylpheny substituent on the pyrazole ring is an example of an optimized template. In an attempt to survey a large number of fivemembered templates to find a replacement for the thiophene template, the unsubstituted **4,5-diaryloxazole** was discarded for lack of potency (347). The **4,5-diaryl-2-methyl** oxazole is a template that produces selective analogs and is found in JTE-522 and, like the **1,5-diarylpyazole** scaffold of celecoxib, requires an additional small substituent for maximun activity. A series of **1-arylpyrrolin-2-ones** (343) employs an additional aryl substituent on the scaffold similar to the pyridazinones (354).

This class of COX-2 inhibitors is generally lipophilic and lacks water solubility; the formulation of a parental or i.v. administrable COX-2 inhibitor has been addressed by Pharmacia in development of a water-soluble prodrug of valdecoxib (53), known as parecoxib sodium (77) (340, 377).



(77) Parecoxib Sodium

This compound is derived from acylation of the sulfonamide moiety of valdecoxib, followed by treatment with sodium hydroxide. The acidic acylsulfonamide forms a water-soluble sodium salt that is stable for administration but cleanly delivers valedecoxib once in plasma.

Related methanesulfonylheteroaryl inhibitors (78 and 79) from Chugai are reported in the patent literature (378). These compounds may be interacting in a manner similar to that of the **methanesulfonylphenyl** inhibitors, **al**though they do not fit the general model because there is no substituent adjacent to the sulfonyl group on the aromatic scaffold. The direct attachment of the methanesulfonyl group to a nonphenyl ring appears to be novel. Both cores reported are **indole** derived and





this compound (79) is reported to be 33-fold selective for COX-2.

9.2.2 *N*-Arylsulfonamides. Lead structures for this class of selective COX-2 agents were also compounds developed as anti-inflammatory agents before the discovery of the COX-2 isoform. Nimesulide (**R-805, 80**) was identified



(80) nimesulide (R-805)

as an NSAID anti-inflammatory drug with weak prostaglandin synthetase activity (COX-1) but potent **in** vivo in the carrageenan-induced edema model (379). An analog of nimesulide, from Taisho, NS-398 (81) was shown to be a selective COX-2 inhibitor (380). This class has a characteristic acidic proton by virtue of the N-arylsulfonamide or methanesulfonanilide. A related analog, FK-3311 (83), incorporated a







(83) FK 3311

methyl ketone as an alternative to the nitro electron-withdrawing group and introduced **2,4-difluoro** substitution into the phenoxy ether ring (**381**). This series was expanded to show that thiophenoxy ethers were **as** potent as the oxygen analogs. Flosulide (GP-28238, 84) incorporates a difluorophenoxy substitu-



(84) Flosulide (CGP 28238)

ent *ortho* to the sulfonanalide and introduces a modified electron-withdrawing keto group, as part of a conformational restricted fused **cy**-clopentanone (382).

Flosulide was shown also to be a selective COX-2 inhibitor, less potent than NS 398 but with better pharmacokinetic properties (383). Flosulide was used as a lead for development of L-745,337 (**85**), which is the direct **thio**-



(85) L-745,337

ether congener of Flosulide. L-745,337 is more active than Flosulide in the rat paw edema *in vivo* assay (383,384). The **SAR** for this series is reported to be very limited with cyclohexyl, thiazole, and to a lesser extent **pyridyl** being some of the very few substituents that can replace the phenoxy ring (385). This restrictive **SAR** may also explain the lack of further reported development of this series.

9.3 Selective NSAIDs and NSAIDs Modified for Improved COX-2 Selectivity

Given the homology between the two cyclooxygenases, the reexamination of known anti-inflammatory agents, with particular interest in reported PGHS inhibitors, is an area of research regenerated by the identification of the inducible COX-2 isoform. Some of the most selective NSAIDs, such as diclofenac, have COX-1/COX-2 selectivities in about the threefold range (386). However, tomexiprole (86) was reported to have 30-fold COX-2 selec-



(86) tornoxiprole

tivity (387). Surprisingly, etodolac (87) has been reported to be as selective as the rofecoxib derivative DFU (COX-1/COX-2, $1000\times$)



(87) etodolac

(372, 388). There is COX-2 patent activity related to the etodolac skeleton (389).

Other **NSAIDs** with weak COX-2 selectivity, like meloxicam, have been modified, with considerable structural reorganization, to yield structures like (**88**) with enhanced selectivity (390).



The model of the COX-2 protein as having a larger binding site has been used for rational design of superior COX-2 selectivity into existing NSAIDs. In addition to modeling studies, supporting evidence has been the observation that after acetylation by aspirin, COX-2 still produces large amounts of 15-HETE after addition of AA (391). This activity was not observed with COX-1, which is inactivated by aspirin acetylation. The rationale that follows implies that the COX-2 pocket of opening is large enough, even after acylation of key residues, to allow AA access, whereas AA does not have steric access to the smaller COX-1 pocket after acetylation. Two types of modifications of indomethacin (89) have been shown to increase COX-2 selectivity. Modifications to the *N*-benzoyl moiety, including trichloro substi-



(89) indomethacin

tution or conversion to 4-bromobenzyl, have improved selectivity (391). A second, more general modification has been the **homologation** or extension of the carboxyl functionality in combination with alkyl branching, producing selective inhibitors like L-761,000 (90) (392).





The alkyl branching on the carbon framework extending the acid primarily blocks sites of oxidative metabolism. **Amides** and esters formed using bulky or substituted alcohols and amines have also produced indomethacin derivatives like (**91**), with improved selectivity through structural extension of the **carboxy**late domain (393). Incorporation of the **car**boxylate of indomethacin into the latent **car**boxylate of indomethacin into the latent **car**bonyl of a thiazole ring (92) as a way to extend the structural framework and take advantage of the larger binding cavity of COX-2 is a related approach (394). The carboxyl functionality of zomepirac has been extended as a **sulfon**amide (**93**), with improved COX-2 selectivity





(92)

(386). Flurbiprofen can be converted into a more COX-2-selective agent (94) by addition of steric bulk in the form of two ethoxy groups to the terminal phenyl ring (395). No clinical data have been reported with modified NSAIDs thus far.

Selective compounds have been designed de *novo*; the most selective analogs reported





were also extended bulky **amides** like (95) and presumably correlate to a difference in binding pockets (396). Modification of COX-1 binding ligands for greater COX-2 selectivity has been successfully achieved and has been supported by structural information about the enzyme.

(95)

9.4 Irreversible Inhibitors

Aspirin is known to covalently acetylate the Ser⁵³⁰ residue in COX-1 and is the only known NSAID to irreversibly inactivate COX-1 by this mechanism. Acetylation by aspirin of the COX-2 enzyme did not lead to inactivation but did modify the product formed to 15-HPETE (391). The acetoxyheptynyl sulfide (**96**), has


9 Selective COX-2 Inhibitors

been developed as a selective COX-2 inhibitor, which similar to aspirin covalently acetylates Ser^{516} in COX-2 (397).

Unlike aspirin, this compound is reported to selectively acetylate the COX-2 serine residue and selectively inactivate COX-2. The bulky heptynyl side-chain was optimized for COX-2 selectivity in this SAR study and the selective inhibition reported must be related to the differences in active site or binding pocket size, similar to the strategy for creating many other selective inhibitors from modifications of COX-1 inhibitors.

9.5 Biochemical Assays, Selectivities, and Potencies

One of the challenges associated with evaluating COX-1/COX-2 selectivity is trying to define or identify accurate affinities or dissociation constants for compound comparison. Inhibitory concentration data against purified protein obtained from baculovirus or CHO cells transfected with COX-1 or COX-2 have provided a majority of the information with regard to relative potency of individual agents. A complicating factor is that inhibitory activity exhibits a characteristic time-dependent phenomenon with many classes of COX-2 inhibitors; only under the simplest kinetic conditions, do $K_{\rm m}$ values give good approximations of equilibrium dissociation constants that are needed to facilitate traditional SAR studies. In addition, the stable cell lines expressing the two enzymes must be stimulated with exogenous AA, quite unlike the cellular situation where AA is released in smaller concentrations internally. Typical values reported for highly selective compounds against broken cell or transfected CHO cells are micromolar COX-1 potencies and low nanomolar potencies for COX-2 activity, giving approximately 1000-fold selectivity ratios.

Celecoxib has IC_{50} values of 40 nM and 15 μ M for COX-2 and COX-1, respectively, against the recombinant human enzyme assay (325). Rofecoxib has IC_{50} values of 20 nM and >15 μ M for COX-2 and COX-1, respectively, using protein from the CHO cell assay (326). Some of the nonselective reference compounds are quite potent in COX-2; IC_{50} values reported for indomethacin range from 30 to 900 nM for COX-2 in the broken cell assays (380, 326) and 10 to 50 nM for COX-2 in the engineered CHO cell (383, 392). DuP 697 is a potent COX-2 inhibitor in the CHO cell, with an IC₅₀ value of 2–10 nM (383, 363). It is also COX-2 selective, having a weaker corresponding COX-1 IC₅₀ (59–100nM). The most potent COX-2 IC₅₀ values are single-digit nanomolar and many of the cyclopentene derivatives approach this maximal activity (360, 362). The furanone derivatives appear to have a slightly weaker potency against COX-2 but are also much weaker against COX-1, resulting in similar selectivity ratios.

Later reported data indicate most companies switching to human whole blood (HWBL) assays for better indications of the effects of protein binding and other pharmacokinetic parameters considered relevant in correlating in *vivo* potencies and selectivity. Most of the reported compounds, including celecoxib and rofecoxib, are much weaker in the HWBL assays, with potencies on the order of 0.5-1 @. Merck reports an IC_{50} value for rofecoxib in the human COX-2 HWBL assay of $0.5 \,\mu M$, and in the corresponding COX-1 HWBL assay, an IC₅₀ value of 19 μM (38-fold selectivity) (326, **353**). Comparison values for celecoxib are reported to be an IC_{50} of COX-2 HWBL assay of 1.0 μM and the corresponding COX-1 HWBL assay, an IC₅₀ value of 6.3 μM (-sixfold selectivity). In this same comparison the JTE-522 compound was found to have HWBL potencies of approximately 33 and 100 μM for COX-2 and COX-1, respectively, for an approximate only threefold selectivity. More recent agents such as etoricoxib (Arcoxia), valdecoxib (Bextra), and ABT-963 have greater reported selectivity in the human blood assays compared to that of rofecoxib and celecoxib.

One of the most important mechanistic characteristics of COX-2 inhibition exhibited by many COX-2-selective inhibitors is the observed time-dependent inhibition of COX-2 but not of COX-1. A slow, noncovalent, pseudo-irreversable conformational change in the protein occurs after binding of the inhibitor, but this is only observed in binding with the COX-2 enzyme (353,398,399). As a result, a much lower concentration of inhibitor is required for effective inactivation of the COX-2 enzyme after a longer incubation, even for a Ś

compound with equal dissociation constants at the two isoforms. This time-dependent inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis by certain NSAIDs was examined by Lands and his analysis showed that 0.3 µM flurbiprofen (an NSAID that shows this time-dependent phenomenon associated with a second conformational change after binding) could over a short time period compete with 50 μM ibuprofen (a freely reversible NSAID), even though they both had similar dissociation constants (400). In effect, this boosts the apparent selectivity for COX-2 of any inhibitor that can induce this COX-2-selective and time-dependent conformational change. This appears to be an immense advantage to this type of inhibitor and would argue that a lower selectivity could be tolerated, as long as the COX-1 activities were relatively high. Additional detailed models on the complex kinetics of COX-2 binding have been proposed (401).

9.6 *In* Vivo Models and Corresponding Efficacy

Several models of inflammation and analgesia have been used to characterize the in vivo pharmacology of COX-2-selective inhibitors. In addition to efficacy in inflammation and pain models, models of gastric irritation have been used to define superior safety indices for these agents. ⁵¹Cr excretion in the rat has been used most often for a gastric safety model, with selective COX-2 inhibitors showing no leakage from possible intestinal lesions at doses often starting around 100 mg/kg (358). For acute inflammation the rat carrageenan paw edema model is most often used. ED, values for celecoxib and rofecoxib in this model are 7.1 and 1.5 mg/kg, respectively (325, 326). Indomethacin (375, 326) and DuP 679 (327, 363) are very potent in this assay, with ED, values around 1 mg/kg. Rofecoxib and related furanones seem slightly more potent in this assay than the celecoxib pyrazole or related templates, including the cyclopentene series. Flosulide was reported to have one of the lowest ED, values reported for this assay, with an ED, value of less than 1 mg/kg (0.6 mg/kg) (383).

In models of chronic inflammation, for which the rat adjuvant arthritis assay is frequently used, these selective COX-2 inhibitors are very potent. ED, values of 0.1 to 1 mg/kg are achieved with analogs from many different series; representative efficacies are as follows: celecoxib, ED, 0.37 mg/kg (325); rofecoxib, ED, 0.15 mg/kg (326); DuP 697, ED, 0.18 mg/kg (379); and indomethacin, ED,, 0.11 mg/kg (325). COX-2 inhibitors have also shown excellent analgesic activity. Hyperanalgesic paw models, either yeast-induced (Randall-Selitto) or carrageenan-induced (Hargraves), are most commonly reported as a measure of analgesic activity. Another model that is often reported is the rat air pouch inflammation model. This model is reported to measure anti-inflammatory events at the site of inflammation. The cyclooxygenase inhibitors are also very potent in this model, often giving 90% and greater inhibition at 2 mg/kg doses (R. Harris and R. Bell, personal communication, 1996).

9.7 Conclusion

Since the discovery of the COX-2 isoenzyme, a significant number of chemical agents have been synthesized with the goal of finding a selective inhibitor. **As** just described, defining what is meant by "selective COX-2 inhibitor" in *vivo* has been difficult. This is not surprising, given the similarities of the active sites for COX-1 and COX-2, complexities of the enzyme reaction, the possibility for metabolism of compounds, and so forth. As described in greater detail in section 11, the search, although difficult, has been successful. Clinical examination of Celebrex and **Vioxx** have shown a clear safety advantage for the compounds, with no loss of efficacy.

10 AGENTS INHIBITING COX-2 AND 5-LIPOXYGENASE

Agents that can inhibit more than one inflammatory mediator may be advantageous. Compounds that inhibit both COX-2 and 5-LO may have an efficacy advantage over current agents in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Parke-Davis has reported CI-1004, darbufelone (**98**), and PD 138387 (97) as dual **5-LO/COX-2** inhibitors (402). Darbufelone was reported to be in clinical trials and has recently been described in detail (402). **PD**-



(97) R = OCH₃, PD 138387 (98) R = H₄(CI-1004)

138387 was developed by **SAR** studies and exhibited superior selectivity to the earlier **compound CI-1004**.

PD-138387 (97) was reported to have an IC_{50} value of 170 nM against COX-2 and >10 μ M for the corresponding COX-1 potency.

PD-138837 was reported to be active in the rat CPE assay, with a modest oral ED, value of 15.7 mg/kg. Analgesic activity was measured using acetic acid writhing in mice and gave an ED₄₀ value of 0.1 mg/kg but also indicates COX-1 activity (Harris and Bell, unpublished observations, 1997). Several structurally related compounds have been reported that incorporated a sulfonamide into the heterocyclic moiety, for example, (99) (S-2474),



(99) S-2474

which has COX-2 selectivity of 2500-fold over COX-1 (COX-2, $IC_{50} = 0.11 \mu M$; COX-1, $IC_{50} = 27 \mu M$) (403). S-2474 has oral *in vivo* efficacy in the CPE model, with an ED₃₀ value of 3.5 mg/kg and in the rat adjuvant arthritis model, an ED, value of 0.76 mg/kg. Another series of reported dual COX-2/5-LO inhibitors are a series of phenoxy-substituted sulfon-



amido thiophene derivatives (100) (404). The phenoxythiophene template has been used as template for **a** series of N-hydroxyurea-based 5-LO inhibitors (131); the inclusion of the **sul**fonamide moiety results in compounds with dual inhibition at 5-LO and COX-2. In *vitro* activities of a preferred compound (100) were reported as IC₅₀ values of 1.97 μ M for COX-2 and 0.73 μ M for 5-LO. Other compounds have been specifically designed by combining **phar**macophores from both COX-2 inhibitors and 5-LO inhibitors.

The patent report of a combined inhibitor (101) (405) reveals the familiar oxazole (369,





340) COX-2 inhibitor attached to the Zeneca methoxyphenylpyran, which was a very potent binding element for a series of 5-LO inhibitors (155). In a similar manner, the oxazole COX-2 inhibitor has been linked to a hydroxamic acid, which is also known to be a potent iron ligand and primary pharmacophoric moiety for many potent 5-LO inhibitors, to give dual inhibitors like analog (102) (406). The pyran-containing compounds (101) exhibited potent and selective COX-2 inhibition (COX-2, IC₅₀ < 0.1 μ M; COX-1, IC₅₀ > 100 μ M) and 5-LO inhibition (IC₅₀ = 0.02 μM). This compound exhibited oral in *vivo* activity of 15% inhibition at 10 mg/kg in the rat CPE model.



Thus far no clinical results with dual 5-LO/COX-2 inhibitors have been reported.

11 CLINICAL EFFICACY AND SAFETY OF SELECTIVE COX-2 INHIBITORS

Celebrex (celecoxib) and Vioxx (rofecoxib) have progressed to registration and have established the utility of this class of drugs in treating the pain associated with surgery, **os**teoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, and muscle pain.

Celebrex was the first COX-2 inhibitor to be approved by the FDA (December 31,1998) and Vioxx was approved somewhat later (May 22, 1999). More recently, Bextra (valdecoxib) was approved (November 16, 2001) (Table 5.2).

The clinical trials, which were conducted by **Searle/Pharmacia** to define the activity of Celebrex, were extensive and involved nearly 16,000 subjects. Merck also examined a large number of patients to define the activity of Vioxx.

The first study by **Hubbard** et al. (407) showed that Celebrex was effective in third molar extraction, with significant difference

from placebo but somewhat less effective than ibuprofen. In another study, Celebrex at either 100 or 400 mg was compared to aspirin, and in this study all treatments were equally efficacious and were significantly different from placebo.

Malmstrom et al. (408) compared Celebrex, Vioxx, and ibuprofen in an acute osteoarthritis study and the treatments were rank-ordered as placebo, Celebrex, ibuprofen, and Vioxx.

In a study examining the potential activity of Celebrex in orthopedic surgery it was found that, after a single dose, Celebrex was equal to hydrocodone/paracetamol, but with multiple doses, Celebrex was superior (409).

11.1 Osteoarthritis

The efficacy of the COX-2 inhibitors in osteoarthritis was expected, given that classical **NSAIDs** were effective in treating the pain associated with this degenerative disease. In a study examining the effects of Celebrex in osteoarthritis of the hip, Geis et al. (410) showed that 50, 100, and 200 mg doses were effective in treating the pain in hip osteoarthritis and the two higher doses were about equal to a 500 mg dose of naproxen. In a larger study examining the effects of Celebrex in osteoarthritis of the knee (again where 50,100, and 200 mg doses of Celebrex were compared to a 500 mg dose of naproxen), significant improvements were seen in the standardized scores in all treatment groups; and at both the 100 and 200 mg doses the scores for Celebrex were better than those seen with naproxen (411, 412). In similar studies Merck also established the efficacy of Vioxx. Vioxx at doses of 12.5 and 25

USAN	Trade Name	Mechanism	Date Approved ^a	
Leukotriene				
Zafirlukast	Accolate	CYSLT antagonist	Sept. 1996	
Zileuton	Zyflo	5-LO inhibitor	Dec . 1996	
Montelukast	Singulair	CYSLT antagonist	Feb. 1998	
COX-2	Ū.	C		
Celecoxib	Celebrex	COX-2 selective	Dec . 1998	
Rofecoxib	Vioxx	COX-2 selective	May 1999	
Valdecoxib	Bextra	COX-2 selective	Nov. 2001	
Etoricoxib	Arcoxia	COX-2 selective	Submitted 2002	

 Table 5.2
 Approved Eicosanoid Drugs

^aFDA approval.

11 Clinical Efficacy and Safety of Selective COX-2 Inhibitors

mg resulted in improvement in both hip and knee osteoarthritis in studies that lasted from 6 to 86 weeks of duration (413,414).

Vioxx (50 mg) provided pain relief equal to that of either 550 mg naproxen or 400 mg ibuprofen (415, 416). In a multiple-dose study, 'Vioxx produced significant pain relief after orthopedic surgery (416).

The clinical results with both Celebrex and Vioxx suggest that inhibition of COX-2 is an effective treatment for the pain that is associated with surgery, osteoarthritis, and rheumatoid arthritis.

Although most of the evidence suggests that COX-2 is expressed only when induced by cytokines or growth factors, there are potential roles this enzyme may play in normal physiology such as in uterine contraction, renal medulla, and in both brain and gut **mu**cosa. Extensive clinical trials with both Celebrex and Vioxx were conducted to determine the safety of these compounds. Celebrex was examined in **3-** and 6-month trials and it was found that the incidence of ulcers was the same as that of placebo and significantly less than that seen for either naproxen or diclofenac (410). Vioxx was examined in 1516 patients using endoscopy, in either the 25 or the 50 mg dose, and was compared to ibuprofen 2400 mg. A significantly lower percentage of ulcers were seen in the Vioxx-treated patients than seen in the ibuprofen-treated individuals (417). In another study, in which Vioxx was given at 250 mg (10-20 times the clinical dose)for 7 days, it was well tolerated, with gastric injuries no worse than those of the placebo, and was less than the injuries seen with either 2400 mg of ibuprofen or 2500 mg of aspirin (418,411).

COX-2 is expressed in the renal medulla and therefore there was concern that specific COX-2 inhibitors could cause untoward renal effects. However, renal effects of the compounds have been reported to be mainly related to fluid retention in salt-depleted patients (420).

11.2 COX-2 and Cancer

Various studies have demonstrated a protective role of **NSAIDs** in the prevention of colon cancer (421). However, the potential for gastric damage intrinsic to conventional NSAIDs precluded their use as preventive therapy. Based on these observations, the scientists at Searle/Pharmacia examined the potential role of COX-2-selective inhibitors in first preventing polyps in mice and then in humans (422, 423). Data from the animal studies showed that in rats treated with celecoxib and then given **s.c.** injections of azoxymethane to induce colon cancers, there was a 93% inhibition of cancer incidence and a 97% reduction in tumor number. Overall, there was a 87% reduction in the tumor burden (423). In the MIN mouse model of familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), Jacoby et al. (424) showed that celecoxib inhibited the tumor number by 71% and the tumor size by 83%. In chemically induced bladder cancer in mice and rats, celecoxib was effective at reducing the incidence of lesions in both mice and rats.

Howe et al. (425) reviewed the potential of using COX-2 inhibitors for the treatment of breast cancer and suggested that there is good rationale to examine COX-2 inhibition for breast cancer prevention. Limited data are available in animal models of breast cancer; however, Harris et al. (426) showed that celecoxib inhibited the tumor multiplicity by 86% and the incidence by 68%.

Clinically, Celebrex has been shown to be effective in FAP patients. Steinbach et al. (424) showed that twice-daily 400 mg/day of Celebrex reduced the number of polyps in familial adenomatous patients by 28% after 6 months of treatment. There was a similar incidence of adverse events in all of the treatment groups. These data were sufficient for Celebrex to be approved for use in FAP.

Rofecoxib was shown to be effective in chemoprevention of polyps in the APC delta 716 knockout mice by Oshima et al. (428). Rofecoxib was given in food for 8 weeks and then the animals were necropsied and the polyps scored. There was a greater than 57% inhibition of polyps greater than 1 mm in size and up to 100% inhibition of polyps greater than 3 mm. Overall, the data are very interesting and suggestive of potential activity for Vioxx in FAP, although thus far no clinical data have been reported.

12 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY

The modulation of the synthesis and activity of a number of eicosanoid products has been shown to be of significant importance medically in a multitude of clinical conditions. Nonselective cyclooxygenase inhibitors (NSAIDs) have been broadly used for several decades in the relief of pain and inflammation. The new COX-2-selective agents (Table 5.2) have already proved to be safer and equally efficacious. It is likely that they will continue to replace the older agents. However, the cardiovascular effects of COX-2 agents will surely need to be watched carefully in the future. In addition, the safety profile of these agents will allow for their use in many clinical settings, where the possibility of GI bleeding or platelet effects preclude the use of NSAIDs. These could include cancer prevention, cancer therapy, and both surgical and cancer pain.

Blockade of the effect or synthesis of **leuko**trienes has proved to be a safe and effective approach to asthma therapy (Table 5.2). Here again, especially for the leukotriene **biosyn**thesis inhibitors, new uses in other pulmonary diseases are likely. Expansion into other allergic diseases is already taking place and will probably continue.

In addition to the already established approaches such as COX-2 inhibitors, 5-LO inhibitors, and CYSLT1 antagonists, several new targets in eicosanoid research are clearly not well explored and have significant potential. These would include inhibitors of LTA_4 hydrolase, LTB_4 antagonists at both receptors, CysLT2 antagonists, inhibitors of inducible PGE, synthase, selective prostaglandin receptor antagonists, lipoxin modulators, and perhaps COX-3 inhibitors (D. Simmers, submitted, 2002). Whatever the final success of any one of these targets, it is clear that modulation of eicosanoid production and action provides clear medical benefit in multiple settings.

13 ABBREVIATIONS

- COX cyclooxygenase
- DP dipeptidase
- FLAP 5-LO activating protein

- gGTP gamma glutamyl transpeptidase
- HETE hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
- HPETE hydroperoxyeicostetraenoicacid
 - LO lipoxygenase
 - LT leukotriene
 - PG prostaglandin
 - PLA phospholipase
 - TX thromboxane

REFERENCES

- T. Y. Shen, Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery, 4th ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1981, p. 1205.
- P. Bernstein, T. Bid, and A. Brewster, Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery, Vol.
 5, 5th ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1997, p. 405.
- 3. E. Aangaard and B. Samuelsson, J. Biol. Chem., 240,3518 (1965).
- 4. C. Leslie, D. Voelker, C. Joy, and P. Zeliarney, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 963,476 (1988).
- J. Chen, S. Engle, J. Seilhammer, and J. Tischfield, J. Biol. Chem., 269, 2365 (1994).
- R. L. Bell and P. Majerus, J. Biol. Chem., 255, 1790 (1980).
- J. Balsinde, H. Shinohara, L. Lefkowitz, C. Johnson, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 274, 25967 (1999).
- 8. E. Neufield and P. Majerus, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 258,2461 (1983).
- 9. J. Balsinde, M. Balboa, and E. Dennis, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 275,22544 (2000).
- J. Macdonald and H. Sprecher, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1084, 105 (1991).
- 11. M. Hamberg, J. Svensson, and B. Samuelsson, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 71,3824 (1974).
- 12. J. Morrow, K. Hill, R. Burk, T. Nammour, et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 87, 9383 (1990).
- C. Serhan, T. Takano, N. Chiang, K. Gronert, and C. Clish, *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, 161, S95 (2000).
- 14. For a review on the properties of 5-LO see: D. Riendeau, D. Denis, J.-P. Falgueyret, M. D. Percival, and M. J. Gresser in J. M. Bailey, Ed., *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, Lipoxins, and PAF*, Plenum, New York, 1991, pp. 31–38.
- R. A. F. Dixon, R. E. Jones, R. E. Diehl, C. D. Bennett, S. Kargman, and C. A. Rouzer, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 85,416-420 (1988).
- T. Matsumoto, C. D. Funk, O. Rådmark, J.-O. Hoog, H. Jornvall, and B. Samuelsson, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 85,2630 (1988).

- 17. *M. D. Percival, J. Biol. Chem.*, **266**, 10058–10061 (1991).
- 18. (a) B. A. Jakschik and L. H. Lee, Nature, 287, 51 (1980); (b) S. Yamamoto, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1128, 117–131 (1992).
- 19. K. Ochi, T. Yoshimoto, S. Yamamoto, B. Taniguchi, and T. Miyamoto, J. Biol. Chem., 258, 5754(1983).
- 20. D.Miller, J. Gillard, P.Vickers, S. Sadowski, et al., Nature, 343, 278(1990).
- 21. R. Maas, C. Ingram, D. Taber, J. Oates, and A. Brash, J. Biol. Chem., 257, 13515(1982).
- 22. N. Ueda, S. Yamamoto, J. A. Oates, and A. R. Brash, J. Biol. Chem., 258, 5754(1983).
- 23. T. Shimizu, T. Uzumi, Y. Seyama, K. Tadokoro, O. Rådmark, and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 86, 4175(1986).
- 24. A. Wong, M. Cook, S. Hwang, H. Sarau, et al., Biochemistry, 31, 4046(1992).
- 25. S. Kargman, P. Vickers, and J. Evans, J. Cell Biol., 119, 1701 (1992).
- 26. M. Peters-Golden and R. McNish, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 196, 147 (1993).
- 27. J. Woods, J. Evans, D. Ethier, S. Scott, et al., J. Exp. Med., 178, 1935 (1993).
- 28. J. Woods, J. Coffey, T. Brock, I. Singer, and M. Peters-Golden, J. Clin. Invest., 95, 2035 (1995).
- 29. T. Brock, R. McNish, and M. Peters-Golden, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 21652 (1995).
- 30. M. Coffey, M. Peters-Golden, J. Fantone, and P. Sporn, J. Biol. Chem., 267, 570 (1992).
- **31.** J. Mancini, M. Abramovitz, M. Cox, E. Wong, et al., FEBS Lett., **318,277** (1993).
- 32. For reviews on the biosynthesis of LTB, see:
 (a) B. Samuelsson and C. D. Funk, J. Biol. Chem., 264, 19469(1989); (b) O. Rådmark and J. Haeggstrom in B. Samuelsson, S. E. Dahlén, J. Fritsch, and P. Hedqvist, Eds., Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 20, Raven, New York, 1990, pp. 35-42.
- J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, R. Shapiro, B. L.Vallee, and B. Samuelsson, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 172,965–970(1990).
- **34.** O. Rådmark, T. Shimizu, H. Jornvall, and B. Samuelsson, J. Biol. Chem., **259**, **12339–12345** (1984).
- **35.** *R. T. Soberman, T. W. Harper, R. C. Murphy, and K. F. Austen, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA,* **82,2292–2295(1985).**
- 36. G. Hansson, J. Å. Lindgren, S. E. Dahlén, P. Hedqvist, and B. Samuelsson, FEBS Lett., 130, 107–112(1981).

- D.W. Nicholson, A. Ambereen, M.W. Klemba, N. A. Mundy, R. J. Zamboni, and A.W. Ford-Hutchinson, J. Biol. Chem., 267, 17849–17857 (1992).
- D.W. Nicholson, M.W. Klemba, D. M. Rasper, K. M. Metters, R. J. Zamboni, and A.W. Ford-Hutchinson, Eur. J. Biochem., 209, 725–734 (1992).
- B. K. Lam, J. F. Penrose, K. Xu, and K. F. Austen, J. Lipid Mediat. Cell Signal., 12, 333–341 (1995).
- **40.** *C.W. Parker, S. F. Falkenhein, and M. M.* **Hu**ber, Prostaglandins, **20, 863–866(1980).**
- **41.** B. Carter, Z. Shi, R. Barrios, and M. Lieberman, J. Biol. Chem., **273**, **28277**(1998).
- **42.** *Z. Shi, B. Han, G.* **Habib,** *M. Matzuk, and M. Lieberman, Mol. Cell. Biol.*, **21, 5389 (2001).**
- 43. See discussion and references in: W. R. Henderson in B. Samuelsson, F. Berti, G. C. Folco, and G. P. Velo, Eds., Drugs Affecting Leukotrienes and Other Eicosanoid Pathways, Plenum, New York, 1985, pp. 339–349.
- 44. (a)T. Jones, P. Masson, R. Hamel, G. Brunet, G. Holme, Y. Girard, M. Larue, and J. Rokach, Prostaglandins, 24,279-291(1982);(b) D.Denis, S. Charleson, A. Rackham, T. R. Jones, A. W. Ford-Hutchison, A. Lord, M. Cirino, Y. Girard, M. Larue, and J. Rokach, Prostaglandins, 24,801-814(1982).
- 45. H. Onishi, H. Kosuzume, Y. Kitamura, K. Yamaguchi, M. Nobuhara, Y. Suzuki, S. Yoshida, H. Tomioka, and A. Kumagai, Prostaglandins, 20,655-666 (1980).
- 46. S. Hammarstrom, L. Orning, and A. Keppler, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., **524**, 43 (1988).
- 47. L. Orning, L. Kaijser, and S. Hammarström, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 130, 214– 220 (1985).
- 48. For a detailed review of the effortson "Structure Elucidation and the Total Synthesis of the Leukotrienes" see: E. J. Corey, D. A. Clark, and A. Marfat in L. W. Chakrin and D. M. Bailey, Eds., The Leukotrienes Chemistry and Biology, Academic Press, New York, 1984, pp. 14–103.
- 49. P. J. Piper, Physiol. Rev., 64, 2 (1984).
- 50. W. Feldberg and C. H. Kellaway, J. Physiol., 94,187–226(1938).
- 51. C. H. Kellaway and R. E. Trethewie, J. Exp. *Physiol.*, 30, 121–145 (1940).
- 52. W. E. Brocklehurst, Prog. Allergy, 6,539–558 (1962).
- 53. W. E. Brocklehurst, J. Physiol., 128, 1 (1955).

COX-2 Inhibitors and Leukotriene Modulators

- 54. P. J. Piper in L. W. Chakrin and D. M. Bailey, Eds., The Leukotrienes Chemistry and Biology, Academic Press, New York, 1984, pp. 215–230.
- 55. (a)B. Jakschik, S. Falkenheim, and C. Parker, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 74,4577 (1977); (b) C. Parker, B. Jakschik, M. Huber, and S. Falkenheim, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 89, 1186 (1979); (c) C. Parker, S. Falkenheim, and M. Huber, Prostaglandins, 20,863 (1980).
- P. Borgeat, M. Hamberg, and B. Samuelsson, J. Biol. Chem., 251,7816–7820 (1976); correction: J. Biol. Chem., 252,8772 (1977).
- **57.** *P. Borgeat and B. Samuelsson, J. Biol. Chem.,* **254, 2643–2646 (1979).**
- **58.** *P. Borgeat and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **76,3213–3217** (1979).
- **59.** E. J. Corey, Y. Arai, and C. Mioskowski, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 101,6748-6749 (1979).
- E. J. Corey, D. A. Clark, G. Goto, A. Marfat, C. Mioskowski, B. Samuelsson, and S. Hammarstrom, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 102,1436–1439 (1980).
- **R.** C. Murphy, S. Hammarstrom, and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 76, 4275 (1979).
- S. Hammarstrom, R. C. Murphy, B. Samuelsson, D. A. Clark, C. Mioskowski, and E. J. Corey, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 91, 1266–1272 (1979).
- 63. P. Borgeat and B. Samuelsson, J. Biol. Chem., 254, 7865 (1979).
- 64. H. R. Morris, G. W. Taylor, P. J. Piper, M. N. Samhoun, and J. R. Tippins, Prostaglandins, 19,185–201 (1980).
- 65. R. A. Lewis, J. M. Drazen, K. F. Austen, D. A. Clark, and E. J. Corey, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 96,217–277 (1980).
- 66. B, Samuelsson, P. Borgeat, S. Hammarstrom, and R. C. Murphy, Prostaglandins, 17, 785 (1979).
- 67. B. Samuelsson and S. Hammarstrom, Prostaglandins, 19,645 (1980).
- 68. G. K. Reid, S. Kargman, P. J. Vickers, J. A. Mancini, C. Lévillé, D. Ethier, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 265,19818 (1990).
- **69.** P. F. Weller, C. W. Lee, D. W. Foster, **E**. J. Corey, K. F. Austen, and R. A. Lewis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **80**, **7626–7630** (1983).
- R. M. McMillian, V. J. Masters, W. W. Sterling, and P. R. Bernstein in J. M. Bailey, Ed., Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Lipoxins: Biochemistry, Mechanisms of Action, and Clinical Applications, Plenum, New York, 1985, pp. 655–668.

- **71.** W. F. Owen, R. J. Soberman, R. A. Lewis, and K. F. Austen, J. Immunol., **138**, **532–538** (**1987**).
- 72. A. O. S. Fels, N. A. Pawlowski, E. B. Cramer, T. K. C. King, Z. A. Cohn, and W. A. Scott, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 79, 7866–7870 (1982).
- 73. B. K. Lam, L. Gagnon, K. F. Austen, and R. J. Soberman, J. Biol. Chem., 265, 13438–13441 (1990).
- 74. J. Fu, H. Haeggstrom, P. Collins, J. Meijer, and O. Rådmark, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1006, 121–126 (1989).
- **75.** J. E. McGee and F. A. Fitzpatrick, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 83,1349–1353(1983).
- F. Fitzpatrick, H. Haeggstrom, E. Granstrom, and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 84, 5425–5429 (1983).
- B. K. Lam, W. F. Owen Jr., K. F. Austen, and R. J. Soberman, J. Biol. Chem., 264, 12885– 12889 (1989).
- B. K. Lam, K. Xu, M. B. Atkins, and K. F. Austen, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 89, 11598-11602 (1992).
- 79. N. Barnes, J. Evans, J. Zakrzewski, P. Piper, and J. Costello, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 524, 369–378 (1985).
- 80. For a review of both human and nonhuman cysteinyl leukotriene receptors, see: J. S. Sawyer and D. L. Saussy Jr., Drug News Perspect., 6, 139–149 (1993).
- 81. D.W. Goldman and E. J. Goetzl, J. Exp. Med., 159,1027-1041 (1984).
- 82. T. Yokomizo, T. Izumi, K. Chang, Y. Takuwa, and T. Shimizu, Nature, 387, 620 (1997).
- 83. T. Yokomizo, K. Kato, K. Terawakai, T. Izumi, and T. Shimizu, J. Exp. Med., 192,421 (2000).
- 84. M. Kamohara, J. Takahashi, M. Matsumoto, T. Saito, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 275,27000 (2000).
- **85.** K. Kato, T. Yokomizo, T. Izumi, and T. Shimizu, J. Exp. Med., **192,413 (2000).**
- 86. T. Yokomizo, K. Kato, H. Hagiya, T. Izumi, and T. Shimizu, J. Biol. Chem., 276,12454 (2001).
- 87. P. Davechand, A. Hihi, M. Perroud, W. Schleuning, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 274, 23341 (1999).
- **88.** E. J. Goetzl and W. C. Pickett, J. Immunol., **125,1789–1791** (1980).
- 89. M. J. H. Smith, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, and M. A. Bray, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 32, 517– 518 (1980).
- **90.** A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, Crit. Rev. Immunol., **10**, **1–12** (1990).

- **91.** S. A. Rae and M. J. H. Smith, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., **33,616–617 (1980).**
- **92.** J. Bjork, P. Hedqvist, and K. E. **Arfors,** Inflammation, **6**, **189–199** (**1982**).
- 93. E. J. Goetzl, D. W. Goldman, P. H. Naccache, R. L. Sha'afi, and W. C. Pickett, Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 9, Raven, New York, 1982, pp. 273–282.
- **94. R.** M. McMillan and S. J. Foster, Agents Actions, **24**, **114–119** (1988).
- 95. A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, *Crit.* Rev. Zmmunol., 10, 1 (1990).
- 96. C. Labat, J. Ortiz, X. Norel, I. Gorenne, et al., J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 263,800 (1992).
- 97. (a) S. Crooke, H. Sarau, D. Saussy, J. Winkler, and J. Foley, Adv. Prostaglandin *Thrombox*-ane Leukot. Res., 20, 127 (1990); (b) K. Metters, J. Lipid Mediat. Cell Signal., 1, 413 (1995).
- 98. K. Metters and R. Zamboni, J. Biol. Chem., 268,6487 (1993).
- 99. (a) K. Lynch, G. O'Neill, Q. Liu, D. Im, et al., Nature, 399,789 (1999);(b) H. Sarau, R. Ames, J. Chambers, C. Ellis, et al., Mol. Pharmacol., 56,657 (1999).
- 100. (a) C. Heise, B. O'Dowd, D. Figuerora, N. Sawyer, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 275, 30531 (2000);
 (b) J. Takasaki, M. Kamohara, M. Matsumoto, T. Saito, et al., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 274, 316 (2000);
 (c) H. Nothacker, Z. Wang, Y. Zhu, R. Reinsceid, et al., Mol. Pharmacol., 58, 1601 (2000).
- **101. M. Samhoun** and P. J. Piper, Prostaglandins Leukot. Med., **13, 79 (1984).**
- 102. L. J. Smith, P. A. Greenberger, R. Patterson, R. D. Krell, and P. R. Bernstein, *Am.* Rev. *Respir. Dis.*, 131, 368372 (1985).
- 103. L. J. Smith, R. Patterson, R. Kern, R. D. Krell, and P. R. Bernstein, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 524, 298306 (1985).
- 104. R. Patterson, R. D. Krell, and P. R. Bernstein,
 Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., 133, 1127–1132 (1986).
- 105. L. A. Laitenen, A. Laitenen, T. Haahtela, V. Vilkka, B. W. Spur, and T. H. Lee, Lancet, 341, 989 (1993).
- **106.** W. R. Henderson, Ann. Allergy, **72**, **272–278** (1994).
- 107. V. Bellia, A. Bonanno, F. Cibella, G. Cuttitta, A. Mirabella, M. Profita, A. Vignola, and G. Bonsignore, J Allergy Clin. Zmmunol., 97,735 (1996).
- 108. X.-S. Chen, T. A. Naumann, U. Kurre, N. A. Jenkins, N. G. Copeland, and C. D. Funk, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 17993 (1995).

- 109. J. L. Goulet, J. N. Snouwaert, A. M. Latour, T. M. Coffman, and B. H. Koller, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 91, 12852 (1994).
- 110. (a) A. Goetze, L. Fayer, J. Bouska, D. Bornemeier, and G. Carter, Prostaglandins, 29,689 (1985); (b) C. Rouzer and B. Sarnuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 82,6040 (1985).
- 111. J.-P. Falgueyret, D. Denis, D. Macdonald, J. H. Hutchinson, and D. Riendeau, Biochemistry, 34, 13603 (1995).
- 112. C. D. Funk, H. Gunne, et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. *Sci.* USA, 86,2592 (1989).
- **113. T.** Nguyen, J.-P. Falgueyret, et al., **J.** Biol. Chem., **266,22057** (**1991**).
- 114. O. Rådmark, J. Lipid Mediat. Cell Signal., 12, 171 (1995).
- 115. R. Lepley and F. Fitzpatrick, J. Biol. Chem., 269,24163 (1994).
- **116.** C. A. Rouzer and B. Samuelsson, Methods *Enzymol.*, **187,312** (**1990**).
- 117. D. Steinhilber, Pharm. Acta Helv., 69, 3 (1994).
- 118. D. Aharony and R. L. Stein, J. Biol. Chem., 261,11512 (1986).
- 119. M. O. Funk, R. T. Carroll, J. F. Thompson, R. H. Sands, and W. R. Durham, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 112,5375 (1990).
- 120. R. W. Randall, K. E. Eakins, G. A. Higgs, J. A. Salmon, and J. E. Tateson, Agents Actions, 10, 553 (1980).
- 121. K. Swingle, R. Bell, and G. Moore in K. D. Rainsford, Ed., Antirheumatic and Antiin-flammatory Drugs, Vol. 3, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985, p. 105.
- 122. E. J. Corey, J. R. Cashman, S. S. Kantner, and S. W. Wright, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 106, 1053 (1984).
- 123. J. B. Summers, B. P. Gunn, H. Mazdiyasni, A. M. Goetze, P. R. Young, J. B. Bouska, R. D. Dyer, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, J. Med. Chem., 38,2121 (1987).
- 124. J. B. Summers, B. P. Gunn, J. G. Martin, H. Mazdiyasni, A. O. Stewart, P. R. Young, A. M. Goetze, J. B. Bouska, R. D. Dyer, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, J. Med. Chem., 31, 3 (1988).
- 125. J. B. Summers, B. P. Gunn, J. G. Martin, M. B. Martin, H. Mazdiyasni, A. O. Stewart, P. R. Young, J. B. Bouska, A. M. Goetze, R. D. Dyer, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, J. Med. Chem., 31, 1960 (1988).
- 126. W. P. Jackson, P. J. Islip, G. Kneen, A. Pugh, and P. J. Wates, J.Med. Chem., 31,499 (1988).
- 127. A. Payne, W. Jackson, J. Salmon, A. Nichols, et al., Agents Actions, 34, 189 (1991).

- 128. D. W. Brooks, J. B. Summers, B. P. Gunn, K. E. Rodriques, J. G. Martin, M. B. Martin, H. Mazdiyasni, J. H. Horns, A. O. Stewart, J. L. Moore, P. R. Young, D. H. Albert, J. B. Bouska, P. E. Malo, R. D. Dyer, R. L. Bell, P. R. Rubin, J. Kesterson, and G. W. Carter, Abstracts of the International Chemical Congress of Pacific Basin Societies, Honolulu, HI, BIOS34 (1989).
- 129. G. W. Carter, P. R. Young, D. H. Albert, J. B. Bouska, R. D. Dyer, R. L. Bell, J. B. Summers, D. W. Brooks, P. R. Rubin, and J. Kesterson in U. Zor, Z. Naor, and A. Danon, Eds., Leukotrienes and Prostanoids in Health and Disease, New Trends in Lipid Mediators Research, Vol. 3, Karger, Basel, Switzerland, 1989, p. 50.
- R. L. Bell in G. Folco, B. Samuelsson, and R. Murphy, Eds., *Progress in Inflammation Research*, Birkhauser Verlag, Switzerland, 1999, p. 235.
- 131. A. O. Stewart, P. A. Bhatia, J. G. Martin, J. B. Summers, K. E. Rodriques, M. B. Martin, J. H. Holms, J. L. Moore, R. A. Craig, T. Kolasa, J. D. Ratajczyk, H. Mazdiyasni, F. A. J. Kerdesky, S. L. DeNinno, R. G. Maki, J. B. Bouska, P. R. Young, C. Lanni, R. L. Bell, G. W. Carter, and C. D. W. Brooks, J. Med. Chem., 40,1955–1968 (1997).
- 132. L. Garland and S. Hodgson, Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot. Res., 22, 33 (1994).
- 133. M. Yeadon, F. L. Dougan, A. Petrovic, J. E. Beesley, and A. N. Payne, Agents Actions, 38, 8 (1993).
- 134. (a) G. W. Carter, P. R. Young, D. H. Albert, J. B. Bouska, R. D. Dyer, R. L. Bell, J. B. Summers, and D. W. Brooks, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 256, 929 (1991); (b) D. W. Brooks and G. W. Carter in V. J. Merluzzi and J. Adams, Eds., The Search for Anti-Inflammatory Drugs, Birkhauser Boston, Cambridge, MA, 1995, p. 129.
- 135. L. Dube, L. Swanson, W. Awni, R. Ochs, R. Bell, and G. Carter in J. Drazen, S. Dahlen, and T. Lee, Eds., 5-Lipoxygenuse Products in Asthma, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1998, p. 391.
- 136. P. R. Young, R. L. Bell, C. Lanni, J. B. Summers, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, *Eur.* J. *Pharmacol.*, 205, 259 (1991).
- 137. M. Namovic, R. Walsh, C. Goodfellow, R. Harris, G. Carter, and R. Bell, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **315**, 81 (1996).
- 138. (a) P. E. Malo, R. L. Bell, T. K. Shaughnessy,
 J. B. Summers, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, *Pulm. Pharmacol.*, 7, 73 (1994); (b)
 W. A. Abraham, A. Ahmed, A. Cortes, M. Siel-

czak, W. Hinz, J. Bouska, C. Lanni, and R. L. Bell, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 217,119 (1992).

- 139. P. R. Rubin, L. Dubé, R. A. Braeckman, L. Swanson, R. Hanson, D. Albert, and G. W. Carter in R. N. Ackerman, R. J. Booney, and A. F. Welton, Eds., *Progress in Inflammation, Research and Therapy*, Birkhauser, Basel, Switzerland, 1991, p. 103.
- 140. R. A. Braeckman, R. Granneman, P. R. Rubin, and J. Kesterson, J. Clin. Pharmacol., 29,837 (1989).
- 141. K. P. Hui, I. K. Taylor, G. W. Taylor, P. R. Rubin, J. Kesterson, N. C. Barnes, and P. J. Barnes, *Thorax*, 46,184 (1991).
- 142. G. C. Kane, M. Police, J. Cohn, J. J. Murray, J. E. Fish, and C. Peters, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 93, A129 (1994).
- 143. E. Israel, J. Cohn, L. Dube, Zileuton Study Group, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 275,931 (1996).
- 144. M. Liu, L. Dube, J. Lancaste, Zileuton Study Group, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 98, 859 (1996).
- 145. B. O'Connor, P. Godard, L. Dube, L. Swanson, et al., *Eur. Respir.* J.,9, 273S (1996).
- 146. D. J. Sweeney, J. B. Bouska, J Machinist, R. L. Bell, G. W. Carter, S. Cepa, and H. N. Nellans, *Drug Metab. Dispos.*, 20, 328 (1992).
- 147. (a) R. L. Bell, J. B. Bouska, P. E. Malo, C. Lanni, R. R. Harris, E. R. Otis, A. O. Stewart, D. W. Brooks, and G. W. Carter, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 272, 724 (1995); (b) G. W. Carter, R. L. Bell, K. Marsh, C. Lanni, W. M. Awni, J. B. Bouska, A. O. Stewart, R. Hansen, L. Dubé, and D. W. Brooks, *Ann.* N. Y. *Acad. Sci.*, 744,262 (1994).
- 148. J. C. Ojingwa, R. A. Braeckman, J. Hui, R. G. Hansen, and P. R. Rubin, *Pharm. Res.*, 9 (Suppl. 10), Abstr. PPDM8192 (1992).
- 149. (a) C. D. Brooks, A. O. Stewart, A. Basha, P. Bhatia, J. D. Ratajczyk, J. G. Martin, R. A. Craig, T. Kalasa, J. B. Bouska, C. Lanni, R. R. Harris, P. E. Malo, G. W. Carter, and R. L. Bell, J. Med. Chem., 38,4768 (1995); (b) R. Bell, R. Harris, P. Malo, J. Bouska, et al., J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 280, 1366 (1997).
- 150. B. Lehnigk, K. F. Rabe, R. S. Herst, P. J. Carpentier, and H. Magnussen, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 151, A376 (1995).
- 151. J. VanSchoor, G. F. Joos, J. C. Kips, R. A. Pauwels, J. F. Drajesk, and P. J. Carpentier, *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, 151, A376 (1995).
- 152. T. G. C. Bird, P. Bruneau, G. C. Crawley, M. P. Edwards, S. J. Foster, J. M. Girodeau, J. F. Kingston, and R. M. McMillan, J. Med. Chem., 34,2176 (1991).

- 153. R. M. McMillan, T. G. C. Bird, G. C. Crawley, M. P. Edwards, J. M. Girodeau, J. F. Kingston, and S. J. Foster, *Agents Actions*, 34, 110 (1991).
- 154. R. M. McMillan, J. M. Girodeau, and S. J. Foster, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 101, 501 (1990).
- 155. G. C. Crawley, R. I. Dowell, P. N. Edwards, S. J. Foster, R. M. McMillan, E. R. H. Walker, D. Waterson, T. G. C. Bird, P. Bruneau, and J. M. Girodeau, J. Med. Chem., 35, 2600 (1992).
- 156. C. Lambert-van der Brempt, P. Bruneau, M. Lamorlette, and S. J. Foster, J. Med. Chem., 37, 113 (1994).
- 157. R. A. Yates, R. M. McMillan, S. H. Ellis, M. Hutchinson, E. M. Culmore, and D. M. Wilkinson, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, 145, A745 (1992).
- 158. S. M. Nasser, G. S. Bell, S. J. Foster, K. Spruce, R. M. McMillan, A. J. Williams, J. P. Arm, and T. K. Lee, *Thorax*, 49,749 (1994).
- 159. S. M. Nasser, G. S. Bell, R. J. Hawksworth, K. E. Spruce, R. M. McMillan, A. J. Williams, T. K. Lee, and J. P. Arm, *Thorax*, 49, 743 (1994).
- 160. SCRIP Pharmaceutical News, 2050, 6 (1995).
- 161. G. C. Crawley, S. J. Foster, R. M. McMillan, and E. R. H. Walker in V. J. Merluzzi and J. Adams, Eds., *The Search for Anti-Inflammatory Drugs*, Birkhauser Boston, Cambridge, MA, 1995, p. 191.
- 162. E. R. H. Walker, Book of Abstracts Second International Inflammation Society Congress on Inflammation, Brighton, UK, 1995, Abstr. W19/L01.
- 163. M. Therien, B. J. Fitzsimmons, J. Scheigetz, D. McDonald, L. Y. Choo, J. Guay, J.-P. Falgueyret, and D. Riendeau, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 3,2063 (1993).
- 164. J. Dellaria, J. Moore, K. Hulkower, J. Bouska, et al., Proceedings of the 211th American Chemical Society National Meeting, New Orleans, LA, 1996.
- 165. J. W. Gillard, et al., Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 67,456 (1989).
- 166. A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, et al., Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 67,989 (1989).
- 167. R. N. Young, J. W. Gillard, J. H. Hutchinson, S. Leger, and P. Prasit, J. Lipid Mediators, 6,233 (1993).
- 168. J. W. Woods, J. F. Evans, D. Ethier, S. Scott, P. J. Vickers, L. Hearn, J. A. Heiben, and I. I. Singer, J. *Exp. Med.*, 178, 1935 (1993).
- 169. M. Peters-Golden and R. W. McNish, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 196, 147 (1993).

- 170. A. Wong, M. Cook, S. Hwang, H. Sarau, et al., *Biochemistry*, 31,4046 (1992).
- 171. C. A. Rouzer, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, H. E. Morton, and J. W. Gillard, J. Biol. Chem., 265, 1436 (1990).
- 172. J. A. Mancini, M. Abramovitz, M. E. Cox, E. Wong, S. Charleson, H. Perrier, Z. Wang, P. Prasit, and P. J. Vickers, *FEBS Lett.*, 318, 277–281 (1993).
- 173. R. A. F. Dixon, R. E. Diehl, E. Opas, E. Rands,
 P. J. Vickers, J. F. Evans, J. W. Gillard, and
 D. K. Miller, *Nature*, 343,282 (1990).
- 174. J. W. Gillard, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, C.-C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Denis, A. Foster, R. Fortin, S. Léger, C. S. McFarlane, H. Morton, H. Piechuta, D. Riendeau, C. A. Rouzer, J. Rokach, R. N. Young, D. E. MacIntyre, L. Peterson, T. Bach, G. Eiermann, S. Hopple, J. Humes, D. Hupe, S. Luell, and S. Pacholok, *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.*, 67, 456 (1989).
- 175. E. H. Bel, W. Tanaka, R. Spector, B. Friedman, J. H. Von de Veen, J. H. Dijkman, and P. J. Sterk, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., 141, A31 (1990).
- 176. Z. Diamant, M. C. Timmers, H. Van der Veen, B. S. Friedman, M. D. Smet, M. Depre, D. Hillard, E. H. Bel, and P. J. Sterk, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, 95, 42 (1995).
- 177. K. R. Chapman, B. S. Freidman, S. Shingo, J. Heyes, T. Reiss, and R. Spectro, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 149, A215 (1994).
- 178. W. Storms, B. S. Friedman, J. Zhang, N. Santarello, N. Allegar, D. Appel, W. Beaucher, F. Bronsky, W. Busse, P. Chervinsky, R. Dockhorn, T. Edwards, M. Goldstein, J. Grossman, L. Hendeles, J. Kemp, N. Memon, M. Noonan, G. Owens, G. Shapiro, I. Spirn, M. Strek, W. Stricker, D. Tinkelman, R. Townley, A. Wanderer, J. Winter, and T. Woehler, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 151, A377 (1995).
- 179. C. D. W. Brooks, A. O. Stewart, T. Kolasa, A. Basha, P. Bhatia, J. D. Ratajczyk, R. A. Craig, D. Gunn, R. R. Harris, J. B. Bouska, P. E. Malo, R. L. Bell, and G. W. Carter, *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 70,271 (1998).
- **180.** T. Kolasa, P. Bhatia, and D. W. Brooks, U.S. Pat. **5,399,699(1995).**
- 181. K. W. Woods, C. D. W. Brooks, R. G. Maki, K. E. Rodriques, J. B. Bouska, P. Young, R. L. Bell, and G. W. Carter, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 6,1547–1552 (1996).
- 182. R. Frenette, J. H. Hutchinson, S. Leger, M. Therien, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Ethier, J. Guay, T. R. Jones, M. McAuliffe, H. Piechuta, D. Reindeau, P. Targari, and Y. Giard, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 9,2391–2396 (1999).

- 183. T. Kolasa, D. E. Gunn, A. O. Stewart, and C. D. W. Brooks, Tetrahedron: Asymmetry, 7, 2645-2654 (1996).
- 184. T. Kolasa, D. E. Gunn, P. Bhatia, K. W. Woods, T. Gane, A. O. Stewart, J. B. Bouska, R. R. Harris, K. I. Hulkower, P. E. Malo, R. L. Bell, G. W. Carter, and C. D. W. Brooks, J. Med. Chem., 43,690-705 (2000).
- 185. J. Haeggstrom and A. Wetterholm in G. Folco, B. Samuelsson, and R. Murphy, Eds., Novel Inhibitors of Leukotrienes, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, Switzerland, 1999, p. 45.
- 186. J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, R. Shapiro, B. L. Valee, and B. Samuelsson, Biochem. *Bio*phys. Res. Commun., 173,431 (1990).
- 187. J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, R. Shapiro, B. L. Valee, and B. Samuelsson, Biochem. *Bio*phys. Res. *Commun.*, 173,431 (1990).
- 188. W. Yuan, Z. Zhong, C. Wong, J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, and B. Samuelsson, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 1,551 (1991).
- 189. W. Yuan, B. Muñoz, C. Wong, J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, and B. Samuelsson, *J.* Am. Chem. Soc., 114, 6552 (1992).
- 190. W. Yuan, B. Muñoz, C. Wong, J. Z. Haeggstrom, A. Wetterholm, and B. Samuelsson, *J*. Med. Chem., 36,211 (1993).
- 191. I. R. Ollman, J. H. Hogg, B. Muñoz, J. Z. Haeggstrom, B. Samuelsson, and C. H. Wong, Bioorg. Med. Chem., **3,969**(1995).
- 192. T. Penning, Curr. Pharm. Des., 7, 163-179 (2001).
- **193.** T. Penning, L. Askonas, S. Djuric, et al., Bioorg. Med. Chem., **5,2517** (**1995**).
- 194. T. Penning, N. Chandrakumar, B. Chen, et al., J. Med. Chem., 43,721–735 (2000).
- 195. M. Russell, N. Chandrakumar, B. Chen, P. Collins, et d., Proceedings of the 8th International Congess on Inflammation, Bristol, UK, W30 (1996).
- 196. W. Smith, M. Russell, D. Liang, L. Askonas, et al., Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids, 55 (Suppl. 1), 13 (1996).
- 197. J. Yuan, J. Birkemeir, D. Yang, J. Hribar, et al., Drug *Metab.* Dispos., 24, 1124 (1996).
- 198. R. Byrum, J. Goulet, J. Snouwaert, R. Griffeths, and B. Koller, J. Immunol., 163, 6810 (1999).
- 199. A. Ali, R. J. Zamboni, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, and D. W. Nicholson, FEBS Lett., 317, 195 (1993).
- 200. B. K. Lam, J. F. Penrose, G. J. Freeman, and K. F. Austen, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 91, 7663 (1994).

- 201. J. Penrose, K. Austen, and B. Lam in G. Folco,
 B. Samuelsson, and R. Murphy, Eds., Novel Inhibitors of Leukotrienes, Birkhauser Verlag,
 Basel, Switzerland, 1999, p. 23.
- 202. B. Lam and K. F. Austen, *Am.* J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 161, S16 (2000).
- 203. A. Shaw and R. D. Krell, J. Med. Chem., 34, 1235-1242 (1991).
- **204.** J. A. Salmon and L. G. Garland, Prog. Drug Res., **37, 9-90 (1991).**
- **205.** C. D. W. Brooks and J. B. Summers, J. Med. Chem., **39,2629–2654** (1996).
- 206. R. D. Krell, B.-S. Tsai, A. Berdouiay, M. Barone, and R. E. Giles, Prostaglandins, 25, 171–178 (1983).
- 207. C. K. Buckner, R. D. Krell, R. B. Laravuso, D. B. Coursin, P. R. Bernstein, and J. A. Will, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 237, 558-562 (1986).
- 208. W. S. Marshall, T. Goodson, G. J. Cullinan, D. Swanson-Bean, K. D. Haisch, L. E. Rinkema, and J. H. Fleisch, J. Med. Chem., 30,682–689 (1987).
- 209. J. H. Fleisch, L. E. Rinkema, K. D. Haisch, D. Swanson-Bean, T. Goodson, P. P. K. Ho, and W. S. Marshall, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 233, 148–157 (1985).
- 210. S. A. Silbaugh, P. W. Stengel, P. A. Pechous, and W. S. Marshall, *Am.* Rev. Respir. Dis., 140, 610–614 (1989).
- 211. J. G. Gleason, T. W. Ku, C. M. Kinzig, M. E. McCarthy, C. D. Perchonock, I. Kuzinkas, B. Berkowitz, and B. M. Weichman in J. C. Emmett, Ed., Proceedings of the Second SCI-RSC Medicinal Chemistry Symposium, The Royal Society of Chemistry, London, 1984, pp. 257–267.
- 212. D. W. P. Hay, R. M. Muccitelli, L. M. Vickery-Clark, K. A. Wilson, L. Bailey, S. S. Tucker, L. P. Yodis, R. D. Eckardt, J. F. Newton, J. M. Smallheer, M. E. McCarthy, J. G. Gleason, M. A. Wasserman, and T. J. Torphy, Pharmacologist, 30, Abstr. 96 (1988).
- 213. For a review of the development of SKF 104353, SKF 106203, LY170680, and CGP45715A see: A. von Sprecher, A. Beck, A. Sallmann, W. Breitenstein, H. Wiestner, S. Kimmel, G. P. Anderson, N. Subramanian, and M. A. Bray, Drugs Future, 16,827 (1991).
- 214. (a) D. W. P. Hay, J. F. Newton, T. J. Torphy, and J. G. Gleason, Drugs Future, 15,240–244 (1990);(b) D. W. P. Hay, R. M. Muccitelli, S. S. Tucker, L. W. Vickery-Clark, K. A. Wilson,

J. G. Gleason, R. F. Hall, M. A. Wasserman, and T. J. Torphy, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 243,474–481(1987).

- 215. S. R. Baker, J. R. Boot, R. Lucas, and G. Wishart, *Drugs Future*, 16,432-436(1991).
- 216. T. S. Abrams, H. Boshagen, J. E. Butler, N. J. Cuthbert, H. P. Francis, P. J. Gardiner, W. Hartwig, H. C. Kluender, P. Norman, H. Meier, U. Rosentreter, K. H. Schlemmer, S. R. Tudhope, and W. A. Taylor, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 8,1517–1522(1993).
- 217. W. A. Taylor in B. Testa, E. Kyburz, W. Fuhrer, and R. Giger, Eds., *Perspectives in Medicinal Chemistry*, Verlag Helvetica Chimica Acta, Weinheim, Germany, 1993, pp. 445–458.
- 218. P. R. Bernstein, D. W. Snyder, E. J. Adams, R. D. Krell, E. P. Vacek, and A. K. Willard, J. Med. Chem., 29, 2477-2483(1986).
- 219. T. S. Abram, N. J. Cuthbert, H. P. Francis, P. J. Gardiner, P. Norman, and W. A. Taylor, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, 147 (Suppl.), A179 (1993).
- 220. J. H. Musser and A. F. Kreft, *Drugs Future*, 15, 73 (1990).
- 221. R. Zamboni, M. Belley, E. Champion, L. Charette, R. DeHaven, R. Frenette, J. Y. Gauthier, T. R. Jones, S. Leger, P. Masson, C. S. McFarlane, K. Metters, S. S. Pong, H. Piechuta, J. Rokach, M. Therien, H. W. R. Williams, and R. N. Young, J. Med. Chem., 35, 3832–3844 (1992).
- M. Labelle, M. Belley, Y. Gareau, J. Y. Gauthier, D. Guay, R. Gordon, S. G. Grossman, T. R. Jones, Y. Leblanc, M. McAuliffe, C. McFarlane, P. Masson, K. M. Metters, N. Ouimet, D. H. Patarick, H. Piechuta, C. Rochette, N. Sawyer, Y. B. Xiang, C. B. Pickett, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, R. J. Zamboni, and R. N. Young, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 5,283–288(1995).
- 223. T. Nabe, S. Kohno, T. Tanpo, Y. Saeki, H. Yamamura, M. Horiba, and K. Ohata, *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids*, 51, 163–171 (1994).
- 224. T. Obata, N. Katsube, T. Miyamoto, M. Toda, T. Okegawa, H. Nakai, S. Kosuge, M. Konno, Y. Arai, and A. Kawasaki in O. Hayaishi and S. Yamamoto, Eds., Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 15, Raven, New York, 1985, pp. 229–231.
- 225. H. Nakai, M. Konno, S. Kosuge, S. Sakuyarna, M. Toda, Y. Arai, T. Obata, N. Katsube, T. Miyamoto, T. Ukegawa, and A. Kawasaki, J. Med. Chem., 31, 84–91 (1988).
- **226.** *M*. Toda, H. Nakai, S. Kosuge, M. Konno, Y. Arai, T. Miyamoto, T. Obata, N. Katsube, and

A. Kawasaki in O. Hayaishi and S. Yamamoto, Eds., Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 15, Raven, New York, 1985, pp. 307–308.

- 227. Y. K. Yee, Curr. Top. Med. Chem., 1,439-451 (1993).
- 228. F. J. Brown in V. J. Merluzzi and J. Adams, Eds., *The Search for Anti-Inflammatory Drugs*, Birkhauser Boston, Cambridge, MA, 1995, pp. 161–190.
- 229. P. R. Bernstein, *Drugs Future*, 19, 217–220 (1994).
- 230. F. J. Brown, Y. K. Yee, L. A. Cronk, K. C. Hebbel, R. D. Krell, and D. W. Snyder, J. Med. Chem., 33,1771–1781(1990).
- 231. V. G. Matassa, T. P. Maduskuie Jr., H. S. Shapiro, B. Hesp, D. W. Snyder, D. Aharony, R. D. Krell, and R. A. Keith, J. Med. Chem., 33, 1781–1790 (1990).
- 232. D. W. Snyder, R. E. Giles, R. A. Keith, Y. K. Yee, and R. D. Krell, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 243, 548-556(1987).
- 233. D. Aharony, R. Falcone, Y. K. Yee, B. Hesp,
 R. E. Giles, and R. D. Knell, *Ann.* N. Y. *Acad. Sci.*, 524, 162–180 (1988).
- 234. R. D. Krell, R. E. Giles, Y. K. Yee, and D. W. Snyder, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 243, 557–564 (1987).
- 235. C. R. Turner, W. B. Smith, C. J. Andresen, A. C. Swindell, and J. W. Watson, *Pulm. Pharmacol.*, 7, 49–58(1994).
- 236. R. D. Krell, D. Aharony, C. K. Buckner, R. A. Keith, E. J. Kusner, D. W. Snyder, P. R. Bernstein, V. G. Matassa, Y. K. Yee, F. J. Brown, B. Hesp, and R. E. Giles, *Am. Rev. Resp. Dis.*, 141, 978–987 (1990).
- 237. L. J. Smith, S. Geller, L. Ebright, M. Glass, and
 P. T. Thyrum, Am. Rev. Resp. Dis., 141, 988 (1990).
- 238. B. Friedman and D. J. Margolskee in C. Robinson, Ed., *Lipid Mediators Allerg. Dis. Repir. Tract.*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1994, pp. 207–224.
- 239. For a review of clinical studies with LY171883 see: (a) J. Fleisch, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 524, 356–368(1988); (b) J. H. Fleisch, A. R. Dowell, and W. S. Marshall in U. Zor, Z. Naor, and A. Danon, Eds., Leukotrienes and Prostanoids in Health and Disease, New Trends in Lipid Mediators Research, Vol. 3, Karger, Basel, Switzerland, 1989, pp. 72–76.
- 240. A. M. Bendele, D. M. Hoover, R. B. van Lier,
 P. S. Foxworthy, and P. L. Eacho, *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.*, 15, 676–682 (1990).

- 241. P. I. Eacho, P. S. Foxworthy, and D. K. Herron in G. Gibson and B. Lake, Eds., Peroxisomes: Biology and Importance in Toxicology and Medicine, Taylor & Francis, London, 1993, pp. 343–372.
- 242. (a)J. M. Evans, N. C. Barnes, J. T. Zakrzewski, H. P. Glenny, P. J. Piper, and J. F. Costello, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 26, 577P-678P (1988);(b) G. F. Joos, J. C. Kips, M. Puttemans, R. A. Pauwels, and M. E. Van Der Straeten, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 83, 187 (1989).
- 243. J. Gleason, R. Hall, D. Hay, J. Newton, T. Torphy, H. Sarau, M. Hayhurst, C. Broom, and H. Helfrich, New Drugs for Asthma, Satellite XIth International Congress on Pharmacology, Abstr. 12 (1990).
- 244. R. D. Murdoch, J. Upward, C. Compton, et al., Thorax, 49, 422P (1994).
- 245. B. Seidenberg and T. Reiss in J. Drazen, S. Dahlen, and T. Lee, Eds., 5-Lipoxygenase Products in Asthma, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1998, p. 327.
- 246. A. Markham and D. Faulds, Drugs, 56, 251 (1998).
- 247. B. Jarvis and A. Markham, Drugs, 59, 891 (2000).
- 248. A. Becker, Drugs, 59, 29 (2000).
- 249. C. Bonuccelli and T. Higgins in J. Drazen, S. Dahlen, and T. Lee, Eds., 5-Lipoxygenase Products in Asthma, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1998, p. 365.
- 250. P. Bernstein in G. Folco, B. Samuelsson, and R. Murphy, Eds., Novel Inhibitors of Leukotrienes, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, Switzerland, 1999, p. 215.
- 251. K. SalviManapudi, A. Sampson, and S. Holgate, Chest, 119,1533 (2001).
- 252. A. Leff, Annu. Rev. Med., 52, 1 (2001).
- 253. D. Yanase and D.-K. Bajar, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol., 44, 89 (2001).
- 254. *R.* Asero, *Ann.* Allergy Asthma Immunol., 85, 156 (2000).
- 255. J. Carucci, K.Washenik, A.Weinstein, J. Shupack, and D. Cohen, Arch. Dermatol., 134, 785 (1998).
- **256.** D. Woodmansee and R. Simon, Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol., **83,548 (1999).**
- 257. C. Dunn and K. Goa, Drugs, 61,285 (2001).
- 258. M. Wechsler, D. Finn, D. Gunawardena, R. Westlake, A. Barker, S. Haranath, R. Pauwels, J. Kips, and J. Drazen, Chest, 117,708 (2001).
- **259.** N. Cohen and K. Yagoloff, Curr. Opin. Invest. Drugs, **3**, **114** (**1994**).

- **260.** J. S. Sawyer, Exp. Opin. Invest. Drugs, **5**, **1** (**1996**).
- **261.** S.W. Djuric, D. J. Fretland, and T. D. Penning, Drugs Future, **17,819–830 (1992).**
- 262. S. A. Silbaugh, P.W. Stengel, S. L. Cockerham, C. R. Roman, D. L. Saussy Jr., S. M. Spaethe, T. Goodson, D. K. Herron, and J. H. Fleisch, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 223, 57–64 (1992).
- 263. D. M. Gapinski, B. E. Mallett, L. L. Froelich, and W. T. Jackson, J. Med. Chem., 33, 2798– 2807 (1990).
- 264. D. K. Herron, T. Goodson, N. G. Bollinger, D. Swanson-Bean, I. G.Wright, G. S. Staten, A. R. Thompson, L. L. Froelich, and W. T. Jackson, J. Med. Chem., 35,1818–1828 (1992).
- 265. P. Marder, J. S. Sawyer, L. L. Froelich, L. L. Mann, and S. M. Spaethe, Biochem. Pharmacol., 49, 1683–1690 (1995).
- 266. S. Silbaugh, P. Stengel, S. Cockerham, L. Froelich, et al., Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol., 361,397 (2000).
- 267. K. Kishikawa, N. Tateishi, T. Maruyama, R. Seo, M. Toda, and T. Miyamoto, Prostaglandins, 44,261–275 (1992).
- 268. H. M. Sarau, J. J. Foley, D. B. Schmidt, M. N. Tzimas, L. D. Martin, R. A. Daines, P. A. Chambers, W. D. Kingsbury, and D. E. Griswold, Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 23, Raven, New York, 1995, pp. 275–277.
- 269. P. Marshall, Inflammation Research Association Satellite Meeting on LTB₄ Antagonists as Potential Therapeutic Agents, Inflammation Research Association, New York, 1994.
- 270. F. Birke, C. Meade, R. Anderskewitz, G. Speck, and H. Jennewein, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 297,458 (2001).
- **271.** D. Evans, P. Barnes, P. Spaethe, and E. van Alstyne, Thorax, **51,1178 (1996).**
- 272. J. Mommers, M. Rossum, M. Kooijmans-Otero, G. Parker, and P. Van De Kerkhof, Br. J. Dermatol., 142, 259 (2000).
- **273.** U. S. Von Euler, Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol., **78, 175 (1934).**
- **274.** *M.* **Hamberg**, *J. Svensson, and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **71**, **3824** (1974).
- 275. M. Hamberg, J. Svensson, and B. Samuelsson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 72,2994 (1975).
- **276.** S. Moncada, R. Gryyglewski, S. Bunting, and J. Vane, Nature, 263,663 (1976).
- 277. S. Ferreira, S. Moncada, and J. Vane, *Nat. New Biol.*, 231,237 (1971).
- **278.** G. Roth, N. Stanford, and P. Majerus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **72,3073 (1975).**

- T. Miayamoto, N. Ogino, S. Yamamoto, and O. Hayaishi, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 251, 2629(1976); M. Hemler, W. Lands, and W. Smith, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 255, 5575(1976).
- 280. W. Smith, D. Dewitt, and R. Garavito, *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 69, 145 (2000).
- 281. A. Tsai, R. Kulmacz, and G. Palmer, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 10503(1995).
- 282. (a) D. Dewitt and W. Smith, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 85, 1412 (1988); (b) J. Merlie, D.
 Fagan, J. Mudd, and P. Needleman, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 263, 3550 (1988); (c) C. Yokoyama, T.
 Takai, and T. Tanabe, *FEBS Lett.*, 231, 347 (1988).
- 283. D. Kujubu, B. Fletcher, B. Varnum, R. Lim, and H. Herschmann, J. Biol. Chem., 266, 12866 (1991).
- 284. W. Xie, J. Chipman, D. Robertson, R. Erikson, and D. Simmons, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 88,2692(1991).
- 285. D. Picot, P. Loll, and R. Garavito, *Nature*, 367, 243 (1994).
- 286. A. Raz, A. Wyche, N. Siegel, and P. Needleman, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 86, 1657 (1989).
- 287. J. Fu, J. Masferrer, K. Seibert, A. Raz, and P. Needleman, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 265, 16737(1990).
- 288. J. Masferrer, K. Seibert, B. Zweifel, and P. Needleman, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 89, 3917 (1992).
- 289. A. Boanazzi, V. Mastyugin, P. Mieyal, M. Dunn, and M. Laniado-Schwartzman, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 2837(2000).
- 290. H.Herschman, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1299, 125 (1996).
- **291.** Q. Guo, L. Ho, K. Ruan, and R. Kulmacz, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 1913 (1996).
- **292.** J. Gierse, J. MacDonald, S. Hauser, S. Rangwala, et al., J. *Biol. Chem.*, 271, 15810(1996).
- 293. T. Smith, J. McCracken, Y. Shin, and D. De-Witt, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 275,40407 (2000).
- **294.** J. Kiefer, J. Pawlitz, K. Moreland, R. Stegeman, et al., *Nature*, **405**, **97** (2000).
- 295. G.Lu, A. Tsai, H. van Wart, and R. Kulmarcz, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 16162 (1999).
- 296. K. Hulkower, E. Otis, J. Li, B. Ennis, D. Cugier, R. Bell, G. Carter, and K. Glaser, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 280, 1065 (1997).
- 297. Z.Guan, S.Buckman, A. Pentland, D. Templeton, and A. Morrison, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 12901 (1998).
- **298.** J. Schmedtje, Y. Ji, W. Liu, R. Dubois, and M. Rungo, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 272, 601(1997).

- 299. S. Song, H. Jong, H. Choi, H. Inoue, et al., Cancer Res., 61, 4628(2001).
- **300.** C. Chen, Y. Sun, **J.** Chen, and Y. Chang, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **59**, **493**(2001).
- 301. L. Howe, H. Crawford, K. Subbaramaiah, J. Hassell, A. Dannenburg, and A. Brown, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 20108(2001).
- **302**. H. Inoue, T. Tanabe, and K. Umesono, *J. Biol. Chem.*, **275**, **28028**(**2000**).
- 303. K. Subbaramaiah, N. Altorki, W. Chung, J. Mestre, A. Sampat, and A. Dannenburg, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 10911 (1999).
- 304. H. Sheng, J. Shao, and R. Dubois, *Cancer Res.*, 61, 2670 (2001).
- 305. R. Kulmacz, *FEBS Lett.*, 430, 154 (1998).
- **306.** D. Ribardo, S. Crowe, K. Kuhl, J. Peterson, and *A*. Chopra, J. *Biol. Chem.*, **276**, **5467** (2001).
- **307.** S. Reddy and H. Herschmann, **J.** *Biol. Chem.*, **272**, **3231**(1997).
- 308. (a) S. Reddy and H. Herschmann, J. Biol. Chem., 269, 15473(1994); (b) T.Brock, R. Mc-Nish, and M. Peters-Golden, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 11660 (1999).
- 309. N. Ueno, M. Murakami, T. Tanioka, K. Fujimori, et al., *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276, 34918(2001).
- 310. T. Tanioka, Y. Nakatani, N. Semmyo, M. Murakami, and I. Kudo, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 32775 (2000).
- 311. P.Jakobsson, S. Thoren, R. Morgenstern, and B. Samuelsson, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 96, 7220 (1999).
- **312.** M. Murakami, H. Naraba, T. Tanioka, N. Semmyo, et *al.*, J. *Biol. Chem.*, **275**, **32783**(2000).
- 313. P. Jakobsson, R. Morgenstern, J. Mancini, A. Ford-Hutchinson, and B. Persson, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 161, 520 (2000).
- **314.** J. Liou, W. Deng, D. Gilroy, S. Shyue, and K. Wu, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 276, 34975 (2001).
- 315. C. Harris and D. Brater, *Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens.*, 10,603(2001).
- 316. P. Majerus, *Curr. Biol.*, 8, R87 (1998).
- 317. E. Fosslien, Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci., 30, 3 (2000).
- 318. (a) H. Sheng, J. Shao, S. Kirkland, P. Issakson, et al., J. *Clin. Invest.*, 99, 2254 (1997); (b) E. Castano, R. Bartrons, and J. Gil, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 293, 509(2000).
- 319. (a) B. Ballif, N. Mincek, J. Barratt, M. Wilson, and D. Simmons, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93,5544(1996);(b) T. Chan, P. Morin, B. Vogelstein, and K. Kinzler, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95,681 (1998);(c) A. Hsu, T. Ching, D. Wang, X. Song, et al., J. *Biol. Chem.*, 275,

11397 (2000);(d) Z. Zhang and R. Dubois, *Gas*-troenterology, 118, 1012 (2000).

- **320.** D. Gilroy, M. Saunders, L.-S. Garcia, N.-M. Aleksic, and K. Wu, *FASEB* J., 15,288 (2001).
- **321. R.** Dubois, **J.** Shao, M. Tsuji, H. Sheng, and R. Beuchamp, Cancer Res., **56**, **733** (1996).
- 322. S. Presscott and F. Fitzpatrick, Biochim. *Bio*phys. *Acta*, 1470, M69 (2000).
- 323. (a) M. Jones, H. Wang, B. Peskar, E. Levin, et al., Nat. Med., 5, 1418 (1999); (b) C. Williams, M. Tsujii, J. Reese, S. Dey, and R. Dubois, J. Clin. Invest., 105, 1589 (2000).
- 324. C. Liu, S. Chung, K. Narko, O. Trifan, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 276, 18563 (2001).
- 325. T. D. Penning, J. J. Talley, S. R. Bertenshaw, J. S. Carter, P. W. Collins, S. Docter, M. J. Graneto, L. F. Lee, J. W. Malecha, J. W. Malecha, J. M. Miyashiro, R. S. Rogers, D. J. Rogier, S. S. Yu, G. D. Anderson, E. G. Burton, J. N. Cogburn, S. G. Gregory, C. M. Koboldt, W. E. Perkins, K. Seibert, A. W. Veenhuzen, Y. Y. Zhang, and P. C. Isakson, J. Med. Chem., 40,1347-1365(1997).
- 326. P. Prasit, Z. Wang, C. Bideau, C.-C. Chan, S. Charleson, W. Chromlish, D. Ethier, J. F. Evans, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, J. Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, J. Guay, M. Gresser, S. Kargman, B. Kennedy, Y. Leblanc, S. Leger, J. Mancini, G. P. O'Neil, M. Ouellet, M. D. Percival, H. Perrier, D. Riendeau, I. Rodger, P. Targari, M. Therien, P. Vickers, E. Wong, L.-J. Xu, R. N. Young, R. Zamboni, S. Boyce, N. Rupniak, M. Forrest, D. Visco, and D. Patrick, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9,1773-1778 (1999).
- 327. K. R. Gans, W. Galbraith, R. J. Roman, S. B. Haber, J. S. Kerr, W. K. Schmidt, C. Smith, W. E. Hewes, and N. R. Ackerman, *J. Pharma*col. Exp. Ther., 256, 180–187 (1990).
- **328.** J.G. Lombardino and E. H. Wisemann, J.Med. Chem., **17,1182–1187 (1974)**
- 329. R. G. Kurumbail, A. M. Stevens, J, K. Gierse, J. J. McDonald, R. A. Stegeman, J. Y. Pak, D. Gildehaus, J. M. Miyashiro, T. D. Penning, K. Seibert, P. C. Isakson, and W. C. Stallings, Nature, 384,644-648 (1996).
- 330. C. Luong, A. Miller, J. Barnett, J. Chow, C. Ramesha, and M. F. Browner, Nat. Struct. Biol., 3, 927-933 (1996).
- 331. J. R. Kiefer, J. L. Pawlitz, K. T. Moreland, R. A. Stegeman, W. F. Hood, J. K. Gierse, A. M. Stevens, D. C. Goodwin, S. W. Rowlinson, L. J. Marnett, W. C. Stallings, and R. G. Kurumbail, Nature, 405, 97–101 (2000).
- 332. T. D. Penning, S. W. Kramer, L. F. Lee, P. W. Collins, C. M. Koboldt, K. Seibert, A. M. Veen-

huizen, Y. Y. Zhang, and P. E. Isakson, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., **7,2121–2124**(1997).

- 333. I. K. Khanna, R. M. Weier, Y. Yu, X. D. Xu, F. J. Koszyk, P. W. Collins, C. M. Koboldt, A. W. Veenhuizen, W. E. Perkins, J. J. Casler, J. L. Masferrer, Y. Y. Zhang, S. A. Gregory, K. Siebert, and P. C. Isakson, J. Med. Chem., 40, 1634–1647 (1997).
- 334. I. K. Khanna, R. M. Weier, Y. Yu, X. D. Xu, F. J. Koszyk, P. W. Collins, C. M. Koboldt, A. W. Veenhuizen, W. E. Perkins, J. J. Casler, J. L. Masferrer, Y. Y. Zhang, S. A. Gregory, K. Siebert, and P. C. Isakson, J. Med. Chem., 40, 1634–1647 (1997).
- 335. T. E. Barta, M. A. Stealey, P. W. Collins, and R. M. Weier, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 8, 34434448 (1998).
- 336. J. S. Carter, S. Kramer, J. J. Talley, T. Penning, P. Collins, M. J. Graneto, K. Siebert, C. M. Koboldt, J. Masferrer, and B. Zweifel, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9,1771–1774(1999).
- 337. J. S. Carter, D. J. Rogier, M. J. Graneto, K. Siebert, C. M. Koboldt, Y. Zhang, and J. J. Talley, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9, 1767–1770 (1999).
- 338. J. J. Talley, S. R. Bertenshaw, D. L. Brown, J. S. Carter, M. J. Graneto, C. M. Koboldt, J. L. Masferrer, B. H. Norman, D. J. Rogier, B. S. Zweifel, and K. Seibert, Med. Res. Rev., 19, 199–205 (1999).
- 339. J. J. Talley, D. L. Brown, J. S. Carter, M. J. Graneto, C. M. Koboldt, J. L. Masferrer, W. E. Perkins, R. S. Rodgers, A. F. Shaffer, Y. Y. Zhang, and K. Seibert, J. Med. Chem., 43, 775–776 (2000).
- 340. L. A. Sorbera, P. A. Leeson, J. Castaner, and R. M. Castaner, Drugs Future, 26, 133–140 (2001).
- 341. W. C. Black, C. Brideau, C.-C. Chang, S. Charleson, N. Chauret, D. Claveau, D. Ethier, R. Gordon, G. Greig, J. Guay, G. Huges, P. Jolicoeur, Y. Leblanc, D. Nicoll-Griffith, N. Ouimet, D. Riendeau, D. Visco, Z. Wang, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, J. Med. Chem., 42, 1274–1281 (1999).
- 342. S. S. Shin, M.-S. Noh, Y. J. Byun, K. K. Choi, J. Y. Kim, K. M. Lim, J.-Y. Ha, J. K. Kim, C. H. Lee, and S. Chung, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 165–168 (2001).
- 343. J. Bosh, T. Roca, J.-L. Catena, O. Lorens, J.J. Perez, C. Lagunas, A. G. Fernandez, I. Miquel, A. Fernandez-Serrat, and C. Farrerons, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 10, 1745–1748 (2000).

References

- **344.** E. **Sartori** and J.-M. Teulon, U.S. Pat. **5,859,036(1999).**
- 345. P. Duran, P. Noguera, and F. Forner, WO97/ 34882 (1997).
- 346. C. Puig, M. I. Crespo, N. Godessart, J. Feixas, J. Ibarzo, J.-M. Jimenez, L. Soca, I. Cardelus, A. Heredia, M. Miralpeix, J. Puig, J. Beleta, J. M. Huerta, M. Lopez, V. Segarra, H. Ryder, and J. M. Palacios, J. Med. Chem., 43, 214–223 (2000).
- 347. J. Y. Gauthier, Y. Leblanc, W. C. Black, C.-C. Chan, W. A. Cormlish, R. Gordon, B. P. Kennedey, C. K. Leu, S. Leger, Z. Wang, D. Ethier, J. Guay, J. Mancini, D. Riendeau, P. Tagari, P. Vickers, E. Wong, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 6, 87–92 (1996).
- 848. K. Tsuji, K. Nakamura, N. Konishi, T. Kojo, T. Ochi, H. Senoh, and M. Matsuo, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 45,987–995 (1997).
- 849. P. Roy, Y. Leblanc, R. G. Ball, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, N. Chauret, W. Cromlish, D. Ethier, J.Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, G. Greig, J. Guay, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, G. O'Neill, J. Silva, M. Therien, C. vanStaden, E. Wong, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 7, 57-62 (1997).
- 350. M. Therien, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, W. A. Cromlish, J. Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, G. Greig, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, Y. Leblanc, C.-S. Li, G. P. O'Neill, D. Reiendeau, P. Roy, Z. Wang, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 7, 47–52 (1997).
- S1. C. Almansa, A. F. de Arriba, F. L. Cavalcanti, L. A. Gomez, A. Miralles, M. Merlos, J. Garcia-Rafanell, and J. Forn, J. Med. Chem., 44, 350– 361 (2001).
- 152. R. W. Friesen, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Deschenes, D. Dube, D. Ethier, R. Fortin, Y. Gauthier, Y. Girard, R. Gordon, G. M. Greig, D. Riendeau, C. Savoie, Z. Wang, E. Wong, D. Visco, L. J. Xu, and R. N. Young, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*,8,2777–2782 (1998).
- 53. D. Reindeau, M. D. Percival, C. Brideau, S. Charleson, D. Dube, D. Ethier, J.-P. Falgueyret, R. W. Friesen, R. Gordon, G. Greig, J. Guay, J. Mancini, M. Ouellet, E. Wong, L. Xu, S. Boyce, D. Visco, Y. Girard, P. Prasit, R. Zamboni, I. W. Rodger, M. Gresser, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, R. N. Young, and C. C. Chan, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 296, 558–566 (2001).
- 54. Exp. Opin. Ther. Patents, 9,1733-1738 (1999).
- **55.** C. Crespo, J. Mayorga, P. Duran, and S. Pueyo, **WO00/18753 (2000).**

- 356. D. J. P. Pinto, D. G. Batt, W. J. Pitts, J. J. Petraitis, M. J. Orwat, S. Wang, J. W. Jetter, S. R. Sherk, G. C. Houghton, R. A. Copeland, M. B. Covington, J. M. Trzaskos, and R. L. Magolda, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 9,919–924 (1999).
- 357. J. J. Li, M. B. Norton, E. J. Reinhard, G. D. Anderson, S. A. Gregory, P. C. Isakson, C. M. Koboldt, J. L. Masferrer, W. E. Perkins, K. Siebert, Y. Zhang, B. S. Zweifel, and D. B. Reitz, J. Med. Chem., 39, 1846–1856 (1996).
- 358. D. B. Reitz, J. J. Li, M. B. Norton, E. J. Reinhard, J. T. Collins, G. D. Anderson, S. A. Gregory, C. M. Koboldt, W. E. Perkins, K. Seibert, and P. C. Isakson, J. Med. Chem., 37, 3878–3881 (1994).
- 359. D. B. Reitz, J. J. Li, M. B. Norton, E. J. Reinhard, H.-C. Huang, M. A. Penick, J. T. Collins, and D. J. Garland, *Med. Chem. Res.*, 5, 351–363 (1995).
- 360. J. L. Li, G. D. Anderson, E. G. Burton, J. N. Cogburn, J. T. Collins, D. J. Garland, S. A. Gregory, H.-C. Huang, P. C. Isakson, C. M. Koboldt, E. W. Logusch, M. B. Norton, W. E. Perkins, E. J. Reinhard, K. Seibert, A. W. Veenhuizen, Y. Zhang, and D. B. Reitz, J.Med. Chem., 38,4570-4578 (1995).
- 361. D. B. Reitz, H.-C. Huang, J. J. Li, D. J. Garland, and R. E. Manning, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 5,867–872 (1995).
- 362. H.-C. Huang, J. J. Li, D. J. Garland, T. S. Chamberland, E. J. Reinhard, R. E. Manning, K. Seibert, C. M. Koboldt, S. A. Gregory, G. D. Anderson, A. W. Veenhuizen, Y. Zhang, W. E. Perkins, E. G. Burton, J. N. Cogburn, P. C. Isakson, and D. B. Reitz, J. Med. Chem., 39, 253-266 (1996).
- 363. R. W. Friesen, D. Dube, R. Fortin, R. Frenette, S. Prescott, W. Cromlish, G. M. Greig, S. Karman, E. Wong, C. C. Chan, R. Gordon, L. J. Xu, and D. Riendeau, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 6, 2677–2682 (1996).
- 364. Y. Leblanc, J. Y. Gauthier, D. Ethier, J. Guay, J. Mancini, D. Riendeau, P. Tagari, P. Vickers, E. Wong, and P. Petpiboon, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 5,2123–2128 (1995).
- 365. R. Bell, L. Black, R. Harris, S. Surapaneni, et al., *Inflamm. Res.*, 49 (Suppl. 2), S101 (2000).
- **366.** C. Black, M. Girard, D. Guay, and Z. Wang, WO97/28120 (1997).
- 367. S. Leger, E. Grimm, and P. Petpiboon, WO98/ 43966 (1999).
- 368. M. Launay, E. Nicolai, and J.-M. Teulon, WO99/43664 (1999).

- 369. M. Matsushita, M. Masaki, Y. Yagi, T. Tanaka, and K. Wakitani, *Inflamm*. Res., 46, 461–466 (1997).
- 370. H. Hashimoto, K. Imamura, K. Wakitani, and J. Haruta, Proceedings of the 214th Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Las Vegas, NV, MEDI 090 (1997).
- 371. D. J. P. Pinto, R. A. Copeland, M. B. Covington, W. J. Pitts, D. G. Batt, M. J. Orwat, G. N. Lam, A. Joshi, Y.-C. Chan, S. Wang, J. M. Trzaskos, R. L. Magolda, and D. M. Kornhauser, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 6,2907–2912 (1996).
- 372. D. Riendeau, M. D. Percival, S. Boyce, C. Brideau, S. Charleson, W. Cromlish, D. Ethier, J. Evans, J.-P. Falgueyret, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, R. Gordon, G. Greig, M. Gresser, J. Guay, S. Kargman, S. Leger, J. A. Mancini, G. M. O'Neill, M. Ouellet, I. W. Rodger, M. Therien, Z. Wang, J. K. Webb, E. Wong, L. Xu, R. N. Young, R. Zamboni, P. Prasit, and C.-C. Chan, Br. J. Pharmacol., 121,105-117 (1997).
- 373. C.-S. Li, W. C. Black, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, S. Charleson, W. A. Cromlish, D. Claveau, J. Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, G. Greig, E. Grimm, J. Guay, C. K. Lau, D. Reindeau, M. Therien, D. M. Visco, E. Wong, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9,3181-3186 (1999).
- 374. I. K. Khanna, Y. Yu, R. M. Huff, R. M. Weier, X. Xu, F. J. Koszyk, P. W. Collins, J. N. Cogburn, P. C. Isakson, C. M. Koboldt, J. L. Masferrer, W. E. Perkins, K. Seibert, A. W. Veenhuizen, J. Yuan, D.-C. Yang, and Y. Y. Zhang, J. Med. Chem., 43,3168–3185 (2000).
- 375. Y. Leblanc, P. Roy, S. Boyce, C. Brideau, C. C. Chan, S. Charleson, R. Gordon, E. Grimm, J. Guay, S. Leger, C. S. Li, D. Riendeau, D. Visco, Z. Wang, J. Webb, L. J. Xu, and P. Prasit, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9,2207-2212(1999).
- 376. D. Dube, C. Brideau, D. Deschenes, R. Fortin, R. W. Friesen, R. Gordon, Y. Girard, C. Savoie, and C.-C. Chan, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9, 1715–1720 (1999).
- 377. J. J. Talley, S. R. Bertenshaw, D. L. Brown, J.S. Carter, M. J. Graneto, M. S. Kellogg, C. M. Koboldt, J. Yaun, Y. Y. Zhang, and K. Seibert, J. Med. Chem., 43,1661–1663 (2000).
- 378. H. Matsuoka, N. Maruyama, and H. Kashiwagi, WO98/51667 (1998).
- **379.** R. L. Vigdahl and R. H. Tukey, Biochem. *Phar*macol., **26,307–311** (1977).
- 380. N. Futaki, S. Takahashi, M. Yokoyama, I. Arai,
 S. Iguchi, and S. Otomo, Prostaglandins, 47, 55–59 (1994).
- 381. K. Nakamura, K. Tsuji, N. Konishi, H. Okumura, and M. Matsuo, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 41, 894–906 (1993).

- 382. T. Klein, R. M. Nusing, J. Pfeilschifter, and V. Ullrich, Biochem. Pharmacol., 48, 1605–1610 (1994).
- 383. P. Prasit, W. C. Black, C.-C. Chan, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, J. Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, D. Guay, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, C.-S. Li, J. Mancini, N. Ouimet, P. Roy, P. Targari, P. Vickers, E. Wong, R. N. Young, and R. Zamboni, Med. Chem. Res., 5,364-374 (1995).
- 384. C.-S. Li, W. C. Black, C. C. Chan, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, J.-Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, D. Guay, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, J. Mancini, N. Ouimet, P. Roy, P. Vickers, E. Wong, R. N. Young, R. Zamboni, and P. Prasit, J. Med. Chem., 38,4897-4905 (1995).
- 385. N. Ouimet, C.-C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Claveau, R. Gordon, D. Guay, C.-S. Li, M. Ouellet, D. M. Percival, D. Riendeau, E. Wong, R. Zamboni, and P. Prasit, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9, 151–156 (1999).
- **386.** G. Dannhardt and W. Kiefer, Eur. **J.** Med. Chem., **36**, **109–126** (2001).
- 387. R. E. West, S. M. Williams, H. S. She, N. I. Carruthers, R. W. Egan, and M. Motasim Billah, Prostaglandins, 54,891-898 (1997).
- 388. M. Woods, U. C. Dyer, J. F. Andrews, C. N. Morfitt, R. Valentine, and J. Sanderson, Org. Process Res. Dev., 4,418-426 (2000).
- 389. A. A. Failli, R. J. Steffan, A. F. Kreft, T. J. Caggiano, and C. E. Caufield, U.S. Pat. 5,830,911(1998).
- 390. E. D. Lazer, R. Sorcek, C. L. Cywin, D. Thome, G. J. Possanaz, A. G. Graham, and L. Churchill, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 8, 1181– 1186 (1998).
- 391. W. C. Black, C. Bayly, M. Belley, C.-C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Dennis, J. Y. Gauthier, R. Gordon, D. Guay, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, Y. Leblanc, J. Mancini, M. Ouellet, D. Percival, P. Roy, K. Skorey, P. Tagari, P. Vickers, E. Wong, L. Xu, and P. Prasit, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 6,725-730 (1996).
- 392. Y. Leblanc, W. C. Black, C. C. Chan, S. Charleson, D. Delorne, D. Dennis, J. Y. Gauthier, E. L. Grimm, R. Gordon, D. Guay, P. Hamel, S. Kargman, C. K. Lau, J. Mancini, M. Ouellet, D. Percival, P. Roy, K. Skorey, P. Tagari, P. Vickers, E. Wong, and P. Prasit, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 6, 731–736 (1996).
- 393. A. S. Kalgutkar, A. B. Marnett, B. C. Crews, R. P. Remmel, and L. J. Marnett, J. Med. Chem., 43,2860–2870 (2000).
- 394. K. W. Woods, R. W. McCroskey, M. Michaelides, C. K. Wada, K. I. Hulkower, and R. L. Bell, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 11, 1325–1328 (2001).

- 395. C. I. Bayly, W. C. Black, S. Leger, N. Ouimet, M. Ouellet, and M. D. Percival, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9,307-312 (1999).
- 396. K. D. Stewart, S. Loren, L. Frey, E. Otis, V. Klinghofer, and K. Hulkower, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 8,529-534 (1998).
- 397. A. S. Kalgutkar, K. R. Kozak, B. C. Crews, G. P. Hochgesang Jr., and L. J. Marnett, J. Med. Chem., 41,4800-4818 (1998).
- 398. D. L. **DeWitt,** Mol. Pharmacol., 55, 625–631 (**1999**).
- **3**99. L. J. **Marnett** and A. S. **Kalgutkar**, *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, 20,465 (1999).
- **400.** L. H. Rome and W. E. M. Lands, **Proc.** Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 72, 4863–4865 (1975).
- 401. O. Llorens, J. J. Perez, A. Palomer, and D. Mauleon, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 9, 2779– 2784 (1999).
- 402. (a)Y. Song, D. T. Conner, R. Doubleday, R. J. Sorenson, A. D. Sercel, P. C. Unangst, B. D. Roth, R. B. Gilbertsen, K. Chan, D. J. Schrier, A. Guglietta, D. A. Bornemeier, and R. D. Dyer, J. Med. Chem., 42, 1151–1160 (1999); (b) A. Johnson, M. Marletta, and R. Dyer, Biochemistry, 40, 7736 (2001).
- 403. M. Inagaki, T. Tsuri, H. Jyoyama, T. Ono, K. Yamada, M. Kobayashi, Y. Hori, A. Arimura, K. Yasui, K. Ohno, S. Kakuda, K. Koizumi, R. Susuki, M. Kato, S. Kawai, and S. Matsumoto, J. Med. Chem., 43,2040-2048 (2000)
- **404.** S. A. Beers and M. P. Wachter, U.S. Pat. 5,783,597 (1998).
- **405.** J. J. Talley, J. A. Sikorski, B. Devadas, M. J. Graneto, J. S. Carter, B. H. Norman, H.-FLu, and D. L. Brown, WO96/38442 (1996).
- **40**6. J. J. Talley, M. J. Graneto, J. S. Carter, B. H. Norman, and H.-F. Lu, **WO96/38418** (1996).
- **40**7. *R.* **Hubbard**, *D. Mehlisch*, and *D. Jasper*, *J. Invest. Med.*, 44, 293A (1996).
- 408. K. Malmstrom, S. Daniels, P. Kotey, B. Seidenberg, and P. Desjardins, Clin. Ther., 21, 1653 (1999).
- 109. A. Brugger, E. Richardson, and D. Drupka, Ann. Sci. Meet AM Pain Soc., Abstract (1999).

- 410. G. Geis, R. Hubbard, and R. C. Woods, Arthritis Rheum., 42,144 (1999).
- 411. W. Bensen, J. Rheumatol., 27, 17 (2000).
- 412. S. Zhao, S. Dedhiya, and K. Verburg, Arthritis Rheum., 42,297 (1999).
- 413. G. Cannon, R. Caldwell, and P. Holt, Arthritis Rheum., 43,978 (2000).
- 414. R. Day, B. Morrison, and M. Luza, Arch. Intern. Med., 160, 1781 (2000).
- 415. E. Ehrich, A. De Dallob, and I. Lepeliere, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 65, 336 (1999).
- 416. A. Reicin, J. Brown, M. Jove, J. deAndrade, et al., Am. J. Orthop., **30**, 40 (2001).
- 417. C. Hawkey, L. Jackson, S. Harper, et al., Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 15, 1 (2001).
- 418. F. Lanza, M. Rack, and T. Simon, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther., 13, 761 (1999).
- 419. R. Hunt, B. Bowen, E. Mortensen, T. Simon, C. James, et al., **Am.** J. Med., 109, 201 (2000).
- 420. A. Whelton, Am. J. Med., 106, 13s (1999).
- 421. R. DuBois, F. Giardiello, and W. Smalley, Gastroenterol. Clin. North Am., 25, 773 (1996).
- 422. T. Kawamori, C. Rao, K. Seibert, and B. Reddy, Cancer Res., 58,409 (1998).
- 423. G. Steinbach, P. Lynch, and M. Phillips, N. Engl. J. Med., 342, 1946 (2000).
- 424. R. Jacoby, K. Siebert, C. Cole, G. Kellog, and R. Lubet, Cancer Res., 60, 5040 (2000).
- 425. L. Howe, K. Subbaramaiah, A. Brown, and A. Dannenberg, Endocr. Relat. Cancer, 8, 97 (2001).
- 426. R. Harris, G. Alshafie, H. Abou-Issa, and K. Seibert, Cancer Res., 60,2101 (2000).
- 427. M. Oshima, N. Murai, S. Kargman, M. Arguello, and J. Evans, Cancer Res., 61, 1733 (2001).
- 428. (a)L. Ho and G. M. Pasinetti, Drugs of Today 2001, 37, 181–185 (2001);(b) G. Dannhardt and S. Laufer, Curr. Med. Chem., 7,1101–1112 (2000);(c) D. B. Reitz and K. Seibert, Annu. Rep. Med. Chem., 30, 179–188 (1995);(d) P. Prasit and D. Riendeau, Annu. Rep. Med. Chem., 32,211–220 (1997).

Agents Acting on Prostanoid Receptors

DAVID W. JENKINS PATRICK P.A. HUMPHREY University of Cambridge Glaxo Institute of Applied Pharmacology Cambridge, United Kingdom

Robert A. COLEMAN **Pharm**agene Laboratories Ltd. Royston, United Kingdom

urger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery **Exth** Edition, Volume 4: **Autocoids**, Diagnostics, **hd Drugs fro**m New Biology dited by Donald J. Abraham **BN 0-471-37030-4** © **2003** John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

1 Introduction, 266 1.1 Historical Background and Overview of Prostanoid Synthesis, 266 1.2 Biological and Therapeutic Functions of Prostanoids, 267 1.3 Prostanoid Receptor Classification: A Historical Perspective, 269 2 Natural Prostanoids, 269 2.1 Biosynthesis, 269 **2.2** Catabolism, **270** 2.3 Physiological Actions of Prostanoids, 271 2.3.1 Prostaglandin D,, 271 2.3.2 Prostaglandin E, 272 2.3.3 Prostaglandin $\mathbf{F}_{2\alpha}$, 274 2.3.4 Prostaglandin I,, 274 2.3.5 Thromboxane 4, 275**3** Prostanoid Receptor Classification and Characterization, 275 3.1 Prostanoid Receptor Subtypes and Isoforms, 276 **3.2** Prostanoid Receptors as G-protein–Coupled Receptors, 277 3.3 Radioligand Binding Studies, 278 3.3.1 PGD₂-Specific Binding Sites, 278 3.3.2PGE₂-Specific Binding Sites, 278 **3.3.3PGF**_{2α}-Specific Binding Sites, **280 3.3.4 PGI₂-Specific** Binding Sites, **280** 3.3.5 TXA₂-Specific Binding Sites, 280 3.3.6Summary, 280 3.4 Signal Transduction, 281 265

CHAPTER SIX

Agents Acting on Prostanoid Receptors

DAVID W. JENKINS PATRICK P.A. HUMPHREY University of Cambridge Glaxo Institute of Applied Pharmacology Cambridge, United Kingdom

ROBERT A. COLEMAN Pharmagene Laboratories Ltd. Royston, United Kingdom

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery
Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics,
and Drugs from New Biology
Edited by Donald J. Abraham
SBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 266
 - 1.1 Historical Background and Overview of Prostanoid Synthesis, 266
 - Biological and Therapeutic Functions of Prostanoids, 267
 - 1.3 Prostanoid Receptor Classification: A Historical Perspective, 269
- 2 Natural Prostanoids, 269
 - 2.1 Biosynthesis, 269
 - 2.2 Catabolism, 270
 - 2.3 Physiological Actions of Prostanoids, 271
 - 2.3.1 Prostaglandin D, 271
 - 2.3.2 Prostaglandin E,, 272
 - 2.3.3 Prostaglandin F., 274
 - 2.3.4 Prostaglandin I,, 274
 - 2.3.5 Thromboxane 4, 275
- 3 Prostanoid Receptor Classification and
 - Characterization, 275
 - 3.1 Prostanoid Receptor Subtypes and Isoforms, 276
 - 3.2 Prostanoid Receptors as G-protein–Coupled Receptors, 277
 - 3.3 Radioligand Binding Studies, 278
 - 3.3.1 PGD₂-Specific Binding Sites, 278
 - 3.3.2 PGE₂-Specific Binding Sites, 278
 - 3.3.3 $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -Specific Binding Sites, 280
 - 3.3.4 **PGI₂-Specific** Binding Sites, 280
 - 3.3.5 **TXA₂-Specific** Binding Sites, 280
 - 3.3.6 Summary, 280
 - 3.4 Signal Transduction, 281

3.4.1 DP Receptors, 281 **3.4.2EP, Receptors, 281** 3.4.3 EP, Receptors, 281 3.4.4 EP₃ Receptors, 281 3.4.5 EP, Receptors, 281 **3.4.6 FP Receptors, 281 3.4.7 IP Receptors, 282 3.4.8 TP Receptors, 282** 4 Prostanoid Receptor-Selective Ligands and Structure-Activity Relationships, 282 4.1 DP Receptors and Selective Ligands, 282 4.2 EP Receptors and Selective Ligands, 285 4.2.1 General Considerations, 285 4.2.2 EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands, 286 4.2.3EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands, 287 4.2.4 EP₃ Receptor-Selective Ligands, 288 4.2.5EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands, 289 4.3 FP Receptors and Selective Ligands, 289 4.4 IP Receptors and Selective Ligands, 292

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Historical Background and Overview of Prostanoid Synthesis

Prostanoids are metabolites of C_{20} fatty acids that act as local hormones in both the periphery and central nervous system (CNS). Classically, they are comprised of the prostaglandins and thromboxanes. However, recently, interest has focused on the **isoprostanes**, which are formed through the direct oxidation of membrane phospholipids and not through the actions of cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes. Despite this difference in synthesis, current evidence suggests that they act predominantly through prostanoid receptors (1). Another interesting recent development has been the discovery of the prostamides, which are derivatives of anandamide and are formed through the actions of COX-2 and not COX-1 (2-4).

As a family, the prostanoids are almost ubiquitously distributed, and in general, have a short duration of action. Von Euler first proposed the term 'prostaglandin' in describing the presence of a vasodepressor and smooth muscle stimulating factor in human seminal fluid (5), following the initial observations of Kurzrok and Lieb (6) and Goldblatt (7). However, it was another 20 years before the first prostaglandins, prostaglandin E_1 (PGE₁) and prostaglandin $F_{1\alpha}$ (PGF_{1\alpha}), were successfully purified (8). During the next decade it became

- 4.5 TP Receptors and Selective Ligands, 294
- 4.6 Prostanoid Receptors: Location of Ligand Binding Sites, 295
- 5 Clinical Use of Agents, 298
 - 5.1 Natural Prostaglandins, 299
 - 5.1.1 Alprostadil (Prostaglandin E_1), 299
 - 5.1.2 Dinoprostone (Prostaglandin E_2), 301
 - **5.1.3 Dinoprost** (Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$), 302
 - 5.1.4Epoprostenol (Prostaglandin I,; Prostacyclin), 302
 - 5.2 Synthetic Prostaglandins, 303
 - 5.2.1 Gemeprost, 303
 - 5.2.2 Misoprostol, 303
 - 5.2.3Sulprostone, 304
 - 5.2.4 Latanoprost, 304
 - 5.2.5 Iloprost, 304
 - 5.2.6 Carboprost, 305
 - 5.2.7 Limaprost, 305
- 6 New Developments, 305

apparent that the family included more than the original two and these were named alphabetically from PGA, to PGH,. Of these, PGG, and PGH, are unstable intermediates (9) generated during the biosynthesis of this family of hormones. In the **mid-1970s**, two new prostaglandin-like compounds were discovered: thromboxane A, (**TXA**₂) (10) and prostacyclin (**PGI**₂) (11).

The natural prostanoids derived from arachidonic acid are known as prostaglandin D, (PGD_2) , prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂), prostaglandin $\mathbf{F}_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), prostaglandin I, (PGI₂), and thromboxane A, (TXA_2) . They exert their physiological and pathophysiological actions through specific high affinity receptors and are responsible for a multitude of actions, some of which have been exploited to produce clinically effective medicines. Prostaglandins are characterized by a cyclopentane ring, with two side-chains, termed α and ω , that are both in the trans configuration. Also present are a hydroxyl group at C-15 and a Δ^{13} trans double bond. The structure of PGE, as representative of the entire group is shown in Fig. 6.1. Prostanoids can be biosynthesized from three related fatty acid precursors to give rise to three different series based on the number of double bonds in their side chains. Thus, prostanoids derived from 8,11,14-eicosatrienoic acid (γ homolinolenic acid) give rise to the 1-series, whereas the 2- and 3-series are derived from



Figure 6.1. The structure of prostaglandin E,. Note the presence of the a- and ω -chains, the cyclopentane ring, *trans* double bond, and hydroxy group at C-15.

5,8,11,14-eicosatetrienoic acid (arachidonic acid) and 5,8,11,14,17-eicosapentaenoic acid (timodonic acid), respectively. Arachidonic acid is the most abundant precursor in mammals, including humans, making the 2-series by far the most common. However, eicosapentanoic acid (EPA, 20:5 ω 3) is present in large amounts in marine animals, and consequently in the bodies of those species living largely on a diet of these animals. For example, Greenland Eskimos have much higher levels of EPA and other 03 fatty acids in their phospholipids, and this has been linked to the lowered incidence of heart disease in these populations (12).

Prostaglandin H_2 is the common biosynthetic precursor of the natural prostanoids, and is produced as a result of the action of cycloxygenases on free arachidonic acid. The major source of free arachidonic acid is the phospholipids of the cell membrane, from which it is largely liberated by the actions of phospholipases. The activity of COX, also known as prostaglandin H synthase (PGHS), converts arachidonic acid to PGH₂ through a two-step process: first a cyclooxygenase step, that results in the production of the unstable intermediate PGG₂, and second, a peroxidase step that yields PGH,, which is then converted to the individual prostanoids by specific synthases. An overview of this process is shown in Fig. 6.2. The biosynthesis and breakdown of prostanoids is discussed further in Sections 2.1 and **2.2**.

1.2 Biological and Therapeutic Functions of Prostanoids

The major roles of **prostanoids** are in the **au**tocrine and paracrine control of physiological processes, and therapeutically they have found use mainly in obstetrics, gastoenterology, ophthalmology, and the treatment of cardiovascular disease. In the reproductive system, prostaglandins, especially of the E and F series, have potent effects on uterine contraction and have been used to stimulate abortion, cervical ripening, and the induction of labor (13). In addition, in many laboratory and farm animals, but not in humans, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is a potent luteolytic agent and is used for this purpose in veterinary medicine (14). Similarly, prostaglandin receptors exhibit a widespread distribution in the gastrointestinal tract (15), and prostaglandins are generally thought to have cytoprotective effects in the gastric mucosa (16), through the control of gastric secretions, protection of the mucosal barrier, and the regulation of blood flow (17). This assertion has led to the production of a number of PGE analogs for use as potential gastroduodenal protective agents, against, for example, the effects of **non-steroidal** anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Recently, PGF analogs, such as latanoprost, have found use as novel medicines for the treatment of glaucoma (18). In the cardiovascular system, prostanoids, especially prostacyclin, are involved in, for example, the regulation of platelet aggregation. Prostacyclin and its analogs are administered exogenously in the treatment of several forms of cardiovascular disease, where they may cause vasodilatation and also inhibit platelet clumping and aggregation (19). Prostaglandins are also active in the renal system. Indeed, one of the earliest physiological effects attributed to prostaglandins was the effect of PGE, to block the action of vasopressin on renal water permeability (20). Receptors for prostaglandins have also been localized to all parts of the kidney (21). Prostaglandins, particularly of the E and I series, have also been strongly implicated in inflammation and inflammatory pain (22), leading to recent efforts to produce specific receptor antagonists for the treatment of these conditions.

4



Figure 6.2. The biosynthesis of prostanoids from arachidonic acid. Free arachidonic acid is converted to the unstable intermediates PGG, and PGH, by cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes. PGH, is then converted to the five primary prostanoids by specific synthases.

1.3 Prostanoid Receptor Classification: A Historical Perspective

Prostanoids, as metabolites of fatty acids, are relatively hydrophobic compounds and it was initially thought that they might act through incorporation into the plasma membrane. However, it has subsequently been shown that prostanoids predominantly exert their biological actions through interactions with specific receptors in cell membranes. In the absence of direct evidence, this conclusion is suggested by a consideration of some of the basic properties and actions of the prostanoids. For example, they are active at low concentrations $(<10^{-9} M)$, and thus display high potency, implying the existence of specific binding sites. Furthermore, it is clear that different members of the prostanoid family can evoke different responses in the same system. For example, TXA_2 and PGI_2 exert both aggregatory and non-aggregatory effects on human platelets, respectively, thus suggesting, in platelets at least, the presence of distinct receptor sites for both of these prostanoids.

The first evidence for the existence of more than a single subtype of prostanoid receptor came from the work of Pickles (23), who used **both** natural and synthetic analogs of E and F series prostaglandins to demonstrate differential effects in several smooth muscle preparations: the rabbit jejunum and human and guinea pig myometrium. These studies led him to conclude that there were at least three types of prostanoid receptors. The presence of multiple receptors was also suggested by the work of Andersen and Ramwell (24), who compared the agonist potency ratios of PGA, PGE, and PGF analogs, and Gardiner and Collier (25), who examined the prostanoid receptor types present in the lung. In 1982, Kennedy and co-workers proposed the first overall classification of prostanoid receptors. In the premolecular biology era, they proposed specific receptors for PGD, PGE_2 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, PGI_2 , and TXA₂, calling them DP, EP, FP, IP, and TP receptors, respectively. At each of these receptors, one of the natural prostanoids was at least one order of magnitude more potent than the other four. Hence, PGD₂ is the most potent natural agonist at the DP receptor, PGE₂ the most potent natural EP receptor agonist

and so on. This system was based on functional data obtained with the natural agonists, some synthetic agonists, and a small number of antagonists, but is still valid today (1,26). These initial studies were conducted on isolated smooth muscle preparations that were considered PGE- (e.g. guinea pigileum), PGF-(e.g. dog and cat iris), or TXA-sensitive (e.g. rat aorta). They compared the agonist potencies of the naturally occurring prostanoids and the TXA_2 mimetic, U46619, in these preparations. Coupled with other studies that suggested receptors for PGD₂ and PGI, this led to the proposal outlined above that receptors existed for each natural prostanoid. Further studies identified compounds that acted as receptor blockers in some preparations, but not others. Hence, AH19437 was identified as a competitive antagonist in TP receptor containing tissues (26). Whilst SC-19220 was an antagonist in some PGE-sensitive tissues (26), producing rightward shifts in the concentration-effect curves in guinea pig ileum and guinea pig and dog **fundus**, it had negligible effects in the PGE-sensitive preparations cat trachea or the chick ileum (26). This provided the first evidence for a subdivision of the EP receptors. Further evidence came from the identification and use of the antagonist, AH6809, and the agonists, sulprostone and AY23626, with AH6809 being active in EP_1 receptor-containing preparations, and sulprostone and AY23626 having actions at EP_1 and EP,, and \mathbf{EP}_2 and EP, receptors, respectively (27). Subsequently, a fourth EP receptor was identified in piglet saphenous vein (28, **29).** The rank order of the naturally occurring prostaglandins at their receptors is shown in Table 6.1.

This chapter will provide an overview of the natural prostanoids and their synthetic and metabolic pathways and then discuss the receptors at which prostanoids exert their actions and the agents that have been generated to a d as either **specific** receptor agonists or antagonists, some of which have found use in the clinic.

2 NATURAL PROSTANOIDS

2.1 Biosynthesis

Prostanoids are synthesized *de novo* by a wide variety of cells, and synthesis can be induced

Receptor Type	Subtype	Rank Order of Natural PGs ^a
DP	DP ₁	D, > E, = F, = I, = U46619
EP	EP	$E_{2} > F_{2} = I_{2} > U46619$
	\mathbf{EP}_{2}^{1}	$E_2 > F_{2\alpha} = D_2 = I, > U46619$
	EP	$\bar{E}, > \bar{I}, > F, \gg D_2 > U46619$
	EP	E, \gg I, = $F_{2\alpha} > D$, $> U46619$
FP	7	$F_{2\alpha} > D_2 > E_2 = U46619 > I_2$
IP	IP_1	$I, > D, = E_2 = F, > U46619$
TP	L	$U46619 \gg D$, = E, = $F_{2\alpha} = I$,

Table 6.1Rank Orders of Potency of the Naturally Occurring Prostanoids for Each of theFive Types of Prostanoid Receptors

^aU46619 is a stable TXA₂ mimetic (see Section 4.5) and was used instead of TXA₂. Data taken from Coleman (1).

by a variety of stimuli, including non-prostanoid receptor activation as well as simple mechanical agitation. Prostanoid synthesis requires the presence of free, unesterified arachidonic acid. Under resting conditions, the cytoplasmic levels of this fatty acid are low, necessitating the liberation of this substrate as the first and rate-limiting step in prostanoid biosynthesis. The main source of arachidonic acid is that present in membrane glycophospholipids, esterified in the 2-acyl position in the fatty acyl chains, and this is primarily liberated by the enzyme phospholipase A_2 in a one-step process (30). Arachidonic acid not metabolized by cyclooxygenases or other eicosanoid-producing enzymes (e.g., lipoxygenases) is rapidly re-esterified by acetyltransferases (31).

Arachidonic acid, liberated from membrane phospholipids, can be metabolized to the five primary prostanoids, PGD_2 , PGE_2 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, PGI,, and TXA_2 . The first two steps in this process are catalyzed by the **cyclooxygen**ase (COX) enzymes and thereafter by specific prostanoid synthases (32). An overview of **pro**stanoid synthesis is illustrated in Fig. 6.2.

2.2 Catabolism

The half-life of most prostaglandins in the circulation is less than 1 min, and this is attributable to the efficiency of the processes that exist to aid in their inactivation. For example, in the lung, around 95% of single doses of either PGE₂, PGE,, or PGF_{2 α} are metabolized during the first passage. The enzymes involved in prostanoid metabolism are located intracellularly, thus necessitating the uptake of substrates across the cell membrane (33– 36). This is believed to be a carrier-specific mechanism and displays differential selectivity over the prostanoid-catabolizing enzymes. Following uptake, prostanoid metabolism occurs in two stages: first, a rapid inactivation by prostanoid-specific enzymes. This first stage normally results in a loss of biological activity. Second, a slower inactivation process occurs, involving enzymes that are responsible for general fatty acid oxidation. Metabolism occurs in the lung and also the liver and the kidney.

The first important work on prostanoid metabolism was conducted by Anggard and Samuelsson (37), who demonstrated that PGE and PGF compounds are dehydrogenated at carbon-15 to the corresponding 15-keto prostanoid by the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide + (NAD+)/nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP)-linked enzyme, 15-hydroxy-prostaglandin dehydrogenase (PGDH), to form 15-keto-PGE, and 15-keto- $PGF_{2\alpha}$. PGDH has subsequently been shown to have a distribution pattern that includes the lung, kidney, and liver (38). Several compounds can inhibit PGDH, including the substituted phenylazobenzoic acetic acid derivatives, Ph CL28A and Ph CK61A (39). PDGH is not specific to prostaglandins. For example, the **NAD+-linked** enzyme present in the lung will also metabolize 15-hydroxyeicosatetreonic acid (15-HETE) and other ω6-containing fatty acids (40). These 15-keto metabolites are far less active than the parent compounds, and therefore, these initial transformations represent a functional inactivation.

The second stage of inactivation is catalyzed by a $\Delta^{13,14}$ reductase and involves satu-

ration of the Δ^{13} double bond to form 15-keto, 13,14-dihydro prostaglandins. This reaction can only occur in prostaglandins that have been initially undergone oxidation of the 15hydroxy group, and the metabolite formed is the major breakdown product found in plasma samples and kidney and lung homogenates. This enzyme uses nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate hydrogen (NADPH) as a cofactor and can be inhibited by *p*-chloromercuribenzoic acid (41).

Following these steps, β and w oxidation take place to shorten the carboxyl side-chain and to introduce a further carboxyl group, respectively (42–45). The urinary metabolites detected after prostaglandins are infused in man are generally dinor and tetranor compounds, so the carboxyl-containingside-chain is normally shortened by two to four carbon atoms. This is the result of β -oxidation that occurs mainly in liver mitochondria or peroxisomes. The ω -oxidation that occurs is catalysed by cytochrome P450, and occurs largely in the liver and kidney, and many of the urinary metabolites of prostaglandins are generated through this pathway. Overall, these steps help to make the prostanoids more polar and thus available for excretion by the kidney. Thus, the final metabolites found in the urine are 16-18 carbon atoms and possess carboxyl groups on both the α and w side-chains.

Prostaglandin D_2 follows the same basic principles outlined above, but in humans at least, a different pattern of catabolism may occur. It has been found that a sizeable proportion of urinary metabolites obtained following injection are recovered as metabolites of PGF compounds (46). For this to occur, the 11-keto group of PGD₂ must be reduced, but it is unclear whether this reduction is of PGD₂ itself, or of one of its subsequent metabolites, for example, those that are present after being oxidized by PGDH.

Prostacyclin, although not taken up by the lungs, is rapidly inactivated by acid-catalysed, non-enzymatic means to the metabolite **6**-keto-PGF,. In addition it is also catabolized by PGDH to **6**,15-diketo metabolites. 6-keto-PGF_{1 α} is biologically inactive and also rapidly **metabolised** in *vivo*, with the major urinary **p**roduct being **dinor-6-keto-PGF**_{1 α} (47).

Thromboxane A_2 has a plasma half-life as short as 7 s (48) and spontaneously decomposes non-enzymatically to the functionally inactive **TXB**₂, which is either excreted unaltered or as one of several other metabolites. For example, **TXB**₂ can undergo β -oxidation to dinor-TXB₂.

2.3 Physiological Actions of Prostanoids

Prostaglandins have a wide range of actions in normal cell physiology, but also as **pathophys**iological agents in, for example, inflammation and pain states. The roles of the natural **pro**stanoids are reviewed in this section in relation to studies on receptor distribution, which provide useful information concerning potential pharmacological applications. Recent advances in molecular biology have also allowed the creation of prostanoid receptor "knockout" mice, which have proved valuable in helping to further elucidate the receptor types involved in mediating the various actions of prostanoids.

2.3.1 Prostaglandin D, PGD_2 acts predominantly at DP receptors, although it does have relatively high potency at FP and even TP receptors. DP receptors are probably the least widely distributed of all the prostanoid receptors and often co-exist with other **prostanoid** receptors, making them difficult to study outside of recombinant systems. However, the availability of potent, selective agonists and antagonists (see Section 4) has proved pivotal in surmounting this problem.

DP receptors are present on vascular smooth muscle, platelets, and in nervous tissue, including the central nervous system (CNS). In the CNS, PGD₂ has been associated with sleep induction, as well as body temperature regulation, hormone release, nociception, and olfactory function. DP receptors have also been localized to smooth muscle in the gut, uterus, and airways. Northern blot and in situ hybridization studies have reaffirmed this, with only low levels of expression being detected in human retina and small intestine (49). The physiological actions of PGD₂, mediated through DP receptors, are generally "inhibitory"; that is, smooth muscle relaxation and the inhibition of platelet aggregation. However, "excitatory" actions have also been

nerves PGD, seems to induce hyperalgesia (50) and **can** also stimulate the release of **neu**ropeptides (51). PGD, has also been implicated in central roles, such as sleep-induction, in both rats and humans (52). DP receptors have been localized to the leptomeninges (53), and PGD, injected into the arachnoid space below the basal forebrain caused leptomeningeal cellular activation, detected by immunohistochemistry for the immediate early gene, fos (54). Furthermore, the brain-specific isoform of PGD synthase has recently been localized in the leptomeninges (55). DP receptors have also been recently detected in the mucous-secreting goblet cells in the rat gastrointestinal tract, suggesting a potentially novel role for PGD, in mucous secretion (56).

DP receptor localization also seems to vary considerably between species. For example, platelet DP receptors seem to be most abundant in humans and not in other animal species (57). PGD, is also the major prostaglandin produced by mast cells following immunological challenge (58). Recent studies using mice deficient in the DP receptor have suggested that PGD, production may be important in some aspects of asthma (59). In a model of asthma, when challenged with ovalbumin, $\mathbf{DP}^{-/-}$ mice showed reduced lymphocyte accumulation in the lung compared with wild-type controls, and in addition, failed to develop airway hyperreactivity. These data suggest that, in mice at least, DP receptors may play a role in airway hyperreactivity.

2.3.2 Prostaglandin E, PGE_2 acts predominantly through EP receptors, which are abundantly distributed and are responsible for mediating the multitude of actions of PGE,. These include smooth muscle contraction and relaxation, stimulation and presynaptic inhibition of neurotransmitter release, neuronal sensitization, nociception, inhibition of lipolysis, and gastric acid secretion and modulation (positively and negatively) of water secretion. It was partly because of the sheer diversity of these responses and through the use of what are now known to be subtype specific ligands that it became clear that there was more than one subtype of EP receptor. It

The first characterized EP receptor subtype, the \mathbf{EP}_1 receptor, is probably the least widely distributed of all the EP receptors. It predominantly mediates the smooth muscle contraction actions of PGE, and is present in guinea pig trachea, gastrointestinal tract, bladder, and uterus. This receptor subtype has also been found in other animal species: for example, in the bovine iris sphincter (60), dog gastric fundus (61), and human myometrium (62). These receptors also seem to play a role in inflammatory pain, with \mathbf{EP}_1 antagonists currently being investigated as potential antinociceptiveagents (63). In *situ* hybridization studies have detected \mathbf{EP}_{1} receptor transcripts in the kidney, lung, and stomach of the mouse (64, 65). Recently, \mathbf{EP}_1 receptor knockout mice have been used to suggest that endogenous EP_1 receptors are important in the mediation of pain perception and also the regulation of blood pressure (66). EP_1 receptordeficient mice were both healthy and fertile but showed reduced pain sensitivity, similar to that obtained following inhibition of COX with an NSAID. Similar results have also been reported in mice deficient in the IP receptor (67) (see Section 2.3.4), thus suggesting that \mathbf{EP}_{1} and IP receptors may represent possible novel targets for the treatment of inflammatory pain.

EP, receptors, first recognized because of the lack of effect of \mathbf{EP}_1 receptor antagonists in blocking the relaxant effects of PGE, have a more widespread distribution than the EP, receptor subtype. This receptor subtype also mediates a more diverse array of actions. For example, smooth muscle EP₂ receptors always mediate smooth muscle relaxation [through increases in cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) through G_s (see Section 3.3)]. Epithelial EP, receptors regulate non-acid secretion, and in mast cells and basophils, they mediate inhibition of mediator release. Furthermore, they may also mediate afferent sensory nerve activation, including neuropeptide release. Northern blotting in the mouse has suggested the presence of EP, receptor mRNA in the ileum, thymus, spleen, heart, and uterus (68). This receptor subtype has also been localized

EP,, and EP, receptors (see Section 3).



Figure 2.8. JOM-13 (blue) in the 8-opioid receptor binding pocket (**stereoview**). [Taken from Fig. 2.9 in H. I. **Mosberg**, *Biopolymers (Peptide* Science), 51, 426 (1999). Reprinted by permission of John Wiley & Sons.]



Figure 7.15. **Rhodopsin** crystal **structure**. **Three-dimensional** structure of rhodopsin based on X-ray crystallography (186). Note that **all-***trans***-retinal** is protected from the **intradiscal** side by multiple **structural** elements, including several β **strands**. Carbohydrates are in blue, 11-cis-retinal is in green, and helices **are-in gray**. Red shadows **are** added for esthetic reasons. This **figure** was generated by C. **Behnke** (University of Washington) and is reprinted with permission from *Prog. Retin.* Eve *Res.*, **20, 469–521** (2001).

Figure 7.21. Schematic representation of DNA binding domains. Structures of DNA-binding complexes involving RXR and their dimer interfaces. The overall structures are shown on the left, with close-up views of the protein-protein interactions shown on the right. Dotted blue lines indicate hydrogen bonds between proteins or between proteins and the DNA spacing. The dotted surface indicates complementary van der Waals interactions. DNA sequences (cyan) are shown with their 5' ends pointing up, with base pairs belonging to the spacing element of the DRs shown schematically in red. In each case, protein-protein contacts are formed directly over the minor groove of the spacing, with several protein-DNA phosphate contacts stabilizing the assembly. The interacting amino acid side-chains are shown in green, with nitrogen atoms indicated in blue and oxygen atoms indicated in red. (a and b) The RXR-TR DBD heterodimeric complex with DR4; (c and d) the RXR DBD homodimeric complex with DR1, and (e and f) the RXR-RAR DBD heterodimeric complex with DR1. Reprinted with permission from Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol., **11, 33–38** (2001).









Figure 11.2. Photolithographic process for on-chip synthesis of oligonucleotides. A: the steps in this process in two cycles of nucleotide addition. **A** lithographic mask and light source are shown in panel a that results in exposure of specific spots on the **microarray** chip. The light activates reactive groups on the chip such that nucleotide coupling can occur only on the specific spots as shown in panel b. The nucleotide added is shown by green blocks and is thymidine for this **exam**ple. Panel c shows a new mask allowing exposure of new spots to light in a second round of light activation of reactive groups. Panel d shows the next round of nucleotide addition in which the red blocks represent the next nucleotide, for example adenosine. This process is repeated until all spots have the desired DNA sequence.



Figure 11.3. Hybridization of two differentially labeled cDNA sequences to arrayed DNA. This diagram shows a single array spot with probe DNA strands (in gray) bound to the chip. cDNA sequences from two different cell samples, one labeled with Cy3 (green) and one labeled with Cy5 (red), and hybridized to the spotted DNA.



Figure 11.4. A spotted DNA array with two-color detection of hybridization. An example of a spotted DNA array (16×20 elements) is shown after hybridizaton with two differentially labeled **cDNA** preparations, Cy3 (pseudo-colored green) and Cy5 (pseudo-colored red). The overlaying of the green and red images produces the image shown. The hue of each spot, ranging from green to red, indicates the relative expression level for the gene specific for each spot (image courtesy Packard Biochip Technologies).



Figure 11.5. Cluster analysis of the NCI **60** cell lines. Gene expression data from the Ross et al. (12) study was filtered to contain only genes with complete data for all cell lines and genes with the highest variance across cell lines. Only 548 genes were selected for this analysis based on genes with variance of greater than twice the variance for the entire **dataset**. The cluster distance or similarity calculation was based on the **Pearson** correlation coefficient, and clusters were linked by average linkage using the software SPSS. Most cell lines can be seen to cluster based on tissue of origin, shown by the labels on the left and the fraction of the total number of cell lines for each tissue. The abbreviations for tissue types are as follows: BRE, breast cancer; CNS, central nervous system cancers; COL, colon cancers; LEU, leukemias; MEL, melanomas; NSC, non-small cell lung cancers; OVA, ovarian cancers; PRO, prostate cancers; REN, renal cancers.

to mouse glomeruli of the kidney (65). Furthermore, it seems that this receptor may be upregulated in response to cell stimulation. This has been demonstrated in a macrophage cell line in response to lipopolysaccharide (69). EP, receptor knockout mice have also been **used** to further highlight the functions of **PCE**, in the cardiovascular system. For example, Kennedy and colleagues (70) examined the effects of PGE₂ and receptor selective analogs in both wild-type and $EP_2^{-/-}$ mice. In wild-type animals, the EP_2 receptor selective agonist, butaprost, evoked a transient hypotension, which was not observed in mice deficient in the EP, receptor. However, the hypertensive effects of sulprostone were similar in both groups of animals. Hence, the EP_2 receptor may be important, in the mouse vasculature at least, in mediating some of the vasodi**latatory** responses to PGE₂.

 EP_{3} receptors are probably the best studied of all the EP receptors. They are present in castrointestinal, uterine, and vascular smooth muscle, where they cause smooth muscle contraction. In autonomic nerves they cause inhibition of neurotransmitter release, and in adipocytes, they inhibit lipolysis (71). In gastric **mucosal** cells, they inhibit gastric acid secretion (72), and E series prostaglandins are wellcharacterized stimulators of mucus and bicarbonate secretion. Several PGE analogs have been developed to exploit this role as it was thought that EP_3 receptor agonists might be useful in the treatment of gastric ulceration and also prophylaxis of the side effects associated with long-term use of aspirin and other NSAIDs (see Section 4.2.4). In renal medulla they regulate the inhibition of water reabsorption (73). Distribution studies using Northern **blot**ting and in **situ** hybridization reveal **mRNA** expression in the **kidney** and uterus, as well as the stomach, spleen, brain, and lung (74). Furthermore, this receptor subtype has been localized to the tubules in the medulla and also the macula densa and distal tubules within the kidney itself (75). The receptor dis**tribution** has also been examined in neuronal tissue, and has been reported in both dorsal **root** ganglion and trigeminal ganglion tissue and also within the brain in areas including the hypothalamus, hippocampus, locus coer**uleus**, and **raphe** nuclei (75, 76). Within the

hypothalamus, EP_3 receptor transcripts have been detected in cells surrounding the organum vasculosalamina terminalis (OVLT), and EP_{3} receptor activation here has been associated with fever generation. E series prostaglandins are potent fever inducers when injected into the brain, and their involvement in the central mediation of fever was proposed as early as 1970 (77). At the spinal cord level, it has been suggested that PGE, may induce thermal hyperalgesia through EP, and EP_3 receptors (78). Furthermore, it has been proposed that brain-derived PGE, at lower doses, produces hyperalgesia through its actions on EP_3 receptors, whereas at higher doses, hypoalgesia is produced through actions on EP, receptors (79-81). Further evidence for involvement of EP_3 in mediating the hyperalgesic effects of PGE₂ comes from Xin and colleagues (82). They report that the intracerebroventricular injection of GR63799X (an EP₃ receptor agonist) caused fever and hyperalgesia in rats, which could be blocked by an anti-sense, but not a mis-sense oligonucleotide directed against the EP₃ receptor. In addition, the use of EP knockout mice has suggested that only mice lacking the EP_3 receptor failed to exhibit febrile responses to PGE₂, interleukin-1 β , and lipopolysaccharide injections, thus providing further evidence for EP_3 receptor involvement in mediating the febrile response (83).

The most recently characterized EP receptor, the EP, receptor, also shows a widespread distribution and is found in most tissues examined. It has been shown to exist in piglet saphenous vein (29) and also in the jugular vein of the rabbit, hamster uterus, and rat trachea (84–86). In the kidney, it is expressed in the glomerulus, mediating the effects of PGE_2 on glomerular filtration. Within the brain, **EP**₄ receptor **mRNA** has been found in the hypothalamus and lower brain stem. It has also been suggested that the \mathbf{EP}_4 receptor may be involved in bone remodeling and the induction of osteoclasts that are involved in bone resorption. For example, Sakuma and colleagues (87) found that osteoclast formation was stimulated most potently by PGE, analogs that display agonist activity at EP₄ receptors. Although it has been suggested that EP_4 receptors are important in maintaining a

patent ductus arteriosus (88), $EP_4^{-/-}$ mice died from heart failure within 3 days of birth of pulmonary congestion and a fully patent ductus (89). This result remains to be explained, given the previously demonstrated dilatatory effects in the ductus of EP_4 receptor activation.

It is also interesting to note that, given the clinical use of exogenous PGE, (dinoprostone) in cervical ripening and labor induction (see Section 5), the expression of the different EP receptors has been shown to alter with time in mice undergoing pseudopregnancy (90).

A role for E (and I) series prostaglandins in inflammatory pain is well established, not least because of the anti-nociceptive effects of NSAIDS, but also because of observations that exogenous prostaglandins can induce allodynia and hyperalgesia (91). In the periphery, sensitizing effects of PGE, have been recorded on several aspects of sensory nerve function, including ion channels and neuropeptide release. The EP receptors involved in mediating these effects remain poorly characterized, but these responses have been correlated with increases in cyclic AMP, which would be suggestive of EP,, EP₄, or possibly, EP, receptor involvement (see Section 3.4). Further studies will hopefully address these issues and may aid in the design of future anti-nociceptive medicines.

2.3.3 Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$. Although PGF,, can act through EP and TP receptors, it is particularly potent at FP receptors. FP receptors are mostly concentrated in corpora lutea, where, in domestic animals, they mediate **lu**teolysis stimulated by PGF,... It has also been shown that, like uterine EP receptors, FP receptor expression changes during the oestrus cycle, becoming most abundant just before the luteal cells undergo apoptosis (92). In addition, FP receptor-deficient mice do not undergo parturition even after the administration of oxytocin. Therefore, it seems that FP receptor activation is required for normal parturition and labor in mice (93). This function of PGF, is used widely in veterinary practice, and the receptors also seem to be present in this capacity in humans. However, initial hopes for FP receptor-specific agonists being useful in controlling human fertility (94) were

dashed, because, unlike in animals, prostaglandins are not central in the destruction of the corpus luteum. Hence, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ and its analogs have proved ineffective as human luteolytics. However these agents are used successfully in animal husbandry to help synchronize the oestrus cycles of farm animals.

Functional FP receptors have also been demonstrated in the myometrium of some rodents and also humans (95, 96). However, in dogs, FP receptor agonists are **lethal—proba**bly as a result of the presence of contractile FP receptors on airway smooth muscle (61). This has yet to be reported in any other species. FP receptors are also present in iris sphincter muscles, and the ocular actions mediated by these receptors have been exploited to lower intraocular pressure and in glaucoma treatment in humans.

Messenger RNA distribution studies have identified FP receptor transcripts in the uterus, further confirming the role of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ in this tissue. In *situ* hybridization has also revealed that expression in the ovary is confined to the large **luteal** cells of the corpus **lu**teum (97). No labeling was observed in the ovarian follicle. Receptor **mRNA** was also found in the kidney, lung, heart, and stomach, and these studies are entirely consistent with the actions of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ in mediating luteolysis and mesangial cell contraction in the glomerulus of the kidney (98).

2.3.4 **Prostaglandin I,** The primary role of prostacyclin is thought to be in the local control of vascular tone and also the inhibition of platelet aggregation (99). It is synthesized mostly by vascular endothelial cells. In agreement with this, IP receptors have been located in both platelets and vascular smooth muscle cells (100). IP receptor knockout mice, generated by homologous recombination, did not display a hypotensive response to the potent, selective IP receptor agonist, cicaprost (see Section 4), but their basal blood pressure was unaltered when compared with controls. The mice survived normally, but following endothelial damage, an increase in thrombosis was observed, lending weight to assertions that PGI₂ acts as an antithrombotic agent (67).

IP receptors have also been found on nervous tissue. PGI, is a potent hyperalgesic, acting on peripheral sensory neurones and may be more potent than PGE_2 in this respect, at least in rodents (101). IP receptors have been localized to specific subsets of dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons (102). In *situ* hybridization signals were detected in 40% of DRG neurons (60% small; 15–25 μ m) but not in glia. Seventy percent of IP-positive neurons also contained mRNA for preprotachykinin A (PPTA), a substance P precursor. In addition, around 25, 41, and 24% of IP-positive neurons co-expressed EP, EP, and EP, transcripts, respectively, suggesting a possible overlapping role of IP and EP receptors in mediating pain sensation.

Mice lacking IP receptors have also been used to suggest a role for PGI_2 in inflammation. For example, following carageenan administration, $IP^{-/-}$ mice exhibited paw swelling that was similar to that observed in wild-type mice treated with indomethacin (67). Similar studies have also further suggested a role for prostacyclin in mediating peripheral hyperalgesia (67).

2.3.5 Thromboxane A. As far as is known, TXA_2 acts exclusively through TP receptors. TP receptors exhibit a widespread distribution in platelets and vascular smooth muscle, where they mediate platelet aggregation and also smooth muscle contraction (103,104). TP **receptors** are also present in airway smooth **muscle** (105), where they mediate bronchoconstriction. Several studies have examined the distribution of TP receptor **mRNA**. In the mouse, TP receptor transcripts have been detected abundantly in the thymus, spleen, and lung (106). In human tissues, TP receptor transcripts were found in the placenta and the lung (107). Therefore, it seems that TP receptors are present in immune related organs (e.g., spleen and thymus) as well as those rich **in** smooth muscle, such as the lung. Ushikubi and colleagues (108) have further investigated the TP receptor population in the thymus. Using radioligand binding, they found TP receptor expression was greatest in immature CD4-8- and CD4+8+ cells, and that recepfor expression decreased as cells matured. They also suggested the presence of functional **TP** receptors on immature thymocytes, as the

addition of a TP receptor agonist induced **ap**optosis in this cell population that was sensitive to TP receptor antagonism. Hence, in addition to roles in the cardiovascular and respiratory systems, TP receptors may also act in thymocyte development.

Recently, mice deficient in TP receptors have been generated to further elucidate potential roles of thromboxane A. These $TP^{-/-}$ mice exhibited an increased tendency to bleed and were unresponsive to the intravenous injection of the TP receptor specific agonist, **U46619** (109). The increase in bleeding tendency has also been reported in human patients with a point mutation (Arg-60to Leu) in the first cytoplasmic loop of their TP receptor (110). These patients display a defective platelet aggregatory response to **TXA**₂, which further suggests a role for TP receptors in hemostasis.

3 **PROSTANOID RECEPTOR** CLASSIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

The general scheme proposed by Kennedy and colleagues (see Section 1) is still in use today (1), and has been confirmed and expanded by the use of modern techniques in molecular biology, which have made possible the cloning and molecular characterization of all the known prostanoid receptors.

The current system terms prostanoid receptors P receptors, which is preceded by a letter to indicate the most potent natural prostanoid at that particular receptor (hence the receptor at which PGD, is the most potent natural agonist is called the DP receptor and so on). This system was based initially upon a rigorous quantitative comparison of the agonist potencies of each of the natural prostanoids in tissue preparations chosen to avoid the problems associated with multiple receptor types. In addition, being aware of the limitations of agonists in receptor classification (111), efforts were made to identify specific prostanoid-receptor antagonists. A summary of the current state of prostanoid receptor classification is shown in Table 6.2.

			Receptor		Number	Chromosomal	
Receptor	Subtype	Isoforms	Coupling	Species	of AA^a	Location	Refs.
DP	DP_1	1		Human	359	N.D.	49
	-		G,. ↑ cAMP	Mouse	357	14	112
				Rat	357	N.D.	113
\mathbf{EP}	EP_1	2		Human	402	19p3.1	114,115
	-		↑ [Ca²⁺]_i through unidentified G-protein	Mouse	405	8	64
			-	Rat	405	N.D.	116
	EP_2	1		Human	358	5p13.1	117
	_		G_{s} , \uparrow cAMP	Mouse	362	N.D.	68
				Rat	357	N.D.	116
	\mathbf{EP}_{3}	10		Human	365	1p31.2	118
			$egin{array}{c} \mathbf{G_i},\ \downarrow \ \mathbf{cAMP}^b \end{array}$	Mouse	365	3	119
				Rat	366	N.D.	116,120
	\mathbf{EP}_{4}	1		Human	488	5p13.1	121
	-		G_{s} , $\uparrow cAMP$	Mouse	513	15	122
			-	Rat		N.D.	116
FP		2		Human	358	1p31.1	123
			G _q ↑ [Ca ²⁺] _i with ↑ PI turnover	Mouse	366	3	97
				Rat	366	N.D.	123
IP	IP_1	1		Human	386	19q13.3	124, 125
			G _s /G _q and ↑ cAMP/↑ IP ₂	Mouse	417	7	126
			•• 3	Rat	416	N.D.	127
ΤР	ΤP.	2		Human	343	19n13.3	107
Ir	** [-	G _q , ↑ [Ca ²⁺] _i with ↑ PI	Mouse	341	10	106
			turnover	_	a : : :		100
				Rat	341	N.D.	128

Table 6.2Second Messenger Couplings, Amino Acid (AA) Numbers, and ChromosomalLocations of the Cloned Prostanoid Receptors

"Owing to C-terminal splicing, amino acid numbers are variable for \mathbf{EP}_3 receptors. The AA numbers shown are for the \mathbf{hEP}_{3-III} receptor, the $\mathbf{mEP}_{3\alpha}$ receptor, and $\mathbf{rEP}_{3\alpha}$ receptors.

^bMultiple C-terminal splice variants of EP_3 receptors exist that couple to different G-proteins. For example, bovine EP_3 receptors can couple to G_i , but also to G_s and G_s .

PI, phosphatidylinositol; \uparrow , increase; \downarrow , decrease.

3.1 Prostanoid Receptor Subtypes and Isoforms

Although the subclassification of EP receptors is well accepted and verified by numerous studies, the evidence for subtypes of DP, IP, and TP receptors is less clear. There is some evidence for two subtypes of DP receptor (129, 130), although this has yet to be proven unequivocally. However, recently, it has been shown that PGD, may act through a novel, putative chemoattractant receptor, termed **CRTH2**, which is preferentially expressed in human T helper type 2 cells, eosinophils, and basophils (131). This receptor is particularly interesting in that it is not a member of the general prostanoid receptor family; rather, it
is related to other chemoattractant receptors, such as that for N-formylmethionyl-leucylphenylalanine (fMLP). Although PGD, clearly has affinity for this receptor, it is not clear whether it is the natural ligand, and so for the time being, its identification as a *bone fide* prostanoid receptor must remain tentative. There is also some functional evidence for a subdivision within IP receptors (19, 132). For example, Wise and colleagues (133) found the **FGL**, mimetic, **BMY45778**, to be a potent and fill IP receptor agonist in human platelets and rat neutrophils. In contrast, this compound was a weak partial agonist in the rat colon, suggesting the possible existence of more than one subtype of IP receptor.

Although it is unclear whether there are several subtypes of TP receptors (134, 135), this receptor does seem to have at least two isoforms, generated by alternative splicing, both of which have been cloned in humans (136). These differ in the lengths of their Cterminal tails distal to Arg-328. Similar alternative splicing has been reported in both EP, (1), EP_3 (137), and FP receptors (138). This has been particularly well characterized in the case of the EP_3 receptor. The EP_3 receptor exists in several splice-variants, and it has been proposed that at least six splice-variants could exist in each species. These variants all occur at the same relative amino acid in the **C**-terminus of the EP, receptor, thus altering the length of the C-terminal tail. This has recently been shown to alter potential signal transduction pathways and localization of the EP_3 receptor (118, 139, 140). Despite these differences, the binding affinities for the natwal prostanoids seem similar, and it is unclear at present whether other EP receptor selective ligands display differences in affinity and agonist potency between different EP_3 receptor splice-variants, because no detailed comparative studies have been carried out under similar experimental conditions.

3.2 Prostanoid Receptors as G-Protein—Coupled Receptors

The first prostanoid receptor to be cloned was the TXA_2 receptor (107), and since then, homology screening has been used to clone **pro**stanoid receptors from several species, including mice, rats, humans, and cows (137).

Hydrophobicity and homology analyses of these receptors have revealed them to have seven putative transmembrane domains, suggesting they are all G-protein-coupled, rhodopsin-like receptors (GPCRs) belonging to the main subclass (2.1) (141). Overall homology between the different receptor types is quite low (20-30%), whereas homology between species orthologues is much higher (70-90%) (137). A summary of the gene locations and amino acid lengths of the cloned prosta**noid** receptors is shown in Table 6.2. Recent reports have also suggested that functional prostanoid receptors are present at the nuclear envelope, as well as at the cell surface. For example, nuclear EP₃ receptors can induce increases in intranuclear Ca²⁺ and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) gene expression (142, 143).

Despite the structural differences in receptor subtypes, strong conservation exists in several areas. There are 28 residues conserved around the putative transmembrane domains, 8 of which are shared by other families of GPCRs, and these are believed to be involved in structure/function relationships of GPCRs in general. Thus, two cysteine residues in the first and second intracellular loops are conserved, and these may form a disulphide bridge necessary for the stabilization of receptor conformation to allow ligand binding (144). Also conserved is an aspartate, in the second transmembrane region, which has been shown in other receptors to be important in coupling ligand binding to G-protein activation (145). Concensus sequences for N-glycosylation are also present, for example, in the second extracellular loop of EP₃ and EP, receptors. In addition, serine and threonine residues, putative **phosphorylation** sites, are widely distributed in the cytoplasmic portions of the receptors and may play a role in receptor desensitization, as has been reported for human TP receptors (146, 147).

Specific to the prostanoid receptors, the most conserved region is the seventh transmembrane domain, where the sequence L-X-A-X-R-X-A-SIT-X-N-Q-I-L-D-P-W-V-Y-I-L is shared. Two further sequences, G-R-Y-X-X-Q-X-P-G-T/S-W-C-F and M-X-F-F-G-L-X-X-L-L-X-X-X-A-M-A-X-E-R, are also present in the second extracellular loop and third transmembrane domain, respectively. These have been suggested to be involved in prostanoid binding, with particular attention being paid to the conserved **Arg** in the seventh transmembrane domain, which is located at the analogous position to the retinal binding site, **Lys**²⁹⁶, of the rhodopsin receptor. It was suggested that this residue might serve as the binding site for the ω -carboxyl group of prostanoid molecules (148). Site-directed mutagenesis experiments have also been conducted to elucidate the binding sites for various prostaglandin receptor-selective ligands, and these aspects will be covered in more detail (Section 4).

Computer-assisted sequence analyses have been used to construct phylogenetic trees to infer the evolutionary pathways of the prostanoid receptors. For example, Toh and colleagues (149) examined the molecular evolution of the lipid mediator receptors. They reported prostanoid receptors forming a distinct cluster within the rhodopsin-like **GPCRs.** In contrast, the receptors for platelet activating factor and lipoxygenases were in another cluster with the receptors for tachykinins and bradykinin. Moreover, the prostanoid receptor cluster could be further subdivided (Fig. 6.3). Hence, the $DP/EP_2/EP_4$ and IP receptors, which predominantly exert their effects through increasing intracellular cAMP levels, seem to be more closely related to each other than to $\mathbf{EP}_1/\mathbf{FP}$ and TP receptors, which predominantly act through increasing intracellular Ca^{2+} , or to EP_3 receptors, which, although often causing decreases in intracellular cAMP, have been reported to act through multiple signaling pathways (see Section 3.4.4). Other groups (117, 149) have also proposed similar evolutionary pathways. These studies are consistent with the proposal that the PGE system and receptor may have evolved before the individual EP receptor subtypes, which mediate specific signaling pathways. Additionally, the construction of **phylo**genetic trees suggests that the prostanoid receptors evolved separately from the receptors for other lipid-signaling molecules.

3.3 Radioligand Binding Studies

The proposed scheme of receptor classification has been further supported by the existence of high affinity binding sites for each natural prostanoid, both in native tissues and **heterol**ogous systems. These studies have also been furthered by the generation of radioligands from ligands that show selectivity for particular prostanoid receptors, such as the recent development of [³H]-BWA868C to detect DP receptor-like binding sites (150).

3.3.1 PGD₂-Specific Binding Sites. [³H]-PGD, binding sites have been identified in human platelets, and these sites are bound, with high affinity, by the DP receptor selective agonist, BW245C (see Section 12). In contrast, BW245C does not displace [³H]-prostacyclin binding from human platelets, suggesting that the binding sites are different. Likewise, the other natural prostaglandins show lower affinities in displacing [³H]-PGD₂ binding than PGD, or **BW245C** (151,152). Thus, these data are consistent with functional studies suggesting that platelets, in humans at least, contain DP receptors. Binding sites for [³H]-PGD₂ have also been reported in synaptic membranes from the rat (153). Recently, [³H]-BWA868C has been reported and characterized as a new radioligand to aid the identification of PGD, binding sites (150). This radioligand showed high affinity binding in human platelets that were displaced by other ligands known to act through the DP receptor. Under the same conditions, EP, FP, IP, and TP receptor selective ligands were poor competitors, with K_i values in the micromolar range. This could be an important advance, because the use of a specific DP receptor antagonist should allow the closer correlation of affinities and potencies from functional studies, without the added complications of differing agonist efficacies between preparations.

3.3.2 PGE₂-Specific Binding Sites. The use of [³H]-PGE₂ as a radioligand has proved useful in the determination of PGE, binding sites that may or may not represent functional EP receptors. However, because of the non-selective nature of this ligand and also the lack of truly selective EP receptor agonists and antagonists, this approach to subclassifyingEP receptor subtypes has been limited. Nevertheless, high affinity binding sites ($pK_d > 8$) have been reported in adipocytes, brain, dorsal root ganglia, kidney,



Figure 6.3. Molecular grouping of the prostanoid receptors. The dendogram was constructed from sequence comparison of the published sequences of the cloned prostanoid receptors from various species. The sequences used are identified by their accession numbers shown within the figure. The length of the solid lines represent **evolutionary** diversity.

corpus luteum, myometrium, gastrointestinal tract, liver, heart, and platelets (32). Furthermore, in some cases, PGE analogs have been used to attempt to identify the EP subtype involved. For example, competition studies using $[^{3}H]$ -PGE₂ and sulprostone or AY23626 conducted in membranes prepared from rat adi-

pocytes and renal **collecting** tubules have suggested the presence of EP, receptors. Encouragingly, the binding **affinities** obtained under these conditions can be correlated to the relative agonist potencies obtained for these compounds in other prototypical EP,, EP,, and EP, receptor–containing tissues.

3.3.3 PGF_{2 α}-Specific Binding Sites. The majority of studies using $[^{3}H]$ -PGF_{2a} have been conduced on the corpora lutea of several species, including the rat (154), rabbit (155), and sheep (156). The detection of high affinity binding sites in these areas is entirely consistent with the effects of PGF, as a luteolytic agent in several species of animal and suggests the presence of functional FP receptors in mediating prostaglandin-induced luteolysis. In addition, this binding is displaced specifically by unlabeled $PGF_{2\alpha}$, and studies using fluprostenol and cloprostenol, both highly selective and potent PGF analogs (see Section 4.3), reveal a good correlation between binding affinity and agonist potency at FP receptors. In addition, when expressed in recombinant systems, there seems to be a good correlation between rank orders of affinity between recombinant FP receptors and those believed to be present in corpora lutea (157). [³H]-17-phenyl $PGF_{2\alpha}$ has also been reported as a radioligand useful in the determination of FP receptor binding sites (158).

3.3.4 PGI₂-Specific Binding Sites. IP receptors have been identified in a wide variety of tissues, and PGI binding sites reflect this. Hence, binding studies have been performed on platelets, vascular smooth muscle, and nerve cells, as well as the guinea piglung, generally using [³H]-prostacyclin, [³H]-iloprost, or [³H]-PGE₁ as the radioligand (159, 160).

In all the preparations studied, a similar order of agonist potency was obtained in competition studies. Hence, iloprost \cong PGI₂ > PGE₁ (10-fold weaker) > PGD₂ = PGE₂ = PGF_{2\alpha} (32). Furthermore, if PGD₂, for which there are known binding sites on human blood platelets (161), is omitted, there is a clear association between the rank order of competitive potency and the relative potencies of these agonists to inhibit platelet aggregation. These data thus suggest that the [³H]-PGI₂ binding sites identified in the above tissues are likely to be IP receptors of the same type.

In recombinant systems, the rank orders of competitive potency for a wide range of prostaglandin receptor ligands are similar to those obtained in platelets and other tissues, thus providing further evidence for the existence of IP receptors in these tissues (126, 162–164).

3.3.5 TXA₂-Specific Binding Sites. Radioligand binding studies have been performed using both TP receptor selective agonists and antagonists. Agonists used include [³H]-U44069 (165), [³H]-U46619 (166), and [¹²⁵I]-I-BOP (167), and antagonists used include [³H]-13-APA, [¹²⁵I]-PTA-OH, and more recently, [³H]-SQ29548 (168), [³H]-GR32191B (169), and [¹²⁵I]-S-145 (170), all of which have pK_d values of >8. The latter compounds are particularly potent TP receptor blockers and are thus ideally suited for use in radioligand binding studies. Several studies have been performed on platelets, and in general, a good correlation in ligand potencies has been observed between functional and binding studies. For example, in human platelets, [³H]-U44069 binding was displaced by U46619 and also TXA₂ (171). Similarly, identical rank orders have been obtained for the TP receptor antagonists, SQ29548, ONO3708, BM13177, and 13-APA in human platelets using both functional and ligand binding techniques (166). Interestingly, the binding properties of [³H]-SQ29548 and [³H]-GR32191B (vapiprost) seem to reflect some of their pharmacological properties in man. Thus, [³H]-SQ29548 shows rapid association and dissociation kinetics (168), whereas [³H]-GR32191B exhibits slow dissociation kinetics (169), which correlates with this compound's pharmacological profile in platelets where it seems to act as a partially insurmountable receptor blocker (172). The binding properties of recombinant TP receptors have also been extensively examined and the rank orders of affinity obtained are in good agreement with those obtained in membranes derived from endogenous TP receptor-containing tissues (157,164).

3.3.6 Summary. Thus, it can be seen that specific binding sites for all of the main natural prostaglandins have been identified in both membranes prepared from tissues and also in recombinant systems. These studies, showing binding sites at which each of the natural **pro**stanoids displays the highest binding **affinity**, are consistent with the proposed system of receptor classification. Likewise, the good correlation between the orders of affinity in competition studies and agonist potency from functional studies suggest that binding sites

identified are functional receptors and that radioligand binding is a useful tool to aid in receptor identification and classification.

3.4 Signal Transduction

The coupling of prostanoid receptors to intracellular signalling pathways has been examined by several methods using both recombinant systems and in *vitro* preparations to determine the Gproteins and second messengers involved.

3.4.1 DP Receptors. DP receptors couple through G_s to increases in intracellular cyclic AMP. Indirect evidence for this was obtained by Simon and colleagues (173), who showed that D, E, and I series prostaglandins all stimulated adenylate cyclase in human colonic mucosa. These early observations have been confirmed by studies using recombinant DP receptors, where it has been demonstrated that both PGD, and the DP receptor selective agonist, BW245C, concentration dependently increase cyclic AMP levels in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells expressing recombinant DP receptors (49, 112).

3.4.2 EP, Receptors. The G-protein involved in EP₁ receptor signaling has yet to be identified (1). Studies in recombinant cells suggest the involvement of Ca²+ mobilization. Watabe and colleagues (64) showed PGE, caused an increase in intracellular [Ca²⁺] in CHO cells expressing this receptor, an event that was dependent on extracellular Ca²+ and accompanied by a very weak inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) response. This agrees with Creese and Denborough (174) who showed a similar extracellular Ca²⁺ effect in guinea pig trachea, a preparation known to contract through EP₁ receptors (175).

3.4.3 EP, Receptors. EP_2 receptors are coupled to G_s and mediate increases in intracellular cAMP concentrations. Evidence for this was first obtained by Hardcastle and coworkers, who reported a positive association between EP, and cAMP generation in enterocytes (176) and more recently from recombinant systems.

3.4.4 EP, Receptors. EP_3 receptors have been shown to couple to several different sig-

nal transduction systems. The major coupling is to \mathbf{G}_{i} to reduce adenylate cyclase activity, but there are several reports of differential coupling of splice variants, including coupling to increases in intracellular calcium (139). This is consistent with responses observed in tissues, where \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor activation can inhibit gastric acid secretion (see below) and lipolysis, two actions classically mediated by decreases in cellular **cAMP**. In addition, it also seems that EP_3 receptors can mediate smooth muscle contraction, consistent with increases in intracellular Ca^{2+} (27). In addition, the EP₃ receptor seems to be involved in the inhibition of arginine vasopressin water reabsorption through a pertussis toxin-sensitive pathway, suggesting the involvement of G_i (177, 178). Likewise, the **EP**₃-mediated inhibition of acid secretion in the stomach is also pertussis-sensitive (72).

Four \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor isoforms have been cloned from **cDNA** generated from a bovine adrenal gland, and these display coupling to multiple second messenger pathways. Thus, the bovine \mathbf{EP}_{3A} isoform couples to \mathbf{G}_i , the \mathbf{EP}_{3B} and \mathbf{EP}_{3C} isoforms to \mathbf{G}_n and the \mathbf{EP}_{3D} isoform to \mathbf{G}_n , \mathbf{G}_i , and \mathbf{G} , (179). Isoforms of the mouse \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor, $\mathbf{EP}_{3\alpha}$ and $\mathbf{EP}_{3\beta}$, differ in their responses to $\mathbf{GTP}\gamma\mathbf{S}$ and also in potency at inhibiting forskolin-induced **cAMP** accumulation, with $\mathbf{EP3}\gamma$ requiring threefold lower concentrations of agonist than $\mathbf{EP}_{3\beta}$ to evoke a 50% inhibition (119).

3.4.5 EP, Receptors. This receptor subtype, like the EP, receptor, is known to couple to G, and mediate increases in intracellular cAMP levels (116). There is some confusion in the early literature regarding the identity of the "true" EP_4 receptor. The " EP_2 " subtype, originally cloned by Honda and colleagues (122) and Bastien and co-workers (121) has since been identified as the EP_4 receptor, on the basis of its insensitivity to the EP₂ receptor-selective agonist, butaprost (see Section 4), and sensitivity to the \mathbf{EP}_4 receptor antagonist, AH23848B. The EP₂ receptor cloned by **Regan** and colleagues (117) is regarded as the "true" EP, receptor subtype.

3.4.6 FP Receptors. This receptor type mediates increases in inositol triphosphate **for**- mation through G_q and phospholipase C activation. It has been known for some time that stimulation with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is coupled to increases in phosphoinositide turnover and the elevation of intracellular calcium (180, 181). In mouse fibroblasts, the effect of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ to elevate intracellular calcium is pertussis toxin-insensitive, suggesting a lack of involvement of G_i , and correlates with IP_3 formation (182). Similar results have been obtained using recombinant FP receptors, where FP receptor activation resulted in a concentration-dependent increase in IP_3 formation (97).

3.4.7 IP Receptors. IP receptors mediate an increase in cAMP levels through G_s (163), but recombinant studies in CHO cells have also revealed a phosphatidyl inositide response that is cholera- and pertussis toxininsensitive, suggesting the involvement of G_q (126).

3.4.8 TP Receptors. TP receptors are generally regarded as signaling through G_q to cause an increase in the concentration of intracellular calcium (183). However, there are reports that TP receptors may also couple to G_{11} , G_{12} , and G_{13} (184–186). Furthermore, there have also been reports that TP receptor splice variants, while both coupling G_q , may interact differently with adenylate cyclase. Thus, the TP α receptor isoform induces increases in intracellular cAMP, whereas the TP β isoform induces decreases in intracellular cAMP levels (187).

4 PROSTANOID RECEPTOR-SELECTIVE LIGANDS AND STRUCTURE-ACTIVITY RELATIONSHIPS

From the desire to produce novel therapeutics, several ligands that are selective for subtypes of prostaglandin receptors have been developed, and these are detailed below.

4.1 DP Receptors and Selective Ligands

The structures of some DP receptor ligands are shown in Fig. 6.4. PGD, is not an inherently selective agonist; it also has FP and TP receptor activity (188). The dehydration product of PGD₂, PGJ₂ (9-deoxy- Δ^9 -PGD₂), (189)

is equipotent to the natural agonist in producing vasodilation and inhibiting of platelet aggregation and more selective with respect to EP and FP receptor activity. PGJ_2 has also been shown to be of similar potency to PGD_2 in heterologous systems (190). Furthermore, PGJ_2 and its derivative, 15-deoxy, 12, 14- PGJ_2 , are also agonists at the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (**PPAR** γ) (191). The most widely described DP receptor agonist is the synthetic prostanoid, BW245C (192). This is a hydantoin prostanoid analog that is at least one order of magnitude more potent than PGD, as a DP receptor agonist, but is considerably less active at TP and FP receptors. It displaces [³H]-PGD₂, but not [³H]-prostacyclin binding form in bovine platelets (152), and its inhibitory action on human platelets can be blocked by the DP receptor antagonist, AH6809. Furthermore, BW245C has been shown to potently inhibit the aggregation of human platelets and relax the rabbit transverse stomach strip (193). Another DP receptor selective agonist is the 9-chloro analog of PGE₂, ZK110841 (194). SQ27986 has also been described as a potent and highly selective DP receptor agonist (195). Interestingly, introducing a 15-cyclohexyl group into the a-side chain of PGD₂ and other prostaglandins seems to enhance DP receptor-like selectivity. Finally, and most surprisingly, is **RS93520.** This is an analog of PGI, but is far more potent as a DP receptor agonist, being only a modest IP receptor agonist on the human platelet (196). Recently, L-644698 has been described as a novel DP receptor selective agonist (190), and it has been reported to be at least 300-fold more selective for human DP receptors over human EP_2 receptors and more than 4000-fold more selective over the other human recombinant prostanoid receptors. It also exhibits similar efficacy to PGD, and **BW245C**, as evaluated by the accumulation of **cAMP** in recombinant cells, suggesting this may prove a useful tool in DP receptor characterization in the future. The agonist and antagonist potencies of some ligands active at the DP receptor are shown in Table 6.3 and affinity constants at both mouse and human recombinant receptors in Table 6.4.

The first compounds with recognized DP receptor blocking activity were the phloretin





Figure 6.4. The structures of some DP receptor-selective ligands.

Agonists	Equieffedive Concentration Relative to PGD₂ (=1.0)	Refs.
BW245C	0.03–0.7	49, 112, 152, 193
ZK110841	0.2–1.0	190, 194
RS93520	1.0	196
SQ27986	0.3	195, 197
L-644698	1-6	56, 173
Antagonists	pA ₂	Refs.
AH6809	6.0–6.6	198, 199
BWA868C	9.3	200

 Table 6.3
 The Potencies of Some DP Receptor Agonists and Antagonists

derivatives, N-0164, N-0057, and N-0161. N-0164 antagonized the anti-aggregatory actions of PGD, and BW245C on human platelets and also inhibited the concomitant PGD_2 induced cAMP elevation (201). However, N-0164 also possesses activity in other systems. For example, it antagonizes PGE_2 - and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -induced gastrointestinal smooth muscle contraction (202) and has also been shown to have inhibitory effects on thromboxane synthase (203) and cAMP phosphodiesterases (204), in addition to blocking TP receptors

Table 6.4Affinities of Some Prostanoid Receptor Agonists and Antagonists (*) atRecombinant Human and Mouse DP, FP, IP, and TP Receptors

	Human [K _i (nM)]				Mouse $[K_i (\mathbf{n}M)]$			
Ligand	DP	FP	IP	ТР	DP	FP	IP	TP
PGE ₂	307	119	**	>10000	***	***	***	***
SC19220*	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	* * *	***	~ ~ ~ ~	
Butaprost FA	>10000	**	>10000	>10000	***	***	***	***
Butaprost ME	>10000	>10000	>10000	>10000	N.D.	N.D.	Ŋ.D.	Ŋ.D.
Sulprostone	**	198	**	**	***	580	***	~ ~ ~
M&B28767	\g10000	510	\g10000	343	***	1,2,4	***	1300
GR63799	>10000	1241	>10000	>10000	***	***	***	***
Enprostil	>10000	88	>10000	>10000	***	***	***	***
Misoprostol FA	>10000	>10000	* *	**	***			
Misoprostol ME	**	**	**	**	N.D.	Ŋ . ₽.	N.D.	Ŋ₽.
11-deoxy-PGE ₁	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	***		1000	
AH23848B*	1380	>10000	>10000	592	N.D.	N.D.	Ŋ.₽.	Ŋ.₽.
PGD ₂	1.7	6.7	**	6602	21	47	***	***
BW245C	0.4	>10000	>10000	>10000	250	17 <u>00</u>	***	***
ZK110841	0.3	1670	2138	1121	* * *	***	***	***
BWA868C*	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	220		***	***
$PGF_{2\alpha}$	861	3.2	>10000	8700		3.4	***	***
Fluprostenol	**	2.3	**	>10000	***	3.8		
Cloprostenol	>10000	0.47	**	6123	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
Latanoprost	555	**	**	>10000	N.D.	Ŋ . ₽.	N.D.	Ŋ . ₽.
Iloprost	1035	619	11	6487	***	***	11	***
Cicaprost	>1340	>1340	17	>1340	***	***	10	***
Carbaprostacyclin	132	360	282	>10000	***	***	110	
U46619	3970	241	>10000	35	1000	***	***	67
SQ29548*	**	**	**	4.1				13

Human data taken from Abramovitz et al. (157). Mouse data from Kiryama et al. (164).

** K_{i} estimate > 100,000 nM.

*** Unableto displace 50% of their radioligand at $10 \ \mu M$.

(205).Indeed, N-0164 was first identified as an EP receptor blocker, where it antagonizes PGE, and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -induced smooth muscle contractions (200). AH6809 is also a DP receptor blocker, but this compound also exhibits antagonist activity at TP, \mathbf{EP}_1 (and human \mathbf{EP}_2) receptors (164, 206), having an estimated pA_2 value of 6.5 in both cases. A more potent and selective DP receptor antagonist was described by Giles and colleagues (200): **BWA868C** is a derivative of the DP receptor agonist, BW245C and is the most useful DP receptor antagonist currently available. It has also been shown to possess activity in vivo (207). This compound displays potent antagonist activity against the functional effects of **PGD**, in human platelets (208), rabbit jugular and saphenous vein (200, 209), and human myometrium (210). Recently, S-5751 has also been described as a DP receptor selective antagonist (211).

[³H]-BWA868C has also recently been described (195). This radioligand displayed high affinity binding in human platelets and the DP receptor selective ligands described above all exhibited high affinities in competition experiments in the same tissue. Ligands active at the other prostanoid receptors were, in contrast, poor competitors. Thus, it seems that this antagonist may prove useful for future DP receptor characterization and autoradiographic studies.

4.2 EP Receptors and Selective Ligands

4.2.1 General Considerations. The identification of PGE analogs with selective func**tional profiles illus**trates the progress that has been made into determining structure-activity relationships for EP receptor selectivity, and it seems that further structural features confer EP receptor subtype selectivity. For EP agonist activity, the length of the a-chain is **crucial, with the al**teration of this by a single carbon atom conferring loss of EP receptor se**lectivity** (212). Substitutions at C-1 seem to reduce agonist potency at EP₂ receptors. Hence replacing the carboxylic acid group with for example, esters, methanesulionamido, and imino groups, seems to maintain agonist potency at EP₁ and EP, receptors only (213, 214). In contrast, substitutions at C-2 to

C-6 considerably reduce agonist potency at EP receptors. Furthermore, an alkynic link between C4 and C5 reduces EP₃ agonist potency, whereas an interphenylene at C-3–C-7 increases selectivity for the EP, receptor (215, 216). The cyclopentyl ring also seems critical for EP receptor selectivity, because substitution with a cyclohexyl group produces a significant loss of activity at EP receptors in general (212). Likewise, a carbonyl group at C-9 is preferred for EP receptor agonist activity, although a methylene group allows EP_1 and EP_3 receptor activity (217–219). The hydroxy group at C-11 seems critical for EP_1 receptor activity, but not at other EP receptors. However, removal of this group seems to decrease agonist potency at all EP receptor subtypes and may also result in a relative increase in TP receptor agonist activity.

The length of the ω -chain does not seem crucial in conferring EP receptor agonist activity, and there are several cases in which the length of this chain has been altered without inducing differences in agonist activity (32). Likewise, the C-13–C-14 double bond is not critical, as long as it is present in the *trans* conformation. In contrast, a hydroxy group at C-15 is necessary for EP receptor agonist activity, but the presence of this group at both C-15 and C-16 can reduce EP, receptor potency. When a methyl group is introduced at C-15 or C-16, TP receptor activity seems to increase (220). The substitution of the final two to four carbon atoms of the methyl chain with a cyclic structure also seems to confer some EP receptor selectivity, with 17-phenyltrinor-PGE, probably one of the best-documented examples. This agonist has some EP_1 receptor selectivity (32).

Recently, Ungrin and colleagues (221) performed a study to determine the structure activity relationships of 55 prostanoid-like compounds at the recombinant human EP_1 receptor. They examined the effects of these analogs on both receptor binding and activation. On the basis of this, they suggested that the C-11 and C-15 hydroxy group are essential for agonist activity, along with the presence of a carbonyl group at C-9, rather than an ester moiety. Furthermore, they found that the alteration of the ω -tail could enhance the potency of otherwise weak compounds. In sum-



Figure 6.5. The structures of some EP, receptor-selective ligands.

mary, in conferring EP receptor selectivity, the following elements are important: an α -chain of seven carbon atoms, a cyclopentyl ring substituted at C-9, preferably with a carbonyl group, and a hydroxy group at C-15 or C-16.

4.2.2 EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands. The structures of some EP, receptor selective ligands are depicted in Fig. 6.5. To date, no highly selective, potent \mathbf{EP}_1 receptor agonists have been described, and it is only recently that potent \mathbf{EP}_1 receptor antagonists have been reported. 17-phenyltrinor-PGE₂ (see above), 16,16-dimethyl PGE₂, ICI 80205, and 9-methylene PGE₂ all show moderate \mathbf{EP}_1 re-

ceptor selectivity but are also active at other EP receptors (222). ICI 80205 also has TP receptor activity. **Sulprostone** was also identified as an **EP**₁ receptor selective agonist, but it is actually more potent as an **EP**₃ receptor selective ligand (157). **Iloprost** is a stable analog of **PGI**₂, but this behaves as a potent partial agonist at EP, receptors. Thus, compounds do not have to be PGE derivatives to display **EP**₁ agonist activity. **Iloprost** is also relatively selective for **EP**₁ receptors over the other EP receptor subtypes, displaying very little functional activity in **EP**₂ and **EP**₃ containing preparations.

Several compounds have been synthesized that demonstrate EP_1 receptor blocking activ-

286

ity in functional studies. The first of these compounds to be described is the weak antagonist SC-19220 (223), with pA₂ values of 5.2-5.6 in EP, receptor–containing preparations. This compound and its derivatives have been tested for \mathbf{EP}_1 antagonist activity in both the guinea pig ileum and the rat fundus. It was found that increasing the length of the acetyl chain increases potency but reduces selectivity. SC-19220 has also been found to be active in *vivo*, showing antinociceptive effects in a variety of animal pain tests (224). However, SC-19220 is highly insoluble and has also been shown to exhibit some local anesthetic activity (225). Although SC-19220 is regarded as a weak competitive \mathbf{EP}_1 antagonist on the basis of functional studies, it **has** negligible binding affinity for the recombinant mouse EP₁ receptor (164).AH6809 also shows weak EP, blocking activity, although it is more potent than SC-19220. However, this compound is also a blocker of the human \mathbf{EP}_2 receptor (206) and DP receptors. No binding of this compound to the recombinant mouse EP, receptor was detected, and at the human receptor, AH6809, displayed similar weak affinities for \mathbf{EP}_1 , \mathbf{EP}_2 , EP, and DP receptors (157,164). In addition, the usefulness of AH6809, especially in vivo, is compromised by its avid binding to albumin; it is approximately 97% protein bound in the presence of 4% bovine serum albumin (226). Recently, Shaw and colleagues have reported anew EP₁ antagonist, ZM325802, which they have shown to have a K_i of 0.25 nM at human recombinant EP, receptors and to be 8400fold more selective over EP, and EP, receptors. Binding at \mathbf{EP}_2 receptors was not determined, but this compound failed to antagonize the relaxant effect of PGE_2 in the guinea pig isolated-trachea preparation, a model of EP_2 receptor activity (63). They also found that this compound displayed anti-nociceptive properties in in vivo tests in the rat, further suggesting a possible role for EP, receptors in prostaglandin-induced hyperalgesia. A summary of the agonist and antagonist potencies, **as** well as the inhibition constants of ligands that have EP, receptor activity, are shown in Tables 6.5 and 6.6, respectively.

It should be noted that, whereas most of the agonists described at EP, receptors are obvious derivatives of PGE_2 (with the exception of iloprost), none of the antagonists thus far described bear any clear chemical resemblance to E series prostaglandins.

4.2.3 EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands. The structures of some compounds that are active at \mathbf{EP}_2 receptors are shown in Fig. 6.6. Several compounds have been described that seem to be specific \mathbf{EP}_2 receptor agonists. The first compound identified, but later found to possess some \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor activity **as** well, was the PGE, analog, AY23626 (228). Misoprostol and 19(R)-OH PGE, (229) are also EP₂ receptor agonists, but the former is more potent at EP_3 receptors (222) and the latter at EP, receptors (116). Despite a lack of absolute selectivity, both these agents have been useful tools in preparations lacking EP_3 receptors. More specific for the EP, receptor are AH13205 (230) and butaprost (TR4979) (231). Butaprost, although not possessing great potency, is highly selective for the EP_2 receptor subtype

Equieffective Concentration Relative to PGE, (=1.0)	Refs.	
1	227	
4-6	228	
1^a	60,116	
pA ₂	Refs.	
5.2–5.6	226,228	
6.4-7.0	226,228	
9.6	63	
	Equieffective Concentration Relative to PGE, (=1.0) 1 $4-6$ 1^{a} pA_{2} $5.2-5.6$ $6.4-7.0$ 9.6^{b}	

 Table 6.5
 Potencies of Some EP, Receptor Agonists and Antagonists

^aPartial agonist. ^bpK_i value.

	Human [K _i (nM)]				Mouse [<i>K</i> _i (n <i>M</i>)]			
Ligand	EP ₁	EP ₂	EP_3	EP_4	EP,	EP,	EP ₃	EP ₄
PGE,	9.1	4.9	0.33	0.79	20	12	_Q.85	1 .9
SC19220*	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	***	~ ~ ~	***	***
Butaprost FA	>10000	91	1643	>10000	~ ~ ~	110	~ ~ ~ ~	~ ~ ~ ~
Butaprost ME	>10000	3,5,13	>10000	>10000	N.D.	Ŋ.D.	N.D.	Ŋ.D.
Sulprostone	107		0.35	7740	21	***	0.6	~ ~ ~
M&B28767	419	988	0.14	10	120	***	0.68	500
GR63799	329	>10000	4.77	149	***	***	1.9	480
Enprostil	82	>10000	12	>10000		~ ~ ~	~ ~ ~	~ ~ ~
Misoprostol FA	>10000	34	7.9	23	120	250	67	67
Misoprostol ME	>10000	10249	319	5499	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
11-deoxy PGE_1	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	600	4 5	1.5	.23
AH23848B*	>10000	>10000	4419	13727	***	***	~ ~ ~ ~	***
PGD,	5280	2973	421	1483	***	***	28Q.	***
BW245C	>10000	219	>10000	132	***	***	***	***
ZK110841	1.8	6.0	-503	41	***	***	***	***
BWA868C*	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		***		***
PGF_{2lpha}	547	. 9 . 64	38	288	1,3,0,0	***	75.	***
Fluprostenol	>10000	* *	708	>10000				
Cloprostenol	815		4.4	9137	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
Latanoprost	1750	>10000	6503		N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
Iloprost	11	1870	56	284	* 2 1	1600	22	2300
Cicaprost	> 1340	> 1340	255	44	***	1300	170	
Carbaprostacyclin	23	942	14	352	***	1,60,0	31.	23QQ
U46619	>10000	>10000	>10000	2013	***	***	***	***
SQ29548*				~ ~				

Table 6.6 Affinities of Some Prostanoid Receptor Agonists and Antagonists (*) at Recombinant Human and Mouse EP, EP_2 , EP, and EP, Receptors

Human data from Abramovitz et al. (157). Mouse data from Kiryama et al. (164).

** K_{i} estimate > 100,000 n*M*.

***Unableto displace 50% of radioligand at 10 μM .

over other EP receptors, making it a useful experimental tool. Like misoprostol it displays much higher affinity for recombinant EP, receptors when in its free acid form (116, 157).

To date, there are no reports of compounds that act as specific \mathbf{EP}_2 receptor blockers, although AH6809 is an antagonist at human EP, receptors. A summary of the **affinities** and potencies of EP, receptor ligands obtained in both functional and binding studies are shown in Tables 6.6 and 6.7, respectively.

4.2.4 EP_3 Receptor-Selective Ligands. The structures of some ligands active at the EP_3 receptor are illustrated in Fig. 6.7. EP_3 receptors are believed to be important in mediating the beneficial effects of prostaglandins in the stomach, where they seem to inhibit gastric acid secretion. Several EP_3 receptor agonists have been developed to protect against the

gastroduodenal damage and increased risk of ulceration associated with NSAID use (233). Examples include misoprostol, rioprostil, M&B28767, sulprostone, and nocloprost (84, 234, 235). However, these compounds also seem to be active at other EP receptors. Misoprostol and rioprostil both have well-documented agonist activity at the EP₂ receptors, although not at EP, receptors, whereas sulprostone, which has been widely used in EP_3 receptor characterization studies, is also active at EP, receptors (228). In contrast, enprostil and **GR63799X** are more selective for the EP, receptor (72, 236). In addition, both compounds are highly potent in functional assays. These functional assays have also been backed up by the results of studies, both functional and radioligand binding in recombinant receptors (116, 157, 164). Probably the most selective agonist at the EP_3 receptor is SC46275



Figure 6.6. The structures of some EP, receptor-selective ligands.

(237), which displays nanomolar potency in smooth muscle preparations containing EP, receptors, such as the guinea pig vas deferens, but not those containing EP, or \mathbf{EP}_2 receptors (237). To date, there are no well-documented examples of potent, selective antagonists at the \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor, although a series of compounds that seem to be \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor antagonists have recently been reported (238). A summary of the affinities obtained in recombinant binding studies and functional potencies for EP, receptor active compounds is shown in Tables 6.6 and 6.8, respectively.

4.2.5 EP, Receptor-Selective Ligands. The EP_4 receptor is the most recently identified subtype (232). To date, there are no well-documented examples of potent, selective EP_4 receptor agonists, but 11-deoxy-PGE₁ and

19R(OH)-PGE₂ have been identified as agonists that display around 30-fold selectivity for EP_4 receptors over the EP_2 receptor subtype (116). However, recently, series of compounds that show apparent EP_4 receptor selectivity have been described (241, 242) The TP receptor blocking drugs, AH23848B and AH 22921, are both weak EP_4 receptor antagonists, with pA₂ values of around 5.4. Despite its low potency, AH23848B is considered a relatively specific antagonist (232). The structures of some EP_4 receptor selective compounds, along with their binding affinities and functional potencies are shown in Fig. 6.8 and Tables 6.6 and 6.9, respectively.

4.3 FP Receptors and Selective Ligands

PGF, is a potent FP receptor agonist, but it also displays some activity at EP and TP re-

Equieffective Concentration			
Agonists	Relative to PGE, $(=1)$	Refs.	
AH13205	30–100	230	
Misoprostol ^a	14	232	
19(R)-OH PGE ₂ ^b	40	229	
AY23626	2–14	228	
Butaprost	6–30	116,231	

 Table 6.7 Potencies of Some EP2 Receptor Agonists

Note. there are no selective EP, receptor antagonists (1).

^aAlso has activity at EP, receptors.

^bAlso has activity at EP, receptors.



Figure 6.7. The structures of some EP, receptor-selective ligands.

ceptors. $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is a potent luteolytic agent and is used in veterinary practice for this purpose. Also potent luteolytics in several animal species are two 16-phenoxy analogs of $PGF_{2\alpha}$, known as fluprostenol and cloprostenol (244). Their contractile actions on FP receptor preparations, the iris muscle of the dog and the cat, confirmed their identity as potent FP receptor agonists. Of the two compounds, fluprostenol is the most FP receptor selective, being almost inactive at all the other prostanoid receptors, whereas **cloprostenol** displays some weak activity in EP, receptor-containing preparations (232). Several other agents, all analogs of PGF,,, have also been synthesized as FP receptor selective ligands. These include pros-

Table 6.8	Potencies of Some EP, Receptor Agonists

Equieffective Concentration				
Agonists	Relative to $PGE_2(=1)$	Refs.		
Misoprostol ^a	0.2–1.0	72,227,236		
Rioprostol	0.9–1.1	72		
M&B28767	0.1-0.6	74,227		
Nocloprost	1	239		
Enprostil	0.02-0.1	71, 72,236		
Sulprostone ^b	0.1–1.0	1,116,240		
GR63799X	0.1	236		

"Also has activity at EP, receptors.

^bAlso has activity at EP, receptors.

Agonists

Figure 6.8. The structures of some \mathbf{EP}_4 receptor-selective ligands.

talene, fenprostalene, and tiaprost (245). In addition, no specific FP receptor antagonists have been reported. Several agents, 14-didehydro-20 methyl PGF_{2α}, N,N-dimethylamino-PGF_{2α}, and N,N-dimethylamido-PGF_{2α}, have exhibited antagonistic activity in preparations thought to contain FP receptors, but it is unclear whether these effects are mediated by FP receptor blockade (232). The structures of some FP receptor ligands are shown in Fig. 6.9

AH23848B

and the binding affinities and functional potencies are shown in Tables 6.4 and 6.10, respectively.

AH22921

Crossley (250) has investigated the structure activity requirements for FP receptor activation. Alteration of the length of the β -chain, which can be altered from 8-11 carbon atoms, has little effect on activity. In addition, replacement of the carbon atoms in positions 17-21 in the p-chain with oxygen alters

Agonists	Equieffective Concentration Relative to PGE, (=1)	Refs.
$11-\text{deoxy-PGE}_1$ $19R(OH)-PGE_2^{\alpha}$	1 30	116 116
Antagonists	pA_2	Refs.
AH23848B AH22921	4.9–5.4 5.3	232, 243 232, 243

Table 6.9 The Potencies of Some EP₄ Receptor Agonists and Antagonists

"Also has activity at EP, receptors.

CO₂H

OH

CO₂H



Figure 6.9. The structures of some FP receptor-selective ligands.

potency. The 17-keto derivative is the most potent FP ligand, also displaying the greatest selectivity over EP receptors. Furthermore, replacement of the β -chain C-17–C-20 atoms with phenoxy groups carrying further *meta* and para substitutions also affects FP receptor interactions. The most potent FP receptor agonist produced using this procedure is the p-fluorophenoxy analog, but it also displayed significant activity at TP receptors. However, the rn-trifuoromethylphenoxy (fluprostenol) and *m*-chlorophenoxy (cloprostenol) substituted analogs are both highly potent and selective FP receptor agonists (see above).

4.4 IP Receptors and Selective Ligands

The structures of some compounds with activity at IP receptors are shown in Fig. 6.10. PGI_2 itself is chemically very unstable **and** is only moderately selective, possessing agonist activity at EP, and TP receptors, as well as at IP receptors (60). Several IP receptor ligands have been synthesized, with the aim of increasing its stability and maintaining the potentially beneficial platelet anti-aggregatory actions of prostacyclin, but not its hypotensive properties. The chemical instability of prostacyclin stems from the close proximity of the strained **enol** structure and **carboxylic** group. Hence, efforts to produce stable analogs have focused on the substitution of the enol ether structure and also altering the length of the a-side chain. Substitution of the oxygen in the enol group with less reactive sulphur, nitrogen, and carbon atoms has improved stability. An example is carbaprostacyclin [(5E)-6acarba-PGI₂] (251). To retain functional activity, it seems that the 1-carboxy and 11- and 15-hydroxy groups and unsaturation of C-5 are critical. Functional activity is enhanced by the introduction of a methyl group at C-16 or C-17. In addition, the presence of an alkyl group at C-18 confers increased stability. This feature is present in the first stable prostacy-

Agonists	Equieffective Concentration Relative to $PGF_{2\alpha}$ (=1)	Refs.
Fluprostenol	0.2-1.0	246,247
Cloprostenol	0.3–0.5	248
Prostalene	0.7–2.7	248
Fenprostalene	1	249

 Table 6.10
 Potencies of Some FP Receptor Agonists



Figure 6.10. The structures of some IP receptor-selective ligands.

clin analog described, iloprost, a molecule in which the enol ether oxygen present in PGI, has been substituted with a methyl group and the lower side-chain altered, including the introduction of a triple bond at C-18, to improve stability (252). A summary of the alterations made to the structure of PGI, that increase stability and potency at IP receptors is shown in Fig. 6.11. **Iloprost** is as potent as **prostacy**clin in mediating the inhibition of platelet aggregation and the relaxation of vascular smooth muscle (**252**), but it is not purely IP



Figure 6.11. Alterations that have been made to increase the stability of prostacyclin.

receptor-selective, having partial agonist activity at $\mathbf{EP_1}$ receptors (60). Therefore, caution must be used when interpreting functional data from this compound in systems known or suspected to contain $\mathbf{EP_1}$ receptors.

However, the upper side-chain of iloprost is susceptible to β -oxidation, resulting in a bioavailability of only around 20% after oral dosing (253). With this is mind, the same group from Schering also produced cicaprost, which is probably the most selective IP receptor agonist currently available (254). In this compound, they replaced the β -methylene group at C-3 in the upper side-chain with an oxygen atom to block the β -oxidation pathway, and further altered the lower side-chain to produce this highly potent, stable compound. These changes included the introduction of a second triple bond at C-13 and an additional methyl group at C-20. It exhibits little functional activity in EP receptor-containing preparations (227) and is more potent than both parent compounds at inhibiting platelet aggregation and as a smooth muscle relaxant. **Cicaprost** has also been suggested to have anti-metastatic effects on tumors (253). Other

analogs have also been described, including **beraprost**, in which the **enol** ether portion of the PGI_2 molecule is incorporated into an aromatic ring, and the lower chain is similar in structure to that of **iloprost**. The **affinities** and potencies of some IP receptor **agonists** are shown in Tables 6.4 and 6.11, respectively.

In addition, several "non-prostanoid PGI, mimetics" have been described as IP receptor agonists. From the use of these agents, including octimibate, EP157, and BMY45778, which all lack a typical prostanoid ring, it has been suggested that subtypes of IP receptor may exist (19). To date, despite the array of selective IP receptor agonists, no specific antagonists have been described.

4.5 TP Receptors and Selective Ligands

The structures of some compounds that are active at TP receptors are shown in Fig. 6.12. **TXA**₂ itself is inherently unstable, having a half-life in solution at pH 7.4 and **37**°C of around 30 s, making it unsuitable for rigorous **pharmacological** studies. However, there are several **examples** of stable TP receptor **ago**nists, the most useful of which are analogs of

Agonists	Equieffective Concentration Relative to PGL , (=1)	Refs.	
Carbaprostacyclin	3.5–30		
Iloprost	0.4-3.5	159, 256, 257	
Cicaprost	0.5 - 1.2	159, 254	
Octimibate	29^a	258	

 Table 6.11
 Potencies of Some IP Receptor Agonists

"Primate IP, receptors only.

295

PGH₂. U44069 and U46619 (259) are 9,11-epoxymethano and 9,11-methanoepoxy derivatives of PGH₂, respectively. These compounds are the most widely characterized TP receptor agonists in use today. U46619 is the best characterized of the two ligands, and it displays similar properties to TXA₂ in several preparations (104). In addition, it also causes platelet aggregation and smooth muscle contraction with similar potency to TXA₂ in vitro (260). Other TP receptor agonists that have been synthesized include EP171, SQ26655, I-BOP, and STA₂ (32).

Agonists at TP receptors can be broadly divided into two groups: those that are analogs of TXA₂, such as STA₂, and those that are analogs of PGH₂, such as U46619. Replacing the acetal moiety of TXA, not only stabilizes the compound, but also may produce ligands that display either agonist or antagonist properties. Hence, STA_2 , the thia analog of TXA_2 , is a full agonist at TP receptors (261), whereas the 9(11),11a-dicarba derivative, CTA₂, displays partial agonist properties on human platelets (262). Similarly, replacing the dioxygen bridge in PGH₂ with isosteric moieties produces compounds with TP receptor agonist activity. For example, replacing either oxygen with a methvlene group produces U44069 and U46619 (259).Furthermore, it seems that the incorporation of a p-fluorophenoxy moiety into the terminus of the ω -chain, as in EP171, increases agonist potency.

Compared with the other prostanoid receptors, TP receptors are unusual in that numerous antagonists have been identified, several of which are structurally unrelated to TXA₂ itself. Some of the first identified drugs with apparent TP receptor blocking activity in blood platelets were the TXA₂ analogs, 9,11azoprosta-5,13-dienoic acid (263), 9,11-epoxyimino-5,13-dienoic acid (264), and pinane TXA₂ (265). However, these compounds all act as partial agonists in smooth muscle preparations. Further work produced compounds more distinct in structure from TXA₂, such as the 7-oxabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane analog, SQ29548 (266), AH19437, AH23848B, and GR32191B (vapiprost) (104, 172, 267). EP045 and EP092 (263, 268) were generated as PGH₂ receptor analogs. Compounds structurally unrelated to prostanoids, such as BM 13505, which is a benzylsulfonamidoanalog (269), and the indole-2propanoic acid derivative, L-655240 (270), have also been described as potent TP receptor antagonists. Another potent, non-prostanoid TP receptor antagonist is BAYu3405 (271). The affinities and potencies of some TP receptor agonists and antagonists are shown in Table 6.4 and Table 6.12, respectively.

4.6 Prostanoid Receptors: Location of Ligand Binding Sites

Recent advances in molecular biology have meant that the critical regions of amino acids to confer high affinity ligand binding are now beginning to be determined. For example, the importance of arginine at position 329 in the seventh transmembrane domain of all EP receptors has been examined by point mutations in the rabbit \mathbf{EP}_{3} receptor. Thus, mutation of this amino acid to alanine or glutamate abolished the binding of [³H]-PGE₂, whereas the mutation of aspartate 388 was without effect on ligand binding, but altered signal transduction, such that the EP₃ receptor agonist, sulprostone, was without effect even at high concentrations (279). Similar results have been obtained using mouse receptors: mutation of the equivalent arginine 309 to glutamate/valine produced a loss in ligand binding, whereas switching it to lysine produced higher affinity binding (280). These data suggest that the seventh transmembrane domain of prostaglandin receptors is involved in both ligand binding and signal transduction.

Taken together with evidence that suggests that modification of the carboxyl group on the a-chain of prostaglandins tend to reduce agonist potency (219), the above findings suggest that this conserved arginine could be involved in interacting with the a-chain of prostaglandin ligands. Indeed, it has been shown that ligands containing methyl esters at C-1 tend to display lower binding affinities than those containing negatively charged hydroxy groups. An example is the comparison of ligand binding of misoprostol methyl ester and free acid to the \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor (157). Furthermore, the rabbit EP₃ receptor displays a 370fold decrease in affinity for PGE, methyl ester over PGE_2 (279). On the other hand, the same authors demonstrated that sulprostone, which contains a sulfonamide at C-1 that is bulkier



Figure 6.12. The structures of some TP receptor-selective agonists.

than a carboxyl group but still carries a negative charge $(\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}} = 5.25 \text{ cf } 5.19 \text{ for the carboxyl})$ group of PGE_2), exhibited a threefold higher affinity than PGE₂. These data suggest that a negative charge on C-1 is important for high affinity ligand binding to EP receptors. Chang and colleagues (281) have investigated the relative contribution of the conserved arginine with respect to hydrogen bonding and ionic interactions that may be involved in ligand binding. They mutated the arginine to noncharged but polar glutamine or asparagines, or the non-polar leucine, to see how these changes affected the binding of PGE_2 . The mutation to leucine decreased binding affinity by around 40-fold, whereas binding was almost unaffected by the other two mutations. On the basis of this, they have suggested that hydrogen bonding may be enough for high affinity ligand binding.

It is also interesting to speculate whether the cysteine residue in the second extracellular loop forms a disulphide bridge that is important for receptor conformation. In the rabbit, mutation of this cysteine 204 to the uncharged alanine did not affect PGE₂ binding (279). This is in contrast to results reported in human TP receptors, where mutation of the equivalent cysteine and another in the first extracellular loop abolished ligand binding (282, 283). Also, as the TP receptor fails to display ligand binding after reduction with dithiothreitol (284), and in other rhodopsin-like receptors equivalent cysteine residues form a disulphide bridge, it has been suggested that cysteine 105 and cysteine 183 may form a disulphide bond essential to ligand binding.

Studies with human TP receptors have also highlighted several regions that are thought

Antagonists



AH23848B

0

O





NH 0 0 BAYu3405



to be important in ligand binding. For example, the mutation of tryptophan 299, in the seventh transmembrane domain, to leucine produces a receptor that can bind the TP receptor agonist, U46619, but not the antagonist, SQ29548 (285). Furthermore, mutation

of the conserved arginine 295, also in the seventh transmembrane domain of the human TP receptor, causes a reduction in ligand binding (285). Likewise, the importance of cysteine residues in the human TP receptor has also been investigated by mutational studies,

Agonists	Equieffective Concentration Relative to U46619 (=1)	Refs.
EP171	0.008-0.03	172,273
SQ20000 I-BOP	0.12-0.25	273,274 275
Antagonists	pA_2	Refs.
SQ29548 AH19437 AH23848B GR32191	7.8-9.5 5.9-6.6 7.8-8.6 7.9-8.8	172, 276, 277 104, 172 172, 273 172, 277
L-655240 BAYu3405	8.0-8.6 8.1-8.9	269, 277 278

 Table 6.12
 Potencies of Some TP Receptor Agonists and Antagonists

which have stressed the importance of those residues in the first and second extracellular loops (283). It also seems that glycosylation of the TP receptor may be important for ligand binding: when two extracellular glycosylation sites are mutated, the resulting receptor displays a loss of ligand binding (286).

The use of chimeric receptors has also been employed to attempt to dissect out regions of receptors important in ligand binding. For example, Kobayashi and colleagues (287) used chimeric DP and IP receptors to study possible domains involved in DP and IP receptor ligand binding. In substituting different regions of the mouse IP receptor with equivalent regions from the mouse DP receptor, they suggested that the sixth and seventh transmembrane domains of the IP receptor confer specificity to IP receptor ligands and that the third transmembrane domain of the DP receptor confers the specific binding of PGD, They suggested that the IP receptor recognizes both the sidechains and cyclopentane rings of the ligands it binds. PGI, has a unique a-chain structure, caused by the presence of an additional ring attached to the cyclopentyl ring present in all prostanoids. It has been suggested that the IP receptor can recognize PGE, but not PGE₂, because of the lack of the C-5–C-6 double bond, which allows it to mimic the configuration of the side-chain in I series prostaglandins. Likewise, the binding of I- and E-series, but not D- and F-series prostaglandins, was explained by the lack of cyclopentane ring recognition for the latter two prostaglandin series. Kedzie and co-workers (288) employed a similar approach, mutating EP, receptor residues common to \mathbf{EP}_2 and \mathbf{EP}_2 , receptors, but not IP receptors to those present in IP receptors. They showed that mutating the human **EP**₂ receptor **leucine** 304 in the seventh transmembrane domain to tyrosine resulted in an increase in potency of iloprost of around 100 times in a cAMP-dependent reporter gene assay. Likewise, mutation of the critical arginine 302 resulted in a loss of potency for all prosta**noids** tested. This may be consistent with the above assertion that amino acids in the sixth and seventh transmembrane domains are relevant in the binding of the a-chain of IP ligands. Hence it can be seen that some progress is being made into the regions of prostanoid receptors that confer high affinity ligand binding.

5 CLINICAL USE OF AGENTS

The current drugs available in the clinic are mostly natural prostaglandins themselves and a few closely related analogs, and it is only very recently that efforts have again increased to find highly selective synthetic prostaglandin receptor ligands, which might be useful medicines. One barrier to this effort, at least with respect to pain and **inflammation**, is that aspirin and the competitive COX inhibitors, which inhibit prostaglandin synthesis *per* se, are already available and have proved to be remarkably efficacious. However, they do cause unwanted gastrointestinal side effects, especially the non-selective COX inhibitors. It remains to be seen whether selective prosta**noid** receptor antagonists might provide better medicines for the treatment of pain and other therapeutic indications. A summary of the available agents and their indications is presented in Table 6.13. The therapeutic areas in which these agents are used are diverse and are a consequence of the widespread physiological actions of the natural prostaglandins. Prostaglandins used in the termination of pregnancy, cervical ripening, and labor induction include dinoprost (PGF_{2 α}) and carbaprost (15-methyl-PGF,,), dinoprostone (PGE₂), sulprostone, gemeprost, and misoprostol. Alprostadil (PGE_1) is used to treat erectile dysfunction. Prostaglandins used in cardiovascular conditions include alprostadil and the PGE, analog, limaprost, as well as epoprostenol (prostacyclin) and its analog, iloprost. Misoprostol is used clinically, with some success, as an inhibitor of gastric acid secretion. Prostaglandins, particularly of the F series, are widely used as luteolytics in veterinary medicine, but a discussion of this is beyond the scope of this chapter. However, the FP receptor agonist, latanoprost, has found use in the treatment of glaucoma (289, 290). D-series prostaglandins are not used in the clinic at present. Intravenous administration of PGD₂ in humans causes facial flushing and intense nasal congestion. No effects were seen with respect to ADP-induced platelet aggregation, suggesting PGD, is unlikely to be a useful anti-thrombotic in man (291). Each clinically available prostanoid is described below, beginning with the natural prostaglandins and then the selective ligands that have been developed with the aim of producing more stable compounds, with a longer duration of action and a more specific effect. At present, the clinically available prostanoids are all receptor agonists. The structures of some of the clinically available prostanoids not covered in Section 4 are shown in Fig. 6.13.

5.1 Natural Prostaglandins

5.1.1 Alprostadil (Prostaglandin E). Alprostadil is the name given to an injectable formulation of PGE_1 , which when administered exogenously causes vasodilatation and the inhibition of platelet aggregation. It exerts its actions primarily through EP and IP prostanoid receptors. The main clinical uses are in the treatment of male erectile dysfunction and congenital heart disease. Alprostadil is largely inactivated by the lungs on its first passage through the pulmonary circulation. Its metabolites are excreted in the urine within approximately 24 h.

Alprostadil is available in several formulations for the diagnosis and treatment of impotence caused by erectile dysfunction. The most common formulation is for intracavernosal injection $(5-20 \mu g)$. For intracavernosal injections, it is recommended that the dose given does not exceed 60 pg, although doses of up to 100 pg have been reported. Dose-related responses have been reported (292). Following intracavernosal alprostadil injection, the incidence of pain at the injection site has been reported to be dose-dependent (293). In addition, penile fibrosis and priapism has also been observed when prostaglandins are used for this purpose. In cases of priapism, corrective therapy should be administered rapidly. In comparative studies, intracavernosal alprostadil was as effective at producing erections as papaverine alone or in combination with the non-selective α -adrenoreceptor antagonist, phentolamine (294, 295). It has also been administered in combination with these two agents. Other administration routes include urethral suppositories, but the dose required is higher (125–1000 pg rather than the usual dosing range of between 5 and 20 μ g) (296). In a recent trial, intraurethral alprostadil was reported to have an overall success rate of around 50% (297).

Alprostadil is also used to treat several aspects of cardiovascular disease. For example, it is administered intravenously to neonates with congenital heart disease to maintain the patency of the ductus arteriosus before surgery can take place. In neonates treated with alprostadil for congenital heart defects, several side effects were observed in a 3-year study examining almost 500 children. These included some cardiovascular events, and in individuals, respiratory depression some (298). Alprostadil has also been used in the treatment of peripheral vascular disease, especially Raynaud's syndrome, which is characterized by digital ischemia induced by cold and

emotion (299). In addition, several studies have shown it to be superior to placebo in peripheral arterial occlusive disease (PAOD) (300). However, such uses do not constitute mainstream therapies. Alprostadil is one of several drugs that have been used to combat circulatory disturbances in ergotamine poisoning (301) and has also proved effective in

Generic Name	Trade Name(s)	Originator	Synonyms	Dose
Alprostadil	Caverject	Pharmacia U pjohn	PGE,	Ductus arteriosus: 50–100 ng kg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹ Erectile dysfunction: 5–20 μg
	Muse	AstraZeneca		Erectile dysfunction: 125–1000 µg
Dinoprostone	Prepidil	Pharmacia U pjohn	PGE ₂	Cervical ripening: $500 \ \mu g \text{ in } 2.5 \text{ ml}$ (gel), Labour induction: $1-2 \ \text{mg per } 2.5 \ \text{ml}$ (gel), $0.5 \ \text{mg h}^{-1}$ orally
	Prostin E ₂	Pharmacia Upjohn		Termination of pregnancy: 100 μg intra-amniotically, 5 μg ml ⁻¹ IV
Limaprost Gemeprost	Opalmon Cervagem	Ono Rhone- Poulene	ONO-1206 16,16 dimethyl PGE.	Anti-thrombotic Cervical ripening: 1 mg pessary vaginally
Misoprostol	Arthotec Cytotec	Searle Searle	SC-29333	Anti-ulceration: 800 μ g orally Labour induction:
Sulprostone	Nalador	Schering AG	CP-34089; SHB 286; ZK- 57671	25–50 μg vaginally Cervical dilation: 500 μg per 3–6 h IV Termination of pregnancy: 100– 500 μg b ⁻¹ IV
Latanoprost	Xalatan	Pharmacia Uniohn	PhXA-41; XA-41	Glaucoma: 0.005%
Epoprostenol	Flolan	GlaxoSmithKline	Prostacyclin; PGI ₂	Dialysis: 5 ng kg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹ IV Pulmonary hypertension: continuous infusion after dose-ranging
Iloprost	Ilomedin	Schering AG	ZK-36374	Peripheral vascular disease: 0.5–2 ng kg ⁻¹ IV as trometamol salt

 Table 6.13
 Agents in Clinical Use That Are Active at Prostanoid Receptors

Generic Name	Trade Name(s)	Originator	Synonyms	Dose
Carbaprost	Hemabate	Pharmacia U pjohn	15-methyl PGF _{2α} ; U-32921	Termination of pregnancy: 250– 500 µg IM
	Prostinfenem	Pharmacia Upjohn		Postpartum haemorrhage: 250 ug IM
Dinoprost	$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Prostin} \\ \mathrm{F}_{2\alpha} \end{array}$	Pharmacia Upjohn	PGF _{2α}	Termination of Pregnancy: 40 mg intra-amniotically, $25-50 \ \mu g \ min^{-1}$ IV Labour induction: $2.5-20 \ \mu g \ min^{-1}$ IV
	Prostarmon F	Ono		Ileus: 0.3–0.5 μg kg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹ IV

Table 6.13(Continued)

the management of hemorrhagic cystitis in children following bone marrow transplantation (302).

Alprostadil also seems to be beneficial in the treatment of some hepatic disorders, with some promise being shown in patients with fulminant or subfulrninant viral hepatitis (303). In these cases it has also been administered with dinoprostone and the EP, and EP, receptor agonist, misoprostol.

In addition to the side effects outlined above, administration of exogenous PGE, may

produce some irritation at the infusion site, headache, and vasodilation. The vasodilatory effects also occur with prostacyclin analogs and are often more pronounced in these cases. The rare occurrence of gastric mucosal hyperplasia has also been reported in children receiving long-term treatment with prostaglandins (304).

5.1.2 Dinoprostone (Prostaglandin E) Dinoprostone is the name given to pharmaceutical formulations of PGE, and the action most ex-



Figure 6.13. The structures of some compounds in clinical use that are active at prostanoid receptors.

ploited in the clinic is its ability to contract smooth muscle. It exerts its actions predominantly through interactions with EP receptors. It is widely used in the induction of labor but also for the termination of pregnancy, **hy**datiform mole, and missed abortion. The main route of administration is vaginal, but this drug can also be dosed intravenously, orally or extra-amniotically. Intravenous infusion is associated with a large incidence of adverse effects (305).

In labor induction, dinoprostone is used to soften and dilate the cervix before the membranes are breached and labor is induced. It may also be administered either vaginally or orally to induce labor. However, the oral route is not common, because it is associated with a greater incidence of gastrointestinal adverse effects. Likewise, intravenous dosing has also been employed, but this is no longer generally recommended.

Dinoprostone is also used in the termination of pregnancy in the second trimester. For this purpose, it is usually dosed **extra-amniotically** through a suitable catheter, with the dose given being dependent on patient response. Intravenous infusions have also been used for this purpose, as well as in cases of hydatiform mole and missed abortion. In the United States, the preferred route of administration for this purpose is through vaginal **pes**sary. Although they are effective alone, because of the incidence of adverse effects, prostaglandins are normally used at low doses in combination with mifepristone (306).

Along with alprostadil (see above), dinoprostone is also used in the short term to maintain ductus arteriosus patency before surgery. Oral dinoprostone, when used longer, may be beneficial in allowing later surgery by facilitating infant growth. This has been reported by both Silove and colleagues (307) and Thanopoulus and co-workers (308) in 60 and 22 infants, respectively. Initial treatment regimens typically continue for 4 weeks, and dosing is typically oral, but can be intravenous if gastrointestinal absorption is poor.

Like alprostadil and other prostaglandins, dinoprostone has also been used in the management of hemorrhagic cystitis, especially that caused by cyclophosphamide (**309**), and in cardiovascular disease, including **Raynaud's** syndrome. However, the latter therapy is not widely used. Furthermore, dinoprostone has proved useful in treating the oral lesions in patients with pemphigus vulgaris.

Side effects occurring following dinoprostone seem to be related to the dosing system used, and the intravenous route is associated with more adverse reactions. Common problems include nausea, diarrhea, and abdominal pain, along with short-term cardiovascular effects such as headache, hypotension, and facial flushing, as seen with alprostadil. However, a report cataloguing 3313 pregnancies in which dinoprostone was used in cervical ripening or labor induction reported that side effects were rare and were generally limited to diarrhea, vomiting, and fever (310). The most common adverse effect seen with the use of prostaglandins combined with mifepristone is excessive vaginal bleeding.

5.1.3 Dinoprost (Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$). This is the name given to pharmaceutical formulations of PGF, and is widely used in the termination of pregnancy, because it exerts a contractile effect on uterine smooth muscle at any stage of the gestation period. However, it is also used, like dinoprostone, for missed abortion, hydatiform mole, and fetal death in *utero*. It is no longer generally recommended for routine use in the induction of labor because of the higher incidence of adverse effects encountered compared with dinoprostone.

For termination of pregnancy, the intraamniotic route is preferred, because this results in fewer side effects than intravenous dosing. Dinoprost has also been used successfully to treat the ileus that results from vinca alkaloid administration (311).

Dinoprost produces similar adverse effects to dinoprostone, and epoprostenol and iloprost have also both been reported to produce similar cardiovascular effects (312).

5.1.4 Epoprostenol (Prostaglandin I,; Prostacyclin). Epoprostenol is the name used to describe a prostacyclin formulation for exogenous administration. This drug has a very short half-life in the body and is rapidly broken down to 6-keto-PGF,,. Prostacyclin is a vasodilator and potent inhibitor of platelet aggregation and is used to treat pulmonary hypertension and to prevent platelet aggregation in, for example, blood from patients undergoing kidney dialysis. Epoprostenol has also been evaluated for the treatment of heart failure. However, long-term use resulted in an increase in patient mortality, so development for this purpose has now been discontinued (313). Like alprostadil and dinoprostone, epoprostenol has also been used in the treatment of peripheral vascular disease.

Owing to its instability, epoprostenol is supplied as the sodium salt and must be administered by continuous infusion. As a consequence, a dose-ranging study must first be performed to evaluate the maximum tolerable infusion rate. Epoprostenol has also been used with some success in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (314, 315).

In pulmonary hypertension, epoprostenol was first introduced as a short-term treatment enabling patients to undergo heart-lung transplants. However, in some patients treated long term with the drug, an encouraging clinical improvement has been reported (316–318). The intravenous route of administration is difficult to manage because it requires continuous infusion, but as an alternative, inhalation of epoprostenol may provide a therapy with fewer adverse effects, and this regimen has been used successfully in adults with both primary and secondary pulmonary hypertension (319, 320). Epoprostenol has also been used in organ transplantation, finding use in **both** organ preservation and also in the treatment of some of the post-transplant complications that may occur.

Epoprostenol has also been used in patients with ischemic stroke. However, the **pathop**hysiological involvement of endogenous **p**rostaglandins in ischemic brain damage is **n**ot clear, and no studies showing significant, **s**ustained therapeutic benefits with **epoprostenol** have been reported (321,322).

5.2 Synthetic Prostaglandins

5.2.1 Gemeprost. Gemeprost is a synthetic analog of PGE,. It is usually given **vaginally** as **pessaries** and is used therapeutically to soften and dilate the cervix and to stimulate uterine **smooth** muscle contraction in the termination of pregnancy. For the latter indication, **ge**-

meprost may be given intravaginally in **conjuction** with oral mifeprostone (306). **Mifepro**stone is a progesterone antagonist and serves to sensitize the uterus to prostaglandins. This facilitates the use of lower doses of prostaglandins in pregnancy termination, thus reducing the severity and incidence of unwanted adverse effects. However, gemeprost is expensive and is thermolabile, requiring refrigerated storage. It is not approved for use in the United States (306).

Side effects following intravaginally administered gemeprost are generally relatively mild, with systemic effects such as nausea and diarrhea reported. The **effects** of this drug on the fetus are not known, but once a prostaglandin has been used to initiate termination of pregnancy, if it is found to be unsuccessful, termination must be completed by another means.

5.2.2 Misoprostol. Misoprostol is a synthetic analog of PGE, and is regarded as a selective EP, and \mathbf{EP}_3 receptor agonist. It has a higher affinity at the \mathbf{EP}_{3} receptor, and this has been demonstrated in recombinant systems using the cloned receptors of several species (157, 164). It is a mixture of four stereoisomers, with the **11R,16S** isomer accounting for most of its activity, and it will be interesting to see if stereochemically pure formulations show greater therapeutic efficacy. Once administered, it is rapidly metabolized to its active form, misoprostol-freeacid. It is further metabolized by oxidation in several organs and is excreted mainly in the urine. It has a plasma elimination half-life of around 20–40 min (323) and is about 85% serum albumin bound (324).

Misoprostol has several therapeutic uses, including the treatment of gastroduodenal ulceration and labor induction and has the advantage of being relatively inexpensive and stable enough to be stored at room temperature. Prostaglandin therapy for the induction of labor is a well-established practice, and **mi**soprostol has been compared with **dinopros**tone and also oxytocin. It was found to be equieffective with oxytocin (325) and more effective than dinoprostone (326). It was also shown to be effective in 92% of women in combination with tamoxifen (327). However, **mi**- soprostol is often not effective in the termination of pregnancy when used alone. Its misuse has led to reports of associated congenital abnormalities in neonates, including scalp, skull, and limb defects. It is possible that these teratogenic effects may be caused by an increase in uterine pressure caused by vascular spasm or uterine contractions (328, 329). However, no such events have been reported in animal studies (330). Misoprostol has also been shown to be effective in treating both gastric and duodenal ulcers but is no more efficacious than other established therapies, such as histamine H_2 -receptor antagonism, and has more unwanted side effects (331, 332). One condition where it was thought it might offer superiority over standard antacid therapy was in ulcer prevention in patients on long-term NSAID treatment (333). Nevertheless, proton pump inhibitors, such as omeprazole, seem to be as effective and have fewer side effects.

Misoprostol may also prove useful in the treatment of postpartum hemorrhage and has also been used in organ transplantation. For example, it has been reported to improve kidney function in cyclosporin-treated patients who have received renal transplants (**334**).

The most common adverse effect seen with the use of misoprostol is diarrhea, but abdominal pain has also been reported, limiting the use of this and other similar compounds in the management of gastroduodenal ulceration. Effects on uterine contraction have also been reported, suggesting that misoprostol should not be given to pregnant women (335).

5.2.3 Sulprostone. Sulprostone is a synthetic derivative of PGE_2 and is primarily recognized as an EP, receptor agonist, although it also has activity at EP, receptors (**116**). It was developed as an abortifacient, and like other PGE analogs, it acts as a uterine stimulant. It has thus been used to stimulate cervical dilation before pregnancy termination during the first **3** months of gestation. Dosing is generally intravenous, although several other routes have been used, including intramuscular, although this is no longer recommended. It has also been used in the treatment of postpartum hemorrhage. Sulprostone's use as an abortifacient has been discontinued, because

of a link with increased cardiovascular complications, such as hypotension and acute myocardial infarction (**336**). Sulprostone has a similar side effect profile to dinoprostone.

5.2.4 Latanoprost. Latanoprost is a derivative of PGF, that is used in the treatment of glaucoma and ocular hypertension, and increases the outflow of the aqueous humor, bypassing the obstructed site of normal drainage by opening an alternative drainage pathway through uveal and scleral tissues. It is used topically as eye drops, and as an adverse effect, it may induce an increase in brown pigmentation of the iris, corneal deposits, and, rarely, an increase in eyelash growth. This effect is caused by increased melanin formation in melanocytes. In addition, latanoprost also produces increased reductions in intraocular pressure when used with other anti-glaucoma agents, such as the muscarinic agonist, pilocarpine, and the carbonic anyhydrase inhibitor, acetazolamide (337). It has the advantage that it only requires once daily administration, thus improving patient compliance (338). Unoprostone is another PGF, analog that has also been used in the treatment of glaucoma, although mainly in the Japanese market (339).

5.2.5 Iloprost. Iloprost is a stable analog of prostacyclin, and like PGI,, causes vasodilation and the inhibition of platelet aggregation. In addition to acting at IP receptors, it displays potent partial agonist activity at EP, receptors (60). It has found clinical use, along with other prostaglandins, in the treatment of peripheral vascular disease and several administration routes have been investigated for its use in the management of pulmonary hypertension, a disease where epoprostenol is an established therapeutic (318). A recent, uncontrolled trial has suggested that inhaled ilo**prost** may provide a novel treatment option in patients with life-threatening pulmonary hypertension that is unresponsive to current therapies (340). In particular, it has been used to combat pulmonary arterial obstructive disorder, which tends to occur following artery narrowing and occlusion influenced by atherosclerosis. This therapy is usually well tolerated, with headache and facial flushing being the most common adverse effects (**341**).

5.2.6 Carboprost. Carbaprost is a 15methyl analog of dinoprost (prostaglandin F_{*}) and is also known as methyldinoprost. Like dinoprost, it is a uterine stimulant, but because of the presence of the 15-methyl group, it has a more prolonged course of action, because this delays enzymatic dehydrogenation associated with inactivation.

Clinical use is generally for the termination of pregnancy, but it is also used in postpartum hemorrhage. Following administration to the bladder, it has also proved useful in **cyclophos**phamide-induced hemorrhagic cystitis in bone marrow patients (342).

5.2.7 Limaprost. Limaprost (ONO-1206) is a synthetic prostaglandin E_1 analog that has been used in the treatment of peripheral vascular disease. It is usually administered orally. Compared with PGE,, limaprost has two additional methyl groups at C-17 and C-20 and also an extra double bond at C-2–C-3. It has also been shown to have some efficacy in the treatment of Raynaud's syndrome (343).

6 NEW DEVELOPMENTS

All of the clinically useful prostaglandins at present exert their actions as agonists at prostanoid receptors, and are in general, synthetically produced natural prostaglandins or closely related analogs. Hence, although there has been a trend towards the exploitation of prostanoid receptor subtype specific ligands as potentially useful medicines, the compounds that have been used to date have failed to fulfil their therapeutic promise. For example, it was hoped that EP_3 receptor agonists, such as GR63799X and misoprostol, might prove beneficial as cytoprotective agents, but they proved to be less effective, in this respect, than histamine H₂ receptor antagonists, such as ranitidine.

However, the recent success of both latanoprost and unoprostone in the treatment of glaucoma (338, 339) suggests that FP receptor agonists at least may have an important future role in the clinic. Recent evidence from knock-out mouse studies has further suggested the potential involvement of EP,, \mathbf{EP}_3 , and IP receptors in mediating painful responses (67, 344). Coupled with this, the use of EP, receptor antagonists for the treatment of inflammatory pain has recently been suggested (63). In light of the possibility that DP and EP, receptor antagonists might prove useful in the treatment of allergic inflammation and migraine, respectively (211, 345), there is evidence to suggest that, in the future, potent specific **prostanoid** receptor antagonists may make effective medicines.

REFERENCES

- R. A. Coleman, *The IUPHAR Compendium of Receptor Characterization and Classification*, 2nd ed.IUPHAR Media, London, 2000, pp. 337–353.
- D. F. Woodward. A. H-P. Krauss, J. Chen, R. K. Lai, C. S. Spada, R. M. Burk, S. W. Andrews, L. Shi, Y. Liang, K. M. Kedzie, R. Chen, D. W. Gil, A. Kharlamb, A. Archeampong, J. Ling, C. Madhu, J. Ni, P. Rix, J. Usansky, H. Usansky, A. Weber, D. Welty, W. Yang, D. D-S. Tang-Liu, M. E. Garst, B. Brar, L. A. Wheeler, and L. J. Kaplan, Surv. Opthamol., 45, S337–S345 (2001).
- **3.** M. Yu, D. Ives, and S. **Ramesha**, **J**. *Biol. Chem.*, 272,21181–21186(1997).
- S. H. Burstein, R. G. Rossetti, B. Yagen, and R. B. Zurier, *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediators*, 61, 29–41 (2000).
- 5. U. S. von Euler, *Nauyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmak.*, **175**, 78–84 (1934).
- 6. *R*. Kurzrok and C. C, Lieb, *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.*, 28,268–272 (1930).
- M. W. Goldblatt, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Lond., 52, 1056–1057 (1933).
- 8. S. Bergstrom and J. Sjovall, Acta. Chem. Scand., 11, 1086 (1957).
- 9. M. Hamberg and B. Sarnuelsson, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, 70,899–903 (1973).
- M. Hamberg, P. Hedqvist, K. Strandberg, J. Svensson, and B. Samuelsson, *Life Sci.*, 16, 451–462 (1975).
- S. Moncada, R. Gryglewski, S. Bunting, and J. R. Vane, *Nature*, 263, 663–665 (1976).

- 12. J. Dyerberg and H. O. Bang, Lancet, 2, 433–435 (1979).
- M. Bygdeman, C. Gottlieb, K. Svanborg, and M. L. Swahn, *Adv.* Prostaglandin *Thrombox*ane *Leukot.* Res., 17, 1112–1116 (1987).
- E. W. Horton and N. L. Poyserm, Physiol. Rev., 56,595-651 (1976).
- K. Morimoto, Y. Sugimoto, M. Katsuyama, H. Oida, K. Tsuboi, K. Kishi, Y. Kinoshita, M. Negishi, T. Chibi, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, Am. J. Physiol., 272, G681–G687 (1997).
- A. Robert, *Adv.* Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 2,507–520 (1976).
- 17. B. J. Whittle, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 40,233–239 (1976).
- S. S. Patel and C. M. Spencer, Drugs Aging, 9, 363–378 (1996).
- **19.** H. Wise and R. L. Jones, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., **17, 17–21 (1996).**
- **20.** J. Orloff and R. Zusman, J. Memb. Biol., **40**, **297–304** (**1978**).
- 21. R. Morath, T. Klein, H. W. Seyberth, and R. Nusing, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 10, 1851–1860 (1999).
- 22. K. R. Bley, J. C. Hunter, R. M. Eglen, and J. A. M. Smith*Trends* Pharmacol. Sci., 19, 141–147 (1998).
- 23. V. R. Pickles, Nobel Symposium, *Vol 2:* Prostaglandins, Almquist & Wicksell, Stockholm, 1967, pp. 79–83.
- 24. N. H. Andersen and P. W. Ramwell, Arch. Intern. Med., 133, 30–50 (1974).
- 25. P. J. Gardiner and H. O. J. Collier, Prostaglandins, 19,819-841 (1980).
- 26. I. Kennedy, R. A. Coleman, P. P. A. Humphrey, G. P. Levy, and P. Lumley, Prostaglandins, 24, 667–689 (1982).
- R. A. Coleman, I. Kennedy, and R. L. G. Sheldrick, *Adv.* Prostaglandin Thromboxane *Leukot. Res.*, 17, 467–470 (1987).
- 28. R. A. Coleman, S. P. Grix, S. A. Head, J. B. Louttit, A. Mallet, and R. L. G. Sheldrick, Prostaglandins, 47,151–168 (1994).
- J. B. Louttit, S. A. Head, and R. A. Coleman, Proceedings of 8th International Conference in Prostaglandins and Related Compounds, 1992, p. 257.
- **30.** R. J. Flower and G. J. Blackwell, Biochem. Pharmacol., **25,285–291 (1976).**
- 31. R. F. Irvine, Biochem. J., 204, 3-16 (1982).

- R. A. Coleman, I. Kennedy. P. P. A. Humphrey, K. Bunce, and P. Lumley, *Comprehensive* Medicinal Chemistry, Vol. 3: Membranes and Receptors, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1990, pp. 643-714.
- **33.** L. Z. Bito and M. C. Wallenstein, Exp. Eye Res., Suppl., 229–243 (1977).
- S. Narumiya, K. Ohno, M. Fujiwara, and M. Fukushima, J. Pharmacol. Exp. *Therap.*, 239, 506–511 (1986).
- N. Kanai, R. Lu, J. A. Satriano, Y. Bao, A. W. Wolkoff, and V. L. Schuster, Science, 268, 866– 869 (1995).
- 36. V. L. Schuster, S. Ito, S. W. Andrews, R. M. Burk, J. Chen, K. M. Kedzie, D. W. Gil, and D. F. Woodward, Mol. Pharmacol., 58, 1511-1516 (2000).
- **37.** E. **E.** Anggard and B. Samuelsson, **J.** Biol. Chem., **239,4097–4102 (1964).**
- **38.** E. E. Anggard, C. Larsson, and B. Samuelsson, Acta Physiol. *Scand.*, **81,396–404** (1971).
- **39.** Y. S. Bakhle and J. J. Pankhania, Br. J. *Phar*macol., 92, **189–196** (**1987**).
- 40. J. M. Bergholte, R. J. Soberman, R. Hayes, R. C. Murphy, and R. T. Okita, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 257,444-450 (1987).
- **41.** H. S. Hansen, Methods Enzymol., **186**, **156–163** (**1990**).
- 42. M. Hamberg, Eur. J. Biochem., 6, 135-146 (1968).
- **43.** W. S. Powell, J. Biol. Chem., **253**, **6711–6716** (1978).
- 44. E. Granstrom, H. Kindahl, and M-L Swahn, Biochim. Biophys. Acta., **713**, 46–60 (1982).
- 45. E. Granstrom and H. Kindahl, Biochim. *Bio*phys. Acta., **713**, 555–569 (1982).
- 46. S. E. Barrow, N. Harvey, M. Ennis, G. G. Chappell, I. A. Blair, and C. T. Dollery, Prostaglandins, 28,743–754 (1984).
- 47. B. Rosenkranz, C. Fischer, K. E. Weimar, and J. C. Frolich, J.Biol. Chem., 255, 10194–10198 (1980).
- **48.** C. A. **D.** Patrono, Circulation, **81, I12–I15** (1990).
- 49. Y. Boie, N. Sawyer, D. M. Slipetz, K. M. Metters, and M. Abramovitz, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 18910–18916 (1995).
- S. H. Ferreira, Adv. Pain Res. Therap., 5, 627-634 (1983).
- **51.** D. W. Jenkins, W. Feniuk, and P. P. A. Humphrey, Cephalagia, **21,269** (2001).

- 52. O. Hayaishi, FASEB J., 5, 2575–2581 (1991).
- 53. H. Oida, M. Hirata, Y. Sugimoto, F Ushikubi, H. Ohishi, N. Mizuno, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, FEBS *Lett.*, 417, 53–56 (1997).
- 54. T. Scammell, D. Gerashchenko, Y. Urade, H. Onoe, C. Saper, and O. Hayaishi, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 95,7754–7759 (1998).
- Y. Urade, K. Kitihama, H Ohishi, T Kaneko, N. Mizuno, and O. Hayaishi, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, 90,9070–9074 (1993).
- D. H. Wright, F. Nantel, K. M. Metters, and A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 377,101–115 (1999).
- D. E. MacIntyre and R. A. Armstrong, Platelet Responses and Metabolism, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1987, pp. 93–103.
- 58. R. A. Lewis, N. A. Soter, P. T. Diamond, K. F. Austen, J. A. Oates, and L. J. RobertsII, J. Immunol., 129, 1627–1631 (1982).
- T. Matsuoka, M. Hirata, H. Tanaka, Y. Takahashi, T. Murata, K. Kabashima, Y. Sugimoto, T. Kobayashi, F. Ushikubi, Y. Aze, N. Eguchi, Y. Urade, N. Yoshida, K. Kimura, A Mizoguchi, Y. Honda, H. Nagai, and S. Narumiya, Science, 287,2013–2017 (2000).
- 60. Y. J. Dong, R. L. Jones, and N. H. Wilson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 87, 97–107 (1986).
- **61.** R. A. Coleman, Prostaglandins and Related Substances—A Practical Approach, IRL Press, Oxford, **1987**, pp. **267–303**.
- J.Senior, K. Marshall, R. Sangha, G. S. Baxter, and J. K. Clayton, Br. J. Pharmacol., 102, 747– 753 (1991).
- **63**. **J. S.** Shaw, A. J. Barker, G. Breault, E. J. Griffen, C. G. Heapy, and S. McLaughlin, 9th World Congress on Pain Abstract Book, Vienna, Austria, **1999**, p. **272**.
- 64. A. Watabe, Y. Sugimoto, A. Honda. A. Irie, T. Namba, M. Negishi, S. Ito, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 20175–20178 (1993).
- 65. Y. Sugimoto, T. Namba, R. Shigemoto, M. Negishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narimuya, Am. J. Physiol., 266, F823–F828 (1994).
- 66. J. L. Stock, K. Shinjo, J. Burkhardt, M. Roach, K. Taniguchi, T. Ishikawa, H. S. Kim, P. J. Flannery, T. M. Coffman, J. D. McNeish, and L. P. Audoly, J. Clin. Invest., 107, 325–331 (2001).
- 67. T. Murata, F Ushikubi, T. Matsuoka, M. Hirata, A. Yamasaki, Y. Sugimoto, A. Ichikawa, Y. Aze, T. Tanaka, N. Yoshida, A. Ueno, S. Ohishi, and S. Narumiya, Nature, 388, 678–682 (1997).

- M. Katsuyama, N. Nishigaki, Y. Sugimto, K. Morimoto, M. Negishi, S. Narimuya, and A. Ichikawa, FEBS *Lett.*, 372, 151–156 (1995).
- M. Katsuyarna, Y. Sugimoto, K. Okano, E Eri, R. Ikegami, M. Negishi, and A. Ichikawa, *Biochem.* J.,330,1115–1121 (1998).
- C. R. J. Kennedy, Y. Zhang, S. Brandon, Y. Guan, K. Coffee, C. D. Funk, M. A. Magnuson, J. A. Oates, M. D. Breyer, and R. A. Breyer, Nature Med., 5, 117–120 (1999).
- 71. P. Strong, R. A. Coleman, and P. P. A. Humphrey, Prostaglandins, 43,559–566 (1993).
- J. J. Reeves, K. T. Bunce, R. L. G. Sheldrick, and R. Stables, Br. J. Pharmacol., 95, 805P (1988).
- 73. W. K. Sonnenburg and W. L. Smith, J. Biol. Chem., 263,6155-6160 (1988).
- 74. Y. Sugimoto, T. Namba, A. Honda, Y. Hayashi, M. Negishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, J. Biol. Chem., 267, 6463–6466 (1992).
- Y. Sugimoto, R. Shigemoto, T. Namba, M. Negishi, N. Mizuno, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, Neuroscience, 62,919–928 (1994).
- 76. K. Nakamura, T. Kaneko, Y. Yamashita, H. Hasegawa, H. Katoh, and M. Negishi, J. Comp. Neurol., 421,543–569 (2000).
- 77. A. S. Milton and S. Wendlandt, J. Physiol. (Lond.), 207, 76P-77P (1970).
- 78. T. Minami, I. Nishihara, R. Uda, S. Ito, M. Hyodo, and O. Hayaishi, Br. J. Pharmacol., 112, 735–740 (1994).
- T. Oka, S. Aou, and T. Hori, Brain Res., 663, 287-292 (1994).
- 80. T. Oka, M Hosoi, K. Oka, and T. Hori, Brain Res., 749,354–357 (1997).
- **81.** T. Oka, T. Hori, M, Hosoi, K. Oka, M. Abe, and C. Kubo, Brain Res., **771**, **278–284** (**1997**).
- L. Xin, E. B. Geller, M. Bastepe, R. B. Raffa, G-F. Mao, B. Ashby, and M. W. Alder, J. Thermal Biol., 25, 77–79 (2000).
- 83. F. Ushikubi, E. Segi, Y. Sugimoto, T. Murata, T. Matsuoka, T. Kobayashi, H. Hizaki, K. Tuboi, M. Katsuyama, A. Ichikawa, T. Tanaka, N. Yoshida, and S. Narimuya, Nature, 395, 281-284 (1998).
- R. A. Lawrence and R. L. Jones, Br. J. Pharmacol., 105,271–278 (1992).
- S. J. Lydford and K. McKechnie, Br. J. Pharmacol., 108, 72P (1993).
- H. L. Yeardley, R. A. Coleman, K. Marshall, and J. Senior, Br. J. Pharmacol., 105,817–824 (1992).

- 87. Y. Sakuma, K. Tanaka, M. Suda, A. Yasoda, K. Natsui, I. Tanaka, F. Ushikubi, S. Narumiya, E. Segi, Y. Sugimoto, A. Ichikawa, and K. Nakao, J. Bone Miner. Res., 15,218–227 (2000).
- 88. G. C. S. Smith, R. A. Coleman, and J. C. McGrath, J. Pharmacol. Exp. *Therap.*, 271, 390396 (1994).
- 89. E. Segi, Y. Sugimoto, A. Yamasaki, Y. Aze, H. Oida, T. Nishimura, T. Murata, T. Matsuoka, F. Ushikubi. M. Hirose, T. Tanaka, N. Yoshida, S. Narimuya, and A. Ichikawa, Biochem. *Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 246, 7–12 (1998).
- 90. M. Katsuyama, Y. Sugimoto, K. Morimoto, K. Hasumoto, M. Fukomoto, M. Negishi, and A. Ichikawa, Endocrinology, 138, 344–350 (1997).
- 91. S. H. Ferreira, M. Nakamura, and M. S. de Abreu Castro, *Prostaglandins*, 16, 31–37 (1978).
- 92. K. Hasumoto, Y. Sugimoto, A. Yamasaki, K. Morimoto, A. Kakizuka, M. Negishi, and A. Ichikawa, J. Reprod. Fertil., 109, 45–51 (1997).
- 93. Y. Sugimoto, A. Yamasaki, E. Segi, K. Tsuboi, Y. Aze, T. Nishimura, H. Oida, N. Yoshida, T. Tanaka, M. Katsuyama, K. Hasumoto, T. Murata, M. Hirata, F. Ushikubi, M. Negishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, Science, 277, 681– 684 (1997).
- 94. B. Dennefors, L. Hamberger, T. Hillensjo, P. Holmes, P. O. Jansen, C. Magnusson, and L. Nilsson, *Acta* Obstet. Gynecol. *Scand.* Suppl., 113, 31–41 (1983).
- **95.** E. T. Whalley and S. K. White, Br. J. *Pharma*-col., **69**, **309P** (1980).
- 96. J. Senior, R. Sangha, G. S. Baxter, K. Marshall, and J. K. Clayton, Br. J. Pharmacol., 107, 215– 221 (1992).
- 97. Y. Sugimoto, K, Hasumoto, T. Namba, A. Irie, M. Katsuyama, M. Negishi, A. Kakizuka, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, J. Biol. Chem., 269,1356–1360 (1994).
- 98. P. Mene, G. R. Duyak, A. Scarpa, and M. J. Dunn, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 142, 579–586 (1987).
- **99.** S. Moncada, Br. J. Pharmacol., **76**, **3-31** (1982).
- 100. D. Oliva and S. Nicosia, Pharmacol. Res. Commun., 19, 735-765 (1978).
- 101. J. A. M. Smith, S. M. Amagusu, R. M. Eglen, J. C. Hunter, and K. R. Bley. Br. J. Pharmacol., 124,513–523 (1998).
- 102. H. Oida, T. Namba, Y. Sugimoto, F. Ushikubi, H. Ohishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, Br. J. Pharmacol., 116,2828–2837 (1995).

- 103. D. E. MacIntyre, Platelets in Biology and Pathology, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1981, pp. 93–103.
- 104. R. A. Coleman, E. W. Collington, H. P. Geisow, E. J. Hornby, P. P. A. Humphrey, I. Kennedy, G. P. Levey, P. Lumley, P. J. McCabe, and C. J. Wallis, Br. J. Pharmacol., 72,524–25P (1981).
- 105. P. P. A. Humphrey, P. Lumley, and B. P. White, Br. J. Pharmacol., 89, 820P (1986).
- 106. T. Namba, Y. Sugimoto, M. Hirata, Y, Hayashi, A. Honda, A. Watabe, M. Negishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, Biochem. Biophys Res. *Com*mun., 184,1197–1203 (1992).
- 107. M. Hirata, Y. Hayashi, F. Ushikubi, Y. Yokota, R. Kageyama, S. Nakanishi, and S. Narumiya, Nature, 349,617–620 (1991).
- 108. F. Ushikubi, Y. Aibi, K. Nakamura, T. Namba, M. Hirata, O. Mazda, Y. Katsura, and S. Narimuya, J. Exp. Med., 178, 1825–1830 (1993).
- 109. D. W. Thomas, R. B. Mannon, P. J. Mannon, A. Latour, J. A. Oliver, M. Hoffman, O. Smithies, B. H. Koller, and T. M. Coffman, J. Clin. *Invest.*, 102, 1994–2001 (1998).
- 110. T. Hirata, A. Kakizuka, F. Ushikubi, I. Fuse, M. Okuma, and S. Narumiya, J. Clin. Invest., 94,1662–1667 (1994).
- 111. L. Limbird, Cell Surface Receptors: A Short Course on Theory and Methods, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, MA, 1995.
- 112. M. Hirata, A. Kakizuka, M. Aizawa, F. Ushikubi, and S. Narumiya, Proc. *Nat. Acad.* Sci. USA, 91,11192-11196(1994).
- 113. D. Gerashchenko, C. T. Beuckmann., Y. Kanaoka., N. Eguchi., W. C. Gordon., Y. Urade., N. G. Bazan, and O. Hayaishi, J. Neurochem., 71,937-945 (1998).
- 114. C. D. Funk, L. Furci, G. A. Fitzgerald, R. Gryorgyzyk, C. Rochette, M. A. Bayne, M. A. Abramovitz, M. Adam, and K. M. Metters, J. Biol. Chem., 268,26767–26772 (1993).
- 115. A. M. V. Duncan, L. L. Anderson, C. D. Funk, M. Abramovitz, and M. Adam, *Genomics*, 25, 740–742 (1995).
- 116. Y. Boie, R. Stucco, N. Sawyer, D. M. Slipets, M. D. Ungrin, F. Neuschafer-Rube, G. P. Puschel, K. M. Metters, and M. Abramovitz. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 340,227–241 (1997).
- 117. J. W. Regan, T. J. Bailey, D. J. Pepperl, K. L. Pierce, A. M. Bogardus, J. E. Donello, C. E. Fairbairn, K. M. Kedzie, D. F. Woodward, and D. W. Gil, Mol. Pharmacol., 46, 213–220 (1994).

References

- 118. M. Kotani, I. Tanaka, Y. Ogawa, T. Usui, K. Mori, A. Ichikawa, S. Narumiya, T. Yoshimi, and K. Nakao, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 48, 869–879 (1995).
- 119. Y. Sugimoto, M. Negishi, Y. Hayashi, T. Namba, A. Honda, A. Watabe, M. Hirata, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 268,2712–2718(1993).
- 120. K. Takeuchi, T. Abe, N. Takahashi, and K. Abe, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 194, 885–891 (1993).
- 121. L. Bastien, N. Sawyer, R. Grygorczyk, K. M. Metters, and M. Adam, J. Biol Chem., 269, 11873–11877 (1994).
- 122. A. Honda, Y. Sugimoto, T. Namba, A. Watabe,
 A. Irie, M. Negishi, S. Narumiya, and A. Ichikawa, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 268, 7759–7762 (1993).
- 123. S. Lake, H. Gullberg, J. Wahlqvist, A. M Sjogren, A. Kinhut, P. Lind, L. E. Hellstrom, and J. Stjernschantz, *FEBS Lett.*, 355, 317– 325 (1994).
- 124. O. Nakagawa, I. Tanaka, T. Usui, M. Harada, Y. Sasaki, H. Itoh, T. Yoshimasa, T. Namba, S. Narumiya, and K. Nakao, *Circulation*, 90, 1643–1647(1994).
- 125. Y. Boie, T. H. Rushmore, A. Darmon-Goodwin, R. Grygorczyk, D. M. Slipets, K. M. Metters, and M. Abramovitz, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 269, 12173–12178 (1994).
- 126. T. Namba, H. Oida, Y. Sugimoto, A. Kakizuka, M. Negishi, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 269, 9986–9992(1994).
- 127. Y. Sasaki, T. Usui, I. Tanaka, O. Nakagawa, T. Sando, T. Takahashi, T. Namba, S. Narumiya, and K. Nakao, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 1224, 601–605 (1994).
- 128. T. Abe, K. Takeuchi, N. Takahashi, E. Tsutsumi, Y. Taniyama, and K. Abe, J. Clin. Invest., 96, 657–664 (1995).
- 129. D. F. Woodward, C. S. Spada, S. B. Hawley, L. S. Williams, C. E. Protzman, and A. L. Nieves, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 230, 327–333 (1993).
- 130. B. Fernandes and D. Crankshaw, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 283, 73–81 (1996).
- 131. H. Hirai, K. Tanaka, O. Yoshie, K. Ogawa, K. Kenmotsu, Y. Takamori, M. Ichimasa, K. Sugamara, M. Nakamura, S. Takano, and K. Nagata, J. *Exp. Med.*, 2, 255–261(2001).
- 132. H. Takechi, K. Matsumura, Y. Watanabe, K. Kato, R. Noyori, M. Suzuki, and Y. Watanabe, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 5901–5906 (1996).

- 133. H. Wise, Y-M. Qian, and R. L. Jones, *Eur.* J. *Pharmacol.*, 278, 265–269(1995).
- 134. D. E. Mais, D. HeHoll, H. Sightler, and P. V. Halushka, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 148, 309–315 (1988).
- 135. P. M. Tymkewycz, R. L. Jones, N. H. Wilson, and C. G. Marr, Br. J. Pharmacol., 102, 607– 614 (1991).
- 136. M. K. Raychowdhury, M. Yukawa, L. J. Collins, S. H. McGrail, K. C. Kent, and J. A. Ware, J. Biol. Chem., 269, 19256–192661(1994).
- 137. S. Narumiya, Y. Sugimoto, and F. Ushikubi, *Physiol. Rev.*, 79, 1193–1226 (1999).
- 138. D. F. Woodward and J. W. Regan, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 883-887(1997).
- 139. R. M. Breyer, C. K. Bagdassarian, S. A. Myers, and M. D. Breyer, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 41,661-690(2001).
- 140. H. Hasegawa, H. Katoh, H. Fujita, K. Mori, and M. Negishi, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 276, 350–354 (2000).
- 141. P. P. A. Humphrey and E. A. Barnard, *Pharmacol. Rev.*, 50, 271–277 (1998).
- 142. M. Bhattacharya, K. G. Peri, G. Almazan, A. Ribeiro-da-Silva, H. Shichi, Y. Durocher, M. Abramovitz, X. Hou, R. R. Varma, and S. Chemtob, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95, 15792–15797(1998).
- 143. M. Bhattacharya, K. Peri, A. Ribeiro-da-Silva, G. Almazan, H. Shichi, X. Hou, D. R. Varma, and S. Chemtob, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 274, 15719– 15724(1999).
- 144. H. G. Dohlman, J. Thorner, M. G. Caron, and R. J. Lefkowitz, *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 60, 653– 688 (1991).
- 145. T. M. Savarse and C. M. Fraser, *Biochem. J.*, 283, 1–19 (1992).
- 146. A. K. Okwu, D. E. Mais, and P. V. Halushka, Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 1221, 83–88 (1994).
- 147. A. Habib, R. Vezza, C. Creminon, J. Maclouf, and G. A. Fitzgerald, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 7191–2000 (1997).
- 148. S. Narimuya, M. Hirata, T. Namba, Y. Hayashi, F. Ushikubi, Y. Sugimoto, M. Negishi, and A. Ichikawa, J. *Lipid Mediators.*, 6, 155– 161 (1993).
- 149. H. Toh, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, *FEBS Lett.*, 361, 17–21 (1995).
- 150. N. A. Sharif, G. W. Williams, and T. L. Davis, Br. J. Pharmacol., 131, 1025–1038 (2000).
- 151. B. Cooper and D. Aherne, J. Clin. Invest., 64, 586–590 (1979).

- 152. M. H. Town, J. Casals-Stenzel, and E. Schillinger, *Prostaglandins*, 25, 13–28 (1983).
- 153. T. Shimizu, A. Yamashita, and O. Hayaishi, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 257, 13570–13575 (1982).
- 154. K. Wright, J. L. Luborsky-Moore, and H. R. Behrman, *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, 13, 25-34 (1979).
- 155. W. Losert, O. Loge, E. Schillinger, and J. Casals-Stenzel, *International Sulprostone Symposium, Vienna.* Schering, Berlin, Germany, 1979, pp. 47–54.
- 156. F. A. Keuhl, *Models Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 9, 385 (1976).
- 157. M. Abramovitz, M. Adam, Y. Boie, M-C. Carriere, D. Denis, C. Godbout, S. Lamontagne, C. Rochette, N. Sawyer, N. M. Trembelay., M. Belley, M. Gallant. C. Dufresne, Y. Gareau, R. Ruel, H. Juteau, M. Labelle, N. Oiumet, and K. M. Metters, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 1483, 285–293 (2000).
- 158. D. F. Woodward, A. H-P. Krauss, J. Chen, D. W. Gil, K. M. Kedzie, C. E. Protzman, L. Shi, R. Chen, H. A. Krauss, A. Bogardus, H. T. T. Dinh, L. A. Wheeler, S. W. Andrews, R. M. Burk, T. Gac, M. B. Roof, M. E. Garst, L. J. Kaplan, G. Sachs, K. L. Pierce, J. W. Regan, R. A. Ross, and M. F. Chan, Br. J. Pharmacol., 130,1933-1943 (2000).
- 159. R. A. Armstrong, R. A. Lawrence, R. L. Jones, N. H. Wilson, and A. Collier, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 97, 657–668 (1989).
- 160. A-L. Tsai, M. J. Hsu, H. Vijjeswarapu, and K. R. Wu, J. Biol. Chem., 264, 61–67 (1989).
- 161. O. V. Miller and R. R. Gorman, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap., 210, 134–140 (1978).
- 162. P. J. Leigh, W. A. Camp, and J. MacDermott, J. Biol. Chem., 259, 12431–12436 (1984).
- 163. H. Hashimoto, M. Negishi, and A. Ichikawa, *Prostaglandins*, 40,491–505 (1990).
- 164. M. Kiryama, F. Ushikubi, T. Kobayashi. M. Hirata, Y. Sugimoto, and S. Narumiya, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 122,217–224 (1997).
- 165. R. A. Armstrong, R. L. Jones, and N. H. Wilson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 79,953–964 (1983).
- 166. E. J. Kattelman, D. L. Venton, and G. C. Le Breton, *Thromb. Res.*, 41,471–481 (1986).
- 167. T. A. Morinelli, J. E. OatisJR, A. K. Okwu, D. E. mais, P. R. Mayeux, A. Masuda, D. R. Knapp, and P. R. Halushka, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Therap.*, 251,557–562 (1989).
- 168. A. Hedberg, S. E. Hall, M. L. Ogletree, D. N. Harris, and E. C. K. Liu, J. *Pharmacol Exp. Therap.*, 245, 786–792 (1988).

- 169. R. A. Armstrong, P. P. A. Humphrey, and P. Lumley, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 110, 539–547 (1993).
- 170. J. Kishino, K. Hanasaki, T. Nagasaki, and H. Arita, Br. J. Pharmacol., 103, 1883–1888 (1991).
- 171. R. M. Burch, D. E. Mais, S. H. Pepkowitz, and P. V. Halushka, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 132, 961–968 (1985).
- 172. P. Lumley, B. P. White, and P. P. A. Humphrey, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*,97,783-794 (1989).
- 173. B. Simon, H. Kather, and B. Kommerell, Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 8, 1617– 1620 (1980).
- **174.** B. R. Creese and M. A. Denborough, *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.*, **8**,616–617 (1981).
- 175. R. A. Coleman and I. Kennedy, *Prostaglandins*, 29,363-375 (1985).
- 176. J. Hardcastle, P. T. Hardcastle, and J. S. Redfern, J. *Pharm Pharmacol.*, 34, 68 (1982).
- 177. T. Watanabe, K. Umegaki, and W. L. Smith, J. Biol. Chem., 262, 13430–13439 (1986).
- 178. T. Watanabe, Y. Yatomi, S. Sunaga, I. Miki, A. Ishii, A. Nakao, M. Higashihara, Y. Segama, M. Ogura, H. Saito, K. Kurokawa, and T. Shimizu, *Blood*, 78,2328–2336 (1991).
- 179. T. Namba, Y. Sugimoto, M. Negishi, A. Irie, F. Ushikubi, A. Kakizuka, S. Ito, A. Ichikawa, and S. Narumiya, *Nature*, 365, 166–170 (1993).
- 180. V. Raymond, P. C. K. Leung, and F. Labric, Biochim. Biophys. Res. Commun., 116, 39–46 (1993).
- 181. H. R. Behrman, J. L. Luborsky, R. F. Aten, M. L. Polan, B. C. Tarlatzis, F. P. Haseltine, S. L. Preston, L. K. Soodak, G. F. Mattson, and A. S. Chi, Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 15, 601–604 (1985).
- 182. A. Nakao, T. Watanabe, S. Taniguchi, M. Nakamura, Z-I. Honda, T. Shimizu, and K. Kurokawa, J. Cell. Physiol., 155, 257–264 (1993).
- 183. A. Shenker, P. Goldsmith, C. G. Unson, and A. M. Spiegel, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 266, 9309–9313 (1991).
- 184. B. T. Kinsella, D. J. O'Mahony, and G. A. Fitzgerald, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap., 281, 957-964 (1997).
- 185. S. Offermans, K. L. Laugwitz, K. Spicher, and G. Schultz, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, 91, 504–508 (1994).
- 186. K. P. Becker, M. Garnovskaya, T. Gettys, and P.V. Halushka, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 1450, 288–296 (1999).

/

References

- 187. T. Hirata, F. Ushikubi, A. Kakizuka, M. Okuma, and S. Narumiya, J. Clin. Invest., 97, 949–956 (1996).
- 188. R. A. Coleman and R. L. G. Sheldrick, Br. J. Pharmacol., 96, 688–692 (1989).
- 189. G. L. Bundy, D. R. Morton, D. C. Petersen, E. E. Nishizawa, and W. L. Miller, J. Med. Chem., 26, 790–799 (1983).
- 190. D. H. Wright, K. M. Metters, M. Abramovitz, and A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 123, 1317–1324(1998).
- **191.** J. Vamecq and N. Latruffe, *Lancet*, **354**, **141**–**148**(**1999**).
- 192. A. G. Caldwell, C. J. Harris, R. Stepney, and N. Whittaker, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun., 101,561-562(1979).
- 193. S. Narumiya and N. Toda, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 85, 367–375 (1985).
- 194. K-H. Thierauch, C. St. Sturzebecher, E. Schillinger, H. Rewinkel, B. Radiichel, W. Skuballa, and H. Vorbruggen, *Prostaglandins*, 35, 853– 868 (1988).
- 195. N. A. Sharif, J. Y. Crider, S. X. Xu, and G. W. Williams, J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Therap.*, 293, 321328 (2000).
- 196. R. Alvarez, R. M. Eglen, L. F. Chang, J. J. Bruno, D. R. Artis, A. F. Kluge, and R. L. Whiting, *Prostaglandins*, 42, 105–109 (1991).
- 197. J. Y. Crider, B. W. Griffen, and N. A. Sharif, Br. J. Pharmacol., 127, 204–210 (1999).
- 198. R. J. Keery and P. Lumley, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 94,745–754(1988).
- 199. S. Ito, E. Okuda, K. Sugama, M. Negishi, and
 O. Hayaishi, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 99, 13–14 (1990).
- 200. H.Giles, P. Leff, M. L. Bolofo, M. G. Kelly, and A. D. Robertson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 96, 291–300 (1989).
- 201. D.E. MacIntyre and J. Gordon, *Thromb. Res.*, 11,705–713(1977).
- 202. K. E. Eakins, V. Rajadhyaksha, and R. Schroer, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 58, 333–339 (1976).
- 203. K.E. Eakins and P. S. Kulkarni, Br. J. Pharmacol.,60,135–140 (1970).
- 204. Y. Vulliemoz, M. Verosky, and L. Triner, Biochem. Pharmacol., 30,1941–1946(1981).
- 205. M.Kangasaho and H. Vapaatalo, Acta Phar macol. Toxicol., 53, 130–134 (1980).
- 206. D. F. Woodward, D. J. Pepperl, T. H. Burkey, and J. W. Regan, *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 50, 1731–1733 (1995).

- 207. S. Hamid-Bloomfoeld and B. J. Whittle, *Br.* J. *Pharmacol.*, 96, 307–312(1989).
- 208. D. G.Trist, B. A. Collins, J. Wood, M. G. Kelly, and A. D. Robertson, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 96, 301–306 (1989).
- 209. S. J. Lydford, K. C. McKechnie, and P. Leff, *Prostaglandins*, 52, 125–139 (1996).
- 210. B. Fernandes and D. Crankshaw, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 283, 73–81 (1995).
- 211. A. Arimura, K. Yasui, J. Kishino, F. Asanuma, H. Hasegawa, S. Kakudo, M. Ohtani, and H. Arita, J. Pharm. Exp. Therap., 298, 411–419 (2001).
- 212. C. V. Grudzinskas, J. S. Skotnici, S-M. L. Chen, M. B. FloydJr., W. A. Hallet, R. E. Schaub, G. J. Suita, A. Wissner, and M. J. Weiss, *Drugs Affecting the Respiratory System*, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1980, p. 301.
- 213. H. J. Hess, T. K. Schaaf, J. S. Bindra, M. R. Johnson, and J. W. Constantine, *International Sulprostone Symposium*, Schering, Berlin, Germany, 1979, p. 29.
- 214. T. K. Schaaf, J. S. Bindra, J. F. Eggler, J. J. Plattner, A, J. Nelson, M. R. Johnson, J. W. Constantine, and H. J. Hess, J. Med. Chem., 24,1353–1359(1981).
- 215. P.W. Collins, E. Z. Dajani, R. Pappo, A. F. Gasiecki, R. G. Bianchi, and E. M. Woods, J. Med. Chem., 26, 786-790(1983).
- 216. M. R. Johnson, T. K. Schaaf, J. W. Constantine, and H. J. Hess, *Prostaglandins*, 20, 515– 520 (1980).
- 217. C. H. Lin, S. J. Stein, and J. E. Pike, *Prosta-glandins*, 11, 377–380(1976).
- 218. H. Carpio, G. F. Cooper, J. A. Edwards, J. H. Fried, G. L. Garay, A. Guzman, J. A. Mendez, J. M. Muchowski, A. P. Roszkowski, A. R. Van Horn, and D. Wren, *Prostaglandins*, 33, 169–180 (1987).
- 219. T. K. Schaaf and H. J. Hess, J. Med. Chem., 22, 1340–1346 (1979).
- 220. J. R. Weeks, D. W. DuCharme, W. E. Magee, and W. L. Miller, J. Pharmacol Exp. Therap., 186,67-74(1973).
- 221. M. D. Ungrin, M-C. Carriere, D. Denis, S. Lamontagne, N. Sawyer, R. Stocco, N. Trembelay, K. M. Metters, and M. Abramovitz, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 59, 1446–1456 (2001).
- 222. R. A. Coleman and P. P. A. Humphrey, Therapeutic Applications of Prostaglandins, Edward Arnold, London, 1993, pp. 15–36.
- 223. J. H. Sanner, Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Therap., 180, 46–56 (1969).

- 224. E. J. Drower, A. Stapelfield, R. A. Meuller, and R. H. Scheulze, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 133, 249– 256 (1987).
- 225. C. Poll, S. P. Grix, and R. A. Coleman, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 97, 421P (1989).
- 226. R. A. Coleman, L. H. Denyer, and R. L. G. Sheldrick, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 86, 203P (1985).
- 227. R. A. Lawrence, R. L. Jones, and N. H. Wilson, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 105,271–278 (1992).
- 228. R. A. Coleman, I. Kennedy, and R. L. G. Sheldrick, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **91**, 321P (1987).
- 229. D. F. Woodward, C. E. Protzman, A. H-P. Krauss, and L. S. Williams, *Prostaglandins*, 46, 371–383 (1993).
- 230. A. T. Nials, C. J. Vardey, L. H. Denyer, M. Thomas, S. J. Sparrow, G. D. Shepherd, and R. A. Coleman, *Cardiovasc. Drug Rev.*, 11, 165–179 (1993).
- 231. P. J. Gardiner, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 87, 45–56 (1986).
- 232. R. A. Coleman, W. L. Smith, and S. Narumiya, *Pharmacol. Rev.*, 46,205–229 (1994).
- 233. P. W. Collins, J. Med. Chem., 29, 437-443 (1986).
- 234. D. A. Shriver, M. E. Rosenthale, H. C. Kleunder, R. N. Schut, R. N. McGuire, and E. Hong, *Arzneim. Forsch.*, 35,839–843 (1985).
- 235. U. Tauber, W. Elger, and B. Nieuweboer, *Prostaglandins.*, 36, 151–162 (1988).
- 236. K. T. Bunce, N. M. Clayton, R. A. Coleman, E. W. Collington, H. Finch, J. M. Humphray, P. P. A. Humphrey, J. J. Reeves, R. L. G. Sheldrick, and R. Stables, *Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res.*, 21,379–382 (1990).
- 237. M. A. Savage, C. Moummi, P. J. Karabatsos, and T. H. Lanthorn, *Prostaglandin. Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids*, 49,939–943 (1993).
- 238. H. Juteau, Y. Gareau, M. Labelle, S. Lamontagne, N. Tremblay, M-C. Carriere, N. Sawyer, D. Denis, and K. M. Metters, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 11, 747–749 (2001).
- 239. T. Reinheimer, E. Harnack, K. Racke, and I. Wassler, Br. J. Pharmacol., 125, 271–276 (1998).
- 240. R. L. Jones, Y. M. Qian, K. M. Chan, and A. P. Yim, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 125, 1288–1296 (1998).
- 241. T. Maruyama, M. Asada, T. Shiraishi, A. Ishida, H. Egashira, H. Yoshida, T. Marumaya, S. Ochuchida, H. Nakai, K. Kondo, and M. Toda, *Bioorganic Med. Chem. Lett.*, 11, 2029–2031 (2001).
- 242. T. Maruyama, M. Asada, T. Shiraishi, K. Sakata, A. Seki, H. Yoshida, Y. Shinagawa, T.

Maruyama, S. Ochuchida, H. Nakai, K. Kondo, and M. Toda, *Bioorganic Med. Chem. Lett.*, 11, 2033–2035 (2001).

- 243. R. A. Coleman, A. Mallet, and R. L. Sheldrick, *Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot. Res.*, 23,241–246 (1995).
- 244. M. Dukes, W. Russell, and A. L. Walpole, *Nature*, 250,330–331 (1974).
- 245. P.S. Jackson and R. Jessup, *Vet. Rec.*, 114,168 (1984).
- **246.** Y. J. Dong and R. L. Jones, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **76**, 149–155 (1982).
- 247. D. F. Woodward, C. E. Fairbairn, D. D. Goodrum, A. H-P. Krauss, T. L. Ralston, and L. S. Williams, Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot. Res., 21,367–370 (1990).
- 248. R. A. Coleman, Studies Towards a Classification of Prostanoid Receptors, PhD Thesis, Council for National Academic Awards, Great Britain, 1983.
- 249. R. M. Eglen and R. L. Whiting, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 76,149–155 (1982).
- 250. N. S. Crossley, *Prostaglandins*, 10, 5-18 (1975).
- 251. B. J. Whittle and S. Moncada, *Circulation*, 72, 1219–1225 (1985).
- 252. K. Schror, H. Darius, R. Matzky, and R. Ohlendorf, Nauyn Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 316,252–255 (1981).
- 253. H. Hildebrande, F. M. McDonald, and F. Windt-Hanke, *Prostaglandins*, 41, 473–486 (1991).
- 254. C. S. Sturzebecher, O. Loge, G. Schroder, B. Muller, and W. Witt, *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.*, 242,425-431 (1987).
- 255. M. Schirner and M. R. Schneider, *Prostaglandins.*, 42,451–461 (1991).
- 256. J. Casals-Stenzel, M. Buse, and W. Losert, *Prostaglandins Leukot. Med.*, 10, 197–212 (1983).
- 257. C. St. Stiirzebecher, M. Haberey, B. Muller, E. Schillinger, G. Schroder, W. Skuballa, and G. Stock, K. Schrör, Ed., *Prostaglandins and Other Eicosanoids in the Cardiovascular System*, Karger, Basel, Switzerland, 1985, pp. 485-491.
- 258. J. E. Merrit, T. J. Hallam, A.M. Brown, I. Boyfield, D. G. Cooper, D. M. B. Hickey, A. A. Jaxa-Chamiec, A. J. Kaumann, M. Keen, E. Kelly, U. Kozlowski, J. A. Lynham, K. E. Moores, M. J. Murray, and T. J. Rink, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 102,251–259 (1991).
- 259. C. Malmsten, Life Sci., 18, 169-176 (1976).
- 260. I.V. Richards, J. A. Ostveen, R. L. Griffin, and S. Bunting, Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 17,1067–1072(1987).
- 261. N. H. Wilson and R. L. Jones, Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 14, 393–425(1985).
- 262. R. A. Armstrong, R. L. Jones, and N. H. Wilson, Prostaglandins, 29, 703–713 (1985).
- 263. R. R. Gorman, G. L. Bundy, D. C. Peterson, F. F. Sun, O.V. Miller, and F. A. Fitzpatrick, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 74, 4007–4011 (1977).
- **264.** F. A. Fitzpatrick, G. L. Bundy, R. R. Gorman, and T. Honahan, Nature, **275**, **764**–**766**(1978).
- 265. K. C. Nicolaou, R. L. Magolda, J. B. Smith, D. Aharony, E. F. Smith, and A. M. Lefer, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 76, 2566-2570(1979).
- 266. P. W. Sprague, J. E. Heikes, D. N. Harris, and R. Greenberg, Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res., 6, 493–496 (1980).
- 267. R. T. Brittain, L. Bouthal, M. C. Careter, R. A. Coleman, E. W. Collington, H. P. Geisow, P. Hallet, E. J. Hornby, P. P. A. Humphrey, D. Jack, I. Kennedy, P. J. McCabe, I. F. Skidmore, M. Thomas, and C. J. Wallis, Circulation, 72, 1208–1218 (1985).
- **268.** R. L. Jones and N. H. Wilson, Br. J. Pharmacol., 73, 220–221(1981).
- **269.** A. M. Lefer, Drugs Future, **13**, **999–1005** (1988).
- 270. R. A. Hall, J. Gillard, Y. Guindon, G. Letts, E. Champion, D. Ethier, J. Evans, A. W. Ford-Hutchinson, R. Fortin, T. Jones, A. Lord, H. E. Morton, J. Rokach, and C. Yoakim, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 135, 193–201 (1987).
- 271. U. Rosentreter, H. Boeshagen, F. Seuter, E. Perzborn, and V. B. Fiedler, Arneim. Forsch., 39,1519–1521(1989).
- 272. R. L. Jones, N. H. Wilson, and R. A. Lawrence, Br. J. Pharmacol., **96**, 875–887 (1989).
- 273. M. Senchyna and D. J. Crankshaw, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap., 279, 262–270(1996).
- 274. J. I. Boersma, K. M. Janzen, L. Oliveira, and
 D. J. Crankshaw, Br. J. Pharmacol., 128, 1505–1512(1999).
- 275. N. Nakahata, K. Sato, M. T. Abe, and H. Nakanishi, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 184, 233–238 (1990).
- 276. M. L. Ogletree, D. N. Harris, R. Greenberg, M. F. Haslinger, and M. Nakane, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap., 234, 435–441 (1985).
- **277.** M. L. Ogletree and G. T. Allen, J. Pharmacol. *Exp.* Therap., 260, 789–794(1992).
- 278. M.G. McKenniff, P. Norman, N. J. Cuthbert, and P. J. Gardiner, Br. J. Pharmacol., 104, 585-590 (1991).

- 279. L. Audoly and R. M. Breyer, Mol. Pharmacol., 51, 61–68 (1997).
- 280. C. Huang and H-H. Tai, Biochem. J., 307, 493-498 (1995).
- 281. C-S. Chang, M. Negishi, N. Nishigaki, and A. Ichikawa, Prostaglandins, 54, 437–446 (1997).
- **282.** N. Chiang, W. M. Kan, and H-H. Tai, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., **334**, 9–17 (1996).
- 283. D. D. D'Angelo, J. J. Eubank, M. G. Davis, and G. W. DornII, J. Biol. Chem., 271,6233-6240 (1996).
- 284. G.W. DornII, J. Biol. Chem., 265, 4240-4246 (1990).
- 285. C. D. Funk, L. Furci, N. Moran, and G. A. Fitzgerald, Mol. Pharmacol., 44, 934–939 (1993).
- 286. N. Chiang and H-H. Tai, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 352,207–213(1998).
- 287. T. Kobayashi, M. Kiryama, T. Hirata, M. Hirata, F. Ushikubi, and S. Narumiya, J. Biol. Chem., 272,15154–15160(1997).
- 288. K. M.Kedzie, J. E. Donello, H. A. Krauss, J.W. Regan, and D. W. Gil, Mol. Pharmacol., 54, 584–590 (1998).
- **289.** J. Stjernschantz and B. Resul, Drugs Future, **17,691–704(1992).**
- 290. A. Alm, J. Villumsen, P. Tornquist, A. Mandahl, J. Airaksinen, A. Tuulonen, A. Marsk, B. Resul, and J. Stjernschantz, Ophthalmology, 100,1312–1317(1993).
- **291.** D. J. Heavey, P. Lumley, S. E. Barrow, M. B. Murphy, P. P. A. Humphrey, and C. T. Dollery, Prostaglandins, **28**, **755–767** (1984).
- **292.** O. I. Linet and F. G. **Ogrinc**, N. Engl. J. Med., **334,873–877(1996)**.
- **293.** P. Schramek and M. Waldhauser, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., **28,567–571(1989).**
- **294.** *M. Waldhauser and P. Schramek, J. Urol.* (*Baltimore*), **141, 525–527 (1988).**
- **295.** L. M. Lee, R. W. Stevenson, and G. Szasz, J. Urol., **141,549–550 (1989)**.
- 296. H. Padma-Nathan, W. J. Hellstrom, F. E. Kaiser, R. F. Labasky, T. F. Lue, W. E. Nolten, P. C. Norwood, C. A. Peterson, R. Shabsigh, and P. Y. Tam, N. Engl. J. Med., 336, 1–7 (1997).
- 297. A. T. Guay, J. B. Perez, E. Velasquez, R. A. Newton, and J. P. Jacobsen, Eur. Urol., 38, 671–676 (2000).
- 298. A. B. Lewis, M. D. Freed, M. A. Heyman, S. L. Roehl, and R. C. Kensey, Circulation, 64, 839–848 (1981).

- 299. J. J. Belch, Br. J. Rheumatol., 32, 353-355 (1993).
- 300. G. Trubestein, M. Ludwig, C. Diehm, J. D. Gruss, and S. Horsch, Dtsch. Med. Wochenschr., 112,955-959 (1987).
- 301. J. M. Levy, F. Ibrahim, P. W. Nykamp, and D. E. Weiland, Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol., 7, 28–30 (1984).
- 302. M. E. Trigg, J. O'Reilly, S. Rumelhart, D. Morgan, M. Holida, and P. de Alarcon, J. Urol., 143, 92–94 (1990).
- 303. S. B. Sinclair, P. D. Greig, L. M. Blendis, M. Abecassis, E. A. Roberts, M. J. Phillips, R. Cameron, and G. A. Levy, *J.* Clin. Invest., 84, 1063–1069 (1989).
- 304. P. Babyn, N. Peled, D. Manson, O. Dagan, M. M. Silver, and G. Koren, Pediatr. Radiol., 25, 41–44 (1995).
- **305.** L. A. Carlson, L. G. Ekelund, and L. **Oro**, *Acta* Med. Scand., **183,423–430** (**1968**).
- **306.** S. Christin-Maitre, P. Bouchard, and I. M. Spitz, N. Engl. J. Med., **342,946–956 (2000)**.
- **307.** E. D. Silove, D. G. Roberts, and J. V. de Giovanni, Arch. Dis. Child., **60**, 1025–1030 (1985).
- **308.** B. D. Thanapoulos, A. **Andreou**, and C. Frimas, Eur. *J.* Pediatr., **146**, **279–282** (**1987**).
- 309. J. Mohiuddin, H. G. Prentice, S. Schey, H. Blacklock, and P. Dandona, Ann. Intern. Med., 101, 142 (1984).
- **310.** W. F. Rayburn, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol., **160**, **529–534** (**1989**).
- **311.** H. Saito, T. Yamamoto, M. Kimura, and K. Shimokata, Am. *J.* Med., **95,549–551** (1993).
- **312.** H. Pickles and J. O'Grady, Br. J. Clin. Pharm., 14,177–185 (1982).
- **313.** B. B. Phillips and A. J. Gandhi, Am. J. Health-Syst. Pharm., **54,2613–2615 (1997).**
- 314. D. Walmrath, T. Schneider, J. Pilch, F. Grimminger, and W. Seeger, Lancet, 342, 961–962 (1993).
- 315. D. Walmrath, T. Schneider, R. Schermuly, H. Olschewski, F. Grimminger, and W. Seeger, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 153, 991–996 (1996).
- 316. R. J. Barst, L. J. Rubin, M. D. McGoon, E. J. Caldwell, W. A. Long, and P. S. Levy, Ann. Intern. Med., 121,409-415 (1994).
- 317. R. J. Barst, L. J. Rubin, W. A. Long, M. D. McGoon, S. Rich, D. B. Badesch, B. M. Groves, V. F. Tapson, R. C. Bourge, B. H. Brundage, N. Engl. J. Med., 334,296301 (1996).
- 318. T. Higenbottam, A. Y. Butt, A. McMahon, R. Westerbeck, and L. Sharples, Heart, 80, 151–155 (1998).

- 319. H. Olschewski, D. Walmrath, R. Schermuly, A. Ghofrani, F. Grimminger, and W. Seeger, Ann. Int. Med., 124,820–824 (1996).
- 320. G. Mikhail, J. Gibbs, M. Richardson, G. Wright, A. Khaghani, N. Banner, and M. Ya-coub, Eur. J. Heart, 18, 1499–1504 (1997).
- 321. F. M. Yatsu, Stroke: Epidemiological, Therapeutic and Socio-Economic Aspects, Royal Society of Medicine, London, 1986, pp. 73–79.
- 322. J. F. Martin, M. Hamdy, J. Nicholl, N. Lewtas, U. Bergvall, P. Owen, D. Syder, and A. Middlebrook, N. Engl. J. Med., 312, 1642 (1985).
- **323.** G. Schoenhard, J. Opperman, and F. E. Kohn, Dig. Dis. Sci., **30**, **126S–128S** (1985).
- 324. C. S. Cook, G. L. Schoenhard, and A. Karim, J. Pharm. Sci., 83, 883–886 (1994).
- **325.** M. Marguilies, G. Campos Perez, and L. S. Voto, Lancet, **339**, 64 (1992).
- **326.** K. Varaklis, R. Gumina, and P. G. Stubblefield, Obstet. Gynecol., **86,541–544 (1995).**
- **327.** D. R. Mishell, J. K. Jain, J. D. Byrne, and M. D. Lacarra, Contraception, **58**, 1–6 (1998).
- **328.** W. Fonseca, C. Misago, and N. Kanji, Lancet, **338, 1594 (1991).**
- 329. C. H. Gonzalez, M. J. Marques-Dias, C. A. Kim, S. M. Sugayama, J. A. Da Paz, S. M. Huson, and L. B. Holmes, Lancet, 351, 1624–1627 (1998).
- 330. W. W. Downie, Lancet, 338,247 (1991).
- 331. D. L. Brand, W. M. Roufail, A. B. Thomson, and E. J. Tapper, Dig. Dis. Sci., 30, 147S–158S (1985).
- 332. D. Rachmilewitz, J. W. Chapman, and P. A. Nicholson, Dig. Dis. Sci., 31, 75S-80S (1986).
- **333.** M. Koch, A. Dezi, F. **Ferrario**, and I. Capurso, Arch. Intern. Med., **156**,2321–2332 (1996).
- 334. M. Moran, M. F. Mozes, M. S. Maddux, S. Veremis, C. Bartkus, B. Ketel, R. Pollak, C. Wallemark, and O. Jonasson, N. Engl. *J.* Med., 322,1183–1188 (1990).
- 335. J. H. Lewis, *Am. J.* Gastroenterol., 80,743–745 (1985).
- 336. A. Ulmann, L. Silvestre, L. Chemama. Y. Rezvani, M. Renault, C. J. Aguillaume, and E. E. Baulieu, *Acta* Obstset. Gynecol. Scand., 71, 278–283 (1992).
- 337. P. F. J. Hoyng and L. M. van Beek, Drugs, 59, 411–434 (2000).
- 338. A. S. Khouri, R. D. Fechtner, T. J. Zimmerman, and M. R. Willman, Today's *Therap*. Trends, 14, 225–240 (1997).
- 339. C. Linden, Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs, 10, 679-694 (2001).

- 340. H. Olschewski, H. A. Ghofrani, T. Schmehl, J. Winkler, H. Wilkens, M. M. Hoper, J. Behr, F-X. Kleber, and W. Seeger, Ann. Intern. Med., 132,435-443(2000).
- **341. T. M.** Loosemore, T. C. Chalmers, and J. A. Dormandy, Int. *Angiol.*, **13**, **133–142(1994)**.
- M2. C. Ippoliti, D. Przepiorka, R. Mehra, J. Neumann, J. Wood, D. Claxton, J. Gajewski, I. Khouri, K. van Besien, and B. Andersson, Urology, 46,811-815(1995).
- 343. C. Murai, T. Sasaki, H. Osaki, A. Hatakeyama, S. Shibata, and K. Yoshinaga, Lancet, 18,1218 (1989).
- 344. T. Minami, H. Nakano, T. Kobayashi, Y. Sugimoto, F. Ushikubi, A. Ichikawa, S. Narumiya, and S. Ito, Br. J. *Pharmacol.*, 133, 438–444 (2001).
- 345. G. S. Baxter, R. A. Coleman, and N. Tilford, Patent WO0018405, filed 25-09-1998 to Pharmagene Lab. Ltd., Royston, UK.

CHAPTER SEVEN

Retinoids

MARK LEID Oregon State University Laboratory of Molecular Pharmacology Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences College of Pharmacy Corvallis, Oregon

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume **4:** Autocoids, Diagnostics, **and Drugs** from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISEN 0-471-37030-4 © **2003** John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- **1** Introduction, **318**
- 2 Clinical Applications, 319
- 3 Retinoid Biosynthesis, 320
 - 3.1 Fate of Dietary Sources of Retinoids, 320
 - 3.2 Symmetrical Cleavage of p-Carotene, 321
 - 3.3 Asymmetrical Cleavage of β-Carotene, 322
 - 3.4 Formation of Retinyl Esters, 323
 - 3.5 Mobilization of Body Vitamin A Stores, 324
 - 3.6 The Fate of Intracellular Retinol, 324
 - 3.7 Oxidation of Retinol, 325
 - **3.8** Formation of Retinoic Acid: A Major Signaling Retinoid, **325**
 - 3.9 Active Isomers of RA, 326
 - 3.10 14-Hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol, 327
 - 3.11 Non-Receptor, RA Binding Proteins, 328
- 4 Retinoid Metabolism, 328
- 5 Role of Retinoids in Visual Signal Transduction, 330
 - 5.1 Photon Detection, 331
 - 5.2 Initiation of a Visual Signal, 331
 - 5.3 Shutting Off **R***,331
 - 5.4 The Retinoid Cycle in Visual Processes, 332
 - 5.5 Retinoids and the Basis of Color Vision, 334
- 6 Retinoic Acid Signaling Pathways, 335
 - 6.1 Historical Perspective, 335
 - 6.2 Discovery of RXRs, 336
 - 6.3 Identification of Retinoic Acid Target Genes,337
 - 6.4 RARs and RXRs Bind Response Elements as a Heterodimeric Complex, 339
- 7 Functional Domains of RARs
 - and **RXRs, 340**
 - 7.1 RAR and RXR DNA Binding Domains, 340
 - 7.2 Ligand Binding Domain, 341
 - 7.3 Apo-Receptors Interact with Transcriptional Corepressor Complexes, 341

- 7.4 Holo-RAR·RXR Complexes Interact with Two Classes of Transcriptional Coactivators, 344
- 7.5 "Ligand-Independent" Transcriptional Activation, AF1, of RARs and RXRs, 345
- 8 Future Perspectives, 345
 - 8.1 Receptor- and Receptor Subtype–Selective Retinoids, 345

1 INTRODUCTION

Retinoids are derivatives of vitamin A that have both diverse and essential actions in developmental and cellular differentiation processes, vision, and reproduction (1). The biological activity of retinoids has been appreciated since the 1920s (2, 3), and the huge strides made by synthetic chemists, and molecular, developmental, and structural biologists since the late 1980s have contributed dramatically to our understanding of the molecular processes that underlie the biological activities of retinoid compounds. Retinoids are now well established as valuable therapeutic agents in the treatment of a variety of skin and proliferative disorders. Indeed, the number of retinoid compounds approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical use, seven, has more than tripled since the last edition of this text, and there are no indications that the wave of retinoid drug development has reached a crest.

- 8.2 "Gene-Specific" Retinoids, 348 8.3 Anti-AP1 Activity of Retinoids, 349
- 8.4 CD437: An Atypical Retinoid, 350
- 8.5 Novel Uses for RXR-Active Compounds, 350
- 8.6 Summary and Perspective, 351

Naturally occurring retinoids are characterized by three distinct structural elements (Fig. 7.1): (1)a lipophilic terminus composed of a β -ionone ring, (2) an isoprene side chain that is subject to both enzymatic and non-enzymatic isomerization (Fig. 7.2), and (3) a polar terminus that is the subject of oxidative modifications (Figs. 7.1 and 7.2). All of these processes occur in *vivo* with the superimposed complexity of a multitude of binding and transport proteins and receptors possessing differential affinities for these naturally occurring retinoids.

The objectives of this chapter are to describe (1)retinoids that are currently in clinical use, including the adverse effects associated with the therapeutic use of these compounds; (2) retinoid biosynthesis and metabolism; (3) the basis of action of retinoids in molecular, cellular, and organismal contexts including vision; and (4) new agents on the horizon of retinoid biology.



Figure 7.1. Naturally occurring trans-retinoids.



Föglsre 7.2. Naturally occurring *cis*-reti-

2 CLINICAL APPLICATIONS

Early studies conducted by Wolbach and Howe suggesting that vitamin A plays a key role in limiting cellular proliferation and in the maintenance of the terminally differentiated phenotype of a number of cell types (2, 3)set the stage for the present use of naturally occurring retinoids and synthetic derivatives in the treatment of diseases of the skin (psoriasis, severe acne, and photodamage) and proliferative disorders (acute promyelocytic leukemia, cutaneous T cell lymphoma, and Kaposi's sarcoma). **Retinoid** compounds presently possessing **FDA** approval for clinical use are listed in Table 7.1 and structures are shown in Fig. 7.3. In addition, the reader is advised to consult governmental (http:// clinicaltrials.gov/) and Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (http:ll www.phrma.org/searchcures/newmeds/webdb/ drugs.phtml) web pages that indicate all ongoing clinical trials that may ultimately lead to the use of retinoids to treat a wider spectrum of diseases including cancers of the skin, breast, kidney, bladder, prostate, and headand-neck, neuroblastomas, acute myeloid leukemia, Hodgkin's lymphoma, and emphysema.

Adverse effects of retinoids in current use are generally severe and limit the clinical use-

fulness of these compounds. Systemic **retinoid compounds** are considered to be extreme **te**ratogens, inducing severe malformations of the central nervous system, skull, external ear, eye, cardiovascular system, thymus, and parathyroid gland. (Table 7.2 describes **terato**genicity associated with systemic **isotretinoin** use.)

Owing to the extreme teratogenicity of systemic retinoid compounds, the FDA and Roche Pharmaceuticals have taken stringent measures to prevent pregnant women from being administered systemic isotretinoin and to prevent women taking isotretinoin from becoming pregnant. All other systemic retinoid compounds bear similar warnings. Well-controlled studies on the potential human teratogenicity of topically applied retinoids have not been conducted; however, common sense dictates that topical use of retinoids during pregnancy should be avoided.

Non-teratogenic, adverse effects of retinoids are also severe and are dependent on route of administration and the nature of the disease being treated. Untoward effects of retinoid compounds administered by mouth are similar to those of hypervitaminosis **A** and include cheilitis and pronounced lipid disturbances such as hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia, and reduction in high density lipoprotein levels, pancreatitis, vasculitis, con刘

N. CAN

Generic Name	Trade Name	Route of Administration	Therapeutic Use
Adapalene	Differin	Topical	Acne vulgaris
Acitretin	Soriatane	Topical	Psoriasis
Alitretinoin (9-cis-retinoicacid)	Panretin	Topical	Kaposi's sarcoma
Bexarotene	Targretin	Topical	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma
Isotretinoin	Accutane	Topical	Severe acne
(13-cis-retinoic acid)		Oral	Severeacne
Tazarotene	Tazorac	Topical	Psoriasis
Tretinoin (<i>trans</i> -retinoic acid)	Renova	Topical	Skin photodamage including wrinkles, sun spots, and roughness
	Retin-A	Topical	Severe acne
	Vesanoid	Oral	Acute promyelocytic leukemia
	Solange (a combination of tretinoin and mequinol, a depigmenting agent)	Topical	Solar (actinic) lentigines

Table 7.1 Retinoids Currently Approved by FDA for Clinical Use

junctivitis, edema, lymphadenopathy, weight loss, GI disturbances including inflammatory bowel disease, dysregulation of blood glucose levels, benign intracranial hypertension, hearing impairment, fatigue, depression, decalcification of bone, calcification of cartilage and tendons, hair loss, and skin scaling.

Adverse reactions associated with use of the systemic administration of tretinoin (Vesanoid) in the treatment of acute **promyelo**cytic leukemia (APL) are particularly severe, resulting in what has come to be known as "Retinoic Acid-APL Syndrome." Approximately 25% of APL patients treated with tretinoin develop this syndrome, which is characterized by fever, dyspnea, weight gain, pulmonary infiltrates, and pleural or pericardial effusions resulting in compromised myocardial function and episodic hypotension. In addition, approximately 40% of patients undergoing oral tretinoin therapy for APL develop a rapidly evolving leukocytosis that can be associated life-threatening complications.

Topically administered retinoids, although generally free of systemic toxicity, cause moderate-to-severe adverse reactions at the site of administration, including irritation as indicated by development of a rash (erythema, scaling, irritation, redness, dermatitis), dryness, burning, pruritis, peeling, blistering, and edema. In many cases, initiation of topical **retinoid** therapy results in an exacerbation of the disease, such as acne, for which the **retinoid** is being used. This effect is generally temporary and subsides with continued therapy, but in severe cases, requires discontinuation of the **retinoid** agent.

3 RETINOID BIOSYNTHESIS

3.1 Fate of Dietary Sources of Retinoids

Vitamin **A** is essential for life, and although humans and other animals are capable of modifying **retinoid** compounds, these species are incapable of the de *novo* synthesis of **retinoids**. Thus, dietary intake of the retinoids is crucial for the maintenance of health and prevention of vitamin **A** deficiency. Dietary retinoids consist of two general types: (1) carotenoids, including principally β -carotene as well as potentially hundreds of other related compounds



Figure 7.3. Chemical structures of FDA-approved retinoids.

that are derived primarily from plant sources, and (2)several forms of **retinyl** esters that are derived from the consumption of other animals. Both of these precursors give rise to **retinol** that is the most abundant **retinoid** in blood, whereas **retinyl** esters in liver and other tissues represent the major storage form of retinoids in the body.

3.2 Symmetrical Cleavage of β -Carotene

The small intestine is a major site of **retinoid** metabolism, beginning **with** the oxidative

cleavage of β -carotene into two molecules of retinaldehyde (Fig. 7.4). The subject of β -carotene cleavage has been quite controversial until recently because both symmetric and asymmetric cleavage of β -carotene has been reported in crude extracts, and at least in some systems, direct formation of retinoic acid from β -carotene has been observed (4). However, recent breakthroughs in this field have substantially clarified this area. These breakthroughs can be traced to the first identification of a maize cDNA encoding 9-cis epoxy-

Organ	Teratogenicity Observed	
Central nervous system	Cerebral abnormalities	
	Cerebellar malformation	
	Hydrocephalus	
	Microcephaly	
	Cranial nerve deficits	
Skull	Developmental abnormalities	
External ear	Anotia	
	Micropinna	
	Small or absent external auditory canals	
Eye	Microphthalmia	
Heart and cardiovascular	Developmental abnormalities	
Thymus	Developmental failure	
Parathyroid gland	Functional deficits leading to parathyroid hormone deficiency	

 Table 7.2
 Human Teratogenicity Associated with Systemic Isotretinoin Therapy

carotenoid dioxygenase, the enzyme responsible for the production of abscisic acid, a carotenoid cleavage product that functions as an important plant growth regulator (5, 6). Vogt and collaborators used cDNA encoding maize 9-cis epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase as a probe to isolate a metazoan (Drosophila) homolog of this enzyme and showed that the enzyme, β -carotene-15,15'-dioxygenase, symmetrically cleaved p-carotene into two molecules of retinaldehyde (7). Interestingly, mutations in the Drosophila gene, *ninaB*, encoding this enzyme, cause blindness, because this species (8), like humans, is dependent on retinoid chromophores for rhodopsin-based visual signal transduction (see below). The phenotype associated with this mutant can be rescued by

dietary administration of retinal, the direct precursor of the Drosophila visual **chro**mophore, 3-hydroxy-retinal (8), thus bypassing the need for dietary sources of carotinoids. Hunziker's group then isolated a cDNA encoding the chicken β -carotene-15,15'-dioxygenase (9), and the groups of Blaner and Cunningham isolated the mouse homolog (10, 11) and demonstrated that this enzyme catalyzed the symmetrical cleavage of p-carotene into two molecules of retinaldehyde.

3.3 Asymmetrical Cleavage of β -Carotene

Asymmetric cleavage p-carotene has been reported by several groups, and this controversy also seems to be solved as a result of the cloning of a cDNA encoding an enzyme that **asym**-



Figure 7.4. Symmetrical cleavage of p-carotene.



Figure 75. Asymmetical cleavage of β -carotene.

metrically cleaves p-carotene to yield two molecules of β -apocarotenal with different chain lengths (12) (Fig. 7.5). These β -apocarotenal cleavage products have been proposed to serve as precursors to retinoic acid in a retinal-independent pathway (13). In this proposed pathway, it has been suggested that the β -apocarotenal cleavage products are subjected to a series of chain-shortening reactions similar to β oxidation of fatty acids and then oxidatively metabolized to one molecule of retinoic acid (13); however, this has yet to be demonstrated directly. Nonetheless, it is now clear that at least two pathways of p-carotene metabolism are possible in humans and other mammals, whereas Drosophila use only the symmetrical cleavage pathway. The enzymes responsible for these cleavage reactions are present in intestinal mucosal cells that likely serves as an important site of p-carotene processing in humans. The enzymes are also present in several other tissues and seem to be expressed during the early stages of embryogenesis, suggesting that the localized production of retinoids during developmental processes is critical.

3.4 Formation of Retinyl Esters

Retinaldehyde, when bound to retinol binding protein II (CRBPII), serves as a substrate for retinal reductase resulting in the production of retinol (14), which then binds to cellular retinol binding protein (CRBP) forming holo-CRBP. Holo-CRBP seems to be the preferred substrate for an esterification reaction (Fig. 7.6) mediated by lecithin:retinol acyl transferase (LRAT), a microsomal enzyme that uses acyl groups donated from phosphatidylcholine (14).In cells not expressing CRBP, retinol esterification is carried out by a different enzyme, acyl CoA:retinol acyl transferase (ARAT).

Dietary retinyl esters are also processed in mucosal cells of the intestine through sequential de-esterification/re-esterification reactions (14). Retinyl esters are then incorporated into chylomicrons and pass from the intestine into the lymph fluid where lipolysis occurs, resulting in the formation of chylomicron remnants that continue to harbor retinyl esters. Chylomicron remnants containing retinyl esters en-



ter the general circulation and are taken up primarily by the parenchymal cells of the liver and de-esterified to yield retinol. Cellular concentrations of free retinol in liver are quite low because most retinol binds immediately to CRBP or retinol binding protein (RBP), the latter of which is a serum transport protein belonging to a large family of fatty acid binding proteins. RBP-retinol is secreted by the parenchymal cells and taken up by the stellate cells of the liver or target tissues (15, 16). Within stellate cells, retinol is re-esterified and stored in lipid droplets in which transretinyl esters account for approximately 42% of total lipid present (15, 16). Palmitate retinyl esters comprise the majority retinyl esters present in lipid droplets with lower amounts of the corresponding stearate, oleate, and linoleate esters. Retinyl esters present in the liver stellate cells account for approximately 75% of total **retinoid** body stores and are extremely long-lived (17).

3.5 Mobilization of Body Vitamin A Stores

As extrahepatic demand dictates, retinyl esters stored in the stellate cells of the liver are mobilized (18). This process involves **de-ester**ification by the action several retinyl ester **hy**drolases, rebinding to RBP, and transport to the target **tissue**(**s**). RBP seems to be critical for retinol transport to tissues, especially when the diet is deficient in vitamin A. Mice that are null for RBP expression exhibit reduced levels of serum retinol levels: however. these mice seem to function normally, at least with respect to vision, if retinol is supplemented in the diet (19). Retinol dissociates from RBP on reaching these extrahepatic tissues and likely enters the target cell by passive diffusion (18). Although a receptor-mediated form retinol uptake has been proposed (20, 21), it is unclear how this contributes to the overall cellular uptake of retinol which has been repeatedly shown to enter the cell rapidly by passive diffusion (18).

3.6 The Fate of Intracellular Retinol

The fate of intracellular retinol is dependent on cell type. In the eye, trans-retinol can be esterified by LRAT or isomerized to **11**-cis-retinol by a cell-specific isomerase (22). **11**-cisretinol is then oxidized to 11-cis-retinal by **11**cis-retinol dehydrogenase (22). **11**-cis-retinal binds to opsin by forming **a** Schiff base with an opsin lysine residue and the resulting complex is known as rhodopsin (22). Rhodopsin is a member of the seven transmembrane family of proteins that serves as receptor for photons



(23). Light-induced isomerization of 11-*cis*retinal plays a central role in the conversion of visual signals, i.e., light, into nerve impulses known as the visual cascade (see below) (23).

3.7 Oxidation of Retinol

In many other cell types, trans-retinol binds to CRBP and this holo-CRBP serves as the substrate for an oxidative reaction in which the primary alcohol is converted into an aldehyde (Fig. 7.7), yielding retinaldehyde (trans-retinal) (18). CRBP plays an extremely important role both in protecting retinol from non-specific oxidative reactions and in the oxidative reaction to retinaldehyde (18).Indeed, CRBP physically interacts with the enzyme(s) responsible for this oxidation reaction, retinol dehydrogenase (RDH). Many enzymes, including class I, II, and IV cytosolic alcohol dehydrogenases, as well as microsomal **RDHs**, short-chain dehydrogenases, and cytochrome P450 isoforms, have been described that convert unbound retinol into retinal in a nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP⁺) – or nicotinamide adenine **diphos**phate (NAD⁺)-dependent manner (14, 24). With a bewildering number of enzymes capable of oxidizing retinol to retinal, this area remains a bit of a controversial topic in retinoid biology (14), but it is currently felt that the enzymes using holo-CRBP as a substrate (as opposed to free retinol) may be the most physiologically relevant of the large family of "retinol dehydrogenases." However, the crystal structure of CRBP bound by retinol has been solved at 2.1Å, revealing that the protein is composed of 10 anti-parallel β strands that

Figure 7.7. Oxidation of retinol to retinal in cells.

fold into an orthogonal barrel (25). Within the barrel, trans-retinol was found to exist in a planar conformation with the free hydroxyl bonded to Gln¹⁰⁸. From these definitive, crystallographic studies, it is not clear how the hydroxyl group, which is sequestered deep within the protein, would be available for oxidation in a reaction catalyzed by a retinol dehydrogenase as proposed by Napoli (14). Clearly, the role of holo-CRBPI in the oxidation reaction needs to be clarified, and this will likely require co-crystallization of holo-CRBP and the retinol dehydrogenase. Thus, the complete picture is still emerging, and a potential role for the cytosolic alcohol dehydrogenases, which seem to use only free retinol as the substrate, in retinol oxidation cannot be ruled out at this time (24).

3.8 Formation of Retinoic Acid: A Major Signaling Retinoid

Oxidative conversion of retinal (RAL) to retinoic acid (RA; Fig. 7.8) is a much less contentious issue because two types of retinaldehyde dehydrogenases have been clearly delineated (14). Once formed, **RAL** binds to CRBP forming CRBP-retinal, which serves a substrate for both retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 1 and 2 (RALDH1 and RALDH2, respectively), that catalyzes the irreversible formation of RA (14). In addition, both enzymes also produce RA from free RAL, however, free RAL is essentially undetectable in all tissues excluding the retina (14). Both RALDH enzymes are expressed in multiple tissues and during embryogenesis; however, the expression pattern of RALDH2 seems to be much more restricted,



Figure 7.8. Oxidation of retinal to retinoic acid in cells.

suggesting a role in the localized formation of **RA** during development and in the adult organism (26-28). Indeed, this hypothesis has been confirmed by genetic means that demonstrated the essential role of RALDH2 during embryogenesis (29). Although the two enzymes are highly related on the amino acid level and bind RAL with a reasonably similar affinity, two findings strongly suggest that RALDH1 and RALDH2 perform distinct functions in *vivo*. First, the expression of the two enzymes differs temporally during embryogenesis (26–28) and spatially during both embryogenesis and in adult animals (14). Second, the two enzymes are differentially regulated by apo-CRBP, which inhibits RALDHI (IC_{50}) = 1.4 μM) but not **RALDH2** (14). Third, **RALDH1** and **RALDH2** may be differentially regulated by **RA**, presumably acting through RARs and **RXRs** to regulate expression of the corresponding genes (see below) (14).

A third RALDH (RALDH3) has been identified in the developing chick retina (30, 31). This enzyme is capable of producing **RA** from **RAL** and appears to be the avian **ortholog** of human aldehyde dehydrogenase 6 (30, 31). In addition to the developing retina (which also expresses RALDH1), RALDH3 expression was also observed in the nasal region (30, 31), suggesting that this RALDH may be involved in both retinal and olfactory system development. The relative contributions of each RALDH enzyme to the overall production of **RA** likely depends on both cell type and developmental stage of the organism. Each of the RALDH enzymes display a high degree of inter-species conservation, suggesting a commonality of function and highlighting the important role of each. Furthermore, Napoli's group recently reported the isolation of another aldehyde dehydrogenase, **ALDH12**, capable of converting retinaldehydes into RA (see below).

With the exception of the eye and possibly B and T lymphotes (see below), trans-RA and its isomers are generally considered to be the most important retinoids with regard to cellular signaling. The retinoic acids bind directly to and activate the numerous members of the retinoic acid (RAR) and retinoid X (RXR) families of nuclear receptors, all of which function as ligand-dependent transcription factors. In turn, these receptors convey the **retinoid** signal by regulating the expression of literally hundreds of RA target genes encoding proteins that are involved in nearly all aspects of organismal function during development and in adult life. Indeed, all of the retinoid compounds approved by the FDA for clinical use activate one or both families of **retinoid** receptors. The RARs, **RXRs**, retinoid signaling mechanisms, and target genes are discussed in greater detail in following sections.

3.9 Active Isomers of RA

Some isomers of trans-RA have been reported to exert very potent biological effects. Most noteworthy of these is 9-cis-RA (see Fig. 7.2), which was originally demonstrated to be a **ret**inoid that activates both RARs and RXRs, whereas trans-RA activates only **RAR** family members (32–34). **Levin** and colleagues originally isolated [³H]9-cis-RA using **RXRs** to "trap" it in cells fed [³H]*trans*-RA, implying 

that the cells were capable of the isomerization step (32). Heyman and collaborators took a related approach to arrive at the same conclusion independently (35). However, the putative trans-RA isomerase has not been isolated and isomerization can occur nonenzymatically (36, 37). In addition, cisoid derivatives of β -carotene exist that may give rise to 9-cis-retinol, 9-cis-RAL, and ultimately, 9-cis-RA (38). Napoli and Lin recently isolated a novel retinal dehydrogenase activity corresponding to the previously known human aldehyde dehydrogenase, ALDH12 (39). ALDH12 was demonstrated to have a distinct preference for 9-cis-RAL relative to trans-RAL, suggesting that this enzyme may be important for the in vivo formation of 9-cis-RA (39). Moreover, ALDH12 expression was observed in fetal and adult tissues (liver and kidney) that contain relatively high levels of cis retinoid precursors such as 9-cis-retinol. Thus, the possible isomerization of trans-RA into the 9-cis-RA in vivo does not seem to be required for the generation of the latter compound.

Other groups have demonstrated that several chemical moieties may activate RXR family members leading investigators to speculate that 9-cis-RA may not be the only physiological ligand capable of activating RXRs in vivo (40, 41). Interestingly, neither of the other RXR-active compounds, phytanic acid and docosahexaenoic acid, is a retinoid, although both harbor structural motifs similar to naturally occurring retinoids (Fig. 7.9).

An unsaturated derivative of retinoic acid, 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid (Fig. 7.10), has been demonstrated by Eichele and Thaller to be an important signaling molecule in a model system of limb development, the chick limb bud assay (42). 3,4-Didehydroretinoic acid is derived from 3,4-didehydroretinol, which is

Figure 7.9. Structures of alternative RXR agonists.

also known as vitamin A2. However, with the exception of cultured human keratinocytes exposed to high concentrations of retinol (43), this form of retinoic acid has not been detected in mammalian tissues to any appreciable degree (14). Thus, the potential role of 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid in the vitamin A signaling pathways in mammals is not clear at the present time.

3.10 14-Hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol

Hämmerling and his colleagues have identified a novel pathway of vitamin A action in lymphocytes that does not involve RA. These investigators originally discovered that retinol was required for B-cell proliferation (44) and T-cell activation (45) and that RAL, but not RA, would substitute for retinol in these actions. These investigators have subsequently discovered that 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol and 13,14-dihydroxyretinol (Fig. 7.11) bind to and augment the activation of both cRaf and protein kinase $C\alpha$ by reactive oxygen (46, 47). cRaf and protein kinase $C\alpha$ are serine-/threenine-kinases that play important roles in signal transduction cascades, such as that associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase. If these data are confirmed, both cRaf and protein kinase $C\alpha$ can also be considered as receptors for retro-retinoids. Hammerling et al. has proposed that retro-retinoids may function to facilitate electron transfer allowing the efficient redox acti-



3,4-didehydro-trans-retinoic acid

Figure 7.10. 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid.



Figure 7.11. Retro-retinoids.

vation of both kinases (47). These investigators have also isolated another compound, anhydroretinol (Fig. 7.11), that functions as an antagonist of 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol action in the lymphocyte context (48). Anhydroretinol not only antagonizes the effects of 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol on B-cell proliferation and T-cell activation, but itself rapidly induces T cell death (48). Thus, it seems that 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol and anhydroretinol, both of which are produced by lymphocytes from retinol, act back on these cells to regulate homeostasis in opposing directions.

Unlike many retinol dehydrogenases, the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of retinol to anhydroretinol, retinol dehydratase, does not use CRBP-retinol as a substrate; rather, it uses free retinol (49–51). However, the enzyme responsible for biosynthesis of 14hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol has not yet been isolated.

3.11 Non-Receptor, RA Binding Proteins

Retinoic acids, particularly *trans*-RA, bind with high affinity to cellular retinoic acid binding proteins I and II (CRABP I and CRABP II). Like the CRBPs, CRABPs are widely ex-

pressed in the embryo and adult and are found in essentially all **RA** target tissues. Three functions have been ascribed to the CRABPs: (1) it is generally believed that the CRABPs serve to buffer intracellular concentration of RA by binding free RA, (2)CRABP may facilitate metabolism of RA in that CRABP-RA complexes are better substrates for oxidative enzymes than is free RA (14), and (3)CRABPs may also function to transport RA to the nucleus, the loci of action of the nuclear receptors **RARs** and **RXRs** (18). Functions 1 and 2 would serve to reduce the cell's sensitivity to RA, and this is consistent with overexpression studies in **F9** embryonal carcinoma cells (52). However, both CRABP I- (53, 54) and II- (55, 56) null animals are remarkably normal, as are the double knock-out (CRABP $I^{-/-}/CRABP$ $II^{-/-}$) animals (55). Moreover, none of these animals are more sensitive to RA-induced toxicities than animals expressing wild-type CRABP I and II (55). If CRABP I or II play a role in "buffering" intracellular concentrations of RA or in the delivery of RA to the nucleus as hypothesized, it is unclear why **knock-out** animals do not display more of a phenotype. Thus, the biological role(s) of the **CRABPs** remains an open question.

4 RETINOID METABOLISM

Tissue-specific catabolism of RA is extremely important in terminating the **retinoid** signal, and ultimately, in dictating the tissue responsiveness to RA. Thus, the metabolism of RA and related compounds has generated a large amount of interest for both clinicians and basic scientists. Consistent with other aspects of retinoid biology, metabolism of RA and RA precursors is a complex area. First, one of the major pathways of RA metabolism is glucuronidation at the carboxyl group (Fig. 7.12). This reaction is catalyzed by the liver enzyme **UDP-glucuronyl transferase** and the product of the reaction, retinoyl- β -glucuronide, participates in a large degree of enterohepatic circulation. Napoli has suggested that retinoyl-βglucuronide may serve as a water-soluble, reclaimable pool of RA to prevent retinoid deficiency (14).

Second, oxidative metabolism (hydroxylation) of RA occurs at both the C4- and C18-



positions of the β -ionone ring yielding 4- and 18-hydroxy RA, respectively, and this hydroxylation has been shown to be induced by RA (57, 58). The relative importance of the two pathways of oxidative metabolism are unknown, but oxidation at the 4-position has been studied more extensively. 4-Hydroxy RA is further metabolized to give 4-oxo RA that then undergoes isomerization to yield 4-oxo-13-cis-RA (59–61). Together, the retinoyl- β glucuronide and the C4-oxidation products account for most of the steady-state metabolites of RA (59–61). Minor metabolic products include the 5,6-epoxy-trans-RA (61) (see Fig. 7.12).

C4-oxidation of **RA** is catalyzed by cytochrome P450 as suggested by the auto-induction of **RA** metabolism at this position (see above) and the inhibition of the hydroxylation reaction by ketoconazole and related compounds that are non-specific inhibitors of many members of the cytochrome P450 family (62). Indeed, Petkovich and colleagues recently identified a cytochrome P450 family member that hydroxylates **RA** at both the **C4**and C18-positions in a NADPH-dependent manner, and furthermore, oxidizes 4-hydroxy RA to 4-oxo RA (63). The expression of this enzyme, Cyp26A1, is induced by RA in several cell lines and tissues, and animals lacking the enzyme display many of the features of **hyper**vitaminosis A, particularly teratogenesis (64), suggesting that Cyp26A1 plays an important role in **RA** metabolism in the developing embryo. Recently, a second member of the Cyp26 family was described, Cyp26B1 (65–67), that displays a pattern of expression different from that of Cyp26A1, suggesting that each enzyme may play a distinct role in **RA** metabolism. Both enzymes exhibit similar substrate specificity and kinetic parameters (66). Interestingly, the 4-oxo metabolites of RA are better substrates for UDP-glucuronyl transferasemediated glucuronidation than *trans*-RA (68), suggesting that hydroxylation of RA at the C4position may facilitate conjugation and elimination.

The induction of **Cyp26A1** expression by **RA** is of great clinical relevance because increased expression of the enzyme potentially reduces the intracellular pool of endogenous or pharmacologically administered trans-RA

that is available to activate the retinoic acid receptor subtypes. Because the receptors likely mediate the beneficial effects of trans-RA in a therapeutic sense, this renders trans-RA treatment less efficacious in the application for which it is being used. This may be a particular concern for the use of trans-RA in some types of breast cancer as Petkovich and colleagues have shown that Cyp26A1 is strongly up-regulated by both trans-RA and 9-cis-RA in MCF-7 breast cancer cells (69). The Petkovich group and others have also shown that *trans*-RA induces Cyp26A1 expression and its own metabolism in many other cell types including human leukemic cells and cervical cancer cells, suggesting that the problem of auto-induction of *trans*-RA metabolism may generalize to other types of cancer cells. Clinically, it may be possible to circumvent this problem using at least two strategies: (1) use of retinoid analogs that are not Cyp26A1 or **Cyp26B1** substrates or (2) concomitant use of trans-RA and an inhibitor of Cyp26A1 and/or Cyp26B1 that would result in prolongation of the half-life of *trans*-RA in the cancer cell. The synthesis of specific Cyp26A1/Cyp26B1 inhibitors capable of augmenting **RA** action in cancer cells represents a potentially exciting new area of drug development.

5 ROLE OF RETINOIDS IN VISUAL SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

Metabolites of retinol play a crucial role as visual pigments in the visual systems of all vertebrate and invertebrate animals. Humans and higher vertebrates use 11-cis-retinal as the primary visual pigment (22), whereas other species use 3,4-didehyrdoretinal (fish, amphibians, and some reptiles), (3R) and (3S)-3-hydroxyretinal (insects), and (4R)-4-hydroxyretinal (cephalopods). In all cases, the role of the retinoid metabolite is similar: photons induce isomerization of a visual pigment which then initiates a cascade of nervous impulses that are transmitted to the regions of the brain that process visual signals (22, 23).

The role of 11-cis-retinal in the mammalian visual cycle is very well understood at the molecular level. This cycle is composed of three components: (1)light detection, (2) initiation of signal transduction, and (3) regeneration of rhodopsin, which functions as a "receptor" for photons.

5.1 Photon Detection

Detection of photons in the mammalian visual system is accomplished by the light-induced isomerization of 11-cis-retinal to all-trans-retinal. The process is similar in both rods, which serve essentially as light detectors, and cones, which are capable of color recognition (22). However, the detection kinetics, regeneration time, and signal and wavelength sensitivities vary between the two types of vision-sensing cells. The photon "receptor" in all cases is rhodopsin, which consists of a protein (opsin) in complex with 11-cis-retinal through the formation of a Schiff base (23). The light-induced isomerization of 11-cis-retinal induces a conformational change in the associated protein moiety (opsin) that underlies activation of the protein (22, 23).

5.2 Initiation of a Visual Signal

Rhodopsin is a member of the seven transmembrane family of guanine nucleotide binding protein-coupled receptors (70, 71). This family contains a very large number of proteins, including receptors for neurotransmitters, peptides, odorants, and gustants (compounds that generate a taste sensation) (70, 71). All of these receptors signal through guanine nucleotide binding (G)-proteins. However, rhodopsin is unique in two respects. First, rhodopsin has a bipartite structure composed of a protein component (opsin) and 11cis-retinal in a protonated Schiff base linkage with the ϵ -amino group of lysine²⁹⁶ (bovine opsin) (22, 23, 70, 71). Second, in contrast to other G-protein-coupled receptors, the "ago**nist**" that activates rhodopsin is a photon of light rather than a chemical, peptide, or hor**mone** (71). As described above, a single photon of light induces the isomerization of 11-cisretinal to all-trans retinal (Fig. 7.13). The structural alteration associated with light-induced isomerization of 11-cis-retinal is transduced through the Schiff base to the opsin component of rhodopsin, resulting in the formation of the active conformation of rhodopsin (metarhodopsinII, hereafter referred to as

R*; see Fig. 7.13). **R*** interacts with another membrane protein, transducin (Gt), the G-protein of this signaling cascade. Gt, like other G-proteins, is a heterotrimeric complex composed of a, β , and γ subunits. In the inactive state, the a subunit of transducin (\mathbf{Gt}_{α}) is bound by GDP. However, interaction with activated R* promotes rapid GTP-GDP exchange on Gt, with concomitant dissociation of holo-Gt into Gt, (that is now bound by GTP) and $\operatorname{Gt}_{\beta\gamma}$ subunits. Although this discussion focuses on the role of Gt_{α} -GTP, an important role for $\operatorname{Gt}_{\beta\gamma}$ is not ruled out (71). $\operatorname{Gt}_{\alpha}$ -GTP is known to be an important activator of a membrane-associated, cGMP phosphodiesterase (PDE), and this occurs through the direct interaction of Gt_{α} -GTP with PDE and subsequent displacement an inhibitory subunit of PDE (22, 23, 70, 71). In the dark state, high intracellular levels of cGMP activate a cGMP-gated cation channel that conducts primarily Na⁺ and Ca⁺ (22, 23, 70, 71). The current through this channel, which is known as the "dark current," determines the resting potential of the dark-adapted rod. However, activated PDE rapidly cleaves cGMP, lowering intracellular levels of cGMP and resulting in the shutting off the dark current (22). This results in a rapid hyperpolarization of the rod. On one side, the rod cell detects photons throughout the above-described mechanism. However, the opposing side of the rod is in synaptic contact with other retinal cells such as both horizontal and bipolar cells and these synapses use glutamate, an excitatory neurotransmitter (22, 23, 70, 71). Hyperpolarization of the rod reduces its excitability, which results in a decrease in the amount of glutamate released by the cell onto horizontal and bipolar cells (22). This signal is then transduced through the layers of the retina and ultimately to the optic nerve that projects to, among other areas, the visual cortex. The same signal also inhibits signaling by neighboring cells and this "surround inhibition" provides a mechanism for the precise localization of stirnulatory input, i.e., light, into the visual system (22, 70, 71).

5.3 Shutting Off R*

The a subunit of transducin, like other G-proteins, harbors an intrinsic GTPase activity



Figure 7.13. Visual system signaling **and** the role of 11-cis-retinal.

that hydrolyzes bound GTP to GDP, thereby terminating signaling by Gt_{α} -GTP (71). The Gt, GTPase activity is greatly stimulated by a GTPase accelerating protein (GAP) complex composed of the regulator of G-protein signaling (RGS)9 protein and a G-protein β subunit (G β 5) (22). The GAP complex rapidly catalyzes inactivation of Gt_{α} -GTP to Gt_{α} -GDP, the latter of which does not interact with or activate PDE. Thus, the inhibitory and catalytic subunits of PDE rebind with a concomitant decrease in intracellular PDE activity and a rise in cGMP levels that results in reactivation of the dark current (23).

An interesting form of self-regulation also occurs at the level of activated rhodopsin. R* is the substrate for a kinase known as rhodopsin kinase that phosphorylates the protein at multiple serine and threonine residues in the carboxyl terminus of the protein (70). Although this phosphorylation somewhat compromises the ability of R* to interact with and activate transducin, complete inactivation of R* requires both rhodopsin kinase-mediated phosphorylation of R* and the binding of another protein, arrestin, to phosphorylated rhodopsin (71). The phosphorylated rhodopsin is subsequently dephosphorylated by a protein phosphatase 2A isoform to generate native opsin, which can then recombine with **11**-*cis*-retinal to reform rhodopsin (see below) (**22**).

5.4 The Retinoid Cycle in Visual Processes

The retinal pool of 11-cis-retinal is clearly critical for photon detection and visual signal transduction. There are two key aspects regarding this that are important to consider: the **precursor**(s) from which 11-cis-retinal derived, and, bioconversion of isomerized transretinal back to 11-cis-retinal that can recombine with opsin to re-form rhodopsin. The latter aspect is obligatory for restoration of the dark state, regenerating a photosensitive receptor capable of undergoing another cycle of photon detection and signal transduction. Considered together, these events represent the **retinoid** cycle in the visual process (22). The entire process of re-isomerization and formation of a new **rhodopsin** molecule occurs in two different retinal tissues and involves several enzymatic steps that are described below (see Fig. 7.14).

Dietary sources of vitamin A also provide the metabolites that are necessary for vision. The ingestion and processing of β -carotene or retinyl esters to retinol and the transport of RBP-retinol complexes to target tissues was discussed earlier in this chapter, and the ret-



Figure 7.14. Retinoid cycle in vision.

ina should be simply viewed as a target tissue at this level. However, the retinal production of 11-cis-retinal from retinol and retinol esters, which is reasonably specific to the eye, is described below.

As described above, photon detection at the level of rhodopsin occurs in the rod (black and white vision) or cone (color vision) outer segments. Thus, this is the locus of the first step of the so-called "retinoid cycle." After photoisomerization, all-trans-retinal remains bound to R* but eventually diffuses out of the retinal binding pocket of opsin in a process that is not completely understood (22). Passive diffusion is probably the most important determinant of trans-retinal dissociation from the protein, but the existence of an ATP-dependent transporter that may facilitate this process has been demonstrated in some systents (22). Once dissociated from opsin, transretinal is reversibly reduced to all-trans retinol by a member of the membrane-associated short-chain alcohol deydrogenase family that is known as all-trans-retinol dehydrogenase (RDH). The all-trans-retinal \rightarrow all-trans-retinol conversion occurs in the outer segments of both rods and cones, is dependent on NADPH, and may be the rate limiting step in the regeneration of 11-cis-retinal (22). Several forms of RDH capable of reducing all-trans retinal to

retinol exist in the retina and the enzymes responsible for this reaction in rods and cones seem to be distinct.

All-trans retinol then diffuses out of the outer segments (rod or cone) and into the retinal pigmented epithelium (RPE). The diffusion of all-trans-retinol out of the outer segments and into RPE cells is facilitated by interstitial retinoid binding protein (IRBP), which is localized in the extracellular matrix of the retina (22). IRBP binds all-trans-retinol as it diffuses out of the outer segment cells and is believed to facilitate transport of all-transretinol to the RPE cell. Additionally, RPE cells directly acquire retinol from serum as described earlier. In both cases, retinol in the RPE cell is rapidly esterified by LRAT in a lecithin-dependent mechanism (22). Retinyl esters provide both a mechanism of storage for the RPE cell and/or provide a substrate for the isomerization reaction (22).

The isomerization reaction to 11-*cis*-retinol likely occurs through one of two possible mechanisms. First, the all-trans-retinyl ester may be a substrate for an as yet identified "isomerohydrolase" that uses the free energy of retinyl ester hydrolysis to drive the isomerization reaction (22). In this case, the product of the reaction, 11-*cis*-retinol, would be generated in essentially one step by a single enzyme,

the putative isomerohydrolase, which has not been isolated. Second, the two reactions may be distinct, i.e., retinyl ester hydrolases in RPE cells may hydrolyze the all-trans-retinyl esters generating all-trans-retinol that is subsequently isomerized to 11-cis-retinol through a carbocation intermediate. Although the latter reaction is endothermically unfavorable (AG = +4 kcal/mol), McBee and colleagueshave proposed that retinol binding proteins, such as CRBP, may drive the reaction forward (72). 11-cis-Retinol, formed by either or both of the above pathways, is then oxidized to 11cis-retinal by one or more 11-cis-retinol dehydrogenase, which are members of the shortchain alcohol dehydrogenase family (22, 71). This reaction is well understood at the molecular level, and mutations in the RDH5 gene, which encodes an 11-cis-retinol dehydrogenase, is associated with **fundus** albipunctatus, a human disease in which there is delayed dark adaptation in both cones and rods because of the impaired regeneration of 11-cisretinal (73–78). Cellular retinaldehyde bindingprotein (CRALBP) has been proposed to be important in both the isomerization (alltrans-retinol - 11-cis-retinol) and the oxidation (11-cis-retinol \rightarrow 11-cis-retinal) reactions (22); however, the underlying molecular mechanisms have not been identified. Nonetheless, mutations in the CRALBP gene are associated with compromised retinal disease such as retinitis punctata albescens (79-82), suggesting that CRALBP may play a role in the retinoid cycle in the retina. Additionally, CRBP I is expressed in RPE and has been suggested to play a role in chaperoning retinol within the cell and, like CRALBP, possibly has a role in the isomerization and/or oxidation reactions (22). Mice devoid of CRBPI have been generated and exhibit a large reduction in retinyl ester accumulation in liver (83); however, it is unknown if these mice have defects in the retinal **retinoid** cycle.

Finally, an abundant protein in the RPE, **RPE65**, seems to play a role in the **retinoid** cycle, but the exact role remains a mystery. Mice lacking this protein accumulate **all**trans-retinyl esters that concentrate within lipid droplets in RPE cells (84). These mice are completely devoid of 11-cis-retinal and other cis-retinoid metabolites and are severely compromised in visual processes. However, the defective vision phenotype of these animals is reversed by dietary administration of 9-cisretinal—which can also form a Schiff base with rhodopsin (creating isorhodopsin) that functions as a photon detector in the visual process similar to 11-cis-retinal (84). Interestingly, **RPE65** shares around 40% sequence identity with the dioxygenase that catalyzes the symmetrical cleavage of p-carotene into two molecules of retinal (7, 8); however, the functional significance of the relationship to the β -carotene dioxygenase is completely unknown.

11-cis-retinal then diffuses out of the RPE cell and back into the outer segment photoreceptor cell. It is presently unknown if the movement of 11-cis-retinal to the photoreceptor cell requires interaction with IRBP, but this is clearly a possibility. Once in the photoreceptor cell, 11-cis-retinal reacts with opsin through formation of a Schiff base as described above (Fig. 7.14).

5.5 Retinoids and the Basis of Color Vision

The absorption maxima of free 11-cis-retinal is in the near-ultraviolet range (360–380 nm). However, the absorption maxima of the 11cis-retinylidene moiety in the context of a protonated Schiff base linkage with rod opsins is shifted to approximately 500 nm, squarely in the middle of the visual range. Two factors contribute to this dramatic red shift in the absorption maxima of **11-cis-retinylidene** group relative to that of free 11-cis-retinal: (1)protonation of the Schiff base and (2) the existence of intramolecular negative charges contributed by the opsin component of rhodopsin (22). One of these negative charges is derived from Glu¹¹³, a residue that is conserved among all known vertebrate visual pigments. Glu¹¹³ is located in the highly hydrophobic environment of opsin transmembrane domain 2 and provides the counterion for the positively charged Schiff base (22). The existence of this counterion in such a hydrophobic environment shifts the pKa of the protonated Schiff base by 7 log units, effectively preventing spontaneous hydrolysis of the 11-cis-retinglidene group.

The recent elucidation of the crystal structure of rhodopsin bound by 11-cis-retinal at

6 Retinoic Acid Signaling Pathways



Figure 7.15. Rhodopsin crystal structure. Threedimensional structure of rhodopsin based on X-ray crystallography (186). Note that all-trans-retinal is protected from the intradiscal side by multiple structural elements, including several β strands. Carbohydrates are in blue, 11-cis-retinal is in green, and helices are in gray. Red shadows are added for esthetic reasons. This figure was generated by C. Behnke (Universityof Washington) and is reprinted with permission from Prog. *Retin.* Eye Res., 20, 469–521 (2001).See color insert.

2.8Å allows direct visualization (Fig. 7.15) of the spatial arrangements of the transmembrane domains of rhodopsin and the location of 11-cis-retinal in the pocket (85). These investigators found that 11-cis-retinal contributes to the inactive conformation of rhodopsin by holding the transmembrane regions of the protein together. Although the structure of bleached rhodopsin, i.e., that containing 11truns-retinal, was not reported, one can easily image the magnitude of the rhodopsin conformational change that must accompany lightinduced isomerization of the chromophore, 11-cis-retinal.

The above-described structural studies onfirmed that interactions of the 11-cis-reti-

nylidene group with a cluster of amino acids of the opsin component dictate the absorption maxima of rod-derived rhodopsin and also provide a basis for the visual perception of color in cone cells of the retina. Although the chromophore is attached to cone opsins through an identical, protonated Schiff base linkage and likely occupies a similar position in the opsin pocket, the absorption maxima of the cone rhodopsins differ significantly from that of rod rhodopsin. However, in contrast to those expressed in monochromatic rod cells, cone visual pigments have absorption maximas that cover the visual spectrum. This is believed to result largely from differential interactions of 11-cis-retinylidene group with the side chains of amino acids lining the cavity in which the chromophore resides (22, 85). As a result of these differential interactions, visual pigments present in cones are activated by light of varying wavelengths giving rise to the perception of color.

6 RETINOIC ACID SIGNALING PATHWAYS

6.1 Historical Perspective

Naturally occurring retinoic acids and synthetic derivatives exert cellular effects by binding to and activating two families of nuclear receptors (NRs), retinoic acid receptors (RARs; Fig. 7.16) and retinoid X receptors (RXRs; Fig. 7.17). Both classes of retinoid receptors are comprised of three subtypes, a, p, and y, all of which belong to the steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily of ligand-dependent transcription factors (1). RAR α was the first member of either retinoid receptor family to be identified simultaneously and independently by the groups of Chambon (86) and Evans (87), both of which isolated RAR α using a low-stringency, cDNA library screening strategy. Subsequently, the Chambon (88) and Pfahl (89) groups isolated **RAR** β and made the realization that the locus of this gene was a site of viral integration causing hepatocellular carcinoma. The Chambon group then cloned cDNA encoding RAR γ and demonstrated that this receptor was highly expressed in skin (90, 91), long known as a primary retinoic acid target tissue. The Cham-



Figure 7.16. Retinoic acid receptor subtypes.

bon group also discovered the existence of multiple isoforms of RAR α (92), RAR β (93), and RARy (94), all of which were generated by alternative splicing and differential promoter usage (Fig. 7.18). RXR isoforms, particularly of $RXR\beta$ (see below), have also been described (95). Finally, the Chambon group demonstrated that the retinoic acid receptors and all of the **retinoid** binding proteins exhibit spatially and temporally distinct expression patterns in the developing fetus and adult animals (96–99), suggesting that each may play a specific role in the retinoic acid signaling pathways. This flurry of activity in the time of 3-4years, driven entirely by molecular biology expertise of a few groups, completely revitalized vitamin A research throughout the world. For the first time, nutritional and metabolic biochemists, toxicologists, and cancer, cell, and molecular biologists could begin to address the molecular basis of vitamin A action in health and disease.

6.2 Discovery of RXRs

As all of the above action was occurring, the group of Evans continued to isolate cDNAs en-

coding novel retinoic acid receptor-like proteins and in, the process, identified $RXR\alpha$ (100). This receptor was so-named because trans-RA activated the receptor in transient transfection experiments, however, only at concentrations much higher than those required for activation of the RARs. This finding led Mangelsdorf and colleagues to propose that the ligand for RXR α was a metabolite, the "X" metabolite, of trans-RA (100). This speculation was later proven by both the groups of Levin (32) and Evans (35), both of which identified 9-cis-RA as the RA "metabolite" responsible for activation of RXR in cultured cells (see above). However, the parent compoundmetabolite relationship has never been directly demonstrated for trans- and 9-cis-RA and it is possible, as described above, that the two isomers of RA are interconverted in a nonenzymatic reaction as suggested by the group of Rando (36, 37). Nonetheless, both the groups of Levin and Evans made a fundamentally important discovery in identifying a ligand, 9-cis-RA, that bound directly to and activated both families of retinoid receptors, whereas trans-RA only bound and activated



Figure 7.17. Retinoid X receptor subtypes.

RAR family members. This finding was the basis for the future development of receptorselective retinoids.

6.3 Identification of Retinoic Acid Target Genes

Clearly, RARs and RXRs bound ligand, and this was demonstrated directly as described above, but these proteins also belong to the NR superfamily of sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factors. Thus, the next **major** question that required an answer was "what is the nature of the DNA response element to which the RARs and RXRs bind?" This was an extremely important question be**ca**use the answer would provide clues regard**ing** the nature of **RA** target genes. At the time, some response elements for steroid and thymid hormones were known and these were generally corresponded to inverted repeats of a hexanucleotide sequence, for example AG-GTCAxxxTGACCT for estrogen receptors or AGAACAxxxTGTTCT for glucocorticoid receptors (where x corresponds to any nucleotide). In both cases, the hexanucleotide se-

quence for each half-site is repeated on the opposite strand, also in the $5' \rightarrow 3'$ orientation. Importantly in the search for retinoic acid-responsive genes, de The and colleagues had previously identified RAR β as a *trans-RA*induced gene in hepatoma cells (101) and subsequently identified the DNA response element conferring this inducibility as a direct repeat (DR) of the sequence GT-TCACxxxxxGTTCAC (102). This crucial finding was unusual because, although the sequence of this retinoic acid response element (RARE) hexanucleotide was similar to that of estrogen and glucocorticoid receptors, the *rel*ative orientation of the two half-sites was not. In contrast to inverted or palindromic repeats of steroid hormone response elements, the head to tail orientation of the direct repeats generates an asymmetrical binding site that is typical of many non-steroid hormone receptors. Using a different approach, the group of Evans came to a similar conclusion, defining what was referred to as the "3-4-5 rule" of response element recognition in which directly repeated response elements spaced by 3,

mRARα E1 mRARα1 mRARα2 **P1** mRARβ Figure 7.18. Schematic organization of 5' region of mouse RAR genes and major E1 isoforms. There are two major isoforms of mRARβ1 **RAR** α and **RAR** γ , which in both cases, arise from differential usage of two promoters, **P1** and **P2**. **RAR**β1 and **RAR**β3 are mRARβ3 transcribed from the P1 promoter, but differ as a result of alternative splicing, whereas **RAR\beta2** and **RAR\beta4**, which are mRARβ2 both transcribed from the downstream P2 promoter, differ in that the β 4 isoform uses a CUG initiation codon and is altermRARβ4 natively spliced such that is it is virtually devoid of an A region. Exons are indicated **P1** by boxes and numbers (*El-E5*, **E8**, and E9). Black and white boxes represent mRARγ translated A region sequences and the 5'-E1 E2 UTR, respectively. For a given **RAR** type П (a, β , or γ), A1–A4 and **B** represent the mRAR_Y1 isoform-specific A region and common B regions, respectively. Reprinted with permRAR γ 2 mission from Trends Biochem. Sci., 17, 427-433 (1992).

4, and 5 bp functioned specifically as vitamin D, thyroid hormone, and RA response elements, respectively (103). Chambon's group then extended this rule by demonstrating that the RA inducibility of the CRBPII gene was conferred by a directly-repeated RARE spaced by 2 bp (104), while Mangelsdorf and colleagues demonstrated that the complex, directly repeated response element spaced by 1 bp (DR1) of the rat CRBPII promoter conferred RXR-mediated inducibility, thus identifying the first RXR response element or RXRE (105). Durand and colleagues then demonstrated that the mouse CRABP II promoter harbored both DR1 (RXRE) and DR2 (RARE)



elements, indicating that both families of retinoid receptors may be involved in the up-regulation of this gene by retinoic acids (106). Although numerous groups have shown that DR1 elements are promiscuous and confer regulation by several other nuclear receptors, the molecular basis for response element recognition and, therefore, target gene regulation, by RARs and RXRs was well-defined by the above-described body of work. Thus, the 3-4-5 rule was modified to account for DR1 (RXR and many other orphan receptors), and DR2 (RA) response elements and became commonly known as the 1-5 rule (Fig. 7.19). Today, many more retinoid-responsive genes



have been isolated, and retinoid signals are known to induce the expression of a wide array of target genes implicated in mediating the pleiotropic effects of RAs on cellular function. These genes encode transcription factors (107–113), metabolic enzymes (114), growth factor receptors (115), extracellular matrix proteins (116, 117), secreted proteins that are postulated to convey positional information in the developing embryo (118–120), and genes encoding pro-apoptotic proteins such as TRAIL (121).

6.4 RARs and RXRs Bind Response Elements as a Heterodimeric Complex

Several groups working independently simultaneously discovered that RAR family memFigure 7.19. Directly repeated response elements for members of the retinoid receptor family (RXR and RAR). The sequence of each half-site is similar, but the spacing between the two half-sites is distinctive. Increasing the length of the intra-repeat spacer alters the relative orientation of the two half-sites as indicated on the right side of the figure. For example, the centers of each half-site are on different sides of the DNA helix in the context of a DR1 response element (118"out of phase), but only 14° and 21" out of phase in the context of DR4 and DR5 response elements, respectively.

bers heterodimerize with RXR family members and bind all known **RAREs as** a **RAR·RXR** heterodimeric complex (122–126). During the course of this work, two additional members of the RXR family, $\mathbf{RXR}\boldsymbol{\beta}$, which was originally identified as H-2RBPII by the group of Ozato (127), and $\mathbf{RXR}\gamma$, were identified (123, 128), both of which were also shown to heterodimerize with RAR family members (123). Finally, the Chambon group used genetic means to demonstrate that RAR RXR complexes are the functional units of both retinoid signaling pathways during mammalian development (129). Considered together, these remarkable findings indicate that the two families of retinoid receptors, RARs and RXRs, which arose independently during evolution and harbor

RARα	RARβ	RARβ	ERα
28	32	30	30
29	30	30	31
30	33	30	29
23	24	24	
	RARα 28 29 30 23	RAR α RAR β 28 32 29 30 30 33 23 24	RAR α RAR β RAR β 283230293030303330232424

Table 7.3Comparison of Amino Acid Sequence Conservation among RAR and **RXR Ligand Binding Domains**

Percent identities between the ligand binding domains of RARs, RXRs, and estrogen receptor $(ER\alpha)$.

little sequence identity outside the DNA binding domain (see below and Table 7.3), physically interact in the context of a heterodimeric complex to regulate the transcription of most retinoic acid target genes. RXR was subsequently shown to heterodimerize with several other nuclear receptors (Table 7.4), a finding that implies activators of RXR may potentially affect a great number of other signaling pathways (130,131). Thus, the development of selective, RXR agonists is particularly attractive to medicinal chemists (see FUTURE PER-SPECTIVES).

RAR RXR heterodimeric complexes bind to a directly repeated, hexanucleotide motif of the consensus sequence 5'-PuGGTCA-3' (where Pu represents a purine, see above). Directly repeated response elements, in contrast to inverted repeats, are not symmetrical, and this renders the microenvironment of each half-site distinct (38). This situation implies that the orientation of RAR RXR complexes RAREs may be ordered and occur in a nonrandom manner. Indeed, this is the case: Perlmann and colleagues used biochemical techRetinoids

niques to demonstrate that **RXR** and **RAR** bind to the 5' and 3' half-sites, respectively, of a DR5 response element (132). The group of Chambon published similar findings and also demonstrated that RXR occupies the 5' halfsite of a DR2 element (133), and this general polarity was confirmed in crystallography studies in which RXR thyroid hormone receptor complexes were shown to bind with a similar orientation to a DR4 thyroid response element (134). Interestingly, however, Kurokawa and co-workers (135) discovered that this binding order was reversed on a DR1 element with RAR and RXR binding to the 5' and 3' half-sites, respectively, resulting in a transcriptionally inactive complex that responds to neither trans-RA nor 9-cis-RA (see below).

7 FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS OF RARs AND RXRs

The RARs and RXRs, like other NRs, are comprised of a highly modular domain structure that includes autonomous DNA and ligand binding domains and as well as regions of the proteins that function in both transcriptional activation and silencing (Fig. 7.20). These functional domains are described in detail in the sections that follow.

7.1 **RAR** and RXR DNA Binding Domains

The DNA binding domains (DBDs) of members of the NR family are, in general, highly conserved, displaying approximately 60% identity at the amino acid level across the en-

Receptors with Known Ligands	Orphan Receptors		
Retinoic acid receptors (RAR α , β , γ)	Chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter-transcription factors (COUP-TFI,II, III)		
Vitamin D receptor (VDR)	Hepatic nuclear factor-4 (HNF-4)		
Thyroid hormone receptors (TR α , β)	NGFI-B and related proteins		
Perooxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR α , β , γ)			
Liver $\hat{\mathbf{X}}$ receptors (LXR α , β)			
Farnesoid X receptor (FXR)			
Constitutive and rostane receptor (CAR)			
Benzoate X receptor (BXR)			
Steroid xenobiotic/pregnane X receptor (SXR, PXR)			

 Table 7.4
 RXR Heterodimerization Partners

Receptor function	H ₂ N -		СООН
DNA binding		 	
Ligand binding			
Dimerization			
Ligand-dependent transcriptional			
activation function core (AF2)			
Nuclear localization signal			
Ligand-independent transcriptiona activation function (AF1)	al		
Silencing function			

Figure 7.20. Nuclear receptor domain structure.

tire family. The DBD of both **RARs** and **RXRs**, and of all NRs, is composed of approximately 66-80 amino acids that are organized into two C_2C_2 zinc finger motifs (see Figs. 7.16 and 7.17), each of which tetrahedrally coordinates one zinc ion (134, 136). These two zinc fingers fold into a single structural motif comprised of two a helices, the recognition and support helices that are located on the knuckle on the carboxyl side of each zinc finger (134, 136). The two a-helices play very different roles in the function of the receptors: the recognition helii sits in the major groove of DNA and makes specific contacts with discriminating nucleotides within the response element; the support helix is oriented perpendicularly to the recognition helix and does not contact DNA at all (134,136). Rather, the support helii makes specific protein-protein contacts with and effectively buttresses the recognition helix into the major groove. This concept is illustrated schematically in Fig. 7.21. Biochemical (137,138) and crystallographic (134, 136) studies have revealed that three amino acids within the recognition helix are crucial for response element discrimination by most NRs.

7.2 Ligand Binding Domain

Although the ligand binding domains (LBDs) of both **RARs** and RXRs bind **9**-*cis*-**RA** with high **affinity**, the amino acid sequence identity between the two proteins within the LBDs is surprisingly very low (Table 7.3). Indeed, the RAR LBD is as related in amino acid sequence identity to that of **RXR** as the receptor is to estrogen receptor a (approximately 30%; see

Table 7.3). The LBDs of RAR and RXR family members have also been studied **extensively** by biochemical means **and** by crystallography (139–148). The picture that has emerged from this large body of work suggests that the overall structural organization of the LBD of RARs and RXRs is highly conserved LBD (142, 149), even if the primary amino acid sequence is not (see above). The structurally unique NR LBD is comprised of 12 a-helical bundles (H1-H12; Fig. 7.22) that sandwich a short β -turn (149). This domain is arranged into three layers forming what has been called an anti-parallel "a-helical sandwich" (142). In addition to conferring ligand binding, the ~ 220 – to 240 – amino acid LBDs of all **RAR** and **RXR** family members also harbor a major dimerization interface (homodimerization and heterodimerization) that is comprised of amino acids from H7, H9-H11, and portions of the intervening loops (140,141). The RAR and RXR LBDs also confer all of the ligand-dependent transcriptional activation potential of the corresponding receptors, which has been referred to as the AF2 activity (150). However, AF2 cannot be described simply in linear sequence, but rather is formed by the agonist-induced juxtaposition of several helices within the LBD (see below).

7.3 Apo-Receptors Interact with Transcriptional Corepressor Complexes

Essentially, the basis of **retinoid** receptor signaling involves differential interaction of the apo- and holo- forms of the receptors with several, specific pools of nuclear proteins. For example, in the absence of an agonist, **apo-**

341



Figure 7.21. Schematic representation of DNA binding domains. Structures of DNA-binding complexes involving RXR and their dimer interfaces. The overall structures are shown on the left, with close-up views of the protein-protein interactions shown on the right. Dotted blue lines indicate hydrogen bonds between proteins or between proteins and the DNA spacing. The dotted surface indicates complementary van der **Waals interactions**. DNA sequences (cyan) are shown with their 5' ends pointing up, with base pairs belonging to the spacing element of the DRs shown schematically in red. In each case, protein-protein contacts are formed directly over the minor groove of the spacing, with several protein-DNA phosphate contacts stabilizing the assembly. The interacting amino acid side-chains are shown in green, with nitrogen atoms indicated in blue and oxygen atoms indicated in red. (a and b) The **RXR-TR** DBD heterodimeric complex with DR4; (c and d) the RXR DBD homodimeric complex with DR1, and (e and f) the **RXR-RAR** DBD heterodimeric complex with DR1. Reprinted with permission from *Curr*. Opin. *Struct*. Biol., *11,3338* (2001). See color insert.



Figure 7.22. Schematic representation of apo- and holo-RXR ligand binding domain. Helices 1–12 (H1–H12) are indicated. Helices indicated in yellow and red represent the apo- and holo-forms of the receptor, respectively, whereas helices indicated in blue and green are positioned similarly in both forms of the receptor. The arrows represent movement of the helices to accommodate **9-cis-RA** in the binding pocket (indicated). This figure was kindly supplied by Dr. Pascal Egea. See color insert.

RAR·RXR complexes are known to bind to DNA response elements loosely and recruit an ATP-dependent, chromatin remodeling complex known as ISWI to the template (151). ISWI-mediated remodeling of chromatin seems to allow apo-RAR·RXR complexes to bind to the DNA response element much more tightly (151). Presumably, apo-RAR·RXR complexes can then interact with and recruit transcriptional corepressor proteins, such as nuclear receptor corepressor (NCoR) and silencing mediator of retinoid and thyroid receptors (SMRT) to the template (152, 153). NCoR and SMRT, in turn, recruit histone deacetylase complexes (HDACs) to the apo-RAR·RXR heterodimeric complexes bound to a response element in the promoter region of a **RA** target gene (154). HDAC-mediated deacetylation of specific lysine residues found in multiple **histones** is believed to increase the affinity of the particular **histone** for the DNA template and, thus, favor the formation of more densely packed chromatin that is generally less likely to be transcibed (155). Ten HDACs encoded by different genes have been isolated to date, and genetic evidence suggests that there may be additional members of the HDAC family that have not been described (156–162). Thus, **apo-RAR**·**RXR** complexes can repress the expression of at least some target genes in a HDAC-dependent manner, and this inhibition can be relieved by inhibitors of HDACs such as trichostatin A or valproic acid (163). This has clinical significance because some leukemias respond more favorably to a combination of a **retinoid** and HDAC inhibitor than to either drug alone (163, 164).

7.4 Holo-RAR·RXR Complexes Interact with Two Classes of Transcriptional Coactivators

Agonist binding to RAR and/or **RXR** induces a rather substantial conformational change in the LBD of the receptors (Fig. 7.22). This **con**formational change is characterized by the following: (1)a large rearrangement involving H11 and H12; (2) bending of helix 3; and (3) rotation of the omega loop separating helices 1 and 2/3. The resultant conformation of the holo-recevtor is not favorable for interaction with transcriptional corepressors such as NCoR or SMRT; thus, agonist binding-induced conformational change promotes dissociation of the entire corepressor complex assembled on the promoter of **RA** target genes.

The repositioned helix 12 is generally believed to form the "lid" of the ligand-binding pocket (143, 144, 165). The agonist bindinginduced rearrangement of helix 12 also juxtaposes the core of AF2, which is found in helix 12, with amino acids in helices 3, 4, and 5 (143, 144), creating a shallow hydrophobic groove competent for interaction with a second class of proteins known as transcriptional coactivators. Interaction of a RAR RXR complex with a transcriptional coactivator requires the agonist-induced juxtaposition of helices 3, 4, 5, and 12 of the receptor with a complementary α -helical structure in the coactivator protein comprised of the consensus sequence LXXLL, where L corresponds to a leucine residue and X can be any non-helix breaking amino acid. The canonical LXXLL-containing a-helix of transcriptional coactivators binds directly to the shallow hydrophobic groove in the receptor formed by the agonist induced conformational change (166–170). Thus, agonist binding-induced RAR and/or RXR conformational change serves two purposes: (1)to induce dissociation of the corepressor complex resulting in a relief of transcriptional repression and (2) to promote interaction of the receptor with transcriptional coactivator proteins resulting in transcriptional activation.

Transcriptional coactivator proteins that interact preferentially with activated nuclear receptors can be divided into two general families, each of which contain multiple subfamilies. Transcriptional coactivators harboring histone acetyl transferase (HAT) activity include p300/CBP (171-174), P/CAF (175-177), and the **p160** family of proteins: SRC-1/ NCoA-1 (167, 173, 178), TIF2/GRIP1/NCoA-2/ SRC-2 (167, 179, 180), and RAC3/AIB1/PCIP/ ACTRISRC-3 (167, 181–183). By covalent modification (acetylation) and subsequent decondensation of chromatin, transcriptional coactivators possessing HAT activity are believed to enhance the access of the RNA polymerase II (Pol II) complex to the template (184). In addition to interacting with activated nuclear receptors, p160 and p300/CBP proteins interact with each other and the latter interact with **P/CAF** (175–177). Recently, a family of **histone** arginine methyltransferases has been identified that interact specifically with **p160** family members (185,1861, suggesting that the multi-protein, chromatin-modifying machinery assembled on the promoter of target genes is large and complex.

Interaction of the HAT coactivator complex with the ligand-activated receptors is apparently transient as dissociation is believed to occur as a result of acetylation of one or more coactivators on lysine residues adjacent to the signature **LXXLL** motif (187). Subsequently, the activated receptor presumably recruits a second class of multi-protein, transcriptional coactivator complexes to the template, and this latter complex, referred to as the thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein (**TRAP**)

complex, seems to be similar to the SRB- and MED-containing cofactor (SMCC), vitamin D receptor-interacting protein (DRIP) and the yeast Mediator (188, 189) complexes. Because the TRAP or TRAP-like complexes harbor components of the Pol II machinery and/or recruit the Pol II complex to the template, formation of the transcriptional preinitiation complex and subsequent transcription are facilitated (190, 191). It should be noted that these later steps of **RAR**·**RXR**-mediated transcriptional activation appear to require the recruitment of another protein complex to the template, the SWI/SNF complex, which seems to be facilitated by the presence of activated receptors, either by direct interaction or interaction of the SWI/SNF complex with acetylated histones (151, 192). SWI/SNF, which also harbors an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activity, seems to function by displacing **histones** in the promoter region of the target gene, thus, facilitating tight binding of the basal transcription factors to the template—a prerequisite for formation of the preinitiation complex and transcriptoinal initiation (192).

In summary, transcriptional activation mediated by **RAR·RXR** complexes is a complex, multistep process that is not entirely understood at the molecular level. However, it is clear that agonist-induced, **RAR·RXR confor**mational change, which is crucial for dissociation of the corepressor complex and induction of a receptor conformation that facilitates interaction of the receptor with two distinct classes of coactivator proteins, the HAT and TRAP proteins, plays a central role in the signaling pathways of **RAR·RXR** complexes leading to transcriptional activation.

7.5 "Ligand-Independent" Transcriptional Activation, AF1, of RARs and RXRs

The amino terminal of **RARs** and **RXRs** harbor what is known as a ligand-independent transcriptional activation function (Fig. 7.20). **AF1** cooperates and synergizes with AF2, the ligand-dependent transcriptional activation function formed by the juxtaposition of helices within the LBD (see above) (106, 150, 193). However, **AF1** of retinoid receptors was defined in artificial systems (by fusing this region to a heterologous DNA binding domains) and may not represent real life. Clearly, AF1s contribute to the global activation potential of **retinoid** receptor heterodimeric complexes, yet the transcriptional activation activity of these complexes is dependent on ligand, rendering the "ligand-independent" activity of AF1 entirely dependent on ligand in *vivo* (142), as has been described for other nuclear receptors (194).

8 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The present and future efforts of medicinal chemists in the development of novel **retinoid** compounds are discussed in this section. This body of work should ultimately lead to receptor and receptor subtype–selective agonists and antagonists and novel compounds that block proliferative signaling processes.

8.1 Receptor- and Receptor Subtype–Selective Retinoids

As discussed in a previous section, the systemic and topical toxicity, as well as the **ter**atogenicity of retinoids, limits the clinical usefulness of these compounds. The general opinion of both basic scientists and clinicians is that these toxicities may be mitigated by the development of receptor subtype–selective retinoids. Although this may ultimately be proven to be true, there is currently little factual basis for this opinion, at least with respect to the RAR subtypes, because it has been quite difficult to separate clinical efficacy from toxicity. Nonetheless, this remains a noble goal in the continued development of receptor subtype–selective retinoids.

Of the seven retinoids currently approved by the FDA for clinical use, all are agonists, and most (adapalene, acitretin, isotretinoin, tazarotene, and tretinoin; see Table 7.1) are selective **RAR** agonists. Of these compounds, adapalene and tazarotenic acid (the active form of the pro-drug tazarotene) are selective agonists for **RAR** β and **RAR** γ , (195–197), whereas the other compounds activate all RAR subtypes with roughly similar potencies. Alitretinoin (9-cis-retinoic acid) is a **pan-ago**nist that activates all RAR and RXR subtypes and bexarotene is a selective, **RXR ago**nist that harbors some **RAR** agonist activity (198–200).

Receptor	LBD Helix 3	LBD Helix 5	LBD Helix 11
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{R}\alpha\\ \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{R}\beta\\ \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{R}\gamma\end{array}$	Ser ²³² Ala ²²⁵ Ala ²³⁴	$\begin{matrix} \text{Ile}^{270} \\ \text{Ile}^{263} \\ \text{Met}^{272} \end{matrix}$	Val ³⁹⁵ Val ³⁹⁸ Ala ³⁹⁷

Table 7.5Discriminatory Amino Acids in the Ligand Binding Pocketsof RAR Family Members

These amino acids, which are positioned within the ligand binding pocket of the indicated RARs, likely confer ligand specificity.

The LBDs of RAR α , β , and γ are highly related (Fig. 7.16). Moreover, there are only three divergent amino acid residues in the ligand binding pockets of the RAR subtypes (Table 7.5) (201), rendering the development of RAR subtype-selective ligands a challenging endeavor. Nonetheless, substantial progress has been made by several groups in the design of RAR subtype-selective agonists (Fig. 7.23). Until recently, these efforts were made largely by empiricism, and in some cases, based on molecular modeling algorithms. However, medicinal chemists may now use the knowledge of the three-dimensional structures of the RAR and RXR ligand binding pockets in the development of receptor subtype-selective retinoids, and this will forever transform rational, retinoid drug design.

Many of the known RAR subtype-selective ligands described below contact one or more of the three discriminatory amino acids that line the ligand binding pocket of the corresponding receptor. For example, Moras and colleagues found that Met²⁷² of RARy adopts different ligand-induced conformations depending on the presence of a hydrogen bond between its sulfur atom and the corresponding ligand (146). Similar discriminatory mechanisms seem likely for other RARs rendering the future development of **RAR** subtype-selective agonists possible.

AM80 and AM580 (Fig. 7.23) are prototypic compounds that activate RAR α at concentrations roughly 10- to 100-fold lower than those required for activation of either RAR β or RARy (202). In general, however, it has been more difficult to separate RAR β from RARy agonism even though these receptors differ in two of the three discriminatory amino acids that line their respective ligand binding pockets (Table 7.5). Two somewhat RAR β -selective compounds have been reported, CD417 and CD2019 (203), but the degree of RAR β selectivity reported for these compounds is not overwhelming. As RARy is highly expressed in skin and is thought to mediate many of the therapeutic effects of topical retinoids in the treatment of dermatological disorders, such as psoriasis and acne, several RAR γ -selective agonists have been developed including SR11254 (204), CD437 (203,2051, BMS184394 (203, 206, 207), and CD666 (203). The structures of all of these receptor subtype–selective compounds are shown in Fig. 7.23.

Antagonists of RARs have been developed, and the prototype of these compounds is the **RAR**α-selective Ro41-5253 (Fig. 7.24) (208). In addition, other novel **RAR** antagonists have been developed (209,210). The clinical usefulness of these compounds is presently unknown, but RAR antagonists have proven to be very useful as tools for the dissection of the retinoic acid signaling pathways in both cells (201) and in animals (211). One may envision that these receptors may work in one of two mutually exclusive mechanisms. Firstly, the antagonists may simply occupy the ligand binding pocket and thereby compete with endogenous agonists (trans- or 9-cis-RA, for example). In this case, the antagonist would effectively lock the receptor in the apo-form that is associated with transcriptional corepressor proteins such as **NCoR** and SMRT (see above). Alternatively, **RAR** antagonists may induce repositioning of receptor helix 12 away from the surface of the protein generating a novel conformation of the receptor. In this case, helix 12 would be unable to contribute to formation of the shallow hydrophobic groove that is required for interaction with the LXXLL motif of transcriptional coactivators (see above). This mode of action would be consistent with crystallographic studies that revealed that the binding of the retinoid antagonist BMS614 to







AGN193109

Figure 7.24. RAR antagonist and inverse agonist.

the **RAR** α LBD results in the repositioning of helix 12 into the "antagonist" conformation (140) similar to that of estrogen receptor (ER)- β bound by the antiestrogen raloxifene (212) or the partial agoinst genistein (213) and **ER** α bound by the antiestrogen tamoxifen (214). In these examples, binding of antagonists (or the partial agonist genistein) causes juxtapositioning and subsequent interaction of helix 12 with structural motifs in helices 3 and 4 that contribute to the coactivator interaction interface. In contrast to the agonistbound form of the receptors, however, the antagonist-induced repositioning of helix 12 does not enhance interaction of the receptors with any of the known transcriptional coactivator proteins possessing LXXLL motifs.

Chandraratna and colleagues at Allergan have developed a novel class of compounds possessing pharmacological properties that are distinct from both agonists and antagonists. The prototypic compound in this class is AGN193109 (215,216) (Fig. 7.24). In contrast to classical agonists that induce dissociation of RAR·NCoR complexes, AGN193109 increases the affinity of the receptor for this corepressor (215, 216), and as such, is known *as* an *inverse agonist*. Although AGN193109 is selective for RAR γ , the property of inverse agonism, and therefore, the development of inverse agonists, is conceptually possible for other receptor subtypes. As is the case for antagonists, however, the clinical usefulness of such compounds is presently unknown. Nonetheless, compounds such as inverse agonists and antagonists are great tools that allow **retinoid** biologists to dissect the **retinoid** signaling pathways in various contexts.

Whereas it has been relatively straightforward to develop compounds that discriminate between **RARs** and **RXRs** using, for example, *trans-RA* as the prototypic pharmacophore that is specific for RAR subtypes, the development of RXR-selective compounds has also progressed as a result of the synthetic efforts of a number of medicinal chemists. RXR-selective retinoids (Fig. 7.25) include bexarotene (198, 199), SR11237 (217), SR11246 (200, 204), LGD100268 (199), and SR11345 (M. Dawson, X.-K. Zhang, and M. Leid, unpublished data, 2000). The degree of RXR subtype-selectivity of these compounds is unknown.

One major obstacle for the development of **RXR** subtype-selective compounds is that the amino acid residues lining the ligand binding pockets of **RXR** α , β , and y are identical (143). However, these **RXR** subtypes do harbor differences in so-called "second layer residues," those amino acids that do not contact the ligand directly, but nonetheless must undergo side chain conformational alterations to accommodate ligand in the binding pocket (143, 146). Thus, it is conceivable that substitutions in second layer residues of RXR subtypes may be exploited in the development of **RXR** subtype-selective ligands.

8.2 "Gene-Specific" Retinoids

Heterodimeric **RAR**·**RXR** complexes bind to and regulate target gene transcription from **DR1-**, DR2-, and DR5-type response elements (see previous sections). Thus, it is conceivable that retinoids could be developed that would selectively activate a **RAR**·**RXR** complex bound to a DR5 RARE, for example, but not the same complex bound to either **DR1** or DR2 **RAREs**, or other, unknown response elements. It has been suggested that such a phenomenon may be caused by the existence of alternative conformations of the **RAR**·**RXR** heterodimeric complexes bound to these **dif**-



Figure 7.25. RXR-selective agonists.

ferently spaced response elements, differing promoter contexts, or both (218). Although this is an appealing idea in principle and some evidence derived from artificial systems has been provided to support this concept, convincing data are lacking. Nonetheless, as more information becomes available regarding the structure of heterodimeric complexes bound to differently spaced response elements and the mechanisms underlying **RAR**·**RXR**-**medi**- ated transcriptional activation, it may be conceivable that so-call "gene-specific" retinoids could be developed.

8.3 Anti-AP1 Activity of Retinoids

Ligand-activated **RAR**·**RXR** complexes antagonize transcriptional activation mediated by the proto-oncogene transcription factor complex known as **AP1**, and the converse is also true. AP1 antagonizes RAR RXR-mediated transcriptional activation (173, 219). Activation of **RARs** by classical **retinoid** receptor agonists, such as trans-RA, results in two events, activation of transcription mediated by **RAR** RXR complexes and antagonism of **AP1-mediated** transcriptional activation that may be mediated by **RAR**·**RXR** or **RAR** alone (220–223). As AP1 is classically associated with cellular proliferation and inflammatory responses, retinoid receptor-mediated antagonism of **AP1-mediated** transcriptional activation could be exploited therapeutically in the treatment of proliferative diseases and inflammatory diseases such as arthritis. The Dawson group was the first to develop so-called anti-**AP1** retinoids, the prototypes of which are SR11238 (Fig. 7.26) and SR11302 (219), which do not modulate the transcriptional activation function of any of the known **RARs** or **RXRs**. The molecular basis of action of compounds such as SR11238 is unknown, but two mechanisms have been proposed to account for this form of transcriptional interference: (1)competition between **retinoid** receptors and **AP1** for a common transcriptional coactivator, such as CBP (173), and (2) retinoid receptormediated inhibition of AP1 assembly (223). Clearly, development of useful and selective retinoids that induce the receptors to inhibit **AP1-mediated** transcriptional activation without affecting the transcriptional activation



Figure 7.26. Anti-AP1 retinoid, SR11238.
function of the receptors remains an important goal in the **retinoid** field.

8.4 CD437: An Atypical Retinoid

CD437, 6-[3-(1-adamantyl)-4-hydroxyphenyl]-2-naphthalenecarboxylicacid (AHPN; see Fig. 7.23), was originally described as a selective, **RAR** γ agonist that may be useful in the treatment of retinoid-sensitive dermatological conditions (203, 205). However, more recently, Fontana and colleagues have discovered that this retinoid induces cell cycle arrest and subsequent apoptosis in a number of cancer cell lines (224–232) through a mechanism that does not seem to involve any of the known RAR or RXR subtypes (229). CD437/AHPN even induces growth arrest and apoptosis in cancer cell lines that are resistant to growth inhibition induced by classical retinoids such as trans-RA (229). Neither the putative receptor for CD437 nor the pro-apoptotic mechanism have been identified.

Again, however, the toxicity of **CD437**/ AHPN is a problem in a clinical sense, and this toxicity seems likely to result from activation of **RARs**. Thus, substantial efforts have been devoted to the development of **CD437**/AHPNlike compounds that maintain pro-apoptotic activity with reduced ability to activate classical **retinoid** receptors. The first such compound is **MM11453**, the 3-chloro analogue of AHPN (232). **MM11453** was found to inhibit the growth of both retinoid-resistant and **ret**inoid-sensitive cancer cell lines with equal potency (232). It is highly likely the additional compounds like **MM11453** will be developed for the treatment of proliferative disorders.

8.5 Novel Uses for RXR-Active Compounds

As described above, RXR heterodimerizes with several other members of the nuclear receptors family. This implies that RXR, through these diverse, heterodimeric interactions, may regulate the expression of a very large number of genes. However, RXR does not seem to be competent to active transcription in the context of VDR·RXR, TR·RXR, or RAR·RXR complexes bound to DR3-, DR4-, or DR5-type response elements, respectively (135,233). In the case of RAR·RXR complexes (234, 235) and probably also TR·RXR complexes (236), RXR can activate transcription if the other subunit of the heterodimer is bound by either agonists (235, 236) or an antagonist (234). This finding suggests that the RXR heterodimeric partner allosterically regulates the function of the RXR LBD and is known as the 'RXR subordination'' model (210) in that RXR is dependent on (subordinate to) activation of the its heterodimer partner for its own activation.

In other heterodimeric contexts, known as "permissive heterodirners," **RXR** is able to activate transcription. The most important of these in a clinical sense are probably **RXR**·**PPAR** (237–239) and **RXR**·**LXR** (240) heterodimers. The ability of **RXR** agonists to activate RXR PPARy heterodimers is extremely important in the treatment of type Π diabetes (non-insulin dependent diabetes), a disease of epidemic proportions in the United States and worldwide. For example, thiazolidinedione antidiabetic drugs are becoming increasingly used in the treatment of type II diabetes. These drugs are **PPAR** γ agonists that activate $RXR \cdot PPAR\gamma$ heterodimeric complexes that, in turn, regulate the expression of genes encoding proteins that improve glucose tolerance by enhancing the cellular sensitivity to insulin. Administration of RXR agonists to diabetic and obese mice also improves glucose tolerance, and the co-administration of RXR agonists with a thiazolidinedione results in synergistic improvements in several diabetic parameters (241, 242). Interestingly, subsets of highly insulin-resistant patients harbor a mutation(s) in the PPARy locus that renders these patients resistant to thiazolidinedione therapy, yet these patients remain sensitive to the glucose-lowering effects of **RXR** agonists (237). Thus, the continued development of RXR-selective ligands for the treatment of type II diabetes, as monotherapy or in conjunction with thiazolidinediones, will certainly be pursued in the future.

Another interesting application for RXRselective agents may be in the treatment of hypercholesterolemia. Mangelsdorf and colleagues have recently discovered that the RXR agonist LG100268, acting through RXR·LXR heterodimeric complexes, transcriptionally induces the expression of the gene encoding the ABC1 protein, which mediates reverse cholesterol transport (240). In intestinal cells, this protein transports cholesterol into the lumen of the intestine, effectively reducing cholesterol uptake by the cell and ultimately lowering blood cholesterol levels. In the case of RXR agonists, this effect is amplified because RXR agonists (rexinoids) also decrease bile acid secretion through the activation of RXR·FXR heterodimeric complexes (243,244) (Table 7.4). Because bile acids are important vehicles for cholesterol dissolution and generally promote cholesterol absorption in the gut, the effect of RXR-mediated induction of ABC1 expression has an even more dramatic effect on serum cholesterol levels. In addition, the ABC1 protein mediates cholesterol efflux from macrophages that contribute to atherosclerotic processes (240). The development of additional RXR-selective ligands will clearly be at the forefront of retinoid biology in the future. However, there are problems with rexinoid therapy, including disruptions in triglyceride levels and possibly obesity, the latter of which is controlled, at least in part by RXR PPARy complexes (245, 246). Additionally, systemic administration of & RXR agonist has been associated with reversible, central hypothyroidism, most likely by activation of a TR RXR heterodimeric complex that represses thyrotropin secretion (236).

8.6 Summary and Perspective

Retinoids, vitamin A derivatives, play essential roles throughout organismal life. Although the mechanisms underlying the pleiotropic effects of retinoids are not completely understood at the mechanistic or cellular level, naturally occurring retinoids and synthetic derivatives are being increasing used in clinical medicine. The past 5 years have seen a dramatic increase in the use of retinoids to treat a variety of diseases. In addition, several new uses of retinoids are presently being investigated. The next 5 years will likely see increased development of rexinoids, RXR- and **RXR** subtype-selective compounds to treat a variety of diseases that were not previously thought to be responsive to retinoid therapy. Now more than ever, **retinoid** chemistry is poised to make substantial contributions to human health through the design and synthesis of novel compounds that act at both RARs and RXRs.

REFERENCES

- 1. P. Chambon, FASEB J., 10,940-954 (1996).
- 2. S. B. Wolbach and P. R. Howe, J.Exp. Med., 42, 753-777 (1925).
- S. B. Wolbach, and P. R. Howe, J. Exp. Med., 57, 511–526 (1933).
- 4. J.L. Napoli and K. R. Race, *J.* Biol. Chem., 263, 17372–17377 (1988).
- S. H. Schwartz, B. C. Tan, D. A. Gage, J. A. Zeevaart, and D. R. McCarty, Science, 276, 1872–1874 (1997).
- X. Qin and J. A. Zeevaart, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96,15354–15361 (1999).
- J. von Lintig and K. Vogt, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 11915–11920 (2000).
- J. von Lintig, A. Dreher, C. Kiefer, M. F. Wernet, and K. Vogt, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98,1130–1135 (2001).
- A. Wyss, G. Wirtz, W. Woggon, R. Brugger, M. Wyss, A. Friedlein, H. Bachmann, and W. Hunziker, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 271, 334–336 (2000).
- J. Paik, A. During, E. H. Harrison, C. L. Mendelsohn, K. Lai, and W. S. Blaner, J. Biol. Chem., 276,32160-32168 (2001).
- T. M. Redmond, S. Gentleman, T. Duncan, S. Yu, B. Wiggert, E. Gantt, and F. X. Cunning-ham Jr., J. Biol. Chem., 276, 6560-6565 (2001).
- C. Kiefer, S. Hessel, J. M. Lampert, K. Vogt, M. O. Lederer, D. E. Breithaupt, and J. von Lintig, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 14110-14116 (2001).
- X. D. Wang, R. M. Russell, C. Liu, F. Stickel, D. E. Smith, and N. I. Krinsky, J. Biol. Chem., 271,26490-26498 (1996).
- J. L. Napoli, Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 1440, 139–162 (1999).
- W. S. Blaner, J. L. Dixon, H. Moriwaki, R. A. Martino, O. Stein, Y. Stein, and D. S. Goodman,. Eur. J. Biochem., 164,301–307 (1987).
- W. S. Blaner, M. Galdieri, and D. S. Goodman,. Biol. *Reprod.*, 36, 130–137 (1987).
- R. Blomhoff, M. Rasmussen, A. Nilsson, K. R. Norum, T. Berg, W. S. Blaner, M. Kato, J. R. Mertz, D. S. Goodman, and U. Eriksson, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 260, 13560–13565 (1985).
- 18. N. Noy, Biochem. J., 348, 481-495 (2000).

- L. Quadro, W. S. Blaner, D. J. Salchow, S. Vogel, R. Piantedosi, P. Gouras, S. Freeman, M. P. Cosma, V. Colantuoni, and M. E. Gottesman, *Embo.* J., 18,4633-4644 (1999).
- C. O. Bavik, F. Levy, U. Hellman, C. Wernstedt, and U. Eriksson, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 20540–20546 (1993).
- 21. C. O. Bavik, C. Busch, and U. Eriksson, J. Biol. Chem., 267,23035-23042(1992).
- J. K. McBee, K. Palczewski, W. Baehr, and D. R. Pepperberg, *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, 20, 469–529 (2001).
- 23. G. L. Fain, H. R. Matthews, M. C. Cornwall, and Y. Koutalos, *Physiol. Rev.*, 81, 117–151 (2001).
- 24. G. Duester, *Biochemistry*, 35, 12221-12227 (1996).
- 25. S. W. Cowan, M. E. Newcomer, and T. A. Jones, *J. Mol. Biol.*, 230, 1225–1246 (1993).
- 26. K. Niederreither, P. McCaffery, U. C. Drager,
 P. Chambon, and P. Dolle, *Mech. Dev.*, 62, 67–78 (1997).
- 27. V. Sapin, S. J. Ward, S. Bronner, P. Chambon, and P. Dolle, *Dev. Dyn.*, 208,199–210 (1997).
- R. Romand, E. Albuisson, K. Niederreither, V. Fraulob, P. Chambon, and P. Dolle, *Mech. Dev.*, 106, 185–189 (2001).
- 29. K. Niederreither, J. Vermot, N. Messaddeq, B. Schuhbaur, P. Chambon, and P. Dolle, *Development*, 128,1019–1031 (2001).
- F. A. Mic, A. Molotkov, X. Fan, A. E. Cuenca, and G. Duester, *Mech. Dev.*, 97, 227-230 (2000).
- H. Li, E. Wagner, P. McCaffery, D. Smith, A. Andreadis, and U. C. Drager, *Mech. Dev.*, 95, 283–289 (2000).
- A. A. Levin, L. J. Sturzenbecker, S. Kazmer, T. Bosakowski, C. Huselton, G. Allenby, J. Speck, C. Kratzeisen, M. Rosenberger, and A. Lovey, *Nature*, 355,359–361 (1992).
- G. Allenby, R. Janocha, S. Kazmer, J. Speck, J. F. Grippo, and A. A. Levin, J. Biol. Chem., 269,16689-16695 (1994).
- B. F. Tate, G. Allenby, R. Janocha, S. Kazmer, J.Speck, L. J.Sturzenbecker, P. Abarzua, A. A. Levin, and J. F. Grippo, *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 14, 2323–2330 (1994).
- 35. R. A. Heyman, D. J. Mangelsdorf, J. A. Dyck,
 R. B. Stein, G. Eichele, R. M. Evans, and C. Thaller, *Cell*, 68, 397–406 (1992).
- J. Urbach and R. R. Rando, FEBS Lett., 351, 429-432 (1994).
- 37. J. Urbach and R. R. Rando, *Biochem. J.*, 299, 459–465 (1994).

- **38.** M. Leid, P. Kastner, and P. Chambon, *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, **17**, **427–433** (1992).
- **39.** M. Lin and J. L. Napoli, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 275, 40106–40112 (2000).
- 40. S. Kitareewan, L. T. Burka, K. B. Tomer, C. E. Parker, L. J. Deterding, R. D. Stevens, B. M. Forman, D. E. Mais, R. A. Heyman, T. McMorris, and C. Weinberger, *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 7, 1153-1166 (1996).
- **41.** A. M. de Urquiza, S. Liu, M. Sjoberg, R. H. Zetterstrom, W. Griffiths, J. Sjovall, and T. Perlmann, *Science*, **290**,**2140**–**2144**(**2000**).
- **42.** C. Thaller, and G. Eichele, *Nature*, **345**, 815–819 (1990).
- 43. R. K. Randolph and M. Simon, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 268,9198–9205 (1993).
- 44. J. Buck, G. Ritter, L. Dannecker, V. Katta, S. L. Cohen, B. T. Chait, and U. Hammerling, J. *Exp. Med.*, 171, 1613–1624 (1990).
- 45. A. Garbe, J. Buck, and U. Hammerling, J. Exp. Med., 176, 109–117 (1992).
- 46. B. Hoyos, A. Imam, R. Chua, C. Swenson, G. X. Tong, E. Levi, N. Noy, and U. Hammerling, J. *Exp. Med.*, 192, 835–845 (2000).
- 47. A. Imam, B. Hoyos, C. Swenson, E. Levi, R. Chua, E. Viriya, and U. Hammerling, *FASEB* J., 15, 28–30 (2001).
- 48. J. Buck, F. Grun, F. Derguini, Y. Chen, S. Kimura, N. Noy, and U. Hammerling, *J. Exp. Med.*, 178, 675–680 (1993).
- 49. S. Pakhomova, M. Kobayashi, J. Buck, and M. E. Newcomer, *Nat. Struct. Biol.*, 8,447-451 (2001).
- 50. E. Vakiani, J. G. Luz, and J. Buck, J. Biol. Chem., 273,35381-35387 (1998).
- F. Grun, N. Noy, U. Hammerling, and J. Buck, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 16135–16138 (1996).
- **52.** J. F. Boylan and L. J. Gudas, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 267,21486–21491 (1992).
- 53. D. R. de Bruijn, F. Oerlemans, W. Hendriks, E. Baats, R. Ploemacher, B. Wieringa, and A. Geurts van Kessel, *Differentiation*, 58, 141–148 (1994).
- 54. P. Gorry, T. Lufkin, A. Dierich, C. Rochette-Egly, D. Decimo, P. Dolle, M. Mark, B. Durand, and P. Chambon, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 91,9032–9036(1994).
- 55. C. Lampron, C. Rochette-Egly, P. Gorry, P. Dolle, M. Mark, T. Lufkin, M. LeMeur, and P. Chambon, *Development*, 121,539–548 (1995).
- D. Fawcett, P. Pasceri, R. Fraser, M. Colbert, J. Rossant, and V. Giguere, *Development*, 121, 671–679 (1995).

- 57. J. L. Napoli and A. M. McCormick, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 666, 165–175 (1981).
- 58. J. B. Williams and J. L. Napoli, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 82, 4658–4662(1985).
- 59. C. A. Frolik, A. B. Roberts, T. E. Tavela, P. P. Roller, D. L. Newton, and M. B. Sporn, *Biochemistry*, 1979, 2092–2097(1979).
- 60. A. B. Roberts, L. C. Lamb, and M. B. Sporn, *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, 3741380, 374–383 (1980).
- 61. C. A. Frolik, P. P. Roller, A. B. Roberts, and M. B. Sporn, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 255, 8057–8062 (1980).
- 62. J. B. Williams and J. L. Napoli, *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 36,1386–1388(1987).
- 63. J. A. White, B. Beckett-Jones, Y. D. Guo, F. J. Dilworth, J. Bonasoro, G. Jones, and M. Petkovich, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 272, 18538–18541(1997).
- 64. S. Abu-Abed, P. Dolle, D. Metzger, B. Beckett, P. Chambon, and M. Petkovich, *Genes Dev.*, 15, 226–240 (2001).
- **65.** D. R. Nelson, *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, **371**, 345–347 (1999).
- 66. A. J. White, H. Ramshaw, M. Taimi, W. Stangle, A. Zhang, S. Everingham, S. Creighton, S. P. Tam, G. Jones, and M. Petkovich, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 97, 6403–6408 (2000).
- **67. G. MacLean**, S. Abu-Abed, P. Dolle, A. Tahayato, P. Chambon, and M. Petkovich, *Mech. Dev.*, **107**, **195–201** (2001).
- 68. V. M. Samokyszyn, W. E. Gall, G. Zawada, M. A. Freyaldenhoven, G. Chen, P. I. Mackenzie, T. R. Tephly, and A. Radominska-Pandya, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 6908–6914 (2000).
- L. Luu, H. Ramshaw, A. Tahayato, A. Stuart, G. Jones, J. White, and M. Petkovich, Adv. Enzyme Regul., 41, 159–175(2001).
- 70. M. C. Gershengorn and R. Osman, *Endocrinology*, **142**, 2–10 (2001).
- 71. T.Okada, O. P. Ernst, K. Palczewski, and K. P. Hofmann, *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, 26, 318424 (2001).
- 72. J. K. McBee, V. Kuksa, R. Alvarez, A. R. de Lera, O. Prezhdo, F. Haeseleer, I. Sokal, and K. Palczewski, *Biochemistry*, 39, 11370–11380 (2000).
- 73. Y. Wada, T. Abe, H. Sato, and M. Tamai, *Arch. Ophthalmol.*, 119, 1059–1063 (2001).
- 74. A. V. Cideciyan, F. Haeseleer, R. N. Fariss, T. S. Aleman, G. F. Jang, C. L. Verlinde, M. F. Marmor, S. G. Jacobson, and K. Palczewski, *Vis. Neurosci.*, 17,667–678 (2000).

- 75. S. Kuroiwa, T. Kikuchi, and N. Yoshimura, *Am. J. Ophthalmol.*, 130,672–675(2000).
- 76. E. Hirose, Y. Inoue, H. Morimura, N. Okamoto, M. Fukuda, S. Yamamoto, T. Fujikado, and Y. Tano, *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 41, 3933–3935 (2000).
- 77. F. Gonzalez-Fernandez, D. Kurz, Y. Bao, S. Newman, B. P. Conway, J. E. Young, D. P. Han, and S. C. Khani, *Mol. Vis.*, 5, 41 (1999).
- 78. H. Yamamoto, A. Simon, U. Eriksson, E. Harris, E. L. Berson, and T. P. Dryja, *Nat. Genet.*, 22,188–191(1999).
- 79. S. Bernal, M. Calaf, A. Adan, T. Solans, D. Valverde, C. Ayuso, and M. Baiget, Ophthalmic Genet., 22, 19–25 (2001).
- M. S. Burstedt, K. Forsman-Semb, I. Golovleva, T. Janunger, L. Wachtmeister, and O. Sodgren, Arch. Ophthalmol., 119, 260–267 (2001).
- 81. H. Morimura, E. L. Berson, and T. P. Dryja, *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 40, 1000–1004 (1999).
- 82. M. S. Burstedt, O. Sandgren, G. Holmgren, and K. Forsman-Semb, *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 40, 995–1000(1999).
- 83. N. B. Ghyselinck, C. Bavik, V. Sapin, M. Mark, D. Bonnier, C. Hindelang, A. Dierich, C. B. Nilsson, H. Hakansson, P. Sauvant, V. Azais-Braesco, M. Frasson, S. Picaud, and P. Chambon, *Embo.* J., 18, 4903–4914(1999).
- 84. T. M. Redmond, S. Yu, E. Lee, D. Bok, D. Hamasaki, N. Chen, P. Goletz, J. X. Ma, R. K. Crouch, and K. Pfeifer, *Nat. Genet.*, 20, 344–351 (1998).
- 85. K. Palczewski, T. Kumasaka, T. Hori, C. A. Behnke, H. Motoshima, B. A. Fox, I. Le Trong, D. C. Teller, T. Okada, R. E. Stenkamp, M. Yamamoto, and M. Miyano, *Science*, 289, 739–745 (2000).
- 86. M. Petkovich, N. J. Brand, A. Krust, and P. Chambon, *Nature*, 330, 444–450(1987).
- 87. V. Giguere, E. S. Ong, P. Segui, and R. M. Evans, *Nature*, 330, 624–629(1987).
- N. Brand, M. Petkovich, A. Krust, P. Chambon, H. de The, A. Marchio, P. Tiollais, and A. Dejean, *Nature*, 332, 850–853(1988).
- Benbrook, E. Lernhardt, and M. Pfahl, *Nature*, 333, 669–672(1988).
- 90. A. Zelent, A. Krust, M. Petkovich, P. Kastner, and P. Chambon, *Nature*, 339, 714–717 (1989).
- 91. A. Krust, P. Kastner, M. Petkovich, A. Zelent, and P. Chambon, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 86, 5310–5314 (1989).

- 92. P. Leroy, A. Krust, A. Zelent, C. Mendelsohn, J. M. Garnier, P. Kastner, A. Dierich, and P. Chambon, Embo. J., 10, 59–69 (1991).
- 93. A. Zelent, C. Mendelsohn, P. Kastner, A. Krust, J. M. Garnier, F. Ruffenach, P. Leroy, and P. Chambon, Embo. J.,10, 71–81 (1991).
- 94. P. Kastner, A. Krust, C. Mendelsohn, J. M. Garnier, A. Zelent, P. Leroy, A. Staub, and P. Chambon, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 87, 2700–2704 (1990).
- 95. K. Fleischhauer, O. W. McBride, J. P. DiSanto, K. Ozato, and S. Y. Yang, Hum. Genet., 90, 505-510 (1993).
- 96. P. Dolle, E. Ruberte, P. Kastner, M. Petkovich, C. M. Stoner, L. J. Gudas, and P. Chambon, *Nature*, 342,702–705 (1989).
- 97. P. Dolle, E. Ruberte, P. Leroy, G. Morriss-Kay, and P. Chambon, Development, 110, 1133-1151 (1990).
- **98.** E. Ruberte, **P.** Dolle, P. Chambon, and G. Morriss-Kay, Development, **111**, 45–60 (1991).
- 99. E. Ruberte, P. Dolle, A. Krust, A. Zelent, G. Morriss-Kay, and P. Chambon, Development, 108,213-222 (1990).
- 100. D. J. Mangelsdorf, E. S. Ong, J. A. Dyck, and R. M. Evans, Nature, 345,224–229 (1990).
- 101. H. de The, A. Marchio, P. Tiollais, and A. Dejean, Embo. J., 8,429–433 (1989).
- 102. h. de The, M. M. Vivanco-Ruiz, P. Tiollais, H. Stunnenberg, and A. Dejean, Nature, 343, 177–180 (1990).
- 103. K. Umesono, K. K. Murakami, C. C. Thompson, and R. M. Evans, Cell, 65, 1255–1266 (1991).
- 104. W. C. Smith, H. Nakshatri, P. Leroy, J. Rees, and P. Chambon, Embo. J., 10, 2223–2230 (1991).
- 105. D. J. Mangelsdorf, K. Umesono, S. A. Kliewer, U. Borgmeyer, E. S. Ong, and R. M. Evans, Cell, 66,555-561 (1991).
- **106.** B. Durand, M. Saunders, P. Leroy, M. Leid, and P. Chambon, Cell, **71**, **73–85** (1992).
- 107. M. Boudjelal, R. Taneja, S. Matsubara, P. Bouillet, P. Dolle, and P. Chambon, Genes Dev., 11,2052-2065(1997).
- 108. P. Bouillet, C. Chazaud, M. Oulad-Abdelghani,
 P. Dolle, and P. Chambon, Dev. Dyn., 204, 372–382 (1995).
- **109.** T. Kondo, **N.** Takahashi, and M. Muramatsu, Nucleic Acids Res., **20**, **5729–5735** (1992).
- **110.** G. J. La Rosa and L. J. Gudas, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., **85,329-333 (1988).**

- 111. M. Oulad-Abdelghani, C. Chazaud, P. Bouillet, V. Sapin, P. Chambon, P. and Dolle, Dev. Dyn., 2, 173–183 (1997).
- 112. S. Song and C. H. Siu, FEBS Lett., 256, 51–54 (1989).
- 113. F. Zwartkruis, F. Kruyt, P. T. van der Saag, and F. Meijlink, Exp. Cell Res., 205, 422–425 (1993).
- 114. J. A. White, Y. D. Guo, K. Baetz, B. Beckett-Jones, J. Bonasoro, K. E. Hsu, F. J. Dilworth, G. Jones, and M. Petkovich, J. Biol. Chem., 271,29922–29927 (1996).
- 115. M. Kobayashi, K. Kurihara, and I. Matsuoka, FEBS Lett., 356, 60–65 (1994).
- 116. L. J. Gudas and S. Y. Wang, Prog. Clin. Biol. Res., 226, 181–189 (1986).
- 117. G. W. Vasios, J. D. Gold, M. Petkovich, P. Chambon, and L. J. Gudas, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 86,9099–9103 (1989).
- 118. P. Bouillet, M. Oulad-Abdelghani, S. J. Ward, S. Bronner, P. Chambon, P. and Dolle, Mech. Dev., 58, 141–152 (1996).
- 119. M. Oulad-Abdelghani, C. Chazaud, P. Bouillet, M. G. Mattei, P. Dolle, and P. Chambon, Int. J. Dev. Biol., 42,2332 (1998).
- **120.** B. **D.** Smolich and **J.** Papkoff, Dev. Biol., **166**, **300–310** (**1994**).
- 121. L. Altucci, A. Rossin, W. Raffelsberger, A. Reitmair, C. Chomienne, and H. Gronemeyer, *Nat.* Med., 7,680-686 (2001).
- 122. V. C. Yu, C. Delsert, B. Andersen, J. M. Holloway, O. V. Devary, A. M. Naar, S. Y. Kim, J M. Boutin, C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld, Cell, 67,1251–1266 (1991).
- 123. M. Leid, P. Kastner, R. Lyons, H. Nakshatri, M. Saunders, T. Zacharewski, J.-Y. Chen, A. Staub, J.-M. Garnier, S. Mader, and P. Chambon, Cell, 68,377–395 (1992).
- 124. S. A. Kliewer, K. Umesono, D. J. Mangelsdorf, and R. M. Evans, Nature, 355, 446-449 (1992).
- 125. M. S. Marks, P. L. Hallenbeck, T. Nagata, J. H. Segars, E. Appella, V. M. Nikodem, and K. Ozato, Embo. J.,11, 1419-1435 (1992).
- 126. X. K. Zhang, B. Hoffmann, P. B. Tran, G. Graupner, and M. Pfahl, Nature, 355,441-446 (1992).
- 127. K. Hamada, S. L. Gleason, B. Z. Levi, S. Hirschfeld, E. Appella, and K. Ozato, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 86,8289–8293 (1989).
- 128. D. J. Mangelsdorf, U. Borgmeyer, R. A. Heyman, J. Y. Zhou, E. S. Ong, A. E. Oro, A. Kakizuka, and R. M. Evans, Genes Dev., 6,329–344 (1992).

References

- 129. P. Kastner, M. Mark, N. Ghyselinck, W. Krezel, V. Dupe, J. M. Grondona, and P. Chambon, Development, 124, 313–326 (1997).
- **130.** *B. Blumberg and R. M. Evans, Genes Dev.*, **12**, **3149–3155 (1998).**
- 131. A. Chawla, J. J. Repa, R. M. Evans, and D. J. Mangelsdorf, Science, 294, 1866–1870 (2001).
- 132. T. Perlmann, P. N. Rangarajan, K. Umesono, and R. M. Evans, Genes Dev., 7, 1411–1422 (1993).
- 133. C. Zechel, X.Q. Shen, J.Y. Chen, Z. P. Chen, P. Chambon, and H. Gronemeyer, Embo. J., 13, 1425–1433 (1994).
- **134.** *F. Rastinejad, T. Perlmann, R. M. Evans, and P. B. Sigler, Nature,* **375, 203–211 (1995).**
- 135. R. Kurokawa, J. DiRenzo, M. Boehm, J. Sugarman, B. Gloss, M. G. Rosenfeld, R. A. Heyman, and C. K. Glass, Nature, 371, 528531 (1994).
- **136.** *F. Rastinejad, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.*, **11**, **3338(2001).**
- 137. S. Mader, V. Kumar, H. de Verneuil, and P. Chambon, Nature, **338**, 271–274 (1989).
- 138. K. Umesono and R. M. Evans, Cell, 57, 1139– 1146 (1989).
- 139. W. Bourguet, M. Ruff, P. Chambon, H. Gronemeyer, and D. Moras, Nature, 375, 377–382 (1995).
- 140. W.Bourguet, V. Vivat, J. M. Wurtz, P. Chambon, H. Gronemeyer, and D. Moras, Mol. Cell, 5, 289–298 (2000).
- 141. W. Bourguet, V. Andry, C. Iltis, B. Klaholz, N. Potier, A. Van Dorsselaer, P. Chambon, H. Gronemeyer, and D. Moras, Protein Expr. Purif., 19,284–288(2000).
- 142. W. Bourguet, P. Germain, and H. Gronemeyer, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 21, 381–388 (2000).
- **143.** *P. F. Egea, A. Mitschler, N.* Rochel, *M. Ruff,P. Chambon, and D. Moras, Embo. J.*, **19, 2592–2601 (2000).**
- **144.** *P. F. Egea, B. P. Klaholz, and D. Moras, FEBS Lett.*, **476**, 62–67 (2000).
- 145. B. P. Klaholz, J. P. Renaud, A. Mitschler, C. Zusi, P. Chambon, H. Gronemeyer, and D. Moras, Nat. Struct. Biol., 5, 199–202 (1998).
- **146.** B. P. Klaholz, A. Mitschler, and D. Moras, J. Mol. Biol., **302,155–170(2000)**.
- 147. B. P. Klaholz, A. Mitschler, M. Belema, C. Zusi, and D. Moras, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 6322-6327 (2000).
- 148. J.-P. Renaud, N. Rochel, M. Ruff, V. Vivant, P. Chambon, H. Gronemeyer, and D. Moras, Nature, 378,681–689(1995).

- 149. J.-M. Wurtz, W. Bourguet, J.-P. Renaud, V. Vivat, P. Chambon, D. Moras, and H. Gronemeyer, Nature Struct. Biol., 3, 87–94 (1996).
- 150. S. Nagpal, M. Saunders, P. Kastner, B. Durand, H. Nakshatri, and P. Chambon, Cell, 70, 1007–1019 (1992).
- 151. F. J. Dilworth, C. Fromental-Ramain, K. Yamamoto, and P. Chambon, Mol. Cell., 6, 1049–1058(2000).
- 152. A. J. Horlein, A. M. Naar, T. Heinzel, J. Torchia, B. Gloss, R. Kurokawa, A. Ryan, Y. Kamei, M. Soderstrom, C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld, Nature, 377, 397–403 (1995).
- 153. J. D. Chen and R. M. Evans, Nature, **377**, 454–457 (1995).
- **154.** E. Y. Huang, J. Zhang, E. A. Miska, M. G. Guenther, T. Kouzarides, and M. A. Lazar, Genes Dev., **14**, **45–54** (2000).
- 155. K. Struhl, Genes Dev., 12, 599-606(1998).
- 156. N. R. Bertos, A. H. Wang, and X. J. Yang, Biochem. Cell. Biol., 79, 243–252 (2001).
- 157. J. J. Buggy, M. L. Sideris, P. Mak, D. D. Lorimer, B. McIntosh, and J. M. Clark, Biochem. J., 350, 199–205 (2000).
- 158. I. Van den Wyngaert, W. de Vries, A. Kremer, J. Neefs, P. Verhasselt, W. H. Luyten, and S. U. Kass, FEBS Lett., 478, 77–83 (2000).
- 159. E. Hu, Z. Chen, T. Fredrickson, Y. Zhu, R. Kirkpatrick, G. F. Zhang, K. Johanson, C. M. Sung, R. Liu, and J. Winkler, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 15254–15264 (2000).
- 160. D. D. Fischer, R. Cai, U. Bhatia, F. A. Asselbergs, C. Song, R. Terry, N. Trogani, R. Widmer, P. Atadja, and D. Cohen, J. Biol. Chem., 277,6656-6666(2002).
- 161. A. R. Guardiola and T. P. Yao, J. Biol. Chem., 277, 3350–3356 (2002).
- 162. H. Y. Kao, C. H. Lee, A. Komarov, C. C. Han, and R. M. Evans, J. Biol. Chem., 277, 187–193 (2002).
- **163.** S. Minucci, C. Nervi, F. Lo Coco, and P. G. Pelicci, Oncogene, **20**, 3110–3115 (2001).
- 164. F. F. Ferrara, F. Fazi, A. Bianchini, F. Padula, V. Gelmetti, S. Minucci, M. Mancini, P. G. Pelicci, F. Lo Coco, and C. Nervi, Cancer Res., 61, 2–7 (2001).
- **165.** *D. Moras and H. Gronemeyer, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, **10,384–391(1998).**
- **166.** *D. M. Heery, E.* Kalkhoven, *S. Hoare, and M. G. Parker, Nature,* **387**, 733–736 (1997).
- 167. J. Torchia, D.W. Rose, J. Inostroza, Y. Kamei, S. Westin, C. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld, Nature, 387,677–684(1997).

- 168. B. D. Darimont, R. L. Wagner, J. W. Apriletti, M. R. Stallcup, P. J. Kushner, J. D. Baxter, R. J. Fletterick, and K. R. Yamamoto, *Genes Dev.*, 12, 3343–3356 (1998).
- 169. R. T. Nolte, G. B. Wisely, S. Westin, J. E. Cobb, M. H. Lambert, R. Kurokawa, M. G. Rosenfeld, T. M. Willson, C. K. Glass, and M. V. Milburn, *Nature*, 395, 137–143 (1998).
- 170. S. Westin, R. Kurokawa, R. T. Nolte, G. B. Wisely, E. M. McInerney, D. W. Rose, M. V. Milburn, M. G. Rosenfeld, and C. K. Glass, *Nature*, 395, 199–202 (1998).
- 171. D. Chakravarti, V. J. LaMorte, M. C. Nelson, T. Nakajima, I. G. Schulman, H. Juguilon, M. Montminy, and R. M. Evans, *Nature*, 383, 99– 103 (1996).
- 172. B. Hanstein, R. Eckner, J. DiRenzo, S. Halachmi, H. Liu, B. Searcy, R. Kurokawa, and M. Brown, *PNAS*, 93,11540–11545 (1996).
- 173. Y. Kamei, L. Xu, T. Heinzel, J. Torchia, R. Kurokawa, B. Gloss, S. C. Lin, R. A. Heyman, D. W. Rose, C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld, *Cell*, 85,403-414 (1996).
- 174. T. P. Yao, G. Ku, N. Zhou, R. Scully, and D. M. Livingston, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 10626–10631 (1996).
- 175. X. J. Yang, V. V. Ogryzko, J. Nishikawa, B. H. Howard, and Y. Nakatani, *Nature*, 382, 319–324 (1996).
- 176. V. V. Ogryzko, R. L. Schiltz, V. Russanova, B. H. Howard, and Y. Nakatani, *Cell*, 87, 953– 956 (1996).
- 177. J. C. Blanco, S. Minucci, J. Lu, X. J. Yang, K. K. Walker, H. Chen, R. M. Evans, Y. Nakatani, and K. Ozato, *Genes Dev.*, 12, 1638–1651 (1998).
- **178.** S. A. Onate, S. Y. Tsai, M. J. Tsai, and B. W. O'Malley, *Science*, 270,1354–1357 (1995).
- 179. J. J. Voegel, M. Heine, C. Zechel, P. Chambon, and H. Gronemeyer, *Embo. J.*, 15, 3667–3675 (1996).
- 180. H. Hong, K. Kohli, A. Trivedi, D. L. Johnson, and M. R. Stallcup, *PNAS*, 93, 4948-4952 (1996).
- 181. H. Li, P. J. Gomes, and D. Chen, *PNAS*, 94, 8479–8484 (1997).
- 182. S. L. Anzick, J. Kononen, R. L. Walker, D. O. Azorsa, M. M. Tanner, X.-Y. Guan, G. Sauter, O.-P. Kallioniemi, J. M. Trent, and P. S. Meltzer, *Science*, 277, 965–968 (1997).
- 183. H. Chen, R. J. Lin, R. L. Schiltz, D. Chakravarti, A. Nash, L. Nagy, M. L. Privalsky, Y. Nakatani, and R. M. Evans, *Cell*, 90,569480 (1997).

- **184.** L. Xu, C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld, *Curr. Opin. Gene Dev.*, **9**, **140–147** (**1999**).
- 185. T. Jenuwein and C. D. Allis, *Science*, 293, 1074–1080 (2001).
- 186. Y. Zhang and D. Reinberg, *Genes Dev.*, 16, 2343–2360 (2001).
- **187.** H. Chen, R. J. Lin, W. Xie, D. Wilpitz, and R. M. Evans, *Cell*, **98,675–686** (1999).
- 188. W. Gu, S. Malik, M. Ito, C. X. Yuan, J. D. Fondell, X. Zhang, E. Martinez, J. Qin, and R. G. Roeder, *Mol. Cell*, 3, 97–108 (1999).
- 189. M. Ito, C. X. Yuan, S. Malik, W. Gu, J. D. Fondell, S. Yamamura, Z. Y. Fu, X. Zhang, J. Qin, and R. G. Roeder, *Mol. Cell.*, 3,361–370(1999).
- 190. J. D. Fondell, M. Guermah, S. Malik, and R. G. Roeder, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 96, 1959–1964 (1999).
- 191. M. Ito and R. G. Roeder, *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, 12, 127–134 (2001).
- **192.** F. J. Dilworth and P. Chambon, *Oncogene*, **20**, **3047–3054 (2001).**
- 193. B. Durand, M. Saunders, C. Gaudon, B. Roy, R. Losson, and P. Chambon, *Embo. J.*, 13, 5370–5382 (1994).
- **194.** A. Benecke, P. Chambon, and H. Gronemeyer, *Embo. Rep.*, **1**, **151–157** (2000).
- **195.** S. Michel, A. Jomard, and M. Demarchez, *Br. J. Dermatol.*, **139** (Suppl 52), **3–7** (1998).
- **196.** R. A. Chandraratna, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol., **37, S12–S17 (1997)**.
- 197. R. A. Chandraratna, *Br.* J. *Dermatol.*, 135 (Suppl 49), 18–25 (1996).
- 198. M. F. Boehm, L. Zhang, B. A. Badea, S. K. White, D. E. Mais, E. Berger, C. M. Suto, M. E. Goldman, and R. A. Heyman, J. Med. Chem., 37,2930-2941 (1994).
- 199. M. F. Boehm, L. Zhang, L. Zhi, M. R. McClurg, E. Berger, M. Wagoner, D. E. Mais, C. M. Suto, J. A. Davies, and R. A. Heyman, J. Med. Chem., 38,3146-3155 (1995).
- 200. M. Kizaki, M. I. Dawson, R. Heyman, E. Elster, R. Morosetti, S. Pakkala, D. L. Chen, H. Ueno, W. Chao, M. Morikawa, Y. Ikeda, D. Heber, M. Pfahl, and H. P. Koeffler, *Blood*, 87, 1977–1984 (1996).
- 201. M. Gehin, V. Vivat, J. M. Wurtz, R. Losson, P. Chambon, D. Moras, and H. Gronemeyer, *Chem. Biol.*, 6, 519–529 (1999).
- 202. C. Delescluse, M. T. Cavey, B. Martin, B. Bernard, U. Reichert, J. Maignan, M. Darmon, and B. Shroot, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 40, 556–562 (1991).

References

- 203. B. A. Bernard, J. M. Bernardon, C. Delescluse, B. Martin, M. Lenoir, J. Maignan, B. Charpentier, W. R. Pilgrim, U. Reichert, and B. Shroot, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 186, 977– 983 (1992).
- 204. S. H. Desai, G. Boskovic, L. Eastham, M. Dawson, and R. N. Niles, Biochem. Pharmacol., 59, 1265–1275 (2000).
- 205. B. Martin, J. M. Bernardon, M. T. Cavey, B. Bernard, I, Carlavan, B. Charpentier, W. R. Pilgrim, B. Shroot, and U. Reichert, Skin Pharmacol., 5, 57–65 (1992).
- 206. K. L. Yu, P. Spinazze, J. Ostrowski, S. J. Currier, E. J. Pack, L. Hammer, T. Roalsvig, J. A. Honeyman, D. R. Tortolani, P. R. Reczek, M. M. Mansuri, and J. E. Starrett Jr., J. Med. Chem., 39,2411–2421 (1996).
- 207. P. R. Reczek, J. Ostrowski, K. L. Yu, S. Chen, L. Hammer, T. Roalsvig, J. E. Starrett Jr., J. P. Driscoll, G. Whiting, and P. G. Spinazze, Skin Pharmacol., 8,292–299 (1995).
- 208. C. Apfel, F. Bauer, M. Crettaz, L. Forni, M. Kamber, F. Kaufmann, P. LeMotte, W. Pirson, and M. Klaus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 89, 7129–7133 (1992).
- **20**9. T. Iijima, Y. **Endo**, M. **Tsuji**, E. Kawachi, H. Kagechika, and K. Shudo, Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo), **47,398–404 (1999).**
- 210. V. Vivat, C. Zechel, J. M. Wurtz, W. Bourguet, H. Kagechika, H. Umemiya, K. Shudo, D. Moras, H. Gronemeyer, and P. Chambon, Embo. J.,16,5697–5709 (1997).
- 211. O. Wendling, N. B. Ghyselinck, P. Chambon, and M. Mark, Development, 128, 2031–2038 (2001).
- 212. A.M. Brzozowski, A. C. Pike, Z. Dauter, R. E. Hubbard, T. Bonn, O. Engstrom, L. Ohman, G. L. Greene, J. A. Gustafsson, and M. Carlquist, Nature, 389,753–758 (1997).
- 213. A. C. Pike, A. M. Brzozowski, R. E. Hubbard, T. Bonn, A. Thorsell, O. Engstrom, J. Ljunggren, J. A. Gustafsson, and M. Carlquist, Embo. J., 18,4608-4618 (1999).
- 214. A. K. Shiau, D. Barstad, P. M. Loria, L. Cheng, P. J. Kushner, D. A. Agard, and G. L. Greene, Cell, 95,927–937 (1998).
- 215. E.S. Klein, J. W. Wang, B. Khalifa, S. A. Gavigan, and R. Chandraratna, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 19401–10408 (2000).
- 216. S. M. Thacher, S. Nagpal, E. S. Klein, T. Arefieg, G. Krasinski, D. DiSepio, C. Agarwal, A. Johnson, R. L. Eckert, and R. A. Chandraratna, Cell Growth Differ., 10, 255–262 (1999).

- 217. J. M. Lehmann, L. Jong, A. Fanjul, J. F. Cameron, X. P. Lu, P. Haefner, M. I. Dawson, and M. Pfahl, Science, 258, 1944–1946 (1992).
- 218. N. La Vista-Picard, P. D. Hobbs, M. Pfahl, and M. I. Dawson, Mol. Cell Biol., 16, 4137–4146 (1996).
- 219. A. Fanjul, M. I. Dawson, P. D. Hobbs, L. Jong,
 J. F. Cameron, E. Harlev, G. Graupner, X. P. Lu, and M. Pfahl, Nature, 372,107–111(1994).
- 220. D. DiSepio, M. Sutter, A. T. Johnson, R. A. Chandraratna, and S. Nagpal, Mol. Cell Biol. Res. Commun., 1, 7-13 (1999).
- 221. S. Nagpal, J. Athanikar, and R. A. Chandraratna, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 923–927 (1995).
- 222. R. C. Nicholson, S. Mader, S. Nagpal, M. Leid, C. Rochette-Egly, and P. Chambon, Embo. J., 9,4443-4454 (1990).
- 223. X. F. Zhou, X. Q. Shen, and L. Shemshedini, Mol. Endocrinol., 13, 276–285 (1999).
- 224. Z. M. Shao, M. I. Dawson, X. S. Li, A. K. Rishi, M. S. Sheikh, Q. X. Han, J. V. Ordonez, B. Shroot, and J. A. Fontana, Oncogene, 11, 493– 504 (1995).
- 225. C. K. Hsu, A. K. Rishi, X. S. Li, M. I. Dawson, U. Reichert, B. Shroot, and J. A. Fontana, Exp. Cell Res., 232, 17-24 (1997).
- 226. J. A. Fontana, R. J. Sun, A. K. Rishi, M. I. Dawson, J. V. Ordonez, Y. Zhang, S. H. Tschang, K. Bhalla, Z. Han, J. Wyche, G. Poirer, M. S. Sheikh, B. Shroot, and U. Reichert, Oncol. Res., 10, 313-324 (1998).
- 227. Y. Li, B. Lin, A. Agadir, R. Liu, M. I. Dawson, J. C. Reed, J. A. Fontana, F. Bost, P. D. Hobbs, Y. Zheng, G. Q. Chen, B. Shroot, D. Mercola, and X. K. Zhang, Mol. Cell Biol., 18, 4719–4731 (1998).
- 228. J. Y. Liang, J. A. Fontana, J. N. Rao, J. V. Ordonez, M. I. Dawson, B. Shroot, J. F. Wilber, and P. Feng, Prostate, 38,228–236 (1999).
- 229. J. A. Fontana, M. I. Dawson, M. Leid, A. K. Rishi, Y. Zhang, C. A. Hsu, J. S. Lu, V. J. Peterson, L. Jong, P. Hobbs, W. R. Chao, B. Shroot, and U. Reichert, Int. J. Cancer, 86, 474–479 (2000).
- 230. H. Li, S. K. Kolluri, J. Gu, M. I. Dawson, X. Cao, P. D. Hobbs, B. Lin, G. Chen, J. Lu, F. Lin, Z. Xie, J. A. Fontana, J. C. Reed, and X. Zhang, Science, 289, 1159–1164 (2000).
- 231. Y. Zhang, A. K. Rishi, M. I. Dawson, R. Tschang, L. Farhana, M. Boyanapalli, U. Reichert, B. Shroot, E. C. Van Buren, and J. A. Fontana, Cancer Res., 60,2025-2032(2000).
- 232. M. I. Dawson, P. D. Hobbs, V. J. Peterson, M. Leid, C. W. Lange, K. C. Feng, G. Chen, J. Gu,

H. Li, S. K. Kolluri, X. Zhang, Y. Zhang, and J. A. Fontana, Cancer Res., 61, 4723–4730 (2001).

- 233. R. Kurokawa, M. Soderstrom, A. Horlein, S. Halachmi, M. Brown, M. G. Rosenfeld, and C. K. Glass, Nature, 377, 451-454(1995).
- 234. J. Y. Chen, J. Clifford, C. Zusi, J. Starrett, D. Tortolani, J. Ostrowski, P. R. Reczek, P. Chambon, and H. Gronemeyer, Nature, 382, 819–822 (1996).
- 235. S. Minucci, M. Leid, R. Toyama, J.-P. Saint-Jeannet, V. J. Peterson, V. Horn, J. E. Ishmael, N. Bhattacharyya, A. Dey, I. B. David, and K. Ozato, Mol. Cell. Biol., 17, 644–655 (1997).
- 236. S. I. Sherman, J. Gopal, B. R. Haugen, A. C. Chiu, K. Whaley, P. Nowlakha, and M. Duvic, N. *Engl.* J. Med., 340,1075–1079(1999).
- 237. 1. Barroso, M. Gurnell, V. E. Crowley, M. Agostini, J. W. Schwabe, M. A. Soos, G. L. Maslen, T. D. Williams, H. Lewis, A. J. Schafer, V. K. Chatterjee, and S. O'Rahilly, Nature, 402, 880–883 (1999).
- 238. J. DiRenzo, M. Soderstrom, R. Kurokawa, M.-H. Ogliastro, M. Ricote, S. Ingrey, A. Horlein, M. G. Rosenfeld, and C. K. Glass, Mol. Cell. Biol., 17, 2166–2176 (1997).

- **239.** M. Ricote, A. C. Li, T. M. **Willson**, C. J. Kelly, and C. K. Glass, Nature, **391,79–82(1998)**.
- 240. J. J. Repa, S. D. Turley, J. A. Lobaccaro, J. Medina, L. Li, K. Lustig, B. Shan, R. A. Heyman, J. M. Dietschy, and D. J. Mangelsdorf, Science, 289,1524–1529 (2000).
- 241. R. Mukherjee, P. J. Davies, D. L. Crombie,
 E. D. Bischoff, R. M. Cesario, L. Jow, L. G. Hamann, M. F. Boehm, C. E. Mondon, A. M. Nadzan, J. R. Paterniti Jr., and R. A. Heyman, Nature, 386,407–410(1997).
- 242. R. M. Cesario, K. Klausing, H. Razzaghi, D. Crombie, D. Rungta, R. A. Heyman, and D. S. Lala, Mol. Endocrinol., 15,1360–1369 (2001).
- 243. T. T. Lu, M. Makishima, J. J. Repa, K. Schoonjans, T. A. Kerr, J. Auwerx, and D. J. Mangelsdorf, Mol. Cell., 6,507–515(2000).
- 244. M. Makishima, A. Y. Okamoto, J. J. Repa, H. Tu, R. M. Learned, A. Luk, M. V. Hull, K. D. Lustig, D. J. Mangelsdorf, and B. Shan, Science, 284,1362–1365(1999).
- 245. P. Tontonoz, E. Hu, R. A. Graves, A. I. Budavari, and B. M. Spiegelman, Genes Dev., 8, 1224–1234 (1994).
- **246.** P. Tontonoz, **E.** Hu, and B. M. Spiegelman, Cell, **79,1147–1156(1994)**.

CHAPTER EIGHT

Vitamins

JOHN H. BLOCK Oregon State University College of Pharmacy Corvallis, Oregon

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

1 Introduction, 361

- 1.1 What Is a Vitamin?, 361
 - 1.1.1 Vitamins Are Naturally Occurring, 361
 - 1.1.2 Vitamins Are Essential Because They Are Not Produced by Human Biochemical Pathways, 361
 - 1.1.3 Organic, 361
 - 1.1.4 Normal Constituent of the Diet, 362
 - 1.1.5 Vitamins Are Required in Minute Amounts, 362
 - 1.1.6 Vitamins Are Required to Maintain Normal Biochemical Functions of the Tissues, 362
- 1.2 Causes of Vitamin Deficiencies, 362
- 2 Dietary Reference Intakes, 362
 - 2.1 Determination of a Vitamin Dose, 362
 - 2.2 Methods to Determine a Valid Dose
 - of a Vitamin, 362
 - 2.2.1 Extrapolate from Animal Studies, 362
 - 2.2.2 Metabolic Balance Studies in Humans, 363
 - 2.2.3 Compare Nutrient Intake in Areas with and without the Deficiency Disease, 363
 - 2.2.4 Saturation of Biochemical Function, 363
 - 2.2.5 Serum Levels, 363
 - 2.3 Dietary Reference Intakes (**DRIs**) (3, 4), 363 2.3.1 Introduction, 363
 - 2.3.2 How Do the DRIs Differ from RDAs?, 363
 - 2.3.3 Uses of Dietary Reference Intakes, 363
 - 2.3.3.1 Estimated Average
 - Requirement (EAR), 363
 - 2.3.3.2 Recommended Dietary
 - Allowance (RDA), 363
 - 2.3.3.3 Adequate Intake (AI), 368
 - 2.3.3.4 Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL), 368
- 3 Vitamins, 368
 - 3.1 Retinol (Vitamin A) Family (9), 368
 - 3.1.1 Chemistry, 368

- 3.1.2 Uptake and Metabolism (Fig. 8.3), 369
- 3.1.3 Biochemical Functions and Deficiency, 370
- 3.1.4 Dosage Forms, 370
- 3.1.5 Hypervitamininosis A, 370
- 3.1.6 Hypercarotenosis, 371
- 3.1.7 Dietary Reference Intakes (as Retinoic Acid Equivalents), 371
- 3.1.8 Pharmacologically Active Retinoids, 372
 3.1.8.1 Retinoid and Retinoid-like Drugs Used in the Treatment of Acne (Fig. 8.7) (12), 372
 - 3.1.8.2 Drug Based on the **Retinoid** Structure Used to Treat Psoriasis (Fig. **8.8**), 373
 - 3.1.8.3 Retinoids Used in the Treatment of Malignancies (Fig. 8.9), 374
- 3.2 Vitamin D Family (15), 374
 - 3.2.1 Chemistry, 374
 - 3.2.2 Vitamin Uptake and Metabolism, 375
 - 3.2.3 Biochemical Function, 376
 - 3.2.3.1 Calcium Regulation, 376 3.2.3.2 Vitamin D Analogs Used in
 - Chronic Renal Failure, 377
 - 3.2.3.3 Cell Division, 377
 - 3.2.4 Dosage Forms, 379
 - 3.2.5 Hypervitaminosis D, 379
 - 3.2.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 379
 - 3.2.7 Drug Interactions, 379
- 3.3 Vitamin E Family (Tocopherols and Tocotrienols) (**33**), 380
 - 3.3.1 Chemistry, 381
 - 3.3.2 Uptake and Metabolism, 381
 - 3.3.3 Biochemical Function, 383
 - 3.3.4 Deficiencies, 383
 - 3.3.5 Hypervitaminosis E, 384
 - 3.3.6 Dosage Forms, 384
 - 3.3.7 Dietary Reference Intakes (based on d-a-Tocopherol), 384
- 3.4 Vitamin K Family (38), 385
 - 3.4.1 Chemistry, 385
 - 3.4.2 Vitamin K Uptake and Metabolism, 386
 - 3.4.3 Vitamin K Biochemistry and Deficiency, 386
 - 3.4.4 Causes of Vitamin K Deficiency, 387
 - 3.4.5 Hypervitaminosis K, 387
 - 3.4.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 387
- 3.5 Thiamine (Vitamin **B**₁) (43), 387
 - 3.5.1 Chemistry, 388
 - 3.5.2 Uptake and Metabolism, 388
 - 3.5.3 Thiamine Deficiencies, 389
 - 3.5.4 Hypervitaminosis Thiamine, 389
 - 3.5.5 Dietary Reference Intakes, 389
- 3.6 Riboflavin (Vitamin **B**₂) (**46**), 392

- 3.6.1 Chemistry (Fig. 8.28), 392
- 3.6.2 Riboflavin Uptake and Chemistry (Fig. **8.28**), 392
- 3.6.3 Metabolic Role, 392
- 3.6.4 Riboflavin Deficiency, 392
- 3.6.5 Hypervitaminosis Riboflavin, 392
- 3.6.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 392
- 3.7 Niacin (Nicotinic Acid)/Niacinamide (Nicotinamide) (47), 392
 - 3.7.1 Niacin/Niacinamide Chemistry, Uptake and Metabolism, 394
 - 3.7.2 Niacin Deficiency, 394
 - 3.7.3 Hypervitaminosis Niacin, 395
 - 3.7.4 Dietary Reference Intakes, 397
- 3.8 Vitamin B, Family, 397
 - 3.8.1 Uptake and Metabolism, 397
 - 3.8.2 Pyridoxal Phosphate Biochemistry (58), 397
 - 3.8.3 Vitamin B, Deficiency, 398
 - 3.8.4 Vitamin-Drug Interactions (60), 399
 - 3.8.5 Hypervitaminosis Pyridoxine, 400
 - 3.8.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 400
- 3.9 Pantothenic Acid (65), 400
 - 3.9.1 Chemistry, Uptake, and Metabolic Role, 401
 - 3.9.2 Hypervitaminosis Pantothenic Acid, 401
 - 3.9.3 Dietary Reference Intakes, 401
- 3.10 Biotin (66), 402
 - 3.10.1 Uptake, 402
 - 3.10.2 Chemistry, 402
 - 3.10.3 Metabolic Role, 402
 - 3.10.4 Biotin Deficiency, 405
 - 3.10.5 Hypervitaminosis Biotin, 405
 - 3.10.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 405
- 3.11 Folic Acid (67), 405
 - 3.11.1 Chemistry, 405
 - 3.11.2 Uptake, 405
 - 3.11.3 Metabolic Roles, 406
 - 3.11.4 Folic Acid Deficiency, 407
 - 3.11.5 Hypervitaminosis Folic Acid, 411
 - 3.11.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 411
- 3.12 Vitamin B, (Cobalamin) (72), 411
 - 3.12.1 Chemistry, 413
 - 3.12.2 Uptake, 413
 - 3.12.3 Biochemical Role, 413
 - 3.12.4 Cobalmin Deficiency, 415
 - 3.12.5 Hypervitaminosis B_", 415
- 3.12.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 415
- 3.13 Ascorbic Acid (Vitamin C) (77), 415
 - 3.13.1 Chemistry, 415
 - 3.13.2 Uptake, 417
 - 3.13.3 Metabolic Roles, 417
 - 3.13.4 Ascorbic Acid Deficiency, 417
 - 3.13.5 Hypervitaminosis C, 417
 - 3.13.6 Dietary Reference Intakes, 418

1 INTRODUCTION

Vitamins are enjoying renewed popularity with the lay public that, in some ways, mimics the attention seen in the early part of the twentieth century when they were first being discovered. Paralleling the interest by the **general public is** increased focus on the biochemical role of vitamins at the molecular level. Some vitamins can be considered prototypes for pharmacological agents used to treat diseases that do not appear directly related to the patient's vitamin status. Although all animals require vitamins, the discussion in this chapter focuses on humans and human biochemical pathways.

Vitamins are complex biochemically and functionally and may be classified many ways. This chapter acknowledges the traditional solubility model but focuses on functionality. Unfortunately, the loose regulation of nutritional products in the United States has led to misleading promotion of these items to the lay public, such that individuals are confused as to what can be called a vitamin. General criteria for deciding if a substance truly is a vitamin are presented. Another problem is to decide whether a patient actually has a vitamin deficiency. As noted in the next section, this can be a complex question. Finally, deciding how much of a particular vitamin should be consumed has moved from the familiar Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) to four different ways to evaluate vitamin requirements and consumption. These are called the Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs).

1.1 What is a Vitamin?

In general a vitamin must be a naturally occurring, organic molecule that is a normal constituent of the diet. It should be essential and required in only minute amounts. Finally, it is required to maintain normal cellular biochemistry and tissue integrity. Let us examine these in more detail.

1.1.1 Vitamins Are Naturally Occurring. This criterion frequently is misinterpreted. Although the vitamin is a natural product, there is no difference in efficacy between ingesting the all-natural or a synthetic product as long as the natural and synthetic products are identical. This includes stereochemistry. L-Ascorbic acid is twice as active as the racemic D,L-ascorbic acid. A similar statement can be made for D-pantothenic acid and S-biotin relative to their racemic mixtures. The situation for a-tocopherol (vitamin E) with three asymmetric centers is more complex and is discussed in more detail later in this chapter.

1.1.2 Vitamins Are Essential Because They Are Not Produced by Human Biochemical Pathways. With two exceptions, this requirement is obvious. If a compound is required for a biochemical process and our pathways cannot produce it, it must be obtained from exogenous sources. The evolutionary history of the human species is such that we sought out sources in our environment that contained these essential substances, and those substances containing vitamins became our food.

One of the substances commonly treated as a vitamin is niacin, which is synthesized from the essential amino acid tryptophan. The ratio is approximately 60 mg of tryptophan being required to produce 1 mg of niacin (1). This has led to niacin requirements being expressed as niacin equivalents (NE), based on the amount of tryptophan in the diet. It must be kept in mind that tryptophan is essential and is the precursor to the neurotransmitter serotonin in addition to being part of protein structure. Therefore, niacin can be thought of as tryptophan sparing.

The other exception is vitamin D_3 , or cholecalciferol. Assuming adequate sunlight, cholecalciferol is the photochemical product from ultraviolet irradiation of 7-dehydrocholesterol found in our skin. A significant proportion of the world's population produces all of the cholecalciferol it needs from this photochemical reaction. It is true that a **photochemical** reaction is not a biochemical pathway, but exposure to adequate sunlight does fulfill the requirement for cholecalciferol. As noted in the discussion for this particular substance, the compounds commonly referred to as vitamins D_2 and D_3 are not normal constituents of most human diets.

1.1.3 Organic. Trace elements are not properly called vitamins. Therefore, iron, zinc,

magnesium, manganese, chromium, selenium, and the other trace elements that are obviously obtained from food sources are essential, but they are not vitamins.

1.1.4 Normal Constituent of the Diet. With the exception of cholecalciferol, all of the other compounds that we treat as vitamins are normal constituents of our diets, with most found in more than one food group. The situation with cholecalciferol is such that, except for the small part of the world's population that obtains its protein from marine species, neither cholecalciferol nor ergocalciferol from irradiation of the plant sterol ergosterol, is a normal component of foods.

1.1.5 Vitamins Are Required in Minute Amounts. This is arbitrary, but ranges from 2.0 μ g (10⁻⁶ g) for cyanocobalamin to 90 mg for ascorbic acid. Other essential nutrients including the essential amino acids and fatty acids generally are required in larger amounts. For example, the National Research Council's recommended daily intake of amino acids ranges from a low of 245 mg for tryptophan to 980 mg for phenylalanine and tyrosine (combined) and leucine (2). Note that the value for tryptophan provides only about 4 mg of niacin, assuming all 245 mg of tryptophan is converted to niacin.

1.1.6 Vitamins Are Required to Maintain Normal Biochemical Functions of the Tissues. Most vitamins function either as a **hormone**/ chemical messenger (cholecalciferol), structural component in some metabolic process (pantothenic acid), or a coenzyme (**phytonadi**one, thiamine, riboflavin, niacin, pyridoxine, biotin, folic acid, cyanocobalamin). At least one vitamin has more than one biochemical role. Vitamin **A** as an aldehyde (retinal) is a structural component of the visual pigment rhodopsin and, in its acid form (retinoic acid), is a regulator of cell differentiation. The precise biochemical functions of ascorbic acid and a-tocopherol still are not well defined.

1.2 Causes of Vitamin Deficiencies

There are a variety of reasons why a person might be experiencing a vitamin deficiency including economics, genetics, diseased intestinal tract, alcoholism, a variety of medical conditions, lifestyle, and vitamin–drug interactions. Table 8.1 contains a classification scheme for possible causes of vitamin deficiencies.

2 DIETARY REFERENCE INTAKES

2.1 Determination of a Vitamin Dose

This is not easy. Ideally, a dose-response curve could be constructed that would provide defined endpoints such as an ED, or ED, and doses that would cause serious toxicities, the LD_{50} . The problem is defining a biological or pharmacological endpoint. Not all vitamin deficiencies have defined syndromes. Little is known of the pharmacokinetics of individual vitamins. In contrast with most drugs, the body stores vitamins, sometimes several months' supply. This should not be surprising when one examines human history. Until fairly recent times, humans regularly experienced food plenty and food deprivation (famine) as crops failed and animals moved away from settlements. Causes ranged from weather to war. To survive, the evolutionary development of humans includes ways to store and reuse vitamins. Assuming a good diet, humans have a 6- to 9-month supply of vitamin A. Humans efficiently recycle cobalamin (vitamin B,,) by enterohepatic circulation. The intestinal flora produce a precursor to vitamin K.

2.2 Methods to Determine a Valid Dose of a Vitamin

Each of the methods outlined in the following sections has significant problems in determining a dose-response curve for a vitamin. Table 8.2 lists methods that are being used to determine vitamin requirements or are under development as possible procedures.

2.2.1 Extrapolate from Animal Studies. This method is dependent on the species. The vitamin requirements differ among the common laboratory animals. The classic example is ascorbic acid, which is not a vitamin in most animals. Humans do not exhibit specific defi-

2 Dietary Reference Intakes

ciency symptoms for a-tocopherol, biotin, and pantothenic acid, whereas many animals do.

2.2.2 Metabolic Balance Studies in Humans. This usually involves a specified number of days on a defined diet in which the urine and feces are monitored. The problem is that corrections have to be made for the vitamins that are stored. The pharmacokinetics of most vitamins have not been carefully determined.

2.2.3 Compare Nutrient Intake in Areas with and without the Deficiency Disease. First, not all vitamin deficiencies lead to a defined deficiency state. Second, rarely does one find an area deficient in only one nutrient. Most common deficiencies are attributed to inadequate diet, which means several nutrient deficiencies will result.

2.2.4 Saturation of Biochemical Function. A reliable biochemical indicator is required. For niacin, which NAD⁺- or NADP⁺containing enzyme should be selected? Which transaminase will be the indicator for pyridoxine? Which function of vitamin A should be selected for retinol, vision in the rods or cell differentiation? As noted from Table 8.2, many of the assays for vitamin status have significant limitations to estimate reliable doses.

2.2.5 Serum Levels. This probably is the most reliable, but it does require very sensitive assay methods for those vitamins required in microgram (10^{-6}) amounts. It also requires knowledge as to how the vitamin is transported: free or bound to a plasma protein or on a specific transport protein. Examples of the latter are transport proteins for vitamin A and vitamin D. The tocopherols will be found in the lipoproteins (VLDL, LDL, etc.).

2.3 Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) (3, 4)

The adult DRI values for each vitamin are found in the section for that vitamin.

2.3.1 Introduction. The last official set of reference values were the 1989 Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs) for the United States and 1990 Recommended Nutrient In-

takes for Canada. These are being replaced by the Dietary Reference Intakes, a joint effort of the United States and Canada. The DRIs are published by the Food and Nutrition Board of the National Academy of Sciences National Research Council. The expert panels are made up of U.S. and Canadian scientists.

2.3.2 How Do the DRIs Differ from RDAs?. There is one set of reference values for both Canada and the United States and clear documentation on how reference values are selected. A goal is the promotion of nutrient function and biologic-physical well-being. Evidence concerning the prevention of disease and developmental disorders is examined in addition to the traditional "how much nutrient is needed to prevent a deficiency symptom." Data supporting food components that, up to this time, have not been considered essential nutrients will be examined. Finally, there are recommendations for future research.

2.3.3 Uses of Dietary Reference Intakes. The DRIs consist of four components. Each type of reference value is calculated from daily intakes averaged over time (usually one or more weeks). The surveys include, but are not limited to, (1)random selection of healthy individuals and asking them to either report what they have eaten or to maintain food diaries, (2) monitoring overall food production and consumption, and (3) correlating a defined population's health status with the group's food intake. Sometimes the results from the surveys are correlated with the type of assays listed in Table 8.2. The four Dietary Reference Intakes are:

2.3.3.1 Estimated Average Requirement (EAR). The EAR is the intake that meets the estimated nutrient need of 50% of the individuals in that group (i.e., infants, children, adult males, adult females, pregnant women, nursing women, the elderly, etc.). It is used to evaluate the adequacy of nutrient intakes of population groups and for planning intakes for group. It can be used in diet planning. The EAR is based on a median rather than a mean.

2.3.3.2 Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA). The RDA is the intake that meets the nutrient need of almost all (97–98%)individu-

Table 8.1 Causes of Nutrient Deficienci	es
---	----

	Cause	Mechanism/Reason	Remarks
	Inadequate ingestion usually from a poor diet	Economic deprivation	Inability to purchase adequate amounts and variety of food.
364		Self-imposed reducing diets	A 1200 calorie diet professionally selected from the four major food groups (dairy, fruits and vegetables, grains, and meat) containing no fried food nor added sugar has been considered the least amount of food not requiring a vitamin supplement.
		Disease	This usually is attributed to loss of appetite from such conditions as cancer chemotherapy, depression, and eating disorders.
	Inadequate absorption	Diseased intestinal tract	Examples include chronic inflammatory conditions such as Crohn's disease and parasites.
		Mineral oil laxatives, which may dissolve the oil-soluble vitamins	This could include retinol , cholecalciferol/ergocalciferol, a-tocopherol, vitamin K from food.
		Ion exchange resins (colestipol, colestyramine), which complex with the bile salts and can interfere with the absorption of the oil-soluble vitamins	A vitamin supplement can be taken 1 h before or 2 h after taking the resin.
		Aluminum antacids can complex with some of the vitamins and, when used chronically, most definitely can cause hypophosphatemia	Aluminium antacids are no longer commonly used.
		Cystic fibrosis, which <i>can</i> cause fat malabsorption (steatorrhea) attributed to inadequate production of pancreatic lipases	This could include retinol, cholecalciferol/ergocalciferol, a-tocopherol, vitamin K from food, all of which are more readily absorbed when they can be part of a normal mixed micelle process that occurs with lipid digestion and absorption

	Inadequate utilization	Genetic diseases	Examples include variants of maple syrup urine disease (MSUD), which will respond to thiamine (vitamin B_1) supplements, and homocystinuria, which will respond to pyridoxine (vitamin B_6). The mutation lies with apoenzyme such that the equilibrium between the apoenzyme and the coenzyme lies to the left. To push the reaction to the right requires additional coenzyme.
		Drug-vitamin interactions	These <i>can</i> interfere with vitamin processing in the intestinal tract, tie up the vitamin preventing it from being used, or possibly promote elimination of the vitamin. Examples include: isoniazid-pyridoxine , phenobarbital-cholecalciferol, methotrexate-folic acid, phenytoin-folic acid.
	Increased requirements above the recommended daily allowances (RDA)	Reference dietary indices are based on an average population performing average duties. Increased physical activity or medical needs make these people	Individuals performing more strenuous activities requiring additional intake of calories also will require more nutrients including vitamins.
342		statistical outliers beyond the requirements of the "average" healthy population group.	Vitamin and caloric requirements increase for patients experiencing debilitating illness, including severe burns, major surgeries, and malignancies. Nutritional assessments are becoming a more common part of medical treatment.
	Chronic intake of alcohol (alcoholism)	Ethyl alcohol <i>can</i> interfere with the uptake, processing, or storage of vitamins.	The two most common vitamin deficiencies seen in patients chronically consuming alcohol are folic acid and thiamine.

Table 8.2	Methods for H	Estimating	Vitamin	Require	ments

Vitamin	Determination Methodology	Remarks
Retinol (vitaminA)	Dark adaption test Pupillary response test	Considered reasonably sensitive. Data do not exist relating pupillary threshold sensitivity to retinol intake.
	Plasma retinol concentration	Insensitive to liver stores.
	Relative dose response	An initial plasma concentration is determined followed by a second concentration a defined time after administration of a small dose of retinol. The ratio is proportional to the liver stores of retinol.
Calciferol (vitamins D_2 and D_3)	Serum $25(OH)D_2$ or D_3	This is considered a more accurate indicator of vitamins D status as compared to serum vitamins D, or 1,25(OH) ₂ D.
a-Tocopherol (vitamin E)	Lipid peroxidation markers	They are not specific to vitamin E.
-	Plasma a-Tocopherol concentration	It does not seem to correlate with daily intake, but there is a linear relationship seen in tocopherol-depleted subjects.
Vitamin K	Prothrombin time	It is used to assess patients on cournadin anticoagulant therapy, but does not appear to be a reliable measure of vitamin K status in otherwise healthy subjects.
	Factor VII	Even though factor VII only has a 6-h half-life, it does not appear to be reliable.
	Plasma or serum phylloquinone concentration	This does respond to changes in dietary intake within 24 h.
	Urinary γ-carboxyglutamyl residues	This is considered promising.
Thiamine (vitamin B_1)	Erythrocyte transketolase activity	This is considered the most accurate.
	Urinary thiamine excretion	This method also is considered good.
	Erythrocyte thiamine concentration	It is not as widely used.
Riboflavin (vitamin B_2)	Erythrocyte glutathione reductase activity	It is the most common assay.
	Erythrocyte flavin	Some question the sensitivity of this test because the difference between adequacy and inadequacy is small.
	Urinary riboflavin excretion	Care must be exercised with the size of the dose and method of administration.
Niacin/niacinamide	Urinary excretion	N^1 -Methylnicotinamideand N^1 -methyl-2-pyridone-5-carboxamide are the two metabolites that are considered sensitive measures of niacin status.
	Plasma concentration	N^1 -Methyl-2-pyridone-5-carboxamide plasma levels provide an indication of low niacin intake by dropping below detection limits.
	Erythrocyte pyridine nucleotides	Erythrocyte NAD levels may replace measuring metabolites found in the urine.

	Vitamin B ₆ family	Plasma pyridoxal phosphate Erythrocyte and total blood pyridoxal phosphate	It changes slowly in response to changes in vitamin intake. There may be racial differences because of lower kinase activity.
		Urinary pyridoxic acid	It tends to reflect recent vitamin intake rather than general vitamin status.
		Various erythrocyte	Aspartate and alanine transaminases have been studied most extensively.
		transaminases	There is a lack of consensus regarding their usefulness as indicators of vitamin B, status.
		Tryptophan catabolites	Although useful, some of the reactions affected changes in steroid hormone status.
		Plasma homocysteine	See discussion in the vitamin B, section.
	Pantothenic acid	Urinary excretion	It is strongly dependent on intake.
		Blood levels	There is poor correlation with urinary excretion values.
	Biotin	Urinary excretion	There is a correlation with induced deficiencies caused by eating raw egg white.
	Folic acid	Erythrocyte folate	Only the developing erythrocyte takes up folate. Therefore, this test is an indicator of long-term status and not a measure of immediate changes in folate status.
		Plasma homocysteine	There is no question that elevated homocysteine decreases with folate administration. There is not enough information to support its use for determining DRIs .
67		Serum folate	A measure of dietary folate intake, although it is not considered a reliable measure of folate status.
		Urinary folate	This test may underestimate folate needs.
		Hematological status	Characteristic megaloblastic anemia develops late in folic acid deficiency.
	Vitamin \mathbf{B}_{12} (cobalamin)	Hematological response	These are the typical hemoglobin, hematocrit , and erythrocyte counts. Partial responses are of limited values.
		Serum or plasma vitamin B"	A problem is that serum values may be maintained at the expense of tissue stores.
		Methylmalonic acid	Studies need to be done to see whether it will correlate with vitamin \mathbf{B}_{12} status.
		Homocysteine	This can be elevated in folate and vitamin B, deficiencies.
		HolotranscobalaminII	This protein is responsible for receptor-mediated uptake of B, into cells. Further work needs to be done before it is adapted for routine clinical use.
	Ascorbic acid (vitamin C)	Antioxidant functions	A variety of markers have been evaluated including LDL, VLDL, malondialdehyde, hydroxynonenal, and reduced glutathione.
		Cellular DNA damage	These have not proved useful for estimating ascorbate requirements.
		Urinary markers	Oxidized DNA is nonspecific.

als in that group. The RDA are the values found on most vitamin products. They vary depending on whether the product is intended for infants, children, or adults. The **RDAs** can function as a guide to achieve adequate nutrient intake. By themselves, they are not generally recommended for diet planning for specific groups of individuals. Diet planning must take into account extensive physical activity, type of body build including lean vs. adipose tissue, general lifestyle, and so forth. If the sampling and endpoints are well defined, the RDA can be calculated from the EAR.

$$RDA = EAR + 2SD_{EAR}$$

where SD_{EAR} is the standard deviation above the EAR.

2.3.3.3 Adequate Intake (AI). The AI is the average observed or experimentally derived intake by a defined population or subgroup that appears to sustain a defined nutritional state, such as normal circulating nutrient values, growth, or other functional indicators of health. It is derived from mean intakes of groups (rather than individuals). The AI becomes most useful when a reliable EAR is not available. Many times the AI probably exceeds the EAR and possibly the RDA.

2.3.3.4 Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL). The UL is the maximum intake by an individual that is unlikely to pose risks of adverse health effects in almost all (97–98%)individuals. It includes intake of a nutrient from all sources (food, fortified food, water, and **sup**dements). Water can include fluoride and minerals depending on the source of water. "Tolerable" is used to "avoid implying any possible beneficial effect." It is the amount of vitamin that can be "tolerated" without the person's exhibiting or experiencing adverse reactions. The UL should not be considered the upper dose for those who self-dose with megadoses of vitamins.

3 VITAMINS

The order of vitamins in this chapter follows the classical classification-based solubility: fat soluble and water soluble. This classification originated before there was any understandVitamins

ing of the structural chemistry of the vitamins. There was fat-soluble A and water-soluble B. Thiamine was the first vitamin (\mathbf{B}_1) whose structure was elucidated. It is an amine leading to the term vital amine and finally vitamin (without the e). The letter designations, for the most part, are being relegated to history. Many of the vitamins are groups of structures and, therefore, using a single letter can be misleading. Also, the structures occurring naturally in food and commercial preparations may actually be provitamins that have to be converted to the biochemically active form. Unless specified differently, the information in the following summaries is found in the Dietary Reference Intakes, published by the Institute of Medicine (5-8).

3.1 Retinol (Vitamin A) Family (9)

Early work on this vitamin was confusing because similar outcomes were seen with ingestion of "yellow" vegetables and colorless fish liver oils. It finally was shown that carotene (the yellow pigment) extracts from vegetables were converted to colorless retinal. Because the retinoids are discussed in considerably more detail elsewhere, this chapter presents only a cursory overview of their biochemical functions.

3.1.1 Chemistry. The commercial form of vitamin A is all-trans retinol, usually formulated as the acetate or palmitate ester. The active forms are the two oxidation products (Fig. 8.1, (1) retinal, which is a structural component of the visual pigment rhodopsin, and (2) retinoic acid, which is required for cell differentiation. There are specific nuclear receptors for retinoic acid. Although the vitamin is marketed in the all-trans form, retinal and retinoic acid are present, in vivo, in cis forms. There are also commercial forms related to the retinoic acid structure that have cis stereochemistry.

Carotenes are promoted commercially for their antioxidant activity rather than as a source of the retinol group. Nevertheless, the carotenes are the source of the vitamin in yellow vegetables. There are many carotenes, of which three are shown in Fig. 8.2. Only β -carotene is symmetrical (note the dashed line)



Figure 8.1. Retinol chemistry.

and theoretically will produce two equivalents of retinal after the enzyme-catalyzed oxidative cleavage. In reality, more recent studies indicate that vitamin A activity is six times the vitamin A activity derived from β -carotene. The problem is one of capacity in the intestinal nucosa cell to cleave the carotenes. Further, there appears to be regulation of the cleavage of β -carotene. As the stores in the liver reach capacity, there is less conversion of β -carotene being oxidized to retinal. This is one of the reasons that β -carotene nutritional supplements enter the body intact. Further, the bio-availability of β -carotene is significantly lower than that of retinol (10).

3.1.2 Uptake and Metabolism (Fig. 8.3). Both retinol esters, whether from animal tissues or a vitamin supplement, and β -carotene must be incorporated into mixed micelles along with other lipid material. The retinol esters are hydrolyzed by intestinal esterases. Both retinol and β -carotene are then absorbed into the mucosa cell, where β -carotene is oxidatively cleaved to retinal and then reduced to retinol. The retinol, independent of the source, follows the same steps seen with 2-monoglyceride from triglyceride digestion. The retinol is reesterified, usually with palmitic acid, and attached to the chylomicrons along with the other dietary lipids. The chylomicrons first enter the lymph and then move to the circulatory system. The triglycerides are removed from the chylomicrons and deposited in the adipose and skeletal muscle cells, leaving chylomicron remnants, which are transported to the liver where the esterified vitamin is stored (11). Transportation from the liver to tissues where required is done on specific retinol-binding proteins. Humans consuming a balanced diet store several months of retinol esters in their livers.







Figure 8.3. Uptake and metabolism of retinol esters and β -carotene.

3.1.3 Biochemical Functions and Deficiency. Two retinoids, retinoic acid and retinal, appear to have most of the biochemical functions attributed to vitamin A. Retinoic acid is required for cell differentiation and is the ligand for two families of nuclear receptors, $RAR_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ and $\mathbf{RXR}_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$. These receptors are part of a family of superreceptors that include the steroid hormones and cholecalciferol. Vitamin A deficiency can lead to a variety of symptoms depending on the age of the deficient person. The most serious syndrome is keratomalacia, which results in desiccation, ulceration, and **xerophthalmia** of the cornea and conjunctiva. It is one of the leading causes of blindness in infants and children.

Retinoic acid is **required** for the development of goblet mucous cells. A deficiency results in basal cell proliferation **with** increased **keratini**zation of the epithelial **structures**. Mucus is one of the essential physical barriers (part of innate **immunity**) that prevents pathogens from entering the body. Therefore, a **retinol** deficiency increases the risk of infection.

The aldehyde form, retinal, is an essential component of the visual pigment found in the rods of the eye. A very brief outline of the **rho**-dopsin cycle is shown in Fig. 8.4. Retinol is transported from the liver to the eye, where it is converted to 11-cis-retinal. In the rod, the aldehyde forms an enamine (Schiff's base) with a lysine on opsin forming **rhodopsin** (Fig. 8.5). In the presence of light, trans-retinal forms with cleavage of the enamine, **sending** a nerve impulse to the brain along the optic

nerve. In the dark, **11**-*cis*-retinol re-forms followed by oxidation to 11-cis-retinal and the cycle repeats.

A deficiency causes night blindness, which is considered an early symptom of **retinol** deficiency. Night blindness refers to decreased ability to see in very dim light because there is an inadequate amount of retinal in the eye to **fully** "stock" the rods with functional **rhodop**sin. There is some evidence that as **retinol** levels in the liver decrease, the equilibrium favors the movement of **retinol** from the eye back to the liver.

3.1.4 Dosage Forms. Retinol is unstable. It easily dehydrates (Fig. 8.6), forming a stable **carbonium** ion. Therefore, the two most common forms for both oral and **parenteral** administration are the acetate or palmitate esters. With the extensive conjugation **retinol** is light sensitive and subject to oxidation. Therefore, the vitamin formulator must protect the product from light and air.

3.1.5 Hypervitamininosis A. In high doses, **retinol** can be toxic. Acute poisoning is rare and dependent on the dosage form. Nausea and vomiting are the most common symptoms. Most rapidly absorbed are the "clear" emulsions (usually formulated with a Tween or other surfactant). Next in order are the **standard** emulsions, usually produced from fish liver oils. The most slowly absorbed are the dry tablet formulations or an oil solution in a capsule. Chronic hypervitaminosis is

3 Vitamins



Figure 8.4. Outline of the rhodopsin cycle.

more common and is more commonly seen when people consume fish liver oil concentrates. The symptoms are nondescript and include fatigue, malaise, lethargy, abdominal discomfort, bone/joint pain, severe and throbbing headache, insomnia, restlessness, dry and scaly skin, loss of body hair, brittle nails, constipation, and irregular menses, symptoms that might make users conclude that they are vitamin A deficient. Depending on the health of person's liver, there is risk of developing **irr**hosis. There is a daily Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of 3000 μg for this vitamin. The UL to **RDA** ratio is narrow (3–5), relative to that of most vitamins. This is somewhat comparable to vitamins **D**.

3.1.6 Hypercarotenosis. This occurs from **nassive** doses of carotene that exceed the **ca**acity of the mucosa cells to cleave the **mole**acity of the mucosa cells to cleave the **mole**ale to retinal derivatives. The excess carotene ecomes deposited in the body tissues. Except or the yellow or bronze-orange skin, there seem to be no other **symptoms**. The skin coloration slowly disappears when carotene intake stops. **A** commercial form of carotene is indicated for the photosensitivity seen in erythropoietic **porphyria**. Carotene capsules are also sold with the claim that a person can have a tanned appearance without the need of UV radiation. Patients who drink large **amounts** of carrot juice sometimes show signs of **hypercarotenosis**.

3.1.7 Dietary Reference Intakes (as Retinoic Acid Equivalents).

AI

Infants (1-12 months)	400–500 μg/day
EAR	
Children (1–8 years)	210–275 μg/day
Boys (9–18 years)	445–630 μg/day
Girls (9-18 years)	420485 μg/day
Men (19–70 + years)	625 μg/day
Women (19–70-t years)	500 μg/day
Lactating	885–900 μg/day



Figure 8.5. Rhodopsin.

RDA

Children (1–8 years)	300-400 µg/day
Boys (9–18 years)	600–900 μg/day
Girls (9–18 years)	600-700 μg/day
Men	900 μg/day
Women	700 µg/day
Pregnant	750–770 μg/day
Lactating	1200–1300 μg/
-	day

UL

3000 μ g/day for all adults including pregnant women. There is some concern of **teratogenic** effects based on the experience of the retinoids used in therapy.

3.1.8 Pharmacologically Active Retinoids. Because retinol deficiency results in keratinization of epithelial tissue, at one time retinol was recommended for skin conditions including acne. There is no clinical evidence that retinol is effective for skin conditions. Now that it is realized that the active form is retinoic acid, the focus has been on developing pharmacologically active compounds based on this structure. These are divided into treatment of three groups: (1) acne, (2) the autoimmune disease psoriasis, and (3) malignancies.

3.1.8.1 Retinoid and Retinoid-like Drugs Used in the Treatment of Acne (Fig. 8.7) (12). The first product introduced was tretinoin, which is a topical all-trans retinoic acid. Its effectiveness may not be related to any direct retinoid activity, but attributed by its producing a complex response related to increasing



Figure 8.6. Commercial retinol esters.



the turnover of **follicular** epithelial cells. The result is decreased cohesiveness of follicular epithelial cells.

Tretinoin is also used as an antiwrinkle cream. There is disagreement on the mechanism and there may be more than one. Some improvement may be attributable to the irritation the **drug** causes. There is an increase in epidermal cell turnover, shedding older cells and thickening the skin. Also the drug may combine with epidermal retinoic acid receptors, thereby decreasing keratin production. Keratin can contribute to skin wrinkling (13).

Isotretinoin, 13-cis-retinoic acid, is very effective at treating severe forms of acne. It also is very teratogenic. There are elaborate procedures involving the prescribing physician and dispensing pharmacist before a female patient can receive the drug. There is also some concern that the sperm of men using the drug might be affected.

Although used topically, the nonretinoid, adapalene, does bind to the retinoic acid nuclear receptor and does affect cell differentiation, keratinization, and inflammatory responses.

3.1.8.2 Drug Based on the Retinoid Struc*ture Used to Treat Psoriasis (Fig. 8.8).* Etrinate is the ethyl ester of acitretin and is active after hydrolysis to the acidic drug. The "terminal" half-life after 6 months of etrinate therapy is 120 days. In contrast, the "terminal" half-life of acitretin is only 33–96 h. Both drugs are

Figure 8.8. Drug based on the retinoid structure used to treat psoriasis.



Figure 8.9. Retinoids used in the treatment of malignancies.

teratogenic and require elaborate warnings before being prescribed and dispensed. The third drug, tazarotene gel, is administered topically and is indicated for both acne and psoriasis. Although there appears to be minimal absorption if used over a limited skin area, there is some absorption, with retention by the body for up to 3 months. It also can cause fetal damage and cannot be used by pregnant women or women who may become pregnant.

3.1.8.3 Retinoids Used in the Treatment of *Malignancies (Fig. 8.9).* Retinoic acid has been evaluated as a possible treatment for malignancies. This is based on the fact that it is required for proper cell differentiation and products based on the **retinoid** structure are teratogenic. All-trans retinoic acid is used in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia (14). It does not kill the malignant cell, but seems to facilitate the cell's differentiation into a nonproliferating myelocyte. Alitretinoin, 9-cis-retinoic acid, is indicated for Kaposi's sarcoma and is administered topically. It binds to all six retinoic acid receptors.

Bexarotene is most selective for the three $\mathbf{RXR}_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ receptors. It also binds several other nuclear receptors including the RAR, vitamin

D, thyroid, and **peroxisome** proliferator activator receptors, which probably explains its numerous adverse reactions. The drug is indicated for cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and is available as capsules and a topical gel.

3.2 Vitamin D Family (15)

Rickets was first reported in the mid-seventeenth century. It could be lethal, but bone deformation was more common. In the United States, rickets continued to be a problem into the 1930s until vitamin D-fortified milk became common. Older adults show bowlegs characteristic of childhood rickets. There were many attempts at giving calcium and/or phosphorous supplements. Finally, it was realized that rickets was not found in sunny climates, and populations whose main source of protein was fish did not have rickets. In 1924, Professor Henry Steenbock, University of Wisconsin, demonstrated that irradiation of foods, including milk, produced food that was antirachitic (16, 17).

When there is adequate sunlight, no dietary source of the vitamin is required. Indeed, an argument can be made that the calciferols are not normal components of the diet. In the United States. it is added to milk. other dairy products, and dairy substitutes. Fish is about the only natural food source. **Cholecal**ciferol is produced in the body from endogenously **synthesized** 7-dehydrocholecalciferol (Fig. 8.10). Consistent with a hormone model, excess amounts of **cholecalciferol** can result in excess calcium uptake from the intestinal tract, leading to calcification of soft tissues.

3.2.1 Chemistry. There are two forms of vitamin D, and both are considered biologically equivalent. Irradiation of the major plant sterol, ergosterol, produces ergocalciferol, also known as vitamin D_2 (Fig. 8.11). Because they are photochemical reactions and in contrast to enzyme-catalyzed biochemical reactions, the formation of cholecalciferol is not clean. Exposure of human skin to sunlight of 295–300 nm converts 7-dehydrocholesterol to previtamin D, The isomerization to cholecalciferol (vitamin D_3) is heat catalyzed. Continuous exposure to ultraviolet radiation from the sun results in the reversible formation of lumisterol

3 Vitamins



Cholecalciferol (Vitamin D₃)

Figure 8.10. Photochemical formation of cholecalciferol (vitamin D₃).

and tachysterol (18, 19). Once the B-ring of the two steroids has been cleaved, the products should no longer be referred to as steroids. It is incorrect to call these compounds steroidal vitamins.

3.2.2 Vitamin Uptake and Metabolism. This is very complicated and is dependent on the source. From a biochemical viewpoint, it is a hormone because, in the presence of adequate sunlight, the cholecalciferol is produced from the 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin. In this context D vitamins, when administered in supplements, could be considered replacenent therapy. When photochemically synthetized in the skin, it is transported to the liver by a specific binding protein formed in the skin where the cytochrome enzyme system hyfroxylates it to 25-OH-cholecalciferol (Fig. 8.12). This pulls the reversible reactions shown in Fig. 8.10 toward the desired **chole**calciferol. Dependency on the binding protein for transport from the **skin** also provides a **control to prevent over**production of the **hor**mone and possible hypercalcemia.

When taken orally, it follows the same route as that of other dietary lipids. It is part of the mixed micelles and ends up on the chylomicrons formed in the intestinal mucosa cells. It is then transported to the liver on the chylomicron remnants where, like the endogenously produced cholecalciferol from sunlight, it is hydroxylated to 25- OH-cholecalciferol.

The 25-hydroxylated product is then transported to the kidney where it is hydroxylated a second time by 25(OH)D-1 α -hydroxylase, forming the active 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol [1,25(OH)₂D₃]. The latter is transported to the intestinal tract, where it attaches to a nuclear receptor that signals the mucosa cell



Figure 8.11. Formation of ergocalciferol from ergosterol.

to synthesize a calcium transport protein. The final $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ product can be considered a kidney hormone that regulates calcium intake. Finally, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is oxidized to inactive calcitroic acid that is excreted through the kidney. The $24,24(OH)_2D_3$ metabolite may be part of the degradation process for $25(OH)D_3$ that is not transported to the kidney, but it also can elevate serum calcium levels (16). Patients with kidney failure can experience vitamin D-resistant rickets. Because they cannot carry out the final hydroxylation step, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (calcitriol) is prescribed for their hormone replacement therapy.

3.2.3 Biochemical Function. Calciferol function is complex and, with the exception of calcium transport from the intestinal tract, is poorly understood. Specific vitamin D receptors (VDRs) are found in 30 different tissues including bone, intestine, prostate, hematopoietic cells, and **skin** (20). Like the retinoic acid receptors, the vitamin D receptor is a nuclear receptor **belonging** to the steroid hormone superfamily of nuclear receptors, which includes receptors for estrogen, **glucocorti**coids, **thyroid** hormones, and retinoic acid. There are at least 50 genes that respond to hydroxylated calciferols regulating calcium release and uptake and cell division.

3.2.3.1 Calcium Regulation. There are at least three hormones that regulate calcium metabolism, parathyroid (PTH), calcitonin, and $1,25(OH)_2$. Bone is the principal calcium reservoir and is a dynamic tissue, with calcium being released and deposited. New calcium comes from our diet, and excess serum calcium is excreted through the kidneys. In response to low serum calcium levels, PTH stimulates the hydroxylation of $25(OH)D_3$, leading to formation of calcium transport protein and activation of osteoclast cells required to release calcium from bone. PTH also inhibits calcium excretion by the kidney. In contrast, calcitonin (produced in the thyroid gland) acts when serum calcium levels are high. It promotes the deposition of calcium into bone by osteoblast cells and excretion of calcium by the **kidney**.

Rickets in infants and children and osteomalacia, and possibly osteoporosis, in adults is caused by a deficiency of D vitamins. Today most deficiencies are caused by a lack of sunlight or restricted diet. The lack of sunlight may be caused by living in northern latitudes. The latter also can be affected by the amount of skin pigmentation (21–23). A strict vegetarian diet lacking cholecalciferol-fortified dairy products or fatty fish, particularly in children, may also result in rachitic lesions in the bone (24,251. Mechanistically, rickets and osteomalacia are similar and are characterized by bone softening. Normal bone growth and maintenance require that the osteoblast cells lay calcium hydroxyapatite onto a cartilage matrix. A deficiency of D vitamins results in *a* lack of mixed calcium salt available to the osteoblast cells. In infants and children, the cartilage continues to grow. Cartilage, being soft, cannot support the child's weight, leading to the typical bowlegs seen in a rachitic child. An

3 Vitamins



Figure 8.12. Metabolism of D vitamins.

adult also will have bone deformations, particularly in the pelvic area, because the bones cannot support the heavy upper torso.

Osteoporosis is a different disease. It can be thought of as osteoclast cells removing calcium more quickly that osteoblast cells can lay calcium down. The result is porous, brittle bones that break easily. At one time calcitonin sometimes was prescribed to decrease the release of calcium from bone by osteoclast cells. In addition to the bisphosphonates and impact exercise, calcium with D vitamins is currently recommended to replace calcium being released from bone and excreted through the kidney.

3.2.3.2 Vitamin D Analogs Used in Chronic Renal Failure. Because $1.25(OH)_2D_3$ is produced in the kidney, renal failure leads to a deficiency of this hormone and vitamin D-redistant rickets. The solution is prescribing synthetic $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (generic name: calcitriol). Nevertheless, these patients can experitice hyperparathyroidism caused by the parahyroid gland attempting to compensate for

the lack of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$. The result is increased osteoclast activity, leading to loss of calcium from the patient's bones, further resulting in hypercalcemia and either osteomalacia or osteoporosis. To overcome these complications, two synthetic ergocal ciferol analogs (Fig. 8.13) are indicated for secondary hyperparathyroidism associated with chronic renal failure. Note that both compounds contain the hydroxy group at position 1, the position at which the kidney carries out its hydroxylation to produce the **1,3,25-trihydroxy** product. Doxercalciferol is 1,3-dihydroxy-ergocalciferoland, in the liver, is hydroxylated to active $1,25(OH)_2D_2$ (the ergocalciferol analog of calcitriol). It is not clear why doxercalciferol is more selective than calcitriol. In contrast, paricalcitol is the 19-normethyl analog of 1,3,25(OH)₃D₂ produced from ergocalciferol and requires no further hydroxylation reactions.

3.2.3.3 Cell Division. The role of $1,25(OH)_2$ D vitamins in regulating cell division is under active investigation. There are many reports







19-nor-1,3,25-trihydroxy-ergocalciferol

Figure 8.13. Ergocalciferol analogs indicated for chronic renal failure.

that indicate that vitamin D has a cancer-preventive role. Populations living in areas with higher exposure to sunlight have lower incidence of prostate, breast, and colon cancers (26).

In the intestine, the vitamin D receptor also functions as a receptor for lithocholic acid, a bile acid produced by the action of intestinal bacteria on endogenously produced chenocholic acid. Lithocholic acid is **hepato**toxic and may be a carcinogen. In the intestine, vitamin D receptors, activated by vitamin D and possibly lithocholic acid, induce both liver and intestine **cytochrome** P450 3A oxidase (**CYP 3A**). This enzyme metabolizes lithocholic acid to inactive hydroxylated forms. The process of inducing **CYP** 3A might



Figure 8.14. Calciferol analog indicated for psoriasis.

explain how vitamin D may exert its protective effect against cancer of the colon (27).

In contrast with other vitamins that are associated with reducing cancer risk and have minimal adverse reactions in high doses, such as a-tocopherol and ascorbic acid, taking larger doses of D vitamins can lead to clinically significant hypercalcemia. Therefore, the challenge is to develop compounds that not only are selective for receptors involved with controlling cell division but also will activate calcium transport leading to hypercalcemia. The initial analog on the market is calcipotriene, which is indicated for psoriasis, a nonmalignant proliferation of cells (Fig. 8.14). Its use is limited to topical application. When administered internally, hypercalcemia can result. Attempts have been made at pulse dosing of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$, to maximize inhibition of cell division with minimal calcemic activity (28).

Most of the calciferol analogs are based on modifications of the **17-alkyl** side-chain. Modifications of the A-ring include 19-nor methylene and 3-nor **hydroxy** analogs with and without the **1-hydroxy** moiety. The 1ahydroxy-24-ethyl cholecalciferol analog (Fig. 8.15) was less calcemic in mice and inhibited the development of preneoplastic lesions in mammary glands (29). Unsaturation at position 16 (Fig. 8.16) provides modest **antiprolif**erative effects on prostate cancer cells with little hypercalcemia (**30**). A series of **20-cyclo**propyl-cholecalciferol analogs (Figs. 8.17 and 8.18) showed good activity against human prostate, breast, and myeloid leukemia cell



Figure 8.15. "1 α -Hydroxyvitamin D,."

lines (31). The most potent in this series were the 19-nor methylene analogs, independent of whether the side-chain had ethylene or acetylene unsaturation. Modification of the side chain with a 25 keto or oxime ($\mathbf{R}_1 = \mathbf{O}$ or NOH, respectively), with or without an additional hydrogen or methyl ($\mathbf{R}_2 = \mathbf{H}$ or CH₃, respectively), produced analogs as antiproliferative in vitro as 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (Fig. 8.19). The oximes were less calcemic (32).

3.2.4 Dosage Forms. The commercial products are produced by irradiation of 7-dehydrocholesterol or ergosterol under controlled conditions. The final yield is about 50%. Although more stable than vitamin A, D vitamins are sensitive to oxygen and tend to somerize into inactive isomers in the presence of trace metals, which can cause problems in formulating a vitamin/mineral supple-





ment. It is stabilized with antioxidants and protective coatings.

3.2.5 Hypervitaminosis D. Think of a vitamin D overdose in the same way as an oversupply of any hormone. The role of the hormone is exaggerated or magnified. **Hy**pervitaminosis D causes increased absorption of calcium and phosphorous (**P** follows Ca), leading to calcification of the tissues, vomiting, kidney damage, and so forth. It can be the most serious of the **hypervitamin**oses. The reports that D vitamins inhibit proliferation of tissue and may protect against certain cancers could cause the **pub**lic to overdose with this vitamin. The **calciferols have Tolerable Upper Intake Levels** (**UL**) with UL to RDA ratios of 5 to 10.

3.2.6 Dietary Reference Intakes. There is no RDA for this vitamin. It would be difficult to derive a RDA for a population because a significant percentage will receive adequate amounts of the vitamin from sunlight based on the area of the country where they live. On the other hand, the diverse population of the United States means that people of color may need more of the vitamin from fortified milk relative to those whose ancestors came from Northern Europe.

AI

Infants (0–12 months)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Children (1–8 years)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Boys (9–18 years)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Girls (9–18 years)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Men (19–50 years)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Women (19–50 years)	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Men (51–70 years)	10 μg (400 IU)/day
Women (51–70 years)	10 μg (400 IU)/day
Men (70+ years)	15 μg (600 IU)/day
Women (70+ years)	15 μg (600 IU)/day
Pregnancy	5 μg (200 IU)/day
Lactation	5 μg (200 IU)/day
UL	
Infants	25 μg (1000 IU)/day
Children (1–18 years)	50 μg (2000 IU)/day
Adults (over 19 years)	50 μg (2000 IU)/day
Pregnancy	50 μg (2000 IU)/day
Lactation	50 μg (2000 IU)/day

3.2.7 Drug Interactions. Phenobarbital and possibly other **anticonvulsants** used in **epi**-

Vitamins



Figure 8.17. 23-yne-20-cyclopropyl D_3 analogs.

lepsy induce liver hydroxylation, leading to subsequent formation of the inactive end products. **As** long as the epileptic child receives a normal amount of fortified milk, there is no problem with this interaction.

3.3 Vitamin E Family (Tocopherols and Tocotrienols) (33)

This vitamin group was discovered in rat feeding experiments, which resulted in these animals not being able to produce offspring. These same rats seemed normal in all other respects including physical growth. The condition could be corrected by addition of lettuce, whole wheat, and cereal grains, with the best source being wheat germ followed by vegetable oils. Think of the tocopherols and tocotrienols (Table **8.3**) as nature's antioxidants. Most of the vitamin activity is found in a-tocopherol. "Tocopherol" means child-bearingalcohol.



l'igure 8.18. 23-E-ene-20-cyclopropyl**D**₃ analogs.

3.3.1 Chemistry. The vitamin E family consists of tocopherols and tocotrienols. There has been considerable debate as to whether he RRR isomer is the only biologically active form of the vitamin. The vitamin of commerce is α -tocopherol, either as a racemic synthetic



gure 8.19. Keto **and** oxime cholecalciferol **halogs**.

mixture or the natural RRR-a-tocopherol. All of the tocopherols found in food have the R configuration at position 2. The synthetic form of the vitamin is a mixture of all eight stereo isomers (now referred to as $rac-\alpha$ -tocopherol rather than $d_l - \alpha$ -tocopherol). Because there is both general and stereospecific antioxidant activity, the RDA tables state that the activity ratio of $RRR-\alpha$ -tocopherol to raca-tocopherol is 1 to 1.36 (Table 8.4) (34). All isomers are antioxidants and probably do provide general antioxidant protection internally or in *vivo*. On the other hand, evidence points to the RRR isomer as being specific for a variety of reductase systems, possibly involving selenium (Se) and glutathione (GSH/GSSG). The "Relative Biological Activity" in Table 8.3 is based on a rat resorption/gestation assay, as are the conversion factors in Table 8.4.

3.3.2 Uptake and Metabolism. Like the retinol esters, tocopherol, both esterified and nonesterified, requires bile salts to become part of the mixed micelles containing the dietary lipids. They are absorbed into the mucosal cell by passive diffusion. The tocopherols follow the dietary lipids onto the chylomicrons. Because the latter first enter the lymphatic system before the circulatory system, the tocopherols do not go directly to the liver. Instead, the chylomicrons are distributed throughout the body, and some of the tocopherols enter the adipose tissue with the fatty acids that were also being transported on the chylomicrons. The chylomicron remnants finally reach the liver. The remaining tocopherols leave the liver on the very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), which become the low density lipoproteins (LDL). In other words, tocopherols will be found wherever there is a significant amount of lipid material, including the high density lipoproteins (HDL). There is no specific organ where the tocopherols are stored. Consistent with antioxidant model, the RDA is based on the polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) consumption. The implication is that, if increased PUFA intake is recommended, the RDA for tocopherol should be increased.

There is increasing evidence that the RRR stereoisomer is preferentially transferred in the liver onto the lipid transport proteins, but it is not absolute. This could explain why

1



Table 8.3 Relative Biological Activities of Tocopherols and Tocotrienols^a

"Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium and Carotenoids, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, 2000, p. 193.

^{*b*}**Rat** fetal reabsorption assay.

Table 8.4Factors for Converting International Units of Vitamin E to a-Tocopherol (mg)to Meet Recommended Intake^a

	USP conversion factors ^b		Molar conversion	a-Tocopherol conversion
	(IU/mg)	(mg/IU)	(µmol/IU)	(mg/IU)
Synthetic vitamin E and esters ^c				
d, l - α -Tocopherol acetate	1.00	1.00	2.12	0.45
$d_{l}-\alpha$ -Tocopherol succinate	0.89	1.12	2.12	0.45
d, l - α -Tocopherol	1.10	0.91	2.12	0.45
Natural vitamin E and esters ^d				
d-a-Tocopherol Acetate	1.36	0.74	1.56	0.67
d-a-Tocopherol Succinate	1.21	0.83	1.56	0.67
d-a-Tocopherol	1.49	0.67	1.56	0.67

"Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium and Carotenoids, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, 2000, p. 192.

^b**The** United States Pharmacopeia (**USP**) has defined one IU as 1 mg of all racemic a-tocopherol acetate based on a 1940s rat fetal resorption assay.

"Synthetic vitamin E supplements labeled as $d, l-\alpha$ -tocopherol can consist of all eight possible isomers (*RRR-*, RSR-, RRS-, RSS-, SSS-, SRS-, *SRR-*, and *SSR-*).

 ^{d}d - α -Tocopherol refers to the RRR-isomer, the only one found naturally in foods, and the other two R stereoisomers (*RRS*-, RSR-, and *RSS*).

3 Vitamins



Figure 8.20. Resonance-stabilized tocopherol radicals.

RRR- α -tocopherol is more active *in vivo*, but the other isomers are also active.

3.3.3 Biochemical Function. The best way to describe tocopherol's role is that of a lipidsoluble antioxidant. It protects unsaturated lipids from oxygen-induced peroxide formation. There is evidence for both free-radical one-electron chemistry (Fig. 8.20) and two-electron quinone-hydroquinone chemistry (Fig. 8.21) (35). The oxidized/reduced glutathione system may be part of the system that regenerates reduced a-tocopherol. At one time it was thought that the preference for the 2-*R* stereoisomers indicated that the vitamin was part of a biochemical oxidation/reduction system, possibly as a coenzyme. So far that role for α -tocopherol has not been found. The current evidence points to the hepatic tocopherol transfer **protein's** preference for the **RRR stereoisomer** as the explanation for the partial **steric** preference.

3.3.4 Deficiencies. The current model for the cause of vitamin E deficiencies points to malabsorption of lipids. Thus, there may be malabsorption of other lipid-soluble vitamins. Little is known regarding the **pharmacokinet**ics of the tocopherols. **Part** of the reason for this may be attributed to lack of a specific **stor**age organ for the vitamin.

Correlating human medical conditions with the biochemical role of the tocopherols is difficult because of the lack of correlations between deficiency diseases seen in animals relative to what is seen in humans. Deficiency diseases seen in animals include reversible **re**-



Figure 8.21. Tocopherol oxidation/reduction.



Figure 8.22. a-Tocopherol dosage forms.

R = acetate, hemisuccinate (sodium salt)

productive failure in female rats; irreversible degeneration of rat testicular tissue leading to male sterility; nutritional muscular dystrophies in monkeys, rabbits, guinea pigs, lambs, calves, turkeys, and chicks; and an anemia in monkeys. Vitamin E does not treat human muscular dystrophy nor the various causes preventing a couple from conceiving a child or inability of pregnant women to go to full term. What is seen in humans is a partially reversible set of neurological problems and **hemolytic** anemia in premature infants. Because of poor placental transfer, newborns have little of the vitamin. Human milk contains 2–5 mg/L; cow's milk contains less.

There are numerous studies evaluating the possible role of tocopherols in preventing and/or treating cardiovascular disease, malignancies, diabetes mellitus, cataracts, immune function, and Alzheimer's Disease. In all of these conditions, there is evidence of **free-rad**ical formation or general oxidation mechanisms as part of the disease process. The evidence for taking supplements in addition to proper diet is mixed (36, 37).

3.3.5 Hypervitaminosis E. This is a relatively safe vitamin. Toxicities have been reported involving chronic administration of 300–1200 mg per day. The **symptoms** can be very serious and include thrombophlebitis, pulmonary embolism, hypertension, breast development in men and children, severe fatigue, and nonmalignant breast tumors. Nevertheless, the UL to RDA ratio is about 66 to 1 for adults, making it a very safe vitamin.

3.3.6 Dosage Forms. The tocopherols, being antioxidants, are very sensitive to oxygen. Sensitivity to UV light is another problem. There are two provitamin esters that are used

commercially (Fig. 8.22), the oil-soluble acetate and water-soluble hemisuccinate. The latter is commonly found in dry dosage forms requiring a **free-flowing** powder. Oxidation to the quinone form is blocked by esterifying the free phenolic hydroquinone.

3.3.7 Dietary Reference Intakes (based on d-a-Tocopherol).

AI $0.6 \text{ mg/kg}^{-1}/\text{day}^{-1}$ Infants (0–12 months) EAR Children (1–8 years) 5–6 mglday 9-12 mg/dayBoys (9–18 years) 9-12 mg/dayGirls (9–18 years) Men (19-50 years) 12 mglday 12 mg/dayWomen (19–50 years) Men (51-70+ years)12 mg/dayWomen (51–70+ years) 12 mg/day12 mglday Pregnancy Lactation 16 mglday RDA Children (1–8years) 6-7 mg/day11–15 mglday Boys (9–18 years) 11–15 mglday Girls (9–19 years) Men (19-50 years) 15 mglday 15 mg/dayWomen (19–50 years) 15 mg/dayMen (51-70+ years) 15 mglday Women (51-70+ years)15 mglday Pregnancy Lactation 19 mg/dayULNot established Infants (Do not give supplements; use only food and formula for sources.) 200 mg/day (1-3 Children years) up to 600 mg/day (9-13 years)







Addition of the geranylgeranyl chain



Vitamin K_2 (n = 4; menoquinone-4)

Adolescents	800 mg/day
Adults (19+ years)	1000 mg/day
Pregnancy	800–1000 mg/day
Lactation	800–1000 mg/day

3.4 Vitamin K Family (38)

Vitamin K was discovered by accident by Dansh scientists who, using a special fat-free diet lesigned to determine whether chickens synhesize cholesterol, observed that the animals eveloped a hemorrhagic condition characterred by a prolonged clotting time. The condiion could be cured by an organic factor found n fresh cabbage, ether extract of alfalfa, purefied fish meal, cereals, or hog livers. It was amed Vitamin K for koagulation vitamin. his may be the only vitamin that humans



receive in significant amounts from their intestinal bacterial, and there is some question regarding this commonly held assumption. Because of this source, it has been very difficult to establish a recommended daily allowance. An estimated safe intake was established for this vitamin for the first time with the 1989 RDA tables. With the release of the Dietary Reference Intakes, there is an adequate intake, but no RDA.

3.4.1 Chemistry. There are two series for this vitamin (Fig. 8.23). The vitamin K_1 series is mostly obtained from green plants, whereas the K_2 series is the product of bacteria. The active **vitamin** is in the K_2 series. Menadione has sometimes been referred to as vitamin K_3 .
Vitamins



Figure 8.24. Outline of vitamin K in carboxylation of glutamic acid.

The common commercial form is called **phy**tonadione in the United States Pharmacopeia and phylloquinone by Chemical Abstracts.

3.4.2 Vitamin K Uptake and Metabolism. Dietary vitamin K_1 and the pharmaceutical form, phytonadione or vitamin $K_{1(20)}$ must be converted to the K_2 series known as menoquinones. The most common of these is menoquinone-4 or $K_{2(20)}$. This conversion to the K_2 series occurs in the liver and possibly the intestinal flora. It involves removing the **phytyl** chain producing the intermediate **men**adione. Menadione sometimes is prescribed when there is impaired uptake of lipids from the intestine. There is little storage reserve in the liver, and a deficiency can result when dietary intake of vitamin K is restricted or absorption is impaired.

Dietary vitamin K and supplements are processed similarly as **with** the other **fat-solu**ble vitamins. Bile salts are required for emulsification and formation of mixed micelles. They travel to the liver on chylomicrons along with vitamins **A** and E.

3.4.3 Vitamin K Biochemistry and Deficiency. Deficiencies of this vitamin lead to serious hemorrhaging. The vitamin is required for formation of proteins that complex calcium. This is done by functioning as a coenzyme in the y-carboxylation of glutamic acid (Fig. 8.24). Vitamin K_2 is reduced to the hydroquinone. After several steps, a complex oxidation occurs, resulting in the "vitamin K base" that is an integral part of the carboxylation step. In a key step, the vitamin K oxide is reduced to the original vitamin \mathbf{K}_2 . It is this final reduction that is inhibited by the coumadin anticoagulants widely used by patients susceptible to stroke, pulmonary embolism, phlebitis, and coronary thrombosis. This interaction between the coumadin anticoagulants and the regeneration of vitamin K_2 is the reason that patients on coumadin must monitor their vitamin K intake both from vitamin supplements and diet. This usually is done by regularly scheduled determinations of prothrombin time.

The carboxylation reaction is required for production of several clotting proteins **includ**-

ingprothrombin, protein C, protein S, and factors VII, IX, and X. It is also required for γ carboxylation of osteocalcin, an important calcium-binding protein found in the matrix of bone and required for proper deposition of calcium onto bone. This latter finding has led to several studies to determine whether patients prescribed coumadin anticoagulants are at increased risk for osteoporosis and fractures (39–42). All of these studies indicate that vitamin K supplementation might be beneficial for the prevention of osteoporosis. If vitamin K helps prevent osteoporosis, then it would appear that patients on anticoagulant therapy would be at increased risk for bone fractures. There is some indication of this, but it is not conclusive. Nevertheless, some calcium supplements have both vitamins D and K added to their formulation.

3.4.4 Causes of Vitamin K Deficiency. Rarely is a vitamin K deficiency caused by insufficient diet. It more likely is attributable to a medical condition. At one time, multivitamin supplements rarely contained vitamin K. It is now routinely found in these products. Causes of vitamin K deficiency include obstructive jaundice (now uncommon), loss of intestinal flora in preparation for intestinal surgery, and hemorrhagic disease of the newborn.

Deficiencies caused by obstructive jaundice were caused by blockage of the bile duct, usually from cholelithiasis, preventing the release of bile salts into the intestinal tract for emulsifying the lipid contents. At one time, surgical removal of gallstones was delayed to see whether the problem would correct itself. Menadione would be prescribed because it does not require micelle formation, given that it is directly absorbed through the mucosa into the portal vein and flows to the liver. Alternatively, intramuscular injections of phytonadione were given.

In nonemergency surgery of the intestinal tract, the patient would undergo 1-2 weeks' antibiotic therapy to reduce the level of intestinal bacteria. Usually the patient did not eat well because of the intestinal problem. The combination of reduced intake of dietary vitamin K and vitamin from the intestinal bacteria could result in a vitamin K deficiency. Determination of prothrombin time is ordered by the surgeon to determine whether menadione or phytonadione is indicated.

The third cause is hemorrhagic disease of the newborn. Infants are born with a sterile intestinal tract. Until the flora are established, the infant will have to get along with the vitamin K they received from the mother. In the past an infant might die from hemorrhaging. Most states require that each newborn receive an injection of phytonadione. Menadione injection is not given because it can cause a hemolytic anemia in the newborn.

3.4.5 Hypervitaminosis K. Although it is possible to overdose with this vitamin, the fact that it is available only over the counter in small doses in multivitamin preparations has resulted in little knowledge of any toxicities. Toxicities do not appear in animals administered large doses. It is known that excess intake of the vitamin does not promote clot formation. There is no Tolerable Upper Intake Level.

3.4.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

2–2.5 µg/day
30–55 μg/day
60–75 μg/day
120 µg/day
90 μg/day
75–90 μg/day
75–90 μg/day

3.5 Thiamine (Vitamin \mathbf{B}_1) (43)

After 26 years of constant research, the vitamin preventative of the disease beri-beri has been isolated, its chemical constitution determined and the vitamin itself synthesized at a cost far lower than that of recovering it from bran. (Scientific American, February 1938; reprinted in 258, 12 February 1988)

This quote summarizes the debate between those who believed that beriberi was caused by an infectious agent vs. those who promoted proper diet. Some of the early researchers oscillated between the two theories. About 1912 there were enough definitive feeding experiments in humans to conclude that beriberi's origin was dietary (44).



Figure 8.25. Commercial forms of thiamine and formation of thiamine pyrophosphate.

The vitamin B complex, of which thiamine is considered the first one discovered and characterized, generally includes the group of water-soluble vitamins found in rice polishings, bean extracts, yeast, and liver. There are no chemical relationships in the B complex. The nomenclature is very confusing. The common name originally implied something about the chemical nature of the vitamin. Even the concept of water-soluble is somewhat misleading, given that some of the vitamins in this group would be **considered poorly** soluble by most pharmaceutical standards. The one thing the B complex vitamins have in common is that nearly all function either as a coenzyme or a structural component of a coenzyme.

3.5.1 Chemistry. Thiamine consists of a pyrimidine joined to a thiazole ring by a methylene bridge (Fig. 8.25). The thiazole nitrogen is a quaternary with a permanent positive charge. There are two commercial salts. Thiamine hydrochloride is, in reality, thiamine chloride hydrochloride. It is a double salt, consisting of an amine hydrochloride on the pyrimidine amine and a chloride on the thiazole quaternary nitrogen. Thiamine nitrate is correctly named in that the nitrate anion is found on the quaternary nitrogen, and the pyrimidine amine is not protonated. Once the vitamin enters the acidic stomach, it will exist as the chloride hydrochloride salt.

Thiamine hydrochloride is very water soluble (1g/1 mL). It is also very hygroscopic, making it difficult to use in dry formulations. This salt is commonly used in liquid and injectable formulations. Thiamine nitrate is sufficiently water soluble (1g/35 mL) that it can be used in liquid formulations because the RDAs are less than 2 mg per day. Because it is **nonhygroscopic**, it is commonly used in dry dosage forms.

3.5.2 Uptake and Metabolism. A saturable active transport system in the jejunum provides efficient uptake of the vitamin into the intestinal mucosa cell. Thiamine kinase in the intestinal mucosa cell transfers a pyrophosphate from the ATP to the propyl alcohol at po-

3 Vitamins

sition 5 of the thiazole ring, forming thiamine pyrophosphate (**TPP**) (Fig. 8.25). The latter product is the coenzyme form of the vitamin. There is some evidence that this **phosphoryla**tion is the rate-limiting step and controls the absorption of the vitamin. The coenzyme is transported to the tissues where needed.

Thiamine pyrophosphate has two important coenzyme roles, both of which focus mostly on carbohydrate metabolism (Figs. 8.26 and 8.27). The active portion of the coenzyme is the thiazole ring. The first step in the oxidative decarboxylation of a-keto acids requires TPP. The two most common examples are pyruvate and a-ketoglutarate, oxidatively decarboxyated to acetyl CoA and succinyl CoA, respectively. The same reaction is found in the metabolism of the branched-chain amino acids valine, isoleucine, leucine, and methionine. In all cases, TPP is a coenzyme in a mitochondrial multienzyme complex, consisting of TPP, lipoic acid, coenzyme A, FAD, and NAD. Note the number of vitamins required for the oxidative decarboxylation of a-keto acids: thiamine (TPP), pantothenic acid (coenzyme A), riboflavin (FAD), and niacin (NAD).

TPP is also the coenzyme in the **transketo**lase reaction (Fig. 8.27) found in the pentose phosphate pathway that interconverts hexoses, pentoses, tetroses, and trioses. This reaction removes carbons 1 and 2 of a ketose and transfers them to an acceptor aldose. Examples include TPP transferring carbons 1 and 2 of xylulose-5-P to ribose-5-P, producing glyceraldehyde-3-P (5 carbons minus 2 carbons) and sedoheptulose-7-P (5 carbons plus 2 carbons). This reaction is reversible. A second reversible reaction has TPP transferring carbons 1 and 2 of xylulose-5-P to erythrose-4-P, producing fructose-6-P (4 carbons plus 2 carbons) and glyceraldehyde-3-P (5 carbons minus 2 carbons).

The dietary reference intakes for thiamine are dependent on carbohydrate consumption. This is because (1)most pyruvate comes from aerobic glycolysis, (2)much of the **decarboxylated** a-ketoglutarate originates from carbohydrate sources, and (3) the transketolase reaction uses carbohydrates as substrates.

3.5.3 Thiamine Deficiencies. Thiamine deficiencies are reported in the very early **medi**-

cal literature and were called beriberi, a Japanese term. Sailors in the Japanese navy experienced thiamine deficiencies when fed rice in which the polishings had been removed to prevent mold growth. This is somewhat analogous to removing the germ from wheat to prolong the shelf life of flour-containing foods. There are two forms of beriberi, wet and dry. Wet beriberi is characterized by edema and enlarged heart. Dry beriberi is more neurological and can include muscle wasting.

Assuming a reasonably balanced diet, most thiamine deficiencies today are caused by chronic alcoholism. Alcohol reduces the active transport of the vitamin (45). This form of thiamine deficiency is called **Wernicke-Korsa**koff syndrome. It is common for emergency medical personnel to add thiamine to the intravenous solution being administered to a comatose patient suspected of experiencing substance abuse.

3.5.4 Hypervitaminosis Thiamine. The vitamin is considered very safe. There are no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels. Possibly the rate-limiting phosphorylation step in the intestinal mucosa reduces the risk of toxicity. The percentage of thiamine absorbed decreases as the dose increases.

3.5.5 Dietary Reference Intakes.

А Т

AI	
Infants	0.2–0.3 mg/day
EAR	
Children (1–13 years)	0.4–0.7 mg/day
Males (14–18 years)	1.0 mg/day
Females (14–18 years)	0.9 mg/day
Men (19–50+ years)	1.0 mg/day
Women (19–50+ years)	0.9 mg/day
Pregnancy	1.2 mg/day
Lactation	1.2 mg/day
RDA	
Children (1–13 years)	0.5–0.9 mg/day
Males (14–18 years)	1.2 mg/day
Females (14–18 years)	1.0 mg/day
Men (19–50+ years)	1.2 mg/day
Women (19–50+ years)	1.1 mg/day
Pregnancy	1.4 mg/day
Lactation	1.5 mg/day
UL	
None reported	



Figure 8.26. Coenzyme role of thiamine pyrophosphate in decarboxylation of α -keto acids.



Figure 827. Coenzyme role of thiamine pyrophosphate in the transketolase reaction.

3.6 Riboflavin (Vitamin B) (46)

Shortly after the discovery of thiamine from yeast concentrates, the presence of a second nutritional factor in such materials was suggested. This second factor was also reported to have a pellagra-preventative activity because it alleviated a deficiency-induced dermatitis in rats. It was called vitamin B_2 in England and vitamin G in the United States.

3.6.1 Chemistry (Fig. 8.28). Riboflavin has a characteristic flavin ring system, which gives it unique spectroscopic and instability properties. There are two commercial forms. Riboflavin itself is poorly water soluble (1 g/10,000 mL) and is limited to oral dry dosage forms. Riboflavin phosphate, as the sodium salt, is very water soluble at 100 mg/mL and is widely used in dry and liquid dosage forms.

3.6.2 Riboflavin Uptake and Chemistry (Fig. 8.28). Most dietary riboflavin is eaten as the FAD or FMN coenzymes. Intestinal **pyrophos**-phatases and phosphatases produce free riboflavin, which is actively transported in the proximal area of the small intestine into systemic circulation. Because of its poor water solubility, it is transported on albumin and immunoglobulin proteins. Conversion to the coenzyme forms occurs inside the cells that need these coenzymes.

Role. Riboflavin 3.6.3 Metabolic coenzymes are required for most oxidations of carbon-carbon bonds (Fig. 8.29). Examples include the oxidation of succinyl CoA to fumarate in the Krebs cycle and introduction of α,β -unsaturation in β -oxidation of fatty acids. Riboflavin is also required for the metabolism of other vitamins, including the reduction of 5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate to 5-methyl tetrahydrofolate (Fig. 8.49), and interconversion of pyridoxine-pyridoxal phosphate-pyridoxamine (Fig. 8.33). Because oxidation/reductions that use FAD or FMN as the coenzyme constitute a two-step process, some flavin coenzyme systems contain more than one FAD or FMN.

3.6.4 Riboflavin Deficiency. With riboflavin's central role in energy metabolism and

conversion of folic acid and pyridoxine to their active forms, it is surprising that riboflavin deficiency does not produce a characteristic set of symptoms. One of the reasons may be that it is rare to see a patient who is solely deficient in riboflavin.

3.6.5 Hypervitaminosis Riboflavin. The combination of regulated active transport and conversion to the coenzyme forms prevents **hy**-pervitaminosis problems with this vitamin. Toxicities from the water-soluble riboflavin phosphate have not been reported. There are no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels.

3.6.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

AI	
Infants	0.3–0.4 mglday
EAR	
Children (1–13 years)	0.4–0.8 mglday
Males (14–19 years)	1.1 mglday
Females (14–19 years)	0.9 mg/day
Men (19–70+ years)	1.1 mg/day
Women (19–70+ years)	0.9 mglday
Pregnancy	1.2 mglday
Lactation	1.3 mglday
RDA	
Children (1–13 years)	0.5–0.9 mglday
Males (14–19 years)	1.3 mg/day
Females (14–19 years)	1.0 mglday
Men (19–70+ years)	1.3 mglday
Women (19–70+ years)	1.1 mglday
Pregnancy	1.4 mg/day
Lactation	1.6 mg/day
UL	
None reported	

3.7 Niacin (Nicotinic Acid)/Niacinamide (Nicotinamide) (47)

The history of niacin revolved around trying to find a way to prevent and cure pellegra, the late-stage deficiency disease caused by a niacin deficiency. Pellagra has been a serious nutritional disorder in the United States, mostly in the southeast. Two thousand deaths from pellagra were reported in 1941. This is ironic because nicotinic acid, later known as niacin, was first reported during the structure elucidation of the alkaloid nicotine.

Like some of the other deficiency diseases, there was disagreement between those who





Figure 8.29. $FAD/FADH_2$ -FMN/FMNH₂ oxidation/reduction.

thought pellegra was caused by poor sanitation vs. those who concluded it was a nutritional disorder. Niacin deficiency, even today, is found in economically poor areas. Even when niacin was first isolated from foods, it was ignored because it did not cure beriberi.

3.7.1 Niacin/Niacinamide Chemistry, Uptake and Metabolism. Niacin is structurally the simplest of the vitamins, but has some of the most complex biochemistry of the vitamins. Structurally, it is pyridine-3-carboxylic acid (Fig. 8.30). Strictly speaking, it is nonessential because the essential amino acid tryptophan is a source (Fig. 8.31) (48). The biosynthetic route does not produce "free" niacin by decarboxylation of quinolinic acid. In a complex reaction, quinolinic acid loses the 2-carboxyl group and adds 5'-phosphoribose to form nicotinate mononucleotide (Figs. 8.30 and 8.31) (49, 50). Niacin and niacinamide, in pharmaceutical dosage forms, undergo a similar ribosylation reaction. Most vitamin products contain niacinamide because niacin can cause a distracting vasodilation that leads to flushing in the face and scalp.

The two commercial forms of the vitamin, niacin and niacinamide, are rapidly absorbed from both the stomach and intestine. **As** the dose increases, absorption decreases. It is not clear whether there is a feedback mechanism operating or the transport system becomes saturated. Conversion to the coenzyme forms occurs in the cells where NAD and NADP are needed.

NAD is the primary coenzyme required for **oxidation/reduction** of carbon-oxygen bonds and is required for oxidative catabolism (**gly**-colysis, β -oxidation, Krebs cycle). NADP is the coenzyme in biosynthetic routes (fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis) and will be part of oxidation/reduction reactions involving both carbon-oxygen and carbon-carbon bonds.

The active part of the coenzyme is the **pyri**dine ring (Fig. 8.32). When the substrate is labeled with deuterium, it has been shown that NAD systems can be categorized by the deuterium ending up on the A or B face of the **pyridine** ring. Examples of NAD **dehydroge**nases where the **hydride** anion attaches to the A face are isocitrate **dehydrogenase**, malate **dehydrogenase**, lactate dehydrogenases involving the B face include α -ketoglutarate **dehydrogenase**, glucose-6-phosphate **dehydro**genase. and glyceraldehyde-&phosphate **dehydrogenase**.

3.7.2 Niacin Deficiency. Niacin deficiency, manifested as pellagra, is characterized by the four Ds: dermatitis, diarrhea, depression, and death. The dermatitis is **characterized** by a pigmented rash developing on skin exposed to



Figure 8.30. Biosynthesis of NAD from niacin and niacinamide.

heat. Changes to the gastrointestinal tract can lead to vomiting, constipation, or diarrhea. Depression is one of the neurological symptoms that also can include apathy, headache, fatigue, and memory loss.

Deficiencies were common in populations whose main calorie source was corn (51, 52). Zein is the main protein found in corn and it is very low in both niacin and tryptophan. When corn is ground with lime water, the small amounts of niacin and tryptophan become more bioavailable. Populations who consume corn meal by this process have a smaller incidence of pellagra (53). At the same time it must be remembered that **pellegra** is the extreme form of a niacin deficiency. The Dietary Reference Intakes for this vitamin use clinical chemistry **as**says listed in Table 8.2 to determine **DRIs** rather than the first appearance of pellagra symptoms.

3.7.3 Hypervitaminosis Niacin. Niacin is considered nontoxic, and there are no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels based on its use as a vitamin. These refer only to niacin and niaci-



Figure 8.31. Biosynthesis of NAD from tryptophan.

namide, but not tryptophan and niacin equivalents (see next section). Large doses of niacin and niacinamide do have adverse reactions. These are sometimes seen with patients who are prescribed niacin in doses up to 2 g daily for hyperlipidemia, including both hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia. For the former, there is the desired decreased LDL and increased HDL. Adverse reactions include vasodilation from niacin, particularly in the head area, caused by increased intercranial blood flow and hepatic complications. Niacin had been used for **Raynaud's** syndrome to treat the vasoconstriction seen with this disease. Liver toxicities have been experienced by patients prescribed sustained-release niacin products for **hyperlipidemia** (54, 55). The UL to RDA ratio is 2, but the UL is the dose before adverse reactions are experienced. Vasodilation from niacin occurs close to its **RDA**.



Figure 8.32. Stereochemistry of NAD reduction.

3.7.4 Dietary Reference Intakes. Many of the DRI units are milligram niacin equivalents (**mg NE**). These units take into account the fact that approximately 60 mg tryptophan produce 1 mg of niacin. For adult males, the RDA is between 960 mg of tryptophan and 16 mg of niacin, given that 960 mg of tryptophan is equivalent to 16 mg of niacin (56, 57).

AI

Infants (0–5 months) 2 mglday of preformed niacin	
Infants (6–11 months) 4 mg NE/day EAR	
Children (1–13 years) 5–9 mg NE/d	ay
Boys (14–18 years) 12 mg NE/da	y
Girls (14–18 years) 11 mg NE/da	y
Men $(19-70+$ years) 12 mg NE/da	y
Women $(19-70 + years)$ 11 mg NE/da	y
Pregnancy 14 mg NE/da	y
Lactation 13 mg NE/day	у
RDA	
Children $(1-13 \text{ years})$ 6–12 mg NE /	day
Girls (14–19 years) 1.3 mg NE/da	ıy
Boys (14–19 years) 16 mg NE/day	y
Men $(19-70+$ years) 16 mg NE/day	y
Women (19–70+ years) 14 mg NE/day	y
Pregnancy 18 mg NE/day	у
Lactation 17 mg NEIday	У
UL	
Infants (0–12 months) Source of inta	ıke
should be	
formula and	d
food only	
Children (1–13 years) 10–20 mg/day niacin	of of
Adolescents (14–18 30 mglday of niacin	
Pregnancy (14–18 30 mglday of	
vears) niacin	
Pregnancy (19 years 35 mglday of	
and older) niacin	
Lactation (14–18 30 mglday of	
years) niacin	
Lastation (10 years and 25 molday of	
Lactation (19 years and 55 mglday of	

3.8 Vitamin **B**₆ Family

This group was discovered in the 1930s during feeding experiments on rats. Its importance

was realized tragically when the heat process for an infant formula reduced the **bioavailabil**itiy of the vitamin. Children developed convulsive disorders. Before realizing that the problem was caused by an induced pyridoxine deficiency, it was thought a contaminant had been introduced. The vitamin is a coenzyme for amino acid and glycogen metabolism.

3.8.1 Uptake and Metabolism. The vitamin B_6 family consists of pyridoxine, pyridoxal, pyridoxamine, pyridoxine phosphate, pyridoxal phosphate (PLP), and pyridoxamine phosphate (Fig. 8.33). The commercial form is pyridoxine. Pyridoxal phosphate is the coenzyme form. It and pyridoxamine phosphate are from animal tissues. Pyridoxine is from plant tissues. All phosphorylated forms are hydrolyzed in the intestinal tract by phosphatases before being absorbed passively. Conversion to the phosphorylated forms occurs in the liver. Notice that niacin (NAD) and riboflavin (FMN, FAD) are required for interconversion among the vitamin **B**₆ family. The **phosphory**lated forms are transported to the cells where needed. The major excretory product is 4-pyridoxic acid.

3.8.2 Pyridoxal Phosphate **Biochemistry** (58). Pyridoxal phosphate (PLP) is required for amino acid metabolism and reactions involving amino acids. PLP is covalently bound to the apoenzyme through an enamine (Schiff's base) linkage between an ϵ -amino group of lysine and the aldehyde moiety of PLP (Fig. 8.34). The most common of the PLP-catalyzed reactions are transaminations (Fig. 8.35). One-half of all transamination reactions involve a-ketoglutarate as the acceptor of the **amine** group forming glutamic acid. Alternatively, glutamic acid donates the amine group and an a-keto acid is the acceptor forming a new amino acid. Examples include:

a-amino acid + a-ketoglutarate ⇔ a-keto acid + glutamic acid

<u>a-amino acid reactant</u>	a-ketoacid product
alanine	pyruvate
aspartate	oxalacetate

Another PLP-catalyzed reaction is **decarbox**ylation of amino acids (Fig. 8.35). These are part of the biosynthesis of neurotransmitters, **includ**-



Figure 8.33. Interconversions among the vitamin B₆ family.



Figure 8.34. Pyridoxal phosphate bound to the enzyme.

ing histamine from histidine; serotonin from tryptophan, dopamine, norepinephrine, and epinephrine from dihydroxyphenylalanine (dopa) (Fig. 8.36); and γ -aminobutyric acid from glutamic acid. Other reactions in which an amino acid is the substrate include formation of δ -aminolevulinic acid in the biosynthesis of heme and two reactions in cysteine biosynthesis from methionine (Fig. 8.52). Although not well understood, PLP is required for phosphorylasephrasybrateglycogenolysis producing glucose-1-

3.8.3 Vitamin B_6 Deficiency. There is no distinct deficiency syndrome, but a deficiency can be serious. What is observed is a seborrheic dermatitis, microcytic anemia, and eleptiform convulsions. The anemia may be caused by decreased heme biosynthesis and



Figure 8.35. Pyridoxine phosphate-catalyzed transamination and decarboxylation.

the convulsions by imbalances in neurotransmitter **biosynthesis**.

There is reason to conclude that vitamin B_6 deficiency **might** contribute to arteriosclerosis. There is a correlation between elevated homocysteine levels and incidence of cardiovascular disease (59). There is debate as to whether homocysteine contributes to the damage of cells on the interior of blood vessel or whether homocysteine is a marker of intensive cell repair and formation of replacement cells. Nevertheless, administration of pyridoxine, folic acid, and cyanocobalamin are being recommended along with the two antioxidant vitamins, α -tocopherol and ascorbic acid for arteriosclerosis. Vitamin B_6 is required for two of the steps in the catabolism of homocysteine to succinyl CoA (Fig. 8.52). Note in Fig. 8.52 (bottom) that biotin and a coenzyme form of cobalamin also are required for

the final reactions. The homocysteine model is **discussed again** under the **folic** acid and **cyano-cobalamin** sections.

3.8.4 Vitamin-Drug Interactions (60). The two most clinically significant interactions are **pyridoxal** phosphate with L-dopa or isoniacid. Examine Fig. 8.36 and note that dopa **decar**boxylase requires PLP. This enzyme is found both centrally and peripherally. The latter includes the intestinal mucosa. The precursor to dopamine, L-dopa is indicated for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. L-Dopa is prescribed because little **dopamine** crosses the blood-brain barrier relative to its precursor L-dopa. A patient with Parkinson's disease prescribed L-dopa and who takes a **vitamin** supplement with amounts of pyridoxine greater than the **vitamin's** RDA can experience an in-



Figure 8.36. Pyridoxal phosphate-catalyzed dopa decarboxylase.

crease in **parkinsonian** tremors. This is because L-dopa will undergo decarboxylation in the intestinal mucosa and never reach the locations in the brain where it is converted to the needed dopamine.

Isoniazid is widely prescribed for tuberculosis. It can chemically react with pyridoxal and **pyridoxal** phosphate, thus significantly reducing the availability of this coenzyme (Fig. 8.37) (61). Pyridoxine supplements commonly are recommended to prevent isoniazid-caused peripheral **neuropathy**, but they do not reduce the effectiveness of isoniazid.

3.8.5 Hypervitaminosis Pyridoxine. A certain mystique has built up around this vitamin, resulting in individuals' overdosing themselves with commercial vitamin supplements. Serious neurological problems have been seen in doses of 2–6 g/day for 2–40 months (62–64). Megadosing below 2 glday seems safe, but all of this information is based mostly on anecdotal reports. There is a Tolerable Upper Intake Level, but the UL to RDA ratio is a comfortable 50–60.

3.8.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

AI (any form of vitamin B_6)	
Infants	0.1-0.3 mglday
EAR (any form of vitamin B_6)	
Children (1–13 years)	0.40.8 mglday
Males (14–19 years)	1.1 mg/day
Females (14–19 years)	1.0 mglday
Men (19–50 years)	1.1 mg/day
Men (51+ years)	1.4 mg/day
Women (19–50 years)	1.1 mglday
Women (51+ years)	1.3 mglday
Pregnancy	1.6 mglday
Lactation	1.7 mg/day
RDA (any form of vitamin B_6)	
Children (1–13 years)	0.5–1.0 mglday
Males (14–19 years)	1.3 mglday
Females (14–19 years)	1.2 mglday
Men (19–50 years)	1.3 mglday
Men (51+ years)	1.7 mglday
Women (19–50 years)	1.3 mglday
Women (51+ years)	1.5 mglday
Pregnancy	1.9 mg/day
Lactation	2.0 mglday
UL (as pyridoxine)	
Children (1–13 years)	30–60 mglday
Adolescents (14–18 years)	80 mglday
Adults (19+ years)	100 mglday
Pregnancy (14–18 years)	80 mglday
Pregnancy (19+ years)	100 mglday
Lactation (14–18 years)	80 mg/day
Lactation (19+ years)	100 mglday

3.9 Pantothenic Acid (65)

Pantothenic acid is essential and is a normal component of our diet. There has been little



Isonicotinic Acid Hydrazide



Isoniazid Pyridoxal Adduct

research done on this vitamin and, therefore, it has adequate intakes (AI) and no RDAs.

3.9.1 Chemistry, Uptake, and Metabolic Role. This vitamin, which can be considered a derivative of β -alanine, is asymmetric (Fig. 8.38). The natural form has the D(+) configuration. The L(-) stereo isomer is inactive. The reduced alcohol form, pantothenol, is considered as equally active as the parent acid. Many of the multiple vitamin products use a synthetic, racemic mixture. This means that double the amount of synthetic vitamin must be used to obtain equivalent active vitamin.

Dietary pantothenic acid is consumed as coenzyme A and the intermediates from coenzyme A's biosynthesis (Fig. 8.39). These are hydrolyzed to free pantothenic acid. Absorption is by saturable, active transport.

Calcium pantothenate is commonly used in dry dosage forms. It is moderately hygroscopic, with a solubility of 1 g/2.8 mL, and is unstable for autoclaving. Neither the parent pantothenic acid nor the sodium salt is commonly used in dosage forms.

Pantothenol (panthenol) is reasonably stable and freely soluble and is used both in injectable and oral dosage forms. Although widely used in

Figure 8.37. Pyridoxal phosphate-isoniazid interaction.

cosmetics including skin creams and shampoos, there is no evidence that this vitamin is effective as a vitamin topically. It apparently has good emollient properties, but these have nothing to do with its systemic role.

Pantothenic acid is a structural component, but not the active site, of coenzyme A. The acyl thiol esters form on the mercaptan moiety that **originates** from a cysteine (Fig. 8.39). The **biosynthesis** of coenzyme A occurs in the tissues requiring it. Because coenzyme A is required for nearly all acyl transfers, biosynthesis takes place in nearly all cells.

3.9.2 Hypervitaminosis Pantothenic Acid. There have been no reports of **toxicity** and no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels. Because its active transport is saturable, excessive uptake is doubtful. Also, this vitamin does not have the mystique that would prompt marketing "high potency" formulations.

3.9.3 Dietary Reference Intakes. There are too few studies to provide sufficient information to estimate Estimated Average Requirements (EAR) or Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA).



Figure 8.38. Forms of pantothenic acid.

AI

1.7-1.8 mg/day Infants 2 4 mg/dayChildren (1–13 years) 5 mg/dayEveryone else 6 mg/dayPregnancy Lactation 7 mglday EAR None reported RDA None reported ULNone reported

3.10 Biotin (66)

Biotin (Fig. 8.40) is essential, a normal constituent of the diet, and required for four **biotin**dependent carboxylation reactions. Eating raw egg white can induce a deficiency.

3.10.1 Uptake. In foods, most biotin is covalently bound (Fig. 8.41) to the apoenzyme, where it is the coenzyme for carboxylation reactions. Intestinal enzymes hydrolyze the **amide** linkage to produce free biotin. Biotin is actively transported through the **intestina** flora into the portal vein and to the liver where it may be stored. It appears that adults may store several months of biotin. From the liver it is transported to tissues where it is needed.

3.10.2 Chemistry. Biotin consists of two 5-membered rings cis-fused to each other that can be drawn either as the keto (urea) or **enolic** form (Fig. 8.40). The enolic d-isomer is the active stereoisomer, but many times commercial multivitamin products contain the synthetic racemic d, l mixture. There is no activity with the 1-stereoisomer.

3.10.3 Metabolic Role. Biotin picks up carbon dioxide that has been activated by combining with an ATP-donated phosphate, producing the mixed anhydride of phosphoric and carbonic acids (Fig. 8.42). The biotin enolate receives the carbon dioxide, producing the keto carbon dioxide-releasing coenzyme.



Coenzyme A (CoASH)

Figure 8.39. Pantothenic acid chemistry.







Figure 8.41. Coenzyme form of biotin.

There are four biotin-dependent **carboxylation** reactions, three of which are in the mitochondria. They are:

1. Pyruvate carboxylase (Fig. 8.43)

This reaction, which converts pyruvate to oxalaceetate, is in the mitochondria and hastwo functions. First, it is the initial reaction in gluconeogenesis to overcome the 14 kcal energy barrier to form **phosphoenol**pyruvate. Second, this same reaction, sometimes referred to as an anapleurotic reaction, ensures that there is adequate oxalacetate when there are large amounts of acetyl **CoA** entering the Krebs cycle.

- 2. Acetyl **CoA** carboxylase (Fig. 8.44) This reaction, found mostly in the **cy-tosol**, is the committed step in the synthesis of fatty acids.
- 3. Propionyl CoA carboxylase (Fig. 8.45) Propionyl CoA is the product from the catabolism of valine, isoleucine, **methio**nine, and odd-numbered fatty acids. The carboxylation reaction, found in the mitochondria, produces methyl malonyl CoA. The latter undergoes a cobalamin (vitamin B_{IZ})-catalyzed rearrangement, forming succinyl CoA, which is metabolized further in the Krebs cycle.
- 4. β-Methylcrotonyl CoA carboxylase (Fig. 8.46)

This mitochondrial reaction permits the final steps in the catabolism of the branched-chain amino acid **leucine**. The final products, acetoacetate and acetyl **CoA**, either are oxidative metabolized to carbon dioxide and water or enter other reactions in lipid metabolism.



Figure 8.42. Biotin binding carbon dioxide.



Figure 8.43. Carboxylation of **pyru**-vate producing oxalacetate.

3.10.4 Biotin Deficiency. Relative to many of the vitamins, it is easy to induce a biotin deficiency by feeding volunteers raw egg white. **Avidin**, a basic protein found in egg white, forms salt linkages with acidic biotin and prevent its transport across the intestinal barrier. Cooked egg white is not a problem. Because biotin is found in the yolk, eating whole raw egg will not induce a deficiency. Deficiencies also were caused in patients on total parenteral nutrition (**TPN**) because biotin was not included in the early formulations. Symptoms include dermatitis, loss of hair color, and central neurological effects.

3.10.5 Hypervitaminosis Biotin. None has been reported in humans and there are no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels.

3.10.6 Dietary Reference Intakes. These have been difficult to determine. There has been some speculation that humans might obtain part of their biotin requirements from the intestinal flora in the colon. The question that has not been adequately answered is whether there is significant absorption of **bacteria-pro**duced biotin from the colon.

AI

Infants	5-6 μg/day
Children (1–13 years)	8-20 μg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	25 μg/day
Adults	³⁰ µg/day
Pregnancy	$30 \ \mu g/day$
Lactation	$35 \ \mu g/day$
EAR	
None reported	
RDA	
None reported	
UL	
None reported	
_	

3.11 Folic Acid (67)

Because all vitamins are essential, it is difficult to state that one vitamin is more important than another. Nevertheless, folic acid, with its coenzyme role in purine biosynthesis, can be considered crucial for some of the cells' most fundamental biochemistry, cell division. This vitamin is intimately tied to vitamin B_{12} (cobalamin), which has made estimating its **DRIs** difficult. Also, conditions that can cause a folic acid deficiency also can result in a vitamin B_{12} deficiency.

3.11.1 Chemistry. The commercial form of the vitamin is folic acid (Fig. 8.47). It consists of a pteridine ring attached to a *p*-aminobenzoic acid that is attached to the a-mine of glutamic acid. Two biosynthetic changes must occur before it is active. First, it must be reduced to tetrahydrofolate by dihydrofolate **re**ductase in a two-step reduction (Fig. 8.48). Notice that niacin is required for this reduction. Second, a polyglutamate chain must be attached to the γ -carboxyl of the parent glutamic acid (Fig. 8.47). The remaining linkages of the polyglutamate chain are traditional a-amino-a-carboxyl peptides.

The natural vitamin is made up of a family of polyglutamates all connected to the initial glutamic acid at the previously described γ -carboxyl group. The length of this polyglutamate chain varies with the source of the vitamin, but lengths of 3, 5, and 7 amino acids are seen. The most common polyglutamate found in food is 5-methyltetrahydrofolate polyglutamate (Fig. 8.47).

3.11.2 Uptake. The dietary polyglutamates are cleaved to the monoglutamate vita-





Figure 8.45. Carboxylation of propionyl CoA producing methylmalonyl CoA.

min by a y-L-glutamylcarboxy peptidase, commonly called conjugase. Folic acid is absorbed as the monoglutamate. Conjugase is found in the brush border of the intestine. Therefore, chronic inflammatory conditions in the intestine lead to low conjugase activity, which can result in significant decreased folic acid absorption.

The absorbed vitamin must be converted to the coenzyme form. This requires adding back a five- to seven-member glutamate chain and commercial folic acid must undergo the twostep reduction to tetrahydrofolic acid. There are two common abbreviations for the reduced form, FH_4 and THF. These reactions apparently occur in a wide variety of tissues. The liver contains about a 3- to 6-month supply of the vitamin, presumably in the polyglutamate form.

3.11.3 Metabolic Roles. There are five forms of tetrahydrofolate polyglutamate, some of which are coenzymes (Fig. 8.49). The most highly oxidized is 10-formyl tetrahydro-

folate polyglutamate, produced by addition of formic acid to tetrahydroformate **polygluta**mate. It is the coenzyme for two reactions in purine **biosynthesis**: (1) the synthesis of formylglycine ribotide (**FGAR**) from glycine amide ribotide (GAR) and (2) the formation of **aminoimidazole carboxamide** ribotide (**AICAR**) to formamidoimidazole carbxamide ribotide (**FAICAR**) (Fig. 8.50).

5,10-Methenyl tetrahydroformate **polyglutamate** is the cyclic enamime formed from **10**formyl tetrahydroformate polyglutamate. It also is formed from the catabolism of histidine and can be considered an intermediate between the 10-formyl compound and, upon reduction, **5,10-methylene** tetrahydroformate polyglutamate. The latter is the coenzyme required for the interconversion of serine and glycine and the methylation of **deoxyuridylic** acid forming **deoxythymidylic** acid (Figs. 8.49 and 8.51). **Most** of the one-carbon units carried on position 5 or 10 or **5,10** bridge come from serine.



Figure 8.46. Role of biotin in leucine catabolism.



Figure 8.47. Common forms of folic acid and methotrexate.

The most reduced coenzyme is 5-methyl tetrahydrofolate polyglutamate. It is the source of the methyl group added to homocysteine regenerating methionine and tetrahydrofolate ready to accept a one-carbon unit from formate or serine. This last reaction is where folic acid and vitamin B_{12} come together (Figs. 8.49, 8.52, and 8.53). The implications of this reaction and how folic acid can **mask** pernicious anemia are discussed in the section on vitamin B_{12} (cyanocobalamin). Note that the formation of 5-methyl-THF normally is not reversible. Tetrahydrofolate can be regenerated only if there is adequate methyl cobalamin coenzyme.

The fifth tetrahydrofolate compound is 5-formyl THF (folinicacid, **citrovorum** factor). This compound is not a coenzyme, but it can be converted to any of the active coenzyme forms. It is administered after treatment with the dihydrofolate reductase inhibitor, **metho**-trexate (Fig. **8.47**), as a form of rescue therapy. Because it already is in the reduced tetrahy-drofolate form, it does not need dihydrofolate reductase to become an active coenzyme.

3.11.4 Folic Acid Deficiency. It is obvious that folic acid is a very important vitamin for biosynthetic reactions, particularly those required for the biosynthesis of purines, **methyl**-



Figure 8.48. Reduction of folic acid to tetrahydrofolate.

ation of deoxyuridylic acid, and regeneration of methionine from homocysteine. The main deficiency is a characteristic megaloblastic anemia attributed to a shortage of nucleotides required for the production of erythrocyte precursor cells.

Another clinical sign of folic acid deficiency is neural tube defects, including spina bifida and anencephaly. Neural tube defects constitute one of the main reasons that federal regulations mandate supplementing cereal **grain**based foods with folic acid along with thiamine, riboflavin, and niacin (68, 69). **Al**though prenatal multiple vitamins contain adequate amounts of folic acid, pregnant women may not start taking these products until the second or third month of the their pregnancies, and this may be too late.

A **third** indication of inadequate **folic** acid is elevated blood homocysteine levels, with attendant increased **risk** of cardiovascular **disease**. This hypothesis is based on an observation that **individuals** with increased blood vessel plaque buildup also show increased levels of homocysteine. The elevated homocysteine can be corrected, at least partially, with folate supplements. Figure 8.52 illustrates why the three vitamins, pyridoxine, folic acid, and vitamin B_{12} , are indicated for elevated levels of homocysteine. Pyridoxal phosphate (PLP) and cobalamin (B_{12}) are required for the catabolism of homocysteine to succinyl CoA. Methyl cobalamine (methyl B_{12}) is required for the conversion of homocysteine back to methionine.

There are many causes of folic acid deficiencies. Inadequate nutrition during periods of increased requirements is one of the main causes of megaloblastic anemia of pregnancy and neural tube defects. Alcoholism is considered the leading cause of folic acid deficiency **3 Vitamins**



Figure 8.49. Formation of folic acid coenzymes.

in the United States (70, 71). There are two ways that excessive alcohol consumption can interfere with folic acid activity: impairment of folic acid reduction to the active THF forms and interference with folic acid storage and release from the liver. A third cause of folic acid deficiency is chronic inflammation of the intestinal mucosa. Inflammation can reduce production of the required conjugase enzyme, which removes the polyglutamate chain,



Figure 8.50. Coenzyme roles for 10-formyl THF.



Figure 8.51. Methylation of deoxyuridylic acid forming deoxythymidylic acid.

and/or an inflamed mucosa inhibits folate transport. Finally, anticonvulsants such as phenytoin somehow interfere with folic acid uptake or utilization.

The dihydrofolate reductase inhibitor, methotrexate (Fig. 8.47), was developed as an anticancer drug, whose inhibition of formation of folic acid coenzymes would block purine synthesis. In other words, it was designed to induce a folic acid deficiency. Notice in Figs. 8.50 and 8.51 that formation of dTMP, FGAR, and AICAR also causes the oxidation of tetrahydrofolate to dihydrofolate. The latter must be reduced by dihydrofolate reductase to tetrahydrofolate before active coenzyme can form again. Thus, not only does methotrexate inhibit the initial formation of the tetrahydrofolate moiety, it blocks regeneration of the coenzyme form.

3.11.5 Hypervitaminosis Folic Acid. This apparently is not a problem. Transport across the intestinal mucosa may be regulated by a feedback mechanism or the rate of hydrolysis of the polyglutamate chain or a combination of both. What is very important is that **taking** the vitamin in doses above $400 \mu g$ ($800 \mu g$ in pregnant and lactating women) can mask the **macrocytic** anemia seen **with** pernicious anemia caused by a cyanocobalamin deficiency (Fig. 8.53). The Tolerable Upper Limit is based on trying to avoid this **masking**. Therefore, the UL to RDA ratio is low (2–2.5) in adults.

3.11.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

AI	
Infants	65–80 µg/day
EAR	
Children (1–8years)	120–160 µg/day
Children (9–13 years)	250 µg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	330 µg/day
Adults (19–50+ years)	320 µg/day
Pregnancy	520 µg/day
Lactation	450 μ g/day
RDA	
Children (1–8years)	150–200 μg/day
Children (9–13 years)	300 μg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	400 pglday
Adults (15–50+ years)	$400 \mu \text{g/day}$
Pregnancy	600 µg/day
Lactation	500 μg/day
UL (from fortified food or	
supplements)	
Children (1–3 years)	300 µg/day
Children (4–8 years)	400 µg/day
Children (9–13 years)	600 µg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	800 pglday
Adults (19+ years)	1000 μg/day
Pregnancy (14–18 years)	800 µg/day
Pregnancy (19+ years)	1000 pglday
Lactation (14–18 years)	800 μg/day
Lactation (19+ years)	$1000 \ \mu g/day$

3.12 Vitamin B_{12} (Cobalamin) (72)

This **chemically** very complex **vitamin** is re**quired** for two reactions, the methylation of ho-



Figure 8.52. Methionine metabolism.



Figure 8.53. Methyl trap hypothesis.

mocysteine to methionine and rearrangement of methyl malonyl CoA to succinyl CoA. A deficiency leads to pernicious anemia, at one time a disease whose prognosis was death. Because folic acid can mask the blood picture of a cobalamin deficiency, it has become important for physiciansto order tests specific for the vitamin.

3.12.1 Chemistry. The cobalamin family consists of a **corrin** ring (Fig. **8.54**). It is similar to that of the **porphyrin** ring system, except that there is no methylene or **methine** bridge between **pyrrole** rings A and D, and it contains cobalt rather than iron. The commercial form sold in the United States is cyanocobalamin. The **hydroxy** dosage form also has been used. The **coenzyme** forms include methyl and **ad**enosyl **cobalamin**. The commercial vitamin is produced from bacterial fermentation.

3.12.2 Uptake. Uptake of the vitamin from food and vitamin products is complex. Indeed, most deficiencies are not from inadequate diet, but result from defects in the uptake process. Dietary **cobalamin** requires a

fully functioning stomach and ileum of the small intestine (73). Parietal cells in the stomach produce hydrochloric acid, to free the vitamin from the food, and "intrinsic factor," a glycoprotein that binds cobalamin. This complex attaches to specific receptors in the ileum. Eventually, the vitamin passes into systemic circulation and is transported by a series of plasma-binding proteins, the transcobalamins. About 50% of the absorbed vitamin reaches the liver, with the remainder transported to other tissues.

Humans are efficient recyclers of vitamin B_{12} because of **enterohepatic** circulation. The vitamin is secreted in the bile. Upon combining with intrinsic factor, the absorption process is repeated. This recirculation probably explains why dietary deficiencies are uncommon and why the inability to produce intrinsic factor results in vitamin B_{12} deficiency, even though there may be adequate dietary intake.

3.12.3 Biochemical Role. Cobalamin is a coenzyme in only two reactions, but they are basic to the health of the individual. Methyl



Figure 8.54. Vitamin B_{12} and coenzyme forms.

cobalamin is required for the regeneration of methionine from homocysteine. 5-Methyltetrahydrofolate polyglutarnate is also required (Figs. 8.49 and 8.53). The second reaction is the rearrangement of methylmalonyl CoA to succinyl CoA with adenosylcobalamin as the coenzyme (Fig. 8.55). Odd-numbered fatty acids and the amino acids valine, isoleucine, and



Figure 8.55. Cobalamin-catalyzed mutase reaction.

3 Vitamins

methionine produce propionyl CoA as part of their catabolism. Biotin-catalyzed carboxylation (Fig. 8.45) yields **D-methylmalonyl CoA**, which must be epimerized to the *L*-stereoisomer. The latter undergoes a rearrangement to succinyl CoA, which enters the Kreb cycle for final degradation. There has been considerable debate as to the mechanism of this rearrangement, but the general consensus is that there are free-radical intermediates (74–76).

3.12.4 Cobalmin **Deficiency.** Pernicious anemia is the disease associated with vitamin B_{12} deficiency. It is usually caused by the inability to produce intrinsic factor. Indeed, many times the vitamin must be administered by injection. The blood picture, a megaloblastic anemia, is indistinguishable from that caused by folic acid deficiency. Indeed folic acid supplements can mask the blood picture. This is illustrated in Fig. 8.53. Removal of **ad**enosyl cobalamin eliminates the regeneration of tetrahydrofolate during the methylation of homocysteine to methionine. Folic acid supplements provide a fresh source of tetrahydrofolate coenzymes. DNA synthesis can continue and new erythrocytes form. Excess folic acid also may compete for the available vitamin, further exacerbating vitamin B_{12} deficiency.

Pernicious anemia can be lethal if not treated because of nerve damage. There are two explanations for the cause of this damage, both involving an excess of methylmalonyl **CoA**. Methylmalonyl **CoA** is a competitive inhibitor of malonyl **CoA** during fatty acid synthesis. This may impede repair of the **myelin** sheath surrounding nerves. Alternatively, methylmalonyl **CoA** replaces malonyl **CoA** as a substrate in fatty acid synthesis, producing fatty acids with methyl substituents. These are incorporated into the lipids components of the **myelin** sheath, producing a **nonfunction**ing **myelin** sheath.

3.1 2.5 Hypervitaminosis B, 2. The vitamin is considered nontoxic. There has been some concern that the presence of the CN^- anion in the commercial vitamin might cause problems with megadoses. However, 1000 μ g of cyanocobalamin contains only 0.02 mg of CN. There are no Tolerable Upper Intake Levels.

3.12.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

AT

*	
Infants	0.4-0.5 μg/day
EAR	
Children (1–13 years)	0.7-1.5 μg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	2.0 pglday
Men and Women	2 μg/day
(19-50+ years)	
Pregnancy	2.2 pglday
Lactation	2.4 pglday
RDA	
Children (1–13 years)	0.9–1.8 μg/day
Adolescents (14–18 years)	2.4 μg/day
Men and Women	2.4 pglday
(19-50 + years)	
Pregnancy	2.6 pglday
Lactation	2.8 pglday
UL	
None reported	

3.13 Ascorbic Acid (Vitamin C) (77)

Deficiencies of this vitamin have been associated with the early sailors who lacked fresh fruit and vegetables. However, it was a problem on land and was seen in the Irish potato famine, the California gold miners, and territorial prisons. There long has been a mystique surrounding this vitamin, with interest sharply increasing when Linus Pauling published his book Vitamin C and the Common *Cold*, forcing the medical, nutritional, and biochemical professions to reexamine carefully the role of this essential nutrient in human health. A significant problem with studying this vitamin is the fact that ascorbic acid is not a vitamin in most animals. It was not until the discovery that guinea pigs also require ascorbate that animal experiments could be conducted.

3.13.1 Chemistry. Ascorbic acid is derived from the aldonic acid form of L-gulose (Figs. 8.56 and 8.57). There are two enolic **proton**-donor groups, with the one at position 3 being the most acidic with a $\mathbf{pK}_{\mathbf{a}}$ value of 4.1. Ascorbic acid is easily oxidized to the dehydro form without loss of vitamin activity, but the lactone ring now hydrolyzes easily, producing inactive open chain product.

Most animals, except for primates and guinea pigs, produce their own ascorbic acid





Figure 8.57. Outline of ascorbic acid biosynthesis.

Enzyme	Reaction	Contribution
Dopamine-β-hydroxylase	Hydroxylate dopamine phenethyl chain	Synthesis of norephrine
Peptidyl-glycine monooxygenase	Amidate carboxyl end of peptide hormones	Biosynthesis of peptide hormones
4-Hydroxyphenyl- pyruvatedioxygenase	Hydroxylate phenylalanine	Synthesis of tyrosine
Proline hydroxylase	Posttranslational Hydroxylation of proline	Crosslinking of collagen
Lysine hydroxylase	Postfranslational hydroxylation of lysine	Crosslinking of collagen
Trimethyl lysine hydroxylase	Hydroxylation of trimethyl lysine	Carnitine synthesis
4-Butyrobetaine hydroxylase	Oxidation of 4-butyrobetaine aldehyde	Carnitine synthesis
Cytochrome P450 isozymes	Oxidation of steroids	Corticosteroid biosynthesis

 Table 8.5
 Metabolic Roles of Ascorbic Acid (Vitamin C)

from glucose (Fig. 8.57). The pathway follows the standard route to glucuronic acid. The **al**dose carbon is reduced to an alcohol and, following normal carbohydrate-naming convention, the former carbon **6** of D-glucuronic acid becomes carbon 1 of L-gulonic acid. Cyclic L-gulonolactone forms and is oxidized to L-ascorbic acid. Humans and primates lack **gu**lonolactone oxidase.

3.13.2 Uptake. Ascorbic acid is absorbed from the intestine by a sodium-dependent active transport system that is saturable. As the concentration of vitamin C increases in the intestinal tract, the absorption changes to passive diffusion. Once in systemic circulation, there are specific transporters based on cell types.

3.13.3 Metabolic Roles. Ascorbic acid is an electron donor required for a variety of oxidative processes. It is readily regenerated by **glu**tathione, NAD, and NADP and thus has a long biological half-life. Currently, there are eight known human enzymes that require ascorbic acid, and they are listed in Table 8.5. The precise metabolic roles have not been completely elucidated, but it appears that in the **met**-alloenzymes, ascorbate reduces the active metal site. In addition to these specific enzymes, ascorbic acid seems to function as a free-radical scavenger in the aqueous phase of plasma and cells.

3.1 3.4 Ascorbic Acid Deficiency. Scurvy is the classical disease associated with ascorbate deficiency. It is a disease of the connective tissue and probably is caused by inadequate crosslinking attributed to a lack of hydroxylated proline and lysine. Many consider scurvy to be an advanced stage of ascorbate deficiency. Chronic deficiencies may also (1)increase risk for malignancies, as evidenced by oxidized DNA markers and increased concentrations of reactive oxygen species; (2) decreased immune function, as evidenced by less vitamin in neutrophils and lymphocytes; (3) cardiovascular disease caused by the inflammatory response on the blood vessel walls; and (4) cataract formation caused by decreased concentrations of ascorbate in the ocular tissues.

3.13.5 Hypervitaminosis C. The vitamin is considered very safe. At one time, many of the over-the-counter products contained significant amounts of sodium ascorbate, which would be contraindicated in people on low sodium diets. Today's products are virtually sodium free unless labeled otherwise. Nevertheless, there are intermittent reports of adverse reactions associated with high doses. Therefore, there are Tolerable Upper Intake Levels, but these are very high relative to the **RDAs**. The UL to RDA ratio averages about 20.

3.13.6 Dietary Reference Intakes.

AI

Infants	40–50 mglday
EAR	
Children (1–8 years)	13–22 mglday
Boys (9–18 years)	39-63 mg/day
Girls (9-18 years)	39–56 mglday
Men (19–70 + years)	75 mg/day
Women (19–70+)	60 mglday
Pregnancy	66–70 mglday
Lactation	96–100 mglday
RDA	
Children (1–8 years)	15-25 mglday
Boys (9-18 years)	45–75 mg/day
Girls (9–18 years)	45-65 mglday
Men (19-70+ years)	90 mglday
Women (19–70+)	75 mglday
Pregnancy	80–85 mglday
Lactation	115–120 mg/day
UL	
Infants	Not established;
	use formula
	and food only
Children (1-8 years)	400–650 mglday
Boys and Girls (9–	1200 mg/day
13 years)	
Adolescents (14-18	1800 mglday
years)	
Adults (19+ years)	2000 mglday
Pregnancy	1800–2000 mglday
Lactation	1800–2000 mg/day

REFERENCES

- M. K. Horwit, A. E. Harper, and L. M. Henderson, *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 34,423–427 (1981).
- The Role of Protein and Amino Acids in Sustaining and Enhancing Performance, Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC, 1999, p. 171.
- 3. Scientific Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, **1997–1999.**
- 4. E. R. Monsen, J. Am. Diet. Assoc., 89, 1748 (1989).
- Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium and Zinc, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 2001.

- 6. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium and Carotenoids, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 2000.
- 7. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium, Vitamin D and Fluoride, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1997.
- 8. Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin B_6 , Folate, Vitamin B_{12} , Pantothenic Acid, Biotin and Choline, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, **1998.**
- 9. See Ref. 5, pp. 82-131.
- 10. C. E. West, Nutr. Rev., 58,341-345 (2000).
- **11.** R. Blomhoff, M. H. Green, T. Berg, and K. R. Norum, *Science*, **250**, **399–404** (1990).
- 12. Information on approved drugs in this chapter will be found in the package inserts. These are available in the *Physicians Desk Reference, USP Drug Information for the Health Care Professional,* and the Food and Drug Administration web site, www.fda.gov.
- 13. L. Roberts, Science, 239, 564 (1998).
- 14. M. S. Tallman, N. Engl. J. Med., 337, 1021-1028 (1997).
- 15. See Ref. 7, pp. 250-257.
- 16. W. F. Loomis, Sci. Am., 223, 76-82 (1970).
- 17. M. T. Weick, *Am.J. Clin. Nutr.*, 20, 1234–1241 (1967).
- 18. J. A. MacLaughlin, R. R. Anderson, and M. F. Holick, *Science*, 216, 1001–1003 (1982).
- 19. K. T. Koshy, J. Pharm. Sci., 71, 137-153 (1982).
- 20. P. P. Minghetti and A. W. Norman, *FASEB* J.,
 2. 3043–3053 (1988).
- 21. S. Fitzpatrick, N. Sheard, N. B. Clark, and M. L. Ritter, *Nutr. Rev.*, 58, 218–222 (2000).
- T. D. Thacher, P. R. Fischer, J. M. Pettifor, J.O. Lawson, C. O. Isichei, J. C. Reading, and G. M. Chan, N. Engl. J. Med., 341,563–568 (1999).
- 23. W. P. Stephens, P. S. Klimiuk, J. L. Berry, and E. B. Mawer, *Lancet*, November 1199-1201 (1981).
- 24. J. T. Dwyer, W. H. Dietz Jr., G. Hass, and R. Suskind, Am. J. Dis. Child., 133, 134-140 (1979).
- 25. L. Finberg, Am. J. Dis. Child., 133, 129 (1979).
- 26. K. Z. Guyton, T. W. Kensler, and G. H. Posner, Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 41, 421-442 (2001).
- M. Makishima, T. T. Lu, W. Xie, G. K. Whitfield, H. Domoto, R. M. Evans, M. R. Haussler, and D. J. Mangelsdorf, *Science*, 296,1313–1316 (2002).

- **28.** T. M. Beer, M. Munar, and W. David Henner, *Cancer*, **91,2431–2439**(2001).
- R. G. Mehta, R. M. Moriaty, R. Rajeshwari, R. Penmasta, G. Laaro, A. Constantinou, and L. Guo, J. Natl. Cancer. Inst., 89,212–218 (1997).
- G. G. Schwartz, C. C. Hill, T. A. Oeler, M. J. Becich, and R. R. Bahnson, Urology, 46, 365–369 (1995).
- M. Koike, K. Koshizuka, H. Kawabata, R. Yang, H. E. Taub, J. Said, M. Uskokovic, N. Tsuruoka, and H. P. Koeffler, *Anticancer Res.*, 19, 1689– 1698 (1999).
- G. H. Posner, B. A. Halford, S. Peleg, P. Dolan, and T. W. Kensler, J. Med. Chem., 45, 1723– 1730 (2002).
- 33. See Ref. 6, pp. 186-283.
- **34.** The normal situation seen with vitamins that have two or more stereoisomers is only one isomer is **active**. Thus a **racemic** (**usually** represented as *d*,*l*) mixture contains **50%** of the activity compared with an equimolar amount of the active isomer. Examples where only one isomer is active includes d-pantothenic acid, **D-biotin**, and **D-ascorbic** acid.
- 35. A. Kamal-Eldin and L-A. Appelqvist, *Lipids*, 31, 671–701 (1996).
- 36. H. R. Taylor, G. Tikellis, L. D. Robman, C. A. McCarty, and J. J. McNeil, Br. Med. J., 325, 11–14 (2002).
- 37. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group, *Lancet*, 360,2343 (2002).
- **38.** See Ref. **5**, pp. **162–196**.
- **39.** P. Weber, *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.*, **67**, 350–356 (1997).
- 40. D. Feskanich, P. Weber, W. C. Willet, H. Rockett, S. L. Booth, and G. A. Colditz, Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 69, 74–79 (1999).
- P. J. Caraballo, J. A. Heit, E. J. Atkinson, M. D. Silverstein, W. M. O'Fallon, M. R. Castro, and J. Melton III, Arch. Int. Med., 159, 1750–1756 (1999).
- 42. A. Schaafsma, F. A. J. Muskiet, H. Storm, G. J. H. Hofstede, I. Pakan, and E. Van der Veer, *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 54, 626–631 (2000).
- 43. See Ref. 8, pp. 58-86.
- 44. S. E. Lederer, Nature, 407,835 (2000).
- 45. A. M. Hoyumpa, Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 33, 2750– 2761 (1980).
- **46.** See Ref. **8**, pp. **87–122**.
- 47. See Ref. 8, pp. 123-149.
- 48. W. A. Krehl, Fed. Proc., 40,1527-1530(1981).
- 49. T. W. Stone, *Pharmacol. Rev.*, 45, 310–379 (1993).

- 50. T. W. Stone, *Quinolinic Acid and the Kynurenines*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1988.
- 51. W. H. Sebrell Jr., *Fed. Proc.*, 40, 1520–1522 (1981).
- 52. D. A. Roe, Fed. Proc., 40,1523-1526(1981).
- 53. K. J. Carpenter, *Fed. Proc.*, 40, 1531-1535 (1981).
- 54. R.A. Kreisberg, Am. J. Med., 9,313-316(1994).
- **55.** V. E. James, *U.S. Pharmacist*, **20**, **51–60** (February **1995**).
- M. K. Horwitt, A. E. Harper, and L. M. Henderson, *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 34,423–427 (1981).
- 57. Nutr. Rev., 32, 76-77 (1974).
- 58. See Ref. 8, pp. 150-195.
- E. G. J. Vermeulen, C. D. A. Stehouwer, J. W. R. Twisk, M. van den Berg, S. C. de Jong, A. J. C. Mackaay, C. M. C van Campen, F. C. Visser, C. A. J. M. Jakobs, E. J. Bulterijs, and J. A. Rauwerda, *Lancet*, 355,517–522 (2000).
- 60. H. Bhagavan in R. D. Reynolds and J. E. Leklem, Eds., Vitamin B₆: Its Role in Health and Disease, Alan R. Liss, New York, 1985, pp. 410–415.
- 61. R. B. Byrd, B. R. Horn, D. A. Solomon, and G. A. Griggs, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 241, 1239–1241 (1979).
- 62. Nutr. Rev., 42, 44-46 (1984).
- 63. Nutr. Rev., 42, 49-51 (1984).
- 64. H. Schaumburg, J. Kaplan, A. Windebank, N. Vick, S. Rasmus, D. Pleasure, and M. J. Brown, *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 309,445-448 (1983).
- 65. See Ref. 8, pp. 357-373.
- 66. See Ref. 8, pp. 374-389.
- 67. See Ref. 8, pp. 196-305.
- M. A. Honein, L. J. Pauloi, T. J. Mathews, J. D. Erickson, and L.-Y. C. Wong, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 285,2981–2986 (2001).
- 69. M. R. Malinow, P. B. Duell, D. L. Hess, P. H. Anderson, W. D. Kruger, B. E. Phillipson, R. A. Gluckman, P. C. Block, and B. M. Upson, N. Engl. J. Med., 338, 1009–1015 (1998).
- 70. R. S. Hillman and S. E. Steinberg, Annu. Rev. Med., 33,345–354 (1982).
- 71. C. Halsted, Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 33, 2736–2740 (1980).
- 72. See Ref. 8, pp. 306-356.
- 73. C. R. Kapadia and R. M. Donaldson, *Annu. Rev. Med.*, 36, 93–110 (1985).
- 74. D. M. Smith, B. T. Golding, and L. Radom, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 121,9388-9399 (1999).
- 75. J. H. Grate, J. W. Grate, and G. N. Gerhard, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 104, 1588–1594 (1982).

76. J. Halpern, Science, 227,869–875 (1985).
77. See Ref. 6, pp. 95–185.

BIBLIOGRAPHY AND FURTHER READINGS

- Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium, Vitamin D and Fluoride, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1997.
- Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin B_6 , Folate, Vitamin B_{12} , **Panto**thenic Acid, Biotin and Choline, Food and Nutri-

tion Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1998.

- Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium and Carotenoids, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 2000.
- Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium and Zinc, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 2001.

CHAPTER NINE

Lifestyle and Over-the-Counter Drugs

KHAWLA ABU-IZZA Sanofi-Synthelabo Research Malvern, Pennsylvania

VINCENT LI Wyeth Consumer Healthcare Richmond, Virginia

GRAHAM **PARR** Wyeth Consumer Healthcare Hampshire, United Kingdom

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery

Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology

Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 422
- 2 Self-Medication, 423
- 3 Over-the-counter Drugs, 423
 - 3.1 OTC Drug Classification
 - in the United States, 424
 - 3.1.1 History of the Regulatory Approval Process, 424
 - 3.1.2 OTC Drug Review, 424
 - 3.1.2.1 Phase 1: Advisory Panel Review, 424
 - 3.1.2.2 Phase 2: FDA Review, 425
 - 3.1.2.3 Phase 3: The Final Monograph, 425
 - 3.1.3 OTC Classification After OTC Drug Review, 426
 - 3.1.4 Criteria for Reclassification of Drug/ Rx-to-OTC Switch, 427
 - 3.1.4.1 Safety, 427
 - 3.1.4.2 Effectiveness, 427
 - 3.1.4.3 Labeling, 427
 - 3.2 OTC Classification in Europe, 428
- 3.3 OTC Classification in Japan, 430
- 4 Lifestyle Drugs, 431
- 5 Hair Growth Disorders, 433
 - 5.1 Clinical Use, 433
 - 5.1.1 Current Drugs, 433
 - 5.1.2 Adverse Effects, 434
 - 5.1.3 Pharmacokinetics, 434
 - 5.2 Physiology and Pharmacology, 435
5.2.1Physiology of Hair Growth, 435 5.2.2 Role of 5-a-Reductase, 435 5.2.3 Mechanisms of Action, 435 5.2.3.1 Minoxidil, 435 5.2.3.**F**inasteride, 436 5.2.3. Eflornithine, 436 5.3Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships, 437 5.3.1Minoxidil, 437 5.3.25 α -Reductase Inhibitors, 437 5.4History, 438 5.5Current and Future Trends, 440 6 Sexual Disorders, 440 6.1Clinical Use, 442 6.1.1Current Drugs, 442 6.1.2Adverse Effects, 443 6.1.3Pharmacokinetics, 444 6.1.3. Bildenafil, 444 6.1.3.2 Alprostadil, 444 6.1.3.3Yohimbine, 444 6.2Physiology and Pharmacology, 444 6.2.1Physiology of Erection, 444 6.2.2 Role of Nitric Oxide, 445 6.2.3 Other Mediators, 445 6.2.4 Causes of Erectile Dysfunction, 445 6.2.5Mechanisms of Action, 446 6.2.5. Sildenafil, 446 6.2.5. Alprostadil, 446 6.2.5.**Y**ohimbine, 446 6.2.5. **O**ther Agents, 446 6.3Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships, 446 6.4History, 447 6.5 Future Trends, 449 7 Smoking Cessation Agents, 450 7.1 Clinical Use, 451 7.1.1Current Drugs, 451 7.1.2Adverse Effects, 451 7.1.3Pharmacokinetics, 453 7.2Physiology and Pharmacology, 454 7.2.1Pharmacological Action of Nicotine, 454

1 INTRODUCTION

The landscape of the pharmaceutical industry has undergone significant changes in recent years. The changes were brought about by increased demand from consumers to take control of their health (1-3), direct-to-consumer (DTC) advertising of prescription drugs (4, 5), technological advances in genomic research (6), and the search for blockbuster drugs by pharmaceutical companies (7). Today, con-

7.2.1. Neurological Basis of Nicotine Dependence, 454 7.2.1. Peripheral Pharmacological Actions of Nicotine, 455 7.2.2 Bupropion Mechanism of Action, 455 7.3Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships, 455 7.3.1Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors, 455 7.3.28 tructural Requirements for nAChR Ligands, 456 7.3.3SAR of Bupropion and Its Analogs, 456 7.4History, 457 7.5Current and Future Trends, 458 8 Sunscreens, 458 8.1Clinical Use, 460 8.1.1Current Drugs, 460 8.1.28 ide Effects, 461 8.1.3 Absorption and Disposition, 462 8.2Physiology and Pharmacology, 463 8.2.1Acute Effects of UVR, 464 8.2.2 Chronic Effects of UVR, 464 8.2.2. Adaptive Responses, 464 8.2.2.2 Photoaging, 465 8.2.2. Carcinogenesis, 465 8.2.3 Mechanisms of Action of Sunscreens, 466 8.2.4Sun Protection Factor, 467 8.3Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships, 467 8.3.1Aminobenzoates, 467 8.3.2 Salicylates, 468 8.3.3 Cinnamates, 469 8.3.4Benzophenones, 469 8.3.5Anthranilates, 469 8.3. Dibenzoylmethanes, 469 8.3.7Physical (Particulate)Sunscreens, 470 8.4History, 470 8.4.1 Emergence of Sunscreens, 470 8.4.2 History of FDA Regulations, 470

- 8.5Current and Future Trends, 472
- 9 Future Trends for OTC and Lifestyle Drugs, 473

sumers are more informed and want to take control of their health. The best example is the increased popularity of dietary supplements and the consumer lobbying to pass the Dietary Supplements Education and Health Act in the United States (8,9). The relaxation of the direct-to-consumer advertising regulation in **1997** provides an excellent avenue for the pharmaceutical industry to promote new therapeutic categories of prescription drugs such as lifestyle drugs that cater to lifestyle **en**-

3 Over-the-counter Drugs

hancement to the consumers. The desire of the aging baby-boomer to maintain an active lifestyle (10) and the difficulty of searching for blockbuster drugs in traditional therapeutic areas provide an excellent environment for the birth of lifestyle drugs.

The landscape of self-care has also undergone significant changes in recent years as consumers become more informed and as more highly effective prescription drugs (Rx) are switched to over-the-counter (OTC). The demand of the baby-boomer consumers to look and feel young has given rise to the popularity of dietary supplements (13, 14) and the socalled "cosmeceuticals" (10, 11).Some of the more successful Rx-to-OTC switches (e.g., hair-growth, smoking cessation) in recent years are related to lifestyle enhancement. Such lifestyle-enhancing products help create new therapeutic areas in the OTC drug arena.

This chapter will attempt to show how lifestyle drugs and over-the counter-drugs relate to each other and the challenges that they face. At first glance, they seem to be oceans apart; the former are mainly available by prescriptions and the latter are available without prescription. However, lifestyle drugs bear some resemblance to the over-the-counter drugs in that both are primarily for non-life threatening conditions and are heavily promoted by direct-to-consumer advertisement. Moreover, consumers and patients are taking an active role in choosing these two groups of products. Furthermore, they both cater to improve the quality of life of the consumers. Finally, lifestyle prescription drugs with low side effects will be ideal candidates for Rx-to-OTC switch. The following sections will provide an overview of OTC drugs, selected examples of lifestyle drugs, and the future of both groups.

2 SELF-MEDICATION

Before we discuss OTC drugs and lifestyle drugs, we would like to provide a brief overview of self-medication to help gain an appreciation of the changing attitudes of consumers. A recent survey conducted by Roper Starch Worldwide Inc. on behalf of the Consumer Healthcare Products Association (CHPA)showed that American consumers are increasingly comfortable with self-medication for minor medical problems. Some of the findings (2) are as follows:

- 73% would rather self-treat than see a doctor
- 96% say they are confident about their healthcare decision
- 80% used at least one OTC product to treat minor ailments
- approximately 90% of consumers read the label for possible side effects the first time they use an OTC product
- 57% of consumers say they are using or considering the use of dietary supplements
- 80% of those who take dietary supplements are happy with the outcomes

The above attitudes toward self-medication strongly suggest that American consumers cherish self-reliance and convenience. Similar attitudes are held by European consumers (3, 15) and are beginning to shape Japanese consumers (16). Today, consumers are generally better informed because of DTC advertising on television and the vast amount of medical information available on the internet. Consumers use OTC products to treat a variety of minor ailments such as headache, upset stomach, cough, and cold.

3 OVER-THE-COUNTER DRUGS

In the United States, there are two classes of drug products: prescription and nonprescription. Nonprescription drugs are often referred to as over-the-counter drugs because they are available for general sale to consumers without a prescription (17). Consumers can purchase OTC drug products off the shelf from a variety of mass distribution outlets such as convenience, grocery, and drug stores, with the exception of Schedule V Controlled Substance and insulin products, which are kept behind the pharmacist counter and dispensed by pharmacists. In European countries, most OTC drugs are only available at the pharmacy, although in some countries, e.g., U.K., the simplest products are widely available through general sale (18, 19). However, there is a growing trend to allow more non-prescription products to be sold outside the pharmacy. When we speak about OTC products, we also include medical devices such as pregnancy test kits and dietary supplements. This chapter will focus on OTC drugs only. The emphasis will be on the U.S. OTC drug classification process, with a brief overview of the OTC drug classification processes in Europe and Japan.

3.1 OTC Drug Classification in the United States

To gain a better understanding of the OTC classification process, we need to take a look at the history of the regulatory process in the United States.

3.1.1 History of the Regulatory Approval **Process.** The process of drug approval underwent an evolutionary change throughout the 20th century (20, 21). Major changes are invariably triggered by some public health hazards. The first major piece of legislation at the beginning of this century was the 1906 Pure Food and Drug Act, which mandated that the labeling on the package be truthful. There was no requirement for safety and efficacy as we know today. The New Drug Application (NDA) process did not begin until the passage of the original 1938 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic (FD&C) Act, which only demanded that the manufacturer submitted an NDA with safety data before marketing a new drug. The manufacturer could market the product if the FDA had no objection to the NDA within 60 days. It was up to the manufacturer to decide whether or not the new drug would be prescription or OTC. The distinction between prescription drugs and OTC drugs is based on the Durham-Humphrey amendment in 1951, which limited the following three classes of drugs to prescription status (22):

- 1. Certain habit-forming drugs
- 2. Drugs that cannot be safely used without professional supervision
- **3.** Drugs limited to prescription under an NDA

A subsequent 1962 amendment (Kefauver-Harris) to the 1938 FD&C Act in 1962 clarified that drug products must be both safe and efficacious and be approved by the FDA before marketing (23). As a result of the 1962 amendment, the FDA was required to retrospectively review all NDAs approved between 1938 and 1962 for both efficacy and safety. The FDA, in collaboration with the National Academy of Sciences and National Science Foundation, reviewed all NDAs submitted between 1938 and 1962 through the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DESI) review program (22–25). This review focused primarily on prescription products. After the completion of the review of the prescription products, FDA turned their attention to OTC products.

3.1.2 OTC Drug Review. In the 1960s, the OTC drug market back then was similar to today's market in that there was a proliferation of products based on the same actives (24-28). For this reason, it became impossible to review every OTC product on the market. For practical reasons, the FDA decided to review active ingredients by therapeutic categories instead of individual finished products. In 1972, the FDA initiated the OTC Drug **Review** process. The goal of the OTC Drug Review was to determine which active ingredients and their associated conditions of use might be considered to be generally regarded as safe (GRAS) and efficacious (GRAE) and not misbranded. The FDA set up a total of 17 public advisory panels to review close to 90 categories of OTC drugs (24, 25). All OTC products, including Grandfather OTC products introduced before 1938, were also reviewed. The review was conducted in three rule-making phases.

3.1.2.1 Phase 1: Advisory Panel Review. The panels were asked to categorize the active ingredients in each class of products and their claims into one of three categories based on review of data submitted by manufacturers, scientific data in the literature, and their own experiences. The three categories (24, 25) are as follows:

- Category I: generally recognized to be safe and effective for the claimed indications
- Category II: not generally recognized as safe and effective or unacceptable for the claimed indications

Already Published	Still Pending
Acne	Antidiarrheal
Anorectal	Antiseptic first aid
Antacid	Antiseptic (professional)
Anthelmintic	Antiperspirants
Antibiotic first aid	Cough/cold combinations
Anticaries	External analgesic
Antiemetic	Internal analgesic
Antiflatulent	Laxative
Antifungal	Menstrual
Cholecystokinetic	Oral discomfort
Corn/callus removers	Oral health care
Cough/cold antihistamine	Otic (ear drying)
Coughlcold antitussive	Overindulgence
Coughlcold bronchodilator	Poison treatment
Coughlcold expectorant	Skin bleaching — (reproposal)
Coughlcold nasal decongestant	Skin protectants
Dandruff/seborrhea/psoriasis	Vaginal drug products (douches)
Deodorants (internal)	
Male genital desensitizers	
Nighttime sleep aids	
Otic (earwax)	
Pediculicide	
Stimulant	
Sunscreen	
Wart remover	
Weight control	

Table 9.1OTC Monographs

Source: Ref. 28 (Reproduced with permission from Consumer Healthcare Products Association).

• Category III: insufficient data available to permit final classification into Category I or Category II

The above three-category classification system is not in use today. Drugs applied for OTC use are classified either as "monograph" or "non-monograph" status. The findings of the advisory panels were published in the Federal Registry as "advance notice of proposed rulemaking" (ANPR), which sets forth the advisory panel's recommendation for OTC monograph by category of use (Table 9.1), including recommendations on general recognition of safety and effectiveness for each active ingredient. This phase of review took about 10 years to complete.

3.1.2.2 *Phase* 2: *FDA Review.* After publication of an advance notice of proposed rulemaking, any interested party may submit comments and additional new data to support their point of view. The FDA reviews all the

comments and newly submitted data and published their rulings in a "tentative final monograph" (**TFM**) or proposed rule, which sets forth FDA's revisions to the ANPR relating to active ingredients and conditions of use. The TFM groups actives together for specific indications to form what we now call a "monograph" (Table 9.1). The rulings on those actives and indications where no claims can be made are called "negative monographs" (Table 9.2). In a similar manner to the ANPR, additional comments and data could be submitted to clarify or refute the rulings.

3.1.2.3 *Phase 3: The Final Monograph.* After reviewing comments to the proposed rule (or TFM), the FDA publishes the "Final Monograph" in the form of a "Final Rule" in the Federal Register, which is then incorporated into the Code of Federal Regulations (21CFR part 330). The final monograph consists of a list of active ingredients approved for the specific indications, labeling, general provisions,

Aphrodisiac	Hypo/hyperphosphatemia
Benign prostatic hypertrophy	Ingrown toenail
Boil treatment	Insect repellant (oral)
C/C anticholinergic	Nail biting/thumbsucking
Daytime sedatives	Oral wound healing
Digestive aids	Prevention of inebriation
Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency	Smoking deterrents
Fever blisterlcold sore (internal)	Stomach acidifiers
Hair grower	Vaginal contraceptives

 Table 9.2
 Negative Monograph (Non-Monograh)

Source: Ref. 28 (Reproduced with permission from Consumer Healthcare Products Association).

and testing procedures. During the OTC Drug Review, misbranded products that did not meet the monograph requirements would need to be reformulated, or their labels needed to be revised to stay on the market. A drug manufacturer can market an OTC product based on those active ingredients for the intended indications described in the monograph without the need of an NDA submission. However, a drug manufacturer cannot make claims not described in the monograph unless they submit additional data to petition for a revision of the final monograph or justify their deviations and obtain approval through an NDA. Even though the monographs are based on active ingredients and not on the dosage forms, the implicit assumption is that the dosage forms (e.g., tablet, capsule, liquid) will not affect the efficacy and safety of the active. Whereas acetaminophen immediate-release tablets, capsules, and liquids can be marketed without an NDA submission, marketing a sustained-release acetaminophen tablet will still require a submission of an NDA deviation.

Although most of the final monographs have been published, there are still **17** final monographs awaiting completion (Table 9.1). The OTC review process is dynamic in the sense that final monographs *can* be amended. New ingredients or indications *can* also be petitioned for monograph status based on material time and material extent (**29**). For example, foreign OTC products and existing OTC actives approved through an NDA *can* be petitioned for monograph status after a **certain** period of marketing.

3.1.3 OTC Classification After OTC Drug Review. The OTC Drug Review is based on the principle set down in the **Durham-Hum**- phrey amendment that if a drug can be OTC, it should be OTC (23, 30). Prescription status should be an exception. However, the history of drug approval suggests otherwise. Most new chemical entities are initially approved as prescription drugs, which may then be switched after a period of at least 5 years of marketing experience and meeting certain switch criteria (29). Direct OTC approval of new chemical entity is a rare phenomenon.

Close to 30 drugs were reclassified from prescription to OTC status during the OTC Drug Review (24). Some of the common OTC cough cold actives such as diphenhydramine, brompheniramine, chlorpheniramine, and pseudoephedrine, together with hydrocortisone, were switched during that time. The switch can go in both directions. Metaproterenol sulfate inhaler was switched by FDA during the OTC Drug review and was later reversed back to prescription status because of the objection of the medical community. Today Rx-to-OTC switch is achieved by submitting an NDA for the same indication or new indications or new dose. Three-year market exclusivity will be granted to the sponsor if new clinical studies that are "essential" to the switch of an existing prescription product are conducted (31, 32). All the H_2 blockers that were switched received this type of exclusivity because additional studies were conducted to support the heartburn prevention claims. Five years exclusivity will be granted for a new OTC chemical entity that has not been marketed previously. A supplemental NDA is filed if a direct switch is desired without additional clinical studies. In this case, there is no marketing exclusivity other than what may already exist through patent protection. The

3 Over-the-counter Drugs

first generation vaginal antifungal products and minoxidil products represented direct switches and received no exclusivity. With or without exclusivity, successful Rx-to-OTC switches represent major growth opportunities for OTC companies.

3.1.4 Criteria for Reclassification of Drug/ **Rx-to-OTC Switch.** The terms reclassification and Rx-to-OTC switch can be used interchangeably (25, 27, 30–37). There are many drivers for Rx-to-OTC switch. Pharmaceutical companies use Rx-to-OTC switch to increase the lifespan and profitability of a prescription drug that is coming off patent. Switch can also expand the market by tapping into a new patient population that previously can not be reached as a prescription product. An example is Imodium (38). Healthcare providers and governments who fund national healthcare insurance would like to advocate for the switch for cost-containment. Each Rx-to-OTC switch is unique and is evaluated on a weight-of-the evidence of science and data. Rx-to-OTC switch does not limit to self-limited, acute conditions. The scientific/regulatory paradigms of reclassification of drugs used by the OTC Drug Review are still applicable to today's **Rx-to-**OTC switches (30, 36, 37). Reclassification is based on the principles of benefit-risk assessment of safety and efficacy of the switched drug (33). The switch criteria center around the ability of a prescription product to meet the safety, effectiveness, and labeling requirement of being an OTC self-care product for a specific indication. Safety, effectiveness, and labeling are the three most important criteria in deciding potential Rx-to-OTC switches. The following sections describe the requirements of safety, effectiveness, and labeling for Rx-to-OTC switches in more detail.

3.1.4.1 Safety. Safety is **especially** important for OTC products because they are used without professional supervision. Safety does not mean that there is no potential toxicity nor abuse potential (33). It does imply a low incidence of adverse reactions or significant side effects under adequate labeling and a low abuse potential for harm (**39**). No drug is devoid of side effects, but the margin of safety should be much wider for OTC drugs compared with that of prescription drugs. The

FDA demands that the drug manufacturer establishes a minimum effective dose and defines a daily allowable dose to minimize undue side effects. The switched Rx drugs should be free of any carcinogenic potential in humans. Reproductive toxicity, if any, should be addressed by proper OTC labeling. An example is the **pregnancy/nursing** warning for **aspirin**containing OTC products because of the potential of **Reyes** syndrome (40). Any toxicity observed in animals should also be shown to be species-specific and have no relevance to humans.

3.1.4.2 Effectiveness. FDA regulation defines effectiveness as a reasonable expectation that the drug will have the claimed therapeutic effect in the targeted population when used according to instructions in the label (41). Effectiveness is demonstrated by controlled clinical studies. The clinical development for an Rx-to-OTC switch program generally starts with a dose ranging study to determine the minimum dose to produce a therapeutic response in most subjects in the target population. Oftentimes, a lower dose is switched to increase margins of safety. Actual use studies are then performed in the target population to demonstrate the effectiveness of the minimal effective dose and identify any rare side effects in OTC-like setting. For these reasons, the number of patients involved can be quite substantial.

3.1.4.3 Labeling. Clear and understandable labeling to average consumers, including those individuals with low literacy, is crucial to the safe and effective use of an OTC product without professional supervision. The label should contain information such as active ingredient, indications, warnings, directions for use, and proper storage condition. An average consumer of the target population of users should be able to understand the product label to self-recognize the signs and symptoms, select the right OTC product, understand the warnings, and self-treat appropriately as directed (30). Warnings may include contraindications, precautions, situations to avoid, what to do in the case of overdose, and drug-drug interactions (42). However, not all warnings are included in the label, only those that are clinically significant and important to the safe and effective use of the product by the consumers. Labels should therefore be properly design and tested.

Label comprehension studies are designed to test the comprehensibility and readability of the proposed label under general conditions of purchase to ensure safe and effective use of the OTC products. They become more important for more complex Rx-to-OTC switches. In general, the Rx-to-OTC switch sponsor will work with FDA to define the comprehension study objectives before conducting the study. Several rounds of label comprehension studies are performed to refine the comprehensibility and readability of the label before initiating an actual use study in the target population in a simulated OTC setting to confirm the effectiveness of the product using the finalized label. Oftentimes, a self-selection study is also conducted to assess the ability of the consumer to select or de-select the product. An Investigational New Drug Application (IND) is not always required for label comprehension studies. An IND is required only if the sponsor would like to discuss the studies with FDA.

The content of the label of a monograph product should be consistent with the allowable indications and wordings specified by the relevant monograph. For Rx-to-OTC switch products, the label should be consistent with the label approved in the NDA or supplemental NDA. To make labels easier for consumers to read and comprehend, the FDA revised the labeling requirements for OTC products in 1999 to standardize the content, format, font size, headings, terminology and sequence of information (43). The new OTC Drug Facts label (44) contains six specific headings as depicted in Fig. 9.1 and resembles the Nutrition Fact label of food and nutritional products.

3.2 OTC Classification in Europe

In Europe, the OTC regulatory landscape is still fragmented despite the Mutual Recognition Procedure (MRP) and Directive 921261 EEC (18, 19, 45–47). Directive 92/26/EEC intends to provide a uniform framework for the classification of the medicinal products into prescription and non-prescription and facilitates the switch process (46, 47). However, its application is left with the regulatory approval agency of the individual country at the time when a marketing license is granted. This decentralized approach results in lack of consistency from country to country. **As** a result, some products are Rx in some countries but are OTC in other countries (Table 9.3).

A closer look at Article **3** of Directive 921261 EEC revealed that a product is prescription if it meets the following requirements.

- 1. It may present a danger if used without medical supervision.
- 2. It could easily be misused or abused, thereby causing harm to the consumers.
- 3. It causes side effects that require further medical investigations.
- 4. It needs to be administered parenterally.

Article 4 of the Directive further stated that medicinal products not classified as prescription status should be non-prescription. The principles for classification of medicinal products in Directive 92/26 are very similar to those in the United States. Despite the establishment of the Mutual Recognition Procedure, there is as yet no unified interpretation of the Directives. The interpretation of the Directives is left largely to the regulatory agency of each country. For example, the United Kingdom and Germany consider a switch with reference to an active, whereas in the majority of European countries, the switch is determined on a product by product basis (18, 19). Despite the lack of uniformity in the switch process, most social insurance systems in European countries are aggressively promoting Rx-to-OTC switch as a means to contain healthcare costs. The MCA in the U.K. has already proposed a wide range of potential switches in the next few years (48).

European countries do not have a Monograph system to allow for rapid marketing of OTC products. All OTC products require registration and marketing authorization before marketing (46, 47). Marketing authorization can be sought on a national level for marketing in just one country or using the Mutual Recognization Procedure for marketing in more than one country. The marketing authorization is renewable every 5 years. When using the MRP, the company first files a marketing authorization application in a one of the

Drug Facts	
 Active ingredient Name & amount per unit 	 Purpose What is the product for, e.g pain reliever, cough suppressant ?
<i>Uses</i> What symptom or diseases the product intend	to treat?
 Warnings (generally contain the following i When not to use the product? Consult a doctor before taking the product Possible side effects or drug-drug interact When to stop taking the product and conta If pregnant or breastfeed, ask a healthcare Keep out of reach of children 	nformation) t. ions act the doctor? professional before use.
 Directions (generally contain the following in the following in the product of the following in the product is for? Do not take more than directed How much to take? Frequency & duration of treatment What age groups the product is for? 	information)
 Other information (generally contains the What is the proper storage condition? Amount of calcium, potassium or sodium 	<i>following infonnation)</i> in the product
<i>Inactive Ingredients</i> (generally contain the Inactive ingredients in the product	e following information)

Figure 9.1. An example of the new OTC Drug Facts label.

EU countries, which is designed as the reference member state (RMS). Once the RMS approves the product, it will then send an assessment report to other EU member countries the company desires to market the product. The other EU countries are called the concerned member states (CMSs). They will approve the product if they concur with the assessment of the RMS. The CMS can disagree with the assessment of the RMS based on safety concerns. The company and the dissenting CMS will go into arbitration. Oftentimes, the many objections are political in nature, making the MRP a rather protract and chaotic process. Because the company cannot launch the product in any CMSs unless the arbitration is resolved, they will generally withdraw

the application from the member country undergoing arbitration to prevent undue delay. The European Commission is considering overhauling the MRP (47).

The non-prescription product landscape is further complicated by the different modes of distribution from country to country (49). There are two major distribution channels for non-prescription products in Europe; namely, pharmacy only and general sale outlets, unlike the United States, where OTC products are for general sale only. For pharmacy-only products, some will need to be dispensed by the pharmacist. **Rx-to-OTC** switch products are usually placed in this category. The purpose of pharmacy-only products is to provide professional consultation to consumers. However, a

	U.S.	Australia	France	Germany	Italy	Sweden	Switzerland	UK
Diclofenac	Rx	OTC	OTC	Rx	OTC	Rx	OTC	OTC
Ketoprofen	OTC	OTC	OTC	OTC	OTC	Rx	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC
Clotrimazole (vaginal)	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC
Loratadine	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC
Acyclovir	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC
Cimetidine	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC
Famotidine	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC	OTC
Ranitidine	OTC	OTC	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC	OTC
Nicotine (gum)	OTC	OTC						
Nicotine (patch)	OTC	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}$	OTC	OTC	OTC	OTC	Rx	OTC

Table 9.3Examples of Different Classifications of OIC Products Across Several EuropeanCountries, Australia, and the United States

Source: Ref. 19.

study by the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) did not find any differences of benefits in either mode of distribution (49).

3.3 OTC Classification in Japan

Drugs in Japan are classified into prescription, non-prescription (OTC), and quasi-drug. Prescription drugs are those drugs that require physician supervision (50–53). Non-prescription drugs are primarily for mild actions and are only available in the pharmacy or drug store. Deregulation reform reclassified 15 categories of non-prescription drugs to create a new class of drugs called quasi-drugs, which can be sold in convenience stores and supermarkets starting in Spring 1999 (51). Quasidrugs are primarily used for external uses or preventive purposes. They include the popular tonic drinks, which are unique to the Japanese OTC market.

All three classes of drug are regulated under the Pharmaceutical Affairs Law administered by the Ministry of Health and Welfare. Prescription drugs and quasi-drugs are approved by Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare (MHLW) only, whereas non-prescription drugs are approved by both the MHLW and local prefectural governments. OTC drugs are approved by Evaluation Division III of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Evaluation Center, which is under the MHLW. The country is administratively divided into 47 prefectural governments (52). Registration application submitted to MHLW is through the prefectural government. Similar to European countries, all OTC products require regulatory approval (Shonin) and a license (**Kyoka**) to market the product (52). The approval time is generally longer than in the United States. OTC drug application is categorized into six classes (50, 52). The application system allows for both direct OTC approval and Rx-to-OTC switch. Minoxidil was switched directly to OTC status without being a prescription product first. To expedite and simplify OTC drug registration, the MHLW transferred its approval authority to prefectural governments (52). Specific monographs were established for each of these categories.

Rx-to-OTC switch in Japan has for a long time followed the principle—safety first and efficacy second (53). For this reason, a lower dose is often switched. Label comprehension is not a big issue for Japanese OTC products because OTC products are sold primarily in the pharmacy and a lot of graphics and cartoons are used to communicate warnings and directions of use. Rx-to-OTC switches are usually of low profile in Japan. The reason is that physicians seldom support and advocate the switch. Because physicians both prescribe and dispense prescription drugs, the switch will decrease their business. There are a couple of other reasons for poor performance of some of the Rx-to-OTC switches. Consumers view OTC products as less effective because of lower dose and less safe because of warnings listed on the label and in advertising. Moreover, co-pay for prescription drugs used to be

4 Lifestyle Drugs

Source	Definition
Gilbert et al. (63)	"Drugs that are used to treat either non-health problems that are lifestyle wishes and not medical necessities of health problems that might be better treated by a change of lifestyle"
Herald Tribune (56)	"Drugs that don't necessarily cure illness but can be used to improve daily life by boosting psychological attitudes, energy levels, sexual performance and body image."
Harth and Linse (66)	"Pharmaceuticals which are taken in order to attain a certain psychosocial beauty ideal rather than serve to stabilize the body's vital functions."
Business Week (54)	"Drugs that are taken not for severely impaired diseases but for improving quality of life."

Table 9.4 A Few Definitions of Lifestyle Drugs

less than that of OTC products. Furthermore, no comparative advertising is allowed for OTC products with approved standard monographs. However, Rx-to-OTC switch will become more important in the future because the government is trying to control healthcare costs by increasing the co-pay.

4 LIFESTYLE DRUGS

Lifestyle drugs received much publicity (54– 56) since the launch of the little blue pill, Viagra. The publicity is fueled partly by the hype of the media and partly by the debates about who is going to pay and what are their therapeutic benefits to the consumers (57–61). The scientific field is equally interested in this class of drugs, as reflected by a dedicated Scrip report (62), an article in the *British Medical Journal* (63), and a special series of articles in the *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* (64–68).

Several factors, such as advances in technologies, growing consumerism, and demand of baby-boomer consumers to look and feel young, contribute to the popularity of lifestyle drugs. Consumers want not only the absence of disease but also improvement of quality of life. Longer lifespans also give rise to a variety of cosmetic and performance conditions that demand remedies.

Several terms, such as vanity drugs, lifeenhancing drugs, and quality-of-life drugs, are used by the media to describe lifestyle drugs (69, 70). These are the terms pharmaceutical companies try to dissociate themselves from because they tend to project a rather negative tone and create an image that lifestyle drugs are to cater to desires rather than to treat real medical problems. So exactly what are lifestyle drugs? There are numerous definitions of lifestyle drugs, depending on whom you talk to. Table 9.4 lists a few definitions of lifestyle drugs. The definitions range from attainment of psychosocial beauty to treatment of health problems that might be better treated by a change of lifestyle.

The term "lifestyle drugs" refers to pharmaceuticals, in particular prescription drugs, that primarily aim to enhance the wellness and improve the "desired" quality of life of an individual rather than alleviating or curing life-threatening diseases. Although all medications are used to improve the quality of life, use of lifestyle drugs by consumers are intended to attain a certain ideal quality of life rather than to treat some life-threatening disease. The definition for lifestyle drugs may be broadened to include drugs for the use of treating serious medical conditions caused by unhealthy lifestyles such as over-eating or for off-label use, such as the use of Prozac, for more self-confidence.

The focus of lifestyle drugs usually centers around prescription drugs because of the issue of who should pay for these medications and their off-label use. The term lifestyle drugs should not be limited to prescription drugs only because some of them have already been switched to OTC. Table 9.5 lists a few examples of lifestyle drugs and their indications. These examples cover a broad range of drug products. The range of indications is equally broad; they range from preventive and cosmetic to serious medical conditions such as obesity and smoking.

Indications	Drug
Image and look	
Wrinkles	Tretinoin, vitamin A, botulium toxin type A, sunscreen
Hair loss	Minoxidilhasteride
Facial hair removal	Elornithine
Nail fungus	Butenafine, terbinafine, itraconazole
Increase muscle mass or height	Growth hormone
Quality of life improvement	
Incontinence	Oxybutynin, tolterodine
Impotence	Sildefil, apomorphine
Influenza	Zanamivir
Lifestyle	
Postpone menstruation	Norethisterone
Smoking cessation	Nicotine replacement therapy, bupropion
Contraception	Oral contraceptives
Weight control	Orilstat, sibutramine, bupropion
Dyspepsia	Proton pump inhibitor
Sun protection	Sunscreens
Psychological	
Anti-depression	Fluoxetine
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	Sertraline
Social anxiety disorder	Paroxetine

 Table 9.5
 Examples of Lifestyle Drugs

Source: Refs. 63, 69, 71.

Because the majority of lifestyle drugs are not used to treat life-threatening diseases or to alleviate pain, and the cost of coverage is huge, the majority of debate has been focused on who is going to pay (57, 61). Most countries have a national healthcare insurance system that needs to control rising healthcare costs. Coverage for lifestyle drugs puts considerable strain on the limited resources of the insurance system. The agency will therefore need to rationalize the service and treatments. They need to set priorities and determine which treatments are medically useful and which treatments are for lifestyle enhancement and convenience only. The issue of what is medically needed is complicated by the heavy promotion of lifestyle drugs by the pharmaceutical industries and transition of treatment from specialists to general practitioners. Without a doubt, the following scenario will occur. Pharmaceutical industries will continue to push the envelop of medical innovations and find ways to meet unmet consumer lifestyle needs to increase their profitability. The healthcare provider and national health insurance system will continue to find ways to control the cost of healthcare. The solution

may be partially solved by switching the safer lifestyle drugs to OTC because consumers are willing to pay to obtain the benefit, and the fact that they are already paying for many of these lifestyle drugs.

The other controversy is what benefits do lifestyle drugs offer the consumers because they are primarily treating non-life-threatening diseases. Diseases such as incontinence and impotency are not life-threatening, but they create undue psychological stress on the suffers. Furthermore, even for lifestyle drugs that have legitimate therapeutic uses, they can still be abused by healthy individuals for purely performance enhancement. For lifestyle drugs that are used to treat diseases arisen from unhealthy lifestyles, drug coverage is only a partial and least-preferred solution. The best solution is for patients to take control of their health by living a healthy lifestyle. All these controversies will continue to fuel the debate for coverage and benefits of lifestyle drugs.

The following sections provide four examples of lifestyle drugs: hair growth compounds for appearance enhancement, sexual disorder compounds for performance remedy, smoking

Generic Name	Brand Name	Originator	Indication	Dosage Form	Daily Dose	Current Regulatory Status
Minoxidil (1)	Rogaine	Upjohn	Androgenetic alopecia (men and women)''	2%,5% solutions	Topical application twice daily	OTC
Finasteride (2)	Propecia	Merck	Androgenetic alopecia (men only)	1 mg tablet	1 tabletlday	Prescription
Eflornithine hydrochloride (3)	Vaniqa	BMS	Hirsutism (women's facial hair)	13.9% cream	Topical application twice daily	Prescription

 Table 9.6
 Approved Treatments for Hair Growth Disorders

"The 5% is for men only.

cessation compounds for lifestyle change, and sunscreens for lifestyle purposes. They span the spectrum of OTC and prescription products.

5 HAIR GROWTH DISORDERS

Common baldness, also known as male-pattern baldness, affects approximately 50% of men by age 50 (72), although it can start as early as the teen years. Till the late 1980s, common baldness was viewed as a merely cosmetic condition that has no health implications; with the introduction of hair growth agents, the condition was medicalized and redefined as androgenetic alopecia. Androgenetic alopecia affects women as well, but in a different pattern that is usually referred to as female-pattern baldness, diffuse hair loss, or diffuse androgen-dependent alopecia. An estimated 30% of Caucasian women, and 15–20% of all women, develop the condition before age 50 (73, 74). Whereas hair loss, like other lifestyle conditions, is not a direct threat to a person's well-being, it can be a distressing and psychologically disturbing condition because of lower satisfaction with one's body image (75, 76). In one of the clinical studies on minoxidil, the majority of participants thought that personal presentation of self was of equal to or greater importance than their job performance (77). Obviously, the condition has a more severe psychological impact on female subjects, which was confirmed in two separate studies (78, 79).

Excessive hair growth in cosmetically undesirable areas is another hair growth disorder of little clinical importance but great lifestyle impact. The condition, which is medically known as idiopathic hirsutism, is defined as increased hair growth in the androgen sensitive areas of women with regular ovulatory menstrual cycle and normal serum androgen levels (80, 81). Hirsutism is a common condition that can have a severe psychological effect on young women and negatively affect their quality of life. The argument that preserving or restoring physical appearance can have profound psychological benefits provides the basis for medicalizing cosmetic disorders such as hair loss, hirsutism, or aging skin wrinkling and discoloration.

5.1 Clinical Use

5.1.1 Current Drugs. Table 9.6 lists the current therapies for hair growth disorders. The effects of the two hair growth agents (minoxidil and finasteride) have not been directly compared in clinical trials, and no clinical studies have been performed on the combination of the two drugs either, but a study in an animal model for male pattern hair loss suggests that the combination of 0.5 mg/day oral finasteride and 2% topical minoxidil has an additive effect on hair growth (82, 83). Eflornithine is the only drug currently approved for the reduction of unwanted facial hair in women. In addition to approved therapies,

hormonal treatments are still commonly used both for female pattern androgenetic alopecia and hirsutism. Estrogens (ethinylestradiol or oral contraceptives) and antiandrogens (**cyproterone** acetate, spironolactone, and **flu**tamide) are used either alone or in combinations for either condition (73, 81). Finasteride was found to be effective for the treatment of idiopathic hirsutism at a dose of 5 mglday, although it is not approved for the indication. This section will mainly focus on the two approved hair growth agents.

5.1.2 Adverse Effects. The side effects of topical minoxidil are mainly local, caused by skin irritation and contact dermatitis. Systemic side effects are uncommon because of limited percutaneous absorption, but diffuse hypertrichosis of the face and limbs has been reported with the 5% solution and was attributed to systemic absorption of the drug (84). Although topical minoxidil does not change blood pressure in healthy subjects, it increases heart rate by 3–5 beats/min and slightly increases the left ventricular end-diastolic volume, cardiac output, and left ventricular mass (85). These effects are not considered clinically significant, and the potential for cardiovascular side effects is very low.

The clinical dose of finasteride is well tolerated. The main side effects reported in phase III clinical studies were sexual function disorders including decreased libido, ejaculation disorders, and erectile dysfunction. All these sexual disorders were mild-to-moderate and were reversed on discontinuation of the drug, and in some patients, they resolved even with continued therapy (86). A 5-mgdose in hirsute women was well tolerated with no significant side effects, although the risk of developing abnormalities in the external genitalia of male fetus, if the drug is taken or a crushed tablet is handled by a pregnant woman, causes a great limitation to its use in women at child-bearing age.

Topical efformithine has a very good safety profile. The only side effects observed in the clinical trials at a higher frequency than placebo were related to skin irritation and included stinging or burning skin and rash at the site of application.

5.1.3 Pharmacokinetics. Minoxidil is poorly absorbed through skin, and systemic accumulation after topical application is unlikely (87). After topical application, minoxidil appears in the systemic circulation at clinically insignificant levels. The total amount recovered in urine is less than 4% of the applied dose. Applying the drug to the entire scalp is equivalent to a systemic dose of 2.4–5.4 mg/day (88). A total of 41– 45% of the applied dose remains on the scalp or is lost on the pillowcase. Dermal metabolism of minoxidil is negligible (89). Systemic minoxidil elimination, after topical administration, is zero order, which indicates that it is controlled by zero order percutaneous absorption. The main route of elimination after oral absorption is hepatic metabolism. The primary metabolite is a glucuronic acid conjugate at the N-oxide position of the pyrimidine ring. Twenty percent of the orally administered drug is excreted unchanged in urine, and 95% of the total dose is recovered in urine within 48 h.

Finasteride is rapidly absorbed after oral administration, with peak plasma concentration reached in 1–2 h. The oral bioavailability is about 80% and is not dose-dependent. Food has no effect on the bioavailability of finasteride. Moderate accumulation occurs with multiple dosing, and steady state is reached within 3 days. Finasteride has a large volume of distribution (76 L) as a result of wide tissue distribution. Approximately 90% of the circulating drug is bound to plasma proteins. Finasteride undergoes extensive hepatic metabolism. Finasteride metabolism occurs in the liver through an oxidative pathway by cytochrome P450 3A4 enzymes. The two major metabolites are ω -hydroxyfinasteride and a monocarboxylic acid derivative. Their *in vitro* activity is less than 20% of that of finasteride, but their *in vivo* activity has not been studied. Virtually no unchanged drug is excreted in urine; 56.8% of the metabolized drug is excreted in bile and 39.1% in urine. The mean elimination half-life after multiple oral dosing is 4.8 h, and the mean clearance after intravenous infusion is 9.9 L/h. The mean serum halflife is about 6 h in middle-aged men and slightly longer in the elderly, but dosage adjustment is not necessary (86, 90). The biological half-life of finasteride is longer than its

5 Hair Growth Disorders

serum half-life. After discontinuation of the drug, dihydrotestosterone (**DHT**) takes at least 2 weeks to return to baseline levels.

Eflornithine absorption after percutaneous administration is minimal (<1% of the applied dose). Commonly used hair removal methods such as shaving, **plucking**, or tweezing, when performed within 2 h before application, did not increase the percutaneous absorption. Steady state is reached after 4 days of twice daily application. Eflornithine is excreted unchanged in urine, and no metabolism has been observed. The apparent steady-state half-life is approximately 8 h.

5.2 Physiology and Pharmacology

5.2.1 Physiology of Hair Growth. Hair growth goes through a three-phase cycle (74): anagen (growth phase), catagen (involution), and telogen (rest). At the end of the telogen phase, hair is shed and the next cycle begins. In a normal scalp, approximately 90–95% of hair is in the anagen phase. The duration of anagen determines the hair length. Hair diameter is determined by the volume of the hair bulb. The scalp's terminal hair follicles are predetermined to grow long thick hair, whereas the vellus hair follicles on most of the body are predetermined to grow short and fine hair. In androgenetic alopecia, the cycle of scalp hair growth is altered, with gradual reduction in the length of anagen phase leading to a reduction in the ratio of anagen to telogen hair (86). This leads to progressive miniaturization of the scalp hair in a recognizable pattern. The main difference between the male and female androgenetic alopecia, other than the visible pattern, is that bald men have reasonable hair densities (hairs per square centimeter) even though the hairs in bald areas are predominantly vellus (short and thin), with some short hairs that have normal diameters. In women with androgenetic alopecia, although the scalp has fewer hairs per square centimeter, the hair that remains is similar in diameter and length to hair fibers in non-balding women (73). It is not clear if these differences have any implications on the pharmacological therapy of the condition.

5.2.2 Role of 5- α -Reductase. Skin is a target tissue for androgens; androgen receptors

are present in the hair follicles and sebaceous glands of the scalp skin. Although testosterone acts directly on androgen receptors in several tissues such as skeletal muscles, male beard hair follicles, and male external genitalia, it has to be metabolized to the more potent androgen dihydrotestosterone to act on androgen receptors in the scalp hair follicles and prostate among other tissues. 5α -reductase is an important enzyme that mediates testosterone intracellular conversion to dihydrotestosterone (DHT). There are two types of 5α -reductase. Type I is primarily present in the skin, especially the sebaceous glands, epidermal and follicular keratinocytes, and sweat glands, as well as in the liver and kidneys. Type II is mainly found in the gonadal tissue (prostate, seminal vesicles, and fetal genital skin), dermal papilla, and in the liver and scalp hair follicles (91, 92). Recent evidence proved that type II exists in the root sheaths of the scalp hair follicles and predominates in the dermal papillae, contrary to the earlier studies that suggested predominance of type I at this location (86, 92). 5α -reductase converts testosterone to dihydrotestosterone, the androgen responsible for androgenetic alopecia. Type I 5 a-reductase is responsible for one-third of circulating DHT, whereas the type II isoenzyme is responsible for two-thirds of circulating DHT (93). The active androgen DHT binds androgen receptors in the susceptible hair follicles. The hormone-receptor complex binds to specific gene sites to stimulate gradual transformation of large terminal follicles to miniaturized follicles (74, 91).

5.2.3 Mechanisms of Action. The two approved hair growth agents act by totally different mechanisms. Minoxidil, the older agent, acts by stimulating the microcirculation in the balding scalp, whereas finasteride, the newer agent, acts by altering androgen metabolism in the hair follicles, through inhibition of type II 5α -reductase.

5.2.3.1 *Minoxidil.* Minoxidil increases the blood flow to the follicular dermal papilla by a direct vasodilation effect on the arteriolar blood vessels (94, 95). Vasodilation is caused by the active metabolite minoxidil sulfate.

Minoxidil is converted to its active metabolite minoxidil sulfate by liver sulfotransferase sulfation (96). Minoxidil sulfate acts directly on the cutaneous blood vessels and induces smooth muscle relaxation. It has been suggested that minoxidil sulfate acts as a potassium channel agonist to enhance potassium permeability. This results in hyperpolarization and causes reduction in agonist-stimulated Ca^{2+} influx and hence decreased cytoplasmic free Ca^2 + concentration, and therefore causes smooth muscle relaxation (97, 98). Minoxidil sulfation occurs both in proliferating keratocytes and in hair follicles, which suggests that an additional mechanism that results in direct stimulation of the hair follicle independent of vasodilatation might be involved (99, 100). In vitro data suggest that the direct effect of minoxidil involves increased biosynthesis of glycosaminoglycans (100). It has also been shown that minoxidil inhibits lysyl hydroxylase, an enzyme that catalyzes the hydroxylation of certain lysine residues in the polypeptide precursors of procollagen (91). Hydroxylysine is important for the formation of intermolecular crosslinks in the collagen fiber. It is not known whether minoxidil's effect on hair growth is related to its effect on collagen metabolism.

Minoxidil increases the duration of anagen hair and causes the growth of larger and normally formed follicles compared with the pretreatment short miniaturized terminal hair follicles, which yields thicker longer hair and decreased shedding. Minoxidil, however, does not increase the total hair count (74, 95). Because of the non-specific mechanism of minoxidil, the drug can promote hair growth regardless of the cause of hair loss. In addition to its effectiveness in androgenetic alopecia, it promotes hair growth in unrelated conditions such as alopecia areata, congenital hypotrichosis, and loose androgen syndrome (74). Vertex hair loss responds better to minoxidil therapy than frontal hair loss. The effect of minoxidil seems to plateau after approximately 1 year of therapy and reverses when the treatment is stopped.

5.2.3.2 Finasteride. Finasteride is a specific and competitive inhibitor of type II 5α -reductase. It is 100-fold more selective to the

type II isoenzyme compared with type I (101). It has been shown through in vitro studies that finasteride competes with testosterone for the same binding site on 5α -reductase, but it has no effect on the binding of testosterone or DHT on androgen receptors (102). The inhibition of type II 5α -reductase blocks the peripheral conversion of testosterone into DHT and therefore results in decreased DHT concentration both in the circulation and in target tissue. Sixty-five percent suppression of serum DHT is reached within 24 h of oral dosing with a 1-mg tablet (93), and a median of 68.4%reduction occurred in men who were treated for 1 year (86). The rapeutic doses of 0.2-5 mg/day for 4-6 weeks reduced the scalp DHT level by up to 65%. The relative contributions of the reduction in scalp DHT and tissue DHT to finasteride effect on male pattern baldness has not been identified. The circulating levels of testosterone and estradiol increase slightly but remain in the normal range. Finasteride does not have any direct androgenic or antiandrogenic effect and does not cause any significant changes in the levels of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH). The therapeutic dose of finasteride (1 mg/day) causes significant increases in hair count and hair growth both in frontal hair loss and vertex hair loss male subjects (86). As with minoxidil, finasteride does not revive hair follicles that are inactive (i.e., in older men who are bald) and is therefore recommended to be used only by younger men with partial hair loss. At least 3–4 months of therapy with either minoxidil or finasteride is needed before any hair growth effect can be seen. The therapeutic effect declines when treatment is discontinued, with complete reversal within a few months in the case of minoxidil and 12 months in the case of finasteride (86, 93).

5.2.3.3 Eflornithine. Eflornithine acts by inhibiting the enzyme ornithine **decarboxyl**ase (**ODC**) in the hair follicles of the human skin (**93**). The enzyme is necessary for the synthesis of polyamines. Animal data indicates that inhibiting ODC inhibits cell division and synthetic function and therefore inhibits hair growth. It is postulated that eflornithine causes irreversible inhibition of the enzyme.

5.3 Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships

5.3.1 Minoxidil. Minoxidil (1) is 2,4-diamino-6-piperidino-pyrimidine-3-oxide. It was developed as an antihypertensive from triaminotriazines. Triaminotriazines were found to be potent vasodilators in dogs and cats because



(1) Minoxidil

of the formation of N-oxides. In humans, however, they were inactive because of the inability to form N-oxides. This led to the development of minoxidil by isosteric replacement by **triaminopyrimidine** of a triaminotriazine moiety.

The structural requirements for minoxidil's hypotensive effect (103), and its lysyl hydroxylase inhibitory effect (91) have been reported, but the relevance of these requirements to the hair growth effect of minoxidil is unknown. One of the distinct features of minoxidil is the nitroxide group in position 1 of the pyrimidine ring. This group is essential for the vasodilator effect. However, for the effect on lysyl hydroxylase, removal of the nitroxide oxygen results only in partial loss of activity. A secondary or tertiary amine substituent on position 4 of the pyrimidine ring is also required for hypotensive activity. In minoxidil, this requirement is met by a piperidinyl group. Replacing the piperidinyl group with another source for a tertiary or secondary nitrogen such as pyrrolidinyl, morpholinyl, or an N-methylpiperazinyl group does not cause detrimental effects on the antihypertensive activity but results in total loss of lysyl hydroxylase inhibitory activity. Hydroxylation at position 3 or 4 of the piperidine ring (by metabolic transformation) results in marked reduction in hypotensive activity. The same 3or 4-hydroxy piperidinyl derivatives are as potent as the parent compound in suppressing lysyl hydroxylase.

5.3.2 5 α -Reductase Inhibitors. Finasteride (2) is a 4-azasteroid derivative of the 3-oxo-5 α -



(2) Finasteride

steroids. An important structure requirement for 5α -reductase inhibition of azasteroids is stable configuration in ring A of the steroid molecule that mimics the transition state in the conversion of testosterone to DHT (104, 105). This allows for a tight binding between the inhibitor and the active site of the enzyme. Most of the 5α -reductase inhibitors in development are either 4- or 6-azasteroids. However, steroidal carboxylic acids and non-steroidal tricyclic compounds with structural resemblance to azasteroids are also potent inhibitors of 5α -reductase (106). Molecular modeling of the binding between the enzyme and substrates suggests that there is a requirement for groups to mimic the **carbonyl** group of ring-A in the steroid structure (107). An interesting nonsteroidal series of compounds that satisfy this requirement is benzoquinolinones. Among this class is Lilly's LY 191704 (3), a potent non-competitive 5α -reductase inhibitor with high selectivity to type I isoenzyme.



The 4- or 6-aza moiety is another important structural requirement. A notable exception

to this requirement is epristeride (4), a type II 5α -reductase inhibitor with no nitrogen in the steroidal ring structure. The position of this



nitrogen in the steroidal skeleton does not affect the potency of 5α -reductase inhibition or isoenzyme selectivity. Most of the 4- and 6-azasteroids that have been reported have higher selectivity to isoenzyme II, with only few exceptions (e.g., Merck's L 733692). The position of the aza moiety seems to affect the mechanism of inhibition (108). It has been reported that the inhibition of 5α -reductase by 6-azasteroids is reversible, whereas the 4-azasteroid derivatives such as finasteride cause irreversible inhibition. Benzoquinolinones have a nitrogen that mimics that of 4-azasteroids. In 4-azasteroids, a methyl group on the nitrogen produces greater activity than a hydrogen. A Δ^1 double-bond at the C1-C2 position (in ring A) results in substantial loss of inhibitory action on hair follicle 5α -reductase. However a A⁵ double-bond in ring D has little effect on enzyme inhibition.

A bulky lipophilic moiety on C-17 is another structural requirement for maximum 5α -reductase inhibition. A long C-17P sidechain increases the activity (101). Replacing the tert-butyl group on the C17 amide nitrogen of finasteride with a phenyl group results in a slight decrease in potency against type II isoenzyme and an increase in the potency against type I (109). Further introduction of an alkyl group on the same nitrogen results in a drastic loss of activity against both isoenzymes because of changes in the conformational preference (from trans to cis). 6-Azasteroids with C17 anilide substitution are also potent inhibitor of the enzyme. 2,5-Disubstitution of the phenyl ring in the anilide series

increases the potency against type I 5α -reductase while retaining higher potency against type II (110). An arylcycloalkyl group on the C17 amide of 6-azasteroids similarly results in high potency against both isoenzymes with higher selectivity to type II.

5.4 History

The interest in pharmacological therapy for male pattern hair loss started as early as 1965, when a topical preparation of testosterone was tested for presumed benefits. Topical **testos**terone failed to show any efficacy (**86**). The interest then declined until reports about stimulation of hair growth in hypertensive patients being treated with the then experimental drug minoxidil renewed the hopes.

The initial research leading to the **discov**erv of minoxidil started in 1960 when researchers from the Upjohn Company performed empirical pharmacological screening on *N*,*N*-diallylmelanine (DAM)—a compound they ordered from the American Cyanamid chemical catalog (111). The first pharmacological action that was observed was reduction of gastric acidity in pyloris-ligated rats, but after oral administration to dogs, DAM produced a delayed and very prolonged blood pressure reduction. However, a subsequent clinical trial showed no clinical effect in hypertensive patients. This led to the identification of an active metabolite in dogs that was absent in humans and was responsible for the hypotensive effect of DAM. Subsequently, this metabolite (DAMN-0) was synthesized, and it was determined that it acted by direct vasodilatation. A single-dose clinical trial that was conducted in late 1961 showed a marked reduction in blood pressure and a long duration of action that exceeded 24 h. Consequently, a multiple dose study was initiated. A combination of salt retention side effect and a mistake in interpreting instructions led to the discontinuation of the study. The situation was further complicated by the discovery of a cardiac lesion that developed in a long-term toxicology study in dogs. All this led to the loss of drug candidacy of DAMN-0. Despite this, **Upjohn** researchers continued to be interested in the direct vasodilator action of DAMN-0 and continued their search for better drug candidates. During the following years, they synthesized hundreds of

analogs, all bearing the N-oxide moiety. Ten candidates were **selected** and tested in dogs. It was found that the same side effects were associated with the entire class of compounds (salt and water retention, tachycardia, and cardiac lesion). Upjohn researchers selected minoxidil as the best candidate and decided to proceed with clinical trials cautiously and only in patients with life-threatening drug-refractory hypertension. The Investigational New Drug Application of minoxidil was filed in 1968. The initial clinical trial showed dramatic reduction in blood pressure of severely hypertensive and drug-refractory patients. The expected side effects (salt retention and tachycardia) occurred, but were reversed by co-administration of diuretics and β -blockers, respectively. The following trial demonstrated superiority over hydralazine and led to widespread investigators' interest in minoxidil. As a result, the FDA approved an emergency-use protocolin late 1970. Initially, each case had to be approved by an FDA clinical reviewer, but by 1971, an Upjohn clinical monitor was authorized to approve the treatment. Gottlieb et al. (112), the clinical investigators of these initial clinical trials, was the first to report the hair growth stimulating effect of minoxidil. Two dermatologists who were consulted about the phenomenon decided to test a topical solution on the upper arm and were able to demonstrate localized action at the site of application (111). In 1971, Upjohn started absorption and toxicology testing of the minoxidil topical solution. In 1972, the first case of hair growth on a bald scalp of a severely hypertensive patient who was being treated with minoxidil was reported (111).Because of the continuing concerns over oral minoxidil's side effects, Upjohn delayed the filing of topical minoxidil until it gathered convincing evidence of safety that was sufficient for approval of oral minoxidil. The IND for the topical solution was filed in 1977, and the FDA approval of oral minoxidil for hypertension came in 1979. This recognition of safety made it possible for Upjohn to continue pursuing the hair growth indication. Initial hair growth clinical trials began in 1978. Although these studies provided some evidence of clinical efficacy, with hair growth stimulation in a large percentage of subjects, statistically significant differences were not

demonstrated until the project moved to large phase III multi-center clinical trials (111). Upjohn's efforts were culminated in 1988 by the approval of minoxidil **2%** topical solution for male pattern androgenetic alopecia. In 1991, the FDA approved it for female pattern hair loss. The OTC switch of minoxidil topical solution was approved in 1996 after an NDA application. In 1997, the FDA granted its approval of 5% minoxidil topical solution for initial marketing as an OTC medication. Minoxidil (5%) was never marketed as a prescription drug.

Unlike minoxidil, the discovery of finasteride was a typical case of modern drug discovery—a drug designed to target specific receptors that mediate the disease it is aimed at. The first step that led to the development of finasteride was discovery of the role of 5α -reductase, which provided a better understanding of the separate roles of testosterone and DHT. The role of 5α -reductase was understood through studies on the genetic disorder 5α -reductase deficiency, which produces a form of male pseudohermaphroditism (106, 113, 114). Those studies suggested that the clinical signs of the disorder imply that 5α reductase has a role in conditions such as benign prostatic hyperplasia, androgenetic alopecia, acne, and hirsutism (106). Consequently, researchers at Merck synthesized a series of azasteroids to target the enzyme and hence provide potential treatments for these conditions. After the isolation of the two 5α reductase isoenzymes, it was found that type II 5 α -reductase, which is inhibited by finasteride, is the isoenzyme responsible for most of the effects ascribed to 5α -reductase. Furthermore, it was found that the patients with male pseudohermaphroditism caused by 5α reductase deficiency are only deficient in type II and have normal levels of type I isoenzyme (114). Finasteride was first administered to humans in early 1986. Biochemical efficacy was demonstrated in the first clinical study with marked reduction in circulating DHT levels (102). Clinical studies were conducted on finasteride for benign prostate hyperplasia (BPH), hirsutism, male-pattern baldness, and acne. The drug was first marketed for benign prostatic hyperplasia as a 5-mg tablet under the brand name Proscar after its FDA approval in 1992. The hair growth indication was being pursued at the same time. Propecia, a **1-mg** finasteride tablet was approved for the treatment of male-pattern hair loss in 1997.

Eflornithine (5) was originally developed by Merrell Dow (now Aventis) as an **antineo**-



(5) Eflornithine Hydrochloride

plastic and antiprotozoal agent. It was approved in 1990 in the intravenous form for the treatment of sleeping sickness (**trypanosomiasis**) under the brand name **Ornidyl**. Inhibition of hair growth was observed during the clinical trials. The indication was licensed to Bristol-MyersSquibb (**BMS**), which partnered with Gillette on the development program for reduction of unwanted hair in women. Gillette did the early development work and BMS conducted the clinical trials and handled regulatory filing. Eflornithine gained FDA approval in July 2000 and was subsequently launched in September of the same year. An OTC switch of eflornithine is a very likely long-term goal.

5.5 Current and Future Trends

Both and rogenetic alopecia and hirsutism are very active areas of research. With the increased knowledge of the biochemical and physiological basis of the conditions, novel compounds are being designed to target specific enzymes or receptors that are involved. Most of the compounds under development fall into three major categories: 5 a-reductase inhibitors, topical antiandrogens, and potassium channel agonists. The first two mechanisms are targeted for both scalp hair growth stimulation and body/facial hair growth inhibition. The third category is specific for hair growth promoting agents. Potassium channel agonists are believed to induce local vasodilatation and therefore enhance the microcircu**lation** in the scalp similar to minoxidil sulfate. They cause smooth muscle relaxation by hyperpolarizing the cell membrane and inhibiting acetylcholine-activated voltage-sensitive Ca^{2+} influxes and thus attenuating the acetylcholine-induced tonic contraction.

Among the most promising 5 a-reductase inhibitors is **Glaxo's** dutasteride (GG-745, **GI**-198745). **Glaxo SmithKline** has submitted an NDA with the FDA for BPH in 2001. **Dutast**eride, a 4-azasteroid, is an inhibitor of both type I and type II isoenzymes and is in phase II clinical trials for androgenetic alopecia. Table 9.7 lists some of the compounds in various stages of development for hair growth disorders. Many of these compounds, particularly antiandrogens and 5 a-reductase inhibitors in earlier phases of development, are being tested for multiple indications.

6 SEXUAL DISORDERS

The recent extraordinary interest in sexual disorders was primarily spurred by the introduction of sildenafil (Viagra), the first effective oral medication for erectile dysfunction. The unparalleled global media hype that followed the launch of Viagra greatly increased the public awareness of erectile dysfunction and of sexual disorders in general. The enormous public response to sildenafil also stirred a debate over the reimbursement of such therapies and of lifestyle drugs in general. Several health authorities argued that impotence is not a disease and does not pose any health risk to the individual or the society. To counter this argument, drug companies that are involved in the field of sexual disorders intensified their efforts in gathering evidence on the impact of sexual dysfunction and its successful treatment on the quality of life of the individuals and their partners. This gave a new life to other sexual disorders that, until recently, were overlooked by the public and researchers as well. The most common sexual disorders are erectile dysfunction, premature ejaculation, and female sexual dysfunction.

Erectile dysfunction, also known as impotence, is defined as the inability to achieve or maintain an erection adequate for sexual satisfaction. It is estimated that 30 million men in the United States have partial or total erectile dysfunction (117). The number is expected to increase as the American population continues to age. Studies have shown that over 50%

Generic Name/ Laboratory Code	Originator	Chemical Class	Mechanism of Action	Indication
P-1075	Leo (Denmark)	Pyridyl cyanoguanidine	Potassium channel agonist	Alopecia
Dutasteride	Glaxo-Smithkline	4-Azasteroid	5 a-Reductase inhibitor	Alopecia, BPH
Tricomin (PC1358)	ProCyte	Tripeptide copper compounds	Unknown	Alopecia
Turosteride	Pharmacia	Non-steroidal teteracyclic structure closely resembles 4- azasteroid	5 α-Reductase inhibitor	BPH, alopecia, acne, hirsutism
CS 891	Sankyo (Japan)	Unknown	5 a-Reductase inhibitor	BPH, alopecia
L 733692	Merck	4-Azasteroid	Type I 5 α-Reductase inhibitor	Male pattern baldness
MK 434	Merck	4-Azasteroid	5 a-Reductase inhibitor	BPH, alopecia, acne
EM 250 (SCH 54726)	Endorecherche (Canada) and Schering Plough	17-Hydroxysteroid	Antiandrogen	Acne, alopecia
RU-58841	Aventis	Benzonitrile derivative	Non-steroidal topical antiandrogen	Acne, alopecia
LY 191704	Lilly	Benzoquinolinone	Type 15 a-reductase inhibitor	BPH, alopecia, acne
KC-399	Chugai (Japan)	Carbothiomide	Potassium channel agonist	Alopecia
KC 516	Chugai	Unknown	Potassium channel agonist	Alopecia
LGD-1331	Ligand	Unknown	Non-steroidal antiandrogen	Alopecia, hirsutism, acne, BPH

Table 9.7Compounds in Various Stages of Development for Hair Growth
Disorders (115,116)

of men ages 40–70 have some degree of erectile dysfunction, with 15% suffering from complete erectile dysfunction (118).

Premature ejaculation is another widespread male sexual disorder. It is defined as the persistent or recurrent ejaculation of semen with minimal sexual stimulation before, on, or shortly after vaginal penetration, and before the person or his partner desires it (119). Although less publicized than erectile dysfunction, premature ejaculation is believed to be the most common male sexual disorder. The prevalence rate is estimated at 30–40% of "normal" men (120).

Female sexual dysfunction encompasses a wide range of little understood disorders. These include the following: hypoactive sex-

ual desire disorder. sexual arousal disorder, orgasmic disorder, and sexual pain disorders. The overall prevalence of female sexual disorders is estimated at 30-50% (121, 122). The U.S. National Health and Social Life Survey of women ages 18-59 reported a prevalence rate of 43% (123). Until recently, most of the female sexual disorders were considered part of the natural aging process, and the subject gained very little attention from researchers and the public. The only available treatment was counseling. This has changed recently, as a result of the soaring interest in sexual disorders and lifestyle drugs in general, that was fueled by the phenomenal success of Viagra. It is now widely recognized that female sexual dysfunction is

Generic Name	Brand Name	Originator	Dosage Form	Dosage Strength
Sildenafil citrate	Viagra	Pfizer	Oral tablet	25, 50, 100 mg
Alprostadil	Muse	Vivus	Urethral suppository	125,250,500,1000 μg
Alprostadil	Caverject	Upjohn	Intracavernosal injection	5, 10, 20, 40 μg
Yohimbine	Aphrodyne	N/A ^a	Oral tablet	5.4 mg 3 times a day

 Table 9.8
 Currently Approved Drugs for Erectile Dysfunction

"Yhimbine and Yohimbe were used in folk medicine as approdisiacs for a long time.

an important health issue that affects the quality of life of millions of women.

6.1 Clinical Use

6.1.1 Current Drugs. Several pharmacological agents are available for the treatment of erectile dysfunction with different etiologies, which makes the condition treatable in the vast majority of sufferers. Table 9.8 lists the pharmacotherapeutic agents currently approved for erectile dysfunction.

The guidelines for management of erectile dysfunction issued by the First International Consultation on Erectile Dysfunction recommends involving the patient in selecting the treatment of his preference after explaining the benefits, risks, and costs involved with each treatment option (124). The non-invasiveness and convenience of oral medication makes it the first choice by the vast majority of patients unless contraindicated. Sildenafil is currently the most prescribed treatment for erectile dysfunction. It is effective as a single dose and is recommended to be taken approximately 1 h before sexual activity, but can be taken anywhere from 30 min to 4 h before sexual activity. The overall efficacy of sildenafil, defined as percentage of successful attempts at sexual intercourse, is approximately 70% (125).

The leading intracavernosal agent is **al-prostadil**. It is indicated for the treatment of erectile dysfunction caused by neurogenic, vasculogenic, psychogenic, or mixed etiology. Erection occurs in 5–10 min after **intracaver**nosal injection of alprostadil. In clinical practice, the dose is individualized and **titrated** slowly to the lowest possible effective dose to avoid prolonged erection and priapism (erection that lasts for more than 6 h), which can be potentially serious side effects. The target is an erection that lasts for approximately 1 h.

Intracavernosal alprostadil is still the most effective treatment, although its use is limited by the side effects and the inconvenience of self-injection and rapid onset of action, which results in an unnatural erection. More than 90% of alprostadil intracavernosal injections result in successful sexual intercourse (126). Transurethral alprostadil is **a micro-supposi**tory that is inserted into the stem of the urethra using an applicator. Although it is a more convenient route of administration, its overall efficacy is about 50% (126, 127).

The vasoactive amines phentolamine and papaverine are occasionally used **as** intracavernosal therapy, usually in combination with alprostadil, although their use for erectile dysfunction is off-label. Moxisylyte is another **vasoactive** agent used **as** intracavernosal therapy. The drug is approved in several European countries, but is not approved in the United States. The advantages over alprostadil are that with moxisylyte, sexual stimulation is still required to achieve full erection and that detumescence occurs on ejaculation.

Yohimbine is a moderately effective and well-tolerated oral agent for erectile dysfunction, yet it has not been adequately evaluated in well-designed placebo-controlled studies, although two meta-analyses of the few randomized placebo-controlled studies demonstrated its advantage over placebo (128–130). It is more effective in patients with erectile dysfunction of psychological etiology (131, 132). Yohimbine is a registered drug in the United States. The label indications are sympatholytic and mydriatic, but the label also states "impotence has been successfully treated with yohimbine in male patients with vascular or diabetic origins and psychogenic origins (18mg/day)" (93). One of the disadvantages of yohimbine is its daily dosing schedule, which in addition to being inconvenient, may

contribute to the low efficacy observed in some of the clinical studies. A single on-demand dose has not been evaluated, although it has been successfully used by some clinicians and seems to be at least as effective as the standard daily dose (128, 132). Moreover, it has been suggested that tolerance develops after chronic administration of yohimbine, which further diminishes the efficacy of a daily dose (128). Because of the lack of conclusive clinical data on yohimbine, the American Urological Association, in its guidelines on the treatment of organic erectile dysfunction issued in 1996, concluded that "based on the data to date, yohimbine does not appear to be effective for organic erectile dysfunction, and thus should not be recommended as treatment for the standard patient" (133).

Topical anesthetics are the only approved treatment for premature ejaculation. Few uncontrolled clinical studies reported positive results (119, 134). However, the decades-old therapy has not been evaluated in controlled clinical trials. Oral pharmacotherapy has been used off-label and is gaining more popularity with the increased public interest in oral therapies for sexual disorders. Some of the drugs that have been historically used are adrenergic antagonists and y-amino butyric acid (GABA). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, namely paroxetine and fluoxetine, are currently the most commonly used oral agents for premature ejaculation.

There are no approved treatments for female sexual dysfunction, although the subject is currently enjoying vast interest. At present, the main off-label treatments are the **vasoac**tive agents developed for erectile dysfunction. Clinical studies are underway to support their use.

The following sections will focus on approved treatments for erectile dysfunction.

6.1.2 Adverse Effects. Sildenafil is well tolerated in patients with normal cardiovascular function. Most of the side effects reported in the clinical trials at a higher rate than placebo are mild and are related to the drug's vasodilatory effect. They include headache, flushing, and nasal congestion. Other frequent side effects include abnormal vision (impairment of color discrimination) and dyspepsia. The

former is a result of PDE6 inhibition and the latter is caused by the inhibition of PDE5 in the lower esophageal sphincter. Prolonged erection has been reported but is less frequent than with intracavernosal therapy. Priapism was reported in few patients, but the risk rate is extremely low. Potentially serious cardiovascular effects including decreased blood pressure caused by systemic vasodilatation and decreased cardiac output may occur in patients with preexisting cardiovascular risk factors. Sexual activity is an added risk factor in those patients. In addition, sildenafil potentiates the hypotensive effects of nitrates and is contraindicated in patients who are using organic nitrates. Most of reported deaths with sildenafil were caused by the concomitant treatment with nitrates. Some reported deaths occurred in patients with preexisting cardiovascular risk during or after sexual activity.

The main side effects of alprostadil are local. For intracavernosal injection, these include the following: penile pain after injection, prolonged erection, priapism, painful erection, penile fibrosis, and injection site **hematoma**. Priapism and prolonged erection are more serious side effects with alprostadil than with **sildenafil**. The local side effects after intraurethral administration are usually milder and include penile pain, urethral discomfort, and urethral **bleeding/spotting** and prolonged erection. Systemic side effects include hypotension (intraurethral administration only), headache, dizziness, and upper respiratory tract infections.

Yohimbine is well tolerated at the oral doses used for erectile dysfunction. The main side effects are nausea, dizziness, and nervousness. Headache and skin flushing have also been reported. Yohimbine has no significant effect on β -adrenergic receptors, and its effect on blood pressure has not been adequately evaluated. Common side effects after parenteral administration include sweating, nausea, and vomiting. Yohimbine penetrates the blood-brain barrier and can produce a complex pattern of responses (93). The central effects include anti-diuresis, a general picture of central excitation including elevated blood pressure and heart rate, increased motor activity, irritability, and tremor.

6.1.3.1 Sildenafil. Sildenafil is rapidly absorbed after oral administration. The peak plasma concentration is reached after 30–120 min of dosing, but the absorption rate is delayed if taken after high fat meals. The absolute oral bioavailability is approximately 40%. The mean steady-state volume of distribution is 105 L, which indicates distribution into tissues. Sildenafil and its major metabolite are approximately 96% bound to plasma proteins.

Sildenafil is eliminated mainly by hepatic metabolism. The main metabolizing enzyme is cytochrome P450 **3A4**. The major circulating metabolite is N-desmethyl sildenafil, which is further metabolized. N-desmethyl sildenafil retains **sildenafil's** selectivity profile and approximately 50% of its activity. Both sildenafil and its major metabolite have terminal halflives of 4 h. The elimination half-life of **sildenafil** is 3–5 h. Most of the administered dose is excreted in the feces as metabolites with only 13% excreted in the urine.

6.1.3.2 Alprostadil. Intraurethral PGE, (alprostadil) is absorbed from the urethra and distributes to the erectile tissue (cavernosal smooth muscles) by communicating blood vessels between the corpus spongiosum and the corpora cavernosa. The transurethral absorption is biphasic with an initial rapid phase followed by slower absorption. Approximately 80% of the administered dose is absorbed within 10 min and about 20% of the total dose reaches the cavernosal tissue.

Alprostadil binds to plasma proteins, primarily albumin and to a lesser extent to a-globulin IV-4 fraction. There is no evidence of tissue binding or accumulation.

Alprostadil is rapidly metabolized locally within the corpus cavernosum and in the urethra by enzymatic oxidation of the 15-hydroxyl group to 15-keto-PGE,. 15-Keto-PGE, has only 1–2% of the biological activity of PGE,. 15-Keto-PGE, is rapidly reduced to the inactive metabolite **13,14-dihydro,15**keto-PGE,, which is the most abundant metabolite in plasma. DHK-PGE, is further metabolized to other inactive metabolites. The half-life of alprostadil after intracavernosal administration is 5–10 min (135).Only a small fraction of the dose reaches the systemic circulation after intracavernosal or **intraure**- thral administration. The systemic metabolism of alprostadil is also very rapid. Eighty percent of the circulating alprostadil is metabolized in one pass through the lungs; thus, plasma levels are low and become undetectable within 1 h of intraurethral or intracavernosal administration. The main pathways for systemic metabolism are β - and ω -oxidation. The metabolites are excreted primarily by the kidneys. Ninety percent of the intravenously administered alprostadil appears in urine as metabolites within 24 h after administration. The remaining 10% is excreted in the feces.

6.1.3.3 Yohimbine. Yohimbine absorption after oral administration is highly variable. Both rapid and slow absorption have been reported (136,137). Peak plasma levels occurred at 10–45 min post-dosing in one study and 36–120 min with an average of 1.1 h in another study. The oral bioavailability is generally low and highly variable. It ranges from 4% to 87%. Yohimbine is highly metabolized, with only 1% of the administered dose excreted unchanged in urine. The mean elimination halflife is 0.63–1.5 h. Clearance is highly variable as well, with a mean value of 11 mL/min/kg. Yohimbine has a steady-state volume of distribution of approximately 32 L, and is highly bound to plasma proteins (around 80%). It has been postulated that an active metabolite with a longer duration of action is at least partially responsible for yohimbine pharmacological activity (138, 139). Two metabolites have been identified: 10-hydroxy-yohimbine and 11-hydroxy-yohimbine. Both the parent drug and the two metabolites are distributed to the cerebrospinal fluid. ll-Hydroxy-yohimbine was shown to have α **2-adrenoreceptor** antagonist activity in vitro. It has a long half-life of approximately 9.6 h and is present at a much higher plasma concentration than yohimbine after oral administration of the parent drug (137).

6.2 Physiology and Pharmacology

6.2.1 Physiology of Erection. The penis is composed of three bodies: a pair of corpora cavernosa on the dorsal side and a corpus spongiosum on the ventral side. The role of the corpus spongiosum is to protect and support the urethra, while the two corpora cavernosa

are the parts that provide structure to the penis in the erect state. The cavernosal bodies consist of a network of vascular sinuses supplied by the terminal branches of the cavernosal arteries. The vascular sinuses are supported by smooth muscles that are normally contracted when the penis is in the flaccid state. Factors that mediate cavernosal smooth muscle contraction, and therefore promote penile flaccidity, include the following (140): α -adrenoreceptors, endothelin, angiotensin, and thromboxane A.

Erection occurs as a result of increased pressure in the corpora cavernosa, which translates into penile rigidity. The pressure increase is caused by three synergistic processes: (1) relaxation of the smooth muscles of the corpora cavernosa; (2) increase in arterial blood flow to the penis; and (3) restriction of the venous blood flow out of the penis. Both central and peripheral mechanisms contribute to the process of penile erection. At the central level, the psychological component of penile erection is controlled by the hypothalamic and limbic systems (140). At the peripheral level, both sympathetic and parasympathetic pathways as well as several mediators are involved. Psychogenic and local stimulation results in the release of neurotransmitters from the cavernosal nerve terminals and smooth muscle endothelium. Factors that mediate the corpus cavernosum relaxation include nitric oxide (NO), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), and prostaglandin.

6.2.2 Role of Nitric Oxide. The NO pathway is the best understood and is believed to be the most important pathway for penile erection. NO is released from nonadrenergic noncholinergic (NANC) nerves in the corpus cavernosum and from the endothelium that lines the cavernosal vascular sinuses and blood vessels (140). Nitric oxide synthase catalyses NO formation from the precursors L-arginine and molecular oxygen (141). NO production in the vascular endothelium is stimulated by muscarinic acetylcholinergicreceptors. The released NO diffuses into smooth muscles and interacts with guanylate cyclase, which catalyses the formation of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) from guanosine triphosphate. The resulting increase in cGMP activates several processes that lead to smooth muscle relaxation. The increased arterial inflow to the corpora cavernosa **as** a result of smooth muscle relaxation leads to an increase in intracavernosal pressure and volume and thus increased penis length and rigidity. The increase in intercavernosal pressure results in compression of the subtunical venules and hence reduction of the venous outflow, which further increases penile rigidity (140, 142). cGMP activity is terminated by hydrolysis by cGMP specific type-5 phosphodiesterase (PDE).

6.2.3 Other Mediators. It is believed that VIP-, CGRP-, and prostaglandin-mediated pathways contribute to smooth muscle relaxation by increasing intracellular cAMP concentration in the corpora cavernosa (140). Increased cAMP results in phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of the actin-smooth-muscle-myosin cascade that causes smooth muscle relaxation. Prostaglandin E (PGE) causes the elevation of cAMP through a G-proteincoupled mechanism and activation of adenylyl cyclase. In addition, PGE reduces the adrenoreceptor mediated vasoconstriction by inhibiting norepinephrine release through prejunctional receptors on norepinephrine containing neurons.

6.2.4 Causes of Erectile Dysfunction. Erectile dysfunction can result from neurological, vascular, hormonal, or psychological factors, or from a combination of two or more of these factors. Neurological causes include spinal cord injury, multiple sclerosis, or any other condition that impedes the transmission of the neural signal generated by psychogenic stimulation. Vascular causes include arterial insufficiency, which results in low arterial pressure delivered to the penis, and venous insufficiency, in which excessive venous outflow occurs because of inadequate compression of the subtunical venules. Erectile dysfunction of hormonal origin results from inadequate androgenic stimulation of the sexual center in the anterior hypothalamus, which lowers libido and hence erection quality. In psychogenic erectile dysfunction, sexually inhibiting psychological issues can impede stimulatory signals to the penis, and anxiety can cause a sympathetic discharge, which favors flaccidity (142). It is usually difficult to distinguish primary psychogenic erectile dysfunction because many men with organic erectile dysfunction have a psychological response to their condition.

6.2.5 Mechanisms of Action. Most erectile dysfunction pharmacotherapies act by either inhibiting the contractile system (e.g., α -adrenoreceptor antagonists), or by stimulating or enhancing the vasodilatory system (e.g., prostaglandin E_1 , NO donors, PDE inhibitors). These mechanisms can work regardless of the origin of the disorder.

6.2.5.1 Sildenafil. Sildenafil is a selective PDE5 inhibitor. PDE5 is the **cGMP-specific** PDE and is the predominant form of the **isoen-zyme** in the corpora cavernosa. By inhibiting the hydrolysis of **cGMP** that is generated through the NO pathway, sildenafil enhances the cavernosal smooth muscle relaxation. For sildenafil to exert its effect, it requires intact NO-relaxing nerve fibers and an intact cavernosal epithelium. Sildenafil is not effective in patients with vascular disease where NO production is impaired, and has no effect in the absence of sexual stimulation.

Sildenafil has high selectivity for **PDE5**. It has 80- to more than 8500-fold selectivity to PDE5 versus **PDE1**, **PDE2**, **PDE3**, and PDE4 (125). **PDE6**, the isoenzyme found in the retina, is closely related to **PDE5**. The selectivity of sildenafil to **PDE6** is one-tenth of that to PDE5 (143). This explains the visual abnormalities observed with higher plasma levels of **sildenafil**. In addition to the cavernosal tissue, PDE5 is also found in lower concentrations in other human tissues including platelets, vascular smooth muscles, and skeletal muscles. The inhibition of PDE5 in these tissues is believed to be responsible for the vascular side effects of sildenafil.

6.2.5.2 Alprostadil. Alprostadil is chemically identical to the naturally occurring form of prostaglandin \mathbf{E}_1 and acts similar to the endogenous PGE. It induces erection by relaxation of the cavernosal smooth muscle and dilation of cavernosal arteries, which leads to increased arterial inflow and decreased venous outflow. Alprostadil has various systemic

effects including vasodilatation, inhibition of platelet aggregation, and stimulation of intestinal and uterine smooth muscles.

6.2.5.3 Yohimbine. Yohimbine is an α -adrenoreceptor antagonist, with high selectivity to the presynaptic $\alpha 2$ -adrenergic receptors. It is generally believed that yohimbine exerts its erectogenic effect by antagonizing the adrenergic inhibitory tone that suppresses erection. The mechanism of action of yohimbine on some sexual functions seems to be central, i.e., by inhibiting the presynaptic a2 receptors in the brain (129). Published data from animal experiments support the postulation that yohimbine's effects on sexual arousal and ejaculation occur through a central mechanism, because the drug can induce arousal even after genital anesthesia (144) and it reverses clonidine-induced inhibition of ejaculation (145,146). However, the mechanism of action of yohimbine on erectile function was not fully understood and its site of action was not conclusively identified until it was demonstrated few years ago that functional a2 receptors are expressed in the human corpus cavernosum (147). It is now believed that yohimbine exerts its erectogenic action by blocking post-synaptic a2 receptors in the corpus cavernosum and thus inhibits the contractility of the cavernosal tissue (128). In addition to its α -adrenergic effects, yohimbine exerts a stimulatory action on the mood and may increase anxiety. This effect is at least partially attributed to yohimbine's central serotonergic activity (148), although it has not been adequately studied.

6.2.5.4 Other Agents. Phentolamine is a nonselective α 1- and α 2-adrenoreceptor antagonist. It is a weak erectogenic agent when used alone as an intracavernosal injection. Phentolamine is usually used in combination with alprostadil and/or papaverine.

6.3 Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships

Sildenafil (6) is a pyrazolopyrimidinonederivative. The pyazolopyrimidinone ring is essential for PDE5 inhibitory activity. It seems that this ring structure mimics the guanosine base of cGMP (149). Another ring system that has been shown to produce potent and selective PDE5 inhibitory activity is imidazoquinazoli-



(6) Sildenafil Citrate

none (150). In the sildenafil series, the **n-pro**pyl substitution on position 3 of the pyazolopyrimidinone ring gives a more potent compound compared with a 3-methyl analog. Intramolecular hydrogen bonding of sildenafil and its analogs is important for biological activity by maintaining co-planarity between the phenyl and purine ring (151). The 2'-alkoxy moiety on the phenyl group serves this purpose by providing the oxygen lone pair for hydrogen bonding with the pyrimidinone NH (149). The alkoxy moiety also provides the requirement for a small lipophilic substituent, which is important for activity. Replacement of the alkoxy moiety with a hydrogen reduced PDE5 affinity by 200-fold (149). Hydroxy, nitro, and sulphonamide derivatives also had lower affinity to PDE5. It has been demonstrated that an open chain 2'-alkoxyl group serves the lipophilicity requirement better than a fused ring system. An ether ring fused into the phenyl moiety, although increasing the degree of co-planarity, largely reduced the PDE5 inhibitory activity (151). An N-acylamido substitution at the 5'-position of the phenyl ring was shown to enhance PDE5 inhibitory activity (152). Sildenafil analogs with such a substituent were one to three times more potent than sildenafil, based on in *vitro* PDE5 inhibitory activity. The activity increased with increasing the chain length of the N-acylamido moiety. This substitution, however, decreased the analogs' selectivity to PDE5 over PDE6 (152). The sulfonamide substituent on position 5' enhances the aqueous solubility of sildenafil and also increases its affinity to cGMP (149). Introduction of a carboxylic acid group to the

5'-sulfonamide moiety of the phenyl ring greatly enhanced the in *vitro* PDE5 activity (153), possibly caused by mimicking the phosphate group of **cGMP**.

Alprostadil (7) is a synthetic form of prostaglandin E_1 (PGE₁). It is chemically identical



(7) Alprostadil

to the naturally occurring PGE_1 . Prostaglandin E_1 is an acidic lipid that is synthesized by mammalian tissues from fatty acid precursors.

Yohimbine (8) is a natural alkaloid found in Rubaceae and related trees, mainly, from the



(8) Yohimbine

bark of the African tree *Pasinystalia yohimbe*, and is also found in Rauwolfia Serpentina. It is an indolalkylamine alkaloid with structural similarity to reserpine. Chemically, it is known as 17α -hydroxy-yohimban- 16α -carboxylic acid methylester. The commercial product contains the hydrochloride salt of yohimbine.

6.4 History

The use of drugs for the treatment of impotence and other sexual disorders is very old. Yohimbine has been used in folk medicine by men and women for various forms of sexual dysfunction, mainly as an aphrodisiac for over a century. In the United States, yohimbine hydrochloride has been marketed and prescribed by doctors for more than 75 years (154). **Be-** cause the mainstream medical use of yohimbine pre-dated the Food and Drug Act, the drug did not go through the formal FDA review and approval process, and hence, there are no well-controlled clinical trials with a sufficient number of patients to allow for conclusive results on its efficacy and long-term safety. The lack of conclusive clinical data and the daily dosing schedule that has been practiced for decades, rather than a more convenient on-demand use, are the main reasons for the low level of interest in yohimbine by medical practitioners. Needless to say, pharmaceutical companies lack the interest in conducting expensive large-scale clinical trials of yohimbine, because the ancient drug is nonpatentable.

Because of the absence of clinically proven safe and effective pharmacotherapy for erectile dysfunction, psychotherapy was until recently the core treatment for most patients, except for a few cases where a surgically correctable cause could be identified. The results of psychotherapy have been disappointing (155), and often times, the goal of psychotherapy was to help men accept their sexual dysfunction rather than to correct it. The widespread belief that erection failure is primarily of psychological origin, and hence the acceptance of psychotherapy as the primary treatment, continued until the early 1980s.

In 1982, a new era for erectile dysfunction started when Virag (156) showed that penile injection of a vasoactive amine—papaverine (9)—could result in erection without sexual



stimulation. In 1983, Brindley (157) reported the clinical efficacy of cavernosal a-blockade in the treatment of erectile dysfunction. As a result of the extensive research on the mechanism of erection that followed Virag's and Brindley's pioneer work, it was established that underlying organic causes are responsible for approximately 80% of persistent erectile dysfunction cases (142). This resulted in changing the primary treatment from psychotherapy to pharmacotherapy and stimulated further research in this area. Intracavernosal injections of papaverine and phentolamine (10) became a common treatment for erectile



(10) Phentolamine

dysfunction in addition to vacuum/constriction devices. As a result of the growing interest and increased understanding of the condition, the U.S. National Institute of Health (NIH) advocated the use of the term erectile dysfunction (ED) rather than impotence in 1992 (158).

The first pharmacological agent for ED to be approved by the FDA was intracavernosal alprostadil. It was approved in June 1995 for the treatment of erectile dysfunction caused by neurogenic, vasculogenic, psychogenic, or mixed etiology. Despite its clinical efficacy, the high cost, and more importantly, fear of self injection limited the use of intracavernosal therapy. The search for a less invasive therapy led to the development of a novel transurethral dosage form of alprostadil, which gained FDA approval in 1997. This was still far from the ideal therapy. The main disadvantages of alprostadil therapy are loss of spontaneity, because erection occurs even without sexual stimulation, and rapid onset of action, which does not allow for discreet administration and also contributes to the loss of spontaneity.

In 1985, the story of sildenafil discovery (159) started when two chemists at Pfizer's site in Kent, U.K. proposed to look for antihypertensive and antianginal compounds that

would work by inhibiting phosphodiesterase (PDE) and thus promoting the vasodilator action of cGMP. The project started with the usual literature review to identify a chemical starting point. Zaprinast (11), a compound



(11) Zaprinast

that was developed as an antiallergic by May and Baker (later part of Rhone-Poulenc Rorer, which is now part of Aventis), was selected. Zaprinast, which was never commercialized, was not selective enough to PDE; however, it provided a satisfactory starting point for the Pfizer team. In their effort to modify the Zaprinast structure to make it more selective and more potent, Pfizer chemists explored other ring systems and varied the side-chain substitutions. Atotal of about 1600 compounds were synthesized. In 1989, sildenafil (UK 92480) was identified as a promising candidate based on its in vitro selectivity to PDE and its potency (159). Sildenafil had a more than 500fold affinity to PDE than the starting compound (149). Phase I clinical trials of sildenafil started in 1991. In 1992, the results of a limited phase II clinical study in patients with severe coronary heart disease were disappointing, but at the same time, the first report of sildenafil's effect on erectile function came from a parallel high dose phase I study. The "side effect" of erection caught the team's interest; however, the decision to change the direction of the sildenafil development program from cardiovascular to erectile dysfunction came only after long deliberations (159). The discovery of nitric oxide and the understanding of its role as a signaling molecule in the early 1990s helped Pfizer's researchers to understand the mechanism of sildenafil's effect on erection and therefore helped in making that decision. The first phase II clinical trial for erectile dysfunction started in 1994 and

included 12 men with ED. Ten of 12 patients showed improvement. The next trial, which took place in 1994 and 1995, was an outpatient trial. This was followed by a large open-label multi-center clinical trial in which 225 patients were assessed for over 32 weeks. Eightyeight percent of patients reported improvement, and over 90% expressed interest in continuing the treatment. In total, the drug was tested in about 4000 men, ages 19-87, who suffered from erectile dysfunction of organic, psychogenic, or mixed origin, or with no identified etiology (117). In all of the studies, sildenafil exhibited superior efficacy over placebo. The NDA was submitted to the FDA in September 1997, and sildenafil was approved in March 1998 after a fast track review.

6.5 Future Trends

A few dozen potential products are in clinical development for male **and/or** female sexual disorders. Several of these potential products are novel delivery systems of already marketed compounds, such as two topical delivery systems of alprostadil developed by **NexMed** and Macro Chem, and a lyophilized liposomal delivery system for urethral administration of alprostadil, developed by **Harvard** Scientific.

New oral agents that target central and peripheral pathways of erection are expected t~ be introduced in the next few years. Some of the older off-label agents are also in late phases of clinical development or under FDA review. An injectable formulation of **phentol**amine is being developed by Novartis, and Senetek is developing a combination of vasoactive intestinal **peptide** (VIP) and **phentolamine** in an autoinjector. Trazodone is another older drug marketed as an antidepressant and is in clinical development for erectile dysfunction. Trazodone (12) is a centrally acting serotoninergic agonist with peripheral sympatholytic activity. Studies indicate that it



(12) Trazodone

is mostly effective in patients with psychogenic etiology (160). Other serotonin agonists are being tested by **Vivus** for premature ejaculation and other sexual disorders.

Apomorphine (13) is a dopaminergic **ago**nist that acts at the paraventricular and **su**-



(13) Apomorphine

praoptic nuclei in the brain, but has low oral bioavailability. TAP Pharmaceuticals is developing a sublingual formulation of apomorphine for the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Recently, TAP withdrew its NDA application of the sublingual preparation after the FDA advisory panel rejected the use of 4 mg of **apo**morphine in ED treatment because of safety concerns. The company hopes to resubmit the 2-mg NDA application in October 2002. **Nastec** is testing an intranasal formulation of **apo**morphine (1mg) for erectile dysfunction. The lower dose will help reduce the side effects.

In addition, several new PDE5 inhibitors are in various phases of clinical development. The closest to marketing are ICOS/Eli Lilly's IC-351 (Cialis) and Bayer's vardenafil. Both drugs are expected to be approved by the FDA in 2002. Other novel compounds include didesmethylsibutramine (by Sepracor), which is a single isomer of an active metabolite of sibutramine—a norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake inhibitor--and nitric oxide NMI-870 (NitroMed), which is a nitric oxide– enhanced compound of yohimbine for specific delivery of NO to target tissue.

Melanotan II or PT-141 (Palatin Technologies) is a synthetic analog of melanocyte-stimulating hormone (161). The peptide is currently under development as an intranasal formulation for both male and female sexual dysfunction. It is a non-selective melanocortin receptor agonist, which in animals regulates sexual behavior including penile erection, sexual motivation, and in female rats, the secretion of sexual attractants from the preputial gland. Melanotan, which was originally discovered and synthesized by researchers at the University of Arizona, started as a suntanning agent. Spontaneous erection reported in a tanning clinical study led to the initiation of a joined development program between University of Arizona and Palatin Technologies. Results from phase IIA studies were very positive, with response rate greater than 80% and good safety profile (162). Phase III trials for erectile dysfunction are expected to start in 2003. Topical testosterone (gel formulations from Solvay and Cellegy, and a patch from Watson) is being tested for reduced sexual desire in women. Bupropion was shown to improve sexual desire in a pilot clinical study, and the indication is likely to be pursued.

7 SMOKING CESSATION AGENTS

Although **smoking** cessation is a lifestyle decision, the ability to quit is usually hindered by nicotine chemical dependence. According to the Surgeon General report on smoking in 2000 (163), "Tobacco dependence is in fact best viewed as a chronic disease with remission and relapse. Even though both minimal and intensive interventions increase smoking cessation, most people who quit smoking with the aid of such interventions will eventually relapse." It is estimated that 24.7% of all adults who lived in the United States in 1997 were smokers (164). This is only slightly lower than the 25.5% prevalence in 1994 (165). Statistics show that over 70% of smokers express a strong desire to quit and about 20% actually try to stop smoking. However, only 3–5% of smokers who attempt to quit smoking on their own achieve a successful abstinence after 1 year (165, 166). The agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) in its Clinical Practice Guidelines on Smoking Cessation released in April 1996 (The U.S. Public Health Service practice guidelines) (167) state that every patient attempting to stop smoking should be treated with pharmacotherapy. Pharmacological intervention is often part of a multicomponent therapy that also includes one or more non-pharmacological components, mainly psychosocial therapy (behavioral therapy). The AHCPR found that smoking cessation interventions by healthcare providers doubled the success rate of smoking cessation (167). When multiple types of providers (e.g., clinicians and psychotherapists) deliver these interventions, the likelihood of **smoking** cessation increases by a factor of four. The panel also found that nicotine replacement therapy (gum and patches) is efficacious regardless of the use of adjuvant treatment (psychosocial interventions), but its efficacy is increased when used with adjuvant interventions.

Treating tobacco dependence is one of the most cost-effective preventive measures. It is estimated that smoking cessation is more cost-effective than several common clinical preventive services such as screening for cervical, breast, and colon cancer, treatment of mild-to-moderate high blood pressure, and treatment of high cholesterol (163).

7.1 Clinical Use

7.1.1 Current Drugs. The FDA-approved smoking cessation medications include nicotine replacement therapy (**NRT**) available in several delivery systems and one non-nicotine drug. Only nicotine gum and nicotine patches are available over-the-counter. Table 9.9 lists smoking cessation medications that are approved for clinical use in the United States. The dose of NRT varies depending on the delivery system and the current usage level of tobacco by the patient. Bupropion therapy is usually started 1 week before quitting smoking as 150-mg slow-release tablets twice a day. The usual length of treatment of **smoking** cessation therapy is 6–12 weeks. Because all the approved smoking cessation agents are almost equally effective and safe (168), the choice of treatment usually depends on the patient preference. Bupropion is particularly useful for smokers who had unsuccessful attempts with NRT. It is also useful for smokers who are concerned about possible weight gain after quitting. Bupropion was shown to attenuate weight gain after smoking cessation; however, the benefits are not sustainable once the treatment is discontinued (169,170). Although the OTC labels recommend against using nicotine gum or patches in combination with other nicotine products, there is evidence that combining a nicotine patch with 2-mg gum *ad libitum* for high craving instances may be advantageous (171). The results, however, were not sustainable in clinical trials after 12 months (172, 173). Using the nasal spray along with the patch for severe craving also increased the success rate (174). The combination of **bupro**pion and nicotine patch was found to be more effective than either treatment alone, although the difference between the combination and bupropion alone was not statistically significant (175, 176).

7.1.2 Adverse Effects. The main adverse effect of nicotine is psychoactive substance dependence. Acute and chronic tolerance to nicotine effects on the brain function and activity lead to increased nicotine consumption through smoking (177, 178). Acute tolerance to nicotine can develop in less than 1 h, but develops at different rates for different physiologicaleffects. Because of the highly addictive effects of nicotine, smoking cessation results in nicotine withdrawal syndrome. The symptoms can start as early as 2 h after the last nicotine consumption and reach a peak in 24-48 h after smoking cessation. The symptoms include, in addition to tobacco craving, depression, insomnia, irritability, nervousness, restlessness, difficulty concentrating, anxiety, drowsiness, sleep disturbances, decreased heart rate, and increased appetite (179, 180). Side effects of excess nicotine consumption include nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, diarrhea, flushing, dizziness, disturbed hearing and vision, weakness, confusion, and palpitation.

Side effects specific to nicotine delivery systems are mainly caused by local irritation at the site of administration. For example, nausea, indigestion, sore gums, and mouth ulceration may occur when using the gum. The patches may cause skin irritation, which is characterized by erythema, pruritus, edema, and rarely, vesicles. The nasal spray may cause irritation of the nasal mucosa, sneezing, coughing, and lacrimation, although tolerance to these effects develops rapidly with continued use. Side effects from the inhaler include mild mouth and throat irritation and coughing (181).

Generic Name	Brand Name	Delivery System	Originator	Strength	Daily Dose	Current Regulatory Status
Bupropion hydrochloride	Zyban	SR tablet	Glaxo Wellcome	150 mg	300 mg	Prescription
Nicotine	Habitrol	Transdermal system	Novartis	21, 14, 7 mg	1 patch	OTC
Nicotine	Nicotrol	Transdermal system	Cygnus/Pharmacia	15 mg	1 patch	OTC
Nicotine	Nicotrol inhaler	Inhalation system	Parke-Davis	10 mg/Cartridge (4 mg delivered)	6–16 Cartridges	Prescription
Nicotine	Nicotrol NS	Nasal spray	Parke-Davis	10 mg/mL (0.5 mg/spray)	Up to 40 mg (80 sprays)	Prescription
Nicotine polacrilex	Nicorette	Nicotine- polacrilex gum	Lakeside Pharmaceuticals (Merrell Dow)	2 mg, 4 mg	Up to 24 pieces	OTC

Table 9.9Current Smoking Cessation Agents on the U.S. Market

7 Smoking Cessation Agents

Bupropion is a well-tolerated antidepressant. It is non-sedating and lacks the cardiovascular and anticholinergic side effects of tricyclic antidepressants. Bupropion's most commonly observed adverse effects are insomnia and dry mouth. The drug is also known to be associated with a low rate of seizures; however, no seizure incidents were reported in the smoking cessation clinical trials. Other less frequently occurring side effects include nervous system disturbances (mainly tremor) and skin rashes (170, 182).

7.1.3 Pharmacokinetics. Nicotine is readily available by inhalation after tobacco **smoking**. Inhalation is the fastest route for nicotine absorption and results in the highest bioavailability. The bioavailability from cigarettes in smokers who inhale is about 90% (183). These smokers attain a maximum blood level almost instantaneously. Nicotine, a small lipophilic molecule, is also rapidly absorbed through skin and the mucous membranes. It is a basic compound, and therefore, is absorbed in a pHdependent manner. Absorption through the oral mucosa seems to be slower than the nasal route (possibly because of the pH effect). Cigarette smoke is mildly acidic (pH 5.3) and, therefore, only little absorption occurs in the buccal cavity (about 10%). However, in the alkaline smoke of pipes and cigars (pH 8.5), nicotine is absorbed rapidly through the oral **mu**cosa (183). Nicotine penetrates the bloodbrain barrier and reaches the central nervous system rapidly, with maximum brain concentration reached within a few seconds after cigarette smoking (182). In general, absorption from nicotine-replacement drug delivery systems is controlled by the release rate from the vehicle. The nasal spray provides the fastest release and hence fastest absorption of nicotine, and therefore has the advantage of rapid alleviation of nicotine withdrawal symptoms. The maximum nicotine concentration is reached in 4-15 min after administration of nicotine nasal spray, which is still slower than the almost instantaneous peak after smoking tobacco. Nicotine absorption from the nicotine polacrilex gum is slower because of a slower release rate from the delivery system and slower absorption through the oral mucosa. When used properly, each piece of the gum

provides continued absorption for approximately 30 min. Although the inhaler has the advantage of mimicking the act of smoking, absorption rate is comparable with Nicorette gum and slower than that from the nasal spray. Nicotine absorption from the "inhaler" occurs through the buccal mucosa rather than the lungs. Nicotine patches, extended release transdermal delivery systems, maintains the most sustained blood level and therefore requires less frequent dosing.

Nicotine bioavailability also varies with the delivery system. The reported bioavailability from the nasal spray and transdermal patch is 53% and **82%**, respectively (**93**, 184). In nicotine polacrilex gum, nicotine is bound to an ion exchange resin and is released only by chewing. Nicotine bioavailability, therefore, is dependent on the vigor, rapidity, and duration of chewing. Of the 10 mg in each cartridge of a nicotine inhaler, only 4 mg is actually delivered from the device to the oral mucosa and is available for absorption.

Nicotine has low plasma protein binding (<5%) and a large volume of distribution (2–3 L/kg). It is eliminated mainly by hepatic metabolism, although some metabolism occurs in the lungs and kidneys. The main metabolites are cotinine (15% of the dose) and trans-3-hydroxycotinine (45% of the dose). Only 10% of the absorbed dose is excreted unchanged in urine. In healthy adult smokers, nicotine has an apparent elimination half-life of 1–2 h and the average plasma clearance is 1.2 h (93).

Bupropion oral bioavailability in humans has not been determined because the drug was never administered intravenously to humans. The relative oral bioavailability in rats and dogs ranges between 5% and 20%. In healthy volunteers, peak plasma concentration is reached approximately 3 h after administration of the sustained release tablet (93). Based on *in vitro* protein binding data, bupropion is 84% bound to plasma proteins. It is widely distributed to tissues and has an apparent steady-state volume of distribution (V_{ss}/F) of approximately 2000 L. Bupropion is extensively metabolized by oxidation and reduction to at least six metabolites with only 0.5% of a bupropion oral dose excreted unchanged in urine. The major metabolite in urine is a glycine conjugate of metachlorobenzoic acid,

which is formed by oxidation of the bupropion side-chain followed by glycine conjugation. Three active metabolites have been identified: hydroxybupropion and the two amino-alcohol isomers threohydrobupropion and erythrohydrobupropion (185). These metabolites are formed through hydroxylation of the *tert*-butyl group of bupropion and/or reduction of the carbonyl group. The potency of the active metabolites has not been assessed in humans. However it is suggested that hydroxybupropion has a primarily noradrenergic effect, whereas threohydrobupropion has some dopaminergic activity and minor noradrenergic effect (186). The CSF concentrations of hydroxybupropion and erythrohydrobupropion are 6 times greater than the parent drug, whereas threohydrobupropion CSF concentration is 40 times that of the parent drug (185). In *vitro* data suggest that cytochrome P450IIB6 (CYP2B6) is the principal enzyme involved in the formation of hydroxybupropion, whereas P450 isoenzymes are not involved in the formation of threohydrobupropion. The mean apparent clearance (Cl/F) of bupropion ranges between 135 and 209 L/h. The mean apparent elimination half-life of bu**propion** after administration of the sustained release tablet is approximately 21 h. The elimination half-life from the immediate release formulation is 11–14 h. The main elimination half-lives of the active metabolites are 20, 37, and 33 h for hydroxybupropion, threohydrobupropion, and erythrohydrobupropion, respectively (93).

7.2 Physiology and Pharmacology

7.2.1 Pharmacological Action of Nicotine. Nicotine binds selectively to the nicotinic receptors that are present in the adrenal medulla, brain, autonomic ganglia, and **neuro**muscular junctions. It causes the release of several neurotransmitters and hormones such as acetylcholine, norepinephrine, dopamine, serotonin, arginine vasopressin, β -endorphin, adrenocorticotropic hormone, and cortisol (187). This neuro-regulatory effect of nicotine is dose-dependent and occurs as plasma nico-tine level rises when tobacco is smoked. The neurotransmitters released in the brain mediate the behavior modulating effects and positive reinforcing effects of nicotine and other habit-forming drugs.

7.2.1.1 Neurological Basis of Nicotine De*pendence.* In the brain, nicotine exerts a multitude of psychological and behavioral effects. At low doses, it exerts a predominantly stimulating effect, which occurs in the cortex through locus ceruleus and is mediated by norepinephrine. At high doses, a dopaminergic reward effect predominates (184, 188). The reward and positive reinforcement effects of nicotine are responsible for the drug-seeking behavior in tobacco smokers. A common effect of many drugs of abuse, as well as natural rewards (e.g., food, sex), is the elevation of extracellular dopamine levels (189). The mesolim**bic-dopaminergic** neurons in the midbrain are thought to be the final common pathway for reward, and the reward effect occurs as a result of the elevated **dopamine** level. Although there have been some recent challenges to the dopamine reward theory (190–193), it is still unequivocally agreed that **dopamine** plays a crucial role in the reward system and drugseeking habit formation. An alternative view to the classical dopaminergic reward theory is that the dopaminergic-neuron activation functions as a learning signal (189, 194), and that the neuroadaptive changes (up-regulation) of the dopaminergic neurons with the chronic use of tobacco (or other drugs of abuse) might result in the generation of a deficit state that enhances drug craving and hence drug-seeking behavior (189). Other neurotransmitters such as norepinephrine and 5-HT have been implicated in the reward and positive reinforcement effects of nicotine.

Nicotine is an agonist to the neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR). These receptors are the likely site at which nicotine exerts its central actions. Evidence supports the involvement of the central nAChR in neurotransmitter release (195), and a large body of evidence indicates that dopamine release from dopaminergic neurons is mediated by activation of the brain nAChRs (196). It has also been shown that both nicotinic receptors and muscarinic receptors in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) activate the dopaminergic neurons and thus play a role in the reward effect of nicotine (197). In addition, animal data suggest an involvement of the 5-HT (**2C**) receptor in mediating the mesolimbic-dopaminergic system (**198**).

These positive reinforcement effects of nicotine include anxiolytic effect, antinociceptive/analgesic effects, enhanced vigilance, and improved cognitive function. Tolerance to many of these effects occurs rapidly, leading to substance dependence (199, 200). In animal studies, a single pretreatment with nicotine results in acute tolerance to the subsequent dose (201,202). The role of norepinephrine in the positive reinforcement effects of nicotine is not clear, but it has been suggested that nicotine's effects on concentration and attention are mediated by a noradrenergic mechanism (182). The noradrenergic system is also implicated in mediating the effects of nicotine withdrawal. 5-HT receptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) are implicated in the anxiolytic effect of nicotine (203). Changes to these receptors mediate the development of tolerance to the anxiolytic effect and hence the anxiogenic response during nicotine withdrawal (203). The antinociceptive/analgesic effect of nicotine is believed to be mediated by a cholinergic pathway through the neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (204, 205). 5-HT receptors are also implicated in the antinociceptive effect of nicotine, possibly through an interaction between the nicotinic and serotonergic systems (206). Acetylcholine is known to play a crucial role in nicotine's effects on the cognitive function.

7.2.1.2 Peripheral Pharmacological Actions of Nicotine. Nicotine effects on the cardiovascular system include tachycardia and peripheral vasoconstriction, which leads to elevated blood pressure. Because the cardiovascular effects are mainly caused by elevated levels of catecholamines and cortisol, tolerance to these effects does not occur. Other pharmacological actions of nicotine include increased gastrointestinal motility caused by parasympathetic ganglionic stimulation and skeletal muscle contraction caused by the effect on nicotinic receptors in the neuromuscular junction (184).

7.2.2 Bupropion Mechanism of Action. Bupropion is a monocyclic non-MAO inhibitor antidepressant with both dopaminergic and

noradrenergic activities. It is a weak inhibitor of dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin reuptake (207), but it has a greater effect on the neuronal reuptake of catecholamines than of serotonin. Some studies suggest that bupropion is entirely selective for catecholamines and is devoid of any serotonergic activity (185). Bupropion's effectiveness as a smoking cessation agent is not related to its antidepressant effect. The drug is equally effective in smokers with current depression, past depression, or no depression (168). The mechanism by which bupropion enhances the ability for smoking cessation is believed to be related to its dopaminergic and noradrenergic activity (186). In addition, it has been shown recently that bupropion is a potent inhibitor of central nAChRs and that it blocks nicotine activation of these receptors in a dose-dependent noncompetitive fashion (208). This suggests that the nicotinic antagonist effect contributes to bupropion mechanism of action in smoking cessation.

7.3 Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships

Nicotine (14) [S-3-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl) pyridine] is the main alkaloid in tobacco. It is a tertiary amine composed of a pyridine and a



(14) Nicotine

pyrrolidine ring. Nicotine exists in two isomeric forms, but tobacco contains only the levorotatory isomer, which is the more pharmacologically active form.

7.3.1 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are ligandgated ion channels whose opening is controlled by acetylcholine and nicotine agonists (196,209,210). They are transmembrane protein structures. Each receptor consists of five subunits. The structure is inserted in the plasma membrane with an aqueous channel in the center. The subunits have common general structure that comprises the following:

- A large extracellular N-terminal that forms the bulk of the acetylcholine-binding site
- Four putative transmembrane hydrophobic regions that form the channel
- An intracellular loop joining the third and fourth transmembrane domains: this is a very important structure for the regulation of receptor function
- An extracellular C-terminus

In the CNS, the **nAChRs** are located mainly at the presynaptic nerve terminals where they modulate the synaptic activity by regulating the neurotransmitter release. Multiple populations of **nAChRs** exist, with a largely diverse subunit composition.

The nAChR subunits are grouped into two main types: ligand-binding subunits (a subunits) and structural subunits (β subunits). Several types of the a and β subunits have been identified. The subunits that are present in the neuronal nAChRs are $\alpha 2-\alpha 9$ and $\beta 2-\beta 4$. The pharmacological properties of the nAChR subtypes largely depend on their subunit composition. For example, the analgesic effect is believed to be mediated by the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ subtype, whereas the dopamine release from dopaminergic neurons in the brain is controlled in part by another $\alpha 4$ -containing subtype.

Since the discovery of the neuronal nAChRs, there has been a rapidly growing interest in designing drugs that are selective to neuronal nAChR subtypes and hence can specifically target diseases or clinical conditions such as smoking addiction, pain, anxiety, attention deficit, Alzheimer disease, Parkinson disease, and other cognitive and neurodegenerative disorders.

7.3.2 Structural Requirements for nAChR Ligands. Schmitt (211) summarized the general structural requirements for binding at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and a7 receptors (the most abundant nAChRs subtypes in the CNS) as follows.

- 1. A cationic center, preferably a basic or quaternized nitrogen, is required. In nicotine, this requirement is satisfied by the pyrrolidine nitrogen.
- 2. A hydrogen bond acceptor (HBA) and/or T-electron rich moiety is favored. This is satisfied by a less basic nitrogen such as the pyridine nitrogen of nicotine or a carbonyl oxygen (e.g., the carbonyl oxygen of acetylcholine).
- **3.** The receptor favors a relative separation between the **cationic** center and the H-bond acceptor or τ -electron moiety of 4-8 Å.
- 4. The receptors exhibit the tendency toward stereospecific interaction.
- 5. The receptor may prefer some degree of cation-HBA/ π coplanarity.

7.3.3 SAR of Bupropion and Its Analogs. Bupropion (15), also known as amfebutamone, is 1-(3-chlorophenyl)-2-[(1,1-dimethyl-





ethyl)amino]-1-propane. It is a trimethylated monocyclic phenylaminoketone and is structurally unrelated to the tricyclic antidepressants or MAO inhibitors. Commercially available bupropion is a racemic mixture. The two enantiomers were synthesized and assayed for their potencies as inhibitors of biogenic amine uptake into nerve endings obtained from mouse brain (212). No significant difference was found. However, the relative pharmacological activities and pharmacokinetics of the two enantiomers have not been studied. Bupropion has a novel chemical structure among antidepressants. The absence of polycyclic rings and presence of more common functional groups usually found on tranquilizers contribute to the lack of marked side effects

usually seen with polycyclic antidepressants (213). Bupropion was a designed antidepressant. A series of compounds that included aminoketones and aminoalcohols was designed and screened for antidepressant activity by Glaxo chemists. Structure-activity relationships of a series of bupropion analogs were investigated (213). The strong electron withdrawing effect of the chloro substituent on the aromatic ring in bupropion is believed to be responsible for the lack of CNS stimulant effect. The a-ketone moiety contributes to the metabolic fate of the drug. It prevents the formation of a chloro-monoarylalkylamine metabolite, which would possibly be a CNS stimulant. The use of a tertiary butyl substituent as the alkyl group on the nitrogen atom was designed to diminish the N-dealkylation and hence prevent the formation of metabolites with sympathomimetic side effects. The metaorientation of the two substituents on the aromatic ring was also a designed feature. The ortho position could have high steric hindrance, and the para position would result in facile displacement and para-hydroxylation, which in turn would result in rapid elimination of the drug.

7.4 History

Early research on **smoking** cessation therapy started in the 1930s. The first experimental medication was lobeline, an alkaloid with physiological actions similar to nicotine. Lobeline and other early non-nicotine drugs failed to show any benefits beyond those seen with placebo (170). As a result of poor efficacy of these experimental drugs, researchers started focusing on nicotine. The first U.S. Surgeon General's report on smoking, which was released in 1964 (214), stimulated the research efforts on nicotine's pharmacological and physiological effects and its role as the main addictive substance in tobacco. The first generation of **smoking** cessation medication was nicotine polacrilex gum. It was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in 1984. The second generation was the nicotine transdermal delivery system or patches, the first of which was approved in 1991. Three other patches followed by 1992. Nicotine nasal spray, approved in 1996, and the nicotine inhaler, approved in 1997, were the third generation.

Although NRT has consistently demonstrated better efficacy than placebo, the success rate is still relatively low (30% at the end of treatment and 20% 6–12 months later) (170). This, in addition to increased knowledge on the neurochemical basis of nicotine dependence, renewed the interest in non-nicotine therapy for treatment of nicotine dependence. Clinical trials on clonidine as an experimental non-nicotine therapy in the 1980s led to an interesting and unexpected finding of a strong association between nicotine dependence and depression. Although the study excluded smokers with evidence of depression, analysis of the participants' data showed that 60% had an episode of major depression in the past. Furthermore, depressed mood was one of the symptoms reported frequently by participants in the first week after quitting (215). These findings suggested that antidepressants might be useful in smoking cessation therapy. Researchers started looking into marketed antidepressants for the indication. Ferry et al. (216) selected the antidepressant bupropion because of its dopaminergic activity, because it has been long believed that the reward system is activated through a dopaminergic . mechanism. Bupropion, already marketed under the brand names Wellbutrin and Wellbutrin.SR tablets, was first launched in the United States as an antidepressant in 1986, but was voluntarily withdrawn the following year because of concerns over seizure side effects. Glaxo Wellcome was subsequently able to demonstrate to the FDA that the level of seizures in bulimic patients was acceptable, and therefore, the antidepressant was relaunched in 1989. The outcome of the first open-label smoking cessation clinical trial was very positive. It was then followed by three double-blind placebo-controlled studies in non-depressed smokers (a dose-response study, nicotine patch comparative study, and a long-term maintenance trial). The results from these studies demonstrated significant increase in quit rate over placebo for the 150and 300-mgdoses (182). This subsequently led to U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval of bupropion sustained release tablets
as the first non-nicotine treatment for nicotine dependence in 1997. **Glaxo Wellcome** launched the product under the brand name Zyban for the new indication.

7.5 Current and Future Trends

Because of the limited success of NRT, smoking cessation research efforts are focusing more on non-nicotine medications. Several antidepressant and anxiolytic agents, as well as adrenergic and noradrenergic agents, were tested recently or are in clinical trials for this indication (170). There is emerging evidence that antidepressants and anxiolytics may be particularly helpful for subpopulations of smokers (i.e., those with mood disturbances). With the current trends in the smokers' population, anxiolytic and antidepressants will become increasingly important.

It is speculated that the following emerging trends will have an effect on the development of **smoking** cessation therapies.

- Smoking is becoming more recognized as drug dependence, and therefore, **smoking** cessation therapy will be viewed not only as a cancer and cardiovascular disease preventive measure, but also as a treatment for a psychological disorder (drug dependence).
- Current trends indicate that the population of smokers is changing. Future smokers are likely to be those who are more poor and uneducated as well as those with **psychiatric/alcohol/drug** abuse disorders **and/or** heavy nicotine dependence (217).
- With the high cost-efficacy of **smoking** cessation therapy, it is expected to eventually become reimbursable (163,217).
- More government regulations against tobacco products and tobacco advertisement. Efforts of the government agencies will be targeted at preventing the onset of **smoking**, especially in young people, and protection of nonsmokers (163).
- Newer NRTs (nicotine inhaler and nasal spray) will be switched to OTC market.
- More use of NRTs and non-nicotine therapy combinations to enhance the outcome.

In addition, with the increased knowledge of the neurochemistry of substance depen-

dence, it is anticipated that the next generation of smoking cessation agents will be novel compounds designed to target neurotransmitters and receptors that mediate the reward system responsible for habit formation or to target the neuroadaptive mechanism responsible for substance dependence and withdrawal symptoms. Several compounds based on these novel mechanisms are in the pipelines of pharmaceutical companies. Nicotine replacement is still an active area of research. Several novel transmucosal drug delivery systems and improved second-generation transdermal patches are in clinical development. Oral nicotine combined with a bioavailability enhancer is also undergoing clinical trials (218). An antismoking vaccine being developed by Xenova (219) has shown successful results in clinical trials. Table 9.10 lists some of the compounds in various stages of development as antismoking therapeutic agents (116, 220).

8 SUNSCREENS

Most people are at least occasionally exposed to the sun for extended periods of time, either as a result of their lifestyle and recreational activities or as a normal part of their jobs. The main adverse effects to exposure to the sun-' light are sunburn, photoaging, and skin cancer. Skin cancer is the most common type of cancer, accounting for almost 40% of all malignancies (221). According to the American Cancer Society, overl.3 million people will be diagnosed with nonmelanoma skin cancer in the United States each year, and 53,600 people will be diagnosed with skin melanoma (221, 222). Approximately 9600 people will die from various types of skin cancer, with the majority dying from malignant melanoma. Unprotected long-term exposure to sunlight is blamed for about 90% of skin cancer cases. Ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is believed to be responsible for most of the harmful effects of sunlight.

The UV spectrum is divided into three bands: UVA, UVB, and UVC. The UVA band is the longest wavelength. It ranges from 320 to 400 nm. It is further divided into two subsets: UVA I (340–400 nm) and UVA II (320–340

Generic Name/Laboratory				
Code	Originator	Chemical Class	Mechanism of Action	
Methoxsalen (with oral nicotine)	ICN/Toronto University	Furocoumarin	Cytochrome P450 2A6 inhibitor, inhibits first pass effect of oral nicotine	
Mecamylamine (transdermal in combination with nicotine)	Elan	Bicycloheptanamine	Nicotine antagonist ^a	
NS-2359	NeuroSearch (Denmark)	Unknown	Mixed monoamine reuptake inhibitor	
GW 320659 (1555U88)	GlaxoSmithkline	Phenyl morpholinol	Catecholamine selective reuptake inhibitor	
LY 354740	Lilly	Bicyclohexane dicarboxylic acid	Group II metabotropi glutamate receptor agonist (glutamate release inhibitor)	
CP 526555	Pfizer	Unknown	Nicotinic partial agonist	
SR 141716	Sanofi-Synthelabo	Unknown	Central cannabinoid receptor antagonist	
Cotinine (NIH 10498)	LecTec	Pyrrolidinyl pyridine (nicotine metabolite)	Nicotinic partial agonist	
GW 468816	GlaxoSmithkline	Unknown	Glycine receptor antagonist	
BP-897	Bioproject (France)	Naphthalene carboxamide derivative	Dopamine D3 receptor agonist	
TA-NIC	Xenova/ImmuLogic	Nicotine conjugated to a carrier protein	Nicotine vaccine (prophylaxis)	
Nabi-NicVax	Nabi	Derivatized nicotine on a carrier protein	Nicotine vaccine (prophylaxis)	
Hydroxy bupropion	Sepracor	Phenyl aminoketone (R-isomer of bupropion)	Noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor	
CMI 477	Millennium	azabicycloheptane	Nicotinic partial agonist	
LY 426965	Lilly	Piperazinyl phenylbutanone	5HT 1A antagonist	
SSR 591813	Sanofi-Synthelabo	Unknown	Nicotinic partial agonist	

Table 9.10Compounds in Development for Smoking Cessationor Tobacco Addiction Prevention

"Previously marketed as a hypertension treatment, but discontinued as in 1996.

nm). UVA is more abundant in the solar spectrum than UVB (15–20 times more than UVB) (223)but is less potent in causing erythema or sunburn (223). Because sunburn is the most visible UV-induced skin damage, UVB used to be blamed for most of the destructive effects of UVR. However, it is now believed that UVA, particularly UVA II, is at least as damaging as UVB. It has been shown that UVA II can cause the same molecular effects (i.e., direct DNA damage) as UVB (224). UVA penetrates deeper into the skin and is believed to cause more damage to the dermis layer (225). Moreover, UVA is the band where most of the **pho**-

Sunscreen agent	Class	Structure	Absorbance range (nm)	Approved concentration	
Arninobenzoic acid (ABA)	ABA	(16)	260–313	Up to 15	
Avobenzone	Dibenzoylmethane	(22)	320-400	Up to 3	
Cinoxate	Cinnamates	(27)	270-328	Up to 3	
Dioxybenzone (benzophenone-8)	Benzophenones	(28)	260–380	Up to 3	
Homosalate	Salicylates	(25)	295-315	Up to 15	
Menthyl anthranilate	Anthranilates	(29)	260-380	Up to 5%	
Octocrylene	Cinnamates	(20)	250-360	Up to 10	
Octyl methoxycinnamate (ethylhexyl- <i>p</i> - methoxy-cinnamate)	Cinnamates	(18)	290–320	Up to 7.5	
Octyl salicylate (2- ethylhexyl salicylate)	Salicylates	(21)	280-320	Up to 5	
Oxybenzone (benzophenone-3)	Benzophenones	(17)	270-350	Up to 6	
Padimate O	Aminobenzoate	(24)	290 - 315	Up to 8	
Phenylbenzimidazole sulfonic acid	Miscellaneous	(23)	290-320	Up to 4%	
Sulisobenzone (benzophenone-4)	Benzophenones	(19)	260-375	Up to 10	
Titanium dioxide	Physical agent	TiO_2	290-700	Up to 25%	
Triethanolamine salicylate (trolamine salicylate)	Salicylates	(26)	260–320	Up to 12	
Zinc oxide	Physical agent	ZnO	290-700	Up to 25%	

 Table 9.11
 Sunscreen Agents Approved for OTC Marketing in the United States

tosensitizing chemicals exert their effect, especially above 360 nm (in the UVA I range).

The UVB band, which ranges from 290 to 320 nm, is the most potent radiation in producing erythema. It is also considered the radiation **primarily** responsible for skin cancer, although recent evidence shows that UVA is also carcinogenic. The intensity of UVB radiation is higher in the late morning and early afternoon. On the positive side, UVB is the radiation responsible for vitamin D_3 synthesis in skin.

UVC is the shortest wavelength of the UVA radiation (200–290 nm). It is also known as the germicidal radiation. Most of UVC is screened out by the ozone layer before it reaches the earth's surface. If it reaches the skin, W C can cause some erythema; however, most of it is absorbed by the stratum corneum.

8.1 Clinical Use

8.1.1 Current Drugs. Most sunscreens currently in use are compounds that have high

absorbance or reflectance throughout the entire W B range, part of the UVA range, and in some instances infrared wavelengths. They are divided into two main groups: chemical (organic) and physical (particulate) agents. Physical sunscreening is the only way to block radiation across the entire spectrum (UVB, WA, visible, and infrared) (226). However, in practice, combined chemical sunscreens or combinations of physical and chemical agents provide higher levels of protection than physical sunscreening alone, because of the limited concentration of physical sunscreens that can be incorporated in a formulation without causing visible whitening when applied to the skin. Table 9.11 lists the compounds considered by the FDA as safe and effective sunscreens for the OTC market. The lists of approved sunscreens in Europe and Australia are much longer, mainly because of the simpler approval process for new sunscreens that is implemented in those countries. Examples

Sunscreen agent	Class	European Union	Australia
Isoamyl methoxycinamate	Cinnamate		1
3-methylbenzylidene camphor	Camphor	1	
4-methylbenzylidene camphor	Camphor	1	✓
Octyl triazone	Phenol		1
Bis-ethylhexyloxyphenol			
methoxyphenyl triazine	Phenol	\checkmark	
Drometrizole trisiloxane	Phenol	J	
Ecamsule	Camphor		1

Table 9.12Examples of Sunscreening Agents Approved for Use in Europe and Australia,but Not Available in the United States

of the sunscreening agents that are not approved for use in the United States but are approved by the regulatory agencies in the European Union and Australia are listed in Table 9.12. Comparison of sunscreening agents available in Europe, the United States, Australia, and Japan can be found in **Hayden** et al. (227) and Steinberg (228).

In addition to the 16 sunscreens approved in the United States, there are 2 non-sunscreen topical agents that are approved for the treatment of conditions related to **photo-in**duced **skin** damage. These are tretinoin and hydroquinone. Both are prescription products. Tretinoin is approved as an adjunctive treatment for "mitigation of fine wrinkles, mottled hyperpigmentation, and tactile roughness of facial skin." Hydroquinone has been marketed for decades for bleaching of hyperpigmented skin conditions.

The following section will only discuss sunscreen agents.

8.1.2 Side Effects. Most common adverse reaction to sunscreening agents are local. Sunscreens can induce allergic, irritant, or phototoxic dermatitis. Sunscreens are frequently blamed for allergic contact dermatitis and contact urticaria. However, distinguishing sunscreen-induced dermatitis from a solar-induced condition can be difficult (229). Moreover, the allergic reactions are, in many cases, caused by fragrances, preservatives, and other ingredients in the vehicle. Both aminobenzoic acid derivatives and cinnamates are known to cause skin sensitization. However, aminobenzoic acid derivatives have lower sensitization potential than the parent compound, ABA (16). The latter was eliminated



(16) Aminobenzoic acid

from most sunscreen formulations because of frequent sensitization reactions. Photoallergic reactions to benzophenones have been reported (230). Some drugs including thiazide diuretics, sulfonamides, and some local anesthetics such as benzocaine and lidocaine can induce cross-sensitivity to aminobenzoic acid derivatives. Physical sunscreens are extremely safe and non-sensitizing. The only reported side effect to some physical sunscreens is skin occlusion. Titanium dioxide has been shown to be photochemically active in vitro, but no such reaction has been shown in *vivo* (231).

Several studies indicate that UVR irradiation of organic sunscreens may induce changes in the chemical structures of those compounds (232). Some of the degradation products have been shown to be capable of damaging cell components including DNA (233). This raises concerns over the photoirritancy, photosensitization, and photomutagenicity potential of sunscreens, especially that significant amounts of these photodegradation products may be absorbed through skin (232). Reports on the carcinogenicity of sunscreens are controversial. In vitro photogenotoxicity studies showed that, after UV irradiation, sunscreens may attack the DNA to produce mutation or cell death (233-236), possibly through the formation of free radicals (234). However, there are no in vivo data to support these conclusions. Furthermore, several acute and chronic *in vivo* studies demonstrated that sunscreens protect from skin damage and either prevent or delay carcinogenesis (237). For a comprehensive reference on sunscreens toxicity, the authors recommend that the reader refers to Hayden et al. (232)

8.1.3 Absorption and Disposition. Because sunscreens are usually applied on a daily basis, and occasionally, over very large areas of the body, there are concerns over the systemic absorption and toxicity of these compounds. Unfortunately, very little information is available on the pharmacokinetics and long-term biological effects of sunscreens, although there is evidence that significant systemic absorption can occur (238, 239). Skin penetration of sunscreening agents depends on several factors, including the compound's molecular weight, lipophilicity, and other physicochemical properties, as well as the composition and properties of the vehicle in which it is applied to the skin (240,241).

There are few published data on the **percu**taneous absorption of sunscreens through human skin (239, 242–248). Most of the information came from *in vitro* penetration studies or by estimation from the amount recovered in the stratum corneum after tape stripping. The rationale for using the latter method (often referred to **as** the "reservoir technique") is based on the finding by Treffel and Gabard (248) that a linear relationship exists between the drug concentration in the stratum **cor**neum and its *in vivo* percutaneous absorption.

Very few systemic absorption data have been reported. **Hayden** et al. (238) reported that 1–2% of a topical dose of benzophenone-3 (oxybenzone) (17) was excreted in the urine



(17) Oxybenzone (Benzophenone-3)

over a period of 48 h after a single application of a sunscreen product (238). High subject variability was reported in that study. **Aranci**- bia et al. (249) reported that 1.6–9.6% of paminobenzoic acid (16) was recovered in the urine of six volunteers after application of three different formulations containing the sunscreen. No significant difference was found between the formulations. In an earlier study, Feldman and Maibach (250) reported that 28% of a topical dose of p-aminobenzoic acid was recovered in the urine over 5 days after application of the sunscreen as a solution in acetone. It is possible the organic solvent used in the latter study caused the considerably higher systemic absorption.

In vitro absorption studies (239, 251, 252) showed small but significant penetration of several organic sunscreens through the entire thickness of human skin. For example, 0.03% (251) and 0.4% (252) of octyl methoxycinnamate (**18**) were reported to be detected in



(18) Octyl methoxycinnamate

the receptor fluid in two different *in vitro* penetration studies. Less than 0.1% penetration through the human skin was reported for **ben**zophenone-4 (19) (252). The data on **benzo-**



(19) Sulizobenzone (Benzophenone-4)

phenone-3 (oxybenzone) (17) varied from 1% (251) to approximately 10% (239) of the applied dose. The higher percentages (5.8–10%) were reported from a study that used several commercial products.

Penetration and binding of organic sunscreens into the stratum corneum has been evaluated **as** a property that affects their resistance to removal by water or perspiration. The amount of sunscreen retained in the **stra**-

8 Sunscreens

tum corneum has been suggested to be directly related to the sun **protection** factor and duration of action (248). Aminobenzoates were reported to penetrate into the horny layer of the stratum corneum and become bound to the proteins in the epidermis by hydrogen bonding (253). This prolongs the duration of protection by aminobenzoates beyond the time of their presence on the **skin** surface. For organic sunscreens that do not penetrate into the stratum corneum, the duration of action depends on the length of their presence on the skin surface. Highly lipophilic sunscreens (e.g., octyl methoxycinnamate) have been shown to have higher affinity to the stratum corneum than water-soluble sunscreens (e.g., sulisobenzone) (252). However, penetration of lipophilic sunscreens to deeper tissue and hence their systemic absorption seems to be limited (240). In an in vitro penetration study, the percentage of applied dose of octyl methoxycinnamate (18), sulisobenzone (19), and octocrylene (20) that was retained in the stra-



(20) Octocrylene

tum corneum after 16-h exposure ranged from 4% for benzophenone-4 to approximately 10% for octyl methoxycinnamate and octocrylene (251). In the same study, 8.5% of the applied dose of benzophenone-3 was retained in the stratum corneum. In an in *vivo* penetration study using skin-stripping method, 4% of **ben**zophenone-3 was found in the stratum **cor**neum after 30 min of application (254). The formulation dependence of stratum corneum penetration of three sunscreens [**benzophe**none-3 (**17**), octyl methoxycinnamate (**18**), and octyl salicylate (**21**)] was demonstrated by Treffel and Gabard (248,255).



(21) Octyl salicylate

The absorption of ZnO from intact skin after topical application is non-detectable. The data on TiO_2 are controversial. Earlier studies suggested that a very small amount of titanium dioxide may penetrate the skin, but it is unlikely that this would have any biological significance (237). However, a recent in viuo human study, in which skin punch biopsies were collected after application of titanium dioxide, (256) showed that this sunscreen is solely deposited on the outermost surface of the stratum corneum and does not penetrate into the deeper stratum corneum layers, the epidermis or the dermis regardless of the surface properties of the particles (256).

Very little is known about the distribution and metabolism of sunscreens in humans, but animal studies showed that benzophenone-3 undergoes substantial dermal metabolism and protein binding in rats (257, 258), and is excreted in both urine and feces. Excretion of several sunscreening agents (including benzophenone-3 and octyl methoxycinnamate) in human breast milk after normal use has been reported (259).

8.2 Physiology and Pharmacology

UV radiation has both acute and delayed adverse effects on the human **skin**. The acute effects are inflammation and sunburn, and the delayed or chronic effects are primarily **photo**aging and photocarcinogenesis.

The susceptibility of individuals to the harmful effects of UV radiation depends on several factors: (1)skin pigmentation, (2)type and amount of radiation, (3) skin hydration, (4)thickness of the stratum corneum and epidermis, and (5)the distribution and concentration of peripheral blood vessels (260).

8.2.1 Acute Effects of UVR. The acute effects of UVR exposure are **sunburn/erythema** and immediate pigment darkening (**IPD**). Sunburn is a superficial **skin** burn with a mild inflammatory reaction, the main manifestation of which is erythema. The symptoms may also include tenderness, pain, and edema. It is usually a first-degree burn, although occasionally with extensive UVR exposure, a **second**-degree burn that involves a thicker layer of **skin** may develop. The main local symptom of a second-degree burn is the development of vesicles (blisters). In addition, systemic symptoms such as fever, weakness, and shock may occur.

Erythema is the most common effect of UVR exposure. The exact mechanism of how UVR induces skin erythema is not fully understood; however, it is believed that a number of mediators are involved in the inflammatory reaction (260). These include histamine, lysosomal enzymes, kinins, and at least one prostaglandin. These mediators produce vasodilatation, which is manifested in erythema. As the UV radiation penetrates into the epidermis, another inflammatory reaction involving a lymphocytic infiltrate develops. Swelling of the endothelium and leakage of red blood cells also occurs. The inflammatory effect of UVB radiation reaches its maximum in 12-24 h after exposure (260).

Microscopic changes in the skin in response to UV radiation can be detected as early as 30 min after exposure (261). Epidermal changes include intracellular edema, vacuolization, and swelling of melanocytes and the development of characteristic "sunburn cells." Sunburn cells, which were first described by Daniels et al. (262), are photodamaged cells in the process of undergoing apoptotic cell death (224). They are dyskeratotic keratinocytes with pyknotic nuclei and homogeneous eosinophilic cytoplasm that develop in proportion to the amount of UVB exposure. Sunburn cell formation reaches a maximum at 18-24 h after exposure and resolves in 3-7 days. Changes in the dermis include, initially, interstitial edema and endothelial cell swelling, and later, perivenular edema, degranulation and loss of mast cells, decrease in the number of Langerhans cells, neutrophil infiltration, and erythrocyte extravasation. The dermal reaction peaks at 24 h after exposure and resolves in 3–5 days. The later phase of microscopic changes include hyperkeratosis, acanthosis (epidermal thickening), disorganization and misalignment of keratinocytes, dermal vascular ectasia, and mononuclear perivascular infiltration (261).

Erythema is primarily mediated by UVB, and its intensity is proportional to the dose of **UVB** radiation. The reaction resolves in 3–5 days and initiates increased melanogenesis, which reaches a maximum in 2- to 3-week period.

Immediate pigment darkening (IPD) is another acute effect of UVR exposure. IPD, which is marked in some individuals and undetectable in others, is sometimes considered as the initial phase of erythema (261). It is mediated by UVA and lasts about 13–30 min. The maximum wavelength for IPD is 340 nm (263). IPD is thought to be a result of photooxidation process (224). The relative contribution of UVA to sunburn and other acute effects of UVR is estimated at 18–20% (225).

8.2.2 Chronic Effects of UVR

8.2.2.1 Adaptive Responses. There are two adaptive responses to the exposure to UV radiation: thickening of the stratum corneum and skin tanning (melanogenesis). Stratum corneum thickening is mediated by UVB, whereas skin tanning can be induced by UVB and UVA (225, 261).

Thickening of the stratum corneum occurs as an adaptive response to prolonged UVB exposure. The stratum corneum proliferates through increased synthesis of keratin by basal keratinocytes.

Skin tanning, or delayed pigment darkening, results from the production of melanin and serves as a protective mechanism against further UVR-induced damage. Skin tanning is mainly induced by UVB, with a wavelength spectrum similar to that of erythema (224). UVB induces melanogenesis by enhancing the binding of circulating melanocyte-stimulating hormone (MSH) to melanocytes. This leads to melanocyte proliferation, dendritic **arborization**, and melanin production. The melanin is then distributed to the surrounded **keratino**cytes (261). Melanin absorbs, reflects and scatters UV light and is a free radical trap. UVA induces a delayed tanning reaction. This **mel**anogenesis reaction involves oxidation of preexisting melanin followed by new and increased synthesis of melanin. It is also accompanied by increased population density of melanocytes with increased production of melanosomes and increased melanization of the epidermis (**225**).

8.2.2.2 **Photoaging.** Premature photoaging is one of the long-term effects of exposure to sunlight (264). It is induced by prolonged exposure to all portions of the solar spectrum including WA, UVB, and infrared (261). The incidence and severity of photoaging is believed to be proportional to the cumulative dose of UVR (237). There is evidence that chronic exposure to suberythemal doses of UVA produces changes in human skin indicative of photoaging (265–267).

The common manifestations of skin photoaging are dryness, roughness, irregular pigmentation, actinic keratosis, wrinkling, elastosis, inelasticity, and sebaceous hyperplasia (264). Although the physical appearance of photoaging is similar to normal aging, there are histological and biochemical differences that distinguish each condition from the other (261). In addition, photoaging can be slowed down and even reversed by reduction of UVR exposure (including using sunscreens), or by other treatments such as retinoic acid, whereas normal aging is irreversible (268). The typical macroscopic appearance of photoaged skin results mainly from break down of the skin elastic fibers (elastosis) caused by long-term exposure to UV light. The exact mechanism is not fully understood. Other changes associated with photoaging include cracking, telangiectasia (spider veins), ecchymoses (subcutaneous hemorrhagic lesions), and hyperpigmentation. Solar radiation also decreases the regenerative capacity of the skin fibroblasts and keratocytes and therefore accelerates skin aging (261).

8.2.2.3 **Carcinogenesis.** Skin cancer is the most serious adverse effect of UVR. There are three common types of skin cancer: melanoma, basal cell carcinoma (**BSC**), and **squa**mous cell carcinoma (**SCC**). BSC and SCC are known collectively as non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC). BSC is the most common skin

cancer, but it has the lowest mortality rate (269). Malignant melanoma is the most serious type of skin cancer.

Although the link between skin cancer and exposure to sunlight is very strong, the susceptibility of individuals to the carcinogenic effect of UV radiation varies depending on several factors including skin pigmentation, age, sex, and phenotype. Particularly, factors such as fair **skin**, blue eyes, red or fair hair, and inability to tan have been linked to increased risk of NMSC in several studies (270–276).

Both chronic human studies and animal studies proved the causal relationship between cumulative UVR exposure and skin cancer (277), particularly non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC). The link between the two is also evident from the fact that NMSC is most common on the head, neck, arms, and hands (278, 279). In particular, the correlation between UVR exposure and SCC seems to be very strong. Cutaneous SCC of the head and neck occurs almost exclusively on areas receiving maximal exposure (269,280). The link between BCC and cumulative exposure to UVR is not as evident (270, 281). Although BCC occurs on the face, head, and neck, unlike SCC, its distribution does not correspond well with the areas that receive maximum sun exposure (269). Case-control studies indicated that cumulative sun exposure is the most important risk factor for SCC, whereas inability to tan was the most important risk factor for BCC (270,282,283). Subsequently, it has been suggested that, for BSC, intermittent sun exposure, particularly in the childhood, may be more important than cumulative exposure (282).

The data on a causal relationship between cumulative W R exposure and malignant melanoma is not conclusive, but there is strong evidence that intermittent intense sunlight exposure, particularly severe sunburn in childhood, is a major risk factor for development of malignant melanoma (284–286). There is scientific evidence that UVB can induce melanocyte proliferation in both exposed and covered areas of the body (287), which explains why malignant melanoma sometimes occurs in unexposed parts of the body.

Both W A and UVB can induce DNA damage, and photocarcinogenesis has been reported following repeated UVA exposure in rodents (288). In addition, UVA is believed to augment the development of UVB-induced non-melanoma skin cancer (287).

The first step in **UVR-induced** skin cancer is UVR-initiated DNA mutation, which causes the transformation of the normal cells to malignant cells. For **UVR** to initiate a biological reaction, it has to be absorbed by endogenous molecules (chromophores). UVB is absorbed directly by the DNA, and therefore can directly induce DNA mutation (224), in the form of thymine dimer formation (289). Some protein components may also ad as chromophores for UVB (224). UVA is absorbed by the reduced forms of the co-enzymes nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), tryptophan, riboflavin, and melanin (224, 290). UVA-induced DNA damage is believed to be mediated by oxygen reactive species that are released after the absorption of UVA by those endogenous chromophores and results in photooxidation of selected bases (224,290,291). The induced damage may take the form of single-strand breaks, induction of thymine dimers, or DNA-protein crosslinks (290,291). In addition, UVA II may be directly absorbed by the DNA similar to UVB (224).

It is believed that UVR exposure causes skin immune suppression. Both UVB and UVA have been implicated (292). A possible mechanism is UVA-induced lipid **peroxidation**, which results in the migration of immune-mediating cells from the epidermis and therefore leads to skin immune suppression (224). It has been suggested that **skin** immune suppression plays a role in carcinogenesis. However, the relationship between the two is not well understood yet (293).

8.2.3 Mechanisms of Action of Sunscreens. Sunscreens delay the induction of sunburn by absorbing or reflecting a portion of the UVR reaching the epidermis. Organic sunscreens are aromatic compounds that absorb light energy in the UV region, and therefore reduce the amount of UVR reaching the stratum corneum. A benzene ring has the ability to transform high energy UVR into harmless long wave radiation above the 380-nm range, which is emitted from the skin as heat (294). The conversion of **UVR** to longer wavelength occurs through resonance delocalization. Most chemical sunscreens absorb up to 95% of the UVB spectrum, but do not absorb in the UVA range. Avobenzone (22) is the only organic



(22) Avobenzone

sunscreen that provides a high degree of UVA protection. Benzophenones and anthranilates provide partial protection in the UVA range. Sunscreens are almost always used in combinations to broaden the absorbance spectrum and increase the SPF value of the product.

Little is known regarding the quantitative ability of sunscreens to prevent UVR-induced adverse effects other than sunburn. For example, there is no information on the threshold or dose-response for UVR-induced immunosuppression and DNA damage (237), but there is strong evidence that regular use of Sunscreens reduces the incidence of precancerous lesions. A large population study in Australia proved the effectiveness of sunscreens in reducing the incidence of solar keratosis (291). Solar keratosis is a known precursor for squamous cell carcinoma and an established risk factor for basal cell carcinoma and melanoma.

It has been suggested that sunscreens augment the defense mechanism against oxidative damage by UV-generated free radicals. This defense mechanism is mediated by **thioredoxin** reductase in the human keratocytes, which reduces superoxide anion radicals through hydrogen peroxide to water (**295**). However, the oxygen radicals concentrations generated by UVA and UVB radiations, even below the minimal erythemal dose, are high enough to cause considerable deactivation of thioredoxin reductase. Sunscreens have been shown to protect the thioredoxin reductase against both UVA and UVB in human **skin** of types I and II. The same sunscreen, however, failed to protect the enzyme in more pigmented **skin** (types **III** and **IV**).

8.2.4 Sun Protection Factor. Sunscreens were originally developed to prevent sunburn and minimize erythema (224). The efficacy of sunscreen products is rated by their sun protection factor (SPF), which is defined as the ratio of UV energy required to produce a minimal erythemal dose (MED) on protected skin to the UV energy required to produce MED on unprotected skin. It is calculated as the ratio of time of W exposure necessary to produce minimal erythema in sunscreen protected skin to that time in unprotected skin. This SPF measures the effect of UVB only and does not account for the W A effect. Few methods have been proposed for a W A protection factor, including an *in vivo* pigment darkening method, and an *in* vitro critical wavelength test proposed to the FDA by the Cosmetic, Toiletry and Fragrance Association (CTFA). However, there is still no generally acceptable method for UVA testing, and the FDA has not yet reached a conclusion. It is also noteworthy that the SPF is not a measure of other photodamage protective properties of sunscreens (e.g., protection against skin cancer and immunologic protection). However, it is generally agreed that a higher SPF sunscreen will provide better protection against UVB-induced damage. There have been several attempts at determining the immune protection factor of sunscreens (293,296). All these studies seemed to indicate some immune protection of sunscreens, but with no correlation with the SPF. It seems that the extent of immune protection is much less than erythema protection, which suggests that the wavelengths that cause immune suppression are different from those that cause erythema (293).

8.3 Chemistry and Structure-Activity Relationships

The chemical sunscreens approved for OTC use in the United States are classified into seven classes: aminobenzoates (previously known as PABA and PABA derivatives), salicylates, cinnamates, benzophenones, anthranilates, dibenzoylmethane derivatives, and one miscellaneous chemical (phenyl-benzimidazole sulfonic acid, 23). In addition, there are several camphor derivatives that are marketed as sunscreens in Europe, but none



(23) Phenylbenzimidazole Sulfonic Acid

are approved in the United States. The minimal structural requirements for absorbance in the UVB and W A regions are an aromatic ring with an electron-releasing group and an electron-accepting group either in the orthoor para-position from each other. This structural arrangement facilitates resonance delocalization. The more easily the compound resonates, the lower the required quantum energy for the electron transition, and hence the longer the maximum absorbance wavelength, because λ is inversely proportional to the energy. In addition, the spectral properties of sunscreens may be affected by dielectric effects, solvent-solute interactions, and pH of the vehicle (232). An excellent analysis of the structure-activity relationships of sunscreen chemicals has been reported by Shaath (297). The following discussion is largely based on his findings.

8.3.1 Aminobenzoates. In aminobenzoic acid (16), the parent compound of this class, the presence of the amino group and **carboxy**lic acid group in the para-position from one another allows for the electron transition responsible for absorption in the UVB region. However, the very position of the two groups results in a number of properties that are undesirable for a sunscreening agent. These include the following (297):

- Susceptibility of the free amine to oxidation
- Intermolecular hydrogen bonding resulting in a crystalline physical state: crystalline sunscreens are difficult to incorporate in topical products and may result in an unacceptable product if the sunscreen agent is not solubilized properly

- High aqueous solubility because of excessive hydrogen bonding with the solvent and therefore shorter retention time on the skin, especially with perspiration
- A dramatic solvent effect, which shifts the A from 293 nm in nonpolar solvents to 266 nm in polar solvents: this influences the efficacy of sunscreen products

Because of the structural limitations of ABA, several sunscreening chemicals based on ABA structure were developed with attempts to capitalize on the strengths and eliminate the drawbacks. There are four compounds that successfully addressed the problems of ABA. These are *N*,*N*-dimethyl PABA ethyl ester, *N*,*N*-dimethyl PABA butyl ester, *N*,*N*-dimethyl PABA amyl ester (padimate A), and *N*,*N*-dimethyl PABA octyl ester (padimate O). Padimate O (24) has the most desirable prop-



(24) Padimate O

erties in this class. The molar extinction coefficient of **padimate O** is 28,400 in polar solvents, more than twice that of ABA, and one of the highest values among all chemical sunscreens. The solvent effect shift is much smaller than that **of ABA** (from 300 nm in nonpolar solvents to 316 nm in polar solvents). Moreover, eliminating the intermolecular hydrogen bonding, and the subsequent decrease in intermolecular association, led to the formation of a liquid instead of crystalline solid, which is a major advantage for formulating sunscreen products (297).

8.3.2 Salicylates. Salicylates are *ortho*-hydroxybenzoic acid esters. The presence of the hydroxyl group in the **ortho**- position allows for intramolecular hydrogen bonding, which lowers the energy requirements for the compound to be prompted to the excited state. This results in a UV absorbance in the 300-nm range, compared with 270 nm for the parahydroxybenzoates (parabens). Furthermore, the ortho-disubstitution seems to stabilize these agents against solvent effect. This is also attributed to intermolecular hydrogen bonding (298). On the negative side, the ortho-substitution causes crowding and strain on the molecule, which results in deviation from planarity and hence a low extinction coefficient. Although salicylates are weak UV absorbers, they are very popular sunscreens because of their excellent safety record and their physicochemical properties that are favorable for cosmetic formulations. They are water-insoluble liquids and excellent solubilizers for other insoluble cosmetic ingredients and sunscreens such as benzophenones. 2-Ethylhexyl salicylate (21) (also known as octyl salicylate) is the most commonly used sunscreening salicylate. The 2-ethylhexyl moiety is a common substituent in other popular sunscreens (2-ethylhexyl p-methoxycinnamate, 2-ethylhexyl dimethyl p-aminobenzoate, and 2-ethylhexyl-2cyano-3,3-diphenyl acrylate). The moiety ensures the compounds' insolubility in water, and makes them useful for water-proof sunscreen formulations (297). Other salicylates that are approved for OTC marketing in the United States are homosalate (25) and triethanolamine salicylate (26).



8.3.3 Cinnamates. Cinnamates have an unsaturated bond conjugated both to the aromatic ring and to the carbonyl group, which allows the electron delocalization to occur throughout the molecule. This results in a UV absorbance at about 305 nm and high molecular extinction coefficient, which makes this group strong UV filters. One of the best designed cinnamates is 2-ethylhexyl p-methoxycinnamate (octyl-p-methoxycinnamate).It has an electron releasing methoxy group in the para- position, which further facilitates the electron delocalization process. The 2-ethylhexyl group makes it practically insoluble in water. In addition to octyl-p-methoxy cinnamate, cinnoxate (27) is also included in the



(27) Cinoxate

sunscreens monograph. One of the drawbacks of cinnamates is their moderate photostability caused by cis-trans isomerism (297).

8.3.4 Benzophenones. Benzophenones are aromatic ketones. In this group, the electron donating substituent is located in the paraposition to the carbonyl group. The carbonyl group acts as the electron-acceptinggroup and participates in the resonance delocalization process. Aromatic ketones resonate easier than esters and therefore absorb at a longer wavelength (A > 320 nm), which puts them slightly into the UVA region. The main problems with benzophenones are as follows (297):

- They are crystalline solids that are difficult to solubilize in cosmetic formulations
- Some benzophenones are susceptible to large shifts in their UV maxima because of solvent effect
- Unlike esters, which are rapidly hydrolyzed in the body, benzophenones maybe potentially toxic if absorbed through the skin: statistically, more frequent allergic reactions have been reported with oxybenzone than with PABA (299). Three benzophenones are

listed in the sunscreens monograph: dioxybenzone (**28**), oxybenzone (**17**), and sulisobenzone (**19**).



(28) Dioxybenzone (Benzophenone-8)

8.3.5 Anthranilates. Anthranilates are ortho-aminobenzoates. There is only one anthranilate compound approved as a sunscreening agent in the United States, and two anthranilates in Europe. The ortho- positioning of the amino group results in intramolecular hydrogen bonding and greatly enhances the resonance delocalization. The result is a of 336 nm for menthylanthranilate com-Å pared with 298 nm for PABA (the para- substituted amino benzoate). Similar to the case with salicylates, the molar extinction coefficient of anthranilates is much lower than that of aminobenzoates because of the steric crowding that causes the compound to deviate from planarity. Also, similar to salicylates, anthranilates are stable and do not exhibit significant solvent effect (297,232).



(29) Menthyl anthranilate

8.3.6 Dibenzoylmethanes. Avobenzone (**22**) is the only member of this class that is approved for use in the United States There are two other dibenzoylmethanes that are approved in Europe in addition to avobenzone. Dibenzoylmethanes are substituted diketones, with a UV spectrum well into the UVA region. This unique spectrum among W filters is a result of the keto-enol tautomerism. The W A absorbance of these compounds is

mainly caused by the **enol** form, which has a greater than 345 nm, whereas the keto A form exhibits a A of about 260 nm. The presence of the hydroxyl group in an orthoposition to the carbonyl group shifts the equilibrium of the keto-enol tautomerism toward the enol form and away from the keto. Dibenzoylmethanes have a high molar extinction coefficient, but their main drawback is their low photostability and susceptibility to photoisomerization, which results in an irreversible loss of activity. The keto form is more susceptible to photoisomerization than the enol (297). Dibenzoylmethanes are relatively stable in polar solvents (alcohols), but unstable in nonpolar solvents (300).

8.3.7 Physical (Particulate) Sunscreens. Zinc oxide and titanium dioxide are the two metal oxides approved as sunscreens in the United States. Microfine particles of these metal oxides, with a mean particle size of 0.2 μ m or less, and a narrow particle size distribution, are used in physical sunscreen products. The average particle size is below the optimal light scattering size, which allows visible light to be transmitted and therefore renders the product virtually invisible on the skin (237, 290). Zinc oxide is primarily a UV absorber, whereas titanium dioxide is predominantly a reflector, although it does absorb UV light both in the UVB and UVA region. Zinc oxide strongly absorbs UVR from about 380 nm all the way through the UVB and into the UVC region, and therefore, was commonly referred to as UV block. Its UVA protection is superior to that of titanium dioxide, mainly because of the stronger absorbance. The efficacy of particulate sunscreens depends largely on the refractive index, particle size, particle morphology, dispersion in the vehicle, and film thickness (231). Microparticulate sunscreens are frequently coated with silicones and/or alumina to aid their dispersibility.

8.4 History

8.4.1 Emergence of Sunscreens. The first commercial sunscreen product appeared in the United States in 1928. It was an emulsion of benzyl salicylate and benzyl cinnamate. In the early **1930s**, a 10% solution of phenyl **sa**-

licylate was developed and marketed in Australia. In 1935, quinine oleate and quinine bisulfate were marketed in the United States. *p*-Aminobenzoic acid (PABA) was patented in 1943, and was for many years the leading organic sunscreen. Several aminobenzoates (PABA derivatives) were introduced subsequently. PABA derivatives remained the primary sunscreen ingredients during the 1960s and 1970s. The first reference to particulate sunscreens appeared in 1947 (301) in an article titled "Zinc Oxide in Face Powders." The article discussed the absorption spectra of metal oxides, including zinc oxide and titanium dioxide. In the same article, the author predicted the value of zinc oxide as a broad spectrum UV block, based on its absorption spectrum. The first report on titanium dioxide as a sunscreening agent appeared in 1952 (302). However, the first commercial use of microparticulate metal oxides as sunscreens was in 1989 with the introduction of a titanium dioxide product. Zinc oxide was introduced in 1991 (**303**).

The US military contributed to the introduction of new sunscreens as well as increasing the public awareness and widespread use of sunscreening agents. The first reported use of red petrolatum was by the U.S. military during World War II (304). They also used other agents such as glycerol-PABA and several salicylate derivatives. Moreover, the U.S. military issued the first specifications on sunscreens in 1951, in which it listed approved sunscreens and their recommended concentrations (297). However, most of the sunscreen compounds and sunscreen research originated from the cosmetic and personal care industry. The SPF testing, as a means of quantifying the efficacy of sunscreens, started in the 1960s, and was initially known as Light Protection Factor (305).

8.4.2 History of FDA Regulations. Although the FDA did not start regulating sunscreens as OTC drugs until 1978, it has in fact, considered them drugs as early as 1940. This position concerning the legal classification of sunscreens came in a trade correspondence to the cosmetic industry (306), in which the FDA stated: "Articles which refer to sunburn or any other disease condition are drugs under

Section 201(g), but articles which are represented exclusively for the production of an even tan will be regarded as cosmetics under Section 201(i)." In 1976, in another correspondence to the cosmetic industry, the FDA stated "We have concluded that a product containing a sunscreen ingredient ... even when labeled solely as a tanning aid, is both intended and understood to be a preventative of sunburn, and is therefore a drug" (307). On August 25, 1978, the FDA published the first tentative monograph on sunscreens (308). The monograph contained 21 UV filters and their acceptable usage levels. However, the FDA did little to regulate sunscreen-containing products manufactured by the cosmetic industry until the mid-1980s. Until then, cosmetic products containing sunscreens continued to be marketed as cosmetics, unregulated, as long as they were correctly labeled as cosmetics and did not make clear therapeutic claims. In 1985, the FDA reiterated its previous position on sunscreen classification in a memorandum of meeting with the cosmetic industry (307), and in 1987, it launched a major regulatory campaign against cosmetic products with antiaging claims, many of which contained sunscreens. In warning letters to the marketers of these products, the FDA cited them as drugs under Section 201(g) of the Food and Drug Act. Moreover, those products that contained sunscreens unapproved by the FDA were cited as "new" drugs within the meaning of Section 201(p) (307).

In May 1993, the FDA issued the tentative final monograph for OTC drug sunscreen products (309), which included 20 sunscreen actives. In the monograph, the FDA redefined cosmetic products that contains any sunscreen, use the term sunscreen, claim an SPF, or make any therapeutic claim about sun protection as drugs. Since then, the FDA has made it clear that any sunscreen agent not eligible under the OTC Drug Review process must go through an NDA to be approved for use in the United States. In 1994, the FDA published a proposed amendment to the tentative monograph (310) announcing its intention to delete five sunscreens for lack of interest from the industry. The agency proposed to keep only the 15 actives for which USP monographs existed or were being developed. The deleted agents were hardly used in any sunscreen product in the United States.

During the late 1980s and early 1990s, sunscreen products started moving away from being purely beach and recreational products to being part of daily skin care. This occurred largely as a result of a public education campaign that started in the 1980s because of the increased scientific evidence on the correlation between skin cancer and long-term exposure to UVR. In 1989, UVA protection started to become an issue in the United States. Until then, the tentative monograph contained no broad-spectrum UVA filters and no mention of UVA. In early 1993, Roche petitioned to the FDA to include avobenzone, a broad spectrum UVA filter that it developed in 1971 and had been widely used in Europe since 1981. However, when the FDA issued the tentative final monograph for OTC sunscreens in May 1993, avobenzone was not included. In the following years, the FDA came under pressure from **Roche**, the CTFA, and the American Academy of Dermatology to recognize avobenzone as a safe and effective (Category I) sunscreen. In September 1997, the agency amended the tentative final monograph to include avobenzone as a Category I OTC sunscreen (311). Before this amendment, the FDA had approved a sin-, gle product containing avobenzone (Shade UVA Guard from Schering-Plough). The approval of Schering-Plough's product came after an NDA. Zinc oxide, which was until then considered Category III (available data are insufficient to classify as safe and effective and further testing is required), was also added to the tentative final monograph in October 1998 (312).

On May 21,1999, the FDA issued the final monograph of OTC sunscreen products (313). The final monograph contained the 16 agents listed in Table 9.11. Those are the agents that currently have USP monographs. The FDA kept two other agents under consideration in case monographs are developed in the future. The two agents are diethanolamine **methoxy**cinnamate (30) and **lawsone** (31) with **dihy**droxyacetone. The final monograph also contained new regulations for SPF testing and labeling. The FDA gave sunscreen makers 2 years to comply with the new regulations. The



effective date was later extended to December 31, 2002, in response to a petition submitted by the CTFA (314).

8.5 Current and Future Trends

It is evident from the number of new cases of skin cancer that there is a need for new sunscreens with better protection. However, the cost and time required for introducing new sunscreen agents through an NDA is prohibitive. Therefore, a large portion of the current research in the field focuses on novel drug delivery systems to prolong the duration of the sunscreening effect, enhance the water resistance (substantivity) of the products, enhance their SPF, or decrease their irritation potential. Another important area is improving the aesthetics of sunscreen products, particularly physical sunscreens.

Several new sunscreening compounds have been introduced in Europe, Australia, and Japan in the past few years. Two of the most interesting new agents are **bis-ethylhexyloxy**phenol methoxyphenol triazine (BEMT) and methylene bis-benzotriazolyl **tetramethylbu**tylphenol (MBBT). BEMT is a potent broadspectrum UV-absorber that covers the full UVA and UVB spectrum. In contrast to **avo**benzone (the only broad spectrum UVA filter available in the United States), BEMT has a good photostability (315).MMBT (316) represents a new class of broad-spectrum UV filter (organic microparticulates). The product con-

sists of microfine organic particles that are dispersed in the aqueous phase of sunscreen emulsions (315, 316). It is equally protective against UVA and UVB radiation (UVA/UVB protection ratio = 1.0), and is extremely photostable. The safety and lack of genotoxicity of these two agents have been demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo. The European Unions Scientific Committee on Cosmetic Products and Non-Food Products Intended for Consumers (SCCNFP) has approved the two compounds at concentrations up to 10%. In September 2000, Ciba Specialty Chemicals has petitioned with the FDA to add BEMT and MMBT to the OTC sunscreen monograph (315).

Alternative approaches for photodamage repair and protection is an emerging trend in sun protection. Antioxidants (particularly vitamin E) are common ingredients in commercially available sunscreens. It has been previously shown that topical application of vitamin E inhibits UVR-induced cellular damage, edema, and erythema (317). In the past few years, there has been rising interest in scientific research to prove the efficacy of antioxidants as chemopreventive agents (318, 319). Recent work demonstrated evidence of DNA photoprotection of a-tocopherol (a vitamin E compound) (317). In 2001, an oral antioxidant (astaxanthin) was promoted as sun protectant pill (320). The FDA approved the marketing of astaxanthin as dietary supplement in 1999, but the product did not undergo the review for sun protection claims. Astaxanthin is a carotenoid obtained from micro algae and is over 500 times more potent antioxidant than vitamin E. Other natural products that gained considerable attention as potential chemopreventive agents are tea polyphenols, resveratrol (a natural product from grapes), ginger compounds, curcumin, diallyl sulfide (a compound from garlic), and several plant flavonoids, such as apigenin, catechin, silymarin, and genistein (318, 319, 321, 322). A number of these compounds are found in skin care products, with no cancer prevention claims. Chemoprevention has a large potential to become a viable approach for skin cancer prevention. However, well-designed case-control clinical studies are needed to prove its efficacy (321).

9 Future Trends for OTC and Lifestyle Drugs

With regard to FDA regulations, there remain few areas of concern. The main ones are: the determination of a standardized UVA testing methodology (with in *vivo* relevance), and the testing and labeling of sunscreen drug products with SPF values above 30. The FDA is concerned that high SPF number may encourage consumers to extend their exposure to the sun (314).

9 FUTURE TRENDS FOR OTC AND LIFESTYLE DRUGS

What will the future of OTC look like? Back in the 1990s, Rx-to-OTC switches were deemed to be the driving force for growth in the OTC industry. We did see rapid growth in the mid-1990s, but the number of switches has dwindled substantially near the end of the 20th century (323). The so-called "easy ones" have been switched. Pharmaceutical companies need to be creative with future switches. Several seemingly promising switches such as the statins and acyclovir have been denied by the Advisory committee (35). Refusal by the FDA to switch a product in the past does not mean there is no opportunity for future switch. It simply means the sponsor will need to develop more data. Most switches need to go through a few passes in front of the Advisory Committee before they are eventually switched. Some of the therapeutic categories such as hair growth and smoking cessation that have not been incorporated into the monograph system by the OTC review panel were eventually switched. The reason why these OTC products existed before the OTC review strongly suggests that those are unmet consumer needs. They got switched when the right actives came along and the right studies were done to convince the FDA that self-medications of these products are possible (33). The timing and regulatory environment has to be right. By the same analogy, some of the previously denied **Rx-to-**OTC switch candidates may be resurrected as more safety data are accumulated. The fact that healthcare providers would like to control cost will lead to more citizen petitions as in the case of non-sedative antihistamines. When these candidates will be switched will depend on how the politics play out. The innovator companies said that the FDA has no authority to force them to switch. However, the same picture may not hold in a country like the U.K. The MCA has been aggressively promoting switches.in recent years, and they want to accelerate them in the next few years to control costs (48).

No matter what the future of Rx-to-OTC switch will be, one thing for sure is that future switches will be driven by science and an **evi**dence-based medicine approach as in the past. Even though most of the OTC products are for acute use, there are already a few products such as hair growth products and smoking cessation product for chronic use. The desire of the baby boomers to maintain their vigor and the desire of healthcare providers to control cost favors preventive OTC products, which will continue to challenge the chronic use barrier. The switch of these kinds of products will be enhanced by the advance of diagnostic products (324).

The future of the OTC industry will also be different because of dietary supplements and cosmeceuticals. The boundary between them and OTC products will be blurred (325). The FDA has already issued draft guidance for registering herbal drug products as either OTC or prescription products (326). In countries such as Germany and Japan, herbal and dietary supplements have been registered as drug products for many years. The current lax regulatory environment may not favor the extra efforts of registering an herbal product as a drug product. However, it may become a worthy attempt as the quality standard demanded on the dietary supplement industry becomes tighter. Here again, the science will dictate the success of the conversion. Similar changes may occur with cosmeceuticals. The FDA will undoubtedly work out a proper procedure for how to regulate the so-called cosmeceuticals. Some of them may first become **Rx** before they will be switched to OTC.

For a long time, the FDA has not required any adverse event reporting for OTC monograph products. However, this will be the focus of the agency and the pharmaceutical companies to place a high priority on adverse event reporting. This not only represents responsible marketing but also can be used to enhance public relationships. The recent merger of pharmaceutical companies and the demand for double-digit growth have put the OTC divisions of the consolidated companies in a very demanding position. What benefits besides growth does the OTC division bring to the table? Perhaps one important function the OTC division serves is for lifestyle management through Rx-to-OTC switch. The other benefit is their **direct-to**consumer advertising expertise. The prescription businesses are rapidly catching up in this area.

The advance of communication technology will also significantly alter the landscape of the OTC industries. There are already companies that provide data-logging devices that allow transfer of diagnostic data between patients at home and the physician's office (327). Right now, the technology is limited to immobile patients. The advance of handheld wireless devices and cellular phones will make transfer of medical information much easier for mobile OTC consumers. With the advance of better internet security, personal data may be readily portable (328). It is not hard to image that consumers can carry a credit card-like device that has all his/her medical history and possible drug-drug interactions stored on the device.

Pharmaceutical companies and government used to the two major drivers for **Rx-to**-OTC switches and they will continue to be the major drivers for the switches. The former conducts switches for lifestyle management of prescription drugs while the latter promotes switches to reduce national prescription costs. In future, manage care providers will also be a major driver to petition for switches as in the case of second-generation antihistamines.

The growth in the OTC industry will come not only from additional switches but also from a lot of "think outside the box" approaches. One thing for sure, the industry cannot keep marketing additional flavors to grow their business. The business model will have to change!

What is the future for lifestyle drugs? The future is very promising despite the strong resistance of the healthcare providers to pay for lifestyle drugs simply because the consumers want them to feel and look better. With the advances in our understanding of causes of diseases and disorder and genomic research, pharmaceutical scientists can now create drugs to target receptors that were previously unknown. To maintain double-digit growth, the pharmaceutical industry cannot just focus on unmet consumer needs in the area of lifethreatening conditions such as cancer, asthma, anti-infective diseases, and cardiovascular diseases. They also need to capitalize on unmet consumer needs in the area of lifestyle enhancement to the aging consumers. The growth in the market for lifestyle drugs will likely be faster than that for traditional lifethreatening diseases. The allowance of directto-consumer advertising creates a favorable environment to market lifestyle prescription drugs to informed consumers. The advances in genomic research will theoretically allow for more precise targeting, thereby minimizing unwanted side effects. This will facilitate the acceptance of lifestyle drugs and possible switch to OTC because of their lower side effects. Several lifestyle products such as hair growth and smoking cessation have already been switched and became quite successful. The issue of quality of life is as important for treating life-threatening diseases especially in developing countries. Our stressful lifestyle will in turn cause many more lifestyle diseases such as mild depression, anxiety, ulcer, and other psychosomatic diseases. In fact, the opportunities for lifestyle drugs in treating psychosomatic diseases are endless considering the extensive classifications in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (329).

Pharmaceutical companies will need to increase the awareness of the consumers about their lifestyle products, but they need to be very careful in advertising them. They need to cultivate a positive image of responsible marketing. **Roche** is already doing that in advertising their product Xenical, which is targeted for a special group of diabetic patients that has a medical need to lose weight. The company will also need to tailor their advertising to create psychological ties with the patients and ensure compliance. All lifestyle products have dedicated **websites** to educate and provide product information to consumers. Careful consumer marketing will be needed to identify how to best position and advertise the products.

The lifestyle drugs are here to stay and their definition will continue to change. Their market will continue to grow as the baby boomers age.

REFERENCES

- 1. Health Care, Self-Care & Self-Medication, available online at http://www.chpa-info.org/ international/Health_care.asp, accessed June 11,2001.
- 2. Self-Care in the New Millennium: American Attitudes Toward Maintaining Personal Health and Treatment, available online at http://www.chpa-info.org, accessed June 11, 2001.
- 3. Access to Self-Care: The Revolution is Here!, available online at http://www.aesgp.be, accessed on August 6,2001.
- 4. R. Eichner and T. J. Maronick, J. *Pharm. Market. Manage.*, 13, 19 (2001).
- 5. M. S. Wilkes, R. A. Bell, and R. L. Kravitz, *Health Affairs*, 19, 110 (2000).
- 6. C. Wilson, *Scrip. Mag.*, 68, 35 (1998).
- 7. A. Humphrey, Med. Ad. News, 20, 1 (2001).
- 8. S. H. McNamara, *Food Drug Law J.*, 54, 35 (1999).
- 9. Q. Bryan, L. K. Coleman, S. M. Meisberger, and T. Copmann, *Drug Info.* J., 35, 529 (2001).
- 10. J. G. Evans, J. Intern. Med., 247, 159 (2000).
- 11. A. I. Friede, Food Drug Law J., 53, 413 (1998).
- 12. S. H. McNamara, J. Nutraceut. Funct. Med. Foods, 3, 45–78 (2000).
- 13. R. Florence, *Manufact. Chemist*, **71**, **22** (2000).
- 14. A P. M. Lavrijsen and B. J. Vermeer, *Br. J. Dermatol.*, 124,503 (1991).
- 15. W. Harth and R. Linse, *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 39,484 (2001).
- 16. P. R. Mayrer, Scrip. Mag., 55, 41 (1997).
- T. R. Covington in L. V. Allen Jr, Ed., *Handbook of Nonprescription Drugs*, *12th ed.*, American Pharmaceutical Association, Washington, DC, 2000, pp. 3–14.
- 18. H. Cranz, *Drug Inform*. J., 29, 1113 (1995).
- 19. H. Cranz, *Drug Inform. J.*, 33,569 (1999).
- 20. R. P. Brady and K. L. Kelley, *Cosmetics Toiletries*, 105, 57 (1990).
- 21. B. K. Immel, *Pharm. Technol.*, **25**, **44** (2001).
- 22. S. Stringer, Food Drug Law J., 53, 633 (1998).

- 23. P. B. Hutt, Food Drug Cosmetic Law J., 37, 427 (1982).
- 24. W. E. Gilbertson, *Handbook of Nonprescription Drugs*, 9th ed., American Pharmaceutical Association, Washington, DC, 1990, pp. 25–39.
- 25. W. E. Gilbertson, *Drug Inform.* J., 19, 101 (1985).
- 26. D. C. Oppenheimer, *Pharm. Technol.*, 21, 64 (1997).
- W. E. Gilbertson, S. A. Francesco in R. A. Guarina, Ed., *New Drug Approval Process—The Global Challenge*, 3rd ed., Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 2000, pp. 375–391.
- OTC Review Summary, available online at http://www.chpa-info.org/issues/OTC_Review-__Summary.asp, accessed on June 14,2001.
- 29. Federal Register, 67,3060–3076 (2002).
- 30. R. W. Soller, *Drug Inform. J.*, 32,555 (1998).
- 31. K. J. Kraushaar, *Food Drug Cosmetic Law J.*, 54,243 (1999).
- 32. G. J. Mossinghoff, *Food and Drug Law J.*, 54, 187 (1999).
- 33. R. W. Soller, *Drug Inform*. J., 33, 799 (1999).
- 34. R. W. Soller, *Clin. Ther.*, **20**(Suppl C), C134 (1998).
- 35. R. W. Soller, *Drug Inform*. J., 34, 693 (2000).
- P. H. Rheinstein, *Drug Inform.* J., 19, 139 (1985).
- 37. S. Madhavan, *Drug Inform*.J., 28, 579 (1994).
- 38. J. Dudley, Scrip. Mag., 62, 49 (1997).
- 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 330 Section 10(4) (i), Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington DC, April 1,2001.
- 40. *Federal Register* 55: 27776–27784, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, July 5 1990.
- 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 330 Section 10(4) (ii), Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington DC, April 1,2001.
- 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 201 Section 66(c) (5), Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington DC, April 1,2001.
- 43. H. Forcinio, *Pharm. Technol.*, 25, 30 (2001).
- 44. 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 201 Section 66, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington DC, April 1,2001.
- 45. Deregulation 2001: The Future of Medicine Regulation in Europe, available on http://www. aesgp.be/online/sommaire.html, accessed on August 6, 2001.

- 46. S. Hasselfrei, Scrip. Mag., 86, 34 (2000).
- 47. S. Hasselfrei, Scrip. Mag., 87, 31 (2001).
- 48. Review of the Process for Reclassification (Change of Legal Status) of Medicines in the UK, available online at http://www.mca.gov. uk/home.htm, accessed on December 19,2001.
- 49. Nonprescription Drugs—Value of a Pharmacist-Controlled Class Has Yet to Be Demonstrated (Chapter Report, 08/24/95, GAO/PEMD-95-12), available online at, www.gao.gov, accessed on December 28, 2001.
- 50. Pharmaceutical Administration and Regulations in Japan, available online at http:// www.jpma.or./12english/index.html, accessed on August 3,2001.
- 51. Current Issues, available online at http://www. otc.gr.jp/english/guide/g04.html, accessed on August 3,2001.
- **52.** Pharmaceutical Affairs, available online at http://www.otc.gr.jp/english/guide/g02.html, accessed on August **3,2001.**
- 53. K. Danjoh and H. Kumagai, Proceedings of The Association of the European Self-Medication Industry (AESGP) 35th Annual Meeting, Berlin, June 9–12, 1999.
- 54. J. Weber, The New Era of Lifestyle Drugs, available online at http://www.businessweek.com/1998/19/b3577001.htm, accessed on December 28,2001.
- 55. P. Coy, Commentary: Is This Prescription Necessary?, available online at http://www. businessweek.com/1998/19/b3577007.htm, accessed on December 28, 2001.
- 56. R. Herman, *International Herald Tribune*, November 18,1998, pp. 21.
- 57. A. Keith, *Health Affairs*, 19, 147 (2000).
- 58. S. D. Black, J. Med. Ethics, 25, 5 (1999).
- 59. L. Beecham, *BMJ*, 318, 279(1999).
- 60. J. Chisholm, BMJ, 318, 273(1999).
- 61. D. Reissman, *Dis. Manage. Health Outcomes*, 6,249 (1999).
- 62. D. Gilbert, Lifestle Drugs: Who Will Pay?, Scrip Report, PJB Publications, London, 1999.
- 63. D. Gilbert, **T**.Walley, and B. New, *BMJ*, 321, 1341–1344(2000).
- 64. H. Gerhard, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 39, 362 (2001).
- 65. B. Brosig, J. Kupfer, V. Niemeier, and U. Gieler, *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 39, 279 (2001).
- 66. W.Harthand R. Linse, *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 39, 460 (2001).

- 67. H. A. Wieland and B. S. Hamilton, *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 39, 406(2001).
- 68. W.Harth and R. Linse, *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 39, 284(2001).
- 69. Med Ad New staff, *Med. Ad. News*, 19, 52 (2000).
- 70. F. Gebhart, Drug Topics, 15, 61 (1999).
- 71. Anonomous, Scrip. Mag., 87, 57 (2000).
- 72. A. Messenger, Int. J. Dermatol., 39, 585(2000).
- 73. D. H. Rushton, Dermatol. Ther., 11, 47 (1993).
- 74. V. Price, New Eng. J. Med., 341, 964(1999).
- 75. J. Van Der Donk, J. Passchier, G. M. Dutree-Meulenberg, E. Stolz, and F. Verhage, *Int. J. Dermatol.*, 30, 22 (1991).
- 76. T. F. Cash, Br. J. Dermatol., 141, 398(1999).
- 77. J. S. Storer, J. Brzuskiewicz, H. Floyd, and J. C. Price, *Am. J. Med. Sci.*, 291, 328 (1986).
- 78. T. F. Cach, V. H. Price, and R. C. Savin, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol., 29, 568 (1993).
- **79.** J. Van der Donk, J. Passchier, C. Knegt-Junk, et al., *Br. J. Dermatol.*, 125, 248(1991).
- P. Moghetti, R. Castello, C. M. Magnani, et al., *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.*, 79, 1115 (1994).
- 81. L. Falsett and A. Gambera, *Fertil. Steril.*, 72, 41 (1999).
- 82. A. R. Diani, M. J. Mulholland, K. L. Shull, et al., J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 74, 345(1992).
- **83.** L. Rhodes, J. Harper, H. Uno, et al., J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 79,991(1994).
- 84. M. Sommer and C. Wilson, *Int. J. Clin. Pract.*, 53, 381(1999).
- F. H. Leenen, D. L. Smith, and W. P. Unger, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 26, 481(1988).
- 86. K. J. Mclellan and A. Markham, *Drugs*, 57,111 (1999).
- 87. M. G. Eller, G. J. Szpunar, and A. A. Della-Coletta, *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 45, 396 (1989).
- 88. T.J. Franz, Arch. Dermatol., 121, 203 (1985).
- 89. J. J. Ferry, J. H. Shepard, and G. J. Szpunar, *J. Pharm. Sci.*, 79, 483(1990).
- 90. R. S. Rittmaster, N. *Eng.* J. *Med.*, 330, 120 (1994).
- **91.** S. Murad, M. C. Tennant, and S. R. Pinnell, *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, **292**, **234**(1992).
- 92. G. H. Rasmusson, G. F. Reynolds, N. G. Steinberg, et al., J. Med. Chem., 29, 2298(1986).
- 93. The Physicians' Desk Reference, (2001).
- 94. M. Brandt, A. T. Greway, D. A. Holt, B. W. Metcalf, and M. A. Levy, *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 37, 575(1990).

References

- 95. A. Guarna, E. G. Occhiato, G. Danza, A. Conti, and M. Serio, Steroids, 63,355 (1998).
- 96. M. L. Moss, P. Kuzmic, J. D. Stuart, et al., Biochemistry, 35,3457 (1996).
- 97. T. N. Mellin, R. D. Busch, and G. H. Rasmusson, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 44, 121 (1993).
- 98. *M. E. Sawaya and J. Shapiro, Dermatol. Clinics*, **18**, **47** (2000).
- 99. J. Shapiro and V. H. Price, Dermatol. Clinics, 16,341 (1998).
- 100. *R. C. Wester, H. I. Maibach, R. H. Guy, and E. Novak, J. Invest. Dermatol.*, 82, 515 (1984).
- 101. J. T. Headington, Dermatologica, 175, 19 (1987).
- 102. C. N. Falany and E. A. Kerl, Biochem. Pharmacol., 40, 1027 (1990).
- 103. K. D. Meisheri and L. A. Cipkus, Dermatologica, 175, 3 (1987).
- 104. K. D. Meisheri, L. A. Cipkus, and C. J. Taylor, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 245, 751 (1988).
- 105. K. Takeshita, I. Yamagishi, T. Sugimoto, S. Otomo, and K. Moriwaki, Ann. NY Acad. Sci., 642,470 (1991).
- 106. Y. Mori, T. Hamamoto, and S. Otomo, Ann. NY Acad. Sci., 642,473 (1991).
- 107. S. Ahmed and S. Denison, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 8, 409 (1998).
- 108. E. Stoner, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 37, 375 (1990).
- 109. R. K. Bakshi, G. H. Ramusson, G. F. Patel, et al., J. Med. Chem., 38,3189 (1995).
- 110. S. V. Frye, C. D. Haffner, and P. R. Maloney, J. Med. Chem., 38,2621 (1995).
- 111. G. R. Zins, Clinics Dermatol., 6, 132 (1988).
- 112. T. B. Gottlieb, F. H. Katz, and C. A. Chidsey, Circulation, 45, 571 (1972).
- 113. B. Amichai, M. H. Grunwald, and R. Sobel, Int. J. Dermatol., 36, 182 (1997).
- 114. V. A. Randall, Baillière's Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 8,405 (1994).
- 115. FDC Reports The NDA Pipeline, available online at www.ndapipeline.com, accessed on July 6,2001.
- 116. **R&D** Focus, IMS Publications, London, available at http://lifecycle.imshealth.comaccessed on July 12, 2001.
- 117. H. Padma-Nathan, Am. J. Cardiol., 84, 18N (1999).
- 118. H. A. Feldman, I. Goldstein, D. G. Hatzichristou, R. J. Krane, and J. B. McKinlay, J. Urol., 151, 54 (1994).

- 119. A. Morales, Int. J. Impotence Res., 12, S80 (2000).
- 120. A. Reading and W. Weist, Arch. Sex Behav., 13, 69 (1984).
- 121. S. Read, M. King, and J. Watson, J. Public Health Med., 19, 387 (1997).
- 122. J. R. Berman, L. Berman, and I. Goldstein, Urology, 54, 385 (1999).
- 123. E. O. Laumann, A. Paik, and R. C. Rosen, JAMA, 281,537 (1999).
- 124. Recommendations of the 1st International Consultation on Erectile Dysfunction (July, 1999), available online at http://www.issir.org/ data/meeting/last/others/paris.htm, accessed on June 13,2002.
- 125. H. D. Langtry and A. Markham, Drugs, 57,967 (1999).
- 126. R. G. Manecke and J. P. Mulhall, Ann. Med., 31,388 (1999).
- 127. A. T. Guay, J. B. Perez, E. Velasquez, R. A. Newton, and J. P. Jacobson, Eur. Urol., 38, 671 (2000).
- 128. A. Morales, Int. J. Impotence Res., 12, S70 (2000).
- 129. M. P. Cary and B. T. Johnson, Arch. Sex Behav., 4,341 (1996).
- 130. E. Ernst and M. H. Pittler, J. Urol., 159, 433 (1998).
- 131. K. Reid, D. H. Surridge, A. Morales, and J. Fenemore, Lancet, 2,421 (1987).
- 132. A. J. Riley, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 48, 133 ~ (1994).
- 133. The American Urological Association Erectile Dysfunction Clinical Guidelines Panel, The Treatment of Organic Erectile Dysfunction, 1996, available online at http://shop.auanet. org/timssnet/products/clinical_guidelines/ed. pdf, accessed on September 18,2001.
- 134. H. Porst, Aging Male, 3, 19 (2000).
- 135. 0. I. Linet and F. G. Ogrinc, N. Eng. J. Med., 334,873 (1996).
- 136. S. K. Guthrie, M. Hariharan, and L. J. Grunhaus, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39,409 (1990).
- 137. P. Le Corre, G. Dollo, F. Chevanne, and R. Le Verge, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci., 9, 79 (1999).
- 138. J. A. Owen, S. L. Hakatsu, J. Fenemore, et al., Eur J. Clin. Pharmacol., 32, 577 (1987).
- 139. A. K. S. Ho, D. B. Hoffman, S. Gershon, and H. H. Loh, Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther., 194, 304 (1971).
- 140. T. J. Bivalacqua, H. C. Champion, W. J. G. Hellstrom, and P. J. Kadowitz, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 21, 484 (2000).

- 141. M. Maggi, S. Filippi, F. Ledda, A. Magini, and G. Forti, Eur. J. Endocrinol., 143 (2002).
- 142. A. Morgentaler, Lancet, 354, 1713 (1999).
- 143. S. A. Ballard, C. J. Gingell, K. Tang, L. A. Turner, M. E. Price, and A.M. Naylor, J. Urol., 159,2164 (1998).
- 144. J. T. Clark, E. R. Smith, and J. M. Davidson, Science, 255,847 (1984).
- 145. J. T. Clark, E. R. Smith, and J. M. Davidson, Neuroendocrinology, **41**, **36** (1985).
- 146. J. T. Clark, Neuropharmacology, 30, 373 (1990).
- 147. A.M. Traish, R. B. Moreland, Y. H. Huang, and J. Goldstein, Recept. Signal Transduction, 7, 55 (1997).
- 148. T. J. Feuerstein, G. Hertting, and R. Jackisch, Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol., 329,216 (1985).
- 149. N. K. Terrett, A. S. Bell, D. Brown, and P. Ellis, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 6, 1819 (1996).
- 150. D. P. Rotella, Z. Sun, Y. Zhu, et al., J. Med. Chem., 43, 1257 (2000).
- 151. D-K. Kim, N. Lee, J.Y. Lee, et al., Bioorg. Med. Chem., 9, 1609 (2001).
- 152. D-K. Kim, D. H. **Ryu,** N. Lee, et al., Bioorg. Med. Chem., 9, 1895 (2001).
- 153. D-K. Kim, J.Y. Lee, N. Lee, et al., Bioorg. Med. Chem., 9,3013 (2001).
- 154. A. Hunter, A Practical Treatise on Disorders of the Sexual Function of the Male and Female, FA Davis, Philadelphia, PA, 1926.
- 155. R.T. Segraves, H.W. Schoenberg, C. K. Zarins, et al., Psychosom. Med., 43,227 (1981).
- 156. R. Virag, Lancet, 2,938 (1982).
- 157. G. S. Brindley, Br. J. Psychiatry, 143, 332 (1983).
- 158. NIH Consensus Development Panel on Impotence, JAMA, **270**, **83** (1998).
- 159. E. Palmer, Making the Love Drug, available online at www.chemsoc.org/chembytes/ezine/ 1999/viagra.htm, accessed on June 11,2001.
- 160. I. M. Iribarren and I. S. de Tejada, Curr. Opin. Urol., 9,547 (1999).
- 161. Melanotan Information, available online at http://www.melanotan.org/botwin.html,accessed on July 23, 2001.
- 162. Palatin Technologies Press Release May 30, 2002, available online at http://biz.yahoo.com/ bw/020530/302057_2.html, accessed on July 23, 2002.
- 163. Center for the Disease Control and Prevention, A Report of the Surgeon General – 2000,

Reducing Tobacco Use, available online at www.cdc.gov/tobaco/sgr/sgr_2000, accessed on July 23,2002.

- 164. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 48, 993 (1999).
- 165. Center for Disease Control, MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 45,588 (1996).
- 166. W. Velicer, J. Fava, and J. Prochaska, et al., Prevent. Med., 24,401 (1995).
- 167. Smoking Cessation Clinical Practice Guideline Panel and Staff, JAMA, 275, 1270 (1996).
- 168. J. Hughes, CA Cancer J. Clin., 50,143 (2000).
- 169. R. D. Hurt, D. L. Sachs, E. D. Glover, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 337, 1195 (1997).
- 170. L. S. Covey, M. A. Sullivan, J. A. Johnston,
 A. H. Glassman, M. D. Robinson, and D. P. Adams, Drugs, 59, 17 (2000).
- 171. J. R. Hughes, M. G. Goldstein, R. D. Hurt, et al., JAMA, **281**, 72 (1999).
- 172. M. Kornitzer, M. Boutsen, M. Dramaix, et al., Prevent. Med., **24**, 41 (1995).
- 173. P. Puska, H. J. Korhonem, E. Bartiainem, et al., Tobaco Control, 4,231 (1995).
- 174. T. Blondal, D. Ludvikstottir, L. Gudmundsson, et al., BMJ, 318,285 (1999).
- 175. D. E. Jorenby, S. J. Leischow, M. A. Nides, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 340,685 (1999).
- 176. M. G. Goldstein, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 59, 66 (1988).
- 177. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Surgeon General, The Health Consequences of Smoking: Nicotine Addiction, Publication 88–8406, Center for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA, 1998.
- 178. J. Henningfield, C. Cohen, and W. Pickworth in CT Odeans and J. Slade, Eds., Nicotine Addiction: Principles and Management, Oxford University Press, New York, 1993, pp. 24–45.
- 179. J. Hughes and D. Hatsukami, Int. J. Smoking Cessation, **1**, **21** (1992).
- 180. J. Hughes, S. Higgins, D. Hatsukami in L. Kozlowski, H. Annis, H. Cappell, et al., Eds., Recent Advances in Alcohol and Drug Problems, vol. 10, Plenum, NewYork, 1990, pp. 317–398.
- 181. L. C. Dale, J. O. Ebbert, J. T. Hays, and R. D. Hurt, Mayo Clinic Proc., 75, 1311 (2000).
- 182. M. G. Goldstein, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 59, 66 (1998).
- 183. D. R. Laurence, P. N. Bennet, and M. J. Brown, Clinical Pharmacology, 8th ed., Churchill Livingstone, New York, 1997, pp. 159–166.

References

- 184. R. Panchagnula, A. Kumar Jain, and O. Pillai, Methods Find Exp. Clin. Pharmacol., 22, 299 (2000).
- 185. J. R. T. Davidson and K. M. Connor, J. Clin. Psychiatry, **59**, 25 (1998).
- 186. J. A. Ascher, J. O. Cole, J-N Colin, et al., J. Clin. Psychiatry, 56, 395 (1995).
- 187. O. F. Pomerleau, Am. J. Med., **93**(1A), **2S** (1992)
- 188. O. Pomeraleau and C. Pomeraleau, Neurosci. Behav. Rev., 8,503 (1984).
- 189. R. Spanagel and F Weiss, TINS, 22, 521 (1999).
- 190. G. F. Coob, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 13, 177 (1992).
- 191. N. D. Volkow, et al., Nature, 386,827 (1997).
- 192. H. C. Breiter, et al., Neuron, 19,591 (1997).
- 193. P. A. Garris, et al., Nature, **398**, 67 (1999).
- 194. G. Di Chiara, J. Psychopharmacol., 12, 54 (1998).
- 195. S. Wonnacott, L. Soliakov, G. Wilkie, P. Redfern, and D. Marshall, Drug Dev. Res., 38,149 (1996).
- 196. M. W. Holladay, M. J. Dart, and J. K. Lynch, J. Med. Chem., 40,4169 (1997).
- 197. T. C. Westfall and D. A. Brose, Biochem. Pharmacol., 20, 1627 (1971).
- 198. I. P. Stolerman, R. Fink, and M. E. Jarvik, Psychopharmacology, 30,329 (1973).
- 199. J. Yeomans, G. Forster, and C. Blaha, Life Sci., 68, 2449 (2001).
- 200. A. J. Grottick, W. A. Corrigall, and G. A. Higgins, Psychopharmacology (Berl.), 157, 292 (2001).
- 201. I. P. Stolerman, P Bunker, and ME Jarvik, Psychopharmacologia, 34,317 (1974).
- 202. M. I. Damaj, S. P. Welch, and B. R. Martin, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 277, 454–461 (1996).
- 203. S. Cheeta, E. E. Irvine, P. J. Kenny, and S. E. Fille, Psychopharmacology, 155, 78 (2001).
- 204. *M. D.* Aceto, *H. Awaya, B. R. Martin, and E. L. May, Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 79,869 (1983).
- 205. M. D. Aceto, R. S. Bagley, W. L. Dewey, T-C Fu, and B. R. Martin, Neuropharmacology, 25, 1031 (1986).
- 206. *M.* I. Damaj, R. A. Glennon, and B. R. Martin, Brain Res. Bull., 33, 199 (1994).
- 207. J. A. Dani and S. Heinemann, Neuron, 16,905 (1996).
- 208. J. E. Slemmer, B. R. Martin, and M. I. Damaj, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 295, 321 (2000).

- 209. C. Gotti, E. Carbonnelle, M. Moretti, R. Zwart, and F. Clementi, Behav. Brain Res., 113, 183 (2000).
- 210. L. P. Dwoskin and P. A. Crooks, J. Pharmacol. *Exp. Ther.*, 298,395 (2001).
- 211. J. D. Schmitt, Curr. Med. Chem., 7,749 (2000).
- 212. D. L. Musso, N. B. Mehta, F. E. Soroko, R. M. Ferris, E. B. Hollingsworth, and B. T. Kenney, Chirality, 5,495 (1993).
- 213. N. Mehta, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 44, 56 (1983).
- 214. U.S. Department of Health and Welfare, Smoking and Health. Report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service. Public Health Service Publication No 1103, 1964.
- 215. L. S. Covey, A. H. Glassman, and F. Stetner, Comp. Psychiatry, 31, 350 (1990).
- 216. L. H. Ferry, A. S. Robbins, P. D. Scariati, et al., Circulation, 86, I671 (1992).
- 217. J. R. Hughes, Addiction, 91,1797 (1996).
- 218. E. M. Sellers, H. L. Kaplan, and R. F. Tyndale, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., **68**, **35** (2000).
- 219. AAPS Pharmaceutica News, available online at http://www.aapspharmaceuticacomlNews2/ dnd.asp?ID=60820, accessed on July 30,2002.
- 220. Pharmaprojects, PJB Publications, Richmond, UK available online at http://www.datastarweb. com, accessed on July 12,2001.
- 221. American Cancer Society Cancer Reference Information, available online at http://www. cancer.org/eprise/main/docroot/lrn, accessed on July 27,2002.
- 222. American Cancer Society, available online at http://www.cancer.org/statistics/index.html. 2002 accessed on July 27,2002.
- 223. C. Augustin, C. Collombel, and O. Damour, Photochem. Photobiol., 66,853 (1997).
- 224. F. P. Gasparro, Environ. Health Perspect., **108**(S1), 71 (2000).
- 225. M. Pathak, J. Dermatol., 23, 783 (1996).
- 226. G. B. Sterling, Cutis, 50, 221 (1992).
- 227. C. G. Hayden, M. S. Roberts, and H. A. Benson, Aust. NZ J. Med., 28,639 (1998).
- 228. D. C. Steinberg, Cosmetics Toiletries Mag., 111, 77 (1996).
- 229. Z. Draelos, Cosmetics in Dermatology, 2nd ed., Churchill Livingston, NewYork, NY, 1995, pp. 233–243.
- 230. S. Schauder and H. Ippen, Hautarzt., 39, 435 (1988).
- 231. G. M. Murphy, Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed., 15, 34 (1999).

- 232. C. G. Hayden, H. A. E. Benson, and M. S. Roberts in M. S. Roberts and K. A. Walters, Eds. Dermal Absorption and Toxicity Assessment, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1998, pp. 537–242.
- 233. A. Chetelat, S. Albertini, H. H. Dresp, R. Strobel, and E. Gocke, *Mutat.* Res., 292,241 (1993).
- 234. J. Knowland, E. A. McKenzie, P. J. McHugh, and N. A. Cridland, FEBS Lett., 324, 309 (1993).
- **235.** P. J. McHugh and J. Knowland, Photochem. Photobiol., **66,276** (1997).
- 236. A.M. Bonin, A. P. Arlauskas, D. S. Angus, RSU Baker, C. H. Gallagher, G. Greenoak, M. M. Lane Brown, K. M. Meher-Homji, and V. Reeve, *Mutat. Res.*, 105, 303 (1982).
- 237. F. P. Gasparro, M. Mitchnick, and J. F. Nash, Photochem. Photobiol., 68, 243 (1998).
- **238.** C. G. I. Hayden, M. S. Roberts, and H. A. E. Benson, Lancet, **350,863** (1997).
- 239. R. Jiang, M. S. Roberts, D. M. Collins, and H. A. E. Benson, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 48, 635 (1999).
- 240. H. A. E. Benson, *Am.* J. Clin. Dermatol., 1,217 (2000).
- 241. R. L. Bronaugh and H. I. Maibach, Eds. Percutaneous Absorption. Drugs-Cosmetics-Mechanisms-Methodology, 3rd ed., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1999, pp. 861–877.
- 242. R. Jiang, M. S. Roberts, D. M. Collins, and H. A. E. Benson in K. R. Brain, V. J. James, and K. A. Walters, Eds. Perspectives in Percutaneous Penetration, vol. 5b, STS Publishing, Cardiff, UK, 1997, pp. 239-241.
- 243. C. G. J. Hayden, N. Hoffmann, M. S. Roberts, and H. A. E. Benson in K. R. Brain, V. J. James, and K. A. Walters, Eds., Perspectives in Percutaneous Penetration, vol 5b, STS Publishing, Cardiff, UK, 1997, pp. 236–238.
- 244. K. A. Walters, K. R. Brain, D. Howes, V. J. James, A. L. Kraus, et al., Food Chem. Toxicol., 35, 1219 (1997).
- 245. G. M. Lazar, A. Baillet, A. E. Arnaud-Battandier, D. Ferrier, J. P. Marty, Drug Cosmet. *Ind.*, 158, 50 (1996).
- 246. V. K. Gupta and J. L. Zatz, J. Cosmet. Sci., 50, 79 (1999).
- 247. G. E. Kenney, A. Sakr, J. L. Lichtin, H. Chou, and R. L. Bronaugh, J. Soc. Cosmet. Chem., 46, 117 (1995).
- 248. P. Treffel and B. Gabard, Pharm. Res., 13,770 (1996).
- 249. A. Arancibia, G. Borie, E. Cornwell, et al., *Farmaco*. Edu. *Prat.*, 36,357 (1981).

- 250. R. Feldman and H. I. Maibach, J. Invest. Dermatol., 54,399 (1970).
- 251. G. Potard, C. Laugel, A. Baillet, H. Schaefer, and J-P Marty, Int. J. Pharm., 189,249 (1999).
- 252. F. Benech-Kieffer, P. Wegrich, R. Schwarzenbach, G. Klecak, T. Weber, J. Leclaire, and H. Schaefer, Skin *Pharmacol.* Appl. Skin Physiol., 13, 324 (2000).
- 253. C. R. Taylor, R. S. Stern, J. J. Leydenm, and B. A. Glichrest, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol., 22, 1 (1990).
- 254. C. Fernandez, F. Nielloud, R. Fortune, L. Vian, and G. Mari-Mestres, J. Pharm. *Biomed.* Anal., 28, 57 (2002).
- 255. P. Treffel and B. Gabard in K. R. Brain, V. J. James, K. A. Walters, Eds., Prediction of *Percutaneous* Penetration, STS Publishing, Cardiff, UK, 1996, pp. 178–181.
- 256. F. Pflucker, V. Wendel, H. Hohenberg, et al., Skin Pharmacol. Appl. Skin Physiol., 14(S1), 92 (2001).
- 257. S. M. El Dareer, J. R. Kalin, K. F. Tillery, and D. Hill, J. Toxicol. Environ. Health., 19, 491 (1986).
- **258.** C. S. Okereke and M. S. Abdel-Rahman, Toxic Substances **J.**,**13**,**239**(1994).
- 259. J. Hany and R. Nagel, Deutsche Lebensmittel-Rundschau, 91,341 (1995).
- 260. R. W. Gange in T. B. Fitzpatrick, AZ Eisen, and K. Wolff, et al., Eds., Dermatology in General Medicine, 3rd ed., McGraw Hill, New York, 1987, pp. 1451-1457.
- 261. N. J. Lowe and J. Friedlander in N. J. Lowe, N. A. Shaath, and M. A. Pathak, Eds., Sunscreens: Development, Evaluation, and Regulatory Aspects, 2nd ed., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, pp. 35-58.
- 262. F. Daniels, J. C. van der Leun, and B. E. Johnson, Sci. Am. 219, 38 (1968).
- 263. C. Routaboul and A. Denis, *Eur. J. Dermatol.*,
 9, 95 (1999).
- 264. B. A. Gilchrest, Br. J. Dermatol., 135, 867 (1996).
- 265. R. M. Lavker, G. F. Gerberick, D. Veres, C. J. Irwin, and K. H. Kaidbey, J. Am. Acad. *Derma*tol., 32, 53 (1995).
- 266. R. M. Lavaker, D. A. Veres, C. J. Irwin, and K. H. Kaidbey, Photochem. Photobiol., 62,348 (1995).
- 267. N. J. Lowe, D. P. Meyers, J. M. Wieder, D. Luftman, T. Borget, M. D. Lehman, A. W. Johnson, and I. R. Scott, J. Invest. Dermatol., 105, 739 (1995).

References

- 268. G. J. Fisher, Z. Wang, S. C. Datta, J. Varani, S. Kang, and J. Voorhees, N. Engl. J. Med., 337, 1419 (1997).
- 269. J. A. Leman, Arch. Dermatol., 137, 1239 (2001).
- 270. P. P. Vitaliano and F. Urbach, Arch. Dermatol., 116, 454 (1980).
- 271. C. C. Long and R. Marks, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol., 33, 658 (1995).
- 272. F. Urbach, D. B. Rose, and M. Bonnem, Environment and Cancer, William & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, MD, 1972, pp. 355–371.
- 273. D. J. Hunter, G. A. Colditz, M. J. Stampfer, B. Rosner, W. C. Willett, and F. E. Speizer, Ann. Epidemiol., 1, 13 (1990).
- 274. H. Silverstone and J. H. A. Searle, Br. J. Cancer, 24, 235 (1970).
- 275. F. Aubry and B. McGibbon, Cancer, 55, 907 (1985).
- 276. C. O'Loughlin, M. J. Moriarty, B. Herity, and L. Daly, Irish J. Med. Sci., 154, 61 (1985).
- 277. F. R. de Gruijl and P. D. Forbes, Bioassays, 17, 651 (1995).
- 278. D. Czarnccki, C. Meehan, T. O'Brien, S. Leahy, and C. Nash, Int. J. Dermatol., 30, 715 (1991).
- 279. B. K. Armstrong and A. Kriecker in: I. M. Leigh, J. A. Newton Bishop, and M. L. Kripke, Eds., Skin Cancer, vol. 26, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, 1996, pp. 133–154.
- 280. F. Urbach in W. Montagna and R. L. Dobson, Eds., Advances in Biology of the Skin Caminogenesis, Pergamon Press, Elmsford, NY, 1966, pp. 195–214.
- 281. F. Urbachin F. F. Becker, Ed., Cancer, Plenum Press, New York, 1969, pp. 441–451.
- 282. A. Kricker, B. K. Armostrong, D. R. English, and P. J. Heenan, Int. J. Cancer, 48, 650 (1991).
- 283. R. Corona, E. Dogliotti, M. D'Errico, et al., Arch. Dermatol., 137, 1162 (2001).
- 284. M. A. Weinstock, Photochem. Photobiol., 63, 406 (1996).
- 285. L. A. Kaplan, J. Wilderness Med., 3, 173 (1992).
- 286. P. Autier, J. F. Dore, E. Schifflers, et al., Int. J. Cancer, 61, 749 (1995).
- 287. A. Katsambas and E. Nicolaidoo, Arch. Dermatol., 132, 444 (1996).
- 288. L. Kligman II, P. P. Agin, and R. M. Sayre, J. Soc. Cosmet. Chem., 47, 129 (1996).
- 289. B. M. Sutherland, L. C. Harber, and I. E. Kochevar, Cancer Res., 40, 3181 (1980).

- 290. H.V. DeBuys, S. B. Levy, J. C. Murray, D. L. Madey, and S. R. Pinnell, Dermatol. Clinics, 18,577 (2000).
- 291. S. C. Thompson, D. Jolley, and R. Marks, N. Engl. J. Med., 329, 1147 (1993).
- 292. S. E. Ullrich, T. H. Kim, H. N. Ananthaswamy, and L. Kripke, JID Symp. Proc., 4, 65 (1999).
- 293. F. P. Gasparro, Eur. J. Dermatol., 10, 250 (2000).
- 294. N. A. Shaath in N. J. Lowe, N. A. Shaath, and M. A. Pathak, Eds., Sunscreens: Development, Evaluation, and Regulatory Aspects, 2nd ed., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, pp. 263–283.
- 295. C. Sundaram, W. Koster, and K. U. Schallreuter, Arch. Dermatol. Res., 282,526 (1990).
- 296. V. Davenport, J. F. Morris, and A. C. Chu, J. Invest. Dermatol., 108, 859 (1997).
- 297. N. A. Shaath in N. J. Lowe, N. A. Shaath, and M. A. Pathak, Eds., Sunscreens: Development, Evaluation, and Regulatory Aspects, 2nd ed., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, pp. 3–33.
- 298. N. A. Shaath, H. M. Fares, and K. Klein, Cosmetics Toiletries, 105, 41 (1990).
- 299. D. Davis, Cosmetics Insiders Rep., 7, 1 (1988).
- 300. W. Schwack and T. Rudolph, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B, 28, 229 (1995).
- 301. L. D. Grady, J. Soc. Cosmetic Chem., 1, 17 (1947).
- 302. D.W. Smithers and J. H. Wood, Lancet, 1,945 (1952).
- 303. G. M. Murphy, Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed., **15**, 34 (1999).
- 304. W. N. MacEachern and O. F. Jillson, Arch. Dermatol., 89, 147 (1946).
- 305. J. Evison, Cosmetics Toiletries Mag., 112, 35 (1997).
- 306. The Food and Drug Administration, FD&C Act Trade Correspondence, TC-61, February 15, 1940.
- 307. E. G. Murphy in N. J. Lowe, N. A. Shaath, and M. A. Pathak, Eds., Sunscreens: Development, Evaluation, and Regulatory Aspects, 2nd ed., Marcel Dekker. New York. 1997, pp. 201–213.
- 308. Federal Register, 43, 38206 (1978).
- 309. Federal Register, 58,28194 (1993).
- 310. Federal Register, 59,29706 (1994).
- 311. Federal Register, 62,23350 (1997).
- 312. Federal Register, 63,56584 (1998).
- 313. Federal Register, 64,27666 (1999).
- 314. U. S. Food and Drug Administration, Cosmetic Harmonization and International Corporation Meeting Summary, available online at http://

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/cos-ch00.html, accessed on July **24,2002.**

- 315. Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corporation, Citizen's Petition, available online at http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/daily/00/090600/cp00013.pdf, accessed on July 30,2002.
- **316.** Ciba Specialty Chemicals, **Tinosorb** M Technical Brochure.
- **317.** J. R. Trevithick, H. Xiong, S. Lee, et al., Arch. Biochem. Biophys., **296**, **575** (1992).
- 318. F.Stab, R.Wolber, T. Blatt, R. Keyhani, and G. Sauermann, Methods Enzymol., 319, 465 (2000).
- 319. F. Dreher and H. Maibach in J. Thiele and P. Elsner, Eds., Oxidants and Antioxidants in Cutaneous Biology. Karger, Basel, Switzerland, 2001, pp. 157–164.
- 320. Safe Sun, available online at http://www.chemsoc. org/chembytes/ezine/2001/woodruff_jul01.htm, accessed on July 24,2002.

- 321. S. Gupta and H. Mukhtar, Skin *Pharmacol. Appl.* Skin Physiol., 14, 373 (2001).
- 322. C. A. Elmets, D. Singh, K. Tubesing, M. Matsui, S. Katiyar, and H. Mukhtar, J. Am. Dermatol., 44, 425 (2001).
- **323. Rx-to-OTC** Switch, available online at http:// www.chpa-info.org/issues/Rx_to_OTC.asp, accessed on December **28,2001.**
- 324. Z. Chustecka, Scrip. Mag., 80, 33 (1999).
- 325. E. E. Bachrach, Drug Inform. J., 33, 805 (1999).
- **326.** Guidance for Industry Botanical Drug Products: Draft Guidance, available online at http://www.fda.gov/cder/guidance/l221dft. htm, accessed on December **28,2001.**
- 327. B. G. Felkey and B. I. Fox, *J. Am.* Pharm. *Assoc.*, 41, 529(2001).
- 328. L.Sellin, Scrip. Mag., 86, 28 (2000).
- **329.** American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed., Washington DC, **2000.**

CHAPTER TEN

Radiopaques

C. T. PENG University of California Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry School of Pharmacy San Francisco, California

and

San Jose State University Nuclear Science Facility San Jose. California

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Contents

- 1 Introduction, 484
- 2 Properties of X-Rays, 484
- 3 Classification of Radiopaques, 486
- 4 Heavy Metals and Their Salts, 486
 - 4.1 Heavy Metals, 486
 - 4.2 Heavy Metal Salts, 487
 - 4.2.1 Barium Sulfate, 487
 - 4.2.2 Bismuth Subnitrate, 489
 - 4.2.3 Ferrites, 489
 - 4.2.4 Metal Chelates, 489
 - 4.2.5 Ultrasmall Ferrites, Gd-Chelates, and MRI, 490
 - 4.2.6 Tantalum Oxide, 492
 - 4.2.7 Thorium Dioxide, 493
 - 4.2.8 Other Metallic Salts, 493
- 5 Iodized Oils, 493
- 6 Organic Iodine Compounds, 495
 - 6.1 Classification, 496
 - 6.2 Synthesis, 512
 - 6.2.1 Isomerism, 515
 - 6.2.2 Potential Radiopaques, 516
 - 6.3 Structure-Activity Relationship, 517
 - 6.3.1 Substituent Structures, 517
 - 6.3.2 Radiopacity, 531
 - 6.3.3 Acidity, 535
 - 6.3.4 Electron Density, 535
 - 6.3.5 Hydrophilicity and Solubility, 536
 - 6.3.6 Chemotoxicity, 536
 - 6.3.7 Protein Binding and Excretion, 538
 - 6.3.8 Osmolality and Viscosity, 538
 - 6.4 Analysis, 539
 - 6.5 Pharmacology, 540
 - 6.5.1 The Cations, 541
 - 6.5.2 Hyperosmolality, 542

6.5.3 Adverse Reactions and Toxicity, 543
6.5.4 Toxic Effects on Red Blood Cells, 547
6.5.5 Cardiovascular Effects, 550
6.5.6 Nephrotoxicity, 551
6.5.7 Neurotoxicity, 553
6.5.8 Protein Binding, 556
6.5.9 Histamine Release, 558
6.5.10 Pharmacokinetics, 559
6.5.11 Excretion, 562
6.5.12 Biotransformation, 565
6.6 Uses, 566
6.6.1 Computer-Assisted Tomography (CT), 567
6.6.2 Spiral (or Helical) CT, 568

1 INTRODUCTION

Radiocontrast agents delineate body organs and tissues against their immediate environment during fluoroscopic or roentgenographic examination. They function by rendering the spaces or cavities occupied or the surfaces to which they adhere either lucent or opaque in contrast to their immediate surrounding tissues, in the path of X-rays, and are accordingly classified as negative- and positive-contrast agents (1, 2). Positive-contrast agents absorb X-rays and produce a darker shadow on the fluoroscopic screen and lighter or whiter shadows on the X-ray film, of the organ to be visualized against the surrounding tissues (2). Radiopaques fall in this category. Negative-contrast media are more transparent than either water or body tissue to X-rays, and give a lighter shadow on the fluoroscopic screen and a darker or blacker shadow on the X-ray film. Fats, lipoid substances, and gases such as air, oxygen, nitrogen, carbon dioxide, helium, nitrous oxide, and xenon, absorbing less X-ray radiation than the body tissue, belong to this category.

Radiopaques have in common the property of opacity to X-ray radiation and constitute many substances that, although dissimilar in chemical form, structure, and pharmacological properties, consist of elements of high atomic number. To understand the unique dependency of **ra**diopacity on atomic number, a brief discussion of the properties of X-rays is necessary.

2 PROPERTIES OF X-RAYS

In 1895 W. C. Roentgen discovered X-rays, also known as Roentgen rays (3, 4). Within a

6.6.3 Ionics versus Nonionics, 568
6.6.4 Angiography, 569
6.6.5 Cholangiography, 569
6.6.6 Cholecystography, 570
6.6.7 Myelography, 570
6.6.8 Urography, 571
7 Miscellaneous Agents, 571
7.1 Perfluoroctyl Bromide, 571
7.2 Iodinated Particulate Suspensions, 572
7.2.1 Liposomes, 572
7.2.2 Emulsions, 575
7.2.3 Particulates, 576
7.3 Iodinated Polymers, 577

month of the discovery, medical examinations were being made using the newly discovered mysterious rays. X-rays are penetrating electromagnetic radiations with quantum energies of a few thousand to several million electron volts (eV), generated by transitions of either bound electrons within an atom or free electrons between two positive energy levels in the field of an atomic nucleus (5). The former is the atomic transition and consists of the filling of a hole or vacancy in an inner shell by an electron from an outer shell. The difference in binding energies between the two shells involved is emitted as electromagnetic radiation in the form of monochromatic (i.e., monoenergetic) X-rays, typical of the element and the transition. Transitions of free electrons between energy states give rise to continuous X-rays; these are produced when electrons accelerated to high kinetic energy are allowed to impinge on a metal target. The slowing down of fast electrons in the vicinity of the target nucleus is essentially an electron transition between two positive energy states in the field of a target nucleus and leads to the formation of bremsstrahlung ("braking radiation"), composed of polychromic X-rays.

X-rays for medical use, produced by impinging fast electrons on a tungsten target in an X-ray tube, are polychromic. The diagnostic X-rays have an energy range of 30 to 100 **kVp** (**kilovolts** at the peak) but higher energies (120–140 **kVp**) may be used in computed tomography (see Section 6.6.1). The energies of X-rays produced in this manner depend on the **kinetic** energy of the accelerated electrons (5).

Element	Atomic Number Z	Density	K-Edge	Total Cross Section for X-rays of Several Energies,'' (cm ² / g)			
		(g/cm^3)	(keV)	40 keV	60 keV	80 keV	100 keV
F	9	1.11	_	0.278	0.1912	0.1630	0.1497
Ca	20	1.55	4.038	1.792	0.6487	0.3630	0.2564
Ti	22	4.45	4.965	2.174	0.7543	0.4009	0.2706
Fe	26	7.86	7.112	3.559	1.174	0.5806	0.3643
Br	35	3.12	13.474	8.061	2.607	1.200	0.6849
Y	39	4.45	17.080	10.74	3.479	1.587	0.890
Ι	53	4.93	33.169	22.40	7.696	3.549	1.955
Ba	56	3.50	37.441	24.53	8.627	3.997	2.197
Gd	64	4.45	50.240	6.876	12.19	5.727	3.164
Yb	70	6.98	61.332	9.112	3.161	7.010	3.987
Та	73	16.60	67.414	10.25	3.581	7.482	4.231
W	74	19.30	69.524	10.73	3.686	7.788	4.432
Pt	78	21.37	78.395	12.35	4.254	8.778	4.894
Au	79	19.37	80.723	12.81	4.442	2.111	5.116
Pb	82	11.32	88.006	14.05	4.893	2.335	5.461
Bi	83	9.80	90.527	14.98	5.267	2.520	5.808
Th	90	11.70	109.64	18.36	6.450	3.106	1.786

 Table 10.1
 Physical Characteristics of Some Radiopaque Elements

"Taken from Ref. 8.

In traversing through matter, X-rays are attenuated by coherent (Rayleigh) and incoherent (Compton)scattering and are absorbed by the photoelectric process (6, 7). X-rays of energy below 100 keV are mainly absorbed by the photoelectric process with a cross section (i.e., the probability for absorption) proportional to $Z^{5}/E^{7/2}$ (6), where E is the X-ray energy and Z is the atomic number of the absorber. Energy and wavelength of X-rays are related by the formula $\lambda = 12.40/E$, where λ is in angstroms and E in kiloelectron volts (8). As X-ray energy is increased, absorption by the photoelectric process diminishes, and Compton scattering becomes important. At energies above 1.02 MeV, the Xrays are predominantly attenuated by pair production, creating electron-positron pairs; this process does not play a role in the attenuation of medical diagnostic X-rays.

The attenuation of a collimated beam of monoenergetic X-rays is an exponential function of the depth of penetration (7). The relation may be expressed as

$$I = I_0 e^{-\mu d}$$
 (10.1)

where I_0 is the intensity of the initial X-ray beam, I is the intensity of the transmitted Xray beam, *e* is the base of natural logarithm, μ is the mass absorption (or attenuation) coefficient, and d is the mass of the material penetrated. The attenuation may also be expressed using linear attenuation coefficient (μ/ρ) , where p represents the density, and x is the thickness or the "mass-thickness" of the material penetrated, equal to ρd , as shown in Equation 10.1a in the following:

$$I = I_0 e^{-(\mu/\rho)\mathbf{x}} \tag{10.1a}$$

The mass absorption coefficient is a function of the X-ray energy and the atomic number Z of the absorber and is equal to the total cross section, expressed in cm^2/g , of the interactions mentioned above. In Table 10.1 are listed the atomic number, density, K-edge, and total cross section of elements that either have been used or have potential use in contrast media. The total cross sections given are calculated for the absorption of monochromatic X-rays of **40**, **60**, 80, and 100 keV in energy (8); for the absorption of polychromic X-rays of the same energy designation, the values differ somewhat. The total cross section decreases monotonically as the X-ray energy is increased. At the K and L absorption edges, sharp discontinuities appear, and the total cross sections jump to higher values as a result of enhanced absorption.

In roentgenography, the energy of X-rays is optimized according to the depth of penetration desired, as determined by the size and density of the object under examination (1, 9–11). Depending on the operational energy range, a large fraction of the polychromatic X-rays may fall in the region where absorption by the radiopaque element is small or may fall in the region of enhanced absorption near the K-edge. The fact that iodine has a higher total cross section for 40 keV X-rays than that of tantalum or tungsten, for example, is attributed to the proximity of the X-ray energy to the K-edge, which occurs at 33.169 keV. Increasing the iodine content of an iodinated contrast medium from 28.7 to 37.5% doubles the contrast of the radiographic image at an X-ray energy of 70 kVp but increases the contrast by only 60% at 90 **kVp** (9).

Johns and Yaffe (12) used the energy and mass dependency of the linear attenuation coefficient upon X-ray energy to characterize normal and neoplastic breast tissues. Carroll et al. (13, 14) showed that there are differences in the linear attenuation coefficients between normal and selected cancerous breast tissues and that the contrast increases as the beam energy in the energy range of 14 to 18 keV of monochromatic X-rays decreases. These monochromatic X-rays were generated at the National Synchrotron Light Source at the Brookhaven National Laboratory.

Substances in medical radiography are classified into five categories (2) according to their opacity to X-rays:

- **1.** Radiolucent: gases.
- 2. Moderately radiolucent: fatty tissues.
- **3.** Intermediate: connective tissues, muscle, blood, cartilage, cholesterol stones, uric acid stones.
- 4. Moderately radiopaque: bone, calcium salts.
- **5.** Very radiopaque: heavy metals and their salts.

3 CLASSIFICATION OF RADIOPAQUES

The basic characteristics desirable for a contrast medium are (1)satisfactory radiopacity (related to atomic number, material density, and concentration), (2)stability, (3) pharmacological inertness, and (4) minimum sensitizing properties (15). Radiopaques constitute heavy metals and their salts, iodized oils, organic iodine compounds, and miscellaneous agents, such as iodinated particulate suspensions. Among these, the iodinated organic compounds offer a wide range of diverse **ra**diopaque agents for clinical diagnosis in roentgenography, and the heavy metal gadolinium chelates can enhance the image contrast in computed tomography and in nuclear magnetic resonance imaging.

4 HEAVY METALS AND THEIR SALTS

4.1 Heavy Metals

Heavy metals with their high atomic numbers have satisfactory radiopacity and are potentially useful radiopaques. Powdered metals such as tantalum, gold, and lead have been used for experimental bronchography in dogs (16–18). Tantalum elicits no unfavorable tissue reaction and is widely used in surgery (19-22). The cost of its application as a radiopaque is minimal. Inhaled tantalum dust induces no acute or chronic inflammatory response in the airways or pulmonary tissue (23). Ingested tantalum powder produces no untoward effects on the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and is excreted. Injected tantalum powder is engulfed by the Kupffer cells without visible damage or pericellular reaction (24). The toxicity of tantalum powder is extremely low, given that as much as 8000 mg/kg can be administered orally without systemic toxicity (17, 22).

Nadel et al. (17, 25) were the first to use tantalum dust for bronchography in canine and human lungs. Tantalum dust, with an average particle size of 2.5 μ m diameter, has been administered by insufflations in bronchography, esophagography (25), and gastrography (26). Tantalum dust adheres tenaciously to bronchial and esophagal mucosa, to yield bronchograms and esophagograms of excellent detail over a prolonged period (17, 23, 25, 27). Experimental double-contrast cystography has also been carried out (28). An aerosol preparation containing 2.4% tantalum dust (particle size, 2–50 μ m), 5% lecithin (as surfactant), and 55% dichlorodifluoromethane has been introduced to simplify the preparation for the roentgenographic procedure

and to shorten the preparation for examination (29). Commercial tantalum powders are nonporous (30) and must be fractionated before use in bronchography (31). Because of its high density and high atomic number, tantalum compares favorably with other contrast agents and yields superior bronchograms to those obtained with propylidone (15d) (17). Tantalum provides equal attenuation to an Xray beam with 1/5 to 1/10 as much as the amount required of barium or iodine and about 1/20 the amount required of iodized oils (17, 18). The metal is removed from the bronchi within a few days by the ciliary activity and by coughing (17, 23, 32) and from the lung in a much shorter time (23). The clearance of tantalum is slower, however, than that of barium sulfate under similar conditions (23); this may be attributed to its high density, which slows the transport of particles by the flow of body fluid. The clearance half-time ranges from 105 to 817 days when determined with the use of radioactive ¹⁸²Ta (32).

Powdered tantalum (average particle size: 3 μ m in diameter) has been given intravenously as suspensions to dogs and rabbits for splenohepatography (24). Although good **sple**nohepatograms have been obtained, the aggregation of tantalum powder has caused fatal pulmonary embolism in dogs. The usefulness of tantalum dust for bronchography has been reviewed (33, 34).

Link et al. (35) proposed the use of tantalum and tungsten to add radiopacity to **hydro**gel embolic agents for embolotherapy and studied the emboli formed by coagulation under high pressure of a 1:1 or 2:1 mixture of tungsten particles $(1-10 \ \mu m)$ and a liquid **hy**drogel (polyacrylonitrile copolymer) in a rabbit model.

4.2 Heavy Metal Salts

Soluble heavy metal salts are in general highly toxic because of the presence of free metal ions, although many insoluble ones including oxides have been used in roentgenography (36–42). Barium sulfate has been successfully used as a contrast agent for visualization of the alimentary tract for the past 70 years and has not been supplanted by iodinated contrast media (43). The ferrites are experimental **ra**diopaque agents because the magnetism of this class of iron oxide allows the movement of the ingested material to be controlled by an external magnetic field (44, 45). Ultrasmall superparamagnetic ferrite particles have clinical use for contrast enhancement in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

4.2.1 Barium Sulfate. Bachem and Günther (46) introduced barium sulfate in 1910 to replace insoluble and toxic bismuth salts for clinical visualization of the alimentary tract. Its nontoxicity, effectiveness, and low cost have made barium sulfate the most widely used radiocontrast agent for gastrointestinal roentgenographic examination since that time (47, 48). Dihlmann and Hering (49) described its usage up to 1993. Patton (50) reviewed the history of barium sulfate as a contrast medium and noted its commercial use in the early days as a flour adulterant because of its nontoxicity and lower cost.

Colloidal barium sulfate preparations are available from numerous commercial sources. Information about their exact composition has not been freely available because of proprietary interest (47, 51). Preparations may differ in their effectiveness for coating mucosal surfaces as determined by (1)particle size, (2) ionic charge on suspended particles, (3) pH, (4) resistance to flocculation, (5) suspension aid, and (6) viscosity or osmotic toxicity (52).

The particle size of barium sulfate may vary from a fraction of a micron to several microns or more (48). Ultrafine grain size by itself may give inferior visualization of the gastric mucosa but the particles can be more easily held in suspension. On the other hand, particles larger than 1 μ m may offer better contrast, provided that they can be made to stay in suspension. An electron micrograph of barium sulfate particles of less than 1 μ m in diameter shows that they are of irregular shape (53). The influence of microcrystalline shape on the coating property of the suspension is not well studied.

The viscosity of barium sulfate suspension is determined by the quantity and size of particles and can be modified by added peptizing agents (52). A thick paste of barium sulfate in water can be **peptized** or thinned by the addition of sodium citrate and sorbitol. The function of the citrate is to stabilize the colloidal preparation and that of the sorbitol is to enhance that function. The use of a polybasic acid and sugar alcohol combination can lead to the incorporation of so much barium sulfate in a liquid suspension as to obtain a preparation with a specific gravity close to 3 (54, 55). Other polybasic acids such as tartaric acid and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (edetic acid) may also be used.

Particles in unprotected barium sulfate suspensions have a tendency to aggregate, resulting in flocculation. Such suspensions may be stabilized by the use of a dispersingagent or by placing an electric charge on the particle (52). The surface of barium sulfate particles is either positively or negatively charged, depending on the residual lattice ions present. It is also affected by the nature of the material added to coat the particles. The coated particles are uniformly charged and flow easily on account of the like charge on their surface, which resists aggregation and increases the colloidal stability.

Additives for coating barium sulfate particles include methylcellulose (47, 52, 53, 56-61), carboxymethylcellulose (53, 54), hydroxypropylcellulose (53, 54, 62), chondroitin sulfate (63), heparin (52), and sodium dextran sulfate (52). Dispersing agents used for stabilization and peptization of the colloidal suspension include agar (48, 54, 55), acacia (47, 56), alginates (54, 56, 59, 64, 65), alginic acid and propylene glycol mixtures (66), anionic galactanes (66), bentonite (47, 60), casein (47), erythrobic acid (58, 59, 67, 68), gelatin (47, 60), glycerol (60, 69), gum arabic (53, 55, 62), hexametaphosphate (57, 58, 62), lecithin (47, 65), mannitol (69), pectins (47, 54, 55, 62), polyalkylarene sulfonates (66), polyethylene glycol 400 (64, 69, 70), polymetaphosphate (71), nonionic poly(oxyethylene)glycol stearate (65), polysorbate 80 (47, 69), poly(vinyl alcohol) (54, 55, 70), poly(vinylpyrrolidone) (54, 55, 62, 71), pyrophosphate (55), sodium ascorbate (58, 59, 67-69), sodium dioctylsulfosuccinate (69), sodium lauryl sulfoacetate (64, 69), sorbic acid (64, 69), sorbitol (54, 55, 64, 69), and trisodium citrate hydrate (55, 64, 66, 69). Classification of these agents by their function is only superficial, given that many have dual functions.

The mobility of the particles depends on the pH of the suspension, the ionic strength, the age, and the method of preparation. Adherence of barium sulfate particles to mucosal membrane is pH dependent because the pH affects not only the electrokinetic charge on the barium sulfate particles but also the charge on the mucosal lining, which is composed of glycoprotein mucopolysaccharideand is capable of carrying charges (52). Coating of mucosal surfaces by commercial barium sulfate preparations has been studied by Schwartz et al. (72), who found that an optimal viscosity is important for satisfactory coating; at low viscosities the coating is too thin, and at high viscosities the preparation is too viscid for use. According to Fisher (43), 0.01 g of barium sulfate/cm² of surface area is needed to visualize mucosa.

Many different preparations of colloidal barium sulfate for roentgenography are available commercially. The so-called barium meals are not limited to liquid suspensions; they also appear as tablets (73). Barium sulfate suspensions containing an effervescent agent have been introduced for use in doublecontrast studies (74, 75). Barium sulfate may also be coated with Fe_2O_3 , MgO, and Al_2O_3 (63,761. The coated material has good dispersibility and very low viscosity in acidic media. Other barium preparations are also useful. A barium titanate suspension was compared with barium sulfate (72). An emulsified mixture containing castor oil and barium sulfate can visualize colon fistula more economically than can iodinated contrast media (77).

Barium sulfate is used not only in roentgenographic examination of the GI tract (51) but also in inhalation bronchography (61). Bullowa and Gottlieb (78) did early experiments on dogs in 1920. Barium sulfate was used for bronchography in infants and children (79). According to Clement (61), satisfactory bronchograms can be obtained with less barium sulfate if the bronchial surface is previously exposed to methylcellulose. Methylcellulose improves the bronchogram by forming a viscous film on the bronchial mucosa to which barium sulfate easily adheres, thus reducing considerably the amount of contrast agent required for an examination.

4 Heavy Metals and Their Salts

When used in bronchography, barium sulfate is nonallergenic and nontoxic. It induces only a mild, benign, foreign body reaction and causes no pulmonary fibrosis or bronchial spasms. It is cleared from the normal lung by ciliary action, coughing, and phagocytosis at a rate similar to that of tantalum (61). When the bronchial surface is precoated with methylcellulose, the clearance of barium sulfate is usually complete within 24-48 h (61). Any residual amount that may remain trapped in the alveoli is usually located within the macrophages in tiny intra-alveolar granuloma. When used in roentgenography of the GI tract, barium sulfate has the inherent danger of inspissation and impaction when water is reabsorbed, particularly in the colon (48, 80, 81).

4.2.2 Bismuth Subnitrate. Bismuth **subni**trate was the first contrast agent used clinically to visualize the alimentary tract (36). It was found to be toxic in humans through the reduction from nitrate to nitrite; as a result, bismuth subcarbonate was substituted (82). When the toxic action was traced to the metal itself, the use of bismuth salts was discontinued.

4.2.3 Ferrites. Novel materials such as ferrites were introduced as experimental radiocontrast agents (44, 45). Ferrites are iron oxide (Fe_2O_3) in solid solution with one or more metallic oxides. They possess about 80% of the radiopacity of barium sulfate and a higher percentage if oxides of high atomic number are incorporated. The ferrites are magnetic, a property that allows their movement within the body to be controlled by an external magnet. Because of their magnetic property, ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide particles are studied in animals for accumulation in lymph nodes, to develop a target-specific contrast agent for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (83).

Frei et al. (44) reported the use of magnesium ferrite as a contrast material for X-ray diagnosis. Sugimoto et al. (45) studied the suitability of four ferrites containing Mg, Zn, Cu, Ni, and Mn as radiopaques with respect to toxicity, solubility in gastric juice, X-ray absorption, and effective magnetic field strength necessary for controlling the ferrite powder. These ferrites can be prepared to yield low solubility in acid or stimulated gastric juice. They are nonallergenic and have no acute toxicity (84). On prolonged daily oral administration (30 days), the ferrites cause a slight decrease in body weight, hematocrit, and the enzyme glutamic-pyruvic transaminase in rats and mice (85). The median lethal dose (LD_{50}) for rats and mice is >20 and >10 g/kg, respectively (85). When fed to experimental animals, the ferrites are cleared entirely from the body within 1 week, as shown in absorption studies using ⁵⁵Fe-, ⁵⁴Mn-, or ⁶⁵Zn-labeled ferrites (84). Only soft ferrites, which do not coalesce in the absence of the applied magnetic field, are used as contrast media. Satisfactory roentgenograms of the esophagus, stomach, bronchus, and small intestine have been obtained with these ferrites (45). The particle size of the ferrite powder may range from less than 1 micron to several microns in diameter, and a stable suspension of the particles may be obtained using stabilizing and peptizing agents (86–91) similar to those mentioned in Section 4.2.1.

4.2.4 Metal Chelates. Chelating agents capable of combining with metals of high atomic number are potentially useful contrast media (15, 37, 38). Chelation may significantly reduce the toxicity of metal ions; the toxicity of Ca, Ni, Co, and Pb salts of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA or edetic acid) is many times lower than the toxicity of the metal ions. On the other hand, Cr, Cu, and Hg edetates and their metal ions have comparable toxicity, as indicated by the LD_{50} (7-day mortality) values. Because the binding between metal ions and the ligands is reversible, the sequestered metal ions in the latter group of chelates may have become free in *vivo*.

In addition to edetic acid, multidentate chelating agents such as 1,2-diaminocyclohexane-N,N^r-tetraacetic acid, diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA), N,N'(2-hydroxycyclohexyl)ethylene-diaminediacetic acid, 2-hydroxycyclohexylethylenediaminetriacetic acid, and β -hydroxyethylethylene diaminetriacetic acid have been used to sequester heavy metal ions for roentgenographic purposes (37). Solutions (8%) of Bi-DTPA and Pb-EDTA were used in experimental bronchogra-

phy and angiography in dogs (37) but the margin of safety between auseful dose and the minimum lethal dose is so narrow as to render them hazardous for clinical trials. Zwicker et al. (92) compared iodinated and noniodinated contrast media, that is, iopromide (2.94 molar iodine, 370 mg I/mL) with gadolinium (as 0.5) molar Gd-DPTA, 78 mg Gd/mL) and ytterbium (0.5 molar Yb-DPTA, 86 mg Yb/mL) in computed tomography of aorta and liver in dogs. At equimolar concentrations, Gd-DTPA and Yb-DTPA are superior to iodine in maximum contrast enhancement of the aorta and the liver. but iodine at 2.94 molar concentration exceeds these enhancement values of metal chelates at 0.5 molar concentrations. The lanthanide chelates, because of their high atomic number and approximately 40% greater efficiency in attenuating X-rays of 120 kV than iodine at equivalent mass concentration, are useful agents for contrast enhancement in computed tomography (CT) (93, 94). Schmitz et al. (94) found in a rabbit model that the neutral macrocyclic chelate gadobutrol is a more effective contrast agent than iopromide for CT at lower doses of the imaging atom. These agents may be indicated in patients with known previous allergic reactions to iodinated contrast media.

The high atomic number and the large magnetic moment of gadolinium have made its compounds potentially useful for both CT and nuclear magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The effect of gadolinium chelates on the relaxation behavior of water protons provides the contrast in the MRI of human tissues (95). The mechanisms for contrast enhancement by Gd-chelates in CT and in MRI are very different, although the imaging results are very similar. A brief description of MRI is given below as a basis for discussion of the development and use of potential ferrites and gadolinium contrast-enhancing agents.

4.2.5 Ultrasmall Ferrites, Gd-Chelates, and MRI. Nuclear MRI is dependent on the use of superparamagnetic and paramagnetic materials to enhance the contrast in tissue discrimination and is both complex and difficult. The patient is not exposed to X-ray radiation while undergoing MRI. Unlike the radiocontrast media attenuating the X-rays, these agents fa-

cilitate the relaxation of water-protons and are not visualized directly in the MRI image (96, 97). In MRI, the patient is placed within a uniform magnetic field; the water-protons in the body of the patient will line up, giving a net nuclear macroscopic magnetization along the long axis of the patient. If one applies an external radiofrequency pulse to induce magnetic resonance, the nuclear magnetization of the individual protons will relax them back to their original position in an exponential manner, called spin-lattice relaxation, with a time constant T1. Relaxation also occurs in the transverse axis, called spin-spin relaxation, with a time constant T2. The MR contrast agents that facilitate the relaxation will increase or decrease the signal intensity accordingly. For diagnostic purposes, relaxation data acquisition after a pulse sequence is computer controlled and the data are reconstructed and displayed as an image, to show the contrast enhancement between normal and diseased tissues. According to Carr (98), the MR images are dependent on pulse sequences, proton density, T1, and T2. Saturation-recovery sequences rely on proton density, inversion-recovery sequences on proton density and T1, and spin-echo sequences on proton density and T2.

The contrast media for MRI, according-to their effect on image enhancement, are categorized as (1)relaxivity-based T1 agents and (2) susceptibility-based T2 agents (96, 97). The term $1/T_i$, where i = 1, 2, represents the rate of relaxation of solvent nuclei. Relaxivity (R_i) is obtained as the slope of relaxation rate per 1 mM of paramagnetic species, in the unit of m M^{-1} s⁻¹. It represents the efficiency with which the contrast agent enhances the proton relaxation rate of water and is defined as follows (94):

$$R_i = [(1/T_i)_p - (1/T_i)_0]/[C] \quad (i = 1, 2)$$

where the suffixes p and 0 indicate with and without paramagnetic species, respectively. Susceptibility effect refers to the relaxation of **T2**, attributed to the moving spins relaxed by the fluctuating field. A paramagnetic metal complex can interact strongly or weakly with water molecules, depending on whether these water molecules are covalently bonded or hydrogen bonded to the metal complex, sometimes referred to as "inner-sphere" relaxation, or whether the water molecules are passing through the field by translational diffusion, often referred to as "outer-sphere" relaxation (95, 96). A shortening of the **T1** and T2 relaxation times will lead, respectively, to either a positive (brightening) or a negative (darkening) effect in image intensity. Metal ions are toxic and need to be sequestered as chelates with very small dissociation constant for safe use as contrast media. Chelation decreases the relaxivity.

Ultrasmall ferrite particles and lanthanide chelates are potential contrast media in MR imaging. Ferromagnetic, superparamagnetic, and paramagnetic compounds affect 1/T1 and 1/T2 differently (99). Ferromagnetic and superparamagnetic iron oxide particles enhance 1/T2 more than 1/T1 and have a greater transverse relaxivity/longitudinal relaxivity ratio $(R2/R1 \gg 1)$ than paramagnetic substances $(R2/R1 \approx 1)$ (99). The iron oxide particles, when prepared by different methods, differ in particle size, polycrystalline state, core concentration, and the dextran coating. The recognition of these iron oxide particles by macrophages and their distribution in the body are determined by their size and surface properties (100). The ultrasmall particles can migrate across capillary endothelium upon intravenous administration and are taken up by the reticuloendothelial system, including the liver, spleen, lymph nodes, and bone marrow. Ferrite particles AMI 25 are about 80 nm in diameter, have a very short blood half-time of 6 min, and are phagocytosed by Kupffer cells in the liver, resulting in contrast enhancement between normal liver and tumor metastasis (101, 102). The ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide particles (USPIO), obtained by size fractionation of AMI 25, have a mean diameter of 11 nm and a plasma halftime of 81 min and tend to accumulate in lymph nodes (83,103). USPIOs have a molecular weight of approximately 700 kDa by gel filtration, comparable to that of ferritin (11 nm; molecular weight, 440–600 kDa) (103). AMI 227 is a nanoparticulate iron oxide with a mean size of 18 nm (17-21 nm) and an outer coating of low molecular weight T10 dextran

(104, 105). BMS 180549 (Squibb Diagnostics, Princeton, NJ) is similar to AMI 227 in size but has an iron core of 4.3–6.0 nm in diameter and a blood half-life of greater than 200 min, and is clinically useful for differentiating reactive from tumor-bearing lymph nodes (106, 107). The maximum dose is 1.7 mg Fe/kg or 120 mg Fe for a 70-kg person, which is small compared to the body iron store. Intravenous or interstitial administration of superparamagnetic particles is relatively free of untoward side effects, but clumping of the particles and microembolization of the AMI 25 particles may lead to back pain and fever (108). The compound is nontoxic and readily metabolized in the body. Its cellular uptake and trafficking is by receptor-mediated endocytosis to the terminal lysosome (109). Ultrasmall iron oxide particles can be targeted to asialoglycoprotein receptor in MR receptor imaging (103). An oral formulation of magnetic ferrite particles was also tested for enhancing visualization of the GI tract in MR imaging (110).

Gadolinium has seven unpaired 4f electrons and a large magnetic moment and is highly paramagnetic. The free gadolinium ions are toxic. When administered intravenously, the ions combine with endogenous metal-binding sites and endogenously available counter ions, such as phosphate, carbonate, and hydroxide, to form insoluble complexes that are very slowly excreted. Sequestering the metal ions by chelation with organic chelating agents decreases the toxicity. Gd-DTPA meglumine salt, a chelate of gadolinium with diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA), was reported to have a median lethal dose (LD₅₀) of 10 mmol/kg, compared to that of gadolinium chloride ($GdCl_3$) with an LD_{50} value of 0.5 mmol/kg in the rat when administered intravenously (110). Gd-DTPA has a thermodynamic stability constant of 10^{22.46} at 25°C (94). Gd-chelates enhance contrast in MRI. The signal response of gadolinium is not dose dependent but biphasic; that is, the signal intensity increases initially and then decreases with an increase in Gd concentration (112). Paramagnetic gadoliniumchelated complexes for MRI (113) can be categorized, based on their chemical structures, into two classes: (1)those sequestered by linear ligands (EDTA, DTPA, etc.) and (2) those

sequestered by macrocyclic ligands (**polyaza** polycarboxylic acids, etc.) as follows:

- 1. Gadolinium-chelates with linear ligands
 - o Gadobenate dimeglumine (Gd-BOPTA)
 - o Gadodiamide (Gd-DTPA-BMA)
 - o Gadopenamide
 - o Gadopentetate dimeglumine (Gd-DTPA)
 - o Gadoversetamide
 - Gadoxetic acid
- 2. Gadolinium-chelates with macrocyclic ligands
 - Gadobutrol
 - Gadoteric acid (Gd-DOTA)
 - Gadoteridol (Gd-HP-DO3A)

Tweedle et al. (114) studied the biodistribution of gadodiamide, gadopentetate, gadoterate, and gadoteridol, labeled with radioactive gadolinium-153 in both mice and rats. Gadodiamide and gadopentetate have linear ligands, and gadoterate and gadoteridol have macrocyclic ligands. Gadodiamide and gadoteridol are nonionic, whereas gadopentetate and gadoterate are ionic. These authors found that the radioactivity of the linear complexes, compared with the macrocyclic complexes, remained longer in the bone and liver of the animals. The order of their residual Gd concentration at long residence times from the lowest to the highest, was gadoteridol \neg gadoterate \leq gadopentetate \ll gadodiamide. The macrocyclic chelates of gadolinium have higher thermodynamic stability constants and tend to be more stable and do not undergo decomplexation in vivo. Gd-DTPA is rapidly excreted through the kidneys. Dean et al. (115) listed the rank of tissue distribution of Gd-DTPA in the rat 2 min after intravenous injection of the contrast agent. McLachlan et al. (116) showed the mean distribution half-life of the injected gadoteridol in human volunteers to be 0.20 \pm 0.04 h and the mean elimination half-life 1.57 \pm 0.08 h. More than 94% of the contrast agent was excreted in the urine in 24 h. The elimination half-life and the distribution half-life of gadoteridol were independent of the dose used. Staks et al. (117) studied the pharmacokinetics of gadobutrol in humans at different dose levels, up to the maximum dose level at

0.5 mmol/kg body weight, and showed that the contrast agent distributed predominantly in the extracellular fluid space, with a half-life in plasma of approximately 1.5 h. More than 95% of the injected dose was excreted by glomerular filtration within 12 h. No metabolite was detected.

Paramagnetic contrast agents that are distributed throughout the extracellular space and rapidly excreted by the kidneys have limited value for perfusion and organ function studies in MRI. Brasch et al. (118,119) showed that human serum albumin covalently bound to 5–18 Gd-DTPA molecules were useful for blood-pool enhancement but these macromolecules were slowly excreted. These authors also quantified capillary permeability of experimental mammary adenocarcinoma in female rats with albumin-(Gd-DTPA), (120), and identified and differentiated pulmonary diseases with polylysine-(Gd-DTPA),, (121). Paramagnetic dextran (i.e., dextran linked to Gd-DTPA by diaminohexane through carbamate and carboxymethyl groups) was prepared as a potential MRI contrast agent (122). Liposomes containing Gd-HP-D03A or amphipathetic agents were evaluated for use in liver MR imaging (123, 124). Gadozelite, a gadolinium zeolite complex, has been listed for oral use (113). New derivatives of linear and macrocyclic polyaza and polyamino polycarboxylic acids have been synthesized as ligands for potential MRI contrast agents. Among them are Gd-DTPA-bis(amide) complexes, 15to 17-membered macrocyclics with three pendent carboxymethyl groups, and others (125– **131**). Ranganathan et al. (132) designed and synthesized for testing biochemical processes a series of multimeric MRI agents, with molecular weight of 1–5 kDa and with a varying number of hydrated water molecules in the inner sphere of the gadolinium atom to modulate the reflexivity.

4.2.6 **Tantalum Oxide.** Although tantalum oxide is less radiopaque than tantalum powder by a factor of 0.5 per volume or 0.8 per mass, its chemical and biologic inertness and toxicity are very similar to those of tantalum (**40**). The technical advantages and safety in handling and storage of the oxide make it superior for use in roentgenography to metallic tantalum,

which presents an explosion hazard. The oxide is formed as β -Ta₂O₅, with a particle size of about 1 mm or less, by burning metallic tantalum powder in air. It is used in bronchography and esophagography by topical application. When injected intravenously in dogs and rabbits in experimental hepatosplenography, the oxide forms microscopic emboli in the liver and kidney. Injected particles of the oxide are engulfed by the reticuloendothelial cells without appreciable cellular or pericellular reaction.

4.2.7 Thorium Dioxide. The use of thorium dioxide as a contrast agent began in 1928 to 1929 (133); it has been used under the name of Thorotrast (Fellows-TestagerDivision, Detroit, MI) for angiography and cerebral arteriography. Thorotrast is a colloidal suspension of 25% by weight of thorium dioxide, of particle size less than 0.15 pm diameter, prepared by oxidation of thorium **oxalate** at $550^{\circ}C(134)$. The high atomic number, high density, and the lack of acute toxicity make thorium dioxide an ideal radiopaque for use in large quantities in roentgenography (135). Thorium dioxide gives excellent contrast and has proved to be valuable in studies in which other contrast media would fail.

The drawback of using thorium dioxide as a contrast agent is its radioactivity and indefinite retention in the body (136,137). Thorium-232 is the longest-lived parent radionuclide in the thorium series (138). A considerable amount of work has been done regarding the disposition and fate of thorium dioxide after its systemic and local use in humans for roentgenography (139–147). The dioxide when administered intravenously is engulfed by the **phagocytic** cells of the reticuloendothelial system and is permanently localized in these cells (139). The long-term effects of radiation are fibrosis and neoplastic growth in the liver and spleen and fibrosis of their efferent lymph nodes (39, 146). Localization of thorium and its daughter nuclides in the bone may result in leukemia and other blood dyscrasias (144). Locally injected thorium dioxide, if in contact with epithelium for long periods, induces carcinoma (39, 148).

When colloidal thorium dioxide was applied within the lumen of the GI tract, no deleteri-

ous late effects were observed (39). The continuous shedding of the intestinal epithelium can remove the deposited dioxide and excrete it together with the intestinal content.

Because of the radiation effects of thorium, the use of thorium dioxide is limited only to the procedures approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, such as **hepatolienogra**phy in patients with metastatic cancer (**39**).

4.2.8 Other Metallic Salts. In addition to the heavy metal salts mentioned above, barium titanate and barium metatitanate have been used for visualization of the hypopharynx, esophagus, stomach, and small intestine (41, 149). Barium metatitanate is used as a powder with grains measuring from 0.8 to 1.0pm. It is insoluble in water and has a density of 6 compared to that of barium sulfate with a density of 4.5. In addition, the metatitanate adheres better than barium sulfate to the intestinal mucosa, a property considered favorable for visualization. Powdered calcium tungstate can also be used to opacify airways but was found ineffective for filling airways smaller than 2 mm in diameter (42).

5 IODIZED OILS

Radiopaque iodine atoms can be introduced into vegetable oils to form iodized oils by reaction with hydroiodic acid. This converts unsaturated fatty acid groups into iodinated saturated ones, such as linoleic acid to diiodostearic acid and oleic acid to monoiodostearic acid (150). Commercial preparations of iodized oils are glyceryl esters (Lipiodol) and ethyl esters (Ethiodol) of iodinated fatty acids of poppyseed oil. Lipiodol and Ethiodol contain approximately 38–42 and 37% of organically bound iodine, respectively. Ethyl diiodostearate (45.0% I) and ethyl triiodostearate (55.2%I) have higher iodine content than that of Ethiodol and are available as emulsions (151). The iodized oils are yellow or amber and decompose with liberation of iodine upon exposure to air or light. Ethiodol has a lower viscosity than that of Lipiodol. The toxicity or tolerance of iodized oils is determined by their viscosity (150).

Iodinated oils are emulsified for injection with surfactants such as polyoxyethylenesor-
bitan monooleate (Tween-80) and sorbitan monooleate (Span-80)(152), polyethylene glycol-400 stearate (153,1541, soya lecithin (155), or ethylene oxide and castor oil (156), and stabilized with polyhydric alcohols such as glycerol and glucose. The toxicity of iodized oils administered intralymphatically is between one and two times that administered intravenously (150, 157). Ethiodol has an average lethal dose in the dog of 3.62 mL/kg for intralymphatic injection compared to 1.58 mL/kg for intravenous injection (157). Iodized oils are injected slowly into the peripheral lymphatic; an 8-mL dose is usually given over a period of 40–80 min at a pressure of 0.4 atm. High injection speeds and pressure may cause rupture of the lymph trunk and extravasation.

Intralymphatically injected oil contrast medium may remain in the lymph nodes for months or even for more than 1 year (150). The excess of that retained in the lymphatic system will enter the systemic veins through the thoracic duct or by way of lymphaticovenous communications and eventually pass into the pulmonary artery and its branches, to be distributed in the lung capillaries. Experiments in the dog showed that 50% of the injected Ethiodol was found in the lung and about 23% in the nodes at 3 days post-lymphography. The concentration of iodized oil in the nodes remained essentially the same but that in the lung had decreased to about 13% of the dose at 17 days postinjection (150, 158).

Metabolic studies with ¹³¹I-labeled Ethiodol indicated that the iodized oil was rapidly deiodinated by enzymes in tissues with the iodine appearing as inorganic iodide, which was excreted by the kidney. In humans, no more than 0.5% of the injected iodized oil was found in the blood at any one time, and the urinary excretion was less than 2.5% of the dose per day (159). The most serious side effect of the iodized oils is pulmonary or systemic embolization and granuloma formation (160), which is related to the particle size of the oily drops (150, 157), but Kupffer cells can actively capture and phagocytize the iodized oil droplets (161).

Iodized oil is used in lymphography (150, 157), intra-arterial hepatography (154), intravenous hepatosplenography (162), and hysterosalpingography (160), and also used for treatment of hepatic tumors by **chememboli**zation (161). In the latter the iodized oil additionally exerts a synergistic effect by activating the immune system in the liver. The oily contrast medium allows the detection of small avascular masses in the liver or spleen by computed tomography, which is superior to both contrast angiography with water-soluble contrast media and scanning with **radiopharma**ceuticals; the former is too transient for tomographic imaging and the latter is inadequate in resolution (162). Miyamoto et al. (160) found that the water-soluble nonionic **iodinated** contrast agent iotrolan has none of these side effects.

Lipiodol, when injected intra-arterially, can diagnose malignant hepatic tumors (163). Lipiodol as a carrier for anticancer drugs, such as neocarzinostatin, mitomycin, aclarubicin, and doxorubicin, has been administered to patients with hepatomas (164). In hysterosalpingography both oil and aqueous contrast media can reliably provide information about uterine-tubal anatomy, although Ethiodol gives a sharper image and the added advantage of a high conception rate (165–167). After oil contrast medium hysterosalpingography, onethird of the infertile women had normal pregnancies and childbirths (167, 168). An in vitro study showed that a potential mechanism for fertility enhancement might be attributed to the inhibition of peritoneal lymphocyte and macrophage function by the oil contrast medium. The advantages of Ethiodol versus diatrizoate, ioxaglate, and iohexol in hysterosalpingography have been varied (167).

Kishi et al. (169) evaluated the acute toxicity of Lipiodol infusion into the hepatic arteries (HAI) of beagles and found the influence of Lipiodol **HAI** to be dose dependent. The infused Lipiodol first passed through an arterioportal communication and distributed through the hepatic sinusoids to pulmonary capillaries and thence into systemic blood circulation. The circulation and embolization of oil droplets were found in the renal tubular cells of supracapsular cortex, the choroid plexus, the vascular endothelium, and the pancreatic duct epithelium, showing a process of intracellular collection of Lipiodol from the systemic blood circulation and of further metabolism-provoking cellular reactions.

6 ORGANIC IODINE COMPOUNDS

Organic iodine compounds make up the largest group of radiopaques or radiocontrast agents used in roentgenographic examination. The high atomic number of the iodine atom confers radiopacity on these molecules. These agents may be classified according to their application as angiographic, cholegraphic, urographic, and myelographic agents, or according to their route of administration as oral, intravascular, or intrathecal agents. They are used in high concentrations for better image resolution. An estimate in 1993 put the use of these agents as diagnostic aids on a worldwide basis at a market value of over \$2 billion per annum (170). In the 1970s, the annual consumption of this group of agents in the United States surpassed 2000 metric tons and, even with the advent of computed tomography, the aggregate consumption of these media was still about 1400 tons as late as 1990 (171).

Grainger (172) in 1982 traced the early history of development of intravenous contrast media and the initial use of pyridine compounds containing iodine as radiocontrast media. Binz (173) found this group of iodinated pyridine compounds to be excreted by the kidney and the liver in substantial concentration and therefore labeled them the "Selectan group," to indicate their selectivity. Some of them were used for retrograde cystography and pyelography. Graham et al. (174) in 1926 used tetraiodophenolphthalein as the first contrast agent for intravenous cholecystography. This compound was widely used for gall bladder visualization until 1940, when Dohrn and Diedrich (175) introduced iodoalphionic acid and produced a better roentgenogram of the gall bladder and fewer adverse reactions; this remained the agent of choice until the early 1950s. At this time a large variety of iodinated organic radiocontrast agents, based on the 2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acid moiety, were introduced, most of which gave even better visualization and fewer side effects.

Wallingford (176) conceived the idea of using the benzene ring as carrier for iodine atoms. Strain (36), Grainger (172), Almén (177, 178), and Sovak (171) reviewed the historical development of organic iodine compounds as radiopaque agents, including the past, the

present, and the future trends in the development of iodinated contrast media. Archer (179) discussed the chemical aspects of some cholecystographic agents developed before 1959, including iopanoic acid. Hoey et al. (180) compiled a list of iodinated compounds synthesized up to 1971 as X-ray contrast media to correlate their structure-activity relationship. From clinical experience and theoretical considerations, Almén (178, 181, 182) suggested the use of nonionic contrast agents and postulated that the nonionic contrast agents would be less toxic than the ionic ones because of lower osmolality. This theory stimulated the search for nonionic iodinated compounds, which included the synthesis and testing of monomers (183–186), bis compounds (9, 187– 190), and polymers (191,192) as improved radiopaques. The outcome of such studies brought forth the first-generation nonionic monomer metrizamide (183, 184), the secondgeneration nonionic monomers iohexol (193), iopamidol (194–196), and so forth; the nonionic bis compounds iotrolan (197), iodixanol (198), and so forth; and the ionic, monoacidic bis compound ioxaglate (199, 200). Hoey and Smith (201) compiled a comprehensive list of ionic and nonionic monomers and bis compounds synthesized up to 1984, and reviewed and discussed the chemistry and physicochemical properties of the contrast agents as well as the safety and toxicity of different substituent groups. Newer drug design theories have focused on searching for safer and more effective contrast agents by masking the hydrophobic regions of the triiodophenyl nucleus with small alkyl chain polyhydroxyalkyl groups to increase hydrophilicity, to minimize protein interaction, and to reduce toxicity (171,182,202–205). The more powerful imaging techniques, such as computer-assisted tomography (CT), delayed CT, dynamic CT, spiral (or helical) CT, and digital subtraction angiography (DSA), depend on safer and more cost-effective contrast media to obtain anatomic and organ function information. The progress in clinical three-dimensional imaging has been reviewed (206-208).

In subsequent sections, the iodinated **ra**diopaques are discussed with respect to their classification, synthesis, structure-activity relationships, analysis, pharmacology, and uses. The section on pharmacology includes the topics of cations, hyperosmolality, adverse reactions and toxicity, toxic effects on red blood cells, cardiovascular effects, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, protein binding, histamine release, pharmacokinetics, formulation, excretion, and biotransformation.

The subject has been discussed earlier by Hoppe (209, 210), and Ackerman (211) and reviewed from the point of view of drug design by Herms and Taenzer (212). A number of monographs, from conference proceedings on various aspects of iodinated contrast media with specific information, have appeared (10, 213–218). Sovak (171) described briefly the history of the development of contrast media and his role in the search for an ideal agent.

6.1 Classification

In general, iodinated contrast agents contain either the pyridone or the benzene nucleus as the iodine carrier. With a few exceptions, newer contrast agents are derivatives of **2**,**4**,**6**triiodobenzoic acid and its congeners (1)The



adoption of the benzene ring to replace the pyridone nucleus as the iodine carrier for iodinated contrast agents originated from the observation by Wallingford et al. (219, 220) that iodobenzoic acids have very low toxicity and that the substituent groups determine the molecular and pharmacological properties. Acylation, substitution, and triiodination can further reduce the toxicity of the iodobenzoic acid neucleus (201).

Iodinated contrast agents may be classified as ionic and nonionic, monomers and bis compounds. The term dimers is often used to refer to the bis compounds. The classification is based on whether the contrast molecule contains one or two **2,4,6-triiodophenyl** rings and an ionizing group. In an ionic contrast agent the R group in (1) represents a strongly hydrophilic functional group such as carboxyl, alkyl-, aralkyl- or alkoxyalkylcarboxyl group, and so forth. These groups show both hydrophilic and lipophilic properties. The X and Y groups are hydrophilic and exert a strong influence on both pharmacological properties (such as chemotoxicity, biological tolerance, and biotransformation) and physicochemical properties (such as solubility, osmolality, viscosity, and protein binding). In a nonionic contrast agent, the R, X, and Y groups are shortchain highly hydrophilic groups, in the form of 2-hydroxyethyl, 1,3-dihydroxypropyl, 2,3-dihydroxypropyl, or D-glucopyranosyl, and so forth. These substituent groups are linked to the phenyl ring by coupler groups, such as amide, reversed amide, amino, or others (201). Atoms of the coupler groups linked to the 1, 3, and 5 positions of the triiodinated phenyl ring can be expressed in designated notations as CCC, CCN, CNN, CNH, NNN, and so forth, to indicate the nature of the starting material and the ring electron density. This convention was first introduced by Gries and Mützel (221) and will be adopted here to indicate subclassification of the iodinated contrast agents by structure.

In the following, contrast agents that have been accepted for clinical use are listed by their United States Accepted Names (USAN) (222) or by their International Nonproprietary Names (INN). No proprietary names of the contrast agents will be given. For a listing of the proprietary names, chemical formulas, and uses, the International Drug Directory (223) and early compilations by Knoefel (224) and Strain and Rogoff (225) should be consulted. Fischer (226) has catalogued, up to 1986, current higher and lower osmolality intravascular contrast media (abbreviated as HOCM and LOCM, respectively) and listed their iodine content (milligrams of iodine per milliliter of fluid), osmolality, viscosity, and available dosage form sizes, by use of information obtained from manufacturers.

Classifications of ionic and nonionic monomers and dimers or bis compounds are shown with their structures in Table 10.2. Table 10.3 contains the chemical names of these **ra**diopaque agents and available properties;

Table 10.2 Classification and List of Names and Formulae of Contrast Agents

A. Ionic monomers 1. Triiodobenzoates (2) Acetrizoate (a) Diatrizoate (**b**) Diprotrizoate (**c**) Iodamide (d) Iodamide meglumine Iotrizoic acid (e) Ioxotrizoic acid (\mathbf{f}) Metrizoate (g) 2. Triiodoisophthalamates (3) Ioglicic acid (a) Ioseric acid (**b**) Iothalamic acid (**c**) Ioxitalamic acid (**d**) 3. Triiodophenyl alkanoates (4) Iopanoic acid (a) B. Nonionic monomers 1. Triiodo-1,3-benzenedicarboxamides (7) Iobitridol (a) Iohexol (**b**) Iomeprol (c) Iopamidol (**d**) Iopentol (**e**) Iopromide (**f**) Iosimide (g) Iotriside (**h**) Ioversol (**i**) C. Ionic dimers or bis compounds 1. Bis-triiodobenzoates (9) Iocarmic acid (a) Iodipamide (**b**) Iodoxamic acid (c) Iodoxamate meglumine Ioglycamic acid (d) Iosefamic acid (e) D. Nonionic dimers or bis compounds 1. Bis-triiodo-1,3-benzenedicarboxamides (10, 10') Iodecol (**a**) Iodixanol (**b**) Iotasul (**c**) Iotrolan (or iotrol) (**d**) Iofratol (e) E. Miscellaneous 1. Other dimer and polymer Ioxabrolic acid (11) Tris(iothalamic acid) (12) 2. Diiodophenyl alkanoate Iodoalphionic acid (13) 3. Iodophenyl alkanoate Iophendylate (14) 4. Diiodopyridones (15) Iopydone (a) Iodopyracet (b)

Iophenoxic acid (**b**) Ioprocemic acid (\mathbf{c}) Ipodic acid (**d**) Tyropanoic acid (**e**) Iolidonic acid (\mathbf{f}) Iomorinic acid (g) 4. Triiodophenoxy alkanoates Iolixanic acid (h) Iopronic acid (i) Iobutoic acid (i) 5. Triiodobenzamides (5) Iobenzamic acid (a) 6. Triiodoanilides (6) Iocetamic acid (a) Iomeglamic acid (b) Iosumetric acid (c) Ioxilan (j) 3H2-Iopiperidol-A (k) 2. Triiodophenyl-D-gluconoamides (8) Ioglucol (a) Ioglucomide (**b**) Ioglunide (c) Iogulamide (**d**) Iosarcol (e) Metrizamide (f) Iosulamide (**f**) Iotetric acid (g) Iotranic acid (\mathbf{h}) Iotroxic acid (i) Ioxaglic acid (j) Ioxaglate meglumine Iozomic acid (**k**) Iopydol (**c**) Propyliodone (**d**) Sodium iodomethamate (Iodoxyl) (e) 5. Iodophthaleins Iodophthalein (16) 6. Others Methiodal sodium (17) Dimethiodal sodium (18) Iodohippurate sodium (19)

• 1 * * •

Radiopaques

Table 10.2 (Continued)

		ÇOOH	
		I	
		\mathbb{R}^2 \mathbb{R}^1	
		İ	
		(2)	
(2)	Туре	R ¹	R ²
a	CNH	-NHCOCH ₃	-H
b	CNN	-NHCOCH ₃	-NHCOCH ₃
C d	CNN	-NHCOCH	$-NHCOCH_2CH_3$ -CH NHCOCH
e	CNH	-NHCOCH_OCH_CH_LOCH	-H
f	CNN	-NHCOCH ₃	-NHCOCH ₂ OH
g	CNN	-NHCOCH ₃	-N(CH ₃)COCH ₃
		СООН	
		I I	
		()	
		\mathbb{R}^2 CONH \mathbb{R}^1	
		1	
	M	(3)	59
(3)	Type		<u><u><u>R</u></u>²</u>
a b	CCN	-CH ₂ CONHCH ₃ -CH(CH OH)CONHCH	-NHCOCH ₃ -NHCOCH OCH
C C	CCN	$-CH_{\circ}$	-NHCOCH ₂ OQH ₃ -NHCOCH ₂
d	CCN	$-CH_2CH_2OH$	-NHCOCH ₃
	· · · · · ·	ХСООН	
		I, , I	
		Y Y	
		\mathbf{Y} \mathbf{R}^{1}	
		Í ·	
		(4)	
(4)	Туре	X	\mathbf{R}^{1}
a	CNH	$-CH_2CH(C_2H_5)-$	-NH ₂
b	СОН	$-CH_2CH(C_2H_5)-$	-OH
С Ј	CNH	$-CH_2CH_2-$	$-N(C_2H_5)COCH_3$
u A	UNH CNU	$-\bigcup \mathbf{n}_2 \bigcup \mathbf{n}_2 - \Box \mathbf{n}_2 \bigcup \mathbf{n}_2 - \Box \mathbf{n}_2 \bigcup n$	$-N = O \Pi N (O \Pi_3)_2$ -NHCO(CH) CH
f	CNH	$-CH_2CH(C_2H_5)-$	$-NCOCH_2CH_2CH_2$
g	CNH	-CONHCH_CH(CH_)-	\sim \sim \sim \sim \sim \sim \sim \sim \sim \sim
ĥ	ONH	$-O(CH_2)_2OCH(CH_3)-$	$-N(C_2H_5)COCH_3$
i	ONH	$-O(CH_2)_2OCH_2CH(C_2H_5)-$	-NHCOCH3
j	OCH	-O(CH ₂) ₃ -	$-N(CH_2CH_2)_2O$



Table 10.2(Continued)





Table 10.2(Continued)

Table 10.2 (Continued)

a citat







(9)

(9)	Туре	X	<u>R</u> ¹
a	CNC	-(CH ₂) ₄ -	-CONHCH ₃
b	CNH	$-(CH_2)_4-$	-H
с	CNH	$-CH_2(CH_2OCH_2)_4CH_2-$	H
d	CNH	-CH ₂ OCH ₂ -	-H
e	CNH	$-(CH_2)_8-$	-CONHCH ₃
f	CNN	-CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₂ CH ₂ CH ₂ -	$-N(C_2H_5)COCH_3$
g	CNH	$-(CH_2OCH_2)_4-$	-Н
h	CNH	$-CH_2(CH_2OCH_2)_3CH_2-$	_H
i	CNH	-(CH ₂ OCH ₂) ₃ -	-H
		COOH CONHCI	



 $\begin{array}{c|c} H & H & OH H \\ CH_2OH & & & \\ \hline & & & \\ OH OH H & OH \end{array} CH_2NHCH_3$

(9j) (Ioxaglate meglumine)

501

Table 10.2(Continued)







(10)

(10)	Туре	X	R ⁵	\mathbf{R}^{1}	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	\mathbb{R}^4
a b c d	CCN CCN CCN CCN	$\begin{array}{l} -\mathrm{COCH_2CO-}\\ -\mathrm{CH_2CHOHCH_2-}\\ -\mathrm{CO(CH_2)_2S(CH_2)_2CO-}\\ -\mathrm{COCH_2CO-}\end{array}$	-CH ₂ CH ₂ OH -COCH ₃ -H -CH ₃	-CH(CH ₂ OH) ₂ -CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH -CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH -CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH -CH(CHOH)CH ₂ OH	H H CH ₃ H	-CH(CH ₂ OH) ₂ -CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH -CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH -CH(CHOH)CH ₂ OH CH ₂ OH	-H -H -CH ₃ -H
				~~~ <u>~</u> ~~~			



(10′)  $\mathbf{R}^2$ Х  $\mathbb{R}^5$  $\mathbf{R}^{\mathtt{1}}$ (10') $\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{3}}$ Type  $\mathbb{R}^4$ -CH₂CHOHCH₂- $-CH(CH_2OH)_2$ -COCH(OH)CH₃ CNC --H  $-\mathbf{H}$ -H e 0 H₃C -CH₃ ÇOOH Br.  $\mathbf{Br}$ Ι 0 CH₃NH -NHCH₂CH₂OH `C ∥ 0  $\mathbf{C}$  $\mathbf{\hat{H}}_{2}$ Ĥ || 0 || 0 **B**r Ι

(11)







	(10)		
(15)	$\mathbb{R}^1$	$\mathbb{R}^2$	$\mathbb{R}^3$
a	-H	-H	_H
b	$-CH_2COOH$	-H	–H
С	-CH ₂ CHOHCH ₂ OH	- <b>H</b>	$-\mathrm{H}$
d	-CH ₂ COOC ₃ H ₇	-H	$-\mathbf{H}$
e	$-CH_3$	-COONa	-COONa

 $ICH_2SO_3Na$ 



^{*a*}L-Lactoyl residue;

^ba 1,3,5-benzenetricarboxamide or trimesic acid amide;

^c2-oxo-3-hydroxy-1-piperidinyl;

USAN or INN Name	Chemical Name	Mol. wt.	Iodine Content (%)	Melting Point (°C)	LD ₅₀ , g/kg or I (=g I/kg)	Solubility, g/ 100 <b>mL</b> H ₂ O at <b>20°C</b>	$pK_{a H_{2}O^{25}}$	Ref.
A. Ionic monomers Acetrizoate ( <b>2a</b> ) [85–36-9] ^a	3-Acetylamido-2,4,6-triiodoben- zoic acid			278–283 (d)	9.56	94.20	2.08	
[00 00 0]	Sodium salt Meglumine salt	578.85	65.77 50.62		$5.51^{b}$	Freely soluble		176
Diatrizoate ( <b>2b</b> ) [737–31-5]	3,5-Bis(acetamino)-2,4,6-triiodo- benzoic acid			300	11.0 ^c		2.05	
Diprotuizoata ( <b>9</b> 0)	Sodium salt Meglumine salt	635.9	59.87 47.05	261-262 189-193 (d)	11.4°; 8.41 ^b 13.81'	60 89	2.70	233 272,273
[129–57-7]	iodobenzoic acid	663 95	57 34	>300	0.0118	<b>-</b> 50		222
Iodamide ( <b>2d</b> ) [440–58-4]	3-(Acetylamino)-5-[(acetylami- no)methyl]-2,4,6-triiodoben- zoic acid	627.95	60.63	255–257	$108^b$	0.3 (22°C)	1.88	274,275
	Meglumine salt		46.25			>75		
Iotrizoic acid ( <b>2e</b> ) [ <b>16024–67-2</b> ]	2,4,6-Triiodo-3-[(1-oxo- 3,6,9,12,15-pentaoxa-hexadec- 1-vl)aminolbenzoic acid	673.11	49.89	148–150				276
Ioxotrizoic acid ( <b>2f</b> ) [19863–06-0]	3-(Acetylamino)-5-[(hydroxy- acetyl)amino]-2,4,6-triiodo- benzoic acid	629.92	60.44					277
Metrizoate ( <b>2g</b> ) [7225–61-8]	3-(Acetylamino)-5-(acetylmeth- ylamino)-2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acid			281–282				278
	Sodium salt	649.93	60.63			86		
Ioglicic acid ( <b>3a</b> ) [ <b>49755–67-1</b> ]	3-(Acetylamino)-2,4,6-triiodo-5- [[[2-(methylamino)-2-oxoeth- yllaminol carbonyl]benzoic acid	670.97 ,	65.78	284–285				279

 Table 10.3
 Characteristics of Ionic and Nonionic Iodine-Containing Contrast Agents

Ioseric acid ( <b>3b</b> ) [ <b>51876–99-4</b> ]	3-[[[1-(Hydroxymethyl)-2- (methylamino)-2-oxoethyl] amino]-carbonyl]-2,4,6-tri- iodo-5-[(methoxyacetyl)ami- nolbenzoic acid	731.02	52.12	267–268 (d)		(±)-form		279
Iothalamic acid ( <b>3c</b> ) [2276–90-6]	3-(Acetamino)-2,4,6-triiodo-5- [(methylamino) carbonyl]- benzoic acid	613.92	62.01	285 (d)		1.74		
	Sodium salt	635.9	59.87		85			280
	Meglumine salt	809.13	47.05					
Ioxitalamic acid (3d) [28179-44- 4]	3-(Acetylamino)-5[[(2-(hydroxy- ethyl)amino] carbonyl]-2,4,6- triiodobenzoic acid	643.94	59.12	349				281
Iopanoic acid ( <b>4a</b> ) [ <b>96–83-3</b> ]	3-Amino-alpha-ethyl-2,4,6-tri- iodobenzene-propanoic acid	570.94	66.69	155.2–157 ( <i>d,l</i> form)		Insol.	5.06	260, 282
Iophenoxic acid ( <b>4b</b> ) <b>[96–84-4]</b>	Alpha-Ethyl-3-hydroxy-2,4,6- triiodobenzene-propionic acid	571.92	66.57	143–144			4.66 (pK ₁ ) 6.11 (pK ₂ )	283, 284
<b>Ioprocemic</b> acid (4c) [1456-52-6]	3-(Acetylethylamino)-2,4,6-tri- iodobenzene-propionicacid	612.97	62.11	166-170				285
Ipodic acid ( <b>4d</b> ) [ <b>5587–89-3</b> ]	3-[[(Dimethylamino)-methylenel amino]-2,4,6-triiodobenzene- propanoic acid	597.96	63.67	168–169		Insol.	5–5.5	261, 286
	Sodium salt	619.94	61.41	303-304(d)		Freely sol.		
	Calcium salt	1233.99	61.70	298-302		0.10		
Tyropanoate ( <b>4e</b> ) [ <b>7246–21-1</b> ]	Alpha-Ethyl-2,4,6-triiodo-3-[(1- oxobutyl)-amino]benzene-pro- panoic acid			172185.5		Sol.		283
	Sodium salt	663.01	57.42					
Iolidonic acid ( <b>4f</b> ) [21766–53-0]	Alpha-Ethyl-2,4,6-triiodo-3-(2- oxo-1-pyrrolidinyl)ben- zenepropionic acid	639.01	59.58	179–181			4.89	287
Iomorinic acid ( <b>4g</b> ) [51934–76-0]	2-Methyl-3-[2,4,6-triiodo-3-[1-(4- morpholinyl)-ethylidene)ami- no]benzoyl]aminopropionic acid	711.08	53.54					288
Iolixanic acid (4h) [22730–86-5]	2-[2-[3-(N-Ethylacetamido)-2,4,6- triiodo-phenoxy]ethoxy]propi- onic acid	673.02	56.65	150151				289

Table 10.3 (Contin	(pən							
			Iodine	Melting	$D_{50}, g/kg$	Solubility, g/		
USAN or INN Name	Chemical Name	Mol. wt.	Content (%)	Point (°C)	or I (=g I/kg)	at $20^{\circ}$ C	$pK_{\mathrm{a}}$ $_{\mathrm{H_2O}}^{25}$	Ref.
Iopronic acid (4I) [37723-78-7]	(±)-2-[[2-[3-(Acetylamino)-2,4,6- triiodo-phenoxy]ethoxy]meth- vllbutanoic acid	673.03	56.57	130	$.09^{b} 1.95^{d}$		4.89	290, 291
Iobutoic acid ( <b>4J</b> ) [13445–12-0]	4-[2,4,6-Triiodo-3-(morpholino- carbonyl)-phenoxy]-butyric	671.01	56.37	180				292
Iobenzamic acid (5a) [3115-05-7]	acu N-(3-Amino-2,4,6-triiodoben- zovl)-N-nhenvl-heta-alanine	662.01	57.51	133–134.5	$2.87^d$	Insol.	4.38	293, 294
Iocetamic acid ( <b>6a</b> ) [16034–77-8]	3-[Acetyl (3-amino-2,4,6-triiodo- phenyl)amino]-2-methyl-pro-	613.96	62.01	224–225; 191–212 (Korver)	0.7° 2.21 ^e	Insol.	4.89	240, 295
Iomeglamic acid ( <b>6b</b> ) [25827–76- 31	5-[(3-Amino-2,4,6-triiodophenyl)- methylamino]-5-oxo-pentanoic acid	613.96	62.01	169	$6.35^{d}$	Insol.		229, 296– 298
Iosumetic acid ( <b>6c</b> ) [37863–70-0]	4-[Ethyl [2,4,6-triiodo-3-(meth- ylamino)phenyl]amino]-4- oxobutanoic acid	627.99	60.62					299, 300
B. Nonionic monome	STS							
Iobitridol ( <b>7a</b> ) [136949-58-1]	N,N'-Bis-(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 5-[[3-hydroxy-2-(hydroxy- methyl)-1-oxopropyl]amino]- 2,4,6-triiodo-N,N'-dimethyl- 1.3-henzene-dicarhoxamide	835.16	45.58					301
Iohexol ( <b>7b</b> ) [66108–95-0]	5-[Acetyl(2,3-dihydroxypro- pyl)amino]-N,N'-bis-(2,3-dihy- droxypropyl)-2,4,6-triiodo- 1,3-benzenedicarboxamide	821.15	46.96	174–180	12.1 g I/kg (rats) 24 I ^b	Sol.		193, 302
Iomeprol ( <b>7c</b> ) [78649-41-9]	N,N'-Bis(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 5-[(hydroxy-acetyl)methyl- amino]-2,4,6-triiodo-1,3-ben- zenedicarboxamide	777.09	48.99	283–284				303
Iopamidol ( <b>7d</b> ) [60166–93-0]	(S)-N,N'-Bis[2-hydroxy-1-(hy- droxymethyl)-ethyl]-5-[(2-hy- droxy-1-oxopropyl)amino]- 2,4,6-triiodo-1,3-benzenedicar- boxamide	, ,	48.99	>300 (dec)	11.3 g I/kg (rats) 21 I ^b	Very sol. (S)- form	10.79	196, 302, 304, 305

Iopentol (7e) [89797-00-2]	5-[Acetyl(2-hydroxy-3-meth- oxypropyl)amino)- <i>N,N'</i> - bis(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 2,4,6-triiodo-1,3- benzenedicarboxamide	835.17	45.58		10.3g <b>I/kg</b> (rats)	302, 306
Iopromide ( <b>7f</b> ) [ <b>73334-07-3</b> ]	N,N'-Bis-(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 2,4,6-triiodo-5-(methoxy- acetyl)amino]-N-methyl-1,3- benzenedicarboxamide	791.12	48.12		10.3g <b>I/kg</b> (rats)	302, 307
Iosimide ( <b>7g</b> ) [ <b>79211-10-2</b> ]	N,N,N',N',N"/"-Hexakis(2-hy- droxyethyl)-2,4,6,-triiodo- 1,3,5-benzenetricarboxamide	849.2	44.83	132–135		308
Iotriside (7h) [7921134-0]	(±)-N,N'-Bis(2,3-dihydroxy-pro- pyl)-2,4,6-triiodo-N-methyl- 1,3,5-benzenetricarboxamide	747.07	50.96	202		309
Ioversol ( <b>7i</b> ) [87771–40-2]	N,N'-Bis(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 5-[(hydroxy-acetyl)(2-hy- droxy-ethyl)amino-2,4, 6-triiodo-1,3-benzene- dicarboxamide	807.12	47.17	186–198	18.3 g <b>I/kg</b> (m.mice) 18.1 g <b>I/kg</b> (f.mice)	310, 311
Ioxilan ( <b>7j</b> ) [107793–72-6]	5-[Acetyl(2,3-dihydroxypropy)- [amino]-N-(2,3-dihydroxypro- pyl)-N'-(2-hydroxyethyl)- 2,4,6-triiodo-1,3- benzenedi carboxamide	791.12	48.12		22.4g <b>I/kg</b> (m. rats) 20.1g <b>I/kg</b> (f. rats)	312
3H2-Iopiperidol-A ( <b>7k</b> )	5-[[Dihydro-5-(hydroxymethyl)- 2(3H)-furanylidene]-amino]- N,N'-bis[(2-hydroxy)-1-(hy- droxymethyl)-ethyl]-2,4,6- triiodo-1,3-benzenedicar- boxamide			208–210(softens) 258–262(froths) 285–289(dec)		313, 314
Ioglucol ( <b>8a</b> ) [63941–73-1]	N-[3-[Acetyl(2-hydroxyethyl)- amino]-2,4,6-triiodo-5-[(meth- ylamino)carbonyl]phenyl]- D-gluconamide	807.12	42.34	165–174		315
Ioglucomide (8b) [63941–74-2]	N,N'-[2,4,6-Triiodo-5-[(methyl- amino)carbonyl]] 1,3-phenyl- ene]bis-p-gluconamide	899.17	42.34	144–148		315

Table 10.3 (Continued)

USAN $\propto INN$			Iodine Content	Melting Point	LD ₅₀ , g/kg cr I (=g	Solubility,g/ 100 mL H ₂ O		
Name	Chemical Name	Mol.wt.	(%)	(°C)	I/kg)	at 20°C	$pK_{a H_{2}O}^{25}$	Ref.
Ioglunice ( <b>8c</b> ) [56562-79-9]	N-[3-(Acetylmethylamino)-5- [[(2-hydroxy-ethyl)amino]car- bonyl]-2',4',6'-triiodophenyl- p-gluconamide	807.12	47.29					316
Iogul <i>a</i> mide ( <b>8d</b> ) [75751–89-2]	N,N'-Bis(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 5-[L-xylo-2- hexulosonoyl)‐ amino]-2,3,4-tri-iodo- 1,3-benzenedicarboxamide	881.16	43.21					317
Iosarcol ( <b>8e</b> ) [97702–82-4]	1-[[[3,5-Bis(acetylamino)-2,4,6- triiodobenzoyl]-methylamino]- acetyl]-methylamino]1-deoxy- p-glucitol	862.19	44.16					318
Metrizamide ( <b>8f</b> ) [31112-62-6]	2-[[3-(Acetylamino)-5-(acetyl- methylamino)-2,4,6-triiodo- benzoyl]-amino]-2-deoxy-D- glucce	789.10	48.20	230–240 ( <b>d</b> )	14 I ^b	17.5"	>80	183, 184
C.Ionic dimers (bis a	compounds)							
Iocarmic acid (9a) [10397–75-8]	3,3'-[(1,6-dioxo-1,6-hexanediyl)- diimino]bis-[2,4,6-triiodo-5- [(methylamino)carbonyl]- benzoic acidl	1253.87	60.72	302 ( <i>d</i> )				281, 319
	Meglumine salt	1644.31	46.31		$14-17.5^{b}$	65 (25°C)		
Iodipamide ( <b>9b</b> ) [606-17-7]	3,3'-[(1,6-Dioxo-1,6-hexanediyl)- diimino]bis-[2,4,6-triiodoben- zoic acidl	1139.77	66.80	306–308 ( <i>d</i> )		Insol.	1.74 (p <i>K</i> ₁ )	256, 262
	Megluminesalt	1530.2	49.76		$34^{\circ}$	Sol.	2.76(p <i>K</i> ₂ )	320,321
Iodoxamic acid ( <b>9c</b> ) [31127-82-9]	3,3'-[(1,16-Dioxo-4,7,10,13-tet- raoxahexadecane-1,16-diyl)- diimino]bis[2,4,6-triiodoben- zoic acidl	1287.93	59.12	125	52 ⁶	0.0364(20°C)	1.8(p <i>K</i> ₁ )	189,263
	Meglumine salt	1678.36	45.37			14 (20°C, pH 4.70)	2.8 (pK ₂ )	

Ioglycamic acid ( <b>9d</b> ) [2618–25-9]	3,3'-[Oxybis[(1-oxo-2,1- ethanediyl)imino]] bis[2,4,6- triiodobenzoic acid]	1127.72	67.55	222			1.67 (p <i>K</i> ₁ )	256, 320
	Meglumine salt			281 ( <i>d</i> ) (three crys- talline modifica- tions)		Sol.	2.68 (pK ₂ )	
Iosefamic acid ( <b>9e</b> ) [5591–33-3]	3,3'-[(1,10-Dioxo-1,10-de- canediyl)diimino]bis-[2,4,6- triiodo-5-[(methylamino)car- bonyll-benzoic acidl	1309.98	58.12	279	131 ^b			319, 322
Iosulamide ( <b>9f</b> ) [63534-64-5]	3,3'-[Sulfonylbis[(1-oxo-3,1-pro- panediyl)-imino]]bis[(5-acetyl- ethylamino)-2,4,6-triiodo- benzoic acidl	1374.04	55.41	249–254				
	Meglumine salt	1569.26	48.52		$11.5^{c}$			323
Iotetric acid ( <b>9g</b> ) [6001919-4]	3,3'-[(1,14-Dioxo-3,6,9,12-tet- raoxatetra-decane-1,14-diyl)- diimino]bis[2,4,6-triiodo-ben- zoic acidl	1259.88	60.44					
Iotranic acid ( <b>9h</b> ) [26887–04-7]	3,3'-[Oxy-bis(ethyleneoxy-ethyl- enecarbonylimino)]bis-[2,4,6- triiodobenzoic acid]	1234.88	61.21	155				188
Iotroxic acid ( <b>9i</b> ) [51022–74-3]	3,3'-[Oxybis[2,1-ethanediyloxy- (1-oxo-2,1-ethanediyl)imino]]- bis[2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acidl	1215.82	62.63					324
Ioxaglic acid ( <b>9j</b> ) [ <b>59017–64-0</b> ]	3-[[[[3-(Acetylmethylamino)- 2,4,6-triiodo-5-[(methylamino)- carbonyl]benzoyl]amino] acetyl]amino]-5-[[(2-hydroeth- yl)amino] carbonyl]-2,4,6-tri- iodobenzoic acid	1268.89	60.01					
	Meelumine salt Sodium-meglumine salt	<b>1464</b> .11	52.01		$121^{b}$			199
Iozomic acid ( <b>9k</b> ) [31598–07-9]	3,3'-[1,4-Butanediylbis[oxy(2- hydroxy-3,1-propanediyl)(ace- tylamino)]]bis[5-(acetyl- methyl-amino)-2,4,6- triiodobenzoic acid	1458.14	52.22					325,326

and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second

509

Table 10.3 (Continued)

USAN œ INN Name	Chemical Name	Mol.wt,	Icoline Content (%)	Melting Point (°C)	ID,,, g/kg crI(=g I/kg)	Solubility,g/ 100 mL H ₂ O at 20°C	рК _{а Н2О} 25	Ref.
D. Nanianic bis comp	ounds							
Icchecol ( <b>10a</b> ) [81045-33-2]	5,5'-[1,3-Dioxo-1,3-propanediyl)- bis[2-hydroxy-ethyl)imino]]- bis[N,N'-bis[2-hydroxy-1-(hy- droxymethyl)ethyl]-2,4,6- triiodo-1,3-benzenedicarbox- amide]	1566.20	48.62					259
Iodixanol ( <b>10b</b> ) [92339–11-2]	5,5'.[(2.Hydroxy-1,3.propane- diyl)bis(acetyl-imino)]- bis[N,N'-bis(2,3-dihy- droxypropyl)-2,4,6-triiodo-1,3- benzenedicarboxamidel	1550.2	49.12	240–250				198
Iotasul ( <b>10c</b> ) [71767–13-0]	5,5'-[Thiobis](1-oxo-3,1-pro- panediyl)imino]]bis[N,N'- bis(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)- 2,4,6-triiodo-N,N'-dimethyl- 1,3-benzene-dicarboxamide]	1608.35	47.34	240–260				327
Iotrolan ( <b>10d</b> ) [7977024-4]	5,5'[(1,3-Dioxo.1,3-propanediyl)- bis(methyl-imino)]bis[N,N'- bis[2,3-dihydroxy-1-(hydroxy- ethyl)propyl]-2,4,6-triiodo-1,3- benzene-dicarboxamidel	1626.25	46.82		26 g/kg (mice) 12.7 g/kg (rats)			197, 328
Iofratol ( <b>10'e</b> ) [14166063-1]	N,N'-(2-Hydroxy-1,3-pro- panediyl)bis[N'-[2-hydroxy-1- (hydromethyl)ethyl]-5-[(2- hydroxy-1-oxopropyl)amino]- 2,4,6-triiodo-1,3-benzenedi- carboxamidel,[S-(R*,R*)]							329
E.Miscellaneous Ioxabrolicacid (11) [96191-65-0]	N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)-2,4,6,-tri- iodo-5-[2-[2,4,6-tribromo-3- (N-methylacetamido)-5- (methyl-carbamoyl)benzi- amido]acetylamino-1,3-ben- zenecarboxamidel	1127.88	Br: 21.25 I: 33.75					330

Tris(iothalamic acid) (12)	5,5',5"-(Nitrilotriacetyltriimino)- tris (2,4,6-triiodo-N-methyl- isophthalamic acid)		61.67					331
Iodoalphionic acid (13)[577–91-3]	<b>3-(4-Hydroxy-3,5-diiodophenyl)</b> -2-phenyl-propionic acid	494.07	51.38	157–162(d)		$\sim 1.5$		332
	Disodium salt			>230				
Iophendylate ( <b>14</b> ) [ <b>99–79-6</b> ]	Ethyl <b>10-(<i>p</i>-iodophenyl) undecy-</b> late	416.34	30.48	Bp: 196–198		Slightly sol.		333–335
Iopydone ( <b>15a</b> ) [5579–93-1]	3,5-Diiodo-4(1H)pyridinone	346.88	73.17	321 ( <i>d</i> )		Insol.		336
Iodopyracet ( <b>15b</b> ) [ <b>300–37-8</b> ]	<b>3,5-Diiodo-4-oxo-(4<i>H</i>)-pyridine</b> acetic acid	388.92	62.68	245–249	<b>6.3</b> ^{<i>b</i>} ; 3.2 I ^b		2.15	213, 337
	2,2'-Iminodiethanol(1:1) salt		49.76	155–157	2 ( <b>i.v.</b> in dogs)	60		
Iopydol (1 <b>5c</b> ) [5579–92-0]	1-(2,3-Dihydroxypropyl)-3,5- diiodo-4(1 <i>H</i> )-pyridinone	420.96	60.29	161				338
Propylidone ( <b>15d</b> ) [587–61-1]	<b>3,5-Diiodo-4-oxo-1-(4H)-pyr-</b> idineacetic acid, propyl ester	446.99	56.78	186–187	0.3 ^b	0.014 ( <b>15°</b> )		339, 340
Sodium io- domethamate (Iodoxyl) (15e) [519–26-6]	1,4-Dihydro-3,5-diiodo-1-methyl- 4-oxo-2,6- pyridinedicarboxy- lic acid, disodium salt	448.94	51.5	174 ( <i>d</i> )	4.6; 2 I ^b	Freely sol.		213, 336
Iopax	<b>5-Iodo-2-oxo-1(2H)-pyridine</b> ace- tic acid, sodium salt		42.16		8°	Very sol.		341, 342

^{*a*}CAS Registry Number; ^{*b*}i.v. in mice; ^{*c*}i.v. in rats; ^{*d*}oral in mice; "oral in rats.

their Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) Registry Numbers are listed in square brackets beneath each name.

## 6.2 Synthesis

The synthesis of iodinated ionic and nonionic contrast agents follows a general pattern, which includes (1) the selection and synthesis of an intermediate containing the ring nucleus, (2) introduction of an activating group, (3) iodination, and (4) acylation.

The compound usually selected as the starting material is a substituted benzoic, isophthalic, isophthalamic acid, or one of their derivatives (227). The activating group is introduced as a nitro group followed by reduction to an amino group before iodination. Reduction of the nitro group is effected by catalytic reduction using 5–10% palladium on charcoal or **Raney** nickel as catalyst (228,229). The latter gives a higher yield and a cleaner product than those of other reduction methods. Ammonium or sodium sulfide may also be used as a reductant (186, 230–232). The amino group can also be diazotized to form a phenolic hydroxyl group.

A vinyl C-I bond is more stable than an alkyl C-I bond. The phenyl ring, in the presence of an activating group, can accept three iodine atoms upon iodination with iodine monochloride (233). Iodination is usually carried out with iodine monochloride in dilute hydrochloric acid or dilute acetic acid or in potassium chloride solution (180, 233, 234). Acetylation of the amino group changes the electron density of the ring and locks the carbon-iodine bond in place (201, 227). The substitution also increases the solubility and reduces the toxicity of the iodinated product. Acetylation may be effected by using ketene in the presence of sulfuric acid (232). A general method of acylation is the dissolution of the amine in dimethylformamide or dimethylacetamide (235), followed by addition of the appropriate acyl chloride.

More synthetic steps and more different intermediates are required to complete the synthesis of nonionic contrast agents than that of ionic contrast agents. The commonly used intermediates for introducing (**poly**)**hydroxyal**kyl groups to the triiodophenyl ring in a nonionic contrast molecule are **amino-alco**- hols, epihalohydrins, 1,3-dihydroxy-2-aminopropane (serinal) (236), 3-(N-2-hydroxy-ethyl)amino-1,2-propanediol (237), and so forth. Other reagents, such as 1,1,2-trichloroethane (238) and acetoxyacetyl chloride (238), may also be needed for the synthesis. Acetoxyacetyl chloride is a protective reagent for the hydroxyl groups. Any of the intermediates required for the synthesis of nonionic contrast agents would have to be prepared, purified, and recovered for reuse if necessary. Felder (196) remarked on the complexity of the preparation of iopamidol that "Methods of analysis were developed with specifications for 35 raw materials, five intermediate products, and the final product, for a total of 289 single analytical tests."

In the following sections, selected examples of synthesis for ionic and nonionic, and monomeric and dimeric contrast agents are given to illustrate the general synthetic approach. The synthesis of an ionic monomer iocetamic acid (**6a**), a triiodoanilide of the NNH type, used for oral cholecystography (**240**), is shown in Equation 10.4.

The synthesis of an ionic contrast agent is almost complete at this stage. The product is crystalline and can be readily isolated. The crude product can be purified by precipitation from a salt solution with acid or by recrystallization from solvent (201). In the synthesis of nonionic contrast agents, additional synthetic steps are required to attach the (poly)hydroxyalkyl substituent groups to the ring. The presence of these groups in the molecule increases reactivity and water solubility and also makes the product isolation from an aqueous solutiondifficult. If the product is amorphous and cannot be crystallized, its isolation may require flash evaporation or vacuum distillation. To concentrate and purify iopamidol from aqueous solution, permeable filtration membranes are used in special filtration procedures (241). Also, electrolytes introduced in the intermediate synthesis should be removed by desalination or ion exchange. Deionization and purification of the radiopaque can be achieved by column chromatography by use of silanized silica gel for adsorption, followed by washing with water until free of electrolyte, and desorption with dilute organic solvent (242). For example, crude ioversol can be ei-



Iocetamic acid

ther purified by reversed-phase liquid chromatography (243) or purified continuously with a bed of mixed ion-exchange resin contained by selectively permeable membranes with an electric potential imposed across the membrane (244). Recrystallization from a butanol mixture is another way of purifying iopamidol to pharmacopoeia standard (245).

One of the methods for synthesis of iohexol (7b), a nonionic contrast agent, is shown in equation (10.5) (246). Nonionic contrast media are more costly to manufacture than are ionic constrast media. The cost of nonionic contrast media is determined by the number of synthetic steps, overall yield, cost of the intermediates, difficulties in isolation and purification, and other associated manipulations. Many alternate paths of synthesis and purification of nonionic contrast agents have been reported. For example, the nonionic contrast agent ioxilan (7j) can alternately be prepared

from the ionic contrast agent ioxitalamic acid (3d) by reaction with epihalohydrin, to selectively produce the N-hydroxyalkylated product (202, 247). Iohexol can be prepared from the triacetyl derivative of 5-amino-2,4,6-triiodoisophthaldiamide by N-allylation with allyl chloride or allylamine, followed by oxidation and hydrolysis (i.e., deprotection), to give the product (248). The cost of manufacture can be reduced by using a minimal excess of an expensive reagent (acetoxyacetyl chloride) or by shortening the purification process (239). Selective hydrolysis of the protected product in ioversol synthesis can simplify the purification procedures (249). Methods for iodine recovery from manufacturing wastes of iodinated contrast media may also contribute to the reduction of the manufacturing cost (250,251).

Novel reactions can also be used to prepare nonionic contrast media (252). For example, iomeprol in alkaline solution undergoes the



Smiles rearrangement, an intramolcular nucleophilic aromatic substitution, in which the substituent 5-[(hydroxyacetyl)methylamino] group is rearranged to form the 5-[methylaminocarbonylmethoxy] group. This reaction uncouples and replaces the **N--C** bond with the O—C bond between the substituent and the ring intramolecularly (253). The rearrangement is reversible, with sodium hydroxide or sodium methoxide catalyzing the forward reaction. Ioversol, iopamidol, and a dimer also undergo the Smiles rearrangement. The reaction is useful for preparing nonionic iodinated radiopaques that cannot be obtained by conventional synthetic methods, such as by converting from a CCO type to a CCN type molecule (252).

Many side reactions can occur during the alkylation of an intermediate containing many nucleophilic sites. Bjoersvich et al. (254) studied the influence of various cations on the N/O regioselectivity in the N-alkylation of acetamidotriiodoisophthalamide derivatives with 3-chloro-1-methoxy-2-propanol and found that the  $Ca^{2+}$  ion gives the best selectivity and the highest yield of the desired nonionic product. A recent patent showed that the presence

of  $Ca(OH)_2$  can selectively influence the hydrolysis of the protected groups (255).

Hexaiodinated bis compounds are formed using an alkylene bridge or a substituted alkylene bridge through coupler groups, such as amide (---CO---NH---) or reversed amide (---NH---CO----) or mixed amide and reversed amide, to link two triiodinated monomers. The bis compounds with amide-linked bridges are synthesized by condensing two molecules of a triiodinated monomer containing a free amino group with one molecule of a dicarboxylic acid dichloride (189, 235, 256). The bis compounds with reversed amide groups are prepared by condensing two molecules of substituted triiodinated isophthalic acid monochloride with an (un)substituted alkylene diamine (201). Bis compounds (e.g., ioxaglate) containing mixed linkages with one amide and one reversed amide group in the molecule are asymmetric (199, 257), whose synthesis is more involved than that of **compounds** with symmetric anchoring groups. The synthesis of an amide-linked ionic bis compound iocarmic acid (9a) is shown in Equation 10.6.

The synthesis of nonionic bis compounds is analogous to that of ionic compounds, except

2



Iocarmic acid

that provisions should be made for the subsequent introduction of the polyhydroxyalkyl groups (258). **An** example taken from the patent literature (259) is shown in Equation 10.7.

6.2.1 **Isomerism.** Iodinated radiopaque compounds that contain a chiral center or chiral centers form optical isomers or diastereoisomers. The presence of an asymmetric carbon atom in iopanoic acid (220), iophenoxic acid, or iodoalphionic acid (225), for example, leads to the formation of d and l forms. In iocetamic acid, free rotation around the axis connecting the iodinated phenyl nucleus with the tertiary nitrogen atom in an alkylamido substituent is impeded by the bulky ortho-substituted iodine atoms, creating d and l forms (192). The molecule also contains an asymmetric carbon atom that gives rise to d' and I' forms. The racemates contain  $d_{,d'}$  and  $l_{,l'}$  as well as  $d_{,l'}$ and d', l forms, which are mutually diastereoisomeric and have different melting points and solubilities. Mixtures of diastereoisomers exhibit a wide melting range over many degrees.

Besides diastereoisomerism, iodinated **ra**diopaques may show polymorphism; crystals formed under different conditions show identical infrared absorption bands but with different intensities (262,263).

Nonionic contrast media have a **multiplic**ity of optical and rotational isomers and **dia**stereoisomers (201, 261, 264–267). Optical isomerism is derived from the chiral centers in

polyhydroxyalkyl groups, and geometric isomers from the restricted rotation of the pendant substituents attributed to steric hindrance about (1)the amide (CO-N) bond, (2) the aryl-nitrogen bond in N-substituted acetanilides, and (3) the aryl-carbon bond in benzamides (266). Nonionic contrast agents, such as iopamidol, iohexol, iopentol, ioversol, ioxilan, and iotrolan, exist in aqueous solution as mixtures of isomers. Iohexol exists in two isomers in a ratio of 1:3 (*endo/exo*) separable by HPLC, and the exo-iohexol has a longer retention time than that of the *endo*-iohexol (267). Iopentol exists in several diasteromers that may not be readily resolvable and identifiable by available analytical techniques (266). Ioversol has four apparent rotamers that can be resolved by reversed-phase HPLC chromatography and confirmed as acetonide derivatives by high resolution NMR spectroscopy (264). HPLC and NMR spectroscopy show that the rotational isomers of iohexol and of ioxilan are interconvertible after equilibration (265).

The rotational isomers exist in cis and trans, anti and syn, or *endo* and exo forms. The cis and trans forms arise from slow rotation of the side-chain carbonyl groups, hindered by adjacent ortho-substituted iodine atoms in the ring, resulting in the two carbonyl groups aligned either parallel or antiparallel to each other (268,269). The anti and syn forms refer to the position of N-methyl or N-alkyl group relative to that of adjacent carbonyl oxygen (**266**). The *endo* and exo forms refer to the **po-**



sition of the amide group or the N-acetyl's methyl group with reference to the plane of triiodophenylring. The various geometric isomers will coalesce into one form at higher temperature (265). The dimer or bis compound iodixanol has three geometric isomers: exoexo, exo-endo, and endo-endo forms that can be adjusted to elute as a single peak by HPLC for the purpose of quantitation (270). A multiplicity of isomeric forms in nonionic contrast agents is necessary for high water solubility because it increases the energy barrier of **de**solvation and slows down the process of crystallization and precipitation. From the viewpoint of drug design, a higher water solubility minimizes the binding to biomacromolecules, decreasing the toxicity and increasing the biological tolerance. It is an attribute that should be custom designed into any improved **non**ionic contrast molecules.

6.2.2 Potential Radiopaques. A large number of organic iodine compounds synthesized in search of improved contrast agents are described in the patent literature; limitation of space does not allow **a** full tabulation of these compounds. Because information concerning them may prove to be of value in the design and synthesis of new potential contrast agents, this chapter lists only the potential nonionic radiopaques, where the main current research effort is centered. Summaries of research on ionic contrast media may be found in early references (211,271). Table 10.4 lists potential nonionic contrast agents containing one triiodinated **1,3-ben**zenedicarboxamide nucleus and variations. Table 10.5 lists hexaiodinated nonionic compounds containing two such rings per molecule. Tables 10.6–10.9 contain examples of polymers and other derivatives that have a different iodine-carrying moiety. Physicochemical information, toxicity, and proposed use are given when available. Contrast media are used in large quantities in medical diagnostic radiology. The nonionic agents generally surpass ionic ones in offering higher acceptance and safety to the patients.

### 6.3 Structure-Activity Relationship

With few exceptions, organic iodine compounds for X-ray diagnostic use contain an iodinated benzene ring or an iodinated **pyridone** nucleus. For reasons of low toxicity and high biotolerance, modern contrast agents are variations of structures based on the triiodophenyl moiety as the iodine carrier. According to Hoey and Smith (180, 201), the desirable properties of intravascular contrast agents should include the following:

- **1.** Opacity to X-rays.
- **2.** High water solubility at high iodine content.
- 3. Chemical stability.
- 4. Biological safety.

Intravascular contrast agents should have low viscosity and low osmolality as close as possible to those of body fluids, to improve tolerance and minimize adverse reactions. Contrast agents intended for oral cholecystography should possess hydrophilic and lipophilic properties, so that the compound can be orally absorbed, should be excreted from the liver and bile ducts in sufficient amount to provide radiopacity, and should have no adverse side effects. Because each of these properties is associated with certain molecular features and not all of them are structurally compatible, the best radiopaques represent a compromise of a maximum of these desirable qualities.

In the following sections, relations between structure-dependent properties and characteristics of radiopaques are given.

6.3.1 Substituent Structures. The basic structure in an iodinated contrast agent, the triiodinated phenyl ring, is lipophilic. The lipophilicity can be partially or completely modified by the substituent groups, shown as R, X, and Y in (1). The carboxylic acid moiety in the R group is responsible for the water solubility and ionic property of ionic contrast media. The X and Y substituent groups, containing acylamino, substituted acetamido, substituted carbamoyl, oxo, carbonyl, hydroxy, methoxy, or ether linkages, determine or modify the physicochemical properties (such as water solubility and hydrophilicity) and the pharmacological properties (such as biotolerance, toxicity, distribution, excretion of the molecule). For example, N-alkylation increases the distribution of the contrast agent in the liver as compared to the corresponding nonalkylated compound (263,400). Asymmetry in substitution, such as replacement of an acetamido group with an N-methylcarbamoyl group, can increase the water solubility of iothalamate compared to that of diatrizoate (9). Many ionic contrast molecules show distinct hydrophilic and lipophilic regions, and only a few have hydroxyl groups. The nonionic contrast molecules have a large number of hydroxyl groups, masking the lipophilic regions of the molecule to achieve high water solubility.

The ionic charge of the carboxyl group leads to the high osmolality of ionic contrast media and is the cause of neurotoxicity and vascular pain in arteriography (181,182). Metrizamide, the first-generation nonionic contrast agent, induced no adverse reactions when first introduced in X-ray diagnosis. This confirmed Almén's theory (181)that nonionic radiopaques are safer and better tolerated than ionic ones and led to the rapid development of nonionic radiopaques in the 1980s, which has continued to the present. The use of nonionic contrast media has been beneficial to high risk patients. The compounds listed in Table 10.3 are second-generation monomeric and dimeric contrast media, consisting mainly of derivatives of 5-amino-1,3-benzenedicarboxamide or 5-amino-isophthalamide. These compounds have no ionizable carboxyl groups and rely on the presence of 4-6 hydroxyl groups per monomer molecule or 8-12 hydroxyl groups per dimer or bis compound mol-

Type (Subclass)	Stem Structure	Comments	Ref.
1. CCN type			
$\mathrm{CO}_2\mathrm{R}$			
I			
R ¹ HNOC NI	HCOCH ₃		
R = alkyl, CH ₂ Ph, CH ₂ OCOCH ₃ , CH CH ₂ CCl ₃ ; $\mathbb{R}^1 = \text{COCH}_3$ .	H ₂ OCOC(CH ₃ ) ₃ , or	Synthesis	343
$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{C}_{1-12} \text{ alkyl}, \mathbf{R}^1 = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{H}_2\mathbf{C}\mathbf{H}_2\mathbf{O}\mathbf{H}$		Synthesis	230, 231
$I \qquad I \qquad$	OCH ₃		
$\begin{split} R &= \text{phthalidyl, } C_{5-8} \text{ alkyl, } CH_2Ph, \\ CH(CH_3)O_2CC(CH_3)_3, CH_2O_2CC(CH_2CH_2N(CH_3)_2; \\ R &= N(CH_3)COCH_3, CONHCH_3 \end{split}$	CH(CH ₃ )OAc, CH ₃ ) ₃ , or	Synthesis (13esters prepared)	344
R ¹ HNOC I I	O    PCR HCOCH ₃		×
$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{CH}_3, \mathbf{C}(\mathbf{CH}_3)_3; \mathbf{R}^1 = \mathbf{CH}_3$		Synthesis; bronchography, hepatography.	345
$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $	DCH ₃		
$R = CH_2CO_2H \text{ or } CH_2CONH_2; R^1 = CH_3$	= OH or NH	Synthesis, toxicity studies . Urography, arteriography, myelography	346

 Table 10.4
 Potential Nonionic Monomeric Radiopaques

 Table 10.4
 (Continued)

Type (Subclass)	Stem Structure	Comments	Ref.
CONHR I	I		<del></del>
$R^{3}R^{2}N$ $I$ $R = CH_{3}, CH_{2}CH_{2}OH; R^{1} = CONHN$	R ¹ Ie or <b>NMeAc; R²</b>	Synthesis	347
$=$ gluconoyl; $R^3 = H$ or Me.			
$\operatorname{CONRR}^1$			
	√R ³ R ⁴	,	
$R = H, Me, Et, Pr, CHMe_2, CH_2, CH= (CH_2)_3OMe, Ph, CH_2Ph; R^1 = Me, CH_2CH=CH_2, or QCO_2H, Q = CH Me, Et, CH_2CO_2H, or (CH_2)_2CO_2H, Et; R^4 = Me, Et, or Ph; R^5 = H, CO$	=CH ₂ , Et, 2CHMe; $R^2 = H$ , ; $R^3 = H$ , Me, or $D_2$ H, or CONHMe	Synthesis (60 compounds prepared)	348, 349
CONRR ¹			
$\mathbf{R}^{2}\mathbf{OCHN} \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad$	DXOH		
I $R = H; R^1 = H, Me, or CH_2CH_2OH; Morpholino; X = amino acid residue CH_2OMe, or CH_2OH$	$\mathbf{NRR}^{1} =$ e; $\mathbf{R}^{2} = \mathrm{Me},$	Synthesis	350
$CH_2X$			
I $X = OH \text{ or } Cl; R = NH_2, NHAc, NAc_2$ NHAc, NAc ₂ , NHCOPr, OMe, or I.	$_2$ or I; $\mathbf{R}^1 = NH$ ,,	Synthesis (11compounds prepared)	351

### Table 10.4(Continued)



Table 10.4 (Continued)



**Table** 10.4 (Continued)



# Table 10.4 (Continued)

A COPY OF A COPY

and the state of the second second second second second second second second second second second second second

A Charles and

「田子

Type (Subclass)	Stem Structure	Comments	Ref.
$CH_3 \xrightarrow{O}_{CH_3} CONH$	COR I I I I I I I I		
11: $R = -Cl$ , $-NHCH_2CH_2OH$	ОН	Intermediates for synthesis of nonionic contrast agents	362
$R^{3} \xrightarrow[R^{4}]{N} = H; R^{3} = CH_{3}, CH_{2}OH,$	$R^{1}$ $R^{2}$ $CH(CH_{3})OH; R^{4} =$	Synthesis of ioversol	363
$CH_{2}CH_{2}OH, CH_{2}CH(OH)CH_{2}OH$ $-CH(OH)CH_{2}CH_{2}CH_{2}$ $11: \mathbb{R}^{1} = H: \mathbb{R}^{2} = CH_{2}: \mathbb{R}^{3} = H. CH$	$H; R^{3}R^{4} =$	derivatives and testing of the safety of subsituent group Synthesis	363
$CH_2CH_2OH.$ III: R ¹ = H; R ² = CH ₂ CH ₂ OH; R ³ CH(CH ₃ )OH, CH(OH)CH ₂ OH, C	= $CH_3$ , $CH_2OH$ , $CH_2OCH_3$ ; $R^4 = H$ ;	Synthesis	363 -
$R^{T}R^{T} = -CH(OH)CH_{2}CH_{2}CH_{2}CH_{2}$ $IV: R^{1} = H; R^{2} = CH_{2}CH(OH)CH_{2}$ $CH OH CH(CH)OH R^{4} - H$	$\mathbf{OH}; \mathbf{R}^3 = \mathbf{CH}_3,$	Synthesis	363
V: $R^1 = CH_2CH_2OH$ ; $R^2 = CH_2CH_2CH_3$ , $CH_3, CH_2OH$ , $CH_3, CH_2OH$ ; $R^4 = CH_2CH_3$	$(OH)CH_2OH; R^3 =$ = H.	Synthesis	363
	₹ ² R ⁴ ∕I	CONHCH ₂ CH(OF	I)CH ₂ OH
$R_5$ N I	CONR ¹ R ³		₂ CH(OH)CH ₂ OH
$\dot{Y}(CH_2)_{m}$	Ι	ÓН	11
I: $\mathbf{R}^1$ , $\mathbf{R}^2 = \mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}(\mathbf{OH})\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , etc.; $\mathbf{R}^3$ , $\mathbf{R}^4 = \mathbf{H}$ , March $\mathbf{R}_6 = \mathbf{H}$ , alkyl, $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}$ , $\mathbf{CH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf{OH}_2\mathbf$	$H(CH_2OH)_2,$ e, $CH_2CH_2OH; R_5,$ OH, OH; Y = bond, $H_2NCH_2, O, N;$	Synthesis	364
II:		Method of preparation given	364



CNS uses

### **Table** 10.4 (Continued)

il.

propoxy; n = 2, 3, 4.



<b>Table</b> 10.4 (	(Continued)
---------------------	-------------



 Table 10.4
 (Continued)

Type (Subclass)	Stem Structure	Comments	Ref.
5. Mixed brominated and			
iodinated CCN and CNN type			
×	X		
Acyl-RN	`Z		
X	Ι		
$X = Br, iodo; Acyl = C_{2-6} hydroxyall$	lkanoyl,	Synthesis	373
(un)substituted C alkanoyl; R	= H, C ₁₋₆ alkyl,		
hydroxyalkyl, alkoxyalkyl, alkoxy	vhydroxyalkyl,		
$H(OCH_2CH_2)_{2-5}$ . $Me(OCH_2CH_2)_{2-4}$	$_{4}$ , Et(OCH ₂ CH ₂ ) ₂₋₄ ,		
alkylamino, etc.; $Z = COY$ ,	oxy, nydroxyarkoxy,		
hydroxyalkylaminocarbonyl, $C_{2-5}$	acylamino,		
hydroxyacylamino, N-alkylacylan hydroxyalkylacylamino, acylamin	nino, <b>/v -</b> nomethyl.		
CONR ¹ R ²			
	$R^3 R^4$		
X	Ι		
$R = hydroxyalkyl, (poly)alkoxyalkylaminocarbonylalkyl etc : R^1 R^3 -$	l, polyhydroalkyl, - Halkyl	Synthesis	<b>374</b>
hydroxyalkyl; $R^2$ , $R^4$ = hydroxyal	kyl; X = iodo, Br.		
	CONHCH ₂ CH(C	DH)CH ₂ OH	
Br、	Br		
	$\gamma \gamma \gamma$		
HOOL CHOLOUN	CONUC		
		n ₂ Cn(Un)Cn ₂ Un	
Ac	e Br	Ι	
(Only one compound prepared)		Synthesis	375
6. Tetraiodinated CCI type			
	НО	OH	
	$\rangle$		
	HO-		
R ³ R ⁴ N NR ¹ R ²	HO		
	но—/	( ОН	
I: $\mathbb{R}^1$ , $\mathbb{R}^3 = H$ , alkyl, etc., $\mathbb{R}^2$ , $\mathbb{R}^4 = \mathbf{n}$	onionic	Synthesis II OT	376
mydrophinc group; 11: (preparatio			



Table 10.5 Potential Dimeric Radiopaques: Bis(2,4,6-triiodophenyl) Derivatives

### **Table** 10.5(Continued)


# **Table** 10.5(Continued)





ecule for their high water solubility. To minimize solution viscosity, all nonionic contrast agents are designed to be small and globular molecules. Substituent groups most frequently found in nonionic radiopaque molecules are, for example, hydroxyethyl, 2,3dihydroxypropyl, and 1,3-dihydroxypropyl. These susbstituents are attached to the triiodophenyl ring by the coupler groups, such as amide (--CO--NH---), reversed amide (-NH--CO--), amino (-NH--), and so forth. Depending on the nature of substituent groups, hydroxyl groups from different substituent groups can have different hydrophilicities. For example, the hydroxyl groups in metrizamide from a sugar molecule are highly hydrophilic but unstable toward heat at 120°C. To avoid decomposition, metrizamide is sterilized at low temperature and marketed as lyophilized powder to be reconstituted with sterile water just before use (401). On the other hand, hydroxyl groups from hydroxyalkyl substituents are less hydrophilic and heat stable at 120°C. Nonionic monomers and bis compounds, such as iopamidol, iohexol, and iotrolan, containing alkyl hydroxyl groups, are heat stable and can be sterilized at 120°C for 2 h (**401**).

In designing improved nonionic contrast agents, high water solubility is achieved by masking and shielding the lipophilic regions of

the molecule (i.e., around the bulky iodine atoms and about both faces of the triiodophenyl ring) with polar groups to achieve lateral and facial hydrophilicity (204). High water solubility is necessary to minimize protein binding and to achieve high biological tolerance. It is difficult to predict the water solubility of a molecule from the number of hydroxyl groups it contains because hydrogen bonding and the prevalence of multiple isomeric forms, for example, can exert a strong influence on the molecular interaction with water. Nonionic contrast agents in mixed isomeric forms are more water soluble than those present in only one pure isomeric form, the only exception being the pure L-lactoyl form of iopamidol, which is more soluble than the mixed isomeric forms (194).

Nonionic contrast agents are less anticoagulant than ionic contrast agents (402–405). Ranganathan et al. (313, 314) showed that placing a heterocyclic ring substituent in the 5-position of the 2,4,6-triiodo-1,3-benzenedicarboxamide moiety can confer an unexpected anticoagulant behavior to the nonionic contrast molecule.

**6.3.2 Radiopacity.** Radiopacity is dependent on the number of iodine atoms in the molecule, with more iodine atoms per molecule yielding better images, provided that other properties are equal (181). An ionic con-

Compound	Uses	Comment	Ref.
1. N = (A, B, C) $A, B  or  C = $ $R$ $I$ $I$	Angiography I I NHCOCH ₂ -	Synthesis	331
2A-B-A-B-A-B $A = \underbrace{(Ac)N}_{I} \underbrace{K}_{I}$ where $X = \underbrace{-N(Ac)-}_{I}$ or $-$	Roentgenography of gastrointestinal tract		191, 192
OR $B = -(CH_2CHCH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2)_4(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH_2O)_2(CH$	OR $\downarrow$ DCH ₂ CHCH ₂ ) ₂ —, es and cellulose		

Table 10.6 Potential Radiopaques: Polymeric Substituted 2,4,6-Triiodobenzoic Acids



Z = H, halo, C₁-C₂₀ alkyl, **cycloalkyl**, lower alkoxy, cyano; R = C₁-C₂₅ alkyl, cycloalkyl or halo-lower alkyl, fluoro-lower alkyl, aryl, lower alkoxy, hydroxy, **carboxy**, lower-alkyl **carbonyl** or lower **alkoxy-carbonyloxy**; or  $(CR_1R_2)_p$ - $(CR_3$ - $CR_4)_m$  Q or  $(CR_1R_2)_p$ -C-C-Q; R₁, R₂, R, R₄ = lower alkyl or halo-alkyl; X = 1 3; y = 1-4; n = 1-5; m = 1-15; p = 1-15; p = 1-10; and Q = H, lower alkyl, alkenyl, alkynyl, lower alkylene, aryl or aryl-lower alkyl.

A mixture of the **384 derivatives—used** for oral or retrograde examination of GI tract

Y	Uses	Comment	Ref.
-CH ₂ CO ₂ R [R = Bu, CH ₂ Ph, C ₄ -C ₁₀ alkyl, CH ₂ OAc, CH ₂ OCOCMe ₃ , CH ₂ CCI ₃ ]		Synthesis	343,352,385
- $(CH_2)_n CO_2 R [R = H, Me, Et, Bu, Am, octyl, CH_2CH_2NMe_2, CH_2CH_2OH, NH_2]$	Urography, lymphography	Synthesis (18 compounds prepared)	386
$-CH_2CONH(CH_2)_nNR^1R^2 [n = 2,3; R^1]$ = R ² = Me, Et, R ¹ R ² = CH ₂ CH ₂ OCH ₂ CH ₂ ]		Synthesis (high toxicity)	387
-CH ₂ CH ₂ R		Syn thesis (high toxicity)	387
$R = N(CH_3)_2$ , $NEt_2$ , $N'_0$ , and the	heir		
$(CH_3)_2$ salts, N ⁺ (Et) ₂ CH ₂ CH ₂ OH·Cl ⁻			

 Table 10.7
 Potential Radiopaques: Substituted 3,5-Dilodo-4(1H)-pyridones

-

trast molecule can dissociate in solution into an iodine-containing anion and an iodine-free cation, thus reducing the ratio of three iodine atoms per molecule by a factor of **2** to a ratio of 1.5 iodine atoms on average per ion (177,180). All the ionic monomers are therefore known as iodine ratio 1.5 contrast agents. The **mono**acidic bis compound ioxaglate with one car**boxylic** acid group and six iodine atoms in the molecule is a ratio 3.0 contrast agent. The nonionic monomers, which contain no ionizable groups and do not undergo dissociation in solution, are ratio 3.0 contrast agents, and their dimers or bis compounds ratio 6.0 agents. Higher ratio contrast agents with higher iodine content per particle will give bet-

<b>Table 10.8</b>	Potential Radiopaques:	Monoiodophenyl	Derivatives
-------------------	------------------------	----------------	-------------

I			
(1)	Uses	Comment	Ref.
-CO ₂ XO ₂ CR [X = (CH ₂ ) ₂ , (CH ₂ ) ₃ , CH ₂ CHMe, or (CH ₂ ) ₄ ; R = Me, Et, Pr, i-Pr, Bu, (CH ₂ ) ₄ Me, (CH ₂ ) ₅ Me, or CH ₂ OMe]	Myelography	Synthesis	388
-CO ₂ (CH ₂ ) _n O ₂ CR [ $n = 24$ , R = Me, Et, Pr, i-Pr, (CH ₂ ) ₃ Me, (CH ₂ ) ₄ Me, (CH ₂ ) ₃ Me, CH ₂ CHMe, or CH ₂ OMe]	Myelography	Synthesis	389
-X-OCO ₂ R [X = $(CH_2)_2$ , $(CH_2)_3$ , CHMeCH ₂ CH ₂ , CH ₂ CHEtCH ₂ , or CH ₂ CHBuCH ₂ ; R = Et, i-Pr, Bu, i-Bu, pentyl, hexyl, octyl, decyl, CHMeC ₆ H ₁₃ , CH ₂ CH(Et)Bu, CHMeCH ₂ CH(CH ₃ ) ₂ , CH(Et)Pr, or CH ₂ CH ₂ OMe]	<b>Myelography,</b> <b>lymphography,</b> bronchography, salpingography	Synthesis	390

 $\square$ 

Compound	Uses	Comments	Ref.
$\label{eq:ch_solution} \hline \textbf{ICH,SO,NRR}^1  [\textbf{R} = \textbf{H}, \textbf{Me}; \textbf{R}^1 = \\ \textbf{CH}_2\textbf{CH}(\textbf{OH})\textbf{CH}_2\textbf{OH}, \textbf{CH}(\textbf{CH}_2\textbf{OH})_2, \\ \textbf{CH}_2\textbf{CH}_2\textbf{OH}, \textbf{CH}_2\textbf{CH}_2\textbf{OH}_2\textbf{CH}_2\textbf{OH}] \\ \hline \end{array}$	Myelography	Synthesis	391,392
$I \\   \\ RCOC = CCOR$			
 I		Synthesis	393
$[R = OH, O(CH_2)_2OMe, O(CH_2)_2OEt, (OCH_2CH_2)OMe, (OCH_2CH_2)_2OEt, O(CH_2)_3Me, O(CH_2)_2CHMe_2, NH(CH_2)_2OH, NHCH_2CH(OH)Me, NHC(CH_2OH)_2Me, N(CH_2CH_2OH)_2, NHCHCO_2H, or NMeCH_2CO_2H]$			
BuNHCONHR ( $\mathbf{R} = 2,3,5,6$ -tetraiodo-p- tolylsulfonyl)	Radiography of pancreas and prostate gland	Synthesis	394
I RO I OR OR OR			
$(\mathbf{R} = glycosyl)$ $(\mathbf{R} = glycosyl)$ $(\mathbf{H}_{3})$ $(\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{C}_{3})_{2}\mathbf{C}_{2}\mathbf{H})$	Urography	Synthesis, toxicity studies	185 395
	Cholescystography	Synthesis	396
$I \longrightarrow CH_2C(CH_3)CO_2H$			
$R^1$ SO ₂ R	Cholecystography	Synthesis	397
$I'$ $[R^{1} = NH, N = CHNMe_{2}; R = NH, OH, NMe_{2}, NEt_{2}, NBu_{2}, morpholino, piperidino, NHCH_{2}CH_{2}OH, N(CH_{2}CH_{2}OH)_{2}, or NMeCH_{2}(CHOH)_{4}CH_{2}OH]$			

 Table 10.9
 Miscellaneous Potential Radiopaques

Compound	Uses	Comments	Ref.
ÇONRR ¹		Synthesis	398
I I CONR ² R ³ [NRR ¹ , NR ^Z R ³ = NHMe, NHCH ₂ CO ₂ H, NHCH(Pr)CO ₂ H, morpholino, 2-carboxy-1- pyrrolidinyl NHCHEtCH ₂ CO ₂ H.			
NMeCH ₂ CO ₂ H, NEtCH ₂ CO ₂ H]			
+ +			
$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{Me_2N(CH_2)_n NMe_2 \cdot 2X^-} \\   &   \\ \mathbf{R} & \mathbf{R^1} \end{array} $	Binding to cartilage	Synthesis	399
$[n = 2, 4, 6, \text{ or } 10; \text{ R}, \text{R}^1 = \text{H}, \text{ethylacetyl}, 3-$ iodobenzyl, 2,4,5-triiodobenzyl, 5-amino-2,4- didiodobenzyl, 3-amino-2,4,6-triiodobenzyl; X = Cl, I]			

ter X-ray image and resolution. Radiopacity is a physical property, affected not only by the atomic number but also by the localization and concentration of contrast medium in the organ.

Gadolinium chelates provide contrast enhancement in CT and also in MRI. Gadolinium has a higher atomic number than that of iodine and can attenuate X-rays more efficiently than iodine at equivalent mass concentration, although iodinated contrast media yield better resolution at higher concentrations (91).

**6.3.3** Acidity. The inductive effect of the iodine atoms in the molecule makes the substituted 2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acids stronger acids than the substituted 2,4,6-triiodophenyl or triiodophenoxy alkanoic acids. The  $pK_a$  values of many ionic contrast agents were measured by Felder et al. (263). The nonionic contrast agent ioparnidol has a  $pK_a$  value of 10.7 for the nitrogen proton next to the triiodiophenyl ring, but the molecule is practically undissociated at the physiologic pH 7.0–7.5 (194).

**6.3.4 Electron Density.** Substituent groups attached to the triiodinated phenyl ring can donate electrons to the ring or withdraw elec-

trons from it. Substituent groups attached to the ring through oxygen and nitrogen atoms will donate electrons to the ring and those attached through the carbonyl carbon atoms will withdraw a-electrons from the ring. Sovak (203) related the decrease in toxicity of a series of model compounds to the decrease in a-electrons in the ring. The following groups are listed in the order according to their increasing ability to withdraw a-electrons from the ring: methyleneoxy ( $\phi$ -CH₂-O-) < methyleneamino ( $\phi$ -CH₂-N-) < reversed amido ( $\phi$ -NH-CO-) < alkyloxy ( $\phi$ -O-CH₂-) < carbamoyl  $(\phi$ -CO-NH-) group. Among the nonionic contrast media, listed in Table 10.3, iosimide (7g)and iotriside (**7h**) are derivatives of trimesic acid, which belong to the CCC subclass and have the lowest a-electron density in the ring.

Gries and Mützel (205) gave the number of a-electrons in the benzene ring, in addition to the six benzene electrons, for a series of model compounds ranging from subclass NNN to subclass CCC. These a-electron values are given for each subclass in parentheses as follows:

"NNN" (a: 0.1088) > "CNN" (a: 0.1077) > "CCN" (a: 0.0947) > "CCC" (a: 0.0815). This means that the model compound derived from triiodotrimesic acid (subclass CCC) contains fewer  $\pi$ -electrons than the model compound derived from isophthalic acid (subclass CCN) and thus has a greater biosafety and a higher intravenous median lethal dose (LD₅₀) than that of the latter. Average values of neural tolerance, expressed in mgiodine per kg body weight, for these model compounds are given in parentheses below:

"CNN" (4.2 mg I/kg)

"CCN" (11.4 mg I/kg)
"CCC" (22.7 mg I/kg).

These values support the hypothesis that associates the least toxicity of an iodinated contrast molecule with the smallest  $\pi$ -electron density in the benzene ring.

**6.3.5 Hydrophilicity and Solubility.** Contrast agents for angiography are by necessity administered intravascularly in large doses and, for this, high water solubility is required. Agents for oral cholecystography need an optimum oil-and-water solubility so that upon ingestion, the molecule can be absorbed and transported across the intestinal cell membrane, from blood to the liver, and concentrated in the gall bladder. Agents for **myelog**-raphy may be oil-soluble or water-soluble compounds. The molecular requirements for different contrast agents differ and do not necessarily focus on the same substituent groups.

Solubility of contrast agents is determined mainly by the presence of hydrophilic groups (180, 209). In an ionic contrast molecule the carboxyl group in the R group in (1) confers a high water solubility to the molecule; and an acylamino, alkylcarbamoyl, or hydroxylated alkylamino group in the X or Y group in (1) modifies such properties as its hydrophilicity, toxicity, distribution, and excretion. Thus, substituted triiodobenzoates and triiodoisophthalamates are highly water soluble compounds. Solutions with concentrations as high as 90% can be achieved with iothalamates and metrizoates. These highly soluble contrast agents are also strong acids with  $pK_a$  values less than 3. In nonionic contrast molecules

the hydroxyl groups, hydrogen bonding, and hydrophobic associations determine the water solubility (171, 182, 202), which may be further enhanced by introducing more hydrophilic groups (199).

Asymmetry in the substitution of contrast molecules also influences the solubility (9). The sodium salt of diatrizoic acid with a symmetrical 3,5-diacetamido substitution has relatively low water solubility and concentrations greater than 50% cannot be obtained. The solubility is enhanced when one of the acetamido groups is replaced with a *N*-methylcarbamoyl, N-methylacetamido, or acetamidomethyl group, as in iothalamate, metrizoate, or iodamide. N-Methyl substitution can substantially increase the water solubility of nonionic contrast agents (199), but the hydroxyl groups have to be evenly distributed to mask the lateral and facial lipophilic regions in the molecule, distinguished conceptually as lateral hydrophilicity and facial hydrophilicity (204).

Oral cholescystographic agents must possess an optimum oil-and-water solubility for duodenal absorption. Substituents, such as carboxyl, alkyl, or **aralkyl** groups, can impart both hydrophilicity and lipophilicity to the molecule. Iopanoate, ipodate, and tyropanoate, for example, are substituted triiodophenyl alkanoic acids and will meet this requirement. The chain length of the substituent can affect the quality of the image. Epstein et al. (406) observed that in a series of iodinated *p*-hydroxyphenylalkanoicacids, optimal visualization of dog bladder was achieved with five to eight carbon atoms in the alkanoic acid chain. Felder et al. (291) reported that the insertion of a methyl group between the oxygen and the a-carbon in the series of substituted triiodophenoxyalkoxyalkanoic acids can improve or al absorption, biliary excretion, and gall bladder visualization.

**6.3.6 Chemotoxicity.** The development of modern contrast agents began with the observation by Wallingford et al. (219) that iodobenzoic acids have very low toxicity. Iodination, substitution, and acetylation can modify the acute toxicity of substituted benzoic acids (209,210). For example, amination of sodium benzoate decreases toxicity, and the intrave-

nous median lethal dose  $(LD_{50})$  values of 3-aminobenzoate and 3,5-diaminobenzoate (i.e., 3270 and 2600 mg/kg, respectively) in mice are higher than that of benzoate (1440 mg/kg). Acetylation decreases toxicity, as is shown by the even higher  $LD_{50}$  values of 3-acetamidobenzoate and 3,5-diacetamidobenzoate (3400 and 5580 mg/ kg) than of the corresponding amines given above. In the series of 3-acylamino-2,4,6-triiodobenzoates, the detoxifying effect of substitution by acylation reaches a maximum of two carbon atoms in the acetyl group and further lengthening of the acyl chain causes an increase in toxicity (219).

Iodination may either decrease or increase the toxicity, depending on whether the parent compound is acetylated or unacetylated. Both 3-acetamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate and 3,5-diacetamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate ( $LD_{50}$ : 8300 and 14,000 mg/kg) have lower toxicities than their corresponding noniodinated parent compounds. A fully substituted benzene ring further decreases the toxicity. 3,5-Diacetamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate is the least toxic of the series and is available commercially as diatrizoate sodium and meglumine salts for clinical use in angiography, pyelography, urography, and other related roentgenographic procedures.

Although contrast media are remarkably safe, when injected intravascularly in high concentrations as a bolus, the blood is replaced for a very brief period with the contrast medium. Such high concentrations can produce a myriad of dose-dependent pharmacological effects, often manifested as undesirable side effects. Rosati and de Haën (407) classified these toxic effects as (1)chemotoxicity in distinction to molecular toxicity, arising from unique structural features that show affinity to binding with biomacromolecules; and (2) osmotic toxicity, attributed to many side effects caused by the considerably higher osmolality of ionic contrast media relative to that of body fluids. These authors correlated the  $LD_{50}$  values of ionic and nonionic iodinated contrast media for uroangiography directly with their osmolality. Nonionic contrast agents, because of their lower osmolality, high water solubility, and a fully substituted benzene ring, do not combine with proteins or macromolecules and

are considerably less toxic than ionic contrast media. Contrast agents, regardless of their ionic and osmolality differences, in the presence of X-ray irradation, may cause chromosome aberrations (408–411). Iodinated contrast agents in combination with X-ray radiation can develop synergistic cytotoxicity, possibly mediated by energetic photoelectrons, and this cytotoxicity increases with iodine concentration (410). Norman et al. (413) showed that in iodine dose-enhancement therapy for brain tumors, the iodine contrast media help localize the tumor and increase the absorbed radiation dose.

The contrast bis compounds, in general, have lower toxicity than that of the corresponding monomers (258). The toxicity of hexaiodinated ionic bis compounds increases with increasing length of the alkylene bridge and also with increasing length of the substituent group at position 5 of the triiodophenyl ring (224,414). Bis compounds with open positions in the triiodophenyl rings linked by a polyoxymethylene bridge have a higher intravenous toxicity in mice than those with the fully substituted benzene rings. Replacement of the substituent n-butyramido group with a butyrolactamyl group decreases the toxicity of the bis compounds linked by a short alkylene bridge but increases the toxicity of those linked by a long alkylene bridge. Introduction of one or more oxygen atoms into the alkylene bridge greatly reduces the toxicity. For this series of bis compounds, optimum tolerability was achieved in the compound formed by joining two molecules of 3-amino-5-acetylaminomethyl-2,4,6-triiodo-benzoic acid with tetraoxahexadecane-dicarboxylic acid dichloride (224). Ioxaglate is an asymmetric bis compound, consisting of a dipeptide bridge linked to two dissimilar monomers, one ionic and the other nonionic (189). Ioxaglate is a ratio 3.0 contrast agent and has lower osmolality and lower toxicity than that of the ratio 1.5 symmetric ionic bis compounds.

Hexaiodinated nonionic bis compounds are ratio 6.0 contrast agents and owe their low osmolality, high hydrophilicity, and high biological tolerance to 8–12 hydroxyl groups in the molecule. Iotrolan containing 12 hydroxyl groups has an osmolality isotonic to blood. In concentrated solutions nonionic contrast media may undergo molecular association (i.e., hydrophobic interaction), to form relatively small aggregates (quasi-dimers or **quasi**-oligomers), thus giving a lower osmolality than that in dilute solutions (202,415).

6.3.7 Protein Binding and Excretion. The capacity of contrast agents to bind serum proteins is related to certain structural features (414, 416, 417). Contrast agents with a fully substituted benzene ring show little or no protein binding and those having an open position 5 in the ring bind readily to serum protein. Protein binding favors bilitropism (i.e., being hepatotrophic, excreted through the liver) rather than urotropism (i.e., being nephrotrophic, excreted through the kidney). The relative magnitude of biliary and urinary excretion of the contrast agent, also known as the B/U ratio, is determined by the structural features of the molecule, the dose, and the patient's condition. Fumagalli et al. (418, 419) observed that N-alkylation promotes bilitropism.

According to Hansch (420, 421), protein binding is nonspecific and occurs with many compounds with sufficient lipophilicity. The structural requirements for bilitropic agents are sufficient hydrophobicity and an open position 5 in the triiodophenyl ring. Knoefel and Huang (422) observed that protein binding correlates with increasing toxicity in a series of substituted iodinated benzoic acids. In hexaiodinated ionic bis compounds, an increase both in the length of substituents and in the length of the alkylene bridge enhances hydrophobicity and increases the protein binding and the B/U ratio (423). Higher B/U excretion ratios are observed in bis compounds with open position 5 in the phenyl ring than in those that are fully substituted. Introduction of one or more oxygen atoms into the alkylene bridge increases water solubility and reduces toxicity (189).

Nonionic contrast media, by virture of the large number of hydroxyl groups, 4 to 6 in monomers and 8 to 12 in bis compounds, are highly water soluble. These hydroxyl groups are evenly distributed throughout the contrast molecule and leave no lipophilic regions in the molecule free to bind with proteins. The hexaiodinated nonionic bis compound iodixanol, similar to others of this class, is not metabolized and is excreted in the urine unchanged by the kidney (270,258).

6.3.8 Osmolality and Viscosity. Ionic contrast media exert osmotic pressure in solution, and high concentrations of ions cause adverse reactions in the patient (181, 424). The osmotic pressure of a solute is measured in terms of osmolality, in relation to the pressure exerted by a gram-molecular weight of an ideal un-ionized substance dissolved in 1 kg of water (425), measured as mOsm or Osm/kg  $H_2O$ . Ionic and nonionic contrast media are referred to as high osmolality contrast media (HOCM) and low osmolality contrast media (LOCM), with values of 1600 and 600 mOsm/ kg, respectively; for reference, the osmolality of the body fluids is about  $300 \text{ mOsm/kg H}_2\text{O}$ . Ioxaglate, the monoacidic asymmetric dimer, belongs to the LOCM category. The hexaiodinated nonionic dimers, such as iodecol, iotasul, and iotrolan, may have an even lower osmolality than that of the nonionic monomers (203, 258, 415 mOsm/kg). Krause et al. (415) measured the osmolality of a number of commercial products of X-ray contrast media and ranked their osmolalities at 300 mg I/mL in increasing order as follows: iotrolan  $\ll$  ioxaglate < iopromide < iopamidol < ioversol = iohexol < iopentol  $\ll$  diatrizoate. The physicochemical parameters of the commercial products of iotrolan (iotrolan-280, iotrolan-300, iotrolan-320) are, respectively: iodine concentrations 278,296,321 (mgI/mL); iotrolan concentrations 0.595, 0.632, 0.687 (g/mL); osmolalities 272,291,317 (mOsm/kg); product densities at 20°C, 1.333, 1.353, 1.379 (g/mL); and product viscosities at 20°C, 13.4, 17.4, 25.3  $(mPa \cdot s)$ . At 37°C the density is decreased only slightly but the viscosity is reduced by more than 50%. At 37°C iotrolan-300 has a viscosity of 8.1 mPa·s (426). In comparison, the blood has a viscosity of 4 mPa s. To include ionicity with osmolality, Hardeman (427) suggested a more exact nomenclature of ILO (ionic lowosmolar), NILO (nonionic low-osomolar, and IHO (ionic high-osmolar) in referring to contrast media.

Osmolality and viscosity depend on the ionic character and structure of the contrast molecule (10, 11, 181, 428). Almén (181) con-

**cluded** from physicochemical principles that both osmolality and viscosity of a contrast medium can be reduced if nonionic and spherical polymeric molecules are involved. Polymers can have more iodine atoms per molecule than can monomers and a lower osmolality. A prominent example of more iodine atoms and low osmolality in a molecule is the monoacidic asymmetric dimer ioxaglate (203). Spherical molecules show less resistance to flow than do linear molecules and tend to have lower viscosity. Nonionic molecules make no contribution to electrolyte concentration and show no osmotic toxicity. The  $LD_{50}$  of ionic diatrizoate when injected into the subarachnoid space is about 50 mg **I/kg** in mice; in comparison, the LD₅₀ values for nonionic contrast agents, metrizamide and iohexol, are in excess of 1500 mg **I/kg** (182). The remarkable safety of the early nonionic contrast agents provides a stimulus for the search for improved contrast agents, especially as dimers, trimers, polymers, and nonionic compounds. Nonionic iodinated organic compounds, such as triglycosyldiiodobenzene, 2,4,6-triiodo-3-acetamido-5-Nmethylcarboxamido-phenyl-D-glycopyranoside (186) and others, have been synthesized for clinical tests as potential contrast agents.

Iodinated nonionic dimers iodixanol, iodecol, iofratol, and iotrol (or iotrolan) have respectively lower osmolalities (200, 320, 140, and  $320 \text{ mOsm/kg H}_2\text{O}$ ) and higher viscosities (8.7, 7.2, **8.5**, and 8.1 mPa·s at 37°C) than those of iodinated nonionic monomers. Felder and de Haën (429) found unexpectedly that solution mixtures of iodinated nonionic monomers and dimers, such as iomeprol and iofratol, have a lower toxicity and a lower viscosity than those of either of the components and can supply a favorable iodine delivery rate through less invasive catheters during the injection, but have an intermediate osmolality compared to that of the pure solutions of the monomer and dimer components.

## 6.4 Analysis

A contrast medium may be analyzed by conventional means for its iodine content and functionality or by capillary electrophoresis (CE) and high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for its components. Nonionic

contrast media, such as iosimide, iopentol, ioversol, iopamidol, and iohexol, can be analyzed in a borate buffer by capillary electrophoresis (430, 431). Borate ions combine with the 1,2diol and **1,3-diol** groups in the molecule, to form negatively charged complexes that can migrate in an electric field. Iohexol in serum can be measured and quantitated by CE against an internal standard after deproteinization with acetonitrile (431, 432) or by HPLC after deproteinization with tetrahydrofuran (433). A serum sample of iohexol may also be injected directly onto an HPLC column for analysis after dilution (434). HPLC is a versatile analytical technique and can qualitatively and quantitatively assay contrast agents as intact molecules, geometric isomers, and metabolites. For example, HPLC can separate isomeric iohexol into endo and exo forms (1:3) (267). An automated HPLC system, with online dialysis and column-switching to enrich dialysate, can analyze samples of iopentol in human serum or whole blood (433). An automated analytical HPLC, using a workstation originally designed for the analysis of **iopam**idol, can be adapted for the analysis of other contrast agents (435). The early HPLC methods relying on elaborate sample purification and higher column temperature for analysis and separation of ioversol, iomeprol, and iopamidol in plasma and urine samples are inconvenient for routine assay (436, 437). An improved method using reversed-phase HPLC and a new mobile-phase system can routinely analyze samples of diatrizoate, iopamidol, and iohexol in the serum and testes of the mouse to study the uptake and clearance kinetics (432). Alonoso-Silvaet al. (438) used reversed-phase HPLC to measure and predict the lipophilicities or partition coefficients of nonionic contrast agents. Liquid-liquid partition coefficients measured by HPLC correlate well with the values calculated by the Hansch method (439).

Contrast agents in plasma may also be determined by spectrophotometric procedures (440, 443) or by radiotracer techniques using ¹²⁵I- or ¹³¹I-labeled materials (442–446). Felder et al. (447) measured the concentration of water-soluble radiopaques by colorimetric determination of free aromatic amine function using the Bratten-Marshall reaction. Hart-

mann and Roepke (448) reported methods for determining the purity and stability of iodinecontaining contrast agents of the aminobenzoic acid series. In vitro analysis of iodine content of contrast media can be carried out by the Sandell-Kolthoff reaction (189) or by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry. The iodine concentration in tissue samples can be determined by the fluorescent excitation method by the  $K_{\alpha}$  and  $K_{\beta}$  characteristic X-rays generated from irradiation with a  241 Am source (449, 450). This method can also be applied to in *vivo* measurement of hepatic iodine concentration after administration of a radiopaque (451). The range of iodine determination is 0.05 to 40 mg/mL, with an accuracy of approximately  $\pm 10\%$ . Measurements based on function groups or iodine atoms represent the concentration of these groups directly and not necessarily the concentration of the intact contrast agent.

## 6.5 Pharmacology

Contrast media by necessity are relatively nontoxic. Adverse reactions accompanying their use vary and usually decrease in intensity and complexity in the order intracerebral > intravascular > oral route of administration > topical application (442–457).Contrast molecules that bind proteins, biomacromolecules, and enzymes are more toxic than those that do not. The toxicity decreases with increasing hydrophilicity for different classes of contrast media: oral cholecystographic media > intravenous cholangiographic media > ionic triiodinated uroangiographic media > monoionic hexaiodinated molecules > nonionic triiodinated contrast media > nonionic hexaiodinated contrast media. Median lethal dose  $(LD_{50})$  is an indication of systemic toxicity, even though it lacks predictive value (458). The intravenous  $LD_{50}$  values of the last four classes of contrast media are in the range of tens of grams per kilogram body weight when tested in rats or mice. The opacifying atom iodine has an intravenous  $LD_{50}$  in animals of 0.8–1.0 g/kg; the intravenous LD₅₀ values (expressed in g likg in mice) of uroangiographic contrast agents increase, for example, from 7 for ionic iothalamate to 13.8 for monoacidic dimer ioxaglate and then to even greater values for nonionic contrast agents, such as 18.1

for metrizamide, 22.1 for iopamidol, and 24.3 for iohexol (178). The subarachnoid  $LD_{50}$  values of ionic diatrizoate and nonionic metrizamide and iohexol differ by a factor of 30, whereas their osmolalities differ by a factor of only 2 (459). The oral cholecystographic agents have considerably higher toxicity but the side reactions are generally restricted to gastrointestinal symptoms.

Procedures in angiocardiography, intravenous digital subtraction angiography, and rapid-scan CT require rapid and multiple intravascular injections of low osmolality contrast media, causing significant hemodynamic changes (460,461). A bolus injection can be as short as 2 s (460, 461), and a volume of up to 4 mL I/kg body weight may be injected (462). According to Golman and Almén (463), the toxicity of contrast media is dependent on injection rate and dose, and increases with either an increase in the dose or an increase in the rate of injection, or both. The dose-response curve is typically an S-shaped curve with dose as abscissa and percentage mortality as ordinate, and this curve shifts in its entirety along the dose axis according to the rate of injection. The curve begins at a lower dose level with rapid injection, indicating greater toxicity, and shifts to a higher dose level with slow injection, indicating greater safety. Although delivery by slow injection is safer than by rapid injection, rapid injection of contrast medium gives a better image quality. de Haën et al. (458) suggested that the mortality ratio, which incorporates both volume factor and injection time factor in its definition, can serve as a better predictor than the median lethal dose  $(LD_{50})$  for acute intravenous toxicity of contrast agents. The mortality ratio is a function of three parameters: the osmotic load (referring to excess osmolality associated with isotonic volume), the volume of contrast medium, and the duration of injection. The endpoint is death, measured by the time between administration of the dose and death of the mouse, and is closely dependent on the rate of injection of the contrast medium. This suggests that the mechanism of contrast medium toxicity may involve early damage and late consequences (458).

The pharmacological aspects and toxic reactions of contrast agents have been **compre**- hensively reviewed by Hoppe (464), Almén (457), Ansell (465), Berk and Loeb (466), and Speck et al. (258).

6.5.1 **The Cations.** Iodinated ionic contrast agents (ratio 1.5) used in angiography, urography, and intravenous cholangiography are substituted 2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acids. These agents are formulated for intravenous administration as solutions of salts, ionized at physiological pH. Their sodium salts have high water solubility, and solutions of 50-90% concentration, corresponding to an iodine content of about 300 to more than 400 mg I/mL, can be prepared for angiographic use (10, 11). Ionic contrast media with sodium concentrations of 118–370 mEq/100 mL rarely produce ventricular fibrillation in **perfused** rabbit heart (467) but sodium ions in excess amount are cardiotoxic (468). The sodium ion concentration of ionic contrast media is many times higher than that of plasma. Their toxicity in high concentrations is attributable not only to high osmolality but also to the effects of their cation and anion components (9, 10, 34, 36-43). The cations in regular use in contrast media are N-methylglucamine, sodium, calcium, and magnesium.

N-Methylglucamine (meglumine) ion has the following structure:

$$\begin{bmatrix} H & OHH & OH OH \\ I & I & I & I \\ CH_3 - N - H_2 C - C - C - C - C - C - C - CH_2 OH \\ I & I & I & I \\ H & H & OHH & H \end{bmatrix}^+$$

Meglumine salts of contrast media such as diatrizoic, iothalamic, and metrizoic acid have higher viscosities than those of the corresponding sodium salts but are better tolerated and less toxic. The high viscosity of the meglumine salts can be reduced by mixing with the sodium salt of the corresponding acid (469). Mixed salts of diatrizoate are marketed under various proprietary names (223). During coronary angiography, sodium ions in contrast media reduce the risk of ventricular fibrillation and reverse the reduction of contractile force of the myocardium. A recent study showed that meglumine diatriazoate without  $Na^+$  caused a higher frequency of ventricular

fibrillation in isolated rabbit heart than did diatrizoate with 77 or 154 mmol of Na+added (470). Also, the meglumine salts of ionic contrast media inhibit in *uitro* leukocyte phagocytosis more than do the sodium salts (471).

Other organic bases, such as diethylamine, monoethanolamine, diethanolamine, triethanolamine, and morpholine have low toxicity and can be used in place of cations (9, 225). The monoethanolamine salt of ioxitalamic acid shows a toxicity intermediate between those of sodium and meglumine salts (9). Diethanolamine and morpholine form 1:1 salts with 3,5-diiodo-4-oxo-1(4H)pyridine acetic acid, named iodopyracet (Diodrast) and Joduron (225), respectively. Other cations such as basic amino acids also form salts with the acid form of contrast agents to reduce toxicity (472). For example, ionic diatrizoate, iothalamate, and metrizoate form salts with Tris, which is 2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-propanediol, to yield solutions of lower viscosity than that of the corresponding meglumine salts. Tris is an aliphatic amine with a negative temperature-acidity coefficient; that is, its  $pK_a$  value decreases about 0.025 unit with each degree Centigrade increase in temperature. This property allows the nonionic contrast agent iohexol to be formulated in Tris buffer at physiologic pH (7.0-7.5) at room temperature and to be heat sterilized at 120°C, when the pH falls below 5.5 to avoid deterioration. The product after sterilization will return to its original physiologic pH at room temperature for use in angiography without causing discomfort in the patient; this would not have been the case had the solution remained at pH below 5.5 (178,473). Another approach without using an amine buffer is to adjust the pH of iohexol in a citrate-EDTA **buffer** to less than 5 with carbon dioxide before sterilization (474).

In normal blood, sodium, potassium, calcium, and magnesium ions are present in concentrations of 330, 20, 5–6, and 2–2.5 mg/100 mL plasma, respectively (475). The physiological functions of the cations are both antagonistic and complementary to one another. Sodium ions tend to increase the permeability of cell membrane, whereas calcium ions counteract this effect. Calcium and magnesium ions are physiological antagonists; magnesium ions can exert a deleterious effect on the nervous system if unaccompanied by the reversible antagonistic effects of calcium ions. The physiological interaction between these ions suggests that the toxicity of sodium ions in contrast medium can be modified by the addition of small concentrations of calcium and magnesium, although incorporation of potassium ions affords no beneficial effect. To minimize the toxicity, an optimum concentration of calcium and magnesium ions in the contrast medium is essential and should be 2.5 times their concentration ratio in plasma (i.e., the ratio of concentration of calcium or magnesium ions to that of sodium ions). Incorporation of optimal amounts of calcium and magnesium ions in solutions of sodium metrizoate can increase the LD, values by 80–100% in the rabbit. Calcium ions alone lower the toxicity of methylglucamine metrizoate in LD, tests in mice but not in the rabbit, whereas magnesium ions alone cause an increase in toxicity (475). A small amount of calcium ions in methylglucamine metrizoate causes less blood-brain barrier damage than when pure methylglucamine metrizoate of identical iodine content is given alone (476). Also, addition of calcium salt inhibits metrizoate- and ioxaglate-induced serum complement activation (477). Formulations of diatrizoate that minimize calcium binding are advocated for cardiac angiography (478).

Nonionic contrast media are intrinsically ion-free but iohexol, iopentol, and iodixanol, for example, contain cations at subplasma concentration levels to avoid negative effects on myocardium contractility, electric conduction, and red blood cell aggregation during coronary arteriography. An oxygenated iohexol solution (350 mg I/mL) containing (in mM/L) Na⁺ 30, Ca²+ 0.15, K⁺ 0.9, and Mg²⁺ 0.1, when injected into the left coronary artery of a produces fewer electrocardiographic pig, and/or hemodynamic changes than pure iohexol or iopamidol(479–481). Compared to no sodium or excess sodium, the addition of a small amount of sodium to iohexol and iopentol lowers the risk of ventricular fibrillation and causes the least decrease in the contractile force of the isolated rabbit heart. A physiological amount of sodium ions is important in test solutions of 20% mannitol, ioxaglate, iopamidol, iotrolan, and sodium iopamidol to prevent fatal arrhythmia (482). In cardiac angiography, optimal concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  additives are necessary to maintain myocardium contractile function and reduce adverse reactions to contrast media (483,484). Thus, a balanced electrolyte formulation for even low osmolality contrast media is essential to minimize ion toxicity (459,470,484).

6.5.2 Hyperosmolality. Ionic contrast media for angiographic use are hyperosmotic relative to plasma. The osmolalities of the substituted triiodobenzoate anions diatrizoate, iothalamate, and metrizoate are approximately the same on the basis of equal iodine content (485). Injection of hyperosmolar contrast media causes hemodynamic responses that vary according to the rate and site of injection (469). Slow injection into a peripheral vein allows visualization of the collecting systems of an organ, and rapid injection of a more concentrated solution allows visualization of the vasculature of an organ or a region of the body (469). Slow injection into the peripheral veins as in urography and intravenous cholangiography produces hypotension because of a lowering of peripheral vascular resistance (486). Acute intravenous toxicity of contrast medium is increased with the rate of injection (184, 487–489). A large volume of hypertonic contrast medium, when rapidly injected into veins, arteries, and ventricles in selective & giography causes an elevation of the plasma osmolality and a shift of water out of red blood cells and out from extravascular spaces to the blood, thereby increasing the circulating blood volume and peripheral blood flow and affecting various aspects of circulation (10,428,466, 468, 469, 490–496). The more concentrated the injectate, the more intense the vascular reactions, and the more precipitous the onset (469,491).

Systemic hypotension, changes in the activity of the smooth muscle cells in vessel walls, aggregation and crenation of red blood cells, and hypervolemia are examples of vascular reactions induced by the administration of ionic contrast media. Agglutination and **cre**nation of red blood cells cause blood sludging and reduce the cells' ability to undergo deformation, thus blocking the blood flow to capillaries and leading to pulmonary hypertension and related physiological responses (495–498). The hypervolemia resulting from a shift of water elevates the ventricular filling pressure and increases the cardiac output from increased ventricular stroke work. The potassium ions released from shrinking and crenating red blood cells contribute to the lowering of systemic vascular resistance and blood pressure (499).

That osmolality is a major determinant of hemodynamic effects is clear from the experiments conducted by Kloster et al. (500), who injected equiosmolar solutions of mannitol, sodium, and meglumine salts of diatrizoate and iothalamate, with an osmolality corresponding to 4.5 to almost 8 times the osmolality of blood serum, directly into the left ventricle of a dog and observed approximately similar hemodynamic responses. D-Mannitol is often used in osmotic effect studies on cells, organs, and organisms as a reference (458) because it is inert, distributed in extracellular space, and acts as individual molecules, not as dilution-dependent aggregates. Hilal (493) reported that the bradycardia, hypertension, and accompanying vascular reactions attributed to intracarotid injection of contrast media could be reproduced by injection of hypertonic solutions of sodium chloride of similar osmolarities. By comparing the hemodynamic effects from intracarotid injection of 50% sodium diatrizoate, 80% sodium iothalamate, and equiosmolar solutions of sodium chloride and dextrose, Cornell (501) concluded that the sodium ions may play a greater role than hypertonicity in causing these effects.

Toxic effects of sodium ions and hyperosmolality associated with monomeric ionic contrast agents are lessened when dimeric and trimeric contrast agents containing, respectively, six and nine iodine atoms per molecule are used. Both bis(iothalamic acid) (i.e., iocarmic acid) and tris(iothalamic acid) produce fewer peripheral vasodilatation and reflex responses than does the monomer iothalamic acid (9).

Ionic contrast monomers at a solution concentration of 300 mg I/mL have an osmolality in the range of 1.5–1.7 Osm/kg H₂O. At the same solution concentration, nonionic monomers, monoacidic ionic dimer (ioxaglate), and nonionic dimers have osmolalities of 0.6–0.7, 0.56, and about 0.3 Osm/kg, respectively. If made isotonic to body fluids, the isotonic ionic monomer solutions have an iodine content of 70 mg I/mL; the nonionic monomer solutions, 150; the monoacidic ionic dimer ioxaglate solution, 150; and the nonionic dimer solutions, 300. The osmolalities of nonionic dimers or bis compounds are isotonic to body fluids and are the lowest of all contrast media. Hyperosmolality causes vascular pain. Sovak et al. (502) estimated the concentration threshold for vascular pain to be about 750 to 800 mOsm. Thus if the osmolality of a contrast medium at a concentration of 350 mg I/mL does not exceed the pain threshold, the solution would not be expected to induce pain in arterial arteriography. Metrizamide at 550 mOsm/kg is essentially painless in peripheral angiography (503, 504), and all the nonionic contrast media are expected to behave similarly. Metrizamide has an extremely low cellular toxicity and can be injected at an iodine concentration of 380 mg I/mL into the common carotid artery of guinea pig without damage to the blood-brain barrier.

6.5.3 Adverse Reactions and Toxicity. The toxicity of a contrast medium is attributed to its molecular structure, solution property, formulation, and the amount used as a dose. Toxicity may be further classified as chemotoxicity, osmotoxicity, and ion toxicity (407, 459). Chemotoxicity is related to a molecular structure that allows binding to proteins, leading to interaction with biomacromolecules such as enzymes, cell membranes, and cell components. Osmotoxicity is attributed to the hyperosmolality of contrast media, and a marked difference exists between the osmolalities of ionic and nonionic contrast media. Ion toxicity refers to adverse reactions as a consequence of too high or too low ion concentrations in contrast media that interfere with cellular function. Contrast media formulations containing citrate and EDTA buffers can interfere with serum Ca²⁺ and affect myocardial contractility function. Contrast media are transported by the cardiovascular system and are excreted by the kidneys. Any reactions to contrast media are known as adverse reactions.

Contrast media are injected **intravascu**larly into the patients in large volumes and high concentrations. The size of the injectate, together with its high osmolality and viscosity, fects. Patient safety and efficacy of iodinated contrast media are of great concern to health professionals (505, 506). Many aspects of adverse reactions to contrast media, such as etiology (**459**, **507**, **508**), adverse reactions in the patients (505, 506, 509–5181, and premedication to decrease adverse effects (519–522) have been researched and reviewed.

In humans adverse reactions to contrast media vary greatly in type and severity from slight nausea or mild "hot flush" through a broad spectrum of increasingly severe cutaneous, respiratory, neurological, and cardiovascular disturbances that may, in extreme cases, result in the sudden death of the patient (454– 457,459,465,469, 507). Ansari and Baldwin (523) reported acute renal failure after urography with meglumine diatrizoate, angiography with meglumine and sodium diatrizoate, oral cholecystography with iopanoic acid, and cholangiography with iodipamide. Roylance et al. (524, 525) reported the incidence of reactions to urographic agents.

To review the incidence and severity of adverse reactions to contrast media, a committee on contrast media was formed under the auspices of the International Society of Radiology in 1969 (526). Based on the analysis of a total of 112,003 cases of adverse reactions toward contrast media from Australia, Belgium, Canada, Norway, and the United States, Shehadi (452) reported the nonfatal incidence of reactions to be 2.3% for vascular studies, 5.65% for intravenous urography, and 10.11% for intravenous cholangiography. The incidence of reactions for total intravenous and intraarterial examinations was 4.95%, and the incidence of fatal reactions was about 1110,000, which is higher than the 1160,000 reported earlier on the basis of retrospective studies. The contrast agents used in the cases studied were meglumine diatrizoate, meglumine iothalamate, sodium diatrizoate, and sodium metrizoate. These studies did not include nonionic contrast media and predated their use.

In intravenous cholangiography the frequency of toxic symptoms was 12.6% for single-dose medication and 8.16% for drip infusion (452). In intravenous urography the incidence of reactions was 5.38% for single bolus injection and 7.06% for drip infusion that required a higher dose of contrast medium (452). The incidence was higher with slow injection over a period of 3 to 10 min than with rapid injection performed in less than 2 min. This suggests a reversal of the hitherto widespread practice of administration of contrast media. Although the cause of this low incidence of reactions with rapid injection is not explained, it is not unreasonable to assume that less histamine is released (489).

In hypersensitive or allergic patients, idiosyncratic reactions may occur from a dose of contrast medium, and the overall incidence of adverse reactions in patients with allergy is about twice that in the general population (452–455,527).Pretesting the patient by intradermal, subcutaneous, or intravenous injection of small doses has no value in predicting adverse reactions (452–455, 525, 528) but testing by *in vitro* leukocytechallenge has been reported to be of some predictive value (529). Premedication with antihistamines, anticholinergics, and diazepam (468) is less effective than that with corticosteroids (454,525).

Shehadi and **Toniolo** (453)in 1980 reported the result of a survey on the safety of intravascular ionic contrast media in more than 300,000 cases collected from the United States, Canada, Europe, and Australia and showed that the overall incidence of reactions` was slightly below 5%, with neither significant geographic or racial differences nor differences related to age, sex, and weight. Most of the patients were in their third and fourth decade of life.

Beginning in 1980s the use of low osmolality nonionic contrast media has significantly reduced the severity and frequency of adverse reactions to contrast media. The high cost of nonionic contrast media becomes an economic barrier to a complete replacement of the ionic contrast media. The price ratio of nonionic to ionic contrast media in 1989 was about 3.5-6.5 times to 1 in Europe and about 13.2-23.6 times to 1 in the United States (531). Prescribing an ionic contrast medium to a patient in the face of a better choice, on the basis of cost consideration, can have serious ethical and medical implications (532). Palmer published an interim guideline that identified high risk groups who should receive nonionic contrast

media, that is, patients with previous reactions to contrast media, patients with asthma, allergy (not to drugs), renal and cardiac impairment, diabetes mellitus, myelomatosis, and sickle-cell anemia; poorly hydrated patients; and infants and small children.

The Royal Australasian College of Radiologists (RACR) survey included 109,546 cases of mild. moderate, and severe reactions to intravenous ionic and nonionic contrast media (533, 534). The report defined mild reactions as all skin reactions requiring no therapy and excluding sensation of heat; moderate reactions as those requiring therapy but not considered at risk and no hospitalization, and severe reactions as those requiring urgent therapy and considered at risk and requiring hospitalization. The incidence of mild, moderate, and severe reactions in the high risk group were 7.20, 2.70, and 0.36%, respectively, for ionic contrast media, and 1.10, 0.10, and 0.03%, respectively, for nonionic contrast media. Incidences of moderate and severe reactions in the high risk groups receiving ionic and nonionic contrast media were 1 in 32 injections and 1 in 718 injections, respectively. This clearly demonstrates a significant advantage for the nonionic contrast media.

The Japanese Committee on the Safety of Contrast Media conducted similar studies from 1986 to 1988 (535–537). The large scale, nationwide clinical study included 337,647 cases. One-half of the group (50.1%) received ionic contrast media and the other half (49.9%) nonionic contrast media. The overall prevalence of adverse reactions was 12.66% in the ionic contrast media group, and 3.3% in the nonionic contrast media group. The prevalence of severe adverse reactions was 3.13 and 0.22% in the ionic and nonionic contrast media groups, respectively. The report detailed the prevalence of adverse reactions regarding time of onset, patient sex and age, patient history on prior reactions to contrast agents, allergy, underlying disease, premedication, injection mode, and dose. The prevalence of adverse reactions was the lowest in the subgroup of patients receiving contrast media by bolus and intravenous injection as compared to by drip infusion and by bolus plus drip infusion. The patient subgroup receiving a dose ranging from 81 to 100 mL of contrast media, ionic or nonionic, showed the lowest prevalence of adverse reactions (537). The study clearly demonstrates that nonionic contrast media can significantly reduce the prevalence of adverse reactions to contrast media. Reducing the mild adverse reactions such as nausea, vomiting, urticaria, itching, and heat sensation can make contrast media examinations more acceptable to the patient. Bettmann (537) noted that the report showed no difference between the ionic and nonionic contrast agents with regard to mortality. Fareed et al. (538) pointed out that both the Japanese and the Australian survey reports on the safety of contrast media did not include any information on thrombotic complications.

The use of **premedication** with steroids and  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  histamine receptor blockers can significantly reduce the adverse reactions to high osmolality contrast media. There are suggestions to extend their use to modify even the reactions to low osmolality contrast media. Pretesting of contrast media reactors by injecting 1 mL of the nonionic contrast medium has also been reported (539).

Greater use of nonionic contrast media for routine X-ray procedures is clearly the trend of the future. It was estimated that in 1991, approximately 69% of the procedures performed in the United States used nonionic contrast media compared to about 66% in Europe and more than 80% in Japan. In 1994 the percentage increased to about 80% in the United States, 75% in Europe, and 92% in Japan (540). In the United States, in 1994 as many as 18 million patients received **intravas**cular contrast media, and an estimated 170 million contrast medium-enhanced radiologic studies were performed from 1978 to 1994 (541).

Spring et al. (541) analyzed the reports of adverse drug events (ADE) of iodinated contrast media, filed with the Spontaneous Reporting System and MedWatch Program of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) from 1978 through 1994. In this 17-year period, there were 22,785 reports (86.5%) of mild or moderate ADEs, 2639 reports (10.0%) of serious nonfatal ADEs, and 920 reports (3.5%) of deaths describing 850 fatal ADEs. Reporting to the FDA Spontaneous Reporting System and MedWatch Program is voluntary. Ad-

verse drug event (ADE) is the term used to avoid contributing causation and to encourage reporting of adverse consequences from professional practice. When these events are specifically attributed to the drug, they are called adverse drug reactions (ADR). To identify any changes in the frequency of reporting between ionic and nonionic contrast media, the authors arbitrarily divided the 17-year period into an earlier period (1978-1986) before FDA approval and wide use of nonionic low osmolality contrast media (LOCM) and a later period (1987–1994), when the use of nonionic LOCM rose steadily over time after approval. In 1994 the use of nonionic LOCM exceeded ionic HOCM by 2:1. For ionic and nonionic contrast media the most common ADEs (urticaria, dyspnea, vomiting, facial edema, and hypotension) ranked similarly, and the intravenous and intraarterial routes (97.4%) were the predominant routes of administration. The serious nonfatal ADEs were most often related to serious cardiorespiratory symptoms. Myelographic ADRs (e.g., seizures, headaches) from intrathecal administration of contrast media differ from the most common ADRs mentioned above and were treated separately. The authors noted the prevalence of severe nonfatal ADEs to be 0.044% for nonionic LOCM and 0.26% for ionic HOCM, comparable with the published values (537, 538) and also noted that the number of ADEs reported did not significantly decrease since the introduction of nonionic LOCM.

Mortality as a direct consequence of use of iodinated contrast media is a rare occurrence. Hatayama et al. (535) observed two deaths among 337,647 cases in which iodinated contrast media were injected intravenously. Spring et al. (542) showed that 37% more deaths were reported each year in 1987-1994 than in 1978–1986. Most of the increase was associated with the use of nonionic contrast media. In 1978-1987, 376 deaths were reported and in 1987-1994,474. In 1987-1994, 220 deaths were associated with use of ionic HOCM alone, 32 with ionic LOCM alone, and 214 with nonionic LOCM alone. The calculated occurrence of 1 death per 200,000 or more examinations was comparable with published data. The authors remarked that the availability of LOCM in the United States did not lead to a marked decrease in the contrast media-related deaths.

Lasser et al. (543) compared the patient reactions to ionic and nonionic contrast media based on data on reactions to X-ray contrast materials collected under the supervision of the FDA Division of Epidemiology and Surveillance and manufacturer data from 1990 through 1994. In 1992-1994 there were more than 16 million examinations performed in toto each year in angiography, CT, and urography. The ionic HOCM, nonionic LOCM (iohexol, iopamidol, and ioversol), and ionic LOCM (ioxaglate) had the following incidences per million intravascular examinations for total reactions 193.77:44.44:142.52; for severe reactions, 37.44:10.52:33.61; and for deaths, 3.90:2.07:6.39, respectively. The incidence of severe reations to total reactions was higher with nonionic LOCM (23.7%) and ioxaglate (23.6%) than with ionic HOCM (19.3%). The incidence of death to severe reactions was 19.7% with nonionic media, 19.0% with ioxaglate, and 10.4% with ionic media. In patients with pathologic cardiac conditions, the incidence of renal failure was 3.6 times higher with LOCM than with HOCM.

Bettmann et al. (544) created a prospective registry for surveillance of incidence of adverse events related to ionic and nonionic contest media in angiography, to identify patients likely to benefit from use of low osmolality contrast agents (LOCAs) and to ascertain risk factors for increased incidence of an adverse event. The registry consisted of data of 75,616 studies from 60,891 patients in angiography at 26 high volume institutions, 56% with nonionic LOCAs, 8% with the ionic LOCA, and 36% with HOCAs in a 2-year study (July 1, 1990 to June 30, 1992). Most major risk factors correlated with an increased incidence of adverse events, but varied with the type of procedure, with a higher incidence associated with cardiac and interventional procedures. The incidence of adverse events was significantly increased with use of HOCAs, but severe adverse events were not much different between ionic and nonionic contrast agents except for cardiac procedures. Patients with a previous reaction or more than one other major risk factors are most likely to benefit from use of **LOCAs**.

Several hypotheses were postulated on the pathogenesis of contrast mediareactions. Lalli (545), after reviewing a large number of severe reactions to contrast media and mortality in cholangiography, angiography, and urography, proposed that all reactions are based on the effect of contrast media on the central nervous system. Contrast media are 400-1400 times more toxic intracisternally than intravenously (213,546). Penetration of the bloodbrain barrier and direct stimulation of the brain by contrast media can produce abrupt responses leading to immediate and severe contrast media actions. Lasser (508, 547) noted that the nonionic contrast media have substantially reduced the local toxicity in animal and human studies, although the impact on systemic toxicity is less clear. The author postulated an allergy diathesis to prime a patient for a contrast media reaction and believed that bradykinin may contribute significantly to the reactions. Contrast media disrupt endothelium surfaces, causing degranulation of mast cells, releasing histamine and substances capable of contact activation (548). These substances are listed as an endogenous heparin-like material (EHM), a cryptic soluble surface (CSS), or a negative surface (549) and a complex of the plasma inhibitor a,-macroglobulin with kallikrein (508), that can cause complement activation to release the Hageman factor XII, inducing sequentially the cleavage of prekallikrein to produce kallikrein and the cleavage of kininogen to produce bradykinin. Bradykinin is a more persistent and **potent** mediator than histamine in anaphylaxis and may mobilize arachidonic acid to produce leukotrienes and vasoactive prostaglandins. Contrast media inhibit angiotensinconverting enzyme, responsible mainly for in vivo bradykinin hydrolysis. Premedication with corticosteroids may reduce the concentration of complement activators. Lasser et al. (512, 549) examined and evaluated contact system dynamics in patients' plasma and compared the plasmas of asthmatic patients with that of the controls. Moreau et al. (550) discussed Lalli and Lasser's theories and showed the biological chain reactions induced by contrast media and those blocked by premedication with drugs.

Brasch (541, 552) reviewed the severe, immediate reactions to contrast media and suggested that reactions, often designated as anaphylactoid, may have an antibody basis. A prospective study by Laroche et al. (543) on the mechanisms of severe, immediate reactions to iodinated contrast material gave support to this theory. Laroche et al. measured the levels of plasma histamine, tryptase, and urinary methylhistidine by radioimmunoassay or immunoradiometric assay in blood and urine samples from controls and from patients who experienced allergic-type reactions after the administration of contrast material. The serum level of specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) against ioxitalmate or ioxaglate was determined by the radioactive anti-IgE antibody techniques of Guéant et al. (544). The human anaphylatoxins C3a and C4a were measured in plasma using radioimmunoassays, and serum C3 and C4 levels measured by nephelometry. The patients with severe reactions all showed higher measured values than those of the controls, and the values increased with severity of reactions. Histamine concentration decreased rapidly with time and reached normal within 1 h after the reaction, but the tryptase level decreased more slowly than histamine. The half-life of histamine in healthy volunteers is less than 2 min. Tryptase and histamine levels are useful for the diagnosis of anaphylactoid reactions during anesthesia. The study showed that the frequency of immediate reaction is higher with ionic contrast material of high or low osmolality than with nonionic contrast material, and that patients with risk factor of a previous reaction to ionic contrast material react less frequently to nonionic contrast material. The study pointed out the involvement of IgE-mediated reactions.

**6.5.4 Toxic Effects on Red Blood Cells.** Contrast media produce morphological changes of red blood cells by altering their size and shape and also increase their tendencies for aggregation (555, 556). The change in morphology of red blood cells is caused by **chemo**toxicity and hyperosmolality of the contrast medium (557, 558). The chemotoxic effect affects the red blood cell membrane and transforms the normally biconcave disc-configured red blood cell into a crenated cell known as an

echinocyte. Ionic and nonionic contrast media, such as iohexol, iopentol, metrizamide, and metrizoate in solution isotonic to blood produce echinocytes, but high concentrations of iopamidol, iohexol, and iopentol also produce stomatocytes. Nonionic dimer iodixanol transforms the normal red blood cells entirely to stomatocytes. These two types of cells differ from each other in relation to the sites of contrast medium binding on the bilayer cell membrane. The exact mechanism is unclear, but shift from echinocytes to stomatocytes may occur by transbilayer diffusion, a well-known phenomenon in drug-erythrocyte interaction (557, 559). In addition to the chemotoxic effect, the hyperosmolality of the contrast medium also affects the morphology of the red blood cells by pulling water, as it were, out of the normal cells to produce a shrunken red blood cell, known as a desicocyte. Among the nonionic contrast media that cause echinocyte formation, metrizamide shows the most chemotoxic effect. Iohexol, iopamidol, and iopentol are comparable to one another and show the least chemotoxic effect on cell membrane (557,558). Bucherer et al. (560) used a micromanipulation technique to visualize the deformation of individual erythrocytes and found that the low osmolar monoacidic contrast agent ioxaglate makes the erythrocyte membrane less rigid and the nonionic iopamidol makes the membrane more rigid compared to the control. Hardeman et al. (427) compared the in vitro effects of ioxaglate, iohexol, and iopamidol in different iodine concentrations on whole blood, collected from healthy adults and uremic patients, with respect to RBC morphology and aggregation and found that RBCs in the presence of 50% iohexol and iopamidol were considerably rigidified, whereas the addition of 50% ioxaglate resulted in only moderate RBC rigidification. Iohexol gave a mixture of normal biconcave erythrocytes and echinocytes, iopamidol mostly echinocytes, and ioxaglate mostly normal RBCs with a high degree of rouleaux formation in all different samples tested. Parvez and Patel (561) observed by transmission electron microscopy that ioxilan affected the erythrocyte membrane less than iohexol and iopamidol; the latter two produced acanthocytes, whereas ioxilan had no effect on erythrocyte morphology.

Human erythrocytes at rest have a diameter of approximately 7.5  $\mu$ m with a higher degree of deformability (558, 562). The normal disc-shaped erythrocytes are aggregated in rouleaux formation and retain a smooth surface, allowing the cells to bend and deform to pass through capillaries with diameters ranging from 3 to 5  $\mu$ m (563). A high percentage of crenated and deformed cells inhibits rouleaux formation and causes disaggregation. Normal red blood cells have an average water content of  $66.46 \pm 1.12\%$  by weight and may lose up to 11% of internal water on coming into contact with a hyperosmolar solution of contrast medium (564). The loss of internal water increases the red blood cell viscosity, which results in reduced deformability and rigidification of red blood cells, causing increased resistance to flow and disturbance of the rheology of blood flow in microcirculation (565, 566). The rigidified erythrocytes can block the pulmonary capillaries and cause an increase in pulmonary arterial pressure. The high viscosity of the contrast medium may prolong its passage through the vessels compared to that of less viscous solutions. Increased contact of contrast medium with the vessel wall can cause endothelial cell contraction, leading to endothelial damage and patches of denudation, which can be the location of thrombus formation (567).

Nonionic contrast media, although more biotolerant than ionic contrast media, pose a serious risk of thromboembolism during clinical cardiac procedures. A critical review shows that both ionic and nonionic contrast media prolong whole blood and plasma clotting times in a dose-dependent manner and inhibit *in vitro* aggregation of platelets, with the nonionic contrast media exerting less interference in coagulation and platelet aggregation than the ionic contrast media (568). Kurisu and Tada (569) show that in a canine model, the ionic low osmolar ioxaglate has a greater anticoagulant effect than that of the nonionic contrast agent iopamidol, which is about the same as the saline control in its inhibition of clot formation. Levi et al. (570), by use of ¹²⁵I-labeled fibrinogen as a marker to study the effect of contrast media on thrombus (aggregated platelets) growth in a rabbit jugular vein thrombosis model, showed that

the ionic ioxitalamate and ioxaglate exhibit marked inhibition of thrombus growth, whereas the nonionic contrast agents as a group show prothrombotic effect with iopamidol promoting more thrombus growth than iopromide and iohexol. The thrombogenic effect of iopamidol can be inhibited by simultaneous administration of 80 IU/kg heparin. According to Hwang et al. (571), the optimal heparin concentration to achieve a complete anticoagulant effect is 5 IU/mL.

Thrombus formation is a part of the coagulation cascade, complicated and involving many factors, and occurs when a nonionic contrast medium is mixed with whole blood (572, 573). According to Ing (574), ionic and nonionic contrast media exert their actions at different stages of the clotting process. Ionic contrast media inhibit thrombin activity and fibrin polymerization, whereas nonionic contrast media inhibit only fibrin polymerization. Ioxaglate inhibits both the coagulation sequences before thrombin generation and the final stages of fibrin monomer formation and polymerization, whereas the nonionic iopamidol and iohexol inhibit coagulation primarily after the generation of thrombin. This difference in inhibition may lead to serious complications for nonionic contrast media because some unclotted mixtures of blood and nonionic contrast agents, which may contain thrombin, may cause clotting on reinjection. Grabowski et al. (575) showed that both nonionic and ionic contrast media retard clotting in plastic and glass angiography syringes in comparison to saline control, and ionic contrast agents are stronger anticoagulants. Container and syringe surfaces influence the formation of thrombus in mixtures of nonionic contrast media and blood, and plastic syringes were found to retard clotting better than glass ones (573, 575). By use of scanning electron microscopy Corot et al. (576) investigated the surfaces of polyethylene (PE) and polyurethane (PU) and inside surfaces of catheters after contact with mixtures of blood and contrast media, such as diatrizoate, ioxitalamate, ioxaglate, iopamidol, and iohexol. The PE surface was relatively heterogeneous and the PU surface was smooth and homogeneous. Iopamidol and iohexol, when mixed with the blood, formed thick fibrin fibers on the PE surface

and not on the smooth PU surface. In comparison, the ionic contrast agents showed no significant fibrin formation on either of these surfaces. The blood-catheter interface at the internal surface of catheters after injection of ioxaglate or iohexol or iopamidol, collected from different European clotting centers, showed signs of blood activation, platelet activation, fibrin formation, or occurrence of red thrombi. These findings show that the clotting process is procedure dependent and varies between these centers and that ioxaglate is significantly better than the low osmolality nonionic contrast media in retarding clotting.

Krause and Press (577) studied the effect of nine contrast media and four gadolinium chelates on blood coagulation and measured their thromboplastin time (TPT). All contrast media influence TPT, but the driving force is ionic charge. The authors found that these agents induced a stastistically significant increase in TPT, listed in the following ascending order of the increase: plasma = saline < gadobutrol < iodixanol = iotrolan = iohexol (different from iodixanol) = iopental (different from iodixanol and iotrolan) < iopromide < iomeprol  $\ll$  Gd-DTPA  $\ll$  ioxaglate  $\ll$  diatrizoate. Ionic contrast agents interact with the coagulation cascade to a greater degree than nonionic contrast agents and are able to influence TPT and to combine with calcium ions. The TPT in human plasma was found to be longer than that in other species, and the interspecies ranking for TPT was dog <rabbit < rat < human. The addition of heparin to contrast media significantly prolonged TPT.

In a human endothelial cell culture, ioxaglate appears to be more potentially toxic to endothelium than diatrizoate, iohexol, iopromide, ioversol, iotrolan, and gadolinium-DTPA (578). Nitric oxide, known earlier as "endothelial-derived relaxing factor," may also play a role in mediating the chemotoxicity of contrast media, given that infusion of iothalamate accompanied by L-arginine analogs could protect the rats and raise the completely lethal dose (LD₁₀₀) significantly (579).

Wiesel et al. (580) observed that slight but significant platelet activation and thrombin generation in patients during coronarography occurs with both ionic and nonionic contrast

media, and that both types are potentially thrombogenic and behave as activators of platelet and blood coagulation. These authors observed only signs of biological activation of hemostasis without clinical symptoms. In patients with atherosclerotic lesions, contrast media may interfere with homeostasis by facilitating platelet adhesion. The risk factors for nonionic contrast media-induced thrombosis are listed (538). Koza et al. (581) evaluated platelet activation by ionic and nonionic contrast media in native heparinized or hirudinized human blood by use of flow cytometric analysis techniques, measurement of platelet factor 4 and thromboxane B₂, and antibodies to identify platelets (CD-61) and activated platelets (CD-62), to establish that dose- and time-dependent platelet activation was observed in nonionic, but not in ionic contrast media. The study suggests that contrast media use is associated with significant levels of platelet activation and that the anticoagulant heparin or combinant hirudin (where heparin is contraindicated) is preferable for use with nonionic contrast media to reduce contrast media-induced platelet activation.

6.5.5 Cardiovascular Effects. To visualize blood vessels and other structures of small thickness, a sufficient radiopaque dose must be used. Contrast media for angiography are usually administered intravascularly in high concentrations and large volumes (582). During coronary arteriography, the blood is replaced for a short period of time with a contrast medium solution (583). The effects that a contrast medium exerts on the central cardiovascular function will be determined by the iodine concentration, osmolality, viscosity, and the rate of injection. In angiocardiography the contrast medium can cause (1)electrophysiologic effect, such as heart rate alterations, atrioventricular conduction delay, and ventricular arrhythmias; (2)hemodynamic effect, such as hypotension, inhibition of left ventricular coronary contractile site, and alterations in coronary blood flow; and (3) metabolic effects, such as hypocalcemia and alterations in myocardial metabolism (469, 584).

Contrast media can cause fluid shifts upon mixing with blood, "pulling" out water from the red blood cells, and blood vessel **endothe**- lial cells within a few milliseconds of exposure. The mixture of blood and contrast medium, when entering and passing through the lungs, can cause changes in pulmonary pressure (582,585). In addition, contrast media can exert a direct effect on the myocardium, depressing myocardial contractility (584). Thus, systemic hypotension, changes in the activity of the smooth muscle cells in vessel walls, aggregation and crenation of red blood cells, and hypervolemia are examples of vascular reactions induced by the administration of contrast media. Agglutination and crenation of red blood cells cause blood sludging and reduce the cells' ability to undergo deformation, thus blocking the blood flow to capillaries and leading to pulmonary hypertension and related physiological responses (495–498). The hypervolemia resulting from a shift of water elevates the ventricular filling pressure and increases the cardiac output from increased ventricular stroke work. The potassium ions released from shrinking and crenating red blood cells contribute to the lowering of systemic vascular resistance and blood pressure (499).

Sheu et al. (586) compared the effects of ionic monomer diatrizoate and nonionic monomer iohexol on coronary hemodynamics and myocardial metabolism. In dog hearts, the intracoronary injection of iohexol produced an increase in myocardial contractibility, aortic systolic pressure, and myocardial oxygen consumption. In contrast, the injection of diatrizoate produced a decrease in these parameters. This difference between ionic and nonionic contrast media was significant. Nevertheless, the degree of increased coronary blood flow after coronary injection was similar for both agents.

In coronary arteriography, ionic monomers, because of their high osmolality and binding to calcium and magnesium in plasma, elicit more physiologic effects than nonionic monomers. The nonionic molecules do not combine calcium; the chelators used in the formulation have less calcium binding capacity; and the osmolality of nonionic monomers is only half that of the ionic monomers. Thus, nonionic contrast media cause fewer fluid shifts, less vasodilation, arrhythmia and fibrillation, and minimal cardiac depression. In **an**-

imal experimentation, injections of short duration (2-5 s) produce fewer incidences of myocardial fibrillation than prolonged injections (25 s) (482). The nonionic dimers or bis compounds, such as iotrolan and iodixanol, further reduce the clinical adverse reactions compared to those of the nonionic monomers. The dimers are isotonic to blood but have vis $cosities (>10 \text{ mPa} \cdot \text{s})$  more than double the viscosity of blood (4 mPa·s) and more than 8 times the viscosity of plasma (1.2 mPa·s), with no apparent adverse effects (582). Ventricular fibrillation and serious arrhythmia have been linked to hyperosmolality and the absence of sodiumions. The safety of iotrolan is related to its isotonicity and the small amount of sodium ions it contains (482).

The safety, tolerance, and diagnostic efficacy of iopentol, iopromide, iohexol, ioversol, and iopamidol have been compared in different cardiac angiographic procedures (587–590). In a canine heart model, ioversol with added sodium in the form of NaCl can reduce the propensity for spontaneous ventricular fibrillation and arrhythmias but it also causes an increase in the QT interval in the electrocardiogram. The QT interval is associated with cardiac conduction and depolarization and repolarization. The prolongation of the QT interval, unlike that caused by ionic contrast media, is not an indication of arrhythmogenicity (591). The influence of sodium on electrocardiography during coronary angiography with iopromide has also been investigated (592).

Other factors may exhibit synergism in reactions with contrast media. In mice, contrast media with cardiac glycoside cause higher mortality than contrast media alone (593). Incompatibility of contrast media with other pharmacological agents has also been noted (594). Anaphylactoid reactions from contrast media can also be associated with  $\beta$ -blocker exposure, cardiovascular disorders, or asthma (595).

Muschick et al. (596) compared the **hemodynamic** effects of 11 iodinated contrast media, including ionic (diatrizoate, ioxaglate), nonionic monomers (iohexol, iopromide, **io**pamidol, iopentol, ioversal, iomeprol), and nonionic dimers (iotrolan. iodixanol) in rats. The animals **were** injected with contrast medium at a high dose of 1.2 g iodine/kg into the left ventricle. Transient changes in blood pressure (systolicand diastolic), heart rate, cardiac output, left ventricular end diastolic pressure, total peripheral resistance, and electrocardiogram within a few minutes post-injection were observed. In a healthy rat, the authors noted, all contrast media tested are safe but generate a few side effects. Low osmolar nonionic monomeric contrast media have a clear benefit over high osmolar contrast media. Nonionic isotonic dimers are best, with minimal side effects, and are likely to provide a lower risk if used in ventriculography and coronary angiography.

6.5.6 Nephrotoxicity. In urography and arteriography more than 90% of the injected dose of contrast media is excreted through the kidney (597). Contrast media adversely affect the excretory function of the kidneys, partly by osmolality and partly by chemotoxicity. Diuresis, changes of renal blood flow, osmotic nephroses, albuminuria, enzymuria, and changes of glomerular filtration rate are reported in animal studies of contrast mediainduced nephrotoxicity (598). In patients with normal and abnormal kidneys, contrast media can cause acute deterioration in renal function, such as reduced glomerular filtration rate, medullary necrosis, and transient proteinuria of glomerular origin, associated with the increased elimination of  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin (599, 600). Individuals with preexisting renal insufficiency, diabetes mellitus, dehydration, cardiovascular disease, advanced age, multiple myeloma, hypertension, hyperuricemia, and several contrast examinations within 24 h have a high-risk of kidney malfunction (598, 601). Low osmolality monomers and dimers, such as iohexol, iopamidol, iopromide, ioversol, ioxaglate, and iotrolan, are less nephrotoxic in high risk patients than high osmolality ratio 1.5 agents, such as diatrizoate, for example (602, 603, 607, 608). The severity of the nephrotoxic effects is determined by the dose and rate of injection (463, 609, 610). In the clinical setting patients with normal renal functions respond similarly to ionic and nonionic contrast media (611–614), and the renal effects are transient only in these patients (600).

Contrast media cause damage to the vascular, glomerular, and tubular structures of the kidneys and changes in urine profiles, which may lead to acute renal failure (463,597,615, 616). In the canine model, renal ischemia potentiates nephrotoxicity (603). Deray et al. (604) studied renal hemodynamics in a normal and ischemic dog kidney and found that iodixanol induced a greater decrease in renal blood flow than did ioxaglate and produced a marked intrarenal vasoconstriction. Rauch et al. (605) compared the effects of contrast media (diatrizoate, iohexol, and iopamidol) on renal vasoconstriction in human, rabbit, dog, and pig arteries and found that all contrast media elicited dose-dependent reversible contractions in human, rabbit, and dog but not in pig renal arteries. All the contrast media tested exerted a vasorelaxing effect on pig renal artery. Nygren et al. (606) found that intravenously administered ioxaglate and iopamidol enhance the microvascular obstruction, as a consequence of red-cell trapping evoked by ischemic injury, and that iopamidol may induce local impairment in renal medullary microcirculation in a normal kidney.

The response of renal vasculature to contrast media exposure is biphasic. Immediately after intraarterial or intravenous injection of the contrast medium peripheral resistance decreases (vasodilation) and renal blood flow increases, followed by renal vasoconstriction and decreased renal blood flow. The size of the kidney changes and reaches its maximum size within the first 5 min after injection (598). The contrast media within the renal vascular bed attract water from the interstitial space and possibly from the renal tubules. In this renal hemodynamic and fluid shift, contrast media and some low molecular weight substances are freely filtered by the glomeruli and remain in the tubular lumen in a high concentration for a relatively long time, causing tubular damage (609). Water, contrast media, and urinary components that are not reabsorbed in the tubules are excreted as hyperosmolar urine in diuresis (597,609,615).

Contrast media cause damage to the **endo**thelia of renal vasculature and release **vasoac**tive peptides, such as renin, prostaglandins, and kallikreins. Other associated events are deformation and rigidification of red blood cells and platelet accumulation in the areas of denuded blood vessels (598). The relation of the vasoactive **peptides** and associated events to vascular hemodynamic effects is not well understood.

Urographic and uroangiographic contrast media cause glomerular damage by altering membrane permeability, thus allowing protein leakage into the urine, resulting in proteinuria. After renal angiography, protein excretion in the urine may increase by a factor of more than 1000 (598, 617). In normal rats, albumin levels return to normal after 2 h (616). Massive proteinuria from glomerular damage may cause protein precipitation in tubular lumen, decreased urine flow, and may produce acute renal failure (463). It has been shown that nonionic iohexol produces less, if any, albuminuria in animals and humans than ionic contrast media or metrizamide (598). Iohexol has been proposed for use as a marker for glomerular filtration rate (618, 619).

One of the nephrotoxic effects of contrast media is the vacuolization of the proximal tubular cells (598). Iohexol and iotrolan induce more significant and longer-lasting vacuolization than the ionic diatrizoate and nonionic monomer iopromide (620). Iohexol also causes significantly more tubular vacuolization and capillary congestion than another nonionic contrast agent, iobitridol (301). This vacuolar response reflects lysosomal changes and the chemotoxicity of contrast molecules. Tubular vacuolization is also known as osmotic nephrosis. Wasaki et al. (621) compared the toxic effects of iobitridol and iohexol on the acute renal failure (ARF) kidney in a rat model and found that iobitridol produced a lower degree and incidence of renal tubular injury of renal proximal and distal tubules compared with iohexol. In the rat renal slice system, iobitridol had significantly less effect on the *p*-aminohippuric acid accumulation compared with that of iohexol. There were no changes of intracellular potassium content.

Tubular damage causes enzymuria. Urinary excretion of the lysosomal enzyme N-acetyl- $\beta$ -D-glucosidase (NAG), the cytoplasmic enzyme lactic dehydrogenase (LDH), and the brush-border enzyme gamma glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), caused by contrast media, has been studied in rats with drug-in-

### **6 Organic Iodine Compounds**

duced nephropathies (622, 623). These enzymes with molecular weights greater than 70,000 are not filtered by the glomerulus (624). The level of enzymuria appears to correlate with the degree of proximal tubular cell injury. This may suggest that the urinary enzyme levels might be a more sensitive parameter than the serum creatinine levels to assess the renal toxicity of iodinated contrast media (616,625,626).

Edée and Bonnemain (627) reviewed the reliability of experimental models, from methodological considerations to pathophysiology, of iodinated contrast media-induced acute renal failure and nephropathy. Deray and Jacobs (628, 629) reviewed radiocontrast nephrotoxicity and renal tolerance of nonionic dimers. Nonionic dimers (iotrolan and iodixanol) are iso-osmotic and have high viscosities. Iotrolan at 300 mg I/mL has a viscosity of 17.8 mPa·s at 20°C and at 320 mg I/mL, 24.6 mPa·s. In comparison, iobitridol at 300 mg I/mL has a viscosity of 11.2 mPa·s at 20°C. These chemical characteristics that cause an increase of the reflection coefficient, characterized as "the tendency of solutes to be retained in the vasculature with resulting prolongation of the phase of osmotic expansion of plasma volume," may be responsible for the toxic symptoms. Vergare and Sequel (630) recommended warming the contrast media to 35°C before injection to improve tolerance.

6.5.7 Neurotoxicity. Contrast agents are toxic to the central nervous system (631). Their presence there is brought about either by direct injection into the cerebrospinal fluid or by leakage through the blood-brain barrier. Contrast agents are more toxic when administered intracisternally than intravenously (214). The ratio between intravenous and intracisternal LD, values in the rabbit can be as high as 1450 to 1 for diatrizoate sodium (213, 546). Adverse effects caused by ionicity, chemotoxicity, and hyperosmolality of contrast media can range from discomfort to the patient to the disruption of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), epileptogenicity, and late arachnoiditis.

The transport of materials from the blood to the tissues (or extravasation) in the brain, unlike that in all other organs, is restricted by the BBB (632). Contrast media administered by intrathecal and intracisternal injections will bypass the BBB and come in direct contact with the neurons and glial cells (633). The BBB refers to the tight junctions between the cerebrovascular endothelial cells in cerebral blood vessels, which form a physical barrier to the exchange of ions and large molecules between blood and brain (634-636). Concentrated solutions of electrolytes and nonelectrolytes such as urea can reversibly open the barrier by separating the tight junctions through osmotically shrinking the endothelial cells (637-640). Barrier opening may be evaluated by the entry of dyes (e.g., Trypan blue, Evans blue) (634,641) or radioactiveions (e.g.,  99m Tc,  32 P) (642) into the brain parenchyma. The percentage penetration of ¹³¹I-tagged iothalamate and diatrizoate in the rat cerebral cortex, studied by use of historadioautographic techniques, correlates well with the degree of severity of neurotoxicity (643). When there was little or no penetration of contrast medium into the brain tissue, no convulsions were observed. These experimental methods when applied together with those of induced convulsions (641-643) and damage to tissue cultures of neurons (644), to determine the neurotoxicity of contrast agents, may or may not necessarily measure the same molecular property responsible for neurotoxicity. In fact, cytochemical studies show that the BBB damage induced by contrast medium differs from the BBB damage caused by other types of insult, in that the plasma membrane-bound enzyme Ca²⁺-ATPase and the negative charge that resides on the endothelial luminal surface are not affected (645). Damage from different contrast media may also differ. For example, the nonionic dimer iotrolan causes more BBB damage in the basal ganglia than in the cortex, whereas the reverse is true for the ionic diatrizoate (646). To predict the entire spectrum of neurotoxicity of contrast media, Sovak et al. (647) proposed the use of a number of methods for assessment of neurotoxicity in testing new nonionic contrast media.

The neurotoxicity of contrast media is determined by their lipid solubility or partition coefficient (631). Lipid solubility regulates the passage of these agents through the unaltered BBB. The partition coefficients of iothalamate,

ioxitalamate, diatrizoate, metrizoate, iodamide, diprotrizoate, and 2,4,6-triiodobenzoate have been calculated (631), using Hansch's rule for additive constitutive properties (648-651). This study shows that the neurotoxicity of these agents increases with increase in the combined partition coefficient P and is related to the brain uptake index. The relation is similar to that observed by Oldendorf (652) between the chain length of short-chain monocarboxylic acids and their transport across the blood-brain barrier, which reaffirms the dependency of neurotoxicity on lipid solubility. Nonionic contrast molecules designed with 4-6 hydroxyl groups in the molecule to maximize hydrophilicity have been shown to have a good correlation between partition coefficient (octanol/water) and neurotoxicity (653). For example, the hydrophilicity increases as the partition coefficient decreases, in the case of four monomeric nonionic contrast agents according to the ranking: metrizamide > iopamidol > iohexol > ioversol (654, 655).Their neurotoxicity, measured in terms of lethality, EEG effects, and motor effects, decreases proportionately with the increase in hydrophilicity.

In addition to osmolality and lipid solubility, the cations, anions, and chemotoxicity of contrast media also contribute to neurotoxicity. The sodium salts of diatrizoate and iothalamate are about three times more neurotoxic than the meglumine salts when compared at comparable doses in rats by intracisternal application, and the diatrizoate anion is about 10 times more neurotoxic than the iothalamate anion (656). In both hypertonic and hypotonic ranges, neurotoxicity increases with increasing concentration of contrast medium. When comparing the neurotoxicity, not only the molal concentration of the contrast medium but also the brain weight of the experimental animals should be considered. Evill et al. (657) compared the chemotoxic effects of nonionic contrast monomers iohexol and ioversol and dimers iodixanoland iotrolan in the rabbit using ^{99m}Tc-pertechnetate as a marker for BBB damage and mannitol as osmolality control. At comparable osmolalities, mannitol causes no brain ^{99m}Tc uptake, whereas the contrast agents cause significant ^{99m}Tc uptake according to the order: iohexol > iodixa-

**nol** > ioversol > iotrolan, with iohexol causing more BBB damage than iotrolan. Motoji et al. (658) studied the neurotoxicity of contrast media using [8-¹⁴C]dopamine as a marker for BBB damage in Monogolian gerbils and found that both meglumine sodium amidotrizoate and iohexol caused damage to the BBB, as manifested in cerebral cortex, brain stem, and hippocampus sections in the left hemisphere. Iopamidol caused a much smaller but significant effect, and ioversol caused no damage to the BBB. Michelet (659) used iothalamate and iohexol as reference contrast agents and ^{99m}Tc-DTPA, ¹²⁵I-labeled human serum albumin and Trypan blue as tracer to evaluate degrees of damage to the BBB in male albino rabbits. The ionic monomer iothalamate caused marked BBB damage, based on a large extravasation of tracers, the nonionic monomers iopentol and iohexol caused some BBB damage, and the dimer iodixanol caused only minor changes to the barrier. The author recommends iodixanol as a safe contrast agent for computed tomography of the brain. Harnish et al. (660) found that iohexol or ioxilan at a solution concentration of 175 mg I/mL caused no BBB damage in anesthetized Wistar rats. This strain of rats has been reported to be more sensitive than other strains to the intrathecal effects of contrast agents (187). Whisson et al. (661) studied acute hypertension (HT) as a risk factor for damage to the BBB in carotid angiography with nonionic contrast media (iopamidol) in groups of rats. Anesthetized animals received intravenous injections of ^{99m}Tc-pertechnetate and horseradish peroxidase as tracers for quantitation and histological examination. Two groups of rats received metaraminol to raise their blood to between 165 and 190 mmHg peak systolic and then received intracarotid injection of saline and iopamidol at 300 mg I/mL. Two groups of normotensive rats received normal saline and iopamidol as controls. The authors found that the extravasation of both tracers were significantly greater in the hypertensive group that received contrast media than in the other groups and that acute hypertension potentiates the BBB-damaging effects of nonionic contrast media during carotid angiography in rats.

Luzzani et al. (426) assessed the neurotolerability of six monomers (iomeprol, iopam-

idol, iohexol, iopentol, ioversol, and iopromide) and three dimers (iofratol, iotrolan, and iodixanol) of nonionic X-ray contrast media in rats and mice by their median lethal dose  $(LD_{50})$ , compared to controls. The contrast agents were administered by intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) injection to mice and by intracisternal (i.c.i.) injection to rats. The iodine contents of monomers and dimers injected were 350–370 and 300–320 mg I/mL, respectively. The toxic effects for all contrast media included convulsion, dyspnea, hypoactivity, and sedation. In mice iohexol was significantly more neurotoxic than other monomers, and the dimers had similar neurotoxicity but were more toxic than the monomers; this difference became more evident when the concentrations of LD, values were expressed in mmol/kg instead of mg I/mL. In rats iopentol and iopromide were sufficiently more neurotoxic than others that their  $LD_{50}$  values could be accurately determined. The authors attributed the observed differences in neurotoxicity of the contrast media to differences in chemical structures, that is, to chemotoxicity rather than hydrophilicity or physicochemical characteristics of pharmaceutical formulations of the contrast media. Mice and rats had different sensitivities toward contrast media, apparently from drug actions targeted at different areas in the brain as a result of different sites of injection.

Damage to the spinal cord by contrast medium also causes neurotoxicity (456,457,662). Antoni and Lindgren (663) first observed spinal cord damage after aortography. A survey conducted by Killen and coworkers (664,665) showed that 90% of the reported spinal cord injuries was caused by acetrizoate, especially at high concentrations. Others (666–670) have shown that all water-soluble angiographic agents can inflict damage on the spinal cord. Contrast agents such as sodium iodide, acetrizoate, iodomethamate, diprotrizoate, diodone, diatrizoate, and thorium oxide have neurotoxicity decreasing in that order (670). Foster et al. (671) found that diodone, acetrizoate, and diprotrizoate have higher toxic effects on kidney and spinal cord after aortography than thorium dioxide, diatrizoate, and iothalamate. Damage to the spinal cord is highly likely in any procedure that concentrates the contrast agent in this region.

Metrizamide was the first-generation **non**ionic contrast agent for the central nervous system found to be almost free of neurotoxic effects (672). Metrizamide is often used as a standard of comparison in animal experimentation when newer nonionic contrast agents are evaluated for neurotoxic effects. Adams et al. (673) used electroencephalography (EEG) recording to detect neurotoxic effects of contrast media after *i.c.i.* administration in the rat. These authors found that ionic meglumine iothalamate produces profound seizurelike patterns in EEG at 30 mg I/mL. In comparison, metrizamide produced minimal EEG abnormalities at this concentration. Ioversol and ioglunide produced mild to slight EEG abnormalities in doses ranging from 60 to 240 mg I/mL. Ioglunide was well tolerated in total spinal column myelography in a group of 86 patients but was considered to be at a competitive disadvantage in manufacture when compared to iohexol and iopamidol, because ioglunide contains a sugar moiety and is as unstable in solution as metrizamide (673). Iopamidol provoked seizure-like patterns in EEG at a considerably lower dose than metrizamide when injected as highly concentrated solutions (400 mg I/mL) into the subarachnoid space of the anterior fossae of guinea pigs (674).

Nonionic contrast media in either hypertonic or hypotonic solution, when injected intracerebrally or into the subarachnoid space of rats, will cause distinct depression of the central nervous system (CNS) and associated brain functions but no excitation (675). Such depressive action can obscure the excitatory action caused by ionicity or chemotoxicity of myelographic agent. When an isotonic contrast medium is injected and mixed with the normally produced cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in the subarachnoid space of the rat, the resultant mixture is hypertonic with higher levels of sodium and chloride. This movement of sodium and chloride into CSF without accompaniment of water is unexpected. Mennini et al. (672) noted that contrast enhancement of brain parenchyma is never achieved by direct intracarotid or intravenous injection of nonionic contrast media, unless the BBB is spontaneously or experimentally broken (646).

This may suggest specific sites for neurotoxicity other than just BBB disruption. In search of such specific receptors, Mennini et al. (672) found that iohexol and iopamidol at concentrations as high as  $100 \mu M$  did not displace the tritium-labeled ligands from their neurotransmitter binding sites and suggested that the cell responses may be mediated by the phosphatidylinositol second-messenger system (676). According to Ekholm (633) and Marinetti (677) nonionic contrast media (iohexol, iopamidol, metrizamide, iodixanol, and iotrolan) can influence the uptake of ⁴⁵Ca and the incorporation of [³²P]phosphate into phospholipids (PA), phosphatidylinositol (PI), phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PIP), and phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate (PIP-2) in isolated rat brain synaptosomes, but it is not known whether these reactions are important in clinically observed neurotoxic effects of contrast media.

Injection of vasodilators, vasoconstrictors, or other agents that change the relative flow of blood and contrast medium toward or away from the spinal cord or alter its response to the contrast medium can modify the neurotoxic effects (666, 678). After intra-aortic injection, the neurotoxicity of contrast agents may be increased by the presence of chemicals such as heparin (679), which increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier. Hypothermia, procaine (prior-injected), 20% glucose, and low molecular weight dextran can exert a protective effect against spinal cord damage (671, 681, 690). Diazepam can prevent clonic convulsions and muscular twitchings after myelography with iocarmic acid (682). These side effects can also be reduced in patients receiving levomepromazine (683). The mechanism of these protective effects is not fully understood.

6.5.8 **Protein Binding.** Protein binding is reputed to affect the toxicity and selective excretion of contrast media (414,417,684). Ionic contrast media were shown by equilibrium dialysis to combine with serum albumin at a number of strong and weak binding sites on the protein (414, 416, 417, 685). Acetrizoate, iodipamide, and iopanoate with an open position 5 in the substituted benzene nucleus combine strongly with albumin, whereas the fully

substituted triiodobenzoates such as diatrizoate and iothalamate bind only weakly. Acetrizoate and iodipamide bind to bovine serum albumin strongly at one site and weakly at several other sites, whereas iopanoate binds strongly to three sites on the protein. The difference in the strength of protein binding sites may account for the species specificity of the toxicity of acetrizoate observed in 15 species of animals. The oral cholecystographic agent iophenoxic acid, which is no longer used, has a strong affinity of binding to plasma albumin with a half-life in humans of about 3 years (686). Its structure is identical to that of iopanoate, with the exception of an OH instead of a NH, group at position **3** of the benzene nucleus. Iophenoxic acid is tightly bound to human serum albumin at site I as compared to iopanoate at site II. Nonionic contrast media, such as iohexol, iopamidol, and iodixanol, for example, in spite of their fully substituted

benzene nucleus and high water solubility, also interact with proteins. According to Lang and Lasser (685, 687), the binding between the contrast material and protein is attributed to hydrophobic interaction.

Protein binding may affect the selective excretion by the kidney or liver of a contrast medium (414, 688, 689). The cholegraphic agents iodipamide and iopanoic acid show strong binding to serum protein. Although the relationship between the affinity for protein binding and the preferential uptake and excretion by the liver of contrast agents has not been clearly defined, two hypotheses have been advanced to explain the phenomenon. One hypothesis is that the binding with albumin prevents glomerular filtration of the contrast medium, thus providing a continuing concentration to liver parenchymal cells (689, 690), and the other hypothesis is based on the free penetration of serum albumin in the **Disse's** space, which allows preferential access of the bound contrast medium to liver cells (691). Neither of these hypotheses is tenable because (1) it is not possible to force greater quantities of acetrizoate into the bile by increasing the serum-binding capacity of acetrizoate to the level of iodipamide by priming with serum albumin (692), and (2) some substances such as Evans blue that are extensively bound to serum albumin are not excreted in the bile to any significant extent, whereas other poorly bound compounds such as p-aminohippuric acid are efficiently excreted by the liver (414). These findings point to the involvement of additional mechanisms besides serum protein binding in determining the biliary excretion of contrast medium. **Glu**curonidation can increase the bile excretion of contrast media (693).

Sokoloff et al. (694) showed that iopanoic acid and iodipamide, but not iothalamate, bind to the Y and Z proteins found in the liver and the mucosa in the small intestine. Songet al. (695) studied the role of serum albumin in the hepatic excretion of iodipamide and found that the contrast agent establishes an equilibrium between serum protein and the intrahepatic anion-binding Y protein, also known as ligandin, with the latter controlling the process of hepatic uptake and excretion in which serum albumin plays no role. Goldstein and Arias (696) have studied the interaction of ligandin with iopanoicacid, diatrizoate, iodipamide, and iodopyracet. It is apparent that the role of ligandin in the transfer of contrast medium from blood to liver is to bind the contrast material in the liver cell for intracellular accumulation.

Contrast media inhibit enzyme activity, and the degree of inhibition parallels their binding affinity to serum albumin. Iopanoate, iodipamide, acetrizoate and isofamic acid, and diatriazoate and iothalamate exert, in descending order, an inhibitory effect on the following enzymes: lysozyme, glucuronidase (two types), alcohol dehydrogenase, glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (414, 687), adenocarbonic anhydrase sine triphosphatase, (698), and cholinesterases of human red blood cells and plasma (672,673). Cholecystographic agents can adversely affect the glucuronidation of p-nitrophenol more than urographic agents (700). Sodium ipodate strongly inhibits the microsomal p-nitroanisole demethylase and aniline hydroxylase activity (701). Metrizamide binds reversibly with catalase (702) and exhibits weaker inhibition of cholinesterase, glutamic-oxalacetic transaminase, and glucose-6-phosphate than that of either diatrizoate or iothalamate (703).

Cholegraphic agents such as iodipamide and iopanoic acid are about 10-100 times more potent inhibitors of cholinesterases than the angiographic agent diatrizoate (698). Toxic reactions manifested as gastrointestinal symptoms and hypertonicity of bladder from the use of oral cholecystographic agents may be attributed to their anticholinesterase activities. The hypotensive effects induced in experimental animals by ioglycamic acid and iodipamide are not completely blocked by atropine sulfate, indicating that not all the toxic effects of cholegraphic agents are attributed to inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activities (704).

Contrast media induce serum complement activation (705). The degree of activation is a function of concentration and chemical structure of the contrast agent. The order of serum complement activation by contrast agents is metrizamide < iothalamate < diatrizoate < acetrizoate < iodipamide and iopanoic acid, which is also the order of enzyme inhibition. Activation of serum complement results in structural and functional alterations of cell membranes because of the release of small active **peptides** such as the anaphylatoxins, bringing about a wide variety of reactions including contraction of smooth muscle, increased capillary permeability, release of histamine from mast cells, directed attraction of polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and release of hydrolases from these cells. Contrast media affect the normal process of fibrin and plasma formation in the coagulation mechanism by changing the fibrin fiber diameter and increasing the size of protein aggregates with an altered spatial arrangement of the clots (706).

Nonionic contrast media have high hydrophilicity, extremely low toxicity, and an insignificant level of protein binding of less than 3%, and may induce serum complement activation (477, 707). At a contrast medium concentration of 1.2 mg I/mL, the extent of binding to human plasma proteins is about 1.5 ? 0.3% for iohexol,  $0.1 \pm 2.2\%$  for iopentol, 2.9% for iopamidol,  $4.3 \pm 0.3\%$  for metrizamide, and 7.6  $\pm$  1.5% for ioxaglate (708, 709). Dawson (653) ranked the relative protein binding capacity of iohexol:iopamidol:ioxaglate:iothalamate as 1:1.5:3.5:4 and correlated the partition coefficient (butanol/water) of metrizamide (0.37):iopromide (0.14):iopamidol (0.11):iohexol (0.07) with their respective ap-

proximate  $LD_{50}$  values: 14:16:22:24 g I/kg in the mouse. Reactions of serine proteinases (e.g., thrombin) will activate the coagulation cascade, but nonionic contrast media may bind to the proteins to inhibit the clotting (710). X-ray analysis of crystals of iohexol and serine proteinase (pancreatic porcine elastase) reveals that three molecules of iohexol are associated with elastase, with one close to the active site (subsite S1), the second in the vicinity of Ser²¹⁴ in subsites S2/S3, and the third located in a pocket at the surface of the protein. The association is a result of the **affinity** of iohexol directed toward the hydrophobic regions of the enzyme and supports the hypothesis of the contrast medium's potent inhibition of thrombin. Another example of the contrast medium-protein interaction is between iopamidol and fibrinogen or lysozyme (711). Isothermal calorimetry revealed a weak endothermal effect at high concentrations of iopamidol for both proteins. This endothermal effect does not appear to be attributable to a direct protein-iopamidol association but suggests the alterations of protein solvation after protein unfolding in the presence of contrast medium. This altered solvation is confirmed by Raman spectroscopy on two amino acids in the presence of iopamidol, which showed that the spectrum of alanine is unchanged at any iopamidol concentrations studied, whereas the spectrum lines attributed to the thiol group of cysteine are shifted in a manner consistent with altered solvation. A recent report on the binding chemistry of 2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid (TIB) with the crystal form of human serum albumin (HSA) revealed that the ligand TIB is bound in a hydrophobic crevice in a cavity in subdomain IIA of the HSA structure (712).

**6.5.9 Histamine Release.** Contrast media administered to laboratory animals by either intravenous injection or infusion or local application caused histamine-like reactions: **en**dothelial injury (**713**), changes in vascular permeability (**714**, **715**), and perivascular edema (**716**). These agents release histamine from tissue mast cells by degranulation (**717–720**). Leite et al. (**721**) reported that meglumine **io**-dipamide and a mixture of sodium and **meglu**mine salts of acetrizoate were more effective

than iodamide in histamine release in the rat, and diatrizoate was ineffective. Others have reported the release of histamine from rat peritoneal mast cells by acetrizoate, diatrizoate, and iothalamate (722, 723). Histamine was found in the plasma of dogs after pulmonary artery injection of meglumine iodipamide (722) and in the perfusion of canine lung with meglumine salts of acetrizoate, diatrizoate, iothalamate, and iodipamide, or meglumine chloride alone (527). The ability or inability of diatrizoate to release histamine reported in these experiments is probably caused by the difference in injection rate. Meglumine salts of contrast media, with the exception of diatrizoate, release much greater quantities of histamine than do the sodium salts. Histamine release is not caused by hyperosmolarity, given that the injection of isosmotic sodium chloride (721) or dextrose (724) solutions produces negligible effects. Administration of diphenhydramine hydrochloride and burimamide (i.e., N-methyl-N'-[4-[4(5) imidazolyl]butyl]thiourea), which are  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  receptor antagonists, respectively (725), abolishes the histamine release properties of the contrast agents in vivo (721, 726).

In humans the allergic reactions from contrast media resemble those elicited by histamine injection, and the unpleasant side effects are rarer after fast injection than after **slow** injection of the same dose of contrast medium (**489**). Seidel et al. (**724**) showed that usual doses of chemically different contrast media were able to affect the plasma histamine levels in venous blood of healthy persons. Histamine release ceases when the dose rate is reduced to 0.17 g kg⁻¹ min⁻¹. This may explain the advantage of administering urographic agents by infusion to avoid reactions.

Patients with a history of allergy react more frequently to injection of contrast media than those with no history of hypersensitivity (455, 456). Blood of patients with **radiocon**trast idiosyncrasy and atopic individuals release higher levels of histamine than that of normal individuals. Siegle et al. (727) incubated ¹²⁵I-diatrizoate with blood from atopics and nonatopics and found significant retention of radioactivity by the leukocytes and not by the erythrocytes. Histamine is released from human leukocytes by contrast media. The low osmolality contrast media, such as iohexol, iopamidol, metrizamide, and ioxaglate, release less histamine on the basis of iodine concentration than the ionic contrast media, such as diatrizoate, sodium, and meglumine iothalamate. The meglumine salt releases more histamine than the sodium salt, and ioxaglate releases more histamine than iohexol, iopamidol, and metrizamide (728). Because the exact mechanism relating histamine release to adverse effects of contrast media is unclear, cholinergic mechanisms have been proposed to play an important role also. These mechanisms are activated by the inhibition of cholinesterase. Again, iohexol and iopamidol cause less enzyme inhibition than ionic ioxaglate, iothalamate, and ioglycamide (729). An in uitro assay based on histamine release to pretest patients at high risk before infusion with contrast medium has been proposed (730), but the rise of plasma histamine levels cannot be correlated with allergic-like effects in patients in a conclusive manner (731). Studies by Pinet et al. (732) showed that the values of plasma histamine and blood histamine in patients receiving ioxaglate, iohexol, iopamidol, and ioxithalamate for intravenous pyelography were within the limits of statistical fluctuation. Reactions to contrast media are in some cases precipitous, resembling anaphylactoid reactions of immunologic nature, which led Brasch (551,552) to suggest an antibody-type reaction to contrast media. Krause et al. (733), from the results of Brasch's study, suggested that iotrolan is probably not immunogenic.

**6.5.10 Pharmacokinetics.** The quality of roentgenograms in cholangio-cholecystography and urography is determined by the localization of the contrast media applied. In oral cholecystography, the radiographic quality is determined by the absorption and excretion of contrast medium, which is controlled by many factors (734, 735). In intravenous cholangiography and urography, the excretion of contrast medium alone determines the opacification of the organ under examination (**736–739**).

Absorption of oral cholecystographic agents occurs by passive diffusion of the nonionized compound across the lipoidal barrier of intes-

tinal mucosa (734) and is determined by the rate of solubilization of contrast medium, affected by pH, the presence of bile salts, mixing, the effective surface area, and the physical state of the compound (735). The rate of absorption of iopanoic acid and iosumetic acid is increased if the contrast agent is administered concomitantly with sodium bicarbonate (300, 740, 741). Bile salts or a fatty meal have been recommended with the administration of iopanoic acid, to ensure its solubilization and absorption in the duodenum and to improve gall bladder visualization (735, 742, 743). The fatty meal releases cholecystokinin, which promotes the enterohepatic circulation of bile salts, thus enhancing both intestinal absorption and hepatic excretion (734). The ability of bile salts to increase the excretion of iopanoic acid is attributed to an allosteric interaction between the bile salts and a carrier for the contrast medium in the canalicular membrane (744, 745).

Because of the often incomplete absorption of oral cholecystographic agents, detailed analytical approaches to **pharmacokinetics** studies have not been available. **Goldberg** et al. (735) studied the biopharmaceutical factors influencing the intestinal absorption of **io**panoic acid and attributed the frequent failure of the first dose of the agent to afford diagnostic visualization of gall bladder to impaired intestinal absorption. Uncertainty in absorption is avoided when intravenous agents are used.

Water-soluble dimers such as iodipamide, ioglycamide, iodoxamate, and iotroxic acid are intravenous cholangiographic agents and can be injected to achieve a desired plasma concentration. After injection, the pharmacokinetics of these contrast media including dilution and mixing with body fluid, uptake by the liver, and excretion into the bile and urine can be fitted to multicompartmental kinetic models. A logical kinetic model for the transfer of a substance through a secreting cell may consist of three phases: uptake (passage from the plasma into the cell); passage through the cell (with or without accumulation); and passage from the cell to the tubular lumen (excretion) (746,747). Corman et al. (748) have proposed several pharmacokinetic models for ioglycamate. Although a simple, two-compartment model can account for approximately 90% of



**Figure 10.1.** Pharmacokinetic models for the excretion of iodipamide, iodoxamicacid, and ioglycamide in the dog (747–752).

the administered drug, the experimental data are better fitted to three-compartment models. The introduction of an extravascular space with which the plasma contrast medium can rapidly exchange would avoid the difficulty of requiring a considerably larger initial volume of dilution for the contrast medium than the plasma volume in a two-compartment model (748) and is based on the observation that the distribution volume of iodipamide in the dog is similar to the extravascular fluid volume in size (749). Pharmacokinetic models involving three compartments have been proposed for ioglycamic acid by Corman et al. (747), for iodipamide by Shames et al. (748), and for iodoxamic acid by Strata et al. (750). Segre and Rosati (751) have proposed nonlinear kinetic models for the disposition of iodipamide, ioglycamide acid, and iodoxamic acid in dogs. These models are shown in Figure 10.1. In the nonlinear kinetic model, the contrast medium is excreted into the bile through the liver compartment 3, which is not in direct communication with the plasma compartment 1. For ioglycamic acid at doses above  $175.5 \mu mol/kg$ , an alternative model has been proposed in which the passage of the contrast medium from blood to the liver is irreversible.

The relationship between infusion rate or plasma concentration on the one hand and biliary concentration (B), urinary concentration (U), B/U excretion ratio, and excretory deficit (i.e., the amount of contrast medium retained in the body) on the other have been studied in the case of iodoxamate and iodipamide by Berk et al. (752) in unanesthetized dogs. Biliary excretion depended on bile flow and erythritol clearance (which serves as an index of canalicular bile flow). The rate of biliary excretion and the concentration of iodine in the bile increased according to first-order kinetics at low plasma concentration of the contrast agents and leveled off when the plasma concentration reached 0.4 mol/mL. A reasonable fit of these data to equations for hyperbolas can be made, indicating saturation kinetics, which is characteristic of an active transport process presumably occurring at the biliary canaliculus. The rate of urinary excretion of these contrast agents varied linearly with the plasma concentration, indicating a passive transport process. The B/U excretion ratio decreased sharply with increasing plasma concentration (i.e., above 0.4 mol/mL). At an infusion rate of approximately 1 mmol/kg min, a biliary concentration of about 25 and 28 mmol/mL has been achieved for iodipamide and iodoxamate, respectively, which exceeds the concentration (approximately 13-16 mmol/ mL) required for visualization of the biliary tree. From these data, the authors suggested that iodoxamate is a better agent than iodipamide in patients with impaired biliary excretion, high basal bile flow, or when a small dose of the contrast medium is infused. Lin et al. (753) have investigated the saturation kinetics of iodipamide. Moss et al. (754) found that iopanoate and iodoxamate, when co-administered intravenously in rhesus monkeys, compete for the binding sites on serum proteins as well as on intrahepatic tissue and that biliary excretion is directly related to the unbound contrast medium in the blood. Staubus (755)

#### 6 Organic Iodine Compounds

simulated the nonvisualization of gall bladder in the patients by studying the effects of infusion on the pharmacokinetics of iopanoate in the dogs and attributed the nonvisualization to poor intestinal absorption or to poor hepatic/biliary function.

Pharmacokinetic studies of urographic agents such as water-soluble derivatives of 2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acid and 2,6-diiodopyridone showed that the renal excretion of these agents proceeds through glomerular filtration, active excretion in the proximal tubules, and passive reabsorption in the distal tubules of the nephron (756). Iodopyracet and acetrizoate are largely excreted by the proximal tubules in the dog, whereas iodamide is only moderately excreted; and diatrizoate, iothalamate, and metrizoate are not excreted at all by the tubules but are eliminated by glomerular filtration. Studies with aglomerular fish or ureterally obstructed dogs confirmed that there is no tubular excretion or reabsorption of sodium iothalamate (757).

The plasma concentration curve obtained after a single injection of sodium diatrizoate reflects the initial mixing in the vascular compartment, equilibration in the fluid space, and concomitant excretion through the kidneys. The initial volume of mixing is of a size comparable to the measured extracellular space. Based on the excretion data of ¹³¹I-labeled sodium and meglumine diatrizoate, a three-compartment kinetic model, analogous to that proposed for iodipamide excluding the biliary exit has been developed using analog computer simulation. The model is composed of a blood compartment, a tissue compartment, and a "deep" tissue compartment (738). The deep tissue compartment corresponds to the extracellular fluid space and is characterized by a very small entry constant and a large entry-to-elimination constants ratio, usually exceeding 10. This ratio was found to be 9.4 ? 4.5, with a half-time of elimination of 11.7  $\pm$ 1.15 h for sodium diatrizoate compared to 17  $\pm$  4.5 and 14.5  $\pm$  1.5 h for the meglumine salt. These values show that the **pharmacokinetic** model for the diatrizoic acid remains the same, unaffected by its salt form.

The plasma concentration  $C_p$  of the nonionic monomer iohexol, as shown in two studies in human volunteers, was best represented

by a three-compartment model,  $C_p = Ae^{-\alpha t} +$  $Be^{-\beta t} + Ce^{-\gamma t}$ , where A, B, and C are the feathered intercepts of the plasma concentration curve; a,  $\beta$ , and y are the rate constants; and t is the time (758, 759). In one study the mean apparent first-order terminal (y-phase) elimination half-life for iohexol was estimated to be about 12.6 h; the half-life of initial distribution (a-phase,  $t_{1/2\alpha}$ ) about 22 min, and the half-life of disposition and elimination ( $\beta$ phase,  $t_{1/2\beta}$ ) about 2.1 h. The mean ± SD apparent volume of distribution  $(V_d)$  was calculated to be  $165 \pm 30.7 \text{ mL/kg}$  body weight. The magnitude of the value suggests that iohexol was distributed in a volume comparable to that of extracellular water. The renal clearance (CLR) was 120 ? 18.6 mL/min and the total body clearance (CLT) was  $131 \pm 18.6$ mL/min. In a separate study, the  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  value of iohexol was estimated to be an average of 21.8 rnin and the  $t_{1/2\beta}$  value an average of 121 min; the CLR was calculated to be 122 (118–128) mL/min and the CLT, 120 (116–118) mL/min. Nonionic monomers, such as iopamidol (195, 760), ioversol (761, 762), iopromide (763), and iopentol (764) have similar pharmacokinetics profiles in healthy subjects. The mean plasma concentration curve of iopamidol at three dose levels in healthy volunteers was best fitted to an open, linear, two-compartment model with an average  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  value of 28.2 min and an average  $t_{1/2\beta}$  of 2.14 h (699). Inversol given to healthy volunteers by intravenous injection at two dose levels (50 and 150 mL) showed the  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  and  $t_{1/2\beta}$  values to be 15.5 min and 2.06 h for 50-mL dose group and 18.9 min and 2.04 h for 150 mL dose group, respectively (762). The CLR and the CLT were 178 and 156 mL/min for the **50-mL** dose group and 190 and 184 mL/

The pharmacokinetics of iopromide was fitted in a two-compartment model in healthy volunteers at low dose (15 g iodine150 mL) and high dose (80 g iodine150 mL) levels and their  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  and  $t_{1/2\beta}$  values were 1.95 and 2.6 h for the low dose group and 1.90 and 2.5 h for the high dose group, respectively (763). The CLR and the CLT were 104 and 110 mL/min for the low dose group and 100 and 103 mL/min for the high dose group, respectively. The pharmacokinetic parameters of iopentol were 23 min for  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  and 121 min for  $t_{1/2\beta}$ . The apparent vol-

min for the 150-mL dose group, respectively.

ume of distribution was 250 mL/kg of body weight; the CLR was 104 mL/min, and the CLT, 106 mL/min. The nonionic dimer iodixanol showed the same profile in pharmacokinetics as that of the nonionic monomers. The serum concentration of iodixanol declined biexponentially after intravenous administration of the dose. The  $t_{1/2\alpha}$  and  $t_{1/2\beta}$  values were 25.6 and 130.6 min, respectively. The average apparent volume of distribution was 0.275 L/kg body weight. The renal clearance and the total body clearance were 104 and 106 mL/ min, respectively.

Urinary excretion of water-soluble contrast agents is by glomerular filtration without any tubular reabsorption (689). The CLR for the contrast medium was compared with the clearance of ⁵¹Cr-EDTA, injected alone or co-injected with the contrast medium, given that ⁵¹Cr-EDTA is known for its excretion by glomerular filtration only (759, 765). The elimination half-life  $t_{1/2\beta}$  usually expresses urinary excretion in a comparable term for water-soluble contrast agents. In addition to the values given above, iotrolan has a  $t_{1/2\beta}$  of 106 min and diatrizoate, 108 min. According to Olssen et al. (759),

[T]he apparent volume of distribution is an important pharmacokinetic parameter relating serum concentrations of a drug to the total amount of drug in the body. The parameter usually has no direct physiologic meaning and does not refer to a real volume. However, it is generally accepted that a volume of distribution of 15–27% of body weight (0.15–0.27 L/kg) indicates the distribution in the extracellular fluid only.

The volumes of distribution reported for contrast media in the dogs are generally higher than the reported human values, such as 0.42 L/kg for ioxaglate, 0.37 L/kg for iocarmate, 0.64 L/kg for ioxithalamate, 0.39 L/kg for mitrizamide, and 0.38 L/kg for diatrizoate.

Absorption and excretion of metrizamide and diatrizoate after suboccipital injection in the cat followed first-order kinetics. Golman and Dahl (766) determined the rate constants for absorption and excretion and observed that 99% of the absorbed dose disappeared from cerebrospinal fluid during the 3 h after suboccipital injection. The difference in the total amount of metrizamide excreted during 48 h after intravenous and suboccipital injection in the rabbit was negligible, indicating a rapid removal of the agent from cerebrospinal fluid to blood (767).

6.5.11 Excretion. Contrast media are excreted in both the bile and urine; the route that predominates is determined by their chemical structure and route of administration. In general, contrast molecules with an unsubstituted position in the benzene nucleus will be sufficiently lipophilic to bind to the proteins and will be absorbed in peroral administration and excreted in the bile and urine. On the other hand, if the benzene nucleus is fully substituted, the contrast molecules will be highly hydrophilic, will not bind to the proteins, and will be rapidly excreted in the urine. The nonionic contrast media are highly soluble in water and will not be adequately absorbedper os. Hepatic and urinary excretions of ionic contrast agents and their rates of excretion have been reviewed by Catell (688), Knoefel and Carrasquer (768), McChesney (769), and Sperber and Sperber (749).

Oral contrast agents bind serum protein at physiological pH (417, 688). Protein binding prevents glomerular filtration but does not impair hepatic excretion. Transport of these agents from the blood to the liver is an active saturable process (770) and involves the Y and Z proteins found in the liver as hepatic acceptors (694, 695). These acceptors show affinity for cholegraphic agents, such as iopanoic acid and iodipamide, but exhibit little or no affinity for urographic agents such as iothalamate. The liver transport capacity of contrast medium, expressed as maximum transport rate or velocity  $T_m$ , is defined as the amount of compound going into the bile per unit time, which cannot be influenced by additional increases of dose (190). Rosati et al. (190) reported the  $T_m$  values for ioglycamic acid, iodipamide, and iodoxamic acid after rapid intravenous injection in the dog to be 0.768  $\pm$  $0.101, 0.530 \pm 0.072$ , and  $1.226 \pm 0.109 \ \mu mol$  $kg^{-1}$  min⁻¹, respectively. These values remain essentially the same for slow infusion (738, 771). Iopanoate has a  $T_m$  value varying from 0.16 to 0.74 mol  $kg^{-1} min^{-1}$ , depending on the presence of bile salts (772). In bile saltdepleted dog, less contrast agent is excreted. Julian et al. (773) reported the maximum transport rates of iodipamide and iodoxamic acid in humans.

Contrast agents with strong affinity for serum protein show a threshold plasma value below which little or no excretion through the liver or the kidney occurs (771), and in addition, a species difference exists in the excretion of cholegraphic agents (774). The threshold values of ioglycamic acid and iodipamide in the dog were shown to be 0.16 and 0.6  $\mu$ mol/ mL, respectively. Iodoxamic acid, iodipamide, and ioglycamic acid were excreted in the rabbit at higher concentrations to the extent of about 77, 38, and 42% of the dose in the bile and about 17, 38, and 35% of the dose in the urine, respectively (190). Iocetamic acid is excreted in the rat predominantly in the intestine but in human subjects, 41 and 62% of the administered dose appear in the urine in the first 24 and 48 h, respectively (774). Kiyono et al. (775) studied the distribution and excretion of iodipamide in mice and man, using ¹³¹I-labeled material. Earlier, Fischer (776) derived from biliary and urinary excretion studies an optimal dose of  $205 \,\mu \text{mol/kg}$  for iodipamide.

Biliary excretion of contrast medium is affected by the bile flow (688, 734, 745, 777, 778). Bile is isosmotic with plasma and is produced from the transport of water from the liver cell into the bile canaliculi (canalicular bile flow) and from the excretion and reabsorption of water and electrolytes in the bile ductules (ductular bile flow). Bile flow is increased by taurocholate and dehydrocholate; their presence in the canaliculi creates an osmotic gradient that produces the flow of water and solute. There is a positive correlation between the canalicular bile flow stimulated by taurocholate and the amount of iopanoic acid excreted by the liver. Feeding the patient a fatty meal or taurocholate at the time that iopanoic acid is administered can improve the quality of cholecystograms (734).

In addition to bile salts, contrast media (779) and other agents (752, 777) may also increase bile flow and cause choleresis. **Iodipam**ide produces 0.025 mL bilelpmol excreted compared with 0.009 mL bile/ $\mu$ mol for ipodate, but both agents are able to achieve similar maximum bile iodine concentration. The reason for this phenomenon is that ipodate is excreted as glucuronide conjugate, incorporated in the bile salt micelles, which exert a small choleretic effect, whereas iodipamide is excreted unchanged (780).

Drugs such as phenobarbital and **cincho**phen alter the bile **flow** and the biliary excretion of cholegraphic agents. Pretreatment with phenobarbital decreases iodipamide bile excretion and increases iopanoate bile excretion (752). Cinchophen increases both biliary and urinary excretion of iophenoxic acid but has no effect on iopanoic acid (777). It has been reported recently that a high level of prostaglandin-like substance in the mucosa and muscle wall of gall bladder caused **nonvisual**ization of the gall bladder in cholecystography (781).

Urinary excretion is the principal means of elimination for diatrizoate, iothalamate, **met**rizoate, metrizamide, and other urographic agents (688, 767, 782, 783). Diatrizoate, iothalamate, and metrizamide were excreted in the urine of the rabbit to the extent of more than 80% 24 h after injection (768, 783–785). The total recovery including the amount excreted in feces 96 h after injection was about 91.5% of the dose for metrizamide, 93.8% for diatrizoate, and 86.0% for iothalamate (782).

The nonionic contrast media are highly hydrophilic. When given orally, iohexol is absorbed from normal bowel (785). In dogs, approximately 2% of the oral dose is absorbed and excreted in the urine within 6 h, and about 4% of the dose is absorbed and excreted in cats. Using ¹²⁵I-labeled iohexol, Mützel and Speck (267) found intestinal absorption to be about 2% of the intravenous dose given at 60 mg I/mL body weight to male rats. The urinary excretion from the rat was  $91.5 \pm 3.6\%$  of the administered dose of ¹²⁵I-labeled iohexol, and the fecal excretion  $6.8 \pm 2.7\%$  of the dose 24 h after intravenous injection. In the dog the urine contained  $81 \pm 9\%$  of the administered dose within 3 h after injection. Total recovery from urinary excretion in the dog during the 7 days after injection was  $98 \pm 4\%$  of the dose and total recovery from fecal excretion was  $0.95 \pm 0.45\%$ . Healthy volunteers excreted 84% of the dose in urine within 4 h and 100% of the dose within 24 h after intravenous injection at the rate of 25 mL/min of iohexol at a

solution concentration of 350 mg I/mL at one of the dose levels (i.e., 100, 200, 375, and 500 mg I/kg body weight) (733). Another group of healthy volunteers were administered iohexol at higher dose levels (i.e., 500, 750, 1000, and 1500 mg I/kg body weight) and excreted 92.3  $\pm$ 4.44% of the dose in urine 96 h after injection, with 89.9  $\pm$  7.0% of the dose appearing in urine within the first 12 h (758).

The biodistribution of ¹²⁵I-iobitridol was studied in rats using whole-body autoradiography (786). Radioactivity was found mainly in the kidneys, skin, and thyroid. The accumulation of radioactivity in the thyroid was attributed to free ¹²⁵I-iodide formed in radiolabeling. Iobitridol, a marker of extracellular fluid, was excreted totally in the urine by glomerular filration within 48 h after intravenous injection. The CNS showed no uptake. Bourrinet et al. (787) studied the excretion of iobitridol or iohexol in goat milk after an injected dose of 300 mg I/kg and found 0.7% of the administered dose in the milk for iobitridol, compared with 1.6% for iohexol. In the gestating rabbit concentrations of both contrast agents fell rapidly below the detection limit (0.2 mg I/mL) 180 min after injection. Concentrations in fetal plasma and amniotic fluid were not measurable up to 24 h for both contrast agents.

The excretion of nonionic iopamidol was studied in healthy subjects at several dose levels by use of two different solution concentrations of 200 and 300 mg I/mL, which were administered intravenously at a rate of 20 and 39 mL/min, respectively (760). Urinary elimination of iopamidol was rapid at all dose levels, with more than half of the dose excreted by the kidneys in the first 2 h after injection. Total urinary recovery within 72-96 h after injection was more than 90%, and the fecal recovery for the same period was about 1% of the administered dose. 14C-Labeled iopamidol was also included in this study for quantitation and the search for metabolic products of iopamidol, of which none was found. In dogs the urinary and fecal excretion of iopamidol at 72 h were 94.8  $\pm$  1.2 and 0.63  $\pm$  0.32%, respectively, of the injected dose at the dose level of 50 mg I/kg body weight. At a higher dose level of 200 mg I/kg, these excretions were 93.4  $\pm$ 1.5 and 3.17  $\pm$  1.39%, respectively (195). The excretion of another nonionic contrast medium ioversol, labeled with iodine-125, was studied in rats. The elimination of radioactivity from the blood was extremely rapid. Urinary excretion was 95.33% and fecal excretion was 3.8% of the administered dose within 48 h after intravenously injection. Urinary excretion of ioversol in healthy volunteers was complete at all dose levels within 24 h after intravenous administration (762). The excretion of a dimeric nonionic contrast agent iodixanol was investigated in healthy volunteers at four dose levels (i.e., 0.3, 0.6, 0.9, 1.2 g I/kg body weight). Within 24 h after injection, 97% of the dose was excreted unmetabolized in the urine and 1.2% in the feces (765).

These water-soluble contrast agents are excreted as rapidly as glomerular filtrate can be formed (688). Their elimination may be impaired by primary and secondary glomerular dysfunction or reduced renal blood flow that diminishes the filtration rate (788). After clearing the blood, the contrast medium in its passage down the nephron can affect the salt and water reabsorption in the proximal tubule and water reabsorption in the distal tubule. The osmotically active contrast medium can produce salt and water diuresis, and its presence in the nephron may still cause renal toxicity (789). In experimental animals (790) and in humans (688), the sodium salt of diatrizoic acid produces less diuresis than that of the megluminesalt. The renal extraction of p-aminohippurate is reduced by the contrast anion and the meglumine cation (791). Iodamide, an intravenous pyelographic agent, is rapidly and almost completely excreted in the urine; in patients with moderate to severe renal impairment, it is still excreted in the urine but at a much slower rate (792).

The excretion of contrast agent by the liver or the kidney is not exclusive; when either of these organs is in a dysfunctional or diseased state, heterotopic excretion by the other organ will occur to compensate for the impediment (688, 781, 783). In patients with renal failure or advanced renal disease, contrast media may still be used to produce nephrograms (689); if the tubular obstruction prevents the passage of urine along the nephron, back-diffusion of the contrast medium into the interstitial volume will occur (791,793,794). During the **pe**- riods of ureteric **stasis**, metrizarnide is excreted faster than diatrizoate, thus producing a higher urinary iodine concentration (685, 795). Extrarenal clearance of water-soluble contrast media is very low and can be practically neglected (796).

When suboccipitally injected, metrizamide was recovered in the urine and feces of rabbit, rat, and cat to the extent of more than 90% of the dose (787), similar to the recovery of iothalamate (797) and iocarmate (798) in dogs.

In **peroral** administration, metrizamide and diatrizoate are not well absorbed from the GI tract; the urinary recovery of both agents in the rabbit was below 5% of the administered dose, 24 h post-administration (767). The **non**ionic contrast media are highly hydrophilic and cannot cross the lipophilic cell membranes in the intestine to be absorbed **as** an oral dose. Iophendylate, when given to rats, guinea pigs, or rabbits, was eliminated from the body in **5** h (799). It was transported along the lymph system.

**6.5.1 2 Biotransformation.** Contrast media may be excreted either metabolized or unchanged, depending on their molecular properties. **McChesney** (800) has reviewed the subject of biotranformation of contrast media.

The fully substituted 2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acids used for angiography and urography have high water solubility and are stable chemically. Because of their low  $\mathbf{p}K_{\mathbf{a}}$  values, they are highly ionized at physiological pH. These contrast agents are poorly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and rapidly excreted unchanged within 5–6 h after intravenous injection (776). Their metabolic inertness is attributed to their inability to cross cell membranes and to penetrate liver microsomes to undergo biotransformation (800). Their rapid excretion is caused by the absence of tubular reabsorption, thus allowing as rapid an excretion as the glomerular filtrate can be formed. Diatrizoate (3,5-diactamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate) can be partially deacetylated to 3-amino-5-acetamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate (I) and 3,5-diamino-2,4,6-triiodobenzoate (II) by liver microsomes of the rabbit and guinea pig (801). The deacetylated products are rapidly excreted. In the urine of patients only the presence of (I) is confirmed.

In contrast to the **2,4,6-triiodobenzoic** acids, substituted alkanoic and alkoxyalkanoic acids containing a **2,4,6-triiodophenyl** or a **2,4,6-triiodophenoxy** group with open position 5, such as iopanoic acid, tyropanoate, **ioglycamic** acid, and iopronic acid, have both lipophilic and hydrophilic properties. These contrast acids have an acidity constant about two units higher than that of the **water**soluble, fully substituted **2,4,6-triiodobenzoic** acids (263) and are not completely ionized at the physiological pH. In the nonionized form, the contrast molecules can be absorbed and transported across cell membranes after oral administration.

The oral cholecystographic agents are in general more toxic than angiographic and **uro**graphic agents. Detoxification of the former may involve glucuronidation, N-acetylation, *O*-acetylation, esterification, deiodination, and hydrolysis. These metabolites appear in the bile and urine. The metabolites of many cholegraphic agents have been characterized to some degree but are not chemically identified.

Conjugation with glucuronic acid occurs with most oral cholecystographic agents before excretion. **Bunamiodyl** (802, 803), iodoalphionate (804, 805), iolidonic acid (806), iophenoxic acid (807–809), and tyropanoate (802, 803) are excreted as glucuronides. **Mc**-Chesney and Banks (803) showed that 90% of the contrast agents in the urine appeared as glucuronides. Because glucuronides are usually poorly reabsorbed from the intestine, glucuronidation can thus circumvent extensive enterohepatic recirculation of the contrast medium.

The fate of iophenoxic acid (809) and the efficacy of iopanoate (800, 802) are uniquely linked to glucuronidation. Iophenoxic acid is retained in the body over a period of many years after administration and is slowly excreted. It forms acyl and ethereal monoglucuronides and the diglucuronide. These glucuronides have the uncommon property of being freely lipid soluble and can undergo hepatic, intestinal, and renal tubular reabsorption. Wade et al. (809) pointed out that the rate of formation of glucuronide conjugates may be an important factor in the persistence of iophenoxic acid in the body. Iopanoate glucuro-
nide, when administered orally, gave no visualization of gall bladder but when injected intravenously yielded an excellent **cholecysto**gram 1 h after administration; however, an equivalent dose of iopanoate when injected required a delay of 8–24 h for an image of diagnostic quality to become apparent, indicating that the iopanoate was converted to **glucuro**nide before being excreted in the bile (800, 802).

Bornschein et al. (297, 810) reported the appearance of the unchanged iomeglamicacid, the methyl ester, the deiodinated derivative, the N-desmethyl derivative, the methyl ester of the latter derivative, the N-acetylated derivative, and the deiodinated methyl ester of iomeglamic acid in human urine 72 h after a 3 g dose. Lindner et al. (293) showed evidence of biotransformation of iobenzamate in the mouse, rat, and human, which involved conjugation with glucuronic acid, hydroxylation of the unsubstituted phenyl ring, or hydrolysis of the amide linkage, for example, but isolation and identification of the metabolic products were not carried out. Harwart et al. (286) studied the metabolic fate of ipodate and found that there was unchanged ipodate in the bile, and the major product exercted in urine was soluble in butanol. One of the metabolites was identified as 3-amino-2,4,6-triiodohydrocinnamic acid, a reduction product of ipodate.

The hexaiodinated dimeric intravenous cholangio-cholecystographic agents, such as iodipamide, ioglycamide, iodoxamate, and iotroxic acid, are excreted mainly unchanged (788, 776, 811-814). Strickler et al. (815) reported an unidentified metabolite of iodipamide, probably formed from hydrolysis of the amide linkage. Miitzel et al. (816), by use of ¹³¹I-labeled tracers, found that ioglycamide, iodoxamate, and iotroxic acid each yielded two urinary metabolites, one of which was more polar and the other less polar than the parent molecule. It was shown that neither of these two metabolites was a deiodinated product, and that the bile and plasma contained no metabolites. Pitre and Felder (817) reported three metabolites of iodoxamic acid in human urine, one of which was identified as  $3-[3(\alpha$ hydroxyethoxy)-propionamido]-2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acid, a product formed from symmetrical scission of the dimer.

Deiodination is not an important reaction in the biotransformation of contrast media, in spite of the presence of deiodase in the mammalian liver (818). The rat and pig liver, however, can convert 2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid into 2,5- and 3,5-diiodobenzoic acids (819-821). Iodoalphionate (822, 823), iothalamate (824), iodipamide, and ioglycamide (812) were reported to undergo deiodination to a small degree, never exceeding 1% of the dose. Because most organic iodine compounds are sensitive to light, the observed deiodination may be a result of both enzymatic reaction (821) and photolytic degradation (825). Wong (826) studied the kinetics of deiodination of the water-soluble radiopaques diatrizoate and iopamidol, and found that deiodination proceeds by a Cu(II)-catalyzed Sv1 mechanism and that the copper complexes specifically with the orthocarboxylic acid group. Nonionic iopamidol without the o-carboxylate group undergoes deiodination by SN2 mechanism involving hydroxyl ion, and the rate is extremely slow. Kinetic data show that the SN1 mechanism may still be participating in deiodination. Deiodination in both contrast agents is prevented by the presence of sodium edetate (0.04%).

Deiodination of contrast agents may affect the thyroid ¹³¹I uptake. Iodoalphionate (827, 828), iodipamide (827, 829), and iodopyracet (830) affect the thyroid uptake by a slow release of the iodide. In thyroid patients, the thyroid uptake returns to normal 4 days after the administration of acetrizoate, 58 days after iopanoic acid (831), and many years after iophenoxate (832). Iophenoxate binds avidly to plasma protein and is transported across the placental barrier as long as 5 years after administration. The cholecystographic agents may have a direct effect on the thyroid. Iodideinduced hyperthyroidism may result from ipodate administered for cholecystography (833) or from iophendylate injected for myelography (834). Intravenous administration of ioxitalamic acid to euthyroid patients increased their protein-bound iodine (PBI) and hormonal iodine levels, which returned to normal between 2 and 8 days (835).

# 6.6 Uses

Roentgenographic procedures requiring the use of radiopaques are listed in Table 10.10.

Table 10.10Uses of Contrast Agents:
Radiographic Procedures for Visualizing
Organs After Administration
of Contrast Agents

Procedure	Organs Visualized
Angiography	Blood vessels
Arteriography	Arteries
Aortography	Aortas
Arthrography	Joints
Bronchography	Lungs
Cholangiography	Gall bladder and bile
	ducts
Cholecystography	Gall bladder
Esophagography	Esophagus
Hepatography	Liver
Hepatolienography	Liver and spleen
Hysterosalpingography	Uterus and oviducts
Lymphography	Lymph nodes and vessels
Lymphadenography	Lymph nodes
Lymphangiography	Lymph vessels
Myelography	Spinal cord,
	subarachnoid space
Pelviagraphy	Pelvis
Phlebography	Veins
Pyelography	Kidney and ureter
Splenography	Spleen
Splenohepatography	Liver and spleen
Urography	Urinary <b>tract</b>
Venography	Veins
Ventriculography	Ventricles of the brain

Before the development of other medical imaging systems, the roentgenographic procedures listed in Table 10.10 were performed with radiocontrast agents. MRI with superparamagnetic contrast agents, ultrasonography with echogenic contrast agents, and nuclear medicine with radiopharmaceuticals, labeled with ¹¹C, ¹⁸F, ^{99m}Tc, and other shortlived radio-nuclides for example, are additional modalities for organ imaging and organ function studies. These systems have their own merits, and their use led to the replacement of some of the above roentgenographic procedures. Progress in medical instrumentation has brought CT, helical CT, and the multidetector-CT scanner into practice; these fast instruments greatly facilitate the use of radiocontrast agents. The textbook of contrast media by Dawson, Cosgrove, and Grainger (836), published in 1999, contains up-to-date discussions of X-ray contrast agents, MR contrast agents, and ultrasound agents for medical imrently available imaging techniques in their book are compared, to which the reader may refer. Illustrative examples of the use of radiocontrast media for some roentgenographic procedures, current or dated, are given below.

6.6.1 Computer-Assisted Tomography (CT). Unlike the conventional roentgenographic system in which the transmitted X-ray image is directly projected onto a fluorescent screen or a photographic plate, in the CT system an object is scanned with a narrow beam of Xrays from a multitude of angles, and the absorption values of the material contained within the object are computed from the X-ray transmission readings and presented as a series of pictures of slices of the object (837). The image reconstruction requires fast computing. The speed of the CT scanners has improved from the first-generation 4.5-min head-only scanner to the fourth-generation 2-s head or body scanner (838, 839). The ultrafast scanners that may be categorized as the fifth-generation X-ray CT scanners are necessary for the imaging of moving organs, such as the heart.

The first CT system was shown to be approximately 100 times more sensitive than the conventional X-ray system (837). Contrast enhancement in CT is measured in terms of a density unit. In the original article, water was arbitrarily set at a value of 0 unit; air, 500 unit; fat, 50 unit, and so forth. On this scale, a number of tissues in the body fell within 20 units above water or "4% window" in scan-This unit was later named the ning. Hounsfield Unit (HU) in honor of the author (840). Using HUs, air has a value of -1000, water a value of 0, and dense bone a value of +1000. The white tone on the picture represents dense material with enhanced contrast. Materials such as tumor will be less enhanced by the contrast medium because of limited blood supply and will appear hypodense, gray, or less white. Organs or tissues not contrast enhanced will appear black on the picture. A similar unit, known as the CT number, for measuring the image contrast or conspicuity, discussed by Dawson (836), is based on a com**parison** of the attenuation coefficient  $(\mu)$  of the region of interest (**ROI**) to that of water and is defined as:

$$CT Number = \frac{\mu_{ROI} - hater}{\mu_{water}}$$

The increase in density in HUs or CT numbers is linearly dependent on the iodine concentration (mgI/mL) of the injected contrast medium. CT has two advantages over projection radiography. One is the significant increase in contrast resolution and sensitivity, which reduces the contrast detection threshold, thereby allowing a lower level of concentration of contrast media to be administered; the other is the cross-sectional imaging, which permits successive visualization of structures without the superposition of other tissues to affect the image quality (632).

Computed tomography (CT) can detect small differences in X-ray absorption at approximately one-fifth, perhaps as much as one-eighth, of the concentration of contrast media, if one uses lower kilovolt (kVp) techniques, compared with that of conventional radiography (841). Contrast media for CT may be administered as bolus, or bolus followed by infusion (biphasic), or infusion alone (842, 843). The pharmacokinetics is such that within 1 min after bolus injection the contrast enhancement reaches maximum in the extravascular space, followed by a washout. Computer-assisted tomography has been applied to angiography, arteriography, cardioangiography, phlebography, and numerous other X-ray procedures. The sensitivity of CT to minimal density differences between tissues allows a variety of contrast agents, such as xenon, air, saline, particulates, microemulsions, liposomes, and iodinated oils, to be explored for contrast enhancement. These in combination with dynamic CT, in which conventional water-soluble nonionic iodinated contrast media are rapidly administered in incremental amounts, are powerful means in obtaining diagnostic information (92,844, 845).

**6.6.2 Spiral (or Helical) CT.** Conventional CT scans the body or organ volume by slices,

whereas spiral CT scans the patient continuously during a single breath hold, thus affording contiguity of slices and uninterrupted scanning information. The spiral geometry in CT scanning is achieved by continuously transporting the patient through the gantry in synchrony with continuous data acquisition over a multitude of 360" scans. Kalender et al. (846, 847) used a standard continuous rotating CT scanner that produces up to 12 consecutive 1-s scans and a modified table feed mechanism with a stepper motor to allow continuous transport of the patient at low, but accurately controlled, speeds (0.1–11.0 mm/s) during scanning. The images are mathematically reconstructed from the spiral geometry. Many physical parameters, such as spatial resolution, image uniformity, linearity, and contrast that determine the image quality of spiral CT, are not affected, but noise is slightly reduced and section sensitivity profiles are widened as a result of transport during scanning. In spiral CT the scan times for a complete volume are at a minimum, and the scannings are contiguous, independent of patient breathing and motion (847). Spiral CT provides speed, breath hold protocols for less motion, fewer geographic misses, and easier timing of contrast peak distribution (841). Hidajat et al. (848) showed that spiral CT can lead to a reduced radiation integral dose exposure to the patient compared with that of conventional CT.

6.6.3 Ionics versus Nonionics. Contrast media are foreign substances, just like other drugs, and thus when given in a large dose within a short period, adverse reactions, accompanied by delayed symptoms perhaps, will inevitably occur (849). McClennan (850) emphasized that mild and moderate reactions should be given recognition and response because a minor side effect may be a prelude to a more serious adverse reaction. Siegle (514) compared the rates of idiosyncratic reactions in patients receiving ionic and nonionic contrast agents and found that 4.4% of patients receiving ionic agents experienced a reaction as compared with 0.59% of patients receiving iohexol. The percentage of patients requiring treatment was 1.2% for ionic agents and 0.24% for iohexol. Patients receiving ionic agents plus steroids did not fare better. Cohen (851) reviewed the toxicity of nonionic contrast agents in children and found that moderately severe reactions occur less frequently with nonionic agents and that the incidence of adverse reactions in children and in adults appears to be similar, contrary to observations by others (553, 536, **630**).

Bettmann (852) discussed the safety and efficacy of iodinated contrast agents from the viewpoints of use, regulation, and adverse events and noted that an intra-arterial digital subtraction angiography of the pelvis and lower extremities performed with a contrast agent, diluted to an iodine content of 100 mg I/mL, yielded useful images for diagnosis. Dilution lowers the osmolality of contrast media and improves tolerance. Dean et al. (853)studied the effect of dilution of diatrizoate (ionic monomer), iopamidol (nonionic monomer), ioxaglate (ionic dimer), and iodecol (nonionic dimer) in a rat model at a dose of 500 mg I/kg administered at two different concentrations of 300 and 150 mg I/mL. The authors observed that the dilution of the contrast medium did not lower iodine tissue concentration, iodine distribution volumes, plasma volumes, or hematocrit, and should have no effect on CT contrast enhancement. Vergara and Sequel (630) found that warming ionic contrast agents to 35°C before injection significantly decreased the incidence of adverse reactions and that ionic contrast agents without a sodium cation caused significantly fewer reactions than with a sodium cation. According to these authors a nonionic, warmed contrast medium was the best option for the outpatient CT examination because no severe reactions resulted from its use.

The cost differential between ionic and nonionic contrast agents is substantial and is a consideration for cost containment in health maintenance. In 1994 in the United States this cost differential is estimated to be about 10- to 20-fold, and it is far smaller in Europe (852). The cost differential between nonionics and ionics has been reduced to 5 or 6 to 1 in 2002 in the United States, according to one of the reviewers of this manuscript. This reviewer also indicated that ionic contrast media are no longer administered intravenously, but used instead to fill lumens (i.e., bladders, fistulas, etc.).

6.6.4 Angiography. Methiodal sodium, sodium iodomethamate, and iodopyracet were the earliest water-soluble organic iodine compounds available for angiography (10). From the incidence of patient reactions and from laboratory investigations, it became evident that these compounds were not entirely suitable for angiography use. In about 1950, substituted triiodobenzoic acid derivatives were introduced as contrast agents (219,490). Acetrizoate was the first of the series introduced. followed by diprotrizoate and then by diatrizoate, iothalamate, metrizoate, iodamide, and ioxitalamicacid. Acetrizoate and diprotrizoate were found to have certain toxic effects but diatrizoate, iothalamate, and metrizoate were better tolerated and have found extensive use in angiography (490). Iodamide and ioxitalamic acid are widely used in Europe. Benton et al. (854) found that meglumine calcium diatrizoate is superior to meglumine diatrizoate and meglumine sodium diatrizoate. In 1970, dimers and trimers of contrast agents and nondissociable compounds were introduced for angiographic use (9). Newer agents such as iocarmic acid (bisiothalamate), iozomic acid, and tris(iothalamate), as well as the nondissociable metrizamide, have fewer side effects and are better tolerated. Metrizamide, the first-generation nonionic contrast medium, has been the choice for cardioangiography and coronary angiography (855). The low osmolality ionic ioxaglate and the second-generation nonionic iopamidol and iohexol are better tolerated than the ionic contrast media. with no measurable clinical disadvantage in diagnostic and therapeutic cardiac radiology, particularly in high risk patients (856). Coronary angiography with iopamidol is less painful and has fewer deleterious effects on myocardium metabolism and cardiovascular system than the ionic media (857–859).

6.6.5 Cholangiography. Intravenous cholangiography was introduced in 1954 as a radiographic technique in the diagnosis of biliary tract disease and is practiced in cases in which conditions causing obstruction to passage and resorption are present and prevent the use of oral cholecystography (737). The sole contrast agent used in the procedure in the United States is iodipamide, which is available as sodium and meglumine salts. The difference between the two salt forms is in the volume of the dosage required for examination, with the volume of meglumine salt less than that of sodium salt. Adverse reactions after a single bolus injection are reduced if the contrast medium is administered by **slow-in**fusion technique.

Many other cholangiographic agents are available. Brismar et al. (860) studied **ioglyc**amide or ioglycamic acid in relation to iodipamide. Ioglycamide is widely used in Europe and has an excellent contrast property for examinations of bile ducts after intravenous injection but offers no advantage over iodipamide in examinations of gall bladder. An intravenous cholangiographic agent, **iodox**amic acid, introduced in 1973, apparently has lower toxicity (190, 861).

Cholangiography agents are mostly dimers of triiodobenzoates, such as iodipamide, ioglycarnide, iodoxamate, iotroxate, and iosulamide, with high water solubility and high biliary excretion (862). Iosulamide with a fully substituted triiodophenyl ring was found experimentally to cause less severe reaction and more rapid opacification than iodipamide (323).

6.6.6 Cholecystography. Graham et al. in 1924 (863) obtained the first cholecystogram in dogs with tetrabromophenolphthalein. Tetraiodophenolphthalein was used for cholecystography until 1943, when iodoalphionic acid was introduced (175), which produced better radiographic visualization of the gall bladder with fewer toxic reactions. Its use was superseded by iopanoic acid, a substituted triiodobenzoic acid introduced in 1951 (864). Iopanoic acid is better tolerated and has a greater opacity than iodoalphionic acid. The N-butyryl derivative of iopanoic acid, tyropanoate, was introduced in 1963 and was found to be more readily absorbed from the GI tract than iopanoic acid. This compound, in addition to rapid oral absorption, gives excellent opacification of the gall bladder under conditions of clinical use and has a low incidence of side effects. Opacification with tyropanoate occurs with diagnostic quality on the 4-h film and the 8-h film in 64 and 78% of the patients examined, respectively (865,866).

A number of substituted **2,4,6-triiodoben**zoic acid derivatives were introduced as **chole**cystographic agents. Among them, **bunamio**dyl and iophenoxic acid were later withdrawn by the manufacturers because bunamiodyl caused renal shutdown and iophenoxic acid caused high protein-bound iodine values persisting over many years.

Ipodate, introduced in 1961, can yield visualization of both gall bladder and bile ducts. Tyropanoate, iopanoic acid, and ipodate are widely used in oral cholecystography. They show about the same efficacy but differ in the intensity of opacification, the frequency of dim and absent shadows, and the frequency of side effects. Russell and Frederick (867) compared these three agents but failed to demonstrate the superiority of any one of them. Iocetamic acid was favorably compared with and preferred to the above three agents, but skin reactions were reported in a few cases (775,868, 869).

**6.6.7 Myelography.** Oil-soluble and watersoluble contrast agents have been used in **my**elography. These agents are administered **in**tracisternally. The absorption of oily and water-soluble contrast media from the **sub**arachnoid space is completely different. The oily media remain in the subarachnoid space for years after injection, whereas the **water**soluble media are eliminated within a few days (799).

The water-soluble iodopyracet was introduced for myelography in 1931 (870). Because of the extreme irritant effects as well as occasional production of some long-term disabilities, it never gained wide use. Iodized oil Lipiodol was used for myelography with less irritation. Its aftereffects were avoided if the oily medium was removed by aspiration from the spinal canal (871). Iophendylate was introduced by Ramsey et al. (872) for myelography in 1944 and proved to be an excellent contrast medium for the entire spinal canal and the basal cisterns. Like the iodized oil, it had to be aspirated to avoid aftereffects (873). Arachnoiditis did develop in some cases in the subarachnoid space because of the presence of residual iophendylate.

Iothalamate meglumine was used for myelography in 1964. Melartin et al. (656) showed that meglumine and iothalamate ions are less neurotoxic than sodium and diatrizoate ions. The irritating effect of meglumine iothalamate is so slight that its use in myelography requires no spinal anesthesia (682). Iocarmic acid (i.e., dimerized iothalamate), with a higher iodine content and a lower toxicity than those of iothalamate, has been used in myelography (214, 874). Both iocarmic acid and iothalamate tend to be spasmogenic, causing clonic convulsions or muscular twitchings in the leg (875). Nonionic, water-soluble metrizamide was introduced for myelography in 1973 (876). It is less irritating than available myelographic agents and is capable of visualizingsmall structures such as nerve roots, root pockets, and blood vessels. Nonionic, watersoluble iopamidol causes fewer and less severe adverse reactions particularly in terms of behaviorial changes and compares favorably to metrizarnide (857). Iopamidol also induces less discomfort to the patients in cerebral angiography than iothalamate and diatrizoate (877).

**6.6.8 Urography.** Contrast agents rapidly excreted by the kidney are used in excretion urography. **Iopax,** or Uroselectan, was first introduced for urography in Germany in 1929. Many other agents such as methiodal sodium, hippuran (sodium oiodohippurate), sodium **io**domethamate, and iodopyracet were also introduced. These agents were the earliest available, and iodopyracet was the most widely used (490).

With the introduction of modern contrast agents beginning in about 1950, urography has been conducted by use of the **water-solu**ble acetrizoate, diatrizoate, iodamide, **iodip**amide, iothalamate. and metrizoate. These agents, because of their higher radiopacity and better tolerance, have superseded the earlier agents, although their individual toxicities vary. Among these, diatrizoate is the least toxic and the most favored in urography (**490**).

Contrast agents cause osmotic diuresis. Studies show that sodium diatrizoate is excreted in higher concentration in the urine than is meglumine diatrizoate because of resorption of sodium ions in the renal tubules. Benness (790, 878) reported a difference in roentgenographic quality in pyelograms in favor of sodium contrast agents. Dimeric and trimeric contrast agents with more iodine atoms per molecule improve the opacity of urine by their high iodine concen-

opacity of urine by their high iodine concentration and cause a decrease in osmotic **diure**sis. In sheep, these new large molecules produced smaller urinary solute output, less diuresis, and higher urinary concentration than the same parameters of diatrizoate (879, 880, 809). These agents are clinically useful.

Urine iodine concentration, after the injection of nonionic metrizamide. is about twice as high as after sodium diatrizoate injection. **Gol**man et al. (795) reported that during the periods of ureteric **stasis**, metrizamide was excreted faster than diatrizoate. Nonionic iopamidol reduces the incidence of adverse reactions in excretory urography and produces equal quality urograms with less iodine than diatrizoate (881).

## 7 MISCELLANEOUS AGENTS

#### 7.1 Perfluoroctyl Bromide

In addition to organic iodinated compounds, perfluorocarbons are also potential contrast agents. The least toxic one among them is **per**-fluoroctyl bromide ( $C_8F_{17}Br$ ), which has been introduced by Long et al. (882–884) for **bron**-chography, myelography, splenography, **lym**-phangiography, and special gastrointestinal studies requiring small volumes of nontoxic radiopaques.

Perfluoroctyl bromide (PFOB) has a high degree of chemical and physical stability and nonreactivity, a biologic inertness comparable to that of Teflon, a high oxygen solubility, and a low surface tension. Liquids with low surface tension wet surfaces readily and flow freely into tiny folds and orifices. This property in a contrast agent improves the quality of the roentgenogram. PFOB has a radiopacity about 50% of that of iothalamate, and may be administered as neat liquid or emulsions. Emulsions in normal saline can be prepared with the aid of the emulsifying agent Pluronic F-68. Perfluorocarbon emulsions have a non-Newtonian viscosity that can be varied over a very wide range by changing perfluorocarbon and surfactant concentrations and emulsifying technique (882,883).

Perfluoroctyl bromide, when given tracheally either as neat liquid or as a 10:1 emulsion, was cleared roentgenologically from the lung within 24 h. Evaporation and mucociliary clearance play an important role in the elimination of this radiopaque from the lungs. When the tissue samples were analyzed by gas chromatography, approximately 1% of the neat liquid and 8% of the emulsion were found still remaining in the tissue. The lungs had the largest amount, followed by the intestine, adipose tissue, and lymph nodes. When injected intrathecally into the dog, a dose of 0.5-1.0mL/kg caused no toxic manifestation. It is much less irritating than iodophendylate to the arachnoid tissue.

Perfluoroctyl bromide is especially useful roentgenographically for patients who are allergic to iodine compounds and who have had meningitis before myelography. Emulsions of PFOB have been investigated for contrast enhancement of tumors (845), lymph channels and nodes in animals (840), and as an arthrographic contrast agent in the knee joints of dogs and a human cadaver (885). The PFOB emulsion is less viscous and easier to inject than Ethiodol for lymphography. The high sensitivity of computed tomography to minimal density differences between tissues allows **PFOB** to be experimented in the rabbits for contrast enhancement of malignant neoplasma (886), reticuloendothelial systems (liver, spleen, and macrophages), and VX2 tumors (887), and in CT imaging of septic and aseptic arthritis (888). PFOB produces in CT prolonged opacification of the blood pool and subsequent selective enhancement of liver and spleen in the pig for days (889). The fluorocarbon causes no acute hemodynamic effect in comparison to ionic contrast media. The value for intravenously administered LD,, 48% PFOB emulsions in rats was found to be approximately 25 or 30 mL/kg, and the agent is eliminated as vapor from the organism through the lungs and skin (887). PFOB may activate the immune system and stimulate macrophage migration to the sites of infection and neoplasia. Information on details of the whole-body toxicity of PFOB and on the mechanisms of vacuole formation in macrophages has been scanty.

#### 7.2 Iodinated Particulate Suspensions

After bolus injection, water-soluble contrast media, routinely used in angiogrphy, are rapidly distributed throughout the intravascular space and diffuse across the capillary wall into the interstitial space. A brief time window exists for imaging the differential contrast between organs and adjacent tissues before nonspecific total body opacification occurs. In comparison, particulate contrast media are not hyperosmolar, remain longer in the intravascular space, and are specifically targeted to organs, such as blood pool, liver, and spleen (890). Particulate contrast media, when administered in the form of emulsions, liposomes, microcapsules, and nanocrystals, for example, exert no osmotic pressure and are rapidly taken up by the macrophages and the Kupffer cells in the reticuloendothelial (RE) system and accumulate in the liver and spleen. The RE system is saturable, and overflow from high doses will persist in the circulation. Particulate agents produce high contrast between normal and pathologic tissues at a fraction of the dose required of conventional agents and maintain the density difference for CT imaging over prolonged periods of time. The adverse effects of the particulates, including the clearance, the effect of long-term retention, Kupffer cell activation, disturbances in the microcirculation of the liver (891), and vacuoles in the RE cells (892), have yet to be further studied. Violante and Fisher (893) discussed the complexities and problems in designing and formulation of RE-selective contrast media. Later advances in producing liposomes and encapsulated vesicles entrapping water-soluble iodinated contrast media and other particulate suspensions are briefly mentioned below:

**7.2.1 Liposomes.** Liposomes are vesicles consisting of one or more bilayers of lipid encapsulating an aqueous core, carrying watersoluble contrast agents. The weight ratio of iodine to lipid (I/L ratio) is a measure of the amount of iodine per unit weight of lipid delivered to the target organ (894). For hepatic enhancement in CT this ratio needs to exceed 1:1 (895). The leakage and the I/L ratio of liposomes depend to a large extent on the lipid

components, the microemulsification process, and the nature of water-soluble contrast agent. Methods for producing **contrast-carry**ing liposomes may be categorized as (1) the microemulsification method using a high pressure microfluidizer (894, 896, 897), (2)the dehydration-rehydration method (891, 898), and (3) the reverse-phase evaporation method (899,901).

Cheng et al. (894) produced liposomes by microemulsification through use of a high pressure microfluidizer from a contrast agent and a mixture of egg phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylglycerol, and cholesterol in the molar ratio of 0.4:0.1:0.5. The liposomes carrying nonionic contrast agents have higher entrapment and weight ratio than those carrying ionic contrast agents; the decreasing order is as follows: iotrolan > metrizamide > io**hexol** > iopamidol > ioxaglate > diatrizoate > iodipamide. For diatrizoate the mean I/L ratio was  $0.062 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg/mg}$  and the entrapment value,  $0.12 \pm 0.02$  L/mole. The weight ratio for nonionic contrast agents increased significantly in the liposomes with increasing initial concentrations of the contrast agent. The leakage rate of encapsulated diatrizoate was over 20% in physiological saline. Encapsulated iohexol gave greater and more prolonged opacification of the liver and spleen than plain iohexol. Maximum contrast was reached within 30 min after injection and maintained for more than 60 min. The results indicated that osmotic pressure, charge, viscosity, and lipophilicity of contrast media might influence the encapsulation process.

Leakage of water-soluble contrast agents from the encapsulated liposomes can be eliminated, using an interdigited lipid phase consisting of hydrogenated soy phosphatidylcholine or distearoyl phosphatidylcholine to produce "interdigitation-fusion" (IF) vesicles. Janoff et al. (897) found that the IF vesicles carrying iotrolan, ioversol, ioparnidol, ioxaglate, and diatrizoate indeed have higher I/L ratios varying from 5.5 to 8.9, and vesicle sizes ranging from 1 to 5  $\mu$ m in diameter. Leakage by incubation of the liposomes in uitro with fetal calf serum at 37°C for 4-24 h showed that iotrolan and ioxaglate liposomes retained almost all of the iodine, whereas iopamidol and diatrizoate liposomes lost about 50 and 80% of

the encapsulated iodine, respectively. In dogs and rats, 1 h after injection at dose levels ranging from 25 to 250 mg I/kg, the liver retained an average of 93.7% of the injected ¹²⁵I-labeled iotrolan IF-vesicles and the blood retained less than 5% of the dose (895). At 24 h the initial dose in the liver fell to about 10% and decreased thereafter with a half-life of about 6 h. By 115 days, 0.2% of the initial dose still remained in the liver. The high liver uptake was attributed to less lipid in the IF-vesicles so that the RE system was not prematurely saturated.

Krause et al. (899,900) studied the characterization of iopromide liposomes, produced from a lipid mixture of phosphatidyl choline, cholesterol, and stearic acid at a molar ratio of **4:5:1** by a dehydration-rehydration method. The liposome had an average diameter of 0.5  $\pm$  0.1 pm. Encapsulation efficiency was between 30 and 40%, with an iodine-lipid (I/L) ratio of approximately 1. The iopromide-carrying liposomes had a leakage of 4.6% in rabbit plasma and 9.2% in human plasma in the 0- to 4-h period and a leakage of 9% in rabbit plasma and 20% in human plasma in the 0- to 24-h period. The LD, value of iopromide liposomes was approximately 3 g I/kg in rat and mouse. The pharmacokinetic parameters of the liposomes in rat, such as total clearance and terminal half-life, were dose dependent. The terminal half-life in blood was increased from 0.8 h for a 250 mg I/kg dose to 2.9 h for 1000 mg I/kg dose, suggesting a longer circulation of liposomes after higher doses. When the liposomes were given to rats at a dose of 250 mg I/kg by mouth, recoveries (% of dose) from excretion in 0-72 h were approximately 93% (feces) and 3% (urine); by subcutaneous injection, recoveries in 0-48 h: 7% (feces), 61% (urine), and 31% (injectionsite); by intramuscular injection, recoveries in 0–72 h: 9% (feces),69% (urine), and 6% (injection site). In day 7, a total of 0.36% of the administered dose was recovered in organs and tissues. Thus, iopromide-carrying liposomes proved to be stable and highly tolerable vesicles for the targeting to specific organs in animal model. Fifteen minutes after intravenous injection of 100 mg I/kg, rat blood showed the highest proportions of iodine, followed by the liver, the spleen, and the kidney. Significant proportions of iodine

were found only in the liver and spleen, after total clearance from the blood and the kidneys. In the rabbits with VX2 carcinoma, the iopromide liposome showed strong contrast enhancement of the liver. In the dog, interdigital injection of iopromide liposomes enhanced the contrast of ipsilateral lymph nodes (899). Ioxaglate-carrying liposomes with a lipid component consisting of egg phosphatidylcholine alpha-tocopherol had a mean liposomal diameter of 220 nm and an encapsulation efficiency of 85% and at larger doses  $(\geq 250 \text{ mg I/kg bw})$ , showed a 10-fold greater enhancement for the spleen than for the liver and a sustained intravascular contrast enhancement of the aorta (902).

Petersein et al. (903) evaluated in healthy rabbits two new liposomal contrast agents aimed at the reticuloendothelial system for liver CT: BR2 and BR21 (from Bracco Research SA, Geneva, Switzerland). Both are suspensions of iomeprol-containing liposomes in an iomeprol solution; BR2 has twice the liposome concentration of **BR21**, that is, 40 vs. 20 mg lipid/mL, at an iodine content of 260 vs. 320 mg I/mL, respectively. The liposomes are 0.4 mm unilamellar vesicles, made of a phospholipid bilayer surrounding an aqueous phase. The membranes consist of phospholipids (phosphatidyl choline and dipalmitoyl phosphatidic acid) and cholesterol in a 2:1 molar ratio. The authors studied the time course of contrast enhancement in liver CT with the liposomal contrast agents, by use of extracellular iomeprol at 300 mg I/mL as the control. In healthy rabbits, at doses of 1.5 mL/kg or greater, the two liposomal agents induce a significantly stronger and more prolonged enhancement of the liver than that of the extracellular iomeprol and provide a larger imaging window for optimizing CT examinations of the liver. Dick et al. (904) evaluated a new contrast agent, liposomaliodixanol(LI), made of a 1:1 mixture of 10% glucose and iodixanol (50% encapsulated iodixanol: 1 mL of that mixture contained 50 mg encapsulated iodine) for examinations of pyrogenic liver abscess in a rabbit model by CT. The experimental group of animals received the LI at a dose of 200 mg I/kg, and the control group received iopentol at a dose of 600 mg I/kg. Results showed that the LI exceeds the extracellular iopentol in

overall abscess contrast and duration of the diagnostic interval, in that the liposomal iodixanol gives higher hepatic vessel contrast and better abscess localization.

Activity of encapsulated liposomes is closely related to the method of preparation. Musu et al. (890) prepared large unilamellar vesicles  $(0.3-1 \mu)$  carrying iopamidol from phosphatidylcholine and dipalmitoylphosphatidic acid in a 9:1 ratio and iopamidol solution (300 mg I/mL) and extruded the vesicles through a polycarbonate membrane of different pore sizes  $(0.8-2.0 \mu)$ . Extrusion above the transition temperature (75°C) of the lipids reduced the average size and size distribution of the vesicles and increased their I/L ratio. Distribution studies of extruded and unextruded iopamidol-carrying liposomes in rats showed that extruded liposomes gave higher spleen uptake than did unextruded, whereas the liver uptake was comparable. Lung entrapment was significant with unextruded but almost eliminated with extruded liposomes.

After intravenous injection conventional liposomes are rapidly taken up by cells of the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS). The inclusion of glycolipids and hydrophilic polymers in the liposome membrane modifies the surface characteristics to evade the MPS system and increases the liposomal circulation time (905). Sache et al. (906) prepared iopromide-containing liposomes by the continuous high pressure extrusion method, and used the liposomes without prior removal of unencapsulated contrast agent for surface modification. The liposome membranes were made from soy phosphatidylcholine (SPC), cholesterol (CH), and soy phosphatidylglycerol (SPG) in a 6:3:1 (SPC/CH/SPG) molar ratio, and with the original lipid concentration at 120 mg/g total suspension. The liposome membranes were modified by inclusion of lipid derivatives of polyethylene glycol (PEG) by coating, simply carried out by mixing the preformed iopromide-containing liposomes with 5 mol % of either of the two coating agents (DSPE-PEG2000 or CHHS-PEG2000) for 16 h at room temperature with stirring. The DSPE-PEG coating increased the mean diameter of the vesicles to approximately 200 nm, probably attributable to aggregation and fusion of the vesicles, and decreased the zeta potential of the negative surface charge. The stability of the unmodified and surface-modified iopromide liposomes in human plasma was determined by equilibrium dialysis of a liposome/plasma mixture against the respective plasma to be stable over a period of 6 h. The biodistribution of modified and unmodified iopromide liposomes was studied in rats, and no significant differences in blood concentration could be found 1 h after injection between different formulations at a dose of 250 mg I/kg body weight, corresponding to 500 mg lipid/kg. Computed tomographic images were studied in rabbits. The unmodified and DSEP-PEGmodified liposomes displayed prolonged blood concentration with CT density differences above 70 HU units (aorta) for up to 20 min and proved to be useful for CT imaging, displaying favorable imaging properties.

Liposomes may also serve as a vehicle for carrying an oil-soluble contrast agent such as Ethiodol to the liver (907). To form Ethiodol liposomes, a chloroform solution of Ethiodol and a mixture of egg phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidic acid in a molar ratio of 7:1 and a chloroform solution of Ethiodol are mixed in a proportion of 3:2, followed by solvent evaporation and addition of water with stirring and sonication. The Ethiodol is contained within the liposomes, probably in the hydrophobic region. The liposomes have diameters of 0.015 to 0.2  $\mu$  and show rapid liver uptake in the rabbits and long retention times. Unlike the normal liver tissue the tumor tissue in the rabbits with implanted VX2 carcinoma accumulates no Ethiodol. The dose of Ethiodol liposomes needed for contrast enhancement of the liver is about 1/13th of that required of water-soluble diatrizoate.

Caride et al. (908)incorporated brominated phosphatidylcholine with or without cholesterol into brominated radiopaque liposomes. The liposomes were 1–5  $\mu$  in diameter and showed contrast enhancement of the liver in the dog 1 h after intravenous injection. A few hours after injection brominated liposomes were found inside the hepatocytes. Because the bromine atom is not as effective as the iodine atom in attenuating X-rays, a correspondingly large dose of the brominated liposomes had to be administered for imaging. No information on chemical characterization of brominated phosphatidylcholine or its fate and biotransformation was given.

Yang et al. (909) used poly(D,L-lactide), a polymer with molecular weight in the range of 5000–50,000 Da, for microcapsulation of ethyl esters of iopanoate and diatrizoate and Ethiodol by a solvent evaporation method. The microcapsules were about 1 µm in diameter. Particles of this diameter or smaller can safely traverse the pulmonary capillary bed to be available for the liver and Kupffer cell phagocytosis. In vivo microscopic examination revealed the activity of Kupffer cells phagocytizing the microcapsules. These particles were essentially macrophage-imaging agents. Microcapsules of all three contrast media increased the density of the liver in the rabbits. Maximum opacification of the liver parenchyma appeared 15–30 min after injection, leaving any focal hepatic lesions as defects.

7.2.2 **Emulsions.** Ethiodol may also be emulsified by mixing with a small amount of phospholipid as emulsifying agent (910). The oil droplets of size 2 to **3** microns in the emulsion are rapidly and efficiently taken up by the RE system of the liver. The imaging quality of ethiodol emulsions is comparable to that of ethiodol liposomes.

Microemulsions of a series of polyiodinated triglycerides (ITG), labeled with iodine-125 and processed in a microfluidizer, were investigated for their contrast enhancement of the liver and the tumor in normal and tumorbearing (Walker 256) rats, in rabbits bearing VX2 carcinoma, and in normal dogs in CT (911). The mean particle diameter of microemulsions was less than 300 nm. These preparations were stable and autoclavable. Thirty minutes after intravenous injection, from 66 to 78% of the injected dose remained in the liver of the rats. After 3 h the liver still retained from 46% to 93% of the dose. At dose levels ranging from 20 to 70 mg I/kg, the increase in density was reported to be about 40 HU in the rats. In a female pig, the contrast enhancement within 1 h of injection was 90 HU. The liver uptake of ITGs was partially dependent on the formulation vehicle, but the metabolism and clearance from the liver were dependent on the chemical structure and the alkyl chain length (911).

7.2.3 Particulates. Particulates are prepared from insoluble derivatives of contrast agents, finely milled to uniform size, and suspended in water in the presence of small amounts of surfactants and stabilizers. These particles have sizes between 200 and 400 nm in diameter and are referred to as nanoparticles. Nanoparticles can be formulated as blood-pool and liver-spleen CT contrast agents for injection at concentrations of 15-20% (w/ v), corresponding to 89–118 mg I/mL. The insoluble ethyl esters of ionic contrast media in nanoparticles will be taken up by the RE system upon injection and hydrolyzed by esterases into ethanol and water-soluble ionic contrast agent and excreted. Rubin et al. (912) prepared nanoparticles from the water-insoluble diatrizoate ethyl ester and investigated the effect of different types of surfactants on contrast enhancement of aorta, liver, and spleen in the rabbits, and used iohexol as comparator. In the presence of a high molecular weight nonionic polymeric surfactant, the nanoparticles produced excellent and prolonged enhancement of aorta and vena cava, but in the presence of a low molecular weight anionic nonpolymeric surfactant, the nanoparticles markedly opacified liver and spleen. This difference in targeting to different organs was attributed to the shielding of the nanoparticles from opsonization by the high molecular weight nonionic polymeric surfactant, causing a decrease in the uptake by the RE system. Gazelle et al. (913) tested more than 50 insoluble derivatives of diatrizoic acid, iothalamic acid, urokonic acid (acetrizoic acid), and metrizoic acid, formulated as nanocrystals for blood-pool and liver-spleen imaging. Most of these agents demonstrated either blood- or liver-dominant enhancement patterns in normal rabbits and rabbits with VX2 carcinoma. Some of the nanoparticles gave improved liver-to-lesion contrast compared to that of iohexol. The chemical identity of these insoluble derivatives was not divulged.

Violante et al. (914,915) prepared particles of iothalamate ethyl ester with a diameter of 2  $\pm$  1 pm by injecting a solution of ethyl iothalamate in dimethylformamide at a rate of

3 mL/min into a 5% aqueous solution of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), chilled to 0-2°C and circulated at a rate of 1000 mL/min. The particles precipitated out from solution as white suspensions after being warmed at 40°C for 30 min and were centrifuged at 3000g for 5 min, repeatedly washed with water, and resuspended in saline for injection. These particles were stable in normal saline and showed no particle aggregation when mixed with rat, rabbit, dog, or human serum but formed aggregates up to 80 pm in diameter in plasma. It was found that fibrinogen interacts with the particles, forming aggregates. Aggregation was prevented by preincubating the particles in human serum albumin before introducing them into plasma. The authors also found that in solution, iothalamate has a higher intravenous LD₅₀ value in mice than that of iodipamide (13–19 g/kg versus approximately 4 g/kg), whereas as nanoparticles, iothalamate ethyl ester has a lower intravenous  $LD_{50}$  by rapid injection in mice than that of iodipamide ethyl ester (550 mg I/kg versus 1200 mg I/kg). Lee et al. (916) noted that in computed tomographic portography bolus injections of iodipamide ethyl ester particles were consistent in detecting all the lesions in pathologic liver in a canine model. This demonstrated that cholegraphic agents could be used to produce particulate contrast agents.

Li et al. (917, 918) synthesized ioxilan carbonate by reaction of ioxilan with **carbonyldi**imidazole in **dimethyl** sulfoxide. The reaction is specific for nonionic contrast media, protecting all the hydroxyl groups in the molecule and rendering it water insoluble. The reaction is given on the following page.

The ioxilan carbonate particles were prepared as a contrast medium by solvent extract/ evaporation method. The preparation involved emulsification of a methylene chloride solution of the carbonate, removal of solvent, and washing and sizing the particles. The iodine content of the particles was 45%. The average diameter of the ioxilan carbonate particles was 1.1 pm, 95% of them ranging from 0.6 and 2.0  $\mu$ m. Electron microscopy showed the particle surface to be smooth, and the particles showed practically no aggregation when mixed with rat plasma. The LD₅₀ value for the ioxilan carbonate particles was 1.4 g I/kg for



Ioxilan

male and 1.2 g I/kg for female mice, correspondingto a particle mass of 3.1 and 2.6 g/kg body weight, respectively. Liver attenuation enhancement was 38 HU after intravenous injection of 200 mg I/kg of the carbonate particles in normal rabbits and rabbits with implanted VX2 carcinoma. Attenuation enhancement was dose dependent and increased with the dose. At a dose of 270 mg I/kg the attenuation enhancement was 110 HU. Liver enhancement reached maximum approximately 30 min after injection, and the spleen enhancement was many times higher than that of the liver. Tumors in the liver of rabbits bearing VX2 carcinomas were detected. Ioxilan carbonate particles were rapidly cleared from the blood. Opacification of the gallbladder and the kidneys was observed, indicating that the particles and their degradation products were excreted through hepatic and urinary pathways.

#### 7.3 iodinated Polymers

Soluble starch treated with ethylene oxide and iodinated with N-iodosuccinimide yields 6-iodoethylated starch (IES). The repeating unit of IES is shown in the following column.

Sako et al. (919) prepared two iodinated polymers, IES-200 and IES-40. IES-200 has an average molecular weight of 200,000 Da, an iodine content of 12.5%, a water solubility of 0.8 g/mL, and a CT number of 1510 HU. IES-40 has an average molecular weight less than 40,000 Da, an iodine content of 20%, a water solubility of 1.0 g/mL, and a CT number

Ioxilan Carbonate



of 1900 HU. Both preparations have biocompatible viscosity and osmolality, show no acute toxicity in mice at dose levels of 5 and 10 g/kg body weight, and also no serological toxicity at **5** g/kg in rabbits. On intravascular injection the iodinated ethylated starch is retained in the blood for a considerable length of time with minimum leakage from the capillary wall. On intraparenchymal injection the iodinated starch opacifies the regional lymph nodes. The iodinated soluble starch is a potential contrast agent for blood-pool and vascular bed opacification and for indirect lymphography.

Other polymers have also been investigated as blood-pool contrast agents. Revel et al. (920) used an iodinated polymer consisting of a carboxymethyldextran with a triiodinated benzoic acid substituent. The iodinated polymer had a mean molecular weight of 32,000 Da, ranging from  $10^3$  to  $10^6$  Da and contained 24 mg I per 100 mg of powder. An intravenous

solution for injection had an iodine concentration of 8.7% with an osmolality of 560 mOsm/ kg. This iodinated polymer enhanced the contrast differentially, up to 10 min, between normally perfused and ischemic liver and showed blood-flow differences at the capillary level in normal rabbits and rabbits suffering segmental portal ischemia. The polymeric material, because of its high molecular weight, was confined to the vascular space and was able to achieve vascular enhancement with about one-fourth of the iodine concentration required for diatrizoate, a water-soluble contrast agent. Doucet et al. (921) also reported the use of an iodinated carboxymethyldextran containing an unidentified triiodinated benzoic acid substituent group of a molecular weight of about 32,000 Da as a blood-pool Xray contrast agent. Lautrou et al. (922) studied the pharmacokinetics of iodinated polymer P509 (mol. wt., 47,000) as a blood-imaging product and compared it with ioxaglate. The iodinated polymer P509 showed a considerably higher plasma concentration, a lower urinary excretion, a considerably lower biliary excretion, and an elimination half-time twice as long as that of ioxaglate. These studies demonstrate that iodinated polymers are potentially useful blood-pool contrast agents.

The above-mentioned blood-pool contrast media are polymers into which are grafted iodinated groups, ranging widely in molecular size and prone to be antigenic. As an alternative, Sovak et al. (923) proposed and synthesized blood-pool radiopaque polymers by copolymerization of triiodinated isophthalmic acid species containing acrylic or methacrylic acid groups with a nonradiopaque component consisting of acrylic or methacrylic acids, with or without their hydroxylated amides to form polymers of about 50,000 in molecular weight. These polymers with suitable physicochemical properties, intravenous tolerance, and the capability of being excreted were selected and further linked by biodegradable bis-acrylic linkages to form large polymers, in excess of 50,000 in molecular weight. These polymers were uniform in size as compared to the grafted radiopaque polymers and were biodegradable and excretable after degradation. The molecular configuration of these polymers is such that they contain extended hyRadiopaques

drophobic regions and triiodophenyl rings with carboxylic acid groups, which is contrary to the design theory so successfully applied to the design of nonionic radiopaque agents. The authors remarked that in view of this observation, the development of radiopaque polymers may need to proceed on a trial-and-error basis.

# REFERENCES

- F. W. Wright and G. M. Arden in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Vol. **II**, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 551.
- I. Meschan, Analysis of Roentgen Signs in General Radiology, Vol. I, W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia, 1973, pp. 16, 39.
- 3. W. C. Roentgen, *Radiology*, 45, 428 (1945).
- 4. W. C. Roentgen, *Radiology*, 45, 433 (1945).
- E. U. Condon in E. U. Condon and H. Odishaw, Eds., *Handbook* of *Physics*, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1958, pp. 7–118.
- 6. B. G. Harvey, *Introduction to Nuclear Physics and Chemistry*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1969, pp. 320-325.
- 7. R. D. Evans, *The Atomic Nucleus*, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1955, p. 711.
- W. H. McMaster, N. K. DelGrande, J. H. Mallet, and J. W. Hubble, *Compilation* of *X-Ray Cross Sections*, U.C.R.L. 50174, Sections I-III. 1969.
- 9. S. K. Hilal, Invest. Radiol., 5,458 (1970).
- H. W. Fischer, *Med. Prog. Technol.*, 1, 131 (1972).
- E. C. Lasser in A. R. Margulis and H. J. Burhenne, Eds., *Alimentary Tract Roentgenol*ogy, 2nd ed., C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1973, p. 127.
- P. C. Johns and M. Yaffe, *Phys. Med. Biol.*, 32, 675 (1987).
- F. E. Carroll, J. W. Waters, W. W. Andrews, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 29, 266 (1994).
- F. E. Carroll, J. W. Waters, R. R. Price, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, 465 (1990).
- R. Shapiro and D. Papa, *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, 78, 756 (1959).
- J. A. Nadel, W. G. Wolfe, and P. D. Graf, *Invest. Radiol.*, 3,229 (1968).
- J. A. Nadel, W. G. Wolfe, P. D. Graf, et al., *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 283,281 (1970).
- R. B. Dilley and J. A. Nadel, Ann. Otol. Rhinol. Laryngol., 79, 945 (1970).

- 19. G. L. Burke, Can. Med. Assoc. J., 43, 125 (1940).
- 20. A. R. Koontz and R. L. Kimberly, Ann. Surg., 137,833 (1953).
- **21.** G. W. H. Schepers, Arch. Ind. Hyg. Occup. *Med.*, 12, 121 (**1955**).
- 22. R. G. Vieth, G. T. Tindall, and G. L. Odom, J. Neurosurg., 24,514 (1966).
- 23. L. H. Edmunds Jr., P. D. Graf, S. S. Sagel, and R. H. Greenspan, *Invest. Radiol.*, 5,131(1970).
- 24. G. Gianturco, B. Ruskin, F. R. Steggerda, and T. Takeuchi, Radiology, 102, 195 (1972).
- 25. J. A. Nadel, W. J. Dodds, H. Goldberg, and P. D. Graf, Invest. Radiol., 4, 57 (1969).
- 26. W. J. Dodds, H. I. Goldberg, S. Kohatsu, L. J. McCarthy, et al., Inuest. Radiol., **5**, **30** (1970).
- R. B. Schlesinger, R. D. Schweizer, T. L. Chan, A. F. Keegan, et al., Invest. Radiol., 10, 115 (1975).
- 28. N. K. Blank, E. W. L. Fletcher, and R. J. Steckel, Invest. Radiol., 5,250 (1970).
- 29. U. Cegla, Ger. Pat. 2,151,706 (May 3, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 79, **4581r** (1973).
- 30. D. A. Weyel, T. C. Lee, and M. Corn, Invest. Radiol., 9,284 (1974).
- 31. D. A. Weyel and M. Corn, Invest. Radiol., 10, 500 (1975).
- 32. T. Upham, L. S. Graham, R. J. Steckel, and N. Poe, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 111,690 (1971).
- 33. J. A. Nadel and S. W. Clarke in W. H. Walton, Ed., Inhalation Particles III, Vol. 1, Unwin, Surrey, UK, 1971, p. 43.
- 34. F. P. Stitik, D. L. Swift, and D. F. Proctor in R. F. Johnstone, Ed., Pulmonary Care, Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia/New York, 1973, p. 35.
- 35. D. P. Link, F. A. Mourtada, J. Jackson, K. Blashka, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, 746 (1994).
- 36. W. H. Strain in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. I, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 1.
- 37. M. Rubin and G. D. Chiro, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78, 764 (1959).
- 38. R. M. Nalbandian, W. T. Rice, and W. O. Nickel, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78, 779 (1959).
- 39. R. L. Swarm in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. II, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 431.
- 40. R. Georg, W. W. Roeck, and E. N. C. Milne, Invest. Radiol., 8,333 (1973).

- 41. F. Heitz and L. Hoechstetter-Heitz, J. Radiol. Electrol. Med. Nucl., 55, 168 (1974).
- 42. E, N. Sargent and R. Sherwin, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 113, 660 (1971).
- 43. *H.W. Fisher, Invest. Radiol.*, 15 (Suppl.), S148 (1980).
- 44. E. H. Frei, E. Gunders, M. Pajewsky, W. J. Alkan, and J. Eschar, J. Appl. Phys., 39, 999 (1968).
- 45. M. Sugimoto, T. Watari, N. Watanabe, M. Tobe, and H. Takizawa, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 13, 63 (1974).
- 46. *C. Bachem and H. Giinther*, **Z.** *Rontgenkunde*, 12,369 (1910).
- 47. R. E. Miller, Radiology, 84,241 (1965).
- J. P. Revill in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. II, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 345.
- 49. W. Dihlmann and L. Hering in P. Dawson and W. Clauss, Eds., Contrast Media in Practice, Springer-Verlag, NewYork, 1993, p. 176.
- 50. D. D. Patton, Inuest. Radiol., 29,472 (1994).
- 51. R. E. Miller, J. Skucas, M. R. Violante, and M. E. Shapiro, Radiology, 117, 527 (1975).
- 52. J. R. Brown, Radiology, 81, 839 (1963).
- 53. A. M. James and G. H. Gaddard, Pharm. Acta Helu., 46, 708 (1971).
- 54. G. Embring and 0. Mattsson, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 7, 245 (1968).
- P. G. Embring and P. O. Mattsson, Swed. Pat. 216,066 (Oct. 17, 1967); Chem. Abstr., 70, 60842f (1969).
- 56. A. Nagami and T. Takamatsu, Jpn. Pat. 70: 34,160 (Nov. 2, 1970); Chem. Abstr., 74, 67704d (1971).
- 57. K. Daigo and S. Okuyama, Jpn. Pat. 72:03,753 (Feb. 1, 1972); Chem. Abstr., 76, 131497j (1972).
- **58.** *K. Kikuchi and K. Daigo, U.S. Pat.* 3,689,630 (*Sep.* 5, 1972); *Chem. Abstr.*, 77, **168616**u (1972).
- 59. Fr. Pat. 2,200,020 (April 19, 1974) to Sakai Chemistry Industry Co.; Chem. Abstr., 83, 84851c (1975).
- 60. *M. Lungeanu and V. Economu, Oncol. Radiol.,* 9,511 (1970);*Chem. Abstr.,* **76**, 90013c (1972).
- **61.** J. G. Clement, J. Can. Assoc. Radiol., 20, 106 (1969).
- 62. K. Nishizawa and K. Umezawa, Jpn. Pat. 73: 28,045 (Aug. 29, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, 52402d (1974).

- 63. N. Karasawa, Nippon Igaku Hoshasan Gakkai Zasshi, 30, 237 (1970); Chem. Abstr., 74, **34612u** (1971).
- 64. M. Buffetaut, Fr. Pat. CAM 0255 (April 21, 1969);Chem. Abstr., 77, 9586t (1972).
- 65. H. Hagstam, Swed. Pat. 218,439 (Jan. 23, 1968);Chem. Abstr., **71, 33392y** (1969).
- 66. Fr. Pat. M 3,723 (Jan. 10, 1966) to Aktiebolag Astra, Apotekarnes Kemiska Fabriker; Chem. Abstr., 66, 88653m (1967).
- 67. K. Daigo, K. Oda, and S. Okuyama, Ger. Pat. 2,304,690 (Aug. 4, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 81, 6274m (1974).
- 68. K. Daigo and S. Okuyama, Jpn. Pat. 73:24,248 (July 19, 1968); Chem. Abstr., 80, 52393b (1974).
- 69. M. Buffetaut, Fr. Pat. M 6,098 (July22,1968); Chem. Abstr., 71, **128776r** (1969).
- 70. A. Nagami, Jpn. Pat. 74:38,816 (Oct. 21, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 83, 33082v (1975).
- 71. T. Hirohashi and S. Takai, Jpn. Pat. **73:07,763** (Mar. 8, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, **30724h** (1974).
- 72. S. E. Schwartz, H. W. Fischer, and A. J. S. House, Radiology, 112, 727 (1974).
- 73. Y. Naol, Jpn. Pat. 74:30,526 (Mar. 19, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 81, 54466x (1974).
- 74. M. Pajewski, J. Eschar, and A. Manor, Clin. Radiol., 26,491 (1975).
- 75. M. A. Ziervogel, G. T. McCreath, R. Weir, and
  O. P. Fitzgerald-Finch, Clin. Radiol., 24, 302 (1973).
- 76. N. Takai, Jpn. Pat. **73:40,728** (Dec. 6, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 82, **21833g** (1975).
- 77. H. Wang, F. Hou, and G. Ding (to Famingz Huanli Shenqing Gonkai Shumingshu), Chin. Pat. 1,084,766 (April6,19941, Chin. Pat. Appl. 92,111,017 (Sep. 28, 1992); Chem. Abstr., 122, 64323c (1995).
- J. G. M. Bullowa and C. Gottlieb, J. Med. Sci., 160, 98 (1920).
- 79. C. M. Nice, W.W. Waring, D. E. Killelea, and L. Hurwitz, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 91, 564 (1964).
- 80. J. H. Shapiro and H. G. Jacobson, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78,966 (1959).
- 81. A. R. Margulis in A. R. Margulis and H. J. Burhenne, Eds., Alimentary Tract Roentgenology, 2nd ed., C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1973, p. 271.
- 82. C. Kaestle, Fortschr. Ceb. Roentgenstrahl., 11, 266 (1907).

- 83. A. Miihler, X. Zhang, H. Wang, R. Lawaczeck, and H. Weinnman, Invest. Radiol., 30, 98 (1995).
- 84. S. Tanaka, Y. Mochizuki, T. Uchikawa, and T. Yamane, Radioisotopes, 20, 127 (1971), Chem. Abstr., 75, 72091b (1971).
- 85. S. Suzuki, Y. Kawasaki, H. Kobayashi, M. Tobe, and Y. Ikeda, Eisei Shikenyo Hokoku, 91, 19 (1973), Chem. Abstr., 81, 99386n (1974).
- M. Sugimoto, K. Daigo, S. Okuyama, M. Harada, S. Hirota, M. Kuroda, and S. Fuijii, Jpn. Pat. 73:61,623 (Aug. 29,1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, 19606a (1974).
- 87. S. Takai and N. Karasawa, Jpn. Pats. 73:24,247 and 73:24,246 (July 19, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, 52401c and 52392a (1974).
- 88. Brit. Pat. 1,174,366 (Dec. 17, 1969) to Yeda Research and Development Co.; Chem. Abstr., 72, 59097b (1970).
- 89. M. Sugimoto, Ger. Pat. 2,065,532 (May 16, 1974);Chem. Abstr., 81, **54439r** (1974).
- E. H. Frei, S. Yerushalmi, and Y. Benmair, Brit. Pat. 1,339,537 (Dec. 5, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, 87530w (1974).
- 91. T. Hoshino, K. Daigo, S. Okuyama, M. Harada, et al., Jpn. Pat. 74:132,226 (Dec. 18, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 82, 145011g (1975); Jpn. Pat. 74:132,227 (Dec. 18, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 83, 84897x (1975).
- 92. C. Zwicker, M. Langer, and U. Keseke, Invest. Radiol., 26, S162 (1991).
- 93. J. L. Bloom and J. Wondergem, Radiology, 171,578 (1989).
- 94. S. A. Schmitz, S. Wagner, G. Schuhmann-Giampier, and K. J. Wolf, Invest. Radiol., 30, 644 (1995).
- 95. T.Watanabe in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., New Dimensions of Contrast Media, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, pp. 165–176.
- 96. R. B. Lauffer, Chem. Rev., 87, 901 (1987).
- 97. R. B. Lauffer, Invest. Radiol., 25, S32 (1990).
- 98. D. H. Carr in D. H. Carr, Ed., Contrast Media, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1988, pp. 212-221.
- 99. L. Josephson, J. Lewis, P. Jacobs, P. F. Hahn, and D. D. Stark, Magn. Reson. Imaging, 6, 647 (1988).
- 100. Y. Anzai, S. McLachlan, M. Morris, R. Saxton, and R. Lukin, AJNR, **15**, 87 (1994).
- 101. R. N. Muller, P. Vallet, F. Maton, A. Roche, et al., Invest. Radiol., 25, S34 (1990).
- 102. 0. Clement, E. Schouman-Claeys, and G. Frija, Invest. Radiol., 25, S61 (1990).

والمتحد والمحافظ والمحافظ فالمحافظ فالمحافظ والمحافظ والمحا

n és

- 103. R. Weissleder, P. Reimer, A. S. Lee, J. Wittenberg, and **T.J.** Brady, AJR, 155, 1161 (1990).
- 104. G. Frija, **O. Clément**, and E. de Kerviler, Invest. *Radiol.*, 29, S75 (1994).
- 105. P. Vassallo, C. Matei, W. Heston, S. J. McLachlan, J. A. Koutcher, et al., Invest. *Ra*diol., 30,706 (1995).
- 106. P. Vassallo, C. Matei, W. D. W. Heston, S. J. McLachlan, J. A. Koutcher, and R. A. Castellino, Radiology, 193, 501 (1994).
- 107. Y. Anzai, K. E. Blackwell, S. L. Hirschowitz, et al., Radiology, 192, 709 (1994).
- 108. H. W. Fisher, Invest. *Radiol.*, 25, S77 (1990) [Discussion].
- 109. E. Schulze, J. T. Ferrucci Jr., K. Poss, L. LaPointe, A. Bogdanova, and R. Wessleder, Invest. Radiol., 30, 604 (1995).
- 110. D. L. Rubin, H. H. Muller, S. W. Young, W. A. Hunke, and W. G. Gorman, Invest. Radiol., 29, 81 (1994).
- 111. H.-J. Weinmann, R. C. Brasch, R. C. Press, G. E. Wesbey, AJR, 142,619 (1984).
- 112. S. C. Wang, D. L. White, J. M. Pope, and R. C. Brasch, Invest. Radiol., 25, S44 (1990).
- USP Dictionary of USAN and International Drug Names, 2000, U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention, Rockville, MD, 2000, p. 328.
- 114. **M**. F. Tweedle, P. Wedeking, and K. Kumar, Invest. Radiol., 30, 372 (1995).
- 115. P. B. Dean, P. Niemi, L. Kivisaari, and M. Kormano, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S258 (1988).
- 116. S. J. McLachlan, S. Eaton, and D. N. de Simone, Invest. Radiol., 27, S12 (1992).
- 117. T. Staks, G. Schuhmann-Giampieri, T. Frenzel, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, 709 (1994).
- 118. U. Schmiedl, M. Organ, H. Paajanen, R. C. Brasch, et al., Radiology, 162,205 (1987).
- 119. R. C. Brasch, Invest. Radiol., 25, S77 (1990) [Discussion].
- 120. R. C. Brasch, D. V. Shames, F. M. Cohen, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, **S8** (1994).
- 121. R. C. Brasch. Y. Berthezene, V. Vexler, M. Mosley, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S42 (1991).
- 122. D. Meyer, M. Schaefer, A. Bouillot, S. Beauté, and C. Chambon, Invest. Radiol., 26, S50 (1991).
- 123. S. L. Fossheim, J.-M. Colet, S. Måsson, et al., Invest. Radiol., 33,810 (1998).
- 124. G. W. Kabalka, M. A. Davis, E. Buonocore, et al., Invest. Radiol., 25, S63 (1990).

- 125. M. B. Inoue, P. **Oram**, M. Inoue, Q. Fernando, et al., Magn. *Reson*. Imaging, 12,429 (1994).
- 126. J. A. Varadarajan, S. P. Crofts, J. F. Carvalho, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, S18 (1994).
- 127. S. Aime, M. Botta, G. Ermondi, F. Fedeli, and F. Uggeri, Inorg. Chem., 31, 1100 (1992).
- 128. D. Meyer, M. Schaefer, and D. Doucet, Invest. Radiol., 25, S53 (**1990**).
- 129. D. H. White, R. Rajagopalan, **K.-T**Kuan, et al., Invest. Radiol., 25, S56 (1990).
- 130. G. Vittadini, E. Felder, C. Musu, and P. Tirone, Invest. Radiol., 25, S59 (1990).
- 131. E. Unger, C. Tilcock, Q. F. Ahkong, and T. Fritz, Invest. Radiol., 25, S65 (1990).
- 132. R. S. Ranganathan, M. Fernandez, S. I. Kang, et al., Invest. Radiol., 33, 779 (1998).
- 133. J. Casper, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 527 (1967).
- 134. R. J. Carrigan, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145,530 (1967).
- 135. E. Moniz, Die Cerebrale Arteriographie und Phlebographie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1940, p. 413.
- 136. N. P. Leach (Council on Pharmacy and Chemistry), J. Am. Med. Assoc., 99, 2183 (1932).
- 137. W. T. Kabisch, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 676 (1967).
- 138. R. D. Evans, The Atomic Nucleus, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1955, p. 518.
- 139. H. E. McMahon, A. S. Murphy, and M. I. Bates, *Am. J.* Pathol., 23,585 (1947).
- 140. J. D. Abbatt, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 767 (1967).
- 141. S. Dahlgren, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 718 (1967).
- 142. M. Faber and C. Johansen, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145,755 (1967).
- 143. J. B. Hurch, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 634 (1967).
- 144. W. S. S. Jee, N. L. Dockum, R. S. Mical., J. S. Arnold, et al., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 660 (1967).
- 145. H. L. Kahn, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 700 (1967).
- 146. J. da S. Horta, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145,676, 776,830 (1967).
- 147. W. Wenz, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 145, 806 (1967).
- 148. R. I. Swarm, E. Miller, and H. J. Michelitch, Pathol. *Microbiol.*, 25, 27 (1962).
- 149. F. A. D. Heitz, Ger. Pat. 2,361,143 (June 20, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 81, 82378p (1974).

- **150.** H. W. Fischer, *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, 23, 13 (1969).
- **151.** M. M. A. Guerbet, Fr. Pat. M 4,523 (Nov. 28, 1966); *Chem. Abstr.*, 68, **29266f** (1968).
- 152. F. S. Hom, J. Autian, A. N. Martin, J. E. Berk, et al., J. Am. Pharm. Assoc. Sci. Ed., 46, 254 (1957).
- 153. M. Guerbet and G. Tilly, Fr. Pat. M 4,986 (June 21, 1968); *Chem. Abstr.*, 71, 33398e (1969).
- 154. M. Vermess, R. H. Adamson, J. L. Doppman,
  A. S. Rabson, et al., *Radiology*, 110, 705 (1974).
- 155. B. T. Arbaeus, O. B. Ferno, and T. O. E. Linderot, Ger. Pat. 1,617,275 (May 13, 1971); *Chem. Abstr.*, 75, 52800d (1971); U.S. Pat. 3, 356, 575 (Dec. 5, 1967); *Chem. Abstr.*, 68, 33205c (1968).
- 156. G. Fritsch., R. Voigt, and M. Luening, *Pharmazie*, 25, 248 (1970).
- 157. L. K. Thompson111 and W. G. Anlyan, Surg. Gynecol. Obstet., 121, 107 (1965).
- 158. P. R. Koehler, W. A. Meyers, J. F. Skelley, and B. Schaffer, *Radiology*, 82, 866 (1964).
- 159. D. M. Seitzman, R. Wright, F. A. Halaby, J. H. Freeman, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther., 89,140 (1963).
- 160. *Y*. Miyamoto, T. Tsujimoto, K. **Iwai**, K. Ishida, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 30, 538 (1995).
- 161. Z. Kan, P. A. McCuskey, K. C. Wright, and S. Wallace, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29, 990 (1994).
- 162. M. Vermess, R. H. Adamson, J. L. Doppman, A. S. Rabson, et al., *Radiology*, **119**, **31** (1976).
- 163. J.-N. Bruneton, P. Kerboul, C. Grimaldi, F. Normand, et al., *Gastrointest. Radiol.*, 13, 45 (1988).
- 164. T. Konno, *Eur. J. Cancer*, 28,403 (1992).
- 165. M. R. Soules and L. R. Spadoni, *Fertil. Steril.*, 38, 1 (1982).
- 166. S. B. Goodman, M. S. Rein, and J. A. Hill, *Fertil. Steril.*, 59, 1022 (1993).
- 167. S. Lindequist, P. Justesen, C. Larsen, and F. Rasmussen, *Radiology*, 179, 69 (1991).
- 168. F. Rasmussen, S. Lindequist, C. Larsen, and P. Justesen, *Radiology*, 179, 75 (1991).
- **169.** K. Kishi, T. Sonomura, M. **Satoh**, N. Nishida, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 29,882 (1994).
- 170. T. W. Morris, *Radiology*, 188, 11 (1993).
- 171. M. Sovak, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29 (Suppl. 1), S4 (1994).
- 172. R. G. Grainger, Br. J. Radiol., 55, 1 (1982).
- 173. A. Binz, J. Urol., 25, 297 (1931).

- 174. E. A. Graham, W. H. Cole, G. H. Copher, and S. Moore, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 86,467 (1926).
- 175. M. Dohrn and P. Diedrich, *Deutsch. Med. Wochenschr.*, 66, 1133 (1940).
- 176. V. H. Wallingford, J. Am. Pharm. Assoc., Sci. Ed., 42, 721 (1953).
- 177. T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 15, S283 (1980).
- **178.** T. Almén, *Invest. Radiol.*, 20 (Suppl.), S2 (1985).
- 179. S. Archer, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78, 720 (1959).
- 180. G. B. Hoey, P. E. Wright, R. D. Rands Jr. in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Vol. *I*, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 23.
- 181. T. Almén, J. Theor. Biol., 24, 216 (1969).
- 182. T. Almén in I. Enge and J. Edgren, Eds., Patient Safety and Adverse Events in Contrast Medium Examinations, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam/New York/Oxford, 1988, pp. 25-45.
- **183.** H. Holtermann, *Acta Radiol.*, *Suppl.*, 335, 1 (1973).
- 184. S. Salvesen, *Acta Radiol.*, *Suppl.*, 335, 5 (1973).
- 185. M. Sovak, B. Nahlovsky, J. H. Lang, and E. C. Lasser, *Radiology*, 117, 717 (1975).
- 186. F. L. Weitl, M. Sovak, and M. Ohno, J. Med. Chem., 19,333 (1976).
- 187. R. E. Gonsette, Acta Radiol. Suppl. (Stockh.), 335, 25 (1973).
- 188. L. Bjork, J. Eriksoh, and B. Ingelman, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 107, 637 (1969).
- 189. E. Felder, D. Pitré, L. Fumagalli, and E. Lorenzotti, *Farm. Ed. Sci.*, 28, 912 (1973).
- 190. J. Rosati, P. Schiantarelli, and P. Tirone, *Farm. Ed. Sci.*, 28,996 (1973).
- 191. L. Bjork, U. Erikson, and B. Ingelman, *Invest. Radiol.*, 5, 142 (1970).
- **192.** L. Bjork, U. Erikson, B. Ingelman, and B. Zaar, *Uppsala J. Med. Sci.*, 79, 103 (1974).
- 193. V. Nordal and H. Holtermann, Ger. Offen. 2,726,196 (Dec. 22, 1977); *Chem. Abstr.*, 88, 152269z (1978).
- 194. D. Pitrè and E. Felder, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15 (Suppl.), S301 (1980).
- **195.** F. Bonati, E. Felder, and P. Tirone, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15 (Suppl.), S310 (1980).
- **196.** E. Felder, *Invest. Radiol.*, 19 (Suppl. 5), S164 (1984).
- 197. M. Sovak and R. Ranganathan, U.S. Pat. 4,431,756 (July 27, 1982); *Chem. Abstr.*, 98, 4398g (1983).

- 198. P. E. Hansen, H. Holtermann, and K. Wille, Eur. Pat. Appl. 108,638 (May16,1984); *Chem. Abstr.*, 101, 151599g (1984).
- 199. G. Tilly, M. J. C. Hardouin, and J. Lautrou, Ger. Offen. 2,523,567 (Dec. 11, 1975); Chem. Abstr., 84, 184889k (1976).
- 200. P. Dawson, *Invest. Radiol.*, 19 (Suppl. 6), S293 (1984).
- 201. G. B. Hoey and K. R. Smith in M. Sovak, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984, p. 23.
- 202. M. Sovak, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S79, 1988.
- 203. M. Sovak in M. Sovak, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Spring-Verlag, Berlin, 1984, p. 1.
- 204. B. Bonnemain, D. Meyer, M. Schaefer, M. Dugast-Zrihen, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S104 (1990).
- 205. H. Gries and W. Miitzel, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S97 (1988).
- 206. D. C. Hemmy, F. W. Zonneveld, S. Lobregt, and K. Fukuta, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29,489 (1994).
- 207. F. W. Zonneveld and K. Fukuta, *Invest. Radial.*, 29,574 (1994).
- 208. F. W. Zonneveld, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29, 716 (1994).
- 209. J. O. Hoppe in E. E. Campaigne and W. H. Hartung, Eds., *Medicinal Chemistry*, Vol. VI, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1963, p. 290.
- 210. J. Hoppe, A. A. Larsen, and F. Coulston, *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 116,394 (1956).
- 211. J. Ackerman in A. Burger, Ed., Medicinal Chemistry, 3rd ed., Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1970, p. 1686.
- 212. H.-J. Herms and V. Taenzer in E. J. Ariens, Ed., *Drug Design*, Academic Press, New York, 1975, p. 263.
- 213. J. Hoppe, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78, 727 (1959).
- 214. R. G. Grainger in J. W. McLaren, Ed., Modern Trends in Diagnostic Radiology, Vol. 4, Butterworths, London, 1970, p. 254.
- 215. New Dimensions of Contrast Media, Proceedings of the Second International Symposium on Contrast Media, Osaka, Japan, November 9–10, 1990, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991,385 pp.
- 216. M. Sovak, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984,609 pp.
- 217. I. Enge and J. Edgren, Eds., Patient Safety and Adverse Events in Contrast Medium Examinations, Proceedings of the Nycomed Scientific Symposium, 1988, Oslo, Norway, October 18– 19,1988, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1989, 195 pp.

- 218. Discussion: Iodinated Contrast Media, *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S140 (1990).
- 219. V. H. Wallingford, H. G. Decker, and M. Krutz, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74,4365 (1952).
- 220. V. H. Wallingford, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 78, 707 (1959).
- 221. H. Gries and W. Miitzel, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S97 (1988).
- 222. Dictionary of USAN and International Drug Names, 1996, U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention, Rockville, MD20852.
- 223. *International Drug Directory*, edited by Swiss Pharmaceutical Society, Medpharm Scientific Publishers, Stuttgart, Germany, 1995.
- 224. P. K. Knoefel in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Vol. *I*, Pergamon, New York, 1971, p. 299.
- 225. W. H. Strain and S. M. Rogoff in H. L. Abrams, Ed., *Angiography*, Vol. I, 2nd ed., Little, Brown, Boston, 1971, p. 35.
- 226. H. W. Fischer, *Radiology*, 159, 561 (1986).
- 227. P. Blaszkiewicz, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29 (Suppl. 1), S51 (1994).
- 228. H. Cassebaum and K. Dierbach, East Ger. Pat. 67,435 (June 20, 1969); Chem. Abstr., 72, 43166n (1970).
- 229. H. Cassebaum and K. Dierbach, East Ger. Pat. 67,209 (June 5,1969); *Chem. Abstr.*, 72, 66654j (1970).
- 230. M. Guerbet and G. Tilly, Fr. Pat. M 6,777 (April 21, 1969); *Chem. Abstr.*, 74, 125233j (1971).
- 231. M. Guerbet and G. Tilly, Brit. Pat. 1,146,133 (Mar. 19, 1969); *Chem. Abstr.*, 71, 30243q (1969).
- 232. T. Zdravil, Fr. Pat. 2,186,460 (Feb. 15, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 81, 13278u (1974).
- 233. A. A. Larsen, C. Moore, J. Sprague, B. Cloke, J. Moss, and J. O. Hope, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 78, 3210 (1956).
- 234. E. Berliner, J. Chem. Ed., 43, 124 (1966).
- 235. E. Klieger, U. Speck, and E. Schroeder, Ger. Pat. 2,505,320 (Aug. 5, 1976); *Chem. Abstr.*, 85, 159717r (1976).
- 236. H. Pfeiffer, Ger. Auslegeschrift 2,742,981 (Mar. 22,1979).
- 237. M. T. Kneller, Y. Lin, and J. Wheatley, PCT Int. Appl. WO 94105337 (Mar.17,1994);*Chem. Abstr.*, 122, 1327712 (1995).
- 238. W. Z. McCarthy, PCT Int. Appl. WO 94127956
   (Dec. 8, 1994); Chem. Abstr., 122, 80711h (1995).

- 239. W. Z. McCarthy, M. T. Kneller, Y. Lin, R. A. Wallace, and D. H. White, PCT Int. Appl. WO 93116981 (Sep. 2, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 120, 8335e (1994).
- 240. J. A. Korver, *Rec. Trav. Chim.*, 87, 308 (1968).
- 241. C. Viscardi and R. Piva, PCT Int. Appl. WO 92114539 (Sep. 3, 1992); *Chem. Abstr.*, 119, 10792z (1993).
- 242. P. E. Schulze, W. Schwartz, and J. Balzer, Ger. Offen. DE 3,110,737 (Oct. 14,1982); Chem. Abstr., 98, 128508n (1983).
- 243. N. O. Doran, J. T. Dunn, M. T. Kneller, Y. Lin, D. M. L. Wong, and D. H. White, PCT Int. Appl. WO 91112868 (Sep. 5, 1991); *Chem. Abstr.*, 116,547403. (1992).
- 244. M. T. Kneller, PCT Int. Appl. WO 93105820 (April 1, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 120, 134053z (1994).
- 245. M. Villa and M. Paiocchi, Brit. Pat. Appl. GB 2,280,436 (Feb. 1, 1995); *Chem. Abstr.*, 122, 213762z (1995).
- 246. J. M. Carretero-Colon, M. Esteban-Norales, and J. L. Martin-Jimenez, Span. Pat. ES 541,191 (Mar. 12, 1985); *Chem. Abstr.*, 106, 18127p (1987).
- 247. M. Sovak and R. Ranganathan, PCT Int. Appl. WO 87100757 (Feb. 12, 1987); *Chem. Abstr.*, 108, 82096w (1988).
- 248. M. Sovak and R. Ranganathan, U.S. Pat. Appl. 5,191,119 (Mar. 2, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 119, 195888t (1993).
- 249. A. R. Bailey, S. S. Sathe, A. T. Spears, R. C. Wisneski, and M. T. Kneller, PCT Int. Appl. WO 93123365 (Nov. 25, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 120, 134061a (1994).
- 250. P. Blaszkiewicz, Ger. Offen. DE 4,236,724 (May 5, 1994); Chem. Abstr., 121, 38648x (1994).
- 251. M. Yamaguchi and Y. Ooptani, Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho J P 06,144,802 (May 24, 1994); Jpn. Pat. 06,144,804 (May 24, 1994); *Chem. Abstr.*, 121, 112668x (1994);121,137084s (1994).
- 252. C. Musee, E. Felder, L. Fumagalli, R. Piva, and F. Uggeri, *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S100 (1990).
- 253. E. Felder, A. Gallotti, and A. Favilla, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S101 (1988).
- 254. H. R. Bjoersvich, A. W. Aabye, R. Carlson, and P. Carlson, *Acta Chem. Scand.*, 48,582 (**1994**).
- 255. K. Imamya and K. Takayama, Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho JP 06 09,526 [94 09,5261 (Jan. 18, 1994); *Chem. Abstr.*, 121, 8898m (1994).
- 256. H. Priewe, R. Rutkowski, K. Pirner, and K. Junkmann, *Chem. Ber.*, 87,651 (1954).

- 257. F. Bohle, J. Carretero, L. González, and J. L. Martin, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29, S264 (1994).
- 258. U. Speck, W. Mutzel, G. Mannesmann, H. Pfeiffer, and H.-M. Siefet, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S317 (**1980**).
- 259. H. Pfeiffer and U. Speck, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 49,745 (April 21, 1982); *Chem. Abstr.*, 97, 144596z (1982).
- 260. S. Archer, U.S. Pat. 2,705,726 (April 5, 1955); Chem. Abstr., 50, 5030i (1956).
- 261. H. Priewe and A. Poljak, *Chem. Ber.*, 93, 2347 (1960).
- 262. W. Neudert and H. Ropke, *Helv. Chim. Acta*, 41,851 (**1958**).
- 263. E. Felder, D. Pitri?, and M. Grandi, *Farm. Ed. Sci.*, 28, 925 (1973).
- 264. J. Dunn, Y. Lin, D. Miller, M. Rogic, W. Neumann, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S102 (1990).
- 265. S. Foster and M. Sovak, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S106 (1988).
- 266. A. Berg and R. Fagervoll, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., **370**, 13 (1987).
- 267. W. Mutzel and U. Speck, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., **362**, **87** (1980).
- 268. J. Ackerman, G. Laidlaw, and G. Snyder, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 44,3879 (1969).
- 269. J. Ackerman and G. Laidlaw, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 27,2381 (1970).
- 270. H. Nomura, E. Teshima, and H. Hakusai, *J. Chromatogr.*, 572, 333 (1991).
- 271. C. T. Peng in M. Wolff, Ed., Burger's Medicinal Chemistry, 4th ed., Part III, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1981, p. 1139.
- 272. E. Felder and D. Pitrè, Swiss Pat. 480,071 (Dec. 15, 1969); Chem. Abstr., 72, 100292b (1970).
- 273. H. Pfeiffer, K. H. Kolb, A. Hartwart, and P. E. Schulze, Ger. Pat. 1,956,844 (Nov. 8, 1969); *Chem. Abstr.*, 75, 35474h (1971).
- 274. E. Felder, D. Pitri?, and L. Fumagalli, *Helv. Chim. Acta.*, 48,259 (1965).
- 275. E. Felder, D. Pitri?, and H. Zutter, Ger. Pat. 2,229,360 (July 11, 1974); *Chem. Abstr.*, 81, 135763 (1974).
- **276.** Neth. Appl. 6,510,111 (Feb. 6,1967) to CiLag-Chemie A.-G.; *Chem. Abstr.*, 67, 91110h (1967).
- 277. H. Pfeiffer, G. Zoellner, and W. Beich, Ger. Offen. 2,118,219 (Oct. 26, 1972); *Chem. Abstr.*, 78, 20204h (1973).
- **278.** D. Pitri? and L. Fumagalli, *Farm. Ed. Sci.*, 17, 340 (1962).

- 279. E. Klieger and E. Schroeder, Arch. Pharm., 306,834 (1973).
- 280. G. B. Hoey, R. D. Rands, G. De LaMater, D. W. Chapman, and P. E. Wiegert, J. Med. Chem., 6, 24 (1963).
- 281. St. Kunze and W. Schiefer, Deut. Med. Wochschr., **97**, 24S (1972).
- 282. D. Pitré and S. Boveri, J. Med. Chem., 11,406 (1968).
- 283. S. Archer and J. O. Hoppe, U.S. Pat. 2,895,988 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 54, 1445h (1960).
- 284. D. Papa, H. F. Ginsberg, I. Lederman, and V. DeCamp, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75,1107 (1953).
- 285. H. Priewe, H. Pfeiffer, and H. Richter, Ger. Pat. 1,180,896 (Nov. 5, 1964); Chem. Abstr., 62, 7694e (1965).
- 286. A. Harwart, K. H. Kimbel, H. Langecker, and J. Willenbrink, Arch. *Exp.* Pathol. *Pharmacol.*, 237, 186 (1959).
- 287. E. Felder and D. Pitré, S. Afr. Pat. 68:01,614 (Aug. 9, 1968); Chem. Abstr., 70, 87549c (1969).
- 288. W. Obendorf, I. Lindner, E. Schwarzinger, and J. Krieger, Ger. Offen. 2,235,935 (Feb. 7, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 80, 108545x (1974).
- 289. E. Felder and D. Pitrè, S. Afr. Pat. 68 03,090 (Oct. 22, 1968); Chem. Abstr., 71, 21898e (1969).
- 290. G. Rosati, P. De Mitcheli, and P. Schiantarelli, *Acta* Radiol., 12,882 (1972).
- 291. E. Felder, D. Pitrè, L. Fumagalli, and E. Lorenzotti, Farm. Ed. Sci., 31, 349 (1976).
- 292. G. Tilly, Chim. Ther., 2, 57 (1967).
- 293. I. Lindner, H. Stormann, W. Obendorf, and R. Kilches, *Arzneim.-Forsch.*, 11,384 (1961).
- 294. Brit. Pat. 870,321 (June 14, **1961**) to Osterreichische Stickstoffwerke A.-G.; Chem. *Ab*str., 55, **24683e** (1961).
- 295. N. V. Dagra, Neth. Pat. Appl. 6,515,305 (May 26, 1967); Chem. Abstr., 67, 108422m (1967); Neth. Pat. Appl. 6,607,275 (Nov. 27, 1967); Chem. Abstr., 69, 10263b (1968).
- 296. S. Pfeifer, J. Schaffner, and I. Bornschein, Pharmazie, 27, 396 (1972).
- 297. S. Pfeifer, J. Schaffner, I. Bornschein, and R. Kraft, Pharmazie, 27,403 (1972).
- 298. I. Bornschein, J. Schaffner, and S. Pfeifer, Pharmazie, 30, 196 (1975).
- 299. H. Gries, Ger. Pat. 2,050,217 (April 6, 1972); Chem. Abstr., 77, **34150d** (1972).
- 300. U. Speck, W. Clauss, L. Blumenbach, and A. Albrecht, Invest. Radiol., 11,315 (1976).

- 301. H. Beaufils, J. M. Idée, C. Berthommier, C. Balut, et al., Invest. Radiol., 30, 33 (1995).
- 302. W. Krause, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S21 (1994).
- 303. E. Felder and D. Pitrè, Eur. Pat. Appl. 26,281 (April 8, 1981); Chem. Abstr., 95, 97396f (1981).
- 304. E. Felder and D. Pitrè, Ger. Offen. 2,547,789 (June 24, 1976); Chem. Abstr., 85, 94103r (1976).
- 305. E. Felder, Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S168 (1984).
- 306. K. Wille, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 105,752 (April 18, 1984); Chem. Abstr., 101, 72456e (1984).
- 307. U. Speck, P. Blaszkiewicz, D. Seidelmann, and
  E. Klieger, Ger. Offen. 2,909,439 (April 18, 1980); Chem. Abstr., 94, 71492n (1981).
- 308. H. Gries, H. Pfeiffer, U. Speck, and M. Mutzel, Ger. Offen. 3,001,292 (July 16, 1981); Chem. Abstr., 95, 150216a (1981).
- 309. H. Gries, H. Pfeiffer, U. Speck, and M. Mutzel, Ger. Offen. DE 3,001,293 (July 16, 1981); Chem. Abstr., 96, 68603m (1982).
- 310. M. Ishihara, Y. Nazaki, S. Fujuka, Y. Sakaguchi, and M. Nakazawa, Yakuri to Chiryo, 20, 1127 (1992); Chem. Abstr., 117, 227898g (1992).
- 311. Y. Lin, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 83,964 (July 20, 1983); Chem. Abstr., 99,212293s (**1983**).
- 312. K. Tsurakawa, K. Yoshino, Y. Matsuzawa, T. Furuno, et al., Yakuri to Chiryo, 21 (Suppl. 6), S1451 (1993); Chem. Abstr., 120, 3694m (1994).
- 313. R. S. Ranganathan, P. W. Wedeking, M. F. Tweedle, and R. Pillai, Eur. Pat. Appl. 0 516 050 A2 (May 26, 1992).
- 314. R. S. Ranganathan, T. Arunachalem, G. Diamantidis, L. Duncan, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S156 (1991).
- 315. G. B. Hoey, G. P. Murphy, P. E. Wiegert, and J. W. Woods, Ger. Offen. 2,643,841 (April 7, 1977); Chem. Abstr., 87, 136300b (1977).
- 316. G. Tilly, M. J. C. Hardouin, and J. Lautrou, Ger. Offen. 2,456,685 (Dec. 7. 1973); Chem. Abstr., 83, 114, 021b (1975).
- 317. Y. Lin, Ger. **Offen**. 3,010,153 (Oct. 2, 1980); Chem. Abstr., 94, **103783c** (**1981**).
- 318. D. K. Schuster and F. Koehler, Ger. Offen. DE 1,407,473 (Sep. 5, 1985); Chem. Abstr., 105, 60940c (1986).
- 319. C. B. Hoey, R. D. Rands, P. E. Wiegart, D. W. Chapman, et al., *J.* Med. Chem., 9,964 (1966).

- 321. J. Kotler-Brajtburg, A. Swirska, and A. Raczka, Rocz. Chem., 36,763 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 58, 5568a (1963).
- 322. M. Kramer, Arzneim.-Forsch.14, 451 (1964).
- 323. F. J. Rosenberg, J. H. Ackerman, and A. R. Nickel, Invest. Radiol., 15, S142 (1980).
- 324. H. Pfeiffer, U. Speck, and K. H. Kolb, Ger. Pat. 2,405,652 (Aug. 21, 1975); Chem. Abstr., 83, 192867w (1975).
- 325. L. Bjork, U. Erickson, and B. Ingelman, *Upp*-sala **J.** Med. Sci., 77, 19 (1972).
- 326. L. Bjork, U. E. Erickson, and B. G. A. Ingelman, Swed. Pat. 344,166 (April 4, 1972); Chem. Abstr., 79, 18398b (1973).
- 327. U. Speck, E. Klieger, and W. Miitzel, Ger. Offen. 2,928,417 (Jan. 29, 1981); Chem. Abstr., 94, 208570j (1981).
- 328. M. Sovak, R. Ranganathan, and U. Speck, Radiology, 142, 115 (1982).
- 329. E. Felder and C. Haën, PCT Int. Appl. WO 94114478 [Cl. A61K49/04] (Dec. 20, 1993); Chem. Abstr., 121, 141709s (1993).
- 330. I. Dimo, B. Bonnemain, M. J. C. Hardouin, and J. Lautrou, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 74,307 (Mar.16, 1983); Chem. Abstr., 99, 70401z (1983).
- 331. P. E. Wiegert, Brit. Pat. 1,346,795 (Feb. 13, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 81, 3627t (1974).
- 332. B. F. Tullar and J. O. Hoppe, U.S. Pat. 2,551,696 (May 15, 1951); Chem. Abstr., 46, 1592d (1952).
- 333. W. H. Strain, J. T. Plati, and L. Strafford, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 64,1436 (1942).
- 334. W. H. Strain, J. T. Plati, and S. L. Warren, U.S. Pat. 2,348,231 (May9,1944); Chem. Abstr., 39, 15154 (1945).
- 335. W. Baker, E. E. Cook, and W. G. Leeds, J. Soc. Chem. Znd., 63,223 (1944).
- 336. M. Dohrn and P. Diedrich, Annales, 494, 284 (1932); Chem. Abstr., 26,3506 (1932).
- 337. J. Reitmann, U.S. Pat. 1,993,039 (Mar. 5, 1935); Chem. Abstr., 29,25472 (1935).
- 338. J. Reitmann, Ger. Pat. 579,224 (June 22, 1933); Chem. Abstr., 27,4880 (1933).
- 339. D. J. Branscombe, Brit. Pat. 517,382 (Jan. 29, 1940); Chem. Abstr., 35, 71243 (1941).
- 340. E. G. Tomich, B. Basil, and B. Davis, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 8, 166 (1953).
- 341. Y. Sugii, I. Shimoya, and H. Shindo, J. Pharm. Soc. (Jpn.), 50, 727 (1930); Chem. Abstr., 24, 5326 (1930).

- 342. A. Binz, C. **Rath**, and K. **Junkmann**, Biochem. Z., 227,200 (1930).
- 343. M. J. Soulal and K. Utting, U.S. Pat. 3,795,698 (Mar. 5, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 80, 120582q (1974).
- 344. M. J. Soulal and K. Utting, Ger. Pat. 2,428,140 (Jan. 23, 1975); Chem. Abstr., 82, 155890g (1975).
- 345. Fr. Pat. 2,230,377 (**Dec.** 20, 1974) to **Beecham** Group Ltd.; Chem. Abstr., 83,48224s (**1975**).
- 346. G. Tilly, Ger. Pat. 2,216,627 (Oct. 19, 1972); Chem. Abstr., 78, 15837n (1973).
- 347. G. Tilly, M. J. C. Hardouin, and J. Lautrou, Ger. Pat., 2,456,685 (Dec. 7, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 83, 114021b (1975).
- 348. W. Obendorf, E. Schwarzinger, J. Krieger, and I. Lindner, Austrian Pat. 317,867 (Sep. 25, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 82, 16583w (1975).
- 349. W. Obendorf, I. Lindner, E. Schwarzinger, and J. Krieger, Ger. Pat. 2,235,935 (Feb. 7, 1974); Chem. Abstr., 80, 108545x (1974).
- 350. E. Klieger, B. Wolfgang, and E. Schroeder, U.S. Pat. 3,953,501 (April 27,1976); Chem. Abstr., 85, 177976d (1976).
- 351. J. Hebky and J. Polacek, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 35, 664 (1970); Chem. Abstr., 72, 89938m (1970).
- 352. M. J. Soulal and K. Utting, Ger. Pat. 2,219,707
  (Oct. 25, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 80, 26978b (1974).
- 353. E. Klieger, W. Beich, and E. Schroeder, Ger. Pat. 2,207,950 (Aug. 23, 1973); Chem. Abstr., 79, 136874v (1973).
- 354. M. T. Kneller, Y. Lin, and J. Wheatley, PCT Int. Appl. WO 93110835 (June 10, 1993); Chem. Abstr., 119, 180532g (1993).
- 355. M. Schaefer, M. Dugast-Zrihen, M. Guillemot,
  D. Doucet, et al., Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 437,144
  (July 17, 1991); Chem. Abstr., 115, 207672j
  (1991).
- 356. W. Knut, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 105,752 (April 18, 1984); Chem. Abstr., 101, **72456e** (1984).
- 357. M. Sovak, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 406,992 (Jan. 9, 1991); Chem. Abstr., 115, **49124a** (1991).
- 358. M. Schaefer, M. Dugast-Zrihen, M. Guillemot, D. Doucet, et al., U.S. Pat. 5,043,152 (Aug. 27, 1991); Chem. Abstr., 115, 279610h (1991).
- 359. W. Z. McCarthy, U.S. Pat. Appl. 4,997,980 (Mar. 5, 1991); Chem. Abstr., 115, 49130z (1991).
- 360. D. M. White and Y. Lin, PCT Int. Appl. WO 89108101 (Sep. 8, 1989); Chem. Abstr., 112, 194597g (1990).

- 361. J. L. Marin-Jimenez, L. Gonzales-Tavares, J. M. Carretero Colon, et al., Span. Pat. ES 2,017,277 (Jan.16, 1991); *Chem. Abstr.*, 115, 49129f (1991).
- 362. M. Schaefer, M. Dugast-Zrihen, M. Guillemot,
  D. Doucet, et al., Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 345,163
  (Dec. 6, 1989); *Chem. Abstr.*, 113, 5955b (1990).
- 363. Y. Lin, N. O. Doran, N. E. Duffee, T. J. Dunn, et al., *Invest* Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S275 (1994).
- 364. R. S. Ranganathan, E. R. Marinelli, T. Arunachalam, and R. Pillai, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 431,838 (June 12, 1991); U.S. Pat. Appl. 442,869 (Nov. 29, 1989); *Chem. Abstr.*, 115, 182851b (1991).
- 365. A. Berg, R. Fagervoll, A. Michelet, and H. Dugstad, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., **370**, **27** (1987).
- 366. Y. Lin, D. H. Wallace, and F. White, U.S. Pat. 5,019,371 (May 28, 1991).
- 367. T. Almén and J. Haavaldsen, Ger. Pat. 2,031,724 (Jan. 7, 1971); *Chem. Abstr.*, 74, 99662e (1971).
- 368. J. L. Martin-Jimenez, J. M. Carretero-Colon, A. Martinez-Sanz, and I. J. Alonso-Silva, Span. Pat. ES 2,006,961 (May 18, 1989); Chem. Abstr., 114, 61709g (1991).
- 369. M. Guillemot, M. Dugast-Zrihen, M. Schaefer, D. Meyer, and B. Bonnemain, PCT Int. Appl. WO 88/08417 (Nov. 3. 1988); *Chem. Abstr.*, 110, 134896v (1989).
- 370. W. Bruns and G. Koehler, Ger Offen. DE 4,109,169 (Sep. 24, 1992); *Chem. Abstr.*, 118, 35206d (1993).
- 371. M. Schaefer, M. Dugast-Zrihen, M. Guillemot,
  D. Ducet, et al., Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 357,467 (May 7, 1990); *Chem. Abstr.*, 113, 58709s (1990).
- 372. R. Ranganathan and M. Sovak, *Invest*. Radiol., 15, S296 (1980).
- 373. E. Felder, C. Musu, L. Fumagalli, and F. Uggeri, PCT Int. Appl. WO 88109328 (Dec. 1, 1988); *Chem. Abstr.*, 110, 192447k (1989).
- 374. E. Felder, D. Pitrè, and L. Fumagalli, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 185,130 (June 25, 1986); *Chem. Abstr.*, 105, 172062z (1986)
- 375. I. Dimo, B. Bonnemain, J. C. Hardoin, and J. Lautrou, Fr. Demande FR 2,541,272 (Aug. 24, 1984); *Chem. Abstr.*, 102, 95422a (1985).
- 376. K. Sanada and T. Kawanishi, Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho JP 06,345,705 [94:345,705] (Dec. 20, 1994); Chem. Abstr., 122, 239331h (1995).
- 377. P. Anelli, M. Brocchette, F. Uggeri, and M. Visigalli, PCT Int. Appl. WO 93112071 (June 24, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 119, 203168j (1993).

- 378. U. Speck and P. Blaszkiewiecz, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 308,364 (Mar. 22,1989);*Chem. Abstr.*, 111, 133794u (1989).
- U. Speck and P. Blaszkiewiecz, Ger. Offen. DE 3,739,098 (May 24, 1989); *Chem. Abstr.*, 111, 214237s (1989).
- 380. F. Uggeri and M. Brocchets, PCT Int. Appl. WO 92108691 (May 29,1992) [Cl C07C237/46]; *Chem. Abstr.*, 117, 130932a (1992).
- 381. J. L. Martin-Jimenez, J. M. Carretero-Colon, A. Martinez-Sanz, I. Alonso-Silva, et al., PCT Int. Appl. WO 93110078 (May 27,1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, 119, 249704j (1993).
- 382. J. L. Martin-Jimenez, J. M. Carretero-Colon, A. Martinez-Sanz, I. Alonso-Silva, et al., Span. Pat. ES 2,037,605 (June 16, 1993); *Chem. Abstr.*, **120**, 216986v (1994).
- 383. J. P. Weichert, M. A. Longino, D. A. Bakan, M. G. Spigarelli, et al., J. Med. Chem., 38,636 (1995).
- 384. E. J. Baker, R. W. Lee, C. R. Illig, B. D. Douty, and J. L. Toner, U.S. Pat. 5,385,720 (Jan. 31, 1995).
- 385. Fr. Pat. 2,180,568 (Jan. 4, 1974) to **Beecham** Group Ltd.; *Chem. Abstr.*, 81, **63494g** (1974).
- 386. J. Kejha, O. Radek, and O. Nemecek, *Cesk. Farm.*, 16, 92 (1967); *Chem. Abstr.*, 67, 108535a (1967).
- 387. B. Carnmalm, J. Gyllander, N. A. Jonsson, and L. Mikiver, *Acta Pharm. Suec.*, **11**, **49** (1974).
- 388. J. E. Siggins and J. H. Ackerman, J. Med. *Chem.*, 9,973 (1966).
- 389. J. E. Siggins and J. H. Ackerman, U.S. Pat. 3,346,620 (Oct. 10, 1967); Chem. Abstr., 68, 87025n (1968).
- 390. B. N. Newton, J. Med. Chem., 19, 1362 (1976).
- 391. Fr. Pat. 2,130,221 (Dec. 8, 1972) to Eprova, Ltd.; *Chem. Abstr.*, 78, 140405w (1973).
- 392. H. Suter, H. Zutter, and H. R. Mueller, Ger. Pat. 2,201,578, (Oct. 5, 1972); *Chem. Abstr.*, 78, 3694a (1973).
- 393. H. Suter and H. Zutter, *Pharm. Acta Helv.*, 50, 152 (1975).
- 394. A. J. M. Bedford, Ger. Pat. 2,136,255 (Mar. 22, 1972); Chem. Abstr., 78, 151644z (1973).
- 395. B. Carnmalm, J. Gyllander, N. A. Jonsson, and L. Mikiver, Acta Pharm. Suec., 11, 167 (1974).
- 396. G. Shtacher and S. Dayigi, J. Med. Chem., 15, 1174 (1972).
- 397. O. Radek, J. Kejha, O. Nemecek, and B. Kakac, Cesk. F an., 16, 34 (1967); Chem. Abstr., 68, 114214g (1968).

- 398. J. Zutter and J. Brunner, Ger. Pat. 1,958,333 (Aug. 27, 1970); Chem. Abstr., 78, **151644g** (1973).
- 399. S. V. P. Ootegham, R. G. Smith, and G. D. Daves Jr., J. Med. Chem., 19,1349 (1976).
- 400. E. Felder, D. Pitrè, L. Fumagalli, H. Suter, and H. Zutter, Helv. Chim. Acta, 52, 1339 (1969).
- 401. M. Sovak and R. Ranganathan, Invest. Radiol., 15, S323 (1980).
- 402. P. Dawson, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl.2), S310 (1988).
- 403. P. Aspelin, H. Schmid-Schonbein, and H. Malotta, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 2), S326 (1988).
- 404. K. Himi, A. Takemoto, S. Himi, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S92 (1991).
- 405. E. F. Grabowski, C. Head and A. D. Michelson, Invest. Radiol., 28 (Suppl. 5), S21 (1993).
- 406. B. S. Epstein, S. Natelson, and B. Kramer, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther., 56, 201 (1946).
- 407. G. Rosati and C. de Haën in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., New Dimensions of Contrast Media, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 29.
- 408. Z. Parvez, M. Kormano, K. Satokari, R. Moncada, and R. Eklund, Mutat. Res., 188,233 (1987).
- 409. S. Cochran and A. Norman, Invest. Radiol., 29, S206 (1994).
- 410. J. A. Nelson in M. Sovak, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984, Chapter12, p. 533.
- 411. S. Matsubara, T. Katoh, N. Kubota, N. Yoshino, T. Sasaki, and M. S. Sasaki, Radiat. Res., 137,231 (1994).
- 412. P. Dawson, M. Penhaligon, E. Smith, and J. Saunders, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S110 (1988).
- 413. A. Norman, K. S. Iwamoto, and S. T. Cochran, Invest. Radiol., 26, S120 (1991).
- 414. E. C. Lasser and J. H. Lang, Invest. Radiol., 5, 446 (1970).
- 415. W. Krause, H. Mikilautz, U. Kollenkirchen, and G. Heimann, Invest. Radiol., 29, 72 (1994).
- 416. J. H. Lang and E. C. Lasser, Invest. Radiol., 2, 396 (1967).
- 417. P. K. Knoefelin P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. I, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 133.
- 418. L. Fumagalli, E. Felder, and D. Pitré, Pharmazie, 30, 78 (1975).

- 419. L. Fumagalli and D. Pitré, Farm. Ed. Sci., 24, 568 (1969).
- 420. C. Hansch, Farm. Ed. Sci., 23,293 (1968).
- 421. F. Helmer, K. Kiehs, and C. Hansch, Biochemistry, 7, 2858 (1968).
- 422. P. K. Knoefel and K. C. Huang, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 117,307 (1956).
- 423. G. B. Hoey, Invest. Radiol., 5,453 (Discussion) (1970).
- 424. U. Speck, H.-M. Siefert, and G. Klink, Invest. Radiol., 15, S335 (1980).
- 425. W. H. Streng, H. E. Huber, and J. T. Carstensen, J. Pharm. Sci., 67,384 (1978).
- 426. F. Luzzani, A. Morisetti, S. Bussi, P. Tirone, et al., Invest. Radiol., 31, 338 (1996).
- 427. M. R. Hardeman, P. Goedhart, and I.Y. Koen, Invest. Radiol., 26,810 (1991).
- 428. H.W. Fisher, Angiology, 16, 759 (1965).
- 429. E. Felder and C. de Haën, PCT Int Appl. WO 94/14478 [Cl. A61K 49/04], Chem. Abstr., 121, 141709s (1994).
- 430. H. H. Thank, J. Chromatogr. A, 678, 343 (1994).
- 431. Z. K. Shihabi and M. S. Constantinescu, Clin. Chem., 38,2117 (1992).
- 432. R. S. Harapanhalli, V. Yaghmai, Y. D. Patel, S. R. Baker, and D. V. Rao, Anal. Chem., 65, 606 (1993).
- 433. A. T. Andersen, P. B. Jacobsen, and K. E. Radmussen, J. Chromatogr., **575**, **93** (1992).
- 434. Z. K. Shihabi, E. N. Thompson, and M. S. Contantinescu, J. Liq. Chromatogr., 16, 1289 (1993).
- **435.** *M. Pfeffer and B. Wykhoff, J. Liq. Chromatogr., 17,4259 (1994).*
- 436. J. R. Coveney and M. S. Robbins, Invest. Radiol., 24, S23 (1989).
- 437. V. Lorusso, I. Poggesi, D. Dal Fiume, and P. Tirone, J. Chromatogr., 525,401 (1990).
- 438. I. J. Alonso-Silva, J. M. Carretero, J. L. Martin, and A. M. Sanz, J. Chromatogr., 507, 293 (1990).
- 439. J. M. McCall, J. Med. Chem., 18, 549 (1975).
- 440. P. Purkiss, R. D. Lane, W. R. Cattell, I. K. Fry, and A. G. Spencer, Invest. Radiol., 3, 271 (1968).
- 441. F. Medzihradsky, P. J. Dahlstrom, T. B. Hunter, J. R. Thornbury, et al., Invest. Radiol., 10,532 (1975).
- 442. T. Dennenberg, Acta Med. Scand.Suppl., 442, 1 (1966).

- 443. J. Kutzner and K. H. Van de Weyer, Fortschr. Geb. Roentgenstr. Nuklearmed., 114, 74 (1971).
- 444. V. Taenzer, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 6,137 (1973).
- 445. N. W. **Tauxe**, M. K. **Burbank**, F. T. **Maher**, and J. C. Hunt, Proc. *Mayo* Clin., 39, 761 (1964).
- 446. W. T. I. Yeung, T. Y. Lee, R. F. Del Maestro, R. Kozak, et al., Phys. Med. Biol., 37,1741 (1992).
- 447. E. Felder, D. **Pitrè**, and M. Grandi, **J**. *Pharm*. Sci., 64,684 (1975).
- 448. E. Hartmann and H. Roepke, *Fresenius'* J. Anal. Chem., 232,268 (**1968**).
- 449. L. Kaufman, J. Nelson, D. Price, D. Shames, and C. J. Wilson, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 20, 402 (1973).
- 450. L. Kaufman, F. **Deconinck**, D. C. Price, P. **Guery**, et al., Invest. Radiol., 11,210 (**1976**).
- 451. R. E. Koehler, L. Kaufman, A. Brito, and J. A. Nelson, Invest. Radiol., 11, 134 (1976).
- 452. W. H. Shehadi, *Am. J.* Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 124, 145 (1975).
- 453. W. H. Shehadi and G. Toniolo, Radiology, 137, 299 (1980).
- 454. D. M. Witten, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 231, 974 (1975).
- 455. D. M. Witten, F. D. Hirsch, and G. W. Hartman, *Am. J.* Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 119,832 (1973).
- 456. G. Ansell, Invest. Radiol., 5, 374 (1970).
- 457. T. Almén in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. II, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 443.
- 458. C. de Haën, A. Morisetti, F. Bertani, and P. **Tirone**, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S108 (1994).
- 459. T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S37 (1994).
- 460. T. W. Morris, L. Prentice, and J. Ventura, Invest. Radiol., 24,294 (1989).
- 461. T. W. Morris, Invest. Radiol., 28, S44 (1993).
- 462. A. P. Hemingway in I. Enge and J. Edgren, Eds., Patient Safety and Adverse Events in Contrast Medium Examinations, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1989, p. 131.
- 463. K. Golman and T. Almén in M. Sovak, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984, Chapter 2, p. 127.
- 464. J. Hoppe and S. Archer, Angiography, 11, 244 (1960).
- 465. G. Ansell in T. Lodge and R. E. Steiner, Eds., Recent Advances in Radiology, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1975, p. 335.

- 466. R. N. Berk and P. M. Loeb, Semin. *Roent*-genol., 11, 147 (1976).
- 467. C. B. Higgins in M. Sovak, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents: Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 73, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984, p. 205.
- 468. T. G. Brown Jr., Angiology, 18, 273 (1967).
- 469. H. W. Fischer, Radiology, **91**, **66** (1968).
- 470. L. Baath, T. **Almén**, and A. Oksendal, Invest. Radiol., 25, S137 (1990).
- 471. H. Halkola and M. Kormano, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S200 (1988).
- 472. F. Koehler, **Ger.** Pat. 2,261,584 (April 25, 1974); Chem. Abstr., **81**, **82400**q (1974).
- 473. T. Jacobsen, Farmakoterapi, 38,456 (1982).
- 474. M. Sovak and S. J. Foster, Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 278,674 (Aug. 17, 1988); Chem. Abstr., 111, 12524x (1989).
- 475. S. Salvesen, P. L. Nilsen, and H. Holtermann, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 270, 17 (1967).
- 476. H. W. Fischer, S. R. Reuter, and N. P. Moscow, Invest Radiol., 3,324 (1968).
- 477. R. E. Gonsette and P. Delmotte, Invest. Radial., **15**, S26 (**1980**).
- 478. W. H. Matthai Jr., W. C. Groh, H. L. Waxman, and P. B. Kurnik, Invest. Radiol., 30, 663 (1995).
- 479. T. Almén, L Baath, A. N. Oeksendal, and P. Jynge, PCT Int. Appl. WO91 13,636 (Sep. 19, 1991); Chem. Abstr., 115, 274768h (1991).
- 480. J. Besjakov, L. Baath, A. N. Oskendal, and T. AlmBn, Acta Radiol., 34,246 (1993).
- 481. J. Besjakov, C.-M. Chai, L. Baath, and T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 29,5238 (1994).
- 482. K. Hayakawa and K. Yamashita, Invest. *Ra*diol., 24,298 (**1989**).
- 483. L. G. Sahler. L. L. Prentice, T. W. Morris, and A. J. Segal, Invest. Radiol., 27, 628 (1992).
- 484. P. Jynge, H. Blankson, J. Schjott, T. Holten, and A. N. Oksendal, Invest. Radiol., 30, 173 (1995).
- 485. B. E. Bordalen, H. Wang, and H. Holtermann, Invest. Radiol., 5, 559 (1970).
- 486. G. F. Saltzman and K. A. Sundstrom, Acta *Ra*diol., 54,353 (1960).
- 487. E. F. Bernstein, J. D. Palmer, T. A. Aaberg, and R. L. Davis, Radiology, **76**, 88 (1961).
- 488. D. Busfield, K. Child, and E. Tomich, Br. J. Radiol., 35,815 (1962).
- 489. P. Aspelin and T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 11, 309 (1976).

- 490. H. W. Fisher in E. J. Potchen, Ed., *Current Concepts in Radiology*, C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1972, p. 210.
- 491. P. Lindgren, Invest. Radiol., 5, 24 (1970).
- **492.** H. W. Fischer and J. W. Eckstein, *Am.* J. *Roentgenol.*, 86, 166 (1961).
- 493. S. K. Hilal, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 5,211 (1966).
- **494.** J. O. Hoppe, L. P. Duprey, W. A. Borisenok, and J. G. Bird, *Angiology*, 18,257 (1967).
- **495.** R. C. Read, J. A. Johnson, J. A. Vick, and M. W. Meyer, *Circ. Res.*, 8,538 (1960).
- **496.** M. W. Meyer and R. C. Read, *Radiology*, 82, 630 (1964).
- **497.** H. Schmid-Schonbein and R. H. Wells, *Ergeb. Physiol.*, 63, 146 (**1971**).
- **498.** R. Wells and H. Schmid-Schonbein, **J.** *Appl. Physiol.*, 27,213 (1969).
- 499. H. D. McIntosh, V. W. Hurst, H. K. Thompson Jr., J. J. Morris, et al., *Angiology*, 18, 306 (1967).
- 500. F. E. Kloster, J. D. Bristow, G. A. Porter, M. P. Judkins, and H. E. Griswold, *Invest. Radiol.*, 2, 353 (1967).
- 501. S. H. Cornell, Invest. Radiol., 3,318 (1968).
- **502.** *M*. Sovak, C.-A. Halkovich, and S. J. Foster, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S84 (1988).
- **503.** T. Almén and B. Trägárdh, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 197 (1973).
- 504. T. Almén, Diagn. Imaging, 48,206 (1979).
- **505.** M. A. Bettmann, J. F. Holzer, and S. T. **Trom**bly, *Radiology*, 175, 629 (1990).
- **506.** M. A. Bettmann, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29 (Suppl. 1), S33 (1994).
- 507. E. C. Lasser in M. Sovak, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984, Chapter 11, pp. 527–532.
- 508. E. C. Lasser, *Invest. Radiol.*, 20, S79 (1985).
- 509. J. Brismar, B. F. Jacobsson, and H. Jorulf, *Radiology*, 179, 19 (1991).
- 510. P. Dawson, *Invest. Radiol.*, 20, S84 (1985).
- 511. H. W. Fischer and R. F. **Spataro**, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S186 (1988).
- 512. A.-M. Freyria and E. Lasser, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S197 (1988).
- 513. G. Ansell, M. C. K. Tweedie, E. R. West, D. A. Ma, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 26 (Suppl. 6), S32 (1991).
- 514. R. L. Siegle, *Invest. Radiol.*, 28 (Suppl. 5), S95 (1993).
- 515. B. L. McClennan, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29 (Suppl. 1), S46 (1994).
- 516. M. R. Simon, *Invest. Radiol.*, 30,285 (1995).

- 517. R. L. Siegle, R. A. Halvorsen, J. Dillion, M. L. Gavant, and E. Halpern, *Invest. Radiol.*, 26, 411 (1991).
- 518. K. Yamaguchi, T. Kanauchi, I. Takanashi, and T. Hoshi in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 53.
- 519. G. L. Wolf, M. K. Mishkin, S. G. Roux, E. F. Halpern, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 26,404 (1991).
- 520. E. C. Lasser and C. C. Berry, *Invest. Radiol.*, 26,402 (1991).
- 521. G. L. Wolf in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 38.
- 522. E. C. Lasser, C. C. Berry, L. B. Talner, L. C. Santini, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S193 (1988).
- 523. Z. Ansari and D. S. Baldwin, *Nephron*, 17, 28 (1976).
- 524. J. Roylance, P. Davis, and M. B. Roberts, *Proc. R. Soc. Med.*, **67**, **44** (1974).
- 525. P. Davis, M. B. Roberts, and J. Roylance, *Br. Med. J.*, 2,434 (1975).
- 526. W. H. Shehadi, *Radiology*, 113, 219 (1974).
- 527. E. C. Lasser, A. J. Waters, and J. H. Lang, *Radiology*, **110**, **49** (1974).
- 528. H. W. Fischer and V. L. Doust, *Radiology*, 103, 497 (1972).
- 529. K. N. Bhat, C. M. Arroyave, and R. Crown, *Ann. Allergy.*, 37, 169 (1976).
- 530. A. F. Lalli, *Radiology*, 112,267 (1974).
- 531. R. E. Latchaw in I. Enge and J. Edgren, Eds., Patient Safety and Adverse Events in Contrast Medium Examinations, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1989, p. 169.
- 532. B. L. McClennan, *Radiology*, 162, 1 (1987).
- 533. F. J. Palmer in I. Enge and J. Edgren, Eds., Patient Safety and Adverse Events in Contrast Medium Examinations, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1989, p. 137.
- 534. F. J. Palmer, Autralas. Radiol., 32, 8 (1988).
- 535. H. Katayama, K. Yamaguchi, T. Kozuka, T. Takashima, et al., *Radiology*, 175, 621 (1990).
- 536. H. Katayama, K. Yamaguchi, T. Kozuka, T. Takashima, et al. in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 43.
- 537. M. A. Bettmann, *Radiology*, 175, 616 (1990).
- 538. J. Fareed, J. M. Walenga, G. E. Saravia, and R. M. Moneada, *Radiology*, 174,321 (1990).
- 539. H. Katayama and T. Tanaka, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S88 (1988).

- 540. H. H. Schild, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S112 (1994).
- 541. D. B. Spring, M. A. Bettmann, and H. E. Barkan, Radiology, 204,325 (1997).
- 542. D. B. Spring, M. A. Bettmann, and H. E. Barkan, Radiology, 204, 333 (1997); [Published errata, Radiology, 206, 565 (1998)].
- 543. E. A. Lasser, S. G. Lyon, and C. C. Berry, Radiology, 203,605 (1997).
- 544. M. A. Bettmann, T. Heeren, A. Greenfield, and C. Goudey, Radiology, 203, 611 (**1997**).
- 545. A. F. Lalli, Radiology, 134, 1 (1980).
- 546. J.O. Hoppe and S. Archer, Angiology, 11,244 (1960).
- 547. E. C. Lasser, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl.1), S71 (1988).
- 548. E. C. Lasser, W. P. Kolb, and **J.** H. Lang, Invest. Radiol., 9, 6A (1974).
- 549. E. C. Lasser, S. G. Lyon, and Z. Petro, Invest. Radiol., 26, **S20** (1991).
- 550. J.-F. Moreau, P. Lesavre, H. De Luca, U. Hennessen, et al., Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S75 (1988).
- 551. R. C. Brasch, Invest. Radiol., 15, S29 (1980).
- 552. R. C. Brasch, Radiology, 209, 35 (1998).
- 553. D. Laroche, I. Aimone-Gastin, F. Dubois, H. Huet, et al., Radiology, 209, 183 (1998).
- 554. J. L. Guéant, E. Mata, C. Masson, et al., Mol. Immunol., 32, 259 (1995).
- 555. P. Schiantarelli, F. Peroni, P. Tirone, and G. Rosati, Invest. Radiol., 8,199 (1973).
- 556. M. A. Lichtman and M. S. Murphy, Invest. *Ra*diol., 9,588 (1974).
- 557. P. Aspelin, P. E. Nilsson, H. Schrnid-Schonbein, S. Schroder, et al., Acta Radiol., Suppl., 370, 79 (1987).
- 558. P. Aspelin, M. Stohr-Liessen, and T. Almén, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 362,117 (1980).
- 559. M. P. Sheets and S. J. Singer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 71,4457 (1974).
- 560. C. Bucherer, C. Lacombe, and J.-C. Lelievre, Invest. Radiol., 29, 1026 (1994).
- 561. Z. Parvez and N. B. Patel, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S182 (1988).
- 562. P. Aspelin, P. Teitel, and T. Almén, Acta *Ra*diol., Suppl., 362, 127 (1980).
- 563. R. Skalak and P.-I. **Bränemark**, Science, 164, 717 (**1969**).
- 564. G. Bollmann, B. Jager, and F. Freitag, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 29, F4 (1979).
- 565. P. Aspelin, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 20, 1 (1979).

- 566. P. Aspelin, A. Birk, T. Almén, and H. Kiesewetter, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 362, 123 (1980).
- 567. **J.** B. Wieslander and U. Stjernquist, Acta *Ra*diol., Suppl., 370, 73 (1983).
- 568. Z. Parvez and H. Vik, Invest. Radiol., 26, S103 (1991).
- 569. Y. Kurisu and S. Tada, Invest. Radiol., 27,686 (1992).
- 570. M. Levi, B. J. Biemond, A. Sturk, J. Hoek, and J. W. ten Cate, Thromb. *Haemostas.*, 66, 218 (1991).
- 571. M. H. Hwang, Z. E. Piao, and S. H. Shen, Cathet. Cardiovasc. Diagn., 21,275 (1990).
- 572. P. Dawson, P. Hewit, I. J. Mackie, S. J. Machin, et al., Invest. Radiol., 21,248 (1986).
- 573. J. A. Englehart, D. C. Smith, M. D. Maloney, J.C. Westengard, et al., Invest. Radiol., 23,923 (1988).
- 574. J. J. Ing, D. C. Smith, and B. S. Bull, Radiology, 172,345 (1989).
- 575. E. F. Grabowski, K. L. Kaplan, and E. F. Halpern, Invest. *Radiol.*, 26,417 (1991).
- 576. C. Corot, A. Cornillac, J. Belleville, R. Eloy, and the European Clotting Group, Invest. *Ra*-diol., 26, S96 (1991).
- 577. W. **Krause** and W.-R. Press, Invest. Radiol., 32, 249 (1997).
- 578. H. L. C. Beynon, M. J. Walport, and P. Dawson, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S195 (1994).
- 579. E. C. Lasser and G. E. Lamkin, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S102 (1994).
- 580. M.-L. Wiesel, M. Zupan, F. Wolff, A. Grunebaum, et al., Thromb. Res., 64, 291 (1991).
- 581. M. J. Koza, T. V. Shanky, J. M. Walenga, R. Moncada, et al., Invest. Radiol., **30**, 90 (1995).
- 582. T. W. Morris, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S133 (1988).
- 583. L. Baath, J. Besjakov, and A. Oeksendal, *Invest*. Radiol., 28, 223 (1993).
- 584. C. B. Higgins, Invest. Radiol., 20, S65 (1985).
- 585. T. W. Morris, P. P. Harnish, K. Reeces, and R. W. Katzberg, Invest. Radiol., 18,335 (1983).
- 586. S. H. Sheu, M. H. Hwang, Z. E. Piao, R. J. Hariman, et al., Invest. Radiol., 30, 28 (1995).
- 587. L. Baath, T. Almén, and A. Oeksendal, Acta Radiol., 31, 99 (1990).
- 588. J. K. Amorosa, E. Martin, G. Newman, and J. Parker, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S74 (1994).
- 589. M. H. Faykus, C. Cope, C. Athanasoulis, E. M. Druy, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S98 (1994).

- 591. W. H. Ralston, M. S. Robbins, L. D. Mosier, S. J. Barco, et al., Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl.1), S140 (1988).
- 592. H. P. Niendorf, D. Antoni, and J. C. Dinger, Invest. Radiol., **25**, S146 (1990).
- 593. H.W. Fisher and T.W. Morris, Invest. Radiol., 15, S232 (1980).
- 594. S. H. Kim, H. K. Lee, and M. C. Han, Invest. Radiol., **27**, **45** (1992).
- 595. D. M. Lang, M. B. Alpern, P. F. Visintainer, and S. T. Smith, Arch. Intern. Med., 153,2033 (1993).
- 596. P. Muschick, D. Wehrmann, G. Schuhmann-Giampieri, and W. Krause, Invest. Radiol., 30, 745 (1995).
- 597. R. W. Katzberg, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S157 (1988).
- 598. K. Golman and T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 20, S92 (1985).
- 599. G. H. Mudge, Kidney Int., 18,540 (1980).
- 600. G. S. Nicot, L. J. Merle, J. P. Charmes, J. P. Valette, et al., JAMA, 252, 2432 (1984).
- 601. J. K. T. Lee, D. M. Warshauer, W. H. Bush Jr., B. L. McClennan, et al., Invest. Radiol., 12,700 (1995).
- 602. G. Deray, M. Dubois, F. Martinez, B. Baumelou, et al., **Am. J.** Nephrol., 10, 507 (1990).
- 603. G. Deray, B. Baumelou, F. Martinez, G. Brillet, and C. Jacobs, Clin. Nephrol., **36**, **93** (1991).
- 604. G. Deray, C. Bagnis, C. Jacquiaud, M. Dubois, et al., Invest. Radiol., 34, 1 (1999).
- 605. D. Rauch, P. Drescher, F. J. Pereira, J. M. Knes, et al., Invest. Radiol., 32,315 (1997).
- 606. A.Nygren, O. Hellberg, and P. Hansell, Invest. Radiol., 28, 1033 (1993).
- 607. J. H. Newhouse, J. Landsman, E. Lang, E. S. Amis, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 1), S68 (1994).
- 608. M. Langer, R. Langer, C. Zwicker, U. Speck, U.-A. Janicke, and R. Felix, Invest. Radiol. (Suppl. 1), 26, S83 (1991).
- 609. R. W. Katzberg, R. C. Pabico, T. W. Morris, K. Hayakawa, et al., Invest. Radiol., 21, 64 (1986).
- 610. L. A. Harvey and W. J. H. Caldicott, Invest. Radiol., 18,441 (1983).
- 611. B. J. Barrett and E. J. Carlisle, Radiology, 188, 171 (1993).

- 612. R. F. Spataro, R. W. Katzberg, H. W. Fisher, and M. J. McMannis, Radiology, **162**, **9** (1987).
- 613. S. Goldfarb, S. Spinler, J. S. Berns, and M. R. Rudnick, Invest. Radiol., 28 (Suppl. 5), S7 (1993).
- 614. F. Stacul, M. Carraro, S. Magnaldi, L. Faccini, et al., AJR, 149, 1287 (1987).
- 615. G. A. Porter, Invest. Radiol., 28 (Suppl. 5), S1 (1993).
- 616. H. S. Thomsen, Invest. Radiol., 25, S129 (1990).
- 617. C. Tornquist, T. Almén, K. Golman, and S. Holtas, Acta Radiol.Suppl., 362, 49 (1983).
- 618. T. Almén, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S2 (1994).
- 619. B. Frennby, G. Saterner, T. Almén, K.-E. Hagstam, and L. Jacobsson, Invest. Radiol., 29, S234 (1994).
- 620. P. Tervahartiala, L. Kivisaari, R. Kivisaari, l. Virtanen, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26,882 (1991).
- 621. M. Wasaki, H. Kawamura, J. Sugimoto, M. Shimada, et al., Invest. Radiol., 33,393 (1998).
- 622. H. S. Thomsen, K. Golman, S. Larsen, L. Hemmingsen, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26,951 (1991).
- 623. G. Severini and L. M. Aliberti, Clin. Biochem., 20,339 (1987).
- 624. N. E. Tolkoff-Rubin, R. H. Rubin, and J. V. Bonventre, Clin. Lab. Med., 8,507 (1988).
- 625. J. A. Jaskobsen, A. N. Kolbenstvedt, K. Levorstad, K. J. Berg, et al., Invest. Radiol., 25, S135 (1990).
- 626. R. Uchimoto, T. Miyazawa, and B. Fritz-Zieroth, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S111 (1994).
- 627. J.-M. Idée and B. Bonnemain, Invest. Radiol., 31, 231 (1996).
- 628. G. Deray and C. Jacobs, Invest Radiol., 30,221 (1995).
- 629. G. Deray and C. Jacobs, Invest Radiol., 31,372 (1996).
- 630. M.Vergara and S. Seguel, Radiology, 199,363 (1996).
- 631. S. I. Rapoport and H. Levitan, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 122, 186 (1974).
- 632. L. M. Zatz, Invest. Radiol., 15, S155 (1980).
- 633. S. E. Ekholm, T. W. Morris, and G. V. Marinetti, Invest. Radiol., 25, S84 (1990).
- 634. S. I. Rapoport, H. K. Thompson, and J. M. Bidinger, Acta Radiol. Diagn., **15**, **21** (1974).
- 635. T. S. Reese and M. J. Karnovsky, J. Cell Biol., 34,207 (1967).

- 636. M. J. Karnovsky, J. Gen. Physiol. 52, 64s (1968).
- 637. S. I. Rapoport, **Am. J.** Physiol., 219, 270 (1970).
- 638. S. I. Rapoport in S. K. Hilal, Ed., Symposium on Small Vessel Angiography: Imaging, Morphology, Physiology and Clinical Application, C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1973, p. 137.
- 639. S. I. Rapoport, M. Hori, and I. Klatzo, Am. J. *Physiol.*, 223, 323 (1972).
- 640. S. I. Rapoport in T. Teorell, P. L. Dedrick, and P. Condliffe, Eds., *Pharmacology and Pharmacokinetics: Problems and Perspectives*, Plenum, New York, 1974, p. 241.
- 641. T. M. Farber, H. Sorer, and N. B. Fizette, *Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol.*, 8, 431 (1974).
- 642. R. Gonsette and G. Andre-Balisaux, *Acta Radiol. Diagn.*, 8, 535 (1969).
- 643. P. J. Tuohimaa and E. Melartin, *Invest. Radiol.*, 5, 22 (1970).
- 644. M. Kormano and H. Hervonen, *Radiology*, 120,727 (**1976**).
- 645. A. J. Wilson and M. R. Sage, *Invest. Radiol.*, 29, S105 (**1994**).
- 646. K. Hayakawa, K. Yamashita, M. Mitsumori, and Y. Nakano, *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S80 (1990).
- 647. M. Sovak, H. M. Siefert, and R. Ranganathan, *Invest Radiol.*, 15, S248 (1980).
- 648. T. Fujita, J. Iwasa, and C. Hansch, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 86, 5175 (1964).
- 649. C. Hansch in E. J. Ariens, Ed., *Drug Design*, Vol. I, Academic Press, New York, 1971, p. 271.
- 650. C. Hansch and W. R. Glave, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 7,337 (1971).
- 651. A. Leo, C. Hansch, and D. Elkins, *Chem. Rev.*, 71, 525 (1971).
- 652. W. H. Oldendorf, Am. J. Physiol., 224, 1450 (1973).
- 653. P. Dawson in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 66.
- 654. M. D. Adams, W. H. Ralston, J. W. Miller, and J. A. Ferrendelli in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 17.
- 655. M. D. Adams, W. H. Ralston, J. W. Miller, and J. A. Ferrendelli, *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S86 (1990).
- 656. E. Melartin, P. J. Tuohimaa, and R. Dabb, *Invest. Radiol.*, **5**, **13** (1970).
- 657. C. A. Evill, A. J. Wilson, and M. R. Sage, *Invest. Radiol.*, 25, S82 (1990).

- 658. N. Motoji, A. Shigematsu, and A. Minegishi, Biol. Pharm. Bull., 17, 257 (1994).
- 659. A. A. Michelet, Acta Radiol., 28,329 (1987).
- 660. P. P. Harnish, A. Krutchen, and M. Mukherji, Invest. Radiol., 24, 34 (1989).
- 661. C. C. Whisson, A. J. Wilson, C. A. Evill, and M. R. Sage, Am. J. Neuroradiol., 15, 95 (1994).
- 662. L. Engevik, *Acta Chir. Scand.*, Suppl., 392, 1 (1968).
- 663. N. Antoni and E. Lindgren, *Acta Chir. Scand.*, 98,230 (1949).
- 664. D. A. Killen and J. H. Foster, *Ann. Surg.*, 152, 211 (1960).
- 665. E. M. Lance, D. Killen, and G. Owens, *Surg. Forum*, 9,728 (1959).
- 666. G. Margolis and T. G. Yerasimides, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 5, 388 (1966).
- 667. D. A. Killen and J. H. Foster, *Surgery*, 59,969 (1966).
- 668. B. H. Stewart, R. L. Diamond, C. F. Ferguson, and P. H. Shepherd, J. Urol., 94, 695 (1965).
- 669. D. A. Killen and E. M. Lance, *Surgery*, 47,260 (1960).
- 670. E. M. Lance and D. A. **Killen**, *Surg. Forum*, **11**, 139 (1960).
- 671. J.H. Foster, D.A. Killen, P. T. Sessions, G.W. Rhea, et al., *Vasc. Dis.*, **1**, **8** (1964).
- 672. T. Mennini, P. B. Bernasconi, and M. G. Fiori, *Invest. Radiol.*, 28,821 (1993).
- 673. M. D. Adams, R. M. Hopkins, and J. A. Ferrendelli, *Inuest. Radiol.*, 23, S217 (**1988**).
- 674. R. E. Gonsette and J. M. Brucher, *Invest. Radiol.*, **15**, S254 (1980).
- 675. U. Speck, W.-R. Press, and W. Mützel, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S114 (1988).
- 676. A.J. Wilson, C. **A.** Evill, and M. R. Sage, *Invest. Radiol.*, 26, 1091 (1991).
- 677. G. V. Marinetti, T. W. Morris, S. E. Ekholm, and P. Leakey, *Invest. Radiol.*, 27,224 (1992).
- 678. G. Nylander, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., 266, 7 (1967).
- 679. L. Szlavy and G. Vadon, *Radiol. Clin. Biol.*, 38, 406 (1969).
- 680. P. G. Jeppson, *Acta Neurol. Scand.*, 38 (Suppl.), 160 (1962).
- 681. P. D. Kenan, G. T. Tindall, G. Margolis, and R. S. Wood, *J. Neurosurg.*, 15, 92 (1958).
- 682. L. Irstam, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 15,647 (1975).
- 683. P. Ahlgren, Invest. Radiol., 15, S264 (1980).
- 684. E. C. Lasser, Radiology, 91, 63 (19681.

- 685. **J**.H. Langand E. C. Lasser, **J**.*Med. Chem.*, 14, 233 (1971).
- 686. G. H. Mudge, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S102 (1980).
- 687. E. C. Lasser and J. H. Lang, *Invest. Radiol.*, 5, 514 (1970).
- 688. W. R. Catell, Invest. Radiol., 5,473 (1970).
- 689. H. O. Bang and J. Georg, *Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 4, 87 (1948).
- 690. H. Bennhold, H. Ott, and M. Wiech, *Deut. Med. Wochenschr.*, 75, 11 (1950).
- 691. R. N. Berk, P. M. Loeb, L. E. Goldberg, and J. Sokoloff, *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 290,202 (1974).
- 692. E. C. Lasser, R. S. Farr, T. Fujimagari, and W. N. Tripp, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther., 87,338 (1962).
- 693. J. L. Barnhart, R. N. Berk, J. O. Janes, and B. L. Witt, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S109 (1980).
- 694. J. Sokoloff, R. N. Berk, J. H. Lanyn, and E. C. Lasser, *Radiology*, 106,519 (1973).
- 695. C. S. Song, E. R. Beranbaum, and M. A. Rothschild, *Invest. Radiol.*, **11**, **39** (1976).
- 696. E. J. Goldstein and I. M. Arias, *Invest. Radiol.*, 9,594 (1974).
- 697. J. Lang and E. C. Lasser, *Invest. Radiol.*, 10, 314 (1975).
- 698. M. Kormano and M. Harkonen, *Invest. Radiol.*, **8**, 68 (1973).
- 699. E. C. Lasser and J. H. Lang, *Invest. Radiol.*, 1, 237 (1966).
- 700. B. Huthwohl and E. Truber, *Naunyn-Schmie*debergs Arch. Pharmacol., 282 (Suppl.), P37 (1974).
- 701. B. Huthwohl, H. Hohage, and E. Truber, Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol., 287 (Suppl.), R79 (1975).
- 702. D. Rickwood, A. Hell, G. D. Birnie, and C. Chr. Gilhuus-Moe, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 342, 367 (1974).
- **703.** S. Salvesen and K. Fry, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., 335,247 (1973).
- 704. A. Livingston, T. Sooriyamoorthy, and J. Griffen, *Invest. Radiol.*, 9,282 (1974).
- 705. J. H. Lang, E. C. Lasser, and W. P. Kolb, *Invest. Radiol.*, 11, 303 (1976).
- 706. K. Verebely, H. Kutt, R. M. Torack, and F. McDowell, *Blood*, 33,468 (1969).
- 707. B. Schulze, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S18 (1980).
- 708. W. Miitzel, H.-M. Siefert, and U. Speck, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., 362, 111 (1980).
- **709.** K. Skinnemoen, *Acta Radiol*.Suppl., 370, 33 (1987).

- 710. T. **Prangé**, F. Gaudey, J. Ohanessian, D. Avenel, et al., *FEBS Lett.*, 357,247 (1995).
- 711. O. Brass, J. M. Letoffe, A. Bakkali, J. C. Bureau, et d., *Biophys. Chem.*, **54**, 83 (1995).
- 712. M. H. Xiao and D. C. Carter, *Nature*, 358,209 (1992).
- 713. W. A. Mersereau and H. R. Robertson, J. Neurosurg., 18,289 (1961).
- 714. S. E. Sorensen, *Acta Radiol. Diagn.*, 11, 274 (1971).
- 715. P. I. Branemark, B. Jacobsson, and S. E. Sorensen, *Acta Radiol. Diagn.*, 8,547 (1969).
- 716. G. J. Harrington and W. P. Wiedeman, *Radiology*, 84, 1108 (1965).
- 717. A. M. Rothchild, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 25, 59 (1965).
- 718. R. A. Simon, M. Schatz, D. D. Stevenson, M. Curry, et al., J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 63, 281 (1979).
- 719. F.C. Cogan, M.E. Norman, E. Dunsky, J. Hirshfeld, et al., J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 64, 299 (1979).
- 720. W. D. M. Paton, *Pharmacol. Rev.*, 9, 269 (1957).
- 721. M. P. Leite, C. R. Moraes, and J. G. Leme, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 15, 172 (1975).
- 722. S. D. **Rockoff** and R. Brasch, *Invest. Radiol.*, 6, 110 (1971).
- 723. S. D. Rockoff, C. Kuhn, and M. Charphyvy, *Invest. Radiol.*, 6, 186 (1971).
- 724. G. Seidel, G. Groppe, and C. Meyer-Burgdorff, *Agents Actions*, 4, 143 (1974).
- 725. J. W. Black, W. A. M. Duncan, C. J. Durant,
  C. R. Ganellin, and E. M. Parsons, *Nature*, 236,385 (1972).
- 726. A. Doenicke, W. Lorenz, and U. Fink in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., *New Dimensions of Contrast Media*, Excerpta Medica, *Am*sterdam, 1991, p. 58.
- 727. R. L. Siegle, P. Lieberman, B. R. Jennings, and M. C. Rice, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S13 (1980).
- 728. E. S. K. Assem, K. Bay, and P. Dawson, *Br. J. Radiol.*, 56, 647 (1983).
- 729. P. Dawson and D. Edgerton, *Br. J. Radiol.*, 56, 653 (1983).
- 730. C. M. Arroyave, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S21 (1980).
- 731. R. A. Simon, M. Schatz, and D. Stevenson, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 63, 289 (1979).
- 732. A. Pinet, C. Corot, N. Biot, and R. Eloy, *Invest. Radiol.*, 23 (Suppl. 1), S174 (1988).
- 733. W. Krause, T. Bunte, R. Schubert, and PBlaszkiewicz, *Invest. Radiol.*, 30,548 (1995).

- 734. R. N. Berk, P.M. Loeb, L. E. Goldberger, and J. Sokoloff, *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 290, 204 (1974).
- 735. L. E. Goldberger, R. N. Berk, J. H. Lang, and P. M. Loeb, *Invest. Radiol.*, 9, 16 (1974).
- 736. R. E. Wise in A. R. Margulis and H. J. Burhenne, Eds., Alimentary Tract Roentgenology, Vol. II, C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1973, p. 1291.
- 737. V. Tanenzer, P. Koeppe, K. F. Samwer, and G. H. Kolb, *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 6, 137 (1973).
- 738. G. Rosati, *Radiol. Med.*, 56,808 (1970).
- 739. A. A. Moss, J. Nelson, and J. Amberg, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 117, 406 (1973).
- 740. R. M. Taketa, R. N. Berk, J. H. Lang, E. C. Lasser, and C. R. Dunn, *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, *Radium Ther. Nucl. Med.*, 114,767 (1972).
- 741. J. A. Nelson, A. A. Moss, H. L. Goldberg, L. Z. Benet, and J. Amberg, *Invest. Radiol.*, 8, 1 (1973).
- 742. A. A. Moss, J. R. Amberg, and R. S. Jones, *Invest. Radiol.*, 7, 11 (1972).
- 743. J.A. Nelson and A.E. Staubus, *Invest. Radiol.*, 10,371 (1975).
- 744. R. N. Berk, L. E. Goldberger, and P. M. Loeb, *Invest. Radiol.*, 9, 7 (1974).
- 745. E. L. Forker and G. Gibson in G. Baumgartner and R. Preisig, Eds., *The Liver*, S. Karger, New York, 1973, p. 326.
- 746. I. Sperber, *Pharmacol. Rev.*, 11,109 (1959).
- 747. L. A. Corman, I. M. Freundlich, J. S. Lehman, G. Onesti, et al., *Curr. Ther. Res. Clin. Exp.*, 9, 99 (1967).
- 748. D. M. Shames and *A. A.* Moss, *Invest. Radiol.*, 9, 141 (1974).
- 749. I. Sperber, G. Sperber in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Vol. *I*, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 179.
- 750. A. Strata, G. Magnani, F. Tirelli, and G. Rosati,
   J. Radiol. Electrol. Med. Nucl., 56 (Suppl. 1),
   40 (1975).
- 751. G. Segre and G. F. Rosati, J. Radiol. Electrol. Med. Nucl., 56 (Suppl. 1), 44 (1975).
- 752. R. N. Berk, P. M. Loeb, A. Cobo-Frenkel, and J. L. Barnhart, *Radiology*, 119,529 (1976).
- 753. S. K. Lin, A. A. Moss, and S. Riegelman, *Invest. Radiol.*, 12, 175 (1977).
- 754. A. A. Moss, S. K. Lin, and S. Riegelman, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S132 (1980).
- 755. A. E. Staubus, *Invest. Radiol.*, 15, S91 (1980).

- 756. J. A. Nelson, H. W. Pepper, H. I. Goldberg, A.A. Moss, et al., Invest. Radiol., 8,126 (1973).
- 757. R. J. Griep and W. B. Nelp, *Radiology*, 93,807 (1969).
- 758. J. Edelson, D. Shaw, and G. Palace, *J. Pharm. Sci.*, 73,993 (1983).
- 759. B. Olsson, Å. Aulie, K. Sveen, and E. Andrew, *Invest. Radiol.*, 18, 177 (1983).
- 760. D. N. McKinstry, A. J. Rommel, and A. Sugerman, *Invest. Radiol.*, 19, S171 (1984).
- 761. N. Motoji, A. Minegishi, and A. Shigematsu, *Iyakuhin Kenkyu*, 22, 209 (1991); *Chem. Abstr.*, **115**, 105391z (1991).
- 762. R. A. Wilkins, J. R. Whittington, G. S. Brigden, A. Lahiri, et *al.*, *Invest. Radiol.*, 24,781 (1989).
- 763. W. Krause, G. Schuhmann-Giampieri, T. Staks, and J. Kaufmann, *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 46, 339 (1994).
- 764. A. Waaler, J. P. Jorgensen, B. Koksvik, K. Skinnemoen, et al., *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., 370, 113 (1987).
- 765. M. G. Svaland, T. Haider, K. Langseth-Manrique, E. Andrew, et al., *Invest. Radiol.*, 27, 130 (1992).
- 766. K. Golman and S. G. Dahl, *Acta Radiol.*, Suppl., 335,276 (**1973**).
- 767. K. Golman, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 258 (1973).
- 768. P. K. Knoefel and G. Carrasquer in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., *Radiocontrast Agents*, Vol. *I*, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 261.
- 769. E. W. McChesney in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. I, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 336.
- 770. G. Miller, W. A. Fuchs, and R. Preisig, *Schweiz. Med. Wochenschr.*, 99,577 (1969).
- 771. G. Rosati and P. Schiantarelli, *Invest. Radiol.*, 5,232 (1976).
- 772. J. A. Nelson and A. E. Staubus, *Invest. Radiol.*, 11, 63 (1976).
- 773. G. Juliani, E. Gaia, and E. Mariani, J. Radiol. Electrol. Med. Nucl., 56 (Suppl. 1), 42 (1975).
- 774. J. M. Janbroers, J. C. Sanders, H. P. Til, V. J. Feron, et al., *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, 14, 232 (1969).
- 775. K. Kiyono, T. Kasuya, and T. Kobayashi, *Ra-dioisotopes*, 20, 78 (1971); *Chem. Abstr.*, 75, 33659y (1971).
- 776. H. W. Fischer, *Radiology*, 84, 483 (1965).
- 777. W. J. Cooke and G. H. Mudge, *Invest. Radiol.*, 10, 189 (1975).

- 778. C. R. Dunn and R. N. Berk, Am. J. Roentgenol., Radium Ther. Nucl. Med., 114, 758 (1972).
- 779. J. A. Nelson, A. E. Staubus, and J. R. Amberg, Invest. Radiol., 9,438 (1974).
- 780. G. T. Benness, C. A. Evill, D. Varga, and M. Soschko, Invest. Radiol., 10,526 (1975).
- 781. J. R. Wood and I. F. Stanford, Br. J. Radiol., 47,825 (1974).
- 782. K. Golman, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 253 (1973).
- 783. K. Golman, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 268 (1973).
- 784. K. Golman, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 264 (1973).
- 785. A. Agut, F. G. Laredo, M. A. Sanchez-Valverde, J. Murciano, et al., Invest. Radiol., 30, 296 (1995).
- 786. P. Bourrinet, A. Dencausse, P. Cochet, M. Bromet-Petit, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, 1057 (1994).
- 787. P. Bourrinet, A. Dencausse, P. Harvard, X.Violas, et al., Invest. Radiol., 30, 156 (1995).
- 788. L. B. Talner and A. J. Davidson, Invest. **Ra**diol., 3, 310 (1968).
- 789. R. Hansson and T. Lindholm, Acta Med. Scand., 174,611 (1963).
- 790. G. T. Benness, Aust. Radiol., 12,245 (1968).
- 791. L. B. Talner and A. J. Davidson, Invest. **Ra**diol., 3,301 (1968).
- 792. L. T. Difazio, S. M. Singhyi, A. F. Heald, D. N. McKinstry, et al., J. Clin. Pharmacol., 18, 37 (1978).
- 793. N. Bank, B. F. Mutz, and H. S. Aynedjian, J. Clin. Invest., 46,695 (1967).
- 794. J. R. Jaenike, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 73, 459 (1969).
- 795. K. Golman, T. Almén, and H. Forste, Invest. Radiol., 11, 80 (1976).
- 796. S. Lundquist and P. Leander, Invest. Radiol., 26, S75 (1991).
- 797. R. L. Campbell, J. A. Campbell, R. F. Heimburger, J. E. Kalsbeck, et al., Radiology, 83, 286 (1964).
- 798. H. Brabrand, H. D. Lessmann, and H. Wenker, Radiologie, **12**, **66** (1972).
- 799. N. K. Sviridov, Farmacol. Toksikol. (Moscow),
  35, 372 (1972); Chem. Abstr., 77, 70854v (1972).
- 800. E.W. McChesney in P. K. Knoefel, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Vol. I, Pergamon, Oxford, UK, 1971, p. 147.

- 801. R. Weiss, B. Hsu, L. Wheeler, A. Norman, and R. F. Riley, Invest. Radiol., 16,517 (1981).
- 802. E. W. McChesney and J. O. Hoppe, Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther., 105,306 (1956).
- 803. E. W. McChesney and W. F. Banks Jr., Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med., 119, 1027 (1965).
- 804. H. Langecker and C. Ertel, Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol., 230,324 (1957).
- 805. D.W. Singerland, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 17, 82 (1957).
- 806. D. Pitrè and L. Fumagalli, Chim. Ther., 5,185 (1970).
- 807. E. B. Astwood, Trans. Assoc. Am. Physicians (Phila.), 70, 183 (1957).
- 808. G. H. Mudge, G. J. Strewler Jr., N. Desbiens, W. O. Berndt, et al., J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 178, 159 (1971).
- 809. D. N. Wade, N. Desbiens, G. J. Strewler Jr., W. O. Berndt, et al., J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 178, 173 (1971).
- 810. I. Bornschein, H. H. Borchert, and S. Pfeifer, Pharmazie, 29, 730 (1974).
- 811. H. Langecker, A. Harwart, and K. Junkmann, Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol., 220, 195 (1953).
- 812. E. Clerc, Arzn. Wochenschr., 10,1156 (1955).
- 813. B. H. Billing, O. Maggiore, and M. A. Cartter, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 111,319 (1963).
- 814. H. Langecker, A. Harwart, K. H. Kolb, and M. Kramer, Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol., 247, 493 (1964).
- 815. H. S. Strickler, E. L. Saier, E. Kelvington, J. Kempic, et al., J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 24, 15 (1964).
- 816. W. Miitzel, V. Taenzer, and R. Wolf, Invest. Radiol., 11,598 (1976).
- 817. D. Pitrè and E. Felder, Farm. Ed. Sci., 29,793 (1974).
- 818. R. Barke, Radiol. Diagn. Berlin, 5, 193 (1964).
- 819. W. M. Barker, D. J. Thompson, and J. H. Ware, Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., 26, 568 (1967).
- 820. P. Moy and A. G. Ebert, Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., 26,567 (1967).
- 821. W. H. Gutenmann, C. A. Bache, and D. J. Lisk, J. Agric. Food Chem., 15, 600 (1967).
- 822. W. T. Salter, G. Karandikar, and P. Block, J. Clin. Endocrinol., 9, 1080 (1949).
- 823. D.W. Slingerland, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 17, 82 (1957).
- 824. R. Barke, Radiol. Diagn. Berlin, 6, 197 (1965).

- 825. R. H. Jarboe, J. B. Data, and J. E. Christian, J. Pharm. Sci., 57,323 (1968).
- 826. U.-C. J. Wong, J. Pharm. Sci., 69, 671 (1980).
- 827. H. Billion, W. Frommhold, K. Oeff, and W. Shutz, Ann. Wochenschr., 10,574 (1955).
- 828. K. Oeff, W. Frommhold, F. A. Pezold, and O. Schuchter, Klin. Wochenschr., 31, 123 (1953).
- 829. K. H. Kimbel, W. Borner, and E. Heise, Fortschr. Geb. Roentgenstr., 83, (1955).
- 830. H. Billion and W. Schlungbaum, Klin. Wochenschr., 33, 1089 (1955).
- 831. H. S. Ogden and G. E. Sheline, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 54, 53 (1959).
- 832. J. J. Jankowski, M. Feingold, and S. S. Gellis, J. Pediatr., 70,436 (1967).
- 833. R. L. Himsworth, M. Fischer, and M. J. Denham, Br. Med. J., 4, 162C (1975).
- 834. A. M. Silas and A. G. White, Br. Med. J., 4, 162C (1975).
- 835. R. Aquaron, Clin. Chim. Acta, 41,175 (1972).
- 836. P. Dawson, D. O. Cosgrove, and R. G. Grainger, Eds., Textbook of Contrast Media, Isis Medical Media, Oxford, UK, 1999, 612 pp.
- 837. G. N. Hounsfield, Br. J. Radiol., 46, 1016 (1973).
- 838. J. T. Payne in R. Felix, E. Kazner, and O. H. Wegener, Eds., Contrast Media in Computed Tomography, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1981, p. 7.
- 839. Z. H. Cho, J. P. Jones, and M. Singh, Foundations of Medical Imaging, JohnWiley & Sons, New York, 1993, p. 148.
- 840. F. Miraldi and E. J. Wiesen in J. R. Haaga and R. J. Alfidi, Eds., Computed Tomography of the Whole Body, 2nd ed., Vol. I, C. V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1988, p. 10.
- 841. G. L. Wolf and S. Gazelle, Invest. Radiol., 28 (Suppl. 4), S2 (1993).
- 842. P. B. Dean, Invest. Radiol., 15, S164 (1980).
- 843. M. J. Kormano in R. Felix, E. Kazner, and O. H. Wegener, Eds., Contrast Media in Computed Tomography, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1981, p. 38.
- 844. R. Felix, E. Kazner, and O. H. Wegener, Eds., Contrast Media in Computed Tomography, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1981,302 pp.
- 845. V. M. Haughton, J. H. Donegan, P. R. Walsh, A. Syvertsen, and A. L. Williams, Invest. Radiol., 15, S160 (1980).
- 846. W. A. Kalender, W. Seissler, E. Klotz, and P. Vock, Radiology, 176, 181 (1990).
- 847. W. A. Kalender and A. Polacin, Med Phys., 18, 910 (1991).

- 848. N. Hidajat, J. Maurer, R.-J. Schroder, M. Wolf, et al., Invest. Radiol., **34**, 51 (1999).
- 849. T. S. Higashi, K. Takizawa, J. Nagashima, M. Obuchi, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S37 (1991).
- 850. B. L. McClennan, Invest. Radiol., 29, S46 (1994).
- 851. M. D. Cohen, Invest. Radiol., 28, S87 (1993).
- 852. M. A. Bettmann, Invest. Radiol., 29,533 (1994).
- 853. P. B. Dean, L. Kivisaari, and M. Kormano, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S118 (1988).
- 854. J. R. Benton and G. H. Wilson, Invest. Radiol., 11, 602 (1976).
- 855. T. Almén, Acta Radiol., Suppl., 335, 216 (1973).
- 856. D. C. Cumberland, Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 6), S301 (1984).
- 857. F. Bonati, Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S175 (1984).
- 858. C. B. Higgins, Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S187 (1984).
- 859. E.W. Gertz, J. A. Wisneski, R. Neese, D. Silverstein, et al., Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S191 (1984).
- 860. J. Brismar, P. Lindgren, and G.-F. Saltzman, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 11, 129 (1971).
- 861. C. A. Evill and G. T. Benness, Invest. Radiol., 11,459 (1976).
- 862. J. L. Barnhart in M. Sovak, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984, p. 367.
- 863. E. A. Graham, W. H. Cole, and G. H. Copher, J. Am. Med. Assoc., 82, 1777 (1924).
- 864. S. J. Archer, J. O. Hoppe, and T. R. Lewis, J. Am. Pharm. Assoc., 40,617 (1951).
- 865. S. Y. Han and D. M. Witten, Radiology, 112, 529 (1974).
- 866. M. Oliphant, J. P. Whalen, and J. A. Evans, Radiology, 112,531 (1974).
- 867. J. G. Russell and P. R. Frederick, Radiology, 112, 519 (1974).
- 868. R. E. Parks, Radiology, 112, 525 (1974).
- 869. *M. L. Janower and M. A. Hannon, Radiology,* **118**, 301 (1976).
- 870. S. Arnell and F. Lidstrom, Acta Radiol., 12, 287 (1931).
- 871. C. S. Kulik and A. O. Hampton, N. Engl. J. Med., 224,455 (1941).
- 872. G. H. Ramsey, J. D. French, and W. H. Strain, Radiology, 43, 236 (1944).
- 873. J. K. Jakobsen, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 14, 638 (1973).
- 874. P. Ahlgren, Acta Radiol. Diagn., 13, 753 (1972).
- 875. I. O. Skalpe, Acta Radiol.Suppl., 335, 57 (1973).

- 876. T. Hindmarsh, Acta Radiol. *Diagn.*, 16, 417 (1975).
- 877. B. R. Drayer, R. Velaj, R. Bird, R. Albright, et al., Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S212 (1984).
- 878. G. T. Benness, Clin. Radiol., 21, 157 (1970).
- 879. G. T. Benness, Aust. Radiol., 14,416 (1970).
- C. A. Evill and G. T. Benness, Invest. Radiol., 10, 552 (1975).
- 881. W. M. Thompson, Invest. Radiol., 19 (Suppl. 5), S229 (1984).
- 882. D. M. Long, M. S. Liu, P. S. Szanto, D. P. Alrenga, et al., Radiology, 105,323 (1972).
- 883. D. M. Long, M. S. Liu, P. S. Szanto, and P. Alrenga, Rev. Surg., 29, 71 (1972).
- 884. M. S. Liu and D. M. Long, Invest. Radiol., 11, 479 (1976).
- 885. D. R. Enzmann and S. Young, Invest. Radiol., 16, 46 (1981).
- 886. S. W. Young, D. R. Enzmann, D. M. Long, and H. H. Muller, AJR, 137, 141 (1981).
- 887. R. F. Mattrey, D. M. Long, F. Multer, R. Mitten, et al., Radiology, 145, 755 (1982).
- 888. D. J. Sartoris, J. Guerra Jr., R. F. Mattrey, D. Resnick, et al., Invest. Radiol., 21, 49 (1986).
- 889. W. W. Peck, R. F. Mattrey, R. A. Slutsky, and C. B. Higgins, Znvest. Radiol., 19, 129 (1984).
- 890. C. Musu, E. Felder, B. Lamy, and M. Schneider, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S126 (1988).
- 891. S. E. Seltzer, G. Gregoriadis, and R. Dick, *Invest.* Radiol., 23, 131 (1988).
- 892. **R. Passariello, P.** Pavone, G. Patrizio, P. Di Renzi, et al., Invest. Radiol., 25, S92 (1990).
- 893. M. R. Violante and H. W. Fisher in M. Sovak, Ed., Radiocontrast Agents, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984, p. 553.
- 894. C. T. Cheng, S. E. Seltzer, D. F. Adams, and M. Blau, Invest. Radiol., **22**, 47 (1988).
- 895. S. E. Seltzer, A. S. Janoff, M. Blau, D. F. Admas, et d., Invest. Radiol., 26, S169 (1991).
- 896. E. Mayhew, R. Lazo, W. J. Vail, J. King, and A. M. Green, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 775,169 (1984).
- 897. A. S. Janoff, S. R. Minchey, W. R. **Perkins**, L. T. Boni, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S167 (1991).
- 898. S. E. Seltzer, Invest. Radiol., 23 (Suppl. 1), S122 (1988).
- 899. W. Krause, A. Sachse, S. Wagner, U. Kollenkirchen, and G. Rissling, Znvest. Radiol., 26, S172 (1991).
- 900. W. Krause, J. Leike, A. Sachse, and G. Schuhmann-Giampieri, Znvest. Radiol., 28, 1028 (1993).

- 901. P. J. Ryan, M. A. Davis, and D. L. Melchior, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 756, 106 (1983).
- 902. D. Revel, C. Carot, Y. Carrillon, G. Dandis, et al., invest. Radiol., 25, S95 (1990).
- 903. J. Petersein, B. Franke, X. Fouillet, and B. Hamm, Invest. Radiol., 39,401 (1999).
- 904. A. Dick, G. Adam, J. Tacke, A. Prescher, et al., Invest. Radiol., 31, 194 (1996).
- 905. T. M. Allen, *Adv.* Drug Deliv. Rev., 13, 285 (1994).
- 906. A. Sache, J. U. Leike, T. Schneider, S. E. Wagner, et al., Invest. Radiol., **32**, 44 (1997).
- 907. G. L. Jendrasiak, G. D. Frey, and R. C. Heim, Invest. Radiol., 20,995 (1985).
- 908. V. J. Caride, H. D. Sostman, J. Twickler, H. Zacharis, et al., Invest. Radiol., 17,381 (1982).
- 909. D. J. Yang, L.-R. Kuang, C. Li, Z. Kan, and S. Wallace, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S267 (1994).
- 910. G. Grimes, M. Vermess, J. F. Gallelli, et al., J. Pharmaceut. Sci., 68, 52 (1979).
- 911. J. P. Weichert, M. A. Longino, D. A. Bakan, M. G. Spigarelli, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S284 (1994).
- 912. D. L. Rubin, T. S. Dresser, F. Qing, H. H. Muller, et al., invest. Radiol., 29, S280 (1994).
- 913. G. S. Gazelle, G. L. Wolf, E. R. Bacon, G. L. McIntire, et al., invest. Radiol., 29, S286 (1994).
- 914. M. R. Violante, P. B. Dean, H. W. Fischer, and J. A. Mahoney, Invest. Radiol., 15, S171 (1980).
- 915. M. R. Violante, H. W. Fischer, and J. A. Mahoney, invest. Radiol., 15, S329 (1980).
- 916. F. T. Lee, I. A. Sport, A. H. Rappe, M. R. Violante, and J. P. Bronson, Invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S289 (1994).
- 917. C. Li, Z. Kan, D. J. Yang, L. R. Kuang, et al., Invest. Radiol., 29, 1006 (1994).
- 918. C. Li, P. McCuskey, Z. Kan, D. J. Yang, et al., J. Biomed. *Mater.* Res., 28,881 (1994).
- 919. M. Sako, S. Hirota, M. Hase, M. Fujii, et al. in H. Katayama and R. C. Brasch, Eds., New Dimensions of Contrast Media, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 1991, p. 24.
- 920. D. Revel, C. Chambon, P. **Harvard**, D. Dandis, et al., Invest. Radiol., 26, S57 (1991).
- 921. D. Douct, D. Meyer, and B. Bonnemain, Znvest. Radiol., 26, S53 (1991).
- 922. J. Lautrou, D. Paris, M. Schaefer, D. Meyer, et al., invest. Radiol., 25, S109 (1990).
- 923. M. Sovak, J. G. Douglass, R. C. Terry, J. W. Brown, et al., invest. Radiol., 29 (Suppl. 2), S271 (1994).

# CHAPTER ELEVEN

# Microarrays and Gene Expression Profiling Applied to Drug Research

BRAD WINDLE Department of Medicinal Chemistry Center for Bioelectronics, Biosensors and Biochips (C3B) Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia

ANTHONY GUISEPPI-ELIE Department of Chemical Engineering Center for Bioelectronics, Biosensors and Biochips (**C3B**) Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia

## Contents

- 1 Introduction, 600
- **2** DNA Microarray Technology and Methods in Gene Expression Analysis, **600** 
  - 2.1 DNA Microarray Fabrication, 600
  - **2.2**Applications of DNA Microarrays, **601**
  - **2.3** Interpretation and Bioinformatics of Microarray Data, **605**
- 3 Applications of Gene Expression Profiling in Drug Research, 606
  - **3.1 Characterizing** Cells by Gene Expression Profiling, **606**
  - 3.2 Gene Expression and Drug Response, 608
  - 3.3 Pathways and Targets, 610
  - **3.4** Simulating Effects of Drugs through Genomics, **612**
  - 3.5 Molecular Toxicology, 614
  - 3.6 Bioinformatics Meets Chemoinformatics, 614
- 4 Concluding Remarks, 614
- 5 Acknowledgments, 615

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume **4:** Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

# **1** INTRODUCTION

The sequencing of the human genome represented a milestone accomplishment of the 20th century. The 23 pairs of human chromosomes that comprise almost three billion base pairs of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) have now been established to contain approximately 38,000 genes that encode some 60,000-80,000 different proteins (1, 2). Traditional analyses of genes and proteins are generally directed to one gene or protein at a time. This leisurely approach cannot match the pace of modern genomics and makes it difficult, almost impossible, to unearth complex interactions among genes or proteins. Traditional methods cannot readily reveal multigene relationships, the complex temporal symphony of gene action, or reveal the "whole picture" of gene functions and interactions. The study of the interactions among so many cellular factors requires the development of complex analytical tools and the use of sophisticated computer methods in the management and analysis of the data derived from such tools.

The start of the 21 century is witnessing the embryonic development of a new bioanalytical technology for the analysis of gene expression and genotyping—DNA microarrays. DNA arrays using oligonucleotides were first developed for a hybridization-based DNA sequencing method (3). DNA microarrays have more recently been developed as tools for studyinggene expression (4). DNA microarray technology translates what the cell is displaying at the genomic level into interpretable data. This technology enables researchers to obtain instantaneous snapshots of the expression levels of all genes. It also offers the potential for understanding complex regulatory pathways, deriving the distinguishing genetic identities of individuals, and discovering and understanding the molecular basis for disease states.

Modern genomics and DNA microarrays have been described as tools for revolutionizing drug development (5). However, promises of the genomics-driven revolution in drug research come with few details. How does knowing the sequence of all genes in our cells help us discover or develop drugs? In the fields of drug discovery, drug design, and drug development, microarrays are becoming the instruments for displaying complex drug interactions in the cells at the genomic and proteomic level. This chapter describes principles of DNA microarray technology and basic analysis of DNA microarray data, followed by discussions of recent ventures in applying DNA microarray technology to drug research.

# 2 DNA MICROARRAY TECHNOLOGY AND METHODS IN GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS

# 2.1 DNA Microarray Fabrication

DNA microarrays fall under the category of DNA chips. The term DNA chip is used to generally describe a solid platform cut from a larger substrate by dicing (hence chip) that incorporates a molecular component derived from deoxyribonucleic acid, ribonucleic acid, or biomimetic versions of these genetic molecules. An array used in biological studies is an orderly arrangement of known biological entities displayed in two dimensions on a flat surface. These entities may be (1)proteins, such as with antibody microarrays, (2)nucleic acids used to study gene expression or gene copy number in cells, or (3) tissues where the tissue-specific level of expression of a protein or gene is being explored. There can also be combinatorial microarrays aimed at materials development. DNA microarrays are thus far the most developed and widely used of the microarray devices. The array of DNA material may be printed on glass, supported hydrogel, nylon, or metal substrates. In its simplest manifestation, the only requirement is that the substrate be flat, smooth, chemically uniform, and provide a physicochemical means for the attachment of the several DNA sequences. In more complex manifestations, the substrate may present three dimensionally such as a substrate-supported hydrogel layer, a microporous membrane, an etched-roughened surface, or a channel-bearing substrate.



Figure 11.1. Pin tool for spotting DNA on a glass slide. Panel a shows a four-pin device acquiring DNA solution from a microtiter well plate. The DNA solution is printed onto a glass slide in panel b. The DNA identities, well positions, and the spot positions are determined in a pattern program used by the spotter arrayer.

Currently, the most widely used substrate is glass, with dimensions of the familiar  $3.0" \times 1.0"$  microscope slide.

There are two general platforms for DNA microarray fabrication. The most versatile of these platforms uses high-speed robotics (spotter arrayer) with DNA solutions. In a spotter arrayer, precision robots are combined with nanoliter liquid transfer capability. The nanoliter liquid transfer device may be of two generic types: contact or non-contact transfer of liquid to create the spots of the microarray. Contact methods include pin-tools and quills. Pin-tools are typically pencil-like devices with laser sharpened titanium tips. Quills are similar but possess a laser-drilled capillary running from the tip up the center of the shaft. Both exploit the surface tension forces of water to create a uniform drop of DNA solution that is transferred to the substrate on physical contact (Fig. 11.1). Non-contact methods use electromechanical actuation to propel a fixed volume of the DNA solution to the surface. This method can use inkjet heads, micro-sole**noid** value dispensers, or piezoelectrically driven liquid dispensers. The DNA being arrayed can be bound to the substrate through a variety of fixation chemistries. Pin-tool robots can print greater than 25,000 spots on a glass microscope slide, given a feature size as small as 100  $\mu$ m with 200- $\mu$ m center-to-center spacing.

The second platform for DNA microarray fabrication involves controlled *in situ* synthesis of oligonucleotides (on-chip). This technology, implemented by Affymetrix in the manufacture of GeneChips, uses photolithographic

masks to expose selected spots to light, resulting in deprotection of reactive groups needed for nucleotide coupling (Fig. 11.2). Each nucleotide added is itself protected, requiring light exposure to deprotect for subsequent addition of the next nucleotide. A different mask is used for each nucleotide added, and the process is repeated until each spot has oligonucleotides with a specific DNA sequence. The oligonucleotidelength for GeneChips is 25 bases. Using this photolithographic technique, the synthesis of 25-base oligonucleotides requires 100 chemical synthetic steps and can potentially give rise to 39,635 ( $25^4$ ) unique probe sequences. Because of the high precision of the photolithography process, a feature size of 20  $\mu m$  is obtained, allowing the production of chips with as many as 400,000 spots.

#### 2.2 Applications of DNA Microarrays

DNA microarrays can be used in a variety of experimental protocols to reveal different types of data about the genome. The type of data desired determines the kind of DNA that is arrayed. Cloned genomic DNA can be arrayed for the analysis of DNA or gene copy number in cells, for example, in tumor cells that may have undergone gene loss or amplification (6). Oligonucleotide arrays have been particularly useful in DNA sequence analysis and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) scanning (7). The arraying of both oligonucleotides and cDNA sequences has been extensively used in analysis of gene expression. Arrays allow the parallel determination of the expression level for all genes in a cell, thus providing a complete gene expression profile. Two general applications for DNA microarrays in gene expression analysis are to compare gene expression patterns between cells of different tissues and to compare gene expression patterns in a single cell type under different conditions. An example of the latter application is the comparison of gene expression profiles between drug-treated cells and untreated control cells. In contrast, gene expression profiling of different tissues does not allow the luxury of control cells for comparison, and thus the profiles are only compared to each other. Table 11.1 lists a number of studies that have employed DNA microarray tech-
Figure 11.2. Photolithographic process for on-chip synthesis of oligonucleotides. A: the steps in this process in two cycles of nucleotide addition. A lithographic mask and light source are shown in panel a that results in exposure of specific spots on the microarray chip. The light activates reactive groups on the chip such that nucleotide coupling can occur only on the specific spots as shown in panel b. The nucleotide added is shown by green blocks and is thymidine for this example. Panel c shows a new mask allowing exposure of new spots to light in a second round of light activation of reactive groups. Panel d shows the next round of nucleotide addition in which the red blocks represent the next nucleotide, for example, adenosine. This process is repeated until all spots have the desired DNA sequence. B and C show schematic illustrations of the many steps in the solid-phase synthesis of the oligonucleotides (A) using MeNPOC chemistry (B). In this example, 4 masks are needed to produce the first base of each oligonucleotide, and 80 masks are needed to produce a 20-base oligo chip. See color insert.

**nology** for gene expression profiling. To date, the field of cancer research has gained the most from using microarray technology, with other fields rapidly catching up.



The expression level of a cell's genes, and in turn its proteins, is the major determinant of cell type and function. One traditional method for quantitating the gene expression level or

Figure 11.2. Photolithographic process for on-chip synthesis of oligonucleotides. A: the steps in this process in two cycles of nucleotide addition. A lithographic mask and light source are shown in panel a that results in exposure of specific spots on the microarray chip. The light activates reactive groups on the chip such that nucleotide coupling can occur only on the specific spots as shown in panel b. The nucleotide added is shown by green blocks and is thymidine for this example. Panel c shows a new mask allowing exposure of new spots to light in a second round of light activation of reactive groups. Panel d shows the next round of nucleotide addition in which the red blocks represent the next nucleotide, for example, adenosine. This process is repeated until all spots have the desired DNA sequence. B and C show schematic illustrations of the many steps in the solid-phase synthesis of the oligonucleotides (A) using MeNPOC chemistry (B). In this example, 4 masks are needed to produce the first base of each oligonucleotide, and 80 masks are needed to produce a 20-base oligo chip. See color insert.

**nology** for gene expression profiling. To date, the field of cancer research has gained the most from using microarray technology, with other fields rapidly catching up.



The expression level of a cell's genes, and in turn its proteins, is the major determinant of cell type and function. One traditional method for quantitating the gene expression level or



Figure 11.2. (Continued.)

concentration of a specific mRNA within a cell is Northern blot hybridization. This method involves fixing total mRNA (target sequence) from cells of interest to a membrane substrate and hybridizing with a labeled DNA probe specific for the gene of interest. The relative level of mRNA in the cells is calculated by normalizing the label's signal to the signal from an internal control mRNA, such as a housekeeping gene detected by a separate hybridization. Using this method, the relative gene expression level for a single gene can be determined for multiple cell samples (e.g., 10–20 samples).

Whereas microarray analysis of gene expression employs similar steps as Northern blot hybridization, it is radically different in principle. The major difference is that the roles of the nucleic acid bound to the substrate and the labeled nucleic acid in the hybridization solution are reversed for microarrays. In microarray analysis, the DNA probe is fixed to the substrate with each spot on the array con-



Figure 11.2 (Continued.)

taining DNA specific for a single gene. The hybridization solution for microarrays contains target cDNA sequences produced from a cell's mRNA, as opposed to a probe sequence specific for a single gene. Thus, whereas a Northern blot measures the expression of a single gene for many samples, the microarray measures the expression of thousands of genes for a single sample.

Spotted arrays are routinely used to simultaneously analyze gene expression in two cell samples using one hybridization. In many cases, one of the two samples represents a control cell, providing an internally controlled reference for each spot hybridization. In **con**-

Table 11.1Applications for GeneExpression Profiling

Studies	References
Categorization of tissues and	11–16
Identification of transcriptional	26, 38
regulatory pathways	,
Disease gene identification	39
Drug characterization	24, 25
Identification of drug <b>interactions</b> and mechanism of action	28
Identification of diagnostic and prognostic markers	40, 41
Toxicologic responses	33, 42
Predicting therapeutic efficacy	22

trast, GeneChip arrays are hybridized with only a single sample. The analysis of two samples in one hybridization is made possible by separately incorporating into each sample's cDNA sequences one of two optically distinct fluorophores (e.g., Cy3 and Cy5). For example, mRNA extracted from cells treated with drug will be labeled during cDNA synthesis with Cy3, whereas the mRNA extracted from the untreated cells will be labeled with Cy5. The separately labeled cDNA sequences are mixed and hybridized to the DNA microarray chip (Fig 11.3). The number of molecules of probe DNA in each microarray spot is in far excess of the number of labeled cDNA molecules in solution, and thus the two labeled cDNAs do not compete, but hybridize independently to their specific DNA spots. The amount of labeled cDNA bound to a particular gene probe or spot is therefore indicative of the level of expression for that gene's mRNA.

The amount of **Cy3** and **Cy5** label bound to the microarray is quantitated by a fluorescence scanner that generates a grayscale image for each label. The two images are typically pseudo-colored, for example green for **Cy3** and red for **Cy5**. The intensities of the two images are normalized, and the images are overlaid to produce a single image that displays the relative expression of each gene based on hue (Fig. 11.4). For studies using



Figure 11.3. Hybridization of two differentially labeled cDNA sequences to arrayed DNA. This diagram shows a single array spot with probe DNA strands (ingray) bound to the chip. cDNA sequences from two different cell samples, one labeled with Cy3 (green) and one labeled with Cy5 (red), are hybridized to the spotted DNA. See color insert.

GeneChips, two images from separate hybridizations are overlaid, relying on the chips' precision and reproducibility for proper image alignment.

If the abundance of a particular mRNA from the drug-treated cells is equal to that from the control cells, then the spot specific for that mRNA will be yellow. The spot will appear green if the mRNA is present in greater abundance in drug-treated cells than in control cells, and red if the mRNA from the drugtreated cells is lower. A potential anomaly in the analysis is caused by differences in how the two fluorescent labels are incorporated in the sample **DNAs**, which can result in the appearance of differences in genes expression between the two samples. It is typical to repeat hybridizations with the two fluorescent labels reversed for the samples labeled to help verify and validate legitimate differences in gene expression.

Low intensity spots suggest an overall low level of gene expression for a gene, although other factors can also contribute to the intensity. These factors include labeling efficiency for each mRNA, the size of each mRNA, and the hybridization kinetics for each DNA sequence. Hybridization kinetics would not be an issue if the hybridization reaction was allowed to go to completion. However, hybridizations typically are carried out overnight and not necessarily until all possible DNA hybrids are formed. The image in Fig. 11.4 allows a visual and qualitative analysis of relative gene expression, but it is the extraction of spot intensities from the images that provides the data for quantitative analysis.

## 2.3 Interpretation and Bioinformatics of Microarray Data

The raw data obtained from microarray analyses rarely remain raw for long. The data are simmered in a series of transformations needed to address basic questions of gene expression. Typical transformations include background subtraction, normalization, ratio calculations, and log transformation. The normalization is required because the scale for fluorescence emissions from different fluorophores are rarely equivalent. In addition, the scale for signal from the same fluorescent label



Figure 11.4. A spotted DNA array with twocolor detection of hybridization. An example of a spotted DNA array ( $16 \times 20$  elements) is shown after hybridization with two differentially labeled cDNA preparations, Cy3 (pseudo-colored green) and Cy5 (pseudo-colored red). The overlaying of the green and red images produces the image shown. The hue of each spot, ranging from green to red, indicates the relative expression level for the gene specific for each spot (image courtesy Packard Biochip Technologies). See color insert. may not be the same from experiment to experiment. The validity of the normalization and ratio calculations relies on the bulk of the genes exhibiting the same levels of gene expression in each cell analyzed. If **90%** of a cell's genes were to increase threefold in expression level under a specific condition, this event would not be detected. Instead, the interpretation would be that expression of the unaffected 10% of genes decreased approximately threefold compared with the control cells.

The ratio calculation is well suited for twolabel hybridization experiments, as shown in Fig. 11.4, where there is an internal control for hybridization. The ratio calculation provides an indication of induction or repression of gene expression relative to the control. The distribution and variance of the ratio data are also usually analyzed to determine thresholds for values significantly higher or lower than one, although in many cases this threshold is arbitrarily chosen and is typically at the level of a twofold change. The log transformation is used to bring the distribution closer to a normal distribution for statistical analyses. Because of the high number of genes analyzed and the few observations or replicate experiments, it can be difficult to demonstrate statistical significance for small changes in gene expression.

A common goal in studying gene expression from microarray data is to identify groups of genes, cells, or conditions displaying similar patterns. A widely used tool for reaching this goal is cluster analysis (8). Cluster analysis organizes items into clusters based on how close the items are to each other using a distance or similarity calculation between items. Hierarchical clustering not only allows clustering of items but clustering of clusters and is usually presented in the form of a hierarchical tree diagram or dendrogram. An example of this analysis is shown in Fig. 11.5 in which 60 cell lines were clustered based on the gene expression levels of 548 selected genes. Most of the cell lines cluster based on tissue origin. The lengths of the horizontal lines connecting the cells relates to the distance between cell line data points or similarity. The two cell lines, MDA-MB-435 and MDA-N, have the shortest distance between their data points or the greatest similarity, and thus have the

shortest horizontal lines connecting them. A typical measure of similarity is based on the **Pearson** correlation coefficient, which was used in the clustering in Fig. 11.4. The significance of these clusters will be discussed later in this chapter. An overview of the basic methods used in microarray data analysis is presented by Quackenbush (9).

#### 3 APPLICATIONS OF GENE EXPRESSION PROFILING IN DRUG RESEARCH

## 3.1 Characterizing Cells by Gene Expression Profiling

Virtually all human gene sequences have been arrayed and are being used to create gene expression profiles in a wide range of cell types. Instead of the noted phrase, "you are what you eat", we might now say "you are what you express." The gene expression profile of a cell currently represents the most precise definition of what a cell is, what it does, and what it can do. Of course, a detailed protein expression profile would theoretically be superior, but this must await advancement in the field of proteomics (10).

Gene expression profiling has been used with great success to categorize or classify cell types, particularly cancers. For example, this approach has been employed to characterize lymphoma cells and identify subtypes of lymphomas from patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. These cells express similar gene expression patterns because of their lymphocytic lineage, and they exhibit only subtle differences in patterns. Alizadeh et al. (11)identified two distinct subtypes of lymphomas using spotted arrays containing -18,000 genes (Lymphochip), which were otherwise essentially indistinguishable. These two subtypes had subtle differences in gene expression profiles that were in common with two different B-cell lineages, suggesting that they represent two distinct diseases. Furthermore, the two subtypes were found to exhibit a differential response to therapy, that is, patients with one subtype showed significantly better survival than patients with the other subtype, while on the standard anthracycline-based therapy. It's important to note that most genes were expressed at comparable levels in



**Figure** 11.5. Cluster analysis of the NCI 60 cell lines. Gene expression data from the Ross et al. (12) study was filtered to contain only genes with complete data for all cell lines and genes with the highest variance across cell lines. Only 548 genes were **selected** for this analysis based on genes with variance of greater than twice the variance for the entire **dataset**. The cluster distance or similarity calculation was based on the **Pearson** correlation coefficient, and clusters were linked by average linkage using the software SPSS. Most cell lines can be seen to cluster based on tissue of origin, shown by the labels on the left and the fraction of the total number of cell lines for each tissue. The abbreviations for tissue types are as follows: BRE, breast cancers; CNS, central nervous system cancers; COL, colon cancers; LEU, leukemias; MEL, melanomas; NSC, non-smallcell lung cancers; OVA, ovarian cancers; PRO, prostate cancers; REN, renal cancers. See color insert.

both lymphoma subtypes, and only a subset of genes displayed differential expression patterns that contributed to the distinction between the subtypes. The gene expression levels of this subset of genes may potentially be useful as a diagnostic tool for distinguishing between the two subtypes and predicting response to therapy.

A variety of tumor specimens have now been characterized by gene expression profiling (11-16). In some cases, the gene expression profiles have confirmed distinctions between tumor types that were already evident by histologic or cytogenetic analysis. In other studies, even finer distinctions between tumors types, not apparent histologically, have been made possible by gene expression profiling. For example, Hedenfalk et al. (17) identified specific gene expression patterns that correlate with BRCAl and BRCA2 mutations in hereditary breast cancer. These findings are complicated by the fact that the BRCAl and **BRCA2** mutations correlated with other factors such as tumor grade, mitotic index, and presence or absence of hormone receptors. Many of the genes expression patterns in these cells should also reflect these differences in processes and pathways responsible for tumor characteristics. The power of the microarray/bioinformatics approach is that it offers the potential to identify gene expression patterns that correlate with BRCAl or BRCA2 mutations independent of hormone receptor status, as well as patterns that correlate with hormone receptor status independent of the **BRCA1**/**BRCA2** mutation status.

Gene expression profiling can also provide insight into a tumor's tissue or cell type of origin. Gene expression profiles were used to determine cell origin for a panel of 60 human cancer cell lines (NCI 60 cells) representing cancers of breast, prostate, lung, central nervous system, leukemia, melanoma, renal, colon, and ovarian origins (12). Gene expression levels were determined in each cell line for over 9000 genes using spotted DNA arrays. Cluster analysis of the 60 cell lines was performed using approximately 1000 genes that showed the highest variance across cell lines. The clustering generally grouped cell lines of the same type together. One exception was the breast cancer cell lines that were scattered among the other cell line groups. Figure 11.5 shows a hierarchical tree diagram of **a** cluster analysis we performed on the data from Ross et al. (12) in which a slightly different variance calculation and cluster distance calculation were used. Again, clusters of cell lines generally coincided with the tissue of origin, similar to the published analysis, but with an improvement in the clustering of lung cancers. The breast cancer cell lines retained a heterogeneous distribution pattern, with some clustering with the melanoma, CNS cancer, and colon cancer clusters. These studies illustrate the use of gene expression profiling for determining tissue origin and suggest how gene expression profiling could be useful in defining cell behavior.

In addition to cell lines with similar gene expression profiles being clustered, the genes can also be clustered based on expression patterns across the 60 cell lines. Cluster analysis of the genes from the 60 cell lines revealed clusters of genes that are part of the same biological process or pathway (12). For example, one cluster represented genes that are highly expressed in melanomas and involved in melanocyte-specific biology. Other clusters contained genes encoding proteins that are involved in cell cycle progression, RNA splicing, and drug metabolism. It is hypothesized from these studies that groups of genes relating to basic cellular processes such as cell proliferation, cell morphology, or drug response could be identified by this type of gene expression analysis. The identification of previously unidentified genes in these clusters may help elucidate the functions of the encoded proteins. Much of this advancement will come from the development of new algorithms for analyzing the data and detecting patterns amidst the considerable noise of a cell's repertoire of expressed genes.

#### 3.2 Cene Expression and Drug Response

The difference between **a** compound and an agent is dictated by the cell just as the difference between an agent and a drug is dictated by the patient. However, at this point, we would like to make a simplification of terms in which a compound, an agent, or a drug will

merely be referred to as a drug even though a compound or agent may not be of known medical value.

The NCI 60 cell lines have been screened for sensitivity to a  $\sim$ 70,000 drug library, resulting in a wealth of data for identification of patterns and relationships between drugs (18).The search for drugs within this library that have sensitivity patterns related to a drug of interest can identify drugs with similar structure and or mechanism of action [See the COMPARE program (19)]. While this data is of enormous use. there is even more data to be obtained relating to the genes and proteins expressed by the cells that dictate how the cells respond to the drugs.

The microarray data for the NCI 60 cell lines can be viewed as a source of  $\sim 9000$ marker genes for potential correlation with biological properties, including sensitivity to anti-cancer drugs. Scherf et al. (20) explored the relationship between basal gene expression patterns and drug sensitivity in these cell lines using drug activity data for the  $\sim$ 70,000 drugs. We can begin to understand the challenges in bioinformatics when we consider the enormous task of melding the data for these three distinct types of variables: 60 cell lines, 9000 genes, and 70,000 drugs, and looking for relationships and patterns. One straightforward approach for finding relationships in this data is to focus on genes and drugs for which there is a considerable amount of additional information. For example, the activity of 5-fluoruracil (5-FU), a known thymidylate synthetase inhibitor, was found by Scherf et al. (20) to have a significant negative correlation with expression of the gene encoding dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPYD). DPYD is involved in uracil and thymine degradation as well as in 5-FU degradation, and thus high expression of the DPYD gene is consistent with resistance to 5-FU. Staunton et al. (21) carried this approach further identifying subsets of genes whose expression levels in the NCI 60 cell lines showed good prediction of sensitivity for certain drugs. However, it was not readily apparent what role the identified genes or their proteins played in the sensitivity to the drugs. This level of understanding is likely to require a very detailed knowledge of the pathways with which each drug interacts.

One approach Scherf et al. (20) used for identifying relationships between drug response and gene expression involved clustering the drugs based on their correlation with expression of each gene. A distance calculation between each drug pair was performed using correlation coefficients between the drugs and each gene. This clustering placed drugs in groups sharing similar relationships between drug response and gene expression rather than drug response alone. The results were compared with the cluster analysis, using only drug response data. Drug clusters from the drug response data tended to contain drugs with similar mechanisms of action, such as antimetabolites or tubulin inhibitors. The drug cluster analysis based on gene-drug correlations also tended to group drugs based on mechanisms of action, but clustered certain drugs in groups with distinctly different mechanisms of action. For example, the topoisomerase II inhibitor, etoposide, clustered with other topoisomerase II inhibitors using drug response data, but clustered with DNA alkylators when the drug-gene correlation data was used. These results could reflect a potential difference in mechanisms of action or drug metabolism between etoposide and the other topoisomerase **II** inhibitors.

The application of gene expression profiling is beginning to pave the way for improved treatment of patients using existing therapeutic agents. First, knowledge of a tumor's gene expression profile may greatly facilitate tumor type identification, leading to more accurate predictions of tumor response to therapies. Second, gene expression analysis can potentially reveal patterns that predict therapeutic response or help identify proteins that play in a specific role in response to therapy. This approach was explored by **Kihara** et al. (22) in a study of esophageal cancer patients treated with 5-FU and cisplatin. The expression profile of  $\sim$ 9000 genes was determined for patient tumors before treatment, and a subset of genes with predictive value for subsequent therapeutic response was identified.

Another promising application of gene expression profiling is in clinical drug development. For example, a drug that seems to have a poor overall response rate in clinical trials may actually have a significant activity in a subset of patients whose tumors may share particular gene expression patterns. The ability to preselect a narrower target group of candidates for clinical trial could lead not only to improved trial outcome but also to a **cost-sav**ing reduction in trial size. Until now, the number of markers used in this way has been limited, but microarray data is opening a floodgate in the identification of potential markers for drug response.

The use of gene expression profiling to improve therapeutics overlaps with a relatively new field of study, pharmacogenomics. Pharmacogenomics is the study of the genomic or genetic basis for variation in response to drugs observed between patients. This field of study attempts to define and understand differences in drug response at the patient level to enable tailoring of therapeutics to individuals. Much of the field has focused on the study of DNA polymorphisms, particularly single nucleotide polymorphisms(SNPs), and their relationship with drug response. The analysis of SNPs also relies heavily on the use of DNA microarray technology. Information about the field of pharmacogenomics and innovations are presented in this volume by Puckett et al. (23).

#### 3.3 Pathways and Targets

The cellular response to a drug depends on both the drug's specific and non-specific interactions in the cell. Whereas a particular drug may be known to inhibit a protein target, inhibition of that target may represent only a fraction of what the drug is doing in the cell. In fact, the primary mechanism of action may not even involve the supposed target. The challenge then, is to record and interpret all aspects of the cellular response to a drug, rather than a single parameter, such as cell growth.

Gene expression profiling offers a much deeper probe into the cellular response to a drug. Two general strategies for use of gene expression profiling are emerging in drug research; the first is involves determining the basal gene expression profile of a cell as a means of obtaining predictive information about a cell's drug response, as described above. The second strategy involves determining the change in a cell's gene expression profile in response to drug treatment. The drug response profile adds an entirely new dimension to understanding of the relationship between gene expression and drug response, because it reflects the targets and pathways with which the drug interacts and the downstream effects of these interactions on gene expression. The cell's response to a drug at the genomic and proteomic level potentially provides a detailed fingerprint reflecting the full range of effects of the drug on the cell.

This concept is illustrated using a simple protein kinase signal transduction pathway as an example (Fig. 11.6). This generic protein kinase cascade translates a signal from a membrane receptor to the nucleus resulting in increased expression of genes A, B, and C, as well as the repressed expression of genes X, Y, and Z. This pathway also has a branch such that **PK2** interacts with other pathways and can affect the expression of other genes (genes E, F, and G). These interactions or branches may be cell-type specific, and thus the choice of cells for analysis can dictate the genes affected. The goal is to explore drugs that will block the high expression of genes A, B, and C. A panel of drugs (panel 1) previously known to block PK1 is first considered. The effect of each drug in panel 1 is the desired repression of genes A, B, and C as well as the de-repressed expression of genes X, Y, and Z. Each of these **PK1** inhibitors also affects the expression of genes associated with the branching pathways. In addition, some of these inhibitors may interact with proteins not connected to the targeted pathway, such as kinases in unrelated pathways. The additional genes affected by the **PK1** inhibitors can be very distinct for each inhibitor and can provide part of the fingerprint that distinguishes each inhibitor from the others. This part of the fingerprint may also reveal side interactions of the **PK1** inhibitors that were not previously known or anticipated. The same approach can potentially be applied to cases in which little is known about a drug of interest. Clues about the drug's interactions could be deduced from its similarity in gene expression changes with other drugs for which there is more information regarding cellular interactions and mechanisms.

This protein **kinase** pathway also shows how inhibition of other **proteins** in the same pathway could give rise to similar changes in 3 Applications of Gene Expression Profiling in Drug Research



Figure **11.6.** A generic protein kinase pathway for cell signaling. This diagram shows a ligand binding to a cell surface receptor, thereby activating a signal transduction cascade. The ligand-induced activation of the receptor leads to activation of protein kinase PK1, which then activates PK2, which in turn activates PK3. PK3 modifies transcription factors in the nucleus that lead to high expression of genes A, B, and C, and low expression of genes X, Y, and Z. PK2 also interacts with another pathway that leads to high expression of genes E, F, and G.

downstream gene expression. For example, consider a drug speculated to have some general specificity for protein kinases. This drug has a similar effect on the expression of genes **A**, **B**, and C and X, Y, and Z, but it has no effect on the expression of genes E, F, and G. We might deduce from this result that the drug blocks a step downstream of the branch at PK2, such as PK3. This drug would be worth

pursuing because of its increased specificity compared with drugs in panel 1. Therefore, similarity in gene expression fingerprints may identify a common pathway with which the drugs interact, rather than a common protein. Thus, the definition of a target may be broadened from a single cellular component to a pathway, allowing for the identification of additional drugs of interest with dissimilar structure and mechanism of action. For a wellunderstood pathway, the gene expression profile could potentially pinpoint the specific step in the pathway inhibited by a drug.

This approach to characterizing kinase inhibitors was used by Gray et al. (24), in a study of gene expression changes induced in yeast cells by purine analogs that target human cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) and Saccharomyces cerevisiae cyclin-dependent kinase cdc28p. Virtually the entire complement of yeast genes (6200 genes) was monitored for changes in expression in response to two CDK active site inhibitors with dissimilar structures and a related purine analog with poor CDK inhibition. More than 194 genes showed significant changes in expression, with both CDK active site inhibitors eliciting similar changes in expression for 63 of these genes. The majority of the affected genes were upregulated in expression. The drug with poor CDK inhibition gave rise to changes in expression of only two genes, consistent with its inability to block cdc28p or other protein kinases.

A number of cell cycle–related genes were found to be affected by the two CDK inhibitors, including several cyclin and histone genes, consistent with previous data suggesting that these genes are regulated by cdc28p. Another interesting class of genes affected by the CDK inhibitors contained genes involved in phosphate metabolism. This is significant because, in addition to cdc28p, the CDK inhibitors also inhibit pho85p, a closely related kinase that is involved in the regulation of phosphate levels. This illustrates the potential for gene expression profiling to reveal multiple drug-target interactions within the cell. Other genes of interest that were up-regulated included genes encoding various heat-shock proteins and proteins involved in drug extrusion pump systems. Induction of heat-shock

genes suggests the cells exhibited a stress response to the CDK inhibitors. However, the induction of these stress response genes may not necessarily reflect a direct response to cdc28p inhibition, but rather may represent a response to the cascade of events stemming from the perturbation of the cell cycle. The change in expression of genes for drug pumpassociated proteins suggests possible mechanisms of resistance and could explain differences in growth response to the drugs. It is important to note that not all changes in gene expression are likely to be informative. It's expected that many of the genes affected in this type of experiment will merely represent generic responses to gross cellular perturbations and will be affected by a large number of drugs, revealing very little information about an individual drug's unique properties.

The genes affected concordantly by both CDK inhibitors are not the only genes of interest. The majority of the affected genes by either inhibitor were unique to each drug, suggesting that the two CDK inhibitors interacted with more unique proteins than common proteins. Two basic questions arise from this analysis: how does one identify the affected genes specific to **cdc28p** inhibition (or any specific target perturbation) and how does one identify the pathways associated with the other affected genes? Both questions can be addressed through the use of genomics, as discussed in the next section.

The potential of gene expression profiling for drug classification is also illustrated by a study of adrenergic receptor-interactive drugs (25). Twenty drugs known to be agonists, antagonists, or both for a- and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors were used as a test set for the analysis of gene expression profile responses. Normal human aortic smooth muscle cells, which express both a- and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors, were used as the model cells for the treatments. Of the 6000 human genes analyzed for expression, a subset of 75 genes was selected for cluster analysis after filtering out genes with low or no response to drug and genes with the lowest variance. Cluster analysis of the drugs based on patterns of induced gene expression changes cleanly separated the agonists from the antagonists. Although the number of drugs analyzed was low, there was also some indication of drug clustering based on the specific receptor with which the drugs interact.

As the use of gene expression profiling of drug response expands, we can envision the development of reference libraries in which gene expression patterns are equated to classes of drugs, structures, and mechanisms of action. As new drugs are investigated, they could be mapped to drugs in the library to elucidate mechanisms, identify more specific drugs, or obtain leads with specific cellular effects.

### 3.4 Simulating Effects of Drugs through Cenomics

By coupling yeast genetics with microarray analysis, one can identify the transcriptionally regulated processes associated with each gene. This approach has been successfully used in studying the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway, allowing identification of new associated regulatory circuits (26, 27). The mutation of a target protein is also a way to block its activity and simulate the inhibition of the target by a drug. In the study of the CDK inhibitors by Gray et al. (24) described in the previous section, the gene expression profile for a yeast cdc28 mutant was compared with gene expression profiles of wild-type yeast cells treated with the cdc28p inhibitors. The changes in gene expression patterns resulting from cdc28 mutation had significant overlap with those found for the two CDK inhibitors. This analysis therefore helped to validate the responses observed, indicating that the CDK inhibitors were in fact targeting cdc28p in the cell. Not surprisingly, there were several differences in gene expression changes induced by the CDK inhibitors and the cdc28 mutation, consistent with the prediction that the CDK inhibitors would be less specific than cdc28 mutation. However, the difference could also be caused in part by the use of a temperature-sensitive conditional mutant of cdc28, which was required because loss of cdc28p is lethal. The change in temperature therefore adds another variable with which to contend. Whereas each method of disrupting the target seems to have its own unique effects, each unique effect can theoretically be determined and isolated within the gene ex**pression** data, thus allowing complex biological processes to be unraveled and understood.

A more global approach to characterizing gene expression patterns in yeast mutants was undertaken by Hughes et al. (28). Almost 300 specific mutants were analyzed for the expression of virtually all yeast genes. This database provides a resource for analyzing regulatory pathways associated with the target genes and identification of genes associated with cellular processes. The database also provides a reference library for mapping gene mutants and drugs to the pathways they perturb. As with drug-induced gene expression patterns or fingerprints, mutant gene response patterns can be used to match mutants with similar fingerprints. For example, mutants known to affect sterol synthesis cluster together based on their gene expression profile. The expressed genes involved in sterol synthesis also cluster based on their expression across the  $\sim$ 300 mutants. The clustering of a mutant for a gene of unknown function with mutants of genes with known function suggests by association a function for the unknown gene. This was demonstrated with a mutant for a gene that clustered with mutants of genes involved in sterol biosynthesis. Further investigation into this gene provided evidence of its role in sterol biosynthesis.

Identifying similarities between a gene expression fingerprint for a drug and fingerprints for mutants can potentially reveal the pathway in which the drug interacts. Hughes et al. (28) found a significant similarity in gene expression fingerprints between cells treated with lovastatin, a hydroxy-methylglutaryl CoA reductase inhibitor, and a mutant in one of the yeast hydroxy-methylglutaryl CoA reductase genes. This concept was tested further by comparing gene expression fingerprints of drugs with unknown targets to known mutants. The fingerprint for the topical anesthetic dyclonine was identified as having significant similarity to that of mutants affecting sterol biosynthesis, and in particular, a sterol isomerase mutant. Additional biochemical analysis confirmed the sterol isomerase as the likely target for dyclonine in yeast. However, this information alone did not shed light on the mechanism for this anesthetic in humans. Further analysis showed that the human protein with the greatest sequence identity to the yeast sterol isomerase was a neurosteroid interactive receptor involved in regulating potassium channels. If this receptor were the target for dyclonine in humans, then a possible mechanism for dyclonine would involve disrupting signal transduction by perturbing potassium transport. This prediction requires experimental verification, a requirement we can expect from the results of most gene expression profiling studies.

Drug-target interactions have also been explored by **Marton** et al. (29) using expression profiling and yeast mutants. Cells with mutations in putative drug target proteins were used to confirm drug interactions and downstream effects on gene expression. The gene expression fingerprints found in "targetless" cells pointed to other pathway interactions for the drugs tested. The ability to define target-specific effects of drugs and their crossreactions with other cellular components and pathways paves the way for future drug design with improved targeting and specificity.

Although it is considerably more difficult to generate specific mutations in mammalian cells than in yeast, several technologies are available that can allow mammalian cell systems to follow in the steps of the yeast system for gene expression profiling and drug analysis in mutants. The first is the production of knock-out mutations in engineered mice. A considerable number of knock-out mice have already been created, and these can be explored for alterations in gene expression profiles in a variety of cell types (30). A more amenable strategy involves the use of antisense technology to block the expression of specific RNAs and proteins. Antisense oligonucleotides can be used as therapeutic agents as well as tools for exploring targets (31). Cho et al. (32) employed gene expression profiling to identify both the specific and non-specific interactions of antisense oligonucleotides. A reference library of human gene expression profiles for antisense oligonucleotides specific to potential targets could conceivably be used in the same way as the yeast mutants for identifying relevant pathways and drug interactions in the cell.

#### 3.5 Molecular Toxicology

The use of **microarrays**, gene expression profiling, and the strategies described above are ideally suited for use in toxicology, an application referred to as toxicogenomics. The same gene expression data used in studying the targeting of drugs also applies to toxicologic analysis of drugs where the broader effects of the drugs are emphasized. Waring et al. (33) applied gene expression profiling to the characterization of 15 known and diverse hepatotoxins in a rat model. This study clearly demonstrated that diverse drugs or toxins could have distinct gene expression fingerprints while sharing some similarities based on mechanism of toxicity. Many of the genes affected by each toxin encoded proteins relevant to the known toxicity mechanisms and for proteins specifically involved in the metabolism of each toxin. These studies point to the potential use for gene expression profiling in predicting and characterizing toxic responses.

#### 3.6 **Bioinformatics Meets Chemoinformatics**

The discussions above touch on only the surface of the potential applications of gene expression profiling as applied to drug development. The power of microarray technology and gene expression profiling will likely be further magnified by their interface with other information-intensive tools, such as used in chemoinformatics. For example, quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) models relate the molecular descriptors of drugs to various biological or biochemical activities, ranging from the inhibition activity for a particular target to more in-depth drug response activities characterized in the NCI 60 cell lines. As we have already discussed, measurement of a single biological indicator of response, such as cell growth inhibition, may not reveal all the complex interactions a drug has in the cell. However, the gene or protein expression profiles before and after exposure to a drug hold the key to these interactions and to true functional definitions of drug activity. Thus, technologies that can reveal these interactions promise to be the future focus for designing and optimizing drugs. One approach that might fulfill this promise would be to combine the fields of bioinformatics with chemoinformatics, applying QSAR modeling to the gene expression activities affected by drugs in a model system. Bioinformatics has the potential to relate a group of genes affected by a drug to each specific cellular component affected by the drug, while relating this data to the therapeutic effectiveness. QSAR has the potential to reveal which **sub**stituents or residue substitutions in a drug analog series dictate the varied interactions with the cellular components. These data could form the basis for designing analogs with the highest therapeutically relevant activity and the greatest specificity.

#### 4 CONCLUDING REMARKS

DNA microarray technology is proving to be a powerful genomics-based tool in a broad range of biomedical fields. In the field of drug development, this technology can provide insight into the full complement of cellular targets with which a drug might interact and assist in defining mechanisms of action. In the context of patient treatment, gene expression profiles can provide information that will assist in predicting the cellular response to a drug. Further, gene expression profiling is on the threshold of enabling the identification of disease genes and new therapeutic targets (34). Microarray technology is rapidly evolving, and innovations, such as multiplexing with nanocrystals embedded in microbeads (35), and fiber-optic biosensor arrays (36) are being developed that will further increase the speed, sensitivity, and power of these approaches. Nevertheless, several engineering challenges still exist. For example, improved detection methods and new surface chemistries are in demand (37), and there is a critical need for the development and promulgation of standards in the fabrication and use of microarrays. There is also an enormous demand for the **development** of bioinformatics tools that will allow us to probe deeper into the vast datasets generated by this technology to discover patterns with biological significance. Finally, many biological issues remain to be resolved as this technology moves into mainstream biomedical research, such as determining the appropriate normal "control"

tissue for comparison with disease tissue. Thus, microarray technology is still in the early phase of development and application in many biomedical research fields. However, the potential power of microarray technology is already clear, and it is virtually certain that the technology will play a critical role in drug discovery and development in the near future.

#### 5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the VCU Center for Bioelectronics, Biosensors and Biochips (C3B) and the Virginia Center for Innovative Technology (CIT BIO-99-010) for financial support. We thank Carl Ashby and Wanyan Xu for their assistance in the data analysis and Jolene Windle for assistance in writing this manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. E. S. Lander, L. M. Linton, B. Birren, et al., Nature, 409, 860–921 (2001).
- J. C. Venter, M. D. Adams, E. W. Myers, et al., Science, 291, 1304–1351 (2001).
- K. R. Khrapko, P. Lysov Yu, A. A. Khorlyn, V. V. Shick, V. L. Florentiev, and A. D. Mirzabekov, FEBS Lett., 256, 118–122 (1989).
- 4. M. Schena, D. Shalon, R. W. Davis, and P. O. Brown, Science, 270, 467–470 (1995).
- C. Debouck and P. N. Goodfellow, *Nat.* Genet., 21, 48–50 (1999).
- D. Pinkel, R. Segraves, D. Sudar, S. Clark, I. Poole, D. Kowbel, C. Collins, W. L. Kuo, C. Chen, Y. Zhai, S. H. Dairkee, B. M. Ljung, J. W. Gray, and D. G. Albertson, Nat. Genet., 20, 207– 211 (1998).
- S. A. Ahrendt, S, Halachmi, J. T. Chow, L. Wu, N. Halachmi, S. C. Yang, S. Wehage, J. Jen, and D. Sidransky, Proc. Natl. *Acad.* Sci. USA, 96, 7382–7387 (1999).
- M. B. Eisen, P. T. Spellman, P. O. Brown, and D. Botstein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 95, 14863–14868 (1998).
- J. Quackenbush, Nat. Rev. Genet., 2, 418–427 (2001).
- E. T. Fung, V. Thulasiraman, S. R. Weinberger, and E. A. Dalmasso, Curr. Opin. Bioteehnol., 12, 65-69 (2001).
- A. A. Alizadeh, M. B. Eisen, R. E. Davis, C. Ma, I. S. Lossos, A. Rosenwald, J. C. Boldrick, H.

Sabet, T. Tran, X. Yu, J. I. Powell, L. Yang, G. E. Marti, T. Moore, J. Hudson Jr., L. Lu, D. B. Lewis, R. Tibshirani, G. Sherlock, W. C. Chan, T. C. Greiner, D. D. Weisenburger, J. O. Armitage, R. Warnke, L. M. Staudt, et al., Nature, 403, 503–511 (2000).

- 12. D. T. Ross, U. Scherf, M. B. Eisen, C. M. Perou, C. Rees, P. Spellman, V. Iyer, S. S. Jeffrey, M. Van de Rijn, M. Waltham, A. Pergamenschikov, J. C. Lee, D. Lashkari, D. Shalon, T. G. Myers, J. N. Weinstein, D. Botstein, and P. O. Brown, Nat. Genet., 24,227-235 (2000).
- C. M. Perou, T. Sorlie, M. B. Eisen, M. van de Rijn, S. S. Jeffrey, C. A. Rees, J. R. Pollack, D. T. Ross, H. Johnsen, L. A. Akslen, O. Fluge, A. Pergamenschikov, C. Williams, S. X. Zhu, P. E. Lonning, A. L. Borresen-Dale, P. O. Brown, and D. Botstein, Nature, 406, 747–752 (2000).
- 14. M. Bittner, P. Meltzer, Y. Chen, Y. Jiang, E. Seftor, M. Hendrix, M. Radmacher, R. Simon, Z. Yakhini, A. Ben-Dor, N. Sampas, E. Dougherty, E. Wang, F. Marincola, C. Gooden, J. Lueders, A. Glatfelter, P. Pollock, J. Carpten, E. Gillanders, D. Leja, K. Dietrich, C. Beaudry, M. Berens, D. Alberts, and V. Sondak, Nature, 406, 536–540 (2000).
- C. M. Perou, S. S. Jeffrey, M. van de Rijn, C. A. Rees, M. B. Eisen, D. T. Ross, A. Pergamenschikov, C. F. Williams, S. X. Zhu, J. C. Lee, D. Lashkari, D. Shalon, P. O. Brown, and D. Botstein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 9212–9217 (1999).
- T. R. Golub, D. K. Slonim, P. Tamayo, C. Huard, M. Gaasenbeek, J. P. Mesirov, H. Coller, M. L. Loh, J. R. Downing, M. A. Caligiuri, C. D. Bloomfield, and E. S. Lander, Science, 286, 531– 537 (1999).
- 17. I. Hedenfalk, D. Duggan, Y. Chen, M. Radmacher, M. Bittner, R. Simon, P. Meltzer, B. Gusterson, M. Esteller, O. P. Kallioniemi, B. Wilfond, A. Borg, and J. Trent, N. Engl. J. Med., 344,539-548 (2001).
- J. N. Weinstein, T. G. Myers, P. M. O'Connor, S. H. Friend, A. J. Fornace Jr., K. W. Kohn, T. Fojo, S. E. Bates, L. V. Rubinstein, N. L. Anderson, J. K. Buolamwini, W. W. van Osdol, A. P. Monks, D. A. Scudiero, E. A. Sausville, D. W. Zaharevitz, B. Bunow, V. N. Viswanadhan, G. S. Johnson, R. E. Wittes, and K. D. Paull, Science, 275, 343–349 (1997).
- NCI, Developmental Therapeutics Program, available online at http://dtp.nci.nih.gov/docs/ compare/compare.html, accessed on August 2, 2000.
- U.Scherf, D. T. Ross, M. Waltham, L. H. Smith, J. K. Lee, L. Tanabe, K. W. Kohn, W. C. Rein-

hold, T. G. Myers, D. T. Andrews, D. A. Scudiero, M. B. Eisen, E. A. Sausville, Y. Pommier, D. Botstein, P. O. Brown, and J. N. Weinstein, *Nat.* Genet., 24,236-244 (2000).

- 21. J. E. Staunton, D. K. Slonim, H. A. Coller, P. Tamayo, M. J. Angelo, J. Park, U. Scherf, J. K. Lee, W. O. Reinhold, J. N. Weinstein, J. P. Mesirov, E. S. Lander, and T. R. Golub, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98,10787–10792 (2001).
- C. Kihara, T. Tsunoda, T. Tanaka, H. Yamana, Y. Furukawa, K. Ono, O. Kitahara, H. Zembutsu, R. Yanagawa, K. Hirata, T. Takagi, and Y. Nakamura, Cancer Res., 61,6474–6479 (2001).
- 23. B. Puckett, et al., Burger's Medicinal Chemistry, 6th ed. Wiley, New York, 2003, pp. 607–640.
- N. S. Gray, L. Wodicka, A. M. Thunnissen, T. C. Norman, S. Kwon, F. H. Espinoza, D. O. Morgan, G. Barnes, S. LeClerc, L. Meijer, S. H. Kim, D. J. Lockhart, and P. G. Schultz, Science, 281, 533–538 (1998).
- 25. J. S. Hu, M. Durst, R. Kerb, V. Truong, J. T. Ma, E. Khurgin, D. Balaban, T. R. Gingeras, and B. B. Hoffman, Ann. NY Acad. Sci., 919, 9–15 (2000).
- 26. H. D. Madhani, T. Galitski, E. S. Lander, and G. R. Fink, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 12530–12535 (1999).
- 27. C. J. Roberts, B. Nelson, M. J. Marton, R. Stoughton, M. R. Meyer, H. A. Bennett, Y. D. He, H. Dai, W. L. Walker, T. R. Hughes, M. Tyers, C. Boone, and S. H. Friend, Science, 287, 873–880 (2000).
- 28. T. R. Hughes, M. J. Marton, A. R. Jones, C. J. Roberts, R. Stoughton, C. D. Armour, H. A. Bennett, E. Coffey, H. Dai, Y. D. He, M. J. Kidd, A. M. King, M. R. Meyer, D. Slade, P. Y. Lum, S. B. Stepaniants, D. D. Shoemaker, D. Gachotte, K. Chakraburtty, J. Simon, M. Bard, and S. H. Friend, Cell, 102, 109–126 (2000).
- 29. M. J. Marton, J. L. DeRisi, H. A. Bennett, V. R. Iyer, M. R. Meyer, C. J. Roberts, R. Stoughton, J. Burchard, D. Slade, H. Dai, D. E. Bassett Jr.,

L. H. Hartwell, P. O. Brown, and S. H. Friend, *Nat.* Med., 4, **1293–1301** (1998).

- M. J. Callow, S. Dudoit, E. L. Gong, T. P. Speed, and E. M. Rubin, Genome Res., 10, 2022–2029 (2000).
- **31.** C. F. Bennett and L. M. Cowsert, Biochim. *Bio*-phys. *Acta*, **1489**, **19–30** (1999).
- 32. Y. S. Cho, M. K. Kim, C. Cheadle, C. Neary, K. G. Becker, and Y. S. Cho-Chung, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98,9819–9823 (2001).
- J. F. Waring, R. A. Jolly, R. Ciurlionis, P. Y. Lum, J. T. Praestgaard, D. C. Morfitt, B. Buratto, C. Roberts, E. Schadt, and R. G. Ulrich, Toxicol. *Appl.* Pharmacol., 175, 28–42 (2001).
- 34. P. S. Meltzer, Curr. Opin. Genet. *Dev.*, **11**, 258–263 (2001).
- 35. M. Han, X. Gao, J. Z. Su, and S. Nie, *Nat. Bio*technol., **19**, **631–635** (2001).
- 36. J. A. Ferguson, T. C. Boles, C. P. Adams, and D. R. Walt, *Nat.* Biotechnol., 14, 1681–1684 (1996).
- **37.** D. H. Blohm and A. Guiseppi-Elie, *Curr*. Opin. Biotechnol., **12**, 41–47 (2001).
- **38.** J. Ziauddin and D. M. Sabatini, Nature, **411**, **107–110** (2001).
- R. M. Lawn, D. P. Wade, M. R. Garvin, X. Wang, K. Schwartz, J. G. Porter, J. J. Seilhamer, A. M. Vaughan, and J. F. Oram, J. *Clin*. Invest., 104, R25–R31 (1999).
- 40. J. B. Welsh, P. P. Zarrinkar, L. M. Sapinoso, S. G. Kern, C. A. Behling, B. J. Monk, D. J. Lockhart, R. A. Burger, and G. M. Hampton, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98, 1176-1181 (2001).
- J. B. Welsh, L. M. Sapinoso, A. I. Su, S. G. Kern, J. Wang-Rodriguez, C. A. Moskaluk, H. F. Frierson Jr., and G. M. Hampton, Cancer Res., 61, 5974–5978 (2001).
- 42. D. Gerhold, M. Lu, J. Xu, C. Austin, C. T. Caskey, and T. Rushmore, Physiol. Genomics, 5, 161–170 (2001).

### CHAPTER TWELVE

## **SNPs: Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Pharmacogenomics—Individually Designed Drug Therapy**

BRIAN **J. PUCKETT** Virginia Commonwealth University MCV Campus Richmond, Virginia

STEVEN G. TERRA JHM Health Science Center University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

JOE WALKER Orchid **BioSciences** Princeton, New Jersey

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics,

and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham

ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

#### Contents

1 Introduction, 618

- 1.1 History, 618
  - 1.1.1 Watson and Crick to the Human Genome Project, 618
  - 1.1.2 Drug Response and Toxicity Variability, 618
- 1.2 Genetic/Genomic Definitions, 619
  - 1.2.1 Basics, 619
  - 1.2.2 Pharmacogenetics or Pharmacogenomics?, 619
- 2 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms, 620
- 2.1 Definition, 620
- 2.2 Classification of SNPs, 620
- 3 Technologies Used in Pharmacogenomics, 621
  - 3.1 SNP Discovery, 621
  - 3.2 Genotyping Technologies, 622
    - 3.2.1 Enzymatic-Based Techniques, 622
      - 3.2.1.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism, 622
      - 3.2.1.2 Single Base Primer Extension, 623

3.2.1.3 Pyrosequencing, 624
3.2.2 Hybridization-Based Techniques, 624
3.2.2.1 Allele-Specific Amplification, 624
3.2.2.2 DNA Array Genotyping, 624
3.2.2.3 Homogeneous Solution Hybridization with Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer, 625
3.2.3 Combined Enzymatic/Hybridization Techniques, 625

- Techniques, 625 3.2.3.1 Invasive Cleavage Assays, 625
- 3.2.3.2 OLA, 625
- 4 Pharmacogenomics, 626

4.1 Drug Metabolizing Enzymes, 626

- 4.1.1 Polymorphisms in the Cytochrome P450 System, 627 4.1.1.1 **CYP2D6, 627** 
  - $4.1.1.1 \cup IF2D0, 027$
  - 4.1.1.2 **CYP2C9**, 628
  - 4.1.1.3 CYP2C19, 629
  - 4.1.1.4 CYP3A4/5/7, 629
- 4.1.2 Polymorphisms in Other Important Drug Metabolizing Enzymes, 630 4.1.2.1 Dihydropyrimidine
  - Dehydrogenase, 630
  - 4.1.2.2 N-Acetyltransferase-2, 630
  - 4.1.2.3 Thiopurine Methyltransferase, 630
- 4.2 Polymorphisms in Drug Transporter Genes, 631
- 4.3 Polymorphisms in Drug Target Genes and Clinical Efficacy, 632
  - 4.3.1 ACE Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism, 633

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 History

**1.1.1 Watson and Crick to the Human Genome Project.** It seems to have all started at the turn of the 20th century. **Mendel's** laws came back into favor within the scientific community, leading to discoveries in the cellular basis for heredity. But it wasn't until 1953 when Watson and Crick first described and built the elegant model of the structure of DNA that the field of genetics became not just a science, but an obsession. Over the last 50 years, scientists have been feverishly trying to unlock and decode the secrets of the human genome. Then, a monumental accomplishment was achieved when the first draft of the entire human genome sequence was published

- 4.3.2 Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor, 633
- 4.3.3 ACE I/D and AGTR1 Interaction, 635
- 4.3.4 5-Lipoxygenase Polymorphisms, 635
- 4.3.5 **β₁-Adrenergic** Receptor Polymorphisms, 635
- 4.3.6  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic Receptor
  - Polymorphisms, 636
  - 4.3.6.1 β₂-Adrenergic Receptor SNPs, 636
  - 4.3.6.2  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic Receptor Haplotypes, 636
- 4.4 Single Gene Pharmacogenetic Studies in Genes Influencing Disease Progression, 636
  4.4.1 Acute Coronary Syndromes, 636
  4.4.2 Alzheimer's Disease, 638
  - 4.4.3 Hypercholesterolemia, 639
  - 4.5 Clinical Relevance, 641
- 5 Research and Development, 641
  - 5.1 Influence of Pharmacogenomics on Clinical Trials, 642
  - 5.2 Use of Pharmacogenomic Data in the Clinical Trial Process, 642
  - 5.3 Examples from the Literature, 643
- 6 Obstacles Facing the Field of
  - Pharmacogenomics, 644
  - 6.1 Complexity and Cost, 644
  - 6.2 Will Pharmacogenomics Improve Medical Care?, 644
  - 6.3 Paradigm Shift in Health Care, 645
  - 6.4 Ethical Considerations, 645
- 7 Conclusion, 646

in February 2001 as a result of the Human Genome Project (1).This has sparked a renewed fervor for research in genomics that will certainly carry us through and beyond the 21st century, the post-genomic era.

**1.1.2 Drug Response and Toxicity Variability.** It is an incontrovertible fact that large interpatient variability exists in response to medications. Variation in response has existed as long as medications have been used for the prevention and treatment of disease. In many ways, the field of pharmacogenomics began serendipitously in the 1950s after seminal observations describing variability in response to medications. Examples included peripheral neuropathy from isoniazid among slow **acetylators (2)**, prolonged apnea from **succinylcho**line caused by pseudocholinesterase deficiency

#### **1** Introduction

(3), and severe hypotension from debrisoquine among cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 poor metabolizers (4). For the next 40 years, pharmacogenetic studies focused almost exclusively on the etiologies of altered variability in pharmacokinetic responses to medications.

As we entered the 1990s, pharmacogenomic studies began to include studies that examined pharmacodynamic variability in drug response. Now instead of examining only differences in drug metabolizing enzymes, scientists began to focus on genes that encode drug transporters, drug targets, and ion channels. The goal of this chapter is to provide a primer on pharmacogenomics and describe how the human genome and molecular biology techniques are transforming medicine to create an era of personalized therapeutics.

#### 1.2 Genetic/Genomic Definitions

**1.2.1 Basics.** The human genome is made up of DNA, which is organized into 23 chromosomes. DNA is a double helical structure that is composed of sugar, phosphate, and a nitrogenous base. The DNA strands are held together by hydrogen bonds. The four nitrogenous bases that make up DNA are adenine (A), guanine (G), cytosine (C), and thymine (T). The base pairing is consistent in that adenine always binds to thymine and cytosine always binds to guanine. A combination of three base pairs makes up a codon, and each codon specifies an amino acid that will be incorporated into a protein. The process of making a protein begins when an RNA polymerase attaches to a region of DNA known as the promoter region. This single-stranded chain now serves as a template to synthesize a single-stranded RNA molecule. Once RNA has been formed in the nucleus of the cell, it is transported to the ribosomes in the cytoplasm of the cell where translation will occur. However, before translation occurs, the RNA is processed and introns, non-coding regions of the DNA, are removed. The removal of non-coding regions is termed splicing. Exons, coding regions of DNA, constitute only 5% of the human genome. Once this has occurred, the RNA molecule is translated into amino acids and proteins. Because there are four nucleotides, a total of 64 different codons are possible. However, there are only 20 amino acids, hence several different codons may specify the same amino acid.

1.2.2 Pharmacogenetics or Pharmacogenomics?. Pharmacogenetics is literally a combination of pharmacology and genetics. It thus stands to reason that pharmacogenetics is the study of how an individual's genetic makeup may influence response to medications. The field of pharmacogenetics has been around in one form or another for over 50 years. Historically, differences in drug response were observed and documented. Based on these phenotypic (i.e., the outward physical effect of a genotype) observations, scientists explored heredity and gene lines to pharmacogenetically explain these differences in response. Scientists further explored and concentrated efforts on the pharmacokinetics (i.e., absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) of these medications in search of genetic differences in, for example, how fast or slow a particular drug is metabolized. Then came the Human Genome Project and birth of the term pharmacogenomics.

There has been considerable debate about whether the terms pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics mean the same thing or whether they truly are different sciences. Some state that pharmacogenomics is just the new *en* vogue terminology of late. Some state that pharmacogenetics looks at a single gene whereas pharmacogenomics looks at multiple interacting genes. Others state that there is a fundamental difference in the way the research problem or hypothesis is approached. Few would argue that pharmacogenomics has its roots in pharmacogenetics, but it is the recent technology in molecular biology along with the Human Genome Project that has shaped and defined the field of pharmacogenomics. Pharmacogenetics historically relied heavily on phenotypic observations to drive hypotheses about genetic differences (5). But, with today's technology, one can take a genome-wide approach to apriori hypothesize about differences in drug response and/or search for novel drug targets. This is the essence of pharmacogenomics. Furthermore, pharmacogenetics typically concentrated its research in the area of pharmacokinetics thus

looking at drug-metabolizing enzyme polymorphism-(6). However, pharmacogenomics opens a genomic Pandora's box, allowing the ability to explore not only drug-metabolizing polymorphisms, but also drug target polymorphism-drug transporter polymorphisms, and disease progression polymorphisms. If the goal of pharmacogenetics is to explain the inter-individual differences in drug response based on genetic information, then it is the promise of pharmacogenomics to truly individualize pharmacotherapy (5).

#### **2 SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS**

#### 2.1 Definition

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs; pronounced "snips") are single base pair substitutions that occur in a sequence of DNA. It has been estimated that SNPs occur at a frequency of approximately 1 in 1000 base pairs. Because the human genome contains approximately 3 billion base pairs, there should be approximately 30,000,000 SNPs in the genome (7). However, the number of SNPs in coding regions (i.e., the regions that actually code for proteins) of the genome has been estimated at 500,000. Recently, a "SNP map" of the human genome was published containing 1.42 million SNPs (1). The researchers found an average density of one SNP every 1.9 kb, or approximately 1 in 1900 base pairs. They also estimated that of the 1.42 million SNPs identified, only 60,000 SNPs actually fell in coding regions. However, it is important to consider that, although a SNP may fall outside the coding region, it may be in linkage disequilibrium with a coding SNP, thus indirectly affecting a biologic or pharmacologic response. Irregardless, in order to be classified as a polymorphism, it must have a frequency of at least 1% in the population. However, to be of routine clinical use, the frequency of polymorphisms may need to be much higher.

#### 2.2 Classification of SNPs

As alluded to above, there are several different types of SNPs. Coding SNPs are those polymorphism that are located within the coding block of the gene, whereas noncoding SNPs

occur outside of the coding block. Coding SNPs can further be classified as either synonymous or non-synonymous. A synonymous SNP is a polymorphism in which, although the **codon** has been changed, both the wild-type and the polymorphic variant code for the exact same amino acid. Thus, a non-synonymous SNP is one in which a different amino acid is coded and is therefore the most common SNP described in the literature. A non-synonymous SNP can further be classified as conservative or non-conservative. A conservative non-synonymous SNP confers an amino acid substitution of similar size and charge to that of the original amino acid, whereas a non-conservative non-synonymous SNP substitutes an amino acid that is very different in size and/or charge which may greatly impact protein folding. It thus stands to reason that a non-conservative nonsynonymous SNP may potentially cause the most obvious genetic variations.

It is becoming increasingly important given the dogma of pharmacogenomics to evaluate multiple SNPs. A haplotype is a collection of **SNPs** on a particular locus. The locus could be multiple genes, one entire gene or merely a segment of a gene. By examining haplotypes, the interaction between SNPs can be further addressed and elucidated. For example, SNPs can often travel together because of linkage disequilibrium, thus making it very important to study the haplotype. It therefore may be potentially misleading to only look at the individual SNPs without considering their interplay. This has indeed been proven to be the case in a seminal paper looking at  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor polymorphisms is asthma (8). The details of this case are described in more detail in Section 4.3.6.2.

It is also very important to note that SNPs are not the only polymorphisms out there that affect drug response. Up until now, we have been discussing what happens when a single nucleotide base-pair is substituted. However, there are also polymorphisms causing insertion or deletion of a segment of DNA, splice site mutations resulting in **exon** skipping, **mi**crosatellite nucleotide repeats, gene duplication, point mutations resulting in early stop codons, and complete gene deletions. This makes for an incredibly complex variety of SNPs that are potentially responsible for in-

#### 3 Technologies Used in Pharmacogenomics

ter-individual response differences observed with certain medications.

#### 3 TECHNOLOGIES USED IN PHARMACOGENOMICS

The cornerstone of genomic and pharmacogenomic studies is the ability to accurately identify genetic variations. The last few years have brought the development of many lowcost, high-throughput technologies that have permitted investigators to address genetic questions that were previously unapproachable. The molecular biology component of pharmacogenomics research essentially involves two fundamental activities: discovering new genetic variants (i.e., SNP discovery) and assaying for known mutations (i.e., genotyping). Selection of the most appropriate technology is based on which of these two activities are planned. While factors such as cost, accuracy, and throughput requirements are always important to consider, the most appropriate technology for a given project is driven by the state of knowledge concerning the gene, locus, or disease to be studied. For example, when there is an abundance of knowledge on the gene sequence and variation therein, the most appropriate technology will allow convenient robust assaying of known mutations (i.e., genotyping). When there is less information known on gene sequence and variation (polymorphism) within the gene, technologies that identify new genetic variation would be most appropriate.

#### 3.1 SNP Discovery

A variety of techniques are available for SNP discovery. DNA sequencing remains the most direct method to determine the sequence of a target gene and remains the gold standard for detecting mutations. In this mode, an individual's sequence can be compared with many wild-type sequences to identify new polymorphism~Improvements in analytical software and platform have made modern automated DNA sequencers much more user friendly. Nonetheless, the use of DNA sequencing to identify population-wide variation is a costly, labor-intensive endeavor. Strategies to mini-



Figure 12.1. Single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis. Single-stranded DNAs are generated by denaturation of the PCR products and separated on a nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel. A fragment with **a** single-base modification generally forms a different conformer and migrates differently when compared with the wild-type **DNA**. Reproduced with permission from Ref. 9.

mize the amount of sequencing allow for more efficient use of resources.

A commonly used strategy is to use polymerase chain reaction (PCR) techniques. Quite simply, one would PCR-amplify the genes of interest and scan the PCR products for the presence of variants. These gene scanning techniques differentiate PCR products which contain a variant sequence from those that do not. By only sequencing positive PCR products, gene scanning methods reduce the amount of sequencing required to discover new **SNPs**.

One of the most widely used methods for discovering new variants is a conformation-based technique called single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) analysis (Fig. 12.1). SSCP is based on the principle that a singlestranded DNA molecule has a specific sequencedependent three-dimensional structure. Sequence variants can be observed by running single-stranded PCR products through a gel matrix. An amplicon with a single nucleotide substitution generally forms a different conformation and will migrate differently than wild-type DNA through a polyacrylamide gel during electrophoresis. By comparing the mobility of a series of test samples with that of a control sample, it is possible to identify those samples with a sequence variation.

AP Biotech
AstraZenecca
Aventis
Bayer AG
Bristol-Myers Squibb
Hoffman-LaRoche
GlaxoSmithKline
Novartis
Pfizer
Searle

 Table 12.1
 Members of the SNP Consortium

Other popular scanning methods for SNP discovery include chemical or enzymatic mismatch cleavage detection, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis, and denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (**dHPLC**). The underlying principle of these methods is that the melting characteristics of double stranded DNA are largely defined by its sequence (9). Therefore, sequence variation will produce variable DNA denaturing and **rean**nealing, such that during electrophoresis a single-base mismatch can produce **conforma**tional changes that result in differential migration of homoduplexes and heteroduplexes containing these base mismatches (10).

The Human Genome Project, the SNP Consortium, and other sequencing efforts have produced large amounts of human sequence data that are available in public databases. In fact, in the fourth quarter of 2001, the SNP Consortium, which was created by the Wellcome Trust and a group of pharmaceutical companies (Table 12.1), will complete a catalog of 1,000,000 SNPs for public usage (http://snp.cshl.org). The actual SNP identification and mapping will be performed at the five genomics institutes (Table 12.2). These sequence and SNP databases will provide a basis for rapid and efficient genome-wide SNP discovery using data assembled from sequences from libraries of cDNAs. For re-

# Table 12.2 Institutes Responsible for Identification, Mapping, and Analysis of SNPs

The Sanger Centre Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research Washington University School of Medicine Stanford Human Genome Center Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory searchers, this represents an extremely valuable tool in which to do in *silico* searches to identify new candidate SNPs (11).

#### 3.2 Genotyping Technologies

There are many options available to investigators for SNP genotyping. These vary along a range of cost, throughput, robustness, and convenience. In comparing currently available and emerging technologies, a distinction should be made between the analytical biochemistries that underlie the different genotyping assays and the variety of platforms and modes of detection, or readout, of the genotyping results. For instance, it is sometimes suggested that DNA microarrays are a new powerful method of genotyping, when in reality DNA microarrays simply represent a means of spatially arranging biochemical reactions, whether hybridization alone or hybridization linked to an enzymatic reaction, so that the end result of the reaction can be efficiently quantified or scored (12).

Because genotyping assays require a high level of specificity, an additional distinction should be made between those biochemistries that rely primarily on differential hybridization for their specificity and those that derive specificity from the product of an enzymatic reaction. By combining one of the available allelic discrimination biochemistries with either a solution phase or solid (array) phase reaction platform and a common detection methodology [electrophoresis, fluorescence, fluorescenceresonance energy transfer (FRET), etc.], a number of viable genotyping technologies have been developed.

#### 3.2.1 Enzymatic-Based Techniques.

**3.2.1.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restric***tion Fragment Length Polymorphism.* One of the simplest methods to genotype test samples is through restriction fragment length polymorphism (**RFLP**) analysis. With this method, after PCR, the PCR products are digested with an appropriate restriction enzyme and visualized by staining the gel after electrophoresis. If the test sample contains a genetic polymorphism that causes a gain or loss of the restriction site, then that sample will display a **differ**ent migration pattern on the gel. Appropriate



Figure 12.2. Single base primer extension. This patient is heterozygous for this A to C substitution. The labels from both **ddNTPs** can be detected in this sample. In the case of a homozygous genotype, only one of the labels would be detected. Detection might be through ELISA, fluorescence, FRET, or FP.

quality control measures require that positive and negative controls be present in each assay to confirm that the restriction enzyme is active.

The main advantages of RFLP analysis are that it is simple to develop and use. It also does not require expensive equipment, and it is effective for genotyping a small number of samples. The principle disadvantages are that it is time consuming, labor intensive, and not amenable for large numbers of samples or genotypes. **Another** drawback is that not all **SNPs** produce a usable restriction site.

**3.2.1.2 Single Base Primer Extension.** One of the most effective ways to detecting polymorphism~is a technique known as **single**-base primer extension (Fig. **12.2**). In this

simple assay, a region containing the polymorphism of interest is first amplified in a PCR reaction. The double-stranded PCR product is prepared into a single-stranded DNA fragment by heat or **enzymatic** digestion. A third primer is then used in the primer extension reaction. On the single-stranded PCR product, this third primer, called the primer extension primer, anneals immediately adjacent to, but only including, the site of the known mutation. After addition of DNA polymerase and labeled chain-terminating dideoxynucleotides corresponding to the wild-type and variant sequence, one of the two dideoxynucleotides will be added onto the primer at the site of the mutation. Unlike regular deoxynucleotides, which will extend indefinitely, dideoxynucleotides will only extend by one base. After completion of the primer extension reaction, detection of the reaction products may occur in any number of ways (13, 14).

An important distinguishing feature of primer extension is that assay specificity arises from the enzymatic specificity of DNA polymerase, not from the hybridization of the extension primer. Consequently, single base extension is rapidly gaining acceptance as the reaction biochemistry of choice for highthroughput genotyping of SNPs. It is well suited for high-throughput applications because the reactions can occur under similar reaction conditions, assay design and optimization are minimal, and it is portable to a variety of detection platforms (15). For these reasons, single-base primer extension is being licensed and adapted for use of a variety of different platforms and detection systems, including indirect colorimetric detection on ELISA-style microtiter plates (Orchid Bio-Sciences' SNPStream 25K and SNPware 96 kits), DNA array product capture systems (SNPcode kits for use on Affymetrix's Gene-Chip and GeneFlex; Aper's APEX), fluorescent bead-based sorting devices (Luminex's LabMAP), capillary DNA sequencers (ABI's SnaPshot and Amersham Pharmacia Biotech's SNuPe), mass spectrometry (Sequenom), and fluorescence polarization (Perkin Elmer).

**3.2.1.3** *Pyrosequencing*. Another enzymatic genotyping method is pyrosequencing (Pyrosequencing AB). In this method, primer extension is monitored by luminometric detection of pyrophosphate, which is released on the addition of deoxynucleotides. The pyrophosphate is converted to ATP, which in turn stimulates luciferase to produce light which can be detected. As the deoxynucleotides are added, the complementary DNA strand is built up and the nucleotide sequence can be determined from the signal strength. Using pyrosequencing, the sequence of short 30-50 bp stretches of DNA can be determined (15, 16). This method available in a 96-well format and might be useful for small low-throughput applications, but the high cost may be an issue when high genotyping throughput is necessary.

#### 3.2.2 Hybridization-Based Techniques

3.2.2.1 Allele-Specific Amplification. The allele-specific amplification (ASA) assay is based on the finding that PCR amplification will not occur if a primer has a mismatch at the 3' end. Therefore, to detect the presence of a polymorphism, two different forward primers can be designed for use with a common reverse primer such that the 3' end of each forward primer matches the expected nucleotide at the polymorphic site for both the normal and variant sequences. A sample can be tested for the variant by running two PCR reactions; one with the primer set containing the normal sequence and the second reaction containing the primer set containing the variant sequence. By monitoring for the formation of allele-specific PCR products, the identity of the test sample can be known. The results of the assay can be detected through electrophoresis. The addition of fluorescent dyes to primers allows for easy multiplexing of reactions. The principal drawback of ASA based methods is the lack of specificity because of the difficulty in optimizing reaction conditions so that only perfectly matched oligonucleotides will be amplified.

3.2.2.2 DNA Array Genotyping. Allele-specific hybridization biochemistry underlies many of the chip-based genotyping systems. DNA chip-based genotyping systems allow for the simultaneous analysis of many polymorphic loci on one genetic sample. Thousands or even hundreds of thousands of allele specific oligonucleotides are created and attached in an order pattern onto a solid glass or silicon surface creating an array of surface bound oligonucleotide probes. Each bound oligonucleotide functions as an allele-specific probe. After PCR amplification of the areas of interest with fluorescently labeled nucleotides, the sample is then hybridized to the chip. Perfectly matched probes hybridize more efficiently to the bound oligonucleotides and therefore give a stronger signal (10). As with other hybridization-based reactions, the drawback of this system is the difficulty in achieving the appropriate stringency of hybridization conditions so that only perfectly matched oligonucleotides will be retained and provide a positive signal.

#### 3 Technologies Used in Pharmacogenomics

Moreover, chips must be custom made and are therefore expensive and very inflexible. Adding a new SNP to the analysis means that the entire chip must be redesigned. Universal tag array systems are being used as a reaction sorting system and can lower the cost and increase the flexibility of chip-based genotyping systems. Many of the more specific **enzyme**based biochemistries such as single base primer extension and oligonucleotide ligation assay (OLA) are being developed for **array**based genotyping (17, 18).

3.2.2.3 Homogeneous Solution Hybridization with Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer. The Taqman (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) assay uses allele-specific hybridization to distinguish between alleles during PCR with fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) detection. FRET detection is based on the observation that the fluorescent emissions from one fluorescent dye can be absorbed by another fluorescent dye when the two are in close physical proximity. This assay uses two sets of probes: a pair of PCR primers and a set of allele-specific Taqman probes. The Taqman probes differ at the polymorphic site, such that one probe is specific for the wild-type allele, whereas the other is specific for variant allele. Each allele-specific probe is also labeled with both a 5' fluorescent reporter dye and a 3' quencher dye. Both probes use the same 3' quencher dye [6-carboxy-N,N,N',N'-tetrachlorofluorescein (TAMRA)], whereas the wildtype allele and variant allele probes are also labeled with 6-carboxy-4,7,2',7'-tetrachlorofluorescein (TET) or 6-carboxyfluorescein (FAM), respectively. While the probes are intact, there is no fluorescent signal because of the close proximity of the quencher dye to the reporter dyes (19).

During the PCR amplification, one or both of the allele-specific probes anneal to the polymorphic region. During the extension phase, the **5'** reporter dye is cleaved and released by the 5' nuclease activity of the *Taq* polymerase. Cleavage releases the **5' reporter** dye from the probe, allowing it to emit its characteristic fluorescence (9).

Because post-PCR processing or manipulation is not required, the Taqman assay is simple to perform once the assay has been optimized. Unfortunately, the assay, which is based on hybridization, requires a highly specific assay condition to deliver robust genotypes. Also, because four oligonucleotide probes are required (two of which must be fluorescently labeled), these assays can be expensive to run.

#### 3.2.3 Combined Enzymatic/Hybridization Techniques

3.2.3.1 Invasive Cleavage Assays. The Invader assay (Third Wave Technologies, Inc.) is a FRET-based enzymatic/hybridization combination genotyping method that offers the potential to genotype without prior PCR amplification. This assay uses two hybridization oligonucleotides (a wild-type and a variantspecific oligonucleotide) plus an Invader probe. The two hybridization probes partially overlap a known polymorphic site and compete for hybridization. When one probe successfully hybridizes, it forces the other probe into an overlapping position, which will be recognized and cleaved by the enzyme flap endonuclease (20, 21). The cleaved fragment acts as an "invader" probe in a second reaction, where it directs the cleavage of an end-labeled FRET probe-template construct (9). While avoiding PCR and genotyping directly from genomic DNA are hypothetical advantages of the Invader assay, this requires a large amount of genomic DNA, which can be in short supply. This advantage is completely lost if investigators must perform the assay on DNA fragments previously amplified by PCR (22).

**3.2.3.2** OLA. The OLA uses an enzymatic reaction to increase the specificity of a hybridization-based approach. Three very specific oligonucleotide probes are used in OLA: one specific for the wild-type allele, one specific for the variant allele, and a common probe that carries a fluorescent label. PCR is used to create amplicons containing the polymorphic site. When the PCR products are incubated with all three probes, the 5' region of the common probe anneals just downstream of the polymorphic site. The **3'** end of either of the allele specific probes anneals adjacent to the 5' end of the common probe. In the presence of thermostable DNA ligase, the two probes will join only if there is a perfect match. The results of the assay can be observed either by gel



Figure 12.3. Drug-metabolizing enzymes. Those drug-metabolizing enzyme polymorphisms that have already been associated with altered drug effects are separated from the pie chart. For each of the corresponding phases, the size of the pie slice approximates that drug-metabolizing enzyme's contribution to the overall metabolism of drugs. ADH, alcohol dehydrogenase; ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase; CYP, cytochrome P450; DPD, dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase; NQO1, NADPH: quinine oxidoreductase or DT diaphorase; COMT, catechol *O*-methyltransferase; GST, glutathione S-transferase; HMT, histamine methyltransferase; NAT, *N*-acetyltransferase; STs, sulfotransferase; TPMT, thiopurine methyltransferase; UGTs, uridine 5'-triphosphate glucuronosyltransferases. Reproduced with permission from Ref. 6.

electrophoresis of the ligation products or by capture of the products on a microarray built with a set of oligonucleotides that are complementary to a tag sequence on one of the ligation probes (17). The need for three specific probes increases the costs of this genotyping assay.

#### 4 PHARMACOGENOMICS

#### 4.1 Drug Metabolizing Enzymes

More than 40 years ago, the deficiency of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) and of the arylamine N-acetyltransferase type 2 (NAT2) were the first examples that revealed that hereditary variants of drug-metabolizing enzymes could be responsible for side effects and interindividual variability in response to drugs (23, 24). Since then, significant progress has been made in the field of pharmacogenetics. Much of that work involves investigation into the clinical relevance of genetic variability in the enzymes responsible for the metabolism of both endogenous and exogenous substrates (Fig. 12.3).

These drug-metabolizing enzymes, such as the cytochrome P450s (CYP), are responsible for the metabolic elimination of most of the drugs currently used in medicine. Genetically determined variability in the function of these enzymes can have a profound effect on drug safety and efficacy.

There are many molecular mechanisms of variability or inactivation of drug metabolizing enzymes. These include splice site mutations resulting in exon skipping (CYP2C19), microsatellite nucleotide repeats (CYP2D6), gene duplication (CYP2D6), point mutations resulting in early stop codons (CYP2D6), amino acid substitutions that alter protein stability or catalytic activity (e.g., TPMT, NAT2, CYP2D6, CYP2C19, and CYP2C9), or complete gene deletions (CYP2D6).

#### 4 Pharmacogenomics

CYP2D6	CYP2C9	CYP2C19	CYP3A4/5/7
Propranolol	S-Warfarin	Omeprazole	Clarithromycin
Metoprolol	Glipizide	Lansoprazole	Erythromycin
Timolol	Glimepiride	Carisoprodol	Midazolam
Amitriptyline	Tolbutamide	Diazepam	Triazolam
Nortriptyline	Phenytoin	Pantoprazole	Cyclosporine
Imipramine	Celecoxib	Citalopram	Tacrolimus
Desipramine	Ibuprofen	Clomipramine	Indinavir
Paroxetine	Losartan	Hexobarbital	Nelfinavir
Fluoxetine	Irbesartan		Ritonavir
Venlafaxine	Torsemide		Saquinavir
Codeine			Cisapride
Dextromethorphan			Astemizole
Tolterodine			Estradiol
Propafenone			Hydrocortisone
Mexiletine			Progesterone
			Testosterone
			Sildenafil
			Trazodone
			Vincristine
			Zaleplon
			Zolpidem
			Amlodipine
			Diltiazem
			Nifedipine
			Verapamil

 Table 12.3
 Selected Substrates of Polymorphic Drug Metabolizing Enzymes

4.1.1 Polymorphisms in the Cytochrome P450 System. Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes, a very large gene family comprised of numerous isoforms, oxidatively metabolize xenobiotics, including many drugs. Specializing in the removal of lipophilic foreign chemicals, these enzymes rank among the most abundant proteins in the liver. Table 12.3 lists selected medications that are metabolized by CYP enzymes.

When CYP mutations result in null alleles (inactivation), a complete lack of active enzyme and a severely compromised ability to metabolize drugs results. Drugs may reach toxic plasma concentrations if given in regular doses to these "poor metabolizers." For example, mutations in the gene encoding cytochrome P450 CYP2C9, which metabolizes warfarin, affects patients' response to the drug and their dose requirements (25).

4.1.1.1 CYP2D6. CYP2D6, also known as debrisoquine/sparteine hydroxylase, is highly polymorphic and is inactive in about 8% of Caucasian-Americans and 2–5% of African

Americans (26). It is involved in the metabolism of approximately 30–40 commonly used drugs. Millions of patients with compromised metabolism are thus at risk of adverse drug reactions when prescribed drugs that are **CYP2D6** substrates. Many such drugs are used for treating psychiatric (such as antidepressants and antipsychotics) and cardiovascular diseases (such as  $\beta$ -blockers and antiarrhythmics), where the therapeutic window can be narrow and side effects common.

More than 70 variant alleles of the CYP2D6 locus have been described, of which at least 15 encode non-functional gene products. These alleles as well as several functional allelic variants of CYP2D6 have been described that occur at variable frequencies in racially diverse populations (27). Most of the null alleles have interrupted open reading frames because of splice-site mutations, single base deletions, nonsense mutations, or deletion of the entire gene. Alleles encoding non-functional fulllength proteins have also been described. Based on genetic diagnosis, it is now possible to identify individuals with poor metabolizer (**PM**) phenotype as carriers of two null-alleles with over 99% certainty (**28–30**).

Whereas using a molecular diagnostic to identify **CYP2D6 PMs** has become much easier, it has remained much more difficult to predict the metabolic capacity of extensive **metabolizers** (EM; **i.e.**, individuals carrying one or more functional gene copies) (30). Even in extensive metabolizers, **CYP2D6** activity is known to vary greatly. For example, the **CYP2D6** activity represented by the metabolic ratio (MR) values of debrisoquin and desipramine have been reported to show more than a 70-fold variation among extensive **metaboliz**ers in Korean and white populations (31, 32).

In poor metabolizers, the genes often contain inactivating mutations, which result in a complete lack of active enzyme and a severely compromised ability to metabolize drugs. Thus, poor metabolizers of **CYP2D6** are potentially at risk for increased plasma concentrations of drugs given at conventional doses. For example, the metabolism of the antidepressant venlafaxine is controlled by genetic polymorphism. Poor metabolizers of **CYP2D6** have significantly reduced venlafaxine clearance and an increased risk of cardiovascular toxicity (33).

Conversely, ultrarapid metabolizers (UM) often do not reach therapeutic concentrations when given standard doses. In some cases, these individuals inherit up to 13 copies of the **CYP2D6** gene, arranged in tandem (34). This amplification polymorphism results in affected people metabolizing drugs that are CYP2D6 substrates so quickly that a therapeutic effect cannot be obtained at conventional doses. For example, it has been estimated that, whereas a daily dose of 10-20 mgnortriptyline would be sufficient for a patient who is a CYP2D6 poor metabolizer, an UM inheriting multiple copies of the gene could require as much as 500 mg/day (35). Ultrarapid metabolizers are found in 1-10% of Caucasians and 2-3% of African Americans. Among Ethiopian and Saudi Arabian populations, there is a very high frequency (20-30%)of the UM phenotype (36).

In addition to detoxifying and eliminating drugs and metabolites, **CYP2D6** is required for activation of pro-drugs. For example, codeine must be converted to its active metabolite, morphine, by **CYP2D6**, rendering the 2–8% of the population who are homozygous for non-functional **CYP2D6** alleles resistant to the analgesic effects of this commonly used medication. Thus, this common polymorphism explains at least some of the interindividual variability in pain relief from standard doses of codeine (6).

**4.1.1.2 CYP2C9.** CYP2C9 is one of the most abundant cytochromes P450 in the human liver and has been shown to metabolize a large number of drugs, including s-warfarin, losartan, glipizide, tetrahydrocannabinol, phenytoin, torsemide, celecoxib, and various nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (37–40).

There have been six different CYP2C9 alleles described. The two most common variant alleles (CYP2C9*2 and CYP2C9*3) differ from the wild-type allele (CYP2C9*1) by a single point mutation: CYP2C9*2 is characterized by an Arg144Cys amino acid substitution, whereas CYP2C9*3 has an Ile359Leu substitution. CYP2C9*2 and *3 have been reported to occur at a frequency of 8% and 6%, respectively, in the Caucasian population. Both of these variants are much less common in African-American (1% and 0.5%, respectively) and Asian populations (0% and 2–3%, respectively) (41). Both allelic variants are associated with reduced catalytic activity compared with the wild-type. They are reported to show approximately 12% (*2) and less than 5% (*3) of wildtype enzyme activity (42).

The potential clinical importance of these variants was recently demonstrated. Patients with one or more of these more common **CYP2C9** variant alleles (**CYP2C9*2** or **CYP2C9*3**) require a significantly lower warfarin dose to maintain the desired level of anticoagulation, and these variant alleles were also associated with a greater likelihood of bleeding complications (25). Patients carrying at least one of these variants have also been shown to require 30% less phenytoin to achieve therapeutic phenytoin concentrations (42).

Much less is known about the less common CYP2C9 variants. CYP2C9*4 results in an Ile359Thr substitution. It has been reported to be extremely rare (43). CYP2C9*5 is reported to lead to an Asp360Glu substitution.

The *CYP2C9*5* variant has only been observed in African Americans, such that approximately 3% of this population carries the *CYP2C9*5* allele. In *vitro* intrinsic clearances for *CYP2C9*5*, calculated as the ratio of  $V_{max}/K_m$ , ranged from 8 to 18% of *CYP2C9*1* values in the initial report (44). The *CYP2C9*6* variant results in a frameshift mutation. To date, it has only been observed in one Caucasian patient (R. S. Kidd, personal communication).

4.1.1.3 CYP2C19. CYP2C19, also known as mephenytoin hydroxylase, was first described in 1993 (45). Since then, eight alleles have been identified. Each of the alleles other than CYP2C19*1 have been associated with almost complete absence of gene expression. Most of the alleles (*CYP2C19*2*, *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, and *8) occur infrequently (approximately 3–5% in total) in random Caucasian and African-American populations. In all racial groups studied, CYP2C19*2 is the allele most commonly associated with an inactive gene product. Within Asian populations, the higher frequency of CYP2C19*2 and CYP2C19*3 alleles accounts for the higher prevalence in this racial group (approximately 35% **PM**) (46,471.

CYP2C19 metabolizes many clinically important drugs (Table 12.3). Subjects with the CYP2C19 PM phenotype have an area under the curve (AUC) of omeprazole that is more than sixfold higher than efficient metabolizers (EM), and the drug has a severely prolonged half-life in PM individuals (48). A similar relationship is seen for other proton pump inhibitors (49). To reach similar plasma levels, PMs of CYP2C19 would take about 1–2 mg of omeprazole instead of the recommended dose of 20 mg (50).

Regarding proton pump inhibitors, the effect of CYP2C19 PM status is not limited to pharmacokinetic alterations. The difference in the pharmacokinetics has been shown to influence the outcome of H. Pylori eradication therapy. Furuta et al. showed that in patients with confirmed H. Pylori infection treated with omeprazole or lansoprazole plus clarithromycin and amoxicillin, CYP2C19 PMs had an eradication rate of 97.8% compared with a rate of 72.7% (P < 0.001) for CYP2C19 EMs (51).

In addition to the proton pump inhibitors, CYP2C19 genotype has also been shown to be

associated with reduced elimination of diazepam (52), proguanil (53), imipramine (54), citaloprarn (55), carisoprodol (56), and hexobarbital (57).

4.1.1.4 CYP3A4/5/7. The CYP3A family consists of CYP3A4, CYP3A5, and CYP3A7. The CYP3A members are the most abundant CYPs in the human liver and small intestine. Substantial interindividual differences in CYP3A expression, exceeding 30-fold in some populations, contribute greatly to variation in oral bioavailability and systemic clearance of CYP3A substrates (58). One factor contributing to this large variability in 3A expression is the presence or absence of CYP3A5. CYP3A5 was previously detected in livers and small intestines of only some adult individuals, but the basis for this "polymorphic" expression was unknown (59, 60).

Recently, two important SNPs in CYP3A5 (CYP3A5*3 and *6) were described. Relative to the wild-type (CYP3A5*1), these mutations have been shown to cause alternative splicing and protein truncation, which results in the absence of CYP3A5. Only carriers of at least one CYP3A5*1 allele have been shown to express large amounts of CYP3A5. The ethnic distribution of the CYP3A5*1 allele indicates that relatively high levels of CYP3A5 are expressed by an estimated 30% of Caucasians, 30% of Japanese, 30% of Mexicans, 40% of Chinese, and more than 50% of African Americans, Southeast Asians, Pacific Islanders, and Southwestern American Indians (58).

For most Caucasians and African Americans who carry the *CYP3A5*1* allele, CYP3A5 accounts for at least 50% of the total CYP3A content. Because most CYP3A4 substrates are also substrates for CYP3A5, this CYP3A5 polymorphism influences overall CYP3A activity in humans (61). Thus, the presence or absence of CYP3A5 should contribute substantially to the total metabolic clearance of the many CYP3A substrates. Indeed, those heterozygous or homozygous for CYP3A5*1 should have the highest clearance and lowest oral bioavailability of **CYP3A** substrates. Moreover, these people might be more likely to encounter a lack of efficacy from standard doses (58).

Important variation in other clinically relevant CYP enzymes such as CYP1A2, CYP2A6, and CYP2E1 has been demonstrated and reviewed in detail elsewhere (50).

#### 4.1.2 Polymorphisms in Other Important Drug Metabolizing Enzymes

4.1.2.1 Dihydropyrimidine Dehydrogenase. Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) is the initial and rate-limiting enzyme in the catabolism of the chemotherapeutic agent 5-fluorouracil (5-FU). Diasio et al. conducted a familial study that suggested an autosomal recessive pattern of inheritance of deficiency of DPD. While it seems that a complete absence of DPD activity is extremely rare, even partial enzyme inactivity might result in severe toxicity from 5-FU (62). Prospectively evaluating the gene encoding DPD is a typical example of what could be a useful pharmacogenomic approach to preventing toxicity from a very effective drug that has a high level of toxicity (63).

**4.1.2.2** *N*-*Acetyltransferase-2.* The *N*-acetyltransferase-2 (NAT2) polymorphism is one of the most common polymorphisms known in human populations. While more than 50% of Caucasians are NAT2 slow acetylator phenotype, there is a tremendous amount of interethnic variation in the frequency of the slow acetylator polymorphism (64). For instance, the slow acetylator phenotype is much more frequent in Egyptians but is much less frequent in Asians (65).

This polymorphism (NAT2) was discovered almost 50 years ago after differences were observed to isoniazid toxicity in tuberculosis patients (66). Subsequently, the differences in isoniazid toxicity were attributed to genetic variability in NAT2, a cytosolic phase II conjugation enzyme primarily responsible for deactivation of isoniazid (67). Indeed, the polymorphism was termed the "isoniazid acetylation polymorphism" for many years until the importance of the polymorphism in the metabolism and disposition of other drugs and chemical carcinogens was fully appreciated (65).

Since these first observations, a wealth of clinical evidence has shown that the disposition of a variety of drugs (including **sulfon**amides, dapsone, hydralazine, procainarnide, and caffeine) possessing primary aromatic amino or hydrazine functional groups is affected by the same genetic defect (68). In addition to metabolizing drugs, NAT2 is also known to catalyze both N-acetylation (usually deactivation) and **O-acetylation** (usually activation) of aromatic and heterocyclic amine carcinogens. Epidemiological studies suggest that the NAT2 acetylation polymorphisms modify risk of developing urinary bladder, colorectal, breast, head and neck, lung, and possibly prostate cancers. Associations between slow NAT2 acetylator genotypes and urinary bladder cancer and between rapid NAT2 acetylator genotypes and colorectal cancer are the most consistently reported (65). The importance of the NAT2 polymorphisms in clinical pharmacology and toxicology has been extensively reviewed (68, 69).

Grant et al. first demonstrated that the classical isoniazid slow acetylator phenotype is due, at least in part, to reduction of the expression of NAT2 protein (70). No polymorphism in the 5' or 3' regions of the gene have been reported. Eleven SNPs have been identified in the NAT2 coding region. Five of these are capable of producing the slow acetylator phenotype. The four most common of these are NAT2*5, NAT2*6, NAT2*7, and NAT2*14. NAT2*4 is associated with the rapid acetylator phenotype and is considered the wildtype allele because of its absence of any of these substitutions. However, NAT2*4 is not the most common allele in many ethnic groups, including Caucasians and Africans (71, 68).

**4.1.2.3 Thiopurine Methyltransferase.** Azathioprine, thioguanine, and 6-mercaptopurine are thiopurine drugs that are used to treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia, autoimmune disorders, inflammatory bowel disease, and organ transplant recipients. These drugs are metabolized by the genetically polymorphic enzyme **thiopurine methyltransferase** (TPMT). Thiopurines are very useful drugs, but they have a relatively narrow therapeutic index, with life-threatening myelosuppression as a major toxicity (72).

Population studies have found that approximately 11% of Caucasians are heterozygous and 0.3% homozygous for TPMT deficiency (73). For the TPMT polymorphism, all patients who inherit two non-functional TPMT alleles will develop dose-limiting hematopoi-

P-Glycoprotein Substrates	P-Glycoprotein Inhibitors	P-Glycoprotein Inducers
Amiodarone	Amiodarone	Dexamethasone
Anthracyclines	Atoryastatin	Phenobarbital
Cisplatin	Clarithromycin	Phenytoin
Cyclosporine	Cyclosporine	Rifampin
Cytarabine	Diltiazem	St. John's Wort
Dactinomycin	Erythromycin	
Daunorubicin	Itraconazole	
Dexamethasone	Ketoconazole	
Digoxin	Ouinidine	
Docetaxel	Ouinine	
Doxorubicin	Ritonavir	
Etoposide	Tacrolimus	
Fexofenadine	Tamoxifen	
Fluorouracil	Verapamil	
Glucocorticoids	L.	
Indinavir		
Loperamide		
Losartan		
Methotrexate		
Mitoxantrone		
Nelfinavir		
Paclitaxel		
Ritonavir		
Saquinavir		
Sirolimus		
Tacrolimus		
Topotecan		
Vinblastine		
Vincristine		
Vindesine		
Vinorelbine		

Table 12.4Selected Substrates, Inducers, and Inhibitors of P.Glycoprotein (138)

etic toxicity. Patients deficient in this **drug**metabolizing enzyme can require up to a 15fold reduction in mercaptopurine to prevent fatal hematotoxicity (74–77).

The full clinical and molecular implications of this variant have recently been reviewed (72, 78).

## 4.2 Polymorphisms in Drug Transporter Genes

P-glycoprotein (**P-gp**) is an ATP-dependent drug efflux pump. In humans, P-gp is encoded by the multi-drug resistance gene (MDR-1) that is located on the long arm of chromosome 7. Overexpression of P-gp in neoplastic cells is associated with the phenomenon of **multi**drug resistance to chemotherapeutic agents

by promoting efflux of chemotherapy (79). Pglycoprotein is also expressed in normal cells including the intestinal epithelium, renal proximal tubule, liver, adrenal cortex, placenta, testes, and blood-brain barrier. Recently, **P-gp** has been implicated as the causative factor in numerous pharmacokinetic interactions (80). For example, amiodarone and quinidine therapy increases serum digoxin concentrations through inhibition of P-gp in the intestine and renal tubule, which increases digoxin absorption and decreases total body clearance. Table 12.4 provides a partial list of substrates, inhibitors, or inducers of P-gp. Considerable substrate overlap and tissue location exist between P-gp and the CYP 3A4 isoenzyme.

Gene/Gene Product	Medication	Effect Associated with Polymorphism	Reference
ALOX5	Lipoxygenase inhibitors	Improvement in FEV,	98
Angiotensin 1 receptor	Losartan	Reduction in mean arterial pressure	94
$\beta_1$ -Adrenergic receptor	Metoprolol	Reduction in blood pressure	104
$\beta_2$ -Adrenergic receptor	Albuterol	Improvement in FEV,	106, 107
Bradykinin B2 receptor	ACE inhibitors	ACE inhibitor induced cough	139
Dopamine D2 receptor	Dopamine antagonists	Anxiolytic/antidepressive effects of neuroleptics	140
Estrogen receptor	Equine estrogen	Increased bone mineral density	141
Gsa	β-blockers	Reduction in blood pressure	142
Platelet Fc	Heparin	Heparin induced thrombocytopenia	143
Serotonin transporter	SSRIs	Antidepressant response	144,145

 Table 12.5
 Selected Polymorphisms Associated With Altered Drug Response

Sixteen SNPs have been identified to date in the MDR-1 gene (81). Most of the polymorphisms are either synonymous or occur in intronic regions. However, one synonymous polymorphism in exon 26 (C3435T) has functional significance by influencing the expression of P-gp in the intestine. Individuals with the TT genotype have a twofold lower expression of P-gp compared with the CC genotype (82). Thus, one could predict that individuals with the TT genotype would have higher concentrations of drugs that are P-gp substrates and indeed this is the case. In one study, subjects with the TT genotype had a statistically significant 38% higher digoxin C_{max} concentration compared with subjects with the CC genotype (82). Therefore, patients with the TT genotype would also be expected to have higher **concentrations** of other P-gp substrates. Alternatively, CC homozygotes through increased expression of P-gp may experience subtherapeutic concentrations of P-gp substrates and experience therapeutic failures.

Genotype frequencies at exon 26 are highly dependent on the ethnicity of the population studied. One recent investigation examined 1280 subjects from 10 different ethnic groups (British Caucasians, Ghanaians, Kenyans, African Americans, Sudanese, Portuguese, Southwest Asians, Chinese, Filipinos, and Saudis) (83). The frequency of the T allele (associated with lower expression of P-gp) was significantly lower in the African populations compared with the Asian and Caucasian groups (16–27% versus 41–66%). Based on this finding, persons of African descent would be expected to have higher P-gp expression compared with Caucasians and Asians. Consequently, plasma concentrations of drugs that are P-gp substrates may be lower among African populations than those of other racial backgrounds despite equivalent doses. Supporting this is a study that revealed that African-American subjects had lower plasma cyclosporine concentrations compared with Caucasians given equivalent doses (84). African-American patients have a higher rejection rate after transplantation compared with Caucasians. Plausibly, the higher frequency of the Callele among African Americans may result in subtherapeutic concentrations of P-gp substrates tacrolimus and cyclosporine and therefore increased risk of rejection. Likewise, the HIV-protease inhibitors may be less effective among patients with the CC genotype and may have diminished penetration into the central nervous system. Clearly, further study is needed to determine the association between the C3435T polymorphism with treatment outcomes among patients receiving P-gp substrates.

## 4.3 Polymorphisms in Drug Target Genes and Clinical Efficacy

The biomedical literature contains a multitude of publications that attempt to correlate genetic variation underlying differential response to medications. It is obviously not feasible to review all of the examples from the literature, however, Table 12.5 summarizes several of these polymorphisms that are associated with altered drug response. Our goal is to provide several illustrative examples of how polymorphisms in drug targets are being used to establish a personalized medicine platform.

4.3.1 ACE Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism. One of the most studied polymorphisms occurs in the gene encoding angiotensin-converting enzyme. This polymorphism occurring in intron 16 is not a SNP. Rather it is an insertion/deletion (I/D) of a 287-base pair product. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the D allele is associated with higher concentrations of the hormone, angiotensin II (85). The functional consequences of these findings are apparent and have been supported by several examples from the literature demonstrating that the D allele is associated with increased risk of hypertension, myocardial infarction, and ventricular arrhythmias (86–88). Presence of the D allele is also associated with a poorer prognosis among patients with heart failure (89). Among 328 patients with heart failure followed at a cardiomyopathy clinic, after 2 years, the percentage of patients with transplant-free survival was 78% for the II genotype, 65% ID, and 60% DD (P = 0.044). Interestingly, these investigators also examined the impact of the ACE I/D polymorphism with  $\beta$ -blocker therapy in this cohort of patients. In the 208 patients who were not receiving  $\beta$ -blocker therapy, the 2-year transplant-free survival was 81% II, 61%ID, and 48% DD. However, a provocative finding was that  $\beta$ -blocker therapy obviated the influence of the D allele with poor prognosis. Among patients receiving  $\beta$ -blockers, the 2-year transplant-free survival was 70% for II genotype, 71% for ID, and 77% DD (P = NS).

Table 12.6 reviews several studies examining the impact of the **insertion/deletion** polymorphism with clinical response to ACE inhibitor therapy. Review of these studies reveals numerous conflicting results. Several possibilities exist for these equivocal findings including heterogeneous patient populations, sample size, endpoints, and study duration. However, perhaps the largest factor resides in the limitation of examining a single SNP. Medications act with numerous transporters and receptors to illicit a therapeutic response. Consequently, it is more plausible that variability in drug efficacy will be caused by polymorphism-in multiple genes involved in the drug response pathway. Thus, the findings with the ACE I/D polymorphism provide a rationale for future studies to eschew the simplicity of examining a single SNP and instead incorporate a more genomic approach.

One such effort examined 45 polymorphism ~in genes encoding angiotensinogen, ACE, and the AT1 receptor (90). A total of 91 patients who had received an ACE inhibitor for the treatment of hypertension were retrospectively studied, and 10 polymorphisms associated with a good response were identified. These 10 polymorphisms, termed "genetic signatures," were then prospectively evaluated in 102 patients with hypertension who received ACE inhibitors. The response rate to ACE inhibitor therapy was 73% among the patients with the "genetic signatures" compared with 42% response rate in the cohort without the "genetic signatures." Thus, while focusing on a single SNP is easy, it is unlikely to yield sufficient predictive accuracy to be useful clinically. Future pharmacogenomic studies will need to examine the impact of several SNPs and haplotypes to correlate these "genetic signatures" with drug variability.

4.3.2 Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor. Angiotensin II produces its deleterious effects by interacting with the angiotensin type 1 receptor. A well-described polymorphism exists in the gene encoding the angiotensin type 1 receptor with either an adenine (A) or cytosine (C) at position 1166 of the 3' untranslated region of the gene. Case-control studies have shown an association between the Callele and increased risk of hypertension, aortic stiffness, and a worse prognosis among patients with idiopathic heart failure (91–93). Thus, angiotensin receptor blockers used in the management of hypertension and heart failure may be particularly effective among patients with the C allele. One study of healthy volunteers demonstrated that subjects carrying at least one C allele experienced a larger decrease in mean arterial pressure and an increase in glomerular filtration rate compared with subjects with the AA genotype (94). Although this finding warrants further study, it suggests that the C allele may be an important predictor of response to angiotensin receptor blockers. Because this polymorphism occurs in an un-

Study Population	Results
27 Healthy volunteers	Captopril significantly reduced mean arterial pressure in the <b>II</b> and ID genotypes; no significant change in the DD group. Renal vascular resistance was significantly reduced in the <b>II</b> and ID genotypes with no significant change in the DD group (148).
27 Healthy volunteers	No correlation between ACE genotype and reduction in mean arterial pressure after single dose of enalapril (149).
530 Patients with diabetes	Largest reduction in albumin excretion rate occurred in lisinopril treated patients with the <b>II</b> genotype (150).
212 Non-diabetic patients with proteinuria	Largest reduction in proteinuria occurred in ramipril treated patients with the DD genotype (151).
104 Patients with hypertension	Statistically significantly greater reductions in systolic and diastolic blood pressure after 6 months of fosinopril therapy among patients with the DD genotype compared with II or ID genotypes (152).
57 Patients with hypertension	Absolute and percent reduction in diastolic blood pressure tended to decline more after 6 weeks of imidapril therapy among hypertensive patients with the II genotype compared with ID and DD genotypes (153).

 Table 12.6
 Impact of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Polymorphisms and Response to ACE Inhibitor Therapy

#### 4 Pharrnacogenomics

to be

translated region of the gene, it is likely that this polymorphism is in linkage with another marker.

4.3.3 ACE I/D and AGTR1 Interaction. In routine clinical practice, risk factors for disease tend to be either additive or synergistic. In general, a patient with hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia is at greater risk of suffering an acute coronary event compared with a patient with only one of these risk factors. Thus, interactions among polymorphism may also be germane to pharmacogenomic studies. To this end, several studies have examined the impact of both the ACE DD and AGTRI CC genotype. One study demonstrated an increased risk of myocardial infarction among patients with the DD and CC genotypes for the ACE and AGTR1 genes, respectively (95). However, a recent case-control study failed to demonstrate an association between these two **polymorphisms** with the risk of myocardial infarction (96). Another study revealed that the risk of ventricular arrhythmias among patients with systolic heart failure was significantly increased in patients with the DD ACE genotype and the CC genotype for the AT1 gene (97). Thus, once again, these results suggest that this group of patients may derive particular benefit from more aggressive management of their disease.

4.3.4 5-Lipoxygenase Polymorphisms. Leukotrienes mediate airway inflammation and play an integral role in the pathophysiology of asthma. Zileuton (Zyflo) inhibits the enzyme 5-lipoxygenase, reducing the formation of leukotrienes and thus improves the symptoms of asthma. A polymorphism exists in the gene encoding the 5-lipoxygenase (ALOX5) promoter region. This polymorphism contains three to six tandem repeats of GGGCGG. A recent study examined the impact of the tandem repeat polymorphism in the ALOX5 promoter region with response to an investigational 5-lipoxygnase inhibitor (98). The clinical outcome in the study was percent change in forced expiratory volume in 1 second ( $FEV_1$ ) from baseline. The allele frequency for the wild-type ALOX5 promoter polymorphism was 0.77. Patients who were homozygous or heterozygous for the wildtype allele had an average change in FEV, from baseline of 18% and 23%, respectively. Patients with no wild-type alleles had a 1% decrease in  $FEV_1$  from active treatment.

4.3.5  $\beta_1$ -Adrenergic Receptor Polymorphism~.The  $\beta_1$ -adrenergic receptor (AR) is a G-protein-coupled receptor expressed in a number of cell types including the heart and kidneys. The gene that codes for the  $\beta_1$ -AR is intronless and is located on chromosome 10q21. There are two common SNPs within the  $\beta_1$ -AR gene at codon 49 and codon 389 (99).

Codon 49 is located in the extracellular tail of the amino terminus end of the receptor, a potentially important region for receptor binding, regulation, and expression (100). A non-synonymous SNP produces a glycine (Gly) for serine (Ser) substitution at codon 49 (Ser49Gly). Although there are no data *in viuo* associating this polymorphism with drug response, a recent site-directed *in uitro* mutagenesis study suggests that agonist-promoted down-regulation of the receptor is amplified with the Gly49 variant (101).

Codon 389 is located in the intracellular tail of the carboxy terminus end of the receptor, a potentially important region for G-protein coupling (100). A non-synonymous SNP produces a Gly for arginine (Arg) substitution at codon 389 (Arg389Gly). This polymorphism has been shown to vary by race, with African Americans possessing an allele frequency of 42% for the **Gly389** variant while Caucasians possess a frequency of only 27% (102). Furthermore, *in uitro* mutagenesis studies have shown a functional difference with this polymorphism (103). In this study, those cells carrying the Arg389 variant had a nearly twofold greater resting activity rate, as measured by adenylyl cyclase levels, and an almost fourfold greater activity when stimulated with  $\beta$ -agonist, thus suggesting the Gly389 is a less active or perhaps less reactive receptor form. This theory has been recently put to the test in a prospective study of patients with hypertension, and indeed, this polymorphism may be an important determinant of the antihypertensive response to  $\beta$ -blocker therapy (104). Further studies are needed to evaluate whether this polymorphism confers the racial differences observed in response to  $\beta$ -blocker therapy in both hypertensive and heart failure patients.

4.3.6  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic Receptor Polymorphisms **4.3.6.1**  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic Receptor SNPs. The  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor is a G-protein–coupled receptor that interacts with endogenous catecholamines and various pharmacologic agents. The mainstay of therapy for acute bronchoconstriction is the administration of  $\beta_2$ -AR agonists such as albuterol. A non-synonymous SNP in the  $\beta_2$ -AR gene produces a Gly for Arg substitution at codon 16 (Arg16Gly). In *vitro* studies indicate that the Gly16 form of the receptor undergoes enhanced agonist-mediated downregulation compared with the Arg allele (105). These findings have been supported by several clinical studies. One study demonstrated that subjects with the **Arg16** homozygous genotype were 5.3 times more likely to have a positive bronchodilator response to a single dose of **al**buterol compared with Gly16 homozygotes (106). Another study enrolled 16 patients with asthma and measured  $FEV_1$  response to an 8 mg or al dose of albuterol (107). The study population was divided into two groups: Arg16 homozygotes and Gly16 homozygotes. Patients who were homozygous for Arg16 had a fourfold greater FEV, response compared with Gly16 homozygotes despite nearly identical plasma albuterol concentrations. Moreover, the codon 16 genotype may also influence long-term response to albuterol. One study of 107 patients with mild-to-moderate asthma demonstrated that Arg16 homozygous patients receiving regularly scheduled albuterol had nearly double the number of asthma exacerbations per year compared with placebo. Furthermore, the rate of asthma exacerbations was significantly greater among Arg16 homozygotes during treatment with albuterol compared with heterozygotes and Gly16 homozygotes (108). A separate study found that Arg16 homozygotes receiving regularly scheduled albuterol experienced a decrease in morning peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR). In contrast, Gly16 homozygous patients who received regularly scheduled albuterol did not experience a decline in PEFR (109). These results suggest that the Arg16 homozygous genotype is associated with deleterious effects from regularly scheduled albuterol therapy and that patients with this genotype should only receive albuterol for breakthrough symptoms.

4.3.6.2  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic Receptor Haplotypes. In all, 13 polymorphisms occur in the  $\beta_2$ -AR gene. Thus, if these polymorphisms occurred completely randomly, one would expect a total of  $2^{13}$  variations (haplotypes) in the  $\beta_2$ -AR gene. However, only 12 haplotypes occur, and 5 haplotypes describe 88% of the population (8). Thus, the polymorphisms in the  $\beta_2$ -AR are in strong linkage disequilibrium. A seminal paper has investigated the impact of haplotypes, rather than individual SNPs in predicting response to albuterol among patients with asthma. Importantly, there was no association between an individual SNP and response to albuterol. However, haplotype pair was significantly related to improvements in  $FEV_1$  from albuterol (8). Therefore, examination of multiple SNPs in a receptor that is physiologically linked to drug response resulted in the best prediction of therapeutic efficacy. Focusing on multiple genes and/or multiple SNPs to determine disease associations or drug response is analogous to the multiple factors that a clinician must consider when dosing *a* medication. For example, when prescribing **digoxin**, the likelihood of prescribing the appropriate dose' is increased when a clinician considers multiple factors such as patient age, body size and weight, renal function, and concomitant drug therapy.

## 4.4 Single Gene Pharmacogenetic Studies in Genes influencing Disease Progression

Once again, it would not be feasible to review all the examples in the biomedical literature of polymorphisms influencing disease severity or progression. However, Table 12.7 summarizes many of these polymorphisms that influence disease severity and associated drug response. We will discuss a few of these disease states in detail.

**4.4.1 Acute Coronary Syndromes.** Several studies have examined the impact of SNPs on the natural history of patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (**PCI**) for the treatment of acute coronary syndromes.
Gene	Altered Disease Severity	Impact of Polymorphism on Drug Response	Reference
ACE	D allele ↑ risk of death or need for heart transplant	<b>β-Blockers</b> abolished poorer prognosis of patients with DD genotype	89
APOE	E4 allele ↑ in Alzheimer's disease	Presence of E4 allele associated with poor response to tacrine	117
APOE	Smokers with an E4 allele had a threefold ↑ risk of CHD event	Unknown	152
$\beta_1$	Heart failure patients with the <b>Ser49Ser</b> genotype had a worse 5-year prognosis compared with patients with a Gly variant	ts with the <b>Ser49Ser</b> Unknown orse 5-year prognosis tients with a Gly	
$\beta_2$	Reduced survival rate among heart failure patients with an <b>Ile164</b> allele	Unknown	154
	Reduced exercise capacity among heart failure patients with an <b>Ile164</b> allele	Unknown	155
Calcitonin	Association between heterozogosity and ↓ fracture risk among postmenopausal women	Unknown	156
Cystathionine beta synthase	Risk of coronary artery disease	Response to homocysteine lowering from folic acid	157
Endothelin A	frequency of TT homozygotes in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy	Unknown	158
Factor V	Risk of venous thrombosis	↑ Risk of venous thrombosis from oral contraceptives	159
Factor <b>VII</b>	Patients with the <b>ArgArg</b> genotype have a threefold ↑ risk of complications after <b>PCI</b>	Unknown	110
	Odds ratio of MI among patients with <b>ArgGln</b> genotype = 0.47 (0.27–0.81) compared with <b>ArgArg</b> genotype	Unknown	160
GP IIIa	Association between <b>Pl^{A2}</b> allele and acute coronary thrombosis	Unknown	112
G-protein	Increased BMI among TT homozygous primiparous women	Unknown	161
HERG, KvLQT1, MiRP1	Long QT syndrome	Risk of drug induced Torsade de Pointes	162, 163
P-selectin	Risk of myocardial infarction	Unknown	164
Prothrombin	Risk of venous thrombosis	↑ Risk of venous thrombosis with oral contraceptives	165

 Table 12.7
 Selected Polymorphisms Influencing Disease Severity and Associated Drug Response

CHD, coronary heart disease; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; MI, myocardial infarction; GP, glycoprotein; BMI, body mass index.

7≼9

One of the major complications from **PCI** is restenosis of the target coronary artery, which occurs in as many as 40% of patients. Restenosis results in substantial morbidity and increases need for repeat coronary interventions. One study examined a polymorphism in the gene that encodes Factor VII. Factor VII has an integral role in the process of clot formation among patients with acute coronary syndromes. After plaque rupture, tissue factor released from the lipid core complexes with Factor VII, leading to the activation of Factor X, and ultimately Factor **IIa** (thrombin). This group of investigators studied 666 consecutive patients undergoing PCI (110). A polymorphism (Arg353Gln) in exon 8 of the Factor VII gene was studied to see if it influenced the rate of death, myocardial infarction, or urgent target vessel revascularization within 30 days of PCI. An earlier study showed the Gln allele was associated with a 20-30% lower Factor VII concentration (111). Thus, one would expect the Gln allele to be associated with reduced cardiovascular complications. Indeed, the incidence rate for the composite endpoint was 7.7% among Arg353Arg homozygotes compared with 2.5% among patients carrying at least one Gln allele (RR of 0.32; 95% CI, 0.08–0.90). Although statistically significant, the results are limited by the small number of events (43) in this study. Ironically, Factor VII concentrations were similar between Arg homozygotes and Gln carriers who reached the primary endpoint. Thus, the putative mechanism for this reduced risk among Gln carriers remains to be elucidated.

A second study examined a polymorphism in the glycoprotein IIIa gene. This protein plays an integral role in the final common pathway of platelet activation and fibrinogen cross linkage, resulting in the formation of a platelet plug. The two common allelicisoforms are Pl^{A1} and Pl^{A2}. A retrospective study demonstrated an association between the Pl^{A2} polymorphism with a heightened risk of acute coronary thrombosis (112). These findings were confirmed in a prospective study that examined the association between the GP IIIa Pl^{A1} and Pl^{A2} isoforms with angiographically confirmed restenosis. The study population consisted of 1150 patients undergoing PCI with stent placement who also had a follow-up cardiac catheterization at 6 months (113). Approximately 72% of the study population were Pl^{A1} homozygotes, 25% were heterozygotes, and 3% were Pl^{A2} homozygotes. At 6 months, 47% of patients with the Pl^{A2} allele had angiographically confirmed restenosis compared with 38% for Pl^{A1} homozygotes (OR 1.42; 95% CI, 1.09–1.84). The association between genotype and restenosis was strongest among Pl^{A2} homozygotes and women.

Although both studies demonstrate a statistically significant association between the studied polymorphism and complications after PCI, the results need to interpreted with consideration of the absolute risk reduction (ARR) and number needed to treat (NNT). A corollary to NNT, is the number needed for genetic effect (NNGE). The NNGE is calculated as 1/ARR. Thus, when examining the impact of the Arg353Arg genotype on increased complications after PCI, only 1 of 19 patients with this genotype would experience a complication after PCI (114). Likewise, in the study of the Pl^{A2} polymorphism, only 1 of 11 patients with the Pl^{A2} allele will have angiographically confirmed restenosis.

4.4.2 Alzheimer's Disease. One of the most well-studied disease association genes is the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene located on chromosome 19; this is the gene related with the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease. Three allelic variants exist for APOE. The frequency for E3, E4, and E2 are 77%, 15%, and 8%, respectively. Several studies have determined an association between the presence of the E4 allele with late-onset (greater than 60 years of age) Alzheimer's disease (115, 116). Furthermore, a gene-dose response exists for the E4 allele and the risk of late-onset Alzheimer's. In one case-control study, the odds ratio for developing Alzheimer's disease was 3.9 for the E3/E4 genotype and 15.6 for the E4/E4 genotype. Interestingly, the allelic variant of APOE also influences treatment response with the cholinesterase inhibitor, tacrine (117). In one study, 83% of non-APOE4 carrying patients had improvements in cognition when given tacrine. In contrast, 60% of patients with an E4 allele were unchanged or declined after tacrine administration. Despite these data, single SNP studies of the APOE gene would not justify withholding therapy because 40% of patients with the E4 allele had a positive response to tacrine (117). Future studies will need to incorporate a more genomic approach by examining other putative polymorphisms involved in response to pharmacologic therapy for Alzheimer's disease.

4.4.3 Hypercholesterolemia. Several studies have identified genetic polymorphisms influencing the clinical response to HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (subsequently referred to as statins) (118–122). Rather than focusing on polymorphisms in drug targets, these studies examined polymorphisms in genes believed to influence the progression of atherosclerosis. All studies were randomized, double-blinded, and placebo-controlled, and are summarized in Table 12.8. Taken together, the results of these studies identify genetic subgroups of placebo-treated patients who have an increased risk of developing major coronary events. Furthermore, treatment with a statin abolished the deleterious effect of the genetic variant.

Three pharmacogenomic studies have been published from the Regression Growth Evaluation Statin Study (REGRESS) group. REGRESS examined the ability of pravastatin to retard progression of atherosclerosis among men with symptomatic coronary artery disease and hypercholesterolemia (123). In the first example, DNA was examined for a polymorphism in the gene encoding cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP), which is involved in the metabolism of high-density lipoprotein (HDL), a cardioprotective lipoprotein (122). The presence of the variation in CETP was referred to as B1 and its absence as B2. Response to pravastatin and placebo was examined by genotype with patients grouped as B1B1, B1B2, or B2B2. At baseline, patients with the B1B1 genotype had higher CETP and lower HDL concentrations than patients with the B2B2 genotype. Placebo-treated patients with the B1B1 genotype experienced the greatest progression of atherosclerosis, the B1B2 genotype had an intermediate progression, and the  $B\bar{2}B2$  group had the least disease progression. Pravastatin-treated patients with either the B1B1 or B1B2 genotype had significantly less atherosclerotic progression compared with patients receiving placebo. However, pravastatintreated patients with the **B2B2** genotype, (16% of the study population) derived no benefit from pravastatin treatment as measured by changes in mean luminal diameter of the coronary arteries. Although these results are provocative, a major limitation is that they do not examine hard clinical endpoints such as death and non-fatal myocardial infarction. Plaque composition, rather than size, is a better predictor of lesions susceptible to rupture resulting in an acute coronary event.

A second substudy from REGRESS examined a polymorphism in the promoter region of the stromelysin-1 gene [-1612 (5A/6A)] (120). Stromelysin-1 is involved in connective tissue remodeling and wound healing. The 6A allele results in reduced expression of stromelysin-1 and consequently increases connective tissue deposition and potentially increased atherosclerotic lesions. Patients were divided according to genotype (5A5A, 5A6A, and 6A6A). There were no differences in prognostic baseline characteristics, disease severity, or lipid values among the three genotypes. Furthermore, there was no association between the stromelysin-1 polymorphism and changes in lipid levels from pravastatin therapy. Placebotreated patients with at least one 6A allele had the greatest number of clinical events (mostly restenosis). Pravastatin therapy reduced clinical events most effectively among 6A carriers.

A third pharmacogenomic substudy of REGRESS examined the impact of the -455 G/A polymorphism of the  $\beta$ -fibrinogen gene (119). Previous work revealed that carriers of the -455 A allele have higher concentrations of fibringen, a prothrombotic substance associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction and stroke (124). At baseline, patients with the -455 AA genotype had greater atherosclerotic disease severity compared with those with other genotypes. During follow-up, placebo-treated patients with the -455 AA genotype had the greatest disease progression. Once again, the effect of genotype on disease progression was abolished by pravastatin therapy.

The Cholesterol **and** Recurrent Events (CARE) trial enrolled patients with a history of myocardial infarction and hypercholesterol-

Study (Statin)	N	FU (years)	Polymorphism Studied	Endpoint	Placebo Event Rate	<b>Statin</b> Event Rate	Р
4S (simvastatin) (121)	966	5.5	Apolipoprotein E ( <b>E4</b> , E3, E2)	Mortality	E4 Carriers; RR 1.9 (95%CI 1.1–3.1)	E4 Carriers; RR 0.33 (95% CI 0.16-0.7) Without E4; RR 0.66 (95% CI 0.35-1.24)	NR
REGRESS (pravastatin) (120)	496	2	Stromelysin-1(-1612 <b>5A/6A</b> )	Clinical events	5A5A = 12% 5A6A = 26% 6A6A = 26%	5A5A = 17% 5A6A = 9% 6A6A = 14%	0.038
REGRESS (pravastatin) (122)	807	2	CETP ( <b>B</b> 1 or B2)	Average decrease in mean coronary diameter (mm)	$\begin{array}{l} B1B1 = 0.14 \\ B1B2 = 0.10 \\ B2B2 = 0.05 \end{array}$	B1B1 = 0.05 B1B2 = 0.07 B2B2 = 0.09	0.01
REGRESS (pravastatin) (119)	682	2	p-Fibrinogen (-455 G/A)	Average decrease in mean segment diameter (mm)	GG = 0.09 $GA = 0.10$ $AA = 0.24$	GG = 0.07 GA = 0.05 AA = -0.06	0.024
CARE (pravastatin) (118)	767	5	GP IIIa (Pl ^{A1} ,Pl ^{A2} )	CV death, non-fatal MI	Pl ^{A1A2} ; RR 1.32 (95% CI 0.99– 1.76)	$Pl^{A1A2}$ ; RR 0.69 ( $P = 0.06$ )	NR

## Table 12.8 Polymorphisms Influencing Clinical Response to Statins

FU, follow-up; P, interaction between placebo and **statin** therapy; NR, not reported; RR, relative risk; CI, confidence interval; 4S, Scandinavian **Simvastatin** Survival Study; REGRESS, Regression Growth Evaluation **Statin** Study; CARE, Cholesterol and Recurrent Events; CETP, Cholesterylester transfer protein; GP, glycoprotein; CV, cardiovascular; MI, myocardial infarction.

emia (125). Overall, pravastatin therapy for 5 years reduced the risk of fatal coronary heart disease and non-fatal myocardial infarction. A **substudy** of CARE focused on whether polymorphism in the glycoprotein (**GP**) **IIIa** gene and the ACE **I/D** polymorphism were associated with the reduction in the primary endpoint of the study. The investigators found that the largest benefit of pravastatin treatment in reducing the primary endpoint occurred in patients with the **GPIIIa** Pl^{A1/A2} genotype who also carried at least one D allele of the ACE gene (**118**).

Finally, a pharmacogenomic study of the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) investigated the impact of the **apolipopro**tein E4 allele with the prognosis and treatment response to either simvastatin or placebo (121). Among myocardial infarction survivors who received placebo and had at least one apolipoprotein E4 allele, the relative risk for all cause mortality was 1.9 (95% CI, 1.1–3.1). The detrimental impact of the E4 allele was not evident among patients who received simvastatin (RR 0.33; 95% CI, 0.16–0.69).

Taken together, the results of these five studies identify genetic subgroups of placebotreated patients who have an increased risk of developing major coronary events. In all studies, treatment with a statin abolished the harmful effect associated with the genetic variant. These results support the observation that, in general, high-risk patients with ischemic heart disease derive the largest relative benefit from treatment. However, whether current recommendations regarding cholesterol-lowering therapy are applicable to patients in certain genetic subgroups is uncertain. At this time it is premature to withhold statin therapy from any patient meeting criteria for treatment based on national consensus guidelines. Future prospective genetic epidemiology studies may further delineate the role of genetic variants on the development and progression of coronary artery disease and response to treatment.

## 4.5 Clinical Relevance

Historically, pharmacogenetics targeted its pursuit on the reasons for toxicity and therefore drug safety. However, it is **pharmaco**-

genomics that promises to deliver individualized pharmacotherapy with greater efficacy (5) while still limiting toxicity. An example of the potential for improved efficacy is given in the example of clozapine. Clozapine is an atypical antipsychotic with superior efficacy in patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia. Despite being an effective anti-psychotic, clozapine therapy is limited by the serious adverse effects of tachycardia, orthostatic hypotension, and agranulocytosis. In fact, agranulocytosis is such a severe and worrisome adverse event that it has necessitated a national registry to track and monitor patients receiving clozapine therapy. In addition, large interindividual response exists, with only 30–60% of patients responding to clozapine. A retrospective study examined 19 genetic polymorphism in 10 different genes with response to clozapine in 200 Caucasian schizophrenic patients (126). The results revealed that a combination of six polymorphisms resulted in a 76.7% prediction of treatment success with clozapine. The combination of polymorphisms had a sensitivity of 95% for identifying patients with a beneficial response to clozapine. It remains to be determined whether this combination of polymorphisms retains its high predictive value in a population of diverse ethnic backgrounds. However, this study should serve as a model for future prospective studies to incorporate a more genomic and/or haplotypic approach when attempting to correlate genetic variability with drug response.

## 5 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The numbers are staggering. It costs the pharmaceutical industry approximately \$880 million and 15 years to go from target identification through regulatory approval for a novel drug. One-half of this cost and time occur during phase II–III clinical trials. Contributing to the prodigious cost and time are the many inefficiencies of drug discovery, development, and clinical trials. Seventy-five percent of the costs of drug development are incurred from late-stage clinical trials. Incorporation of pharmacogenomicdata may lead to a dramatic change in the way clinical trials are designed and conducted. Pharmacogenomics may **re**-

Removed/Restricted by the FDA				
	Alosteron			
	Astemizole			
	Bromfenac			
	Cerivastatin			
	Cisapride			
	Felbamate			
	Grapafloxacin			
	Mibefradil			
	Rapacuronium			
	Dexfenfluramine			
	Terfenadine			
	Troglitazone			
	Trovafloxacin			

Table 12.9Recent DrugsRemoved/Restricted by the FDA

sult in more efficient trials that would be associated with a lower cost to bring a new chemical entity to market. Moreover, this could result in shorter time to drug approval, longer patent protection, and more importantly, increased time of market exclusivity. A recent report concluded that incorporation of genomic technologies currently available could result in savings of up to \$300 million per novel drug and cut 2 years form the drug development process (www.bcg.com). This section will focus on specific examples of how pharmacogenomic data can be incorporated into clinical trials to identify responders and exclude nonresponders to reduce unnecessary adverse events.

# 5.1 Influence of Pharmacogenomics on Clinical Trials

In recent years, the complexity and cost of clinical trials has increased. It is not uncommon for phase III drug studies to involve thousands of patients with several years of followup. However, the results of these trials only provide information on the average treatment effect in a population, not for an individual patient. In addition, numerous drugs advance all the way to phase **III** trials only then failing to demonstrate any treatment benefit or having an unacceptable adverse event profile that prevents regulatory approval. Recent years have also seen several promising drugs approved by the FDA and then withdrawn from commerce or restricted secondary to serious adverse events (Table 12.9).

# 5.2 Use of Pharmacogenomic Data in the Clinical Trial Process

Assume that a company has a novel drug to treat chronic heart failure in phase II trials. Data from this study demonstrates that 35% of the study population receiving active drug achieves a therapeutic response compared with 15% of placebo-treated patients. Do these data warrant further study? If this hypothetical phase II trial had incorporated pharmacogenomic data, the potential exists that a genetic subgroup of responders could have been identified. Suppose that 60% of patients with the hypothetical AA genotype respond to this drug while patients with genotypes Aa and aa have a response rate similar to placebo. A homogeneous patient population (AA genotype) likely to respond to the medication could now be selected for a confirmatory phase **III** trial. The sample size needed for a phase III trial would be reduced because patients likely to respond to the medication have been enrolled. In fact, the majority of clinical trials that use pharmacogenomic information will require smaller sample sizes compared with trials in which no genotypic information is collected (127).

Alternatively, assume a company has developed an investigational drug to treat type 2 diabetes mellitus. Phase II studies demonstrate that 75% patients reduce their glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) levels by 1.5%. However, the drug is associated with a serious adverse event in 5% of patients. What impact will this serious adverse drug event have on the approval and use of this agent? If DNA samples had been collected from all study participants, a population of patients predisposed to developing this toxicity may have been identified. The susceptible patient population could then be excluded from phase III trials, and assuming that the agent is eventually approved, a bedside molecular diagnostic test could be used to prospectively identify patients predisposed to the serious adverse event. In this aforementioned example, everyone benefits, including the drug manufacturer, patients, and the health care system by avoiding the costs of a serious adverse drug event. Furthermore, pharmacogenomic data could also be used in post-marketing surveillance, which would dramatically improve our current surveillance system (128).

Four pieces of information are important before planning a clinical trial using pharmacogenomic data (127). First, the allele frequency for the polymorphism of interest must be known. Most trials with a nominal outcome variable would require sample sizes of greater than 1000 patients for allele frequencies of less than 10%. For these rare **SNPs**, association with efficacy and or toxicity might only be discerned after the drug has been approved. However, studies of polymorphisms with an allele frequency of 30-50% would require fewer subjects compared with a trial that does not use pharmacogenomic information (127). Second, the gene action of the SNP must be understood. Does the SNP behave in a dominant, additive, or recessive fashion? A dominant action means that the genotype Aa displays the same phenotype as genotype AA. This example would require fewer study participants compared with alleles displaying additive or recessive action. Third, the investigator should have knowledge of genotype relative risk (GRR). This is potentially the most difficult of the factors to have *a priori* knowledge, and may require assumptions, as are typically done to estimate the sample size of most clinical trials. As with any trial, the smaller the genotype relative risk, the larger the number of subjects required. The GRR is likely to be small given the multitude of factors influencing drug response. Fourth, as the number of alleles tested increases, the sample size also must increase. For example, studying 10 loci would require a sample size 1.5 times larger than studying a single locus. Studies of 100 loci would require sample sizes twice as large compared with a single locus. Studying 100,000 loci necessitates a sample size three times larger compared with a single locus (127).

## 5.3 Examples from the Literature

A recent study prospectively genotyped all patients for the **CYP2D6** gene and excluded poor metabolizers to enhance patient safety (129). The study was a randomized, double-blinded comparison of **lamotrigine** with desipramine in patients with unipolar depression. Desipramine is a substrate for **CYP2D6** and poor **me**tabolizers of this enzyme have serum desipramine concentrations markedly higher than extensive metabolizers (31). In all, 6.1% of subjects screened were excluded from the trial because they were identified as poor **metabo**lizers. Clearly, using genotyping as an inclusion or exclusion criterion requires that the **genotype(s)** of interest can be determined in a rapid fashion. For trials that involve acute treatment, a point of care or "bedside" test would need to be developed to potentially exclude patients at an increased risk of adverse events.

Currently, 18 of the top 20 pharmaceutical companies are collecting DNA data in phase II and III trials. Among them is GlaxoSmith-Kline, which has added this component to studies in all major therapeutic areas of their drug development process (130). A survey from the SNP consortium estimates that within 5 years, 50% of clinical trials will involve genotyping. Unfortunately, in many cases, DNA collection is an optional part of the protocol. Reasons for this include lack of knowledge from the investigators or the perception that collection of genomic DNA from patients will lead to delays in Investigational Review Board (IRB) approval or patient recruitment.

It is understandable why the pharmaceutical industry may have some trepidation of using pharmacogenomics in the clinical trial process. The basic tenet of most of the pharmaceutical industry has been to develop drugs in a one-size-fits-all approach with the hope that they will become blockbusters, generating greater than \$1 billion in annual sales. There has been some concern that pharmacogenomic data will reduce the market share of a drug by **identifying** the subgroups of patients who actually derive therapeutic benefit from a drug. Paradoxically though, integration of pharmacogenomics could actually increase market share for a drug. The goal for any new product is to capture 100% of the target market; however, for a drug, the target market is not composed of all patients with the particular disease that the drug is indicated to treat. Consider the following example. A pharmaceutical company develops a new drug to treat hypertension. What will be the market penetration for this new antihypertensive agent in the first year after regulatory approval? Hypertension affects approximately 50 million Americans, but several classes of medications such as  $\beta$ -blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and angiotensin receptor blockers exist, with numerous drugs in each class. Consequently, it is difficult for any new drug in each of these classes to acquire a large market share. However, what if anew agent in one of these classes was approved with a molecular diagnostic to predict efficacy. A third or fourth in class drug approved with a diagnostic assay could provide a competitive niche demonstrating a high response rate in selected groups and a low adverse event rate in other groups. It is likely in this scenario that the market penetration as well as market share achievement will be greater if this drug is coupled with a molecular diagnostic test. Thus pharmacogenomic data could be an immensely useful marketing strategy for a drug company.

Several major unanswered questions exist as to how the FDA will react to new drug applications that contain pharmacogenomic data. Clearly, drugs approved for genetic subgroups will require molecular diagnostic testing and thus raise several compelling questions (131). First, how will this affect off-label prescribing? What impact will this have on liability? Second, what happens if a patient refuses to have a molecular diagnostic test performed? Are they now limiting themselves to new therapeutic agents? What happens to the low socioeconomic populations who have no insurance and can not afford the cost of the genetic test? Is this population now excluded from receiving potentially safe and effective pharmacotherapy? How will pharmacogenomics influence Orphan Drug status? In the United States, drugs developed for conditions affecting less than 200,000 individuals get 7 years of market exclusivity, unless an alternative medication is proven superior. Will this be the financial incentive that some companies require? Compelling questions indeed.

# 6 OBSTACLES FACING THE FIELD OF PHARMACOGENOMICS

## 6.1 Complexity and Cost

Current methods to sequence DNA are too costly and laborious to allow implementation

into routine clinical practice. The cost to genotype one SNP can range anywhere from \$1 to \$50, and this prohibits phase II-III trials from examining several hundred putative SNPs per patient that influence drug toxicity or therapeutic benefit. An alternative approach would be to examine approximately 10–15 SNPs in candidate genes that are involved in the drug targets, drug transport, and metabolism. However, the candidate gene approach may not be plausible during initial drug discovery and development. Advances in high-throughput technology and increased competition should eventually reduce the cost of genotyping SNPs to \$0.001/SNP, thus making it viable to evaluate 100,000-200,000 SNPs per patient. Another factor contributing to cost involves the initial investment in the equipment and technology required to fully integrate pharmacogenomics into all aspects of drug discovery and development. However, these upfront costs may result in significant cost savings by increasing efficiency of clinical trials with the identification and termination of drugs with little potential of eventual regulatory approval. The deluge of the data generated from pharmacogenomic studies also requires advances in bioinformatics and data mining strategies. The extent to which pharmacogenomics pervades clinical practice is largely dependent on the ability of bioinformatics to transform the prodigious amounts of data into knowledge. Consequently, the bioinformatics budgets of some pharmaceutical companies have increased 20-60%. A sure indication of the desperate need for this technology.

# 6.2 Will Pharmacogenomics Improve Medical Care?

It is still unclear if prospectively genotyping patients for many of the genetic variants described within this chapter improves medial care and whether it is cost effective. **Geno**typing patients for the presence of TPMT deficiency to prevent life-threatening **hemato**logical toxicity from azathioprine, **mercapto**purine, or thioguanine provides an equivocal advantage compared with empirical dosing. However, in other examples, genotyping may not be an advantage over the current best medical care. For example, several studies have demonstrated that individuals carrying mutant alleles for **CYP2C9** have decreased metabolism or elimination of warfarin (25, 132–134). One retrospective trial also showed that these individuals have a higher risk for both minor and major bleeding (25). However, it remains to be elucidated whether prospectively genotyping patients receiving warfarin reduces bleeding complications when compared with the best available standard of care. This question can only be answered through a randomized controlled trial comparing a genomic approach with a traditional dosing approach.

Recently, the Statin Response Examined by Genetic HAP Markers Study (STRENGTH) completed enrollment of 600 patients with hyperlipidemia. Patients were randomized to one of four statin treatment regimens (cerivastatin, pravastatin, atorvastatin, or simvastatin) for a 16-week duration. The goal is to identify genetic markers that predict which of the four statins is most beneficial in reducing cholesterol levels. However, whether this approach is superior to management of patients in a specialized lipid clinic remains to be determined.

## 6.3 Paradigm Shift in Health Care

Transitioning from the one-size-fits-all approach to personalized medicine will create a paradigm shift for both health care providers and the pharmaceutical industry. There is some precedence for drugs specifically targeted for a subset of disease. Trastuzumab (Herceptin) is approved only for the 25–30% women whose breast cancer overexpresses the HER-2/neu protein. Trastuzumab is marketed along with a molecular diagnostic, the DAKO Hercep Test. This test is a semi-quantitative assay for testing breast tumor tissue that overexpresses the HER-2/neu protein. In its first year on the market, trastuzumab generated \$188.4 million in sales. Thus, an agent that probably would not have received FDA approval is now an effective alternative for a specific subgroup of women with breast cancer.

Physicians will also need to adjust to the shift from the **art** of medicine to the science of medicine. Rather than selecting a drug based on experience, the selection may be based on

the analysis from a computer program. Rather than making a diagnosis based on phenotypic symptoms, a disease may be diagnosed years before it manifests, based on an individual's genetic makeup.

## 6.4 Ethical Considerations

Pharmacogenomics has created a new lexicon that all health care providers must familiarize themselves, and thus precise language is fundamental when dealing with pharmacogenomics. It is imperative that pharmacogenomics be distinguished from genetic predisposition testing. All investigators in the field must convey this concept to the public, members of the health care team, and the insurance sector. In the majority of cases, identification of SNPs to predict drug response carries no prognostic information for diseases. Determination of SNPs to predict drug response is analogous to obtaining culture and sensitivity data to guide antimicrobial therapy. However, in other cases the potential for discrimination exists. One example involves the apolipoprotein E4 allele. Genetic variation in the apolipoprotein E4 allele may be examined to explain the variability among statin therapy (121). However, these results could have significant implica-. tions in predicting the risk of Alzheimer's disease later in life (115, 116). Clearly, an enormous potential for discrimination exists if an insurance carrier discovers the results of this diagnostic test. As an example, the New Jersey Genetic Privacy Act, passed in 1996, prevents employers and insurance carriers from discriminating based on genetic tests. Indeed, further state and federal legislation like New Jersey's would help to allay some of these ethical concerns and public fear of genetic testing.

Undeniably, genomics and pharmacogenomics opens up a whole host of legal, ethical, and societal issues that will have implications in patient confidentiality, discrimination, malpractice, and informed consent (135–137). However, as clinicians, scientists, and health care practitioners, we must always remember the unquestionable power of an individual's right to choose, and prospectively fight to ensure patients' rights and prevent genomic discrimination.

#### 7 CONCLUSION

The publication of the draft of the Human Genome Project represents an acmatic scientific breakthrough. One of the first discernible benefits from the Human Genome Project will be advances in pharmacogenomics. Pharmacogenomics is likely to have a major role in the daily practice of medicine in the near future. In many ways, a proof of principle is required. Although trastuzumab is an effective agent, its use is based on differences in protein expression and not genetic variation. It is our belief that there will be a surge in the field after the first drug developed through functional genomics becomes FDA approved, or when the first assay to predict efficacy or toxicity of an existing drug is approved. Whatever our future holds, we must always remember the ultimate goal of pharmacogenomics: to develop or use truly individualized pharmacotherapy that will produce the most benefit and the least harm thus extending and enhancing human life.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Anonymous, Nature, 409,813-958 (2001).
- 2. D. A. Evans, Ann. NY Acad. Sci., 151,723-733 (1968).
- **3.** J. Theodore, J. E. Millen, H. V. Murdaugh, et al., Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., 96,508411 (1967).
- **4.** A. Mahgoub, J. R. Idle, L. G. Dring, et al., Lancet, **2**, 584–586 (1977).
- 5. W. Kalow, U. A. Meyer, and R. Tyndale, *Pharmacogenomics*, *Marcel Dekker*, *New York*, 2001.
- 6. W. E. Evans and M. V. Relling, Science, 286, 487–491 (1999).
- 7. J.C. Stephens, Mol. Diagn., 4, 309–317 (1999).
- 8. C. M. Drysdale, D. W. McGraw, C. B. Stack, et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 10483–10488 (2000).
- 9. M. M. Shi, Clin. Chem., 47, 164-172 (2001).
- **10.** *M. M. Shi, M. R. Bleavins, and F. A. de la* **Igle***sia, Mol. Diagn.*, **4, 343–351 (1999).**
- **11.** L. Picoult-Newberg, T. E. Ideker, M. G. Pohl, et al., Genome Res., **9**, **167–174** (**1999**).
- D. M. Grant and M. S. Phillipsin in W. Kalow, U. A. Meyer, and R. F. Tyndale, Eds., Pharmacogenetics, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2001, pp. 183–189.

- **13.** *T*. **T.** *Nikiforov, R. B.* **Rendle,** *P. Goelet, et al., Nucleic Acids Res.,* **22, 4167–4175 (1994).**
- 14. T. T. Nikiforov, R. B. Rendle, M. L. Kotewicz, et al., PCR Methods Appl., 3, 285–291 (1994).
- 15. A. C. Syvanen, Nat. Rev. Genet., 2, 930-942 (2001).
- A. Alderborn, A. Kristofferson, and U. Hammerling, Genome Res., 10, 1249–1258 (2000).
- **17.** N. P. Gerry, N. E. Witowski, J. Day, et al., J. Mol. Biol., **292,251–262 (1999).**
- **18.** J. M. Shumaker, A. Metspalu, and C. T. Caskey, Hum. Mutat., **7,346–354 (1996).**
- **19. K.J.** *Livak, S. J. Flood, J. Marmaro, et al., PCR Methods Appl.*, **4, 357–362 (1995).**
- **20.** *M. W. Kaiser, N. Lyamicheva, W. Ma, et al., J. Biol. Chem.*, **274, 21387–21394 (1999).**
- **21.** V. Lyamichev, A. L. Mast, J. G. Hall, et al., Nat. Biotechnol., **17,292–296** (1999).
- **22.** C. A. Mein, B. J. Barratt, M. G. Dunn, et al., Genome Res., **10**, 330–343 (2000).
- 23. P. E. Carson, et al., Science, 124, 484-485 (1956).
- 24. W. Kalow, Lancet, 211, 576 (1956).
- **25.** G. **P.** Aithal, C. P. Day, P. J. Kesteven, et al., Lancet, **353**, **717–719** (1999).
- 26. U.A. Meyer, Lancet, 356, 1667-1671 (2000).
- **27.** U. A. Meyer and U. M. Zanger, Annu. Rev. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, **37,269–296** (1997).
- 28. E. U. Griese, U. M. Zanger, U. Brudermanns, et al., Pharmacogenetics, 8, 15–26 (1998).
- **29.** C. Sachse, J. Brockmoller, S. Bauer, et al., Am. J. Hum. Genet., **60**, 284–295 (1997).
- **30.** U. M. Zanger, J. Fischer, S. Raimundo, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, **11**, 573–585 (2001).
- **31.** *M. L. Dahl, I. Johansson, M. P.* Palmertz, *et al., Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, **51, 12–17** (1992).
- **32.** H. K. Roh, M. L. Dahl, I. Johansson, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, **6,441–447 (1996).**
- **33.** E. Lessard, M. A. **Yessine**, B. A. **Hamelin**, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, **9**,**435–443** (1999).
- Johansson, E. Lundqvist, L. Bertilsson, et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 90, 11825-11829 (1993).
- **35.** L. Bertilsson, M. L. Dahl, F. Sjoqvist, et al., Lancet, **341**, 63 (1993).
- **36.** *C. R. Wolf, G. Smith, and R. L. Smith, BMJ,* **320,987–990 (2000).**
- **37.** M. Bourrie, V. Meunier, Y. Berger, et al., Drug *Metab Dispos.*, **27, 288–296 (1999).**
- **38.** J. A. Goldstein and S. M. De Morais, Pharmacogenetics, **4**, **285–299** (**1994**).

#### References

- R. S. Kidd, A B. Straughn, M. C. Meyer, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 9, 71–80 (1999).
- 40. J. B. McCrea, A. Cribb, T. Rushmore, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 65, **348–352** (1999).
- 41. T. H. Sullivan-Klose, B. I. Ghanayem, D. A. Bell, et *al.*, *Pharmacogenetics*, 6, 341349 (1996).
- 42. W. J. van der, L. S. Steijns, M. J. van Weelden, et *al.*, *Pharmacogenetics*, 11,287–291 (2001).
- 43. J. Imai, I. Ieiri, K. Mamiya, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 10, 85–89 (2000).
- 44. L. J. Dickmann, A. E. Rettie, M. B. Kneller, et al., *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 60,382–387 (2001).
- 45. S. A. Wrighton, J. C. Stevens, G. W. Becker, et al., Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 306, 240–245 (1993).
- 46. J. A. Goldstein, T. Ishizaki, K. Chiba, et *al.*, *Pharmacogenetics*, 7, 59–64 (1997).
- 47. P. J. Wedlund, *Pharmacology*, 61, 174–183 (2000).
- 48. T. Andersson, C. G. Regardh, Y. C. Lou, et *al.*, *Pharmacogenetics*, **2**, **25–31** (1992).
- 49. T. Andersson, J. Holmberg, K. Rohss, et *al.*, *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 45,369–375 (1998).
- 50. M. Ingelman-Sundberg, *Drug Metab Dispos.*, 29,570–573 (2001).
- 51. T. Furuta, N. Shirai, M. Takashima, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 69, 158–168 (2001).
- 52. X. P. Qin, H. G. Xie, W. Wang, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 66,642–646 (1999).
- 53. R. Setiabudy, M. Kusaka, K. Chiba, et al., *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, 39, 297–303 (1995).
- 54. E. Skjelbo, K. Brosen, J. Hallas, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, **49**, **18–23** (1991).
- 55. S. H. Sindrup, K. Brosen, M. G. Hansen, et al., *Ther. Drug Monit.*, 15, 11–17 (1993).
- 56. P. Dalen, G. Alvan, M. Wakelkamp, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 6,387–394 (1996).
- 57. A. Adedoyin, C. Prakash, D. O'Shea, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 4, 27–38 (1994).
- 58. P. Kuehl, J. Zhang, Y. Lin, et al., *Nat. Genet.*, 27,383–391 (2001).
- J. D. Schuetz, D. T. Molowa, and P. S. Guzelian, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 274, 355–365 (1989).
- 60. S. A Wrighton, B. J. Ring, P. B. Watkins, et al., *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **36**, 97–105 (1989).
- 61. S. A. Wrighton, E. G. Schuetz, K. E. Thummel, et al., *Drug Metab Rev.*, 32,339–361 (2000).
- 62. R. B. **Diasio**, T. L. Beavers, and **J**. T. Carpenter, *J. Clin. Invest*, 81, 47–51 (1988).

- 63. P. P. Rioux, Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm., 57, 887–898 (2000).
- 64. D. M. Grant, N. C. Hughes, S. A. Janezic, et al., *Mutat. Res.*, **376**, 61–70 (1997).
- D. W. Hein, M. A. Doll, A. J. Fretland, et al., Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev., 9, 29–42 (2000).
- 66. H. B. Hughes, J. P. Biehl, A. P. Jones, et *al.*, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, **70**, 266–273 (1954).
- 67. W. W. Weber and D. W. Hein, *Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, 4,401–422 (1979).
- 68. D. M. Grant, G. H. Goodfellow, K. Sugamori, et al., *Pharmacology*, 61, 204–211 (2000).
- W. W. Weber, *The Acetylator Genes and Drug Response*, Oxford University Press, New York, 1987.
- D. M. Grant, K. Morike, M. Eichelbaum, et al., J. Clin. Invest., 85, 968–972 (1990).
- 71. A. J. Fretland, M. A. Leff, M. A. Doll, et *al.*, *Pharmacogenetics*, 11,207–215 (2001).
- 72. R. Weinshilboum, *Drug Metab. Dispos.*, 29, 601–605 (2001).
- L. Lennard, J. A. Van Loon, and R. M. Weinshilboum, *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 46, 149–154 (1989).
- 74. W. E. Evans, M. Horner, Y. Q. Chu, et al., J. Pediatr., 119, 985–989 (1991).
- L. Iyer and M. J. Ratain, *Eur. J. Cancer*, 34, 1493–1499 (1998).
- 76. H. L. McLeod, E. Y. Krynetski, M. V. Relling, et *al., Leukemia*, 14,567–572 (2000).
- 77. R. M. Weinshilboum, D. M. Otterness, and C. L. Szumlanski, *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 39, 19-52 (1999).
- E. Y. Krynetski and W. E. Evans, *Pharmacology*, 61,136–146 (2000).
- 79. G. Lehne, *Curr. Drug Targets*, 1, 85–99 (2000).
- 80. M. F. Fromm, R. B. Kim, C. M. Stein, et al., *Circulation*, 99, 552–557 (1999).
- 81. I. Cascorbi, T. Gerloff, A. Johne, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 69, 169–174 (2001).
- S. Hoffmeyer, O. Burk, O. von Richter, et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 97, 3473–3478 (2000).
- 83. M. M. Ameyaw, F. Regateiro, T. Li, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 11,217–221 (2001).
- B. I. Min, M. Lee, Y. M. Ku, et al., Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 68,478–486 (2000).
- 85. L. Tiret, B. Rigat, S. Visvikis, et al., Am. J. Hum. Genet., 51, 197–205 (1992).
- F. Cambien, O. Poirier, L. Lecerf, et al., Nature, 359, 641–644 (1992).

- A. E. Evans, O. Poirier, F. Kee, et al., Q. J. Med., 87,211–214 (1994).
- R. Y. Zee, Y. K. Lou, L. R. Griffiths, et al., *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 184, 9–15 (1992).
- 89. D. M. McNamara, R. Holubkov, K. Janosko, et al., *Circulation*, 103, 1644–1648 (2001).
- 90. H. Lithell, et al., *Circulation*, **100**(Suppl I), I755 (1999).
- B. Andersson, I. Blange, and C. Sylven, *Eur.* J. *Heart Fail.*, 1,363–369 (1999).
- 92. A. Benetos, J. Topouchian, S. Ricard, et al., *Hypertension*, **26**, 44–47 (1995).
- 93. A. Bonnardeaux, E. Davies, X. Jeunemaitre, et al., *Hypertension*, **24**, **63–69** (1994).
- 94. J. A. Miller, K. Thai, and J. W. Scholey, *Kidney Znt.*, 56,2173–2180 (1999).
- 95. L. Tiret, A. Bonnardeaux, O. Poirier, et al., *Lancet*, 344,910–913 (1994).
- 96. R. P. Steeds, A. Wardle, P. D. Smith, et al., *Atherosclerosis*, 154, 123–128 (2001).
- 97. A. Anvari, Z. Turel, A. Schmidt, et al., *Cardiovasc. Res.*, 43,879–883 (1999).
- 98. J. M. Drazen, C. N. Yandava, L. Dube, et al., *Nat. Genet.*, 22, 168–170 (1999).
- 99. A. Maqbool, A. S. Hall, S. G. Ball, et al., *Lancet*, 353,897 (1999).
- 100. S. Podlowski, K. Wenzel, H. P. Luther, et al., J. Mol. Med., 78, 87–93 (2000).
- D. A. Rathz, K. M. Brown, L. A. Kramer, et al., J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol., 39, 155–160 (2002).
- 102. J. D. Moore, D. A. Mason, S. A. Green, et al., *Hum. Mutat.*, 14,271 (1999).
- 103. D. A. Mason, J. D. Moore, S. A. Green, et al., J. Biol. Chem., 274,12670–12674 (1999).
- 104. B. J. Puckett, D. F. Pauly, I. Zineh, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 71, *P2* (2002).
- 105. S. A. Green, J. Turki, M. Innis, et al., *Biochemistry*, 33,9414–9419 (1994).
- 106. F. D. Martinez, P. E. Graves, M. Baldini, et al., J. Clin. Invest, 100, 3184–3188 (1997).
- 107. J. J. Lima, D. B. Thomason, M. H. Mohamed, et al., *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 65, 519–525 (1999).
- 108. D. R. Taylor, J. M. Drazen, G. P. Herbison, et al., *Thorax*, 55,762–767 (2000).
- 109. E. Israel, J. M. Drazen, S. B. Liggett, et al., Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 162, 75–80 (2000).
- P. M. Mrozikiewicz, I. Cascorbi, S. Ziemer, et al., *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, 36, 1520–1525 (2000).

- 111. F. Green, C. Kelleher, H. Wilkes, et al., *Arterioscler. Thromb.*, 11,540–546 (1991).
- 112. E. J. Weiss, P. F. Bray, M. Tayback, et al., *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 334, 1090–1094 (1996).
- 113. A. Kastrati, A. Schomig, M. Seyfarth, et al., *Circulation*, 99, 1005–1010 (1999).
- 114. B. A. Ference and D. J. Cohen, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., 36, 1526–1528 (2000).
- 115. E. H. Corder, A. M. Saunders, N. J. Risch, et al., *Nat. Genet.*, 7, 180–184 (1994).
- 116. A. M. Saunders, W. J. Strittmatter, D. Schmechel, et al., *Neurology*, 43, 1467–1472 (1993).
- 117. J. Poirier, M. C. Delisle, R. Quirion, et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 92,12260–12264(1995).
- P. F. Bray, C. P. Cannon, P. Goldschmidt-Clermont, et al., *Am. J. Cardiol.*, 88, 347–352 (2001).
- 119. M. P. de Maat, J. J. Kastelein, J. W. Jukema, et al., *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, 18, 265– 271 (1998).
- 120. M. P. de Maat, J. W. Jukema, S. Ye, et al., *Am. J. Cardiol.*, 83,852–856(1999).
- 121. L. U. Gerdes, C. Gerdes, K. Kervinen, et al., *Circulation*, 101, 1366–1371 (2000).
- 122. J. A. Kuivenhoven, J. W. Jukema, A. H. Zwinderman, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 338, 86–93 (1998).
- 123. J. W. Jukema, A. V. Bruschke, A. J. van Boven, et al., *Circulation*, 91, 2528–2540 (1995).
- 124. F. Green, A. Hamsten, M. Blomback, et al., *Thromb. Haemost.*, 70,915–920 (1993).
- 125. F. M. Sacks, M. A. Pfeffer, L. A. Moye, et al., *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 335, 1001–1009 (1996).
- 126. M. J. Arranz, J. Munro, J. Birkett, et al., *Lancet*, 355, 1615–1616 (2000).
- 127. L. R. Cardon, R. M. Idury, T. J. Harris, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 10,503–510 (2000).
- 128. A. D. Roses, Lancet, 355,1358-1361 (2000).
- 129. M. P. Murphy, M. E. Beaman, L. S. Clark, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 10,583–590 (2000).
- 130. T. Arledge, A. Freeman, J. Arbuckle, et al., *Drug Metab. Rev.*, 32,387–394 (2000).
- 131. J. A. Robertson, Nat. Genet., 28, 207–209 (2001).
- H. Furuya, P. Fernandez-Salguero, W. Gregory, et al., *Pharmacogenetics*, 5, 389–392 (1995).
- 133. H. Takahashi and H. Echizen, *Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, 40, 587–603 (2001).
- 134. J. Taube, D. Halsall, and T. Baglin, *Blood*, 96, 1816–1819 (2000).

#### References

- 135. G. J. Annas, JAMA, **286**, **2326–2328** (2001).
- 136. L. M. Beskow, W. Burke, J. F. Merz, et al., JAMA, 286,2315–2321 (2001).
- 137. P. R. Reilly, *Nat.* Med., 7,268–271 (2001).
- 138. C. J. Matheny, M. W. Lamb, K. R. Brouwer, et al., Pharmacotherapy, 21, 778–796 (2001).
- 139. S. Mukae, S. Aoki, S. Itoh, et al., Hypertension, 36, 127–131 (2000).
- 140. A. **Suzuki**, T. Kondo, K. Mihara, et al., *Phar*macogenetics, 11,545–550 (2001).
- 141. B. Ongphiphadhanakul, S. Chanprasertyothin, P. Payatikul, et al., Clin. *Endocrinol. (Oxf)*, 52, 581–585 (2000).
- 142. H. Jia, A. D. Hingorani, P. Sharma, et al., Hypertension, 34, 8–14 (1999).
- 143. J. T. Brandt, C. E. Isenhart, J. M. Osborne, et al., Thromb. Haemost., 74, 1564–1572 (1995).
- 144. E. Smeraldi, R. Zanardi, F. Benedetti, et al., Mol. Psychiatry, 3,508–511 (1998).
- 145. R. Zanardi, F. Benedetti, D. Di Bella, et al.,
  J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 20, 105–107 (2000).
- 146. S. Mizuiri, H. Hemmi, A. Inoue, et al., Nephron, 75,310–314 (1997).
- 147. G. P. Todd, I. G. Chadwick, K. S. Higgins, et al., Br. J. Clin. *Pharmacol.*, 39, 131–134 (1995).
- 148. G. **Penno**, N. Chaturvedi, P. **J**. Talmud, et al., Diabetes, 47, 1507–1511 (1998).
- 149. A. Perna, P. Ruggenenti, A. Testa, et al., Kidney *Int.*, 57,274–281 (2000).
- 150. **G. A. Stavroulakis**, T. K. **Makris**, P. G. **Krespi**, et al., Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther., 14, 427–432 (2000).

- 151. N. Ohmichi, N. Iwai, Y. Uchida, et al., Am. J. Hypertens., 10,951–955 (1997).
- 152. S. E. Humphries, P. J. Talmud, E. **Hawe**, et al., Lancet, 358,115–119 (2001).
- 153. M. Borjesson, Y. Magnusson, A. Hjalmarson, et al., Eur. Heart **J**.,21, 1853–1858 (2000).
- 154. S. B. Liggett, L. E. Wagoner, L. L. Craft, et al., J. Clin. Invest, 102, 1534–1539 (1998).
- 155. L. E. Wagoner, L. L. Craft, B. Singh, et al., Circ. Res., 86, 834–840 (2000).
- 156. **J.** Taboulet, M. **Frenkian**, J. L. Frendo, et al., Hum. Mol. Genet., 7,2129–2133 (1998).
- 157. W. D. Kruger, A. A. Evans, L. Wang, et al., Mol. Genet. *Metab.*, 70, 53–60 (2000).
- 158. P. Charron, F. Tesson, O. Poirier, et al., Eur. Heart J., 20, 1587–1591 (1999).
- 159. J.P. Vandenbroucke, T. Koster, E. Briet, et al., Lancet, 344,1453–1457 (1994).
- 160. D. Girelli, C. Russo, P. Ferraresi, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 343, 774–780 (2000).
- 161. A. Gutersohn, C. Naber, N. Muller, et al., Lancet, 355, 1240–1241 (2000).
- 162. G. W. Abbott, F. Sesti, I. Splawski, et al., Cell, 97, 175–187 (1999).
- C. Napolitano, P. J. Schwartz, A. M. Brown, et al., J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol., 11,691–696 (2000).
- 164. F. Kee, C. Morrison, A. E. Evans, et al., Heart, 84,548–552 (2000).
- 165. I. Martinelli, E. Sacchi, G. Landi, et al., N. Engl. J. Med., 338,1793–1797 (1998).

# Plasmid DNA–Mediated Gene Therapy

RAJKUMAR BANERJEE LEAF HUANG Center for Pharmacogenetics School of Pharmacy University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery Sixth Edition, Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology Edited by Donald J. Abraham ISBN 0-471-37030-4 © 2003 John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Contents

1 Introduction, 652

- 2 Direct Delivery with Naked Plasmid DNA, 652
  2.1 History and Recent Therapeutic Uses, 652
  2.2 Gene Delivery for Myocardial Diseases, 655
  - 2.2 Gene Denvery for Angiagenesis (5)
  - 2.3 Gene Therapy for Angiogenesis, 656
- 2.4 Gene Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases, 656
- **3** Improving **Plasmid** DNA-Mediated Gene Transfer by Electroporation, **656**
- 4 Improving **Plasmid** DNA Transfer Mediated by Gene Gun, **657**
- 5 Lipid-Based Vectors, 658
  - 5.1 First Generation of Cationic Lipids, 658
  - 5.2 Cellular Barriers for Transfection, 659
    - 5.2.1 Structure of Lipid/DNA Complex, 659
      - 5.2.2 Entry of DNA Into Cells, 660
      - **5.2.3** Fate of Complex Inside the Cell: Escape into Cytosol, **661**
      - **5.2.4** Entry of DNA in Nucleus, **662**
- 6 In Vivo Use of Cationic Liposome/DNA Complex (Lipoplex), 663
  - 6.1 Intravenous Injection, 663
  - 6.2 Direct Injection, 663
  - 6.3 Intraperitoneal Injection, 664
- 7 Second Generation of Lipidic Delivery System (Lipopolyplex),665
  - 7.1 Polycation-Condensed DNA Entrapped in Cationic Liposome: LPD-I Formulation, 665
  - 7.2 Polycation Condensed DNA in Anionic Liposomes: LPD-II Formulation, 666
- 8 Emulsion-Mediated Gene Transfer, 666 8.1 General Development, 666
  - 8.2 Reconstituted Chylomicron Remnants for Gene Transfer, 667
- 9 Gene Delivery by Polymeric Systems (Polyplex), 667

9.1 General Development and Uses, 667

9.2 Targeted Gene Delivery by Antibodies

Conjugated with Polycations, 669

## **1** INTRODUCTION

In the post-genome era, many defective genes responsible for various disease phenotypes have already been or will soon be discovered. Introduction of the normal genes effectively into the target cells **and/or** tissues to complement the defective genes is a daunting challenge to scientists of various disciplines. Gene therapy methodology was originally designed to correct inheritable disorders but is now being considered for treating acquired disorders, such as cancer and AIDS.

Gene therapy is broadly divided into two different categories, one that uses viruses and the one that doesn't. Replication-defective viruses with apart or the entirety of their coding sequences replaced by a therapeutic gene are used to transduce cells with very high efficiency. Retrovirus, adenovirus, adeno-associated virus, herpes simplex virus, papilloma virus, sendai virus, etc., have been used for various gene therapy approaches either clinically or experimentally. Although viral vectors have shown efficacy in transducing cells and tissues, they have several drawbacks that limit their widespread use. For example, adenoviral vector induces strong host immune responses, which induce toxicity and limit the duration of the transgene expression. **Immu**nogenicity makes repeated dose impossible. Retroviral vector requires dividing cells for gene expression, and it may integrate randomly into the host genome, posing risk for mutation and **neoplastic** transformation. Viral vectors are also difficult to produce in large scale. These concerns have prompted the development of non-viral vectors as a less toxic and more scalable alternative for gene therapy. However, the efficiency of non-viral vectors still needs improvement; so does the duration of the transgene expression. These aspects are the central concerns of the current non-viral vector development.

The carrier for the therapeutic gene in **non**viral vectors is often a recombinant **plasmid**  10 Non-Viral Vector-Related Cytotoxicity, 66911 Conclusion, 67012 Acknowledgments, 670

DNA (**pDNA**). Recombinant DNA is a synthetic DNA made by connecting different DNA fragments from different sources into one recombinant molecule, whereas plasmid DNA is a non-chromosomal, circular, and supercoiled bacterial DNA, which is produced in bacterial cultures by fermentation. A therapeutic or a marker gene can be introduced into pDNA by simple recombinant procedure. pDNA can be purified by simple physical and chemical methods. Advanced technologies exist such that multigram quantities of pDNA can be routinely produced from a single lot. Larger scale production can also be done on demand. Standard pDNA is 4-10 kilobase pairs in size (MW  $1 \times 10^6$  to  $3 \times 10^6$ ). Other than the bacterial sequences, pDNA for gene therapy contains a transgene, which is usually the expressible sequence of a genomic DNA, popularly known as complementary DNA (cDNA) that encodes a protein. Transcription of the transgene to make messenger RNA is controlled by another gene sequence called promoter, which locates upstream of the coding sequence of transgene. To ensure proper termination of transcription, a transcription termination gene sequence is often inserted downstream of the transgene. A polyadenylation sequence and sometimes an intron, i.e., a non-expressible gene sequence, is also added to ensure proper processing of the mRNA product of the transgene (Fig. 13.1). In this chapter we will emphasize the usefulness of a transgene in the form of **plasmid** DNA associated with non-viral vectors to decipher various biological functions and for development of gene therapy.

# 2 DIRECT DELIVERY WITH NAKED PLASMID DNA

## 2.1 History and Recent Therapeutic Uses

The simplest of all DNA delivery systems is the injection of naked pDNA to the organ or tissue of interest. Intramuscular injection of



Figure 13.1. Schematic representation of a typical plasmid DNA. Promoter, promoter sequence; intron, intron sequence; cDNA, complementary DNA encoding a gene; poly A, poly-adenylation sequence; termn, termination sequence.

naked pDNA was the first instance where the skeletal muscle was transfected (1). Since then, a variety of tissues had been transfected with direct gene transfer. Naked pDNA had been injected into the interstitial space of liver (2-4), thyroid (5), heart muscles (6), brain (7), and urological organs (8). The naked DNA containing one or more anticancer genes were also injected in various tumors with mixed efficacy (9-11).

This technique of direct injection of pDNA into an intact organ had become a useful tool to analyze the gene expression and promoter function in the respective organ. By the use of a viral promoter, such as that from cytomegalovirus (CMV), a high level of expression was attained initially with pDNA vectors. However, the expression declined sharply to near background within 2–3 weeks. Herweijer et al. (3) have shown that, although the maximum decrease in the expression level occurred within 2 days from pDNA transfer, pDNA could be detected for at least 12 weeks after injection (0.2 copies per genome). Promoter activation associated with the immune responses raised against the expressed transgene product was believed to be the major cause of this early decline in gene-expression level. This fact is corroborated in immunosuppressed mice that showed extended level of transgene expressions.

To sustain therapeutic response initiated by the transfection of pDNA containing therapeutic gene, it is necessary to ensure a longlasting gene expression eliciting little to no expression-related cytotoxicity. Towards this end, few gene transfer techniques can sustain transgene expression over an period of time. Mouse liver transferred with high-expressing human factor IX (hFIX) pDNA yielded therapeutic-level gene expression over 1.5 years, eliciting no expression-related or therapy-related toxicities (4). A declined transgene expression observed after liver regeneration further suggested that the maintenance of the plasmid had declined, rather than the transgene being integrated into the host genome. Hence, sustained gene expressions required a transcriptionally active vector DNA that could persist for long time in the organ. These results demonstrated that non-viral plasmid transfer could lead to extended life of transgene-expression level without genome integration.

Non-viral gene therapy had become a useful tool in generating various therapeutic effects in diverse animal models. One of these effects is to induce anticancer response in tumor models by introducing anticancer genes. In an effort to elicit anticancer effect in tumorogenic cells implanted in medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) rat-xenografts, NO synthase II (NOS II) gene, which catalyzes nitric oxide (NO) production, was incorporated in a plasmid under the control of CMV promoter and injected in the rat. The gene triggered a suicidal effect (apopte is) on the tumor cells by the production of NO, which specifically activated the macrophages against the fast dividing tumor cells, leaving normal cells untouched (9). Most importantly, the activated NOS gene in a tumor cell induced the cytotoxicity in the neighboring tumor cells, i.e., an NO-mediated by stander antitumor effect was also observed (10). The fact that nitric oxide mediated tumorogenic effect doesn't require transfection of all neoplastic cells promised a capable suicide gene therapy approach for human cancer.

Similar bystander effect could be obtained by other apoptosis-inducing molecules such as Fas ligand (FasL). FasL and its receptor Fas are membrane proteins, which on mutual interaction initiate an apoptotic signal in Fasbearing cells. pDNA could be used to deliver these apoptosis-inducing gene to initiate killing of transfected and non-transfected surrounding cells. On direct injection of FasL-encoding pDNA vector into the inflamed thyroid (12), pathogenic lymphocytes were inhibited to enter into thyroid leaving the already-infiltrated T-cells dead. Thus, FasL expressing in thyroicytes might lead to potential remedial therapy for the experimental autoimmune thyroiditis (EAT).

Direct pDNA transfer technique had been used to examine the role of a physiologically related protein transduction signal pathway toward certain endogenous disease phenotype, such as investigating the function of the tissue kallikrein-kinin system (KKS) in the central control of blood pressure homeostasis (13). Kallikrein is a proteinase enzyme, which converts kininogen to vasodilative kinin peptides. The human tissue kallikrein gene, in the form of naked pDNA (CMV-cHK), was directly delivered by intracerebroventricular injection into hypertensive rats. The expression of human tissue kallikrein protein was identified in the cortex, cerebellum, brain stem, hippocampus, and hypothalamus of the treated rats. The expression level and its effect could lead to understanding the role of vasodilative KKS on the pathogenesis of hypertension.

Direct gene transfer to skeletal muscle was mainly used for the treatment of variety of diseases, e.g., muscular dystrophies, chronic ischemic limb syndromes, etc. Specifically engineered pDNA and the vector systems were developed that enabled regulated and tissuespecific transgene expression in skeletal muscle in vivo (14). Naked pDNA based gene transfer (1,15) has been used in different animal models, e.g., in correcting Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (16), to supply sources of therapeutic protein systemically (17, 18), for genetic-vaccination against pathogens (19) and tumor cells (20, 21). However, clinical use of this technique is limited because of inefficient gene expression specifically in large animals.

On quantifying the gene uptake in the muscles, the intramuscular injection showed less than 1% uptake of injected dose and was limited to cells adjacent to the needle track (22). Using hypertonic sucrose (23) or muscle revitalizers such as bupivacaine (24, 25), the efficiency and reproducibility of gene expression could be increased. A 100-fold higher level of transgene expression throughout the muscles of hindlimb was observed on intra-arterial injection of naked pDNA into the femoral arteries of rats than direct intramuscular injection (16). Myofibers were 10% more transfected through intravascular delivery than with the direct intramuscular injection. Zhang et al. (26) extended the same intra-arterial injection technique to the non-human primates. It could be hypothesized that pDNA was extravasated by the intravascular pressure during the injection, most likely by convective flow across the endothelium (27, 28). Once the pDNA is extravascular, the muscle cells in situ with the help of a receptor mediated uptake process pick up the naked pDNA. This was evidenced by the fact that the naked pDNA was taken up by hepatocytes in *vivo* by a receptor-mediated process (28). Several DNA receptors had been discovered in human leukocytes (29), peritoneal macrophages (30), and in wide variety of tissues and tumor cells (31– 35). At this point, the poorly understood mechanism of molecular recognition and characterization of the cell surface receptor(s) involved in the binding and internalization of DNA need a fresh look. Liu et al. (36) and Zhang et al. (37) reported that rapid injection of pDNA in a large volume (e.g., 5  $\mu$ g of DNA/20 g mouse in 1.5–2.0 mL of saline solution) through the tail vein left the injected DNA in the inferior vena cava. The DNA flowed back to the tissues linked to this vascular system, primarily the liver. The hydrodynamic pressure forced DNA into the liver cells before it was mixed with blood. By this process, the liver showed the highest expression of gene; internal organs like lung, spleen, heart, and kidney were also efficiently transfected. Our lab had recently shown that briefly clamping the vena cava following tail vein injection of pDNA in a small volume efficiently transfected both liver (38) and diaphragm (39). The result is potentially important because diaphragm is barely transfected by hydrodynamics-based method. The full-length dystrophin **cDNA** can be delivered to the diaphragm for the treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. It is well known that patients with **Du**chenne Muscular Dystrophy often suffer from fatal respiratory failure caused by the dystrophic diaphragm muscle.

## **2.2** Gene Delivery for Myocardial Diseases

Naked pDNA transfer into myocardium through direct injection or through coronary vasculature usually showed low transfection efficiencies. The results had nevertheless proven valuable in studies aimed at characterizing the role of promoters in cardiac tissue and for examining the influences of naturally occurring mechanical and hormonal stimuli of the myocardium on expression of transferred foreign genes (**40**).

**Kitsis** et al. (41) have demonstrated that the tissue-specific promoter chimeras injected into the heart could respond accurately to shift in thyroid hormone levels in vivo. Injection of pDNA with gene constructs driven by cellular promoters resulted in detectable levels of reporter gene activities. The cellular promoter was derived from the rat a-myosin heavy.chain (*a*-MHC) gene whose expression in vivo is restricted to cardiac muscle and is positively regulated by thyroid hormone. This method proved valuable to identify the regulatory portion of genes expressing specifically in cardiac muscles. Direct DNA injection had been extended to evaluate and characterize the activation properties of a cardiac-specific promoter/enhancer of the slow/cardiac troponin C (cTnC) gene that express in cardiac striated muscles (42). Myocardial direct DNA injection was also used to analyze the transcriptional regulation of brain creatine kinase (BCK) gene in the heart (43). pDNA constructs containing BCK promoter and CAT or luciferase reporter gene was delivered into the left lateral wall and apex of the ventricle on the heart. The study might provide insight into the embryonic gene expressing mechanism during cardiogenesis. Because the BCK gene, the major gene for cytoplasmic creatine kinase expressed in the embryonic heart, is down-regulated during cardiogenesis, it is reinstated in response to stimuli such as ischemia, hypertrophy, or heart failure in the adult.

The method of direct pDNA injection was used to explore the effect of specific pathophysiological state on cardiac gene expression, such as ischemia (44), myocardial infarction, reperfusion injury, hypertension (45, 46), etc. Ischemia is a disease state formed when tissues are starved for blood supply and nutrients because of deficient supply of blood through possibly narrowed or blocked arteries. Sporadic myocardial ischemia is commonly associated with coronary arterial diseases. To eliminate the ischemia related disease phenotype, a therapeutic gene is required, which could be selectively up-regulated by the signals related to the heightened period of ischemic activity and consequently down regulated when the activity subdues. In this context, Prentice et al. (44) introduced expression plasmids containing muscle-specific a-MHC promoters and hypoxia-responsive enhancer (HRE) elements linked to a reporter gene in cultured cells or into the rabbit myocardium and measured the regulation of these constructs by hypoxia or experimental ischemia. It was shown that the expression of reporter gene was induced by both hypoxia in vitro and by a short interval of ischemia in vivo.

There were different reports concerning the stability of plasmid-based transgenes in both skeletal and cardiac muscles. Lin et al. (47) have shown that the rat cardiac myocytes could express  $\beta$ -galactosidase gene under the control of the Rous sarcoma virus promoter by the injection of pDNA encoding the reporter gene directly into the left ventricular wall.  $\beta$ -galactosidase expressed in cardiac myocytes was detected in rat hearts for at least 4 weeks after injection of the  $\beta$ -galactosidase gene. In post-mitotic cardiac and skeletal muscle cells, the transgene expression of the pDNA declines with time probably because of the episomal localization of the DNA (16, 47). The reason that the striated muscles showed higher capacity of uptake and expressing pDNA following direct injection was not clear; the efficient gene transfer might be induced by cellular membrane rupturing and destabilization followed by inflammation caused by the injection needle (48).

## 2.3 Gene Therapy for Angiogenesis

Because ischemia is formed because of a deficient supply of blood to tissues, formation of new blood vessels is curative against this disease. One of the mechanisms that involve the formation of new blood vessels is angiogenesis. Angiogenesis is the process of new blood vessel development for the vascularization of various organs, for wound healing (49) and to allow cancer development and proliferation (**50**).

Therapeutic angiogenesis involves restocking angiogenic growth factors by administering recombinant proteins or endothelial growth factor gene. The recombinant proteins have severe limitation on its usage because it is expensive and difficult for large-scale production. On the other hand, gene therapy provides a systemic and long-term effect with modification in the effective dosage of the therapeutic agent. To evade potential problem of pathological angiogenesis, transient gene expression is usually preferred for this kind of treatment. Tsurumi et al. (51) introduced naked pDNA encoding vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by intramuscular (IM) injection into ischemic hind limb muscles of a rabbit model and observed that the vessels and blood-capillaries were increased in rabbit muscles injected with VEGF compared with controls. An enhanced vascularity-induced perfusion followed by increased blood flow in the ischemic limbs was also observed. In clinical trial, Simovic et al. (52) introduced naked pDNA encoding human VEGF gene by direct intramuscular injection to chronic ischemic limbs of patients to treat peripheral neuropathy caused by critical limb ischemia. The patients showed decreased neuropathic disability in the treated limbs, indicating that a longterm therapy might improve the integrity in tissues of ischemic limb and consequent retrieval of limb.

#### 2.4 Gene Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases

Autoimmune disease is a pathogenic condition in which one's immune system mistakenly targets and attacks person's own cells, tissues,

and organs. Inflammation is a prevalent symptom for this disease caused by the excessive presence of large number of immune cells and molecules in the target site of the body. Against autoimmune diseases or other inflammatory conditions, the delivery of cytokines or cytokine inhibitors through gene therapy is proved very effective. Interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ), interleukin-1 (IL-1, a or  $\beta$ ), IL-12, and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) are the most frequently addressed inflammatory cytokines in illness related to autoimmune/inflammatory diseases. Other than these cytokines, transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF  $\beta$ ) is also a kev regulatory cytokine (53), because TGF  $\beta$  inhibits T- and B-cell responses, dysregulation of which lead to elevation of autoimmune disease conditions.

In animal models, pDNA constructs with the encoding anti-inflammatory cytokine genes for IL-10 (54), IL-4 (55), and TGF  $\beta$ 1 (56) were injected into either tibialis anterior or rectus femoris muscles in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mouse against autoimmune diabetic disease. Although there was no marked **de**crease in severity of insulitis, the diabetes was reduced in NOD mice injected with IL10 compared with nontreated NOD mice. In another experiment, treatment of autoimmunity prone NOD mice with pCMV-TGF- $\beta$ 1 (57) resulted in considerable elevation of TGF-p 1 level in the plasma. The increased levels of **TGF-\beta1** exerted various immunosuppressive effects such as there was suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) and prevention of insulitic and diabetic incidence in this kind of mice. TGF- $\beta$ 1, IL-4, and IFN- $\gamma$ gene coding **plasmid** vectors were also injected **IM** to rodent models for treating experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) (57), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (58), colitis (59), and streptococcal cell wall-induced arthritis (SCW-arthritis) (60).

## 3 IMPROVING PLASMID DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER BY ELECTROPORATION

Electroporation is a process of exposing cells to a controlled electric field for the purpose of cellular membrane permeabilization (61). The intense localized electric pulses destabilize the

#### 4 Improving Plasmid DNA Transfer Mediated by Gene Gun

membrane allowing molecules, which otherwise do not gain access inside the cell, to enter cells. A variety of genetic materials were inserted into the cells in vitro by electroporation (62–64). Electrochemotherapy, a cell electropermeabilization approach that facilitates the cellular entry of hydrophilic anticancer agents such as bleomycin, was used to obtain drastically improved antitumor effect (65) in malignant melanoma.

-

Recently, in vivo electroporation has emerged as a leading technology for developing non-viral gene therapies and nucleic acid vaccines (NAV). Naked pDNA injections accompanied by electroporation showed 10- to 1000-fold increases in gene expression compared with the same injections without electroporation (66–68), and the duration of a gene expression after electroporation in vivo was dependent on target tissue and **plasmid** constructs (66). A broader variety of cells showed reporter gene expression (66–69).

One of the advantages of electroporation is that specially designed electrode directed against a given tissue could provide a specific gene expression for the treated tissue. A high level of controlled gene expression was obtained by using a tissue-specific promoter directed against a given tissue with different pulsing parameters (66).

The electroporation-mediated in *vivo* gene transfer had been successfully used for hepatic parenchyma (70, 71), hepatocellular carcinoma (72), skin (73, 74), skeletal muscle (69, 75,761, mouse testes (77), melanoma (65), human primary myoblast (78), glomeruli (79), brain (80), human primary hematopoietic stem cells (81), human esophagealtumor (82), and rat skeletal muscle for correcting anemia of renal failure (83).

Electroporation requires a high electric field strength, which eventually restricts its use because it induces some tissue damage. Efficient and safe electro-transfer for delivering exogenous material into tissues must be developed before the clinical potential of gene therapy can be realized. Our laboratory had recently developed a novel design of a syringe electrode, with which electric field was directly delivered to the cells where pDNA had been iniected. and the iniected DNA could be confined to the high field region. High transfection efficiency was observed with comparatively lower field strength, which incurred minimal tissue damage (Liu and Huang, unpublished observations).

A technique called microelectroporation was used locally to introduce a transgene into chick embryo and express the gene in spatial and temporal manner (84, 85). By the microelectroporation technique, DNA molecules were efficiently introduced into the optic vesicle (84), sensory placodes, surface ectoderm (86), neuroepithelium of the CNS, and into the somites and limb mesenchyme (87).

## 4 IMPROVING PLASMID DNA TRANSFER MEDIATED BY GENE GUN

Gene gun is a physical way of administering genes in vitro or in vivo. pDNA makes an electrostatic complex with gold or tungsten microparticles. DNA-coated metal particles are placed in the interior of Teflon-coated tubing, and the DNA is readily expelled by a flow of regulated, highly compressed helium gas. The delivery is highly localized to the tissue part. For regulating the speed and hence impactpressure, the projectiles can be targeted to different tissue depths and areas. The process involves easy and speedy preparation of the delivery vehicle while keeping DNA intact. This technique sometimes allows DNA to gain direct access to nucleus bypassing endosome/ lysosome wherein they would have possibly enzymatically degraded. Because of the benefit of accessibility, this technique is especially suitable for gene transfer to skin (88) and for superficial wounds (49, 89). There are several examples in various animal models that have shown a high level of transgene expression in the epidermis and dermis of the skin (90, 91).

By the gene gun technique, mouse skin was transfected with IL-6 and hemagglutinin-encoded DNA to elicit protective immune responses against equine influenza virus (92). Several different large animals such as rhesus monkeys (93), pigs (94), and horses (95) were also immunized against virus by transfecting gene encoding the viral antigen.

Other than skin, detectable transgene activities were also noticed in various organs including liver (96, 97), lungs (98), pancreas

(99), kidney (100), muscle (101), and cornea (102). Gene gun was also used to treat against tumor growth (103). pDNA containing IL-12 gene delivered by gene gun to the epidermal cells over an implanted intradermal tumor gave detectable levels of the gene product at the treatment site. This eventually led to complete tumor regression within 7 days (104). A particle bombardment of TGF  $\beta$ 1 encoded plasmid to rat tissue enhanced the tensile strength of the tissue by almost twofold compared with the control (90). Porcine partialthickness wounds, when transfected with a vector expressing epidermal growth factor (EGF), showed an increased rate of reepithelialization that duly shortened the healing time by 20%, (105).

## 5 LIPID-BASED VECTORS

The lipid-based DNA delivery system was first used on the premise that naked DNA on injection *in vivo* might be degraded by endogenous **DNAase**. The lipidic delivery vehicle would provide protection to the DNA during circulation through the blood stream, and with necessary chemical modification, this vehicle would confer targeting potential to the DNA towards specific cellular sites.

Lipids are a class of molecule that have a tendency to self-assemble in aqueous or organic media. Depending on the molecular architecture and/or the presence of co-solute, they assume structures such as micelle, emulsion, or liposome in aqueous media and reverse micelle in organic media. Among them, liposomes have shown wide diversity in biological relevance. They constitute a bilayered structure, which can encapsulate water-soluble molecules in its aqueous hydrophilic core or water-insoluble molecules in its hydrophobic bilayer. Liposome-based drug delivery systems have shown promise in clinical use, and several products have already been approved by FDA. Fraley et al. (106) have shown for the first time that DNA could also be delivered to cellular targets by encapsulating DNA in liposomal aqueous core. They used a composite liposomal system containing anionic and nonionic lipids but with a limited DNA encapsulation efficiency. To enhance gene transfection

and targeting ability of the liposome to specific tissue site, Wang and Huang (107) used pHsensitive immunoliposomes made by coating anionic liposomes with target specific antibody and encapsulating plasmid. These liposomes, on intraperitoneal injection, showed specific transfection to tumor cells in an ascites tumor model of nude mice. Very recently, the immunoliposomes were revisited for targeting brain. An exogenous gene was targeted to the brain through the blood-brain barrier by intravenous injection of pegylated immunoliposomes conjugated with antibody to rat transferrin receptor. The whole entity was targeted to the brain through the transcytosis of transferrin receptor (108).

Felgner et al. (109), for the first time, used cationic liposomes for gene transfection. The primary idea was to electrostatically condense DNA with more than one equivalent of cationic lipid and the negatively charged cells would take up the net positively charged entity when fed to cell. Since then, a plethora of literature developed in fine tuning the chemical structure of lipids by systematic structureactivity studies to elucidate the structure of the optimal cationic lipid for gene transfection. Herein, pDNA played a significant role. reconstructed with recombinant pDNA marker/reporter gene and suitable promoter is primarily used as a tool to screen for the efficient transfection-lipid from a library of cationic lipidic molecules. The electrostatic lipid-DNA complex formed by first generation cationic lipids is termed as "lipoplex." Cationic polymers also condense DNA with or without the presence of lipid; these polymers can deliver DNA to cells. This provides the basis for the second-generation gene delivery systems. Cationic polymers, cationic dendrimers, etc. condense DNA to make a complex called "polyplex." If liposomes, cationic or anionic, are used to encapsulate the pre-condensed cationic polymer-DNA complex and are used to deliver DNA to cells, then the whole entity is termed as "lipopolyplex." We will talk about these second-generation gene delivery systems later in this chapter.

## 5.1 First Generation of Cationic Lipids

Lipids with a glycerol backbone containing aliphatic carbon chain(s): *N*-[1-(2,3-dioley-

loxy)propyl]-N,N,N-trimethylammoniumchloride (DOTMA), N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-N.Ndimethyl-2,3-bis(tetradecyloxy)-1-propanaminium chloride (DMRIE), N-[1-(2,3-dioleyloxy)propyl]-N-hydroxyethyl-N,N-dimethylammonium chloride (DORIE) (110), 2,3-dioleyloxy-N-[2(sperminecar-boxamido)ethyl]-N,N-dimethyl-1-propanaminium trifluoroacetate (DOSPA), N-(3-aminopropyl)-N.Ndimethyl-2,3-bis(dodecyloxy)-1-propaniminium bromide (GAP-DLRIE) (111), N-[1-(2,3dioleoyloxy)propyl]-N', N', N'-trimethylammonium chloride (DOTAP) (112), and N, N-(2hydroxyethyl)-N-methyl-2,3-bis(myristoyloxy)-1-propanaminium iodide (DMDHP) (113). These lipids are linked to glycerol moiety through ether or ester-bond and have either a single cationic charge with none, single, or multiple hydroxyl groups or multiple cationic charges by possessing spermidine derivatives (Fig. 13.2).

Lipids with long chain alkylamine/alkylamide moiety: dimethyldioctadecylammonium bromide (DDAB) (114), DOGS (115), lipopoly(L-lysine) (LPLL) (116), GS2888 (117), *O,O'*-ditetradecanolyl-*N*-(trimethylammonio acetyl)diethanolamine chloride (14DEA2) (118), diC14amidine (119), *N,N*-di-n-hexadecyl-N, N-dihydroxyethylammonium bromide (DHDEAB) (120), and TFX. These are basically non-glycerol-based lipids, with single or multiple charges. The charges arise because of the presence of ammonium or multiple amines or spermidines. Some of these lipids also possess multiple hydroxyl groups.

Lipids with cholesterol moiety:  $3\beta$ -[N-(N', N'-dimethylaminoethane)-carbamoyl] cholesterol (DC-Chol) (121) and other cholesterol derivatives (122), biglycosylated cholic acid derivative (123), and cholesterol with polyamines (124) and spermidines (125, 126).

Lipids with L-a-phosphatidylethanolamine derivatives with spermidines: **1,2-dipalmitoyl**phosphatidylethanolamidospermine(DPPES) (**116**) or L-a-phosphatidylcholine with **phos**phonate diester (127, 128).

Lipids with imidazole derivative: 1-[2-[9-(Z)-octadecenoyloxy]ethyl]]-2-[8](Z)-heptadecenyl]-3-[hydroxyethyl]imidazolinium chloride (DOTIM) (129) or non-glycerol-based lipids with long-chain alkylacyl carnitine ester (130).

**There** are many other lipids that have been synthesized and tested for gene transfection. Only a few of these lipids have shown consistent and relatively high levels of transfection in various cell lines and the in *vivo* system. Most of these first-generation formulations do not circulate long in the blood because the **DNA/cationic** lipid complex disintegrates in the presence of negatively charged blood proteins. They are also grossly non-targetable to cells. To overcome these problems, a number of new delivery formulations have been created and tested for gene transfection efficiency. We will discuss these second-generation cationic formulations later in this chapter.

## 5.2 Cellular Barriers for Transfection

To develop an efficient gene delivery system, it seems necessary to understand the extra- and intracellular processes involved in the overall transfection mechanism. This will lead to understanding the mechanism, which is necessary for developing novel lipid-based non-viral vectors. For this purpose, **cationic** liposomes and **pDNA** are used widely to understand the cellular mechanism involved in the **transfection** (Fig. 13.3).

5.2.1 Structure of Lipid/DNA Complex. Positively charged cationic liposomes electrostatically interact with negatively charged **nu**cleic acid sequences to form fused, aggregated complexes, which are capable of entering a cell. These aggregates have a very heterogeneous distribution with respect to particle size and net charge. The lipid-to-DNA mass and charge ratio, which defines the size and net surface charge of the complex, is an important factor to determine transfection efficiency. Hence, the structural features associated with this kind of complex need to be interpreted. Structural features revealed by electron microscopy include lipid-coated DNA strands, aggregates of liposome intercalating DNA, DNA entrapped between the lamellae of aggregated multi-lamellar structure, and tubular structure consisting of fused liposome around DNA (131-136). Polycations such as polylysine or multivalent cationic lipid condense DNA into small compact particles (137).



Figure 13.2. Structures of some representative cationic lipids.

Cells can efficiently uptake these particles compared with the particles obtained by condensation of DNA by monovalent **cationic** lipids (**Sorgi** et al., unpublished data).

**5.2.2 Entry of** DNA Into **Cells.** The presence of negatively charged proteins and glycophospholipid impart negative charges on the

cell surfaces. It was hypothesized that membrane fusion between **cationic** liposome and negatively charged cell membranes is the **pri**mary means of cell entry (**109, 138**). The **hy**pothesis was made based on the premise that **cationic** and anionic liposomes readily fuse (**139, 140**). It is conceptualized that the interaction of the **cationic** complex with the cell is



Figure 13.3. Schematic illustration of the processes involved in gene delivery and expression.

primarily electrostatic and does not involve any specific receptor for the **cationic** moiety. However, Mounkes et al. (141) showed that heparin sulfates, the highly anionic **polysac**charides, serve as an important cell surface receptor for **cationic** lipid-DNA complexes. Other experiments also suggested that the mechanism of DNA-transfer to animal cells from **cationic** liposomes might not entail a simple fusion of **liposomal** and cellular membranes (113). The **non-differentiated** edged **airway** epithelial cells endocytose liposome-DNA complexes consequent to their relatively high negative charge and phagocytic activity compared with differentiated cells (142). Evidences now strongly suggest that slow **endocytosis** of intact lipid/DNA complex is the primary method (143–146) for cellular entry.

5.2.3 Fate of Complex Inside the Cell: Escape into Cytosol. After cellular entry, the lipid/DNA complex is engulfed into lower pH

compartment called "early endosomes" in the peri-membranous region (147–150). In an attempt to elucidate intracellular tracking of lipid/DNA complex, Zhou and Huang (117) showed that liposome composed of lipopolylysine (LPLL) and 1,2-dioeoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphatidylethanolamine(DOPE), condense DNA to form electron dense particles recognized by thin-section transmission EM, and the majority of them reside in vesicular compartments. The endosomal contents usually pass into the lysosome, the cell organelle in the perinuclear region that houses a host of degredative enzymes. The hydrolytic enzymes degrade most if not all the lysosomal contents (111,151–153). It becomes necessary that the endosomal content must free itself at the endosome stage to keep the DNA intact. Disruption of endosomal vesicle is visualized in the liposomal system containing DOPE as a helper or co-lipid. DOPE with its tendency to promote significant polymorphic changes in the lipid phase stimulates membrane fusion or destabilization (117, 154, 155), which is followed by leakage of endosomal content into the cytoplasm. DOPE in aqueous media assumes inverted hexagonal phase II structure, which is frequently obtained in regions of membrane where it fuses with another membrane. Thus, one may assume that DOPE or liposome formulation containing DOPE might fuse with endosomal membrane and destabilize it to leak out the content from the endosome.

If the early endosomal release is not possible, another way to keep DNA intact in lysosome is to protect the DNA from lysosomal degradation. Cationic liposomes formulated with cholesterol believed to offer a useful role in keeping DNA intact (121,156,157). Straubinger et al. (158) have demonstrated that the lysosomal enzymes work at lower pH, i.e., pH < 6. It was also shown that **cholesterol-con**taining liposomes, which possess greater stability and lower ion-permeability compared with DOPE-containing liposomes, provide an improved stability to the lipid-DNA complex in the cytosol (158-160). It is easily conceivable that if the endosomal content passes onto lysosome before being released from endosomes, the lipid/DNA complex could remain secured in the lysosome.

**Cationic** lipids can destabilize a cellular membrane because of its intrinsic detergent property. Therefore, destabilization of endo**somal** and/or lysosomal membrane may be a contribution from the **cationic** lipids itself. In the same context, it was shown that the cationic lipid/DOPE or cationic lipid/cholesterol liposome formulation exhibit surface anisotropies in terms of increased liposomal surface pH (161,162). The surface pH of the liposomal formulations exhibits at least two pH units higher than the pH of the solution at which they are made. Therefore, a liposomal solution made at physiological pH may in reality exhibit a surface pH  $\geq$  9, which is detrimental for both the stability of endosome and activity of lysosomal enzymes. Endosomal disruptions were also done with fusogenic peptides, which promote pH-dependent fusion of small liposomes when associated with lipid bilayer. When these **peptides** were co-delivered with lipid/DNA complex, they imparted formidable endosomal disruption by changing its usual random coil conformation into amphipathic a-helix conformation at lower pH, resulting in consequent cytoplasmic delivery of DNA (163).

5.2.4 Entry of DNA in Nucleus. The success of lipid-mediated gene transfer is severely limited by the inefficient transport of transfected DNA from the cytoplasm into the nucleus (146). In general, macromolecules enter the nucleus through nuclear pores. Molecular aggregates with size more than 55 Å in diam eter or molecular weight greater than 40 kD use the nuclear pore complex (NPC) to access nucleus. NPC bind with molecular aggregates associated with nuclear localization signal (NLS) peptide and help it to translocate across the nuclear membrane (164–166). One of the typical signals is the NLS from SV40 large T antigen (PKRRRKV) (167), which had been conjugated to many different molecules to gain nuclear access (168, 169). NLS peptideconjugated plasmid DNA was delivered efficiently inside the nucleus with an enhanced gene expression (170). Similarly, SV40 T antigen NLS co-delivered with DOTAP cationic liposome-mediated efficient gene transfer and expression in the cell (171). The genes delivered inside the nucleus require uncoating

#### 6 In Vivo Use of Cationic Liposome/DNA Complex (Lipoplex)

from the lipidic shell before the transcription starts. It is generally assumed that pDNA is displaced from the complex by anionic macromolecules in the nucleus. In this regard, an alternative hypothesis for cytosolic release of DNA from lipid/DNA complex had been proposed. Xu and Szoka (160) have demonstrated by model studies that the pDNA was released from cationic liposome/DNA complexes by anionic liposomes exhibiting compositions mimicking the cytoplasmic face of the lipid monolayer of the cellular membrane. Membrane destabilization followed by flip-flop of the liposome/DNA complex by the anionic lipids by electrostatic interaction resulted in charge neutralized lipidic ion pairs followed by release of pDNA.

To evade the nuclear transport, an alternative approach was developed that uses T7based cytoplasmic expression vectors. Here the inefficiently nuclear-transported DNA could be expressed in the cytoplasm itself (172-175).

## 6 IN VIVO USE OF CATIONIC LIPOSOME/DNA COMPLEX (LIPOPLEX)

## 6.1 Intravenous Injection

This is a widely used mode of gene delivery in animals. On injecting liposome/DNA complex (lipoplex) intravenously (IV), Stewart et al. (156) for the first time showed the residence of DNA primarily in heart and lungs even after 9 days with minimal toxicity. IV-injected lipoplex expressed transgene in almost all organs, including the lung, kidney, heart, spleen, liver, brain, etc., and the expression stayed for **9** weeks with apparently no treatment-related toxicity (176). Toxicity and antitumor response was evaluated in mice and pigs with high doses of lipoplex containing MHC gene incorporated pDNA (177).

Recently, more work has been done to increase the overall transfection efficiency with much higher targeting capability and reproducibility of the liposomal delivery system (159, 178, 179). Intravenously administered lipid/DNA complex avidly reacts with blood components. So, it is necessary to keep the complex intact in the blood until it reaches the organ of interest. Sakurai et al. (180) have shown that in the presence of erythrocytes, cationic lipid/cholesterol formulation didn't induce fusion between erythrocytes, whereas the cationic lipid/DOPE formulation possessing high fluidity in its structure induced fusion between the erythrocytes after a short incubation period. This offered an explanation for why cholesterol makes more superior formulation with cationic lipids for in vivo purposes (159).

A repeated systemic intravenous injection of cytokine gene (IFN  $\beta$ 1) by lipoplexes gave a systemic expression of human interferon- $\beta$  in mice, thereby increasing the possibility of cytokines used for the rapeutic purposes in a systemic manner (181). Hwang et al. observed an enhanced and highly selective liver targeting by IV injecting cationic liposome/pDNA containing  $\beta$ -sitosterol  $\beta$ -D-glucoside (Sit-G) (182). IV injections showed gene expression in all major organs including the heart, lung, liver, spleen, and kidney, with the lung being most efficiently transfected (178, 183). For efficient targeting and gene expression in the lung, intravenous injection was favored over intratracheal instillation. Uyechi et al. (184) have shown by injecting fluorescently tagged lipoplexes through the vein that the entire lung lobe was homogenously fluorescent, whereas intratracheal administration resulted in regional distribution of lipoplex, concentrated around bronchiales and distal airways.

## 6.2 Direct injection

Direct injection to tissue is a common approach for **cationic** lipid-mediated gene therapy. Intratumoral injection of DNA-liposome complexes containing either E6 or E7 antisense plasmid resulted in significant growth inhibition of C3 tumors grown in a syngeneic mouse model (185). E6 and E7 are two oncogenes responsible for the maintenance of the malignant state of HPV-position tumors. Nabel et al. (186) have directly injected recombinant pDNA containing murine class I major histocompatibility (MHC) gene into localized arterial segment of various major organs and showed that the direct gene transfer by liposomal transfection did not lead to treatment related toxicity, autoimmunity, or gonadal localization of the transgene in mice. The toxicity Ν.

of gene delivery by DNA-liposomes was also analyzed in pigs and rabbits in vivo. There were no clinically significant immunopathology in major organs such as the brain, heart, lung, liver, kidney, spleen, and skeletal muscles. To induce local tumor immunity in patients with stage IV melanoma, Nabel et al. (187) injected pDNA encoding MHC class I antigen complexed with **cationic** lipid directly into the cutaneous tumor nodules. Treated lesions exhibited presence of T-cells, followed by an enhanced reactivity of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. As a result, local inhibition of tumor followed by complete diminution of tumor was observed in some of the treated patients. Mohr et al. (188) have shown that direct liposome-pDNA complex injection to intrahepatic hepatocellular carcinoma produced by human HCC cells seemed far superior to systemic administration for gene therapy for localized intrahepatic tumors, because the direct administration to tumors left the surrounding normal hepatic cells untouched. In another typical example, in vivo, direct intratumor injection of **plasmid** containing the coding sequence for the human IL-2 gene complexed with cationic lipid formulation resulted in retention of intact pDNA in the tumor tissue and IL-2 secretion by cell cultures derived from the injected tumors. Formulation of this lipid with the **cationic** lipid inhibited DNA

efficiency over pDNA alone (189). Airway administration of liposome complexes was used for the treatment of pulmonary diseases including cystic fibrosis. Cationic liposome/DNA complex showed no adverse effect towards airway epithelial integrity (190); therefore, the cationic lipid-based delivery system proved to be appropriate for use in human trials for cystic fibrosis (CF). A series of **pre-clinical** trials were done in CF patients with intranasal instillation to evaluate the risk factors associated with the treatment (191-193). Because there was no apparent toxicity associated with lipoplexes as was seen from these trials, progress had been made in delivering the complexes to the entire lung by aerosol in CF patients (192,194,195). By nebulization, the DNA-liposome complex was delivered into the airways of mutant mice to obtain human cystic fibrosis transmem-

degradation and enhanced in vivo transfection

brane conductance regulator (CFTR) cDNA expression in the respiratory tract (196). A study conducted on CF patients revealed that pCMV-CFTR/cationic liposome complex on administration to the nasal epithelium gave no evidence for excess nasal inflammation, or any adverse events related to active treatment. Gene transfer and expression assayed by PCR revealed the presence of transgene DNA in seven of the eight treated patients up to 28 days after treatment (192). Intranasal instillation technique was also used in the mouse model, to incorporate cationic lipid/ DNA complexes (112, 197). The CFTR dysfunctional gene gives rise to multiple defects in airway epithelia such as altered Cl⁻ and Na+ permeability. Zhang et al. (198) have shown that the goblet cells were more efficiently targeted with lipoplexes than any other cells in the entire spectrum of lung airway epithelia. This was ascertained by the fact that an efficiently reduced mucous sulfation to levels seen in non-CF airways was observed with lipoplex/DNA despite low levels of CFTR gene expression in lung epithelial cells in human bronchial xenograft model of mice compared with non-CF airways of control mice. This **kind** of apparent complexities in CFTR function presented challenges in the design of different lipoplex formulations that were capable of generating the endogenous patterns of CFTR gene expression in specific lung epithelial cells.

## 6.3 Intraperitoneal Injection

Intraperitoneal (IP) injection of DNA/lipoplex was done to transfect cells in the peritoneum region. Nude mice bearing disseminated human ovarian tumors derived from p185-overexpressing SKOV-3 ovarian cancer cells were injected with E1A gene/lipoplex intraperitoneally (199). These tumors resemble stage III human ovarian cancer. The expression of E1A protein decreased the expression of p185 oncoprotein and hence increased the survival rate of mice (200). 70% of the treated group survived for 1.5 years from the last injection, but the untreated group barely survived more than 16 weeks. The treatment of complex containing 1/13 of the original lipid dose also worked as efficiently as the normal dose. There was no apparent toxicity or major organ

pathologic change. There was no trace of **E1A** DNA in the liver, lung, heart, spleen, brain, uterus, and ovaries of the treated mice even after 1.5 years (199).

## 7 SECOND GENERATION OF LIPIDIC DELIVERY SYSTEM (LIPOPOLYPLEX)

# 7.1 Polycation-Condensed DNA Entrapped in Cationic Liposome: LPD-I Formulation

One of the prerequisites for a bio-entity entering the cell and nucleus is to possess a small size. The delivery of DNA was efficient through cationic lipidic formulation-mediated gene delivery, but the nuclear transport from cytoplasm was quiet an inefficient process (146). Generally, lipoplexes formed by multiple charged cationic lipids made small ( $\sim 20$ nm), highly condensed DNA/lipidic complex. These complexes were found to be more transfecting than the lipoplex formed by mono-cationic lipids and DNA. Synthetic cationic polymers like poly-L-lysine (PLL) could also condense DNA into very small compacted particles. This compact complex was allowed to freely mix with **cationic** liposomal solution. The overall complex formed was termed LPD-I (200). A sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation of the heterogeneous mixture showed the existence of various populations associated with varied amount of lipid. Negativestain EM studies of purified complexes showed electron dense structures ranging from elongated rod-shaped to ball-shaped particles. The purified fractions were several fold more transfection efficient than unpurified ones. The fractions, which contained more lipids, were more efficient in gene transfection than those containing fewer lipids. The transfection efficiency of LPD-I was severalfold higher than the corresponding cationic liposome-DNA complex. It is hypothesized that the small compacted structure of DNA resulted in high cellular and nuclear uptake, the DNA is protected efficiently against the enzymatic degradation, and PLL may have mimicked the nuclear localization signal for nuclear delivery of DNA. An alternative cationic polymer, protamine sulfate, from salmon sperm was used as a substitution for PLL (201). Protamine sulfate is a small (MW  $\sim$ 4000 versus  $\sim$ 18,500 for

PLL), highly positively charged peptide and very basic because of the presence of 21 arginine residues, which contains a nuclear localization signal (202). It is naturally occurring (whereas PLL is synthetic), a United States Pharmacopeia (USP) grade compound, FDAapproved, and finds its use as an antidote to heparin-induced anti-coagulation. With a routine history of human administration, the issues of toxicity and immunogenicity were minimal for protamine sulfate.

Both protamine sulfate and PLL were compared for their transfection efficiencies. With the same amount of DNA and cationic lipid, PLL reached its efficiency plateau at an amount one-half the amount of protamine sulfate, but the overall efficiency of protamine sulfate was two- to sevenfold higher than PLL in different cell lines. The extent of transfection efficiency for LPD-I was 7- to 45-fold higher than the levels shown by DNA/cationic lipid complex. Phosphate and free base form of protamine showed lower levels of transfection and the activity was comparable with lipoplex. It is noteworthy that arginine, which exists as a salt of sulfate, and the lysine as free base or as a phosphated salt, showed a variance in the relative transfection efficiencies even though the percentage of basic (arginine + lysine) residues remained relatively constant.

On intravenous injection, LPD-I made with **DOTAP** had shown very high gene expression in the heart, lung, liver, spleen, and kidney, with the highest expression found in the lung (178). The in *vivo* gene expression had steadily increased with increase in **cationic** lipid **and/or** protamine, but the protamine-DNA charge ratio was kept below **2**:1 to avoid forming large aggregates. After LPD injection transgene expression was detected as early as 1 h, it peaked at 6 h and declined thereafter. The lung consistently showed the highest gene expression, which lasted for 2 days. Even after 4 days of LPD injection, gene expression could still be detected in the lung, spleen, and liver.

In a bio-distribution study with labeled DNA and liposome, it was revealed that DNA was rapidly removed from circulation by the liver after injection of protamine-DNA complexes and uptake by the lung was always less than 10% of injected dose at all time points. However, DNA formulated in LPD was trapped in the lung to an extent of 40% within 5 min of LPD injection. Southern blot analysis revealed that the pDNA injected with LPD was detectable in the lung in much higher quantity than the control even **6** h after IV injection. Intraportal injection gave significantly lower gene expression than with intravenous injection.

## 7.2 Polycation Condensed DNA in Anionic Liposomes: LPD-II Formulation

Some disadvantages always accompany the cationic lipid-mediated gene transfection. Cytotoxic effect in cells/tissues is the primary concern, which requires early attention. The cationic lipids exhibit relatively large sizes, whereas complexation with DNA provide suboptimal DNA condensation and have limited efficiency and lack of tissue specificity. Anionic liposomes used in gene therapy have shown poor encapsulation efficiencies because of large size and excessive negative charge of uncondensed **pDNA**. The use of anionic liposomes was revisited during a recent approach, which also used the concept of condensing DNA by cationic polymers. A delivery vector was developed wherein polylysine-condensed pDNA was trapped in folate-targeted anionic liposomes through charge interaction. It had a structural similarity to LPD-I and it was named LPD-II (203). It differed from LPD-I in that anionic lipids instead of **cationic** lipids were used. This novel vector was more efficient and less cytotoxic compared with conventional **cationic** liposomal vectors.

Folate-targeted LPD-II particles were generated by mixing anionic liposomes composed of DOPE/cholesterylhemisuccinate (CHEMS)/ folate-polyethyleneglycol (PEG)-DOPE and the cationic DNA-polylysine (1:0.75, w/w) complexes. Structural analysis of LPD-II by negative-stain EM showed that the DNA-polylysine (which appears individually as rod shaped) and lipid complex seemed to be a highly electron dense, spherical core with a low-density coating. The mean diameter of these particles was 74  $\pm$  14 nm, i.e., smaller than the empty liposomes.

KB cells expressing folate receptors were transfected with LPD-II particles containing luciferase reporter gene, and high transfection efficiency was observed. The activity could be inhibited by the presence of excess free folate. Control LPD-II particles generated with nontargeted liposomes was only active at low lipid/ DNA ratios, suggesting that the transfection by LPD-II particles was only receptor dependent when the over all charge was negative. Compared with DC-Chol/DOPE/DNA liposome complexes, LPD-II showed -20- to 30fold more transfection activity. On replacing DOPE with DOPC in the original formulation, the transfection was severely reduced. This indicated that the fusogenic activity of DOPE was essential for the transfection activity of LPD-II particles.

The therapeutic applications of antisense oligonucleotides (ODN) are currently limited by their low physiological stability, inefficient cellular uptake, and the lack of tissue specificity. The use of various vectors renders **phos**phodiester (PO) ODN resistant to enzymatic digestion. KB cells, which overexpress folate binding protein, were also transfected with LPD-11–containing targeting ligand folate to deliver ODN against epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). This resulted in down-regu**lation** of EGFR and growth inhibition of KB cells (178). The modified backbone ODN, i.e., phosphorothioate (**PS**) and monomethylphosphonate (**MP**), are more stable to enzymatic degradation compared with POODN, but they suffer from increased toxicity and decreased specificity. In one study, PO ODN against EGFR had shown growth inhibitory effect to KB cells compared with that of **PS/PO** ODN when delivered with LPD-II, indicating that **LPD-II** could also protect PO ODN from the attack by enzymes inside cells (204).

## 8 EMULSION-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER

## 8.1 General Development

Emulsions are one of the most widely studied colloidal dispersion systems for the delivery of drugs (205,206). The oil-in-water emulsion is made of oil dispersed in an aqueous phase with a suitable emulsifier such as phospholipids and non-ionic or ionic surfactants. Castor oil or soybean oil is predominantly used as the core oil phase. Non-ionic surfactants such as Tween, Span, Brij, and pluronic copolymers are used as co-emulsifiers. The ionic **co-emul-**

sifiers are phospholipids or **cationic** lipids. A number of structure-activity studies had been done with different emulsion formulations, which were subsequently used for gene delivery *in uitro* and *in vivo*. The non-ionic surfactants such as Tween, Span, Brij, and pluronic copolymers were found to be excellent coemulsifiers when used along with castor oil, DC-Chol, and DOPE (207). The *in vitro* transfection study on BL-6 cells showed that the Tween surfactant-containing formulations had more serum resistivity and exhibited higher transfection in serum-containing media than in the absence of serum. One of the Brij-containing formulations, i.e., one with 2-oxyethylene chains, showed the highest transfection efficiency in presence of serum. The toxicity of each formulation is minimal. In DOTAP, soybean oil, and pDNA emulsion complexes, it was observed that despite the change of  $\zeta$  potential with the varying amount of DNA, the structure and the size of the emulsion complex remained mostly unchanged (208). The stability of this emulsion complex was shown to be high and inhibited DNAase-I digestion of pDNA. In serum-containing media, the emulsion showed much higher transfection efficiency compared with the lipofectamine/DNA transfection complex. Inclusion of polyethyleneglycol-PEin the emulsion complex created a high-level transfection that was observed even in the media containing 90% of serum. This result suggested that *in uiuo* transfection could be done with this emulsion complex. Another soybean oil-DOTAP emulsion was used to transfer genes to the epithe the the mouse nasal **cavity** through intranasal instillation. The emulsion showed enhanced stability against heparin exchange and exhibited higher level of transfection compared with commercially available liposome/DNA complexes in nasal cavity mucosa (209).

# 8.2 Reconstituted Chylomicron Remnants for Gene Transfer

Chylomicrons are triglyceride-rich lipoproteins that are slowly modified during the circulation in blood. The core glyceride structure is hydrolyzed by the lipoprotein lipase. It is by the apolipoprotein-specific receptors that the hepatocytes in the lever consume these remnants (210,211). It had been shown that even reconstituted chylomicron remnants formed by purified lipids could be taken up by the hepatocytes following intravenous injections (212). In our laboratory, we modified the system and used it for delivery of DNA into liver cells (213). DNA is predominantly hydrophilic in nature and therefore cannot be included in the hydrophobic interior of the reconstituted chylomicron remnants (RCR).  $3\beta$ -[N-(N', N', N'-Trimethylaminoethane)carbamoyl] cholesterol (TC-Chol), a quaternary ammonium analog of DC-Chol, was used in various amounts to make complexes with DNA. The resultant hydrophobic complexes extracted from aqueous solution were emulsified with commercially available lipids (olive oil: L-aphosphatidyl choline, L-a-lysophosphatidyl choline, cholesteryl **oleate**) by homogenization. DNA/TC-Chol complex was incorporated into the internal oil space of RCR and remained protected against **DNAase** I digestion. The RCR-containing **DNA/TC-Chol** complex showed transgene luciferase expression in the liver 100-fold higher than with naked DNA injection when injected intraportally. The expression was also seen in the spleen, lung, and heart, but was 25- to 800-fold lower than in the liver. The gene expressions obtained through tail vein injection were 100-fold lower than of the mice injected intraportally. This was likely because the RCR didn't contain any apolipoproteins on its surface, which could have otherwise facilitated the receptor-mediated uptake. Moreover, the colloidal stability might not be as good as the ones containing apolipoproteins. RCR didn't employ any protein or peptide that acts as an antigen. So, it could be injected repetitively by using a catheter method that had been established for multiple portal vein infusion (214). We have recently improved the formulation by adding pegylated lipid to the surface of RCR and showed that the circulation time of the particle was prolonged significantly (215).

## 9 GENE DELIVERY BY POLYMERIC SYSTEMS (POLYPLEX)

## 9.1 General Development and Uses

An alternative non-viral gene delivery system has been developed that uses polymers, either

cationic or neutral. Cationic polymers are predominantly used because they efficiently condense DNA to very small particles. These complexes are called "polyplexes." Wu et al. (216) used polylysine-asialo-orosomucoidconjugate to condense pDNA and target the pDNA to liver. pDNA condensed with protamine/polylysine-conjugate of iron transport protein, transferrin, was efficiently delivered to eukaryotic cells (217). pDNA condensed by CD3 antibody-polylysine conjugate showed receptor-mediated endocytosis to efficiently internalize pDNA into T-lymphocytes (218). Depending on the cell-binding ligand, specific targeting was obtained in different cell lines (219).

Several of the most effective polymeric delivery systems were polyamidoamine **den**drimers (220) and polyethyleneimines (**PEI**) (221). Being non-biodegradable, these synthetic polymers posed a potential toxicity to cell; therefore, biodegradable polypeptides like PLL and protamine were used for condensation and delivery of gene, but they had limited efficacy in transfection (222, 223). They were usually used with **cationic** lipids to obtain enhanced transfection activity (178,201). Among the biodegradable polymers, chitosan (224) and  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin–based polymers (225) were also used for gene transfection.

Although the **cationic** polymers shared the same mechanism of DNA condensation, the transfection efficiency greatly varied between polymers. Even different molecular weights and isomeric forms of the same polymer showed different physicochemical characteristics, transfection efficiency, and toxicity (221, 226–228).

Ligand-conjugated polymers were used for *in vivo* targeting and expression of genes. Kircheis et al. (229) reported an enhanced level of transfection in subcutaneous **neuro2a** tumors on intratumoral injection of **transferrin-PEI**/ pDNA compared with naked pDNA injection. On pegylating the **Tf-PEI/pDNA** complex, the whole entity became serum resistant without losing its targetability, and the complex could be efficiently targeted to **neuro2a** tumors in a mouse model after IV injection (230). Alvarez-Maya et al. (231) cross-linked neurotensin with PLL and made polyplexes with pDNA. On injecting polyplex into the substantia nigra of rat, a high level of transfection was observed in nigrostriatal **dopamine** neurons and was detectable up to 15 days.

EBV-based plasmid vector containing thymidine kinase (TK) gene coupled with polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer (EBV/polyplex) was used in suicide gene therapy of cancer (232). Huh7 hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tumors in SCID mice were injected intratumorally with TK genes containing EBV/dendrimer polyplex to show remarkable suppression of tumor growth, leading to prolongation of survival time. Gene transfer to the lung was obtained by intravenous injection of G9 PAMAM dendrimer-complexed pDNA into mice. This resulted in high levels of transgene expression in the alveoli at 12 and 24 h, followed by a second peak of expression 3–5 days after administration. However, the direct endobronchial administration of this polyplex primarily targeted bronchial epithelium (233). Topical in vivo delivery of pDNA to the hairless mice skin was done with PAMAM dendrimer polyplex. The polyplex was incorporated in or coated on the surface of **poly**(DLlactide-co-glycolide)(PLGA) or collagen-based biodegradable membranes (234).

In an effort to transfer genes to rabbit carotid artery, Turunen et al. (235) used DNA/ fractured dendrimer (generation 6) polyplex to obtain a high level of gene transfer (4.4%)compared with what was obtained by lipoplex. The arterial gene transfer was particularly useful because it could be used as a tool for treating various vascular diseases. In vivo gene transfer methods in this study employed a gene delivery reservoir (collar) around the carotid artery, which served as a reservoir for the gene delivery solution. This type of local gene transfer with cationic polymer-pDNA complexes provided a technically efficient way of treating arterial diseases during vascular surgeries. These dendrimer-based polyplexes showed a clear advantage over polylysine in that they can buffer the drop of endosomal pH inside the endosome leading to an increase in transfection efficiency (236, 237, 223).

Qin et al. (238) used starburst **PAMAM** dendrimers to transfer genes into a murine cardiac transplantation model. These **star**burst dendrimers are a special class of its kind, which are highly branched spherical polymers

#### **10 Non-Viral Vector-Related Cytotoxicity**

with large number of amino groups on the surface. At the time of transplantation of whole heart in the recipient mice, the dendrimer/ $\beta$ gal pDNA was directly injected into the graft tissue. X-gal staining revealed a highly efficient and wide spread transgene expression in both myocytes and the graft infiltrating cells with the peak lasting up to 14 days. For organtransplantation, severe tissue rejection is a common immune response. Viral IL-10, a cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor, is able to regulate a variety of negative immune responses by suppressing the synthesis of IFN-y or inhibiting IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, and TNF-a! (239–242). Direct injection of this dendrimer/viral IL-10 gene with a-MHC promoter polyplex to the cardiac tissue showed an increased survival of the cardiac allograft. As little as 0.31  $\mu$ g of the injected pDNA led to an increased mean survival from 13.9 to 38.6 days.

# 9.2 Targeted Gene Delivery by Antibodies Conjugated with Polycations

Polyamines had shown efficient transfection to lung endothelium. An efficient targeted transfection vector to the lungs could be achieved by conjugating a targeting ligand against platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-l (PECAM-l) to polyamines. This ligand-polyamine complex was targeted efficiently to the pulmonary endothelial cells. A chemical vector was synthesized by covalent conjugation of polyethylenimine (PEI) and anti-PECAM antibody (Ab) (243). The cationic complex was shown to deliver DNA specifically to mouse lung endothelial cells. The highest gene expression was obtained at relatively low plus-to-minus charge ratios. The PEI conjugated with a control IgG did not enhance transfection of mouse lung endothelial cells. Intravenous injection of this anti-PE-CAM Ab-PEI /DNA showed an increased lung expression in mice compared with other modes of injection (243).

TNF- $\alpha$  in blood was found to be about fivefold less in the mice injected with **PEI-anti-PECAM Ab/DNA** than in the mice injected with **PEI/DNA**. The decrease in TNF-a was partially reversible by pretreating mice with Ab to PECAM. The immunosuppressant dexamethasone not only improved the persistence sion in the lung b

and level of gene expression in the lung but also shortened the refractory period for repeated dosing when injected along with **anti-**PECAM **Ab/DNA**. This supported a potential therapeutic role of dexamethasone in lung gene transfer with Ab-polymer conjugates.

Similarly, Ferkol et al. (244) targeted the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR), which is expressed in lung and liver tissues, and transferred pDNA to these tissues. The targeting ligand, anti-secretory component (SC) Fab antibody, was covalently linked to poly-L-lysine. The polycation, after condensing pDNA, was delivered successfully to airway epithelium in uiuo. Tissues that do not express the **plgR**, the spleen and heart, were not transfected. In addition, conjugate prepared with irrelevant Fab fragments did not produce detectable transgene activity. This complex specifically targeted pIgR-bearing tissues, but after repeated dosing, increased humoral immune response against anti-SC Fab antibody was observed (245).

## 10 NON-VIRAL VECTOR-RELATED CYTOTOXICITY

It is known from the 1980s that bacterial DNA stimulates the formation of cytotoxic IFN-a!,  $\beta$ , and IL-12 when the DNA is taken up by macrophages. It in turn leads to NK cell activation and production of pro-inflammatory cytokine IFN-y. This is accompanied by the proliferation of B-cells and therefore the reduction of apoptosis and release of IL-6 and IL-12 (246–249). These pro-inflammatory effects were found to be caused by some immuno-stimulatory sequences in prokaryotic DNA that contained unmethylated CpG dinucleotide motif flanked by two 5' purines and two 3' pyrimidines. Plasmid DNA, which is derived from bacterial DNA, induces these immune responses. The unmethylated CpG motif-containing sequence occurs four times more frequently in prokaryote DNA than in eukaryotic DNA. Moreover, the CpG motifs are usually 75% more methylated in mammalian DNA than in prokaryotic DNA (250,251). On methylation of the cytosine bases in plasmids, the immuno-stimulatory effect is decreased considerably (252). Immature dendritic cells tend to produce pro-inflammatory IFN-a,  $\beta$ , **IL-6**, **II-12**, and TNF-a during exposure to CpG containing oligonucleotide or bacterial plasmid (253,254).

These immune-stirnulatory effects leading to inflammatory cytokine productions had a negative impact on the systemic gene delivery of caionic lipid/DNA complexes. On recognition of pDNA by splenic macrophages during circulation, there was every chance that the pDNA would elicit an immune response, which might lead to phagocytosis of the complex and hence decreased transgene expression. High levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine also led to inactivation of several promoters, resulting in a decrease in transgene expression (255-257). The death of animals by high dose lipoplex injection for obtaining high transgene expression (258) could be attributed both to the high concentration of lipid and pDNA mediated toxicity. In the case of local lipoplex administration in animals, minimal toxicity was observed. However, on intravenous injection or intratracheal instillation, high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were observed (259–261). Minimized CpCr triggered inflammation and immune responses followed by prolonged gene expression were obtained by pretreating cytokine-neutralizing antibodies during intravenous injection of lipoplex (259). Repeated dosing without any antibody treatment led to silenced transgene expression after 1 or 2 weeks (178, 259).

It is not clear how cytokine production decreases the transgene expression, but various efforts to minimize CpG-related immune responses and toxicity and to enhance transgene expression is worth mentioning. Hofmann et al. (262) have used PCR amplified fragments containing encoded therapeutic gene and regulatory elements for preparing LPD. On delivering, a similar level of gene expression comparable with pDNA lipoplex was obtained. However. much lower level of cytokine response was observed, which sustained the gene expression for a longer period than pDNA. PCR fragments contain fewer CpG motifs than the full-length pDNA; this led to reduced CpG-triggered adverse effects. Yew et al. (263) have shown that during mutating CpG or its flanking motifs in the plasmid, a decreased level of cytokine and increased

transgene expression could be obtained. A limited interaction of **plasmid** with immune cells could also lead to decreased cytokine response. It could be achieved by sequentially injecting cationic liposomes and free pDNA. Song et al. (264) used this process for the purpose of efficiently transfecting the lung by prolonging the residency time and interaction of DNA with pulmonary endothelium. Tan et al. (255) used the same concept to show that the sequential injection led to the formation of a lower level of cytokines compared with lipoplex injection. It is evident from the above efforts that understanding the detailed mechanism of CpG-induced immune response is required for increasing the efficacy of **pDNA-mediated** gene delivery.

## 11 CONCLUSION

Since the first attempt of using **plasmid** DNA for gene delivery to cells, two decades have seen many attempts to enhance the efficacy of genetic vectors, to test various therapeutically important genes, and to understand the mechanism of the gene delivery, associated toxicity, and factors inhibiting gene expression. A number of gene therapy clinical trials have also been performed. Although no single vector is superior over other vectors, each in *vivo* gene transfer application will find its vector system for optimal performance. Understanding cellular barriers and possible means to overcome will undoubtly further improve the performance of a non-viral vector.

## 12 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The original work from our lab described in this review has been supported by NIH Grants CA-74918, AR-45925, DK-44935, and AI-48851. Discussions with Dr. Song Li are gratefully acknowledged.

#### REFERENCES

- J. A. Wolff, R. W. Malone, P. Williams, W. Chong, G. Acsadi, A. Jani, and P. L. Felgner, Science, 247, 1465 (1990).
- 2. M. A. Hickman, R. W. Malone, K. Lehmann-Bruinsma, T. R. Sih, D. Knoell, F. C. Szoka, R.

Walzem, D. M. Carlson, and J. S. Powell, Hum. Gene Ther., 5,1477(1994).

- H. Herweijer, G. Zhang, V. M. Subbotin, V. Budker, P. Williams, and J. A. WolffJ. Gene Med., 3,280(2001).
- 4. C. H. Miao, A. R. Thompson, K. Loeb, and X. Ye, Mol. Ther., **3**, **947(2001)**.
- M. L. Sikes, B.W. O'Malley Jr., M. J. Finegold, and F. D. Ledley, Hum. Gene Ther., 5, 837 (1994).
- 6. A. Ardehali, A. Fyfe, H. Laks, D. C. Drinkwater Jr., J. H. Qiao, and A. J. Lusis, J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg., 109,716 (1995).
- 7. B. Schwartz, C. Benoist, B. Abdallah, R. Rangara, A. Hassan, D. Scherman, and B. A. Demeneix, Gene Ther., 3,405(1996).
- 8. J. J. Yoo, S. Soker, L. F. Lin, K. Mehegan, P. D. Guthrie, and A. Atala, J. Urol., 162, 1115 (1999).
- M. N. Soler, P. Bobe, K. Benihoud, G. Lemaire, B. A. Roos, and S. Lausson, J. Gene Med., 2, 344 (2000).
- K. Xie, S. Huang, Z. Dong, S. H. Juang, Y. Wang, and I. J. Fidler, J. Natl. Cancer Znst., 89, 421 (1997).
- K. Xie, S. Huang, Z. Dong, S. H. Juang, M. Gutman, Q. W. Xie, C. Nathan, and I. J. Fidler, J. Exp. Med., 181, 1333 (1995).
- F. Batteux, L. Tourneur, H. Trebeden, J. Charreire, and G. Chiocchia, J. Immunol., 162,603 (1999).
- C. Wang, C. Chao, P. Madeddu, L. Chao, and J. Chao, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 244, 449 (1998).
- 14. D. J. Marshall and J. M. Leiden, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev., 8, 360(1998).
- 15. J. A.Wolff, J. J. Ludtke, G. Acsadi, P.Williams, and A. Jani, Hum. Mol. Genet., 1, 363(1992).
- G. Acsadi, D. R. Dickson, A. Love, A. Jani, F. S. Walsh, A. Gurusinghe, J. A. Wolff, and K. E. Davies, Nature, 352, 815(1991).
- V. M. Fazio, S. Fazio, M. Rinaldi, M.V. Catani, S. Zotti, S. A. Ciafre, D. Seripa, R. Ricci, and M. G. Farace, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 200, 298(1994).
- K. Anwer, M. Shi, M. F. French, S. R. Muller, W. Chen, Q. Liu, B. L. Proctor, J. Wang, R. J. Mumper, A. Singhal, A. P. Rolland, and H.W. Alila, Hum. Gene Ther., 9,659(1998).
- 19. N. L. Davis, K. W. Brown, and R. E. Johnston, J. Virol., 70, 3781(1996).
- 20. R. M. Conry, A. F. LoBuglio, F. Loechel, S. E. Moore, L. A. Sumerel, D. L. Barlow, and D. T. Curiel, Gene Ther., 2, 59 (1995).

- **21.** *R. A. Spooner, M. P. Deonarain, and A. A. Epenetos, Gene Ther.*, **2,173(1995).**
- 22. J. A. Wolff, P. Williams, G. Acsadi, S. Jiao, A. Jani, and W. Chong, Biotechniques, 11, 474 (1991).
- 23. H. L. Davis, R. G. Whalen, and B. A. Demeneix, Hum. Gene Ther., 4,151(1993).
- 24. D. J. Wells, FEBS Lett., 332, 179 (1993).
- 25. I. Danko, J. D. Fritz, S. Jiao, K. Hogan, J. S. Latendresse, and J. A. Wolff, Gene Ther., 1, 114(1994).
- 26. G. Zhang, V. Budker, P. Williams, V. Subbotin, and J. A. Wolff, Hum Gene Ther., 12, 427 (2001).
- J. A. Wolffin T. Friedmann, Ed., Development of Human Gene Therapy, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York, 1999, p. 279.
- 28. V. Budker, T. Budker, G. Zhang, V. Subbotin, A. Loomis, and J. A. Wolff, J. Gene Med., 2, 76 (2000).
- **29.** *R. M. Bennett, G. T.* Gabor, and M. M. Merritt, J. Clin. Znvest., **76, 2182(1985)**.
- 30. T. Takagi, M. Hashiguchi, R. I. Mahato, H. Tokuda, Y. Takakura, and M. Hashida, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 245,729 (1998).
- S. H. Hefeneider, K. A. Cornell, L. E. Brown, A. C. Bakke, S. L. McCoy, and R. M. Bennett, Clin. Zmmunol. Zmmunopathol., 63, 245 (1992).
- B. S. Prabhakar, G. P. Allaway, J. Srinivasappa, and A. L. Notkins, J. Clin. Znvest., 86, 1301 (1990).
- **33**. A. E. Kabakov, V. A. Saenko, and A. M. Poverenny, Clin. Exp. Immunol., **83**, **359(1991)**.
- 34. C. A. Stein, J. L. Tonkinson, L. M. Zhang, L. Yakubov, J. Gervasoni, R. Taub, and S. A. Rotenberg, Biochemistry, 32,4855(1993).
- D. C. Siess, C. T. Vedder, L. S. Merkens, T. Tanaka, A. C. Freed, S. L. McCoy, M. C. Heinrich, M. E. Deffebach, R. M. Bennett, and S. H. Hefeneider, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 33655(2000).
- **36.** *F. Liu,Y. Song, and D. Liu, Gene Ther.*, **6**,**1258** (1999).
- **37.** *G. Zhang, V. Budker, and J. A. Wolff, Hum. Gene Ther.*, **10, 1735 (1999).**
- F. Liu and L. Huang, J. Gene Med., 3,569-576
   (2001).
- **39.** F. Liu, M. Nishikawa, P. R. Clemens, and L. Huang, Mol. Ther., **4**, **45** (2001).
- 40. K. A. Webster, H. Prentice, D. J. Discher, M. C. Hicks, and N. H. Bisphoric in W. J. Wheelan,

*Ed., Molecular Biology in the Conquest of Disease, Oxford University Press, Oxford*, **1998**, *p.* **37.** 

- **41.** *R. N.* **Kitsis,** *P. M. Buttrick, E. M.* **McNally,** *M. L. Kaplan, and L. A. Leinwand, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **88,4138** (1991).
- **42.** M. S. Parmacek, H. S. Ip, F. Jung, T. Shen, J. F. Martin, A. J. Vora, E. N. Olson, and J. M. Leiden, Mol. Cell. Biol., **14, 1870 (1994).**
- **43.** *M*. *E*. *Ritchie*, *J*. *Biol*. *Chem.*, **271**, **25485** (1996).
- 44. H. Prentice, N. H. Bishopric, M. N. Hicks, D. J. Discher, X. Wu, A. A. Wylie, and K. A. Webster, Cardiovasc. Res., 35,567 (1997).
- 45. H. Prentice, R. A. Kloner, Y. Li, L. Newman, and L. Kedes, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol., 28, 133 (1996).
- **46.** *P. McDonald, M. N. Hicks, S. M.* **Cobbe,** *and H. Prentice, Ann.* **NY Acad.** *Sci.,* **752,455** (1995).
- **47.** *H. Lin, M. S. Parmacek, G. Morle, S. Bolling, and J. M.* Leiden, *Circulation*, **82,2217 (1990).**
- P. L. McNeil and R. Khakee, Am. J. Pathol., 140,1097 (1992).
- **49.** *M. Bryant, G. M. Drew, P. Houston, P. Hissey, C. J. Campbell, and M. Braddock, Hum. Gene Ther.*, **11,2143–2158 (2000).**
- **50.** J. Folkman, E. Merler, C. Abernathy, and G. Williams, J Exp. Med., **133, 275–288 (1971).**
- Y. Tsurumi, S. Takeshita, D. Chen, M. Kearney, S. T. Rossow, J. Passeri, J. R. Horowitz, J. F. Symes, and J. M. Isner, Circulation, 94, 3281 (1996).
- D. Simovic, J. M. Isner, A. H. Ropper, A. Pieczek, and D. H. Weinberg, Arch. Neurol., 58, 761 (2001).
- 53. G. J. Prud'homme, J. Gene Med., 2,222 (2000).
- 54. Y. Nitta, F. Tashiro, M. Tokui, A. Shimada, I. Takei, K. Tabayashi, and J. Miyazaki, Hum. Gene Ther., 9, 1701 (1998).
- **55.** Y. Chang and G. J. Prud'homme, J. Gene Med., 1,415 (1999).
- **56.** C. A. Piccirillo, Y. Chang, and **G.** J. Prud'homme, J. Immunol., 161,3950 (1998).
- **57.** *C. A. Piccirillo and G. J. Prud'homme, Hum. Gene Ther.*, **10,1915 (1999).**
- E. Raz, J. Duddler, M. Lotz, S. M. Bairs, C. C. Berry, R. A. Eisenberg, and D. Carson, Lupus, 4,286 (1995).
- E. Giladi, E. Raz, F. Karmeli, E. Okon, and D. Rachmilewitz, Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol., 7,341 (1995).
- X. Y. Song, M. Gu, W. W. Jin, D. M. Klinman, and S. M. Wahl, J. Clin. Invest., 101, 2615 (1998).

- 61. H. G. Coster, Biophys. J., 5, 669 (1965).
- Q. A. Zheng and D. C. Chang, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1088, 104 (1991).
- **63.** S. I. Sukharev, V. A. Klenchin, S. M. Serov, L. V. Chernomordik, and Y. A. Chizmadzhev, Biophys. J., **63,1320 (1992).**
- 64. M. P. Rols, J. M. Bachaud, P. Giraud, C. Chevreau, H. Roche, and J. Teissie, Melanoma Res., 10,468 (2000).
- 65. M. P. Rols, C. Delteil, M. Golzio, and P. Dumond, Nat. Biotechnol., 16, 168 (1998).
- S. Somiari, J. G. Malone, J. J. Drabick, R. Gilbert, R. Heller, M. J. Jaroszeski, and R. W. Malone, Mol. Ther., 2, 178 (2000).
- 67. M. J. Jaroszeski, R. Gilbert, C. Nicolau, and R. Heller, Adv. Drug Delivery Res., 35, 131 (1999).
- 68. L. M. Mir, M. F. Bureau, R. Rangara, B. Schwartz, and D. Scherman, Crit. Rev. Acad. Sci. 111,321,893 (1998).
- **69.** *H. Aihara and J. Miyazaki, Nat. Biotechnol.,* **16,867 (1998).**
- **70.** R. Heller, M. Jaroszeski, A. Atkin, D. Moradpour, R. Gilbert, J. Wands, and C. Nicolau, FEBS Lett., **389,225 (1996).**
- **71.** T. Suzuki, B. C. Shin, K. Fujikura, and T. Matsuzaki, FEBS Lett., **425,436 (1998).**
- 72. L. Heller, M. J. Jaroszeski, D. Coppola, C. Pottinger, R. Gilbert, and R. Heller, Gene Ther., 7, 826 (2000).
- **73.** V. Regnier, N. De Morre, A. Jadoul, and V. Preat, Int. J. Pharm., **184,147** (1999).
- **74.** N. Dujardin, P.Van Der Smissen, and V. Preat, *Pharm. Res.*, **18, 61 (2001).**
- G. Rizzuto, M. Cappelletti, D. Maione, R. Savino, D. Lazzaro, P. Costa, I. Mathiesen, R. Cortese, G. Ciliberto, R. Laufer, N. La Monica, and E. Fattori, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 6417 (1999).
- **76.** M. Bettan, F. Emmanuel, R. Darteil, J. M. Caillaud, F. Soubrier, P. Delaere, D. Branelec. Macfoudi, N. Duverger, and D. Scherman, Mol. Ther., **2,204 (2000).**
- 77. T. Muramatsu, O. Shibata, S. Ryoki, Y. Ohmori, and J. Okumura, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 233, 45 (1997).
- **78.** E. Espinos, J. H. Liu, C. R. Bader, and L. Bernheim, *Neuromuscul*. Disord., **11,341 (2001).**
- **79.** M. Tsujie, Y. Isaka, H. Nakamura, E. Imai, and M. Hori, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., **12,949** (2001).
- **80.** *H. Tabata and K. Nakajima, Neuroscience,* **103, 865 (2001).**

- 81. L. H. Li, P. McCarthy, and S. W. Hui, *FASEB* J., 16, 586 (2001).
- 82 H. Matsubara, T. Maeda, Y. Gunji, Y. Koide, T. Asano, T. Ochiai, S. Sakiyama, and M. Tagawa, *Znt. J. Oncol.*, 18,825 (2001).
- G. Rizzuto, M. Cappelletti, C. Mennuni, M. Wiznerowicz, A. DeMartis, D. Maione, G. Ciliberto, N. La Monica, and E. Fattori, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 11, 1891 (2000).
- T. Momose, A. Tonegawa, J. Takeuchi, H. Ogawa, K. Umesono, and K. Yasuda, *Dev. Growth Differ.*,41,335 (1999).
- 85. H. Nakamura, Y. Watanabe, and J. I. Funahashi, *Dev. Growth Differ.*,42, 199 (2000).
- 86. H. Ogino and K. Yasuda, *Science*, 280, 115 (1998).
- 87. J. Takeuchi, K. Koshiba-Takeuchi, and K. Matsumoto, et al., *Nature*, **398,810** (1999).
- N-S. Yang, G. H. Hogge, and E. G. MacEwen in L. Huang, M. C. Hung, and E. Wagner, Eds., *Nonviral Vectors for Gene Therapy*, Academic Press, San Diego, p. 171 (1999).
- 89. J. M. Davidson, T. Krieg, and S. A. Eming, *Wound Repair Regen.*, 8,452 (2000).
- 90. S. I. Benn, J. S. Whitsitt, K. N. Broadley, L. B. Nanney, D. Perkins, L. He, M. Patel, J. R. Morgan, W. F. Swain, and J. M. Davidson, J. Clin. Invest., 98,2894 (1996).
- 91. L. B. Nanney, S. Paulsen, M. K. Davidson, N. L. Cardwell, J.S. Whitsitt, and J. M. Davidson, Wound Repair Regen., 8, 117 (2000).
- 92. D. L. Larsen, N. Dybdahl-Sissoko, M. W. McGregor, R. Drape, V. Neumann, W. F. Swain, D. P. Lunn, and C. W. Olsen, J. Virol., 72,1704 (1998).
- 93. D. H. Fuller, M. Murphey-Corb, J. elements, S. Barnett, and J. R. Haynes, J. Med. Primatol., 25,236 (1996).
- 94. *M*. D. Macklin, D. McCabe, M. W. McGregor, V. Neumann, T. Meyer, R. Callan, V. S. Hinshaw, and W. F. Swain, J. Virol., 72, 1491 (1998).
- 95. D. P. Lunn, G. Soboll, B. R. Schram, J. Quass, M. W. McGregor, R. J. Drape, M. D. Macklin, D. E. McCabe, W. F. Swain, and C. W. Olsen, *Vaccine*, 17, 2245 (1999).
- 96. S. Kuriyama, A. Mitoro, H. Tsujinoue, T. Nakatani, H. Yoshiji, T. Tsujimoto, M. Yamazaki, and H. Fukui, *Gene Ther.*, 7,1132 (2000).
- 97. S. Yoshida, S. I. Kashiwamura, Y. Hosoya, E. Luo, H. Matsuoka, A. Ishii, A. Fujimura, and E. Kobayashi, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 271, 107 (2000).
- C. H. Chen, H. Ji, K. W. Suh, M. A. Choti, D.M. Pardoll, and T. C. Wu, *Gene Ther.*, 6, 1972 (1999).

- 99. A. L. Gainer, W. L. Suarez-Pinzon, W. P. Min, J. R. Swiston, C. Hancock-Friesen, G. S. Korbutt, R. V. Rajotte, G. L. Warnock, and J. F. Elliott, *Transplantation*, 66, 194 (1998).
- 100. K. Yanai, K. Hirota, K. Taniguchi-Yanai, Y. Shigematsu, Y. Shimamoto, T. Saito, S. Chowdhury, M. Takiguchi, M. Arakawa, Y. Nibu, F. Sugiyama, K. Yagami, and A. Fukamizu, J. Biol. Chem., 274, 34605 (1999).
- 101. A. A. Belperron, D. Feltquate, B. A. Fox, T. Horii, and D. J. Bzik, *Infect. Zmmun.*, 67, 5163 (1999).
- 102. W. T. Monroe, M. M. McQuain, M. S. Chang, J. S. Alexander, and F. R. Haselton, J. Biol. Chem., 274,20895 (1999).
- 103. D. M. Mahvi, J. K. Burkholder, J. Turner, J. Culp, J. S. Malter, P. M. Sondel, and N. S. Yang, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 7, 1535 (1996).
- 104. A. L. Rakhmilevich, J. Turner, M. J. Ford, D. McCabe, W. H. Sun, P. M. Sondel, K. Grota, and N. S. Yang, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 6291 (1996).
- 105. C. Andree, W. F. Swain, C. P. Page, M. D. Macklin, J. Slama, D. Hatzis, and E. Eriksson, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 91,12188 (1994).
- 106. R. Fraley, S. Subramani, P. Berg, and D. Papahadjopoulos, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 255, 10431 (1980).
- **107.** C. Y. Wang and L. Huang, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 84, 7851 (1987).
- 108. N. Shi and W. M. Pardridge, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 97, 7567 (2000).
- 109. P. L. Felgner, T. R. Gadek, M. Holm, R. Roman, H. W. Chan, M. Wenz, J. P. Northrop, G. M. Ringold, and M. Danielsen, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 84, 7413 (1987).
- 110. J. H. Felgner, R. Kumar, C. N. Sridhar, C. J. Wheeler, Y. J. Tsai, R. Border, P. Ramsey, M. Martin, and P. L. Felgner, J. *Biol. Chem.*, 269, 2550 (1994).
- 111. C. J. Wheeler, P. L. Felgner, Y. J. Tsai, J. Marshall, L. Sukhu, S. J. Doh, J. Hartikka, J. Nieptupski, M. Manthorpe, M. Nichols, M. Plewe, X. Liang, J. Norman, A. Smith, and S. J. Cheng, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 11454 (1996).
- 112. R. Leventis and J. R. Silvius, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1023, 124 (1990).
- 113. M. J. Bennett, A. M. Aberle, R. P. Balasubramaniam, J. G. Malone, R. W. Malone, and M. H. Nantz, J. Med. Chem., 269,4069 (1997).
- 114. T. Kunitake, Y. Okahata, K. Tamaki, F. Kumamaru, and M. Takayanagi, *Chem. Lett.*, 387 (1977).
- 115. J.-P. Behr, B. Demeneix, J.-P. Loeffler, and J. Perez-Mutul, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 86, 6982 (1989).
- **116.** *X. Zhou and L. Huang, Biochim. Biophys. Acta,* **1189, 195** (1994).
- **117.** *S. Sato and J. Sumamoto, J. Prog. Lipid Res.,* **31, 345 (1992).**
- **118.** *T.* Akao, *T.* Nakayama, K. Takeshia, and A. Ito, Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int., **34, 915–920** (1994).
- 119. J.-M. Ruysschaert, A. El Quahabi, V. Willeaume, G. Hnez, R. Fuks, M. Vandenbremden, and P. Di Stefano, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 103, 1622 (1994).
- 120. R. Banerjee, P. K. Das, G. V. Srilakshmi, A. Chaudhuri, and N. M. Rao, J. Med. Chem., 42, 4292 (1999).
- **121.** X. Gao and L. Huang, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., **179,280** (1991).
- **122.** *R. Bottega and R. M. Epand, Biochemistry*, **31**, **9025** (1992).
- 123. S.Walker, M. J. Sofia, R. Kokarla, N. A. Kogan, L. Wierichs, C. B. Longley, K. Bruku, H. R. Axelrod, S. Midha, S. Babu, and D. Kahne, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 93, 1585 (1996).
- 124. E. R. Leu, J. Marshall, C. S. Siegel, C. Jiang, N. S. Yew, M. R. Nichols, J. B. Nieutupski, R. J. Ziegler, M. B. Lane, K. X. Wang, R. K. Scheule, D. J. Harris, A. E. Smith, and S. H. Cheng, Hum. Gene Ther., 7,1701 (1996).
- 125. D. Moradpour, J. I. Schauer, V. R. Zurawski, J. R. Wands, and R. H. Boutin, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 221, 82 (1996).
- 126. J. P. Vigneron, N. Oudrhiri, M. Fauquet, L. Vergely, J. C. Bradley, M. Basseville, P. Lehn, and J. -M. Lehn, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 93,9682 (1996).
- 127. C. Guillaume-Gable, V. Floch, B. Mercier, M. P. Audrezet, E. Gobin, G. Le Bolch, J. J. Yaouanc, J. C. Clement, H. des Abbayes, J. P. Leroy, V. Morin, and C. Ferec, Hum. Gene Ther., 9,2309–2319 (1998).
- 128. V. Floch, G. Le Bolch, C. Guillaume-Gable, N. Le Bris, J. J. Yaouanc, H. Des Abbayes, C. Ferec, and J. -C. Clement, Eur. J. Med. Chem., 33,923 (1998).
- 129. I. Solodin, C. S. Brown, M. S. Bruno, C. -Y. Chow, E. -H. Jang, R. J. Debs, and T. D. Heath, Biochemistry, 34, 13537 (1995).
- **130.** J. Wang, X. Guo, Y. Xu, L. Barron, and F. C. Szoka Jr., J. Med. Chem., **41,2207 (1998).**
- 131. F. D. Ledley, Hum. Gene Ther., 6,1129 (1995).
- 132. A. Chonn and P. R. Cullis, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 6,698 (1995).

- 133. H. Gershon, R. Ghirlando, S. B. Guttman, and A. Minsky, Biochemistry, 32,7143 (1993).
- 134. J. Gustaffson, G. Arvindson, G. Karlson, and M. B. Almgren, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1235, 305 (1995).
- **135.** *B. Sternberg, F. L.* **Sorgi,** *and L. Huang, FEBS Lett.*, **356, 361 (1994).**
- **136.** J. O. Radler, I. Koltover, T. Salditt, and C. R. Safinya, Science, **275,810** (**1997**).
- **137. R.***W*.*Wilson and V. A. Bloomfield, Biochemistry*, **18,2192 (1979).**
- **138.** J. G. Smith, R. L. Walzem, and J. B. German, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, **1154,327** (1993).
- 139. N. Duzgunes, J. A. Goldstein, D. S. Friend, and P. L. Felgner, Biochemistry, 28,9179 (1989).
- 140. L. Stramatos, R. Leventis, M. J. Zuckermann, and J. R. Silvius, Biochemistry, 27, 3917 (1988).
- 141. L. C. Mounkes, W. Zhong, G. C. Palacin, T. D. Heath, and R. J. Debs, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 26164 (1998).
- 142. H. Matsui, L. G. Johnson, S. H. Randell, and R. C. Boucher, J. Biol. Chem., 272, 1117 (1997).
- 143. H. Farhood, N. Serbina, and L. Huang, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1235,289 (1995).
- 144. D. L. Daleke, K. L. Hong, and D. Papahadjopoulos, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1024, 352 (1992).
- 145. K. D. Lee, K. Hong, and D. Papahadjopoulos, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1103, 185 (1992).
- 146. J. Zabner, A. J. Fasbender, T. Moninger, K. A. Poellinger, and M. J. Welsh, J. Biol. Chem., 270, 18997 (1995).
- **147.** D. S. Friend, D. Papahadjopoulos, and R. J. Debs, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, **1278**, 41 (1996).
- **148.** *K. A.* **Mislick** and *J. D.* Baldeschweiler, Proc. Natl. **Acad.** Sci. USA, **93**, **12349** (1996).
- 149. F. Labat-Moleur, A. -M. Steffan, C. Brisson, H. Perron, O. Feugeas, P. Furstenberger, F. Oberling, E. Brambilla, and J. -P. Behr, Gene Ther. 3, 1010 (1996).
- **150.** *R. M. Straubinger, D. Papahadjopoulos, and K. L. Hong, Biochemistry,* **29,4929**(1990).
- **151.** *T. Yoshimura, M. Shono, K. Imai, and K. Hong, J. Biol. Chem.*, **117, 34 (1995).**
- **152.** *G. L. Scherpof and J. A. A. M.* Kamps, *Adv. Drug Delivery Res.*, **32**, 81 (1998).
- **153.** *O. Zelphati and F. C. Szoka Jr., Pharm. Res.,* **13, 1367 (1996).**
- 154. A. L. Bailey and P. R. Cullis, Biochemistry, 36, 1628 (1997).

- 155. W. R. Jarnagin, R. J. Debs, S. S. Wang, and D. M. Bisell, *Nucleic. Acids Res.*, 20, 4205 (1992).
- 156. M. J. Stewart, G. E. Plautz, L. Del Buono, Z. Y. Yang, L. Xu, X. Gao, L. Huang, E. G. Nabel, and G. J. Nabel, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 3, 267 (1992).
- 157. K. F. Korzarsky and J. M. Wilson, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev., 3, 499 (1993).
- **158.** R. M. Straubinger, K. Hong, D. S. Friend, and D. Papahadjopoulos, *Cell*, **32,1069 (1983).**
- 159. N. S. Templeton, D. D. Lasic, P. M. Frederik, H. H. Strey, D. D. Roberts, and G. N. Pavlakis, *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 15, 647 (1997).
- 160. F. Xu and F. C. Szoka Jr., *Biochemistry*, 35, 5616 (1996).
- 161. R. Banerjee, P. K. Das, and A. Chaudhuri, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1373,299 (1998).
- 162. N. J. Zuidam and Y. Barenholz, *Biochim. Bio-phys. Acta*, 1368, 115 (1998).
- 163. V. P. Torchilin, F. Zhou, and L. Huang, J. Liposome Res., 3,201 (1993).
- 164. N. Pante and U. Aebi, *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 31, 153 (1996).
- 165. M. E. Dowty, P. Williams, G. Zhang, J. E. Hagstrom, and J. A Wolff, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 92,4572 (1995).
- 166. L. I. Davis, Ann. Rev. Biochem., 64,865 (1995).
- 167. D. Kalderon, B. L. Roberts, W. D. Richardson, and A. E. Smith, *Cell*, **39,499** (1984).
- 168. S. I. Dworetzky, R. E. Lanford, and C. M. Feldherr, J. *Cell Biol.*, 107, 1279 (1988).
- 169. C. M. Feldherr and D. Akin, J. Cell Biol., 111, 1 (1990).
- 170. M. G. Sebestyen, J. J. Ludtke, M. C. Bassik, G. Zhang, V. Budker, E. A. Lukhtanov, J. E. Hagstrom, and J. A. Wolff, *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 16, 80 (1998).
- 171. A. I. Aronsohn and J. A. Hughes, J. Drug Target., 5, 163 (1998).
- 172. J. W. Dubendorff and F. W. Studier, J. Mol. Biol., 219, 61 (1991).
- 173. X. Gao and L. Huang, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 21, 2867 (1993).
- 174. X. Gao, D. Jaffurs, P. D. Robbins, and L. Huang, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 200, 1201 (1994).
- 175. M. Brisson, Y. He, S. Li, J-P. Yang, and L. Huang, *Gene Ther.*, 6,263 (1999).
- 176. N. Zhu, D. Liggitt, Y. Liu, and R. Debs, *Science*, 261,209 (1993).

- 177. H. San, Z. Y. Yang, V. J. Pompili, M. L. Jaffe, G. E. Plautz, L. Xu, J. H. Felgner, C. J. Wheeler, P. L. Felgner, X. Gao, et al., *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 4, 781 (1993).
- 178. S. Li and L. Huang, Gene Ther., 4,891 (1997).
- 179. F. Liu, H. Qi, L. Huang, and D. Liu, *Gene Ther.*, 4, 517 (1997).
- 180. F. Sakurai, T. Nishioka, H. Saito, T. Baba, A. Okuda, O. Matsumoto, T. Taga, F. Yamashita, Y. Takakura, and M. Hashida, *Gene Ther.*, 8, 677 (2001).
- **181.** O. Meyer, K. Schughart, A Pavirani, and H. V. Kolbe, *Gene Ther.*, **7**, **1606** (2000).
- 182. S. H. Hwang, K. Hayashi, K. Takayama, and Y. Maitani, *Gene Ther.*, 8, 1276 (2001).
- 183. K. Hong, W. Zheng, A. Baker, and D. Papahadjopoulos, *FEBS Lett.*, 400, 233 (1997).
- 184. L. S. Uyechi, L. Gagne, G. Thurston, and F. C. Szoka Jr., *Gene Ther.*, 8,828 (2001).
- 185. Y. He and L. Huang, *Cancer Res.*, 57, 3993 (1997).
- 186. E. G. Nabel, D. Gordon, Z. Y. Yang, L. Xu, H. San, G. E. Plautz, B. Y. Wu, X. Gao, L. Huang, and G. J. Nabel, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 3, 649 (1992).
- 187. G. J. Nabel, D. Gordon, D. K. Bishop, B. J. Nickoloff, Z. Yang, A. Aruga, M. J. Cameron, E. G. Nabel, and A. E. Chang, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93,15388 (1996).
- 188. L. Mohr, S. K. Yoon, S. J. Eastman, Q. Chu, R. K. Scheule, P. P. Scaglioni, M. Geissler, T. Heintges, H. E. Blum, and J. R. Wands, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 12,799 (2001).
- 189. S. E. Parker, S. Khatibi, M. Margalith, D. Anderson, M. Yankauckas, S. H. Gromkowski, T. Latimer, D. Lew, M. Marquet, M. Manthorpe, P. Hobart, E. Hersh, A. T. Stopeck, and J. Norman, *Cancer Gene Ther.*, 3, 175 (1996).
- 190. P. G. Middleton, N. J. Caplen, X. Gao, L. Huang, H. Gaya, D. M. Geddes, and E. W. Alton, *Eur. Respir.* J.,7, 442–445 (1994).
- 191. N. J. Caplen, E. W. Alton, P. G. Middleton, J. R. Dorin, B. J. Stevenson, X. Gao, S. R. Durham, P. K. Jeffery, M. E. Hodson, C. Coutelle, L. Huang, D. J. Porteous, R. Williamson, and D. M. Geddes, *Nat. Med.*, 1, 39 (1995).
- 192. D. J. Porteous, J. R. Dorin, G. McLachlan, H. Davidson-Smith, H. Davidson, B. J. Stevenson, A. D. Carothers, W. A. Wallace, S. Moralee, C. Hoenes, G. Kallmeyer, U. Michaelis, K. Naujoks, L. P. Ho, J. M. Samways, M. Imrie, A. P. Greening, and J. A. Innes, *Gene Ther.*, 4,210 (1997).

- 193. D. R. Gill, K. W. Southern, K. A. Mofford, T. Seddon, L. Huang, F. Sorgi, A. Thomson, L. J. MacVinish, R. Ratcliff, D. Bilton, D. J. Lane, J. M. Littlewood, A. K. Webb, P. G. Middleton, W. H. Colledge, A. W. Cuthbert, M. J. Evans, C. F. Higgins, and S. C. Hyde, *Gene Ther.*, 4, 199 (1997).
- 194. S. L. Chadwick, H. D. Kingston, M. Stern, R. M. Cook, B. J. O'Connor, M. Lukasson, R. P. Balfour, M. Rosenberg, S. H. Cheng, A. E. Smith, D. P. Meeker, D. M. Geddes, and E. W. Alton, *Gene Ther.*, 5,937–942 (1998).
- 195. J. Zabner, S. H. Cheng, D. Meeker, J. Launspach, R. Balfour, M. A. Perricone, J. E. Morris, J. Marshall, A. Fasbender, A. E. Smith, and M. J. Welsh, J. Clin. Invest., 100, 1529 (1997).
- 196. E. W. Alton, P. G. Middleton, N. J. Caplen, S. N. Smith, D. M. Steel, F. M. Munkonge, P. K. Jeffery, D. M. Geddes, S. L. Hart, R. Williamson, et al., *Nat. Genet.*, 5, 135 (1993).
- 197. K. Yoshimura, M. A. Rosenfeld, H. Nakamura, E. M. Scherer, A. Pavirani, J. P. Lecocq, and R. G. Crystal, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 20, 3233 (1992).
- 198. Y. Zhang, Q. Jiang, L. Dudus, J. R. Yankaskas, and J. F. Engelhardt, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 9,635 (1998).
- 199. D. Yu, A. Matin, W. Xia, F. Sorgi, L. Huang, and M. C. Hung, *Oncogene*, 11,1383 (1995).
- 200. X. Gao and L. Huang, *Biochemistry*, 35, 1027 (1996).
- 201. F. L. Sorgi, S. Bhattacharya, and L. Huang, *Gene Ther.*, 4,961 (1997).
- 202. R. W. Warrant and S. H. Kim, *Nature*, 271,130 (1978).
- 203. R. J. Lee and L. Huang, J. Biol. Chem., 271, 8481 (1996).
- 204. S. Li and L. Huang, J. *Liposome Res.*, 8, 239 (1998).
- 205. S. Benita and M. Y. Levy, J. *Pharm. Sci.*, 82, 1069 (1993).
- 206. M. Singh and L. J. Ravin, J. Parenter Sci. Technol., 40, 34 (1986).
- 207. F. Liu, J. Yang, L. Huang, and D. Liu, *Pharm. Res.*, 13, 1856–1860 (1996).
- 208. S. W. Yi, T. Y. Yune, T. W. Kim, H. Chung, Y. W. Choi, I. C. Kwon, E. B. Lee, and S. Y. Jeong, *Pharm. Res.*, 17,314 (2000).
- 209. T. W. Kim, H. Chung, I. C. Kwon, H. C. Sung, and S. Y. Jeong, *Mol. Cells*, 10, 142 (2000).
- 210. M. Huettinger, H. Retzek, M. Eder, and H. Goldenberg, *Clin. Biochem.*, 21, 87 (1988).
- 211. M. M. Hussain, F. R. Maxfield, J. Mas-Oliva, I. Tabas, Z. S. Ji, T. L. Innerarity, and R. W. Mahley, J. Biol. Chem., 266, 13936 (1991).

- 212. P. C. Rensen, M. C. van Dijk, E. C. Havenaar, M. K. Bijsterbosch, J. K. Kruijt, and T. J. van Berkel, *Nat. Med.*, 1,221 (1995).
- 213. T. Hara, Y. Tan, and L. Huang, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 94,14547 (1997).
- 214. T. F. D. Marrie-Jeanne, V. Peeters, A. Lieber, J. Perkins, and M. A. Kay, *Biotechniques*, 20, 278 (1996).
- **215.** S. Chesnoy, D. Durand, J. Doucet, D. B. Stolz, and L. Huang, *Pharm. Res.*, **18**, **1480** (2001).
- 216. G. Y. Wu and C. H. Wu, J. Biol. Chem., 263, 14621 (1988).
- 217. E. Wagner, M. Zenke, M. Cotten, H. Beug, and M. L. Birnsteil, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 87, 3410 (1990).
- 218. M. Buschle, M. Cotten, H. Kirlappos, K. Mechtler, M. L. Birnsteil, and E. Wagner, *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 6,753 (1995).
- 219. R. Kircheis, A. Kichler, G. Wallner, M. Kursa, M. Ogris, T. Felzmann, M. Buchberger, and E. Wagner, *Gene Ther.*, 4,409 (1997).
- 220. T. Hudde, S. A. Rayner, R. M. Comer, M. Weber, J. D. Isaacs, H. Waldmann, D. F. Larkin, and A. J. George, *Gene Ther.*, 6,939 (1999).
- 221. D. Fisher, T. Bieber, Y. Li, H. Elsasser, and T. Kissel, *Pharm. Res.*, 16, 1273 (1999).
- 222. H. Pollard, J. S. Remy, G. Loussouam, S. Demolombe, J. -P. Behr, and D. Escande, J. Biol. Chem., 273,7507 (1998).
- 223. M. X. Tang and F. C. Szoka, *Gene Ther.*, 4,823 (1997).
- 224. K. W. Leong, H. -Q. Mao, V. L. Truong-Le, K. Roy, S. M. Walsh, and J. T. August, J. Control. Rel., 53, 183 (1998).
- 225. S. J. Hwang, N. C. Bellocq, and M. E. Davis, *Bioconjug. Chem.*, 12,280 (2001).
- **226.** A. Ziady, T. Ferkol, D. Dawson, D. Perlmutter, and P. Davis, **J.** *Biol. Chem.*, **274,4908 (1999).**
- 227. W. Godbey, K. Wu, and A. Mikos, J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 45,268 (1999).
- 228. J-S. Remy, P. Abdallah, M. A. Zanta, O. Boussif, J. -P. Behr, and B. Demeneix, Adv. Drug Delivery Res., 30, 85 (1998).
- 229. R. Kircheis, S. Schiiller, S. Brunner, M. Ogris, K. H. Heider, W. Zauner, and E. Wagner, J. Gene Med., 1, 111 (1999).
- **230.** M. Ogris, S. Brunner, S. Schuller, R. Kircheis, and E. Wagner, *Gene Ther.*, 6,595 (1999).
- 231. I. Alvarez-Maya, I. Navarro-Quiroga, M. A. Meraz-Rios, J. Aceves, and D. Martinez-Fong, *Mol. Med.*, 7, 186 (2001).
- 232. H. Maruyama-Tabata, Y. Harada, T. Matsumura, E. Satoh, F. Cui, M. Iwai, M. Kita, S.

Hibi, J. Imanishi, T. Sawada, and O. Mazda, Gene Ther., **7**, **53** (2000).

- 233. J. F. Kukowska-Latallo, E. Raczka, A. Quintana, C. Chen, M. Rymaszewski, and J. R. Baker Jr., Hum. Gene Ther., 11, 1385 (2000).
- 234. A. U. Bielinska, A. Yen, H. L. Wu, K. M. Zahos, R. Sun, N. D. Weiner, J. R. Baker Jr., and B. J. Roessler, Biomaterials, 21,877 (2000).
- 235. M. P. Turunen, M. O. Hiltunen, M. Ruponen, L. Virkamaki, F. C. Szoka Jr., A. Urtti, and S. Yla-Herttuala, Gene Ther., 6,6 (1999).
- 236. M. X. Tang, C. T. Redeman, and F. C. Szoka Jr., Bioconjug. Chem., 7, 703 (1996).
- 237. J. F. Kukowska-Latallo, A. U. Bielinska, J. Johnson, R. Spindler, D. A. Tomalia, and J. R. Baker Jr., Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. USA*, 93,4897 (1996).
- 238. L. Qin, D. R. Pahud, Y. Ding, A. U. Bielinska, J. F. Kukowska-Latallo, J. R. Baker Jr., and J. S. Bromberg, Hum. Gene Ther., 9, 553 (1998).
- 239. K. W. Moore, P. Vieira, D. F. Fiorentino, M. L. Trounstine, T. A. Khan, and T. R. Mosmann, Science, 248, 1230 (1990).
- 240. D. H. Hsu, R. de Waal Malefyt, D. F. Fiorentino, M. N. Dang, P. Vieira, J. de Vries, H. Spits, T. R. Mosmann, and K. W. Moore, Science, 250,830 (1990).
- 241. L. Qin, K. D. Chavin, Y. Ding, H. Tahara, J. P. Favaro, J. E. Woodward, T. Suzuki, P. D. Robbins, M. T. Lotze, and J. S. Bromberg, J. Immunol., 156,2316 (1996).
- 242. L. Qin, Y. Ding, and J. S. Bromberg, Hum. Gene Ther., 7, 1981 (1996).
- 243. S. Li, Y. Tan, E. Viroonchatapan, B. R. Pitt, and L. Huang, *Am. J. Physiol.*, 278, L504 (2000).
- 244. T. Ferkol, J.C. Perales, E. Eckman, C. S. Kaetzel, R. W. Hanson, and P. B. Davis, J. Clin. Invest., 95,493 (1995).
- 245. T. Ferkol, A. P. Palle, E. Eckman, J. C. Perales, T. Trzaska, M. Tosi, R. Redline, and P. B. Davis, Gene Ther., 3, 669 (1996).
- 246. S. Yamamoto, E. Kuramoto, S. Shimada, and T. Tokunaga, Jpn. J. Cancer Res., 79, 866 (1988).

- **247. A. K.** Yi, J. H. Chace, J. S. Cowdery, and A. M. Krieg, J. Immunol., 156, 558 (1996).
- **248.** J.S. Cowdery, J.H. Chace, A. K. Yi, and A. M. Krieg, J. Immunol., **156**, **4570** (**1996**).
- **249.** M. Whitmore, S. Li, and L. Huang, Gene Ther., **6, 1867 (1999).**
- 250. A. P. Bird, Nature, 321,209 (1986).
- 251. A. M. Krieg, A. K. Yi, S. Matson, T. J. Waldschmidt, G. A. Bishop, R. Teasdale, G. A. Koretzky, and D. M. Klinman, Nature, 374, 546 (1995).
- **252.** D. M. Klinman, G. Yamshchikov, and Y. Ishigatsubo, *J.* Immunol., **158,3635** (1997).
- 253. T. Sparwasser, E. S. Koch, R. M. Vabulas, K. Heeg, G. B. Lipford, J. W. Ellwart, and H. Wagner, *Eur.* J. Immunol., 28, 2045 (1998).
- 254. T. Jakob, P. S. Walker, A. M. Krieg, M. C. Udey, and J. C. Vogel, J. Immunol., 161, 3042 (1998).
- **255.** Y. Tan, S. Li, B. R. Pitt, and L. Huang, Hum. Gene Ther., **10,2153 (1999).**
- 256. L. Qin, Y. Ding, D. R. Pahud, E. Chang, M. J. Imperiale, and J. S. Bromberg, Hum. Gene Ther., 8, 2019 (1997).
- 257. S. Li, S. P. Wu, M. Whitmore, E. J. Loeffert, L. Wang, S. C. Watkins, B. R. Pitt, and L. Huang, *Am. J.* Physiol., 276, L796–804 (1999).
- 258. L. Huang and S. Li, *Nat.* Biotechnol., 15, 620 (1997).
- 259. S. Li, W. C. Tseng, D. B. Stolz, S. P. Wu, S. C. Watkins, and L. Huang, Gene Ther., 6, 585 (1999).
- 260. N. S. Yew, K. X. Wang, M. Przybylska, R. G. Bagley, M. Stedman, J. Marshall, R. K. Scheule, and S. H. Cheng, Hum. Gene Ther., 10,223 (1999).
- 261. J. D. Tousignant, A. L. Gates, L. A. Ingram, C. L. Johnson, J. B. Nietupski, S. H. Cheng, S. J. Eastman, and R. K. Scheule, Hum. Gene Ther., 11,2493 (2000).
- **262.** C. R. Hofman, J. P. Dileo, Z. Li, S. Li, and L. Huang, Gene Ther., **8**, **71** (2001).
- 263. N. S. Yew, H. Zhao, I. H. Wu, A. Song, J. D. Tousignant, M. Przybylska, and S. H. Cheng, Mol. Ther., 1,255 (2000).
- **264.** Y. K. Song, F. Liu, and D. Liu, Gene Ther., 5, **1531** (1998).

Terms that begin with numbers are indexed as if the number were spelled out; e.g., "3D models" is located as if it were spelled "ThreeD models."

A-23187,214 A-63162,213 A-64077,213 A-79175,214 A-79176,214 A-787733,214 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) biguanides, 21-23 a-glucosidase inhibitors, 31-33 insulin and analogs, 5-8 insulinotropic agents, 15–17 thiazolidinediones, 24 ABT-080,219 ABT-761,214-215 ABT-963,240 Acarbose, 31, 32, 33, 34-36, 36 Accolate, 225-226 Accutane, 320,373 Acetohexamide, 12, 16 Acetrizoate, 497 angiography application, 569 histamine release, 558 neurotoxicity, 555 particulate, 576 pharmacokinetics, 561 properties, 504 protein binding, 556, 557 urography application, 571 Acetyl CoA carboxylase biotin dependent, 404 N-Acetyltransferase-2 single nucleotide polymorphism~630 Acitretin, 320, 373374 Acne retinoids used for, 372-373 Actos, 25 Acute coronary syndrome single gene pharmacogenetic studies in genes influencing progression, 638-639

Acyclovir classification in various countries, 430 Adapalene, 320, 373 Adaptive toxicological responses to UV radiation, 464-465 Adenine, 619 Adequate Intake, 368 biotin, 405 folic acid, 411 niacin, 397 pantothenic acid, 402 vitamin A, 371 vitamin B, 389 vitamin B₂, 392 vitamin B₆, 400 vitamin C, 418 vitamin D, 379 vitamin E, 384 vitamin K, 387 ADME studies. See Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) Adrenalin role in insulin regulation, 2 a-Adrenergic receptor gene expresion profiling study, 612  $\beta_1$ -Adrenergic receptor single nucleotide polymorphism~635-636  $\beta_2$ -Adrenergic receptor single nucleotide polymorphism~636 β-Adrenergic receptor antagonists. See 0-Blockers Advanced glycation end-products (AGEs), 4 Advance notice of proposed rulemaking, 425 Adverse drug events defined, 545-546 reporting, 473-474 Adverse drug reactions defined, 546 Albumin. See Serum albumin Albuterol impact of polymorphisms on effectiveness, 636

Aldose reductase in diabetes, 3-4 Alitretinoin, 320, 374 Allele-specific amplification, 624 Alopecia, 433. See also Hair growth disorder drugs Alosteron removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Alprostadil, 299–301, 442 adverse effects, 443 development of, 448 mechanism of action, 446 pharmacokinetics, 444 structure-activity relationship, 447 Alternative macrophage activation-associated CC chemokine (AMAC), 150 Alzheimer's disease single gene pharmacogenetic studies in genes influencing progression, 638-639 Amaryl, 13 AMD2763, 168 AMD3100, 168-170 AMD3329, 168 **AMI** 25 radiopaque material, 491 **AMI** 227 radiopaque material, 491 Amidotrizoate neurotoxicity, 554 Amino acids novel chi-constrained, 52 Arninobenzoate sunscreens, 460, 461 absorption and disposition, 462-463 development of, 470 structure-activity relationship, 467-468 Amiodarone P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Amitriptyline CYP2D6 substrate, 627

Amlodipine CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 AMP-activated protein kinase system role in carbohydrate metabolism, 23 a-Amylases, 33 Amylopectin, 33 Amylose, 33 Anagen phase, of hair growth, 425 Anakinra, 174 Androgenetic alopecia, 433, 435, 440 Angiogenesis plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 656 Angiography, 567. See also Radiopaques CT application, 568 radiopaques applications, 569-570 Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) single nucleotide polymorphims in insertion/deletion, 633 Angiotensin, receptor single nucleotide polymorphims, 633–635 Anthracyclines P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Anthranilate sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 469 Antibody microarrays, 600 Anticancer drugs COX-2 selective inhibitors, 249-250 lipiodol as carrier for, 494 retinoids, 374 Anticancer gene therapy plasmid DNA-mediated, 653 Antisense technology for gene expression profiling, 613 with plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 666 **AOP-RANTES** ligand and CCR1, 137 and CCR3, 150 and CCR5, 155 CCR1 antagonist, 139 Aortography, 567. See also Radiopaques Apex, 624 Aphrodyne, 442

Apolipropotein E impact of polymorphisms on Alzheimer's, 637, 638-639 Apomorphine, 450 Arachidonic acid leukotriene biosynthesis from, 205-207 Arginine vasopressin, 67 Arteriography, 567. See also Radiopaques CT application, 568 N-Arylsulfonamides selective COX-2 inhibitors, 241-242 Ascorbic acid, 399. See also Vitamin C Aspirin discovery, 230 effects on COX-1,244-245 IL-12 inhibition, 180 warning label, 427 Astemizole **CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Asthma and leukotrienes, 210 Atorvastatin P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 single nucleotide polymorphism influencing response to. 644 Autoimunne diseases plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 656 Avandia, 25 **Avidin**, 405 Avobenzone mechanism of action, 466 structure-activity relationship, 469-470 sunscreen, 460 Baby-boomer consumers, 423 Baldness, 433. See also Hair growth disorder drugs Barium meals, 488 Barium metatitanate radiopaque material, 493 Barium sulfate radiopaque, 487-489 Barium titanate radiopaque material, 488,493

Basal cell carcinoma, 465

Basen, 32

Basophils chemokine/cytokine receptors, 133 Bayer ~7195,222-223 Bay X1005, 217-219 Bay **Y1015**, 218 **B**-cells chemokine/cytokine receptors, 133 Benzophenone sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 469 Beriberi, 387-388,389  $\beta_2$ -Antagonists. See  $\beta$ -Blockers  $\beta$ -Blockers gene expression profiling study, 612 Bexarotene, 320,374 Biguanides, 21–24 BIIL 284,228,229 Bioassays peptide hormones, 52 **Bioinformatics** DNA microarrays, 605-606 and gene expression profiling, 614 Biotin, 402-405 deficiency, 405 hypervitaminosis biotin, 405 in leucine catabolism, 406 vitamin status assays, 367 Bis-ethylhexyloxyphenol methoxyphenol triazine (BEMT), 472 **Bismuth subnitrate** radiopaque, 489 Bis-triiodo-1,3-benezenedicarboxamide radiopaques, 497 Bis-triiodobenzoate radiopaques, 497 Blockbuster drugs, 422, 423 B-lymphocytes. See B-cells BMS 180549 radiopaque material, 491 Bordetellapertussis toxin effect on chemokines, 134 **BP-897** experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 BR2 radiopaque material, 574 **BR21** radiopaque material, 574 Brain creatine kinase plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 655

Breast cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 608 tissue attenuation of x-rays, 486 Bremsstrahlung, 484 Bromfenac removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Brompheniramine over-the-counter status, 426 Bronchography, 567. See also Radiopaques Bunamiodyl biotransformation, 565 cholecystography application, 570 Bupropion, 451,452 adverse effects, 453 development of, 457-458 mechanism of action, 455 pharmacokinetics, 453–454 for sexual disorders, 450 structure-activity relationship, 456-457 B/U ratio, of contrast agents, 538 **BW-A4C**, 213 BW-B70C, 213-214 **BW-755C**, 212 **BX471**, 142–143 Calcipotriene, 378 Calcitonin and vitamin D, 376,377 Calcitriol, 377 Calcium regulation by vitamin D family, 376–377 Calcium pantothenate, 401,402 Calcium tungstate radiopaque material, 493 Cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 606-608 and COX-2 selective inhibitors, 249-250 Captopril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 Carbohydrate metabolism. See also Glucose enzymes involved in, 33-37 role of insulin, 2 Carboprost, 305 Carbutamide, 18

Carcinogenesis UV radiation effects, 465–466 Cardioangiography CT application, 568 Carisoprodol CYP2C19 substrate, 627 a-Carotene, 369 β-Carotene, 320321,368-370 asymmetrical cleavage, 322-323 symmetrical cleavage, 321-322  $\gamma$ -Carotene, 369 Carotenes, 368-371 Carotenoids, 320–321 Catagen phase, of hair growth, 425 Caverjet, 442 **CC1** receptor, 133,138–139 antibodies, 139 peptide antagonists, 139 small molecule antagonists, 139 - 143CC2 receptor, 133,143–144 antibodies, 144 peptide antagonists, 144–145 small molecule antagonists, 145 - 148CC3 receptor, 133,148–149 antibodies, 149 peptide antagonists, 149–150 small molecule antagonists, 150 - 152CC4 receptor, 133, 152–153 CC5 receptor, 133, 153-154 antibodies, 154-155 peptide antagonists, 155 small molecule antagonists, 155-159 CC6 receptor, 133, 159–160 **CC7** receptor, 133, 160–161 CC8 receptor, 133, 161 CC9 receptor, 133 **CC10** receptor, 133 CC receptors, 132, 133, 136–138 CD437, 350 cDNA in plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 652 **cDNA** microarray chips, 604 Celebrex, 204,233,234–235 clinical efficacy and safety, 248 - 249Celecoxib, 234–235, 239 assays, selectivities, and potencies, 245

clinical efficacy and safety, 248-249 CYP2C9 substrate, 627 in vivo models, 246 Cell-cell communication, 130-131 Cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 606-608 Cell surface receptors, 130 Cellular retinol binding protein, 323,324 Central nervous system cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608 Cerivastatin removed/restricted by FDA, 642 single nucleotide polymorphism influencing response to, 644 CGP-28238,242 CGS-25019c, 228,229 Chemoinformatics and bioinformatics, 614 Chemokine modulators, 130-131 Chemokine receptors, 130–131 binding site model, 137 biology, 131–134 CCR1, 133, 138-143 CCR2, 133,143–148 CCR3, 133, 148–152 CCR4, 133, 152–153 CCR5, 133, 153–159 CCR6, 133, 159–160 CCR7, 133, 160–161 CCR8, 133, 161 CCR9, 133 **CCR10**, 133 CC receptors, 132, 133, 136– 138 CXCR1, 161–165 CXCR2, 161–165 CXCR3, 165-166 CX₃CR1, 133 CXCR4, 166–170 **CXC** receptors, 132, 133, **136**– 138 ligand structure, 135 model of, 132 mutation and chimera studies, 137 sequence alignment of CC and CXC, 136 signaling, 135

Chemokine receptors (Continued) viral chemokines, 170-172 XCR1. 133 Chemokines, 130-131 inducible vs. constitutive, 134 ChemR1, 161 ChemR13, 153 Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase, 27 Chlorpheniramine over-the-counterstatus, 426 Chlorpropamide, 11, 12, 16 Cholangiography, 567. See also Radiopaques radiopaques applications, 569-570 Cholecalciferol, 374, 375. See also Vitamin  $D_3$ keto and oxime analogs, 381 Cholecystography, 567. See also Radiopaques pharmacokinetics of radiopaques, 559-562 radiopaques applications, 570 Chylomicrons reconstituted fragments for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 667 CI-1004,246-247 Ciglitazone, 28 Cimetidine classification in various countries, 430 Cinchophen pretreatment effect on radiopaques, 563 Cinnamate sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 469 Cinoxate structure-activity relationship, 469 sunscreen, 460 Cisapride CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Cisplatin gene expression profiling study of drug response, 609 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Citalopram CYP2C19 substrate, 627 CKR-L1, 161 CKR-L3, 159 Clarithromycin CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631

**Clinical trials** gene expression profiling of drug response subsets, 610 and pharmacogenomics, 641-644 Clomipramine CYP2C19 substrate, 627 Clonidine yohimbine reverses ejaculation inhibition, 446 Clotrimazole (vaginal) classification in various countries, 430 **Clustering methods** with DNA microarrays, 606 CMI 477 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Cobalamin, 405,408,411-415. See also Vitamin  $B_{12}$ Codeine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Codons, 619 Coenzyme A, 401 Cold medicines OTC Drug Review, 426 Colon cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608 COMPARE program, 609 Compton scattering, 485 Computer-assisted tomography (CAT) radiopaques applications, 495, 567-568 x-ray energies used, 484 Concerned member states, 429 Conjugase, 406 Constitutive chemokines, 134 Contrast agents. See Radiopaques Cortisol (hydrocortisone) CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 over-the-counterstatus, 426 role in insulin regulation, 2 Corticosteroids premedication for contrast agents, 545 Cosmeceuticals, 423, 473 Cotinine experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 COX-1,205,230-232 role in prostaglandin synthesis, 232-233

COX-2.205.231-232 role in prostaglandin synthesis, 232–233 COX-2 inhibitors, 204–205. See also Leukotrienes agents inhibiting both 5-10 and COX-2,246-248 assays, selectivities, and potencies, 245-246 clinical efficacy and safety of selective, 248-250 irreversible, 244-245 selective, 204,234-246 selective nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, 242-244 in vivo models, 246 CP 526555 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 **CS 891** experimental hair growth drug, 441 **CXC1** receptor, 133, 161–162 antibodies. 162 peptide antagonists, 162-163 small molecule antagonists, 163-165 CXC2 receptor, 133, 161–162 antibodies, 162 peptide antagonists, 162–163 small molecule antagonists, 163-165 CXC3 receptor, 133,165–166 antibodies, 166 small molecule antagonists, 166 CX₃C1 receptor, 133 CXC4 receptor, 133, 166-167 antibodies, 167 peptide antagonists, 167–168 small molecule antagonists, 168 - 170CXC5 receptor, 133 CXC6 receptor, 133 CXC receptors, 132,133, 136-138 Cyanocobalamin, 413 Cyclin-dependent kinase 2 gene expression profiling of drug response, 611,612 Cyclin-dependent kinase cdc28p gene expression profiling of drug response, 611-612 Cyclooxygenase 1/2 inhibitors. See COX-1 inhibitors; COX-2 inhibitors

Cyclooxygenases, 229. See also COX-1; COX-2; COX-1 inhibitors; COX-2 inhibitors prostaglandin discovery and **NSAIDs**, 229–230 Cyclosporine **CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 cytokine IL-1 downregulation, 173 cytokine IL-2 downregulation, 175 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Cyclosporine A cytokine IL-5 downregulation, 177 Cycloxygenase-derived eicosanoids, 233 Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 664 Cytarabine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Cytochrome P450 and leukotriene biosynthesis, 205,207 polymorphisms in **CYP3A4**/ 5/7, 626, 629-630 polymorphisms in CYP2C9, 626,628-629 polymorphisms in CYP2C19, 626,629 polymorphisms in CYP2D6, 626-628 Cytochrome P450 3A polymorphisms in, 626, 629-630 and vitamin D, 378 Cytokine modulators, 130–131, 172 - 173**IFN**_{*γ*}, 183–184 IL-1,173-174 IL-2, 174-175 IL-4,175-176 IL-5, 176–178 IL-6, 178–180 IL-12,180-181 IL-13,181–182 **TNF**α, 182–183 Cytokines, 130. See also specific cytokines such as Erythropoietin Cytokine syndrome, 175 Cytosine, 619

Cytotoxicity plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 653,669-670 Dactinomycin P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Darbufelone, 246–247 Daunorubicin P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Debrisoquine, 627–628 hypotension from, 619 β Defensins CCR6 binding, 159 7-Dehydrocholecalciferol, 374, 375 7-Dehydrocholesterol, 374–375 Delta opioid receptor ligands, 69 - 75Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis, 622 Denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (**dHPLC**), 622 Dendritic cell-derived chemokine (**DCCK**), 150 Deoxynorjirimycin, 36 Desicocytes, 548 Desipramine clinical trial using genotyping, 643 CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Dexamethasone P-glycoprotein inducer, 631 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Dexfenfluramine removedlrestricted by FDA, 642 Dextromethorphan CYP2D6 substrate, 627 DFP, 240 DFU, 239-240 DHT. See  $5\alpha$ -Dihydrotestosterone Diabeta, 13 Diabetes mellitus. See also Insulin and hypoglycemic agents type 1, 2-4 type 2, 2–4 Diabetic nephropathy, 3 Diabetic retinopathy, 3 Diabinese, 12 Diacylglycerol elevation in hyperglycemia, 4 *N-N-*Diallylmelanine (DAM) hair growth candidate drug, 438

Diamicron, 13 1,2-Diaminoyclohexane-N-,N'tetraacetic acid radiopaque chelating agent, 489 Diatrizoate, 494, 497, 536, 537 adverse reactions, 544 analysis, 539 angiography application, 569 biotransformation, 565,566 cardiovascular effects, 550, 551 cations used with, 541,542 excretion, 563, 565 histamine release, 558–559 hyperosmolality, 542,543 liposome encapsulated, 573, 575 myelography application, 571 nephrotoxicity, 552 neurotoxicity, 553,554, 555 osmolality, 538,539 particulate, 576 pharmacokinetics, 561, 562 pharmacology, 540 properties, 504 protein binding, 556, 557 red blood cell effects, 549 spiral CT application, 569 urography application, 571 Diazepam CYP2C19 substrate. 627 Dibenzoylmethane sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 469-470 Diclofenac classification in various countries, 430 Didesmethylsibutramine, 450 Dietary Reference Intakes, 361, 363-368 pantothenic acid, 400 vitamin A family, 371–372 vitamin B, (cobalamin), 415 vitamin **B**₆ family, 400 vitamin B, (riboflavin), 392 vitamin  $B_1$  (thiamine), 389– 392 vitamin D family, 379 vitamin E family, 384–385 vitamin K family, 387 Dietary supplements, 424 and future of over-the-counter drugs, 473 increased popularity of, 422, 423

**Dietary Supplements Education** and Health Act, 422 Diethanolamine methoxycinnamate, 471-472 Diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid radiopaque chelating agent, 489-490 Differin, 320 Differin Gel, 373 Diffuse androgen dependent alopecia, 433 Digoxin P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase gene expression effect on 5-fluoruracil, 609 single nucleotide polymorphism~630  $5\alpha$ -Dihydrotestosterone (DHT) and hair growth, 435, 436, 439 Diiodophenyl alkanoate radiopaques, 497 Diiodopyridone radiopaques, 497 Diltiazem CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Dimethiodal sodium, 497 Dinoprost, 302 Dinoprosterone, 301302 Diodone neurotoxicity,555 Diodrast, 541 Dioxybenzone structure-activity relationship, 469 sunscreen, 460 Diphenhydramine over-the-counter status, 426 Diprotrizoate, 497 angiography application, 569 neurotoxicity, 554, 555 properties, 504 Directive 92/26/EEC, 428 Direct-to-consumeradvertising, 422 DNA. 619. See also Recombinant DNA technology DNA chips, 600 DNA insertion/deletion mutations, 620 **DNA** microarrays fabrication, 600-601 for gene expression analysis, 600-606

684

for genotyping, 622, 624-625 interpretation and bioinformatics, 605-606 DNA sequencers, 621 Docetaxel P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 L-Dopa interaction with vitamin  $B_6$ family, 399-400 Dose-response curves vitamins, 362 Dovenex, 378 Doxercalciferol, 377, 378 Doxorubicin P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Drug characterization DNA microarray application, 604 Drug Efficacy Study Implementation, 424 **Drug** interactions vitamin  $\mathbf{B}_{6}$  family, 399–400 vitamin D family, 379-380 Drug metabolizing enzymes polymorphisms in, 626-631 Drug target genes polymorphisms in, 632–636 Drug transporter genes polymorphisms in, 631-632 **DRY6**, 159 Duchenne muscular dystrophy plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 654,655 **DuP** 697,234,239 Durham-Humphrey amendment (to Food and Drug Act), 424, 426 Dutasteride experimental hair growth drug, 440, 441 Dyclonine gene expression profiling study, 613 Dymelor, 12 Early endosomes, 662 Echinocytes, 548 EDTA. See Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid Eflornithine, 433 adverse effects, 434,435 development of, 440 mechanism of action, 436-437

Eicosanoids, 204–205

biosynthesis, 205

cycloxygenase-derived, 233

Electroporation for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 656–657 **ELISA-type** assays for single base primer extension detection, 623 EM 250 experimental hair growth drug, 441 Emulsions iodinated suspension radiopaques, 575-576 for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 658,666-667 Enalapril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 ENA 78 ligand and CXCR2, 161 Enbrel, 182 Endosomal acidic insulinase, 8 England. See United Kingdom Enkephalins analogs leading to receptorspecific ligands and nonpeptide ligands, 70–75 Enzyme-based genotyping technologies, 622-624 Eosinophils chemokine/cytokine receptors, 133 Eotaxin and CCR3, 148-152 Eotaxin 1,149 Eotaxin 2,148,149 Eotaxin 3,148 Epidermal growth factor plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy studies, 658,666 EPO. See Erythropoietin Epoprostenol, 302–303 Epristeride, 438 Erectile dysfunction, 445-446, 448 Erections, 444-445 Ergocalciferol, 362, 374, 376 Erythrocytes contrast media effects on, 547-550 Erythromycin CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Erythropoietin, 130 Esophagography, 567. See also Radiopaques Essential amino acids, 362 Essential fatty acids, 362

Estimated Average Requirement, 363,368 folic acid, 411 niacin, 397 vitamin A, 371 vitamin B,, 389 vitamin B, 392 vitamin B, 400 vitamin C, 418 vitamin E, 384 Estradiol **CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 Estrogens for female unwanted hair growth, 434 Etanercept, 182,183 Ethiodol emulsified, 575 liposome encapsulated, 575 radiopaque material, 493–494 Ethyl diiodostearate radiopaque material, 493 Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) radiopaque chelating agent, 489-490 Ethyl triiodostearate radiopaque material, 493 Etodolac, 242-243 Etoposide gene expression profiling study of drug response, 609 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Etoricoxib, 235,236 Etrinate, 373-374 **European** Union over-the-counter classification in, 428–430 Exons, 619 Expression analysis/profiling DNA microarrays for analysis, 600-606 profiling applications in drug research, 606–614 Factor **VII** impact of polymorphisms on acute coronary syndrome, 637,638 FAD, 393, 394, 397 FADH, 394 FADH., 394 Famotidine classification in various countries, 430 Farglitazar, 29–30

Fas ligand plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 654 Fat soluble vitamins, 368 Fatty acids and insulin resistance, 28 role of insulin in metabolism, 2 - 3FDA. See Food and Drug Administration Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act of 1938 and over-the-counter **drugs**, 424 Felbamate removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Female-pattern baldness, 433, 435 Female sexual dysfunction, 440, 441 - 442**Ferrites** radiopaque, 487, 489 radiopaque, ultrasmall, 487, 490 - 492Fexofenadine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Fiber-optic biosensor arrays, 614 Fibrinogen binding to contrast agents, 558 Final monograph, over-thecounter drugs, **425–426** Finasteride, 433 adverse effects, 434-435 development of, 439-440 mechanism of action, 436 structure-activity relationship, 437-438 FK506 cytokine IL-1 downregulation, 173 cytokine IL-2 downregulation, 173 cytokine IL-5 downregulation, 177 FK3311, 241-242 Flosulide, 242 in vivo models, 246 Flumizole, 234–235 Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) detection for genotyping, 622, 623,625 5-Fluorouracil and DPD polymorphisms, 630

effect of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase expression on, 609 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Fluoxetine **CYP2D6** substrate, 627 for premature ejaculation, 443 Flurbiprofen, 244 FMN, 393, 394, 397 **FMNH**, 394 FMNH,, 394 Folic acid, 399, 405 and cobalamin, 415 deficiency, 407-411 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 401 hypervitaminosis folic acid, 411 uptake and metabolism, 405– 407 vitamin status assays, 367 Food and Drug Administration (FDA) over-the-counterdrugs, 424-428 sunscreen regulation history, 467,470-472 5-Formyl tetrahydrofolate polyglutamate, 407 10-Formyl tetrahydrofolate polyglutamate, 406,407,410 Fosinopril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 FPL-55712,221 FPL-55712-derived compounds, 221-222 FR-228352,235-236 Fractalkine, 132 Fusin, 166 Gadobenate dimeglumine radiopaque material, 492 Gadobutrol radiopaque material, 492 red blood cell effects, 549 Gadodiamide radiopaque material, 492 Gadolinium chelates radiopaque, 490-492,535 Gadolinium-DTPA radiopaque material, 490, 491–492 red blood cell effects, 549 Gadopenamide radiopaque material, 492

Gadopentetate dimeglumine radiopaque material, 492 Gadoteric acid radiopaque material, 492 Gadoteridol radiopaque material, 492 Gadoversetamide radiopaque material, 492 Gadoxetic acid radiopaque material, 492 Gadozelite radiopaque material, 492 Gastric acid secretion inhibitors, 86-88 Ach-muscarinic-receptor-mediated secretion, 97 acid production, 88–90 CCK₂/gastrin-receptor antagonists, 119 H. Pylori, 93–94 histamine H₂-receptor-mediated secretion, 97–103 hormones regulating, 89–90 physiology, 90–91 proton-pump inhibition, 103-117 receptor-mediated processing regulating, 97-103 reflux esophagitis, 94–95 reversible proton-pump inhibitors, 117–119 targets under investigation, 117-119 ulcer disease, 91–92 in vitro assays for, 95-96 in vivo assays for, 96–97 Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, 92-93 Gastritis, 86 Gastroesophageal reflux disease, 86 GCP-2 ligand and CXCR1/CXCR2, 161, 162 Gemoprost, 303 GeneChip, 624 GeneChips fabrication, 601 hybridization, 604–605 Gene deletions, 620 Gene duplication, 620 Gene expression and drug response, 608–610 GeneFlex, 624 Gene function determination DNA microarrays for, 604

Gene gun for **plasmid** DNA-mediated gene therapy, 657–658 Generally regarded as efficacious (GRAE), 424 Generally regarded as safe (GRAS), 424 Gene therapy, 652 Gene therapy, plasmid DNAmediated. See Plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy Genetics, 618 Genome, 619 Genomics and DNA microarrays, 600 and increased demand of consumers for control of their health, 422 simulating effects of **drugs**, 612-614 Genotype relative risk, 643 Genotyping, 600. See also Single nucleotide polymorphisms combined enzymatic/hybridization approaches, 625–626 costs, 644 hybridization-based, 624-625 polymerase chain reactionrestriction fragment length polymorphism, 622–623 pyrosequencing, 624 single base primer extension, 623-624 use in clinical trials, 642-644 when to use, 621 Germany over-the-counterclassification, 428 GG-745,440 GI-198745,440 Gliclazide, 13, 16 Glimepiride, 11, 13, 16, 20 binding paramaters, 18 CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Glinide insulinotropic agents, 11, 14–20 Glipizide, 11, 13, 15, 16, 20 binding paramaters, 18 CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Glucagon role in insulin regulation, 2 Glucagon-like polypeptide 1, 34 Glucoamylase-maltase, 33–36 Glucocorticoids cytokine IL-1 downregulation, 172,175

cytokine IL-5 downregulation, 177 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Gluconeogenesis insulin's role in regulating, 2 Glucophage, 22 Glucose. See also Diabetes mellitus; Insulin and hypoglycemic agents normal range of plasma, 4 utilization by insulin, 2-4 Glucose toxicity, 3 a-Glucosidase inhibitors, 3137 a-Glucosidases, 33-37 Glucotrol, 13 Glutathione and vitamin E, 381,383 Glyburide, 11, 13, 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, 26binding paramaters, 18 Glycogen role of insulin in synthesis, 2 Glycogenolysis insulin's role in regulating, 2 Glycoprotein IIIa impact of polymorphisms on acute coronary syndrome, 637,638 Glynase, 13 Glyset, 32 Gold radiopaque material, 486 GPCRs (G-protein-coupled receptors) prostanoid receptors as, 277– 278 GPCRs (G-protein-coupled receptors), 7-transmembrane and chemokines, 131,132,135 GPR-CY4, 159 Grapafloxacin removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Great Britain. See United Kingdom **GRO***a* ligand and CXCR2, 161 **GRO**^β ligand and CXCR2, 161 **GRO**_y ligand and CXCR2, 161 Growth hormone role in insulin regulation, 2 Guanine, 619 Gulonolactone oxidase, 417

GW 320659 experimental **smoking** cessation agent, 459 GW 468816 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Habitrol, 452 Hair growth disorder **drugs**, 433 adverse effects, 434 chemistry and structure-activity relationship, 437-438 clinical use, 433-435 hair growth physiology, 435 history and future trends, 438 - 440pharmacokinetics, 434-435 physiology and pharmacology, 435-437 role of 5-a-reductase, 435 Haplotypes, 620 Heavy metal radiopaques, 486-493 Hectoral, 378 Helicobacter Pylori, 93–94 Hemagglutinins plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 657 Hemoglobin glycosylated fraction as indicator of glycemic control, 4 Hepatography, 567. See also Radiopaques Hepatolienography,567. See also Radiopaques Herpesviruses chemokine receptors, 170-171 Hexobarbital CYP2C19 substrate, 627 HHS-8 virus, 171 Higher osmolality intravascular contrast agents, 495, 538 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) denaturing, 622 High pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC), 48 Hirsutism, 433, 440 H N fusion proteins and CXCR4, 166-170 HIV-1 virus CCR5 and CXCR4 receptors, 154–155 HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. See Statins Homing receptors. See Selectins

Homocysteine, 399, 408, 412 Homosalate structure-activity relationship, 468 sunscreen, 460 Hounsfield Unit, 567 Humalog, 7 Human Genome Project and pharmacogenomics, 618, 619 Human genome sequencing, 618 and gene expression analysis, 600 Human serum albumin. See Serum albumin HUMSTR, 166 Humulin, 7 Hybridization-based genotyping, 624-625 Hydrocortisone. See Cortisol Hydroperoxy-eicosatetraenoic acid, 205 Hydroxy bupropion experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 N-,N'-(2-Hydroxycyclohexyl)ethylene-diaminediaceticacid radiopaque chelating agent, 489 2-Hydroxycyclohexylethylenediaminetriaceticacid radiopaque chelating agent, 489 Hydroxy-eicosatetraenoic acid, 205  $\beta$ -Hydroxyethylethylene diaminetriacetic acid radiopaque chelating agent, 489 Hydroxyhexamide, 16 Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors. See Statins 14-Hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol, 327-328 *N*-Hydroxyureas 5-lipoxygenase inhibitors, 213-216 Hypercarotenosis, 371 Hypercholesterolemia single gene pharmacogenetic studies in genes influencing progression, 639-641 Hyperglycemia, 2-4 Hyperinsulinemia, 3 Hypervitaminosis A, 319, 370-371

Hypervitaminosis biotin, 405 Hypervitaminosis C, 417 Hypervitaminosis D, 379 Hypervitaminosis E, 384 Hypervitaminosis folic acid, 411 Hypervitaminosis K, 387 Hypervitaminosis niacin, 395-397 Hypervitaminosis pantothenic acid, 401 Hypervitaminosis pyridoxine, 400 Hypervitaminosis riboflavin, 389 Hypervitaminosisthiamine, 389 Hypervitaminosis vitamin B,,, 415 Hypoglycemia, 2 side effect of insulin replacement therapy, 5 Hypoglycemic agents. See Insulin and hypoglycemic agents Hysterosalpinography, 567. See also Radiopaques I-309, 161 Ibuprofen CYP2C9 substrate, 627 IC-351,450 ICI 198,615,225-226 ICI 204,219,225-226 Idiopathic hirsutism, 433,440 **IES-40** radiopaque material, 577 **IES-200** radiopaque material, 577 IFN-a. See Interferon a IFN-y. See Interferon  $\gamma$ **IL-1***α*, 173 **IL-1**β, 173 Iletin II, 7 Iloprost, 304305 IL-1R accessory protein, 173 Imidapril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 Imipramine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Imodium, 427 Impotency, 432, 440-450 Incontinence, 432 Incretins, 34 Indinavir CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631

Indolotropane,146

Indomethacin, 243 in vivo models, 246 Inducible chemokines, 134 Inflammation animal models, 246 role of chemokines, 131–132 Infliximab, 182–183 Insulin controlled substance, 423 Insulin, animal, 5 Insulin, [AspB10]-, 10–11 Insulin, genetically engineered, Insulin analogs, 4–11 Insulin and hypoglycemic agents, 1-11 biguanides, 21-24 formulations for subcutaneous injection, 7  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitors, 31-37 thiazolidinediones, 2431 Insulin aspart, 6, 7,9 development of, 11 receptor binding affinities, 10 Insulin-degradingenzyme, 8 Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. See Diabetes mellitus, type 1 Insulin detemir, 11 Insulin glargine, 6, 7,9 development of, 11 receptor binding affinities, 10 Insulin lente, 6, 7 Insulin-like growth factor 1 insulin binding, 9–10 Insulin lispro, 6, 7, 9 development of, 11 receptor binding affinities, 10 Insulinotropic agents, 11–20 Insulin receptor, 9 Insulin resistance, 3 and free fatty acids, 28 Insulin-sensitizing agents, 20 - 31Insulin ultralente, 6, 7, 9 Interdigitation-fusion vesicles, 573 Interferon  $\gamma$ IL-5 modulator, 177 modulator studies, 183–184 plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 656, 669-670 Interleukin-1, 656 modulator studies, 173-174

Interleukin-2 glucocorticoid downregulation, 172modulator studies, 174–175 Interleukin-4 modulator studies, 175–176 plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 656 Interleukin-5 glucocorticoid downregulation, 172modulator studies, 176–178 Interleukin-6 modulator studies, 178–180 plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 657 Interleukin-8 and CXCR1/CXCR2, 161-164 mutation and chimera studies, 137 Interleukin-10 plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 656 Interleukin-12, 656 glucocorticoid downregulation, 172modulator studies, 180-181 Interleukin-13 modulator studies, 181–182 Interleukins, 130 Internet increased availability of medical information on, 423 Intrahepatic anion-binding Y protein binding to contrast agents, 557 Invader assay, 625 Invasive cleavage assays, 625 Investigational New Drugs Application Process over-the-counterdrugs, 428 In vitro assays gastric acid secretion inhibitors, 95-96 In vivo assays gastric acid secretion inhibitors, 96-97 Iobenzamate biotransformation, 566 Iobenzamic acid, 497 properties, 506 Iobitridol, 497 excretion, 564 nephrotoxicity, 552 properties, 506

Iobutoic acid, 497 properties, 506 Iocarmate excretion, 565 pharmacokinetics, 562 Iocarmic acid, 497 angiography application, 569 hyperosmolality, 543 myelography application, 571 properties, 508 synthesis, 514,515 Iocetamic acid, 497 cholecystography application, 570 excretion, 563 isomerism, 515 properties, 506 synthesis, 512, 513 Iodamide, 497 angiography application, 569 excretion, 564 neurotoxicity, 554 pharmacokinetics, 561 properties, 504 urography application, 571 Iodamide meglumine, 497 Iodecol, 497 osmolality, 538,539 properties, 510 spiral CT application, 569 Iodinated particulate suspensions radiopaques, 572-577 Iodinated polymer radiopaques, 577 Iodine x-ray cross-section, 486 Iodine organic radiopaque compounds, 495–512 pharmacology, 540-566 potential nonionic, 518–535 structure-activity relationship, 517, 531–539 synthesis, 512-517 Iodipamide, 497 adverse reactions, 544 biotransformation,566 cholangiography application, 569-570 excretion, 562, 563 histamine release, 558 liposome encapsulated, 573 pharmacokinetics, 559–562 properties, 508 protein binding, 556–557 urography application, 571

Iodixanol, 497,538 cardiovascular effects, 551 cations used with, 542 development of, 495 excretion, 564 isomerism, 516 liposome encapsulated, 574 nephrotoxicity, 552 neurotoxicity, 554, 555, 556 osmolality, 539 pharmacokinetics, 562 properties, 510 protein binding, 556 red blood cell effects, 548,549 Iodized oil radiopaques, 493-495 Iodoalphionate biotransformation, 565, 566 Iodoalphionic acid, 495,497 cholecystography application, 570 isomerism, 515 properties, 511 6-Iodoethylated starch, 577 Iodohippurate sodium, 497 urography application, 571 Iodomethamate angiography application, 569 neurotoxicity, 555 urography application, 571 Iodophendylate, 497 properties, 511 Iodophenyl alkanoate radiopaques, 497 Iodophthalein, 497 Iodopyracet, 497,541 angiography application, 569 biotransformation, 566 myelography application, 570 pharmacokinetics,561 properties, 511 protein binding, 557 urography application, 571 Iodoxamate biotransformation, 566 pharmacokinetics, 559–561 Iodoxamate meglumine, 497 Iodoxamic acid, 497 cholangiography application, 570 excretion, 562,563 pharmacokinetics, 559 properties, 508 Iodoxyl, 497 properties, 511 Iofatrol neurotoxicity, 555

Iofratol. 497 osmolality, 539 properties, 510 Ioglicic acid, 497 properties, 504 Ioglucol, 497 properties, 507 Ioglucomide, 497 properties, 507 Ioglunide, 497 neurotoxicity, 555 properties, 508 Ioglycamic acid, 497 biotransformation,565 cholangiography application, 570 excretion, 562, 563 properties, 509 protein binding, 556, 557 Ioglycamide biotransformation,566 cholangiography application, 570 histamine release, 559 pharmacokinetics, 559–560 Iogulamide, 497 properties, 508 Iohexol, 494, 497, 531 adverse reactions, 546 analysis, 539 angiography application, 569 cardiovascular effects, 550 cations used with, 541,542 development of, 495 excretion, 563-564 histamine release, 559 isomerism, 515 liposome encapsulated, 573 nephrotoxicity, 551, 552 neurotoxicity, 554, 555, 556 osmolality, 538,539 particulate, 576 pharmacokinetics. 561 pharmacology, 540 properties, 506 protein binding, 556, 557–558 red blood cell effects, 548,549 spiral CT application, 568 synthesis, 513, 514 Iolidonic acid, 497 biotransformation, 565 properties, 505 10lixanic acid, 49/ properties, 505 Iomeglamic acid, 497 biotransformation,566 properties, 506

Iomeprol, 497 cardiovascular effects, 551 neurotoxicity, 554 osmolality, 538 properties, 506 red blood cell effects, 549 Smiles rearrangement, 513-514 Iomorinic acid, 497 properties, 505 Iopamidol, 497, 531, 535 adverse reactions, 546 analysis, 539 angiography application, 569 biotransformation, 566 cardiovascular effects, 551 cations used with, 542 development of, 495 excretion, 564 histamine release, 559 isomerism, 515 liposome encapsulated, 573, 574 myelography application, 571 nephrotoxicity, 551,552 neurotoxicity, 554-555, 556 osmolality, 538 pharmacokinetics, 561 pharmacology, 540 properties, 506 protein binding, 556, 558 red blood cell effects, 548,549 Smiles rearrangement, 514 spiral CT application, 569 synthesis, 512, 513 urography application, 571 Iopanoate biotransformation, 565-566 excretion, 562-563 liposome encapsulated, 575 pharmacokinetics, 561 Iopanoic acid, 497 adverse reactions, 544 biotransformation, 565, 566 cholecystography application, 570 excretion, 562, 563 isomerism, 515 properties, 505 protein binding, 556, 557 Iopax properties, 511 urography application, 571 Iopentol, 497 analysis, 539 cardiovascular effects, 551 cations used with, 542

Iopentol (Continued) isomerism, 515 neurotoxicity, 554, 555 osmolality, 538 pharmacokinetics, 561–562 properties, 507 protein binding, 557 red blood cell effects, 548, 549 Iophendylate biotransformation, 566 excretion. 565 myelography application, 570 Iophenoxate biotransformation, 566 Iophenoxic acid, 497 biotransformation, 565-566 cholecystography application, 570 excretion, 563 isomerism, 515 properties, 505 protein binding, 556 3H2-Iopiperidol-A, 497 properties, 507 Ioprocemic acid, 497 properties, 505 Iopromide, 497 cardiovascular effects, 551 liposome encapsulated, 573-575 nephrotoxicity, 551,552 neurotoxicity, 555 osmolality, 538 pharmacokinetics, 561 properties, 507 red blood cell effects, 549 Iopronic acid, 497 biotransformation, 565 properties, 506 Iopydol, 497 properties, 511 Iopydone, 497 properties, 511 Iosarcol, 497 properties, 508 Iosefamic acid, 497 properties, 509 Ioseric acid, 497 properties, 505 Iosimide, 497, 535 analysis, 539 properties, 507 Iosulamide, 497 cholangiography application, 570 properties, 509

Iosumetric acid, 497 properties, 506 Iotasul, 497 osmolality, 538 properties, 510 Iotetric acid, 497 properties, 509 Iothalamate adverse reactions, 544 angiography application, 569 biotransformation, 566 cations used with, 541 excretion, 562, 563, 565 histamine release, 558,559 hyperosmolality, 542,543 myelography application, 570-571 neurotoxicity, **553–554**, 555 pharmacokinetics, 561 pharmacology, 540 protein binding, 556, 557 urography application, 571 Iothalamic acid, 497 particulate, 576 properties, 505 Iotranic acid, 497 properties, 509 Iotriside, 497, 535 properties, 507 Iotrizoic acid, 497 properties, 504 Iotrol. See Iotrolan Iotrolan, 494, 497, 531 cardiovascular effects, 551 cations used with, 542 development of, 495 histamine release, 558,559 isomerism, 515 liposome encapsulated, 573 nephrotoxicity, 551, 552 neurotoxicity, 553, 554, 555 osmolality, 537-538, 538, 539 pharmacokinetics, 562 properties, 510 red blood cell effects, 549 Iotroxate cholangiography application, 570 Iotroxic acid, 497 biotransformation,566 pharmacokinetics, 559 properties, 509 Ioversol, 497 adverse reactions, 546 analysis, 539 cardiovascular effects, 551 excretion, 564

isomerism, 515 liposome encapsulated, 573 nephrotoxicity, 551 neurotoxicity, 554, 555 osmolality, 538 pharmacokinetics, 561 properties, 507 red blood cell effects, 549 Smiles rearrangement, 514 synthesis, 512 Ioxabrolic acid, 497 properties, 510 Ioxaglate adverse reactions, 546,547 cardiovascular effects, 551 cations used with, 542 histamine release, 559 hyperosmolality, 543 liposome encapsulated, 573, 574 nephrotoxicity, 551, 552 pharmacokinetics, 562 protein binding, 557 red blood cell effects, 548, 549 Ioxaglate meglumine, 494, 497, 533 asymmetric bis compound, 537 development of, 495 osmolality, 538, 539 pharmacology, 540 synthesis, 514 Ioxaglic acid, 497 properties, 509 Ioxilan, 497 isomerism, 515 neurotoxicity, 554 particulate, 576–577 properties, 507 red blood cell effects, 548 synthesis, 513 Ioxitalamic acid, 497 adverse reactions, 546,547 angiography application, 569 cations used with, 541 properties, 505 red blood cell effects, 549 Ioxithalamate histamine release, 558, 559 neurotoxicity, 554 pharmacokinetics, 562 Ioxotrizoic acid, 497 properties, 504 Iozomic acid, 497 angiography application, 569 properties, 509

**IP-10** ligand and CXCR3, 165, 166 Ipodate biotransformation,566 cholecystography application, 570 excretion, 563 Ipodic acid, 497 properties, 505 Irbesartan CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Ischemia. See Myocardial ischemia Isofamic acid protein binding, 557 Isomaltase-sucrase, 33-36 Isomers iodinated radiopaques, 515-516 Isoniacid interaction with vitamin  $\mathbf{B}_{6}$ family, 399,400,401 Isoniazid and NAT2 polymorphisms, 630 peripheral neuropathy from, 618 Isotretinoin, 320,373 I-TAC ligand and CXCR3, 165 Itraconazole P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Janus kinase, 130 chemokine interaction, 135 Japan over-the-counter classification in, 430-431 Joduron, 541 JOM-13, 70-71 JTE-522,239,240,241 Justicidin E, 216 Kallikrein-kinin system plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 654 KC 399 experimental hair growth drug, 441

KC 516 experimental hair growth drug, 441 Kefauver-Harrisamendment (to Food and Drug Act), 424 Kelatorphan, 219–220

Keratin and **skin** wrinkling, 373 Ketoconazole P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Ketoprofen classification in various countries. 430 Knockout mice for gene expression profiling studies, 613 IL-1,173 IL-2, 175 IL-4, 176 IL-5, 177 IL-6, 179 IL-12, 180 IL-13,181 **INF**γ, 183 **TNF**α, 182 Kyoka (OTC license in Japan), 430

L-674,636,217 L-733692 experimental hair growth drug, 438,441 L-745,337,242 L-761,000,243 Labeling over-the-counter drugs, 427-428 LabMAP, 624 Lactase, 33 Lamotrigene clinical trial using genotyping, 643 Lanosterol, 375 Lansoprazole CYP2C19 substrate, 627 Lanthanide chelates radiopaque materials, 490,491 Lantus, 7 Latanoprost, 304 Lawsone, 471-472 Lead radiopaque material, 486 Leflunamide, 175 Lentiviruses chemokine receptors, 170–171 LESTR, 166 Leukemia cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608

Leukocytes, 130 chemokine-induced transmigration, 131 Leukotriene  $A_4$ biosynthesis, 206-207 discovery of, 208 Leukotriene  $A_4$  hydrolase, 206, 207broad distribution of, 208–209 Leukotriene  $A_4$  hydrolase inhibitors, 219-220 Leukotriene antagonists Cys/T1 antagonist clinical studies, 226-227 peptide-leukotriene antagonists, 220-226 Leukotriene  $A_4$  synthase, 206 Leukotriene  $\mathbf{B}_4$ biological actions of, 209 biosynthesis, 206, 207 discovery of, 208 receptors, 209 Leukotriene  $B_4$  antagonists derived from structure of  $LB_4$ , 228 - 229related to HAP-type LTD₄ antagonists, 227–228 Leukotriene biosynthesis inhibitors, 210–211 5-lipoxygenase-activatingprotein (FLAP) inhibitors, 216-219 5-lipoxygenase inhibitors, 211 - 216 $LTA_4$  inhibitors, 219–220 LTC, synthase, 220 Leukotriene  $C_4$ biological actions of, 210 biosynthesis, 206, 207 discovery of, 208,209 Leukotriene  $C_4$  synthase, 206, 207,209,220 Leukotriene  $D_4$ biological actions of, 210 biosynthesis, 206, 207 discovery of, 208,209 Leukotriene  $D_4$  antagonists, 227 - 228Leukotriene  $\mathbf{E}_4$ biological actions of, 210 biosynthesis, 206, 207 discovery of, 208,209 Leukotriene  $F_4$ , 207 Leukotriene modulators, 204-205 Leukotriene pathway, 206

Leukotrienes biosynthesis, 205-208 discovery, 208 sources and actions of, 208-210 LGD-1331 experimental hair growth drug, 441 Life-enhancing drugs, 431 Lifestyle drugs, 422–423. See also Over-the-counter drugs current and future trends, 473-475 defined. 431 hair growth disorder drugs, 433-440 indications and drug examples, 432 and self-medication, 423 sexual disorder drugs, 440-450 smoking cessation agents, 450 - 458sunscreens, 458-472 Ligandin binding to contrast agents, 557 Limaprost, 305 Linkage disequilibrium, 620 Lipid-based vectors for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 658-663 Lipids protection from oxidation by vitamin E, 383 Lipiodol myelography application, 570 radiopaque material, 493,494 Lipolysis insulin's role in regulating, 2 Lipoplex, 658 in vivo use, 663-665 Lipopolyplex, 658 for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 665-666 Liposome-based plasmid DNAmediated gene therapy, 658-663 Lipoplex, 658, 663-665 Lipopolyplex, 658, 665-666 Liposomes with gadolinium chelates as radiopaque, 492 iodinated suspension radiopaques, 572-575 5-Lipoxygenase discovery of, 208

in leukotriene biosynthesis, 205-207 single nucleotide polymorphism~618 structure and mechanism, 211-212 12-Lipoxygenase, 205 15-Lipoxygenase, 205 5-Lipoxygenase-activatingprotein (FLAP) in leukotriene biosynthesis, 205,206,207 5-Lipoxygenase-activating protein (FLAP) inhibitors, 210, 216-219 5-Lipoxygenase inhibitors, 210-216 agents inhibiting both 5-LO and COX-2,246-248 Lisinopril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 Lissoclin disulfoxide, 163, 164 Lobeline, 457 Loperamide P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Loratadine classification in various countries, 430 Losartan CYP2C9 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Lovastatin gene expression profiling study, 613 Lower osmolality intravascular contrast agents, 495,538 Lurnisterol, 374375 Lung cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608 LY-170680 (Sulukast), 222 LY-171883 (Tomelukast),221-222,226 LY-191704 experimental hair growth drug, 437, 441 LY-255283,227 LY-293111,227-228 LY-354740 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 LY-426965 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459

Lymphadenography, 567. See also Radiopaques Lymphangiography, 567. See also Radiopaques Lymphochip, 606 Lymphography, 567. See also Radiopaques Lymphokines, 130. See also Cytokines Lymphoma cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 606 Lymphotactin, 132 LY171883 (Tomelukast),221-222 Magnesium ferrite radiopaque material, 489 Magnetic resonance imaging. See Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) imaging Male-pattern baldness, 433, 435 Maltase-glucoamylase, 33-36 MCP-1 ligand and CCR1, 137-138 and CCR2, 143-147 MCP-3 ligand and CCR1, 138 and CCR3, 148-149 MCP-4 ligand and CCR3, 148 MCP-5 ligand and CCR2, 144 MCP-1R02 monoclonal antibody, 144 MCP-1R05 monoclonal antibody, 144 MDC ligand and CCR4, 153 Mecamylamine experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Meglitinide, 20 Meglumine salts, of contrast media. 541 Melanin and skin tanning, 464-465 Melanocortin receptors, 60 α-Melanocyte stimulating hormone, 59-60 constrained cyclic lactam analogs of agonists, 64-65 minimum active sequence, 60-61 β-Melanocyte stimulating hormone, 59-60

 $\gamma$ -Melanocyte stimulating hormone, 59-60 Melanogenesis, 464 Melanoma, 458, 465-466 cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608 Melanotan11,450 Melanotropins antagonists, 65-67 constrained cyclic lactam analogs of a-MSH agonists, 64-65 minimum active sequence of MSH, 60-61 D-Phe⁷ of **MT-II**: importance to binding and biological activity, 61-62 ring-expanded analogs of MT-II, 63–64 structure-activity relationship, 59 - 60β-substituent effects, 62–63 Meloxicam, 243 Menadione, 385–386,387 Menoquinone-4,386 Menthyl anthranilate structure-activity relationship, 469 sunscreen, 460 Mephenytoin hydroxylase, 627 Metal chelates radiopaque, 489-490 Metaproterenol sulfate inhaler reversed from OTC back to prescription status, 426 Met-chemokine  $\beta$ -7, 150 Metformin, 21–23 Methiodal sodium, 497 Methotrexate folic acid with, 407,411 with infliximab, 182-183 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Methoxsalen experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 a-Methylacarviosin, 36 β-Methylcrotonyl CoA carboxylase biotin dependent, 404 Methylene bis-benzotriazolyl tetramethylbutylphenol (**MBBT**), 472 5,10-Methylene tetrahydroformate polyglutamate, 406 N-Methylglucamine, 541 4-Methylpyrogallol, 31

5-Methyltetrahydrofolatepolyglutamate, 405,407,414 Metoprolol CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Met-RANTES ligand and CCR1, 139 and CCR3, 149-150 and CCR5, 155 Metrizamide, 497,531 development of, 495 histamine release, 559 liposome encapsulated, 573 myelography application, 571 nephrotoxicity, 551, 552 neurotoxicity, 554, 555, 556 osmolality, 539 pharmacology, 540 properties, 508 protein binding, 557 red blood cell effects, 548 structure-activity relationship, 517 Metrizoate, 497 adverse reactions, 544 angiography application, 569 cations used with, 541,542 excretion, 563 hyperosmolality, 542,543 neurotoxicity, 554 particulate, 576 pharmacokinetics, 561 properties, 504 red blood cell effects, 548 urography application, 571 Met-SDFlb, 155 Met-SDF-1 $\beta$  ligand and CXCR4, 167 Mexiletine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 MGSA ligand and CCR1, 137–138 MH166 monoclonal antibody, 179 Mibefradil removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Microelectroporation, 657 Micronase, 13 Microsatellite nucleotide repeats, 620 Midazolam **CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 MIG ligand and CXCR3, 165, 166 Miglitol, 31, 32, 33-34, 35, 36-37 Minoxidil, 433 adverse effects, 433 approval in Japan, 430

development of, 438-439 mechanism of action, 435–436 structure-activity relationship, 437 MIP-1a ligand, 138–143 antibodies to CCR1, 139 and CCR2, 144 and CCR5, 153-155 MIP-1ß ligand and CCR5, 153-155 MIP-3 $\alpha$  ligand and CCR6, 159 **MIP-3**β ligand and CCR7, 160-161 Misoprostol, 303–304 Mitoxantrone P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Mitrizamide excretion, 565 pharmacokinetics, 562, 563 MK-1, 64–65 MK-2, 66, 67 MK-3, 66, 67 MK-4, 66, 67 **MK-434** experimental hair growth drug, 441 MK-0476,223-224,226 MK-0571,223,226 MK-0591,217,218 MK-0663,237 MK-0679,223,224,226 MK-0886 FLAP inhibitor, 207,216–217 MK-966,235 Mofetil, 175 Molluscum contagiosum virus chemokine receptors, 171 Monograph status, over-thecounter drugs, 425 Monokines, 130. See also Chemokines Montelukast sodium (MK-0476), 223-224,226 Moxisylyte, 442 MR contrast agents, 567 MT-II, 61–64, 66 Murine IL-4 mutants, 176 Muse, 442 **Mutual Recognition Procedure** (European over-the-counter drugs), 428–429 Myelography, 567. See also Radiopaques radiopaques applications, 570-571

Myocardial diseases plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 655-656 Myocardial ischemia plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 655 Nabi-NicVax experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 NAD, 394,395,396 NADP, 394 Naked plasmid DNA for plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 652–656 NAP-2 ligand and CCR1, 137-138 and CXCR2, 161, 162 Nateglinide, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20binding paramaters, 18 NCI 60 cells characterization by gene expression profiling, 607–608 drug response screening by gene expression profiling, 609 Negative-contrast radiocontrast agents, 484 Negative monographs, over-thecounter drugs, 425,426 Nelfinavir and CXCR4, 167 CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Neotrophils chemokine/cytokine receptors, 133 Neutral protarnine Hagedorn, 6, 7 New Drug Application over-the-counterdrugs, 424 New Jersey Genetic Privacy Act, 644 Niacin, 392–394 deficiency, 394-395 Dietary Reference Intakes, 397 and folic acid, 405 hypervitaminosis niacin, 395-397 uptake and metabolism, 394 vitamin status assays, 366 Niacinamide, 394, 396 Niacin equivalents, 361

Nicorette, 452 Nicotine peripheral pharmacological actions. 455 pharmacological action, 454 structure-activity relationship, 455 Nicotine dependence, 450 neurological basis of, 454-455 Nicotine (gum), 451, 452 adverse effects, 451 classification in various countries, 430 development of, 457 pharmacokinetics, 453 Nicotine (patch), 451, 452 adverse effects, 451 classification in various countries, 430 pharmacokinetics, 453 Nicotine replacement therapy, 451 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and **smoking** cessation agents, 455-457 Nicotrol, 452 Nicotrol inhaler, 452 Nicotrol NS, 452 Nifedipine CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 NIH 10498 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Nimesulide, 241 Nitric oxide hyperglycemia effect on, 4 reduction in hyperglycemia, 4 role in constrast media toxic effects, 549 role in erections, 445, 449 Nitric oxide **NMI-870**, 450 Nitric oxide synthase and erection, 445 Nitric oxide synthase **II** plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 653 NitroMed, 450 Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. See Diabetes mellitus, type 2 Non-melanoma skin cancer, 465 Non-monograph status, overthe-counter drugs, 425 Non-peptide peptidomimetics, 72 Non-prescription drugs, 423,424

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs COX-2-selective, 242–244 development of, 230 and ulcers, 91-92 Nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms, 620 Northern blot hybridization with DNA microarrays, 603-604 Nortriptyline CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Novolin, 7 Novolog, 7 NS-398, 241,242 NS-2359 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 NSC65106, 155 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) imaging radiopaques for, 487,490-492 Nuclear pore complex, 662 Nucleic acid vaccines, 657 Nucleus factor of activated Tcells (NFAT),173 Nulcear receptor boxes, 27 Nuvance, 176 Obesity and insulin resistance, 3 Octocrylene absorption and disposition, 463 sunscreen, 460 **Octyl** methoxycinnamate absorption and disposition, 462,463 structure-activity relationship, 469 sunscreen, 460 Octyl salicylate absorption and disposition, 463 structure-activity relationship, 468 sunscreen, 460 Off-label use lifestyle drugs, 431 Oligonucleotide ligation assay, 625-626 Oligonucleotide microarrays, 601-606 Omeprazole CYP2C19 substrate, 627 **ONO** 1078,224–225,226

**ONO** 4057,228,229 **ONO** RS-411,224,226 ORF 74,171 Orinase, 12 Ornidyl, 440 Ornithine decarboxylase inhibitors for hair growth inhibition, 436-437 Osteoarthritis COX-2 inhibitors for, 248–249 Osteoblasts, 376, 377 **Osteoclasts**, 376, 377 Osteomalacia, 376 Osteoporosis, 376–377 **Over-the-counter Drug Facts** label, 428, 429 Over-the-counter Drug Review, 424-426 classification after, 426–427 reclassification criteria for Rx-OTC, 427–428 Over-the-counterdrugs, 422-423. See also Lifestyle drugs classification in Europe, 428-430 classification in Japan, 430-431 classification in U.S., 424–428 current and future trends, 473-475 hair growth disorder drugs, 433-440 and self-medication, 423 sexual disorder drugs, 440-450 smoking cessation agents, 450-458 sunscreens, 458-472 Oxybenzone absorption and disposition, 462 sunscreen, 460 Oxytocin, 67 structure activity relationship, 67-68 Oxytocin antagonists, 66-69

P-1075
experimental hair growth drug, 441
P53
and prostaglandin synthesis, 232
P509
radiopaque material, 578

Paclitaxel P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Padimate A, 468 Padimate O structure-activity relationship, 468 sunscreen, 460 Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, 2. See also Insulin and hypoglycemic agents Pantoprazole CYP2C19 substrate, 627 Pantothenic acid, 400-401, 403 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 400 hypervitaminosis pantothenic acid, 401 uptake and metabolism, 401 vitamin status assays, 367 Pantothenol, 401,402 Pantretin, 320, 374 Papaverine, 442, 448 Parathyroid hormone Ala¹ and Val² in signal transduction, 55 Arg²⁰ and Arg²⁵ in receptorligand interactions, 55 conformationally constrained cyclic analogs of hPTH(1-**31)Amide**, 58–59 Gly¹² in receptor-receptor interactions, 55-56 structure-activity relationship, 53-55 truncated analogs: minimum sequence requirements, 56-58 and vitamin D, 376 Parathyroid hormone-related protein, 53-54 Parecoxib sodium, 241 Paricalcitol, 377, 378 Paroxetine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 for premature ejaculation, 443 Particulates iodinated suspension radiopaques, 575-576 PC 1358 experimental hair growth drug, 441 PD-138387,246-247 **Pellagra,** 392,394,395 Pelviagraphy, 567. See also Radiopaques Pentoxifylline IL-12 inhibition, 180

Peptide hormones, 46-48. See also Arginine vasopressin; Melanotropins; Oxytocin; Parathyroid hormone bioassays, 52 commonly held beliefs about, 47 conformation, 48-51 future directions, 75-76 synthesis, 48 topographical and conformational constraints, 52 topography, 51–52 Peptide-leukotrieneantagonists, 220 - 221diversified structures, 224-226 FPL-55712-derived compounds, 221–222 leukotriene analog antagonists, 222–224 Peptidomimetics, 72 future directions, 75–76 **Perfluoroctyl** bromide radiopaque material, 571-572 Pernicious anemia, 407,415 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor a, 26, 27 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\delta$ , 26, 27 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$ , 26–27 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  agonists, 26 - 28Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) agonists thiazolidinediones, 24, 26-31 Petrolatum, 470 P-Glycoprotein efflux pump polymorphisms in, 631-632 Pharmaceutical Affairs Law (Japan), 430 Pharmacogenetics, 619–620 Pharmacogenomics combined enzymatic/hybridization genotyping, 625–626 enzyme-based genotyping technologies, 622-624 genotyping technologies, 622-625 hybridization-based genotyping, 624–625 influence on clinical trials, 641-644 obstacles facing, 644-646

Pharmacogenomics (Continued) as paradigm shift in health care, 645-646 polymerase chain reactionrestriction fragment length polymorphism genotyping, 622-623 polymorphisms in drug metabolizing enzymes, 626-631 polymorphisms in drug target genes, 632-636 polymorphisms in drug transporter genes, 631–632 pyrosequencing, 624 single base primer extension genotyping, 623-624 single gene studies in genes influencing disease progression, 636–641 SNP discovery, 621–626 Phenformin, 21, 23 Phenidone, 212 Phenobarbital interaction with vitamin D, 379 - 380P-glycoprotein inducer, 631 pretreatment effect on radiopaques, 563 Phentolamine, 442, 446, 448 Phenylbenzimidazole sulfonic acid structure-activity relationship, 467 sunscreen, 460 Phenytoin CYP2C9 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inducer, 631 Phlebography, 567. See also Radiopaques CT application, 568 Phosphoinositol 3 kinase  $\gamma$ chemokine interaction, 134, 135 Phospholipase C role in **chemokine** modulation, 134 role in prostaglandin synthesis, 233 Photoaging, 465 Physical (particulate) sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 470 Phytonadione, 386, 387 **Pioglitazone**, 24, 25, 28 binding affinities, 27

Plasma-DNA mediated gene therapy, 651-652 Plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy direct delivery with naked plasmid DNA, 652–656 eledroporation, 656-657 emulsion-mediated gene transfer, 666–667 entry of DNA into cells, 660-662 entry of DNA into nucleus, 662-663 gene gun, 657–658 lipid-based vectors, 658–663 Lipoplex, 658, 663-665 Lipopolyplex, 658, 665–666 non-viral vector related cytotoxicity, 669-670 Polyplex, 658, 667–669 Plasmids, 652, 653 Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 669 Pobilukast (SKF 104353), 222 Point mutations, 620 Polyamidoamine dendrimers for polyplexes, 668 Polyethyleneimines for polyplexes, 668 Polyiodinated triglycerides, 575– 576 Polymerase chain reaction, 621 Polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism genotyping, 622-623 Polyplex, 658, 667–669 Positive-contrastradiocontrast agents, 484 Poxviruses chemokine receptors, 170–171 Prandin, 14 Pranlukast (ONO 1078), 224-225,226 Pravastatin single nucleotide polymorphism influencing response to, 639-641, 644 **p60** receptor, 182 **p80** receptor, 182 Precose, 32 Pregnancy test kits, 424 Premature ejaculation, 440, 441, 443 Prescription drugs, 423, 424

direct-to-consumer advertising, 422 reclassification to over-thecounter status, 427-428 Prions, 46 Privacy concerns genotyping, 644 Progesterone CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 Promoter region, 619 Propafenone CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Propecia, 433 Propionyl CoA carboxylase biotin dependent, 404 Propranolol CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Propyliodone, 497 properties, 511 Prostaglandin D, 230 Prostaglandin  $D_2$ physiological actions of, 271-272 radioligand binding studies, 278 selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 282-285 signal transduction, 281 Prostaglandin E, 230 Prostaglandin  $E_{2}$ physiological actions of, 272-274 radioligand binding studies, 278 - 280selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 285-289 signal transduction, 281 Prostaglandin  $F_2 \alpha$ physiological actions of, 274 radioligand binding studies, 280 selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 289-292 signal transduction, 281–282 Prostaglandin H synthase 1.See COX-1 Prostaglandin H synthase 2. See COX-2 Prostaglandin L physiological actions of, 274-275 radioligand binding studies, 280

selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 292-294 signal transduction, 282 Prostaglandins biosynthesis, 232-233 discovery and connection to **NSAIDs**, 229–230 homeostatic effects, 233-234 and leukotriene biosynthesis, 205 pathophysiological effects, 234 role in erection, 445 Prostanoid receptors classification and characterization, 269, 275-282 as G-protein-coupled receptors, 277-278 ligand binding site loclization, 295 - 298radioligand binding studies, 278-281 selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 282-295 signal transduction, 281–282 subtypes and isoforms, 276-277 Prostanoids, 266 biological and therapeutic functions, 267-269 biosynthesis of natural, 269-270 clinical use of agents, 298305 physiological actions of, 271-275 synthesis, 266-267 synthetic, 303-305 Protein hormones, 46-48 Protein kinase C hyperglycemia effect on, 4 Protein kinase pathways gene expression profiling studies, 610-611 Proteins role of insulin in synthesis, 2 Prozac lifestyle drug?, 431 Pseudoephedrine over-the-counter status, 426 Psoriasis retinoids used for, 373-374 PT-141,450 Pulmonary and activation-regulated chemokine (PARC), 150

Pure Food and Drug Act of 1906, 424 Pyelography, 567. See also Radiopaques Pyridoxal, 397 Pyridoxal phosphate, 397398, 399,400 Pyridoxal phosphate biochemistry, 397-398 Pyridoxamine, 397 Pyridoxamine phosphate, 397 Pyridoxine, 397, 399, 408 Pyridoxine phosphate, 397,399 Pyrosequencing, 624 Pyruvate carboxylase biotin dependent, 404,405

Quality-of-life drugs, 431 Quinidine P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Quinine P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631

R-805,241 Radiocontrast agents, 484,567 Radiolucent materials, 486 Radiopacity, 531-535 Radiopaque elements, 485 Radiopaque materials, 486 Radiopaques, 483–486 applications, 566-571 classification, 486 heavy metals and their salts, 486-493 iodized oils, 493-495 miscellanesous agents, 571-577 organic iodine compounds, 495-566 potential nonionic, 518-535 Ramipril impact of ACE polymorphisms on effectiveness, 634 Ranitidine classification in various countries, 430 **RANTES** ligand antibodies to CCR1, 139 and CCR1, 137-138, 142-143 and CCR2, 144 and CCR3, 148-150 and CCR5, 153-155 Rapacuronium removedlrestricted by FDA, 642

Rapamycin cytokine IL-2 downregulation, 175 cytokine IL-5 downregulation, 177 Rayleigh scattering, 485 Recombinant DNA technology and plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 652 Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA), 361,363-364, 368 folic acid, 411 niacin, 397 vitamin A, 372 vitamin B., 389 vitamin B, 392 vitamin  $B_{6}$ , 400 vitamin C, 418 vitamin E, 384 Recommended Nutrient Intakes, 363 Reconstituted chylomicron remnants, 667 **5a-Reductase** and hair loss, 435,439  $5\alpha$ -Reductase inhibitors, 426, 439-440 structure-activity relationship, 437-438 Reflux esophagitis, 94–95 Remicade, 182–183 Renal cancer cell characterization by gene expression profiling, 607, 608 Renal failure vitamin D analogs used in, 377-379 Repaglinide, 11, 14, 15, 16-17, 19, 20, 21 binding paramaters, 18 Restriction fragment length polymorphism genotyping, 622-623 Retin-A, 320, 373 Retinal, 319, 362, 368, 369, 370 conversion to retinol, 324, 325-326 Retinaldehyde, 323 Retinoic acid, 319,362, 368, 369370,374 active isomers, 326327 important signaling retinoid, 325-326 non-receptor binding proteins, 328

Retinoic acid (Continued) RAR/RXR bind response elements, 339-340 signaling pathways, 335340 Retinoic acid-APL syndrome, 320 Retinoic acid receptor, 326 apo-receptors interact with transcriptional corepressor complexes, 341-344 binding domains, 340-341 bind response elements, 339-340 holo complexes interact with two classes of transcriptional coactivators, 344-345 ligand binding domain, 341 ligand-independent transcriptional activation, 345 Retinoids, 318-319. See also Vitamin A family anti-AP1 activity, 349-350 biosynthesis, 319-328 p-carotene asymmetrical cleavage, 322323 p-carotene symmetrical cleavage, 321-322 CD437: atypical retinoid, 350 clinical applications, 318-319 and color vision, 334-335 fate of dietary sources, 320-321 future directions, 345-351 gene-specific, 348-349 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol, 327-328 metabolism, 328330 receptor- and receptor subtype-selective, 345–348 role in vision transduction, 330335 used in acne treatment, 372-373 used in malignancy treatment, 374 used in psoriasis treatment, 373 - 374Retinoid X receptor, 326 apo-receptors interact with transcriptional corepressor complexes, 341-344 binding domains, 340-341 bind response elements, 339-340 holo complexes interact with two classes of transcriptional coactivators, 344-345

ligand binding domain, 341

ligand-independent transcriptional activation, 345 novel uses for RXR-active compounds, 350351 Retinol, 368370. See also Vitamin A family fate of intracellular, 324325 oxidation, 325 Retinol binding protein, 324 Retinol dehydrogenases, 325 **Retinyl esters** biosynthesis, 323-324 Rev-5901,217 Reverse phase HPLC, 48 Rhodopsin, 324-325, 362, 368 chemokine similarity, 135 cycle, 370, 371 Riboflavin, 392,393. See also Vitamin **B**₂ (Riboflavin) Riboflavin adenine dinucleotide, 393 Riboflavin phosphate, 392 Rickets, 374, 376 Rifampin P-glycoprotein inducer, 631 Ritonavir CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 **RNA** polymerase, 619 Robotics in DNA microarray fabrication, 601 Roentgenography, 486 Rofecoxib, 234-235 assays, selectivities, and potencies, 245 clinical efficacy and safety, 248 - 249in vivo models, 246 Rogaine, 433 Rosiglitazone, 24, 25, 28, 30 binding affinities, 27 RP23618, 139 RU-58841 experimental hair growth drug, 441 S-2474,247 Safety over-the-counter drugs, 427 St John's Wort P-glycoprotein inducer, 631 Salicylate sunscreens structure-activity relationship, 468-469 Saquinavir

CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 SB 201993,228 SB 209247,228,229 SB 240563,178 SC-263.235.239 SC-588,232,235 SC-22716,219-220 SC-53228,227-228 SC-57666,236,237 SC-58125,235 SC-58451,235 SC-65872,235 SC-57416A, 220 SCH 54726 experimental hair growth drug, 441 Sch 55700, 178 Schedule V Controlled Substances, 423 **Scurvy**, 417 SDF-la ligand and CXCR4, 166 Secreted placental alkaline phosphatase, 27 Selectan group, 495 Selectins and chemokine-induced transmigration of leukocytes, 131 Selenium and vitamin E, 381 Self-medication, 423 Sequenom, 624 Serum albumin binding to contrast agents, 556-557,558 Sexual disorder drugs, 440-442 adverse effects, 443-444 chemistry and structure-activity relationship, 446-447 clinical use, 442-444 erectile dysfunction causes, 445-446 erection physiology, 444-445 history and future trends, 447-450 pharmacokinetics, 444 physiology and pharmacology, 444-446 role of nitric oxide, 445 Shonin (OTC regulatory approval in Japan), 430 SHU9119, 62 Sildenafil (Viagra), 440,442 adverse effects, 443 CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 development of, 448-449

mechanism of action, 446 pharmacokinetics, 444 structure-activity relationship, 446-447 Simvastatin single nucleotide polymorphism influencing response to, 639-641,644 Single base primer extension genotyping, 623-624 Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) maps, 620 Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs), 618–620. See also Pharmacogenomics classification, 620-621 defined, 620 discovery, 621-626 drug response and toxicity variability, 618-619 frequency, 620 gene expression profiling of drug response, 610 influence on clinical trials, 641-644 polymorphisms in drug metabolizing enzymes, 626-631 polymorphisms in drug target genes, 632-636 polymorphisms in drug transporter genes, 631–632 scanning for using DNA microarrays, 601 single gene studies in genes influencing disease progression, 636–641 synonymous and nonsynonymous. 620 Single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis, 621 Singulair (MK-0476), 223–224, 226 Sirolimus P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 SKF 104353 (Pobilukast), 222, 226 SKF 106203,222 Skin cancer, 458 Skin tanning, 464–465 SLC ligand and CCR7, 160–161 Slow reacting substance of anaphylaxis (SRS-A), 208 Smoking cessation agents, 450-451 adverse effects, 451-453

chemistry and structure-activity relationship, 455-457 clinical use, 451-453 history and future trends, 457 - 458nicotine's action, 454-455 pharmacokinetics, 453 physiology and pharmacology, 454-455 Snapshot, 624 SNPcode kits, 624 SNP Consortium, 622 SNPs. See Single nucleotide polymorphisms SNPStream 25K, 624 **SNPware** 96,624 **SNuPe**, 624 Sodium iodide neurotoxicity, 555 Sodium iodomethamate, 497 properties, 511 Sodium ipodate protein binding, 557 Sodium pantothenate, 401,402 Soft ferrites radiopaque material, 489 Solange, 320 Solar keratosis, 466 Soriatene, 373 Sparteine hydroxylase, 627 Spin-lattice relaxation, 490 Spin-spin relaxation, 490 Spiral computer-assisted tomography radiopaques applications, 495, 568 Splenohepatography, 567. See also Radiopaques Splice site mutations, 620 Splicing, 619 Spotted DNA microarrays, 604-605 Squamous cell carcinoma, 465 SR 141716 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 SSR 591813 experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Stanolone. See  $5\alpha$ -Dihydrotestosterone Starlix, 14 Statins single nucleotide polymorphism influencing response to. 639-641,644 STRL-22,159

Succinylcholine apnea from, 618–619 Sucrase-isomaltase, 33–36 4-SulfonylphenylCOX-2 class, 234 - 241Sulfonylurea insulinotropic agents, 11-20 Sulisobenzone absorption and disposition, 462,463 sunscreen, 460 Sulprostone, 304 Sulukast (LY170680), 222 Sunburn, 464 Sun protection factor, 467 Sunscreens, 458–460 absorption and disposition, 462-463 acute effects of ultraviolet radiation, 464 adverse effects, 461–462 chemistry and structure-activity relationship, 467–470 chronic effects of ultraviolet radiation, **464**–466 clinical use, 460–463 history and future trends, 470 - 473physiology and pharmacology, 463-467 protection factor, 467 Synonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms, 620 T22 CXCR4 antagonist, 167–168 T140 CXCR4 antagonist, 168 Tachysterol, 375 **Tacrolimus CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 TAK-779 CCR2 antagonist, 146–147 CCR5 antagonist, 156–157 Tamoxifen P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 **TA-NIC** experimental smoking cessation agent, 459 Tantalum radiopaque material, 486-487 Tantalum oxide radiopaque material, 492-493 Taqman assay, 625–626

TARC ligand

TARC ligand (Continued) and CCR4, 153 Targretin, 320, 374 Tat peptide CXCR4 antagonist, 168 Tazarotene Gel, 320, 373, 374 Tazorac, 320 T-cell growth factor, 174 **T**-cells chemokine/cytokine receptors, 133 Tegison, 373 Telogen phase, of hair growth, 425 Tenidap, 179-180 Tentative final monographs, over-the-counter drugs, 425 **TER1, 161** Terfenadine removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Testosterone CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 and hair growth, 435,439 Testosterone patch, 450 Tetraiodophenolphthalein, 495 cholecystography application, 570 Thiamine, 387-392. See also Vitamin B₁ Thiamine hydrochoride, 388 Thiamine kinase, 388-389 Thiamine nitrate, 388 Thiamine pyrophosphate, 388, 389,390-391 Thiazolidinediones, 24-31 Thiopurine methyltransferase single nucleotide polymorphism~630-631 Thorium dioxide radiopaque material, 493 Thorium oxide neurotoxicity, 555 Thorotrast, 493 Thromboxane A, 230 physiological actions of, 275 radioligand binding studies, 280selective ligands and structure-activity relationhips, 294-295 signal transduction, 282 Thromboxanes, 233 and leukotriene biosynthesis, 205Thymidine kinase

plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 668 Thymine, 619 Timolol CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Titanium dioxide absorption and disposition, 463 history of use as sunscreen, 470 structure-activity relationship, 470 sunscreen, 460 T-lymphocytes. See T-cells TNFa converting enzyme (**TACE**), 182 TNF a receptor. See also Tumor necrosis factor glucocorticoid downregulation, 172 modulator studies, 182-183  $rac - \alpha$ -Tocopherol, 381 a-Tocopherol, 380-384, 399 Tocopherols, 380–384. See also Vitamin E family Tocotrienols, 380381. See also Vitamin E family Tolazamide, 11, 12, 16 Tolbutamide, 11, 12, 15 binding paramaters, 18 CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Tolerable upper intake level folic acid, 411 niacin, 397 vitamin A, 371,372 vitamin B, 400 vitamin C, 418 vitamin D, 379 vitamin E, 384-385 vitamins, 368 Tolinase, 12 Tolterodine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Tomelukast (LY171883), 221-222 Tomexiprole, 242 Topoisomerase **II** inhibitors gene expression profiling study of drug response, 609 Topotecan P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Torsemide CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Toxicity and single nucleotide polymorphism~618-619 Toxicology

DNA microarray application, 604 gene expression profiling application, 614 **Trace elements** vitamins contrasted, 361–362 Trail, 339 Transferrin plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 668 Transgene in plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy, 652 **Transgenic** mice IL-1,173 IL-2, 175 IL-4,176 IL-5,177 IL-6,179 IL-12,180 IL-13,181 **INF**γ, 183 **TNF**α, 182 Trazodone, 449-450 CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 Tretinoin, 372373 Triazolam CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 Tricomin experimental hair growth drug, 441 Triethanolamine salicylate structure-activity relationship, 468 sunscreen, 460 Triglycerides accumulation in hyperglycemia, **3, 28** insulin's role in synthesis, 2 Triiodoanilide radiopaques, 497 Triiodobenzamide radiopaques, 497 Triiodo-1,3-benzenedicarboxamide radiopaques, 497 2,4,6-Triiodobenzoate neurotoxicity, 554 Triiodobenzoate radiopaques, 497 2,3,5-Triiodobenzoic acid protein binding, 558 Triiodoisophthalamate radiopaques, 497 Triiodophenoxy alkanoate radiopaques, 497 Triiodophenyl alkanoate radiopaques, 497

Triiodophenyl-D-gluconoamide radiopaques, 497 Tris (2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-propanediol), 541 Tris(iothalamic) acid, 497 properties, 511 Troglitazone, 24 binding affinities, 27 removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Trolamine salicylate sunscreen, 460 Trovafloxacin removed/restricted by FDA, 642 Tryptophan niacin synthesis from, 361, 394,396 Tumor necrosis factor-a, 656. See also  $TNF\alpha$  receptor plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 670 Tumor necrosis factor-B plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 656 Tungsten radiopaque material, 487 Turosteride experimental hair growth drug, 441 Type 1 diabetes mellitus. See Diabetes mellitus, type 1 Type 2 diabetes mellitus. See Diabetes mellitus, type 2 Tyropanoate, 570 biotransformation,565 Tyropanoic acid, 497 properties, 505 UCB 35625,150 Ulcer disease, 91–92 Ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide particles, 491 Ultrasound contrast agents, 567 Ultraviolet radiation, 458-460 acute effects of, 464 chronic effects of, 464-466 United Kingdom over-the-counter classification, 428 Urography, 567. See also Radiopaques pharmacokinetics of radiopaques, 559-562 radiopaques applications, 571 Uroselectan

urography application, 571 Valdecoxib, 235 Validamine, 34-36 Valienamine, 34–36 Valiolamine, 34-36 Vaniqa, 433 Vanity drugs, 431 Vardenafil, 450 Vascular endothelial growth factor plasmid DNA-mediated gene therapy study, 656 Venlafixine CYP2D6 substrate, 627 Venography, 567. See also Radiopaques Ventriculography, 567. See also Radiopaques Verapamil CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 P-glycoprotein inhibitor, 631 Verlukast, 223, 224 Vesanoid, 320 Viagra. See Sildenafil Vinbcristine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Vinblastine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Vincristine CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 Vindesine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Vinorelbine P-glycoprotein substrate, 631 Vioxx, 204,233,234–235 clinical efficacy and safety, 248-249 Viral vectors for gene therapy, 652 Viruses chemokine receptors, 170–172 wectors for gene therapy, 652 Visual cascade, 325 Vital amine, 368 Vitamin A family, 368–369. See also Retinoids biochemical functions and deficiency, 370 Dietary Reference Intakes, 371-372 dosage forms, 370 duel role of, 362 hypercarotenosis, 371 hypervitaminosis A, 319, 370-371

mobilization of body stores, 324 pharmacologically active retinoids, 372–374 storage of 6–9 month supply, 362 uptake and metabolism, 369-370 vitamin status assays, 366 Vitamin  $B_1$  (thiamine), 387–388 deficiencies, 389 Dietary Reference Intakes, 389-392 first vitamin whose structure determined, 368 hypervitaminosis thiamine, 389 uptake and metabolism, 388-389 Vitamin B, (Riboflavin),392 dosage and coenzyme forms, 393 Vitamin **B**₆ family, 397 deficiencies, 398-399 Dietary Reference Intakes, 400 drug interactions, 399-400 hypervitaminosis pyridoxine, 400 pyridoxal phosphate biochemistry, 397-398 uptake and metabolism, 397 Vitamin B, (cobalamin),408, 411-413 deficiency, 415 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 415 hypervitaminosis B, 415 recycling, 362 uptake and metabolism, 413-415 Vitamin **B12** (cobalamin) vitamin status assays, 367 Vitamin B6 family vitamin status assays, 367 Vitamin **B2** (riboflavin) vitamin status assays, 366 Vitamin **B1** (thiamine) vitamin status assays, 366 Vitamin C vitamin status assays, 367 Vitamin C (ascorbic acid), 415 deficiency, 417 Dietary Reference Intakes, 418 hypervitaminosis C, 417

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) (Continued) uptake and metabolism, 415-417 Vitamin D, 374,376 not normal constituent of diet, 361 Vitamin  $D_3$  (cholecalciferol), 374 - 380not normal constituent of diet, 361 Vitamin D family, 374–375 biochemical function, 376-379 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 379 dosage forms, 379 drug interactions, 379-380 hypervitaminosis D, 379 uptake and metabolism, 375-376 vitamin status assays, 366 Vitamin D receptors, 376 Vitamin deficiencies, 362 biotin, 405 causes of, 362, 364367 comparison of intake in areas with/without deficiency disease, 363 folic acid, 407-411 vitamin A family, 370 vitamin  $\mathbf{B}_{12}$  (cobalamin), 415 vitamin B₆ family, 398-399 vitamin B, (riboflavin),392 vitamin  $\mathbf{B}_1$  (thiamine), 389 vitamin C, 417 vitamin D family, 376-379 vitamin E family, 383–384 vitamin K family, 386-387 Vitamin E family, 380381 biochemical function, 383 deficiencies, 383-384 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 384 - 385dosage forms, 384 hypervitaminosis E, 384 in sunscreens, 472 uptake and metabolism, 381-383 vitamin status assays, 366

Vitamin **K₁₍₂₀₎,** 386 Vitamin K, 386 Vitamin K₂₍₂₀₎, 386 Vitamin **K**₃, 385–386 Vitamin K base, 386 Vitamin K family, 385–386 biochemical function and deficiency, 386387 **Dietary Reference Intakes**, 387 hypervitaminosis K, 387 uptake and metabolism, 386 vitamin status assays, 366 Vitamin  $K_2H_2$ , 386 Vitamin K oxide, 386 Vitamins adequate intake, 368 biochemical function saturation, 363 causes of deficiency, 362 comparison of intake in areas withtwithout deficiency disease, 363 defined, 361 Dietary Reference Intakes, 363368 estimated average requirement, 363 fat and water soluble, 368 functions, 361-362 human metabolic balance studies, 363 recommended dietary allowances, 363368 serum levels, 363 tolerable upper intake level, 368 valid dose determination, 362-363 vitamin status assays, **366**– 367 VJH-085, 66 VML530, 219 Voglibose, 32, 33, 34

Warfarin CYP2C9 substrate, 627 Water soluble vitamins, 368 Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome, 389

XC 1 receptor, 133 Xenical, 474 X-ray contrast agents, 567 X-rays, 484–486 Yeast genes with microarrays for expression profiling, 612 Yohimbine adverse effects, 443 history of use, 447-448 mechanism of action, 446 pharmacokinetics, 444 structure-activity relationship, 447 Ytterbium-DTPA radiopaque material, 490 Zafirlukast, 225–226 Zaleplon CYP3A4/5/7 substrate, 627 Zaprinast, 449 ZD2138, 215-216 ZD4407, 216 Zein, 395 Zemplar, 378 Zidovudine (AZT) and CXCR4, 167 Zileuton impact of 5-lipoxygenase polymorphism on effectiveness, 635 Zileutron, 213-214 Zinc oxide absorption and disposition, 463 history of use as sunscreen, 470 structure-activity relationship, 470 sunscreen, 460 ZM211965, 215 Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, 86, 92-93 Zolpidem **CYP3A4/5/7** substrate, 627 Zyban, 452 Zyflo, 211,213-214,226-227

"An essential addition to the libraries of any medicinal chemist ... an outstanding work ... highly praised as a fountain of information in drug studies and research."

-Journal of Medicinal Chemistry on the Fifth Edition

This new edition of Dr. Alfred Burger's internationally celebrated classic helps researchers acquaint themselves with both traditional and state-of-the-art principles and practices governing new medicinal drug research and development. Completely updated and revised to reflect the many monumental changes that have occurred in the field, this latest edition brings together contributions by experts in a wide range of related fields to explore recent advances in the understanding of the structural biology of drug action, as well as cutting-edge technologies for drug discovery now in use around the world.

This Sixth Edition of Burger's Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Discovery has been expanded to six volumes:

Volume 1: Drug Discovery
Volume 2: Drug Discovery and Drug Development
Volume 3: Cardiovascular Agents and Endocrines
Volume 4: Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology
Volume 5: Chemotherapeutic Agents
Volume 6: Nervous System Agents

**DONALD A.** ABRAHAM, PHD, is Professor and Chairman of the Department of Medicinal Chemistry at the Virginia Commonwealth University School of Pharmacy. A world-renowned leader in medicinal chemistry and biotechnology, he is the author of more than 140 journal citations and twenty-five patents. He was selected by the AACP Board of Directors as the recipient of the 2002 AACP Paul Dawson Biotechnology Award.

Cover Design: David Levy







Sixth Edition

# BURGER'S Six Medicinal Chemistry Drug Discovery

Edited by Donald J. Abraham



VOLUME 4 Autocoids, Diagnostics, and Drugs from New Biology In addition to having cell numbers associated with this disease, the biology of the eosinophil also implicates this cell as a major contributor to the disease process. Eosinophils are phagocytic granulocytes that mature in bone marrow, migrate to the blood stream, and eventually localize at the site of injury. They contain highly toxic components that are released upon degranulation, leading to destruction of bronchial epithelium, mucosal edema, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness (430-432).

IL-5 is detectable in bronchial biopsies and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of asthmatics (433, 434). Additionally, inhalation of IL-5 by asthmatics has been shown to cause airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and an increase in sputum eosinophils (435).

IL-5 is produced primarily by activated CD4+T-cells (436, 437), and in lower levels by eosinophils (438), mast cells (439, 440), basophils, B-cells, NK cells (441, 442), and endothelial cells (443). The expression of IL-5 is predominantly regulated at the transcriptional level (444), and can be induced by a variety of stimulants, usually through activation of the T-cell receptor and a second signaling pathway. IL-1 $\alpha$  and PMA can induce IL-5 expression; histamine can also increase the production of IL-5 in activated T-cells (445).

Structurally, IL-5 is a disulfide-linked homodimeric glycoprotein between 45 and 60 kDa (446). Glycosylation does not seem to be a requisite for signaling; however, IL-5 must be in native dimeric form for bioactivity (447). Each monomer of IL-5 consists of four  $\alpha$ -helices with an antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheet between opposing monomers. The monomers are maintained in dimeric form by cysteine bonds at residues 44 and 86 (448). Mutagenesis shows residues His38, Lys39, and His41 in the second helix; Glu89 and Arg91 in the  $\beta$ -strand; and Thr109, Glu110, TRP111, and Iso112 in the fourth helix as being important contributors to the IL-5 interaction with the hIL-5R $\alpha$ chain (449, 450). Glu13 on IL-5 has been identified as a contact point for the  $\beta$ -chain of the IL-5 receptor.

The IL-5R  $\alpha$ -chain specifically binds IL-5 with low affinity (451). When associated with a signal-transducing  $\beta$ -unit that is also used by other hematopoietin receptors such as GM- CSF and IL-3, IL-5 binds with high affinity (452–454). Both subunits are necessary for signal transduction (455). The pathway for signal transduction includes activation of two Janus kinases (JAK1 and JAK2) and the signal transduction/activator STAT5 (456, 457).

9.4.1 IL-5 Knockout and Transgenic Mice. Animal models have helped define the significance of IL-5 and the eosinophil in the disease process. IL5 administered to mice results in an increase of eosinophils (458). Experiments with IL-5-deficient and IL-5-transgenic mice confirm a role for this cytokine in controlling eosinophilia (459, 460). In IL-5 knockout mice, no eosinophils are produced in response to parasite infection or sensitization with ovalbumin, and there is minimal development of lung inflammation or tissue damage. When IL-5 expression is reconstituted in these mice, pulmonary eosinophilia, tissue destruction, and airflow limitation can be observed after allergen challenge (459).

Transgenic mice that have constitutive expression of IL-5 with detectable levels of IL-5 in the serum and persistent eosinophilia have also been described (461). These mice are described as normal, which may suggest that activation and degranulation of eosinophils may be necessary for disease pathology.

9.4.2 IL-5 Modulators/Clinical Data. Modulation of IL-5 can occur by inhibiting its production and synthesis, or through direct binding to IL-5 receptor or ligand. Cytokines can regulate IL-5 levels by inhibiting production. For example, IFN $\gamma$  and IL-10 have demonstrated they can inhibit IL-5 production *in vitro* (462), whereas IL-12 indirectly modulates IL-5 by biasing toward a Th1 subset population (463).

Small molecule antagonists such as CsA, FK506, and rapamycin all inhibit IL-5 production (464, 465). Glucocorticoids, in addition to decreasing bronchial hyperresponsiveness, can also downregulate IL-5 production (466– 468). OM-01 suppresses IL-5 protein production, mRNA expression, and transcriptional activity in PBMCs with no effect on either IL-2 or IL-4 (469, 470). (The structure for OM-01 has not been disclosed.)  $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}$